Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals



Antoun Koht Tod B. Sloan J. Richard Toleikis *Editors*





Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals Antoun Koht • Tod B. Sloan J. Richard Toleikis Editors

Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals

Second Edition



Editors Antoun Koht, MD Departments of Anesthesiology Neurological Surgery and Neurology Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine Chicago, IL, USA

J. Richard Toleikis, PhD Department of Anesthesiology Rush University Medical Center Chicago, IL, USA Tod B. Sloan, MD, MBA, PhD Department of Anesthesiology University of Colorado School of Medicine Aurora, CO, USA

Videos can also be accessed at http://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5

ISBN 978-3-319-46540-1 ISBN 978-3-319-46542-5 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017943687

© Springer International Publishing AG 2012, 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG Switzerland The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland A few pioneer neurophysiologists, surgeons, anesthesiologists, and researchers from many disciplines and countries gave birth to the field of intraoperative neuromonitoring over 40 years ago when together they realized that there was a need and a means for providing better patient care. Their interest and efforts resulted in numerous subsequent international meetings, spawned the establishment and growth of various professional societies, and ignited a growing interest in IOM. All of this would not have occurred without the contributions and support of countless individuals who dedicated a significant part of their professional lives and resources to the field of IOM. It is to these various pioneers and individuals that we dedicate this book.

Foreword to First Edition: Orthopedic Spine Viewpoint

We began our Case Western Reserve University (CWRU) efforts to develop a system for monitoring spinal cord function during scoliosis corrective surgery in the late 1960s. It was prompted by the risks to the spinal cord as a result of using Harrington Rods for curvature correction. From the very beginning, we approached it as a team effort. University Hospitals and CWRU had the expertise to tackle this difficult challenge, but they had to be pulled together. A young neurosurgeon by the name of Jerald *Brodkey* had some experience with a technique of summating distal peripheral nerve stimulations as they were expressed over the cortex, a process reported by Dawson in the 1950s. At the same time there was a very bright, young master's biomedical engineer, Richard *Brown* working in the CWRU biomedical engineering laboratories of Drs. Victor Frankel, MD, PhD and Al Burstein, PhD. Fortuitously, Richard's undergraduate degree was in electrical engineering and he had some free time available to work on the spinal cord monitoring project (which became his PhD thesis!).

The approach taken in the laboratory was to study the effect of graduated weights applied directly to the thoracic spinal cord of dogs for varying periods of time on the ability of the cord to transmit trains of stimuli from the distal extremities to the cortex. In the course of these studies it also became apparent that pressure, time, and blood pressure were all critical variables. Then available commercial neuromonitoring systems were used, but from the beginning Rich Brown recognized that they would not work in the highly electrically charged environment of an operating room (OR). Thus began his creation of a stand alone, portable spinal cord monitoring system capable of accurately recording the very small cortical signals generated in the hostile atmosphere of the OR. Thus "Big Blue," as Rich would call it, came to be originally equipped with four channels, but soon expanded to eight with all data stored on tape for later analysis. "Real-time" record assessment was done by holding up a base line printout up to the light with the current record printout superimposed to visually determine latency and amplitude changes. Appropriate filtering, stimulus rates, stimulus configuration, and voltages along with Rich's primary passion, patient safety, were all factors to be sorted out. "Warning signs" of changes in latency and amplitude were part of the equation with the 10 and 50% guidelines becoming evident even then. From the beginning, Rich's goal was to produce a system that would prove both reliable and provide valid data - causes he championed his entire career later holding all systems to the same fire he held his own.

Once the system had proven to be effective in the laboratory by sorting out the amounts of weight over what periods of time that correlated clinically with the presence or absence of clinical neurological deficits, it was time to take it to the OR. It was strongly suspected that the more complex anesthesia used in humans would have significant effects on the cortex and hence the records. Accordingly, the next challenge was to have an anesthesiologist who would help the team sort out this piece of the puzzle. Betty Grundy, MD, was the person who enthusiastically joined the team and in her own right added a great deal of knowledge to the process of making spinal cord monitoring a viable clinical tool in the OR. She also became a voice within the anesthesia profession that meticulous anesthesia protocols had to be followed for spinal cord monitoring to be effective. Along the way, Rich became quite knowledgeable regarding the various anesthetic agents used in spinal surgery to the extent that he was a frequent presenter to anesthesia grand rounds on the subject of their effects on cortical function. The final addition to the team was Marianne Wilham, RN, the primary orthopedic OR nurse for the spinal surgical team and a critical person in maintaining a constant process in the OR. She and Rich also became quite adept at dealing with teenage patients and parents as they went through pre-operative spinal cord monitoring testing and the next day trip to the OR for surgery.

Together this team meticulously developed protocols and systems that seemed to provide the most consistent and reliable approach to intraoperative spinal cord monitoring using Somatosensory Cortical Evoked Potentials (SSEPs). Early in this process, several significant and revealing cases were performed that were encouraging and confirmed the value of Rich Brown's "Big Blue" and the future of SSEPs. It should be noted that the "Wake-Up Test" of Stagnara came into vogue about the same time as the CWRU work, and it was adopted by the Case Team as a way to verify the findings of the intraoperative changes seen in monitoring. One early case was a patient with scoliosis and diastomatomyelia. It was elected to do the Harrington spinal corrective surgery before removing the diastomatomyelia. Each time the Harrington distraction was applied, the signals deteriorated and after removal returned. The case was aborted with no neurological deficits. The diastomatomyelia was removed and the subsequent spinal corrective surgery went forward without incidence. Other early cases included a patient with cervical spinal cord abscess in which artificially raising the blood pressure temporarily restored SSEP responses and the clinical function. There was also a case of cervical spinal cord hemangioma dissection that was performed successfully under the protective umbrella of SSEPs. Thus, these early anecdotal experiences became convincingly indicative of the potential for intraoperative spinal cord monitoring to make a great contribution to the safety of patients undergoing major corrective spinal surgery. This monitoring tool also proved to be one of the critical factors contributing to the development of more and more powerful and corrective spinal implant systems that could be applied in a safe manner.

It turns out that during the same time period, Dr. Tetsuya Tamaki and a team of Japanese researchers including an anesthesiologist, Dr. K. Shimoji, were independently working on a method for intraoperative spinal cord monitoring using spinal – spinal evoked potentials. Before long there was communication between the Case Team and Dr. Tamaki's team to the extent that a series of international spinal cord monitoring conferences were held, the first being in Cleveland, Ohio, in 1977. At this first meeting, Dr. Vernon Nickel, a highly respected orthopedic surgeon remarked to the gathering, "One day intra-operative spinal cord monitoring will be as accepted and used as the EKG." One of the key individuals in this movement to develop intraoperative spinal cord monitoring was a neurosurgeon, Dr. J. Schramm, from Germany. The list of participants continued to grow both in the United States and throughout the world in great measure because of the encouraging and engaging efforts of Rich Brown whose nature was to share his ideas and expertise freely with all who took an interest. Again this welcoming approach was grounded in Rich's passion for rigorous process, analysis, expertise, and training. Similarly he was cautious and scientifically reluctant to prematurely declare SSEPs as the "Gold Standard" for monitoring spinal cord function replacing the tried and true "Wake-Up Test". As a final note, Rich never "went commercial" with his system and expertise, but rather directed his efforts into organizing the experts in the field and establishing standards of nomenclature, processes, and technical training. He was an energetic founding member and later a president of the American Society of Neurophysiologic Monitoring to which he remained committed and focused until his untimely death.

All who have gone before would applaud this valuable book, and in particular Rich Brown, PhD, who very early on recognized the critical role that anesthesia and anesthesiologists would play in the development and practice of intraoperative spinal cord monitoring.

And the rest is history.

Cleveland, OH September, 2011 Clyde L. Nash Jr., MD

Foreword to First Edition: Peeling Back the Onion Skin Layers

"As natural selection works solely by and for the good of each being, all corporeal and mental endowments will tend to progress towards perfection."

(Charles Darwin: The Origin of The Species, XV, 1859)

My! How times have changed! As I write this, I am looking at a copy of an anesthetic record from June 14, 1968. Being a perpetual "pack rat," I made it a habit over the years to file cases of interest and needless to say, accumulated quite a library over the past 50 years. This case, (Fig. 1), is that of a 3-monthold baby with a diagnosis of cranial synostosis with orbital compression and the operative procedure was in three stages, the final one occurring 2 months later and involved a ventricular peritoneal shunt using the-then relatively new silastic Holter valve. In this sick and lethargic baby, local anesthetics (carbocaine) supplemented with sedation were used over the period of 3 h and 50 min. Specific monitors included a blood pressure cuff and temperature probe. For neuromonitoring, we considered ourselves "advanced" as we employed a unit that we nicknamed the "bullet" or "torpedo," since it had a cylindrical shape with a diameter of about 6 in. and a length of 1.0 foot! One end had a transparent viewplate with the tube containing a cathode ray tube and the electronics for a one-channel electrocardiogram, lead II, and another single channel for an electroencephalogram lead, using a parietal presentation. Since explosive agents were in use at that time, the "bullet" had an explosion proof casing and elevated on a tripod above the 5 foot explosive level. So now we were able to visualize the EEG, EKG, and measure the heart rate with clicks triggered by the Q-T complex. If we now move 16 years to 1994, we can note the emergence of a neuromonitoring culture as demonstrated by the book edited by Peter Sebel and William Fitch, Monitoring the Central Nervous System [1]. There, 21 authors discussed a range of topics which are extraordinary when compared to the availability of neuromonitoring facilities in the 1960s. In this time period the horizon of neuromonitoring is expanded to not only include physiochemical topics as cerebral blood flow and metabolism, ICP, and EEG, but critical aspects relating to memory, recovery from anesthesia, cognitive factors, and brain death. Fast forward to today and to the wonderful effort made by the authors of the present-day book to present a sophisticated review of the great advances in neuromonitoring and its application to patient care as well as increasing our understanding of the complexities not only of the central nervous system but the incredible relationships among electrodynamic and electrochemical signaling that lead



Fig.1 A 1968 record of a pediatric case with the anesthesia provided by the author. Total monitoring included systolic blood pressure, temperature, heart rate, lead II of the EKG, and one EEG lead

to cognitive changes which may affect modalities such as pain. Similarly, the effects of our monitoring efforts may be in themselves modified by the clinical medium of anesthesia and cause a shift in the paradigm, which in a sense involves monitoring the monitors and helps to eliminate false assumptions [2, 3]. The expertise and experience of the authors contribute greatly to a sense of true security that these methodologies have been tested by those knowledgeable in their field. Further cementing the link between development and application are the hard-nosed Case-Based Presentations of practitioners often highlighting those on both sides of the procedure table. This type of hegemony is critical for carrying out many of these procedures. This book has important source material even for those not directly connected with the many procedures listed in the Table of Contents, for many of the authors are not only capable as practitioners, but have had a primary role in developing the many neuromonitoring techniques listed.

Before terminating this Preface, I must take a moment to pay homage to one, who, in many ways is regarded as the "Mother" of neuromonitoring in the anesthesia and neurological community, namely, Betty Grundy, MD. I have known Betty for more than 40 years and can attest to how hard she has worked to bring electrophysiological monitoring into the operating room and clinical arena as well as educating a whole host of superb clinicians and those doing research in this area.

References

- 1. Sebel P, Fitch W, editors. Monitoring the central nervous system. London: Blackwell Science; 1994. p. 479.
- Kuhn T. The structure of scientific revolutions. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press; 1970. p. 226.
- Popper K. Falsification versus conventionalism. In: David Miller, editor. Popper selections. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; 1985: p.143–151

Birmingham, USA September, 2011 Maurice S. Albin, MD., M.Sc. (Anes.)

Foreword to First Edition: Neurosurgeon's Viewpoint

I am honored to have been invited to provide a foreword to this important volume. As a practicing cerebrovascular surgeon, I have a unique perspective on the field of neuromonitoring as I function somewhat as a "consumer" of these very valuable resources. Vascular surgeons are charged with exposing the brain, retracting brain tissue, reconstructing complex vascular anatomy, temporarily interrupting cerebral blood flow, and performing complex revascularizations. Not infrequently our target organ is already diseased and dysautoregulated at the time we expose it. While we have marvelous technologies to allow us to perform computerized image guidance, highly magnified 3-dimensional views, and microsurgical instrumentation that allows extraordinary things to be done, we perform this invasive maneuvers blinded as to how the brain is tolerating these actions. Neuromonitoring, when performed by skilled technologists and physicians with high expertise in the interpretation of data provide the surgeon with actionable information that can prove lifesaving.

From my perspective, one of the most interesting aspects of contemporary neuromonitoring lies in the domain of systems-based practice and communication. The surgeon often feels like a pilot of an aircraft in which he or she has certain control capabilities but because the door is closed behind the pilot, he or she has essentially no knowledge of what is happening in the rest of the aircraft. It is critical that in our surgical environments the "door" remains open and that the key human elements have professional confidence in each other and communicate openly. At the start of the procedure, everyone responsible including the physicians, technologists, and nurses must understand the nature of the planned procedure, important details about the patient, the general phases of the operation expected, and when the critical moments will be occurring. As each stage of the procedure unfolds, the entire team must be aware of those transitions. When an unexpected anomaly develops, a rapid assessment of its significance must be performed followed by direct communication with the surgeon. A timely but deliberate discussion of the options to be considered and which one to be pursued assures the optimal environment for the patient's successful outcome.

It cannot be over emphasized that successful surgical neuromonitoring requires a coordinated team effort. The critical elements obviously include in-depth knowledge of the principles of neuromonitoring and technical proficiency. Yet, without a full understanding of the patient's physiologic state prior to surgery and the unique aspects of patient positioning, abnormal data may be misinterpreted. The principles of the planned surgical procedure must be understood by all team members and constant communication must occur among the key participants to assure that proper perspective of the environment is obtained prior to the announcement of an abnormal finding.

Clearly this book will be a significant benefit to surgeons, technologists, neurophysiologists, anesthesiologists, and neurologists. The information contained in these chapters will empower the surgical team members with the knowledge needed to interpret unexpected changes and to react quickly and appropriately. This book will be an important reference for all members of these teams and hopefully enhance our ability to provide safe procedures with optimal outcomes.

Chicago, IL September, 2011

> H. Hunt Batjer, M.D., F.A.C.S. Department of Neurological Surgery, School of Medicine Northwestern University Feinberg Chicago, IL, USA

> > UT Southwestern Medical Center Dallas, TX, USA

Preface to Second Edition

Intraoperative monitoring (IOM) of the nervous system continues to play a key role for safeguarding neurological function during surgery and interventional procedures when the nervous system is at risk for injury. For many procedures, it has been integrated as a key component of decision making and a variety of studies have shown a clear association of its use with improved outcomes. The utilization of monitoring continues to evolve as monitoring techniques are improved and developed and their contributions to improved patient care are better understood. As such, we are pleased to present this second edition which reflects these changes.

We continue to be grateful to the many past and present pioneers in the field who have laid the groundwork for modern day monitoring and who continue to fuel the evolution of its techniques and applications. Anesthesiologists have played a key role in this evolution with improvements in neuroanesthesia and their interface with monitoring. In this capacity, we wish to celebrate the life and acknowledge the key role of Maurice Albin, who passed in 2016. We are honored that Dr. Maurice Albin wrote the anesthesiologist viewpoint foreword to the first edition of this book. Similarly, many surgeons and interventionists have expanded the role of monitoring and have developed enhanced techniques to meet the needs of various procedures. We owe a great deal of gratitude to all of these individuals as these developments have been included in this new expanded text.

As with the first edition of the book, the major theme of this edition is to emphasize the roles of all members of the procedure team cooperatively working together to provide the patient with the most effective techniques for ensuring an optimal outcome. Since this involves education across specialty boundaries, this book continues to take a holistic approach by discussing modalities and their application during various procedures. The second edition now has five news, key learning points, questions and answers and has expanded the learning opportunities to online resources including videos and hyperlinks to PubMed so as to enhance the text content. We are grateful to the publisher and the electronic resources that are available to include these additions. We hope you will find that they are helpful in your patient care and eagerly look forward to further advancements in monitoring techniques and their improved understanding and application. The international reach of the first edition of this book included both English and Chinese. With this edition, it has been expanded to include the Japanese and Korean languages as well. We are honored and grateful.

Chicago, IL, USA Aurora, CO, USA Chicago, IL, USA Antoun Koht Tod B. Sloan J. Richard Toleikis

Preface to First Edition

Intraoperative monitoring of the nervous system (IOM) has become common place in orthopedics, neurosurgery, otologic surgery, vascular surgery, and other procedures. In addition to the improvement in patient outcome which has been observed in several circumstances, the monitoring has been incorporated into the management of surgical procedures where the nervous system is at risk. The use is being fueled by the understanding that functional knowledge of the nervous system is an important partner to structural knowledge and both contribute to the quality of care and patient safety.

IOM is more than just a tool like fluoroscopy, intraoperative MRI, or CT scanning which gives a structural view of the patient's anatomy. IOM provides a means for assessing the nervous system function and determining how the surgical, anesthetic, and physiological environment are impacting this function. Pamela Prior expressed it well in 1985 when she said "routine clinical monitoring of ECG, arterial pressure and blood-gas tensions only indicates the adequacy of factors supporting brain function. The EEG and evoked potentials are more valuable because they can monitor continuously the end result at a neuronal functional level."[1] This "window to the nervous system" allows all of us to bring our own contributions to help our patients have the best possible outcomes. The prompt diagnosis of circumstances unfavorable to the nervous system will enable timely adjustment of the pharmacologic and physiologic environment to augment surgical decision.

IOM has evolved in the last 30 years from the lonely somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEP) modality that was used during spine surgery to now include; MEPs, both free running and triggered EMG, D waves, the H reflex, and other monitoring modalities. This expansion was not restricted to spine surgery but extended to other surgeries including those of the head and neck. The addition of IOM multimodalities allowed a more comprehensive assessment of the nervous system while adding restraint on the anesthetic technique. The optimal anesthetics for one modality is often not the same as that for others, thus a very delicate anesthetic balance is needed and complete cooperation between the IOM team and the anesthesiologist is invaluable.

This team effort is the key to the best patient outcome. Clearly the monitoring is helpful to the surgeon, but it is equally valuable to the anesthesiologist. In that respect, IOM allows the anesthesiologist to see the impact of the anesthetic and physiologic management on the functional integrity of the nervous system. For example, there is a growing appreciation that a blood pressure which might be appropriate for one patient may not be adequate for another. Further complicating factors are the aging patients with increased comorbidities and the more complex surgical procedures with increasing neurological trespass. IOM can help the anesthesiologist insure that the environment of the nervous system is optimal for the individual and to adjust the patient's physiology as needed when the surgical procedure places an additional stress on the nervous system.

This interplay of anesthesia, physiology, and surgery is what makes IOM different from the use of these techniques for diagnostic assessment of pathology in the nervous system. The situation is dynamic with a constantly shifting equilibrium of the effects of the procedure, the drugs given, and the physiological milieu. This is why IOM, like monitoring of blood pressure, heart rate, oxygenation, etc., must be done constantly to identify changes that allow rapid correction while adverse neurological circumstances are still reversible. Some of that reversibility will be contained in the surgical maneuvers, but changes in the management of the anesthesia, physiology, and positioning of the patient can mitigate some of the adverse effects of the procedure.

Well recognized by anesthesiologists, each patient is different, not only in their pathology and comorbidities, but also in how they will react to anesthesia and the surgical procedure. Each patient therefore presents a different problem. An injury could develop and progress without the surgeon's, proceduralist's, or anesthesiologist's knowledge. This is where IOM can become valuable to identify functional changes in the nervous system which will not be observed in structural studies or reflected in other means of traditional monitoring.

To make the team effort most effective, each member of the team needs to understand each other's roles. Like an interlocking crossword puzzle, the interface of each other's contribution is made stronger when each one knows about the other and the more effective the team becomes. This book is designed to help all members of the operative team to better understand what each member of the team is doing. It is not designed to provide technical details since there are many excellent papers and books on that subject. Rather we have sought to allow everyone an opportunity to gain insights into each of the operative components.

Many of the early applications of IOM were developed in the 1970s by surgeons, neurophysiologists, anesthesiologists, and other researchers both in the USA and Japan, as they recognized that the development of aggressive treatment programs carried a high risk of secondary spinal cord damage and that there was a need to develop methodologies for defining and evaluating spinal cord function. Among these were Clyde Nash, MD, and Richard Brown, PhD, who pioneered the use of SSEPs during Harrington distraction of the spine in patients with scoliosis [2]. This advance from the intraoperative wake-up test of Vauzelle and Stagnara would become increasingly important as procedures presented multiple possible injurious steps [3]. In patients with many significant comorbidities, a one-time clinical assessment which was used in healthy young patients with scoliosis is not applicable. The pioneers of IOM not only developed the techniques for monitoring, but they designed and built equipment to meet the specific challenges present in the operating room that were not encountered in the diagnostic laboratory. They

also recognized the importance of the team effort and that such things as blood pressure management during distraction of the spine was essential for overcoming the effects of the procedure [2]. With an awareness that others were beginning to address the need for monitoring spinal cord function, Clyde Nash and Jerald Brodkey invited participants from throughout the world and hosted the first two symposia on spinal cord monitoring which were held in Cleveland in September 1977 and St. Louis in January 1979. These were followed by a series of International Symposia on spinal cord monitoring, the first of which was held in Tokyo, Japan, in 1981 and was hosted by Dr. Tetsuya Tamaki. Three years later, Dr. Johannes Schramm hosted the Second International Symposium held in Erlangan, Germany (1984). The Third and Fourth Symposia were later held in Annapolis, Maryland (in 1986) and Niigata, Japan (in 1989), and were hosted by Drs. Thomas Ducker and Richard Brown and by Dr. Koki Shimoji, respectively. Special thanks to these early pioneers who recognized the importance of this new technology and worked to strengthen it and expand its usage. Subsequent to the International Symposia came the formation of the American Society of Neurophysiologic Monitoring (ASNM) in 1989, and also the advent of the International Symposia on Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring in Neurosurgery held in New York and hosted by Drs. Vedran Deletis and Fred Epstein (1998–2006). From these latter symposia came the formation of the International Society of Intraoperative Neurophysiology (ISIN) in 2006.

IOM has evolved from the early days. Some of the techniques currently used are refinements of the early techniques while others are completely new. The monitoring professionals have recognized that the changes in neurophysiology that result from anesthesia and surgery are different from those seen in the laboratory which makes diagnostic approaches less applicable. Further, IOM must be done with constant, rapid updates to provide timely information about the state of the nervous system. This evolution in techniques has been accompanied with the development of a new field of intraoperative neurophysiology with professionals who have dedicated their career to IOM. The backgrounds of these individuals are as diverse as the techniques currently being employed. Some come from the logical pioneering fields of orthopedic surgery, neurosurgery, neurology, and anesthesiology. But a whole new field of intraoperative neurophysiology has developed with individuals bringing to bear their knowledge of intraoperative neurophysiology with the many allied medical fields to provide focused IOM care. These individuals have been responsible for many developments in the field and are key to the current utilization of monitoring for providing excellent patient care.

Many of the early developments of IOM can also be attributed to anesthesiologists. Recently, Tamaki (orthopedic surgeon) wrote an article about the history of EP monitoring and credited Shimoji (anesthesiologist) with introducing epidural evoked potential monitoring in 1971 [4]. Betty Grundy, MD, as an anesthesiologist involved in the early applications of IOM recognized this in 1982 when she wrote about the application of auditory evoked potentials in surgery on the brainstem in the *Journal of Neurosurgery* "we wanted early indication of deteriorating function so that we could intervene to prevent permanent injury. We therefore selected an approach similar to that used for intraoperative monitoring of other physiological parameters such as heart rate or arterial blood pressure, attempting to correct undesirable trends as soon as these could be identified with certainty" [5].

Dr. Grundy went on to bring IOM into anesthesiology; her landmark article in Anesthesiology in 1983 was a call for anesthesiologists to take an active role in the team. She noted that "the hope is that deteriorating neurologic function will be detected early so that the surgeon and/or anesthesiologist can intervene to optimize function and minimize the possibility of permanent damage to the nervous system" [6]. Dr. Grundy was to further stress that role when she wrote in 1984 "the anesthesiologist can alter evoked potentials" [7]. Her early experience noted the interaction of anesthesia, physiology, and the nervous system which supported her recommendations for anesthetic and physiological management; without IOM many unfavorable interactions would have gone unrecognized. These observations are still echoed today.

As IOM techniques and applications have evolved, some advancements have come from anesthesiologists. In particular, the anesthetic techniques and physiological management that supports IOM, and which have been refined from observations made by IOM, have also improved patient care. Many anesthesiologists remain actively involved in IOM and are contributors to this book.

As the field of IOM has developed, the cadre of IOM professionals that has emerged to provide the best neurophysiological monitoring has been a distraction from the integral role of anesthesiologists in the IOM team. As such, this book is devoted to restoring that role by focusing on the knowledge and experience gained by anesthesiologists and professionals who are part of the IOM team. Our goal is to facilitate the most effective team effort by expanding the interface of knowledge between the surgical, anesthesiological, and neurophysiological members.

The first section describes the different techniques used in monitoring. The goal is to provide insight into the anatomy, physiology, and techniques so that the information provided by their use can be placed in the context of the surgical, anesthetic, and physiological management.

The second section seeks to provide basic aspects of anesthetic management. Not only will this be helpful to anesthesia providers seeking to refine their choice of medications, but it also will be helpful to practitioners in other specialties to understand the challenges inherent in the anesthetic management. Some anesthesiologists are concerned about anesthesia without muscle relaxants while other members of the team may be concerned about any use of muscle relaxants. The contributions of the authors will be helpful to reassure both that it is possible to meet this need and successfully obtain optimal signals which will enable the team to effectively monitor the patients and for the surgeon to make the best decision.

Finally, the book provides case examples of specific types of procedures where IOM has become a routine part of the management. In each case the chapter provides an overview of the anatomy, neural physiology, and pathology which is central to the procedure. Understanding this allows each member of the team to understand how the procedure, anesthesia, physiology, and IOM come to bear on the risks of the procedure and outcome. In each case, the authors have also presented some examples of typical IOM changes in these cases. This allows discussion of the differential diagnosis of the effects which could cause these changes. In that respect, the emphasis has been on non-surgical effects to allow better insight into the ways that the management of anesthesia, positioning, and physiology can contribute to improved outcome.

We have assembled a prestigious group of contributors who are all actively involved in the team efforts of IOM during various surgical procedures. Each has contributed their knowledge and experience to improve all of our effectiveness in these procedures. Hopefully, by sharing our knowledge and experience we can make the fabric of our team efforts stronger and provide the best possible care of our patients.

References

- Prior PF. EEG monitoring and evoked potentials in brain ischaemia. Br J of Anaesth. Jan 1985;57(1):63–81.
- Nash CL, Jr., Lorig RA, Schatzinger LA, Brown RH. Spinal cord monitoring during operative treatment of the spine. Clin Orthop Relat Res. Jul-Aug 1977(126):100–105.
- Vauzelle C, Stagnara P, Jouvinroux P. Functional monitoring of spinal cord activity during spinal surgery. Clin Orthop Relat Res. Jun 1973(93):173–178.
- 4. Tamaki T, Kubota S. History of the development of intraoperative spinal cord monitoring. Eur Spine J. 2007; 16 Suppl 2:S140–146.
- Grundy BL. Monitoring of sensory evoked potentials during neurosurgical operations: methods and applications. Neurosurgery. Oct 1982;11(4):556–575.
- Grundy BL. Intraoperative monitoring of sensory-evoked potentials. Anesthesiology. Jan 1983;58(1):72–87.
- Grundy BL. Evoked potentials in the operating room. Mt Sinai J Med. 1984;51(5):585–591.

Chicago, IL, USA Aurora, CO, USA Chicago, IL, USA September, 2011 Antoun Koht Tod B. Sloan J. Richard Toleikis

Acknowledgment

We want to acknowledge our families; (TS) Celia, Wendy, and Heather; (JRT) Sandra, Jennifer Anne, Matthew, Jason, and Jennifer Rachel; (AK) Sonia, Yara, John, and Alexander who have provided love, support, and understanding during many late hours of monitoring and without which the creation of this book would not have been possible.

Contents

Section I Monitoring Techniques

1	Somatosensory-Evoked Potentials Aimee Becker, Corey Amlong, and Deborah A. Rusy	3
2	Transcranial Motor-Evoked Potentials Leslie C. Jameson	19
3	Auditory-Evoked Potentials Christoph N. Seubert and Mary Herman	35
4	Visual-Evoked Potentials Sandra C. Toleikis and J. Richard Toleikis	51
5	Deep Brain Stimulation Jay L. Shils, Diana Apetauerova, Amal A. Mokeem, and Jeffrey E. Arle	71
6	Monitoring of Spinal Cord Functions Sumihisa Aida, Tatsuro Kohno, and Koki Shimoji	87
7	Electromyography J. Richard Toleikis	103
8	The Use of Reflex Responses for IOM Ronald Leppanen	125
9	Brain and Spinal Cord Mapping Charles D. Yingling and Tina N. Nguyen	155
10	EEG Monitoring Ira J. Rampil	169
11	Clinical Application of Raw and Processed EEG Phillip E. Vlisides and George A. Mashour	193

12	A Guide to Central Nervous System Near-Infrared Spectroscopic Monitoring Harvey L. Edmonds Jr., Michael R. Isley, and Jeffrey R. Balzer	205
13	Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound Harvey L. Edmonds Jr.	219
14	Monitoring of Jugular Venous Oxygen Saturation Deepak Sharma and Abhijit Lele	229
15	Intracranial Pressure Monitoring Ross Martini, Andrea Orfanakis, and Ansgar Brambrink	243
16	IOM Instrumentation Layout and Electrical Interference Brett Netherton and Andrew Goldstein	253
17	Signal Optimization in Intraoperative Neuromonitoring Robert E. Minahan and Allen S. Mandir	269
Sec	tion II Anesthesia Considerations	
18	Anesthesia for Awake Neurosurgery Antoun Koht, Georg Neuloh, and Matthew C. Tate	301
19	Anesthesia Management and Intraoperative Electrophysiological Monitoring Tod B. Sloan	317
Sec	tion III Clinical Applications	
20	Monitoring Applications and Evaluating Changes Antoun Koht, Tod B. Sloan, and J. Richard Toleikis	345
31		
21	Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring for Intracranial Aneurysm Surgery Laura B. Hemmer, Carine Zeeni, Bernard R. Bendok, and Antoun Koht	353
21	Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoringfor Intracranial Aneurysm SurgeryLaura B. Hemmer, Carine Zeeni, Bernard R. Bendok,and Antoun KohtIntracranial Arteriovenous Malformation SurgeryLaura B. Hemmer and Carine Zeeni	353 367
21 22 23	Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoringfor Intracranial Aneurysm SurgeryLaura B. Hemmer, Carine Zeeni, Bernard R. Bendok,and Antoun KohtIntracranial Arteriovenous Malformation SurgeryLaura B. Hemmer and Carine ZeeniIntraoperative Neurophysiologic Monitoring During Surgeryfor Supratentorial Mass LesionsGeorg Neuloh, Antoun Koht, and Matthew C. Tate	353 367 377
21 22 23 24	Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring for Intracranial Aneurysm SurgeryLaura B. Hemmer, Carine Zeeni, Bernard R. Bendok, and Antoun KohtIntracranial Arteriovenous Malformation Surgery Laura B. Hemmer and Carine ZeeniIntraoperative Neurophysiologic Monitoring During Surgery for Supratentorial Mass Lesions Georg Neuloh, Antoun Koht, and Matthew C. TateSurgery for Infratentorial Mass Michael J. Malcharek and Gerhard Schneider	353 367 377 385
 21 22 23 24 25 	Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring for Intracranial Aneurysm SurgeryLaura B. Hemmer, Carine Zeeni, Bernard R. Bendok, and Antoun KohtIntracranial Arteriovenous Malformation Surgery Laura B. Hemmer and Carine ZeeniIntraoperative Neurophysiologic Monitoring During Surgery for Supratentorial Mass Lesions Georg Neuloh, Antoun Koht, and Matthew C. TateSurgery for Infratentorial Mass Michael J. Malcharek and Gerhard SchneiderTrigeminal Microvascular Decompression Antoun Koht	 353 367 377 385 395

27	Skull Base Surgery David E. Traul and Thomas N. Pajewski	425
28	Surgery for Chiari Type I Malformation Penny P. Liu, Chaim I. Nelson, Gregory D. Arnone, Ashley Kane Palmer, and Raymond F. Sekula Jr.	435
29	ENT and Anterior Neck Surgery W. Scott Jellish and Michail Avramov	445
30	Carotid Surgery Zirka H. Anastasian, Eugene Ornstein, and Eric J. Heyer	459
31	Anterior Cervical Spine Surgery John F. Bebawy, Antoun Koht, and Srdjan Mirkovic	473
32	Posterior Cervical Spine Surgery Paul D. Mongan and Vikas V. Patel	485
33	Surgery for Scoliosis Correction Mary Ellen McCann, Robert M. Brustowicz, and Sulpicio G. Soriano	497
34	Neurophysiological Monitoring in Thoracic Spine Surgery Tod B. Sloan, Evalina Burger, Christopher J. Kleck, and Anthony M. Oliva	507
35	Intraoperative Neurophysiologic Monitoring for Lumbosacral Spine Procedures Deborah A. Rusy, Corey Amlong, and Aimee Becker	525
36	Intramedullary Spinal Cord Surgery Beate Poblete and Karl F. Kothbauer	535
37	Intraoperative Monitoring in Tethered Cord Surgery Daniel J. Janik and Claudia F. Clavijo	549
38	Surgery in the Peripheral Nervous System Leo T. Happel and David G. Kline	563
39	Surgery of the Aortic Arch K. Annette Mizuguchi, Linda S. Aglio, and Laverne D. Gugino	575
40	Electrophysiological Monitoring During Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm Surgery Tod B. Sloan, Leslie C. Jameson, and Claudia F. Clavijo	601
41	Monitoring During Cardiopulmonary Bypass Harvey L. Edmonds Jr.	617
42	Interventional Neuroradiology Anthony K. Sestokas and Daniel M. Schwartz	625
43	Intraoperative Neuromonitoring in Pediatric Surgery Lisa Francis, Veronica Busso, and John J. McAuliffe	633

Section IV Intensive Care

44	Monitoring in the Intensive Care Unit Louanne M. Carabini	653
45	Epilepsy and Seizures: OR and ICU Applications of EEG Sabrina G. Galloway and Tod B. Sloan	663
46	Monitoring Cerebral Blood Flow W. Andrew Kofke and Bonnie H. Wang	681
Aft	erword to First Edition Johannes Schramm	699
Ind	ex	703

Contributors

Linda S. Aglio, MD Department of Anesthesiology, Perioperative and Pain Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Sumihisa Aida, MD, PhD Geriatric Health Service Facility, Izumi, Adachi-Ku, Tokyo, Japan

Corey Amlong, MD, MS Department of Anesthesiology, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI, USA

Zirka H. Anastasian, MD Department of Anesthesiology, Columbia University, New York, NY, USA

Diana Apetauerova, MD Department of Neurology, Lahey Hospital and Health System, Burlington, MA, USA

Jeffrey E. Arle, MD, PhD Department of Neurosurgery, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and Harvard University, Boston, MA, USA

Gregory D. Arnone, MD Department of Neurosurgery, Allegheny General Hospital, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Michail Avramov, MD, PhD Department of Anesthesiology, Loyola University Health System, Maywood, IL, USA

Jeffrey R. Balzer, PhD Department of Neurological Surgery, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

John F. Bebawy, MD Department of Anesthesiology and Neurological Surgery, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA

Aimee Becker, MD Department of Anesthesiology, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI, USA

Bernard R. Bendok, MD Department of Neurologic Surgery in Arizona, Mayo Clinic College of Medicine, Mayo Clinic Arizona, Mayo Clinic Hospital, Phoenix, AZ, USA

Ansgar Brambrink, MD Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR, USA

Department of Anesthesiology, Columbia University College of Physicians & Surgeons, New York, NY, USA

Robert M. Brustowicz, MD Department of Anesthesiology, Perioperative and Pain Medicine, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Department of Anaesthesia, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Evalina Burger, MD Department of Orthopaedics, University of Colorado, Aurora, CO, USA

Veronica Busso, MD Department of Anesthesiology, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Louanne M. Carabini, MD Department of Anesthesiology, Section of Critical Care Medicine, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA

Claudia F. Clavijo, MD Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, USA

Harvey L. Edmonds Jr., PhD Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, University of Louisville School of Medicine, Louisville, KY, USA

Lisa Francis, DO Department of Anesthesiology, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Sabrina G. Galloway, BS, REEG/EP T, CNIM, CLTM, FASET Department of Neurology, SUNY Downstate Medical Center, Brooklyn, NY, USA

Neurodiagnostic Operations, Neuromonitoring Technologies, Inc Glenwood, MD, USA

Andrew Goldstein, BS, CNIM Manager Biomedical Services, IONM, SpecialtyCare, Brentwood, TN, USA

Laverne D. Gugino, MD Department of Anesthesiology, Perioperative and Pain Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Leo T. Happel, PhD Department of Neurosurgery, LSU Health Science Center, New Orleans, LA, USA

Laura B. Hemmer, MD Departments of Anesthesiology and Neurological Surgery, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA

Mary Herman, MD, PhD Department of Anesthesiology, The Geisinger Health System, Danville, PA, USA

Eric J. Heyer, MD, PhD Department of Neurological Surgery, Columbia University, New York, NY, USA

Michael R. Isley, PhD, DABNM, FASNM Department of Intraoperative Neuromonitoring, Orlando Regional Medical Center, Arnold Palmer Hospital for Children, Orlando, FL, USA

Leslie C. Jameson, MD Department of Anesthesiology, School of Medicine, University of Colorado, Aurora, CO, USA

Daniel J. Janik, MD Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, USA

W. Scott Jellish, MD, PhD Department of Anesthesiology, Loyola University Health System, Maywood, IL, USA

Christopher J. Kleck, MD Department of Orthopaedics, University of Colorado, Aurora, CO, USA

David G. Kline, MD Department of Neurosurgery, LSU Health Science Center, New Orleans, LA, USA

W. Andrew Kofke, MD, MBA, FCCM, FNCS Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Department of Neurosurgery, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Tatsuro Kohno, MD, PhD Division of Anesthesiology, Niigata University Graduate School of Medical and Dental Sciences, Niigata, Japan

Antoun Koht, MD Departments of Anesthesiology, Neurological Surgery and Neurology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA

Karl F. Kothbauer, MD Division of Neurosurgery, Luzerner Kantonsspital, Luzern, Switzerland

Jesse D. Lawrence, BS Department of Neurological Surgery, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Abhijit Lele, MD Departments of Anesthesiology & Pain Medicine and Neurological Surgery, Harborview Medical Center, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

Ronald Leppanen, PhD Clinical Neurophysiologist, Knoxville Neurology Clinic, Knoxville, TN, USA

Penny P. Liu, MD Division of Neuroanesthesia, Department of Anesthesiology, Tufts Medical Center, Boston, MA, USA

Michael J. Malcharek, MD, PhD Division of Neuroanaesthesia and Intraoperative Neuromonitoring, Department of Anaesthesiology, Intensive Care and Pain Therapy, Leipzig, Saxony, Germany

Allen S. Mandir, MD, PhD Department of Neurology, Medstar Georgetown University Hospital, Washington, DC, USA

Ross Martini, MD Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, Oregon Health and Science University Hospital, Portland, OR, USA

George A. Mashour, MD, PhD Department of Anesthesiology, 1H247 University Hospital, University of Michigan Medical School, Ann Arbor, MI, USA John J. McAuliffe, MD, MBA, DABNM Department of Anesthesiology, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Mary Ellen McCann, MD Department of Anesthesiology, Perioperative and Pain Medicine, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Department of Anaesthesia, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Robert E. Minahan, MD Department of Neurology, Medstar Georgetown University Hospital, Washington, DC, USA

Srdjan Mirkovic, MD Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA

K. Annette Mizuguchi, MD, PhD, MMSc Department of Anesthesiology, Perioperative and Pain Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Amal A. Mokeem, MD Department of Neurosciences, MBC 76, King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Center, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Paul D. Mongan, MD Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado Hospital, Aurora, CO, USA

Chaim I. Nelson, MD Department of Anesthesiology PGY3, Tufts Medical Center, Boston, MA, USA

Brett Netherton, MS, CNIM, FASNM, FASET Signal Gear, LLC, Prosperity, SC, USA

Georg Neuloh, MD Department of Neurosurgery, University of Aachen, Aachen, Germany

Tina N. Nguyen, MD Department of Neurosurgery, Kaiser Redwood City, CA, USA

Anthony M. Oliva, MD, PhD Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, USA

Andrea Orfanakis, MD Oregon Anesthesiology Group, Anesthesiology, Critical Care Medicine—Anesthesia, Portland, OR, USA

Eugene Ornstein, PhD, MD Department of Anesthesiology, Columbia University, New York, NY, USA

Thomas N. Pajewski, PhD, MD Division of Neuroanesthesiology, Department of Anesthesiology, University of Virginia Health System, Charlottesville, VA, USA

Ashley K. Palmer Charlottesville, VA, USA

Vikas V. Patel, MD Department of Orthopedic Surgery, University of Colorado, Denver, CO, USA

Beate Poblete, MD Division of Anesthesiology, Luzerner Kantonsspital, Luzern, Switzerland

Ira J. Rampil, MS, MD Blue Sky Medicine, LLC, Williamson, GA, USA

Deborah A. Rusy, MD, MBA Department of Anesthesiology, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI, USA

Gerhard Schneider, MD Department of Anesthesiology, Emergency Medicine and Pain Therapy, University Witten/Herdecke, Helios Clinic Wuppertal, Wuppertal, North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany

Johannes Schramm, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Neurosurgery, University School of Medicine, Bonn, Germany

Daniel M. Schwartz, PhD Teaneck, NJ, USA

Raymond F. Sekula Jr., MD, MBA, FACS Department of Neurological Surgery, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Anthony K. Sestokas, PhD, DABNM, FASNM SpecialtyCare – IONM, Nashville, TN, USA

Christoph N. Seubert, MD, PhD, DABNM Department of Anesthesiology, University of Florida College of Medicine, Gainesville, FL, USA

Deepak Sharma, MBBS, MD, DM Departments of Anesthesiology & Pain Medicine and Neurological Surgery, Harborview Medical Center, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

Jay L. Shils, PhD, DABNM, FASNM, FACNS Department of Anesthesiology, Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, USA

Koki Shimoji, MD, PhD Niigata University Graduate School of Medicine, Niigata, Japan

Standard Medical Information Center, NPO, Pain Control Institute, Inc., Tokyo, Japan

Tod B. Sloan, MD, MBA, PhD Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, USA

Sulpicio G. Soriano, MD Department of Anesthesiology, Perioperative and Pain Medicine, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Department of Anaesthesia, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Matthew C. Tate, MD, PhD Department of Neurological Surgery, Northwestern Memorial Hospital, Chicago, IL, USA

J. Richard Toleikis, PhD Department of Anesthesiology, Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, USA

Sandra C. Toleikis, MA Department of Anesthesiology, Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, USA

David E. Traul, MD, PhD Department of General Anesthesiology, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, USA **Phillip E. Vlisides, PhD** Department of Anesthesiology, 1H247 University Hospital, University of Michigan Medical School, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Bonnie H. Wang, MD Department of Neurology, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Charles D. Yingling, PhD Golden Gate Neuromonitoring, San Francisco, CA, USA

Carine Zeeni, MD Department of Anesthesiology, American University of Beirut Medical Center, Beirut, Lebanon

Section I

Monitoring Techniques

Somatosensory-Evoked Potentials

1

Aimee Becker, Corey Amlong, and Deborah A. Rusy

Key Learning Points

- The ultimate goal of intraoperative SSEP monitoring is to ensure maintenance of neurologic integrity throughout a procedure with resultant improved outcome and decreased morbidity.
- General consensus is that standard SSEP recording monitors solely the dorsal column pathway, which mediates mechanoreception and proprioception. However, other pathways may contribute to somatosensory function, including the dorsal spinocerebellar tract, the anterolateral columns, the postsynaptic dorsal column pathway, and the vagus nerve.
- Stimulation and recording are the two major technical aspects of SSEP monitoring; understanding the parameters that affect each is critical to successful intraoperative SSEP monitoring. Stimulation parameters include electrode type, electrode placement, stimulus intensity, stimulus duration, stimulus rate, and unilateral versus bilateral stimulation. Recording parameters include electrode type,

A. Becker, M.D. (🖂) • C. Amlong, M.D., M.S. D.A. Rusy, M.D., M.B.A.

Department of Anesthesiology, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, B6/319, Clinical Sciences Center, 600 Highland Avenue, Madison, WI 53792, USA

e-mail: aweitzel@wisc.edu; caamlong@wisc.edu; darusy@wisc.edu

electrode placement (recording montage), and specific equipment parameters, which include channel availability, filters, averaging, and time base.

- Most anesthetic agents have detrimental effects on SSEPs, while a select few actually have beneficial effects. In general, cortical effects are more pronounced than peripheral effects.
- Several physiologic variables can affect the success or failure of SSEP monitoring, including patient temperature, blood pressure, hemoglobin levels, intracranial pressure, oxygenation, and ventilation.
- Reproducible baseline waveforms are crucial in SSEP monitoring. Evidence-based recommendations on when to intervene when SSEP monitoring is altered from baseline are difficult to provide due to the low specificity of SSEP monitoring. However, general consensus is that a 50% amplitude reduction and 10% increase in latency, not attributable to anesthetic or physiologic causes, are significant changes that warrant intervention.

Intraoperative application of evoked potentials has evolved during the past 30 years, and somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP) monitoring is the method most commonly employed [1]. The ultimate goal of intraoperative SSEP monitoring is to ensure maintenance of neurologic integrity throughout a procedure with resultant

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_1

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

improved outcome and decreased morbidity. The premise of evoked potentials is simple. When neural tissue is stimulated, either by true sensory or artificial electrical stimulation, ascending electrical impulses-or volleys-are sent through synapses via neural pathways. Depending on stimulation site and recording location, there is characteristic waveform morphology of the volley. Near-field potentials result when the neural impulse passes immediately beneath the reference electrode. Far-field potentials result from impulses distant to the recording electrodes. SSEPs are, in general, mixed-field potentials [2]. The value of intraoperative SSEP monitoring is derived from consistency-reproducible, recognizable waveforms-such that meaningful conclusions can be extrapolated from data for surgical guidance. An appreciation of the anatomy and the technical aspects of SSEPs is required for this successful consistency and intraoperative employment.

A. Becker et al.

Anatomy and Vascular Supply

The somatosensory system consists of the dorsal column–lemniscal pathway (Fig. 1.1), or posterior column pathway, and the spinothalamic pathway. The former pathway mediates mechanoreception and proprioception, whereas the latter mediates thermoreception and nociception. The general consensus is that standard SSEP recording monitors solely the dorsal column pathway. However, other pathways may contribute to somatosensory function, including the dorsal spinocerebellar tract, the anterolateral columns, the postsynaptic dorsal column pathway, and the vagus nerve [1, 3].

The pathway of the dorsal column–lemniscal tract begins with peripheral receptor stimulation of a first-order neuron in the dorsal root ganglia. This afferent volley is sent via the ipsilateral posterior spinal cord to the medullary nuclei to synapse on second-order neurons.



DORSAL COLUMN PATHWAY

- Fibres enter in the root entry zone and run upwards in the *dorsal columns* to the *lower medulla* where they terminate in the *nucleus gracilis* and *nucleus cuneatus*.
- Second order neurons decussate as the internal arcuate fibres and pass upwards in the medial lemniscus. Maintaining a somatotopic arrangement, they terminate in the ventral posterolateral thalamus.
- 3. *Third order neurons* arise in the thalamus and project to the *parietal cortex*.

Fig. 1.1 The dorsal column pathway. (1) Fibers enter in the root entry zone and run upward in the dorsal columns to the lower medulla where they terminate in the nucleus gracilis and nucleus cuneatus. (2) Second-order neurons decussate as the internal arcuate fibers and pass upward in

the medial lemniscus. Maintaining a somatotopic arrangement, they terminate in the ventral posterolateral thalamus. (*3*) Third-order neurons arise in the thalamus and project to the parietal cortex (from Lindsay and Bone [83]; with permission) These second-order neurons decussate in the medulla as the internal arcuate fibers and ascend in the medial lemniscal pathway to third-order neurons in the ventroposterior nuclei of the thalamus, maintaining a somatotopic arrangement. Projections from the thalamus proceed to the sensorimotor cortex, where further synapsing occurs. Synapses are believed to be the site of action for inhalational anesthetics; thus, the early SSEP response is minimally affected by inhalational anesthetics. However, as the volley ascends the dorsal column-lemniscal pathway and more synapses occur en route to the cortex, cortical SSEPs are increasingly susceptible to the effects of inhalational anesthetics (see Chap. 19 for more discussion of anesthesia) [1, 4, 5]. Perfusion to the dorsal column-lemniscal pathway usually comes from the posterior spinal arteries in the spinal cord. The posterior spinal artery originates from the vertebral arteries and travels bilaterally the length of the spinal cord in the posterior lateral sulci, supplying the posterior one-third of the spinal cord, including the posterior horns as well as the dorsal columnlemniscal pathway [6]. The anterior spinal artery, also arising from the vertebral arteries, supplies the anterior and anterolateral two-thirds of the spinal cord, including the anterior horns, spinothalamic tracts, and corticospinal tracts. However, there is a great degree of individual variability in origin of vascular supply for both the posterior and anterior spinal arteries, with each being supported by a varying number of radicular arteries, particularly in the thoracic spinal cord. Chapter 40 ("Electrophysiological Monitoring During Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm Surgery") discusses blood supply of the spinal cord in greater detail.

As the dorsal column–lemniscal pathway ascends to the medullary nuclei of the brainstem, perfusion comes from both the vertebral artery and perforating branches of the basilar artery. While the somatosensory cortex maintains somatotopic arrangement, blood supply is divided into the anterior and middle cerebral artery. The anterior cerebral artery supplies the cortex representing the lower extremity while the middle cerebral artery supplies the cortex supplying the face, head, neck, trunk, and upper extremity. Venous drainage is provided by a large venous network encircling the spinal cord. This network flows to either the median posterior or anterior spinal veins. Venous blood then flows through numerous radicular veins and ultimately to the azygous and pelvic venous systems [6, 7].

Methods

As mentioned, the foremost goal of SSEP monitoring should be consistency. Achieving this consistency requires manipulation of the two major technical aspects of acquiring SSEPs: stimulation and recording. The following recommendations are based largely on published guidelines from "Intraoperative Monitoring Using Somatosensory Evoked Potentials: A Position Statement by the American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring" [1].

Stimulation

In order to achieve consistent intraoperative SSEP monitoring, adequate stimulation must be applied. Stimulation parameters include electrode type, electrode placement, stimulus intensity, stimulus duration, stimulus rate, and unilateral versus bilateral stimulation. The specific hardware and software employed for stimulation and recording exists in a variety of commercially available units [1, 2, 8–10].

The first step to meaningful intraoperative SSEP monitoring is stimulating appropriate nerves for a given operation. In general [1, 8, 9], nerves chosen for intraoperative monitoring should be below, with recording sites above, the area at risk from surgery such that the monitored pathway travels through the neural area at risk. For example, during corrective thoracic scoliosis surgery, monitoring solely upper extremity SSEPs would be insufficient as the lower extremity dorsal column tract through the spinal cord would be missed. For this example, it would be useful to monitor the upper extremity SSEPs for position-related injury. The upper extremity SSEPs would also provide useful information for interpreting the lower extremity SSEPs. In this case, a significant amplitude reduction throughout all waveforms is more likely to be related to anesthetic or physiologic parameters than if the amplitude change occurred in just the lower extremity SSEPs.

From a hardware standpoint, successful SSEP monitoring begins with proper electrode selection. Stimulation electrode options include bar electrodes, EEG metal disk electrodes, subdermal needle electrodes, and adhesive surface electrodes. While each has advantages and disadvantages, adhesive surface electrodes are typically used intraoperatively as they are noninvasive and adhere reliably throughout the dynamic intraoperative period (including patient position changes and patient edema). Subdermal needle electrodes are also commonly used by many providers, especially when stimulation must occur within the sterile field as they can be placed intraoperatively in a sterile fashion by the surgeon. Subdermal needle electrodes are also recommended in cases where stimulation needs to occur closer to the nerve (e.g., obese or edematous patients).

Correct placement of stimulation electrodes with respect to the nerve is also critical to adequate stimulation and subsequent stable SSEPs. Placement is dependent on both the electrode being used and the nerve being stimulated (e.g., surface electrodes are generally placed 2–3 cm apart, whereas subdermal needles are placed 1 cm apart) [1, 2, 8–10].

For upper extremity SSEPs, frequently used peripheral nerves include the median nerve (C5-T1) at the wrist and the ulnar nerve (C8-T1, \pm C7) at the wrist or elbow. For median nerve stimulation, the cathode is placed over the median nerve 2-4 cm proximal to the wrist crease, and the anode is placed 2-3 cm distal over the median nerve (Note: The cathode is the proximal electrode connected to the negative pole of the stimulator; the anode is the distal electrode connected to the positive pole; this convention is used to avoid a phenomenon known as anode blocking). For ulnar stimulation at the wrist, the cathode is placed 2-4 cm proximal to the wrist crease and the anode is placed 2-3 cm distal, both over the ulnar nerve. Ulnar nerve stimulation at the elbow

begins by locating the ulnar groove. The cathode is then placed 2 cm proximal to the elbow crease at the ulnar groove, while the anode is placed 2-3 cm distal over the ulnar nerve. For these mixed nerves, corresponding muscle twitch (i.e., thumb adduction) with stimulation confirms appropriate electrode placement [1, 8–10].

Lower extremity peripheral nerves commonly used for intraoperative monitoring include the posterior tibial nerve (L4-S3) at the ankle and the peroneal nerve (L4–S2) at the head of the fibula. For posterior tibial nerve stimulation, the cathode is placed between the medial malleolus and the Achilles tendon, just proximal to the malleolus; the anode is placed 2-3 cm distal over the posterior tibial nerve as it courses around the medial malleolus. For peroneal nerve stimulation, the cathode is placed just medial to the head of the fibula. The anode is placed 2-3 cm distal. For these mixed nerves, corresponding muscle twitch (i.e., plantar toe flexion with posterior tibial nerve stimulation and eversion of the foot with peroneal nerve stimulation) with stimulation confirms appropriate electrode placement [1, 8-10].

The electrical stimulus applied during SSEP monitoring is a series of square-wave pulses, with durations of 0.1–0.3 ms, at a given intensity [1, 3, 8, 9]. When stimulating mixed sensory and motor nerves, the stimulus intensity is adjusted to elicit a minimal twitch of the distal muscles innervated by the peripheral nerves. In purely sensory nerves, stimulation intensity two to three times the sensory threshold is recommended [2]. Typical intraoperative stimulation intensity ranges from 10 to 50 mA. However, stimulation intensity up to 100 mA may be required intraoperatively to elicit a reproducible, recognizable waveform, as there may be underlying pathology in addition to the deleterious effects of anesthetics on SSEPs [1].

Possible tissue damage from repeated high current at the stimulation sites warrants consideration, but the literature contains no evidence to support this concern as long as stimulation is within parameters on commercially available instruments for SSEP monitoring [1]. Use of constant current stimulation is recommended to compensate for any change in contact resistance. This compensation is limited by the maximum
output voltage of the stimulator. With constant current stimulation, the output of the stimulator is current-limited when contact resistance is excessive. Most instruments designed for SSEP monitoring have a built-in warning for this [1, 8, 9].

The frequency of stimulation generally ranges from 2 to 5 Hz [1, 8–10]. To decrease noise with averaging, the rate of stimulation should not be an integer multiple of the line power supply frequency (50 or 60 Hz), the most common noise frequency. When excessive noise occurs, small changes in the stimulus rate may improve the SSEP quality [1, 11].

Stimulation can be unilateral or bilateral. Simultaneous bilateral stimulation can enhance SSEPs, while potentially masking unilateral changes. To effectively and simultaneously monitor both sides of an extremity pair, interleaved unilateral (alternating left and right) stimulation is recommended [1].

Recording

In conjunction with adequate stimulation, appropriate recording techniques must be employed to achieve consistent intraoperative SSEP monitoring. Recording parameters include electrode type, electrode placement (recording montage), and specific equipment parameters, which include channel availability, filters, averaging, and time base.

As with stimulating electrodes, a variety of recording electrodes are available, each with attendant advantages and disadvantages. For intraoperative SSEP recording, subdermal needles and metal disk electrodes are used most frequently. Subdermal needles are placed quickly, though they must be secured with tape or surgical staples to prevent dislodging. Metal cup electrodes take longer to secure and require conductive gel or paste. Corkscrew electrodes, like subdermal needles, are quickly placed and have the advantage of being fairly secure. For direct cortical recording, as employed during corticography, strip or grid array electrodes are used [1, 10, 12, 13]. A ground electrode is placed

between the stimulation sites and recording electrodes, usually on the shoulder [3].

As mentioned previously, recording sites for intraoperative monitoring should be proximal to the surgical area at risk, with stimulation sites distal. As the neural volley ascends the dorsal column–lemniscal pathway, different generators of the potential are recorded by various recording electrodes.

Recording electrical activity requires measurement of voltage between two electrode sites, an active electrode and a reference electrode. These electrode pairs are called recording montages, denoted by: active electrode–reference electrode. In general, one cortical montage and one subcortical montage are used to record the ascending neural volley for intraoperative SSEPs. Scalp electrode locations for recording are based on the 10–20 International System of EEG electrode placement (Fig. 1.2). An additional recording site, distal to the stimulation site but proximal to the surgical site, is often used to verify peripheral conduction [1].

A recording from a given montage for a specific stimulated peripheral nerve has a characteristic waveform distribution measured in amplitude (microvolts) and latency (milliseconds). This is recorded on a graph of voltage (microvolts) versus time (milliseconds) and represents the SSEP. In general, this characteristic morphology is from synapses at sites along the neural pathway. These sites are referred to as the generators of the waveform. Waveforms are labeled "N" and "P" to represent the polarity of the signal (generally negative is up, positive is down, although the specific convention used may vary by individual) followed by an integer to represent the poststimulus latency of the wave in normal adults. For example, for cortical recording from median nerve stimulation, characteristic peaks N20 (a negative, or upward, deflection at about 20 ms) and P22 (a positive, or downward, deflection at about 22 ms) define the amplitude of the waveform (Figs. 1.3 and 1.4). The generators of these peaks are thought to be the thalamus and somatosensory cortex [1, 9].

Table 1.1 is not meant to be an exhaustive list of possible recording montages for upper



Fig. 1.2 10–20 International System of Electrode Placement. A single plane projection of the head, showing all standard positions and locations of the rolandic and Sylvian fissures. The outer circle was drawn at the level of the nasion and inion. The inner circle represents the temporal line of electrodes. This diagram provides a useful

stamp for the indication of electrode placements in routine recording. "CP" and "FP" locations are midway between the designated "C" and "P" or "C" and "F" locations, respectively, "c" and "i" indicate respective locations contralateral or ipsilateral to the side of stimulation, respectively (from Klem et al. [84]; with permission)



Fig. 1.3 Schematic diagram of normal SSEPs to arm stimulation. Tracings are obtained from the regions identified on the anatomic model (from Misulis and Fakhoury [2]; with permission)



Fig. 1.4 Normal posterior tibial nerve SSEPs. Traces from bottom to top show popliteal fossa potential, lumbar potential, low thoracic potential, and scalp potential (from Misulis and Fakhoury [2]; with permission)

Table 1.1	Neural generators	for median and	l tibial nerve SEP	generators
-----------	-------------------	----------------	--------------------	------------

Median nerve SEP generators			Tibial nerve SEP generators				
Label	Generator	Common channels used	Alternate labels	Label	Generator	Common channels used	Alternate labels
N9	Brachial plexus	EPi-EPc	Erb's	Popliteal	Tibial nerve action potential	Popliteal	
N11	Spinal nerve root	Crv-Fpz		N23	Dorsal horn interneurons	T12-iliac cr.	Lumbar point
N13a	Dorsal horn interneurons	Crv6-Fpz	Cervical, subcortical	P31	Medulla	Crv-Fpz, Mast-Fpz	Cervical subcortical
N13b	Dorsal column	Crv2-Fpz	Cervical, subcortical	N34	Primary sensory cortex	Cc-Fpz	N37
P13	Spinomedullary junction	Crv-Fpz, Mast-Fpz	Cervical, subcortical	P38	Primary sensory cortex	Ci-Fpz, Cz'-Fpz, Ci-Cc, Cz'-Cc	P39, P40, cortical
P14	Lemniscal paths, cuneate nucleus	Crv-Fpz, Mast-Fpz	Cervical, subcortical	N38	Primary sensory cortex	Cc-Fpz	
N18	Brainstem/ thalamic	Ci-noncephalic					
N19	Primary sensory cortex	Cc-Fz, Cc-Ci	N20, cortical				
P22	Primary motor cortex	Cc-Fz, Cc-Ci					

^aFrom Minahan and Mandir [82]; with permission

extremity and lower extremity peripheral nerve stimulation. However, it is meant to assist with understanding evoked potentials and provide a background for intraoperative monitoring.

For upper extremity peripheral nerve stimulation, there are several montages commonly used for cortical recording. The responses recorded are most likely generated by the thalamus and somatosensory cortex. Since cortical responses are characteristically sensitive to general anesthetics, and because patients in the operating room may have underlying neurologic injury, different montages may be used to enhance cortical response amplitude. Montages include CPc–2 cm posterior to CPc (contralateral cortex to the stimulus; i.e., CP3 for right arm stimulation and CP4 for left arm stimulation), CPc–Fz (midline frontal electrode), CPc–FPz, and CPc–CPi (cortex ipsilateral to the stimulus) [1, 3, 10].

For subcortical recording of upper extremity peripheral nerve stimulation, response generators vary with the montage used and include the spinal cord, the cervicomedullary junction, higher parts of the brainstem, and the thalamus. Common montages include CPi–Erbc (Erb's point contralateral to the stimulus), CvN (posterior spinal cervical electrode over the Nth cervical spinous process, typically C6 or C7)–Fz, Fz–A1A2 (linked ear electrodes), Cz–A1A2, and FPz–A1A2 [2, 3, 10].

Cortical recording of stimulation of lower extremity peripheral nerves represents generators of the neural volley in the somatosensory cortex. Recording montages used include CPz–2 cm posterior to Cz, CPz–Fz, CPz–CPc, and FPz–Cz [2, 3, 10].

The generator source(s) of far-field subcortical potentials from lower extremity peripheral nerve stimulation are thought to lie in the brainstem. Recording montages to acquire these potentials include CPi–A1A2, CvN–Fz, and FPz–A1A2 [2, 3, 10].

Peripheral recording of the nerve volley distal to the stimulation site but proximal to the surgical site can confirm the conduction of the peripheral stimulus. For lower extremity SSEPs, this site is the ipsilateral popliteal fossa—one electrode at the popliteal fossa (4–6 cm above crease) and the other placed 2–4 cm proximal. For upper extremity SSEPs this site is the ipsilateral Erb's point (2 cm above the midpoint of the clavicle and at the posterior border of the head of the sternocleidomastoid muscle) referenced to the contralateral Erb's point or a scalp electrode, often Fz [1, 3, 10].

After acquisition of the evoked potential, some signal manipulation is required to distinguish the evoked potential from background noise such as spontaneous EEG activity, ECG activity, muscle activity, or 60 Hz noise. Amplifiers are used to increase the size of the biologic signal, while filters are used to reduce noise. The signal is averaged over repeated stimuli to increase the signal-to-noise ratio [1].

Filters should be set to provide quality potentials with the least amount of averaging. Low frequency (high pass) filter and high frequency (low pass) filter settings are combined to eliminate components of the acquired potential outside the range of the evoked potential being studied. For most instruments, the standard settings are 20 Hz for the low frequency filter and 3000 Hz for the high frequency filter. Maintaining standard settings allows a laboratory to make meaningful comparisons for any given patient to laboratory normals [1].

However, since intraoperative potentials are also compared to a patient's baseline recorded earlier in the case, other suggested settings specific to either cortical or subcortical potentials have been suggested. For cortical potentials, these suggested filter settings are 1–30 Hz for the low frequency filter and 250–1000 Hz for the high frequency filter. For subcortical potentials, 30-100 Hz and 1000-3000 Hz are suggested, respectively. To improve cortical SSEPs, setting the high frequency filter as low as 300-500 Hz may help decrease artifact as the relative frequency content of cortical potentials is lower than subcortical potentials. The 60-Hz rejection filter should be reserved as a last resort to improve SSEPs as it can cause "ringing artifact" [1, 8–10].

Recorded potentials are averaged over repeated stimuli to increase the signal-to-noise ratio. Guidelines have suggested acquiring 500–2000 trials per averaged response [1, 8, 9]. However, the signal-to-noise ratio and need for prompt intraoperative reporting may dictate the number of trials averaged. The optimal choice of montage allows the largest signal-to-noise ratio, which minimizes the number of averages needed and the acquisition time of a response [12–15]. In addition, in a rare patient, the somatosensory fibers are uncrossed such that the ipsilateral and contralateral cortex need to be evaluated for the maximal amplitude [16].

The timebase (milliseconds) for waveform display also needs to be appropriate for the given potential. Generally, this means 50 ms for upper extremity potentials and 100 ms for lower extremity potentials [1]. Also, in the presence of underlying abnormal neurologic function and subsequent increased latency of SSEPs, the timebase may need to be increased to adequately acquire and display the evoked potential.

Intraoperative Variables Affecting SSEPS: Pharmacology and Physiology

In addition to the stimulation and recording parameters discussed earlier, pharmacologic and physiologic variables can also significantly affect the reliable recording of evoked potentials. Understanding how these variables influence the process is essential to successful intraoperative SSEP monitoring.

Anesthetic drugs have various effects on SSEPs. While the mechanisms of action for specific anesthetic drugs differ along with each drug's effect on SSEPs (i.e., some drugs enhance SSEPs, while most decrease SSEPs), all anesthetics share a general mechanism of action by either altering the function of synapses or axonal conduction to change neuronal excitability (see Chap. 19) [4, 5]. As the number of synapses in a pathway increases, the effect of a given anesthetic drug on the SSEP is more pronounced. Therefore, cortical potentials are more sensitive than subcortical, spinal, or peripheral nerve recordings to anesthetic effects [1, 4, 17]. This includes both deleterious and augmentative effects on SSEPs.

Inhalational Anesthetics

Halogenated inhalational agents produce a doserelated reduction in amplitude and increase in latency of SSEPs. This SSEP decrement is more pronounced for cortical recordings than subcortical, spinal, or peripheral recordings [1, 4, 17].

Nitrous oxide decreases cortical SSEP amplitude and increases latency [18, 19]. This effect is synergistic with halogenated inhalational agents and most intravenous anesthetics [1, 4, 17, 19, 20]. For example, with equipotent doses, nitrous oxide combined with halogenated agents produces a greater decrease in amplitude and increase in latency of the cortical SSEP [15, 19]. As with halogenated agents, the effect on subcortical and peripheral SSEPs is minimal [1, 4, 17, 19].

Intravenous Anesthetics

In general, the intravenous drug effects on SSEPs are less than those from inhalational agents. With the exceptions of etomidate and ketamine, minimal effects on cortical SSEPs are seen with low doses of intravenous anesthetics. Moderate reduction in amplitude and increase in latency are seen with higher doses, again with the exceptions of etomidate and ketamine. Most intravenous agents have negligible effects on subcortical SSEPs. The following provides details for specific intravenous anesthetic effects on SSEPs.

Barbiturates produce a short-term dosedependent reduction in amplitude and increase in latency of cortical SSEPs, with little effect on subcortical and peripheral SSEPs [1, 4, 17, 21]. Specifically, the SSEP decrement for induction doses of thiopental lasts less than 10 min [20– 23]. Infusion of methohexital as part of a total intravenous general anesthetic has been shown to provide excellent conditions for SSEP monitoring [24]. Even at doses causing coma, barbiturates allow the monitoring of cortical SSEPs [1, 4, 21, 25–28].

Propofol influences SSEPs in a similar manner to that of barbiturates but with desirable rapid emergence after prolonged infusion. As a one-time induction dose, there is no change in amplitude for cortical and subcortical SSEPs from median nerve stimulation, but there is a mild increase in cortical latency [21, 29]. Propofol induction and infusion causes cortical amplitude reduction with recovery after infusion termination [4, 30]. Propofol has no effect on epiduralevoked potentials [4, 31]. Combined with opioids, propofol produces less cortical amplitude depression than nitrous oxide or midazolam [1, 21, 32–35]. Compared to equipotent doses of halogenated agents [1, 3] or nitrous oxide [1, 36], the amplitude decrement is less with propofol. As part of a balanced total intravenous anesthetic, propofol is compatible with intraoperative monitoring of SSEPs [1, 4, 21, 33, 37, 38].

Etomidate and ketamine are unique in that they increase cortical SSEP amplitude. Etomidate produces a marked increase in cortical amplitude and a mild increase in cortical latency [1, 4, 17–22, 37]. Etomidate's effects on subcortical amplitude vary from no change to mild reduction [1, 4, 17, 20–22, 37, 38]. Despite this potential for subcortical SSEP amplitude reduction and variable peak specific effects on latency, infusion of etomidate as part of a total intravenous general anesthetic has been used to improve cortical SSEPs [4, 39, 40], even when intraoperative monitoring was otherwise unobtainable [4, 39]. Etomidate has the drawback of adrenal suppression.

Ketamine increases cortical SSEP amplitudes with no change in cortical latency or subcortical potentials [1, 4, 21, 41, 42]. The addition of nitrous oxide [4, 41] or enflurane 1.0 MAC [4, 43] to a ketamine anesthetic decreases SSEP amplitude by approximately 50%. However, ketamine has been used successfully as part of a balanced anesthetic with midazolam and nitrous oxide for intraoperative SSEP monitoring during spine surgery [21, 44] and is an acceptable component of total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) for SSEPs [1, 3]. Drawbacks to ketamine include hallucinations, long half-life with subsequent prolonged emergence, sympathomimetic effects, and increased intracranial pressure in the setting of intracranial pathology.

The alpha-2 agonists clonidine and dexmedetomidine are anesthetic agents with a broad spectrum of applications. Adjuvant clonidine [21] and dexmedetomidine [21, 45–47] use is compatible with intraoperative SSEP monitoring.

In general, systemic opioids mildly decrease cortical SSEP amplitude and mildly increase latency with minimal effect on subcortical and peripheral potentials [1, 4, 19, 21]. Bolus dosing of opioids has a greater impact on SSEP changes than continuous infusion [1]. Therefore, opioid infusions are an important component of anesthefor intraoperative SSEP monitoring. sia Remifentanil is often used as it has a short context sensitive half-time and promotes rapid emergence. Neuraxial opioids, excluding meperidine, have minimal or no effect on SSEPs [4, 17, 21, 48–51]. The decreased cortical amplitude and increased cortical latency seen with subarachnoid meperidine [21, 48] is likely secondary to its local anesthetic-like qualities. Neuraxial opioidonly techniques can augment analgesia without affecting intraoperative SSEP monitoring.

Benzodiazepines have mild depressant effects on cortical SSEPs [1, 4, 21]. In the absence of other agents, midazolam causes mild to no depression of cortical SSEPs, a moderate increase in N20 latency, and minimal to no effects on subcortical and peripheral potentials [1, 4, 20, 52]. Used as an intermittent bolus or continuous infusion (50–90 μ g/kg/h) to promote intraoperative SSEP monitoring [1], midazolam is useful to promote amnesia with TIVA and to ameliorate hallucinations with ketamine [17].

Droperidol, a sedative-hypnotic used in neuroanesthesia, has minimal effects on SSEPs [1, 4, 17]. Concern for QT prolongation is a consideration.

Neuromuscular blocking agents commonly used during general anesthesia do not directly affect SSEPs. However, by decreasing electromyographic artifact and/or interference from muscle groups near recording electrodes, neuromuscular blockers may increase the signal-tonoise ratio and improve the quality of SSEP waveforms [4, 21, 53].

Perioperative infusion of systemic lidocaine is used to decrease postoperative pain. Infusion of relatively high-dose lidocaine has been shown to decrease cortical SSEP amplitude and increase latency [54], while lower infusion rates have been shown to have no effect [55].

Summarizing pharmacologic effects, intravenous anesthetic agents are more compatible with intraoperative monitoring of SSEPs than inhalational agents. While inhalational agents have been used in low dose combined with other intravenous agents, TIVA is preferred for consistent intraoperative SSEP monitoring in patients with small-amplitude SSEPs. Also, motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) are frequently paired with intraoperative SSEP monitoring and are extremely sensitive to inhalational agents, often requiring TIVA. TIVA can be any combination of intravenous drugs for end-effects of hypnosis, amnesia, analgesia, optimal surgical conditions (i.e., an immobile patient), and quick metabolism for an immediate postoperative neurologic examination. A typical infusion combination is propofol and remifentanil with intermittent midazolam, with or without muscle relaxant. However, as mentioned previously, various other hypnotic and opioid drugs may be used. To help ensure amnesia, a monitor of anesthetic depth may be useful (see Chap. 19 for additional information about anesthesia considerations).

The physiologic milieu of an intraoperative patient is very dynamic and can affect SSEP amplitude and/or latency.

Temperature

Changes in body temperature affect SSEPs. Mild hypothermia increases cortical SSEP latency but has little effect on cortical amplitude and subcortical or peripheral responses [1,]. Mild hypothermia (down to 32 °C) may even be associated with increased cortical amplitudes [56–58]. With profound hypothermia, cortical SSEPs disappear. Subcortical, spinal, and peripheral responses may remain with increased latency, but they also disappear at lower temperatures [1, 59]. Rewarming improves the latencies but not in the reverse trajectory as cooling [1, 21]. Mild hyperthermia (39 °C) is associated with a decrease in cortical and subcortical latencies with no change in amplitudes [21, 60]. Similar to core temperature, local temperature changes at anatomic sites can affect SSEPs. For example, temperature changes at the surgical site from surgical exposure or cold irrigation in the surgical field can affect SSEPs. Also, stimulating an extremity exposed to cold intraoperative temperatures, with or without cold intravenous fluid infusing, may affect SSEPs [4].

Tissue Perfusion

Changes in blood pressure can affect tissue perfusion and thus can affect SSEPs. If perfusion is insufficient to meet basic metabolic demands of the tissue, cortical SSEP amplitude begins to diminish. With normothermia, this occurs when cerebral perfusion decreases to about 18 cm³/ min/100 g of tissue [1, 4, 17, 61–63]. Further reductions in perfusion below approximately 15 cm³/min/100 g of tissue can cause loss of cortical SSEPs [1, 4, 51, 53, 61–63]. Subcortical responses are less sensitive to reductions in tissue perfusion.

Regional ischemia, with or without any degree of systemic hypotension, can be caused by local factors that can affect SSEPs. Examples include spinal distraction, surgical retractor-induced ischemia, position ischemia, tourniquet-induced ischemia, ischemia from vascular injury, and vascular clips (either temporary or permanent) [4, 64–66].

Oxygen delivery is affected by changes in hematocrit, which alters oxygen-carrying capacity and blood viscosity. Primate data reveal that in general, mild anemia produces an increase in SSEP amplitude. Primate data also reveal that reductions in hematocrit beyond mild anemia cause further SSEP amplitude reduction and increase in SSEP latency [4, 21, 67, 68].

Oxygenation/Ventilation

Variations in both oxygen and carbon dioxide levels can affect SSEPs. Mild hypoxemia does not affect SSEPs [4, 69]. A decrease in SSEP amplitude was reported as a manifestation of intraoperative hypoxemia [70]. Up to a $PaCO_2$ of 50 mmHg, hypercarbia has no effect on human SSEPs [21, 71]. Cortical amplitude augmentation and a mild decrease in latency occur with hyperventilation in awake volunteers [21, 69]. However, in isoflurane-anesthetized patients, hypocapnia to 20–25 mmHg caused no change in amplitude and a mild decrease in latency [21, 72].

Intracranial Pressure

Increased intracranial pressure decreases amplitude and increases latency of cortical SSEPs [4, 59]. As intracranial pressure increases, there is pressure-related cortical SSEP decrements and concurrent loss of subcortical responses with uncal herniation [4].

Other Physiologic Variables

A multitude of other physiologic factors may affect SSEPs, including fluctuations in electrolytes and glucose, total blood volume, and central venous pressure [4].

Criteria for Intervention During Intraoperative SSEP Monitoring

Reproducible, recognizable baseline waveforms are the foundation of successful intraoperative SSEP monitoring. It is from these baselines that intraoperative changes are based. The dynamic intraoperative milieu, including surgical and anesthetic influences, can make the process of SSEP monitoring challenging and complicate the interpretation of the significance of changes from baseline. Providing evidence-based alarm criteria for intraoperative changes in amplitude and latency is difficult. Intraoperative SSEP changes of 45-50% amplitude reduction and 7-10% latency increases can occur without changes in postoperative neurologic function [21, 73–75]. However, empirically, an amplitude reduction of 50% or greater and/or a latency increase of 10% or more, not attributable to anesthetic or physiologic causes, are considered significant changes warranting intervention [1, 21, 76, 77]. The validity of these alarm criteria has been studied [1, 78, 79].

Intraoperative Applications for SSEPs

Intraoperative SSEPs are employed for a wide range of surgeries. The common goal is to ensure maintenance of neurologic integrity throughout a procedure with resultant improved outcome and decreased morbidity. Nerve root function can be monitored with SSEPs intraoperatively, although SSEPs may be insensitive to changes in single nerve root function (see also Dermatomal-Evoked Potentials). Peripheral nerves and brachial plexus monitoring can be used for surgical guidance as well as for avoidance of positionrelated neuropraxia during surgeries such as total hip arthroplasty and shoulder arthroscopy. Spinal cord function can be monitored during spine fusions, spinal cord tumor removal, arteriovenous malformation repair, and abdominal and thoracic aortic aneurysm repair. The brain stem and cortical structures can be monitored during tumor resection, carotid endarterectomy, and cerebral aneurysm clipping. Also, SSEPs can be employed to localize the border of the motor cortex intraoperatively [2] (see Chap. 9, "Brain and Spinal Cord Mapping").

Dermatomal-Evoked Potentials

Evoked potentials elicited by stimulating individual dermatomes are called dermatomal SSEPs (DSSEPs). Surface electrodes are used to stimulate a single dermatome mediated by a unique nerve root. Dermatome maps to guide optimal placement of surface electrodes exist [1, 80, 81]. In contrast to SSEPS where supramaximal stimulation intensities should be used to provide reproducible and reliable evoked responses, high stimulation intensities for DSSEPs can cause current spread and elicit responses from adjacent dermatomes. Also, stimulus intensity can affect DSSEP latencies [1, 80]. Therefore, minimally effective stimulation intensities need to be used for DSSEPs. Recording parameters are the same for DSSEPs as SSEPs. Cortical responses are typically larger in amplitude than subcortical responses. Because DSSEPs are sensitive to nerve root compression and mechanical stimulation [1, 81], intraoperative employment of DSSEPs includes the following: pedicle screw placement, cauda equina tumor resection, tethered cord release, and surgical treatment of spina bifida. However, due to dermatomal overlap and variability, along with side-to-side relative stimulation intensity, usefulness of DSSEPs can be compromised [1, 80]. In addition, there are other limitations to the intraoperative employment that make DSSEPs controversial for assessing spinal nerve root function. Specifically, a misplaced pedicle screw is detected only when there is contact with the nerve root monitored [1, 80]. Use of DSSEPs is further limited by their exquisite sensitivity to anesthetics [81].

References

- Tolekis JR. Intraoperative monitoring using somatosensory evoked potentials: a position statement by the American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2005;19:241–58.
- Misulis KE, Fakhoury T. Spehlmann's evoked potential primer. 3rd ed. Woburn, MA: Butterworth-Heinemann; 2001.
- Cruccu G, Aminoff MJ, Curio G, et al. Recommendations for the clinical use of somatosensory-evoked potentials. Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;119:1705–19.
- Sloan TB, Heyer EJ. Anesthesia for intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring of the spinal cord. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19(5):430–43.
- Sloan T. Anesthetics and the brain. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2002;20:1–27.
- Mullen M, McGarvey M. Spinal cord infarction: vascular anatomy and etiologies. In: Wilterdink J, editor. Waltham, MA: UpToDate; 2015. http://www.uptodate. com/contents/spinal-cord-infarction-vascularanatomy-and-etiologies. Accessed 19 May 2015.
- Cheshire WP, Santos CC, Massey EW, Howard Jr JF. Spinal cord infarction: etiology and outcome. Neurology. 1996;47(2):321.
- American Electroencephalographic Society. Guidelines for intraoperative monitoring of sensory

evoked potentials. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1987;4: 397–416.

- American Electroencephalographic Society. Guidelines for intraoperative monitoring of sensory evoked potentials. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1994;11:77–87.
- International Organization of Societies for Electrophysiological Technology (OSET). Guidelines for performing EEG and evoked potential monitoring during surgery. Am J END Technol. 1999;39: 257–77.
- Stecker MM. Generalized averaging and noise levels in evoked responses. Comput Biol Med. 2000; 30:247–65.
- Celesia GG. Somatosensory evoked potentials recorded directly from human thalamus and Sm I cortical area. Arch Neurol. 1979;36:399–405.
- Kelly Jr DL, Goldring S, O'Leary JL. Averaged evoked somatosensory responses from exposed cortex of man. Arch Neurol. 1965;13:1–9.
- MacDonald DB, Al Zayed Z, Stigsby B. Tibial somatosensory evoked potential intraoperative monitoring: recommendations based on signal to noise ratio analysis of popliteal fossa, optimized P37, standard P37, and P31 potentials. Clin Neurophysiol. 2005;116(8):1858–69.
- MacDonald DB, Al-Zayed Z, Stigsby B, Al-Homoud I. Median somatosensory evoked potential intraoperative monitoring: recommendations based on signal-to-noise ratio analysis. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;120(2):315–28.
- MacDonald DB, Streletz LJ, Al-Zayed Z, Abdool S, Stigsby B. Intraoperative neurophysiologic discovery of uncrossed sensory and motor pathways in a patient with horizontal gaze palsy and scoliosis. Clin Neurophysiol. 2004;115(3):576–82.
- Sloan T. Evoked potentials. In: Albin MS, editor. A textbook of neuroanesthesia with neurosurgical and neuroscience perspectives. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill; 1997. p. 221–76.
- Sloan TB, Koht A. Depression of cortical somatosensory evoked potentials by nitrous oxide. Br J Anaesth. 1985;57:849–52.
- Sloan TB. Anesthetic effects on electrophysiologic recordings. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1998;15:217–26.
- 20. Koht A, Schutz W, Schmidt G, Schramm J, Watanabe E. Effects of etomidate, midazolam, and thiopental on median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials and the additive effects of fentanyl and nitrous oxide. Anesth Analg. 1988;67:435–41.
- Banoub M, Tetzlaff JE, Schubert A. Pharmacologic and physiologic influences affecting sensory evoked potentials: implications for perioperative monitoring. Anesthesiology. 2003;99:716–37.
- McPherson RW, Sell B, Thaystman RJ. Effect of thiopental, fentanyl and etomidate on upper extremity somatosensory evoked potentials in humans. Anesthesiology. 1986;65:584–9.
- Ikuta T. Effects of thiopental on the human somatosensory evoked response. Folia Psychiatr Neurol Jpn. 1966;20:19–31.

- Sloan TB, Vasquez J, Burger E. Methohexital in total intravenous anesthesia during intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2013;27:697–702.
- Ganes T, Lundar T. The effect of thiopentone on somatosenory evoked responses and EEGs in comatose patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1983;46:509–14.
- Drummond JC, Todd MM, U HS. The effect of high dose sodium thiopental on brainstem auditory and median nerve somatosensory evoked responses in humans. Anesthesiology. 1985;63:249–54.
- Sutton LN, Frewen T, Marsh R, Jaggi J, Bruce DA. The effects of deep barbiturate coma on multimodality evoked potentials. J Neurosurg. 1982;57:178–85.
- Drummond JC, Todd MM, Schubert A, Sang H. Effect of acute administration of high dose pentobarbital on human brainstem auditory and median nerve somatosensory evoked responses. Neurosurgery. 1987;20:830–5.
- Scheepstra GL, deLange JJ, Booij LH, Ross HH. Median nerve evoked potentials during propofol anesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 1989;62:92–4.
- Kalkman CJ, Drummond JC, Ribberink AA. Effects of propofol, etomidate, midazolam, and fentanyl on motor evoked responses to transcranial electrical or magnetic stimulation in humans. Anesthesiology. 1992;76:502–9.
- Angel A, LeBeau F. A comparison of the effects of propofol with other anesthetic agents on the centripetal transmission of sensory information. Gen Pharmacol. 1992;23:945–63.
- Schwartz DM, Schwartz JA, Pratt Jr RE, Wierzbowski LR, Sestokas AK. Influence of nitrous oxide on posterior tibial nerve cortical somatosensory evoked potentials. J Spine Disord. 1997;10:80–6.
- 33. Borrissov B, Langeron O, Lille F, et al. Combination of propofol-sufentanil on somatosensory evoked potentials in surgery of the spine. Ann Francaises d Anesth et de Reanimation. 1995;14:326–30.
- 34. Kalkman CJ, Traast H, Zuurmond WW, Bovill JG. Differential effects of propofol and nitrous oxide on posterior tibial nerve somatosensory cortical evoked potentials during alfentanil anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 1991;66:483–9.
- 35. Laureau E, Marciniak B, Hèbrard A, Herbaux B, Guieu JD. Comparative study of propofol and midazolam effects on somatosensory evoked potentials during surgical treatment of scoliosis. Neurosurgery. 1999;45:69–74.
- Boisseau N, Madany M, Staccini P, et al. Comparison of the effects of sevoflurane and propofol on cortical somatosensory evoked potentials. Br J Anaesth. 2002;88:785–9.
- Kochs E, Treede RD, Schulte am Esch J. Increase of somatosensory evoked potentials during induction of anesthesia with etomidate. Anaesthetist. 1986; 35:359–64.
- Pechstein U, Nadstawek J, Zentner J, et al. Isoflurane plus nitrous oxide versus propofol for recording of

motor evoked potentials after high frequency repetitive electrical stimulation. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1998;108:175–81.

- Sloan TB, Ronai AK, Toleikis JR, et al. Improvement of intraoperative somatosensory evoked potentials by etomidate. Anesth Analg. 1988;67:582–5.
- Meng XL, Wang LW, Zhao W, Guo XY. Effects of different etomidate doses on intraoperative somatosensory-evoked potential monitoring. Ir J Med Sci. 2015;184(4):799–803.
- Schubert A, Licina MG, Lineberry PJ. The effect of ketamine on human somatosensory evoked potentials and its modification by nitrous oxide. Anesthesiology. 1990;72:33–9.
- Kano T, Shimoji K. The effects of ketzmine and neuroleptanalgesia on the evoked electrospinogram and elecromyogram in man. Anesthesiology. 1974;40:241–6.
- Stone JL, Ghaly RF, Levy WJ, Kartha R, Krinsky L, Roccaforte P. A comparative analysis of enflurane anesthesia on primate motor and somatosensory evoked potentials. Electroencephalgr Clin Neurophysiol. 1992;84:180–7.
- 44. Langeron O, Lille F, Zerhouni O, et al. Comparison of the effects of ketamine-midazolam with those of fentanyl-midazolam on cortical somatosensory evoked potentials during major spine surgery. Br J Anaesth. 1997;78:701–6.
- 45. Bloom M, Beric A, Bekker A. Dexmedetomidine infusion and somatosensory evoked potentials. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2001;13:320–2.
- 46. Tobias JD, Goble TJ, Bates G, Anderson JT, Hoernschemeyer DG. Effects of dexmedetomidine on intraoperative motor and somatosensory evoked potential monitoring during spinal surgery in adolescents. Paediatr Anaesth. 2008;18(11):1082–8.
- 47. Chen Z, Lin S, Shao W. Effects on somatosensory and motor evoked potentials of senile patients using different doses of dexmedetomidine during spine surgery. Ir J Med Sci. 2015;184(4):813–8.
- Fernandez-Galinski SM, Monells J, Espadaler JM, Pol O, Puig MM. Effects of subarachnoid lidocaine, meperidine and fentanyl on somatosensory and motor evoked responses in awake humans. Acta Anaesthesiol Scandinavica. 1996;40:39–46.
- Goodarzi M, Shier NG, Grogan DP. Effect of intrathecal opioids on somatosensory-evoked potentials during spinal fusion in children. Spine. 1996;21: 1565–8.
- Schubert A, Licina MG, Lineberry PJ, Deers MA. The effect of intrathecal morphine on somatosensory evoked potentials in awake humans. Anesthesiology. 1991;75:401–5.
- Loughman BA, Yau KW, Ransford AO, Hall GM. Effects of epidural diamorphine on the somatosensory evoked potentials to posterior tibial nerve stimulation. Anesthesia. 1991;46:912–4.
- Sloan TB, Fugina ML, Toleikis JR. Effects of midazolam on median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials. Br J Anaesth. 1990;64:590–3.

- Sloan TB. Nondepolarizing neuromuscular blockade does not alter sensory evoked potentials. J Clin Monit. 1994;10:4–10.
- 54. Schubert A, Licina MG, Glaze GM, Paranandi L. Systemic lidocaine and human somatosensoryevoked potentials during sufentanil-isoflurane anaesthesia. Can J Anaesth. 1992;39(6):569–75.
- 55. Sloan TB, Mongan P, Lyda C, Koht A. Lidocaine infusion adjunct to total intravenous anesthesia reduces the total dose of propofol during intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2014;28:139–47.
- Nuwer MR. Evoked potential monitoring in the operating room. New York: Raven; 1986.
- Lang M, Welte M, Syben R, Hansen D. Effects of hypothermia on median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials during spontaneous circulation. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2002;14(2):141–5.
- Zanatta P, Bosco E, Comin A, Mazzarolo AP, Di Pasquale P, Forti A, Longatti P, Polesel E, Stecker M, Sorbara C. Effect of mild hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass on the amplitude of somatosensory evoked potentials. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2014;26(2): 161–6.
- Stecker MM, Cheung AT, Pochettino A, et al. Deep hypothermic circulator arrest: I effects of cooling on electroencephalogram and evoked potentials. Ann Thorac Surg. 2001;71(1):22–8.
- Oro J, Haghighi SS. Effects of altering core body temperature on somatosensory and motor evoked potentials in rats. Spine. 1992;17:498–503.
- Branston NM, Symon L, Cortical EP. Blood flow, and potassium changes in experimental ischemia. In: Barber C, editor. Evoked potentials. Baltimore, MD: University Park Press; 1980. p. 527–30.
- Nuwer MR. Intraoperative electroencephalography. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1993;10:437–44.
- 63. Prior PF. EEG monitoring and evoked potentials in brain ischemia. Br J Anaeth. 1985;57:63–81.
- 64. Brodkey JS, Richards DE, Blasingame JP, et al. Reversible spinal cord trauma in cats: additive effects of direct pressure and ischemia. J Neurosurg. 1972;37:591–3.
- Dolan EJ, Transfeld EE, Tator CH, et al. The effect of spinal distraction on regional blood flow in cats. J Neurosurg. 1980;53:756–64.
- Gregory PC, McGeorge AP, Fitch W, et al. Effects of hemorrhagic hypotension on the cerebral circulation. II. Electrocortical function. Stroke. 1979;10:719–23.
- Nagao S, Roccaforte P, Moody RA. The effects of isovolemic hemodilution and reinfusion of packed erythrocytes on somatosensory and visual evoked potentials. J Surg Res. 1978;25:530–7.
- Dong WK, Bledsoe SW, Chadwick HS, Shaw CM, Hornbein TF. Electrical correlates of brain injury resulting from severe hypotension and hemodilution in monkeys. Anesthesiology. 1986;65:617–25.
- Ledsome JR, Cole C, Sharp-Kehl JM. Somatosensory evoked potentials during hypoxia and hypocapnia in conscious humans. Can J Anasth. 1996;43:1025–9.

- Grundy BL, Heros RC, Tung AS, Doyle E. Intraoperative hypoxia detected by evoked potential monitoring. Anesth Analg. 1981;60:437–9.
- 71. Kalkman CJ, Boezeman EH, Ribberink AA, Oosting J, Deen L, Bovill JG. Influence of changes in arterial carbon dioxide tension on the electroencephalogram and posterior tibial nerve somatosensory cortical evoked potentials during alfentanil/nitrous oxide anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1991;75:68–74.
- Schubert A, Drummond JC. The effect of acute hypocapnia on human median nerve somatosensory evoked responses. Anesth Analg. 1986;65:240–4.
- Mackey-Hargadine JR, Hall III JW. Sensory evoked responses in head injury. Central Nerv Syst Trauma. 1985;2:187–206.
- LaMont RL, Wasson SI, Green MA. Spinal cord monitoring during spinal surgery using somatosensory spinal evoked potentials. J Pediatr Orthop. 1983;3:31–6.
- Lubicky JP, Spadaro JA, Yuan HA, Fredrickson BE, Henderson N. Variability of somatosensory cortical evoked potential monitoring during spinal surgery. Spine. 1989;14:790–8.
- York DH, Chabot RJ, Gaines RW. Response variability of somatosensory evoked potentials during scoliosis surgery. Spine. 1987;12:864–76.
- 77. Brown RH, Nash CL, Berilla JA, Amaddio MD. Cortical evoked potential monitoring. A system for intraoperative monitoring of spinal cord function. Spine. 1984;9:256–61.
- More RC, Nuwer MR, Dawson EG. Cortical evoked potential monitoring during spinal surgery: sensitivity, specificity, reliability, and criteria for alarm. J Spinal Disord. 1988;1(1):75–80.
- 79. Wiedemayer H, Fauser B, Sandalcioglu IE, Schafer H, Stolke D. The impact of neurophysiological intraoperative monitoring on surgical decisions: a critical analysis of 423 cases. J Neurosurg. 2002;96:255–62.
- Owen JH, Toleikis JR. Nerve root monitoring. In: Bridwell KH, Dewald RD, editors. The textbook of spinal surgery. 2nd ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott-Raven; 1997. p. 61–75.
- Toleikis JR, Carlvin AO, Shapiro DE, Schafer MF. The use of dermatomal evoked responses during surgical procedures that use intrapedicular fixation of the lumbosacral spine. Spine. 1993;18:2401–7.
- Minahan RE, Mandir AS. Basic neurophysiologic intraoperative monitoring techniques. In: Husain AM, editor. A practical approach to neurophysiologic intraoperative monitoring. New York: Demos; 2008. p. 21–44.
- Lindsay K, Bone I. Neurology and neurosurgery illustrated. London, UK: Churchill Livingstone; 2004. p. 198.
- Klem GH, Lüders HO, Jasper HH, Elger C. The tentwenty electrode system of the International Federation. The International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol Suppl. 1999;52:3–6.

Questions

- 1. Which of the following statements regarding the dorsal column pathway is incorrect?
 - a. The dorsal column pathway is also referred to as the dorsal column-lemniscal pathway.
 - b. The dorsal column pathway mediates mechanoreception and proprioception.
 - c. The dorsal column pathway does not decussate in the medulla.
 - d. Perfusion of the dorsal column pathway is typically from the posterior spinal artery.
- 2. Which of the following is false regarding pharmacologic effects on SSEPs?
 - a. Nitrous oxide, when combined with volatile anesthetic, reduces SSEPs more than either agent by itself.
 - b. The effects of bolus narcotics on SSEPs are less pronounced than those of continuous infusions of narcotics.
 - c. Ketamine and etomidate are unique in that they may be beneficial to SSEPs.

- d. In general, the effect of anesthetics on cortical SSEPs is more pronounced than effects on subcortical SSEPs.
- 3. What is the empirically accepted threshold of SSEP latency increase that warrants intervention?
 - a. 25%b. 35%
 - c. 10%
 - d. 50%
- 4. What is the empirically accepted threshold of SSEP amplitude reduction that warrants intervention?
 - a. 25%
 - b. 35%
 - c. 10%
 - d. 50%

Answers

- 1. c
- 2. b 3. c
- 4. d

Transcranial Motor-Evoked Potentials

Leslie C. Jameson

Key Learning Points

- The motor-evoked potential response (MEP) is an indirect complex polyphasic muscle response that requires a coordinated response of the motor neuron pathway and the muscle.
- Due to the motor pathway's blood supply, the MEP is more vulnerable to and a better indicator of adequacy of perfusion, particularly spinal cord perfusion.
- In addition to age, the ability to obtain MEP responses is impaired by pre-existing medical conditions (e.g., diabetes, hypertension, chronic spinal cord compression, spinal stenosis, nerve root injury, chronic hypoperfusion, brain injury, and genetic neuromuscular disease).
- MEPs are vulnerable to hypoperfusion and drug effects. Thus, the anesthesia caregiver is responsible for selecting an appropriate technique and maintaining adequate perfusion through maintenance of hemoglobin, blood pressure, and cardiac output.
- MEP change, loss or loss and recovery, has been shown to be a reliable predictor of immediate and long-term postoperative neurologic function.

L.C. Jameson, M.D. (🖂)

Department of Anesthesiology, School of Medicine, University of Colorado, 12401 E 17th Place, Room 747, Aurora, CO 80045, USA e-mail: leslie.jameson@ucdenver.edu

Introduction

Motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) continue to be the most recent addition to routine intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring (IOM). The importance of MEPs continues to expand primarily due to the ability to isolate perfusion-related neurologic function in the spinal cord. Initial reports of improved patient outcomes obtained with the use of somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP) monitoring, primarily during scoliosis procedures in children and young adults, were quickly followed by case reports of isolated postoperative motor injury without SSEP or postoperative sensory changes. This reflected the reality of the anatomy and physiology of motor/sensory pathways in the brain and spinal cord [1]. MEP and SSEP pathways are located in different topographic and vascular regions of the cerebral cortex, brainstem, and spinal cord. MEP pathways are very complex and include the standard voluntary pyramidal and extrapyramidal networks. The more complex extrapyramidal network establishes additional motor connections including those to the cerebellum [2]. This complex and multiple synaptic architecture makes motor pathways more sensitive to ischemic insults than SSEP pathways [3].

Rare isolated motor injury without sensory changes after idiopathic scoliosis procedures was not the only driving force behind the widespread adoption of MEP monitoring. Increasing

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_2

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

surgical volume and operative complexity in the central nervous system (CNS, spinal cord) and spine also fueled the need to independently assess motor function.

MEPs facilitate better intraoperative decisionmaking in all patient groups. As surgical techniques (instrumentation, diagnostic imaging, and intraoperative imaging) advanced and perioperative anesthetic management options improved, many patients who were at high anesthetic, surgical, and medical risk underwent new extensive surgical procedures. This increased risk of permanent and devastating neurologic complications. MEP monitoring became a favored method to help prevent complex surgical intervention from exceeding safe limits where the risk of the potential surgical adverse event exceeds possible functional gain [4]. New information suggests MEP monitoring, particularly in spine surgery, has a better correlation with good postoperative motor outcome than the use of SSEPs, and many experts advocate MEP monitoring for:

- Surgical correction of all axial skeletal deformities with instrumentation [5–8]
- Intramedullary spinal cord tumors [9–12]
- Intracranial tumors [13–15]
- CNS and spinal cord vascular lesions [16, 17]
- Seizure disorders [18]

MEP use continues to expand outside the area of neurosurgical and axial skeletal procedures to vascular procedures that put perfusion of the brain or spinal cord at risk like thoracoabdominal aneurysms, aortic arch procedures (both endovascular and open procedures) (see Chaps 39 and 40), and preemptive assessment of outcome in stroke [19–21].

Motor Pathway Blood Supply

To understand why MEPs provide essential information for surgical procedures where neural tissue perfusion is at risk, it is necessary to review the blood supply of the spinal cord and understand the relationship between ischemia, electrophysiology, and infarction. A detailed discussion is found in Chap. 40. The spinal cord is supplied by the anterior spinal artery (ASA) and the posterior spinal arteries (PSAs). Spinal cord motor tracts are primarily supplied by the ASA, a vascular network that supplies the metabolically active anterior two-thirds to four-fifths of the spinal cord including the gray matter and anterior horn cells, all of which are more sensitive to ischemia [3, 22].

Both ASA and PSAs arise as branches of the vertebral arteries in the brainstem and then descend along the spinal cord providing perforators into the spinal cord. The ASA receives blood radicular arteries, which originate in the aorta [23]. Typically, there are three cervical and two thoracic arteries located at T2, 3 and T7-L4, with the Artery of Adamkiewicz (AA) providing about 75% of the blood supply to the anterior cord [3, 24]. The reduced number of radicular arteries, the increased distance traversed, and increased metabolic demand make areas of the spinal cord perfused by the ASA more susceptible to hypoperfusion. While axons are quite resistant to ischemia, the anterior cord contains many more cells and synapses, which explains the rapid changes seen in MEPs when inadequate perfusion occurs. Disruption of blood flow through these vessels due to mechanical or pressure changes rapidly leads to deterioration of MEPs and is used to prompt a change in management (e.g., improvement in systemic perfusion, cerebrospinal fluid drainage) [24–26].

The intracranial blood supply to motor areas is also vulnerable. Perforator arteries and lenticulostriate arteries supply the motor cortex and internal capsule; they arise from the middle cerebral artery. These vessels transverse a significant distance and are vulnerable to hypoperfusion with a decrease in cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) from an increase in intracranial pressure (ICP) or cerebrospinal fluid pressure (CSFP) (CPP=MAP-[ICP or CSFP]) or disruption of the source vessels (e.g., aneurysm or atrialvenous malformations (AVM)) or hypotension. The distance and caliber of these vessels creates a watershed area making motor function more vulnerable to hypoperfusion than the ascending sensory tracts [27, 28]. The normal spinal cord and brain will autoregulate blood flow to maintain normal perfusion. Autoregulation occurs with a CPP approximately between 50 and 150 mmHg; specific individuals with long-term high (systemic hypertension) or low (infant) BP can be outside these limits. If the perfusion pressure falls below this range, autoregulation is lost and spinal cord blood flow is directly dependent on perfusion pressure. Hypoperfusion, as evident by a change in evoked potential activity, can also be caused by reductions in oxygen delivery (e.g., anemia, hypovolemia). MEP monitoring provides unique information about the functional status of the anterior spinal cord and internal capsule (see Chap. 21).

Technical Aspects of MEP Monitoring

MEPs are elicited by transcranial stimulation of the motor cortex using an electrical or a magnetic technique. The stimulation creates motor neuron depolarization and a descending response that traverses the corticospinal tracts and eventually generates a measurable response either in the form of muscle activity (compound muscle action poten-

tial, CMAP) or a wave propagation along the corticospinal tract (Direct wave or D wave) (Fig. 2.1). In humans, the exact structural connections that are activated by evoked potential stimulation have not been clearly defined. Structures involved in voluntary motor activity in animal models have been described. Recordings from deep brain (DB) electrodes used for stimulation and recording in patients being treated for epilepsy or movement disorders have led to better definition of motor transmission and its interaction with sensory function [29]. Use of magnetic stimulation, the only technique available for eliciting MEPs from awake humans, has allowed simulation to occur with simultaneous recordings of electroencephalography (EEG) and electromyography (EMG) as paired responses. These data suggest that the variability in MEP recordings is due to normal variations in inhibition and facilitation in the corticospinal and cortical pathways [30]. Much of the latency seen in MEPs is due to the slower conducting areas of the spinal pathway, which may explain the MEP sensitivity to hypoperfusion and anesthetic drugs (see Chap. 19) [31, 32]. Continued

Fig. 2.1 Depiction of the neurologic response pathway with motorevoked potentials. Stimulation of the motor cortex (arrow) results in a response that is propagated through the brain and spinal cord to cause a muscle contraction. The response typically is recorded near the muscle as a compound muscle action potential (CMAP) or EMG. The response can also be recorded over the spinal column as a D wave followed by a series of I waves (high frequency repetitive discharges fro the corticospinal fibers) (from Jameson and Sloan [33]; with permission)



investigation using DB electrodes for therapy in movement and seizure disorders will lead to a clearer picture of the motor pathways activated by diagnostic transcranial MEPs during surgery and may lead to a better understanding of the difficulties in eliciting responses.

All IOM MEP responses require continuity of the pathway since disruption of any component will change the measured response. Responses are affected by health of the neuron (e.g., peripheral neuropathy associated with diabetes), strength of the stimulus or number of neurons contributing to the response, propagation distance (height), sex, and temperature. Standard intraoperative transcranial electrical MEP monitoring in anesthetized patients uses a high-voltage electrical stimulus (measured in volts) to stimulate pyramidal cells of the motor cortex. This produces a wave of depolarization that is estimated to activate only 4-5% of the corticospinal tract. The motor pathway descends through the motor cortex, crosses the midline in the brainstem, and descends in the ipsilateral anterior funiculi of the spinal cord (Fig. 2.1) [2, 33].

Attempts to stimulate spinal cord motor tracts and then record neurogenic motor-evoked potentials (NMEPs) from peripheral nerves were done with stimulating electrodes placed into the epidural space (see Chap. 6) [8, 34]. An alternate, but less successful method was to use needle electrodes placed near the lamina of the appropriate spinal segment. Beginning in the 1990s, this technique for obtaining responses was instituted to eliminate the difficulties associated with the effects of anesthesia on the cerebral motor cortex when trying to elicit MEPs. NMEPs have largely been abandoned as a motor response since current evidence indicates that NMEPs are not mediated by the same motor pathways as MEP but instead by antidromic conduction in sensory pathways. Thus, NMEPs are not a motor response at all [32, 35]. Direct cortical or spinal cord stimulation using a strip electrode placed directly on the spinal cord or cerebral cortex to stimulate motor pathways continues to be used to map or identify neural tissue with motor functionality. A detailed treatment of spinal cord motor mapping techniques with grid electrodes is found in Chaps 9 and 36.

Table 2.1 Effect of varying the interstimulus interval (ISI) and the stimulus pulse duration on the threshold stimulus Threshold stimulus, which can be in volts or mAmps (mA), is the energy required to produce a response in 50% of the patients

	Pulse duration (ms)			
	0.1 ms	0.2 ms	0.5 ms	
ISI (ms)	Mean motor th	reshold (mA)		
2	158±67	105±33	76±26	
3	140±55	97±33	64 ± 20	
4	126±56	91±35	61±19	
5	179 ± 74	120 ± 45	83±31	

Stimulus was applied at C3/C4. All combinations of ISI and pulse duration are significantly different from each other at the *P* value of <0.001. The lowest mean motor threshold occurred at an ISI of 4 ms and pulse duration of 0.5 ms (adapted from Szelényi et al. [36])

MEP stimulation utilizes a train of usually 3-7 electrical pulses of 100-500 V intensity (maximum 1000 V) applied through corkscrew electrodes most commonly placed a few centimeters anterior to the somatosensory recording electrodes at C3'-C4' (International 10-20 system). Standard stimulus pulse durations are 0.2 ms with an interpulse or interstimulus interval (ISI) (period between stimuli) between 2 and 4 ms (Table 2.1). Corkscrew scalp electrodes increase the electrode surface area and reduce the risk of burns from the high-energy stimulus. Manipulation in the number of stimuli, ISI, pulse duration, pulse strength or intensity, and stimulating electrode locations allows for adequate cortical depolarization. Parameter neuron changes overcome some of the impediments to propagation such as the anesthetic effect on the anterior horn cell synapse, preexisting neuropathy and myelopathy, distance of the motor cortex from the stimuli, loss of motor neurons, comorbid conditions, and age. The time required to obtain a MEP is generally less than 10 s. Multiple organizations have published best practice algorithms that in their hands produce the best signals [36]. ISI manipulation is frequently cited as a critical stimulus parameter to adjust to optimize MEP acquisition (Table 2.1) [7, 36, 37].

Once stimulation has occurred, a reliable and easily detected response is required for monitoring purposes. The response typically used is the CMAP recorded from muscle groups in the extremities, although percutaneous epidural D and I waves [38], can be used to confirm a response (Fig. 2.1). D waves, direct activation of the corticospinal neurons [38], have a variable success rate and following them as a sole source of monitoring is currently uncommon except in specific surgical procedures such as intramedul-lary spinal cord tumors [39, 40].

Standard muscle responses differentiate laterality and therefore localize neural tissue at risk. These CMAP or EMG responses are recorded using needle or skin electrodes that are placed in hand muscles of the thenar eminence (abductor or flexor pollicis brevis), in muscles of the lower extremities (gastrocnemius, tibialis anterior, and abductor hallucis brevis), and trunk muscles (intercostals, rectus abdominis). The "best" (largest and most reproducible) specific muscle response below the site of the surgical procedure is selected to be followed [36, 40-46]. In our organization, acceptable CMAP responses are polyphasic with a consistent latency and an amplitude greater than 150–200 μ V. We will continue to follow lesser responses but inform the surgeon that the information is not reliable. Direct motor mapping in the spinal cord or cerebral cortex requires needle placement in the muscle groups that are innervated by the areas being stimulated (e.g., homunculus hand representation-abductor or flexor pollicis brevis). This includes those muscles innervated by the cranial nerves (e.g., cranial nerve VII: orbicularis oculi or oris).

CMAPs can be difficult to obtain from patients at both extremes of age, elderly and young children. In addition to age, adults often have preexisting conditions such as diabetes, hypertension, chronic spinal cord compression, nerve root injury, chronic hypoperfusion, and axonal conduction changes that reduce CMAP responses [47]. Children, particularly those under 6 years, have an immature CNS that makes obtaining a motor response challenging [48]. CMAP responses can be difficult to obtain in procedures that are performed on patients with substantial neurologic deficits from preexisting brain injury (e.g., cerebral palsy) and genetic diseases that impair muscle function (e.g., Duchene muscular dystrophy, Charcot-Marie-Tooth). Recent comprehensive review articles address these issues and offer solutions to help the IOM team obtain signals [49]. Often the most critical decision in obtaining MEP responses, particularly in those with known neurologic, metabolic or muscular diseases, is the selection of the anesthetic management (see Chap. 19).

When spinal cord D and I wave responses are used, they do not differentiate laterality and D waves do not involve a synapse. The D wave correlates with the number of functioning fibers of the corticospinal tract responding to the stimulus. Thus, D wave amplitude changes have significance. D waves are more commonly used during intramedullary spinal cord surgery where recording electrodes are placed by the surgeon in the field [33, 50, 51]. Another alternate method of producing a motor response is the Hoffmans reflex (H-reflex). It is the electrical equivalent of the spinal cord reflex elicited by a tendon percussion knee jerk and monitors the sensory and motor efferent axons as well as the spinal gray matter and components of the reflex arc [50]. Discussion of this response is outside the scope of this chapter (see Chap. 8). CMAPs are by far the most common measure of the MEP response. The literature evaluating D, I, and H waves is very limited.

CMAPs can demonstrate considerable variability even in normal awake subjects [32, 52]. The variability is magnified during general anesthesia [31, 53]. Most organizations establish standardized criteria for a minimum baseline amplitude (difference between positive and negative peaks), complexity (number of positive and negative wavelets) but not latency (time from stimulus to response). This is necessary to prevent false-positive monitoring alert when the signal changes. Without these waveform components, a reliable signal was never present. It assures the surgeon that the MEP responses will be a reliable measure of function throughout the procedure. MEP responses are presented in Fig. 2.2. What constitutes a CMAP change that must be acted upon has not been universally defined. Permanent loss, a straightforward event, is strongly correlated with permanent neurologic injury, whereas patients who experience temporary loss or alerts (a predetermined decrease in



Fig. 2.2 Standard normal MEP responses. The CMAP response, a large polyphasic wave, is obtained from the upper extremity traditionally using the abductor pollicis brevis (APB) and from the lower extremity using tibialis anterior (TA) and abductor hallicus (AH) brevis. Two

lower extremity muscle groups are used due to the increased difficulty obtaining a consistent response particularly in adults. Other upper and lower extremity muscles can be used depending on the needs of the specific patient. Obtained from the author's archive

Fig. 2.3 Normal MEP baseline responses and acute injury. Placing the patient prone resulted in the loss of responses. There was a recovery of response to baseline configuration after adjusting the head position, increasing blood pressure and eliminating residual desflurane. Obtained from the author's archive



amplitude and/or latency) frequently have normal function at the end of the procedure and ultimately regain full motor function. Some IOM groups use the presence or absence of a CMAP response as their sole criteria for notifying the surgeon about a problem. This criterion allows the use of muscle relaxants as a component of the anesthetic, which is a common surgical request to eliminate patient movement at an inopportune time. Other suggested criteria include increases in stimulus strength greater than 50–100 V, changes in stimuli number or pattern required to elicit an MEP, or a significant decrease in CMAP amplitudes (usually >80%) from the initial responses (without muscle relaxant). All are considered significant changes by some individuals (Fig. 2.3). Signal recovery after these changes is reassuring and usually predicts normal postoperative motor function. Loss of CMAP responses requires notification of the surgeon and anesthesiologist to correct, when possible, the physiologic issues contributing to the MEP change (see Chap. 20) [1, 54–59].

Application of MEP Monitoring

Monitoring during structural spine and spinal cord surgery is customarily multimodal and includes SSEPs, MEPs, and electromyography (EMG, free running, and stimulated). MEP monitoring is considered essential whenever spinal cord function is at risk. Thus, MEP monitoring is usually performed during structural spine surgery from C1 to cauda equina whenever the risk of cord injury due to stretch, compression, or vascular damage [56, 60] could occur. "At risk" situations also include any surgery where a compromise of spinal cord perfusion or direct injury to motor tracks or nerve roots could occur. Consensus opinion is that the evidence supports MEP monitoring in the following specific spine procedures:

- Spinal deformities with scoliosis greater than 45° rotation
- Congenital spine anomalies
- Resections of intramedullary and extramedullary tumors
- Extensive anterior and/or posterior decompressions in spinal stenosis with myelopathy
- Functional disturbance of the cauda equina and/or individual nerve roots

However, the evidence does not meet the level 1 standard (large randomized, placebocontrolled, double-blind studies). The evidence is based on a large case series and meta-analysis (level 2, 3 evidence) where MEP changes predicted immediate postsurgical neurologic findings [1, 40, 54–56, 58, 59, 61–63]. A recent evidence-based analysis by the American Academy of Neurology and American Clinical Neurophysiology Society is strongly supportive of IOM in spine surgery [46, 56].

Obtaining MEPs remains challenging in some patient populations. They often require an altera-

tion in anesthetic management to obtain adequate waveforms-a point that necessitates negotiations between the anesthesiologist, surgeon, and IOM team. Many of the older prospective series used SSEPs and EMG but only rarely MEPs due to this issue. In one study of 1055 adult patients undergoing cervical spine surgery between 2000 and 2005, MEP studies were attempted and obtained in only 26 of 1055 patients due to the perceived difficulties [61]. These were the highest risk patients for spinal cord injury. With the current relatively routine availability of total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) based on propofol, MEPs can be relatively easy to obtain (see Chap. 19). When used during spine procedures, MEPs had 100% sensitivity, 96% specificity, and a positive predictive value of 96% for postoperative motor changes [61]. Adults with cervical myelopathy had about a 12% incidence of only MEP alerts (no EMG or SSEP changes). These alerts were usually followed by resolution after alterations in anesthetic and surgical management occurred. Nonetheless, these authors believed that the MEP monitoring provided 100% sensitivity and 90% specificity [64].

MEP changes are relatively infrequent [7] in pediatric procedures. One group reported that in 172 pediatric spinal deformity corrective procedures, there were 15 intraoperative MEP alerts, all of which resolved with changes in management. None of the patients (MEP-alert and MEPunchanged patients) had new neurologic deficits. This group concluded that MEP monitoring alone was adequate for spinal deformity surgery with a sensitivity of 1.0 and a specificity of 0.97. Patients with persistent MEP changes had immediate postoperative motor deficits. SSEP changes, when present, lagged significantly behind the MEP changes and often did not predict outcome [65]. For adults with spinal cord myelopathy, one of the diagnostic criteria includes changes in MEPs prior to surgical intervention; consequently, baseline studies, post anesthesia, and prepositioning are strongly recommended [66, 67].

Consensus opinion supports and studies suggest that the use of intraoperative spinal cord motor mapping improves long-term motor function in intramedullary spinal cord tumor resection (see Chap. 36) [68, 69]. The MEP is the only reliable monitor of motor pathways and is an early predictor of impending damage to the cord due to the precarious blood supply. For an anterior approach to an intramedullary spinal cord tumor resection, focal injury to the anterior spinal vasculature or motor tracts is generally detected only minutes after a hypoperfusion event; this is considerably faster than with SSEP monitoring alone [11, 68, 69].

During intracranial procedures, direct cortical stimulation is likewise used to map motor function and to delineate the demarcation between tumor and functional tissue. This can be performed using electrode strips, direct hand-held device, or a Penfield motor stimulation technique. Although the Penfield technique is often preferred in awake patients, the pulse train technique used for MEP is associated with less stimulationrelated seizures and is more effective in producing CMAP responses during general anesthesia. The motor stimulation may replace or augment awake craniotomy procedures in the supratentorial area when eloquent areas (e.g., speech) or motor pathways (e.g., internal capsule, motor cortex, and premotor cortex) are at risk [70-72]. In large clinical studies, sensitivity and specificity are reported to be between 90% and 100%, respectively; however, in some reports, Broca's area had a reported specificity of only 64% and Wernicke's area of just 18 % [73].

Excess stimulation strength can cause direct activation of structures at a distance from the stimulus location. Focal stimulation often involves manually stimulating portions of the cortex or inserting a strip electrode under the dura. The usual pattern of transcranial stimulation is performed at about 1/10th the MEP stimulus strength. A pattern of gradually increasing stimulus is applied. Recent large case reports have documented that MEP monitoring assists in delineating the edge between tumor cells and functioning neural tissue. In a study of 404 patients, all with a low-grade glioma, MEP mapping substantially reduced the number and severity of permanent motor deficits while increasing the number of total resections. One hundred of these 100 patients had temporary

motor deficits and only 4 patients had deficits (1%) remaining 3 months after surgery. Total or subtotal tumor resection was done in only 11% of patients prior to motor mapping but 69.8% after motor mapping was initiated [74]. A number of other groups have published similar reports and noted that the long-term outcome is significantly improved by more extensive tumor resection in both children and adults for all supratentorial tumors [72, 75, 76]. Neurologic injury to the posterior fossa can have devastating consequences. Motor mapping is an effective way to identify both tumor margins and safe resection zones, areas between cranial nerve nuclei, or entry zones into the floor of the fourth ventricle. Stimulation can be either transcranial or, more frequently, direct brainstem stimulation [77].

Intracranial aneurysms and arteriovenous malformations can result in areas of hypoperfusion during the endovascular embolization, resection, or temporary and permanent clipping. MEPs identify hypoperfusion in motor areas and adjacent areas perfused by vessels involved in the vascular lesion. Identification of MEP change followed by therapeutic intervention appears to substantially reduce permanent injury. Two large studies with 108 and 129 patients undergoing supratentorial aneurysm clippings found that in cases where MEPs were unchanged, none of the patients had deficits. One study confirmed adequate flow with MEPs and with microvascular Doppler ultrasonography. Both studies reported between 13 and 33% of patients had reversible MEP changes; these patients had no neurologic changes immediately after the procedure or had only transient neurologic changes from which they fully recovered. Patients with permanent MEP change (about 20%) had permanent neurologic deficits, some quite severe [16, 78, 79]. Small case series generally support these findings. The neurosurgical community has reported improved outcomes during aneurysm occlusion on basilar, vertebral, and middle cerebral artery aneurysms when using MEP monitoring. Publications report MEP changes occur rapidly and better reflect long-term outcomes when the involved vessels provide perfusion to motor pathways.

Contribution of Anesthesiology to Effective MEP Monitoring

Without the cooperation and support of the anesthesia care provider, producing MEP responses and detecting changes is not possible. Most treatment options, when MEP change occurs, are in the hands of the anesthesia caregiver. MEP change is not only initiated by surgical activity but by physiologic management and anesthetic drug choices. Any event that will impact neural function can impact MEP waveforms (see Chap. 19). This reality stresses the importance of the team effort, cooperation between the surgeon, anesthesiologist, and IOM technologist.

Hypotension is of particular interest since deliberate hypotension to reduce blood loss was once considered a management technique, particularly in the idiopathic scoliosis procedures in children and during aneurysm clipping. There is a growing appreciation that the presumed lower limit of autoregulation is not always adequate for tissues undergoing surgical stress [80]. Mean BP that is adequate for a young adult patient may not be adequate for an older adult with many coexisting diseases. Hence, increasing or maintaining systemic perfusion pressure effectively treats many impending hypoperfusion injuries (Fig. 2.4).

The acceptable lower limit for hemoglobin has come under question. Current recommendations by the blood banking community are to allow hemoglobin to be as low as 7 g/dL during acute blood loss, particularly in healthy patients [81]. However, anemia can be compensated only within the limits of the patient's physiologic ability to increase cardiac output to maintain local tissue perfusion. Neurologic tissue has a high metabolic demand and may have compromised perfusion due to pre-existing systemic disease (hypertension, vascular disease, poor cardiac output, surgical stress, and inflammation) as well as regional compression (spinal cord stenosis, surgical activity, position, acute injury). Thus the acceptable lower limit of blood pressure and hemoglobin is unlikely to be the same for all situations and is poorly predictable. MEP monitoring allows a functional assessment of the combination of blood pressure and oxygen-carrying capacity. Consequently it assesses the adequacy of perfusion in specific patients under specific surgical conditions. When IOM signals deteriorate, increasing the systemic blood pressure to the patient's preoperative value or higher is the most common and most effective response the anesthesia care team can provide. Transfusion is also an effective therapeutic intervention when appropriate. Maintenance of "normal" physiologic conditions within the brain and spinal cord can be difficult but results in the ideal monitoring conditions and the best neurologic outcomes.

The impact of dexmedetomidine on MEP monitoring deserves special comment. Propofol infusion syndrome [82] is diagnosed primarily in pediatric patients and can prove fatal (see Chap. 19). Thus, substituting dexmedetomidine for propofol as the "recommended" TIVA hypnotic when IOM is required has been advocated. Early literature reports suggested that its use caused no negative physiologic effect or impairment in MEP monitoring [83-85]. Two recent carefully performed studies found a clinically and statistically significant attenuation in the amplitudes of MEPs when the targeted plasma concentrations of demedetomidine exceeded 0.6-0.8 ng/mL [83, 86, 87]. Another study in which dexmedetomidine was administered in combination with propofol was discontinued by the safety monitoring board. Reduction or loss of MEPs occurred in healthy pediatric spines when both drugs were used in any combination [83]. Dexmedetomidine also has a long contextsensitive half-life consequently wakeup times can be prolonged.

Risk of MEP Monitoring

MEP monitoring is not without risk. The US Food and Drug Administration has specified relative MEP contraindications. The most common concern was direct cortical thermal injury (kindling), but over the last 18 years only two cases of cortical thermal injury have been reported. In a 2002 survey of the literature,



Fig. 2.4 Recovery of MEP responses after intraoperative loss. During a posterior cervical fusion of C5 to T4 the patient abruptly lost MEP responses in both lower extremities. After BP elevation and steroid administration, MEP responses returned only on the left. Patient

had weakness on the left, which resolved over 2 weeks. On the right, the patient had a dense hemiparesis that had not changed 3 months after surgery. (Tibialis anterior– TA, Adductor hallucis–AH) Obtained from the author's archive

published complications included tongue laceration (n=29), cardiac arrhythmia (n=5), scalp burn at the site of stimulating electrodes (n=2), jaw fracture (n=1), and awareness (n=1) [88]. Placing a bite block between both molars can ameliorate tongue laceration. Notably no newonset seizures, epidural hematomas, or infections from epidural electrodes or movement injuries (e.g., surgical, joint dislocation), neuropsychiatric disease, headaches, and endocrine abnormalities have been reported. Relative MEP contraindications include epilepsy, a cortex lesion, skull defects, high intracranial pressure, an intracranial apparatus (electrodes, vascular clips, and shunts), cardiac pacemakers, or other implanted pumps. The most common patient identified side effect is sore muscles [89, 90]. Needle placement will lead to bleeding and bruising at the insertion site. Infection is always possible. The prevalence of major and minor problems is astonishingly low.

Conclusion

Clearly the goal of intraoperative monitoring is to provide the greatest degree of assistance to the operative team for optimal intraoperative decision-making. The current literature suggests that MEP monitoring provides excellent specificity and sensitivity whenever motor tracts are involved. As such, the real question for consideration is which of the techniques available should be used to complement MEP monitoring in individual patients.

References¹

- *Raynor BL, Bright JD, Lenke LG, Rahman RK, Bridwell KH, Riew KD, et al. Significant change or loss of intraoperative monitoring data: a 25-year experience in 12,375 spinal surgeries. Spine. 2013;38:E101–8.
- Waxman S. Control of movement. In: Waxman SG, editor. Clinical neuroanatomy 27/E. 27th ed. New York: McGraw Hill Professional; 2013. p. 183–94.
- Hickey R, Sloan TB, Rogers JN. Functional organization and physiology of the spinal cord. In: Porter SS, editor. Anesthesia for surgery of the spine. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1995. p. 15–39.
- Fehlings MG, Houldon D, Vajkoczy P. Introduction. Intraoperative neuromonitoring: an essential component of the neurosurgical and spinal armamentarium. Neurosurg Focus. 2009;27(4):E1.
- Pelosi L, Lamb J, Grevitt M, Mehdian SM, Webb JK, Blumhardt LD. Combined monitoring of motor and somatosensory evoked potentials in orthopaedic spinal surgery. Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;113(7):1082– 91. Epub 2002/06/29.
- MacDonald D, Zayed Z, Khoudeir I, Stigsby B. Monitoring scoliosis surgery with combined multiple pulse trascranial electric motor and cortical

somatosenoury-evoked potentials from the lower and upper extremities. Spine. 2003;28(2):194–203.

- Hsu B, Cree AK, Lagopoulos J, Cummine JL. Transcranial motor-evoked potentials combined with response recording through compound muscle action potential as the sole modality of spinal cord monitoring in spinal deformity surgery. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2008;33(10):1100–6. Epub 2008/05/02.
- *Minahan RE, Sepkuty JP, Lesser RP, Sponseller PD, Kostuik JP. Anterior spinal cord injury with preserved neurogenic 'motor' evoked potentials. Clin Neurophysiol. 2001;112(8):1442–50. Epub 2001/07/19.
- Deletis V, Sala F. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring of the spinal cord during spinal cord and spine surgery: a review focus on the corticospinal tracts. Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;119(2):248–64. Epub 2007/12/07.
- Yanni DS, Ulkatan S, Deletis V, Barrenechea IJ, Sen C, Perin NI. Utility of neurophysiological monitoring using dorsal column mapping in intramedullary spinal cord surgery. J Neurosurg Spine. 2010;12(6):623–8.
- Morota N, Deletis V, Constantini S, Kofler M, Cohen H, Epstein FJ. The role of motor evoked potentials during surgery for intramedullary spinal cord tumors. Neurosurgery. 2010;41(6):1327–36.
- *Sala F, Bricolo A, Faccioli F, Lanteri P, Gerosa M, Sala F, et al. Surgery for intramedullary spinal cord tumors: the role of intraoperative (neurophysiological) monitoring. Eur Spine J. 2007;16 Suppl 2:S130–9.
- Mikuni N, Okada T, Enatsu R, Miki Y, Hanakawa T, Urayama S, et al. Clinical impact of integrated functional neuronavigation and subcortical electrical stimulation to preserve motor function during resection of brain tumors. J Neurosurg. 2007;106(4):593–8.
- Neuloh G, Pechstein U, Schramm J, Neuloh G, Pechstein U, Schramm J. Motor tract monitoring during insular glioma surgery. J Neurosurg. 2007;106(4):582–92.
- *Neuloh G, Bogucki J, Schramm J. Intraoperative preservation of corticospinal function in the brainstem. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2009;80(4): 417–22.
- Szelényi A, Langer D, Kothbauer K, De Camargo AB, Flamm ES, Deletis V. Monitoring of muscle motor evoked potentials during cerebral aneurysm surgery: intraoperative changes and postoperative outcome. J Neurosurg. 2006;105(5):675–81. Epub 2006/11/24.
- Neuloh G, Schramm J. Monitoring of motor evoked potentials compared with somatosensory evoked potentials and microvascular Doppler ultrasonography in cerebral aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg. 2004;100(3):389–99.
- Neuloh G, Bien CG, Clusmann H, von Lehe M, Schramm J. Continuous motor monitoring enhances functional preservation and seizure-free outcome in surgery for intractable focal epilepsy. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2010;152(8):1307–14.
- Corti M, Patten C, Triggs W. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of motor cortex after stroke: a

¹ Asterisks indicate key references.

focused review. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2012;91(3):254–70.

- Nascimbeni A, Gaffuri A, Imazio P, Nascimbeni A, Gaffuri A, Imazio P. Motor evoked potentials: prognostic value in motor recovery after stroke. Funct Neurol. 2006;21(4):199–203.
- Woldag H, Gerhold LL, de Groot M, Wohlfart K, Wagner A, Hummelsheim H. Early prediction of functional outcome after stroke. Brain Inj. 2006;20(10):1047–52.
- Waxman S. Spinal cord. In: Waxman SG, editor. Clinical neuroanatomy 27/E. 27th ed. New York: McGraw Hill Professional; 2013. p. 43–147.
- 23. Crawford ES, Svensson LG, Hess KR, Shenaq SS, Coselli JS, Safi HJ, et al. A prospective randomized study of cerebrospinal fluid drainage to prevent paraplegia after high-risk surgery on the thoracoabdominal aorta. J Vasc Surg. 1991;13:36–45.
- 24. Schurink GWH, Nijenhuis RJ, Backes WH, Mess W, de Haan MW, Mochtar B, et al. Assessment of spinal cord circulation and function in endovascular treatment of thoracic aortic aneurysms. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007;83(2):S877–81. discussion S90–2.
- Okita Y. Fighting spinal cord complication during surgery for thoracoabdominal aortic disease. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2011;59(2):79–90.
- Wan IY, Angelini GD, Bryan AJ, Ryder I, Underwood MJ. Prevention of spinal cord ischaemia during descending thoracic and thoracoabdominal aortic surgery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2001;19(2):203–13.
- 27. Sakuma J, Suzuki K, Sasaki T, Matsumoto M, Oinuma M, Kawakami M, et al. Monitoring and preventing blood flow insufficiency due to clip rotation after the treatment of internal carotid artery aneurysms. J Neurosurg. 2004;100(5):960–2.
- Horiuchi K, Suzuki K, Sasaki T, Matsumoto M, Sakuma J, Konno Y, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of blood flow insufficiency during surgery of middle cerebral artery aneurysms. J Neurosurg. 2005;103(2):275–83.
- Ghitani N, Bayguinov PO, Vokoun CR, McMahon S, Jackson MB, Basso MA. Excitatory synaptic feedback from the motor layer to the sensory layers of the superior colliculus. J Neurosci. 2014;34(20): 6822–33.
- Ferreri F, Pasqualetti P, Maatta S, Ponzo D, Ferrarelli F, Tononi G, et al. Human brain connectivity during single and paired pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation. Neuroimage. 2011;54(1):90–102.
- Firmin L, Muller S, Rosler KM. A method to measure the distribution of latencies of motor evoked potentials in man. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;122(1):176–82.
- 32. Tsutsui S, Yamada H, Hashizume H, Minamide A, Nakagawa Y, Iwasaki H, et al. Quantification of the proportion of motor neurons recruited by transcranial electrical stimulation during intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2013;27(6):633–7.
- Jameson LC, Sloan TB. Monitoring of the brain and spinal cord. Anesthesiol Clin. 2006;24(4):777–91.

- Toleikis JR, Skelly JP, Carlvin AO, Burkus JK. Spinally elicited peripheral nerve responses are sensory rather than motor. Clin Neurophysiol. 2000;111(4):736–42.
- Amassian VE, Stewart M, Quirk GJ, Rosenthal JL. Physiological basis of motor effects of a transient stimulus to cerebral cortex. Neurosurgery. 1987;20(1):74–93.
- 36. *Szelényi A, Kothbauer KF, Deletis V. Transcranial electric stimulation for intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring: stimulation parameters and electrode montages. Clin Neurophysiol. 2007;118(7):1586–95.
- *Deletis V. Basic methodological principles of multimodal intraoperative monitoring during spine surgeries. Eur Spine J. 2007;16 Suppl 2:S147–52.
- Houlden DA, Schwartz ML, Tator CH, Ashby P, MacKay WA. Spinal cord-evoked potentials and muscle responses evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation in 10 awake human subjects. J Neurosci. 1999;19(5):1855–62.
- Costa P, Peretta P, Faccani G. Relevance of intraoperative D wave in spine and spinal cord surgeries. Eur Spine J. 2013;22(4):840–8.
- 40. Gavaret M, Jouve JL, Pereon Y, Accadbled F, Andre-Obadia N, Azabou E, et al. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring in spine surgery. Developments and state of the art in France in 2011. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2013;99(6 Suppl):S319–27.
- Fernandez-Conejero I, Deletis V. Transcranial electrical stimulation and monitoring. J Neurosurg. 2014;120(1):291–2.
- 42. Joksimovic B, Damjanovic A, Damjanovic A, Rasulic L. Transcranial electric stimulation for intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring: dependence of required stimulation current on interstimulus interval value. J Neurol Surg A Cent Eur Neurosurg. 2015;76(3):190–8.
- Ukegawa D, Kawabata S, Sakaki K, Ishii S, Tomizawa S, Inose H, et al. Efficacy of biphasic transcranial electric stimulation in intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring for cervical compression myelopathy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2014;39(3):E159–65.
- 44. Yellin JL, Wiggins CR, Franco AJ, Sankar WN. Safe transcranial electric stimulation motor evoked potential monitoring during posterior spinal fusion in two patients with cochlear implants. J Clin Monit Comput. 2016;30(4):503–6 [Epub ahead of print].
- 45. Kobayashi S, Matsuyama Y, Shinomiya K, Kawabata S, Ando M, Kanchiku T, et al. A new alarm point of transcranial electrical stimulation motor evoked potentials for intraoperative spinal cord monitoring: a prospective multicenter study from the Spinal Cord Monitoring Working Group of the Japanese Society for Spine Surgery and Related Research. J Neurosurg Spine. 2014;20(1):102–7.
- 46. Ney JP, van der Goes DN, Nuwer M, Emerson R, Minahan R, Legatt A, et al. Evidence-based guideline update: intraoperative spinal monitoring with somato-

sensory and transcranial electrical motor evoked potentials: report of the Therapeutics and Technology Assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology and the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. Neurology. 2012;79(3): 292–4.

- 47. Deiner SG, Kwatra SG, Lin H-M, Weisz DJ. Patient characteristics and anesthetic technique are additive but not synergistic predictors of successful motor evoked potential monitoring. Anesth Analg. 2010;111(2):421–5.
- Lieberman JA, Lyon R, Feiner J, Diab M, Gregory GA. The effect of age on motor evoked potentials in children under propofol/isoflurane anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 2006;103(2):316–21.
- 49. *Sala F, Manganotti P, Grossauer S, Tramontanto V, Mazza C, Gerosa M. Intraoperative neurophysiology of the motor system in children: a tailored approach. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26(4):473–90.
- 50. Leppanen RE. Intraoperative monitoring of segmental spinal nerve root function with free-run and electrically-triggered electromyography and spinal cord function with reflexes and F-responses. A position statement by the American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2005;19(6):437–61.
- *Jameson LC, Sloan TB. Neurophysiologic monitoring in neurosurgery. Anesthesiol Clin. 2012;30(2):311–31.
- Wassermann EM. Variation in the response to transcranial magnetic brain stimulation in the general population. Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;113(7): 1165–71.
- Sloan TB. Anesthesia and the brain, does it matter? Anesthesiol Clin North America. 2002;20:1–27.
- 54. Davis SF, Corenman D, Strauch E, Connor D. Intraoperative monitoring may prevent neurologic injury in non-myelopathic patients undergoing ACDF. Neurodiagn J. 2013;53:114–20.
- 55. Avila EK, Elder JB, Singh P, Chen X, Bilsky MH. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring and neurologic outcomes in patients with epidural spine tumors. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2013;115(10): 2147–52.
- 56. *Nuwer MR, Emerson RG, Galloway G, Legatt AD, Lopez J, Minahan R, et al. Evidence-based guideline update: intraoperative spinal monitoring with somatosensory and transcranial electrical motor evoked potentials: report of the Therapeutics and Technology Assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology and the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. Neurology. 2012;78(8):585–9.
- 57. Gavaret M, Trebuchon A, Aubert S, Jacopin S, Blondel B, Glard Y, et al. Intraoperative monitoring in pediatric orthopedic spinal surgery: three hundred consecutive monitoring cases of which 10% of patients were younger than 4 years of age. Spine. 2011;36(22):1855–63.
- 58. Eager M, Shimer A, Jahangiri FR, Shen F, Arlet V. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring

(IONM): lessons learned from 32 case events in 2069 spine cases. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2011;51(4):247–63.

- Malhotra NR, Shaffrey CI. Intraoperative electrophysiological monitoring in spine surgery. Spine. 2010;35(25):2167–79.
- 60. Sutter M, Deletis V, Dvorak J, Eggspuehler A, Grob D, Macdonald D, et al. Current opinions and recommendations on multimodal intraoperative monitoring during spine surgeries. Eur Spine J. 2007;16 Suppl 2:S232–7.
- 61. Kelleher MO, Tan G, Sarjeant R, Fehlings MG. Predictive value of intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during cervical spine surgery: a prospective analysis of 1055 consecutive patients. J Neurosurg Spine. 2008;8(3):215–21.
- 62. Sutter MA, Eggspuehler A, Grob D, Porchet F, Jeszenszky D, Dvorak J. Multimodal intraoperative monitoring (MIOM) during 409 lumbosacral surgical procedures in 409 patients. Eur Spine J. 2007;16 Suppl 2:S221–8.
- Eggspuehler A, Sutter MA, Grob D, Jeszenszky D, Porchet F, Dvorak J. Multimodal intraoperative monitoring (MIOM) during cervical spine surgical procedures in 246 patients. Eur Spine J. 2007;16 Suppl 2:S209–15.
- 64. Kim DH, Zaremski J, Kwon B, Jenis L, Woodard E, Bode R, et al. Risk factors for false positive transcranial motor evoked potential monitoring alerts during surgical treatment of cervical myelopathy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2007;32(26):3041–6.
- 65. Haghighi SS, Mundis G, Zhang R, Ramirez B. Correlation between transcranial motor and somatosensory-evoked potential findings in cervical myelopathy or radiculopathy during cervical spine surgery. Neurol Res. 2011;33(9):893–8.
- 66. Wilson JR, Fehlings MG, Kalsi-Ryan S, Shamji MF, Tetreault LA, Rhee JM, Chapman JR. Diagnosis, heritability, and outcome assessment in cervical myelopathy: a consensus statement. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38(22S):S76–7.
- 67. Wilson JR, Barry S, Fischer DJ, Skelly AC, Arnold PM, Riew KD, et al. Frequency, timing, and predictors of neurological dysfunction in the nonmyelopathic patient with cervical spinal cord compression, canal stenosis, and/or ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38(22 Suppl 1):S37–54.
- Quinones-Hinojosa A, Gulati M, Lyon R, Gupta N, Yingling C, Quinones-Hinojosa A, et al. Spinal cord mapping as an adjunct for resection of intramedullary tumors: surgical technique with case illustrations. Neurosurgery. 2002;51(5):1199–206. discussion 206–7.
- 69. Cheng JS, Ivan ME, Stapleton CJ, Quinones-Hinojosa A, Gupta N, Auguste KI. Intraoperative changes in transcranial motor evoked potentials and somatosensory evoked potentials predicting outcome in children with intramedullary spinal cord tumors. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;13(6):591–9.

- Balogun JA, Khan OH, Taylor M, Dirks P, Der T, Carter Snead Iii O, et al. Pediatric awake craniotomy and intra-operative stimulation mapping. J Clin Neurosci. 2014;21(11):1891–4.
- Ringel F, Sala F. Intraoperative mapping and monitoring in supratentorial tumor surgery. J Neurosurg Sci. 2015;59(2):129–39.
- 72. Bello L, Riva M, Fava E, Ferpozzi V, Castellano A, Raneri F, et al. Tailoring neurophysiological strategies with clinical context enhances resection and safety and expands indications in gliomas involving motor pathways. Neuro Oncol. 2014;16(8):1110–28.
- 73. Trinh VT, Fahim DK, Maldaun MV, Shah K, McCutcheon IE, Rao G, et al. Impact of preoperative functional magnetic resonance imaging during awake craniotomy procedures for intraoperative guidance and complication avoidance. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2014;92(5):315–22.
- 74. Bertani G, Fava E, Casaceli G, Carrabba G, Casarotti A, Papagno C, et al. Intraoperative mapping and monitoring of brain functions for the resection of lowgrade gliomas: technical considerations. Neurosurg Focus. 2009;27(4):E4.
- Sanai N. Emerging operative strategies in neurosurgical oncology. Curr Opin Neurol. 2012;25(6): 756–66.
- Sanai N, Berger MS. Glioma extent of resection and its impact on patient outcome. Neurosurgery. 2008;62:753–6.
- 77. Morota N, Ihara S, Deletis V. Intraoperative neurophysiology for surgery in and around the brainstem: role of brainstem mapping and corticobulbar tract motor-evoked potential monitoring. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26(4):513–21.
- *Szelényi A, Kothbauer K, de Camargo AB, Langer D, Flamm ES, Deletis V. Motor evoked potential monitoring during cerebral aneurysm surgery: technical aspects and comparison of transcranial and direct cortical stimulation. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(4 Suppl):331–8.
- Neuloh G, Schramm J. Motor evoked potential monitoring for the surgery of brain tumours and vascular malformations. [Review] [126 refs]. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg, 2004;29:171–228.
- Edmonds Jr HL. Multi-modality neurophysiologic monitoring for cardiac surgery. Heart Surg Forum. 2002;5(3):225–8.
- Goodnough LT, Levy JH, Murphy MF. Concepts of blood transfusion in adults. Lancet. 2013; 381(9880):1845–54.
- Marik PE. Propofol: therapeutic indications and sideeffects. Curr Pharm Des. 2004;10(29):3639–49.
- 83. Mahmoud M, Sadhasivam S, Salisbury S, Nick TG, Schnell B, Sestokas AK, et al. Susceptibility of transcranial electric motor-evoked potentials to varying targeted blood levels of dexmedetomidine during spine surgery. Anesthesiology. 2010;112(6):1364–73.
- Anschel DJ, Aherne A, Soto RG, Carrion W, Hoegerl C, Nori P, et al. Successful intraoperative spinal cord

monitoring during scoliosis surgery using a total intravenous anesthetic regimen including dexmedetomidine. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;25(1):56–61.

- 85. Koruk S, Mizrak A, Kaya Ugur B, Ilhan O, Baspinar O, Oner U. Propofol/dexmedetomidine and propofol/ ketamine combinations for anesthesia in pediatric patients undergoing transcatheter atrial septal defect closure: a prospective randomized study. Clin Ther. 2010;32(4):701–9.
- Mahmoud M, Sadhasivam S, Sestokas AK, Samuels P, McAuliffe J. Loss of transcranial electric motor evoked potentials during pediatric spine surgery with dexmedetomidine. Anesthesiology. 2007;106(2):393–6.
- Bala E, Sessler DI, Nair DR, McLain R, Dalton JE, Farag E. Motor and somatosensory evoked potentials are well maintained in patients given dexmedetomidine during spine surgery. Anesthesiology. 2008; 109(3):417–25.
- Legatt AD. Current practice of motor evoked potential monitoring: results of a survey. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19(5):454–60.
- *Macdonald DB, Skinner S, Shils J, Yingling C. Intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring: a position statement by the American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring. Clin Neurophysiol. 2013;124(12):2291–316.
- Macdonald DB. Intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring: overview and update. J Clin Monit Comput. 2006;20(5):347–77.

Questions

- 1. Which of the following does NOT decrease the likelihood that MEP can be acquired in the OR
 - a. Very young age
 - b. Diabetes
 - c. Long-standing hypertension
 - d. Myelopathy
 - e. All of the above
- During surgery, MEP change in the tibialis anterior that is NOT resolved by the conclusion of surgery correlates with
 - a. Loss of proprioception in the feet
 - b. Loss of vibration sense in the hands
 - c. Loss of motor function in the leg
 - d. Loss of speech discrimination
 - e. Loss of visual acuity
- 3. Which of the following has been associated with EMG monitoring?
 - a. Epidural D waves
 - b. H reflex
 - c. Stimulation of cranial nerve VII during an acoustic neuroma

- d. Stimulation of the posterior tibial nerve
- e. Neurogenic motor-evoked potentials
- 4. Which of the following are associated with deterioration of MEP muscle responses during surgery?
 - a. Inhalational anesthesia
 - b. Hypotension
 - c. Anemia
 - d. Administration of muscle relaxant
 - e. All of the above
- 5. Compared to SSEP
 - a. MEP has the same vascular supply in the spinal cord
 - b. MEP has more synapses in the spinal cord than SSEP
 - c. MEP is supplied by the posterior spinal artery while the SSEP is supplied by the anterior spinal artery

- d. The MEP is less sensitive to ischemia in the spinal cord
- e. All of the above
- 6. When MEP responses are lost during surgery, the most frequent rescue technique is
 - a. Change to volatile anesthesia
 - b. Decrease blood pressure
 - c. There is no effective therapy
 - d. Increase BP to preoperative values or higher
 - e. None of the above

Answers

- 1. c
- 2. c
- 3. c
- 4. e
- 5. b
- 6. d

Auditory-Evoked Potentials

3

Christoph N. Seubert and Mary Herman

Key Learning Points

- Auditory-evoked potentials are most useful to monitor the integrity of the intracranial auditory nerve (cochlear portion of cranial nerve 8)
- The electrocochleogram (ECochG) can provide independent verification of stimulus delivery
- Waves I and V are most robust on the AEP; wave I originates from the cochlea, which is typically not directly in harm's way. Wave V originates at the level of the inferior colliculus, medial geniculate body

M. Herman, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Anesthesiology, The Geisinger Health System, GMC Anesthesiology, 100 North Academy Ave., Danville, PA 17822, USA e-mail: mherman1@geisinger.edu

- Brainstem pathways of the auditory system run predominantly contralateral to the stimulated ear
- Brainstem auditory potentials are very resistant to the effects of anesthetic agents

Anatomy of the Auditory System

Sound signals are processed by the auditory system in a sequential manner. First, the acoustic energy of sound is conducted to the cochlea located within the inner ear, where conversion to a coded electrochemical signal takes place. This signal is then transmitted along the auditory pathway via the eighth cranial nerve, brainstem, and midbrain to the primary auditory cortex. Various auditory-evoked potentials can be recorded from all these elements (Fig. 3.1, see also supplemental electronic content (Video 3.1)). The tracings consist of waves with peaks and troughs that correspond to fluctuations in electrical potential. Each wave is described as being either a peak (P=positive deflection) or trough (N=negative deflection) and is further described in terms of both amplitude (peak-to-peak height) and latency (time from stimulus). The waves can be divided on the basis of the time between acoustic stimulus and evoked response into short-, mid-, and long-latency

Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_3) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

C.N. Seubert, M.D., Ph.D., D.A.B.N.M. (⊠) Department of Anesthesiology, University of Florida College of Medicine, PO Box 100254 JHMHSC, Gainesville, FL 32610-0254, USA e-mail: cseubert@anest.ufl.edu



Fig. 3.1 Neural pathway of the auditory system and recordable potentials. Note that auditory input is transmitted to bilateral primary auditory cortices and ascends through brainstem and midbrain partially ipsilateral and partially contralateral to the side of stimulation (for details, see text). The electrocochleogram (ECochG) contains near-field signals from cochlea and distal auditory nerve (adapted from Coats [44]; with permission). The brainstem auditory-evoked potential (ABR) reflects activity in the

acoustic-evoked potentials. The long-latency acoustic-evoked potentials originate in the association cortex and require cooperation and attention. They are abolished under anesthesia and will, therefore, not be further considered. Another type entire neural pathway. Note how the morphology of individual waves projects differently in the individual recording channels. In addition to Na and Pa waves reflecting activation of the primary auditory cortex, the mid-latency auditory-evoked potential (MLAEP) contains a distinctive wave V of the ABR within its first 10 ms (adapted from Thornton et al. [47]; with permission). Anatomic and radiographic representations of the auditory pathway can be found in the supplemental on-line materials

of recording that will not be discussed is the recording of compound action potentials from the auditory nerve, which requires the surgeon to place an electrode intraoperatively on an anatomic structure of interest (for a recent review see Simon [1]).

Conduction of Auditory Signals from Ear to Cochlea

The ear is subdivided into external, middle, and inner parts. The external ear is composed of the auricle that acts to collect and direct sound through the external auditory meatus toward the tympanic membrane. The tympanic membrane forms the boundary between the external and middle parts of the ear. The tympanic membrane is covered in a very thin squamous epithelial layer externally and by a mucous membrane internally. It moves in response to air vibrations that pass to it through the external auditory meatus. Movements of the tympanic membrane are transmitted by three auditory ossicles, the malleous, incus, and stapes, through the middle ear to the inner ear.

The middle ear lies within the petrous portion of the temporal bone. The tympanic cavity lies directly behind the tympanic membrane and shares important anatomical relationships to neighboring structures. Superiorly, the epitympanic recess is separated from the middle cranial fossa by a thin roof of bone, the tegmen tympani. The anterior (carotid) wall separates the carotid canal from the tympanic cavity. The eustachian tube projects through the anterior wall to connect the middle ear to the nasopharynx. The floor (jugular wall) is formed by a layer of bone that separates the tympanic cavity from the superior bulb of the internal jugular vein. The medial or labyrinthine wall separates the tympanic cavity from the inner ear. The middle ear also connects posterior and superior with the mastoid air cells through the mastoid antrum.

The auditory ossicles form a chain that extends across the tympanic cavity from the tympanic membrane to the oval window (fenestra vestibuli). The malleous (hammer) is attached to the tympanic membrane. Its superior head lies within the epitympanic recess, and its handle is embedded in the tympanic membrane. Movement of the tympanic membrane results in movement of the malleous. The head of the malleous articulates with the incus (anvil). The long process of the incus articulates with the stapes (stirrup). The base of the stapes is attached to the oval window. Typically, the majority of the sound energy travels via this ossicular chain to the cochlea. If movement of the tympanic membrane or ossicular chain is restricted by fluid or a disease process, a conductive hearing deficit results and the far less effective conduction of sound via bone becomes an important input to the cochlea. Conversely, during bone drilling, bone-conducted noise may overwhelm the cochlea and lead to a temporary hearing deficit.

Two muscles lie within the middle ear and act to prevent excessive movement of the ossicles due to loud noises. The tensor tympani muscle arises from the superior surface of the cartilage forming the auditory tube, the greater wing of the sphenoid bone and the petrous part of the temporal bone. It is innervated by the mandibular division of the trigeminal nerve and inserts on the handle of the malleolus. The tensor tympani pulls on the handle of the malleolus, tenses the tympanic membrane, and thus dampens oscillations of the tympanic membrane. The stapedius muscle arises from the pyramidal eminence on the posterior wall of the tympanic cavity. It inserts on the neck of the stapes. It is innervated by a branch of the facial nerve. The stapedius pulls the stapes posteriorly and tilts the base of the stapes in the oval window. This acts to tighten the stapes and reduce excessive movement.

Neural Components of the Auditory System and Electrical Generators Along the Auditory Pathway

Cochlea: Electrocochleogram

The cochlea converts sound waves into action potentials in the neurons of the cochlear nerve. Sound waves conducted to the oval window propagate in the perilymph of the cochlea. The action of these waves on the spiral organ of Corti generates excitatory synaptic input from the cochlear hair cells, which in turn depolarizes the cochlear end of the auditory nerve. This depolarization leads to the generation of the eighth nerve compound action potential.

The electrical activity within the cochlea can be recorded in the form of an electrocochleogram (ECochG; Fig. 3.1). The ECochG includes the cochlear microphonic, the summation potential, and the eighth nerve compound action potential. The hair cells generate the cochlear microphonic and summation potential within the cochlea (for details see section "Electrocochleogram" below). The eighth nerve compound action potential results from depolarization within the distal (cochlear) portion of the auditory nerve axons. It generates wave N1 of the ECochG. It is recorded as a phase negativity in the middle ear or extratympanic recording site. Sounds used to elicit ECochGs may produce more than one volley of action potentials within the auditory nerve, thus producing N1 and N2 (and sometimes N3) components of an eighth nerve compound action potential. The N1 potential corresponds to wave I of the brain stem auditory response discussed below.

Auditory Pathway from Cochlear Nerve to Midbrain: Auditory Brainstem-Evoked Responses

Neural transmission of auditory signals starts with input from cochlear hair cells into the distal auditory nerve, whose anatomic course puts it at risk of injury during many procedures in the posterior cranial fossa. Once the signals reach the brainstem, they pass through a complex series of relay and processing stations to the midbrain. The signals travel partially ipsilateral to the side of stimulation, but mostly cross over to the contralateral side (see Figs. 3.1 and 3.2).

First-order auditory neurons run in the cochlear division of CN VIII from the spiral organ of Corti to the dorsal and ventral cochlear nuclei in the upper medulla. Myelinated dendrites of the auditory nerve pass into and through the spiral ganglia and form a nerve bundle in the internal auditory canal. Both the acoustic and vestibular portions of the auditory nerve pass through the temporal bone alongside the intracranial portion of the facial nerve. Together, they exit the internal auditory canal and travel to the brainstem. At the point of exit from the internal auditory canal, both facial and vestibulocochlear nerves make an acute turn from the anteromedial trajectory of the internal auditory canal within the petrous pyramid of the temporal bone posterolaterally toward the cerebellopontine angle of the brainstem. This acute turn "anchors" the vestibulocochlear nerve and puts it at risk of a stretch-induced neurapraxic injury during retraction of the brainstem, especially if the anatomy of the posterior fossa is already disrupted by pathology such as a cerebellopontine angle tumor.

Auditory nerve fibers synapse at either the posterior ventral cochlear nucleus or the anterior ventral cochlear nucleus. Fibers that synapse at the posterior ventral cochlear nucleus also have connections with the dorsal cochlear nucleus. From the cochlear nuclei, second-order neurons may follow several pathways or combinations of

Fig. 3.2 (continued) The lateral lemniscus ascends medial to the intrapontine segment of the trigeminal nerve and lateral to the medial lemniscus and superior cerebellar peduncle to reach the inferior colliculus. (d) After reaching the inferior colliculus, auditory information is carried to the medial geniculate body by the brachium of the inferior colliculus, which ascends obliquely on the lateral surface of the midbrain. After reaching the medial geniculate body, the auditory pathway crosses beneath the lentiform nucleus in the sublentiform pathway to reach the auditory cortex on the most anterior transverse temporal gyrus, referred to as Heschl's gyrus. (e) Posterior view of the midbrain. The nuclei of the superior and inferior colliculi are located below the surface. The red nucleus is located at a deeper level. (f) Further dissection. Structures near the inferior collicular implant, in order from dorsal to ventral, are the oculomotor and trochlear nuclei located just ventral to the aqueduct in the midline, the trigeminal mesencephalic and central tegmental tracts near the midline, decussation of the superior cerebellar peduncle at the level of the inferior colliculus and the red nucleus located between the mid-level of the inferior colliculus, and the lateral wall of the third ventricle. (g) Left retrosigmoid view. The left cerebellar hemisphere was removed to expose the dorsolateral brainstem and the ventral and dorsal cochlear nuclei, lateral lemniscus, and inferior colliculus. Aud. auditory, Cer. cerebellar, CN cranial nerve, Coch. cochlear, Coll. colliculus, collicular; CTT central tegmental tract, Decuss. decussation, Dent. dentate, Dors. dorsal, Flocc. flocculus, Gen. geniculate, Gl. gland, Gyr. gyrus, Inf. inferior, Lat. lateral, Lemn. lemniscus, Med. medial, Nucl. nucleus, Oliv. olivary, Ped. peduncle, Pontomed. pontomedullary, Pontomes. pontomesencephalic, Rad. radiations, Sulc. sulcus, Sup. superior, Tent. tentorium, TMT trigeminal mesencephalic tract, Trap. trapezoid, TST trigeminal spinal tract, Vent. ventral



Fig.3.2 Fiber dissection of the central auditory pathway. (a) Ventral and dorsal cochlear nuclei. Posterolateral view of the junction of the cranial nerve with the brainstem. The ventral cochlear nucleus is situated on the lateral and dorsal cochlear nucleus on the dorsal surface of the inferior cerebellar peduncle. They are positioned close to the trigeminal spinal tract,

facial nucleus, and nucleus ambiguus, which are located ventromedial to the trigeminal spinal tract. The facial nucleus is hidden deep to the cochlear nuclei. (b) Anterior view. The ventral pons was removed to expose the medial and lateral lemnisci and the trapezoid body formed by crossing auditory fibers at the level of the lower pons. (c) Left lateral view.

Peak	Generator
Ι	Acoustic nerve (extracranial)
II	Acoustic nerve (intracranial), cochlear nuclei
III	Cochlear nuclei
IV	Lateral lemniscus, superior olivary complex
V	Inferior colliculus; contralateral lateral lemniscus
VI	Medial geniculate nuclei
VII	Thalamocortical radiations

 Table 3.1
 Purported neural generators of ABR peaks^a

^aPeaks I, III, and V are considered the most useful for intraoperative neuromonitoring of ABRs. Most peaks are likely a result of the summation of inputs from multiple generators. While not all of these generators have been proven, the designations are clinically useful because they point out the approximate location of an injury. *ABR* brain-stem auditory-evoked potentials

pathways en route to the inferior colliculus. Most fibers decussate via the trapezoid body and pass up the lateral lemniscus to the contralateral inferior colliculus of the midbrain. Some fibers synapse in either the medial or lateral superior olivary nuclei. Others pass through the ipsilateral lateral lemniscus to the ipsilateral inferior colliculus. All ascending fibers synapse at the inferior colliculus. Third-order neurons from the inferior colliculus ascend to the medial geniculate body at the level of the thalamus on each side. Fourth-order neurons pass through the internal capsule and then form the auditory radiation to the primary auditory cortex. This complex pattern of tracts and relay stations is involved in elementary processing of auditory input, e.g., by extracting directional information about the source of sounds or as the afferent limb of auditory startle responses.

Activity in the neural pathways from the cochlea up to the midbrain can be recorded in the form of auditory brainstem responses (ABRs, sometimes also called brainstem auditory-evoked responses [BAERs] or brainstem auditory-evoked potentials [BAEPs]; see Fig. 3.1). Peaks in a recording of ABRs are labeled I through VII. As with other sensory-evoked potentials, the wave amplitude, absolute latencies, and interpeak latencies are evaluated to assess the integrity of the auditory system. The purported generators for these peaks are shown in Fig. 3.1 and are summarized in Table 3.1. Although some

researchers have postulated that each peak corresponds to one generator, it appears that most ABRs are a result of the summation of inputs from multiple generators [2–4]. The pattern of connections in the auditory system contributes to this complexity, as ascending fibers both cross and bypass relay nuclei [4–6]. Nonetheless, the information in Figs. 3.1 and 3.2 and Table 3.1 can be used to help localize the site of an injury. While functional deficits can often be localized when injury or ischemia occurs, the complexity of the system may sometimes lead to changes in ABRs with no change in function [7, 8].

Wave I of the ABR arises from action potentials in the most distal portion of the myelinated auditory nerve [9]. Wave I of the ABR is equivalent to N1 of the ECochG [10]. Wave I is a near field potential, recorded in the vicinity of the ipsilateral stimulated ear. It represents the peripheral potential of this sensory modality. Loss of wave I may indicate damage to the inner ear, but may also be caused by technical problems in the delivery of acoustic stimuli to the ipsilateral ear. When wave I is absent, ABRs cannot be used to make inferences about the integrity of the brainstem. Wave II of the ABR occurs at approximately the same latency as N1 of the compound action potential of the proximal auditory nerve to the cochlear nucleus. It occurs on the ipsilateral side. Wave III predominately originates in the caudal pontine tegmentum and region of the superior olivary complex. Near-field activity in the ipsilateral cochlear nucleus corresponds with wave III [11]. Ascending projections are bilateral, so wave III may receive input from both the ipsilateral and contralateral ear. Scalp-recorded wave III has been recorded at the same time as near-field activity in the cochlear nucleus [12]. Other recordings from the area of the cochlear nucleus in the lateral recess of the fourth ventricle indicate activity that coincides with wave IIIn (the negative peak between III and IV) [13, 14]. The auditory nerve may continue to be active during generation of the scalp-recorded waves III and IV [4]. Waves IV and V are often fused into a IV–V complex and their generators appear to be in close proximity of each other. Wave IV appears to reflect activity in ascending auditory fibers

within the dorsal and rostral pons, caudal to the inferior colliculus with input from both ipsilateral and contralateral sides. Wave V appears to predominantly reflect activity at the level of the inferior colliculus, perhaps including activity in the rostral portion of the lateral lemniscus as well as activity in the contralateral lateral lemniscus as it terminates on the inferior colliculus [4, 11]. Waves VI and VII are inconsistent and variable; therefore, they are not routinely monitored [15]. Most intraoperative neuromonitoring utilizes only waves I, III, and V to guide the intraoperative course [6, 16, 17].

Primary Auditory Cortex: Mid-Latency Auditory-Evoked Potentials

Tracts carrying auditory information project from the medial geniculate body to the cortex and other brain areas by multiple routes [18]. The medial geniculate body and cortex are linked by two main routes. The first pathway from the ventral medial geniculate body carries only auditory input and follows a sublenticular route through the internal capsule to Heschl's gyrus in the superior temporal lobe. The second pathway from the medial geniculate body projects into the inferior portion of the internal capsule and carries mixed auditory, somatic, and possibly visual sensory input. Auditory fibers from the medial geniculate body also project to the caudate nucleus, the putamen, and the globus pallidus.

Intrahemispheric and interhemispheric connections occur within the primary auditory cortex. Multisynaptic pathways likely exist in the middle and posterior areas of the superior temporal gyrus. Fibers also extend from the superior temporal gyrus to the insula and frontal operculum. The arcuate fasciculus provides auditory input from the auditory cortical areas in the temporal lobes to the frontal lobes. Wernicke's area in the temporal lobe and Broca's area in the frontal lobe receive auditory information via the arcuate fasciculus. Auditory input also passes to the hippocampus and occipital regions of the brain. Although these areas and pathways are not anatomically defined, they provide auditory input to memory and visual association areas. Auditory information passes between the two hemispheres through the corpus callosum, the primary connection between the left and right hemispheres. The transcollosal auditory pathway begins at the auditory cortex and passes posteriorly and superiorly around the lateral ventricles.

Electrical phenomena associated with activation of auditory cortex can be recorded in the form of mid-latency auditory-evoked potentials (MLAEPs, see Fig. 3.1). MLAEPs are observed 10–60 ms after an auditory stimulus [19]. They appear to arise from the ventral portion of the medial geniculate body and primary auditory cortex in the primary pathway and also nonprimary pathways in the auditory thalamocortical projection [20, 21].

MLAEPs consist of four deflections, labeled Na, Pa, Nb, and Pb. Na and Pa latencies are between 10–25 and 22–40 ms, respectively [19]. Nb latency is at 40 ms and Pb is at 40–60 ms. Magnetoencephalographic and intracerebral recordings suggest that the Na/Pa complex is generated in the posteromedial part of the first transverse gyrus. MLAEPs correlate well with wakefulness during general anesthesia when using desflurane or propofol [22] and are associated with awakening from anesthesia following verbal command [23]. MLAEPs may be abnormal in neurologic diseases such as dementia, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis, and myotonic dystrophy [24–32].

Vascular Supply of Auditory Pathway Structures

The cochlea receives its blood supply from the internal auditory artery, which is usually a branch of the anterior inferior cerebellar artery. The internal auditory artery is quite small in diameter and passes through the internal auditory canal along with the eighth nerve [33]. Damage to this artery will cause cochlear ischemia or infarction. Cochlear ischemia from obstruction or disruption of the internal auditory artery may affect the ECochG and wave I of the ABRs resulting in the loss of all subsequent components [34]. This may occur during tumor resection and lead to postop-

erative deafness [35]. These effects may be reversible if perfusion is restored within 15 min [35].

The brainstem (medulla, pons, and midbrain) receives the bulk of its blood supply from the vertebrobasilar system [36]. Except for the labyrinthine branch and early branches of the vertebral arteries, all other branches supply the brainstem and medulla. In principle, conducting vessels run along the brainstem surface, whereas the nuclei within the brainstem and the fiber tracts are supplied by perforating vessels. The vertebral arteries supply the medulla. The paramedian branches of the basilar artery supply medial pontine structures. Short circumferential arteries supply the anterolateral pons. Long circumferential branches of the basilar artery run laterally over the anterior surface of the pons and anastomose with branches of the anterior inferior cerebellar artery. The inferior colliculus receives blood from the anterior inferior cerebellar artery (caudally) with some reinforcement rostrally from the superior cerebellar artery. Quadrageminal arteries arise from branches of the basilar artery and also supply the inferior colliculus.

The medial geniculate nucleus lies in the dorsal thalamus and receives its blood supply from posterolateral arteries (thalamogeniculate), which arise from the posterior cerebral artery. The primary auditory cortex, which lies in the superior temporal lobe, is supplied by branches of the middle cerebral artery and, therefore, by the anterior cerebral circulation. Interhemispheric fibers that connect the left and right auditory cortex pass through the posterior corpus callosum, which receives its blood supply from the pericallosal artery, a branch of the anterior cerebral artery [18, 37].

ABRs may change during posterior fossa surgery as a result of ischemia or infarction from clipping or compression of arteries that perfuse the brainstem auditory pathways [8]. Patients who experience major changes in ABRs that persist to the end of the operation almost always have new postoperative neurologic deficits [38, 39]. Changes in waveforms almost always reflect anatomical deficits. For example, damage below the mesencephalon will affect wave V, and wave III may or may not be spared depending on the location of the lesion. Wave III would be lost if the lesion is caudal to or at the superior olivary complex. However, wave I would remain intact. Interruption of the blood supply proximal to the internal auditory artery may affect wave I. For example, during posterior fossa vascular surgery, damage to the vertebrobasilar system, which supplies the anterior inferior cerebellar artery and the internal auditory artery, could cause ischemic cochlear damage and loss of all waveforms.

Techniques for Recording Auditory-Evoked Potentials

Auditory-evoked potentials can be recorded from all neuronal structures that contribute to the auditory system [40]. The first potentials generated in response to sound come from the cochlea. They can be recorded in the form of the ECochG. Because the cochlea lies well protected in the temporal bone, direct damage during surgery is typically either not a concern or planned as part of the surgical access, such as in the translabyrinthine approach to the posterior fossa. Therefore, monitoring of the ECochG is not widely used. From the cochlea, potentials are carried along the auditory nerve and the brainstem to the primary auditory cortex and further to association areas of the cortex. MLAEPs reflect activation of the primary auditory cortex occurring 10-50 ms after acoustic stimulation. MLAEPs are also sensitive to the effects of general anesthetics and are therefore not used for intraoperative monitoring of the integrity of the auditory pathway. On the contrary, because of their sensitivity to anesthetics, they have been used to monitor cortical anesthetic drug effect in order to help assess "anesthetic depth." Their performance as a monitor of anesthetic depth is comparable to that of other monitors relying on the processed electroencephalogram (EEG) [41]. Recording MLAEPs requires both stimulation and recording and is therefore technically more elaborate than the setup for processed frontal EEG. This fact has hampered commercial exploitation and clinical acceptance of MLAEPs as a monitoring technique during anesthesia.

Short-latency potentials occur less than 10 ms after an acoustic stimulus and originate in the acoustic nerve and brainstem. They are typically referred to as auditory brainstem responses (ABRs); sometimes also described as BAERs or BAEPs. An anesthesiologist is most likely to encounter intraoperative use of auditory-evoked potentials in the form of ABRs.

The recording of auditory-evoked responses presents significant technical challenges because the signals originate from anatomical structures that are far removed from the site of electrode placement on the head's surface. Because of this distance between purported anatomical generator and recording electrode, these types of responses are called far-field responses. Their amplitude is small, typically less than 0.5 μ V, compared to the EEG and the electrocardiogram, which are a 100 and a 1000 times larger, respectively. Because of their small amplitude, auditory-evoked potentials cannot be seen on continuous recordings of electrical activity. Instead they require signal averaging of the responses to 500–2000 acoustic stimuli.

Stimulation

Acoustic stimuli are presented intraoperatively as "clicks" of 100-µs duration. The clicks comprise a broad spectrum of tone frequencies and thus activate much of the cochlea. This nearly simultaneous activation of the cochlea triggers a synchronized volley of action potentials in the acoustic nerve, which in turn can be recorded as well-defined peaks in the auditory-evoked response. Clicks can be delivered in three different "polarities"-rarefaction, condensation, or alternating (Fig. 3.3). The description of the click polarity refers to the initial movement of the tympanic membrane away from, toward or alternating between away and toward the stimulator. In practice, either an alternating polarity is used in order to cancel out the stimulus artifact or the polarity that results in the clearest response. In rare instances bone conduction can be used to deliver the acoustic stimulus.

The intensity/volume of the click stimulus can be based on the results of preoperative determina-

tions of hearing thresholds. A stimulus intensity of 70 dB above normal hearing level (70 dB nHL) normally yields maximal auditory responses. In the absence of a preoperative audiogram, 90–95 dB is frequently used, particularly in the presence of a preoperative hearing deficit. Note that a decrease in the stimulus intensity as it is delivered to the cochlea reduces the amplitude of the auditory-evoked potentials (see Fig. 3.3). Such a reduction can result from a dislodged stimulator, fluid in the middle ear (e.g., from breached mastoid air cells), accumulation of nitrous oxide in the face of a blocked eustachian tube, or damage to the auditory pathway.

Depending on the structures at risk during surgery, stimuli are typically presented unilaterally even though rostral parts of the auditory pathway proceed largely crossed over to the contralateral side, but also to a lesser extent uncrossed (see above). Unilateral presentation of stimuli allows diagnosis of lesions to the cochlea and distal auditory nerve ipsilateral to the side of stimulation. If unilateral stimulation is used, bone conduction to the contralateral ear is typically "blocked" by masking. Masking refers to the continuous administration of white noise to the nonstimulated ear typically at intensities 30 dB less than the click stimulus. An alternative way of stimulation is the use of interleaved stimuli alternating between right and left ear, but sorted into separate averaged recordings for left and right ear stimulation. Such interleaved stimulation does not allow for masking, but the small decrement in sensitivity is made up by the fact that both sides are monitored continuously. Bilateral stimulation is sometimes used to record MLAEPs.

Because auditory responses up to the level of the brainstem occur within 10 ms of stimulation, stimuli can be presented as frequently as 30–50 times per second (30–50 Hz). If there is a preexisting hearing deficit such as that caused by a large acoustic neuroma, slower stimulation at 10–15 Hz may be necessary. Stimulus rates should never be equal to or a divisor of the line frequency of 60 Hz, because signal averaging will then tend to augment the electromagnetic interference from the line frequency rather than canceling it out.


Fig. 3.3 Effect of click polarity and stimulus intensity on brainstem auditory-evoked potentials. The top panel shows ABRs recorded in response to three different click polarities. Note that click polarity has notable effects on the early ABR in the A2-Cz channel, because it contains information from the ECochG. The bottom panel shows the effect of a stepwise decrease in stimulus intensity on the ABR. Note that wave I is lost at stimulus intensities less than 80 dB, suggesting a problem with sound delivery, whereas the desynchronization of waves III and V at low stimulus intensities are indistinguishable from changes caused by damage to the auditory system

Physically, the stimuli can be presented either with earphones or with foam ear inserts connected by a tube to stimulators placed at a short distance (i.e., <10 cm) from the ear. Earphones are used less frequently, because they put a source of electromagnetic interference close to the generators of the auditory response. Ear inserts are less bulky and do not contribute to noise. The acoustic transmission of sound from the stimulator through the tube insert to the tympanic membrane delays auditory responses by less than 1 ms.

Electrocochleogram

Recordings of the ECochG require placement of a primary electrode close to the cochlea. During middle ear surgery, such an electrode can be placed on the promontory or the round window. A noninvasive recording is possible from the external ear canal, which is preferred over a more distal mastoid electrode [42]. The secondary or reference electrode can be at the contralateral ear or at Cz. The filter bandpass is set to 5000– 3000 Hz. Stimulation parameters are typically



Effect of General Anesthesia

Auditory Brainstem Response

ш with respect to vertex Before anaesthesia After induction 0.14 r 0.37 End-tidal halothane 0.61 concn 0.78 . 0 5 10 Time (ms)



Fig.3.4 ECochG and effects of anesthesia on brainstem and MLAEPs. The ECochG contains a prominent wave N1 that coincides with activation of the distal auditory nerve. N1 is larger than a typical ABR and therefore easier to record than wave I of the ABR. Electrical activity within the cochlea is reflected in the cochlear microphonic and summating potential. Subtraction of ECochG traces in response to rarefaction and condensation clicks emphasizes the cochlear microphonic (middle panel), whereas

addition emphasizes the summating potential. Anesthesia with halothane differentially affects ABRs and MLAEPs. Whereas the latency of wave V of the ABR increases by less than 1 ms and the amplitude is unaffected (left panel), the mid-latency response nearly vanishes at high concentrations of halothane. (Right panel adapted from Coats [44]; with permission. Right panel bottom adapted from Thornton et al. [47]; with permission.)

the same as those described above, even though the two cochlear potentials depend on stimulus duration and are more pronounced, when longer stimuli are used [43]. Typical timebases used for ECochGs are less than 10 ms.

Three potentials characterize the ECochG (Fig. 3.3). In sequence of activation, they are the cochlear microphonic, the summating potential, and the N1 potential. Based on the sequence of steps that translate auditory input into nerve impulses, the cochlear microphonic and summating potential originate in the hair cells of the organ of Corti and the N1 potential originates in the distal auditory nerve. The cochlear microphonic is an AC voltage that mirrors the waveform of the acoustic stimulus. Therefore, it can be minimized by stimulating with alternating polarity and can be augmented by subtraction of traces recorded with alternating polarity (Fig. 3.3) [44]. In contrast, the summating potential is a DC current thought to reflect the fact that transduction of the stimulus by the hair cells does not occur uniformly and at the same time throughout the cochlea. Therefore, the summating potential is increased in patients with inner ear diseases such as Meniere's disease that further distort the transduction of acoustic stimuli in the inner ear [44]. With the short clicks typically used for stimulation, the summating potential is reflected as a "shoulder" on the much larger N1 potential. The final potential recorded in the ECochG is the N1 potential, which reflects activation of the distal auditory nerve and thus the same physiologic phenomenon as wave I of the ABR. Because it is a near-field potential, it is large in amplitude and requires fewer averages than a full ABR. Those laboratories that use ECochG for intraoperative monitoring typically focus on the N1 potential to quickly ascertain successful stimulation of the auditory system similar to the more familiar Erb's point recording used with SSEPs.

Brainstem Auditory-Evoked Potentials

A normal ABR recording should show at least three clearly identifiable waves/peaks. Although an ABR recording is classically described as containing seven waves (see Fig. 3.1), a minimum of waves I, III, and V should be present for the signal to be useful for intraoperative monitoring. A typical montage includes electrodes on the ipsilateral ear and one at the vertex, i.e., A1-Cz and A2-Cz for left and right sides, respectively. Additional channels can be used to aid in the identification of individual peaks (see Fig. 3.1). Specifically, a cervical midline electrode referenced to Cz sometimes aids in identification of wave V, whereas an A1-A2 or A2-A1 channel can aid in identification of wave I if the ECochG is not monitored separately. With the exception of wave I, all potentials recorded as ABRs originate from structures deep within the head and are considered far-field potentials. Therefore, wave I shows up best in channels that contain an electrode near the ipsilateral ear. Subsequent waves, in contrast, can be activated by stimulation from either side and contain limited information that allows assignment of changes to either the right or left side. In a baseline recording, it is important to clearly identify wave I and compare it with that from the contralateral ear. Clear identification of wave I guards against situations when the stimulators for the right and left sides have mistakenly been reversed. Furthermore, the presence of wave I assures delivery of an adequate stimulus and thus allows identification of unilateral damage to the ipsilateral auditory nerve.

The typical epoch for ABRs is 10 ms although the stimulus delay imposed by ear insert stimulators and the presence of hearing loss sometimes requires a longer epoch. The bandpass is set from 100 or 150 to 3000 Hz and a notch filter for the 60-Hz line frequency can be added.

MLAEPs

Auditory-evoked potentials beyond the brainstem are recorded either for research purposes or to measure anesthetic drug effect [45, 46]. Examples of late potentials include the eventrelated potential P300, which occurs about 300 ms after an appropriate stimulus or the mismatch negativity that occurs late after an oddball sequence of stimuli. Both reflect elements of higher order processing and are absent under anesthesia. Latency and amplitude of early peaks of the MLAEP correlate with anesthetic drug effect (see Fig. 3.3) [47]. Two commercial monitors of anesthetic drug effect have been developed based on MLAEP technology, although neither is widely used [48]. Stimulation for MLAEPs can be done as described above, although stimulus durations up to 500 µs and simultaneous stimulation of both ears are described. The typical band pass is set to 15–250 Hz. The stimulation rate needs to be less than 10 Hz because the epoch is at least 50 ms. The montage can be mastoid-Cz, especially under anesthesia, but can also be a midline montage of a cervical electrode referenced to Cz or Fz. The benefit of using a midline montage is that it avoids recording the postauricular muscle response [45]. The postauricular muscle response is an involuntary muscle reflex in response to loud acoustic stimuli. Its amplitude may exceed that of the MLAEP and its latency of 15-20 ms coincides with the early peaks of the MLAEP. Furthermore, because it is triggered by the acoustic stimulus, signal averaging will not remove it.

Anesthetic and Physiologic Considerations for Monitoring of Auditory Brainstem Responses

Auditory brainstem responses are very resistant to the effects of general anesthetic agents (see Fig. 3.3) [47]. Therefore, no modification of the anesthetic approach to a patient is needed because of ABR monitoring. The small increases in latency caused by anesthetic agents are not clinically significant and are easily distinguished from changes in ABRs caused by technical and physiologic factors.

Sometimes technical problems cause gradual or abrupt changes in ABRs intraoperatively in the absence of physical damage to the auditory pathway (see also Chap. 29, "ENT and Anterior Neck Surgery", Tables 29.2 and 29.3). Diminished input can occur abruptly, e.g., by kinking the tube of an ear insert on the down ear in a lateral or park bench position, or gradually, e.g., by fluid

accumulation in the middle ear. Conduction in the middle ear diminishes when fluid enters the middle ear either in the form of irrigation fluid, e.g., during drilling in the mastoid bone, or as blood from any of the anatomic structures in the vicinity. Accumulation of nitrous oxide in the face of a blocked eustachian tube can also decrease conduction in the middle ear. Note that the changes caused by diminishing acoustic input look very similar to progressive damage of the auditory pathway if changes to wave I are not assessed (see Fig. 3.2). Finally, drilling of bone causes noise of an intensity that overwhelms the cochlea, prevents recording of ABRs during drilling, and alters ABRs recorded shortly after the cessation of drilling.

Physiologic factors that affect the entire ABR are interruption or vasospasm of the cochlear artery or avulsion of fascicles of the distal auditory nerve within the inner auditory canal. Both diminish or abolish wave I and all subsequent waves of the ABR and result in diminished hearing or deafness, respectively.

The intracranial portion of the auditory nerve can be affected by traction on either nerve or brainstem resulting in an increase in the latency between waves I and III. This change occurs only ipsilateral to the side of the injury. The degree of desynchronization of wave III reflects the severity of the insult and frequently the rate of change of the potential is inversely related to reversibility, i.e., a signal that changes profoundly and rapidly is less likely to recover [49]. Similar changes can be caused by cold irrigation or heat from the cautery or drying of the auditory nerve [50, 51]. Application of papaverine to relieve vasospasm [52] or aggressive attempts to fill the subarachnoid space with irrigation fluid prior to dural closure may lead to ABR changes [53].

Damage to the brainstem either in the form of direct trauma or through compromise of blood supply or blood flow will be reflected in ABRs to the extent that the auditory pathway is involved. While persistent ABR changes nearly always predict brainstem dysfunction, damage to the brainstem may still occur even though ABRs remain unchanged. Many centers use ABRs together with other modalities such as somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) and motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) to monitor the integrity of the brainstem. Again persistent changes in monitored signals typically predict new postoperative deficits, but unchanged signals do not rule out the potential for injury to the brainstem. That is because the monitored pathways only cover a small part of the cross-sectional area of the brainstem. Thus, multimodality monitoring has good specificity, but limited sensitivity for assessing brainstem integrity.

References¹

- *Simon MV. Neurophysiologic intraoperative monitoring of the vestibulocochlear nerve. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;28:566–81.
- Jewitt DL, Willliston JS. Auditory-evoked far fields averaged from the scalp of humans. Brain. 1971;94:681–96.
- Picton TW, Hillyard SA, Krausz HI, Galambos R. Human auditory evoked potentials. I. Evaluation of components. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1974;36:179–90.
- Møller AR. Neural generators for auditory brainstem evoked potentials. In: Burkard RF, Eggemont JJ, Manuel D, editors. Auditory evoked potentials: basic principles and clinical applications. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007. p. 336–54.
- Strominger NL, Nelson LR, Dougherty WJ. Second order auditory pathways in the chimpanzee. J Comp Neurol. 1977;172:349–66.
- Grundy BL, Jannetta PJ, Procopio PT, Lina A, Boston JR, Doyle E. Intraoperative monitoring of brain-stem auditory evoked potentials. J Neurosurg. 1982;57: 674–81.
- Friedman WA, Kaplan BJ, Gravenstein D, Rhoton Jr AL. Intraoperative brain-stem auditory evoked potentials during posterior fossa microvascular decompression. J Neurosurg. 1985;62:552–7.
- *Legatt AD. Mechanisms of intraoperative brainstem auditory evoked potential changes. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19:396–408.
- Legatt AD, Arezzo JC, Vaughn Jr HG. The anatomic and physiologic bases of brainstem auditory evoked potentials. Neurol Clin. 1988;6:681–704.
- Gersdorff MCH. Simultaneous recordings of human auditory potentials: transtympanic electrocochleagraphy (ECoG) and brainstem-evoked responses (BER). Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 1982;234(1):15–20.
- Legatt AD. Brainstem auditory evoked potentials: methodology, interpretation, and clinical application. In: Aminoff MJ, editor. Electrodiagnosis in clinical neurology. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 2005. p. 489–523.

- *Møller AR, Jannetta PJ. Monitoring auditory functions during cranial nerve microvascular decompression operations by direct recording from the eighth nerve. J Neurosurg. 1983;59:493–9.
- Møller AR, Jannetta PJ, Jho HD. Click-evoked response from the cochlear nucleus: a study in humans. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1994;92:215–24.
- 14. *Møller AR, Jho HD, Yokota M, Jannetta PJ. Contribution from crossed and uncrossed brainstem structures to the brainstem auditory evoked potentials (BAEP): a study in humans. Laryngoscope. 1995;105: 596–605.
- Chiappa KH, Roppper AH. Evoked potentials in clinical medicine (first of two parts). N Engl J Med. 1982;306:1205–11.
- Duncan PG, Sanders RA, McCullough DW. Preservation of auditory-evoked brainstem responses in anaesthetized children. Can Anaesth Soc J. 1979;26:492–5.
- Raudzens PA, Shetter AG. Intraoperative monitoring of brain-stem auditory evoked potentials. J Neurosurg. 1982;57:341–8.
- Musiek FE, Weihing JA, Oxholm VB. Anatomy and physiology of the central auditory nervous system: a clinical perspective. In: Roeser RJ, Valente M, Hosford-Dunn H, editors. Audiology diagnosis, vol. 2. New York: Thieme Medical; 2007. p. 50–6.
- Brunner MD, Umo-Etuk J, Sharpe RM, Thornton C. Effect of a bolus dose of midazolam on the auditory evoked response in humans. Br J Anaesth. 1999;82:633–4.
- Deiber MP, Ibanez V, Fischer C, Perrin F, Mauguiere F. Sequential mapping favours the hypothesis of different generators for Na and Pa middle latency auditory evoked potentials. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1988;71:187–97.
- 21. Thornton RM, Sharpe RM. Evoked responses in anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 1998;81:771–81.
- 22. Dutton RC, Smith WD, Rampil IJ, Chortkoff BS, Eger II EI. Forty-hertz midlatency auditory evoked potential activity predicts wakeful response during desflurane and propofol anesthesia in volunteers. Anesthesiology. 1999;91:1209–20.
- 23. Goto T, Nakata Y, Saito H, Ishiguro Y, Niimi Y, Morita S. The midlatency auditory evoked potentials predict responsiveness to verbal commands in patients emerging from anesthesia with xenon, isoflurane, and sevo-flurane, but not with nitrous oxide. Anesthesiology. 2001;94:782–9.
- Kileny P, Dobson D, Gelfand ET. Middle-latency auditory evoked responses during open-heart surgery with hypothermia. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1983;55:268–76.
- Woods DL, Clayworth CC, Knight RT. Middle latency auditory evoked potentials following cortical and subcortical lesions. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1985;61:51.
- Woods DL, Clayworth CC, Knight RT, Simpson GV, Naeser MA. Generators of middle- and long-latency auditory evoked potentials: implications from studies

¹Asterisks indicate key references.

of patients with bitemporal lesions. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1987;68:132–48.

- Buchwald JS, Erwin RJ, Van Lancker D, Cummings JL. Midlatency auditory evoked responses: differential abnormality of P1 in Alzheimer's disease. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1989;74: 378–84.
- Green JB, Flagg L, Freed DM, Schwankhaus JD. The middle latency auditory evoked potential may be abnormal in dementia. Neurology. 1992;42:1034–6.
- Versino M, Bergamaschi R, Romani A, Banfi P, Callieco R, Citterio A, et al. Middle latency auditory evoked potentials improve the detection of abnormalities along auditory pathways in multiple sclerosis patients. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1992;84:296–9.
- Green JB, Elder WW, Freed DM. The P1 component of the middle latency auditory evoked potential predicts a practice effect during clinical trials in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology. 1995;45:962–6.
- Çelik M, Seleker FK, Sucu H, Forta H. Middle latency auditory evoked potentials in patients with parkinsonism. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2000;6: 95–9.
- Arakawa K, Tomia H, Tobimatsuc S, Kirab J. Middle latency auditory-evoked potentials in myotonic dystrophy: relation to the size of the CTG trinucleotide repeat and intelligence quotient. J Neurol Sci. 2003;207:31–6.
- Kim HN, Kim YH, Park IY, Kim GR, Chung IH. Variability of the surgical anatomy of the neurovascular complex of the cerebropontine angle. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 1990;99:288–96.
- 34. Nadol Jr JB, Levine R, Ojemann RG, Martuza RL, Montgomery WW, de Sandoval PK. Preservation of hearing in surgical removal of acoustic neuromas of the internal auditory canal and cerebellar pontine angle. Laryngoscope. 1987;97:1287–94.
- 35. Levine RA, Ronner SF, Ojemann RG. Auditory evoked potential and other neurophysiologic monitoring techniques during tumor surgery in the cerebellaopontine angle. In: Loftus CM, Traynelis VC, editors. Intraoperative monitoring techniques in neurosurgery. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1994. p. 175–91.
- Yasargil MG. Microneurosurgery in CNS tumors, vol.
 Stuttgart: Thieme Medical; 1996. p. 95–108.
- Bogousslavsky J, Caplan LR. Stroke syndromes. 2nd ed. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2001. p. 146.
- Little JR, Lesser RP, Luders H, Furlan AJ. Brainstem auditory evoked potentials in posterior circulation surgery. Neurosurgery. 1983;12:496–502.
- Mannimen PH, Patterson S, Lam AM, Gelb AW, Nantau WE. Evoked potential monitoring during pos-

terior fossa aneurysm surgery: a comparison of two modalities. Can J Anaesth. 1994;41:92–7.

- *Martin WH, Stecker MM. ASNM position statement: intraoperative monitoring of auditory evoked potentials. J Clin Monit Comput. 2008;22:75–85.
- Bruhn J, Myles PS, Sneyd R, Struys MM. Depth of anaesthesia monitoring: what's available, what's validated and what's next? Br J Anaesth. 2006;97:85–94.
- 42. Krieg SM, Kempf L, Droese D, Rosahl SK, Meyer B, Lehmberg J. Superiority of tympanic ball electrodes over mastoid needle electrodes for intraoperative monitoring of hearing function. J Neurosurg. 2014;120:1042–7.
- 43. Ferraro JA. Clinical electrocochleography: overview of theories, techniques and applications. http://www. audiologyonline.com/articles/pf_article_detail. asp?article_id=238. Accessed 14 July 2010.
- Coats AC. The summating potential and Menière's disease. Arch Otolaryngol. 1981;107:199–208.
- 45. Bell SL, Smith DC, Allen R, Lutman ME. Recording the middle latency response of the auditory evoked potential as a measure of depth of anaesthesia. A technical note. Br J Anaesth. 2004;92:442–5.
- Plourde G. Auditory evoked responses. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2006;20:129–39.
- Thornton C, Heneghan CPH, James MFM, Jones JG. Effects of halothane or enflurane with controlled ventilation on auditory evoked potentials. Br J Anaesth. 1984;56:315–23.
- Nishiyama T. Comparison of the two different auditory evoked potentials index monitors in propofolfentanyl-nitrous oxide anesthesia. J Clin Anesth. 2009;21:551–4.
- 49. Ying T, Thirumala P, Chang Y, Habeych M, Crammond D, Balzer J. Empirical factors associated with brainstem auditory evoked potential monitoring during microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm and its correlation to hearing loss. Acta Neurochir. 2014;156:571–5.
- *Sloan TB. Evoked potential monitoring of the central nervous system intraoperatively. Anesthesiol Clin North America. 1997;15:593–611.
- Legatt AD. Brainstem auditory evoked potentials (ABRs) and intraoperative ABR monitoring. Handbook Clin Neurophysiol. 2010;9:282–302.
- Chadwick GM, Asher AL, Van Der Veer CA, Pollard RJ. Adverse effects of topical papaverine on auditory nerve function. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2008;150:901–9.
- Jo KW, Lee JA, Park K, Cho YS. A new possible mechanism of hearing loss after microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. Otol Neurotol. 2013;34:1247–52.

Visual-Evoked Potentials

1

Sandra C. Toleikis and J. Richard Toleikis

Introduction

One of the important goals of surgical procedures involving the visual pathways (retina, optic nerve (ON), optic chiasm, optic tracts, lateral geniculate nucleus in the thalamus, optic radiation, and occipital visual cortex) is the preservation of visual function and in cases of visual impairment, where possible, its improvement [1-4]. With these goals in mind, efforts to evaluate and enhance the usefulness of intraoperative monitoring (IOM) of the visual pathways that began in the early 1970s have continued. Wright et al. [5] are generally credited with the first report of a method for continuous monitoring of the visual pathways in 1973; utilizing brief flashes of light to evoke electroretinographic (F-ERGs) and visual-evoked potentials (F-VEPs) during orbital surgery. This triggered a number of other researchers to test their usefulness [2, 3, 6–21]. While some have reported favorable results and outcomes [5, 22-31], others have dismissed their use, citing technical difficulties associated with the delivery of visual delivery in an operating room (OR) setting, large inter- and intra-

S.C. Toleikis, M.A. (⊠) • J.R. Toleikis, Ph.D. Department of Anesthesiology, Rush University Medical Center, 1653 W. Congress Parkway, Jelke 739, Chicago, IL 60612, USA e-mail: Sandra_C_Toleikis@rush.edu individual variability, instability and unreliability of the visual responses [32–36], their susceptibility to anesthetics, particularly inhalational agents [32–37], and lastly and most damning, the poor correlation of IOM results to postoperative functional outcomes. All of these findings have led to a general disenchantment with their intraoperative use [7, 12, 18, 32–35, 37–45].

Still, on a *case-by-case basis*, monitoring of visual-evoked potentials (F-VEPs) has helped guide surgeries of the orbit [46-48], and anterior visual pathways during tumor or lesion removal where its use has helped identify encroachment of tumors on the optic chiasm, and has aided in the differentiation of normal ON tissue from tumor tissue; especially when the tumor encompasses the ON [2, 12-15, 19, 20]. Direct ON stimulation has helped navigate during surgical removal of tumors involving the anterior visual pathway and skull base tumors [13–15, 49, 50] with good outcomes. Though improved microsurgical techniques during procedures involving the sellar and parasellar regions [19] have significantly reduced the incidence of visual complications related to ON or chiasmal manipulation and/or devascularization, the potential remains for real-time, inadvertent, and potentially harmful maneuvers that may cause prolonged or intense indirect traction or compression of the ON to go unnoticed. Concern for preventing devastating outcomes to

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_4

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

the visual pathway has encouraged a small but dedicated group of researchers to pursue refinement of the techniques for IOM of the visual pathways [2, 3, 13, 15, 19–25].

Other reports of beneficial use of IOM visual pathway monitoring have been contained in the literature. F-ERGs [51, 52] and F-VEPs [36, 37, 53, 54] have been reported to be helpful in assessing the depth of anesthesia. F-ERGs have been utilized in monitoring retinal function during eye surgery [46, 47, 54–56] and endovascular procedures involving orbital or periorbital vascular lesions [21] with good outcomes. They also have been used to monitor retinal perfusion during procedures employing extracorporeal circulation and hypothermic circulatory arrest [11, 57]. F-VEPs have reportedly been helpful for anatomic navigation of the optic radiations during surgical treatment of an occipital arteriovenous malformation [17], and by use of diffusion tensor imaging-based tractography for functional monitoring of the visual pathway [58]. Finally, visualevoked responses obtained from direct stimulation of the optic tract have been used as a method for globus pallidus internus (GPi) targeting during pallidotomy [59, 60] and deep brain stimulation (DBS) interventions for treatment of Parkinson's disease where such procedures are performed under general anesthesia or for patients who otherwise are unable to cooperate during the procedure [16]. Although many of the above reports involved case report(s) or series, their findings suggest that further examinations of these monitoring methodologies and applications are needed. A better understanding of visual stimuli, the portions of the visual pathways that are stimulated, the methods for recording neurophysiologic responses, the effects of surgical manipulation, anesthetic management, and other perioperative factors on responses, will hopefully lead to improved IOM results. This in turn may spark renewed interest in research to further enhance techniques and outcomes for IOM of the visual pathways.

Anatomy and Physiology of the Visual System

The optic structures of the eye project images onto the light-sensitive receptors of the retina, where a surprisingly high degree of neural processing is accomplished through the retina's complex pattern of interconnections between excitatory and inhibitory neurons. Some nerve fibers have small excitatory fields surrounded by inhibitory areas, and others have inhibitory center areas surrounded by excitatory ones. As a result, a good stimulus for exciting the visual pathway would be one that undergoes changes in gradients pattern-reversal). contrast (i.e., Because, in general, patient cooperation is not possible for the majority of surgical procedures, it is not feasible to utilize stimulation using highcontrast pattern reversing checkerboard stimuli that are used in diagnostic testing. Hence, the frequently employed stimulus for eliciting VEP responses for monitoring purposes has been flash stimuli [24, 61–63]. While the spatial distribution of the light over the visual field of each eye is transmitted to the brain through the optic nerves, very little information regarding the temporal variations in illumination is conveyed. Therefore it is key to note that when flash stimuli are employed for IOM monitoring purposes, what is actually being monitored is the visual pathways for light perception and not for visual acuity [64].

The neural information of flash stimuli travels from the optic chiasm onward, via the optic tracts to the lateral geniculate body in the thalamus, which then projects via connections to the visual cortex (Fig. 4.1) [64]. Though coding of the visual system has been intensively studied yielding a wealth of information about the retina's complex neural network responses [65], information about the gross response from the ON and lateral geniculate body to flash stimuli remains relatively sparse, and in general, early cortical activation following flash visual stimulation is not well understood in humans [65]. It is important to note



Fig. 4.1 Schematic drawing of the visual pathway. *OC* optic chiasm, *SC* superior colliculus, *LV* lateral ventricle (from Moller et al. [64]; with permission)

that the optic pathways cross at the chiasm such that monocular or binocular flash stimuli used in monitoring will produce bilateral pathway activation behind the chiasm unless a means of hemifield visual stimulation can be utilized (as can be done in awake subjects).

Eliciting and Recording Flash Visual-Evoked Potentials

Depending on the portion(s) of the visual pathways at risk during surgical procedures, a number of strategies for stimulation of those pathways have been explored.

Flash Electrographic Response

Responses generated by stimulation of the retina (F-ERG) have played a fundamental role in the diagnostic evaluation of retinal health [66]. For IOM purposes, they have been primarily used to ensure retinal and visual pathway stimulation. They also have been used to monitor surgeries of the orbit and as a measure of anesthetic depth [46, 47, 51, 52]. The main components of the F-ERG are a negative-going a-wave with latencies occurring between 24.2 ± 1.1 and 27.2 ± 3.7 ms and a positive-going b-wave with latencies of $45.0 \pm 1.5 - 55.1 \pm 7.4$ ms. The a-wave, in response to a bright flash, largely reflects photoreceptor function but there may be a contribution from postreceptoral structures [67]. The b-wave, which is of higher amplitude than the a-wave in normal subjects, reflects postphototransduction activity. The origin of the ERGs' a- and b-waves is reportedly a combination of activities that include photoreceptor potentials, potassium-mediated current flow, and DC potentials within Müller cells [67]. The F-ERG to a flash stimulus is a mass response; thus F-ERG responses can appear normal when dysfunction is confined to small retinal areas (e.g., macular dysfunction). It has been reported that despite the macula's high photoreceptor density, an eye with purely macular disease has a normal bright single flash ERG response [67]. Typical ERG-VEP responses to flash stimuli delivered by light-emitting diode (LED) goggles are included in Fig. 4.2.

Flash VEP Response

The F-VEP is generated by postretinal areas of the central nervous system in response to visual light stimulation and is a reflection of activity in segments of the primary visual pathway that project through the lateral geniculate body to the cortical visual fields. The response is composed of a triphasic waveform with an initial small positive deflection (40-50 ms), followed by a second negative deflection at 70-89 ms (often referred to as N70 or N1), followed by a positive wave at about 100 ms (P100 or P1) [68]. Though not unequivocally documented, the generator sites for the three waves of the F-VEP to LED stimulation are believed to originate from the lateral geniculate, striatum, and areas 17, 18, and 19 of the visual cortex [27, 68, 69].



Fig. 4.2 An example of intraoperative flash electroretinograms (F-ERGs) recorded from surface electrodes placed in the orbital notches bilaterally and referenced 3 cm laterally and flash visual-evoked responses (F-VEPs) recorded from electrodes placed at left occipital (O1), mid-occipital (Oz), and right occipital (O2) scalp locations is shown. The responses were obtained at baseline for a patient undergoing endovascular cerebral

Techniques for Eliciting F-ERG and F-VEP

The lack of suitable equipment for visual stimulation has been a severe handicap to the use of ERG-VEP for IOM. Pattern-reversal stimuli or multifocal electroretinographic stimuli (which are routinely utilized in diagnostic settings to evaluate retinal function related to acuity) cannot be utilized on unconscious patients in the OR setting given the requirement for their cooperation and visual fixation on the stimuli. Moreover, the shift in dark vs. light pattern/contrast of these stimuli, which is key to stimulating the retinal

angiography with stenting and coiling for treatment of a right ophthalmic artery aneurysm. The rate of flash stimulation was 1.1/s. An average of 100 responses was obtained. Anesthetic management included induction with thiopental, sufentanil and dexmedetomidine (1 μ g/kg), and maintenance with sufentanil infusion, 0.5 MAC of isoflurane and continuous infusion of dexmedetomidine (0.7 μ g/kg/h)

structures related to visual acuity, would certainly be diminished if not lost if one were to try to deliver these stimuli through closed eyelids. Because flash stimuli do not require patient fixation and cooperation and can be delivered through closed eyelids, they have been the most frequently used stimulus in the OR setting. Unfortunately, early research demonstrated that even when flash stimuli were employed for clinical diagnostic use (e.g., for assessment of ON pathology in multiple sclerosis patients), VEP responses to bright flashes were found to be normal while their responses to pattern-reversal stimulation were abnormal [68]. Moreover, the amplitude and latency of VEPs elicited by the above flash stimulation methods unfortunately demonstrate considerable patient inter- and intravariability of amplitude both in diagnostic and intraoperative settings [70]; especially in neonates, where maturation of the cerebral cortex appears to play a factor [71]. So although flash stimulation has largely been the stimulus of choice for IOM, it is not the best stimulus for assessing the preservation of fine visual acuity and function. Rather it has been used to assess in a rudimentary fashion whether response to stimulation can be conveyed along various points of the visual pathways [71]. Even so, it is important to note that when there is preexisting visual dysfunction that may disrupt the ability to convey such stimulation, recording responses may be compromised, although that has not been entirely confirmed. Multiple studies [2, 3, 20, 23–25] reported that preexisting severe visual dysfunction (even for patients with preexisting visual acuities of <0.4 (20/50)) negatively impacted their ability to record F-VEPs while others indicate that F-VEPs for IOM can be obtained successfully from some patients with severe visual deficits [3, 19], when onset of the dysfunction was acute.

Devices for Flash Stimulation

Researchers have worked to develop improvements in devices for the delivery of flash stimuli for IOM use, since the problems of delivering stimuli may be key to developing more effective activation of the pathways that correlate with functional vision. Initially a traditional strobe light was used to elicit responses but was found to be cumbersome in the OR and delivery of the flash could be ineffective since it might be partially obscured by the scalp flap and drapes if a bicoronal scalp incision is used, thus requiring a modification of the surgical approach.

Fiberoptic haptic lens [72] and scleral contact lens [26] connected to photostimulators were developed to provide flash stimuli in the 1970 and 1980s. Although some claim the resulting responses were more robust than those later obtained with LED stimulation (especially through dilated eyes) [72], use of contact lens for IOM has lost favor due to the invasive nature of

the technique (e.g., lid sutures to keep the corneal lens recording/stimulating device in place) and the potential risk of corneal abrasions and ulcerations with their use. The American Electroencephalographic Society (AEEGS) Guidelines for IOM recommend that such hard lens stimulators be kept on the eyes for a maximum of 45 min (limiting their practical use for a majority of surgical procedures) and that users need to carefully examine the safety data from the stimulator's developer before employing such lenses in the OR [73].

Because most shy away from the use of contact lens stimulators, LEDs mounted in eye patches [23–25] or goggles [9, 27] have been used, but the latter are bulky, require a headband, and can interfere with surgery. Their use also carries some risks. Care needs to be taken to ensure that the goggles are well-supported by the bony ridge of the patient's orbit and that they remain in place during the surgery. Should they inadvertently slip down and put direct pressure on the globe of the eye, they can cause central retinal artery thrombosis [9].

Type of Light Stimulation

The AEEGS issued a recommendation that flash VEPs induced by white stroboscopic light (F-VEPs) be differentiated from those induced by red LEDs (LED-VEPs) [73] by utilizing the appropriate abbreviations. However, in general, in the IOM literature, the terms F-ERG and F-VEPs have been used to represent both. However, abbreviations aside, the two methods of stimulation may actually activate different retinal and cortical pathways [12]. Newer LED stimulating goggles and patches provide significantly increased luminosity [23–25]. Although safety data regarding their use is scant, authors reporting on their IOM use have not reported any postoperative sequelae, including cases involving lengthy neurosurgical procedures [2, 3, 20, 23-25].

Monocular vs. Binocular Stimulation

Although binocular stimulation has been used for some studies, when the goal is to evaluate individual retinal and anterior pathways, the visual stimulus should be delivered and recorded monocularly with responses from the contralateral eye, if clinically unaffected, used as a control [73].

Pupillary Size and Retinal Luminance

When employing flash stimuli to elicit F-ERGs and F-VEPs, efforts to maintain pupil size and retinal luminance throughout the surgical procedure are important because these parameters affect the response latency and amplitude. Kriss et al. [74] showed that F-VEP latency through closed eyes is increased when compared to those recorded through open eyes. Intraoperative use of narcotics often results in miotic pupils that reduce retinal luminance, and staged dosing of narcotics during the surgical procedure may induce changes in latency and amplitude that may be misinterpreted as a surgically related event. It has been recommended that maximal dilation of the pupils be done through use of conjunctival instillation of mydriatics at the start of the case [73], but that may be contraindicated when perioperative assessment of pupillary response is required or preferred. Of note, recent and notably successful reports of intraoperative recordings of F-ERG and F-VEPs did not employ pupil dilation as part of their total intravenous anesthetic and monitoring management: propofol [2], administration of opioids [23-25], or remifentanil [2]. It is important to note that those with successful IOM recordings of F-VEPs employed newer and brighter 16 LED arrays embedded in soft round silicone disks [2, 20, 23–25] or in goggles [3, 18] with luminosity adjustable from 500 to 20,000 Lumens (Lx), which helped to ensure retinal illumination and stimulation.

Recording F-ERGs and F-VEPs

The recommended standards for IOM of VEPs were issued in 1987 by the American EEG Society [73]. To obtain consistent results, the guidelines advised that the following parameters be documented and remain constant throughout the IOM period. Though no such standards for IOM recording of ERG have been published, the following would likely apply to them as well. Given the expected high degree of F-VEP response variability even in *awake*

subjects [73], each patient with a reproducible response should serve as his or her own control in the IOM setting. A simultaneous recording of F-ERG responses is useful for confirmation of retina stimulation.

Before the surgeon approaches the optic pathways, the monitoring team should have identified reproducible waves to be used as benchmarks for meaningful assessment during subsequent monitoring during critical stages of the surgery. Stacked plots of sequentially recorded averages are indispensable for assessing changes during surgery. Interpretation of intraoperative VEPs should be done in relation to pharmacologic, physiologic, and surgical factors. Change in response trends should be reported as soon as identified, and immediate steps should be taken to prevent the risk of lasting damage and to optimize normal function [73].

Stimulus Color

The color of the flash or LED (white vs. red) should be indicated on the record and kept constant throughout the case.

Stimulus Rate

For transient F-ERGs and F-VEPS, a stimulus rate of 1–2.5 Hz is suggested and for steady-state responses a rate of 8–30 Hz may be used. Steady-state stimulation has not gained wide use for monitoring purposes. In a study published in 2004, their use during surgery for monitoring purposes did not facilitate improved or more stable F-VEP recordings [42].

Recording Electrodes and Their Placement

Corneal or scleral lenses for IOM recording of ERG responses were supplanted in the 1980s with less invasive devices and methods. Corneal recording devices using a Burian Allen electrode and other devices placed on or near the cornea yielded larger, robust responses but are rarely used due to the risks of corneal abrasion and ulceration with IOM use. F-ERGS can be recorded from skin with subcutaneous needles or skin disc electrodes placed at the center of the right lower lid proximal to the lid margin (infraorbital notch), and referenced to an electrode 2 cm lateral to the lateral canthus where the largest amplitudes of ERG responses from skin can be obtained [75, 76]. Esakowitz et al. [77] compared the relative amplitudes of F-ERG b-wave responses when recording with corneal versus other electrode types placed on the skin. The largest response amplitudes were obtained with the Burian Allen electrode (125 uV, 100%), with other corneal electrodes yielding responses of less amplitude in proportion to those made with the Burien Allen electrode: JET (93%), C-glide (78%), gold foil (60%), and DTL (60%). Recordings from skin electrodes yielded the smallest response amplitudes (14%). Obviously, one has to weigh the risks and benefits of the use of these devices for recording F-ERGs [77]. F-ERGs recorded with noncorneal versus corneal electrodes, except for amplitude differences, are nearly identical in both time (a- and b-wave latencies) and frequency domains (dominant power spectrum peaks), meaning noncorneal F-ERGs do not differ significantly from corneal ERGs aside from amplitude [78].

One intriguing way to record F-ERGs was recently reported by Houlden et al. [3]. In their small sample of study patients (N=12), they were able to reliably record F-ERGs from EEG electrodes placed at Fz' (2 cm behind Fz) and referenced to FPz (10–20 International EEG placement) to confirm retinal stimulation in the patients (N=12) evaluated in their study. Though a novel and appealing recording methodology for F-ERGs, further studies are needed in larger patient populations to confirm its feasibility and utility for IOM.

For F-VEPs, standard subdural needle or surface EEG electrodes may be used to record scalp responses [73]. Ota et al. [29] reported that F-VEPs acquired with subdural electrodes better reflect cortical activity since they have considerably greater spatial resolution and amplitude when compared to responses acquired from surface EEG electrodes placed on the scalp. Singlechannel response recordings are acquired using the 10–20 International nomenclature for the placement of EEG electrodes with electrodes typically placed at the midline occipital (5 cm above inion) to midline frontal (MQ-MF or Oz-Fz) positions. The AEEGS guidelines [73] recommend a second channel be recorded for signal confirmation (however, few studies employ them). When used, the secondary set of electrodes would be placed at midline occipital and referenced to linked earlobes (MQ-Ipsilateral Earlobe (AI)/Contralateral Earlobe (A2) or Oz-AI/A2) locations. Typically the ground electrode is placed at CZ. Additional channels may be used to study the scalp distribution of VEPs [73].

Analysis Periods for F-ERGs and F-VEPs

The AEEGS guidelines recommend the use of analysis periods of 100–200 ms for F-ERG [79] and 250–500 ms for F-VEP [73]. A total of 50–200 responses are commonly recorded per average [73], with the caveat that the number per average should remain constant throughout the monitoring period. At least two consecutive ERG and VEP averages should be acquired to confirm the reproducibility of the ERG and VEP waveforms after setup and prior to surgical incision to establish a baseline (control) recording [23, 73].

Amplifier Settings for Recording F-ERG and F-VEP

For years the standard "clinical diagnostic settings" for system bandpass settings for F-VEPs have also been employed for IOM purposes, which are 1 to 200–300 Hz (-3 dB) with filter roll-off slopes not exceeding 12 dB/octave for low frequencies and 24 dB/octave for high frequencies. If irreducible artifacts occurred, filter settings could be adjusted to 5–100 Hz. Digital smoothing and filtering could also be employed to reduce artifact, and filter settings should remain constant throughout the monitoring session [73].

Houlden et al. [3] recently suggested that the difficulties in recording F-VEPs in IOM settings may be due to the high mean alpha EEG amplitudes (>50 μ V) in patients, contributing "noise" that impedes recording the F-VEP "signal." For 9 of 12 patients with low mean alpha EEG amplitudes (<30 μ V), IOM F-VEPs were reproducible, including one whose vision was limited to finger counting. To improve the recording of responses in three patients with high mean alpha amplitudes

 $(>50 \mu V)$, Houlden et al. [3] elected to see if raising the low pass settings had any effect. In these patients, they simultaneously recorded EEG from Oz-Fz and Fz-Fpz' using 3-, 10-, and 30-Hz low cut filters (six independent recording channels) and two channels of F-VEP using low cut filters settings of 10 and 30 Hz. They found that F-VEP amplitude reductions were minimal for low pass filter settings of 3-10 Hz but at 30 Hz, the F-VEP's N1-P1 amplitude decreased by about 40% and its morphology was significantly altered. They also found that as the low pass filter setting increased, the "noise" contribution to the averaged F-VEP associated with electrocautery blocking time was also reduced. Based on those findings, Houlden et al. recommended using 15-20 Hz as a low pass filter setting for F-VEP responses. Houlden et al. points out that over 30 years ago, Nuwer and Dawson [80] recommended increasing the low cut filter settings from 1 to 30 Hz to improve intraoperative somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP) reproducibility, but at the time, did not offer any reasons why the change improved the SSEP response. Houlden et al. [3] suggested that the improvement was due to reduction from the averaged response of the patient's alpha EEG and artifact due to electrocautery amplifier blocking. Though it seems a simple enough change to implement, only one recent study, by Kamio et al. [20], has employed a higher low bandpass setting (20 Hz) during recordings of F-VEP. Hopefully others will take the opportunity to test Houlden et al.'s hypotheses and determine whether indeed raising the low pass filter setting improves the reproducibility of F-VEP responses in IOM settings.

Monitoring Criteria

Given the documented variability of flash VEPs, responses recorded from patients in operative settings cannot be universally characterized [73]. That and perhaps the technical difficulties associated with obtaining reproducible F-VEPs in operative settings have contributed a lack of clear guidelines for warning criteria to be used during surgery to preserve the visual pathway. For recent neurosurgical procedures involving removal of intraorbital, parasellar, and cortical lesions, Kodama et al. [23] and Sasaki et al. [24, 25] have used a warning criterion whereby a F-VEP amplitude decrease >50 % from baseline control levels prompted cessation of the surgical procedure until recovery of the F-VEP occurred and provided that other factors (e.g., anesthesia, use of bipolar cautery) could not be used to explain the amplitude changes. Martinez Piñeiro et al. [81] reported on monitoring patients undergoing endovascular treatment of their occipital arteriovenous malformations (AVM) with F-VEPs. He reported successful intraoperative recordings and postoperative outcomes employing the same stimulation methods and parameters that Kodama et al. [23] and Sasaki et al. [24, 25] used as well as their warning criteria. On the other hand, Kamio et al. [20], who examined the use of F-VEPs for patients undergoing transphenoidal surgery for tumor removal, employed a warning criterion of either an increased or decreased amplitude of greater than 50% compared to control levels. In a study utilizing a similar study population, Chacko et al. [40] used a complete loss of visual responses as the warning criteria to halt surgery until responses returned to baseline. Hussain et al. [44], reporting on the use of monitoring F-VEPs from five patients undergoing functional endoscopic sinus surgery, was the only study involving the anterior visual pathway to employ an increase in F-VEP P100 latency as an indicator of optic nerve compression. They noted that for this criterion to be useful for IOM, the patient's intraoperative diastolic blood pressure had to remain higher than 50 mmHg, oxygen saturations 98% or higher, and bleeding to be minimized. Given the notable disparity of F-VEP IOM warning criteria in the previously discussed studies, it is clear that more research is needed to better define IOM F-VEP warning criteria that better correlate with patient outcomes.

Regarding warning criteria for studies utilizing F-ERGs for monitoring, Padalino et al. [21] used them to monitor retinal perfusion during a single case involving endovascular treatment of a dural AVM supplied by the bilateral superficial temporal, ophthalmic, and the right middle meningeal arteries. The intraoperative monitoring warning criteria that they employed was a 10-ms increase in the F-ERG latency and a 30% decrease in its amplitude compared with baseline and control responses from the other eye. As with the warning criteria for F-VEPs during IOM, further study is needed to define and confirm warning criteria for use of F-ERGs for IOM.

Other IOM Applications with F-ERG and F-VEP

Keenan et al., Burrows et al., and Reilly et al. [11, 82, 83] have explored the F-VEP as an objective measure of the short-term effects of various cardiopulmonary procedures on neurophysiological function given the cortex's sensitivity to small changes in cerebral perfusion due to its proximity to the watershed area of the posterior and middle cerebral arteries. Reilly et al. [83] showed that F-VEPs are a more sensitive indicator of central nervous system (CNS) stress provoked by combined hypothermia and hypoxia than EEG. Burrows et al. [11] found F-VEPs to be an objective measure of neurophysiologic function in the visual pathway during profound hypothermic circulatory arrest (PHCA) in neonates and infants undergoing surgical correction of congenital heart defects. Although their findings seemed promising as an IOM tool for such cases, Markand et al. [84] found VEPs to be too inconsistent during the surgical course of hypothermia and recovery; and that their disappearance at temperatures below 25 °C made them less than ideal for monitoring brain function during hypothermia. Even Burrows and Bissonnette [85] appear to have abandoned the use of F-VEPs for this application, opting instead to use other measures of cerebral blood flow (transcranial Doppler sonography) for monitoring perfusion during CPB surgery in their subsequent study.

However, the use of F-ERGs to monitor *cardiac surgery and extracorpeal circulation* may serve as a new area to consider for IOM purposes. Indeed, monitoring the retina as an extension of the brain for such cases has been encouraged by Nenekidis et al. [86]. They believed that better quantification of the hemodynamic state of retina–optic nerve head (ONH) during on-pump CPB, is needed, stating that, "The retina provides a 'window' for the study of cerebral microcirculation; it lies in the territory of the internal carotid artery and has a blood barrier analogous to the bloodbrain barrier. It would seem reasonable to assume that the changes observed in the retinal microcirculation also occur in brain. The central nervous system can suffer from the same pathophysiological entities that affect the retina and the ONH during hypothermic CPB procedures." During CPB procedures, retinal ischemia and infarction due to emboli, anterior ischemic optic neuropathy (AION), posterior ischemic optic neuropathy (PION), damage of nerve fibers, chorioretinal hypoperfusion and hypoxia secondary to hemodynamic and hematologic changes have resulted in profound visual deficits and other neuro-ophthalmological complications [86]. Because F-ERG responses are sensitive to (1) alteration of blood flow as a consequence of the reduction of perfusion pressure and (2) to body hypothermia, associated with hemodilution, which helps to depress neural function and neural tissue oxygen requirements, but may also bring on tissue hypoxia, it stands to reason that focus be given to the use of F-ERGs as a tool to monitor patients undergoing cardiosurgical procedures with CPB. A recent, intriguing recent paper by Brandli and Stone [87], while not directly related to intraoperative monitoring and performed in rats, suggests that F-ERGs are indeed sensitive to ischemia, even when the induced ischemia is remote to the retina. A pilot study done by Nebbioso et al. [57] examined the use of F-ERGs for monitoring patients during extracorporeal circulation (ECC), both hypothermic and normothermic with some promising results. Under hypothermic ECC, they reported that the amplitude of the F-ERG response decreased by 50% while those under normothermic ECC only decreased 10%. Recovery of response amplitudes to baseline levels occurred upon the end of ECC and with the rewarming of the patient, with the exception of one individual whose F-ERG response recovery was very prolonged. That patient required postoperative ventilatory support and a long stay in the intensive care unit [57]. Time and further studies will tell whether use of F-ERGs will become a useful tool for monitoring and maintaining adequate retinal as well as cerebral microcirculation and perfusion during surgical procedures.

Retinal Stimulation and Intracranial Recording of Responses

Recording directly from cortical structures for lesions of the visual pathways, though feasible (albeit in studies with relatively small sample sizes), has limited utility but has yielded responses with greater amplitudes and better signal-to-noise ratio [45]. Møller et al. [88] recorded compound action potentials directly from optic nerve (ONEP) elicited by short light flashes via LEDs during tumor resection in two patients and was able to record responses that had an initial small positive deflection, with a latency of about 45 ms, followed by a negative wave with a latency of 60–70 ms, although considerable individual variation in the shape and size of those responses was observed [88].

In another application of this type of recording, Curatolo et al. [89] found that monitoring the responses recorded from the visual cortex during photic stimulation proved to be a reliable technique for preserving central vision during occipital lobe surgery [89]. Ota et al. also evaluated the usefulness of cortically recorded VEPs as an IOM tool of the posterior visual pathway in 17 patients who underwent posterior craniotomy for lesions or epileptic foci in the parietal, posterior temporal, and/or occipital lobes; reporting detection of VEPs in over 90% of cases with preserved vision that was independent of the type of anesthesia employed for those procedures [29].

In still another application of this type of recording, photic stimulation while recording averaged visual responses in the optic tract during pallidotomy and deep brain stereotaxic surgery has been reported to be useful in guiding those surgeries [16, 59]. Such recordings have also been useful in determining the generators for scalp-derived VEP responses. Tobimatsu et al. [90] was able to record VEPs using patternreversal stimuli in eight awake patients with Parkinson's disease undergoing stereotactic pallidotomy using a depth recording electrode located at or below the stereotactic target in the ventral part of the GPi and dorsal to the optic tract. They simultaneously recorded VEPs from the scalp to provide information for differentiation of the generators of the scalp VEP components. In such

cases where little or no anesthesia is used during surgery, the option to use pattern reversal and other visual stimuli that provide more information in visual pathway function (e.g., visual acuity), may open up a new era for using VEPs for monitoring purposes. Indeed, their use during other "awake" procedures (e.g., endovascular stenting and coiling procedures) when visual function is at risk, has yet to be fully explored.

Direct Electrical Stimulation of Optic Nerve

Bošnjak and Benedičič [14, 15, 50] evaluated the feasibility and utility of recording scalp VEP responses to direct electrical stimulation (eVEP) of the ON during tumor removal surgery involving the anterior visual optic pathways [14], skull base [15], and during orbital enucleation due to malignant melanoma of the choroid or the ciliary body [91]. To acquire cortical potentials elicited by electrical epidural stimulation of the optic nerve (ON), insulated platinum needle-stimulating electrodes with a noninsulated ball tip were attached epidurally to both sides of the ON. Bošnjak et al. [50] used the following procedure for placement of these electrodes, noting that "When the exit of the optic nerve (ON) from the periorbit is fully visualized through a small fenestration of the orbital apex, needle electrodes are placed in contact on each side of the ON into the cleft between the nerve itself and the basal remnants of the lateral walls of the optic canal. The needles are manipulated during positioning with bipolar forceps through grip connectors. After placing the epidural stimulating electrodes, their position is secured with wet cotton patties laid over the orbital apex and leads." Monopolar optic nerve potentials after retinal flash or electrical epidural stimulation of the ON were then recorded with insulated platinum ball-tipped wire electrodes placed on the surface of the ON using an extracephalic reference electrode. The distance between the stimulating and recording electrodes was approximately 25 mm. The same recording electrodes were used for monopolar recordings from structures outside of the visual pathway to collect control data. The electrical stimulus consisted of a rectangular current pulse of varying intensity (0.2–5.0 mA) and duration (0.1–0.3 ms) using a stimulation rate of 2 Hz [14, 15]. The bandpass filter settings utilized in previous studies were 1-1000 Hz when recording these cortical potentials after electrical epidural stimulation of the ON. The analysis time used was between 10 and 300 ms. Each trace was generated from the average of 100 responses. Of note, considerable stimulus-related artifact from direct ON stimulation does present a technical hurdle to recording these potentials [14, 15]. Using this stimulation and recording technique, Benedičič and Bošnjak [14, 15] concluded that it was beneficial in preventing ON damage and improving outcomes. They did not report any warning criteria used in the studies and their sample sizes were small [4]. The typical eVEP they recorded consisted of N20 and N40 waves (Fig. 4.3) [50]. Considerable variability in the amplitude of the responses was observed (e.g., N40 wave amplitudes prior to tumor removal varied as much as 25%). Not surprisingly, artifact was observed with use of bipolar coagulation, ultrasonic aspirator, laser, and craniotome-hampered IOM [15]. In one patient with an ON sheath meningioma and vision limited to light sensation, only the N20 wave was observed (see Fig. 4.3) [50]. In their subsequent report of IOM monitoring for a very small sample (N=3) of patients undergoing orbital enucleation due to malignant melanoma of the choroid or the ciliary body, both F-VEPS and cortical potentials from direct stimulation of the optic nerve were inconsistent or absent in patients with a history (>3 months) of severe visual deterioration, but obtainable from a single patient with a short history of mild visual impairment [91]. Clearly, more studies are needed to confirm the utility of direct electrical stimulation of the optic nerve for visual pathway IOM use and for the development of effective preoperative criteria for patients in whom these techniques may be useful, as well as warning criteria that correlates with and improves patient outcomes.

Duffau et al. [13] described the use of intraoperative electrical stimulations (IES) during surgery to help identify and preserve afferent visual fibers during removal of a low-grade glioma invading the whole temporal lobe and temporo-occipital



Fig. 4.3 (a) An example of a typical electrically elicited visual-evoked potential (eVEP) response is depicted. The response consists of a larger N20 wave and a smaller N40 wave. The stimulus duration was 0.5 ms, and its frequency 2 Hz. An average of 100 responses was obtained. (b) The eVEP responses recorded from a patient with an optic nerve sheath meningioma and visual perception of light only is shown for which a decreased N20 wave and absent N40 wave are observed (from Bošnjak and Benedičič [50]; with permission)

junction. They used a 5-mm spaced bipolar electrode to deliver biphasic current stimuli (pulse frequency of 60 Hz, single-pulse duration of 1 ms, and amplitude of 5 mA) to cortex involving the optic tracts, in a nonsedated patient, to guide tumor removal. By mapping the optic radiations using this electrical stimulation and obtaining the patient's report of visual effects related to that stimulation, they were able to detect the posterior and deep functional boundary of the tumor resection, and to avoid production of a postoperative symptomatic homonymous hemianopsia. Given the incidence of visual field defects following surgeries involving the posterior temporal lobe and temporo-parieto-occipital junction (TPOJ) with considerable risk for the occurrence of permanent homonymous hemianopsia, it may be of great interest for surgeons and IOM practitioners to consider conducting further research in the application of this direct electrical stimulation technique to help preserve visual function and improve patient outcomes for those undergoing such procedures [13].

Effects of Temperature

In conscious humans, F-VEP latency is 10–20% longer at 33 °C than at 37 °C. With increasing hypothermia, progressive increases in F-VEP latency and decreases in F-VEP amplitude occur with complete loss of the components of the responses at 25–27 °C. When cooling occurred more swiftly, F-VEP responses disappeared at higher temperatures than when a slower cooling process was utilized [92].

Effects of Anesthesia on F-ERGs

Although for IOM purposes, F-ERG responses are most frequently being employed for confirmation of stimulation of the retina, gaining an understanding of the reported effects of anesthetic and sedative agents on retinal responses, and conducting additional studies to further elucidate the effects of these agents on retina physiology, is of interest.

Wongpichedchai et al. [93] evaluated the effects of halothane in a pediatric population, on darkadapted (scotopic) and light-adapted (photopic) F-ERGs and found it had little effect on the a-wave and b-wave latency and amplitude of the scotopic F-ERG and amplitudes and latencies of the F-ERG photopic responses to red flashes and 30 Hz flickering white light. In another study, Tremblay et al. [66] retrospectively compared the effects of sedatives and inhalational agents on scotopic and photopic F-ERGs in a small sample of pediatric patients diagnosed free of retinal disease. In that study, F-ERGs were recorded in subjects who either were (1) conscious (no anesthetic or sedative medications) [n=9]; (2) under sedation (chloral hydrate [75–125 mg/kg] and pentobarbital sodium sedation [5-6 mg/kg] (n=9); or (3) under general anesthesia (intravenous injection of propofol [2 mg/kg] with or without fentanyl 4 µg/kg, and maintained with isoflurane 2-3% or halothane 1-2.4% with 50% O₂ and 50% N₂O [n=9]). They found that sedation appeared to decrease a- and b-wave amplitudes of the scotopic bright-flash F-ERG responses, without affecting the responses' latencies. Though Tremblay et al. [66] reported that F-ERG responses recorded under photopic conditions showed minimal changes in latencies and amplitudes, if one examines the table provided

in the paper [66] (Table 4.1), it appears that while

Table 4.1 Summary of statistical analysis performed on ERG parameters obtained after 5 min in photopic conditions in the conscious (C), sedated (S), and anesthetized (A) patients

ERG parameter	Conscious	Sedated	Anesthetized	C-S	C-A	S-A		
Amplitude ($\mu V \pm 1 SD$)								
a-wave	76±20	63±9	54±20	_	+	-		
b-waveparameters	216±49	186±35	163±47	-	-	-		
OP2	19.1±0.9	15.2±4.0	17.1±4.6	_	-	-		
OP3	21.1±2.7	17.3±7.2	18.5±11.7	_	-	_		
OP4	35.5±14.5	22.6±11.6	9.6±4.7	-	+	-		
OP5 2	9.2±10.7	20.1±8.6	8.8±2.0	-	+	-		
Implicit time $(ms \pm 1 SD)$								
a-wave	13.7±0.4	14.1±0.5	16.2±1.0	_	+	+		
b-wave	33.1±0.8	34.4±1.5	46.8±4.9	-	+	+		
OP2	16.4±0.3	17.2±0.4	20.0±0.8	+	+	+		
OP3	24.3±1.1	25.4±1.6	29.3±1.6	-	+	+		
OP4	32.0±1.1	32.6±1.5	44.3±5.2	-	+	+		
OP5	40.8 ± 1.5	41.1±1.7	52.6±4.8	_	+	+		

Stars in the three rightmost columns indicate statistical difference between paired-wise groups after post hoc Bonferonni/ Dunn correction (*P*>0.016) (from Tremblay et al. [66]; with permission) the amplitude of the responses are not affected, the latencies of the photopic responses recorded under anesthesia versus consciousness are significantly and statistically increased and that the same holds true for F-ERG responses recorded under sedation versus under anesthesia [66].

Early studies by Raitta et al. [94] evaluated F-ERG responses recorded in ten adults before and 15-20 min after induction of anesthesia with a combination of thiopentone sodium, halothane, and nitrous oxide (N₂O) and found that the amplitudes of F-ERG a- and b-waves were significantly decreased when compared with preoperative levels, but that latencies were unchanged. The findings of a study by Yagi et al. [52] evaluated the effects of enflurane on F-ERG in a small sample of patients undergoing surgical procedures and found that use of enflurane significantly increased latencies of F-ERG a-waves and b-waves and decreased their amplitudes but did not have any significant effects on F-ERG b-wave responses, with increasing concentrations of enflurane (0, 0.8, and 1.7%) [52]. Interestingly, a study conducted by Ioholm et al. [95] in adult populations examined photopic F-ERGs before and after

surgery under general anesthesia induced with sevoflurane (8%) in 100% oxygen (O₂) and maintained with sevoflurane (range, 0.05-0.31%, mean 0.22±0.07%) and nitrous oxide (mixture of 33% O₂ and 66% N₂O). The F-ERG responses were recorded preoperatively from unpremedicated American Society of Anesthesiologist (ASA) classification I and II patients, and again immediately following discharge from the recovery room, and 24 h following sevoflurane/N₂O anesthesia. Ioholm et al. [95] found that the F-ERG b-wave latency in these subjects was increased at both postoperative time points compared with preoperative responses and that b-wave amplitudes were also decreased postoperatively compared with their preoperative levels. Similar findings were obtained in a subsequent study conducted by Ioholm [96]. Of interest, Sasaki et al. [24] reported that "after induction of inhalation anesthesia with sevoflurane, ERG data were not reproducible" [24]. An example of the comparison of the F-ERG responses obtained by Sasaki et al. [24] with anesthesia employing sevoflurane versus total intravenous infusion of propofol with fentanyl is shown in Fig. 4.4. Given the



Fig. 4.4 Illustrates the reproducibility of ERG and VEP following induction of inhalation and venous anesthesia in the same patient, same eye (without visual dysfunction). F-ERG and VEPs were obtained twice to confirm the reproducibility of the data in the absence of surgical procedures. Following induction with inhalation anesthesia

(*left*), F-ERG responses were not reproducible and the VEP amplitude was also affected. Conversely, following induction of propofol-based infusion anesthesia, reproducibility of ERG and VEPs were both good (from Sasaki et al. [24] with spelling modifications: revised "Seboflurene" to "Sevoflurane"; with permission)

variance in the reports regarding the effects on F-ERG responses to different combinations of sedative and halogenated agents, one would have to agree with Tremblay's conclusion that normal retinal physiology is affected by sedation and anesthesia through different mechanisms that remain to be fully elucidated by future research [66].

Total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) utilizing propofol and opioid medication is touted as F-ERG friendly. Indeed F-ERGs obtained from 20 normal children undergoing evaluations of their visual function under anesthesia with propofol and fentanyl versus topical anesthesia showed that F-ERG b-wave response latencies were only slightly increased and b-wave amplitudes decreased when propofol and fentanyl versus topical anesthesia were employed and were not statistically different [97]. This finding was further supported by an animal study conducted in pigs [98]. Although no specific reports have been published on the effects of bolus administrations of fentanyl or other opioids on F-ERGs in humans during surgery, bolus administrations (additional injections of fentanyl every 60 min) were used in Sasaki's et al. study [24], with what can presumed to be little detriment to their use of F-ERG responses (chiefly to ensure retinal stimulation) for IOM purposes.

Effects of Anesthesia on VEPs

A summary of the effects of anesthesia on F-VEPS prepared by Banoub et al. is shown in Table 4.2 [1]. F-VEPs are very sensitive to the effects of anesthetics and physiologic factors because they represent polysynaptic cortical activity. Because flash stimulation activates both temporal and nasal parts of the retina and the nasal fibers cross to the contralateral side at the

A postbotic drug	Dose/concentration	Latency of P 100	Amplitude
			Ampitude
Halothane [102]	1 MAC	≈10% ↑	Inconsistent
Isoflurane [41, 103]	0.5 MAC	10 % ↑	40 % ↓
	1.0 MAC	20 % ↑	66%↓
	1.5 MAC ^a	30 % ↑	80 % ↓
	1.0 MAC + 70 % N ₂ O	Abolished	Abolished
	1.5 MAC + 70 % N ₂ O	Abolished	Abolished
Sevoflurane [104]	0.5 MAC+66% N ₂ O	5–10 % ↑	20 % ↓
	1 MAC+66% N ₂ O	Abolished	Abolished
	1.5 MAC+66% N ₂ O	Abolished	Abolished
	1.4–1.7 MAC	Abolished	Abolished ^b
Nitrous oxide [105–107]	10-50 %	No effect	25–80 % ↓°
Propofol [108]	$2 \text{ mg/kg} + 10 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$	Negligible	≈20 % ↓
Thiopental [109]	3 mg/kg	<10 % ↑	No change
	6 mg/kg	Abolished	Abolished
Etomidate [109]	0.3 mg/kg	<10%↑	No change
Fentanyl [99]	10–60 µg/kg	<10%↑	30 % ↓
Ketamine [108]	$1 \text{ mg/kg} + 2 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$	Negligible	≈60 % ↓
Morphine scopolamine (premedication) [99]	0.2 mg/kg morphine+0.4 mg scopolamine	No change	≈20 % ↓
Neuroleptanalgesia [110]		10 % ↑	No change
Fentanyl, droperidol nitrous oxide			

 Table 4.2
 Summary of the effects of anesthetics on visual-evoked potentials responses

From Banoub et al. [1]; with permission. All data are from humans

MAC minimum alveolar concentration, N_2O nitrous oxide, \uparrow increase, \downarrow decrease

^aIn a substantial fraction of patients, waveforms were not recordable at this concentration

^bDuring electroencephalogram suppression; visual-evoked potentials reappeared during electroencephalogram bursts [111]

^cSome report a 40% increase in N-70-P-100 amplitude [108] (Fig. 4.10)

level of the optic chiasma, retrochiasmatic lesions cannot be monitored [33]. In addition, VEPs are highly dependent on appropriate stimulation of the retina and may be unduly affected by narcoticinduced pupillary constriction [99].

The findings included in Table 4.1 suggest volatile anesthetics prolong VEP latency and decrease F-VEP amplitudes in a dose-dependent fashion. Nakagawa et al. [37] found that even at a 1% (0.5 minimum alveolar concentration [MAC]) concentration of sevoflurane, responses were significantly decreased. At 1.5 MAC, responses could not be interpreted [37]. However, as mentioned previously, conflicting information about the effect of low-dose sevoflurane on F-VEP responses have been reported, with one researcher finding amplitude decreases with its use [37] while another did not find any such decrease [29], although the latter recorded responses directly from cortex and those responses are reportedly not as susceptible to the effects of inhalational agents as those recorded from scalp [45, 88]. Nitrous oxide (N_2O) alone considerably reduces VEP amplitude. Its use in addition to volatile anesthetics can make VEP responses unrecordable. Increased concentrations of nitrous oxide significantly increase VEP latencies.

In general, it appears that opioid and ketamine or propofol-based anesthetic techniques (TIVA), along with those employing low-dose volatile anesthetics without nitrous oxide, seem to facilitate intraoperative recording of VEPs but do not ensure it. In some cases, the use of these anesthetic protocols may involve a high incidence of false-positive and false-negative results [33].

Opioids (e.g., fentanyl, alfentanil, sufentanil, and remifentanil) reportedly have a very mild effect on other evoked responses [100], which presumably extend to VEP responses. However, it is important to keep in mind that bolus administration of opioids has been reported to significantly reduce the amplitude of scalp-recorded responses [101]. Chi et al. [99] studied the effects of incremental doses of fentanyl (10 μ g/kg) given every 10 min for a total dose of 60–90 μ g/kg for patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft procedures and observed that while fentanyl administration did not affect latency, amplitude

was decreased. They posited that those decreases may be due to changes to retinal luminance related to pupillary-induced constriction associated with fentanyl bolus administration [99]. Accordingly, bolus administraton of fentanyl, while not precluded during such surgeries, may indirectly affect F-VEP responses induced by retinal flash stimulation, and therefore should be taken into account if responses change post-administration. Loughnan et al. [100] showed that neither fentanyl, 200 µg, nor diazepam, 20 mg administered intravenously, significantly changed F-VEP latency or amplitude, suggesting that an anesthetic technique based on these two drugs might be suitable when intraoperative evoked potential monitoring is required to assess ischemia and preservation of visual-evoked responses [100].

With respect to anesthetic techniques that employ infusion of propofol, although most of the new studies for visual pathway IOM espouse the use of propofol, Neuloh [45] points out that TIVA alone cannot ensure success, as one recent study found that "a satisfactory rate of successful VEPs could not be achieved despite use of TIVA for anesthetic management" [41]. Moreover, a couple of studies have found that the amplitude of VEP is strongly affected by the concentration of propofol and that caution and perhaps further studies are needed in evaluating VEP in patients undergoing propofol anesthesia. Nakagawa et al. [37] found that at a propofol concentration of 3.0 µg/mL (80–100 µg/kg/min), VEP amplitudes were decreased significantly compared with the amplitude at 1.5 μ g/mL concentration (40–50 μ g/ kg/min). It led him to conclude that a propofolbased TIVA technique appears to induce less change in evoked potentials, including VEP, than halogenated agents [37]. Hamaguchi et al. [36] further investigated the influence of propofol concentration on F-VEP components in three patients with cranial aneurysm and four with brain tumor. Anesthesia was maintained with intravenous propofol using target controlled infusion. Changes in F-VEP amplitude and latency were measured during three propofol concentrations (effect site concentrations of 1.5, 2.0, and 3.0 μ g × mL⁻¹, and correlated with bispectral index (BIS) readings at each concentration.

At 3.0 μ g × mL⁻¹ propofol concentration, F-VEP amplitude was decreased significantly compared with the amplitude at 1.5 μ g×mL⁻¹ concentration. No significant change was observed with the latency of F-VEP. The value of BIS at 3.0 μ g×mL⁻¹ propofol concentration also decreased significantly compared with 2.0 μ g×mL⁻¹ concentration.

Thankfully, neuromuscular blocking drugs do not directly influence F-VEP responses. In fact, their use may contribute to an improved signalto-noise ratio by eliminating electromyographic artifact [12].

Conclusion

A number of researchers [2, 3, 13–15, 19–21, 23, 25, 78, 79] have continued their efforts to overcome the poor reputation that IOM of the visual pathways has had for several decades. By employing new and brighter stimuli, direct cortical stimulation methods, and monitoring new types of cases, these researchers hope to spawn revitalization of research that will help evaluate, establish, and improve the usefulness of visual pathway intraoperative monitoring. Certainly, the success of Sasaki et al. [24, 25] (93.5%), Kodama et al. [23] (97%), and subsequent research [19, 20] for acquisition of stable scalp F-VEPs recordings during surgeries involving the anterior pathways, with good correlation of monitoring results and visual outcomes, have been encouraging. Their ability to achieve those goals has largely been attributed to the combined use of (1) a brighter reusable (sterilizable); (2) flexible LED stimulating devices that guarantee supramaximal retinal stimulation, even when VEPs cannot be recorded; and (3) use of TIVA with propofol to minimize the effects of anesthetics on the responses. However, monitoring of patients with preoperative visual deficits remains controversial. Indeed, Kodama et al. limited their monitoring to patients with preoperative acuities of less than 0.4 (20/50) [23]. Because impaired preoperative vision is a major predictor of postoperative deterioration [45], eliminating such patients from monitoring limits the broad usefulness of VEPs for IOM of these surgical procedures. Regarding enhancements in

anesthetic management, it is still not clear that the use of TIVA with propofol ensures F-VEP recording in all patients [41]. Still, there clearly is a need for continuous monitoring during cases involving the visual pathways, and indeed studies indicating that they were able to detect ischemic response changes in the F-VEP that would have been missed by imaging data [58] make a compelling argument to encourage those who would continue efforts to optimize the methodologies for use of VEPs for IOM purposes. Certainly, replication of their protocols and confirmation of their results will help solidify their methods. Only time will tell if others take up that cause [5, 45]. The development of visual stimulation methodologies that can better assess visual acuity during surgical procedures, coupled with improved anesthetic management techniques may serve to revitalize the efforts to confirm the usefulness of IOM of the visual pathways: a plea that was issued years ago and still remains true [73].

References

- Banoub M, Tetzlaff JE, Schubert A. Pharmacologic and physiologic influences affecting sensory evoked potentials: implications for perioperative monitoring. Anesthesiology. 2003;99:716.
- Luo Y, Regli L, Bozinov O, Sarnthein J. Clinical utility and limitations of intraoperative monitoring of visual evoked potentials. PLoS One. 2015;10(3): e0120525.
- Houlden DA, Turgeon CA, Polis T, Sinclair J, Coupland S, Bourque P, et al. Intraoperative flash VEPs are reproducible in the presence of low amplitude EEG. J Clin Monit Comput. 2014;28:275–85.
- Duffau H. Intraoperative monitoring of visual function. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2011;153:1929–30.
- Wright JE, Arden G, Jones BR. Continuous monitoring of the visually evoked response during intraorbital surgery. Trans Ophthalmol Soc U K. 1973;93:311–4.
- Handel N, Law J, Hoehn R, Kirsch W. Monitoring visual evoked response during craniofacial surgery. Ann Plast Surg. 1979;2:257–8.
- Allen A, Starr A, Nudleman K. Assessment of sensory function in the operating room utilizing cerebral evoked potentials: a study of fifty-six surgically anesthetized patients. Clin Neurosurg. 1981;28: 457–81.
- Grundy BL. Intraoperative monitoring of sensoryevoked potentials. Anesthesiology. 1983;58:72–87.

- Albright AL, Sclabassi RJ. Cavitron ultrasonic surgical aspirator and visual evoked potential monitoring for chiasmal gliomas in children. Report of two cases. J Neurosurg. 1985;63:138–40.
- Costa e Silva I, Wang AD, Symon L. The application of flash visual evoked potentials during operations on the anterior visual pathways. Neurol Res. 1985;7:11–6.
- Burrows FA, Hillier SC, McLeod ME, Iron KS, Taylor MJ. Anterior fontanel pressure and visual evoked potentials in neonates and infants undergoing profound hypothermic circulatory arrest. Anesthesiology. 1990;73:632–6.
- Sloan TB. Evoked potential monitoring. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 1996;34:109–36.
- Duffau H, Velut S, Mitchell M-C, Gatignol P, Capelle L. Intra-operative mapping of the subcortical visual pathways using direct electrical stimulations. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2004;146:265–9. discussion 269–70.
- Benedičič M, Bošnjak R. Optic nerve potentials and cortical potentials after stimulation of the anterior visual pathway during neurosurgery. Doc Ophthalmol Adv Ophthalmol. 2011;122:115–25.
- Benedičič M, Bošnjak R. Intraoperative monitoring of the visual function using cortical potentials after electrical epidural stimulation of the optic nerve. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2011;153:1919–27.
- Landi A, Pirillo D, Cilia R, Antonini A, Sganzerla EP. Cortical visual evoked potentials recorded after optic tract near field stimulation during GPi-DBS in non-cooperative patients. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2011;113:119–22.
- San-Juan D, de Dios Del Castillo CJ, Villegas TG, Elizondo DL, Torrontegui JAF, Anschel DJ. Visual intraoperative monitoring of occipital arteriovenous malformation surgery. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2011;113:680–2.
- Chung SB, Park CW, Seo DW, Kong DS, Park SK. Intraoperative visual evoked potential has no association with postoperative visual outcomes in transsphenoidal surgery. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2012;154:1505–10.
- 19. Ogawa Y, Nakagawa A, Washio T, Arafune T, Tominaga T. Tissue dissection before direct manipulation to the pathology with pulsed laser-induced liquid jet system in skull base surgery: preservation of fine vessels and maintained optic nerve function. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2013;155:1879–86.
- Kamio Y, Sakai N, Sameshima T, Takahashi G, Koizumi S, Sugiyama K, et al. Usefulness of intraoperative monitoring of visual evoked potentials in transsphenoidal surgery. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2014;54:606–11.
- Padalino DJ, Melnyk V, Allott G, Deshaies EM. Electroretinography during embolization of an ophthalmic arteriovenous fistula. Surg Neurol Int. 2013;4:40.
- 22. Goto T, Tanaka Y, Kodama K, Kusano Y, Sakai K, Hongo K. Loss of visual evoked potential following temporary occlusion of the superior hypophyseal

artery during aneurysm clip placement surgery. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2007;107:865–7.

- Kodama K, Goto T, Sato A, Sakai K, Tanaka Y, Hongo K. Standard and limitation of intraoperative monitoring of the visual evoked potential. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2010;152:643–8.
- Sasaki T, Itakura T, Suzuki K, Kasuya H, Munakata R, Muramatsu H, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of visual evoked potential: introduction of a clinically useful method. J Neurosurg. 2010;112:273–84.
- Sasaki T, Ichikawa T, Sakuma J, Suzuki K, Matsumoto M, Itakura T, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of visual evoked potentials [in Japanese]. Masui. 2006;55:302–13.
- Feinsod M, Selhorst JB, Hoyt WF, Wilson CB. Monitoring optic nerve function during craniotomy. J Neurosurg. 1976;44:29–31.
- Herzon GD, Zealear DL. Intraoperative monitoring of the visual evoked potential during endoscopic sinus surgery. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1994;111:575–9.
- Zaaroor M, Pratt H, Feinsod M, Schacham SE. Realtime monitoring of visual evoked potentials. Isr J Med Sci. 1993;29:17–22.
- Ota T, Kawai K, Kamada K, Kin T, Saito N. Intraoperative monitoring of cortically recorded visual response for posterior visual pathway. J Neurosurg. 2010;112:285–94.
- Wilson WB, Kirsch WM, Neville H, Stears J, Feinsod M, Lehman RA. Monitoring of visual function during parasellar surgery. Surg Neurol. 1976;5:323–9.
- Koshino K, Kuroda R, Mogami H, Takimoto H. Flashing diode evoked responses for detecting optic nerve function during surgery. Med J Osaka Univ. 1978;29(1–2):39–47.
- Cedzich C, Schramm J, Fahlbusch R. Are flashevoked visual potentials useful for intraoperative monitoring of visual pathway function? Neurosurgery. 1987;21:709.
- Raudzens PA. Intraoperative monitoring of evoked potentials. Ann NY Acad Sci. 1982;388:308–26.
- Cedzich C, Schramm J, Mengedoht CF, Fahlbusch R. Factors that limit the use of flash visual evoked potentials for surgical monitoring. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1988;71:142–5.
- Cedzich C, Schramm J. Monitoring of flash visual evoked potentials during neurosurgical operations. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 1990;28:165–9.
- Hamaguchi K, Nakagawa I, Hidaka S, Uesugi F, Kubo T, Kato T. Effect of propofol on visual evoked potentials during neurosurgery. Masui. 2005;54:998–1002.
- Nakagawa I, Hidaka S, Okada H, Kubo T, Okamura K, Kato T. Effects of sevoflurane and propofol on evoked potentials during neurosurgical anesthesia. Masui. 2006;55:692–8.
- Nau HE, Hess W, Pohlen G, Marggraf G, Rimpel J. Evoked potentials in intracranial operations: current status and our experiences [in German]. Anaesthesist. 1987;36:116–25.

- Lorenz M, Renella RR. Intraoperative monitoring: visual evoked potentials in surgery of the sellar region [in German]. Zentralbl Neurochir. 1989; 50:12–5.
- Chacko AG, Babu KS, Chandy MJ. Value of visual evoked potential monitoring during trans-sphenoidal pituitary surgery. Br J Neurosurg. 1996;10:275–8.
- Wiedemayer H, Fauser B, Armbruster W, Gasser T, Stolke D. Visual evoked potentials for intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring using total intravenous anesthesia. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2003;15:19–24.
- 42. Wiedemayer H, Fauser B, Sandalcioglu IE, Armbruster W, Stolke D. Observations on intraoperative monitoring of visual pathways using steadystate visual evoked potentials. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2004;21:429–33.
- Bergholz R, Lehmann TN, Fritz G, Rüther K. Fourier transformed steady-state flash evoked potentials for continuous monitoring of visual pathway function. Doc Ophthalmol. 2007;116:217–29.
- 44. Hussain SS, Laljee HC, Horrocks JM, Tec H, Grace AR. Monitoring of intra-operative visual evoked potentials during functional endoscopic sinus surgery (FESS) under general anaesthesia. J Laryngol Otol. 1996;110:31–6.
- 45. Neuloh G. Time to revisit VEP monitoring? Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2010;152:649–50.
- Miyake Y, Horiguchi M. Electroretinographic alterations during vitrectomy in human eyes. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 1998;236:13–7.
- Miyake Y, Yagasaki K, Horiguchi M. Electroretinographic monitoring of retinal function during eye surgery. Arch Ophthalmol. 1991;109: 1123–6.
- Montezuma SR, Rizzo JF, Ziv OR. Combined vitrectomy lens and contact electrode for erg recording during surgery. Retina. 2002;22:828–9.
- Kikuchi Y, Sasaki T, Matsumoto M, Oikawa T, Itakura T, Kodama N. Optic nerve evoked potentials elicited by electrical stimulation. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2005;45:349–55. discussion 354–5.
- Bošnjak R, Benedičič M. Direct epidural electrical stimulation of the optic nerve: a new method for intraoperative assessment of function. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;109:647–53.
- Tashiro C, Muranishi R, Gomyo I, Mashimo T, Tomi K, Yoshiya I. Electroretinogram as a possible monitor of anesthetic depth. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 1986;224:473–6.
- Yagi M, Tashiro C, Yoshiya I. Changes in the electroretinogram during enflurane anesthesia [in Japanese]. Masui. 1989;38:1438–43.
- 53. Nogawa T, Katayama K, Okuda H, Uchida M. Changes in the latency of the maximum positive peak of visual evoked potential during anesthesia. Nihon Geka Hokan. 1991;60:143–53.
- 54. Zimmerer R, Rana M, Schumann P, Gellrich N-C. Diagnosis and treatment of optic nerve trauma. Facial Plast Surg. 2014;30:518–27.

- 55. Zimmerer R, Schattmann K, Essig H, Jehn P, Metzger M, Kokemüller H, et al. Efficacy of transcutaneous transseptal orbital decompression in treating acute retrobulbar hemorrhage and a literature review. Craniomaxillofac Trauma Reconstr. 2014;7:17–26.
- 56. Zhu Y, Song G, Tang D, Zhai X, Tian W. Monitor visual function with flash visual evoked potential during orbital surgery [in Chinese]. Zhonghua Yan Ke Za Zhi. 2000;36:445–8.
- Nebbioso M, Lenarduzzi F, Pucci B, Plateroti AM, Rispoli E. Surgical management by means of electroretinographic examination during extracorporeal circulation. Ann Ital Chir. 2012;83:523–8.
- Kamada K, Todo T, Morita A, Masutani Y, Aoki S, Ino K, et al. Functional monitoring for visual pathway using real-time visual evoked potentials and optic-radiation tractography. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(1 Suppl):121–7.
- Lozano A, Hutchison W, Kiss Z, Tasker R, Davis K, Dostrovsky J. Methods for microelectrode-guided posteroventral pallidotomy. J Neurosurg. 1996;84:194–202.
- Yokoyama T, Sugiyama K, Nishizawa S, Yokota N, Ohta S, Uemura K. Visual evoked potentials during posteroventral pallidotomy for Parkinson's disease. Neurosurgery. 1999;44:815–22. discussion 822–4.
- Cohen BA, Baldwin ME. Visual-evoked potentials for intraoperative neurophysiology monitoring: another flash in the pan? J Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;28:599–601.
- Thirumala PD, Habeych ME, Crammond DJ, Balzer JR. Neurophysiologic intraoperative monitoring of olfactory and optic nerves. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;28:538–42.
- Schumann P, Kokemüller H, Tavassol F, Lindhorst D, Lemound J, Essig H, et al. Optic nerve monitoring. Craniomaxillofac Trauma Reconstr. 2013; 6:75–86.
- Moller A. Evoked potentials in intraoperative monitoring. New York: Williams & Wilkins; 1988.
- Inui K, Sannan H, Miki K, Kaneoke Y, Kakigi R. Timing of early activity in the visual cortex as revealed by simultaneous MEG and ERG recordings. Neuroimage. 2006;30:239–44.
- 66. Tremblay F, Parkinson JE. Alteration of electroretinographic recordings when performed under sedation or halogenate anesthesia in a pediatric population. Doc Ophthalmol. 2003;107:271–9.
- Holder GE. Electrophysiological assessment of optic nerve disease. Eye (Lond). 2004;18:1133–43.
- Chiappa K. Evoked potential in clinical medicine. New York: Raven; 1983.
- Towle VL, Cakmur R, Cao Y, Brigell M, Parmeggiani L. Locating VEP equivalent dipoles in magnetic resonance images. Int J Neurosci. 1995;80(1–4):105–16.
- Nehamkin S, Windom M, Syed TU. Visual evoked potentials. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2008;48:233–48.

- Walsh P, Kane N, Butler S. The clinical role of evoked potentials. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2005;76 Suppl 2:ii16–22.
- Harding GF, Smith VH, Yorke HC. A contact lens photostimulator for surgical monitoring. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1987;66(3):322–6.
- American Electroencephalographic Society. Guidelines for intraoperative monitoring of sensory evoked potentials. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1987; 4:397–416.
- Kriss A, Halliday AM, Halliday E, Pratt RT. Evoked potentials following unilateral ECT. II. The flash evoked potential. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1980;48:490–501.
- Noonan BD, Wilkus RJ, Chatrian GE, Lettich E. The influence of direction of gaze on the human electroretinogram recorded from periorbital electrodes: a study utilizing a summating technique. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1973;35:495–502.
- Rubinstein MP, Harding GF. The visually evoked subcortical potential: is related to the electroretinogram? Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 1981;21:335–44.
- 77. Esakowitz L, Kriss A, Shawkat F. A comparison of flash electroretinograms recorded from Burian Allen, JET, C-glide, gold foil, DTL and skin electrodes. Eye (Lond). 1993;7(Pt 1):169–71.
- Gur M, Gath I. Time and frequency analysis of simultaneously recorded corneal and non-corneal electroretinogram. J Biomed Eng. 1979;1:172–4.
- Hood DC, Bach M, Brigell M, Keating D, Kondo M, Lyons JS, et al. ISCEV guidelines for clinical multifocal electroretinography (2007 edition). Doc Ophthalmol. 2008;116:1–11.
- Nuwer MR, Dawson EC. Intraoperative evoked potential monitoring of the spinal cord. A restricted filter, scalp method during Harrington instrumentation for scoliosis. Clin Orthop. 1984;183:42–50.
- Martinez Piñeiro A, Cubells C, Garcia P, Castaño C, Dávalos A, Coll-Canti J. Implementation of intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during endovascular procedures in the central nervous system. Interv Neurol. 2015;3:85–100.
- Keenan NK, Taylor MJ, Coles JG, Prieur BJ, Burrows FA. The use of VEPs for CNS monitoring during continuous cardiopulmonary bypass and circulatory arrest. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1987;68:241–6.
- Reilly EL, Kondo C, Brunberg JA, Doty DB. Visual evoked potentials during hypothermia and prolonged circulatory arrest. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1978;45:100–6.
- Markand ON, Warren CH, Moorthy SS, Stoelting RK, King RD. Monitoring of multimodality evoked potentials during open heart surgery under hypothermia. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1984;59:432–40.
- Burrows FA, Bissonnette B. Cerebral blood flow velocity patterns during cardiac surgery utilizing profound hypothermia with low-flow cardiopulmo-

nary bypass or circulatory arrest in neonates and infants. Can J Anaesth. 1993;40:298–307.

- 86. Nenekidis I, Pournaras CJ, Tsironi E, Tsilimingas N. Vision impairment during cardiac surgery and extracorporeal circulation: current understanding and the need for further investigation. Acta Ophthalmol. 2012;90:e168–72.
- Brandli A, Stone J. Remote ischemia influences the responsiveness of the retina: observations in the rat. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2014;55:2088–96.
- Møller AR, Burgess JE, Sekhar LN. Recording compound action potentials from the optic nerve in man and monkeys. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1987;67:549–55.
- Curatolo JM, Macdonell RA, Berkovic SF, Fabinyi GC. Intraoperative monitoring to preserve central visual fields during occipital corticectomy for epilepsy. J Clin Neurosci. 2000;7:234–7.
- Tobimatsu S, Shima F, Ishido K, Kato M. Visual evoked potentials in the vicinity of the optic tract during stereotactic pallidotomy. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1997;104:274–9.
- Benedičič M, Beltram M, Olup BD, Bošnjak R. Cortical potentials after electrical intraneural stimulation of the optic nerve during orbital enucleation. Doc Ophthalmol Adv Ophthalmol. 2012;125:195–202.
- Russ W, Kling D, Loesevitz A, Hempelmann G. Effect of hypothermia on visual evoked potentials (VEP) in humans. Anesthesiology. 1984;61:207–10.
- Wongpichedchai S, Hansen RM, Koka B, Gudas VM, Fulton AB. Effects of halothane on children's electroretinograms. Ophthalmology. 1992;99:1309–12.
- 94. Raitta C, Karhunen U, Seppäläinen AM. Changes in the electroretinogram and visual evoked potentials during general anaesthesia using enflurane. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 1982;218:294–6.
- 95. Iohom G, Collins I, Murphy D, Awad I, O'Connor G, McCarthy N, et al. Postoperative changes in visual evoked potentials and cognitive function tests following sevoflurane anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2001;87:855–9.
- Iohom G, Whyte A, Flynn T, O'Connor G, Shorten G. Postoperative changes in the full-field electroretinogram following sevoflurane anaesthesia. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2004;21:272–8.
- Andréasson S, Tornqvist K, Ehinger B. Full-field electroretinograms during general anesthesia in normal children compared to examination with topical anesthesia. Acta Ophthalmol. 1993;71:491–5.
- Tanskanen P, Kylmä T, Kommonen B, Karhunen U. Propofol influences the electroretinogram to a lesser degree than thiopentone. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1996;40:480–5.
- Chi OZ, McCoy CL, Field C. Effects of fentanyl anesthesia on visual evoked potentials in humans. Anesthesiology. 1987;67:827–30.
- Loughnan BL, Sebel PS, Thomas D, Rutherfoord CF, Rogers H. Evoked potentials following diazepam or fentanyl. Anaesthesia. 1987;42:195–8.

- Sloan T. Anesthesia and intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 2009;26:227–35.
- Uhl RR, Squires KC, Bruce DL, Starr A. Effect of halothane anesthesia on the human cortical visual evoked response. Anesthesiology. 1980;53:273–6.
- 103. Chi OZ, Field C. Effects of isoflurane on visual evoked potentials in humans. Anesthesiology. 1986;65:328–30.
- Kameyama Y. Effect of isoflurane and sevoflurane on evoked potentials and EEG. Jpn J Anesth. 1994;43:657–64.
- 105. Sebel PS, Flynn PJ, Ingram DA. Effect of nitrous oxide on visual, auditory and somatosensory evoked potentials. Br J Anaesth. 1984;56:1403–7.
- Yamashiro H. Differentiation of brain stem anesthesia from high spinal anesthesia using auditory brain stem response. Masui. 1990;39:1704–7.
- 107. Fenwick PBC, Stone SA, Bushman J, Enderby D. Changes in the pattern reversal visual evoked

potential as a function of inspired nitrous oxide concentration. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1984;57:178–83.

- 108. Hou WY, Lee WY, Lin SM, Liu CC, Susceto L, Sun WZ, Lin SY. The effects of ketamine, propofol and nitrous oxide on visual evoked potentials during fentanyl anesthesia. Ma Zui Xue Za Zhi. 1993;31:97–102.
- 109. Chi OZ, Ryterband S, Field C. Visual evoked potentials during thiopentone-fentanyl-nitrous oxide anaesthesia in humans. Can J Anaesth. 1989;36:637–40.
- 110. Russ W, Luben V, Hempelmann G. Der Einfluß der Neuroleptanalgesie auf das visuelle evozierte Potential (VEP) des Menschen. Anaesthesist. 1982; 31:575–8.
- 111. Makela K, Harkainen K, Rorarius M, Jantti V. Suppression of F-VEP during isoflurane-induced EEG suppression. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1996;100:269–72.

Deep Brain Stimulation

Jay L. Shils, Diana Apetauerova, Amal A. Mokeem, and Jeffrey E. Arle

Key Learning Points

- The role of the anesthesiologist in the DBS case is critical to maintain patient comfort and cardiovascular support in an awake patient without the use of common sedative medications.
- In complex movement disorder procedures, the use of sedation is almost always necessary and the fine balance between these medications and the consciousness of the patient is critical to allowing the physiologists to obtain the data necessary for optimal electrode placement.

D. Apetauerova, M.D.

Department of Neurology, Lahey Hospital and Health System, 41 Mall Road, Burlington, MA 01805, USA

A.A. Mokeem, M.D.Department of Neurosciences, MBC 76, King FaisalSpecialist Hospital & Research Center,3354, Riyadh 11211, Saudi Arabia

J.E. Arle, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Neurosurgery, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and Harvard University, 300 Brookline Avenue, Boston, MA 02215, USA

Introduction

Intraoperative monitoring (IOM) may generally be separated into two categories: (1) evaluating real-time data to detect adverse changes in the nervous system, giving the surgical team a chance either to reverse or to stop what is causing the change; (2) evaluating real-time data to help determine related physiologic localization or guidance for the surgical team through specific procedural steps of a particular surgery. In both categories, the surgical, anesthetic, and neuromonitoring personnel play a role in how the data are interpreted and incorporated during the procedure. Deep brain stimulation is challenging in that the patient needs to be comfortable enough to be alert through the complete procedure, yet not affect the properties of the single unit recordings.

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) surgery, with the use of microelectrode recording, for movement disorders falls into the second category. For the anesthesiologist, the challenge is that most anesthetics used to minimize pain and sedate a patient affect the firing patterns of the neurophysiologic data necessary to locate functional targets during the surgery, which in turn makes localization based on the firing patterns more difficult. In addition, the patient is likely to be fully awake and in their "worst" clinical state, which further complicates the situation. These issues make the communication between the anesthesiologist,

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_5

J.L. Shils, PhD, D. ABNM, FASNM, FACNS (⊠) Department of Anesthesiology, Rush University Medical Center, 1653 W. Congress Pkwy, Suite 1483 Jelke Building, Chicago, IL 60612, USA e-mail: jay_l_shils@rush.org

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

surgeon, and neurophysiologist critical, and not something that should occur only in the morning before the procedure starts. A dedicated member of each of those three disciplines, who is always present, is preferable in making this procedure successful in every case.

The most common movement disorders that are treated with DBS are ones that are associated with some abnormality of the basal ganglia (BG). The BG are a group of six nuclei in the brain with two principal input structures: the corpus striatum (Striatum) and the subthalamic nucleus (STN), two output structures (internal segment of the globus pallidus [GPi] and substantia nigra pars reticulata [SNr]), and two intrinsic nuclei (external segment of the globus pallidus [GPe] and substantia nigra pars compacta [SNc]). The striatum receives excitatory (glutamatergic) input from multiple areas of the cerebral cortex as well as feedback inhibitory and excitatory input from the dopaminergic cells of the SNc. One subset of these cells projects directly to the GPi, forming the "direct pathway," while another subset projects to the GPe, the first relay station of a complementary "indirect pathway," which passes through the STN before terminating at GPi. The antagonistic actions of the direct and indirect pathways regulate the neuronal activity of GPi, which in turn provides inhibitory input to the pedunculopontine nucleus (PPN) and the ventrolateral (VL) nucleus of the thalamus, which contains the sensory receiving area (ventral caudal nucleus [VC]) and the cerebellar receiving area (ventralis intermedius nucleus [VIM]). The VL nucleus projects back to the primary and supplementary motor areas, completing the cortico-ganglio-thalamocortical loop. The direct pathway inhibits GPi, resulting in a net disinhibition of the motor thalamus and facilitation of the thalamocortical projections. The indirect pathway, via its serial connections, provides excitatory input to the GPi, inhibiting the thalamocortical motor pathway.

In various movement disorders, the signaling between the complementary balance between the direct and indirect pathways is disrupted, which results in clinical symptoms. In Parkinson's disease (PD), the disruption results in a hypokinetic clinical picture, whereas for dystonia the disruption results in a hyperkinetic clinical picture. DBS is thought to act by *renormalizing* the aberrant firing patterns caused by the disbalance of the direct and indirect BG pathways. The exact mechanism by which DBS affects this *renormalization* is unknown.

We present three different scenarios to help illustrate important points. The first will involve a classic parkinsonian patient undergoing a *straightforward* placement of a DBS electrode in the STN with minimal anesthetic intervention. The second involves a complex dystonic patient who required continuous changes in anesthetic management throughout the procedure. The third involves a patient with a medication-induced movement disorder that was on a continuous infusion of propofol prior to surgery to reduce the adverse effects of the movement disorder. In addition to these three examples, we also include a basic surgical methodology common to all DBS procedures for movement disorders.

Surgery

Movement disorders surgery is performed stereotactically. This means the brain is placed in a three-dimensional (3D)-coordinate space that allows accurate and reliable targeting of specific anatomic areas. Historically, the most common stereotactic systems consist of a frame that is attached to the outer table of the patient's skull followed by either a computed tomography (CT) scan or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan. A more recent technique uses a smaller stereotactic platform (FHC Starfix system, Bodenheim, ME; or Medtronic Nexframe, Minneapolis, MN) where trajectory guidance is done using "frameless" stereotactic techniques. These new "frameless" techniques offer anesthesiology advantages of easy access to the patient's airway. The standard frames make access to the patient's airway more difficult due to frame components making emergent mask access difficult, so the use of a laryngeal mask airway (LMA) should be considered. Once the imaging has been performed, the surgeon calculates the target location in the 3D space. Due to anatomical variations, imaging distortions, and functional neurophysiologic differences among patients, this initial targeting acts only as a guide to reach the target structure. Once targeting is complete, the surgeon creates a 14-mm burr hole in the skull to accommodate the electrode trajectory and readies the neurophysiology recording equipment attached to the stereotactic frame.

Microelectrode recording (MER) is best performed with the patient's full, nonmedicated attention. After MER is performed and the appropriate functional target is located, the permanent DBS electrode is placed and a second neurophysiologic test using stimulation, which mimics the DBS therapy, takes place. The wound is then closed and the controlling implantable pulse generator (IPG) is implanted.

The most serious complication during a DBS procedure is a fatal hemorrhage [1]. During a *stan*dard DBS procedure, blood pressure (BP) control is a critical anesthetic concern during both microrecording and permanent lead placement. While symptomatic hemorrhages may be readily detected, asymptomatic hemorrhages may yet presage clinical demise, so postoperative imaging is highly recommended [2]. To minimize the chance of intraoperative hemorrhage, systolic BP should be kept below 150 mmHg. If systolic pressure rises above this level, the procedure is halted until the systolic BP returns below 150 mmHg. For patients with PD there may be rebound hypertension when dopaminergic agonists have been halted prior to the procedure, often making BP control more challenging. Several standard BP control medications have been demonstrated to cause no hindering effects on single-unit recordings. These include most notably hydralazine, nimodipine, nitroglycerine, and sodium nitroprusside (authors' experience and Venkatraghavan [3]), although there are no specific references in the literature describing the effects in detail. The one report that discusses the effect of the β -blocker metoprolol demonstrated a significant reduction in STN spiking activity with a transient reduction in rigidity after intravenous administration to reduce BP in three patients [4]. Some clinicians recommend avoiding the use of β -blockers because these may reduce the ability to assess the movement disorder during the electrode placement.

Dehydration may be a concern in longer DBS procedures. Intravenous (IV) fluids at maintenance levels should be given throughout the surgery. Bladder catheters are placed in all patients to save patients from worrying about voiding during the procedure and because many movement disorder patients can have difficulty moving after surgery. Because the patient is in a modified sitting position with the head above the chest, the occurrence of a venous air embolism should always be considered a possibility; particularly with the burr hole allowing for surface vein exposure. Standard pulse oximetry and endtidal CO₂ monitoring are helpful in this regard. Pulse oximetry monitoring, IV access, and an arterial line (if used) should be placed on the hand or foot that is on the same side as the surgery, so as to allow unhindered examination of the tremor, rigidity, and movement speed in the contralateral limb. If a venous air embolism is suspected or detected, the subdural space should be continually flushed with saline to avoid further air entering the venous system. All stereotactic frames allow for the placement of endotracheal tubes or laryngeal mask airways without removing the frame. Specific wrenches for frame removal and adjustment should be kept handy for potential emergency use.

Although sedatives and systemic analgesic anesthetics are categorically contraindicated prior to and during the parts of the procedure when neurophysiologic data are being acquired, there are times when both are beneficial and even necessary. When the stereotactic frame is being placed on the patient's head, a local anesthetic (e.g., lidocaine/ bupivacaine) is injected subcutaneously at the sites where the pins will be placed. At our center, we also use sedation (propofol boluses of 20–50 mg/kg or constant infusions of \sim 100 µg/kg/ min) during frame placement, incision, burr hole, and opening of the dura. Due to varying degrees of tolerance in some patients, higher doses (as much as 250 μ g/kg/min) may be needed (see example 3). A second anesthetic that has been shown to be acceptable during such procedures is dexmedetomidine (Dex). For these procedures, ideally it is important to use an anesthetic that is metabolized rapidly (propofol) and has minimal effects on single unit recordings. Anesthetics may be used without restrictions during wound closure. On occasion, it may also be necessary to use small doses of anesthetics for brief periods to sedate patients between recording tracts. As described in the second case below, there are also special circumstances in which anesthetics are needed even while performing MER.

Because anesthetics can alter neuronal firing frequency [5] and impair patient assessment, the use of gabaminergic sedative medications, even in small doses, has been shown to affect the quality of MER adversely [6]. Temporary modification and suppression of parkinsonian tremor [7, 8] and increase in dyskinesias [9] have been reported with the use of propofol and remifentanil and thus, at our center, we require at least 10 min for the propofol to wear off prior to tremor testing. It is unclear which general anesthetic agents allow the most effective MER because all of them affect recordings to some extent [6, 10]and no studies comparing their effects on data acquisition have been performed intraoperatively. An "awake" technique has obvious advantages and most centers avoid anesthesia at least during the recording and mapping phase of DBS electrode placement in order to detect cellular activity and movement-related responses to neurostimulation. Another common technique used to improve intraoperative recordings and patient assessment is the withholding of antiparkinsonian medications beginning the night before surgery; this can be unpleasant for the patient but is necessary to assure optimal DBS electrode placement. On the other end of the movement disorder spectrum are dystonic patients who usually do need sedation during the initial phase of surgery before neurophysiologic testing, and potentially even during the testing phases. Ideally, any sedative effects should be readily reversible. Benzodiazepines and opioids with longer half-lives should be avoided. Opioids can also cause agitation, muscular rigidity, sweating, and hyperpyrexia in combination with some PD medications (e.g., selegiline) [8].

In PD patients, propofol has been used extensively, but its use requires vigilance to ensure patient alertness. Erring on the side of less medication ensures that its effects wear off more quickly and decreases the risk of airway loss. The surgeon may use extra local anesthetic with the scalp incision to reduce surgical pain. Also, as stated earlier, Dex is a good choice for dystonic patients and has been successfully used in pediatric patients [11]. A critical reason for choosing Dex is its minimal effect on single-unit MER recording data, as one can appreciate that neuronal activity is still readily obtainable (Fig. 5.1). Dex reliably produces conscious sedation while the patient remains responsive and cooperative to verbal commands [2, 12]. One reason that Dex most likely does not affect BG recordings is that its effect is on the α_2 adrenoreceptors in the locus coeruleus, a major site of noradrenergic innervation in the central nervous system, and not on the gabaminergic receptors of the BG. The locus coeruleus has been implicated as a key modulator for a variety of critical brain functions, including arousal, sleep, and anxiety [13]. This, together with minimal respiratory depression, makes it an attractive agent to use in "awake" functional craniotomies. Low-dose infusion of this drug provides sedation from which patients are easily arousable and cooperative to verbal stimulation. Consequently, there are several reports on the successful use of the drug, both alone [3, 14, 15] and in combination with intermittent propofol [16]. Dex has also been shown to attenuate the hemodynamic and neuroendocrine responses to headpin insertion (the method for attaching the frame to the patient's head) in patients undergoing craniotomy and to significantly reduce the concomitant use of antihypertensive medication [17, 18]. It can theoretically decrease cerebral blood flow via direct α_2 -mediated vascular smooth muscle constriction and, indirectly, via effects on the intrinsic neural pathways modulating vascular effects. α_2 -Agonists have a more potent vasoconstrictor effect on the venous rather than on the arteriolar side of the cerebral vasculature and can, therefore, decrease ICP. There is, so far, no evidence of adverse effects on cerebral hemodynamics associated with its use, even in the setting of a compromised cerebral circulation; nor does Dex ameliorate the clinical signs of Parkinson's disease, such as tremor, rigidity, and bradykinesia. The pharmacologic profile of Dex suggests that it may be an ideal sedative drug for DBS implantation [19]. General anesthesia (GA) is an option reserved for patients with severe disorders for whom awake surgery would compro-



Fig. 5.1 Single-unit recordings under two different anesthetics. Each tracing shows 1 s of data. Tracings recorded from the same patient during a bilateral DBS STN procedure (**a** and **b**). Tracings recorded during a GPi DBS in two different patients (**c** and **d**). **a** and **c** were recorded

using low-dose Dex (~0.1 μ g/kg/h); **b** and **d** were recorded using low-dose continuous infusions of propofol (<20 μ g/kg/min). The recordings with propofol are much less robust than the ones during Dex infusions

mise their safety. These include patients with dystonia and related disorders who are on multiple medications to prevent contractions and spasms. Another group of patients are those that may not be able to tolerate the procedure, have severe respiratory conditions, or bad tics (such as patients with Tourette syndrome) that preclude them from remaining relatively motionless.

After the DBS electrodes are inserted, sedation can be increased and the frame removed. Implantation of the pulse generator and internalization of electrodes can be performed either immediately or as second-stage surgery under GA. Patients should receive their usual antiparkinsonian medication as soon as possible after the procedure to avoid possible deterioration in neurologic function and respiratory muscle impairment.

There is limited information on the incidence of intraoperative anesthetic complications during these procedures. A review of intraoperative anesthetic-related complications in a series of 158 cases of deep brain ablation or stimulation under sedation with propofol or Dex [20] found that intraoperative events occurred in 6.96% of cases. These events included coughing, sneezing, aspiration, pulmonary edema, combative behavior and agitation/confusion, bronchospasm, angina, and intracranial hemorrhage. All of these have the potential of moving the electrodes and cannula in the brain and causing an intraparenchymal hemorrhage. Yet, with an anesthesiologist who understands the specific movement disorder of the patient, the surgical procedure, the need for quality, and who pays constant attention to the alertness of the patient, these effects can be minimized. In our experience, the only case of a complication was when the anesthesiologist was concentrating on the infusion numbers and not the patient.

The MER Procedure

Due to accuracy problems with direct CT or MRI targeting, visualization is generally only a first step in locating the target, whereas MER gives a much more detailed spatial and functional map. Several excellent descriptions of the MER technique exist [21–32]. Understanding the type of neuronal activity from regions immediately adjacent to the intended target is critical to the success of the procedure. Following are two case examples (one fairly typical and the other unusual and complex) illustrating the integration of diagnosis, technique, and anesthetic management. During a MER recording session, not only are recordings acquired from the target location but also from structures located above and below that location. These recordings from other structures are useful in helping to determine the correct sagittal, coronal, and axial positions of the target. At the time of the writing of this chapter, both patients are significantly improved and are still benefiting from the procedure. In addition to looking for spontaneous single cell firings, it is important to look for cells that respond to specific types of evoked activity given that the basal ganglia is composed of segments that are nonsensory motor. Finding cells that respond to voluntary patient movement and cells that respond to limb joint position (kinesthetic) are key in making sure the electrode will be placed in the sensory motor region of the specific target. Both voluntary and kinesthetic cells will either increase or decrease their firing rate during the activity and are only found in the sensory motor region of the specific nuclei. Voluntary testing is performed by asking the patient to move a particular body part while looking for changes in the firing pattern of the single unit under study. Kinesthetic testing is performed by moving an isolated joint and looking for changes in the single unit's firing rate.

Target Structures for the Case Examples

For movement disorders surgery, there are three common targets: (1) the ventral intermediate nucleus (VIM) of the thalamus, (2) the internal globus pallidum (GPi), and (3) the STN. Each of these targets is thought to best treat a specific symptom of a movement disorder of a specific disease, although research is still underway to prove these hypotheses. Two of the three cases that will be presented in this chapter involve placing DBS electrodes in the GPi and, for the other case, in the STN. These cases were chosen because they demonstrate the extremes of movement disorder surgery. VIM is the primary target for tremor-related diseases such as essential tremor and one can still use the lessons from the cases below in a VIM case because it is the patient that dictates the anesthetic intervention and not the disease. To get a better feel for the procedures, we have included a short description of what type of physiology is encountered to show what can be lost if the anesthetic technique is not appropriately applied.

Although the complete GPi may be visualized on an MRI, the functional target location in the GPi is in the posterior and ventral region of the nucleus [33–39]. As the microelectrode is lowered into the brain along its recording trajectory toward the target location, the firing patterns from three anatomical structures must be recognized to confirm optimal placement: the striatum, the external globus pallidum (GPe), and the internal GPi. Figure 5.2 shows the anatomy of the GPi and the surrounding structures. The recordings on the right show representative firing patterns from each area. These are the critical physiologic markers in differentiating the structures. During placement of the DBS electrode, proximity to certain structures must be avoided such as the optic tract and internal capsule, which can render the therapy useless.



PALLIDAL SUMMARY

Fig. 5.2 A sagittal image, \sim 21.5 mm from midline, through the GPi and associated anatomy. Traces to the *right* are representative firing patterns from each area.

Each trace represents single-unit activity as recorded from a representative cell in that structure [68]

After the microelectrode mapping is performed, micro- or macroelectrode stimulation is performed prior to permanent DBS placement to ensure that the electrode is at a safe distance from the internal capsule and the optic tract. If the patient is awake and alert, they can easily respond by indicating when they see *flashing lights* or experience muscle contractions. If the patient cannot respond, they cannot indicate when the optic tract is being activated or if they are having muscle tightness. In these cases, EMG recordings are used to indicate if muscles are being activated by either direct stimulation of the motor fibers in the internal capsule, which is an adverse effect, or the contractions are not a direct result of the stimulation but an indirect effect of stimulation at the appropriate location in the GPi. Thus, it is critical that no muscle relaxant be used.

The functional target in the STN is in the middle of the structure between 10.5 and 13.0 mm lateral from midline [28, 32, 40–42]. Once again, as the microelectrode is slowly lowered toward its target location, the neuronal firing patterns from three anatomical structures must be recognized to confirm optimal placement: the thalamus, the STN, and the substantia nigra pars reticulata (SNr). Figure 5.3 shows the anatomy of the STN and the surrounding structures. The waves on the right show representative firing patterns from each area, which are the critical physiologic markers in differentiating the structures. If the DBS electrode is placed too medial and posterior within the STN, it can activate the sensory thalamus and/or medial lemniscus; if it is placed too lateral and anterior, it can adversely affect the internal capsule and render the therapy useless.

Cases and Disorders

Case 1: Noncomplex (PD-STN): A 60-year-old male with a 10-year history of PD, well controlled on Sinemet until age 59.

Clinical symptoms of PD began on the patient's right side starting with tremors in the upper extremity and rigidity in both the upper and lower extremities. As the disease progressed, symptoms became as problematic on the left side and started to affect the patient's ability to ambulate. One year prior to surgery, levodopa-induced dyskinesias began in the head and face, followed by a progressive difficulty swallowing. At the time of the surgery, the patient was on Stalevo (a mixture of carbidopa, levodopa, and entacapone) 37/5/150/200 q.i.d.,

STN SUMMARY



Fig. 5.3 A sagittal image, ~ 12.5 mm from midline, through the STN and associated anatomy. Traces to the *right* are representative firing patterns from each area.

Each trace represents single-unit activity as recorded from a representative cell in that structure. For the SNr, the recording is from multiple units [68]

Requip 4 mg t.i.d., Amantadine 100 mg t.i.d., and Neurontin,300 mg t.i.d. Due to the medicationinduced symptom of dyskinesia and the minimal amount of benefit, surgical implantation of a DBS electrode in the STN was then planned.

Parkinson's Disease

PD is a slowly progressive degenerative disorder of the BG. Nerve cells in SNc produce dopamine, which is transported to the input of the BG (striatum). In PD, for reasons not yet understood, the dopamine-producing nerve cells of the substantia nigra die off. The clinical signs of tremor, bradykinesia, and rigidity do not fully become apparent until significant dopaminergic neuronal cells are lost [43–45]. Medications are the first line of treatment to alleviate symptoms of PD, yet in many patients who have been responding to medications, their symptoms usually begin to gradually worsen with time. As they become more pronounced, patients may start to have difficulty walking, talking, or completing other simple tasks. Surgery should be considered when the patient develops moderate to severe motor fluctuation,

medication-induced dyskinesia, medication refractory tremor, or intolerance to medication. Levodopa-sensitive symptoms may be more likely to respond to surgery [46], although in our experience, surgery in the STN and the GPi for PD has demonstrated a benefit to dopa-induced symptoms [41, 42]. Continued refinement of the knowledge of BG circuitry and PD pathophysiology has narrowed the focus of movement disorder surgery to three nuclei: (1) the thalamus, (2) GPi, and (3) the STN. The STN is the preferred surgical target for DBS electrode placement in PD [41, 47-50]. Serious complications such as hemorrhagic bleeding associated with STN-DBS electrode placement is relatively uncommon [51]. Hypertension must be treated prior to surgery because of the risk of hemorrhage [52, 53]. PD patients commonly suffer from orthostatic hypotension, contributed to by the use of levodopa and dopamine agonists, as well as other autonomic disturbances [54–56]. Respiratory dysfunction is well known in PD [55]. This includes an obstructive ventilation pattern, dysfunction of upper airway musculature, rigidity, bradykinesia, and dystonia of respiratory muscles [57]. These problems are exacerbated by withdrawal from antiparkinsonian medications.

Procedure and Decisions

The patient arrived at the hospital on the morning of surgery "off" of all PD medications from 7:00 p.m. of the night before. During frame placement, propofol was given in 20 mg boluses for sedation and monitored by the anesthesiologist. A foley catheter was also placed while the patient was sedated. The patient was then taken to the CT scanner (an MRI was performed at an earlier visit) with propofol given as needed to keep the patient relaxed. After the CT, the patient was brought to the OR, transferred to the bed and positioned with the frame also locked to the bed. It is important that the patient feel comfortable with both their ability to breath as well as with the position of their neck and back because they will be locked in that position for the duration of the surgical procedure, which can be several hours. When the patient is comfortable, either a propofol infusion or bolus doses are given until the dura is opened. Once the dura is incised (about 10–15 min before the MER is to start), the propofol is stopped to allow the patient to be awake for testing. Recording tracts in this patient included one on the left side and three on the right side. This difference in the number of recording tracts can be caused by potential asymmetries in anatomy, effects of nonlinear errors in imaging, or brain shift during the procedure. It is hard to pinpoint the exact reason, but in about 15% of our cases we find this discrepancy. Each move requires the surgeon to remove the recording system and electrode from the head and place a new tract in the brain. Any time an electrode or cannula is placed in the brain, the chance for hemorrhage increases. Thus, it is critical to keep the BP below 150 mmHg systolic. On the left side, 4.9 mm of STN were encountered with four kinesthetic cells. On the right side, the first tract had 4.6 mm of questionable STN and no kinesthetic cells. The second tract had 5.7 mm of STN with three kinesthetic cells, and the third tract had 1.3 mm of STN with no kinesthetic cells. At the start of the second tract on the right side, the systolic BP increased above 150-165 mmHg. Recordings were halted and 10 mg of labetolol

were given until the systolic BP dropped to 135 mmHg. Subsequent stimulation and recording required no changes or additions to the anesthesia. All of our PD patients have nasal cannula O_2 administered throughout the procedure and SpO_2 monitoring.

The DBS electrode was placed in the first recording tract on the left side and the second recording tract on the right side. These placements were chosen due to the number of kinesthetic cells and length of STN encountered. Once the DBS electrodes were placed, they were tested with an externalized stimulator (Medtronic Dual 7240 stimulator, Minneapolis, MN). Testing is performed in a sequential bipolar fashion (-0,+1): -1,+2;-2,+3) using a pulse width of 60 µs and a frequency of 180 Hz. Voltage is slowly raised to 4 V. For this patient, no continuous adverse effects were noted with stimulation up to 4 V. There were some transient sensory paresthesias in the arm that lasted for about 5-15 s. Transient adverse effects are acceptable since the device is never supposed to be turned off. We were able to get improvements in bradykinesia and rigidity at the -1,+2 for the left side and both -0,+1 and -1,+2on the right side. Postoperatively the patient was improved by 72 % based on the unified Parkinson's disease rating scale part III (a common motor classification system for PD patients).

Case 2: Complex: A 14-year-old boy with methylmalonic acidemia (MMA) was diagnosed at age 3 months. His condition was well controlled and in good health until acquiring H1N1, when he subsequently developed pancreatitis, sepsis, and in turn bilateral BG strokes.

As a consequence of the strokes, he developed spastic quadriparesis for which a baclofen pump (a common treatment for spasticity) was placed without benefit. He was admitted for worsening dystonia, and resistance to multiple medical therapies. Due to the severity and worsening dystonia, including fixed posturing and dynamic spasms, it was decided to move forward with bilateral GPi stimulation. During the time between the baclofen trial and the decision to move forward with DBS electrode implantation, the patient's respiratory status deteriorated somewhat as well.

Dystonia

Dystonia refers to a syndrome of involuntary sustained or spasmodic muscle contractions involving cocontraction of the agonist and the antagonist muscles [58-60]. The movements are usually slow and sustained, and they often occur in a repetitive and patterned manner. However, they can be unpredictable and fluctuate. The frequent abnormal posturing and twisting can be painful and functionally disabling. Regardless of the causes, the dystonic contractions can have a chronic course and can lead to severe persistent pain and disability. Because each type of dystonia is treated in a different manner, the distinction between the various types is therapeutically important [61–66]. On the basis of its clinical distribution, dystonia is classified as focal dystonia, segmental dystonia, multifocal dystonia, generalized dystonia, and hemidystonia.

Systemic medications benefit about one-third of patients and consist of a wide variety of options, including cholinergics, benzodiazepines, antiparkinsonism drugs, anticonvulsants, baclofen pump, carbamazepine, and lithium [67]. Many patients with dystonia realize an inadequate response to those treatments [68]. For such patients whose symptoms are sufficiently troublesome, surgical treatment can be used to reduce symptoms and improve function. For dystonia, stimulation is primarily directed at the GPi, which has been the most thoroughly studied stimulation site to date.

Procedure and Decisions

This particular case was one of the most complex of all that we have experienced for DBS electrode implantation. The patient was extremely tenuous metabolically due to the MMA and required anesthesia for the procedure due to excessive movement. The anesthetics themselves can cause not only poor recordings but also adverse metabolic effects. In this case, the surgeon, neurophysiologist, anesthesiologist, critical care physicians, neurologists, and social

workers all met to plan the pre-, intra-, and postsurgical management of the patient. Each group discussed their particular needs for the case and the effects each would have on the patient. As discussed previously, the most common issue facing the anesthesiologist in most DBS cases is BP control. A plan was made to use Dex initially and if that proved unacceptable, then propofol would be used if the patient could tolerate it. Due to the underlying metabolic issues, it was questioned whether a controlled amount of Dex could be given to allow for patient comfort and also the ability to record. Also, one of the main problems with Dex is the potential for causing hypotension in a patient. This is not a major issue in PD patients, where this effect is usually helpful, but in children, it needs to be a consideration. Three days prior to the procedure, the plan was to try and wean the patient off of some medications, including high doses of benzodiazepines, which proved unsuccessful.

On the morning of surgery the patient was taken directly to the CT scanner and intubated. Anesthesia included 3 mg of midazolam, 10 mg of etomidate initially followed by another 5 mg, 12 mg of cisatracurium, and 100 µg of fentanyl. The patient was maintained on sevoflurane (1.5%) for the placement of the frame, and also while they were in the CT area. Prior to moving the patient to the CT area, Dex was started at 0.7 μ g/kg/h with remifentanil at 0.1 μ g/kg/min. Five minutes after this the sevoflurane was stopped. This infusion continued up to the creation of the first burr hole in the operating room. At this point the Dex was reduced to $0.1 \,\mu g/kg/h$ and the remifentanil was stopped. The purpose of reducing the Dex at this time was to allow about 10-15 min to slightly awaken the patient for the recordings. Once the burr hole was created and the dura incised, the BP was confirmed to be 127/77 and the initial cannuli were inserted into the brain, followed by the microelectrode. At this point (with the patient still intubated yet alert and able to follow simple commands) the patient exhibited no spasms and even had his eyes open. Once the electrode entered the brain, "burster" cells were recorded indicating: (a) that the tip
was in the GPe, and (b) that the sedation level (Dex at 0.1 µg/kg/h) permitted the ability to record single units while still preventing excessive movements. Recordings continued, moving through GPe, through the laminae separating the two structures and into GPi. Because the firing rates of the GPe and the GPi are similar, the ability to record kinesthetic cells is critical to distinguish between the two. Keeping all anesthetics constant, kinesthetic testing was done on all cells encountered. Eight distinct single units were located on the first side with kinesthetic activity noted on three of them. Recording was stopped near the base of the GPi due to an increase in BP to 168/120 mmHg, which was most likely due to a continued wearing off of the Dex and the patient becoming more alert to his surroundings. Advancing of the electrode stopped and two 6-mg doses of hydralazine and a 1.5-µg/kg/min infusion of sodium nitroprusside was needed to bring the pressure down. The pressure eventually stabilized to 114/50 mmHg. The Dex was increased to 1 μ g/kg/h and the remifertanil was increased to 0.1 µg/kg/min. Upon exiting GPi, a border cell was noted and then the optic tract 2 mm below. Because it was impossible for the patient to describe muscle activity to the team during macrostimulation (stimulation testing through the permanent DBS lead after it is placed to assure there are no significant adverse events), we used EMG recordings to assess muscle activation. No direct driving activity was noted at 5 Hz, while a minor thumb contraction was noted at 130 Hz and 7.0 V. 5 Hz is used because it is the lowest output of the test stimulator and will give muscle contractions that follow the stimulus train. If this occurs, the muscle activity is related to direct activation of the internal capsule and demonstrates that the electrode is too medial and posterior. If no muscle activity is noted, then the contracture noted previously is most likely due to stimulation of the GPi. In our experience, this has been shown to be a positive indicator of electrode placement, as is a contraction of the nasal labial fold, when stimulation is above 5.0 V. With this information the electrode was then placed. The Dex was then increased to 1.4 μ g/kg/h and the

remifentanil was adjusted to 0.07 µg/kg/min for the closure of the first burr hole and the creation of the second burr hole. Once the second burr hole was created, the Dex was reduced to 0.7 μ g/ kg/h and the remifentanil was stopped. Nitroprusside was continued at 0.5 µg/kg/min. No further changes in anesthetic were needed during the recording or stimulation on this side. The patient was able to open his eyes during the procedure. On this second side, 12 distinct GPi cells were recorded, and a small area of the internal laminae that separates the external and internal segments of the internal GPi was detected. Kinesthetic activity was noted on five of those 12 cells. The optic tract was also noted about 1.7 mm from the base of the GPi. Stimulation testing, similar to the first side, was performed with no adverse events. At this point, sevoflurane was added at 0.7% for the remainder of the procedure, which included the implantation and tunneling of the connecting wires and IPG.

Case 3: Complex: A 29-year-old male with mild cerebral palsy and severe status dystonicus, which developed after a surgical lysis of omental adhesions and a partial omentectomy.

There were no complications during the omentectomy yet upon awakening from surgery, the patient presented with intractable spasms and jerky movements, which were thought to be related to the opiate (fentanyl) or the scopolamine the patient received during the procedure. The patient had a similar reaction after an earlier surgery. At this time the patient was placed on Ativan (2 mg IV) and Benadryl (50 IV every 6 h) with no change over the next couple of days. At this time a diagnosis of myoclonic dystonia was made. Due to the excessive and painful dystonia and dystonic posturing, the patient was intubated and placed on a propofol drip $(95 \text{ mg/h} [25.13 \mu\text{g/kg/min}]; \text{ the patient weighed})$ 63.1 kg), valproic acid (250 mg t.i.d.) and put back on Ativan and Benadryl on postoperative day 5. Attempts were made to reduce both the propofol (40 mg/h (10.57 µg/kg/min)) and Ativan to levels to that which the patient could communicate; yet the painful dystonic cramping would return. At 4 weeks postsurgery, Dex was

started and the propofol was decreased with the hope of reducing the spastic movements. At this point, the patient was extubated but continued to have the spastic movements, which eventually led to reintubation, being placed back on a propofol drip (95 mg/h), and started on tetrabenazine (50 mg IV q.6 h). The patient was transferred to our institution for GPi DBS to treat the status dystonicus [69].

Status Dystonicus

Status dystonicus (SD) was first recognized by Jankovic and Penn in 1982 and had been defined as "increasingly frequent and severe episodes of generalized dystonia and rigidity, which may be refractory to standard drug therapy" [70]. This condition had been labeled as "status dystonicus" or "dystonic storm." The condition is quite rare, with less than 40 episodes reported in the literature [71]. Patients with SD usually develop lifethreatening complications such as bulbar weakness, compromising upper airway patency with the risk of pulmonary aspiration, progressive impairment of respiratory function leading to the development of respiratory compromise, exhaustion and pain and metabolic derangements.

Several drugs and surgical procedures have been tried for SD with no consistent outcome. Orally active medications have been tried [72], once again with no consistent outcome, and in many cases the current literature favors using intravenous agents for deep sedation [73]. Patients with SD often develop metabolic complications such as rhabdomyolysis, which can lead to renal failure, and bulbar and respiratory complications, which require tracheal intubation. Other complications often seen include hyperpyrexia, muscle exhaustion, pain, and dehydration. For all the above reasons, patients need to be treated in the intensive care unit (ICU) setting. Patients commonly require deep sedation under muscle paralysis and assisted ventilation [71]. Intravenous infusion of midazolam and propofol may be used in the management of SD. Second-line strategies, especially in those with progressive disorders, involve deep brain stimulation surgery.

Procedure and Decisions

Given the lack of a "best medical therapy" benefit, bilateral GPi DBS surgery was performed 2 months after the onset of the intractable spasms and jerky movements, which led to an improvement in symptoms. During the procedure, three MER tracts were performed (two on the right side and one on the left side). An average of 3.3 GPi cells were recorded per stereotactic pass. This is somewhat less than the normal 10+ cells that we find in the GPi in PD and a DBS dystonia patient. The average GPi firing rate of this patient was also significantly less: 34.3 +/-16.5 Hz as compared to PD patients, which are in the range of 60-80 Hz. While for GPe, in this patient, it was 44.5 ± -16.6 Hz, which is lower than found in PD, yet not as significant as was found in the GPi firing rate. Figure 5.4a shows the spike activity in both the GPe and the GPi of this patient at different propofol concentration levels. This reduced activity is similar to what is observed during surgery in patients for dystonia when on propofol as compared with no propofol (Fig. 5.4b). The change in firing rate appears to be related to the level of propofol, as seen in Fig. 5.4a. It is interesting to note that given the continuous propofol infusions over 2 months prior to surgery, the intraoperative dose needed to be much higher for sedation when compared to other patients undergoing a variety of surgical procedures, and even at these high propofol concentrations the patient was still interacting in a meaningful way. Even with the ability of the patient to interact with the surgical team, there was still a reduction in basal ganglia activity (as measured by the GPi firing rate), which clinically manifests as a reduction in abnormal movements. In a review article, Wilson et al. [74] found multiple instances of patients demonstrating a propofol tolerance with continuous infusion, thus requiring greater and greater doses for sedation and reduction of pain over time. Propofol directly activates GABA_A receptors, which have the effect of reducing the overall activity in the BG due to the receptors' inhibitory nature. Additionally, propofol has been shown to affect other neuotranmitters and neuromodulators, specifically cannabinoid receptors, which are thought to be sedative sites of action of anesthetics [75]. The variation in accommoda-



1 Second

Fig. 5.4 Single-unit recordings from both the GPe and GPi during different infusion concentrations of propofol in a patient with status dystonicus (**a**). Single-unit record-

tion between these two receptors may account for the clinical differences (communication versus BG activity reduction) noted in this patient.

Conclusion

As in most other areas of intraoperative neurophysiology, the trade-offs between anesthetics and the collection of neurophysiology data are a chalings from the GPi in a patient with dystonia during a propofol infusion and with no infusion (**b**)

lenge. One advantage in most movement disorder procedures is that very little sedative or global pain medication is needed, but because of the highly sensitive nature of the tissue, BP control is critical as is O_2 saturation. Finally, due to the diversity of movement disorders, there may be times where sedative anesthesia or even GA is needed, and the procedures can only be performed by a close collaboration between the surgeon, the anesthesiologist, and the neurophysiologist.

References¹

- Umemura A, Jaggi JL, Hurtig HI, Siderowf AD, Colcher A, Stern MB, Baltuch GH. Deep brain stimulation for movement disorders: morbidity and mortality in 109 patients. J Neurosurg. 2003;98:779–84.
- Apetauerova D, Schirmer CM, Shils JL, Zani J, Arle JE. Successful bilateral deep brain stimulation of the globus pallidus internus for persistent status dystonicus and generalized chorea. J Neurosurg. 2010;113:634–8.
- Venkatraghavan L, Luciano M, Manninen P. Anesthetic management of patients undergoing deep brain stimulator insertion. Anesth Analg. 2010;110:1138–45.
- 4. Coenen VA, Gielen FLH, Castro-Prado F, Abdel Rahman A, Honey CR. Noradrenergic modulation of subthalamic nucleus activity in human: metoprolol reduces spiking activity in microelectrode recordings during deep brain stimulation surgery for Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2008;150:757–62.
- Ruskin DN, Bergstrom DA, Kaneoke Y, Patel BN, Twery MJ, Walters JR. Multisecond oscillations in firing rate in the basal ganglia: robust modulation by dopamine receptor activation and anesthesia. J Neurophysiol. 1999;81:2046–55.
- Hutchison WD, Lozano AM. Microelectrode recordings in movement disorder surgery. In: Lozano AM, editor. Movement disorders surgery. Basel: Karger; 2000. p. 103–17.
- Bohmdorfer W, Schwarzinger P, Binder S, Sporn P. Temporary suppression of tremor by remifentanil in a patient with Parkinson's disease during cataract extraction under local anesthesia [article in German]. Anaesthesist. 2003;52:795–7.
- Burton DA, Nicholson G, Hall GM. Anaesthesia in elderly patients with neurodegenerative disorders: special considerations. Drugs Aging. 2004;21:229–42.
- Krauss JK, Akeyson EW, Giam P, Jankovic J. Propofol-induced dyskinesias in Parkinson's disease. Anesth Analg. 1996;83:420–2.
- Sanghera MK, Grossman RG, Kalhorn CG, Hamilton WJ, Ondo WG, Jankovic J, et al. Basal ganglia neuronal discharge in primary and secondary dystonia in patients undergoing pallidotomy. Neurosurgery. 2003;52:1358–73.
- Ard J, Doyle W, Bekker A. Awake craniotomy with dexmedetomidine in pediatric patients. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2003;15:263–6.
- Bekker AY, Kaufman B, Samir H, Doyle W. The use of dexmedetomidine infusion for awake craniotomy. Anesth Analg. 2001;92:1251–3.
- Berridge CW, Waterhouse BD. The locus coeruleusnoradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 2003;42:33–84.
- Almeida AN, Tavares C, Tibano A, Sasaki S, Murata KN, Marino Jr R. Dexmedetomidine for awake cra-

niotomy without laryngeal mask. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 2005;63:748–50.

- Mack PF, Perrine K, Kobylarz E, Schwartz TH, Lien CA. Dexmedetomidine and neurocognitive testing in awake craniotomy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2004;16:20–5.
- Souter MJ, Rozet I, Ojemann JG, Souter KJ, Holmes MD, Lee L, Lam AM. Dexmedetomidine sedation during awake craniotomy for seizure resection: effects on electrocorticography. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2007;19:38–44.
- Rozet I, Muangman S, Vavilala MS, Lee LA, Souter MJ, Domino KJ, et al. Clinical experience with dexmedetomidine for implantation of deep brain stimulators in Parkinson's disease. Anesth Analg. 2006;103:1224–8.
- Uyar AS, Yagmurdur H, Fidan Y, Topkaya C, Basar H. Dexmedetomidine attenuates the hemodynamic and neuroendocrinal responses to skull-pin headholder application during craniotomy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2008;20:174–9.
- Rozet I. Anesthesia for functional neurosurgery: the role of dexmedetomidine. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2008;21:537–43.
- *Khatib R, Ebrahim Z, Rezai A. Anesthetic complications during deep brain stimulation. Anesthesiology. 2004;101:A379.
- 21. Vitek JL, Bakay RA, Hashimoto T, Kaneoke Y, Mewes K, Zhang JY, et al. Microelectrode-guided pallidotomy: technical approach and its application in medically intractable Parkinson's disease. J Neurosurg. 1998;88:1027–43.
- Bertrand C, Poirier L, Martinez N, Gauthier C. Pneumotaxic localization, recording, stimulation, and section of basal brain structures in dyskinesia. Neurology. 1958;8:783–6.
- Bertrand G, Jasper H, Wong A. Microelectrode study of the human thalamus: functional organization in the ventro-basal complex. Confin Neurol. 1967;29:81–6.
- Albe-Fessard D, Arfel G, Guiot G, Derome P, Hertzog E, Vourc'h G, et al. Electrophysiological studies of some deep cerebral structures in man. J Neurol Sci. 1966;3:37–51.
- Albe-Fessard D. Electrophysiological methods for the identification of thalamic nuclei. Z Neurol. 1973;205:15–28.
- Sterio D, Berić A, Dogali M, Fazzini E, Alfaro G, Devinsky O. Neurophysiological properties of pallidal neurons in Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol. 1994;35:586–91.
- Alterman RL, Sterio D, Beric A, Kelly PJ. Microelectrode recording during posteroventral pallidotomy: impact on target selection and complications. Neurosurgery. 1999;44:315–21.
- *HutchisonWD,AllanRJ,OpitzH,LevyR,Dostrovsky JO, Lang AE, Lozano AM. Neurophysiological identification of the subthalamic nucleus in surgery for Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol. 1998;44:622–8.
- Forster A, Eljamel MS, Varma TR, Tulley M, Latimer M. Audit of neurophysiological recording dur-

¹Asterisks indicate key references.

ing movement disorder surgery. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 1999;72:154-6.

- *Zonenshayn M, Rezai AR, Mogilner AY, Beric A, Sterio D, Kelly PJ. Comparison of anatomic and neurophysiological methods for subthalamic nucleus targeting. Neurosurgery. 2000;47:282–92.
- Hardy J. Electrophysiological localization and identification. J Neurosurg. 1966;24:410–4.
- Lozano A, Hutchison W, Kiss Z, Tasker R, Davis K, Dostrovsky J. Methods for microelectrodeguided posteroventral pallidotomy. J Neurosurg. 1996;84:194–202.
- Bakay RA, DeLong MR, Vitek JL. Posteroventral pallidotomy for Parkinson's disease. J Neurosurg. 1992;77:487–8.
- 34. Baron MS, Vitek JL, Bakay RA, Green J, Kaneoke Y, Hashimoto T, et al. Treatment of advanced Parkinson's disease by posterior GPi pallidotomy: 1-year results of a pilot study. Ann Neurol. 1996;40:355–66.
- Sutton JP, Couldwell W, Lew MF, Mallory L, Grafton S, DeGiorgio C, et al. Ventroposterior medial pallidotomy in patients with advanced Parkinson's disease. Neurosurgery. 1995;36(6):1112–6.
- Lang AE, Lozano AM, Montgomery E, Duff J, Tasker R, Hutchinson W. Posteroventral medial pallidotomy in advanced Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med. 1997;337:1036–42.
- Iacono RP, Shima F, Lonser RR, Kuniyoshi S, Maeda G, Yamada S. The results, indications, and physiology of posteroventral pallidotomy for patients with Parkinson's disease. Neurosurgery. 1995;36:1118–25.
- Laitinen LV, Bergenheim AT, Hariz MI. Ventroposterolateral pallidotomy can abolish all parkinsonian symptoms. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 1992;58:14–21.
- Laitinen LV. Ventroposterolateral pallidotomy. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 1994;62:41–52.
- Vitek JL. Deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease. A critical re-evaluation of STN versus GPi DBS. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2002;78:119–31.
- Moreau C, Defebvre L, Destee A, Bleuse S, Clement F, Blatt JL, et al. STN-DBS frequency effects on freezing of gait in advanced Parkinson disease. Neurology. 2008;71:80–4.
- Brozova H, Barnaure I, Alterman RL, Tagliati M. STN-DBS frequency effects on freezing of gait in advanced Parkinson disease. Neurology. 2009;72(8):770.
- Brotchie J, Fitzer-Attas C. Mechanisms compensating for dopamine loss in early Parkinson disease. Neurology. 2009;72(7 Suppl):S32–8.
- 44. Chesselet MF. Dopamine and Parkinson's disease: is the killer in the house? Mol Psychiatry. 2003;8:369–70.
- Ekesbo A, Rydin E, Torstenson R, Sydow O, Låengström B, Tedroff J. Dopamine autoreceptor function is lost in advanced Parkinson's disease. Neurology. 1999;52:120–5.
- Welter ML, Houeto JL, Tezenas du Montcel S, Mesnage V, Bonnet AM, Pillon B, Arnulf I, et al.

Clinical predictive factors of subthalamic stimulation in Parkinson's disease. Brain. 2002;125:575–83.

- Benabid AL, Benazzouz A, Hoffmann D, Limousin P, Krack P, Pollak P. Long-term electrical inhibition of deep brain targets in movement disorders. Mov Disord. 1998;13 Suppl 3:119–25.
- 48. Vesper J, Chabardes S, Fraix V, Sunde N, Østergaard K, Kinetra Study Group. Dual channel deep brain stimulation system (Kinetra[™]) for Parkinson's disease and essential tremor: a prospective multicenter open label clinical study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2002;73:275–80.
- Anderson VC, Burchiel KJ, Hogarth P, Favre J, Hammerstad JP. Pallidal vs subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation in Parkinson disease. Arch Neurol. 2005;62:554–60.
- Volkmann J, Allert N, Voges J, Weiss PH, Freund HJ, Sturm V. Safety and efficacy of pallidal or subthalamic nucleus stimulation in advanced PD. Neurology. 2001;56:548–51.
- Blomstedt P, Hariz MI. Are complications less common in deep brain stimulation than in ablative procedures for movement disorders? Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2006;84(2–3):72–81.
- Alkhani A, Lozano AM. Pallidotomy for Parkinson disease: a review of contemporary literature. J Neurosurg. 2001;94:43–9.
- Beric A, Kelly PJ, Rezai A, Sterio D, Mogilner A, Zonenshayn M, Kopell B. Complications of deep brain stimulation surgery. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2001;77(1–4):73–8.
- Mason LJ, Cojocaru TT, Cole DJ. Surgical intervention and anesthetic management of the patient with Parkinson's disease. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 1996;34:133–50.
- Nicholson G, Pereira AC, Hall GM. Parkinson's disease and anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2002;89:904–16.
- Gross M, Bannister R, Godwin-Austen R. Orthostatic hypotension in Parkinson's disease. Lancet. 1972;1(7743):174–6.
- Vincken WG, Gauthier SG, Dollfuss RE, Hanson RE, Darauay CM, Cosio MG. Involvement of upperairway muscles in extrapyramidal disorders. A cause of airflow limitation. N Engl J Med. 1984;311:438–42.
- Lee KH. Oromandibular dystonia. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2007;104:491–6.
- Farmer SF, Sheean GL, Mayston MJ, Rothwell JC, Marsden CD, Conway BA, et al. Abnormal motor unit synchronization of antagonist muscles underlies pathological co-contraction in upper limb dystonia. Brain. 1998;121(Pt 5):801–14.
- Gracies J-M, Simpson DM. Spastic dystonia. In: Brin MF, Comella C, Jankovic J, editors. Dystonia etiology, clinical features, and treatment. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2004. p. 195–212.
- Zhang JG, Zhang K, Wang ZC, Ge M, Ma Y. Deep brain stimulation in the treatment of secondary dystonia. Chin Med J (Engl). 2006;119:2069–74.
- Katsakiori PF, Kefalopoulou Z, Markaki E, Paschali A, Ellul J, Kagadis GC, et al. Deep brain stimulation

for secondary dystonia: results in 8 patients. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2009;151:473–8.

- 63. Sani S, Ostrem JL, Shimamoto S, Levesque N, Starr PA. Single unit "pauser" characteristics of the globus pallidus pars externa distinguish primary dystonia from secondary dystonia and Parkinson's disease. Exp Neurol. 2009;216:295–9.
- Woehrle JC, Blahak C, Kekelia K, Capelle HH, Baezner H, Grips E, et al. Chronic deep brain stimulation for segmental dystonia. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2009;87:379–84.
- 65. Schneider SA, Klein C. PINK1 type of youngonset Parkinson disease. In: Pagon RA, Bird TC, Dolan CR, Stephens K, editors. GeneReviews [Internet]. Seattle: University of Washington; 2010. p. 1993–2010.
- 66. Raymond D, Bressman SB. Early-onset primary dystonia (DYT1). In: Pagon RA, Bird TC, Dolan CR, Stephens K, editors. GeneReviews [Internet]. Seattle: University of Washington; 2010. p. 1993–9.
- 67. Albanese A, Barnes MP, Bhatia KP, Fernandez-Alvarez E, Filippini G, Gasser T, et al. A systematic review on the diagnosis and treatment of primary (idiopathic) dystonia and dystonia plus syndromes: report of an EFNS/MDS-ES Task Force. Eur J Neurol. 2006;13:433–44.
- 68. Shils JL, Tagliati M, Alterman RL. Neurophysiological monitoring during neurosurgery for movement disor-

ders. In: Deletis V, Shils JL, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery: a modern intraoperative approach. New York: Elsevier, 2002. p. 405–48.

- 69. Apetauerova D, Schirmer CM, Shils JL, Zani J, Arle JE. Successful bilateral deep brain stimulation of the globus pallidus for persistent status dystonicus and generalized chorea. J Neurosurg. 2010;113:634–8.
- Manji H, Howard RS, Miller DH, Hirsch NP, Carr L, Bhatia K, et al. Status dystonicus: the syndrome and its management. Brain. 1998;121:243–52.
- Mariotti P, Fasano A, Contarino MF, Della Marca G, Piastra M, Genovese O, et al. Management of status dystonicus: our experience and review of the literature. Mov Disord. 2007;22:963–8.
- Teive HA, Munhoz RP, Souza MM, Anoniuk SA, Santos ML, Teixeira MJ, et al. Status dystonicus: study of five cases. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 2005;63:26–9.
- Vaamonde J, Narbona J, Weiser R, Garcia MA, Branna T, Obeso JA. Dystonic storms: a practical management problem. Clin Neuropharmacol. 1994;17:334–47.
- Wilson C, Cannin P, Caravati M. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2010;48:165–70.
- 75. Patel S, Wohlfeil ER, Radmacher DJ, Carrier EJ, Perry LJ, Kundu A, et al. The general anesthetic Propofol increases brain N-arachidonylethanolamine (anandamide) content and inhibits fatty acid amide hydrolase. Br J Pharmacol. 2003;139:1005–13.

Monitoring of Spinal Cord Functions

6

Sumihisa Aida, Tatsuro Kohno, and Koki Shimoji

Key Learning Points

- The methods to record the spinal cord potentials
- Segmental nerve stimulation
- Transcranial electric or magnetic stimulation
- Spinal cord stimulation
- Heterosegmental nerve stimulation
- The techniques to introduce the catheter electrodes into the epidural space
- To identify the components of segmental spinal cord potentials—initial spikes, negative waves, slow positive waves
- Conducting (conductive) spinal cord potentials
- Heterosegmental spinal cord potentials—slow positive waves

T. Kohno, M.D., Ph.D. Division of Anesthesiology, Niigata University Graduate School of Medical and Dental Sciences, 1-757 Asahi-machi, Niigata, Japan e-mail: kohno-t@umin.net

K. Shimoji, M.D., Ph.D. Niigata University Graduate School of Medicine, Niigata, Japan

Standard Medical Information Center, NPO, Pain Control Institute, Inc., 45-304, Yarai-cho, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: koki-shimoji@nifty.com

Introduction

Spinal and cardiovascular surgeries impart mechanical [1] or ischemic [2] stress to the spinal cord. To prevent spinal cord injury due to such surgical stresses, the intraoperative monitoring of spinal cord function is important. Until the 1960s, there were no available methods of spinal cord function monitoring. In the late 1960s, a novel tool for monitoring spinal cord function became available; it recorded somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) from the scalp. In this technique, the electrical potentials evoked by peripheral nerve stimulation are recorded on an electroencephalogram (EEG). The short-latency component of SEPs may indicate cervical spinal cord function in waveforms (latencies and amplitudes) [3].

Since their introduction, SEPs have been used in clinical monitoring, diagnosis and investigations, as well as in animal experiments [4]. In the 1980s, SSEPs were also adopted for the monitoring of spinal cord function during spinal [5] or cardiovascular [6] surgery. The recording of small electrical changes, such as SSEPs, requires the close attachment of electrodes to spinal cord tissues. Commonly, electrodes are placed on the scalp close to the sensory cortex. These potentials recorded from the scalp or even the cervical skin surface may not reflect the spinal cord function because they interact with brainstem potentials

S. Aida, M.D., Ph.D. (⊠) Geriatric Health Service Facility, Izumi, 5-35-2 Nishiarai, Adachi-ku, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: aida.sum@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 A. Koht et al. (eds.), *Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_6

or far-field potentials. Thus, segmental or regional electric changes in the spinal cord cannot be recorded from the body surface, because the spinal cord is situated deep in the body, and its activities are obscured by other electrical activities such as electroencephalogram (EEG), electromyogram (EMG), and electrocardiogram (ECG) [7].

During the same time, another novel technique of recording SCPs directly from the spinal cord by inserting electrodes into the dorsal epidural space was developed by Shimoji et al. [8]. A catheter electrode was placed percutaneously in the same manner as for a continuous epidural block. From the epidural electrodes, spinal cord field potentials were recorded [9]. In addition, the spinal cord was stimulated electrically using the same epidural electrodes utilized for pain management (spinal cord stimulation [SCS]) [10, 11].

Intrathecal electrodes were utilized by Magladery et al. [12] initially, but the risks associated with electrode insertion raised great concern. As a result, intrathecal electrodes were not used clinically except in those cases in which surgical manipulations were carried out directly on the cord [13]. With the idea that epidural recording can minimize the risks compared with those of intrathecal recording, Shimoji et al. [9, 14] further developed techniques to exclude contamination by ECG activity when recording evoked SCPs (discussed later). Following these developments, recording and stimulation with epidural electrodes have been used in routine clinical monitoring, therapeutics, and investigations, as well as in animal experiments at various institutes [15].

The acquisition of SSEPs requires a somewhat lengthy period of time from a few to several minutes, because the repetitive recording (50– 200 times) of waveforms is needed for amplification by computed averaging [3–6]. Both SSEP and SCP recordings are easily interfered with by the noise from electrocoagulation or other electrical sources of noise during surgery. SSEPs are cerebral electrical changes evoked by sensory nerve stimulation, and evoked SCPs are spinal electrical changes evoked by sensory nerve or spinal cord stimulation (SCP). Therefore, it is advantageous to acquire simultaneous records of both electrical activities (SSEPs and SCPs) when monitoring spinal cord function, particularly when surgical manipulations involve the sensory spinal tracts (see Appendix).

Thoracic and lumbar aortic occlusion has frequently been demonstrated to result in ischemia of the ventral two-thirds of the spinal cord [16]. As such, there was also a great demand from surgeons and anesthesiologists for the monitoring of spinal motor function. In the late 1990s, transcranial motor-evoked potentials (tc-MEPs) were utilized to monitor spinal motor function. Using this monitoring technique, impulses generated by transcranial stimulation of giant pyramidal cells descend the pyramidal tract to the spinal motoneurons, producing skeletal muscle contractions. In this way, the stimulation technique and the recording of tc-MEPs are simple. Both electric and magnetic stimulation are currently used in clinical practice (electric tc-MEPs [17] and magnetic tc-MEPs [18, 19]). The motor responses resulting from transcranial stimulation are recorded as EMG responses.

Following the development of tc-MEPs, transcranial stimulation was used to evoke SCPs (transcranially evoked SCP [tc-SCP]) in the early 2000s. Either transcranial electric (electric tc-SCP) [17] or magnetic (magnetic tc-SCP) [18, 19] stimulation is applied to giant pyramidal cells and the responses can be recorded directly from the spinal cord epidurally [15]. The tc-SCPs provide highly precise data, because spinal motor function can be directly monitored.

Recording Evoked SCPS for Intraoperative Monitoring

A catheter equipped with several Ag-AgCl electrodes, designed by Shimoji et al. [8], is inserted into the epidural space, using the same technique as that for the continuous epidural block, at a level corresponding to the spinal segment to be monitored. The catheter with platinum–iridium electrodes (Medtronic[™] Inc., Minneapolis, MN), which was developed for SCS, is also available for SCP recording. Because evoked SCPs are easily



Fig. 6.1 Recording methods of spinal cord potentials (SCPs). A catheter electrode is inserted into the dorsal epidural space using the same technique as that for the continuous epidural block at a level corresponding to the spinal segment to be monitored [8]. To exclude ECG contamination, stimulation pulses are triggered by a QRS component of ECG with a delay of 0.3–0.5 s, when the triggered pulses coincide with the end of a T wave. In this

affected by ECG artifacts, the exclusion of ECG contamination is very important. To exclude such contamination, a peripheral nerve is stimulated by square pulses triggered by a QRS component of ECG with a delay of 0.3–0.5 s, when the triggered pulses coincide with the end of a T wave. Thus, evoked SCPs are recorded on the electrically silent phase (0.5–0.7 s) between T and P waves (Fig. 6.1) [8, 20–23].

The peripheral nerve trunk is electrically stimulated to evoke SCP responses. For monitoring of cervical spinal cord activity, epidural catheter electrodes are inserted into the cervical epidural space close to the cervical enlargement. Next, the brachial plexus or the radial, ulnar, or median nerve is stimulated (segmentally evoked SCPs, Fig. 6.2a). To monitor lumbar spinal cord function, the recording electrodes are placed close to the lumbar enlargement, and the common tibial or peroneal nerve is stimulated (segmentally evoked SCPs, Fig. 6.2a, c) [7, 9, 12].

manner, evoked SCPs are recorded in the electrically silent phase (0.5–0.7 s) between T and P waves [9]. (a) A catheter (1 m diameter) equipped with several Ag-AgCl electrodes (A-1), and platinum–iridium electrodes (A-2), which are designed for spinal cord stimulation, are also available. (b) An illustration of a catheter electrode inserted into the epidural space. (c) The relation between ECG and electrical stimulation [14, 15]

The waveforms of the segmental SCPs recorded in the cervical and lumbosacral enlargements are very similar. Evoked SCPs can be recorded at the level of the cervical enlargement by the stimulation of a nerve trunk in the lower limb (ascending evoked SCPs; see Fig. 6.2b). The waveforms of SCPs recorded at the lumbar enlargement by epidural stimulation of the cervical spinal cord are similar to those of the segmentally evoked SCPs (descending evoked SCPs; see Fig. 6.2a, c) [8, 9, 10, 14, 15, 22, 23].

The summated electrical potentials travel along the spinal cord in response to SCS in the epidural space of the upper or lower spinal segments, cauda equina, or from peripheral nerve stimulation. Thus, the human SCPs can be recorded from the cervical epidural space in response to cauda equina stimulation at the L3–4 vertebral level or SCS by an electrode situated in the epidural space close to the lumbar enlargement (ascending SCPs; see Fig. 6.2b, c) and vice



Fig. 6.2 Recording of spinal cord potentials (SCPs). A peripheral nerve trunk is electrically stimulated (see Fig. 6.1). Recording electrodes are inserted into the epidural space to monitor the dorsal spinal activity. Dysfunction of the spinal cord is reflected as abnormalities in the waveforms, such as prolongation of peak latencies and depression or augmentation of amplitudes. The waveforms of the segmental SCPs recorded in the cervical and lumbosacral enlargements are very similar to each other. In the ascending evoked SCPs, complex positive waves (C1, C2, and C3) are recorded, but N1 and P2 waves are hardly noticed. (a) The waveforms of segmen-

versa (SCS from cervical epidural space and recording at the lumbar enlargement level) (descending SCPs) [8, 10, 15].

Recording Electric tc-MEPS and Magnetic tc-MEPS for Intraoperative Monitoring

In transcranial electrical stimulation, electrodes are placed at C3 or C4 on the scalp, and a train of square wave stimulation pulses (with a pulse duration of 0.02–0.2 ms and an interpulse interval of 0.2 ms) are applied at an intensity of 250–1000 V [24–26]. Because of the use of high-voltage stimulation to obtain electric tc-MEPs, durable electrodes

tal evoked SCPs recorded from the cervical enlargement (c) by stimulation of the ulnar nerve (a). (b) Ascending evoked SCPs recorded from the cervical enlargement (c) by stimulation to the common tibial nerve (b). (c) Segmental evoked SCPs recorded from the lumbar enlargement (d) by stimulation at the common tibial nerve (b). P₁: action potential of spinal nerve roots. N1: synchronized activities of interneurons. P₂: primary afferent depolarization (PAD). Sometimes, P₂ splits into two components, first (P₂f) and second (P₂s) components. N-dip: negative dip driving P₂f and P₂s [8, 22, 23]

such as corkscrew-shaped electrodes are used for stimulation so as to avoid scalp burns. For magnetic tc-MEPs, a magnetic coil is used for stimulation. For both forms of stimulation, EMG (CMAP) responses are usually recorded from the abductor pollicis brevis muscle (upper limb) or the tibialis anterior muscle (lower limb) using needle or surface electrodes [24–26].

In response to pulse train stimulations, giant pyramidal cells are directly depolarized generating D waves [27–29]. However, during magnetic stimulation, interneurons are depolarized first and the firing of giant pyramidal cells follows sequentially generating several I waves at 1.5- to 2.0-ms intervals [28, 29]. Both D and I waves descend the pyramidal tract as a group of several



Fig. 6.3 Recording of transcranially stimulated motorevoked potentials (tc-MEPs). The brain is stimulated electrically or magnetically, and the evoked EMG (motor-evoked potential [MEP]) is recorded from the abductor pollicis brevis muscle (upper limb) or the tibialis anterior muscle (lower limb). (a) Magnetic tc-MEP, which

spiky waves (multiple descending volleys), and the spinal motor neurons are stimulated by these piston-like multiple descending volleys, resulting in summation of excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSP) [18, 29–31]. Thus, the spinal motor neurons are excited with a few milliseconds of delay (Fig. 6.3) [18, 19, 28–33].

Convulsions are occasionally induced during brain stimulation for a clinical examination in the arousal state [32], but they are rare during stimulation for intraoperative monitoring under general anesthesia [33, 34]. Surgical procedures on the spine or spinal cord should be performed under general anesthesia with adequate monitoring of spinal cord function [35].

Recording tc-SCPS for Intraoperative Monitoring

Transcranial stimulation also results in electrical changes in the SCP recordings, which appear to provide better evidence of spinal motor function than tc-MEPs [18, 19, 27–29]. The methods of

is stimulated magnetically at the parietal cranium (m) and recorded from the abductor pollicis brevis muscle (m-emg). (b) Electric tc-MEP, which is stimulated electrically at the contralateral scalp, C3 or C4 (e), and recorded from the abductor pollicis brevis muscle (e-emg)

electric and magnetic stimulation are described for the respective tc-MEPs. However, the methods of recording the tc-SCP responses are the same as those described for the segmental SCPs [8-10, 17, 18].

When acquiring magnetic tc-SCP responses, the generation of multiple descending volleys in the pyramidal tract as well as the process of electric summation in the dorsal horn are clearly depicted [18, 19, 27, 29]. These phenomena are never evident when acquiring magnetic tc-MEP responses because only evoked EMG activity can be observed [14, 18, 19]. Therefore, magnetic tc-SCPs may provide fine data quality when monitoring spinal motor function (Fig. 6.4).

Anesthetics Used in Spinal Cord Monitoring

Many general anesthetics, especially inhalation anesthetics, suppress spinal electrical activity, thereby reducing the amplitudes and prolonging the latencies of SSEPs, SCPs [36–39], and tc-MEPs.



Fig. 6.4 Recording of transcranially stimulated evoked spinal cord potentials (tc-SCPs). The brain is stimulated magnetically or electrically, and the resulting spinal cord potentials (SCPs) are recorded with epidural electrodes. Both forms of stimulation evoke a group of several spiky waves (multiple descending volleys) descending the pyramidal

Therefore, the use of intravenous anesthetics, including low-dose propofol, ketamine, fentanyl, and remifentanil, are usually recommended for surgeries that use spinal cord monitoring. Also, anesthesia can suppress spinal electrical activity, leading to incorrect judgments [19, 23, 24, 40, 41]. In light of this, simultaneous monitoring of the bispectral index (BIS) is recommended for maintenance of adequate anesthesia depth (40–60% in BIS) [42]. Administration of a muscle relaxant is desirable when recording SSEPs and SCPs because the use of relaxants diminishes the presence of muscle contractions and noise due to EMG artifact. Muscle relaxants, however, interfere with MEP monitoring.

Intravenously administered anesthetics, which are mixed with venous blood, stream into the heart (right atrium). After circulating through the lungs, the anesthetics return to the heart (left atrium) with minimal loss or consumption. Thus, most of the anesthetics enter the aorta. When the

tract. The volleys result in the summation of excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs). (a) Magnetic tc-SCP, which is stimulated magnetically at the parietal cranium (m) and recorded from the spinal cord (scp). (b) Electric tc-SCP, which is stimulated electrically at the contralateral scalp, C3 or C4 (e), and recorded from the spinal cord (scp)

aorta is occluded during a surgical procedure, blood flow in the distal region of the occlusion becomes very small, and blood is pooled in the proximal region, where 30% of the circulating blood volume is distributed [43]. Therefore, when intravenous anesthetics are continuously infused using a syringe pump, the concentration of an anesthetic in the proximal region of the aortic occlusion elevates two- to fourfold [44]. This elevation results in a deeper anesthetic state than was assumed before the aorta occlusion, leading to misjudgments. The monitoring of BIS is therefore helpful in realizing correct judgments in such cases [45].

Case Studies (Clinical Applications)

Spinal cord monitoring by SCP, tc-MEP, or tc-SCP is utilized during spinal surgery to assess the force on spinal neurons caused by traction, the



Fig. 6.5 Clinical application of SCP for spine traction. Open traction and fixation of the thoracic spine to correct idiopathic scoliosis in a 26-year-old female. Anesthesia was maintained with fentanyl and ketamine. The cauda equina (L4) was supramaximally stimulated by electric pulses. Ascending SCPs were recorded from the posterior epidural space at the C7 spinal cord level. Immediately after traction of the spine at 15 kg, the amplitudes of C1, C2, and C3 were reduced to 47.0, 47.5, and 49%, respectively. These reductions in amplitude recovered within 15 min after the traction force was reduced to 12 kg. In this case, the latency did not change. Reprinted with permission from Fujioka et al. [46]

stress or injury caused by surgical manipulation, the stress or damage due to ischemia, and hypofunction under conditions of hypothermia. Representative cases of each clinical application are presented below.

Traction force on the spine and spinal cord produces immediate spinal cord ischemia as a result of blood vessels being stretched. The force can reduce the amplitudes of SCPs by over 50%.

Amplitude reduction in the SCP due to ischemia can occur with or without prolongation of latency. Based on findings obtained from SCP monitoring, a nonharmful traction force on the spine can be determined. Consequently, a spinal cord injury was able to be prevented in the following case involving open traction and fixation of the spine to correct idiopathic scoliosis (Fig. 6.5) [46].

The surgical manipulation during resection of spinal cord tumors causes direct and/or indirect mechanical stress or injury to spinal neurons, which can be determined by using tc-MEP monitoring. When spinal cord damage occurs, the amplitudes of the tc-MEP responses drop and the stimulation thresholds elevate. Based on observations of the tc-MEPs, alterations to the tumor resection can be recommended so as to avoid postsurgical motor dysfunction (Fig. 6.6). When amplitude reductions exceed 50% during the resection, the surgical approach or the resection size needs to be reconsidered: should the resection be continued, should a smaller resection be performed, should the angle or direction of the section be changed, or should the resection be discontinued altogether? Also, based on the final findings from the tc-MEP monitoring, the level of postsurgical motor dysfunction can be predicted [15].

Aortic surgery usually requires aortic crossclamping, which often results in spinal cord ischemia [47, 48]. Because of the prompt response to ischemia, SCPs are monitored during aortic surgery to assess the severity of ischemic stress to the spinal cord. Sequential changes in segmental SCPs during surgery for aortic aneurysm are shown in Fig. 6.7. Ischemia due to aortic crossclamping caused a rapid decrease in the amplitude and an increase in the latency of the responses. The waveforms recovered quickly after declamping. However, the duration of ischemia that is tolerable or reversible when a reduction/abolition of the SCP occurs without any resulting postsurgical neurological symptoms is still not clear (see Fig. 6.7).

Thus, test cross-clamping before dividing an aneurysm is recommended (i.e., SCP is closely observed for 15 min after aortic cross-clamping).



Fig. 6.6 Changes in tc-MEPs during spinal cord tumor resection. A 38-year-old male patient with a spinal cord tumor in the T5–6 area underwent tumor resection. Anesthesia was maintained by TIVA. While monitoring tc-MEPs, electric stimulation was performed with a five-pulse train (50–100 µs of duration, 2-ms intervals, 600 V) on the scalp (C3 and C4), and an EMG of the tibialis ante-

rior (TA) muscles was recorded. During tumor resection, the amplitudes decreased, but they recovered immediately after the surgical approach was altered. The tumor resection was continued from the other direction. Thus, postsurgical motor weakness was not evident. Reprinted with permission from Fukaya et al. [15]

If a greater than 50% reduction of the amplitude is observed, the surgeons should make repeated short-term releases of the clamp during the surgery so as to avoid long-term ischemia or should change to another bypass route [49]. This test can also be modified when monitoring via tc-MEPs or tc-SCPs. On the other hand, when no or only minimal recovery in the SCP is noted during the final observation, motor dysfunction corresponding to the amplitude decrease can be predicted. Because there are concerns that heparinization during aortic surgery causes an epidural hematoma, an epidural catheter electrode should be inserted at least 1 h before the surgery and extracted 1 day later when the effect of the heparin has dissipated.

Cardiovascular surgery is usually performed under moderate or deep hypothermia, which makes interpretation of waveform changes more complicated. The waveform of the SCP under moderate hypothermia responds very sensitively to a drop in body temperature with characteristic responses in the waveform under such conditions being prolongation of the latency, widening of the duration, and augmentation of the amplitude (Fig. 6.8) [49].

Interestingly, the change in the amplitude was biphasic when the body temperature was lowered even further: the amplitude gradually increased until around 30 °C, and then began to decrease under deeper hypothermia. The precise mechanisms of the biphasic response are still not clear. Under profound hypothermia (below 20 °C), the amplitude decreases or disappears. Under even lower body temperature of approximately 10 °C, the N1 wave is split into two peaks (not illustrated in Fig. 6.7) [49]. These changes recover to the baseline level immediately upon rewarming. Thus, body temperature measurements are indispensable for the interpretation of the waveform changes in the SCP monitoring.



Fig. 6.7 Effects of aortic cross clamping on segmental SCPs. A 71-year-old man underwent abdominal aortic surgery. Segmental SCPs were recorded from the epidural space at the T12/L1 vertebral level, and the common tibial nerve was stimulated supramaximally at the popliteal fossa. Anesthesia was maintained mainly with fentanyl and midazolam, and blood cooling was initiated by cardio pulmonary bypass. The N1 wave disappeared 30 min

(13:05) after cross-clamping (12:35) and reappeared (14:12) after the declamping (13:19), with the time lag between its reappearance and the declamping being 53 min. The durations of aortic cross-clamping and that of the disappearance of SCP were 44 and 67 min, respectively. There were no neurological sequelae after surgery. Reprinted with permission from Kondo et al. [49], with modification

Conclusion

In conclusion, besides basic routine monitoring of SSEPs and tc-MEPs [47], combined monitoring of other parameters such as tc-MEP or tc-SCP and MEPs may provide an accurate monitoring of spinal cord function during surgical manipulations of the spine or nearby structures depending on individual surgeries [50–52].

Recording of the spinal cord potentials recorded from the epidural space may add more precise monitoring of spinal cord functions in certain cases.

Appendix: Techniques and Physiology

Introduction

The development of the catheter electrode has made it possible to stimulate the spinal cord from the epidural space for pain management [53] and to record epidurally human spinal cord potentials for monitoring spinal cord function during an operation [8].



Fig. 6.8 Waveform changes of descending SCPs under moderate hypothermia. A 56-year-old patient underwent thoracoabdominal aortic surgery under hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass. Descending SCPs were recorded from the epidural space at the T12/L1 vertebral level, and the spinal cord was supramaximally stimulated at the C6/7 vertebral level with epidurally inserted electrodes. Anesthesia was maintained with fentanyl and midazolam,

and rectal body temperature was measured. Subsequent serial changes of N1 and N2 waves were superimposed: (a) before cooling; (b) SCPs during cooling process; (c) SCPs during rewarming process. Prolongation of the latency, widening of the duration, and augmentation of the amplitude are noted under moderate hypothermia. Reprinted with permission from Kondo et al. [49]

The Catheter Electrodes

Human spinal cord potentials (SCPs) can be recorded from the epidural space using the same catheter used for continuous epidural block. The epidural catheter electrode can be made simply by insertion of a stainless steel wire through the epidural catheter approximately 5 mm beyond its tip (Fig. A6.1a). This simple catheter has been used for the recording of spinal cord potentials in patients during surgical operations or for the stimulation of the spinal cord in patients with various spinal cord diseases [54]. An epidural catheter with three orifices on the side and three platinum wire electrodes was developed in our laboratory for multiple applications (Fig. A6.1b, c), including monitoring of spinal cord potentials, measurement of epidural pressure and epidural tissue blood flow, epidural spinal cord stimulation, and epidural injection of drugs [55].

Accurate insertion of the catheter electrode at the required site in the epidural space is critical for these applications. We have been using three methods to determine the proper placement of the catheter electrodes in the posterior epidural space: (1) epidural electrical stimulation test, (2) recording of the spinal cord potentials evoked by stimulation of the segmental, heterosegmental nerves, or dorsal cord [14, 56, 57], and (3) image examination such as X-ray, MRI, or CT scan.

When the catheter electrodes are situated in the posterior epidural space on the mid-line, stimulation through the catheter electrodes produces the bilateral twitches of the segmental muscles.



THREE TYPES OF EPIDURAL CATHETER ELECTRODES

- A: The epidural catheter with stainless steel wire
- B: Three colled stainless steel electrodes attached to the epidural catheter
- C: Multipurpose epidural catheter electrodes

Fig. A6.1 Three types of epidural catheter electrodes are shown. A stainless steel wire can be placed through an epidural catheter approximately 5 mm beyond its tip (**a**). Three platinum wire electrodes can be placed on the cath-

When it produces unilateral muscle twitches in the same spinal segment, the electrodes might be situated laterally in the epidural space. By this stimulation test, you can verify the spinal segment position and the laterality of the catheter electrode in the epidural space. When the catheter electrode is situated in the anterior epidural space, the polarity of the segmental SCPs is reversed as expected. Laterality of the catheter electrodes in the epidural space can also be determined by the waveform characteristics of the SCPs. When the catheter electrodes are situated ipsilateral to the stimulated peripheral nerves and close to the roots, the recorded initial positive spikes and P₂ wave are larger than those recorded contralateral to the nerves.

The procedure used to introduce the catheter electrodes into the epidural space is the same as that used to place catheters for continuous epidural anesthesia [53]. The patients are placed in the lateral position and flexed to open the interspaces of the vertebral column. After making a skin wheal aseptically and injecting 0.5-1.0% lidocaine (5 mL), a 16- to 18-gauge Tuohy needle

eter (**b**) that may also have three orifices on the side to measure epidural pressure and epidural tissue blood flow, epidural spinal cord stimulation, and epidural injection of drugs (**c**)

is inserted into the epidural space using the paramedian approach, with the bevel parallel to the sagittal plane and targeting the predicted segment. When the tip of the Tuohy needle is located in the epidural space, the direction of the bevel is adjusted, and the catheter electrode is inserted approximately 5 cm into the epidural space. The tip of the catheter electrode and the skin surface electrode are connected, respectively, to the negative and positive outlets of an electrical nerve stimulator [57]. Using these electrodes, recordings can be made at several spinal levels (Fig. A6.2).

Origins of Each Component of the Segmental SCPs

The initially positive spike, P1, of the segmental SCPs is believed to be a reflection of the extracellular events associated with the action potential propagation through the roots into the spinal cord [14, 58–62]. The generation of an action potential at a node of Ranvier creates a positive capacitive



Fig. A6.2 Recording of the human SCPs. The recording electrodes are placed at various levels of the spine (**a**) into the epidural space (**b**)

current, which is conducted electronically down the axon and the nearby tissues. This current is responsible for the initial positivity of the triphasic spikes (Fig. A6.3a). The capacitative current is also responsible for depolarizing the cell membrane at the next node to threshold, thereby initiating the production of an action potential here. The rising phase of the action potential is generated by an influx of Na+into the axon from the extracellular space. The loss of Na+causes the extracellular space to become negatively charged; this event is recorded as the negative component of the triphasic spikes (Fig. A6.3b). The falling phase of an action potential is caused by a K+ efflux from the axon into the extracellular space. The additional positivity in the extracellular space is recorded from the cord dorsum as the second positive component of the triphasic spikes (Fig. A6.3b) [63].

In addition, heterosegmental nerve stimulations also produce a slow positive potential (heterosegmental slow positive [HSP] wave) in cervical and lumbar enlargements in animal [58, 60, 61, 64] and man during wakeful state [61].

The negative waves, N1, of the segmental SCPs (Fig. A6.3c) are thought to be reflections of changes in the extracellular environment produced by activity of dorsal horn interneurons (see also



Fig. A6.3 Origins of each component of the segmental SCPs. The initial positivity of the triphasic spike is believed to be a reflection of the extracellular events associated with the propagation of action potentials through the roots down the axon into the spinal cord (**a**). The rising phase of the action potential is generated by an influx of Na+into the axon from the extracellular space resulting in the extracellular space becoming negatively charged; this event is recorded as the negative component of the triphasic spike (**b**). The falling phase of an action potential is due to a K⁺ efflux from the axon into the extracellular

Fig. A6.4). When the interneurons are synaptically activated, positive ionic current leaves the extracellular space at the synapses (sinks) and reappears along the ventrally projecting axons of the cells (sources). Thus, the dorsal horn takes on a negative charge and the ventral horn takes on a positive charge [62, 65, 66]. space, which is recorded from the cord dorsum as the second positive component of the triphasic spike (**b**). The negative waves, N1 (**c**), are thought to be reflections of changes in the extracellular environment produced by activity of dorsal horn interneurons. The slow positive wave, P₂, of the segmental SCPs (**d**) has been demonstrated as the extracellular manifestation of the process of primary afferent depolarization. Positive ionic current leaves the extracellular space at excited axon-axonal synapses (sinks) resulting in the dorsal most portion of the spinal cord becoming positively charged (**d**)

The slow positive wave, P_2 , of the segmental SCPs (Fig. A6.4d) has been demonstrated as the extracellular manifestation of the process of primary afferent depolarization (PAD) just as observed in the spinal animals (Fig. A6.4) [14, 65, 66]. Positive ionic current leaves the extracellular space at excited axo-axonal synapses (sinks) and



Fig. A6.4 Proposed origins of each component of the segmental SCPs. The negative waves, N1, are thought to be reflections of changes in the extracellular environment produced by activity of dorsal horn interneurons. The positive wave, P_2 , of the segmental SCPs has been demonstrated as the extracellular manifestation of the process of primary afferent depolarization and/or intracellular hyperpolarization [68]

reappears along the primary afferents (sources). Thus, the dorsal most portion of the spinal cord becomes positively charged (Fig. A6.3d) [21, 23, 67–72]. Another component, inhibitory postsynaptic potential (IPSP), might be involved in the P2 wave [68, 69].

References

- Hicks JM, Singla A, Shen FH, Arlet V. Complications of pedicle screw fixation in scoliosis surgery: a systematic review. Spine. 2010;35:E465–70.
- Mel MW, Wynn MM, Reeder SB, Tefera G, Hoch JR, Acher CW. A new intercostal artery management strategy for thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair. J Surg Res. 2009;154:99–104.

- Ikuta T, Furuta N, Kihara S, Okura M, Nagamine I, Nakayama H, et al. Differences in waveforms of cerebral evoked potentials among healthy subjects, schizophrenics, manic-depressives and epileptics. J Med Invest. 2007;54:303–15.
- Vodusek DB. Interventional neurophysiology of the sacral nervous system. Neurophysiol Clin. 2001;31:239–46.
- Grundy EL, Nash Jr CL, Brown RH. Arterial pressure manipulation alters spinal cord function during correction of scoliosis. Anesthesiology. 1981;54:249–53.
- Carenini L, Botacchi E, Camerlingo M, Mamoli A. Considerations after intraoperative monitoring of somatosensory evoked potentials during carotid endarterectomy. Ital J Neurol Sci. 1989;10:315–20.
- Takada T, Denda S, Baba H, Fujioka H, Yamakura T, Fujihara H, et al. Somatosensory evoked potentials recorded from the posterior pharynx to stimulation of the median nerve and cauda equina. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1996;100:493–9.
- Shimoji K, Higashi H, Kano T. Epidural recording of spinal electrogram in man. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1971;30:236–9.
- Shimoji K. Origins and properties of spinal cord evoked potentials. In: Dimitrijevic MR, Halter JA, editors. Atlas of human spinal cord potentials. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann; 1995.
- Aida S, Shimoji K. Descending pathways in spinal cord stimulation and pain control. In: Bountra C, Munglani R, Schmidt WK, editors. Pain: current understanding, emerging therapies, and novel approaches to drug discovery. New York: Marcel Dekker; 2003. p. 101–17.
- Shimoji K, Kitamura H, Ikezono E, Shimizu H, Okamoto K, Iwakura Y. Spinal hypalgesia and analgesia by low-frequency electrical stimulation in the epidural space. Anesthesiology. 1974;41:91–4.
- Magladery LW, Porter WE, Park AM, Teasdal RD. Electroencephalogical studies of nerve reflex activity in normal man. IV. The two-neuron reflex and identification of certain action potentials from spinal roots and cord. Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp. 1951;88:499–519.
- Fujioka H, Shimoji K, Tomita M, Denda S, Hokari T, Tohyama M. Effects of dorsal root entry zone lesion on spinal cord potentials evoked by segmental, ascending and descending volleys. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1992;117:135–42.
- Shimoji K, Matsuki M, Shimizu H. Wave-form characteristic and special distribution of evoked spinal electrogram in man. J Neurosurg. 1977;46:304–13.
- Fukaya C, Katayama Y. Spinal cord tumor. In: Shimoji K, Willis Jr WD, editors. Evoked spinal cord potentials. Tokyo: Springer; 2006. p. 143–9.
- Becske T, Nelson PK. The vascular anatomy of the vertebro-spinal axis. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2009; 20:259–64.
- 17. de Haan P, Kalkman CJ, de Mol BA, Ubags LH, Veldman DJ, Jacobs MJ. Efficacy of transcranial motor-evoked myogenic potentials to detect spinal cord ischemia during operations for thoracoabdominal

aneurysms. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1997;113: 87–100.

- 18. Tobita T, Denda S, Takada T, Endoh H, Baba H, Yamakura T, et al. Effects of fentanyl on spinal cord potentials and electromyogram evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation in man. In: Hashimoto I, Kakigi R, editors. Recent advances in human neurophysiology. Amsterdam: Excepta Medica; 1998. p. 1034–7.
- Ubags LH, Kalkman CJ, Been HD, Koelman JH, Ongerboer de Visser BW. A comparison of myogenic motor evoked responses to electrical and magnetic transcranial stimulation during nitrous oxide/opioid anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1999;88:568–72.
- Tomita M, Shimoji K, Denda S, Tobita T, Uchiyama S, Baba H. Spinal tracts producing slow components of spinal cord potentials evoked by descending volleys in man. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1996;100:68–73.
- Shimoji K, Matsuki M, Ito Y, Masuko K, Maruyama M, Iwane T, et al. Interactions of cord dorsum potential. J Appl Physiol. 1976;40:79–84.
- Shimizu H, Shimoji K, Maruyama Y, Matsuki M, Kuribayashi H, Fujioka H. Human spinal cord potentials produced in lumbosacral enlargement by descending volleys. J Neurophysiol. 1982;48:1108–20.
- Maruyama Y, Shimoji K, Shimizu H, Kuribayashi H, Fujioka H. Human spinal cord potentials evoked by different sources of stimulation and conduction velocities along the cord. J Neurophysiol. 1982;48:1098–107.
- 24. Kawanishi Y, Munakata H, Matsumori M, Tanaka H, Yamashita T, Nakagiri K, et al. Usefulness of transcranial motor evoked potentials during thoracoabdominal aortic surgery. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007;83:456–61.
- 25. Kawaguchi M, Sakamoto T, Inoue S, Kakimoto M, Furuya H, Morimoto T, et al. Low dose propofol as a supplement to ketamine-based anesthesia during intraoperative monitoring of motor-evoked potentials. Spine. 2000;25:974–9.
- Chaudhary K, Speights K, McGuire K, White AP. Trans-cranial motor evoked potential detection of femoral nerve injury in trans-psoas lateral lumbar interbody fusion. J Clin Monit Comput. 2015;29(5):549–54.
- Ellen R. Grass Lecture: motor evoked potential monitoring. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2004;4:223–43.
- Novak K, de Camargo AB, Neuwirth M, Kothbauer K, Amassian VE, Deletis V. The refractory period of fast conducting corticospinal tract axons in man and its implications for intraoperative monitoring of motor evoked potentials. Clin Neurophysiol. 2004;115:1931–41.
- Deletis V, Sala F. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring of the spinal cord during spinal cord and spine surgery: a review focus on the corticospinal tracts. Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;119:248–64.
- Tobita T, Shimoji K. Transcranial magnetically evoked SCPs [TCM-Evoked SCPs]. In: Shimoji K,

Willis WD, editors. Evoked spinal cord potentials. Tokyo: Springer; 2006. p. 105–11.

- Di Lazzaro V, Thickbroom GW, Pilato F, Profice P, Dileone M, Mazzone P, et al. Direct demonstration of the effects of repetitive paired-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation at I-wave periodicity. Clin Neurophysiol. 2007;118:1193–7.
- Davis SF, Altstadt T, Flores R, Kaye A, Oremus G. Report of seizure following intraoperative monitoring of transcranial motor evoked potentials. Ochsner J. 2013;13:558–60.
- MacDonald DB. Safety of intraoperative transcranial electrical stimulation motor evoked potential monitoring, J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19:416–29.
- Legat AD. Current practice of motor evoked potential monitoring: results of a survey. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19:454–60.
- 35. Cheng JS, Ivan ME, Stapleton CJ, Quinones-Hinojosa A, Gupta N, Auguste KI. Intraoperative changes in transcranial motor evoked potentials and somatosensory evoked potentials predicting outcome in children with intramedullary spinal cord tumors. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;13:591–9.
- Shimoji K, Kano T, Nakashima H, Shimizu H. The effects of thiamylal sodium on electrical activities of the central and peripheral nervous systems in man. Anesthesiology. 1974;40:234–40.
- Tobita T, Okamoto M, Shimizu M, Yamakura T, Fujihara H, Shimoji K, Baba H. The effects of isoflurane on conditioned inhibition by dorsal column stimulation. Anesth Analg. 2003;97:436–41.
- Kohno T, Kumamoto E, Baba H, Ataka T, Okamoto M, Shimoji K, Yoshimura M. Actions of midazolam on GABAergic transmission in substantia gelatinosa neurons of adult rat spinal cord slices. Anesthesiology. 2000;92:507–15.
- Shimoji K, Fujiwara N, Fukuda S, Denda S, Takada T, Maruyama Y. Effects of isoflurane on spinal inhibitory potentials. Anesthesiology. 1990;72:851–7.
- Kano T, Shimoji K. The effects of ketamine and neuroleptanalgesia on the evoked electrospinogram and electromyogram in man. Anesthesiology. 1974; 40:241–6.
- Scheufler K-M, Zentner J. Total intravenous anesthesia for intraoperative monitoring of the motor pathways: an integral view combining clinical and experimental data. J Neurosurg. 2002;96:571–9.
- Johansen JW, Sebel PS. Development and clinical application of electroencephalographic bispectrum monitoring. Anesthesiology. 2000;93:1336–44.
- 43. Criou A, Monchi M, Joly LM, Bellenfant F, Claessens YE, Thébert D, et al. Noninvasive cardiac output monitoring by aortic blood flow determination: evaluation of the Sometec Dynamo-3000 system. Crit Care Med. 1998;26:2066–72.
- 44. Kakinohana M, Nakamura S, Fuchigami T, Miyata Y, Sugahara K. Influence of the descending thoracic aortic cross clamping on bispectral index value and plasma propofol concentration in humans. Anesthesiology. 2006;104:939–43.

- 45. Dahaba AA. Different conditions that could results in the bispectral index indicating an incorrect hypnotic state. Anesth Analg. 2006;101:765–73.
- 46. Fujioka H, Shimoji K, Tomita M, Denda S, Takada H, Homa T, et al. Spinal cord potential recordings from the extradural space during scoliosis surgery. Br J Anaesth. 1994;73:350–6.
- 47. Piñeiro AM, Cubells C, Garcia P, Castaño GC, Dávalos A, Coll-Cantia J. Implementation of intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during endovascular procedures in the central nervous system. Interv Neurol. 2015;3:85–100.
- Kim ST, Paeng SH, Jeong DM, Lee KS. Usefulness of intraoperative monitoring during microsurgical decompression of cervicomedullary compression caused by an anomalous vertebral artery. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2014;56:513–6.
- Kondo K, Harada H, Kaneko S, Tyama K, Kano T. Intraoperative monitoring of the conductive evoked spinal cord potentials under deep hypothermia. J Electrodiag Spinal Cord. 1996;18:160–2.
- Costa P, Peretta P, Faccani G. Relevance of intraoperative D wave in spine and spinal cord surgeries. Eur Spine J. 2013;22:840–8.
- 51. Kim SM, Eur Kim SH, Seo DW, Lee KW. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring: basic principles and recent update. J Korean Med Sci. 2013;28:1261–9.
- 52. Pastorelli F, Di Silvestre M, Plasmati R, Michelucci R, Greggi T, Morigi A, et al. The prevention of neural complications in the surgical treatment of scoliosis: the role of the neurophysiological intraoperative monitoring. Eur Spine J. 2011;20 Suppl 1:S105–14.
- Shimoji K, Higashi H, Kano T, Asai S, Morioka T. Electrical management of intractable pain. Masui (Jpn J Anesthesiol). 1971;20:44–7.
- 54. Shimoji K, Matsuki M, Shimizu H, Iwane T, Takahashi R, Maruyama M, Masuko K. Lowfrequency, weak extradural stimulation in the management of intractable pain. Br J Anaesth. 1977;49:1081–6.
- 55. Shimoji K, Fujiwara N, Sato Y. Development of the system and electrode for simultaneous measurements of regional blood flow, oxygen pressure and electrical activity [in Japanese]. Byotai Seiri. 1986;11:876–80.
- Kano T, Shimoji K. Influence of anesthesia on intraoperative monitoring of SCEPs. In: Dimitrijevic MR, Halter JA, editors. Atlas of human spinal cord evoked potentials. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann; 1995. p. 97–106.
- 57. Hayatsu K, Tomita M, Fujihara H, Baba H, Yamakura T, Taga K, et al. The placement of the epidural catheter at the predicted site by electrical stimulation test. Anesth Analg. 2001;93:1035–9.
- Denda S, Shimoji K, Tomita M, Baba H, Yamakura T, Masaki H, et al. Central nuclei and spinal pathways

in feedback inhibitory spinal cord potentials in ketamine-anaesthetized rats. Br J Anaesth. 1996;76: 258–65.

- Shimoji K, Sato Y, Denda S, Takada T, Fukuda S, Hokari T. Slow positive dorsal cord potentials activated by heterosegmental stimuli. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1992;85:72–80.
- 60. Shimoji K, Fujiwara N, Denda S, Tomita M, Toyama M, Fukuda S. Effects of pentobarbital on heterosegmentally activated dorsal root depolarization in the rat. Investigation by sucrose-gap technique in vivo. Anesthesiology. 1992;76:958–66.
- 61. Shimoji K, Tomita M, Tobita T, Baba H, Takada T, Fukuda S, et al. Erb's point stimulation produces slow positive potentials in the human lumbar spinal cord. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1994;11:365–74.
- 62. Shimoji K. Overviews of human (evoked) spinal cord potentials (SCPs): recording methods and terminology. In: Shimoji K, Willis Jr WD, editors. Evoked spinal cord potentials—an illustrated guide to physiology, pharmacology, and recording techniques. Tokyo: Springer; 2006. p. 40–9.
- Yates BJ, Thompson FJ, Mickle JP. Origin and properties of spinal cord field potentials. Neurosurgery. 1982;11:439–50.
- Besson JM, Rivot JP. Spinal interneurones involved in presynaptic controls of supraspinal origin. J Physiol. 1973;230:235–54.
- Schmidt RF. Presynaptic inhibition in the vertebrate central nervous system. Ergeb Physiol. 1971;63:20–101.
- 66. Beal JE, Applebaum AE, Forman RD, Willis WD. Spinal cord potentials evoked by cutaneous afferents in the monkey. J Neurophysiol. 1977;40:199–211.
- Shimoji K, Kano T, Higashi H, Morioka T, Henschel EO. Evoked spinal electrograms recorded from epidural space in man. J Appl Physiol. 1972;33: 468–71.
- 68. Tanaka E, Tobita T, Murai Y, Okabe Y, Yamada A, Kano T, et al. Thiamylal antagonizes the inhibitory effects of dorsal column stimulation on dorsal horn activities in humans. Neurosci Res. 2009;64: 391–6.
- 69. Bernhard DG. The spinal cord potentials in leads from the cord dorsum in relation to peripheral source of afferent stimulation. Acta Physiol Scand. 1953;29 Suppl 106:1–29.
- Eccles JC, Schmidt R, Willis WD. Pharmacological studies on presynaptic inhibition. J Physiol. 1963;168:500–30.
- Shimoji K, Ito Y, Ohama K, Sawa T, Ikezono E. Presynaptic inhibition in man during anesthesia and sleep. Anesthesiology. 1975;43:388–91.
- Maruyama Y, Shimoji K, Shimizu H, Sato Y, Kuribayashi H, Kaieda R. Effects of morphine of human spinal cord and peripheral nervous activities. Pain. 1980;8:63–73.

Electromyography

J. Richard Toleikis

Introduction

Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring (IOM) using either electrically elicited triggered or mechanically elicited spontaneous electromyographic (EMG) activity has become widely used for the preservation of neurologic function during various surgical procedures. Its use has a long history dating back to the 1960s when it was first used for the preservation of facial nerve function [1, 2]. Its use at that time was prompted by the high incidence of loss of such function during surgical procedures involving tumors of the acoustic nerve. As techniques evolved for performing surgery in the cerebellopontine angle, on large skull base tumors, and for other intra- and extra-cranial procedures, monitoring techniques for assessing and preserving the function of the auditory nerve and other cranial nerves also evolved [3-23]. Much the same can be said regarding the advent of the revolutionary use of metallic, internal fixation devices for the treatment of spinal deformity. In the lumbosacral and increasingly in the thoracolumbar and cervical regions

of the spine, it has become the standard of care for the surgical management of spinal deformity, degenerative spinal disease, and traumatic insults to use pedicle screws to hold rods in place for the purpose of segmental transpedicular fixation. Although the scope of their usage is increasing, these screws are most commonly utilized in the most caudal aspects of the spine from L2 to S1, where their usage has resulted in primarily placing nerve root rather than spinal cord (which ends in the conus medullaris at about L1–L2) [24] function at risk.

It is now widely recognized that the use of monitoring can improve surgical outcomes by several means. It can help to reduce the risk of surgically induced injuries and can help to properly identify specific neural structures. As a result, the scope of its use during various neurosurgical and orthopedic surgical procedures has significantly expanded. The EMG monitoring techniques that are used for this purpose provide an inexpensive and effective means for assessing functional integrity such that, if needed, surgical intervention and correction can occur in a timely fashion so as to preserve function. These techniques that utilize EMG responses to protect neurologic function when brain, spinal cord, cranial nerve, cauda equina, and nerve root function are at risk, include cranial nerve monitoring, brainstem and cortical motor strip mapping, nerve root monitoring for surgeries in the region of the cauda equina, nerve root monitoring during

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_7

J.R. Toleikis, Ph.D. (🖂)

Department of Anesthesiology, Rush University Medical Center, 1653 West Congress Parkway, Suite 739 Jelke, Chicago, IL 60612-3833, USA e-mail: jrtoleikis@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

pedicle screw placements, H-reflex testing, and transcranial motor-evoked responses. The latter technique is only mentioned here and will be further discussed in Chap. 2 ("Transcranial Motor-Evoked Potentials") and elsewhere.

General Principle of EMG Monitoring

The methodology for protecting neurologic function during various neuro- and orthopedic surgical procedures using EMG techniques is relatively simple and straightforward. The brain, spinal cord, cranial nerves, and spinal nerve roots contain motor pathways that innervate various muscle groups. By placing recording electrodes in these muscles and with controlled usage of neuromuscular junction blocking agents, EMG activity can be acquired when these pathways are irritated or stimulated due to surgical manipulation or activated by means of an external electrical stimulus.

The monitoring of cranial nerve function is dependent on being able to record EMG activity. Such activity cannot be recorded if the patient is pharmacologically relaxed. Hence, if muscle relaxants are given, they should be short acting and should be allowed to wear off or reversed before monitoring is attempted. To avoid extended paralysis as a result of the use of neuromuscular blocking agents, there should be good communication between all members of the surgical and monitoring teams regarding the use of relaxants and when the use of monitoring will be needed. In addition, a means of accurately assessing the degree of muscle relaxation should be used in order to validate the monitoring findings when relaxants are utilized.

Cranial Nerve Monitoring Technique

The technique that was initially used for monitoring cranial nerve function in the 1960s involved a handheld stimulation electrode to elicit muscle contractions. The methodology for eliciting these contractions has not changed to any great extent. However, the way in which these contractions are detected has changed. Initially, an observer detected the muscular contractions of the facial musculature [1, 2]. Later, mechanotransducers [25, 26] were used for this purpose but it was soon found that these contractions could be detected by simply recording the EMG activity from facial muscles [8, 9, 27]. As a result, during a surgical procedure, the general principle for monitoring cranial nerve function involves the use of a handheld monopolar electrical stimulating electrode to probe the surgical field and single or pairs of needle electrodes that are used to record EMG activity from muscle groups innervated by cranial nerves at risk [28] (Fig. 7.1, Table 7.1). During procedures involving tumor removal, short constant-voltage [28] or constantcurrent pulses are typically used intermittently for stimulation and recordings of spontaneous or free-running EMG activity are continuously monitored. Stimulus pulse durations are usually 50–100 μ s, with a rate of stimulation of 3–5 pulses per second [10]. The intensity of the stimulus is an important consideration. When using monopolar stimulation, nerves that are located within its sphere of influence will be activated; the more intense the stimulus, the larger the diameter of its sphere of influence. In this way, it is possible to identify regions of a tumor where there is no motor component of a cranial nerve present so that large portions of the tumor can be quickly resected with a low risk of causing any permanent neurologic injury. A stimulus intensity that is too low can result in unintended surgical nerve injury because the nerve may not react to the stimulus intensity and may be part of tissue that is resected. A stimulus intensity that is too high may give a false indication that the nerve is located close to the stimulator and may slow down and lead to incomplete tumor removal. At the same time, the same methodology can be used to identify the anatomic location of cranial nerves in order to avoid surgical manipulation and preserve functional integrity. Initially keeping the stimulus intensity high will protect the nerve from damage, and once a response is obtained, the intensity should be reduced in order to determine its exact location. Therefore, when using constant-current stimulation, initially the Fig. 7.1 Placement of electrodes for recording EMG responses from the extraocular muscles (CNs III, IV, VI), facial muscles (CN VII), masseter muscle (CN V), trapezius muscle (CN XI), and the tongue (CN XII). Cranial nerve IX is monitored by either placing needles or an adhesive surface electrode in or on the soft palate. Cranial nerve X can be monitored by placing needle electrodes in the vocal folds, percutaneous needle electrodes in the larynx muscles, or by using a tracheal tube with built-in surface electrodes. Also included are electrodes for recording auditory brainstem responses (ABRs) or brainstem auditory evoked potentials (BAEPs) and visual evoked potentials (VEPs). Also shown are insert earphones for presenting a click stimulus to the inner ear and eliciting the ABRs and a contact lens with light-emitting diodes for stimulating the eye and eliciting the VEPs. As a result, the function of cranial nerves VIII and II can be assessed as well. Reprinted from Moller et al. [28]



 Table 7.1
 Muscle groups commonly used to assess cranial nerve function based on their innervations

Cranial nerve	Muscle group
III	Medial rectus
IV	Superior oblique
V	Masseter, temporalis
VI	Lateral rectus
VII	Orbicularis oris, orbicularis oculi
IX	Soft palate
Х	Vocal cords
XI	Trapezius
XII	Tongue

stimulus may be as high as a few milliamps, but once a response has been obtained, 0.1–0.2 mA may be sufficient to elicit a robust EMG response when cranial nerves are directly stimulated [10].

As below, continuous monitoring of spontaneous or free-running EMG activity provides a means for assessing if an injury may occur to a cranial nerve. Normally, the activity should remain flat or quiet, indicating that the nerve has not become activated as a result of mechanical stimulation. Manipulation of a nerve may result in periods of activation. The length of time a nerve is activated depends on the degree of nerve irritation [4, 29]. Short periods of activation generally correlate with no permanent injury. Frequent or sustained periods of activation have a greater likelihood of being associated with a postoperative neurologic deficit [30]. This type of sustained activation has been given the name "A-train" activity, the occurrence of which has been associated with postoperative paresis in patients operated on for vestibular schwannoma [11, 13, 31] and microvascular decompression for trigeminal neuralgia [12, 27, 28]. The condition of a nerve prior to manipulation also plays a role in determining how it will react to mechanical stimulation. Manipulation of normal healthy nerves will generally produce little or no activation, whereas nerves that are already slightly injured will tend to react more strongly when manipulated and may act as impulse generators of spontaneous EMG activity even when no manipulation is taking place [4, 30]. However, severely injured nerves may not react to mechanical stimulation at all and therefore the absence of EMG activity does not guarantee that a nerve has not sustained an injury. As a result, it is important to use electrical stimulation to validate that an injury has not occurred. If the responses that result have latencies or amplitudes that are prolonged or diminished relative to baseline responses, these are indications that an injury has occurred.

Monitoring Specific Cranial Nerve Function

Cranial Nerves V and VII

Historically, monitoring cranial nerve function began with attempts to assess and preserve the motor function of the facial (VIIth cranial nerve) and trigeminal (Vth cranial nerve) nerves during operations for removal of large acoustic or other skull base tumors [1, 2]. The facial nerve provides innervation to the orbicularis oculi and orbicularis oris muscles, whereas the trigeminal nerve innervates the muscles of mastication (masseter and temporalis muscles). Therefore, if pairs of needle electrodes are placed in these muscles, they provide a means for recording EMG activity during tumor removal and other surgical procedures [12–15, 19, 20, 32]. If each pair is connected to a different recording channel, the recordings provide a means for differentiating between which muscle group is being activated and hence which cranial nerve is being irritated or stimulated. Electrical stimulation of the trigeminal nerve will result in responses with a peak latency less than 6 ms, whereas the responses elicited by facial nerve stimulation will have peak latencies greater than 8 ms [30]. This provides another means for differentiating which cranial nerve is being activated.

During operations for removal of large acoustic tumors or during operations in the cerebellopontine angle, the function of the component branches (acoustic and vestibular) of the VIIIth cranial or auditory nerve is clearly at risk. Unlike the other cranial nerves where the monitoring is dependent upon recording EMG activity, the auditory nerve consists of sensory pathways and, as a result, monitoring of auditory nerve function is dependent on assessing sensory pathway function using brainstem ABRs. This monitoring technique is thoroughly discussed in Chap. 3 ("Auditory Evoked Potentials").

Cranial Nerves III, IV, and VI

Cranial nerves III, IV, and VI innervate the extraocular muscles. Hence, as is the case when monitoring facial and trigeminal nerve function, if needle electrodes are placed in or in close proximity to these muscles, cranial nerve function can be monitored by recording the EMG activity from the muscles that these nerves innervate [27, 28]. Cranial nerve III function can be monitored by recording from the medial rectus muscle. Similarly, cranial nerve IV function is monitored by recording from the superior oblique muscle. Recordings from the lateral rectus muscle are used to monitor cranial nerve VI function [21]. Because of space limitations, only single electrodes are placed in each of these muscles with a reference electrode placed contralateral to the side of surgery.

Cranial Nerves IX, X, XI, and XII

As was the case with monitoring cranial nerve III, IV, and VI function using the EMG activity from extraocular muscles, the function of the IX, X, XI, and XII cranial nerves is assessed by monitoring the EMG activity from muscles innervated by the motor components of these cranial nerves [15–20, 33]. Although these cranial nerves also contain sensory and autonomic components, it is assumed that the EMG activity associated with these nerves represents the condition of the entire nerve and not just the motor component. The motor component of the IXth cranial nerve is monitored by recording the EMG activity from the soft palate using needle electrodes [9, 27]. Although it is

possible to monitor the motor function of the Xth cranial nerve (the vagus nerve) using needle electrodes placed in the vocal folds, it is difficult to place these electrodes [9]. As a result, recording of vagal nerve EMG activity is typically done using a tracheal tube with attached electrodes that are able to make contact with the vocal cords. Monitoring of recurrent laryngeal nerve (a branch of the vagus nerve) function during surgery is a common application of this technique [16, 17]. Monitoring the motor function of the spinal accessory or XIth cranial nerve is relatively easy. This is done by placing needle electrodes in the trapezius muscle and recording the ongoing EMG activity. Finally, monitoring of the XIIth cranial or hypoglossal nerve is done by placing needle electrodes in the tongue [9, 28], although other techniques have been shown to be effective as well [34]. The hypoglossal nerve is very small but very important. Therefore, if there is any question regarding its location or identity, electrical stimulation can elicit EMG responses from the tongue or other appropriate muscles. When monitoring the function of all of these cranial nerves, caution must be taken with regard to the stimulation intensity that is used for eliciting EMG responses from the muscles that they innervate. If the intensity is too high, the resulting responses may be excessive and possibly injurious.

Although the amplitude of the EMG responses resulting from electrical stimulation of the various cranial nerves may vary, the responses are typically monitored by viewing their traces on an oscilloscope-type display with each trace dedicated to a particular cranial nerve. In addition, the surgeon may want to receive auditory feedback of the stimulus and any elicited EMG activity each time they stimulate. Therefore, most monitoring equipment comes equipped with a speaker system for this purpose.

However, the use of electrical stimulation to test cranial nerve function is necessarily only intermittent and, in addition, sometimes a nerve will be inaccessible to test because of the size of a tumor. Hence, even when a nerve is available for testing, this method cannot provide the desired ongoing functional assessment. In such cases, the use of multipulse transcranial electrical stimulation provides a means for continuous monitoring of cortibulbar pathway function. The technique involves the use of the same standard scalp stimulation sites and parameters that are routinely utilized to elicit transcranial motorevoked potentials (tcMEPs) (see Chap. 2, "Transcranial Motor-Evoked Potentials"). However, rather than recording these MEP responses from muscles in the extremities, the recordings are acquired from the same muscles in the face and head that are routinely used to monitor triggered and spontaneous EMG activity when assessing cranial nerve function in the traditional manner as discussed earlier. These responses are known as corticobulbar tract motor-evoked potentials (CBT-MEPs). The successful use of this corticobulbar technique during cerebellopontine angle (CPA) tumor removal when facial nerve function is at risk or for other skull base surgeries when the function of other cranial nerves is at risk, including the vagal nerve pathways, has been reported [35–38].

Brainstem Mapping

Brainstem mapping is a neurophysiologic technique for locating the cranial nerve motor nuclei (CMN) on the floor of the fourth ventricle. This technique has proven to be valuable for preventing damage to the CMN during surgery for the removal of tumors and other pathologies located in and around the brainstem [20, 39–43]. Occasionally, the surgeon is confronted with having to make a decision regarding the safest approach to reach structures below the brainstem surface. When this approach involves the floor of the fourth ventricle, stimulation of the floor at various locations using a handheld stimulation probe can result in EMG responses from various muscle groups that are innervated by cranial motor nerves of the head. These muscle responses can provide information regarding the location of various CMN and also safe entry points to the brainstem. The motor nuclei are generally located near specific anatomic landmarks such as the facial colliculus and striae medullares. However, even in normal patients, visualization of these landmarks is not always

apparent; when these landmarks become distorted due to the presence of a tumor, the locations of these nuclei become even more problematic. This is when this technique is of particular value. However, because it is only used intermittently during tumor resection to localize and confirm the location of CMN, it is only a mapping and not a monitoring technique. Unlike monitoring techniques, it is not used continuously to assess function and validate the integrity of neural pathways. Therefore, any neural damage that might occur during brainstem tumor resection would not be preventable using this technique.

Mapping Technique

Stimulation of the floor of the fourth ventricle is performed using a handheld monopolar stimulation probe with a tip that allows for very focal stimulation. The anode or return electrode is generally placed at Fz, near the front of the scalp. Stimulation consists of 0.2-ms pulses presented at a frequency of 4 Hz. The stimulation intensity is kept low and generally begins at 1.5– 2.0 mA. Once muscle responses are obtained, the intensity is gradually reduced in order to establish stimulation thresholds. This is generally between 0.3 and 2.0 mA [43].

As is the case with cranial nerve monitoring, recording electrodes are inserted into the appropriate muscle groups. These are placed in the extraocular muscles for mapping the cranial nerve III, IV, and VI motor nuclei. For the CMN VII, they are placed into the orbicularis oris and oculi muscles. For mapping the cranial nerve IX and X motor nuclei, the electrodes are inserted into the soft palate and posterior pharyngeal wall using direct laryngoscopy. Alternatively, a tracheal tube with attached electrodes can be used. For the CMN XI, electrodes are placed in the trapezius muscle, and for the CMN XII, electrodes are inserted into the lateral aspect of the tongue. The EMG responses that result from stimulation of these nuclei are typically several hundred microvolts in amplitude and can be recorded using a time base of 20 ms and a filter bandwidth between 50 and 2000 Hz.

Anesthetic Management

Because the EMG responses used for mapping purposes result from the activation of lower motor neurons, the anesthetics used for general anesthesia have little or no effect on these responses. Because lower motor neurons are being stimulated via the motor nuclei of cranial nerves or their intramedullary roots, as long as muscle relaxants are not utilized during the mapping and monitoring period, any type of anesthetic management is compatible with brain stem mapping.

Motor Strip Mapping

Identification of the motor cortex is typically performed by placing a recording grid of electrodes directly on the cortical surface of the pre- and post-central gyri. The contralateral median or ulnar nerves are then stimulated and the resulting somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) can be recorded from each of the grid electrodes. At the transition between the sensory and motor cortex, the elicited responses reverse polarity or undergo a phase reversal. In this way, in most instances, the location of the motor cortex can easily be identified. However, with distortion of the cortical anatomy that can occur as a result of the presence of a brain tumor, these results can become unreliable. Phase reversal may not be obtained and other techniques may have to be used. One of these techniques utilizes direct electrical stimulation of the cortical surface to elicit motor responses that can be visualized or to elicit EMG responses that can be recorded from various muscle groups of the limbs, face, or trunk [44]. Location of the lesion within or adjacent to the motor cortex will dictate what muscle groups to focus on. Subdermal needle electrodes are then placed within the appropriate muscles.

The surgeon uses a handheld stimulator to excite the cortex. The electrical stimulation technique relies on the activation of the cortical circuitry by means of a train of bipolar, biphasic short-duration (1 ms) rectangular electrical pulses. These pulses are applied at a rate of 50–60 Hz. The intensity of the stimulus is normally kept low (3–5 mA) and is gradually increased in 1- to 2-mA steps until motor responses are elicited. The duration of the stimulus train is typically applied for a few seconds in order to detect any elicited motor responses in the spontaneous EMG activity that is being observed. The surgeon notes the location of these occurrences and in this way is able to determine what tissue can be removed while still preserving function. Chapter 9 ("Cortical Mapping") provides a more comprehensive discussion of this topic.

Techniques for Assessing Nerve Root Function and Pedicle Screw Placement

The use of pedicle screws for spinal stabilization is becoming increasingly more common. However, proper placement of pedicle screws such that they do not irritate or injure nerve roots requires that the surgeon doing the screw placement be very experienced and knowledgeable about the anatomic characteristics of all aspects of the spine. Although a surgeon will rely on anatomic landmarks and fluoroscopy for accurate placement, the placement is still largely done blindly. Ideally, screw placement should result in the screws being placed within the pedicles with about 1 mm of bone between the lateral and medial walls of the pedicle and with no breaches of the pedicle walls. However, when significant deformity is present, even a skilled surgeon can misplace screws. Nerve roots tend to position themselves near the medial and inferior aspects of the pedicles as they exit the spinal canal through the spinal foramen. If screws are misplaced such that they protrude from the pedicle wall in either of these areas, they can cause nerve root irritation or injury. The current literature indicates that the incidence of screw placements that result in cortical perforations of the pedicle wall ranges between 5.4 and 40% [45]. Such events might go undetected because most surgeons are reluctant to visualize and validate screw placements unless such actions are warranted. To do so would require multiple laminotomies, which is time-consuming; in addition, these

actions by themselves could affect postoperative outcomes. As a result, fluoroscopy has largely been relied on to detect misplaced screws. The incidence of screws associated with neurologic functional impairment has been reported to range from 1% to more than 11% [46–49]. Improved imaging technology, including intraoperative computed axial tomography (CAT) scans and stereotactic imaging technology may help to reduce the incidence of misplaced screws. However, in the meantime, electrophysiologic techniques have evolved for monitoring and assessing screw placements that rely on the use of both spontaneous and triggered EMG activity.

Methodology

As indicated earlier, the purpose of monitoring during surgical procedures involving pedicle screw placements is to protect and preserve nerve root function. Because all nerve roots consist of both sensory and motor fibers, the monitoring techniques that can be used to assess nerve root function can involve the acquisition of either sensory or motor responses. The sensory responses that are mediated by a single nerve root are known as dermatomal evoked responses and can be elicited by electrically stimulating a specific body surface area known as a dermatome. These responses are mediated by the dorsal column pathways and can be recorded from the scalp, much like SSEPs [50]. Conversely, the responses that are mediated by the motor components of a single nerve root result from either direct or indirect mechanical or electrical stimulation of these motor components and consist of EMG activity from a group of muscles known as a myotome. Myotomes are the motor complement to dermatomes and myotomal distributions as with dermatomal distributions can be quite variable between individuals. Whereas a myotome is a group of muscles that receives innervation from a specific spinal nerve root, most muscles receive their efferent innervation from several nerve roots. Like the afferent innervation for dermatomes, the amount and type of efferent innervation to a muscle will vary between individuals. Typically, during pedicle screw placements, EMG

activity is recorded from several muscle groups using either surface or subdermal needle electrodes placed over or into these muscles. The selection of what muscle groups to monitor is dictated by which spinal nerve roots are at risk for irritation or injury. Although muscles typically receive their innervation from nerve roots associated with more than one spinal level, one spinal level generally predominates. The selection of what muscles to use for monitoring purposes is based on knowledge of this innervation. In most cases, recordings are made from muscles of the lower extremities because screw placement is generally done in the lumbosacral area of the spine where lumbar or sacral nerve roots are at risk. However, the mechanical advantages of pedicle fixation are not restricted to the lumbosacral spine. As a result, the use of pedicle screw placement in both the thoracic [51-60] and cervical [18, 61] regions of the spine has gained popularity. This has occurred despite the known risks to the spinal cord, nerve roots, and major blood vessels in these regions. In such cases, myogenic activity can be recorded from muscles innervated by cervical and/or thoracic nerve roots. Using this approach, monitoring of thoracic screw placement was first reported in 2001 [62]. However, this type of monitoring has had mixed success for thoracic screw placements [51, 54, 55, 57-59, 62]. In particular, the ability to detect medially misplaced thoracic screws has been very variable. As with the placement of lumbosacral instrumentation, nerve root injury can occur as a result of inferior, superior, or lateral pedicle screw placement. However, a thoracic screw that is misplaced too medially can result in a spinal cord injury. To avoid such occurrences, a technique has been developed that utilizes multipulse stimulation of the spinal cord, in particular the corticospinal tract, to elicit EMG responses from lower extremity musculature when a medial breach occurs [63]. This technique has been shown to successfully detect such occurrences [64, 65].

Because a single nerve root typically innervates more than one muscle, a choice between several muscles is possible when selecting a muscle for monitoring purposes. A list of those muscles that are commonly used for recording purposes and their innervation appears in Table 7.2. As with monitoring cranial nerve

function, EMG monitoring for pedicle screw placement and for surgical procedures in the region of the cauda equina consists of detecting two types of activity: spontaneous or free-running activity and triggered EMG activity. The activity of interest in both cases will consist of compound muscle action potentials (CMAPs), which are elicited either as a result of mechanical or electrical stimulation and are recorded from appropriate muscle groups (muscles that are innervated by nerve roots at risk for injury) using pairs of needle or surface electrodes. However, it has been reported that intramuscular electrodes are preferred over surface electrodes for obtaining these recordings [66]. When monitoring both types of activity, it is assumed that the muscles are sufficiently recovered from any muscle relaxants used so that activity can be elicited when stimulation occurs. For spontaneous activity, CMAP activity can generally be detected when train-of-four (TOF) testing produces only one twitch but having more than one twitch is desirable, because the amplitude of the CMAPS is reduced by muscle relaxants and small CMAPs may be missed if a patient is too relaxed. In most cases, nerve root irritation is an infrequent occurrence. As a result, the tracings of spontaneous EMG activity are generally flat and consist of little or no CMAP activity. When activity is present, it is generally associated with nerve root decompression (Fig. 7.2). Depending on the activated nerve root, the muscle groups being monitored, and the placement of the recording electrodes on or in these muscle groups will determine how many muscle groups are activated when stimulation occurs. This is true for triggered EMG activity as well.

Not all nerve roots react in the same manner when irritation occurs. Normal nerve roots and irritated or regenerating nerves in continuity react differently to mechanical forces. When such forces are statically or rapidly applied to normal nerve roots, they result in no elicited activity or only short-duration trains of CMAP activity [68]. However, when similar forces are applied to nerve roots that are already irritated or injured, they result in periods of firing of long duration. In cases of preexisting nerve root

Spinal	Nerve root				
region	innervation	Muscle groups			
Cervical	C2, C3, C4	Trapezius,			
		sternocleidomastoid			
	C5, C6	Biceps, deltoid			
	C6, C7	Triceps, flexor carpi radialis			
	C8, T1	Abductor pollicis brevis, Abductor digiti minimi			
Thoracic	T1, T2, T3, T4	Intercostals			
	T5, T6	Upper rectus abdominis, Intercostals			
	T7, T8	Middle rectus abdominis, Intercostals			
	T9, T10,	Lower rectus abdominis,			
	T11	Intercostals			
	T12	Inferior rectus abdominis, Intercostals			
Lumbar	L1	Psoas			
	L2, L3	Adductor magnus			
	L3, L4	Vastus medialis			
	L4, L5	Anterior tibialis			
	L5, S1	Peroneus longus			
Sacral	S1, S2	Medial gastrocnemius			
	S2, S3, S4	External anal sphincter			

Table 7.2 Muscle groups commonly used to assess pedicle screw placements based on their innervation

irritation, recordings of the activity will often consist of low-amplitude low-frequency activity even prior to mechanical irritation. Short aperiodic bursts of activity are common. Although attention should be paid to these, they are rarely indicative of neural injury. As indicated earlier, they are often associated with nerve root decompression and result from tugging and displacement, irrigation, electrocautery, metal-to-metal contact, or application of soaked pledgets. However, long trains of activity may be indicative of neural injury and are causes for concern and alarm. They are commonly related to sustained traction and compression and the more sustained the activity, the greater the likelihood of nerve root damage. When such activity occurs, it is imperative that the surgeon be notified so that corrective measures can immediately be taken. The presence of sustained spontaneous activity during both spinal and intracranial tumor removal surgeries

has been reported to correlate with postoperative motor deficits [69, 70]. The presence of continuous activity has been used as a means for determining where spinal decompression is needed [71] and even the adequacy of decompression [72]. However, the presence of continuous EMG activity in patients undergoing surgery for tethered cord syndrome has been reported to be a poor predictor of postoperative outcome, with a sensitivity of 100% but only a specificity of 19%, and suggests that continuous EMG monitoring and the understanding of its significance remains an evolving technique [73]. When the significance of EMG activity is questionable, the combined acquisition of MEPs and spontaneous EMG activity has been reported to provide a means for corroborating the significance of the EMG activity. The presence of sustained or the sudden loss of EMG activity is an indication for acquiring an MEP [74]. The complementary use of both of these monitoring modalities has been shown to be a means for detecting and minimizing both nerve root and spinal cord injuries [74–80].

During spinal fusion procedures involving pedicle screws, triggered as well as spontaneous EMG activity are utilized for monitoring purposes. Triggered activity is elicited in two ways: either through direct stimulation of nerve roots at risk for threshold determination purposes [45] or via indirect nerve root stimulation when pedicle screws are stimulated in order to assess their placement [47, 49, 52, 53]. Ideally, these two stimulation techniques should be used in conjunction with one another. Direct stimulation is used to determine if a nerve root has an elevated stimulation threshold; generally, the result of chronic nerve root compression as is the case when a radiculopathy is present. The indirect stimulation technique relies on data obtained from the stimulation of healthy, normal functioning nerve roots and is used for assessing the placement of pedicle screws [47]. These data indicate that normal nerve roots have an average stimulation threshold of about 2 mA and that under these circumstances, an indirect stimulation warning threshold of about 10 mA is adequate for detecting misplaced pedicle screws [47]. However, if a direct stimulation

10	MR	ECO	RD			#	1 NERV	EROC	DT L-	4+Ĺ	5	•••	elec Swit	CTRODE ICHING	16:48:	22
SI	ITE	H:	STO	AVG	G: ST	0P					~					
TE	1:E	L1 one	1 : PI	EDGL	Rat	e :	3.1Hz	Lev:	20.	0	n-R	Our :0.2	mş	Single	Delay: O	ms
T												-		Start:21-HR	- 1997 13:23	: 20
c		•		•	•			•	. 2	00	ms	Free	з L.1	:L4 L - 4:L4 L VRST.MED.	1:Gnd 1 Set:	x
								. 1		50	u٧	Filmp 1	-		1.0-1 1	
2	н—		··	····	-yv			HHH	HE		R.	Eree Eree	L.1	RNT.TIB.	Set:	x
							h. I. J I	. '					11	:L4 R - 12:L4 R	1:0nd 1	
э						_			2	00	mi	Free	R.	VAST. HED.	Set :	x
		•											13	:L5 R - 14:L5 R	1:0nd 1	
4									2	50	ms uV	Free Rmp 4	R.1	HNT.TIB.	3et :	x
		•	·		•	•		•	•				э ∟.`	:L4 L - 4;L4 L VAST.MED. EL1-	1;Gnd 1 1:PEDCL Set:	1
5						•	•			50	٩¥	Fimp 7				
	,		·	,	,		•			5	ms	Trig	5 	:L5 L - 6:L5 L ANT.TIB. EL1-	1:Gnd 1 1:PEDGL Set:	1
°					•					50	u٧	Amp 2				
_										5.	ms	Trig	11 R.	:L4 R - 12:L4 R VRST.MED. EL1-	1:Gnd 1 1:PEDCL Set:	1
1										50	u¥	Emp. 3				
8										5	ms	Trig	13 R.	RNT.TIB. EL1-	1:PEDGL Set:	: 1
				."						s0	ωV	Pimp ⊶4				
	sk S	ip a d							5151	18		Hemor	y:	0	1.0	HB

Fig. 7.2 Spontaneous EMG activity elicited from the left anterior tibialis muscle as a result of mechanical irritation of the left L5 nerve root. If the activity is of short duration (<1 s), it is generally considered not to be significant and rarely results in postoperative sequelae. However, if the activity is of a longer duration, it may be caused either by

mechanical irritation of a nerve root that is already irritated, or a nerve root injury. Such activity warrants notification of the surgeon and should be avoided in order to minimize any chance of a postoperative deficit. Reprinted from Toleikis et al. [67]; with permission

threshold is elevated (above 2 mA), the indirect stimulation detection threshold needs to be elevated as well in order to compensate. It has been reported that the direct stimulation thresholds for some chronically compressed nerve roots are as high as 20 mA [81]. If such elevated thresholds are not taken into account, they can lead to falsenegative findings, e.g., a screw that is reported to be adequately placed when in fact it is not. The physiologic factors that can contribute to falsenegative findings largely pertain to the health status of the nerve roots that are involved because the criteria for assessing pedicle screw placements are based on results involving healthy nerve roots. In addition, stimulation thresholds may be elevated when assessing patients with metabolic disorders such as diabetes. The obvious way to avoid such findings is to directly stimulate each nerve root at risk in order to ensure that it is functioning normally before pedicle screw stimulation. If decompression is already being performed, this may seem like a reasonable thing to do. However, if this is not the case, routine laminotomies to explore each nerve root are time-consuming and not without some degree of risk. Therefore, most surgeons choose not to directly stimulate each nerve root at risk prior to pedicle screw stimulation testing. In cases when patients do exhibit signs of nerve root malfunction, it is strongly recommended that direct nerve root stimulation be utilized in order to establish stimulation thresholds.

Although most surgeons prefer to use indirect stimulation for testing the placements of pedicle screws, the technique can also be used to test for breaches in the pedicle wall by stimulating the markers that are placed in the spinal pedicles. Fluoroscopy is generally used by surgeons to identify the potential trajectory of pedicle screws, the taps, and/or the pedicle screw holes prior to screw placements. Stimulation is typically performed using a ball-tipped probe with a needle electrode used as an anode to complete the return current path (Fig. 7.3). The same assessment criteria are used to determine if the pedicle wall has been breached regardless of whether a marker, tap, screw, or hole is stimulated. Although the technique is generally the same regardless of who is providing monitoring services, there is some variability in the stimulation parameters used [47-49, 51-53, 67, 81-86]. Stimulation rates have ranged from 1 to 5 Hz with pulse durations of 50-300 µs. Typically, the stimulation

intensity is gradually increased starting at or near zero until either CMAPs are elicited from one or more monitored muscle groups or a preset intensity limit is reached. The lack of elicited CMAP responses at intensities of 20-30 mA is probably a sufficient indication that a breach has not occurred even if nerve roots have elevated stimulation thresholds due to factors such as chronic nerve root compression. If EMG responses are elicited at stimulation intensities lower than a predetermined "warning threshold," the course of action is to advise the surgeon to examine the pedicle hole or the pedicle screw placement. Just as the stimulation parameters may vary among groups, so too do the "warning thresholds." Some have used stimulus intensities of 10 mA or greater, whereas others have used intensities of 8 mA or less as "warning thresholds" [84, 87– 90]. As indicated earlier, normal nerve roots have a stimulation threshold of about 2 mA [47]. This threshold depends on both the amplitude of the pulsatile stimulus as well as the stimulus pulse width. Therefore, different "warning thresholds" may result from different stimulus parameters. As indicated in Fig. 7.3, stimulation current can



Fig. 7.3 The stimulation technique used to assess pedicle screw placements that can also be used to test markers, the tap, and pedicle screw holes. The stimulation current can take many pathways as it returns to the anodal electrode that is placed in muscle tissue. The current will follow those pathways that provide the least resistance. In this case, the pedicle screw has broken through the wall of the pedicle and is situated very close to an emerging nerve root. The electrical current, following the path of least resistance

through the pedicle screw and the breach in the pedicle wall, is expected to excite the nerve root resulting in triggered EMG responses at a low stimulus intensity from those muscles that receive innervation from that nerve root. However, if the screw is in contact with fluid or tissue, current shunting can occur and only a fraction of the applied stimulus current will pass through the screw, resulting in elevated stimulation thresholds and possible false-negative findings. Reprinted from Toleikis [94]; with permission take many pathways but ultimately it will follow those that provide the least resistance. When a pedicle is intact, the pathway through bone is generally one of high resistance depending on bone density. However, when there is a breach of a medial or inferior pedicle wall, the fluid and tissue outside of the wall is likely to provide a path of least resistance. Now the distance from a stimulation probe or a screw becomes a factor. The intensity of the current that is present to excite a proximal nerve root will obey Coulomb's Law $(E = K[Q/r^2])$, where E = stimulating current present at a nerve root, K=a constant, Q=appliedstimulating current, and r=pedicle screw to nerve root distance, and will depend on the inverse square of the distance between the nerve root and the pedicle screw [91]. When testing a screw placement, the current intensity that is needed to elicit a CMAP response simply provides an indication of whether a breach is likely to have occurred and if it has, whether the position of the screw could potentially cause nerve root injury. A "warning threshold" of 10 mA is often used to assess whether such a breach has occurred; it is then verified either visually, or via palpation or fluoroscopy [47, 67]. In one study [67], it was found that on visual inspection by the operating surgeon, screws that require more than 7 mA of stimulation to elicit a CMAP response were associated with no breach, a cracked pedicle, or a slight medial exposure of one or two threads of the pedicle screw. In the surgeons' judgment, in most cases, such findings posed no threat to nerve root functional integrity or of neural injury and the screws were generally left in place. It was only those screws with stimulation thresholds of 5 mA or less that were typically removed or redirected. Those screws with stimulation thresholds in the 5-7 mA range were equally likely to be left in place or removed. It is noteworthy that none of the screws that were left in place (except one) resulted in new postoperative deficits, including two screws with thresholds of 4 and 5 mA-an indication that low stimulation thresholds, unless they are far below a "warning threshold," are unlikely to be associated with new postoperative neurologic findings. Therefore, a "warning threshold" is only that and is meant to

indicate when a screw has breached a pedicle wall such that its placement should not be ignored. The lower this "warning threshold" is set, the greater the likelihood that a screw with a lower stimulation threshold is misplaced and consideration should be given to having it removed. The results of other studies have suggested that a "warning threshold" should be set to at least 8 mA. However, it is more likely that only screws with stimulus threshold intensities less than 5 mA pose a real danger for nerve root injury [67, 88, 90, 92, 93]. Even in cases when radiographs are suggestive of adequate screw placement, low stimulation thresholds with resulting visual inspection or a postoperative CT have revealed that screw placements needed to be revised (Fig. 7.4).

Another factor that can contribute to stimulation thresholds being artificially elevated is current shunting, which results from fluid or tissue being in contact with the screws, thus allowing current to take an alternate additional pathway when screws are stimulated [94]. In such cases, only a fraction of the current that is being applied actually passes down the screw and is available to excite a nerve root if the screw placement has resulted in a breach of the pedicle wall (see Fig. 7.3). This is another way in which falsenegative findings can occur. In addition, some screws are made from a material such as titanium alloy, which is not a good current conductor, or are coated with a material such as hydroxyapatite, which is also not a good conductor and, as a result, stimulation testing can result in false-negative findings [95, 96]. Some screws are constructed in such a fashion that they do not allow current flow. It has been reported that if the top of polyaxial pedicle screws are stimulated rather than the stem of the screw, this can result in elevated stimulation thresholds [97]. In both instances, stimulation will result in current taking an alternate pathway to the anode rather than through the screw and can result in false-negative findings.

More recently, surgical procedures involving a lateral transposa approach to achieve interbody fusion in the lumbar spine using either the extreme lateral interbody fusion (XLIF) (Nuvasive) or direct lateral interbody fusion (DLIF) (Medtronic Sofamor-Danek) minimally invasive techniques



Fig. 7.4 Triggered EMG response elicited from the left anterior tibialis muscle as a result of stimulation of the left L5 screw at a stimulus intensity of 4.3 mA. The stimulus intensity was below the 10-mA warning threshold that is sugges-

tive of a possible breach of the pedicle wall. On visual inspection of the screw placement, it was found to be located in the spinal canal and thus removed. No postoperative deficits resulted. Reprinted from Toleikis [94]; with permission

have become an increasingly popular method to treat spinal disease. However, both techniques require dissection and dilation through the iliopsoas muscle, which places the lumbosacral plexus at risk for injury. While this is occurring, the visibility of the neural structures at risk is minimal. As a result, emphasis has been placed on the importance of performing these procedures with the aid of intraoperative monitoring so as to identify the proximity of nerves to the muscle dissection plane. To do so, spontaneous and triggered EMG monitoring are used often in conjunction with other monitoring modalities such as MEPs and SSEPs. EMG activity is recorded from muscle groups that receive their innervations from neural structures at risk. As dilation and dissection occur, the instrumentation for doing so is electrified such that proximity to neural structures is identified via triggered EMG responses that result from the application of Coulomb's law. The closeness of instrumentation to neural structures is determined by the intensity of the stimulation current that is required to elicit triggered EMG responses. As instrumentation approaches these structures, decreasing amounts of current are required to elicit CMAP responses. The use of this technique provides a means for avoiding neural structures as the instrumentation passes through the iliopsoas muscle on its way to the spine. However, use of the technique has had mixed results [98–100], with reports of new postoperative motor neuropraxia despite its use [98, 100]. These results appear to be associated with prolonged retraction time and suggest that this is a predictor of declining nerve integrity [100].

Anesthetic Management

The degree of muscle relaxation is the only anesthetic factor of concern when myogenic activity is used for monitoring purposes, and it cannot be overstated how important it is to have the patient adequately un-relaxed when pedicle screw testing is being performed. When monitoring nerve root function using spontaneous and/or triggered myogenic activity from appropriate muscle groups, it is imperative that these muscle groups be reactive to changes in nerve root function that result from a mechanical insult such as traction or compression of the nerve roots. The myogenic responses that result from such an insult are significantly affected by the degree of muscle relaxation. In addition, when electrical stimulation is used to either directly or indirectly stimulate nerve roots, the degree of muscle relaxation can significantly influence the stimulation thresholds at which responses are elicited. Therefore, it would be ideal if no muscle relaxants were used when monitoring myogenic activity and, in fact, some neurophysiologists insist on patients being totally un-relaxed when monitoring. However, in many clinical settings, this degree of relaxation may be difficult if not impossible to achieve because some surgeons may feel that it compromises their ability to adequately perform surgery. What generally occurs in these situations is that muscle relaxation is used during the exposure period when there is frequent use of the Bovie knife, which makes continuous monitoring difficult. In addition, there is a low risk of neurologic injury during this time. The muscle relaxation is then allowed to wear off so that the patient is sufficiently un-relaxed, permitting monitoring during the periods of surgery that are associated with a higher risk of injury.

An accurate assessment of the degree of muscle relaxation is essential. An effective means for making the assessment is to use the TOF technique. For the hands, the ulnar nerve can be stimulated at the wrist and CMAPs can be elicited and recorded from the adductor digiti minimi or thenar muscles. For the legs, the peroneal nerve can be stimulated at the fibular head and CMAPs can be recorded from the anterior tibialis muscle. Although the anesthesiologist often has access to the hands and can make an assessment of the degree of relaxation, TOF testing for monitoring purposes should be done by the person providing the monitoring rather than the anesthesiologist for several reasons. First, the anesthesiologist typically uses a small portable battery-driven device to perform a TOF assessment. Depending on how these devices are used, findings can sometimes be erroneous. Second, the anesthesiologist's assessment of TOF testing is a subjective one. It is based on visible twitches from muscle groups that the anesthesiologist has access to, e.g., either the hand or facial muscles. However, it is unlikely that these muscles will be relaxed to the same degree as leg muscles, which are the muscles of interest when pedicle screw stimulation is performed. In addition, the device that the anesthesiologist uses has an output stimulation intensity of 80 mA-greater than that typically used by monitoring personnel with their devices. As a result, the perception that a patient is sufficiently un-relaxed for testing purposes based on the responses from face or hand muscles may be false and may lead to false-negative findings. Finally, it is appropriate that the person providing the monitoring be responsible for guaranteeing that the test results are accurate by doing their own TOF testing of leg musculature. Their machine may provide more accurate results than that of the anesthesiologist. However, their findings can also be erroneous due to technical and other factors. Therefore, it is useful for the person providing the monitoring and the anesthesiologist to periodically compare relaxant findings.

The issue of how relaxed a patient must be in order to accurately assess both spontaneous and triggered myogenic activity remains controversial [101]. Chapter 19 ("Anesthesia Management and Intraoperative Electrophysiological Monitoring")
provides a much fuller discussion of muscle relaxants. Clearly, 100% blockade is not suitable for making these assessments. On the other hand, although it may be ideal from a monitoring perspective to insist on no blockade for making these assessments, it may not be necessary or even feasible. A surgeon may feel that at least partial muscle relaxation is essential for adequate exposure and accurate screw placement. From personal experience, as indicated earlier, spontaneous EMG activity can be elicited and observed when one twitch out of a TOF or 90% neuromuscular blockade is present but, for accuracy purposes, it is preferable that patients be less relaxed. However, relaxant levels become a lot more stringent when triggered EMG is used for assessment purposes. If a patient is too relaxed when testing is performed, the stimulation thresholds are likely to be artificially elevated, which can lead to falsenegative findings. It has been reported that the minimal criterion for making such assessments is the presence of a fourth twitch when TOF testing is performed [67, 102]. Using an amplitude ratio of the fourth to the first twitch to determine adequacy of relaxation criteria for accurately assessing pedicle screw placements, our findings suggest that this ratio must be 0.1 or higher [94] (Fig. 7.5). Direct electrical stimulation of nerve



Fig. 7.5 Train-of-four testing. The right side of the figure indicates four EMG responses from the right anterior tibialis muscle that resulted from four 2 Hz 0.3-ms pulse stimuli being presented to the right peroneal nerve at the head of the fibula at an intensity of 40 mA. Excessive relaxation levels

can result in elevated stimulation thresholds and false-negative findings during screw testing. For accurate results, the patient should have at least four twitches present, with a twitch four to twitch one amplitude ratio of at least 0.1–0.2. Reprinted from Toleikis et al. [67]; with permission roots is another means for determining whether the degree of muscle relaxation is sufficient for accurate assessments. If a healthy nerve root is stimulated using a constant current stimulation intensity between 2 and 4 mA and no myogenic responses are elicited, it is likely that the degree of muscle relaxant is contributing to elevated stimulation thresholds and potentially incorrect monitoring findings.

H-Reflex Testing

Two techniques have been traditionally used to monitor spinal cord function: SSEPs and TcMEPs. These techniques are a means for assessing long tract sensory and motor function. Although preservation of this function is necessary in order to interact with our environment in a normal fashion, the monitoring techniques that are used to preserve this function are not sufficient to ensure that complex coordinated motor function remains intact [103]. Simply preserving the ability to walk does not guarantee that the ability to dance or to perform other complex motor functions has been preserved. Such functions rely on and are controlled by groups of electrically coupled spinal cord central pattern generators (CPGs). The components that contribute to these generators consist of descending and propriospinal pathways in addition to peripheral input and segmental interneurons. It is the interneurons that integrate and summate the excitatory and inhibitory effects of the other components and determine their level of excitation. This level of excitation is reflected in the activity that can be elicited and recorded from muscle groups that they innervate. If there is a disruption in the input to the interneurons, it will be reflected in the activity of the muscles that rely on the descending influences of these interneurons.

H-reflex muscle responses are monosynaptic and result from processing at a single segment of the spinal cord. They are of short latency, short duration, simple configuration, and high amplitude. If an acute transection of the spinal cord were to occur, the result would be spinal shock, which is characterized by complete paralysis, hyporeflexia, loss of sensation, and muscle hypotonia distal to the lesion. The hyporeflexia may be due to an increase in the efficacy of presynaptic inhibition because this type of spinal cord insult disrupts the suprasegmental influences that mediate presynaptic inhibition. This hyperpolarization of motor neurons is thought to be caused by decreased suprasegmental facilitation of motor neurons, which normally keeps them slightly hypopolarized. Over time, the presynaptic inhibition subsides, resulting in enhanced spinal reflexes.

H-reflex responses reflect the level of excitation of a large percentage of the motor neuron pool in the spinal gray matter [104, 105]. As a result, these responses may be more helpful than SSEPs in detecting intraoperative spinal cord ischemic insults because gray matter excitability is depressed more than white matter excitability when such an insult occurs. In animals, the dorsal horn potentials that result from postsynaptic gray matter activity disappear within 3-5 min when cessation of spinal cord perfusion occurs, whereas SSEPs mediated by the posterior column white matter tracts remain for 12-15 min [106]. A thorough discussion of this monitoring modality appears in Chap. 8, "The Use of Reflex Responses for IOM."

H-Reflex Response Acquisition

The H-reflex response is a CMAP recorded from muscle, which results from what is believed to be electrical activation of a monosynaptic reflex. The first part of the reflex pathway is the afferent or sensory portion and involves activation of large 1a nerve fibers which originate in muscle. This activation typically results from stimulation of the posterior tibial nerve at the popliteal fossa. Because the nerve is made up of both sensory and motor components, stimulation results in both orthodromic and antidromic sensory and motor activity, respectively. With supramaximal stimulation, the antidromic motor activity ascends to the spinal cord and invades motor neurons in the ventral gray matter, which are activated. This results in orthodromic motor conduction down the same motor fibers to muscle, which produces



Fig. 7.6 Monitoring with H-reflex responses. H-reflex responses were elicited continuously using 0.1-Hz single-pulse stimulation (1000 µs duration, 2–35 mA) of the posterior tibial nerves at the popliteal fossae and recorded bilaterally from the medial gastrocnemius muscles. Use of

SSEPs and MEPs represents the gold standard for monitoring neural function during spinal surgery. However, the ability to reliably acquire H-reflex responses when SSEPs and MEPs could not be obtained makes them a potentially useful complement to or substitute for these latter modalities

an F response. The orthodromic sensory activity is mediated by the 1a nerve fibers and ascends to the spinal cord where it enters the dorsal horn via the dorsal roots and then synapses with motor neurons. Activation of these motor neurons then results in efferent orthodromic conduction through motor fibers that are located in the same homologous spinal segment as the 1a afferent fibers, which then activates muscles in the legs. H-reflex responses can be recorded from several muscles in the adult. However, the reflex is most often acquired from the gastrocnemius muscle following stimulation of the tibial nerve at the popliteal fossa. In order to excite the fastconducting, low-threshold 1a fibers, long duration 1000-µs low-intensity pulses are presented at a low stimulation rate (0.1-0.5 Hz) to the peripheral nerve which, as indicated earlier, consists of both sensory and motor fibers. The intensity of the stimulation is gradually increased from 0 mA and because 1a sensory fibers are activated before motor fibers, the H-reflex appears before what is known as the M-wave. When the M-wave does

occur, it is the result of orthodromic conduction from the stimulation site to the muscle. Hence, it will have a very short latency compared to the H-reflex response (Fig. 7.6). The H-reflex response usually reaches its peak amplitude at or just before the M-wave appears. Further increases in stimulation intensity result in larger amplitude M responses and smaller amplitude H responses until no further increases in the amplitude of the M responses occur and the H responses have largely disappeared only to be replaced by the F response. Once an H-reflex response has been acquired and the stimulus intensity is kept constant for each subsequent stimulus, the responses will be short latency, short duration responses with a simple configuration and constant amplitudes. In order to determine if the CMAP response is an H-reflex response, the amplitude of the response should exceed the amplitude of the M-wave, and the waveform configuration and latency should remain constant each time a stimulation pulse is presented. Intraoperative normal parameters have not been established for the

latency of these responses, which are age and height dependent. However, in a clinical setting, the mean latency has been found to be 28.9 ± 2.7 ms in awake human [103]. In the operating room, these onset latencies are likely to be greater due to decreased limb temperatures.

Anesthetic Management

The amplitudes of both the H-reflex and M-wave responses may be reduced because of the use of neuromuscular junction blocking agents. Like any of the other monitoring modalities that rely on the presence of either mechanically elicited spontaneous or electrically elicited triggered myogenic activity to make assessments of neurologic function, controlled usage of these agents is essential in order to avoid false-negative monitoring findings. The H-reflex can be monitored using maintenance anesthetic management consisting of less than a 0.5 MAC of any inhalational agent and a continuous infusion of any narcotic. This anesthetic management will also usually allow for other monitoring modalities such as SSEPs, MEPs, and spontaneous and triggered EMG to be used in conjunction with H-reflex monitoring.

References

- 1. Hilger JA. Facial nerve stimulator. Trans Am Acad Ophthalmol Otolaryngol. 1964;68:74–6.
- Rand RW, Kurze TL. Facial nerve preservation by posterior fossa transmeatal microdissection in total removal of acoustic tumors. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1965;28:311–6.
- Al-Mefty O, Holoubi A, Rifai A, Fox JL. Microsurgical removal of suprasellar meningiomas. Neurosurgery. 1985;16:364–72.
- Prass RL, Lüders H. Acoustic (loudspeaker) facial electromyographic monitoring: Part 1. Evoked electromyographic activity during acoustic neuroma resection. Neurosurgery. 1986;19:392–400.
- Sekhar LN, Møller AR. Operative management of tumors involving the cavernous sinus. J Neurosurg. 1986;64:879–89.
- Harner SG, Daube JR, Ebersold MJ, Beatty CW. Improved preservation of facial nerve function with use of electrical monitoring during removal of acoustic neuromas. Mayo Clin Proc. 1987;62:92–102.

- Prass RL, Kinney SE, Hardy RW, Hahn JF, Lüders H. Acoustic (loudspeaker) facial EMG monitoring: II. Use of evoked EMG activity during acoustic neuroma resection. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1987;97:541–51.
- Yingling CD, Gardi JN. Intraoperative monitoring of facial and cochlear nerves during acoustic neuroma surgery. Otolaryngol Clin North Am. 1992;25:413–48.
- Yingling C, Gardi J. Intraoperative monitoring in skull base surgery. In: Jackler R, Brachmann D, editors. Neurotology. St. Louis: Mosby Year Book; 1994. p. 967–1002.
- Selesnick SH, Goldsmith DF. Issues in the optimal selection of a cranial nerve monitoring system. Skull Base Surg. 1993;3:230–9.
- Romstöck J, Strauss C, Fahlbusch R. Continuous electromyography monitoring of motor cranial nerves during cerebellopontine angle surgery. J Neurosurg. 2000;93:586–93.
- Prell J, Rampp S, Rachinger J, Scheller C, Naraghi R, Strauss C. Spontaneous electromyographic activity during microvascular decompression in trigeminal neuralgia. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;25:225–32.
- Prell J, Rachinger J, Scheller C, Alfieri A, Strauss C, Rampp S. A real-time monitoring system for the facial nerve. Neurosurgery. 2010;66:1064–73.
- Chiara J, Kinney G, Slimp J, Lee GS, Oliaei S, Perkins JA. Facial nerve mapping and monitoring in lymphatic malformation surgery. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2009;73:1348–52.
- Dillon FX. Electromyographic (EMG) neuromonitoring in otolaryngology-head and neck surgery. Anesthesiol Clin. 2010;28:423–42.
- 16. Dimopoulos VG, Chung I, Lee GP, Johnston KW, Kapsalakis IZ, Smisson HF, et al. Quantitative estimation of the recurrent laryngeal nerve irritation by employing spontaneous intraoperative electromyographic monitoring during anterior cervical discectomy and fusion. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2009;22:1–7.
- 17. Genther DJ, Kandil EH, Noureldine SI, Tufano RP. Correlation of final evoked potential amplitudes on intraoperative electromyography of the recurrent laryngeal nerve with immediate postoperative vocal fold function after thyroid and parathyroid surgery. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2014;140:124–8.
- Holdefer RN, Heffez DS, Cohen BA. Utility of evoked EMG monitoring to improve bone screw placements in the cervical spine. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2013;26:E163–9.
- Jahangiri FR, Minhas M, Jane J. Preventing lower cranial nerve injuries during fourth ventricle tumor resection by utilizing intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring. Neurodiagn J. 2012;52:320–32.
- Sala F, Manganotti P, Tramontano V, Bricolo A, Gerosa M. Monitoring of motor pathways during brain stem surgery: what we have achieved and what we still miss? Neurophysiol Clin. 2007;37:399–406.

- 21. San-juan D, Barges-Coll J, Gómez Amador JL, Díaz MP, Alarcón AV, Escanio E, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of the abducens nerve in extended endonasal endoscopic approach: a pilot study technical report. J Electromyogr Kinesiol. 2014;24:558–64.
- Skinner SA. Neurophysiologic monitoring of the spinal accessory nerve, hypoglossal nerve, and the spinomedullary region. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;28:587–98.
- 23. Son BC, Lee SW, Kim S, Hong JT, Sung JH, Yang S-H. Transzygomatic approach with intraoperative neuromonitoring for resection of middle cranial fossa tumors. J Neurol Surg B Skull Base. 2012;73:28–35.
- 24. Lin N, Bebawy JF, Hua L, Wang BG. Is spinal anaesthesia at L2–L3 interspace safe in disorders of the vertebral column? A magnetic resonance imaging study. Br J Anaesth. 2010;105:857–62.
- Sugita K, Kobayashi S. Technical and instrumental improvements in the surgical treatment of acoustic neurinomas. J Neurosurg. 1982;57:747–52.
- Silverstein H, Smouha E, Jones R. Routine identification of the facial nerve using electrical stimulation during otological and neurotological surgery. Laryngoscope. 1988;98:726–30.
- Moller A. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring. Luxembourg: Harwood Academic; 1995.
- Moller A. Intraoperative monitoring of evoked potentials: an update. In: Wilkins R, Rengachery S, editors. Neurosurgery update 1: diagnosis, operative technique, and neuro-oncology. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1990. p. 169–76.
- Daube J. Intraoperative monitoring of cranial motor nerves. In: Schramm J, Moller A, editors. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring in neurosurgery. Heidelberg: Springer; 1991. p. 246–67.
- Moller A. Monitoring and mapping the cranial nerves and the brainstem. In: Deletis V, Shils J, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery. San Diego, CA: Academic; 2002. p. 291–318.
- 31. Prell J, Rampp S, Romstöck J, Fahlbusch R, Strauss C. Train time as a quantitative electromyographic parameter for facial nerve function in patients undergoing surgery for vestibular schwannoma. J Neurosurg. 2007;106:826–32.
- Lu AY, Yeung JT, Gerrard JL, Michaelides EM, Sekula RF, Bulsara KR. Hemifacial spasm and neurovascular compression. ScientificWorldJournal. 2014;2014:349319.
- Karlikaya G, Citçi B, Güçlü B, Türe H, Türe U, Bingöl CA. Spinal accessory nerve monitoring in posterior fossa surgery. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;25:346–50.
- Holdefer RN, Kinney GA, Robinson LR, Slimp JC. Alternative sites for intraoperative monitoring of cranial nerves X and XII during intracranial surgeries. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2013;30:275–9.
- 35. Dong CCJ, MacDonald DB, Akagami R, Westerberg B, AlKhani A, Kanaan I, et al. Intraoperative facial motor evoked potential monitoring with transcranial

electrical stimulation during skull base surgery. Clin Neurophysiol. 2005;16:588–96.

- 36. Deletis V, Fernandez-Conejero I, Ulkatan S, Costantino P. Methodology for intraoperatively eliciting motor evoked potentials in the vocal muscles by electrical stimulation of the corticobulbar tract. Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;120:336–41.
- 37. Morota N, Ihara S, Deletis V. Intraoperative neurophysiology for surgery in and around the brainstem: role of brainstem mapping and corticobulbar tract motor-evoked potential monitoring. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26:513–21.
- Deletis V, Fernandez-Conejero I, Ulkatan S, Rogic M, Carbo EL, Hiltzik D. Methodology for intraoperative recording of the corticobulbar motor evoked potentials from cricothyroid muscles. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;122:1883–9.
- Katsuta T, Morioka T, Fujii K, Fukui M. Physiological localization of the facial colliculus during direct surgery on an intrinsic brain stem lesion. Neurosurgery. 1993;32:861–3. comment 863.
- Strauss C, Romstöck J, Nimsky C, Fahlbusch R. Intraoperative identification of motor areas of the rhomboid fossa using direct stimulation. J Neurosurg. 1993;79:393–9.
- 41. Morota N, Deletis V, Epstein FJ, Kofler M, Abbott R, Lee M, et al. Brain stem mapping: neurophysiological localization of motor nuclei on the floor of the fourth ventricle. Neurosurgery. 1995;37:922–9. discussion 929–30.
- Morota N, Deletis V, Lee M, Epstein FJ. Functional anatomic relationship between brain-stem tumors and cranial motor nuclei. Neurosurgery. 1996;39:787–93. discussion 793–4.
- Morota N, Deletis V, Epstein FJ. Brainstem mapping. In: Neurophysiology in neurosurgery. San Diego, CA: Academic; 2002. p. 319–35.
- 44. Maertens de Noordhout A, Born JD, Hans P, Remacle JM, Delwaide PJ. Intraoperative localisation of the primary motor cortex using single electrical stimuli. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1996;60:442–4.
- Gertzbein SD, Robbins SE. Accuracy of pedicular screw placement in vivo. Spine. 1990;15:11–4.
- Calancie B, Lebwohl N, Madsen P, Klose KJ. Intraoperative evoked EMG monitoring in an animal model. A new technique for evaluating pedicle screw placement. Spine. 1992;17:1229–35.
- Calancie B, Madsen P, Lebwohl N. Stimulus-evoked EMG monitoring during transpedicular lumbosacral spine instrumentation. Initial clinical results. Spine. 1994;19:2780–6.
- Clements DH, Morledge DE, Martin WH, Betz RR. Evoked and spontaneous electromyography to evaluate lumbosacral pedicle screw placement. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1996;21:600–4.
- Darden BV, Wood KE, Hatley MK, Owen JH, Kostuik J. Evaluation of pedicle screw insertion monitored by intraoperative evoked electromyography. J Spinal Disord. 1996;9:8–16.

- Toleikis JR, Carlvin AO, Shapiro DE, Schafer MF. The use of dermatomal evoked responses during surgical procedures that use intrapedicular fixation of the lumbosacral spine. Spine. 1993;18:2401–7.
- Shi Y, Binette M, Martin WH, Pearson JM, Hart RA. Electrical stimulation for intraoperative evaluation of thoracic pedicle screw placement. Spine. 2003;15:595–601.
- 52. Rodriguez-Olaverri JC, Zimick NC, Merola A, De Blas G, Burgos J, Piza-Vallespir G, et al. Using triggered electromyographic threshold in the intercostal muscles to evaluate the accuracy of upper thoracic pedicle screw placement (T3–T6). Spine. 2008;33:E194–7.
- Norton JA, Hedden DM. Monitoring placement of high thoracic pedicle screws by triggered electromyography of the intercostal muscles. Can J Surg. 2009;52:E47–8.
- 54. De Blas G, Barrios C, Regidor I, Montes E, Burgos J, Pizá-Vallespir G, et al. Safe pedicle screw placement in thoracic scoliotic curves using t-EMG: stimulation threshold variability at concavity and convexity in apex segments. Spine. 2012;37:E387–95.
- Lewis SJ, Lenke LG, Raynor B, Long J, Bridwell KH, Padberg A. Triggered electromyographic threshold for accuracy of thoracic pedicle screw placement in a porcine model. Spine. 2001;26:2485– 9. discussion 2490.
- 56. Montes E, De Blas G, Regidor I, Barrios C, Burgos J, Hevia E, et al. Electromyographic thresholds after thoracic screw stimulation depend on the distance of the screw from the spinal cord and not on pedicle cortex integrity. Spine J. 2012;12:127–32.
- Raynor BL, Lenke LG, Kim Y, Hanson DS, Wilson-Holden TJ, Bridwell KH, et al. Can triggered electromyograph thresholds predict safe thoracic pedicle screw placement? Spine. 2002;27:2030–5.
- 58. Regidor I, de Blas G, Barrios C, Burgos J, Montes E, García-Urquiza S, et al. Recording triggered EMG thresholds from axillary chest wall electrodes: a new refined technique for accurate upper thoracic (T2– T6) pedicle screw placement. Eur Spine J. 2011;20:1620–5.
- 59. Samdani AF, Tantorski M, Cahill PJ, Ranade A, Koch S, Clements DH, et al. Triggered electromyography for placement of thoracic pedicle screws: is it reliable? Eur Spine J. 2011;20:869–74.
- Silverstein JW, Mermelstein LE. Utilization of paraspinal muscles for triggered EMG during thoracic pedicle screw placement. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2010;50:37–49.
- Djurasovic M, Dimar JR, Glassman SD, Edmonds HL, Carreon LY. A prospective analysis of intraoperative electromyographic monitoring of posterior cervical screw fixation. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2005;18:515–8.
- Danesh-Clough T, Taylor P, Hodgson B, Walton M. The use of evoked EMG in detecting misplaced thoracolumbar pedicle screws. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2001;26:1313–6.

- Donohue ML, Murtagh-Schaffer C, Basta J, Moquin RR, Bashir A, Calancie B. Pulse-train stimulation for detecting medial malpositioning of thoracic pedicle screws. Spine. 2008;33:E378–85.
- 64. Calancie B, Donohue ML, Harris CB, Canute GW, Singla A, Wilcoxen KG, et al. Neuromonitoring with pulse-train stimulation for implantation of thoracic pedicle screws: a blinded and randomized clinical study. Part 1. Methods and alarm criteria. J Neurosurg Spine. 2014;20:675–91.
- 65. Calancie B, Donohue ML, Moquin RR. Neuromonitoring with pulse-train stimulation for implantation of thoracic pedicle screws: a blinded and randomized clinical study. Part 2. The role of feedback. J Neurosurg Spine. 2014;20:692–704.
- 66. Skinner SA, Transfeldt EE, Savik K. Surface electrodes are not sufficient to detect neurotonic discharges: observations in a porcine model and clinical review of deltoid electromyographic monitoring using multiple electrodes. J Clin Monit Comput. 2008;22:131–9.
- Toleikis JR, Skelly JP, Carlvin AO, Toleikis SC, Bernard TN, Burkus JK, et al. The usefulness of electrical stimulation for assessing pedicle screw placements. J Spinal Disord. 2000;13:283–9.
- Howe JF, Loeser JD, Calvin WH. Mechanosensitivity of dorsal root ganglia and chronically injured axons: a physiological basis for the radicular pain of nerve root compression. Pain. 1977;3:25–41.
- Holland NR, Kostuik JP. Continuous electromyographic monitoring to detect nerve root injury during thoracolumbar scoliosis surgery. Spine. 1997;22:2547–50.
- Gläsker S, Pechstein U, Vougioukas VI, Van Velthoven V. Monitoring motor function during resection of tumours in the lower brain stem and fourth ventricle. Childs Nerv Syst. 2006;22:1288–95.
- 71. Jimenez JC, Sani S, Braverman B, Deutsch H, Ratliff JK. Palsies of the fifth cervical nerve root after cervical decompression: prevention using continuous intraoperative electromyography monitoring. J Neurosurg Spine. 2005;3:92–7.
- Chappuis JL, Johnson G. Using intraoperative electrophysiologic monitoring as a diagnostic tool for determining levels to decompress in the cervical spine: a case report. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2007;20:403–7.
- 73. Paradiso G, Lee GYF, Sarjeant R, Hoang L, Massicotte EM, Fehlings MG. Multimodality intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring findings during surgery for adult tethered cord syndrome: analysis of a series of 44 patients with long-term follow-up. Spine. 2006;31:2095–102.
- 74. Skinner SA, Transfeldt EE, Mehbod AA, Mullan JC, Perra JH. Electromyography detects mechanicallyinduced suprasegmental spinal motor tract injury: review of decompression at spinal cord level. Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;120:754–64.
- 75. Bose B, Sestokas AK, Schwartz DM. Neurophysiological detection of iatrogenic C-5 nerve

deficit during anterior cervical spinal surgery. J Neurosurg Spine. 2007;6:381–5.

- Mok JM, Lyon R, Lieberman JA, Cloyd JM, Burch S. Monitoring of nerve root injury using transcranial motor-evoked potentials in a pig model. Spine. 2008;33:E465–73.
- Skinner SA, Transfeldt EE. Electromyography in the detection of mechanically induced spinal motor tract injury: observations in diverse porcine models. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;11:369–74.
- Macdonald DB, Stigsby B, Al Homoud I, Abalkhail T, Mokeem A. Utility of motor evoked potentials for intraoperative nerve root monitoring. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2012;29:118–25.
- 79. Bhalodia VM, Schwartz DM, Sestokas AK, Bloomgarden G, Arkins T, Tomak P, et al. Efficacy of intraoperative monitoring of transcranial electrical stimulation-induced motor evoked potentials and spontaneous electromyography activity to identify acute-versus delayed-onset C-5 nerve root palsy during cervical spine surgery: clinical article. J Neurosurg Spine. 2013;19:395–402.
- Fotakopoulos G, Alexiou GA, Pachatouridis D, Karagiorgiadis D, Konitsiotis S, Kyritsis AP, et al. The value of transcranial motor-evoked potentials and free-running electromyography in surgery for cervical disc herniation. J Clin Neurosci. 2013;20:263–6.
- Holland NR, Lukaczyk TA, Riley LH, Kostuik JP. Higher electrical stimulus intensities are required to activate chronically compressed nerve roots. Implications for intraoperative electromyographic pedicle screw testing. Spine. 1998;23:224–7.
- Maguire J, Wallace S, Madiga R, Leppanen R, Draper V. Evaluation of intrapedicular screw position using intraoperative evoked electromyography. Spine. 1995;20:1068–74.
- 83. Glassman SD, Dimar JR, Puno RM, Johnson JR, Shields CB, Linden RD. A prospective analysis of intraoperative electromyographic monitoring of pedicle screw placement with computed tomographic scan confirmation. Spine. 1995;20:1375–9.
- Isley M, Pearlman R, Wadsworth J. Recent advances in intraoperative neuromonitoring of spinal cord function: pedicle screw stimulation techniques. Neurodiagn J. 1997;37:93–126.
- Lenke LG, Padberg AM, Russo MH, Bridwell KH, Gelb DE. Triggered electromyographic threshold for accuracy of pedicle screw placement. An animal model and clinical correlation. Spine. 1995;20:1585–91.
- Isley MR, Zhang X-F, Balzer JR, Leppanen RE. Current trends in pedicle screw stimulation techniques: lumbosacral, thoracic, and cervical levels. Neurodiagn J. 2012;52:100–75.
- Bose B, Wierzbowski LR, Sestokas AK. Neurophysiologic monitoring of spinal nerve root function during instrumented posterior lumbar spine surgery. Spine. 2002;27:1444–50.

- Raynor BL, Lenke LG, Bridwell KH, Taylor BA, Padberg AM. Correlation between low triggered electromyographic thresholds and lumbar pedicle screw malposition: analysis of 4857 screws. Spine. 2007;32:2673–8.
- 89. Parker SL, Amin AG, Farber SH, McGirt MJ, Sciubba DM, Wolinsky J-P, et al. Ability of electromyographic monitoring to determine the presence of malpositioned pedicle screws in the lumbosacral spine: analysis of 2450 consecutively placed screws. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011;15:130–5.
- 90. Lee CH, Kim HW, Kim HR, Lee CY, Kim JH, Sala F. Can triggered electromyography thresholds assure accurate pedicle screw placements? A systematic review and meta-analysis of diagnostic test accuracy. Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;126:2019–25.
- Urmey WF. Using the nerve stimulator for peripheral or plexus nerve blocks. Minerva Anestesiol. 2006;72:467–71.
- Skinner SA, Rippe DM. Threshold testing of lumbosacral pedicle screws: a reappraisal. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2012;29:493–501.
- Nichols GS, Manafov E. Utility of electromyography for nerve root monitoring during spinal surgery. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2012;29:140–8.
- Toleikis J. Neurophysiological monitoring during pedicle screw placement. In: Deletis V, Shils J, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery. San Diego, CA: Academic; 2002. p. 231–64.
- 95. Donohue ML, Swaminathan V, Gilbert JL, Fox CW, Smale J, Moquin RR, et al. Intraoperative neuromonitoring: can the results of direct stimulation of titanium-alloy pedicle screws in the thoracic spine be trusted? J Clin Neurophysiol. 2012;29:502–8.
- 96. Davis TT, Tadlock S, Bernbeck J, Fung DA, Molinares DM. Can triggered electromyography be used to evaluate pedicle screw placement in hydroxyapatite-coated screws: an electrical examination. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2014;31:138–42.
- Anderson DG, Wierzbowski LR, Schwartz DM, Hilibrand AS, Vaccaro AR, Albert TJ. Pedicle screws with high electrical resistance: a potential source of error with stimulus-evoked EMG. Spine. 2002;27:1577–81.
- Houten JK, Alexandre LC, Nasser R, Wollowick AL. Nerve injury during the transpsoas approach for lumbar fusion. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011;15:280–4.
- 99. Jahangiri FR, Sherman JH, Holmberg A, Louis R, Elias J, Vega-Bermudez F. Protecting the genitofemoral nerve during direct/extreme lateral interbody fusion (DLIF/XLIF) procedures. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2010;50:321–35.
- 100. Uribe JS, Isaacs RE, Youssef JA, Khajavi K, Balzer JR, Kanter AS, et al. Can triggered electromyography monitoring throughout retraction predict post-operative symptomatic neuropraxia after XLIF? Results from a prospective multicenter trial. Eur Spine J. 2015;24 Suppl 3:378–85.

- Sloan TB. Muscle relaxant use during intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2013;27:35–46.
- 102. Holland NR. Intraoperative electromyography during thoracolumbar spinal surgery. Spine. 1998;23:1915–22.
- Leppanen RE. Intraoperative applications of the H-reflex and F-response: a tutorial. J Clin Monit Comput. 2006;20:267–304.
- 104. Táboríková H, Sax DS. Motoneurone pool and the H-reflex. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1968;31:354–61.
- 105. Kimura J. Principles of nerve conduction studies. In: Kimura J, editor. Electrodiagnosis in diseases of nerve and muscle: principles and practice. Philadelphia: FA Davis; 1983. p. 353–98.
- Slimp JC. Electrophysiologic intraoperative monitoring for spine procedures. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2004;15:85–105.

The Use of Reflex Responses for IOM

8

Ronald Leppanen

Introduction

There are three goals for intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring. The first is to reduce the risk of neurologic complications by detecting insult to neuronal structures. The second is to provide guidance that may affect a surgeon's approach or actions, such as mapping the location of sensory and motor tracts within the spinal cord. The third is to perform studies detailed enough to help understand normal and pathophysiologic function. Intraoperative reflex techniques are used to help accomplish these three goals. They are used to monitor the function of peripheral nerve, plexus, nerve root, and segmental and suprasegmental function. These reflex techniques will be reviewed in this chapter.

At the spinal cord level, orthodromic ascending somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) monitor spinal cord sensory function. Motorevoked potentials (MEPs) recorded with transcranial electrical motor stimulation (tcMEPs) monitors spinal cord motor function but only 4–5% of the motor units innervating a muscle are activated. Therefore, 95–96% of the motor spinal cord systems activating the motor units are not monitored [1]. Our ability to interact with the environment involves not only intact sensation and strength but also complex coordinated motor behavior. SSEPs and MEPs monitor those systems that are responsible for sensation and strength. Reflexes can be used to monitor complex integrated motor behavior. When used in conjunction with SSEPs, tcMEPs, free-run and electrically stimulated electromyography reflexes provide a multisystems approach to monitoring. The advantage of the use of intraoperative reflexes to detect neuronal compromise is that the recordings are single sweep. They are real time with no delay after the onset of compromise that is present when using averaged SEPs. They provide the surgeon with immediate feedback and can be acquired continuously throughout surgery with little or no noticeable patient movement. Reflexes may be monitored in patients in whom SSEPs and tcMEPs cannot be recorded because of a pre-existing neurologic deficit [1–4].

Anatomy and Neurophysiology

Reflex processing can be considered relatively simple. An example is the monosynaptic or oligosynaptic H-reflex that involves simple spinal cord processing. It can also be considered complex, with polysynaptic reflexes involving processing at multiple spinal cord levels.

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_8

R. Leppanen, Ph.D. (🖂)

Clinical Neurophysiologist, Knoxville Neurology Clinic, 2200 Sutherland Avenue, Knoxville, TN 37919, USA e-mail: Leppanen@aol.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Monosynaptic reflex muscle recordings are of short latency, short duration, simple configuration, and high amplitude. These parameters are stable and vary little from one stimulus to the next. Polysynaptic recordings are of longer latency, longer duration, complex configuration, and low amplitude. Polysynaptic record-

ings are not stable and vary from one stimulus

to the next [5]. At the spinal cord level, one approach to understanding complex motor behavior is to consider spinal cord integrating function to be controlled by a system of tightly electrically coupled central pattern generators (CPGs). The integrated activity of these spinal cord CPGs is responsible for controlling the stepping mechanism of gait and the coordination of upper and lower extremity function [6–10].

Spinal cord CPGs may be thought of as having four components: the segmental interneurons, the descending suprasegmental systems, the propriospinal systems, and the peripheral afferent input. The point of control is the level of excitation of interneurons, which is determined by the integrated summated synaptic excitatory and inhibitory effect of the other components on the interneurons and motor neurons. The level of excitation of interneurons determines the level of reflex gain. Sensory afferent and antidromic motor response signals following peripheral nerve stimulation provide the time-locked synchronization of the system. Summated activity from descending spinal cord systems, especially the corticospinal, rubrospinal, vestibulospinal, and reticulospinal systems, contribute to controlling the gain set by the interneurons. Vestibulospinal and reticulospinal tracts control proximal function, and rubrospinal and corticospinal tracts control distal lower extremity function [11]. The gain is also controlled by short, intermediate, and long propriospinal systems that control processing at multiple spinal cord levels ipsilaterally and contralaterally. Interaction between the cervical and lumbosacral networks is mediated by propriospinal neurons [8]. The output from the system is through the motor neurons, which is measured by reflex recordings from muscle. Intraoperative reflex recordings

provide information about the degree of coupling between CPGs. Acute or chronic damage to the peripheral afferent input, the descending suprasegmental systems, the propriospinal systems, or the segmental interneurons results in the uncoupling of these components. This changes the level of excitability of the segmental interneurons, which results in a change in the segmental reflex gain. The change in the reflex gain can be detected by changes in reflex processing recorded from muscles. Changes in reflex processing can be used as a monitoring technique to detect acute and chronic compromise of the spinal cord suprasegmentally and segmentally, and of the nerve roots and peripheral nerve (Fig. 8.1).

Spinal Cord Pathophysiology

Acute spinal cord transection causes spinal shock that is characterized by complete paralysis, hyporeflexia, loss of sensation, and muscle hypotonia caudal to the lesion. Spinal cord injury (SCI) disrupts or disinhibits the suprasegmental influence over segmental interneurons mediating presynaptic inhibition. The hyporeflexia associated with spinal shock may be due to an increase in the efficacy of presynaptic inhibition [12]. Over time, presynaptic activity decreases, resulting in enhanced spinal reflexes [13]. Observations in cats indicate that rostral acute SCI causes postsynaptic caudal lumbar motor neuron changes. In cats, rostral acute SCI causes hyperpolarization of caudal lumbar segment motor neurons [14-17]. Immediately following rostral spinal cord transection, the monosynaptic reflexes from the medial and lateral gastrocnemius, soleus, posterior biceps, and semitendinous muscles are reduced in amplitude or completely absent. During the 6 h following transection there is some recovery of reflex activity [18]. When using cold as a model for acute reversible spinal cord transection, hyperpolarization of caudal motor neurons occurs within 30 s and monosynaptic reflex amplitudes are gradually decreased. These changes persist during the application of cold. Rewarming restores reflex amplitudes to original values in 30 s, and the resting motor neuron **Fig. 8.1** Spinal cord central pattern generator (CPG) components. The point of control is the level of excitability of segmental interneurons, which is determined by the integrated activity of the other components. Disturbance of any component results in CPG uncoupling which is detected by reflexes and F-responses from the output through anterior horn cells

Reflex and F-responses monitor integrated spinal cord activity Complex Motor Behavior

Monitors - uncoupling of spinal cord CPGs



membrane potential back to the original value in $1 \min [14-16]$.

The hyperpolarization of motor neurons following spinal cord transection or cooling is thought to be secondary to decreased suprasegmental facilitation of motor neurons, which usually keeps them in a slightly hypopolarized state [14–17]. Fusimotor drive is also depressed early after acute spinal cord injury, for gamma motor neurons are also hyperpolarized [19]. H-reflexes and F-responses reflect the level of excitation of a large percentage of the motor neuron pool in the spinal cord gray matter [20, 21]. These recordings may be very helpful in detecting intraoperative spinal cord ischemic insults, since the level of gray matter excitability is depressed more with ischemia than is posterior column function. In animals the dorsal horn potential that is generated by postsynaptic gray matter activity disappears within 3-5 min after cessation of spinal cord perfusion. Posterior column potentials persist for 12–15 min [22].

Changes in spinal cord electrophysiologic signal processing can be used to help understand the electrophysiologic mechanisms occurring during acute SCI [23]. Changes in serial, parallel, and oscillatory processing, hyperpolarization, inhibition, and disinhibition may be observed.

Spinal Nerve Root Pathophysiology

Spinal nerve roots are more susceptible to injury than are peripheral nerves [24]. Spinal nerve roots are susceptible to injury by two mechanisms. The first is that proximally the dorsal and ventral roots split into rootlets and minirootlets [25]. The area where this split occurs is the central-peripheral transitional region, which is the point where the nerve root is more susceptible to mechanical injury. The axons at this point are enclosed by a thin root sheath, cerebrospinal fluid and meninges, and lack the protective covering of epineurium and perineurium that is present in peripheral nerve [26]. The second mechanism of injury is that there is an area of hypovascularity at the junction of the proximal and middle onethird of the dorsal and ventral roots. This is the point of anastomosis between the central vasa corona and peripheral segmental vessels. At this point, the nerve roots are more susceptible to mechanical injury [25].

The relationship between compression and traction forces on nerve conduction is well described in peripheral nerves and nerve roots [24, 27, 28]. The conduction abnormalities are coupled to the perfusion of the nerve root [24, 28]. A 3-mm retraction distance (pressure around

70 g/cm²) caused the intraneural blood flow to decrease to 20% of initial value [28]. If nerve root dysfunction is recognized in the reversible phase, permanent injury can be avoided. Compression and traction may produce a mechanical effect on the nerve tissue in addition to compromising the blood supply to the nerve. Physiologic block is the first sign of nerve dysfunction and can be reversed in seconds.

When more axons in the nerve are blocked, the latency of the averaged nerve action potentials may increase and the amplitude may decrease. A more intense or prolonged compression or traction may produce myelin deformation at the edges of compression and prolongation of the nerve action potential latencies [28]. Further mechanical loading may produce a conduction block from segmental demyelination with reductions in action potential amplitudes. With injury, reversible functional changes precede more severe morphologic nerve changes such as neurapraxia (segmental demyelination) and axonotmesis (Wallerian degeneration). Although both these morphologic changes may be reversible in weeks to months, perineural and intraneural scarring may result and propagate further nerve damage [26, 27, 29, 30].

The mechanosensitivity of normal and abnormal dorsal root ganglia and axons has been defined in human and animal models [24]. In a cat model, rapidly applied mechanical forces induce short-duration (200 ms) impulses in normal nerve root. Static mechanical forces do not induce impulses in normal nerve root. Rapidly and statically applied mechanical forces induce long periods (15-30 s) of repetitive impulses in irritated or in regenerating nerves in continuity. Minimal acute compression of normal dorsal root ganglion induces prolonged (5-25 min) repetitive firing of nerve [31]. Mechanically induced trains of nerve action potentials can desynchronize afferent 1a nerve action potentials during H-reflex recordings and decrease the H-reflex amplitude. When interpreting intraoperative motor nerve root studies, it is important to understand the pathophysiologic mechanisms of nerve root injury and to understand the response of normal and pathologic nerve to not only different types of mechanical force, but also to electrical stimulation.

Late Responses

Following electrical stimulation of a mixed sensory-motor peripheral nerve, the compound motor action potential (CMAP) or M-wave is recorded from the peripherally innervated muscle. The M-wave is the result of orthodromic motor conduction from the point of stimulation to the muscle. In addition to the short latency M-wave, three late responses can be recorded: H-reflex, F-response, and A-wave (axon reflex). The mechanisms responsible for generating F-responses and A-waves are different from H-reflexes [32]. When recording intraoperative H-reflexes, the F-response and A-wave should not be confused with H-reflexes.

The F-response is not a reflex. After supramaximal stimulation of a mixed peripheral nerve, antidromic motor nerve impulses are conducted proximally to the ventral horn where they activate from 1 to 5 % of the motor neurons. This is followed by orthodromic conduction through motor fibers, and the F-response is recorded from muscle. The F-response is of low amplitude, and the latency, configuration, and duration vary from one stimulus to the next. This variability occurs because each time the motor neuron pool is activated, a different population of 1-5%of the motor neuron pool is activated that have different conduction characteristics [33]. Both afferent and efferent components of the F-response follow the same motor neurons. The subpopulation of the motor neuron pool activated by the F-response and H-reflex are not the same [34]. F-response persistence is a measure of the excitability of the motor neuron pool. Persistence is the number of recorded F-responses divided by the number of stimuli. Clinically, a persistence less than 50% is considered to be abnormal [35] (Fig. 8.2).

The A-wave is a late motor response that is present with constant latency, configuration, and amplitude. Low-intensity stimulation elicits the A-wave, and it is usually blocked by higher inten-



Fig. 8.2 F-responses are generated by antidromic motor impulses that activate 1-5% of the motor neuron pool. The amplitude, latency, duration, and configuration

change with each stimulus. Sequentially, recorded abductor hallucis F-responses (**a**) following tibial nerve stimulation at the ankle that are superimposed in (**b**)

sity of stimulation. A-wave latency is between the CMAP and the F-response latency or exceeds the F-response latency. It may also appear with a latency between the M-wave and H-reflex latency or the latency may exceed the H-reflex latency. A-wave amplitude is less than the H-reflex amplitude. The A-wave should not be confused with the H-reflex or F-response. The A-wave is generated by peripheral nerve changes rather than changes in the central nervous system signal processing. The physiology of the A-wave is that there is peripheral neural damage with the presence of a collateral sprout from a proximal point of damaged

motor nerve. The collateral sprout innervates muscle. When the antidromic impulse reaches the point of damage, a portion of the electrical impulse proceeds distally along the collateral sprout, and a small portion of the muscle is activated. Depending on the nerve stimulated, A-waves may be normal or abnormal (Fig. 8.3) [32].

H-Reflexes: Monosynaptic, Oligosynaptic

See Chap. 7 for a discussion of H-reflex testing.



Fig. 8.3 A-wave amplitude, duration, latency, and configuration do not change from one stimulus to the next, but F-responses do. These are ten abductor hallucis recordings following tibial nerve stimulation at the ankle

Neurophysiologic Basis of H-Reflexes

The H-reflex is a CMAP recorded from muscle after electrical afferent activation of a monosynaptic reflex. The afferent pathway involves electrical activation of the large 1a nerve fibers originating from muscle. After entering the dorsal horn of the spinal cord, the 1a fibers synapse with the motor neurons. The efferent pathway involves orthodromic motor conduction through motor fibers in the same homologous spinal segment as the afferent pathway [32]. In normal newborns, H-reflexes may be recorded from many widely distributed muscles. After 2 years of age, they are primarily present in the gastrocnemius, soleus, and flexor carpi radialis muscles. The more restricted distribution of H-reflexes in adults reflects the refinement of motor neuron pool activation with central nervous system maturation. In adults, they are also frequently found in the quadriceps and plantar foot muscles [36–38].

The H-reflex was first described by Hoffman in 1918 [39] and characterized more in the 1950s [40]. The reflex is most easily recorded from the gastrocnemius muscle after stimulation of the tibial nerve in the popliteal fossa. The fastconducting low-threshold 1a fibers are activated with long-duration (1 ms) low-intensity stimulation. The stimulation rate is 0.5 Hz. The intensity of stimulation is slowly increased. Low-intensity stimulation activates the 1a fibers before the motor fibers, so at low intensity of stimulation, the H-reflex appears before the M-wave. The H-reflex CMAP is usually of a biphasic or tripha-



Fig. 8.4 The H-reflex is the first component elicited from the gastrocnemius muscle with increasing stimulus intensity of the tibial nerve in the popliteal fossa. The second is the M-wave and the third is the F-response

sic configuration. The 1a fibers are activated first either because they have a lower threshold than motor fibers to long-duration stimulation or because they are located anatomically more superficial than the motor fibers in the popliteal fossa [41].

As the intensity of stimulation is increased, a greater percentage of the motor neuron pool is activated and the H-reflex amplitude increases [32]. In an awake human, when recording the gastrocnemius H-reflex, the percentage of the motor neuron pool activated averaged 50 % (range, 24.0–100%) [20]. The motor neurons recruited with an increasing intensity of stimulation obey the Henneman size principle. Low-force motor neurons are recruited with low intensity of stimulation, and high-force motor neurons are recruited with higher intensity of stimulation [42].

The H-reflex amplitude usually peaks at or just before the M wave becomes present. Further increases in stimulation intensity result in a steady increase in the M-wave amplitude. When the M wave no longer increases in amplitude, the H-reflex is usually replaced by the F-response (Fig. 8.4). When the stimulus intensity is held constant from one stimulus to the next, the H-reflex is of short latency, short duration, simple configuration, and constant amplitude [32]. To determine if a CMAP is a H-reflex, the amplitude should exceed the M-wave amplitude, and the configuration and latency should be the same from one stimulus to the next [32]. Changes in the effect of the central facilitation and inhibition on the spinal interneurons and motor neurons may change the pattern of how the H-reflex is activated. With an increased presynaptic inhibition and hyperpolarization of



Fig. 8.5 Homonymous monosynaptic left intraoperative gastrocnemius H-reflex recorded following electrical stimulation of the left tibial nerve in the popliteal fossa

motor neurons, the M-wave may be present before the H-reflex, and the H-reflex amplitude may be smaller than the M-wave amplitude. With a decreased presynaptic inhibition, the H-reflex may be robust, and it may not be possible to suppress and replace it with the F-response.

The H-reflex has been thought of as a monosynaptic reflex. The central conduction time between dorsal and ventral roots reveals only enough time for one synapse, that is, between 0.5 and 1.0 ms [32]. There is also evidence to indicate that the H-reflex is an oligosynaptic reflex. Lowthreshold motor neurons may be activated by a single (monosynaptic) synapse through the fastest 1a afferents. Higher threshold motor neurons may be activated through several (oligosynaptic) synapses by the fastest 1a afferents and through single synapses by slower 1a afferents [32].

In the lower extremity of man, there are two types of prewired monosynaptic 1a H-reflex connections: homonymous (homosynaptic) and heteronymous (heterosynaptic). They are both part of the functional synergistic spinal cord CPGs. Both types may be recorded in the operating room. Homonymous monosynaptic H-reflexes are H-reflexes that are recorded from muscles that are innervated by the same nerve root as the 1a-activated sensory fibers. The gastrocnemius H-reflex is an example of a homonymous monosynaptic H-reflex (Fig. 8.5). 1a sensory action potentials may also make monosynaptic connections with motor neurons at spinal cord levels other than the 1a sensory segmental level. As a result of this activation, H-reflexes may be recorded from muscles having segmental innervation other than the 1a segmental afferent



activation. These H-reflexes are called heteronymous monosynaptic H-reflexes (Fig. **8.6**).

In humans, heteronymous connections normally exist between ankle and knee muscles. Functionally heteronymous connections provide coupling between muscles operating at different joints. These transjoint monosynaptic connections are important for maintaining equilibrium during bipedal stance and during gait. Intraoperatively, heteronymous H-reflexes are inhibited by presynaptic inhibition. When presynaptic inhibition is decreased, heteronymous H-reflexes may become present [43].

The presence of H-reflexes in muscles where they are not usually recorded can be an indication of a lesion of the suprasegmental central nervous system that results in a decreased effect of presynaptic inhibition on motor neurons. The abnormal distribution of H-reflexes in adults, such as in the tibialis anterior and intrinsic hand muscles, may indicate a disordered central motor system state. These changes occur because of uncoupling of the different components of CPGs [44–47].

Gastrocnemius H-Reflex

Gastrocnemius H-Reflex Normal Parameters

In the lower extremity, the H-reflex can be recorded from the gastrocnemius and soleus muscle after electrical stimulation of the posterior tibial nerve in the popliteal fossa [48]. This reflex is mediated by segmental S1 afferent and efferent activity [45]. Intraoperative normal parameters have not been established. Normal parameters established for clinical studies may serve as a guide for intraoperative studies. Clinically, the gastrocnemius H-reflex latency varies with age and leg length and has a mean latency of 28.9±2.7 ms in an awake human. A regression equation may be used to calculate the expected latency for each individual: H-reflex (in ms)=9.14+0.46 (leg length in centimeters)+0.1 (age in years). A normogram based on this equation is available as a reference [49]. Clinically, the normal side-to-side amplitude difference between 21 and 67 years of age may reach 60% [50]. The upper limit of normal clinical side-toside latency difference is 1.5 ms [37]. When measuring latency, the most concise departure from the baseline occurs when the active recording electrode is over the motor point. It is therefore necessary to know the location of the motor point of the gastrocnemius muscle [51]. The H:M ratio is a measure of H-reflex motor neuron pool activation or excitation. It is calculated by dividing the maximum H-reflex amplitude by the maximum M-wave amplitude. It is normally less than 0.7 [37]. Intraoperatively, onset latencies may be greater because of the decreased limb temperature. In the operating room, H-reflex and M-wave amplitudes that are recorded in the clinical setting may be reduced by the use of neuromuscular junction (NMJ) blocking agents. Intraoperatively, the gastrocnemius H-reflex parameters that have been monitored are H-reflex amplitude, latency, and the H:M ratio. Right-left amplitude and latency differences are also used.

Gastrocnemius H-Reflex Stimulation and Recording Techniques

Stimulation is with needle or surface electrodes. The cathode is placed proximally in the popliteal fossa between the tendons of the medial and lateral hamstring muscles. The anode is placed 2–4 cm distal to the cathode. The stimulation rate is 0.5 Hz and the stimulus duration is 1.0 ms. The stimulus intensity is adjusted so that the H-reflex amplitude is maximal. The most effective stimulus intensity is chosen such that any increase or decrease in stimulus intensity results in a decrease in the H-reflex amplitude. Baseline recordings are made with the patient anesthetized before the start of the surgical procedure. Any variability in latency and amplitude should be noted in the baseline recordings.

For subdermal electroencephalographic (EEG) recording, needle electrodes are inserted in the medial head of the gastrocnemius muscle. The H-reflex may also be recorded in the calf from the soleus muscle. The technique for recording the H-reflex from the soleus muscle is the same as that for recording from the gastrocnemius muscle, only that the recording electrodes are placed over the mid-dorsal line of the leg with the active electrode 4 cm above the point where the two heads of the gastrocnemius muscle join the Achilles tendon. The reference electrode is placed 3 cm distal to the active electrode [48]. Monopolar electromyographic (EMG) needle electrodes and longer uncoated stainless steel needle electrodes may also be used.

Fine Teflon-coated silver wires with the wire exposed at the end and that are inserted with a spinal tap needle may also be used for recordings when the subcutaneous tissue is thick. The active electrode is inserted at the motor point of the gastrocnemius muscle and the reference electrode is inserted over tendon or bone. The needles are secured with tape. A range of different high- and low-frequency filters are used. A high-frequency filter of 10 KHz and a low-frequency filter of 20 Hz are most often used [32]. The time base is 100 ms. Recordings are single sweep.

In addition to recording H-reflexes from the gastrocnemius muscle, recordings may also be made bilaterally and simultaneously from the vastus medialis, tibialis anterior, and abductor hallucis muscles. Recording from these muscles will allow for the detection of heteronymous H-reflexes. This also allows for the monitoring of proximal vestibulospinal and reticulospinal controlled motor neurons and distal rubrospinal and corticospinal controlled motor neurons [11]. The gastrocnemius H-reflex may be used to monitor peripheral tibial nerve, proximal sciatic nerve, sensory and motor S1 nerve root, and S1 segmental spinal cord function. These reflexes can also be used to monitor the function of a variety of suprasegmental descending spinal cord systems that control the S1 segmental interneurons [52]. When present, heterosynaptic H-reflexes may be used to monitor other nerve roots. The ability to record lower extremity H-reflexes may be

affected by pre-existing abnormalities, such as a generalized polyneuropathy, plexopathy, or radiculopathy. H-reflexes may be absent, latencies may be prolonged, amplitudes may be decreased, and the CMAP configuration may change. Amplitudes may also be decreased with the presence of a myopathy [1, 2].

Flexor Carpi Radialis H-Reflex

Flexor Carpi Radialis H-Reflex Background and Normal Parameters

In the upper extremity, the flexor carpi radialis H-reflex can be recorded after electrical stimulation of the median nerve over the distal medial upper arm or over the anterior medial elbow. This reflex is mediated by segmental C6/C7 afferent and efferent activity (Fig. 8.7). Intraoperative normal parameters have not been established. Normal parameters established for clinical studies may serve as a guide for intraoperative studies. Clinically, the flexor carpi radialis H-reflex latency varies with the arm length. When measuring latency, the most concise departure from the baseline occurs when the active recording electrode is over the motor point. It is therefore necessary to know the location of the motor point of the flexor carpi radialis muscle [51]. In awake humans, the mean latency is 17.07 ± 1.77 ms. The interlatency time is calculated by subtracting the M wave from the H-reflex latency. The interlatency time mean latency is 14.5±1.8 ms. The maximum side-toside H-reflex latency difference is 0.002 ± 0.42 ms. The maximum side-to-side interlatency time latency is 0.11 ± 0.44 ms. A regression equation is used to calculate the expected H-reflex latency: H-reflex (in ms)= $0.29 \pm 0.195 \times \text{arm-length}$ in centimeters. The equation for the interlatency time is $-2.08 \pm 0.1878 \times \text{arm-length}$ in centimeters. A normogram based on these equations is available as a reference. The arm length is measured from the tip of the third finger to the C6 spinous process with the arm pronated and the shoulder abducted to 90° [53, 54]. Intraoperatively, onset latencies may be greater because of the decreased limb temperature. Flexor carpi radialis H-reflex parameters that have been monitored are H-reflex amplitude, latency,

and the H:M ratio. Right-left latency and amplitude differences are also used.

Flexor Carpi Radialis H-Reflex Stimulation and Recording Techniques

Stimulation is with needle electrodes spaced 2 cm apart unilaterally over the distal medial upper arm or over the anterior medial elbow at 0.5 Hz and 1.0 ms duration. The cathode is proximal. The stimulus intensity is adjusted so that the H-reflex amplitude is maximal. The most effective stimulus intensity is chosen such that any increase or decrease in stimulus intensity results in a decrease in the H-reflex amplitude. Baseline recordings are made with the patient anesthetized before the start of the surgical procedure. In the operating room, H-reflex amplitudes that are recorded in the clinical setting may be reduced by the use of NMJ-blocking agents. Any variability in latency and amplitude should be noted in the baseline recordings.

For recording subdermal EEG, needle electrodes are inserted in the flexor carpi radialis muscles. Monopolar EMG needle electrodes and longer uncoated stainless steel needle electrodes may also be used. Fine Teflon-coated silver wires with the wire exposed at the end that are inserted with a spinal tap needle may also be used for recordings when the subcutaneous tissue is thick. The active electrode is inserted at the motor point and the reference electrode is inserted distally over tendon or bone. The needles are secured with tape. A range of different high- and lowfrequency filters are used. A high-frequency filter of 10 KHz and a low frequency filter of 20 Hz are most often used. Flexor carpi radialis H-reflexes may be used to monitor median peripheral nerve, brachial plexus, and segmental sensory and motor spinal nerve root and spinal cord function. These reflexes can also be used to monitor the function of a variety of suprasegmental descending spinal cord systems that control the C6/C7 segmental interneurons. The ability to record flexor carpi radialis H-reflexes may be affected by pre-existing abnormalities, such as a generalized polyneuropathy, plexopathy, or radiculopathy. H-reflexes may be absent, latencies may be prolonged, amplitudes may be decreased, and the



Monosynaptic Flexor Carpi Radialis

Fig. 8.7 Baseline intraoperative right flexor carpi radialis M-wave and H-reflex recordings. Free-run EMG activity is also recorded bilaterally from the trapezius, deltoid, and

CMAP configuration may change. Amplitudes may also be decreased with the presence of a myopathy process [1, 2].

Anesthetic Technique

To record reflexes intraoperatively, it is critical that the anesthetic technique does not significantly inhibit the activity of suprasegmental spinal cord function, spinal interneurons, and segmental motor neurons. Also, adequate neuromuscular junction (NMJ) transmission must be present. Reflexes and F-responses are usually monitored during the recording of SSEPs, tcMEPs, EEG, and free-run EMG. The anesthetic

flexor carpi radialis muscles. Baseline free-run EMG activity is present in the left deltoid muscle secondary to left C5 and/or C6 nerve root irritation

technique used must allow for the recording of all these signals with maximum sensitivity (see Chap. 19 for a discussion of general anesthesia monitoring) [2, 55–60].

The technique used varies depending on the surgical procedure, patient's age, medical history, and the presence of a pre-existing neurologic deficit. Frequently, total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) with constant infusion of propofol and fentanyl and other opioids are used. Bolus injections of these agents should be avoided to prevent suppression of recordings and if nitrous oxide is used it should not exceed 50 vol.% [61]. Ketamine may serve an adjunctive role to reduce propofol utilization. High dose of ketamine may suppress tcMEP amplitudes [58]. Ketamine is an excitatory agent and increases SSEP, tcMEP, and H-reflex amplitudes [62].

Dexmedetomidine can be used to supplement propofol during TIVA. Suggested therapeutic levels (0.5–0.7 μ g/kg/h) suppress MEP amplitudes but not SSEP amplitudes [63, 64]. One study found that 0.6 μ g/kg/h did not suppress SSEP, tcMEPs, and visual evoked potentials [65]. Subtherapeutic doses of less than 0.5 μ g/kg/h combined with propofol do not suppress tcMEPs [66, 67].

The author studied the effect of dexmedetomidine on intraoperative SSEPs, tcMEPs, EEG, H-reflexes, and F-responses in 17 patients during correction of scoliosis. After completion of distraction and fixation, a loading dose of 1 µg/kg of dexmedetomidine was added to the fentanyl and propofol technique and this was followed by an infusion of 0.5 μ g/kg/h to the end of surgery. No muscle relaxants were used. The addition of dexmedetomidine had no effect on SSEPs or EEG but the effect on motor signals was variable. Lower extremity tcMEP amplitudes decreased from 0 to 100% (mean, $86 \pm 16.6\%$), F-response amplitudes decreased from 0 to 100% (mean, 58 ± 12.5 %), and H-reflex amplitudes decreased from 0 to 100% (mean, $71 \pm 13.9\%$). Because of the variable and at times pronounced effects on motor signals, it was recommended that dexmedetomidine not be used to monitor tcMEPs, H-reflexes, or F-responses [68].

NMJ-blocking agents should be avoided other than using short-acting agents for intubation. NMJ function needs to be carefully monitored. The most common technique is the train-of-four (TOF) response. Another technique is the T1 % response. T1 %=first unblocked response/control response × 100. NMJ monitoring should be conducted on muscles that may be affected by the surgical procedure.

The effects of propofol on the soleus H-reflex were studied in 33 patients. No NMJ-blocking agents were used. H-reflexes were recorded before administration of anesthetics and after an initial dose of 2 mg/kg over 1 min followed by a continuous infusion at a rate of 167 μ g/kg/min for 10 min. Measurements were also made after infusing propofol to a blood level of 6 and 9 μ g/mL. The initial

dose of 2 mg/kg decreased the H-reflex amplitude and H:M ratio. The following 10-min infusion did not further decrease these values. The $6-\mu$ g/mL injection did not change the H-reflex amplitude and H:M ratio. The $9-\mu$ g/mL injection decreased the amplitude and H:M ratio. They recommended that the propofol induction dose be 1.0-2.5 mg/kg and this should be followed by an infusion from 100 to 200 μ g/kg/min. They concluded that the immobility during propofol anesthesia is not caused by a depression of spinal motor neuron circuit excitability. Propofol does not decrease axon conduction peripherally nor transmission at the neuromuscular junction [69].

Soleus H-reflexes were used to determine the level of motor neuron excitability intraoperatively. In ten normal human volunteers, 1.0-1.5% enflurane was found to decrease H-reflex amplitudes from 35 to 100% of baseline values [70].

The effect of isoflurane alone and isoflurane with N₂0 on the soleus H-reflex was studied under general anesthesia in 25 patients. No NJMblocking agents were used. Twenty-three of these patients had consistently measurable stable H-reflexes with baseline amplitudes varying from 3.43 to 11.97 mV. The addition of 0.68 % isoflurane decreased the amplitude to 48% of the baseline. Increasing the isoflurane to 1.37% decreased the amplitude to 33.8% of baseline. The combination of 0.81 % isoflurane with 30 % N₂0 decreased the amplitude to 66.2 % of baseline. The combination of 0.37 % isoflurane with 70% N₂0 decreased the amplitude to 30.4% of the baseline. They reported that increasing isoflurane concentration results in decreased H-reflex amplitude. Increasing the N₂0 concentration results in decreased H-reflex amplitude. They concluded that the H-reflexes may be recorded with a combination of isoflurane and N_20 . The H-reflex is maximally stable within the range of anesthetic concentrations used to achieve surgical immobility [55].

The effect of isoflurane and N_20 on spinal motor neuron excitability was studied in eight adult patients by monitoring soleus H-reflexes and abductor hallucis F-responses. No NMJ-blocking agents were used. H-reflex amplitude was decreased to $48.4 \pm 18.6\%$ of the baseline with 0.6 minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) isoflurane and to $33.8 \pm 19.1\%$ with 1.2 MAC isoflurane. MAC is defined as the alveolar concentration of an anesthetic agent that prevents movement in 50% of patients in response to a painful stimulus. F-response amplitude and persistence decreased to $52.2 \pm 22.8\%$ and $44.4 \pm 26.0\%$ of the baseline at 0.6 MAC isoflurane and to $33.8 \pm 26.0\%$ and $21.7 \pm 22.8\%$ at 1.2 MAC. With 1.0 MAC isoflurane, the H-reflex amplitude was decreased by $32.5 \pm 19.2\%$, $33.3 \pm 20.8\%$, and $30.4 \pm 23.5\%$ of baseline levels at 30, 50 and 70\% nitrous oxide, respectively [71].

In 12 adult patients, a comparison of the effects of isoflurane on tcMEPs and F-responses were studied. Anesthesia was maintained with $60\% N_20$, $100 \mu g/kg/min$ of propofol and supplementary fentanyl, $0.5-1.0 \mu g/kg$. Recordings were made before and after adding 0.5% isoflurane. Baseline tcMEP amplitudes (median, 205 μ V, 25th–75th percentiles, $120-338 \mu$ V), F-response amplitudes (median, 100μ V, 25th–75th percentiles, $120-338 \mu$ V), F-response amplitudes (median, 100μ V, 25th–75th percentiles, $64.2-137.5 \mu$ V) and F-response persistence ($59\pm29\%$) were decreased to 0.0μ V ($0-15 \mu$ V), 49μ V ($12.4-99.6 \mu$ V), and $30\pm31\%$, respectively, by 0.5% isoflurane. The tcMEPs were suppressed more than the F-responses. No NMJ-blocking agents were used [72].

Soleus H-reflexes and abductor hallucis F-responses were monitored to determine the effect of hyperventilation and hypoventilation on motor neuron excitability during isoflurane anesthesia. H-reflex and F-responses were recorded before and after changing the end-tidal CO₂ (ETCO₂) concentration. Anesthesia was maintained with 0.8% isoflurane and no muscle relaxants were used. An $ETCO_2$ of 25 mmHg decreased the preanesthetic H-reflex amplitude from 6.8±2.7 mV to 4.0 ± 2.0 mV and to 2.0 ± 2.2 mV at an ETCO₂ of 45 mmHg. F-response persistence decreased from the preanesthetic value of 100% to $77\% \pm 24\%$ at an ETCO₂ of 25 mmHg and to $61\pm19\%$ at an $ETCO_2$ of 45 mmHg. They concluded that hyperventilation and hypoventilation effects motor neuron excitability and may affect the probability of patient movement during surgery [73].

Volunteers were sedated with a constant level of propofol (2 mg/L) and to a constant level of

sevoflurane (0.8 vol.%). Soleus H-reflexes were used to study the depressive effects of these agents individually. The amount of depression was found to be dependent on the size of the H-reflex and is different at different stimulus intensities, indicating a varying effect of propofol and sevoflurane on motor neurons of different size. H-reflex depression is more for both agents at a lower intensity of stimulation than at a higher intensity of stimulation, indicating that smaller motor neurons are depressed more than larger motor neurons. In contrast, excitability of motor neurons by supraspinal effects affects the larger before smaller motor neurons [74]. From a practical standpoint, if H-reflexes are being recorded with a low stimulus intensity and injury occurs that effects the larger motor neurons, this injury could be missed because only the function of the smaller motor neurons would be monitored. The smaller motor neuron population would already be suppressed by the anesthesia, further decreasing the sensitivity for detecting injury. A higher intensity of stimulation would activate small and large motor neurons, allowing the monitoring of a greater percentage of the motor neuron pool.

Clinical Correlation of H-Reflexes and F-Responses

Studies of the normal and abnormal electrophysiology of the spinal cord CPG components in humans and animals have resulted in the understanding of the mechanisms involved in acute complete and partial SCI in humans. How H-reflex and F-response changes correlate with the patient's postoperative status is derived from the publications discussed as follows.

Soleus H-reflexes and abductor hallucis F-responses were recorded in 32 patients during spinal cord surgery. In six patients, an abrupt fall in H-reflex amplitude beyond 3 SD from the baseline or significant drop in F-response persistence coincided to perturbation or injury to the spinal cord. Transient suppression occurred in four patients with less than a 50% drop in H-reflex amplitude or abductor hallucis F-response persistence. These patients did not develop a new postoperative neurologic deficit. Suppression exceeded 90% of the baseline values and persisted through surgery in two patients. Both patients had profound postoperative neurologic deficits. The author concluded that rostral SCI suppresses H-reflexes and F-responses and the degree of suppression reflects the severity of injury. The mechanism responsible for these changes is thought to be hyperpolarization of caudal motor neurons, which occurs within seconds of injury [75].

H-reflexes were recorded in the lower extremities in 31 patients during spinal surgery. A significant change in amplitude was considered significant if it exceeded 3 SD of the mean postanesthetic baseline. In six patients, a significant decrease in H-reflex amplitude occurred. The onset of H-reflex suppression coincided with a potentially injurious event in each case. In one case involving a cervical myelotomy, a large syrinx collapsed during decompression, producing immediate fluctuation in the H-reflex amplitude. The amplitude recovered to the baseline level 9 min later. Postoperatively, no neurologic deficit was noted. Another case involved mechanical reduction of a T-8 spinal fracture. Increased variability in H-reflexes developed with manipulation of the spine before reduction. The first attempt to reduce the fracture produced a transient fall in H-reflex amplitude. The second attempt at reduction produced a pronounced reduction in amplitude to less than 10% of baseline. H-reflexes remained suppressed until the end of surgery and postoperatively the patient had severe motor and sensory deficits in both legs that were not present preoperatively. A third case involved a cervical myelotomy for decompression of a posttraumatic syrinx.

During surgery, cervical cord hemorrhage occurred and was followed by reduction H-reflex amplitude. The amplitude steadily declined and the H-reflexes disappeared and remained absent. Postoperatively, the patient had profound weakness in both lower extremities. The changes in these patients demonstrated that H-reflex changes occur immediately at the time of spinal injury. H-reflex changes may be reversible and reflect the severity of SCI [4]. H-reflexes may indicate intact spinal cord function with changes in SSEPs. Soleus H-reflexes and tibial SSEPs were monitored in a patient during T7–T12 laminectomy for spinal stenosis. During laminectomy, the left SSEP became absent and the right amplitude was significantly transiently reduced. No H-reflex changes occurred. Postoperatively, no lower extremity motor deficits were present and no new sensory deficits [76].

Spinal cord function was monitored in 278 pediatric spine with gastrocnemius H-reflexes and SSEPs. Combined H-reflex and SSEP monitoring improved the reliability for detecting spinal cord compromise compared with either procedure alone. H-reflexes changed more than SSEPs. The changes reflected changes in spinal cord gray matter function related to acidosis and changes in hematocrit and blood pressure [77].

In a clinical setting, soleus H-reflexes and abductor halluces F-responses were recorded in 14 patients following SCI that resulted in either partial injury without spinal shock or injury with spinal shock. Deep tendon reflexes following tap of the Achilles tendon and patellar tendons were also evaluated. Patients were evaluated within 24 h of injury and on day 10, 20, and 30 after injury. F-responses were absent in patients with spinal shock, reduced in persistence in patients with acute injury without spinal shock, and normal in persistence in patients with chronic injury. F-response changes persisted up to 2 weeks following SCI. H-reflexes were absent or markedly suppressed in patients with spinal shock within 24 h of injury but recovered to normal amplitude within several days of the injury. Deep tendon reflexes were proportionally more depressed in spinal shock than H-reflexes. This demonstrated dissociation between electrically and mechanically induced reflexes during spinal shock. The observation that the stretch reflex is more depressed than the H-reflex is consistent with depressed fusimotor drive with SCI [19].

A 63-year-old woman with a large T8–9 herniated disk that was causing spinal stenosis with cord compression was treated with a bilateral T8–9 laminectomy with left far lateral costovertebral exposure for disk removal. She presented clinically with right T8 dermatomal and bilateral lower extremity pain. Baseline intraoperative tibial SSEPs were bilaterally normal. Baseline lower extremity tcMEPs were present. Baseline lower extremity H-reflexes and F-responses were present bilaterally. During removal of the calcified disk, the lower extremity tcMEPs became absent. The left vastus medialis H-reflex became absent and the left tibialis anterior, gastrocnemius, and abductor hallucis H-reflex amplitudes were decreased 47, 61, and 97%, respectively. The right tibialis anterior, gastrocnemius, and abductor hallucis H-reflex amplitudes were decreased 75, 88, and 97%, respectively. The F-responses were present with 35% of the stimuli on the left and with 30% of the stimuli on the right. Baseline F-responses were present bilaterally with each stimulus. There were no changes in the tibial SSEPs. Postoperatively, the patient's lower extremity sensory function was normal. The lower extremity pain was gone but pain was still present in the right T8 distribution. The lower extremities were weak; she could not stand and could not perform coordinated lower extremity functions. Her strength improved and she was able to walk with assistance on discharge 12 days after surgery. The 1.9 to 8.4% [78, 79] of the motor neuron pool activated by transcranial electrical stimulation was lost. The 24–100% [20] of the motor neuron pool activated by the H-reflexes was decreased from 47 to 100%. The 1.0-5.0%[21] of the motor neuron pool activated by the F-responses was deceased by 65 and 70%. The pattern of change in these motor systems in this patient indicates that these techniques may activate the same, different, or overlapping populations of the motor neuron pool. Since the tcMEPs became absent and there was preservation of some H-reflex and F-response function, perhaps H-reflex and F-response changes are better predictors of postoperative motor function than are tcMEPs. The H-reflex and F-response changes correlated with the patient's postoperative motor function while the tcMEPs did not [80].

The soleus H-reflex and simultaneously recorded nerve root action potentials were used to detect conduction abnormalities caused by nerve root manipulation during discectomy for mild S1 radiculopathy. Direct nerve root action potentials were recorded above and below the disc compression site. Changes in the nerve root action potentials from a biphasic to a polyphasic configuration and a decrease in the amplitude or absence of the H-reflex were used as a sign of compromise of nerve root conductivity. A good surgical outcome measured by the postoperative preservation of the Achilles and H-reflex was related to the immediate return of the H-reflex and nerve root action potentials with stopping of the harmful manipulation and the preservation of these signals at the end of surgery [81].

Bilateral soleus H-reflexes were recorded in three patients with cerebral palsy to detect S1 nerve root conduction block during selective dorsal root rhizotomy for relief of intractable spasticity. During retraction and gentle dissection of the S1 nerve roots, there was a sudden drop of all ipsilateral H-reflex amplitudes from 60 to 100% of baseline without a change in the contralateral H-reflex. This reflected the development of a conduction block of the reflex afferents. When manipulation was discontinued, amplitudes returned to baseline in 1.5–2 min in three roots and remained suppressed in the remaining three roots. The transient changes were thought to be secondary to reversible ischemia and the persistent changes to compressive paranodal demyelination of dorsal rootlet reflex afferents. These recordings helped to identify the cause of the development of areflexia with nerve root stimulation in these types of patients. H-reflexes may be used to determine the safe nerve root retraction pressure [82].

H-reflexes were used to monitor peripheral spinal nerve root function during surgery to reduce and stabilize dislocation of the sacroiliac joint, separation of the symphysis pubis and pubic ramus fractures, and in patients with cauda equina pathology. A multiple systems approach with SSEPs, tcMEPs, free-run EMG, and F-responses in addition to H-reflexes was used [56].

Scoliosis, vertebral fractures, and vertebral neoplasm surgeries were monitored with H-reflexes, single-sweep SSEPs, and free-run EMG. H-reflexes and single-sweep SSEPs were recorded simultaneously from the same stimulus of the tibial nerve in the popliteal fossa. H-reflexes (1.0-ms rectangular pulse stimulation up to 150 V at 0.1 Hz) were recorded from the soleus muscle (62.5 ms window, 30 Hz–3 KHz). Single-sweep SSEPs were recorded from Cz' with an auricular reference (125 ms window, 1–300 Hz). Single-trial SSEP extraction from background EEG was performed with a AutoRegressive filter with eXogenous input (ARX). The reference baseline SSEP requires less than 2 min to compute and requires 50 trials. The time needed to complete a single-trial SSEP extraction is less than 1 s. During monitoring, the single-trial SSEPs take less than 1 s to extract and are compared to the baseline.

Monitoring was carried out continuously from the induction of anesthesia until complete return to consciousness. The investigators made the following conclusions:

- The H-reflex seems to be a sensitive means of detecting spinal cord impairment when it is still in a reversible stage.
- When signal changes occurred and a normal wake-up test was performed and since patients presented with a postoperative deficit, waking patients after vertebral distraction and fusion does not provide any guarantee against spinal cord impairment soon afterward.
- The deep depression of H-reflexes in spinal cord injury patients is probably attributed to a reversible vascular impairment directly involving the spinal reflex center or a higher cord segment.
- 4. Hammering with the osteotome chisel on vertebra should be limited or avoided since there are signs of spinal cord concussion associated with it. Bone graft retrieval from the ileum should be carried out after vertebral distraction because of the facilitating effect on the H-reflex caused by surgical hip stimulation. This facilitation seems to be caused by a long-loop circuit involving a supraspinal reflex center.
- 5. The single-sweep SSEPs and H-reflex recordings were very sensitive to detecting changes in spinal cord function related to surgical procedures. The two signals are anatomically and functionally independent, generated by a single transcutaneous stimulus and are both

related to the functioning of the spinal cord and are both affected by spinal cord injury. The two signals show different behavior.

6. When surgery is interrupted due to significant signal changes, the amplitude of the H-reflex returns quickly to initial values, while the SSEP amplitude requires a longer recovery time and does not restore completely, showing a global decreasing trend [83–85].

H-reflexes and SSEPs were simultaneously recorded in 19 patients during surgery for metastatic thoracic spinal cord tumors. Bilateral H-reflexes and SSEPs were stable throughout the monitoring in ten of 19 patients. Five of 19 patients had a less than 50% transient reduction in H-reflex amplitude that later returned to baseline. SSEPs were absent from baseline throughout surgery in two of 19 patients. At 3- and 6-month follow-ups, none of the patients exhibited new postoperative neurologic deficits. Stable intraoperative H-waves are suggestive of prepostoperative neurologic function. served Intraoperative H-reflex monitoring is a reasonable alternative, especially when motor-evoked potentials are unattainable. Since H-reflexes have a greater sensitivity to spinal cord ischemia, are cost-effective and easy to record, H-reflex monitoring can be a useful adjunct during thoracic spine surgery [86].

SSEPs, tcMEPs, and H-reflexes were monitored in 92 pediatric patients during corrective scoliosis surgery. Baseline tcMEPs, SSEPs, and H-reflexes were obtainable in all idiopathic patients. In congenital patients, recordings were obtained in 100 % of tcMEPs, 87 % of H-reflexes, and 91% of SSEPs. In neuromuscular patients, recordings were obtained in 91% of tcMEPs, 54% of H-reflexes, and 77% of SSEPs. In 18 patients, tcMEP alerts occurred. In 17 of these, amplitudes returned to baseline levels with intervention. The H-reflex was lost in six patients. It did not improve in five with intervention and none had a postoperative neurologic deficit. One patient had a unilateral loss of tcMEPs without SSEP or H-reflex changes and had postoperative hemiparesis. SSEP changes occurred in one patient with a tcMEP alert. No baseline H-reflexes were obtained. The results did not support the use of the H-reflex as a substitute for tcMEPs [87].

Spinal cord ischemia was detected using SSEPs, tcMEPs, and H-reflexes in 60 patients during thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair. Following cross-clamping, H-reflexes were lost in 12 min in the SCI group and 25 min in the non-SCI group. In SCI, tcMEPs became absent in 10 and 31 min in the non-SCI group. SEPs became absent in 27 min in the SCI group and 44 min in the non-SCI group. A longer absence of H-reflexes, tcMEPs, and SSEPs seemed to be at a higher risk for paralysis. Ten minutes after aortic cross-clamp release, 100% of H-reflexes, tcMEPs, and SSEPs were absent in the SCI patients compared with 65% in the non-SCI patients. H-reflexes and tcMEPs followed a similar pattern for detecting spinal cord ischemia. H-reflexes detected milder ischemia than SSEPs [88].

Clinical Correlation Summary

- If H-reflex amplitude and F-response persistence decrease less than 50% of baseline, no postoperative deficit has been observed [75].
- 2. Persistent H-reflex and F-response suppression greater than 90% correlates with the presence of a postoperative neurologic deficit [75].
- 3. Transient H-reflex changes are not associated with a postoperative deficit [4].
- 4. Slow suppression of H-reflexes may be secondary to ischemic spinal cord compromise [4].
- 5. An abrupt suppression of H-reflexes and F-responses may be associated with mechanical injury to the spinal cord [4, 75, 80].
- 6. The degree of suppression of H-reflexes and F-responses reflects the severity of SCI [4, 75].
- 7. Combined H-reflex and SSEP monitoring improves the reliability of detecting spinal cord compromise compared with either procedure alone [77].
- Intact H-reflexes may indicate intact spinal cord function with changes in SSEPs [76].
- Perhaps H-reflex and F-response changes are better predictors of postoperative motor function than are tcMEPs [80].

- H-reflexes can be used to detect spinal nerve root and plexus injury during surgery to reduce and stabilize dislocation of the sacroiliac joint, separation of the symphysis pubis, and pubic ramus fractures and in patients with cauda equina pathology [56].
- Because H-reflexes have a greater sensitivity to spinal cord ischemia, are cost-effective and easy to record, H-reflex monitoring can be a useful adjunct during thoracic spine surgery [86].
- The single-sweep SSEPs and H-reflex recordings are very sensitive to detecting changes in spinal cord function during surgery [83–85].

Polysynaptic Reflexes

Sacral Reflex

Three polysynaptic sacral reflexes (bulbocavernosus [BCR], vesicourethral, and vesicoanal) can be recorded. Clinically, the BCR can be elicited by gently squeezing the glans penis or clitoris and palpating the contraction of the bulbocavernosus or external anal sphincter (EAS) muscles by the index finger inserted into the anal canal. The BCR demonstrates the reflex integrity of the S2, S3, and S4 segmental afferent and efferent pudendal and interneuronal activity [33]. After electrical stimulation of the dorsal nerve of the penis, the latency to contraction of the bulbocavernosus muscle with needle electrode was recorded clinically in 1967. Clinically, this has become important in the evaluation of patients with micturition, defecation, erectile impotence, and perineal pain disorders [89]. Intraoperatively, the BCR refers to stimulating the dorsal nerve of the penis/clitoris and recording EAS reflex activity [90] (see Chap. 34 in the discussion of surgery for tethered cord).

Intraoperatively, BCR practical recordings were first reported in 1997. The dorsal penile or clitoral nerves were electrically stimulated and reflex activity from the EAS muscles was recorded bilaterally. The BCR was recorded in 119 patients (38, surgery without risk to sacral nerves; 81, surgery with risk to damage of the conus or nerve roots in the cauda equina). In males, the cathode was proximally at the base of the penis and anode over the ventral aspect of the penis. In females, the cathode was placed over the clitoris and the anode over the adjacent labia. Recordings were made with Teflon-coated bare-tip hooked electrodes with two electrodes inserted into the right and left hemisphincter muscles. The best stimulation parameter was double-pulse stimulation (0.5 ms duration, interstimulus interval of 3.0 ms, 2.3 Hz) and 20 mA. Recordings were stable with propofol, fentanyl, and nitrous oxide anesthesia. Nitrous oxide (60% inspired concentration) plus isoflurane (1.5%) suppressed the BCR and muscle relaxants abolished it. This monitors the somatic sensory and motor pudendal nerve, S2, 3, and 4 nerve roots, cauda equina, and the excitability of conus medullaris (Onuf's nucleus) segmental activity. In awake nonanesthetized normal subjects, the BCR has two components: an early component having a latency of 30 ms and a longer latency component having a latency of 50 ms. The early component is thought to be oligosynaptic since it does not habituate. The longer latency component is obtainable with stronger electrical stimulation and habituates. Intraoperatively, it is possible to record both components but the early component is more suitable for monitoring because it is more stable (Fig. 8.8). Patients with chronic upper motor neuron abnormalities had more active responses [91].

In 2007, a double-train electrical stimulation technique was described using intertrain delays from 75 to 250 ms. Stimulating with two consecutive pulse trains was found to result in at least a 30% increase in the amplitude, turn count (number of times the BCR potential changed direction and maintained this for at least 50% of the previous turn amplitude), and duration of the second train response. Anesthesia was maintained with propofol, opiate infusion, and low inhalant without muscle relaxant [92]. Because of difficulty activating pudendal sensory fibers, the BCR is difficult to elicit in females [93].

The pudendal nerve in the male can be unilaterally stimulated with a subdermal EEG needle electrode as the cathode at the base of the penis lateral to the midline at the 2 and 10 o'clock positions. The reference anode surface electrode can be placed over the lateral aspect of the penis. Ring electrodes should not be used. With female stimulation, the needle cathode is lateral to the clitoris and needle anode posterior between the major and minor labial folds. Stimulating electrodes are applied with the patient in the supine position and recording electrodes once the patient is positioned prone on the surgical table [1].

In normal awake volunteers, unilateral electrical stimulation of the pudendal nerve resulted in bilateral early and late bulbocavernosus reflex activity. This demonstrated that the early component recorded bilaterally is mediated by crossed spinal cord pathways [94]. Patients with preexisting peripheral pudendal nerve neuropathy or neuropathy of caudal equina nerves may require a higher stimulation intensity to elicit the BCR. This may result in current spread and activation of both pudendal nerves. Because of this, it may be difficult to stimulate unilaterally in the operating room.

The pudendal innervation of the EAS is mostly uncrossed. The subcutaneous EAS muscle activity may be tonically active in some patients during the entire surgery. This does interfere with the identification of abnormal activity. The EAS muscle is thin and subdermal EEG electrodes are good for making contact with muscle. Two electrodes are inserted over each hemispincter at the anal verge. Surface electrodes should not be used [90].

In 110 patients with thoracolumbar and sacral extradural (degenerative, traumatic, and deformity) and sacral intradural cord untethering, bilateral baseline BCRs were recorded in 86% of the patients. Responses were present only on one side in 8% and no responses were elicited in 6% [90]. Reliable BCRs have been recorded in patients as young as 10 months [95].

There is some variability of the sacral nerve roots involved in the afferent component of this reflex. Most pudendal afferent activity is carried bilaterally in the S1 (4.0%), S2 (60.5%), and S3 (35.5%) roots, although a single bilateral (18.0%) sacral root or single unilateral root (7.6%) may be responsible for most pudendal afferent activity [96, 97]. The efferent component



Bulbocavernosus Reflex - Pudendal - External Anal Sphincter

Fig. 8.8 Bilateral baseline intraoperative BCR recordings in a 17-year-old male patient with a L1 compression fracture following electrical stimulation of the right pudendal nerve. The left tibial nerve is simultaneously

stimulated in the popliteal fossa eliciting the left gastrocnemius H-reflex. The left S1 and bilaterally the S2–S4 nerve roots are being simultaneously examined

of this reflex is through the pudendal nerve supply of the external anal sphincter muscle. The majority of pudendal efferent activity is derived mainly from the second sacral nerve root [98]. These afferent and efferent anatomic variations need to be taken into consideration when interpreting intraoperative BCR recordings.

Intraoperative Application of BCRs

BCR reflexes can be used for real-time monitoring during surgeries such as reduction of spinal fractures [52], removal of tumors, release of tethered spinal cord [91], etc., where the conus medullaris, sacral nerve roots in the cauda equina and peripheral pudendal nerve are at risk of injury [1]. Little data exist to support the use of the BCR in surgery for spinal cord tethering syndromes [93]. The BCR has been used to monitor the function of a variety of suprasegmental descending spinal cord systems that control the S2, S3, and S4 segmental interneurons [90, 99].

The BCR was recorded as a multiple modality approach including not only the BCR but also F-responses, free-run EMG, tibial SSEPs, and tcMEPs in 184 patients during cervical and thoracic decompression. Ulnar F-responses were also recorded in cervical cases. F-responses and BCRs were used to detect spinal shock secondary to corticospinal tract conduction block [99].

Simultaneously, recorded H-reflexes and the BCR were used to monitor S1–S4 sensory and motor nerve roots, conus medullaris, and suprasegmental function during reduction and stabilization of a L1 burst fracture. Pudendal and tibial SSEPs were also recorded [52].

There are no standard alert criteria for intraoperative BCR recordings. Disappearance of responses that have been stable is a sign of neuronal compromise, especially when associated with a surgical event. This change may be preceded by changes in waveform morphology and may be a warning of impending signal loss [90]. In disorders of the cauda equina, prolonged latency or absence of the BCR response has correlated with neurogenic bladder and erectile dysfunction. Low-threshold changes needed for eliciting the BCR have been observed in upper motor neuron lesions [91]. During surgery, presence of the BCR correlates with intact sphincter control. Loss of the BCR indicates at least transient loss of sphincter function. Long-term follow-up studies still need to be performed to determine the long-term correlation of BCR changes with function [100].

Monosynaptic and Polysynaptic Reflexes: Selective Dorsal Root Rhizotomy

Background

In 1978 and 1979, selective dorsal rhizotomy (SDR) was described. It is a neurosurgical technique designed to reduce spasticity and improve function in patients with spastic cerebral palsy. At that time at the level of the conus medularis (T12–L1), a laminectomy was performed and to reduce spasticity the facilitatory input into the spinal motor neurons was decreased by selectively cutting 25–50% of the dorsal spinal rootlets in the cauda equina. Hyperactive sensory rootlets, which contribute the most to spinal cord disinhibition and spasticity, were identified intraoperatively by electrical stimulation and monitoring monosynaptic and polysynaptic reflexes [101, 102].

In the 1980s, the operative site was changed to the cauda equina (L2/L5 or S1, L1/S2) for a clearer anatomic and electrical identification of the dorsal roots in relation to ventral roots [103, 104]. The goal was to decrease spasticity and improve function without disturbing bowel and bladder and sensory and motor function. Initial reports indicated that SDR was found to improve postoperative function, with 80% of patients showing improved walking and 90% a reduction of muscle tone. Improved muscle tone in the upper extremities and improved speech occurred in from 60 to 70% of the patients following lumbosacral dorsal root rhizotomy [105]. SDR demonstrated improved ambulatory function at 1-year follow-up in 81% of patients with cerebral palsy [106].

There is evidence that the functional results of dorsal root rhizotomy with and without selective electrophysiologic guidance may not be different [107]. Dorsal root rhizotomy was performed on 22 patients with selective electrophysiologic guidance and 22 without electrophysiology using clinical guidance. At 1 year after dorsal root rhizotomy, there were no differences in complications or functional outcome measures between the two groups [108].

Recent reviews with long-term outcomes have indicated that in properly selected patients, SDR remains a safe and clinically useful procedure for the surgical treatment of spasticity in cerebral palsy. Studies indicate that SDR can result in long-lasting benefits [108].

Technical Summary

There is no universally accepted technique but the basic components presented here are included in most protocols:

- Anesthesia has consisted of isoflurane, nitrous oxide, and fentanyl and short-acting muscle relaxants used only at induction [109]. Total intravenous anesthesia with no muscle relaxants after intubation can be used. The depth of anesthesia should be carefully adjusted to maintain little or no EMG background but preserve spinal reflexes.
- Reflex activity can be recorded from the lower and upper extremities, the face and neck. Recording electrodes are inserted into the lumbosacral innervated muscles. All myotome levels from L2 to S4 are represented: adductor longus (L2–L4), vastus medialis (L2–L4), tibialis anterior (L4–S1), gastrocnemius (S1–S2), abductor hallucis (S2–S3), and external anal sphincter (S2–S4) [104].

- Bowel and bladder function is protected by monitoring external anal sphincter EMG and averaged pudendal nerve action potentials in the cauda equine. The BCR has been recorded [97].
- 4. The suprasegmental upper extremity (deltoid, biceps, flexor carpi radialis, extensor digitorum communis, abductor pollicis brevis), facial (orbicularis oris, orbicularis oculi), and neck (sternocleidomastoid and trapezius) muscles that are most problematic clinically should be monitored when clinically needed.

EMG recordings should be made in a bipolar fashion with subdermal EEG needle electrodes. Monopolar EMG needle electrodes and longer uncoated stainless steel needle electrodes may also be used. Fine Teflon-coated silver wires that have the tip bare, which are inserted with a spinal tap needle, can be used for recordings from deep muscles. The active needle is inserted at the motor point of each muscle and the reference needle is inserted distally 4.0 cm from the active needle. The needles are secured with tape. Surface electrodes should not be used because of far-field suppression of EMG signals. A high-frequency filter of 10 KHz and a low-frequency filter of 20 Hz are most often used [32]. At times at least 16 channels of single-sweep recordings are needed to detect all levels of suprasegmental reflex spread. Those muscles that have the greatest spasticity and that limit clinical function the most should be used for recording.

- 5. A L2/L5 or S1, L1/S2 laminectomy is performed and the nerve roots in the cauda equina are exposed. During exposure, free-run EMG activity may be recorded during the laminectomy and during manipulation of the nerve roots to help prevent damage to the roots secondary to tension. The S1 nerve root is identified anatomically. The dorsal and ventral roots are separated and the ventral root is electrically stimulated to identify that it is S1. Counting upward the L2 nerve root is anatomically identified and separated into dorsal and ventral components. The remainder of the ventral and dorsal roots are identified.
- 6. Technique: Identification of sensory and motor roots. In addition to anatomic identifi-

cation in the surgical field, sensory and motor roots can be identified by electrical stimulation parameters. The dorsal and ventral roots are identified by the difference in electrical single pulse (0.1-ms square wave) threshold needed to cause muscular contraction. Constant current and constant voltage stimulation has been used. With constant current stimulation, the duration is 0.1 ms and the rate of stimulation is 1 Hz (timebase: 100 ms). The sensory and motor root bundles at each spinal level are stimulated and are identified by threshold differences. When using a handheld bipolar hooked electrode, the motor roots have a constant current threshold of less than 1.0 mA and the sensory root threshold is from 2 to 10 mA [67] or 5 to 20 mA (20 V). Bipolar stimulation is used with an interelectrode distance of 0.5–1.0 cm [97]. The ventral root threshold with constant voltage stimulation is 200 mV and the dorsal root 20 V [104]. The S1 root is usually the first identified and is usually the first to be tested. During stimulation, the root is held by the surgeon clear of cerebrospinal fluid and the root is held without tension [105]. The cathode is distal and the intensity is increased until the threshold is reached. The CMAPs recorded help to determine which root has been stimulated. It is important to identify the S2 dorsal root to prevent damage to those sensory fibers subserving bladder reflexes [97]. The sacral sensory nerve roots that contribute to the pudendal nerve may be identified in the cauda equina by stimulation of the pudendal nerves distally and recording in a bipolar fashion from the sacral sensory roots in the surgical field [109]. The electrophysiologic technique used for the identification of sensory and motor nerve roots may block true reflex responses. Gentle retraction of the dorsal rootlets during electrical evaluation should be used to prevent a conduction block of the reflex afferents. If too much retraction force is used, a conduction block may occur. This may cause confusion regarding identification of sensory and motor roots since electrical stimulation distal to the conduction block may stimulate adjacent ventral roots with the recording of non-reflex motor responses [82].

Technique: Identification of hyperactive sensory rootlets.

After the innervation pattern and threshold of the dorsal root has been determined, the root is carefully subdivided into from 2 to 7 smaller rootlets [110]. The threshold for each sensory rootlet may once again be determined. Each rootlet is next stimulated at 50 Hz for 1 s (timebase 2.0 s) to determine which sensory rootlets are hyperactive and need to be sectioned. The duration of each pulse in the 50 Hz train is 0.1 ms. This stimulation intensity is either at the single-pulse threshold or is reduced by 25-30%. The type and distribution of the reflex EMG pattern is noted for each sensory rootlet stimulated. Bilaterally, the rootlets of the dorsal roots from L2 to S2 are stimulated. In addition to recording CMAPs, the pattern of contraction is observed and palpated by the neurophysiologist. Rootlets controlling the external sphincter muscle and producing pudendal nerve action potentials are spared at the S2 level and usually spared at the S1 level.

The response of each rootlet is graded as: 0single discharge; 1-sustained, ipsilateral same myotome; 2-sustained, ipsilateral same and ipsilateral adjacent myotome; 3-sustained, many levels ipsilaterally; and 4-sustained, ipsilateral and contralateral and suprasegmental spread. The type of EMG discharge is noted as decremental, squared, decremental-squared, incremental, multiphasic, clonic, and sustained. Clonic, incremental, multiphasic, and sustained discharges are considered criteria for rootlet sectioning and rootlets with a grade of 3 or 4 are usually sectioned. From 25 to 80 % of the rootlets at each level are sectioned. Criteria for sectioning rootlets are based on clinical and electrical observations and the movement observed during electrical stimulation [110, 111].

Blink Reflex

The electrically elicited blink reflex (BR) is analogous to the corneal reflex tested in clinical practice. It was first reported in 1952 [112]. Unilateral

stimulation of the supraorbital nerve enters the pons and elicits two responses recorded bilaterally from the orbicularis oculi muscles. An earlier latency R1 direct response is recorded on the side of stimulation and a longer latency R2 indirect response is recorded bilaterally. Sensory fibers originating in the supraorbital nerve travel to their cell bodies in the trigeminal ganglion. From this ganglion, the action potentials diverge into two separate pathways. The first pathway is a disynaptic or oligosynaptic pathway that travels rostrally to synapse in the principal sensory nucleus. A second-order pathway travels from here to synapse and depolarize the facial nucleus and the R1 component is recorded. Those fibers not connecting in the principal nucleus form the second pathway that diverges caudally in the lateral medullary plate. After several synapses two separate tracts course rostrally both unilaterally and contralaterally to the side of stimulation. They synapse and depolarize the facial nuclei and induce contraction of both orbicularis oculi muscles. The ipsilateral and contralateral polysynaptic R2 components are recorded, which is the BR (Fig. 8.9).

The BR examines the supraorbital and facial nerves and brainstem pathways. The BR can be elicited following infraorbital and mentalis nerve stimulation but with less consistency than the supraorbital nerve. Clinically, the BR has been used to study lesions of the trigeminal nerve, Bell's palsy, hemifacial spasm, acoustic neuroma, polyneuropathy, multiple sclerosis, etc. [113–115].

Intraoperatively, a single stimulus or a short train of four to seven stimuli (interstimulus interval: 2 ms, intensity: 20–40 mA, train repetition rate: 0.4 Hz) applied over the supraorbital nerve were used to elicit the R1 component of the BR. Anesthesia was either propofol and fentanyl or low-dose inhalation agents (sevoflurane or desflurane). Supraorbital nerve stimulation in the first five patients was with a pair of subdermal EEG needle electrodes and the remainder with a pair of surface electrodes. Recording was from the ipsilateral orbicularis oculi muscle with subdermal EEG electrodes. Two single responses were averaged and after the first response the stimulation polarity was reversed to reduce the large stimulus artifact.

Fig. 8.9 Electrically stimulated blink reflexes recorded in a 20-year-old awake woman. The right supraorbital nerve is stimulated with the ipsilateral R1 (8.0 ms) and R2 (30.0 ms) and the contralateral R2 (30.0 ms) components recorded from the orbicularis oculi muscles



Recordings were attempted in 27 patients without involvement of the facial and trigeminal nerves or brainstem. The BR was recorded in 23 patients. Boluses of propofol and muscle relaxation should be avoided with these recordings [116].

This BR technique, in addition to the ABR, lateral spread, F-response, and corticobulbar motor-evoked potentials were used to determine adequacy of decompression during microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. Before decompression, larger BR responses on the symptomatic side are the result of facial motor nucleus hyperexcitability. BR amplitudes are decreased with adequate decompression and may require an increase in the number stimuli in the train to elicit the response. This is because of decreased facial motor nucleus excitability [117].

In 17 cases of cerebellopontine angle operations, the BR in addition to free-run EMG were monitored. The BR was helpful to monitor facial nerve function during periods when the facial nerve could not be visualized before debulking of the tumor. Bilateral BRs were elicited by bilateral percutaneous supraorbital nerve electrical stimulation (0.1 ms duration, 5–20 mA) every 10–20 s. Orbicularis oculi BR R1 and R2 responses were recorded with surface electrodes. Preoperatively, R1 ipsilateral amplitudes were lower than contralateral R1 amplitudes. In two patients with 39and 43-mm tumors, ipsilateral R1 was absent and contralateral R1 amplitude was deceased. R1 was considered to be abnormal when the response was lost or when the latency was longer than 15.0 ms or a side difference greater than 3.0 ms. R2 was considered to be abnormal when the response was lost or the latency was longer than 55.0 ms or a side-to-side difference greater than 10.0 ms. Fifteen patients had preoperative changes present in the R1 and R2 responses. Postoperative recordings showed improved amplitudes and decreased latencies in all patients. Anesthesia was maintained with propofol or propofol/ketamine mixture plus narcotic. Muscle relaxants were avoided prior to EMG recordings [118].

The change in the R1 BR response latency was studied to determine if the change from before to after surgery could predict postoperative facial nerve outcome in 91 patients who had a translabyrinthine surgical approach for a vestibular schwannoma that filled the internal auditory meatus. If there was no change in the latency, normal facial function was present at 1 year. Outcome was not favorable with an increased latency unless the tumor was small. The value of R1 change is indicative of facial nerve function in patients with immediate complete facial paralysis. Change in R1 blink reflex has an excellent prognostic value for anticipating difficulties with facial nerve dissection and postoperative facial function after 1 year [119].

Bispectral index (BIS) and the R1 BR response were used to study the relative roles of forebrain and brainstem in producing adequate anesthesia using sevoflurane or propofol in humans. The blink reflex as a measure of brainstem function was more sensitive to sevoflurane or propofol than BIS as a measure of forebrain function. High-concentration sevoflurane suppressed the BR more than propofol. The results indicated that there are different effect sites for the BR and BIS [120].

Lower Extremity Intralimb and Interlimb Polysynaptic Reflexes

Another late response that can be recorded are intralimb (ipsilateral) and interlimb (contralateral) lower extremity reflexes, which are abnormal reflexes that are recorded simultaneously from four muscle groups in each lower extremity following unilateral simultaneous stimulation of the tibial and common peroneal nerves in the popliteal fossa. The onset latency is from 20.8 to 243 ms and the duration from 421 to 4095 ms [121, 122]. This technique not only monitors segmental afferent and efferent activity at the L4, L5, and S1, S2 levels and L4, L5, and S1, S2 interneuronal function, but also monitors complex spinal cord polysynaptic processing, which can involve multiple suprasegmental levels. The anesthesia was maintained with 50% nitrous oxide, a continuous infusion of afentanil (2 µg/ kg/min), 0.2-0.5% isoflurane, and 50% or less NMJ blockade.

These reflexes can be recorded from not only ipsilateral (intralimb) and contralateral (interlimb) lower extremity muscles but the distribution of the reflex activity also affects proximal and distal muscles differently. The explanation for this proximal-distal distribution is that vestibulospinal and reticulospinal pathways control proximal lower extremity muscles, and proximal lower extremity changes may represent a suprasegmental compromise of these descending vestibulospinal and reticulospinal pathways. Rubrospinal and corticospinal pathways control distal lower extremity function [11], and distal lower extremity reflex changes may represent a suprasegmental compromise of these descending rubrospinal and corticospinal pathways.

Baseline lower extremity intralimb and interlimb polysynaptic reflexes are present in the intraoperative recordings because of pre-existing neurologic deficits. Chronic spinal cord or nerve root compromise uncouples the spinal cord CPGs due to disinhibition, and polysynaptic reflexes may be present during the baseline intraoperative recordings. Baseline lower extremity intralimb and interlimb reflex activity was first observed in patients with idiopathic scoliosis. Since these reflexes were not present in baseline recordings in neurologically normal nonscoliosis patients, it was felt that the presence in idiopathic scoliosis patients was either because of congenital abnormal spinal cord signal processing or because of the effect of the spinal curvature on the spinal cord. These baseline reflexes in idiopathic scoliosis patients may contribute to the development of the spinal curve [123]. With intraoperative acute spinal cord or nerve root compromise, previously absent reflexes may become present with the abnormal uncoupling of the spinal cord CPGs.

During the monitoring of cervical spine surgery patients with cervical myelopathy and lower extremity symptoms, intraoperative baseline lower extremity intralimb and interlimb reflex activity was present while those without myelopathy did not have baseline lower extremity polysynaptic activity present. In both groups, transient intraoperative lower extremity intralimb and interlimb reflex changes were present with manipulation of the cervical spine without changes in SSEP components [122]. Transient asynchronous polysynaptic reflex changes have not been associated with a postoperative neurologic deficit, whereas persistent high-amplitude synchronous reflex changes have been associated with a postoperative lower extremity deficit [1, 122, 124].

Before tcMEP became available for motor system monitoring, the author monitored spinal surgery with SSEPs, H-reflexes, F-responses, free-run EMG, and intralimb and interlimb reflexes using three monitoring instruments. With the addition of tcMEP monitoring, the intralimb and interlimb recordings were eliminated because of limited instrumentation. For suprasegmental spinal motor tract injury, monitoring these reflexes may provide similar information as the mechanically induced peripheral free-run EMG recordings that were described in 2009 [99].

Conclusion

Intraoperative reflex techniques help accomplish the three main goals of intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring. Recordings are single sweep and in real time with no delay after the onset of compromise. They provide the surgeon with immediate feedback and can be acquired continuously throughout surgery with little or no noticeable patient movement. Reflexes may be monitored in patients in whom SSEPs and tcMEPs cannot be recorded because of a pre-existing neurologic deficit. When used in conjunction with SSEPs, tcMEPs, free-run, and electrically stimulated EMG, reflexes enhance a multisystems approach to monitoring [1, 2, 55, 91, 125].

References

- Leppanen RE. Intraoperative monitoring of segmental spinal nerve root function with free-run and electrically-triggered electromyography and spinal cord function with reflexes and F-responses. A position statement by the American society of Neurophysiological Monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2005;19:437–61.
- Leppanen RE. Intraoperative applications of the H-reflex and F-response: a tutorial. J Clin Monit Comput. 2006;20:267–304.
- Leppanen R, Maguire J, Wallace S, et al. Intraoperative recording of long-latency lowerextremity reflexes for the detection of suprasegmentally altered complex spinal cord electrophysiological processing. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1993;86:28P.
- Leis AA, Zhou HH, Mehta M, et al. Behavior of the H-reflex in humans following mechanical perturbation or injury to rostral spinal cord. Muscle Nerve. 1996;19:1377–8.
- Lloyd DPC. Reflex action in relation to pattern and source of afferent stimulation. J Neurophysiol. 1943;6:111–20.
- Grillner S. Control of locomotion in bipeds, tetrapods and fish. In: Brookhart JM, Mountcastle VB, editors. Handbook of physiology. The nervous system. vol 2, Part 2. Motor control. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins; 1981. p. 1179–1236.

- Anderson B, Binder M. Spinal and supraspinal control of movement and posture. In: Patton HD, Fuchs AF, Hillie B, Scher AM, Steiner R, editors. Textbook of physiology: excitable cells and neurophysiology. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 1988. p. 563–81.
- Binder M. Peripheral motor control: spinal reflex actions of muscle, joint and cutaneous receptors. In: Patton HD, Fuchs AF, Hille B, Scher AM, Steiner R, editors. Textbook of physiology: excitable cells and neurophysiology. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 1988. p. 522–48.
- MacKay-Lyons M. Central pattern generation of locomotion: a review of the evidence. Phys Ther. 2002;82:69–83.
- Dietz V. Spinal cord pattern generators for locomotion. Clin Neurophysiol. 2003;114:1379–89.
- Ghez C. The control of movement. In: Kandel ER, Schwartz JH, Jessell TM, editors. Principles of neural science. 3rd ed. East Norwalk, CT: Appleton and Lange; 1991. p. 533–47.
- Sherrington CS. The integrative action of the nervous system. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press; 1906.
- Calancie B, Broton JG, Klose KJ, Traad M, Difini J, Ayyar DR. Evidence that alterations in presynaptic inhibition contribute to segmental hypo- and hyperexcitability after spinal cord injury in man. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1993;89:177–86.
- Barnes CD, Joynt RJ, Schottelius BA. Motoneuron resting potentials in spinal shock. Am J Physiol. 1962;203:113–6.
- Walmsley B, Tracy DJ. The effect of spinal cord transection on synaptic transmission between Ia afferents and motorneurones. Neuroscience. 1983;9:445–51.
- Schadt JC, Barnes CD. Motoneuron membrane changes associated with spinal shock and Schiff-Sherrington phenomenon. Brain Res. 1980;201:373–83.
- Cope TC, Nelson SG, Mendell LM. Factors outside neuraxis mediate "acute" increase in EPSP amplitude caudal to spinal cord transection. J Neurophysiol. 1980;44(1):174–83.
- Kliefoth AB, Leppanen R, Selcer R, Sims M. Electrophysiological peripheral nerve, spinal cord and optic nerve changes associated with graded levels of ultrasonic aspiration. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1992;83:84P.
- Leis AA, Kronberg MF, Stetkarova I, Paske WC, Stokic DS. Spinal motoneuron excitability after acute spinal cord injury in humans. Neurology. 1996;47:231–237.
- Táboríková H, Sax DS. Motoneurone pool and the H-reflex. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1968;31:354–61.
- Kimura J. Principles of nerve conduction studies. In: Electrodiagnosis in diseases of nerve and muscle: principles and practice. Philadelphia: FA Davis; 1983. p. 353–98.
- Slimp JC. Electrophysiologic intraoperative monitoring for spine procedures. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2004;15:92.

- Leppanen R. Spinal cord injury changes caudal segmental spinal cord excitability resulting in changes to spinal cord signal processing and modulation of late response recordings. Spine J. 2005;5(1):115–7.
- Rydevik B, Brown MD, Lundborg G. Pathoanatomy and pathophysiology of nerve root compression. Spine. 1984;9(1):7–15.
- Olmarker K. Spinal nerve root compression: nutrition and function of the porcine cauda equina compressed in vivo. Acta Orthop Scand Suppl. 1991;242(62):1–27.
- Bertrand G. The "battered" root problem. Orthop Clin North Am. 1975;6:305–10.
- Feltes C, Fountas K, Davydov R, Dimopoulos V, Robinson Jr JS. Effects of nerve root retraction in lumbar discectomy. Neurosurg Focus. 2002;13(2):E6.
- Matsui H, Kitagawa H, Kawaguchi Y, Tsuji H. Physiologic changes of nerve root during posterior lumbar discectomy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1995;20(6):654–9.
- Garfin SR, Rydevik B, Lind B, Massie J. Spinal nerve root compression. Spine. 1995;20:1810–20.
- Nagayama R, Nakamura H, Yamano Y, Yamamoto T, Minato Y, Seki M, Konishi S. An experimental study of the effects of nerve root retraction on the posterior ramus. Spine. 2000;25:418–24.
- Howe JF, Loeser JD, Calvin WH. Mechanosensitivity of dorsal root ganglia and chronically injured axons: a physiological basis for the radicular pain of nerve root compression. Pain. 1977;3(1):25–41.
- Dumitru D. Special nerve conduction techniques. In: Dumitru D, editor. Electrodiagnostic medicine. Baltimore: Mosby; 1995. p. 191–209.
- 33. Oh SJ. Anatomical and physiological basis for electromyography studies. In: Oh SJ, editor. Clinical electromyography: nerve conduction studies. 2nd ed. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins; 1993. p. 51.
- Burke D, Adams RW, Skuse NF. The effects of voluntary contraction on the H reflex of human limb muscles. Brain. 1989;112:417–33.
- Preston DC, Shapiro BE. Late responses. In: Electromyography and neuromuscular disorders: clinical-electrophysiologic correlations. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann; 1998. p. 45–56.
- 36. Aminoff MJ. Other electrodiagnostic techniques for the evaluation of neuromuscular disorders. In: Aminoff MJ, editor. Electromyography in clinical practice: clinical and electrodiagnostic aspects of neuromuscular disease. 3rd ed. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 1998. p. 180.
- Fisher MA. AAEM Minimonograph #13: H-reflexes and Fwaves: physiology and clinical indications. Muscle Nerve. 1992;15:1223–33.
- Mayer RF, Mosser RS. Maturation of human reflexes. In: Desmedt JE, editor. New developments in electromyography and clinical neurophysiology, vol. 3. Basel, Switzerland: Karger; 1973. p. 294–307.
- Hoffman P. Über die beziehungen der schnenreflexe zur willkürlichen bewegung und zum tonus. Z Biol. 1918;68:351–70.

- Magladery JW, McDougal Jr DB. Electrophysiological studies of nerve and reflex activity in normal man. I. Identification of certain reflexes in the electromyogram and the conduction velocity of peripheral nerve fibers. Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp. 1950;86:265–90.
- Mayer RF, Mawdsley C. Studies in man and cat of the significance of the H-wave. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1965;28:201–11.
- Lin JZ, Floeter MK. Do F-wave measurements detect changes in motor neuron excitability? Muscle Nerve. 2004;30:289–94.
- Meunier S, Pierrot-Deseillgny E, Simonetta M. Pattern of monosynaptic heteronymous 1a connections in the human lower limb. Exp Brain Res. 1993;96:534–44.
- Leppanen R. From the electrodiagnosis lab...H-reflexes in hand muscles after cervical spinal cord disease. Spine J. 2003;3(5):405.
- 45. Magladery JW, Teasdall RD, Park AM, Languth HW. Electrophysiological studies of reflex activity in patients with lesions of the nervous system. 1. A comparison of spinal motoneurone excitability following afferent nerve volleys in normal persons and patients with upper motor neurone lesions. Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp. 1952;91:219–44.
- Magladery JW, Teasdall RD. Stretch reflexes in patients with spinal cord lesions. Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp. 1958;103:236–41.
- 47. Magladery JW, Porter WE, Park AM, Teasdall RD. Electrophysiological studies of nerve and reflex activity in normal man. IV. The two-neurone reflex and identification of certain action potentials from spinal roots and cord. Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp. 1951;88:499–19.
- 48. Hugon M. Proprioceptive reflexes and the H-reflex. Methodology of Hoffman reflexes in man. In: Desmedt JE, editor. New developments in electromyography and clinical neurophysiology. Basel, Switzerland: Karger; 1973. p. 277–93.
- Braddom RI, Johnson EW. Standardization of H-reflex and diagnostic use in S1 radiculopathy. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1974;55:161–6.
- Jankus WR, Robinson LR, Little JW. Normal limits of side-to-side H-reflex amplitude variability. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1994;75:3–7.
- Ma MD, Liveson JA. Introduction. In: Ma MD, Liveson JA, editors. Nerve conduction handbook. Philadelphia: F.A. Davis; 1983. p. 6.
- Leppanen RE, Stoffell S, Sweat W. Intraoperative reflexes can be used to monitor nerve root and spinal cord gray matter function. Spine J. 2004;4(4):480–1.
- Schimsheimer RJ, de Visser BW, Kemp B. The flexor carpi radialis H-reflex in lesions of the sixth and seventh cervical nerve roots. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1985;48:445–9.
- 54. Schimsheimer RJ, Ongerboer de Visser BW, Kemp B. The flexor carpi radialis H-reflex in polyneuropathy: relations to conduction velocities of the median nerve and the soleus H-reflex latency. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1987;50:447–52.

- 55. Leis AA, Zhou HH, Mehta M, Harkey HL, Paske WC. Behavior of the H-reflex in humans following mechanical pertubation or injury to rostral spinal cord. Muscle Nerve. 1996;19:1378–9.
- Leppanen RE. Monitoring spinal nerve function with H-reflexes. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2012;29(2):126–39.
- Zuleta-Alarcóna A, Castellón-Lariosa K, Niño-de Mejíab MC, Bergeseac SD. Total intravenous anesthesia versus inhaled anaesthetics in neurosurgery. Rev Colomb Anestesiol. 2015;43 Suppl 1:9–14.
- Deiner S. Neuromonitoring syllabus. Rev Mex Anest. 2012;35(1):S307–15.
- Shils JL, Sloan TB. Intraoperative neuromonitoring. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2015;53(1):53–73.
- Sloan TB, Jantti V. Anesthetic effects on evoked potentials. In: Nuwer MR, editor. Intraoperative monitoring of neural function. Handbook of clinical neurophysiology. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2008. p. 94–126.
- Sala F, Squintani G, Tramontano V, Arco C, Faccioli F, Mazza C. Intraoperative neurophysiology in tethered cord surgery: techniques and results. Childs Nerv Syst. 2013;29:1611–24.
- Sloan T. Anesthesia and intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26:227–35.
- 63. Mahmoud M, Sadhasivam S, Salisbury S, et al. Susceptibility of transcranial electric motor-evoked potentials to varying targeted blood levels of dexmedetomidine during spine surgery. Anesthesiology. 2010;112(6):1364–73.
- 64. Jameson LC. Transcranial motor evoked potentials. In: Koht A, Sloan TB, Toleikos J, editors. Monitoring the nervous system for anesthesiologists and other health care professionals. New York: Springer; 2012. p. 27–45.
- Rozet I, Metzner J, Brown M, et al. Dexmedetomidine does not affect evoked potentials during spine surgery. Anesth Analg. 2015;19:1–10.
- 66. Tobias JD, Goble TJ, Bates G, Anderson JT, Hoernschemeyer DG. Effects of dexedetomidine on intraoperative motor and somatosensory evoked potential monitoring during surgery in adolescents. Paediatr Anaesth. 2008;18(11):1082–8.
- Anschel DJ, Aherne A, Soto RG, Carrion W, Hoegerl C, Nori P, Seidman PA. Successful intraoperative spinal cord monitoring during scoliosis surgery using a total intravenous anesthetic regimen including dexmedetomidine. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;25(1):56–61.
- 68. Cramolini GM, Leppanen R, Smithson L. Effect of dexmedetomidine on neurophysiological monitoring during spinal surgery (EEG, tibial somatosensory and lower extremity transcranial electrical motor evoked potentials, F-responses and H-reflexes). J Clin Neurophysiol. 2010;27(1):74.
- Kerz T, Hennes HJ, Fève A, Decq P, Filipetti P, Duvaldestin P. Effects of propofol on H-reflex in humans. Anesthesiology. 2001;94:32–7.
- Mavroudakis N, Vandesteene A, Brunko E, Defevrimont M, Zegers de Beyl D. Spinal and brainstem SEPs and H-reflex during enflurane anesthesia.

Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1994;92: 82–5.

- Zhou HH, Mehta M, Leis AA. Spinal cord motoneuron excitability during isoflurane and nitrous oxide anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1997;86:302–7.
- Zhou HH, Zhu C. Comparison of isoflurane effects on motor evoked potential and F wave. Anesthesiology. 2000;93:32–8.
- Zhou HH, Turndorf H. Hyper- and hypoventilation affects spinal motor neuron excitability during isoflurane anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1998;87:407–10.
- 74. Dincklage FV, Reiche J, Rehberg B, Baars JH. H-reflex depression by propofol and sevoflurane is dependent on stimulus intensity. Clin Neurophysiol. 2006;117:2653–60.
- 75. Leis AA. Physiology of acute spinal cord injury (SCI) in humans. I. Behavior of the H-reflex and F-wave immediately following injury to rostral spinal cord in humans [abstract]. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1997;14(4):347.
- Slimp JC. Electrophysiologic intraoperative monitoring for spine procedures. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2004;15:93.
- Hicks GE. The reliability and specificity of the Hoffman's reflex during pediatric spinal instrumentation. J Clin Monit Comput. 2004;18(3):210.
- Taniguchi M, Cedzich C, Schramm J. Modification of cortical stimulation for motor evoked potentials under general anesthesia: technical description. Neurosurgery. 1993;32(2):219–26.
- 79. Leppanen R, Miller C, Gammeltoff K, et al. Intraoperative interaction of descending transcranial electrical motor evoked potentials and ascending somatosensory evoked potentials and f-responses. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2005;22(5):61.
- Leppanen R. From the electrodiagnostic lab: where transcranial stimulation, H-reflexes, and F-responses monitor cord function intraoperatively. Spine J. 2004;4(5):601–3.
- Bošnjak R, Makovek M. Neurophysiological monitoring of S1 root function during microsurgical posterior discectomy using H-reflex and spinal nerve root potentials. Spine. 2010;35(4):423–9.
- Logigian EL, Soriano SG, Herrmann DN, Madsen JR. Gentle dorsal root retraction and dissection can cause areflexia: implications for intraoperative monitoring during "selective" partial dorsal rhizotomy. Muscle Nerve. 2001;24:1352–8.
- Bracchi F, Grossi P, Trovati L, Vigano P. H-reflex spinal cord monitoring during vertebral stabilization. In: Boyd J, editor. Handbook of spinal cord monitoring. London: Kluwer; 1992. p. 253–8.
- 84. Bracchi F, Grossi PA, Trovati L, Vigano P. H-reflex spinal cord monitoring during vertebral column stablization surgery. In: Jones SJ, Boyd S, Hetreed M, Smith NJ, editors. Handbook of spinal cord monitoing. London: Kluwer Academic; 1994. p. 253–8.
- 85. Rossi L, Bianchi AM, Merzagora A, Gaggiani A, Cerutti S, Bracchi F. Single trial somatosensory evoked potential extraction with arx filtering for a
combined spinal cord intraoperative neuromonitoring technique. Biomed Eng Online. 2007;6:2.

- Feyissa AM, Tummala S. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring with Hoffmann reflex during thoracic surgery. J Clin Neurosci. 2015;22(6):990–4.
- 87. Schwartz D, Bhalodia VM, Sestokas Ak, Flynn JM, Shah SA, Gabos PG, et al. Is the intraoperative H-reflex a viable substitute for transcranial electrical motor evoked potential (tceMEP) monitoring in detecting emerging spinal cord injury during scoliosis surgery?: Poster #1. Spine: Affiliated Society Meeting Abstracts: 23–26 Sept 2009;10:135.
- 88. Shine TSJ, Harrison BA, De Ruyter ML, Crook JE, Heckman M, Daube JR, et al. Motor and somatosensory evoked potentials, their role in predicting spinal cord ischemia in patients undergoing thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair with regional lumbar epidural cooling. Anesthesiology. 2008;108:580–7.
- Rushworth G. Diagnostic value of the electromyographic study of reflex activity in man. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1967;25:65–73.
- Skinner A. Vodušek. Intraoperative recording of the bulbocavernosus reflex. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2014;31(4):313–322.
- Deletis V, Vodusek D. Intraoperative recording of the bulbocavernosus reflex. Neurosurgery. 1997;40(1):88–93.
- 92. Skinner S, Chiri CA, Wroblewski J, Transfeldt EE. Enhancement of the bulbocavernosus reflex during intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring through the use of double train stimulation: a pilot study. J Clin Monit Comput. 2007;21(1):31–40.
- Khealani B, Husain AM. Neurophysiologic intraoperative monitoring during surgery for tethered cord syndrome. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;26(2):76–81.
- Rechthand E. Bilateral bulbocavernosus reflexes: crossing of nerve pathways or artifact? Muscle Nerve. 1997;20(5):616–8.
- Sala F, Tramontano V, Squintani G, Arcaro C, Tot E, Pinna G, et al. Neurophysiology of complex spinal cord untethering. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2014;31(4):326–36.
- 96. Deletis V, Vodusek DB, Abbott R, Epstein FJ, Turndorf H. Intraoperative monitoring of the dorsal sacral roots: minimizing the risk of iatrogenic micturition disorders. Neurosurgery. 1992;30(1):72–5.
- Huang JC, Deletis V, Vodusek DB, Abbott R. Preservation of pudendal afferents in sacral rhizotomies. Neurosurgery. 1997;41(2):411–5.
- Corman ML. Physiologic and anatomical bases of continence. In: Colon and rectal surgery. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott; 1993. p. 193.
- Skinner SA, Transfeldt EE, Mehbod AA, Mullen JC, Perra JH. Electromyography mechanically-induced suprasegmental spinal motor tract injury: review of decompression at spinal cord level. Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;120:754–64.
- Kothbauer KF, Novak K. Intraoperative monitoring for tethered cord surgery: an update. Neurosurg Focus. 2004;16(2):E8.

- 101. Fasano VA, Broggi G, Barolat-Romana G, Sguazzi A. Surgical treatment of spasticity in cerebral palsy. Childs Brain. 1978;4:289–305.
- 102. Fasano VA, Barolat-Romana G, Zeme S, Squazzi A. Electrophysiological assessment of spinal circuits in spasticity by direct nerve root stimulation. Neurosurgery. 1979;4(2):146–51.
- Peacock WJ, Arens LJ, Berman B. Cerebral palsy spasticity. Selective posterior rhizotomy. Pediatr Neurosci. 1987;13(2):61–6.
- 104. Staudt LA, Nuwer MR, Peacock WJ. Intraoperative monitoring during selective posterior rhizotomy: technique and patient outcome. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1995;97(6):296–309.
- Harper CM, Nelson KR. Intraoperative electrophysiological monitoring in children. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1992;9(3):342–56.
- Kim DS, Choi JU, Yang KH, Park CI. Selective posterior rhizotomy in children with cerebral palsy: a 10-year experience. Childs Nerv Syst. 2001;17:556–62.
- Turner RT. Neurophysiological intraoperative monitoring during selective dorsal rhizotomy. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;26(2):82–4.
- 108. Steninbok P, Tidemann AJ, Miller S, Mortenson P, Bowen-Roberts T. Electrophysiologically guided versus non-electrophysiologically guided selective dorsal rhizotomy for spastic cerebral palsy: a comparison of outcomes. Childs Nerv Syst. 2009;25:1091–6.
- 109. Lang FF, Deletis V, Cohen HW, Velasquez L, Abbott R. Inclusion of the S2 dorsal rootlets in functional posterior rhizotomy for spasticity in children with cerebral palsy. Neurosurgery. 1994;34(5):847–53. discussion 853.
- 110. Park TS, Gaffney PE, Kaufman BA, Molleston MC. Selective lumbosacral dorsal rhizotomy immediately caudal to the conus medullaris for cerebral palsy. Neurosurgery. 1993;33(5):929–33. discussion 933–4.
- 111. Phillips JC, Park TS. Electrophysiological studies of selective posterior rhizotomy patients. In: Park TS, Phillips LH, Peacock W, editors. Neurosurgery: state of the art reviews: management of spasticity in cerebral palsy and spinal cord injury. Philadelphia: Hanley& Belfus; 1989. p. 459–69.
- 112. Kugelberg E. Facial reflexes. Brain. 1952;75:385-96.
- Kimura J. Electrically elicited blink reflex in diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. Brain. 1975;98:413–26.
- 114. Kimura J. The blink reflex. In: Kimura J, editor. Electrodiagnosis in diseases of nerve and muscle: principles and practice. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: F.A. Davis; 1989. p. 307–31.
- 115. Dumitru D. Special nerve conduction techniques. In: Dumitru D, editor. Electrodiagnostic medicine. Philadelphia: Hanley & Belfus; 1995. p. 184–6.
- Deletis V, Urriza J, Ulkatan S, Fernandez-Conejero I, Lesser J, Mista D. The feasibility of recording blink reflexes under general anesthesia. Muscle Nerve. 2009;39:642–6.
- Fernandez-Conejero I, Ulkatan S, Sen C, Deletis
 V. Intra-operative neurophysiology during micro-

vascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. Clin Neurophysiol. 2012;123:78–83.

- 118. Fard JA, Dalvandi M, Mohammadi A. The use of bilateral blink reflexes in intraoperative monitoring of facial-trigeminal nerves in cerebello-pontine angle operations. J Inj Violence Res. 2012;4(3 Suppl 1):35.
- Darrouzet V, Hilton M, Pinder D, Wang JL, Guerin J, Bebear JP. Prognostic value of the blink reflex in acoustic neuroma surgery. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2002;127(3):153–7.
- 120. Mourisse J, Lerou J, Struys M, Zwarts M, Booil L. Multi-level approach to anesthetic effects produced by sevoflurane or propolol in humans: 1. BIS and blink reflex. Br J Anaesth. 2007; 98(6):737–45.
- 121. Leppanen R, Maguire J, Wallace S, Madigan R, Draper V. Intraoperative lower extremity reflex muscle activity as an adjunct to conventional somatosensory-evoked potentials and descending

neurogenic monitoring in idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 1995;20:1872–7.

- 122. Leppanen R, Maguire J, Wallace S, et al. Intraoperative recording of long-latency lower extremity reflexes for the detection of suprasegmentally altered complex spinal cord electrophysiological processing. Southern EEG Society Meeting; Richmond, VA; May 1992.
- 123. Maguire J, Wallace S, Madigan R, Leppanen R, Draper V. Intraoperative long-latency reflex activity in idiopathic scoliosis demonstrates abnormal central processing: a possible etiology for idiopathic scoliosis. Spine. 1993;18:1621–6.
- 124. Leppanen R. From the electrodiagnostic lab: where intraoperative intralimb and interlimb polysynaptic reflexes identify acute and chronic neurological comprise. Faces of spine care. Spine J. 2006;6:344–7.
- Slimp JC. Electrophysiological intraoperative monitoring for spine procedures. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2004;14:99.

Brain and Spinal Cord Mapping

9

Charles D. Yingling and Tina N. Nguyen

Key Learning Points

- Cantral sulcus can be identified by SEP polarity reversal.
- Brief high-frequency train stimuli are less likely to induce seizures than long lower frequency trains.
- Direct cortical stimulation of motor cortex after it is located can be continuously employed for monitoring corticospinal tract function.
- Subcortical stimulation can determine rough distance to CST using calibration 1 mA=1 mm.

Introduction

Surgery for resection of cerebral tumors or epileptic foci carries risks of damage to cortical areas involved in sensory, motor, language, and memory function. Even with modern anatomic and functional imaging techniques, preoperative studies are not sufficient if the surgeon wishes to obtain maximal resection of abnormal tissue while preserving neural function. Thus, intraoperative mapping techniques have been utilized for over 80 years to provide detailed delineation of functional areas during surgery. This chapter reviews the current state-of-the-art techniques and also briefly considers new techniques now being developed. While language and memory mapping during awake craniotomies will be discussed, the primary emphasis will be on techniques for mapping sensory and motor cortical regions during craniotomies performed under general anesthesia. Additionally, recent techniques for mapping the corticospinal tracts within subcortical and spinal regions as well as mapping of the dorsal columns will be highlighted.

Beginning in the 1930s, the pioneering neurosurgeon, Wilder Penfield, began the systematic mapping of sensory, motor, and language cortex. Working with the neurophysiologist Herbert Jasper, Penfield confirmed the topographic organization of the human cortex, and obtained the first detailed maps of the human sensory and motor homunculi. Using low-voltage stimulation at 60 Hz, the powerline frequency, and working during awake craniotomies, they also mapped the cortical regions subserving language and memory functions. Their observations were described in a landmark publication [1] and in a subsequent book [2]. This method remained the state of the art for almost 50 years.

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_9

C.D. Yingling, Ph.D. (🖂)

Golden Gate Neuromonitoring, 5758 Geary Blvd. #214, San Francisco, CA 94121, USA e-mail: cyingling@ggiom.com

T.N. Nguyen, M.D. Department of Neurosurgery, Kaiser Redwood City, CA 94063-2037, USA e-mail: tina.nl.nguyen@kp.org

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

In the 1970s, George Ojemann began the modern era of intraoperative mapping with a series of elegant studies, carried out in collaboration with neuropsychologists including Harry Whitaker [3]. These studies dramatically enhanced our understanding of cortical organization for language and memory functions, and also led to the development of a specialized battery-powered stimulator specifically designed for cortical stimulation. This stimulator, marketed by Radionics as the OCS-2, is still commonly used, although new developments to be described below may soon render the Penfield-Ojemann method obsolete. Other stimulators designed for a similar purpose are the Grass S12X (Natus Neurology Incorporated-Grass Products, Warwick, RI) and the Nicolet Cortical Stimulator (Natus Neurology Incorporated, Middleton, WI). These devices, primarily designed for stimulation mapping with simultaneous electrocorticography, incorporate a switching matrix that allows the current to be delivered to any combination of electrodes in a multi-electrode grid. However, none of these devices can be externally triggered, a feature that would allow them to deliver brief high-frequency trains analogous to those used in direct cortical and transcranial motor-evoked potentials (tcMEPs).

Recent studies have shown a positive correlation between maximal resection for both lowand high-grade gliomas and patient outcomes, including long-term survival and quality of life [4, 5]. While gross total resection is always the goal, it has to be balanced with the risk of developing neurologic deficits by mechanical or vascular injury. To this end, the latest intraoperative techniques focus on precisely identifying eloquent cortical regions, monitoring their functional integrity, as well as providing continuous feedback on the distance to corticospinal tract fibers (see below).

Presurgical Mapping

The development of functional imaging technologies, particularly functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), magnetoencephalography (MEG), and transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), has made it possible to visualize cortical areas

activated during sensory, motor, or language tasks. When superimposed on high-resolution anatomical images, and integrated with imageguided navigational systems, it is in principle possible to plan a craniotomy for optimal exposure of areas to be resected in relation to functional or "eloquent" cortex. Another potentially valuable technique is MRI diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) of white matter tracts involved in language and motor function. However, these techniques have not yet been standardized, and given the potentially devastating consequences of inadvertent damage to important functional regions, intraoperative mapping techniques utilizing electrical stimulation and recording are still the "gold standard." Because presurgical mapping techniques have not yet been incorporated into routine clinical practice, they will not be further considered in this chapter.

Mapping During Awake Craniotomies

While it is now possible to localize cortical regions involved in sensory and motor function under general anesthesia, mapping of cortical areas subserving language still requires the participation of the patient during craniotomies conducted under local anesthesia (for a detailed description of the anesthesia, see Chap. 22, "Intracranial AVM Surgery"). Assessment of spontaneous speech, fluency, visual naming, and sometimes memory functions are then carried out, often with the collaboration of a neuropsychologist.

Mapping is based on the presumption that electrical stimulation disrupts the normal function of the cortical area being stimulated. Continuous stimulation, typically at 60 Hz, is briefly applied to exposed cortical areas during task performance. Areas with a positive response to stimulation (disruption of task performance) are tagged with sterile markers and the mapping proceeds until the entire region surrounding the desired resection zone has been mapped. Typically, a margin of 1 cm surrounding positive sites is left intact to minimize disruption of language function.

This method of mapping, termed "positive mapping," requires an extensive craniotomy to expose intact cortex adjacent to the zone of planned resection. Sinai et al. [6] proposed a different paradigm, based on negative mapping results within a more limited craniotomy restricted to the zone of planned resection. The presumption is that negative sites, those not producing disruption of language function with stimulation, can be safely resected even in the absence of positive mapping. This procedure is still controversial, and in fact contradicts recommendations previously made by one of the same authors but, if further validated, offers the promise of smaller, tailored craniotomies with minimal cortical exposure, less extensive intraoperative mapping, and a more rapid neurosurgical procedure.

Hamberger et al. [7] noted that surgery including hippocampal resection was associated with deficits in visual naming, where the patient speaks the name of familiar objects presented by pictures (e.g., house, car, dog) even with preservation of all cortical sites in which visual naming was affected by stimulation. This interesting finding suggests a role for the hippocampus in visual naming, as well as underlying the importance of memory testing as well as fluency and visual naming during resection of dominant hemisphere tumors during awake craniotomies.

Recent papers validate the safety and efficacy of performing awake craniotomies. The perioperative complication rate is 10%, including a 3% risk of stimulus-induced seizures that typically can be successfully aborted with cold saline. Safety was found to be unrelated to the American Society of Anesthesiologists classification, body mass index, smoking status, mental illness history, seizure history, or type and size of tumor [8]. Moreover, in a meta-analysis study, awake craniotomy was associated with a decreased likelihood of developing postoperative deficits, shorter hospital stay, and even slightly decreased surgery time compared to surgery under general anesthesia [9].

Location of the Central Sulcus by SSEP Polarity Reversal

As is well known, the central sulcus is one of the most important landmarks in the human brain, with primary somatosensory cortex located in the

postcentral gyrus and primary motor cortex in the precentral gyrus. Both sensory and motor cortical areas are organized according to the well-known "functional homunculus," in which the face area occupies approximately the most lateral one-third of the homunculus, the hand area occupies the next one-third, and the representation of the rest of the body occupies the remaining one-third, with the foot representation located on the medial surface of each hemisphere. This functional distortion reflects the relative importance of direct cortical control of muscles involved in speech, facial expression, and manipulation of objects with the hands. In the original Penfield studies performed during awake craniotomies, patients would report sensations referred to appropriate parts of the body when the corresponding sensory cortical region was stimulated, and movements when the corresponding areas of primary motor cortex were activated.

Today, however, the sensory and motor cortical areas can be located and mapped under general anesthesia with the use of appropriate electrical stimulation and recording. We will first describe the localization of the central sulcus by mapping the polarity reversal of the initial cortical components of the somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP). While there are many parallel pathways mediating the various modalities of somatic sensation (e.g., touch, joint position sense, pain, temperature), the SSEP is exclusively generated by activity in the dorsal column/ lemniscus system (see Chap. medial 1, "Somatosensory-Evoked Potentials"). Information travels in the dorsal columns of the spinal cord, synapsing in the dorsal column nuclei (gracilis and cuneatus) in the lower medulla, crossing the midline in the medial lemniscus, with a final synapse in the ventral posterior lateral nucleus of the thalamus (VPL) before projecting to the primary somatosensory cortex in the postcentral gyrus.

Whereas many neuronal cell types are activated by somatic stimulation, only the pyramidal cells have an extended geometry that can produce extracellular currents sufficient to be recorded with electrodes on the scalp or the surface of the exposed cortex. In the case of the SSEP resulting from median or ulnar nerve stimulation, the initial cortical response, typically recorded with scalp electrodes over the arrival region, is a negativity occurring at about 20 ms poststimulus, commonly termed N20. In fact, this response could equally be termed P20 because it is generated by a cortical dipole oriented parallel to the cortical surface, with its negative pole posterior and a corresponding positive pole anterior [10, 11] (Fig. 9.1a).

The polarity reversal of N/P20 is easy to visualize. Imagine a monopolar electrode, referenced to an inactive site, which is moved along the surface of the cortex perpendicular to the central sulcus at the time of the peak of N/P20. When the electrode is posterior to the generator (in the postcentral sulcus), a negativity will be recorded. As the electrode moves anteriorly, the negativity will reach a maximum and then drop to zero when the electrode is equidistant from the positive and negative ends of the dipole. As the electrode continues to move anteriorly, it will record the positivity, which will gradually decrease as the electrode is moved further forward away from the dipole area. If instead of a single electrode being moved, we now imagine a strip of electrodes with some contacts posterior and some anterior to the central sulcus, we see that the posterior electrodes will record a negativity at the same time as the anterior electrodes record a positivity. Paradoxically, an electrode contact directly over the dipole generator will record zero, even though it is closest to the active generator, because the contributions from the negative and positive poles of the dipole will cancel one another out.

The situation is slightly complicated by the fact that a second dipole, which is activated a few milliseconds later, is located in the precentral gyrus. This dipole, however, is oriented perpendicular to the cortical surface, and when activated causes a surface positivity and negativity that could only be recorded by a depth electrode underneath the pyramidal cell layer. This component is termed P22 and is recorded at the cortical surface only as positivity at a slightly longer latency than N20. Because an electrode at the cortical surface will record the sum of the activity of these two generators, the positivity over the precentral gyrus may appear to be at a slightly longer latency than the negativity seen posteri-

orly, depending on the exact orientation of the generators in relation to the location of the recording electrodes. With this minor caveat, the polarity reversal of the SSEP resulting from median nerve stimulation is easy to interpret, and will accurately define the location of the central sulcus. The polarity reversal can be easily recorded with a strip electrode, typically with four to eight contacts aligned at 1-cm intervals, or with a two-dimensional array or grid electrode (see Fig. 9.1b, c).

To record the polarity reversal, the electrode must be positioned so that it is over the hand area of the somatosensory cortex, with some contacts anterior and some posterior to the central sulcus. This may require adjustment of the electrode position to obtain optimal recordings. For example, if a negativity is recorded at all contacts, the entire electrode is probably posterior to the central sulcus and needs to be moved anteriorly. This happens more often than might be expected, particularly if preoperative functional imaging is not available. This is because the location of the central sulcus, which divides primary sensory from primary motor cortex, may vary by several centimeters from individual to individual with respect to external skull landmarks. This variability is why functional mapping is vitally important to avoid inadvertent resection of primary sensory and motor areas.

With a one-dimensional strip electrode, the waveforms can be simply displayed, one above the other, in the same order as the electrode contacts. This makes identification of the polarity reversal quite easy. With a grid electrode, the situation is more complicated, and ideally the waveforms should be displayed in a two-dimensional pattern corresponding to the arrangement of the contacts on the electrode. Alternatively, the distribution of electrical potentials at each time point can be displayed as a color map, in much the same fashion that temperature gradients are displayed in weather maps. For example, if negative potentials are displayed in different shades of blue and positive potentials in different shades of red, then the border between red and blue areas will define the central sulcus [12].

Finally, note that the SSEP polarity reversal can be recorded either from the surface of the



Fig. 9.1 (a) Diagrammatic axial section through the central sulcus at the level of the hand area of sensorimotor cortex, showing the earliest cortical dipoles activated after finger stimulation. Note the generator of the N/P20 in the postcentral gyrus, which is oriented parallel to the scalp so that the primary response reverses polarity from posterior–anterior, while the generator of P22 in the precentral gyrus is oriented perpendicular to the scalp so a surface electrode only sees the positive end of this dipole, which is activated slightly later. Responses seen at the scalp or cortical surface are a spatiotemporal summation of these

two sources. (Adapted from Desmedt et al. [10]). (b) Photography of six contact strip electrode spanning the presumed central sulcus. (c) Responses to right (R) ulnar nerve stimulation recorded from cortical surface with four contract strip (traces 0–3) and scalp (C3' – Fz). Positivity is up; note N20 (at latency of ~30 ms in this tall patient) in scalp recording and postcentral contact 0 with positivity at precentral contacts 1–3. Positivity shows longer latency in contact 1 due to contribution from second (P22) dipole in precentral gyrus

cortex, as would be done prior to resection of a tumor in this region, or epidurally, for example during implantation of a motor cortex-stimulating electrode for control of chronic pain. In all cases, it is important to record at least one scalp channel of SSEP, in order to confirm the precise latency of N20, which may vary during a procedure, as it is significantly affected by peripheral temperature changes.

Because the SSEP signals recorded directly from the cortical surface are much larger than those recorded at the scalp, any anesthetic technique that is compatible with recording scalp SSEP will be suitable for cortical recordings. In fact, if SSEP recordings are the only mapping technique that will be utilized, neuromuscular blockade can be used, and will often improve the signal-to-noise ratio by eliminating the possibility of scalp EMG contamination. However, because motor mapping is usually done in the same context, neuromuscular blockade is generally contraindicated.

Location of the Primary Motor Cortex with Electrical Stimulation

The SSEP polarity reversal is often recorded first, as this provides a quick indication of the location of the central sulcus. Once the central sulcus is defined, and the presumed location of primary motor cortex is thus established, then the motor cortex is typically mapped with electrical stimulation. This complementary method confirms the results obtained with SSEP mapping and allows further delineation of the topographic organization of the motor cortex.

Until recently, motor mapping has been performed using essentially the same techniques pioneered by Penfield in the 1930s. The Ojemann OCS-2 Cortical Stimulator (Integra Life Sciences, Plainsboro, NJ) is used with a handheld electrode. Using bipolar electrical pulses of 1-ms duration at 60 Hz, and beginning at approximately 3-mA intensity, the electrode is placed on the cortical surface for about 1 s, and any movements on the contralateral side are noted. Yingling et al. [13] showed that the sensitivity of this mapping technique could be enhanced by simultaneous EMG recordings from multiple muscle groups contralateral to the side of stimulation (Fig. 9.2a). This method has several advantages; EMG activity can often be seen at much lower stimulation intensities than are necessary to produce overt movements, and the requirement to expose and observe the entire contralateral body is eliminated as it is relatively easy to scan multiple EMG channels for activity occurring at any location. Patients who are awake (i.e., with local anesthesia) may note "tugging" or other motor changes before visible motor activity occurs.

If no motor responses are obtained at an initial current setting of 3 mA, the current is increased, typically 1 mA at a time, and the mapping process is repeated until consistent responses are obtained and the organization of the cortical homunculus is confirmed. However, this method is not without its faults. In the Yingling et al. [13] study, 1-s stimulus trains elicited motor seizures in 24% of the patients (Fig. 9.2b). While many of these were minor and self-terminating, they occasionally persisted or even increased in intensity or spread to other regions of the body, and had to be terminated by application of cold Ringer's solution to the cortical surface [14]. A second problem with this technique is that it requires the active participation of the surgeon, and thus is a method for mapping, but does not permit continuous monitoring of corticospinal tract function during tumor resection. Transcranial MEPs (see Chap. 2, "Transcranial Motor-Evoked Potentials") are often used for monitoring motor tract function, but transcranial stimulation may activate white matter tracts at a considerable depth below the surface of the cortex, and thus fail to detect motor pathway compromise at more superficial locations [15].

Years of experience with transcranial MEP recordings have demonstrated that this technique has an extremely low incidence of induced seizures [16]. This is presumably due to the brief duration of the stimulus trains employed, typically on the order of 10 ms, compared to the 1-s simulation used in the Penfield/Ojemann technique. This has led to the development of a new technique for cortical mapping under general



Fig. 9.2 (a) EMG responses to stimulation of the forearm area of cerebral cortex (time indicated by *bars* above traces) at 3.6 mA (A, B), 5 mA (C), and 6.2 mA (D). Traces (*top* to *bottom*) represent face, shoulder, upper arm, forearm, hand, upper leg, lower leg, and foot muscles. Overt movement was not evident except with the highest level of stimulation in trace D. (Reprinted with permission from Yingling et al. [13]). (b) Clonic seizure activity manifesting as rhythmic

anesthesia, using brief pulse trains similar to those employed with transcranial MEPs, but at a much lower intensity and applied directly to the cortical surface. While this technique had first been described by Taniguchi et al. [17], the first

EMG activity in foot muscles after stimulation of the medial area of the sensorimotor cortex. (Stimulation began before the trace, as indicated by the *bar* at the *top left*). Activity was terminated by application of cold lactated Ringer's solution to the cortical surface (time indicated by an *arrow* at the *top right*). (Reprinted with permission from Yingling et al. [13])

clinical series were published by Cedzich et al. [18] and Kombos et al. [19]. The combined data from these two studies show a success rate of 96% in obtaining direct cortical MEP, with no seizures reported in either study.



Fig. 9.3 MEP responses to direct cortical stimulation (*left*) and transcranial stimulation (*right*). Traces (*top* to *bottom*) orbicularis oris, trapezius, deltoid, biceps, flexor carpi ulnaris, abductor pollicis brevis, rectus femoris, gastrocnemius, and abductor hallucis. Note the focal nature

We have had extensive experience using this technique in the San Francisco area during the past 8 years (Fig. 9.3). Typically, trains of 3–5 pulses, with 2-ms interstimulus intervals, are sufficient. Using 50-µs duration pulses, we typically obtain thresholds ranging from roughly 20-150 mA. Although this seems high when compared with thresholds obtained using the Ojemann or comparable stimulators, the total charge per pulse delivered to the brain is roughly equivalent. This is because the 50-µs duration pulses used in our train technique (due to limitations of the stimulator) are each 1/20 of the duration of the 1-ms pulses commonly employed in the 60-Hz technique. Because the total charge delivered to the brain is the product of current x time, the thresholds obtained with such brief pulses should be divided by 20 to compare them with the thresholds obtained using the traditional technique. Thus, these

of the responses to direct cortical stimulation (40 V), in contrast to responses seen in all channels following transcranial stimulation (300 V) due to spread of current through the scalp/skull and/or subcortical activation of the corticospinal tract

thresholds would be equivalent to 1-7.5 mA using a 1-ms pulse width.

Note that the above comparisons are per pulse. With the traditional method, a 60-Hz pulse train is typically applied to the cortical surface for approximately 1 s, or 60 pulses total. (Even longer trains of 3-4 s duration are typically employed for language mapping.) In contrast, the direct cortical stimulation technique (dcMEP) delivers a total of 5 pulses or less, a full order of magnitude fewer than with the traditional technique. This is a probable reason why the dcMEP technique does not appear to induce seizure activity. In our recent series, of 118 patients in whom the dcMEP technique was used, 12 were also stimulated at 60 Hz with the Ojemann stimulator. Five of these 12 exhibited overt seizures or after discharges with 60-Hz stimulation, whereas none of the 118 patients had seizures following brief train stimulation (Yingling et al., unpublished data).

The lack of induced seizures and the minimal movement produced are the foundation for the second great advantage of the train technique over the traditional 60-Hz technique. Once the precentral gyrus has been mapped, a strip electrode can be left over the motor cortex and regularly stimulated while tumor resection proceeds. Unlike transcranial MEPs, which may produce overt movement requiring the surgeon to temporarily halt resection during MEP stimulation, the strip electrode can be repeatedly activated to provide continuous monitoring of corticospinal tract function during tumor resection. Thus, the dcMEP technique for motor *mapping* can also be used to provide continuous *monitoring*.

Recent studies have used neuromonitoring equipment with stimulators capable of delivering rapid pulse trains with wider pulse durations $(200-500 \ \mu s)$. These settings allowed for lower intensity thresholds (≤ 20 mA) to activate the motor cortex and frequent stimulation to provide early detection of changes during tumor resections [20-23]. (Note that as of July 2015, there are no FDA-approved cortical stimulators capable of delivering rapid pulse trains with any stimulus duration; therefore, all the techniques discussed in this section require the off-label use of FDA-approved products, with appropriate informed consent.) Whereas most authors noted the motor threshold (minimum stimulation intensity to elicit a response) and used increases in the threshold as a warning sign, there is no consensus on what amount of intensity increase constitutes a significant change.

Subcortical Mapping

While continuous dcMEP monitoring during tumor resection can detect damage to the corticospinal tract at the subcortical level, it is preferable to avoid such damage by utilizing subcortical mapping techniques. Again, stimulation of subcortical white matter can be performed using the Ojemann stimulator with a bipolar probe or with the brief train technique using either bipolar or monopolar stimulation. While subcortical stimulation does not seem likely to induce seizure activity, presumably because of the lack of direct activation of cortical networks, the brief train technique is nevertheless emerging as the preferred method for subcortical mapping. Monopolar stimulation appears to be preferable to bipolar stimulation in this context [24]. More recently, monopolar cathodal stimulation is favored over monopolar anodal stimulation. The argument is that the former allows for better tissue penetration and activates the corticospinal tract at lower stimulation intensities [25].

The key issue for subcortical mapping is whether or not there is a consistent relationship between stimulation parameters and distance to the corticospinal tract. Fortunately, several recent studies have produced strikingly similar findings. Using similar stimulation settings as for direct cortical MEPs (pulse widths of 200–500 μ s and trains of 5 pulses at 2–4 ms interstimulus intervals), a consistent relationship of approximately 1 mm/mA has been found [20–22]. In other words, a stimulation threshold of 10 mA indicates that the tip of the stimulating probe is 1 cm from the corticospinal tract.

The combination of subcortical mapping and continuous MEPs evoked by direct cortical stimulation has been shown to be an effective tool for optimizing tumor resection while avoiding inadvertent damage to motor tracts. Furthermore, recent papers have proposed methods that integrate monopolar stimulation with commonly used surgical instruments so that the distance to the corticospinal tract can be assessed at the same time tumor removal is taking place. Raabe et al. [23] connected the cable for the standard monopolar probe directly to the suction device, transforming it into a "continuous dynamic mapping device." The tip of the suction-monopolar device held in one hand moves to the same areas within the tumor cavity as the bipolar forceps or the ultrasonic aspirator held in the other hand (Fig. 9.4). As tumor removal proceeds closer to the corticospinal tract, the stimulation intensity needed to elicit an MEP decreases. Resection was usually halted when the motor threshold was 3 mA. However, in cases in which the surgeon predetermined that a gross total resection could be safely achieved, resection continued



Fig. 9.4 (a) Photograph of combined suction-monopolar stimulator device. (b) Illustration of the device within the tumor cavity. Continuous stimulation is applied until the set current triggers an MEP response, indicating that the corticospinal tract is in close proximity (1 mA has been

until the motor threshold was as low as 1 mA. Likewise, Shiban et al. [26] connected an ultrasonic surgical aspirator to a neuromonitoring stimulator via an adapter cable in order for it to be used simultaneously as a tumor removal device and a monopolar probe. In this study, a motor threshold of 3 mA or less was also defined as the tumor resection stopping point. Both methods enable the surgeon to work uninterrupted compared to having to test with the handheld monopolar probe, and thus rely less on the surgeon deciding to take a pause from resecting to evaluate the distance to the corticospinal tract. Thus, they hold the promise of enabling the surgeon to efficiently obtain maximal tumor resection with reduced risk of a patient developing post op weakness.

The same mapping techniques can be used to identify the corticospinal tract at more caudal

shown to be roughly equal to a 1-mm distance to the corticospinal tract). After an alert, the current is reduced to allow more precise determination of the distance to the corticospinal tract (c). (Reprinted with permission from Raabe et al. [23])

locations, for example, at the level of the cerebral peduncles in the brainstem. Of course, access to neoplasms or vascular abnormalities in these regions may involve risk to other structures, such as cranial nerves or the dorsal column–medial lemniscus pathway. Techniques for mapping cranial nerves have long been established, and are covered elsewhere in this volume (see Chap. 7, "Electromyography.").

Spinal Cord Mapping

Access to the interior of the spinal cord itself, for resection of intramedullary tumors, requires the surgeon to perform a midline myelotomy. In the normal spinal cord, this midline is relatively easy to determine. However, when the anatomy is distorted by an intramedullary lesion, the



Fig. 9.5 Illustration of normal spinal cord anatomy (**a**) compared with distorted midline anatomy due to an enlarging syrinx (**b**) and an intramedullary tumor (**c**). (Reprinted with permission from Yanni et al. [27])

physiological midline, i.e., the septum between the left and right dorsal columns, may not be evident, even under the operating microscope. Furthermore, the physiologic midline may not be in the anatomic midline and thus may not be straight (Fig. 9.5).

Fortunately, physiologic mapping techniques can also be used to determine the position of the left and right dorsal columns, and the midline transition between them. In principle, there are four ways to accomplish this. First, peripheral nerves in the four extremities can be stimulated individually, and the location of the maximum evoked response determined with multichannel recordings spanning the dorsal midline [27]. This, however, requires fabrication of small multichannel surface electrodes, which are not available commercially. The other disadvantage of this technique is that it requires signal averaging, with associated time delays. The second method is to stimulate on the dorsal surface of the cord, using a small monopolar electrode moved systematically across the dorsal columns while recording from the four extremities. Antidromic sensory nerve action potentials can be recorded from surface electrodes placed over ulnar, median, or posterior tibial nerves [28]. Third, synaptically mediated activity can be recorded from distal musculature in each of the

four extremities, making use of the connections between sensory and motor neurons that underlie reflex arcs (Yingling and Gardi, unpublished data). This technique is relatively robust and takes advantage of the fact that recording electrodes in distal muscles are typically already in place for EMG recordings. This mapping should be repeated at several levels, to confirm the location of the midline over the extent of the planned myelotomy. A recent paper introduces the fourth method, in which the dorsal columns are stimulated at a low current of 0.2-0.5 mA (0.3 ms pulse width, 3.17 Hz) laterally and then medially on both sides using a bipolar stimulator with prongs held parallel to the longitudinal axis of the spinal cord [29]. Phase reversal is recorded from electrodes placed on the scalp at CP3, CP4, Cpz, and Fz. The midline was identified neurophysiologically as either (1) the site between the mapped right and left dorsal columns based on phase reversal and amplitude changes, or (2) the site where an isoelectric line is recorded. This technique also requires signal averaging to obtain an adequate cortical evoked potential, which may increase the time to identify the midline since the procedure must be repeated at several levels.

Gandhi et al. [30] described a technique for high-resolution mapping spinal cord motor pathways. A concentric bipolar stimulating probe was applied to the tumor cavity, and triggered responses were elicited in specific upper and lower extremity muscles at stimulation intensities between 0.1 and 1.0 mA (1.0-ms pulse width and 60.11-Hz repetition rate). Area(s) in which robust responses were elicited at low stimulation were regarded as unsafe to resect.

It is important to note that these mapping techniques should be used in conjunction with continuous monitoring methods of transcranial MEPs and SSEPs. A remaining issue for future research is to determine the relation between stimulation threshold and distance to the corticospinal tracts at subcortical or spinal levels. Because of the differing anatomical context, the 1-mm/mA calibration described earlier for subcortical pathways at the level of the internal capsule may or may not be applicable to more caudal locations.

Conclusions

In summary, the combination of mapping techniques to identify sensorimotor cortex, continuous monitoring with MEPs elicited by direct cortical stimulation, and mapping techniques to localize motor tracts at subcortical, brainstem, or spinal levels provides a powerful set of tools for the neurosurgeon to minimize new functional deficits while working near motor pathways in the central nervous system.

References¹

- Penfield W, Boldrey E. Somatic motor and sensory representation in the cerebral cortex of man as studied by electrical stimulation. Brain. 1937;60:389–443.
- 2. Penfield W, Rasmussen T. The cerebral cortex of man. New York: Macmillan; 1950. p. 248.
- Ojemann GA, Whitaker HA. Language localization and variability. Brain Lang. 1978;6:239–60.
- Capelle L, Fontaine D, Mandonnet E, Taillandier L, Golmard JL, Baucher L, et al. Spontaneous and therapeutic prognostic factors in adult hemispheric World Health Organization Grade II gliomas: a series of 1097 cases. J Neurosurg. 2013;118:1157–68.
- Stummer W, Reulen HJ, Meinel T, Pichlmeier U, Schumacher W, Tonn JC, et al. Extent of resection and survival in glioblastoma multiforme: identification of and adjustment of biases. Neurosurgery. 2008;62: 564–76.
- Sanai N, Mirzadeh Z, Berger MS. Functional outcome after language mapping for glioma resection. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:18–27.
- Hamberger MJ, Seidel WT, Goodman RR, McKhann GM. Does cortical mapping protect naming if surgery includes hippocampal resection? Ann Neurol. 2010;67:345–52.
- Hervey-Jumper SL, Li J, Lau D, Molinaro AM, Perry DW, Meng L, Berger MS. Awake craniotomy to maximize glioma resection: methods and technical nuances over a 27-year period. J Neurosurg. 2015;123:1–15.
- Brown T, Shah AH, Bregy A, Shah NH, Thambuswamy M, Barbarite E, et al. Awake craniotomy for brain tumor resection: the rule rather than the exception? J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2013;25:240–7.
- Desmedt JE, Nguyen TH, Bourguet M. Bit-mapped color imaging of human evoked potentials with reference to the N20, P22, P27 and N30 somatosensory responses. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1987;68:1–19.

¹Asterisks indicate key references.

- Desmedt JE, Cheron G. Non-cephalic reference recording of early somatosensory potentials to finger stimulation in adult or aging normal man: differentiation of widespread N18 and contralateral N20 from the prerolandic P22 and N30 components. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1981;52: 553–70.
- Nuwer MR, Banoczi WR, Cloughesy TF, Hoch DB, Peacock W, Levesque MF, et al. Topographic mapping of somatosensory evoked potentials helps identify motor cortex more quickly in the operating room. Brain Topogr. 1992;5:53–8.
- Yingling CD, Ojemann S, Dodson B, Harrington MJ, Berger MS. Identification of motor pathways during tumor surgery facilitated by multichannel electromyographic recording. J Neurosurg. 1999;91:922–7.
- Sartorius CJ, Berger MS. Rapid termination of intraoperative stimulation-evoked seizures with application of cold Ringer's lactate to the cortex: technical note. J Neurosurg. 1998;88:349–51.
- Li DL, Journee HL, van Hulzen A, Rath WT, Sclabassi RJ, Sun M. Computer simulation of corticospinal activity during transcranial electrical stimulation in neurosurgery. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2007; 125:292–7.
- MacDonald DB. Safety of intraoperative transcranial electrical stimulation motor evoked potential monitoring. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19:416–29.
- Taniguchi M, Cedzich C, Schramm J. Modification of cortical stimulation for motor evoked potentials under general anesthesia: technical description. Neurosurgery. 1993;32:219–26.
- Cedzich C, Taniguchi M, Schafer S, Schramm J. Somatosensory evoked potential phase reversal and direct motor cortex stimulation during surgery in and around the central region. Neurosurgery. 1996; 38:962–70.
- Kombos T, Suess O, Funk T, Kern BC, Brock M. Intraoperative mapping of the motor cortex during surgery in and around the motor cortex. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2000;142:263–8.
- Kamada K, Todo T, Ota T, Ino K, Masutani Y, Aoki S, et al. The motor-evoked potential threshold evaluated by tractography and electrical stimulation. J Neurosurg. 2009;111:785–95.
- Nossek E, Korn A, Shahar T, Kanner AA, Yaffe H, Marcovici D, et al. Intraoperative mapping and monitoring of the corticospinal tracts with neurophysiologicalassessment and 3-dimensional ultrasonography-based navigation. J Neurosurg. 2011;114:738–46.
- 22. Prabhu SS, Gasco J, Tummala S, Weinberg JS, Rao G. Intraoperative magnetic resonance imaging-guided tractography with integrated monopolar subcortical functional mapping for resection of brain tumors. J Neurosurg. 2011;114:719–26.
- 23. *Raabe A, Beck J, Schucht P, Seidel K. Continuous dynamic mapping of the cortico-spinal tract during surgery of motor eloquent brain tumors: evaluation of a new method. J Neurosurg. 2014;120:1015–23.
- Szelényi A, Bello L, Duffau H, Fava E, Feigl GC, Galanda M, et al. Intraoperative electrical stimulation

in awake craniotomy: methodological aspects of current practice. Neurosurg Focus. 2010;28:1–8

- Shiban E, Krieg SM, Haller B, Buchmann N, Obermueller T, Boeckh-Behrens T, et al. Intraoperative subcortical motor evoked potential stimulation: how close is the corticospinal tract? J Neurosurg. 2015;15:1–6.
- 26. Shiban E, Krieg SM, Obermueller T, Wostrack M, Mayer B, Ringel F. Continuous subcortical motor evoked potential stimulation using the tip of the ultrasonic aspirator for the resection of motor eloquent lesions. J Neurosurg. 2015;123:301–6.
- Yanni DS, Ulkatan S, Deletis V, Barrenechea IJ, Sen C, Perin NI. Utility of neurophysiological monitoring using dorsal column mapping in intramedullary spinal cord surgery. J Neurosurg Spine. 2010;12:623–8.
- Quiñones-Hinojosa A, Gulati M, Lyon R, Gupta N, Yingling C. Spinal cord mapping as an adjunct for resection of intramedullary tumors: surgical technique with case illustrations. Neurosurgery. 2002;51:1199–207.
- Nair D, Kumaraswamy VM, Braver D, Kilbride RD, Borges LF, et al. Dorsal column mapping via phase reversal method: the refined technique and clinical applications. Neurosurgery. 2014;74:437–46.
- *Gandhi R, Curtis CM, Cohen-Gadol AA. Highresolution direct microstimulation mapping of spinal cord pathways during resection of an intramedullary tumor. J Neurosurg Spine. 2015;22:205–10.

Questions

- 1. Why does the SEP reverse polarity across the central sulcus?
- 2. Why is EMG recording preferable for motor mapping?
- 3. What are the advantages of performing direct cortical MEPs with brief duration, high-frequency train stimulation compared to bipolar stimulation with prolonged duration, low frequency train using a device such as the Ojemann Cortical Stimulator?
- 4. Why is spinal cord mapping vital for resection of intramedullary tumors?

Answers

- The pyramidal cells that generate the N20 to upper extremity stimulation are located in the postcentral gyrus, parallel to the cortical surface, and the initial cortical response is negative at the cell body and positive at the apical dendrites, creating an electrical dipole that is negative posteriorly and positive anteriorly.
- 2. EMG is more sensitive than observation of overt movement, thus allowing mapping to be

done with lower stimulation intensity for greater precision and less concern of eliciting seizures.

- (1) Significantly lower risk of inducing seizures; (2) less patient movement generated, and (3) corticospinal tracts can be monitored continuously during resection if surgeon places a strip electrode over motor cortex.
- 4. The physiologic midline may not be in the anatomic midline, and may not be straight, due to distortion by an intraspinal mass. Without physiologic mapping, a midline myelotomy to access the tumor could transect the dorsal columns.

EEG Monitoring

Ira J. Rampil

Introduction

Monitoring the nervous system begs two questions: what is the function of the nervous system, and how can it be observed to fulfill the promise of monitoring? A simple, yet practical answer to the first question is that the function of the nervous system is to create human behavior. To monitor is to implicitly assume that detecting untoward events in a timely fashion will allow for successful therapeutic intervention. Under the usual circumstances then, the answer to the second question is conversation or visual inspection of behavior (a conventional neurologic exam). During general anesthesia, a novel behavioral state is therapeutically induced to allow safe, tolerable, and meticulous surgery. In this state of general anesthesia, nervous system function is reversibly depressed as are most of the visible signs of CNS function. A few behavioral and physiologic signs can be observed and have long been used as a guide to dosing anesthetics as exemplified by Guedel in 1937. Unfortunately, as the pharmaceutical choices expanded beyond diethyl ether, these physical signs were found widely between agents making simple observa-

Blue Sky Medicine, LLC, 236 Candler Way, Williamson, GA 30292, USA e-mail: ira.rampil@gmail.com tion of outward signs of patient behavior inadequate as a dosing guide. The complete blockade of these signs by the introduction of muscle relaxants further complicated assessment of anesthetic action. During surgery and anesthesia, there are circumstances where the well-being of the brain or spinal cord may be put at risk. Examples include distraction of the spinal column, or clamping of the carotid artery. While tolerated by most patients, some will be injured by these procedures, and early warning may prevent permanent injury. The anesthesia practitioner may also benefit from monitoring because of the possibility of objective control over the state of anesthesia. General anesthesia is a continuum and varies not only with dose vs. a patient's individual sensitivity, but also with dynamic changes in surgical stimulation. Clinical problems result from too little or too much anesthetic. During the past century, using mainly empirical observation, the electroencephalogram (EEG) has been developed as a surrogate for monitoring both the wellbeing and the degree of anesthetic effect on the central nervous system (CNS). A useful analogy exists between the EEG and the electrocardiogram (ECG) because both provide a remote reflection of the electrical activity of millions of electrically active cells deep in the body. These distant echoes of ionic currents can be interpreted to sense the vitality and function of their originating organs. The cardiogram consists of patterns that we know represent specific underlying

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_10

10

I.J. Rampil, M.S., M.D. (🖂)

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

physiologic events and sequences; unfortunately, the EEG permits us to link specific wave patterns with underlying physiology only in the special case of evoked potentials. The spontaneous, or background EEG appears to be random electrical variations resembling noise, having no direct connection to known physiologic consequences. This does not imply that the brain's electrical function is random or chaotic, only that it is so complex that it appears so. Indeed, the EEG is widely accepted as being a highly sensitive, moderately specific indicator of CNS ischemia or hypoxia and EEG monitoring has been commonly used for this purpose during carotid surgery [1-3]. The variation in EEG due to drug effect has three applications: a quantitative tool for the pharmacologic study of CNS-active agents [4–6]; the assessment of metabolic suppressive effect (e.g., dose control of thiopental for EEG burst-suppression [7, 8]); and recently, the assessment of CNS functional suppression (depth of sedation or anesthesia [9, 10]).

Historically, the interpretation of EEG waveforms required heuristic and visual skills obtained only by years of training in neurology and electrophysiology. A breakthrough was achieved a half century ago when it was recognized that while EEG voltage waveforms appear completely random, certain statistics describing the EEG tend to remain roughly the same from moment to moment and even minute to minute over time. The brain's activity whether awake or asleep is not totally stable, or statistically "stationary," but is best described as "quasi-stationary." Thus the brain can be monitored by looking for changes in the compressed graphic trend of some statistical parameters without requiring the continuous, single-minded effort of a trained electrophysiologist. The advent of microprocessors then made it possible to introduce the compact, relatively inexpensive computer-based EEG analyzers that have renewed clinical interest and research in EEG monitoring.

The choice of physiologic or behavioral endpoint against which to correlate or test the EEG has proven critical. Prominent changes occur in the EEG during cerebral metabolic failures such as hypoxia or ischemia. After such an insult, the extent and duration [2] of EEG changes usually correlate with the extent of new neurologic deficits. With respect to anesthetic drug effect, the first reported relationship compared EEG with changes in hemodynamics following noxious stimulation [11, 12]. The degree of EEG depression prior to laryngoscopy correlated with the magnitude of blood pressure change following intubation. However, later attempts to correlate EEG with gross purposeful movement in response to surgical incision have not uniformly reported positive results [9, 13, 14]. These inconsistent results may be due to the anatomic and possible pharmacodynamic separation of the neural circuitry responsible for movement responses (spinal cord) from those responsible for the generation of the EEG signal (cerebrum) [15]. EEG, as will be discussed, is a phenomenon of the rostral structures, particularly the cerebral cortex. Anesthetic-induced suppression of spinal function, i.e., surgical immobility, may be independently observable by monitoring spinal responses like F-waves [16, 17]. EEG reliably correlates with behavioral activities linked to the cortex such as awareness or memory, and clinically relevant monitoring may be expected [18-22].

The Genesis of the EEG

The flow of an electric current through an imperfect conductor creates a voltage consistent with Ohm's law. Bioelectric potentials observed on the skin are created by the flow of ion-based electrical currents within the volume of the body. As in the case of the ECG, EEG voltages detected on the scalp are the gross summation of tiny currents due to dynamic changes in ionic charge distribution across cell membranes contributed by large populations of individual, electrically active neurons.

Living cells use energy to maintain an electrical charge separation (voltage) across the cell membrane in order to segregate useful ion species inside or outside the cell. Sodium, potassium, and chloride are the dominant species of ions involved, and each makes a contribution to the overall membrane potential according to the log ratio of its concentrations, inside vs. outside. Depending on circumstances, this transmembrane voltage is in the range of -60 mV, relative to the outside. Electrically active cells like neurons further utilize the energy stored in this voltage to facilitate communication across distance in the CNS. The dynamic electrical activity of neurons may be divided into two categories: regenerative action potentials (AP) and postsynaptic potentials (PSPs). PSPs occur when neurotransmitters released by a presynaptic neuron alter the permeability of ion channels in the postsynaptic neuron's cell membrane. The changes in channel conductance alter its transmembrane ionic concentration gradients and thus its transmembrane voltage. The magnitude of an isolated PSP is roughly proportional to the number of postsynaptic receptor channels that have bound neurotransmitter agonist. Because neurotransmitter release is a very localized phenomenon, the resulting changes in resting membrane potential also tend to be focal, with the magnitude of the voltage change diminishing exponentially with distance from the synapse and a membrane constant known as λ . The "length constant," λ , is analogous to a time constant in describing the exponential decay of a perturbation. In this case, λ depends on the characteristics of the cell membrane and describes the distance along the membrane at which the voltage disturbance has decayed to 37 % of the original voltage perturbation. The value of λ is often in the range of 0.1–1.0 mm. The direction of the change in membrane potential can be either positive (depolarizing) or negative (hyperpolarizing) depending on which ionic species has had its membrane permeability altered by the neurotransmitter. Synaptic activity thus creates focal patches of altered membrane potential and ionic current flow occurs between these disturbances. The longer the length constant in a particular neuron, the more focal PSPs will summate and smear together. PSPs slowly decay over time, bringing the membrane potential back to its resting value. The mechanism of decay is a combination of cessation of ligand-triggered channel activity, either due to removal of the neurotransmitter or inactivation of the ion channels, and the PSP-induced currents that redistribute ionic

charge to counteract the PSP. Decay times of PSPs are in the range of 10s of milliseconds to seconds. If the membrane potential of a neuron is depolarized beyond its intrinsic threshold value, an AP is initiated. APs propagate rapidly along the membrane without diminution in amplitude, sustained by voltage-sensitive sodium and potassium channels and the transmembrane concentration gradients of these species. Typically, at a given point on the membrane, the excursion in voltage caused by an AP lasts for about 2 ms and may reach approximately 100 mV in amplitude.

Cytoarchitecture

As isolated activity, the current loops from local membrane disturbances of a single neuron would be quite difficult to detect at the distance of the scalp. Fortuitously, the anatomy of the cerebral cortex provides a means of generating relatively robust signals. Cortical neurons are classified by their morphology [23]. For the purpose of this chapter, the key type is the pyramidal cell that has a long straight apical dendrite extending up through the cortical layers from the cell body directly toward the pial surface of its gyrus. Neighboring pyramidal cells, therefore, have roughly parallel dendrites, as illustrated in Fig. 10.1. These pyramidal dendrites receive thousands of synaptic connections from other neurons, and neighboring dendrites tend to receive inputs from many of the same presynaptic sources and at homologous locations on the dendrite. There often is physical separation of groups of inhibitory and of excitatory PSPs on an individual apical dendrite, which creates bridging current loops between the PSPs. These bridging currents are far larger than might be predicted from the length constants of dendrites (Fig. 10.2). When neighboring millions of pyramidal cells have similar, synchronous areas of altered membrane potentials, their resulting current loops combine additively in the extracellular fluid to create even larger regional current flows, flows which can be detected by the voltage they create on the scalp.



Dendrites

Pyramidal cell



Fig. 10.1 Micrograph of cortical neuropil stained for neurons. The cell bodies of pyramidal neurons project apical dendrites upward and parallel with adjacent pyramidal cells

Fig. 10.2 Current flow around parallel dendrites during a period of similar afferent signals produces a larger electric field by summation

Control of Rhythm

As PSPs occur and decay, so the EEG scalp voltage changes over time. Under ordinary circumstances, millions of PSPs are asynchronously firing all over the cortex, creating in summation a complicated composite signal on the scalp. This scalp voltage cannot be decomposed back into component PSPs. As noted earlier, decades of empirical observation indicate, however, that some statistical attributes of the EEG reflect and track some underlying clues as to brain state. EEG monitoring during anesthesia relies on this statistical approach. The most useful correlation revolves around the degree of PSP synchrony in across large numbers of pyramidal cells, which determines the net magnitude and frequency on the EEG. Higher cortical functions like awareness and concentrated thought are usually associated with desynchronization, as neurons act more

independently in the creation of conscious human behavior. Anesthesia and other mechanisms that depress consciousness are correlated with increasing pyramidal synchrony. Anatomically, synchrony, and indeed level of consciousness are strongly influenced by neuronal circuit loops involving cortical connection with the brainstem and thalamus [24, 25]. These circuits are sometimes called the EEG pacemakers, although their purpose is by no means clear and several different pacing rates may be present at any one time [25].

Under some conditions, the EEG may contain special stereotypic waveforms that can be used diagnostically. For example, "spikes" or "sharp waves" are sharply featured excursions in the EEG that are created by massive but usually transient synchrony. The presence of repetitive spikes is used in the diagnosis of epilepsy. Another example is burst-suppression phenomena (intermittent electrical activity interspersed with periods of little or no electrical activity), which indicates a nonspecific (e.g., trauma, drugs, hypothermia, etc.) reduction in cerebral metabolic activity.

Once generated, the aggregate postsynaptic current flows must traverse the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), the skull, and the scalp in order to be detected by skin surface electrodes. The CSF and scalp are relatively conductive compared with the skull, and the overall effect of transmission through these multiple layers is a substantial spatial smearing of regional voltage differences. Physically, this means that the signal from an EEG electrode reflects activity over a wide area, not just the cortex directly under the electrode.

EEG Signal Acquisition

Metal needle or metal/gel electrodes are required to act as transducers, converting EEG (physiologic) ionic currents into electronic voltages, which may then be further processed by the EEG monitoring equipment. Electrodes are not perfectly faithful converters, however, and often contribute to noise and artifact. Just the physical contact between skin and metal generates a voltage potential whose amplitude is many times the size of the EEG. The now standard use of silver/ silver chloride skin electrodes for EEG and ECG is an attempt to minimize artifact from electrode potentials.

Voltage signals are always measured as a difference in potential between two points; thus a bioelectric amplifier has two signal inputs, a plus and a minus. Bioelectric amplifiers also have a third input for a "reference" ground electrode, which is discussed below. Because the electrical activity of the cortex is topographically heterogeneous, it is often advantageous to measure EEG activity at several locations on the scalp. In diagnostic neurology, several systems of placement and nomenclature for electrodes have evolved; the most commonly used at present is the International 10-20 system [26]. The 10-20 system is based on meridians crossing the scalp based on key landmarks (the nasion, the inion, and the left and right aural tragus) with additional lines drawn over the midfrontal lobes and the midparietal lobes. The nomenclature uses a letter prefix designating brain site (i.e., C=central, F=frontal, P=parietal, T=temporal) and a number indicating the relative distance from the mid-(nasion to inion), where right-sided line electrodes are given even numbers and left-sided placement receive odd numbers. Electrodes on the midline are designated "Z," i.e., FZ is a site overlying the falx between the frontal lobes and P3 is a left parietal site.

Diagnostic EEG as performed in the neurology clinic is seldom recorded with fewer than 16 channels (plus-minus pairs of electrodes) in order to localize abnormal activity. Monitoring 8 or 16 channels intraoperatively during carotid surgery is often recommended although there is a paucity of data demonstrating increased sensitivity for the detection of cerebral ischemia when compared with the 2- or 4-channel computerized systems more commonly available to anesthesia personnel. Although regional changes in EEG occur during changes in anesthesia dose [27, 28], there is little evidence that these topographic features are useful markers of clinically important changes in anesthetic or sedation levels [29]. EEG in the operating room is most frequently

monitored from just the forehead, a hairless area allowing standard saline gel silver chloride electrodes rather than needles or cream-filled cups.

Amplifiers and Filters

The EEG signal is but one of several voltage waveforms present on the scalp. The EEG usually spans a few microvolts in amplitude and most of its energy is in a frequency range of 0.5-40 Hz. In awake subjects, there are at least three other voltage signals generated by physiologic processes in the same range of frequencies: ECG (from the R-wave vector sweeping across the neck), electromyogram (EMG, from electrical activity of scalp muscles), and the electrooculogram (EOG, generated by movement of the electrical dipoles within the eyeballs). There are still more sources of noise: mechanical motion of the electrodes on the skin creates large artifact voltages as noted above. Plus, the body acts as an antenna picking up the powerline 50- or 60-Hz signal radiated by the wiring in nearby walls and ceilings.

While these signals originating outside the brain may contain interesting information, when present, they distort and interfere with the EEG signal. An understanding of the essential characteristics of specific artifacts can be used to mitigate them. A well-designed bioelectric amplifier can remove or attenuate some of these signals as the first step in signal processing. The largest magnitude artifact is the powerline pickup. This artifact possesses two characteristics useful in reducing its impact: it is the same over the entire body surface and it is a single characteristic frequency. Because EEG voltage is measured as the potential difference between two electrodes placed on the scalp, both electrodes will have the same powerline artifact (i.e., it is a "common mode" signal). Common mode signals can be nearly eliminated in the electronics stage of an EEG machine by using a differential amplifier that has connections for three electrodes: "+," "-," and a reference. This type of amplifier detects two signals: the voltage between+and reference, and between - and reference, then subtracts the second signal from the first. The contri-

bution of the reference electrode is common to both signals and thus cancels out. Removal of common mode artifacts will be perfect only if each of the+and-electrodes are attached to the skin with identical contact impedance. If the electrodes do not have equal contact impedances, the amplitude of the common mode signals on the plus and minus sides will differ and they will not cancel exactly. Most commonly, the EEG is measured (indirectly) between two points on the scalp with a reference electrode on the ear or forehead. If the reference electrode is applied far from the scalp, i.e., the thorax or leg, there is always a chance that large common mode signals like the ECG will not be ideally canceled out, leaving some degree of a contaminating artifact.

Some artifacts, like the EMG, characteristically have most of their energy in a frequency range different from that of the EEG. Hence, the amplifier can band pass filter the signal, passing the EEG and attenuating the EMG. Some EEG machines quantify and separately report EMG activity on the screen before filtering it from the EEG.

Signal Processing

Signal processing of an EEG is the massage of the voltage data by a computer to aid the recognition of some message within the EEG that correlates with the physiology and pharmacology of interest. Metaphorically, the goal is to separate this "needle" from an electrical haystack. The problem in EEG-based assessment of anesthetic state is that the characteristics of this needle are unknown, and since our fundamental knowledge of the CNS remains relatively limited, our needlelike constructs will, for the foreseeable future, be based on empirical observation. Assuming a useful quantitative EEG (QEEG) parameter is identified, it must be measured. The motivation for quantitation is threefold: to reduce the clinician's workload in analyzing intraoperative EEG, to reduce the level of specialized training to take advantage of EEG, and finally to develop a parameter that might, in the future, be used in an automated closed-loop titration of anesthetic or

sedative drugs. This section will introduce some of the mechanics and mathematics behind signal processing.

Although it is possible to perform various types of signal enhancement on analog signals, the speed, flexibility, and economy of digital circuits has produced revolutionary changes in the field of signal processing. To use digital circuits, it is, however, necessary to translate an analog signal into its digital counterpart.

Analog signals are continuous and smooth. They can be measured or displayed with any degree of precision at any moment in time. The EEG is an analog signal; the scalp voltage varies smoothly over time.

Digital signals are fundamentally different in that they represent discrete points in time and their values are quantitated to an a priori fixed resolution. The digital world of computers and digital signal processors operates on binary numbers, which are sets of quantal bits. A bit is the smallest possible chunk of information: a single ON or OFF datum. Useful binary numbers are created by aggregating between 8 and 80 bits. The accuracy or resolution (q) of binary numbers is determined by the number of bits they contain: an 8-bit binary number can represent 2⁸ or 1 of 256 possible states, a 16-bit number 2^{16} or 65,536 possible states. If one were using an 8-bit number to represent an analog signal, the binary number would have, at best, a resolution of approximately 0.4% (1/256) over its range of measurement. Assuming, for example, the converter was designed to measure voltages in the range from -1.0 to +1.0 V, the step size of an 8-bit converter would be about 7.8 mV and a 16-bit converter about 30 µV. EEG monitoring systems usually use 12-16 bits of resolution. By comparison, audio CD recording are 16 bit resolution.

Digital signals are also quantized in time. When translation from analog to digital occurs, it occurs at specific points in time and strictly speaking, the value of the resultant digital signal at all other points in time is indeterminate. Translation from the analog to digital world is known as sampling, or digitizing, and in most applications is set to occur at regular intervals. The reciprocal of the sampling interval is known as the sampling rate (fs) and is expressed in Hertz (Hz, or samples per second). A signal that has been digitized is commonly written as a function of a sample number, i, instead of analog time, t. For example, an analog voltage signal might be written at v(t), but after digitizing would be referred to as v(i). Taken together, the set of sequential samples representing a finite block of time is referred to as an epoch. In statistical theory, the collection of all possible epochs produced from a given EEG state would be known as an ensemble.

The process of analog to digital translation inevitably leads to a loss of fidelity in the resulting digital signal. A realistic digital signal, x(i), can be thought of as the sum of a (an impossibly) perfect digital copy of the true signal xu(i) plus an error term, e(i). The quantization error, e(i), is the difference between the sampled voltage and the true analog voltage. Quantization error can be reduced by increasing the number of bits used to represent the digitized sample. The signal processing designer must trade off increased accuracy against the increased cost of higher resolution hardware (including the A-to-D) converter itself as well as a wider data path in the computing circuits (i.e., the computer arithmetic unit must be expanded to handle numbers with more bits) and more memory to hold the added bits.

When sampling is performed too infrequently, the fastest sine waves in the epoch will not be identified correctly. When this situation occurs, aliasing distorts the resulting digital data. Aliasing results from the requirement for a minimum of two points within a single cycle to identify a sinusoid. If sampling is not fast enough to place at least two sample points within a single cycle, the sampled wave will appear to be slower (longer cycle time) than the original. Aliasing is familiar to observers of the visual sampled-data system known as cinema. In a movie, where frames of a scene are captured at a rate of approximate 24 Hz, rapidly moving objects like wagon wheel spokes often appear to rotate slowly or even backward. An audio music CD is sampled at a rate of 44.1 kHz, which allows artifact-free capture up to 22 kHz, beyond the range of most adult hearing.

Therefore, it is essential to always sample at a rate more than twice the highest expected frequency in the incoming signal (Shannon's sampling theorem [30]). Conservative design actually calls for sampling at a rate 4-10 times higher than the highest expected signal, and to also use an analog low-pass filter prior to sampling to eliminate signals that have frequency components which are higher than expected. Low-pass filtering reduces high-frequency content in a signal, just like turning down the treble control on a stereo system. In monitoring work, EEG signals have long been considered to have a maximal frequency of 30 or 40 Hz, although 70 Hz is a more realistic limit. In addition, other signals present on the scalp include powerline interference at 60 Hz and the electromyogram which, if present, will usually extend above 100 Hz. In order to prevent aliasing distortion in the EEG from these other signals, many digital EEG systems filter out signals above 30 Hz and then sample at a rate above 250 Hz (i.e., a digital sample every 4 ms).

Artifact Mitigation by Software

The problem of artifactual contamination must always be considered in EEG analysis. Artifact is particularly insidious in EEG analysis, since even to the trained observer, much of true EEG resembles noise [31]. Common artifacts include signals that have exceeded the dynamic range of the amplifier (voltage too high due to improper amplifier settings or movement of the electrodes on the skin). These artifacts are easy to recognize, but the epoch containing this artifact must be excluded from the analysis since the original data cannot be recovered. Another common type of artifact, as noted earlier, is caused by the presence of an additional signal that is outside the frequency range of the EEG. This type of signal might include electromyogram activity or powerline pickup. If the sampling rate is fast enough to avoid aliasing, these kinds of artifacts may be filtered out digitally, leaving a still-usable EEG signal. Some types of artifact including the ECG and roller pump artifact (during cardiopulmonary

bypass) occur within the frequency range of interest for EEG and may be recognized by their regularity. Anesthesia equipment such as a trainof-four twitch stimulator, or an evoked potential stimulator may also create a patterned artifact in the EEG. In awake or lightly sedated subjects, eye blinks and rotation of the orbital globes create large, transient slow wave activity that may be recognized based on the pattern of signal amplitude changes. A compendium of techniques for EEG artifact detection and mitigation is provided by Barlow [32]. In commercially available EEG monitors designed for use during surgery, sampled EEG epochs with artifact may be tagged, processed, recovered, or excluded from further processing. Once the EEG signal has been digitized and cleaned up, it is ready to be analyzed to provide clinical guidance.

Time-Domain Methods

EEG is an alternating voltage composed of many wavelets (simple sine waves) superimposed on each other. Analysis of the EEG can be accomplished by examining how its voltage changes over time. This approach, known as time-domain analysis, may use either a strict statistical calculation (i.e., the mean and variance of the sampled waveform, or the median power frequency [MPF]), or may use some ad hoc measurement based on the morphology of the waveform. Most of the commonly used time-domain methods are grounded in probabilistic analysis of "random" signals and, therefore, some background on statistical approaches to signals is useful. Of necessity, the definitions of probability functions, expected values, and correlation are given mathematically as well as descriptively. However, the reader need not feel compelled to attain a deep understanding of the equations presented here to continue on. A more detailed review of the statistical approach to signal processing may be obtained from one of the standard texts [33–35]. Only one class of ad-hoc time-domain methods, burst-suppression quantitation, is currently in use in perioperative monitoring systems and it will be described below.

A few definitions related to the statistical approach to time-related data are called for. The EEG is not a deterministic signal, which means that it is not possible to exactly predict future values of the EEG. Even if the exact future values of a signal cannot be predicted, some statistical characteristics of certain types of signals are predictable in a general sense. These roughly predictable signals are termed stochastic. The EEG is such a nondeterministic, stochastic signal because its future values can only be predicted in terms of a probability distribution of amplitudes already observed in the signal. This probability distribution, p(x), can be determined experimentally for a particular signal, x(t), by simply forming a histogram of all the observed values over a period of time. A signal such as may be obtained by rolling dice has a probability distribution that is rectangular or uniform (i.e., the likelihood of all face values of a throw are equal and in the case of a single die, p(x) = 1/6 for each possible value); a signal with a bell-shaped or *normal* probability distribution is termed Gaussian. As illustrated in Fig. 10.3, EEG amplitude histograms may have a nearly Gaussian distribution. The concept of statistics like the mean, standard deviation, skewness, and so on, to describe a probability distribution will be familiar to many readers.

If the probability function, p(x), of a stochastic signal, x(i), does not change over time, that process is stationary. The EEG is not strictly stationary as its statistical parameters may change significantly within seconds (Fig. 10.3), or it may be stable for tens of minutes (quasi-stationary) [36, 37]. If the EEG is at least quasi-stationary, then it may be reasonable to check it for the presence of rhythmicity, where rhythmicity is defined as repetition of patterns in the signal. Patterns can be identified quantitatively using correlation. Usually, correlation between two signals measures the likelihood of change in one signal leading to a consistent change in the other. In assessing the presence of rhythms, autocorrelation is used, testing the match of the original signal against different starting time points of the same signal. If rhythm is present, then at a particular offset time (equal to the interval of the rhythm), the correlation statistic increases, suggesting a repetition of the original signal voltage.

Empirically it is known that the EEG has a mean voltage of zero, over time: any sample is as likely to be positive as it is negative. However, the EEG and its derived statistical measurements seldom have a true Gaussian probability distribution. This observation complicates the task of a researcher, or of some future automated EEG alarm system that seeks to identify changes in EEG over time. Strictly speaking, non-Gaussian signals should not be compared using parametric statistical tests, such as *t*-tests or analysis of variance, that are appropriate for normally distributed data. Instead, there are three options: nonparametric statistical tests, a transform to convert non-Gaussian EEG data to a normal distribution, or higher order spectral statistics (see below). Transforming non-Gaussian data using its logarithm is frequently all that is required to allow analysis of the EEG as a normal distribution [38]. For example, a brain ischemia-detection system may try to identify when slow wave activity has significantly increased. A variable like "delta" power (described below), which measures slow wave activity, has a highly non-Gaussian distribution. Thus, directly comparing this activity at different times requires the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis or Friedman's test. However, the logarithm of delta power may produce a nearly normal p(x) curve. Therefore, the more powerful ANOVA with repeated measures test could be used appropriately to detect changes in log (delta power) over time. Log transformation is not a panacea, however, and whenever statistical comparisons of QEEG are to be made, the data should be examined to verify the assumption of normal distribution.

Clinical Applications of Time-Domain Methods

Historically, the first intraoperative application of EEG analysis used time-domain-based methods. In 1950, Falconer and Bickford noted that the electrical power in the EEG (Power=volt-age×current=voltage²/resistance) was associated with changes in the rate of thiopental or ethyl ether administration. Using analog technology, they computed a power parameter as



Fig. 10.3 EEG amplitude values sampled over time exhibit a normal distribution. Data recorded from anesthetized rats by author at 256 Hz with gain of 500 and analyzed as sequential 4-s epochs

(essentially) a moving average of the square of EEG voltage and used it to control the flow of diethyl ether to a vaporizer. This system was reported to successfully control depth of anesthesia in 50 patients undergoing laparotomy [39]. Digital Total Power (TP=sum of the squared values of all the EEG samples in an epoch) was later used by several investigators, but it is known to have several problems, including its sensitivity to electrode location and to its insensitivity to important changes in frequency distribution. Arom reported that a decrease in TP may predict neurologic injury following cardiac surgery [40].

Hjorth [41] created a trio of combinations of conventional (time-domain based) descriptive statistics parameters: Activity, Mobility, and Complexity. Activity is defined as the variance of the signal amplitude within an epoch, i.e., the square of the standard deviation of the digitized data points, and provides a measure of the mean power of the signal. Mobility can be considered an approximation of the average frequency of the EEG. It is defined as the standard deviation of the first derivative of the EEG signal (i.e., the intersample slope of the waveform) divided by the standard deviation of the original signal. Complexity is a variable to quantify the degree of curve complexity beyond a baseline sine wave. These parameters of Hjorth are frequently used in the related application of sleep staging [42, 43] but have not directly been tested in perioperative monitoring.

A time-domain-based approach to analysis of the frequency information within the EEG was reported by Burch [44] and Klein [45], who estimated an "average" frequency by detecting the number of times the EEG voltage crosses the zero voltage level per second. Investigators have not reported strong clinical correlations with Zero Crossing Frequency (ZXF). While simple to calculate in the era before inexpensive computer chips, the ZXF parameter is not simply related to frequency-domain estimates of frequency content as demonstrated in Fig. 10.4, because not all waves in the signal will cross the zero point. Demetrescu refined the zero crossing concept to produce what he termed *aperiodic* analysis [46]. This method simply splits the EEG into two frequency bands

(0.5–7.9, 8–29.9 Hz) and the filtered waveforms from the high and low frequency bands are each separately sent to a relative minima detector. Here, a *wavelet* is defined as a voltage fluctuation between adjacent minima and its frequency defined as the reciprocal of the time between the waves. Wavelet amplitude is defined as difference between the intervening maxima and the average of the two minima voltages. The Lifescan Monitor (Diatek, San Diego, CA) was an implementation of aperiodic analysis; it is no longer commercially available, but its algorithms were described in detail by Gregory and Pettus [47].

Burst Suppression and Its Quantitation

During deep anesthesia, the EEG may develop a peculiar pattern in the time-domain signal. This pattern, known as burst suppression, is characterized by alternating periods of normal to relatively high voltage activity changing to relatively low voltage or even isoelectricity, rendering the EEG at the usual degree of amplification inactive in appearance. Following head trauma or brain ischemia, this pattern carries a grave prognosis; however, it is nonspecific as it may also be induced by large doses of general anesthetics, in which case, burst suppression has been associated with reduced cerebral metabolic demand and possible brain "protection" from ischemia. Titration to a specific degree of burst suppression has been recommended as a surrogate endpoint against which to titrate barbiturate coma therapy. The burstsuppression ratio (BSR) is a time-domain EEG parameter developed to quantitate this phenomenon [48, 49]. To calculate this parameter, suppression is recognized as those periods longer than 0.50 s during which the EEG voltage does not exceed approximately $\pm 5.0 \mu$ V. The total time in a suppressed state is measured, and the BSR is reported as the fraction of the epoch length where the EEG is suppressed (Fig. 10.5).

The random character of the EEG dictates that extracted QEEG parameters will exhibit a moment-to-moment variation without discernible change in the patient's state. Thus, output



Fig. 10.5 The burst-suppression ratio (BSR) algorithm displayed graphically



parameters are often smoothed by a moving average prior to display. Due to the particularly variable (nonstationary) nature of burst suppression, the BSR should be averaged over at least 15 epochs (60 s).

Frequency-Domain Methods

An important alternative approach to timedomain analysis examines signal activity as a function of frequency. Frequency-domain analysis translates waveforms that are voltage magnitudes as a function of time into spectra that are magnitudes as a function of frequency. This process of conversion is akin to the action of a glass prism, which translates white light into a rainbow spectrum (Fig. 10.6). Each color of light represents a unique frequency photon, and the relative brightness among the colors is a measure of the energy amplitude at each frequency. This type of conversion has its mathematical roots in the work of Baron Jean Baptiste Joseph Fourier who was studying heat conduction and the cyclic variations of tides. He discovered that any timevarying waveform could be decomposed into a series of pure sine waves of differing frequencies, amplitudes, and phases. For each component sine

wave, frequency is the number of complete cycles per second, amplitude is one-half the peak-to-peak voltage, and phase angle is the way to describe the starting point of the waveform. However, the manual and even early computer solution of the Fourier transform for a particular set of data points was too time-consuming to be of practical use. Other approaches to frequencydomain analysis included the creation of large banks of analog filters with narrow bandpasses arrayed in parallel to emulate a true spectral analyzer [50]. It was not until Cooley and Tukey discovered a mathematical trick leading to the "fast Fourier transform" (FFT) that frequency-domain analysis became practical for real-time EEG processing [51]. The FFT algorithm results in a set of frequency bins, each containing the magnitude of the signal at that particular frequency. Although this algorithm still requires a great deal of number-crunching, current microprocessor chips can perform real-time EEG FFT analysis on up to four or more simultaneous channels. Special purpose signal processing chips can calculate FFTs with even greater speed.

The conversion process of a time-domain voltage waveform, x(t), into its sine wave frequency components, X(f), is known as a Fourier transformation. This transformation, under ideal conditions,

does not alter or reduce the information content within the waveform, and an inverse Fourier transformation will reconstitute the original waveform (i.e., the transformation is symmetric). Squaring the values of amplitude spectrum creates the *power spectrum*, which is the commonly used version of frequency-domain data. In typical applications, the so-called *phase* spectrum is discarded.

Early in his survey of human EEG, Hans Berger identified several generic EEG patterns that were loosely correlated with psychophysiologic state. These types of activity, such as the alpha rhythms seen during awake but restful periods with eyes closed, occurred within a stereotypic range of frequencies that came to be known as the *alpha* band. Eventually, five such distinct bands came to be widely accepted.

Using an FFT, it is a simple matter to divide the resulting power spectrum from an epoch of EEG into these band segments, then summate all power values for the individual frequencies within each band to determine the band power. Relative band power is simply band power divided by power over the entire frequency spectrum in the epoch of interest.

In the realm of anesthesia-related applications, traditional band power analysis is of limited utility, since the bands were defined for the activity of the awake or natural sleep-related EEG without regard for the altered nature of activity during anesthesia. Drug-induced EEG activity can often be observed to pass smoothly between bands as the dose changes. Familiarity with band analysis is still necessary because of the extensive literature utilizing it.

In an effort to improve the stability of bandrelated changes, Volgyesi introduced the augmented delta quotient (ADQ) [52]. This value is approximately the ratio of power in the band 0.5–3.0 Hz to the power in the 0.5–30.0 Hz range. This definition is an approximation because the author used analog band-pass filters with unspecified but gentle roll-off characteristics that allowed them to pass frequencies outside the specified band limits with relatively little attenuation.

John's group [53] applied a normalizing transformation [38] to render the probability distribution of power estimates of the delta frequency range close to a normal distribution in the EEG analysis (Cadwell CIMON system Laboratories, Kennewick, WA). After recording a baseline "self-norm" period of EEG, increases in delta band power that are larger than three standard deviations from the self-norm were considered to represent an ischemic EEG change [54]. Other investigators have concluded that this indicator may be nonspecific [55].

Another approach to simplifying the results of a power spectral analysis is to find a parameter that describes a characteristic of the spectrum without a priori assumptions from the neurology literature. The first of these descriptors was the peak power frequency (PPF), which is simply the frequency in a spectrum at which the highest power in that epoch occurs. The MPF (median power frequency) is that frequency which bisects the spectrum; half the power is above, half below. The spectral edge frequency (SEF) is the highest frequency in the EEG, i.e., the high frequency edge of the spectral distribution. The original SEF algorithm utilized a form of pattern detection on the power spectrum in order to emulate mechanically visual recognition of the "edge." Beginning at 32 Hz, the power spectrum is scanned downward to detect the highest frequency where four sequential spectral frequencies all contain above a predetermined threshold of power. This approach (Rampil and Sasse, unpublished results, 1977) provides more noise immunity than the alternative algorithm, SEF95. SEF95 is the frequency below which 95 % of the power in the spectrum resides. Clearly, either approach to SEF calculation provides a monitor that is only sensitive to changes in the width of the spectral distribution (there is always energy in the lowfrequency range). Many commonly used general anesthetics produce burst-suppression EEG patterns without slowing the waves present during the remaining bursts; thus the SEF of the epoch would not reflect the anesthetic-induced depression. Combining the SEF with the BSR parameter to form the burst-compensated SEF (BcSEF [Eq. (10.1)]) creates a parameter that appears to smoothly track changes in the EEG due to either slowing or suppression from iso-flurane or desflurane [11, 48].

$$BcSEF = SEF\left(1 - \frac{BSR}{100}\right)$$
(10.1)

Spectral QEEG parameters like MPF or SEF compress into a single variable, the 60 or more spectral power estimates that constitute the typical EEG spectrum. The SEF has been used to predict sensitively new ischemic deficits postoperatively following carotid surgery [2, 56, 57]. Other studies comparing SEF to other EEG parameters (or a neurologist's visual assessment of ischemia), but not patient outcome have found the SEF lacking in sensitivity [58, 59]. As Levy pointed out [29], a single feature may not be sensitive to all possible changes in spectral distribution. However, there is no evidence, to date, suggesting that additional parameters (describing a complex spectrum) improve the predictive clinical utility of simple univariate parameters. Frequency-domain-based QEEG parameters, like their time-domain-based relatives, are generally averaged over time prior to display. The author uses nonlinear smoothing when computing SEF that strongly filters small variations, but passes large changes with little filtering. This approach diminishes noise, but briskly displays major changes, such as may occur secondary to ischemia, or following bolus injection of anesthetics.

The quantitative EEG variables described to this point were all created to measure patterns in the raw waveform or the power spectrum of the EEG apparent by visual inspection. While many of these QEEG variables detect changes in the EEG caused by anesthetic drugs, all suffer from the inability to be calibrated to useful behavioral endpoints such as following verbal command or onset of explicit amnesia [13]. Their performance as anesthetic monitors also suffers due to their sensitivity to the different EEG patterns induced by different drugs.

Spectral Displays in Clinical Practice

In clinical monitoring applications, the results of an EEG Fourier transform are graphically displayed as a power vs. frequency histogram and the phase spectrum has been traditionally discarded as uninteresting. One reason for this opinion is that the frequency spectrum is relatively independent of the start point of an epoch (relative to the waveforms contained); the Fourier phase spectrum is highly dependent on the start point of sampling and thus very variable. More to the point, there has yet to be discovered any clinically actionable information in phase spectra. Spectral array data from sequential epochs are plotted together in stack (like pancakes) so that changes in frequency distribution over time are readily apparent. Raw EEG waveforms, because they are stochastic, cannot be usefully stacked together since the results would be a random superposition of waves. However, the EEG's quasi-stationarity creates spectral data that are relatively consistent from epoch to epoch, allowing enormous visual compression of spectral data by stacking and thus simplifying recognition of time-related changes in the EEG. Consider that raw EEG is usually plotted at a rate of 30 mm/s or 300 pages per hour, whereas the same hour of EEG plotted as a frequency spectral array could be examined in great detail on a single page.

There are two types of spectral array displays available in commercial instruments: the compressed spectral array (CSA) and the density spectral array (DSA). The CSA presents the array of power vs. frequency vs. time data as a pseudo-threedimensional topographic perspective plot (Fig. 10.7) and the DSA presents the same data as a gray scaleshaded or colored two-dimensional contour plot. Although both convey the same information, the DSA is more compact, while the CSA permits better resolution of the power or amplitude data.

Bispectrum

The effort to glean useful information from the EEG has led from first order (mean and variance of the amplitude of the signal waveform) to



Fig. 10.7 The creation of a spectral array display involves the transformation of time-domain raw EEG signal into the frequency domain via the fast Fourier transform. The resulting spectral histograms are

smoothed and plotted in perspective with hidden-line suppression for CSA displays (*left*) or by converting each histogram value into a *gray* value for the creation of a DSA display (*right*)

second order (power spectrum, or its timedomain analog, autocorrelation) statistics, and now to higher order statistics. Higher order statistics include the bispectrum and trispectrum (third and fourth order statistics, respectively). Little work has been published to date on trispectral applications in biology, but there have been many hundreds of papers and abstracts to date related to bispectral analysis of the EEG. Where the phase spectrum produced by Fourier analysis measures the phase of component frequencies relative to the start of the epoch, the bispectrum measures the correlation of phase between different frequency components as described below. What exactly these phase relationships mean physiologically is uncertain; one very simplistic model holds that strong phase relationships relate inversely to the number of independent EEG pacemaker elements. Bispectral analysis has several additional characteristics that may be advantageous for processing EEG signals: Gaussian sources of noise are suppressed, thus enhancing the signal/noise ratio for the non-Gaussian EEG, and bispectral analysis can identify nonlinearities that may be important in the signal generation process. A mathematical treatment of higher order spectra as applied to clinical EEG applications may be found in a review by Rampil [60]. A survey of clinical monitoring results using commercial high spectral techniques (i.e., BIS or Bispectral Index) is located elsewhere in this volume.

Anesthetic Drugs Impact EEG

Volatile Agents

Induction with halothane [61], enflurane [62], isoflurane [63, 64], sevoflurane [65], desflurane [6], or xenon [66] all are associated with the loss of occipital alpha rhythms and the genesis of frontally maximal, relatively well-synchronized beta activity. In the waveform, this activity may resemble sleep spindles or a fast version of alpha rhythm. In a spectral display, it will create an alpha–beta band of activity, usually separated by a spectral band having little activity from the delta activity also present. Once this anesthetic-induced fast activity appears, its dominant frequency changes inversely with the anesthetic concentration and spreads its distribution over

the scalp. This archetypal drug-induced fast activity invites comparison with, but it should not be confused with, alpha pattern coma, a postischemic or trauma pattern with a very poor prognosis. The overall patterns of EEG activity with anesthetic drug dose responses are illustrated in Fig. 10.8. At surgical levels (>1.0 MAC), the volatile anesthetics begin to differ in their EEG effects. Isoflurane and desflurane begin to induce burst suppression above 1.2 MAC without further slowing of the activity within the remaining bursts. Enflurane is associated with epileptiform



Fig. 10.8 The typical EEG pattern of activation and depression created by various anesthetic drugs

activity [62], particularly "spike and wave" complexes or even frank seizures above 1.5 MAC. Sevoflurane appears to also predispose to epileptiform activity [67], particularly in pediatric patients [68]. Halothane causes a reasonably linear monotonic slowing in the "fast" activity easily noted in the spectral response to sinusoidal variation in halothane concentration (Fig. 10.9); burst suppression does not occur with this drug at clinically relevant doses. Intense noxious stimulation by tetanic stimulation of the sciatic nerve of dogs receiving less than one MAC of halothane activates EEG with (desynchronization) and increases cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen $(CMRO_2)$ but provokes little change in dogs receiving more than one MAC [69]. Similar changes have been reported in adult humans following skin incision, whereas stimulation in children anesthetized with halothane tended to produce high-voltage slow waves [61].

Nitrous Oxide

The effects of nitrous oxide on the brain depend on the circumstances of its administration. Given alone, in subanesthetic concentrations (up to

Fig. 10.9 Sine wave response apparent in the compressed spectral arrays of three healthy male volunteers given a sine wave variation (period of 31 min, concentration varying from 0.5 to 3.0% in oxygen) of halothane. The sinusoidal appearance of the responses implies a linear dose response; however, there is a wide intersubject variation in the slope of the response curve (N. T. Smith, personal communications, UCSD)



70%), Yamamura et al. [70] found that nitrous oxide induced a frontally dominant, fast rhythmic activity having an average peak frequency of 34 Hz. Traces of this fast oscillatory activity persisted for up to 50 min following nitrous oxide exposure [70]. Given alone, at subhypnotic concentrations (up to 50%), nitrous oxide did not alter awake BIS readings, consistent with BIS as a measure of hypnotic effect [71]. When combined with other volatile anesthetics, nitrous oxide usually increases the amplitude and frequency of the anesthetic-induced fast activity in dogs [72] and rabbits [73]. Avramov et al. [74] reported that when nitrous oxide was administered to humans receiving a steady-state concentration of halothane, the sequence of EEG patterns over the course of approximately 1 h changed in a manner suggesting the development of tolerance to the nitrous oxide.

Barbiturates and Propofol

Barbiturates follow the drug response template: small doses cause drug-induced fast activity that is similar to that apparent with other general anesthetics, while higher doses increase EEG depression, culminating in burst suppression, then electrocerebral silence if the dose is high enough [75, 76]. There appears to be a topographic sequence of EEG changes (Fig. 10.10) similar to those seen with volatile anesthetics. The appearance of the fast activity corresponds with clinically apparent excitement phenomena and results in insensibility when substantial delta activity is present [76]. The straightforward pattern of EEG power during barbiturate anesthesia was used by Bickford [39] in the late 1940s to automatically control thiopental anesthesia in surgical patients. Schwilden et al. [77] reported



Fig. 10.10 A sequence of "snapshots" at 2.5-s intervals displaying the changing distribution of EEG frequency content (in this case, spectral edge frequency) over the scalp following a bolus injection of 4.0 mg/kg thiopental. In frames T=7-17, there is a prominent focus of fronto-

temporal fast activity that spread posteriorly during this interval. Starting about T=15, extreme slowing and suppression begins occipitally and spread anteriorly, enveloping the entire cortex by T=30 (Rampil 1985; unpublished data)

using MPF to control methohexital sedation in volunteers; however, although it was possible to maintain a steady MPF of 2–3 Hz, this EEG pattern was not clearly correlated with an acceptable anesthetic state [77]. Methohexital is interesting in that while it is a potent anticonvulsant like the other barbiturates, it actually enhances interictal epileptiform activity in predisposed patients. It is therefore useful in locating seizure foci during epilepsy surgery [78, 79]. Propofol induces the same biphasic EEG pattern of excitement followed by depression culminating in burst suppression as the barbiturates [80, 81].

Etomidate

Etomidate causes changes in EEG output similar to those induced by barbiturates [82]. Like methohexital, in small doses (0.1 mg/kg), etomidate enhances interictal activity of epileptic foci [83], although the myoclonic activity occasionally observed during induction with this drug is not associated with cortical epileptiform activity [82, 84]. In higher doses, etomidate causes burst suppression and a reduction in CMRO₂ similar to that seen with thiopental [85]. Etomidate also has the interesting property of increasing the amplitude of somatosensory-evoked potentials [86].

Ketamine

Ketamine is a dissociative agent that provides a different EEG pattern than the general anesthetics. The onset of sedation results in high amplitude, rhythmic theta activity, often accompanied by a significant increase in beta range activity. Ketamine can provoke frank seizure activity in patients with epilepsy, but only rarely in normal subjects.

Narcotics

The EEG effects of narcotics differ from those of the general anesthetics, as illustrated in Fig. 10.8. Generally, there is a little or no excitement phase when mu-subtype agonists (morphine, fentanyl, sufentanil, alfentanil, remifentanil) are administered, but, instead, produce a steady decline in frequency content until only delta activity remains [87, 88]. There is no further change in the EEG with increasing dose. Burst suppression does not occur with narcotics. Peripheral muscle rigidity is not associated with cortical seizure activity [89] but, rather, seems to be a direct effect of narcotics on an area of the brainstem, particularly the nucleus raphe pontis [90]. Seizures are not seen during administration of clinically relevant doses of narcotic anesthesia, but have been noted in dogs given extremely high doses (4 mg/kg intravenously) of fentanyl [91], and in the presence of normeperidine, a metabolite of meperidine.

Benzodiazepines

When used in small doses as premedicants or as adjuvants to induction of anesthesia, benzodiazepines, like midazolam or valium, induce significant, predominantly frontal beta range activity [92]. Increasing doses are associated with generalized slowing in the theta/delta range, apparently without burst suppression [93]. Flumazenil promptly restores EEG activity to a prebenzodiazepine state [93]. Aside from their salutary effects on patients, premedication with a benzodiazepine frequently simplifies interpretation of raw EEG during induction and maintenance of anesthesia because additional anesthetics will cause only a decrease in EEG frequency content.

Muscle Relaxants

Although succinylcholine is not usually thought to affect the CNS, intravenous bolus administration appears to cause an increase in EEG activity and cerebral blood flow resembling arousal; persisting far longer (5 min) than might be expected from electromyographic fasciculation artifact [94]. Lanier et al. [94] hypothesize that this effect is due to increased afferent neural traffic from intrafusal fibers in fasciculating muscle. Atracurium is metabolized to a large extent by nonenzymatic Hofmann elimination. One of the metabolites of this process is laudanosine, a compound long known to be a convulsant and cerebral stimulant [95]. While it is unlikely that a patient will receive a sufficient dose of atracurium intraoperatively for laudanosine to cause convulsions, administered doses may be sufficient to increase EEG activity and perhaps alter the depth of anesthesia [96].

References

- Sundt TM, Sharbrough FW, Piepgras DG, Kearns TP, Messick JM, O'Fallon WM. Correlation of cerebral blood flow and electroencephalographic changes during carotid endarterectomy with results of surgery and hemodynamics of cerebral ischemia. Mayo Clin Proc. 1981;56:533–43.
- Rampil IJ, Holzer JA, Quest DO, Rosenbaum SH, Correll JW. Prognostic value of computerized EEG analysis during carotid endarterectomy. Anesth Analg. 1983;62:186–92.
- Blume WT, Sharbrough FW. EEG monitoring during carotid endarterectomy and open heart surgery. In: Niedermeyer E, Lopes da Silva F, editors. Electroencephalography: basic principles, clinical applications, and related fields. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins; 1993. p. 747–56.
- Stanski DR, Hudson RJ, Homer TD, Saidman LJ, Meathe E. Pharmacodynamic modeling of thiopental anesthesia. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm. 1984;12:223–40.
- ScottJC,CookeJE,StanskiDR.Electroencephalographic quantitation of opioid effect: comparative pharmacodynamics of fentanyl and sufentanil. Anesthesiology. 1991;74:34–42.
- Rampil IJ, Lockhart SH, Eger II EI, Yasuda N, Weiskopf RB, Cahalan MK. The electroencephalographic effects of desflurane in humans. Anesthesiology. 1991;74:434–9.
- Nussmeier NA, Arlund C, Slogoff S. Neuropsychiatric complications after cardiopulmonary bypass: cerebral protection by a barbiturate. Anesthesiology. 1986;64:165–70.
- Todd MM, Warner DS. A comfortable hypothesis reevaluated: cerebral metabolic depression and brain protection during ischemia (editorial). Anesthesiology. 1992;76:161–4.
- Sebel PS, Lang E, Rampil IJ, White PF, Cork R, Jopling MW, et al. A multicenter study of the bispectral electroencephalogram analysis for monitoring anesthetic effect. Anesth Analg. 1997;84:891–9.
- Glass PSA, Bloom M, Kearse L, Rosow C, Sebel P, Manberg P. Bispectral analysis measures sedation and memory effects of propofol, midazolam, isoflurane,

and alfentanil in healthy volunteers. Anesthesiology. 1997;86:836–47.

- Rampil IJ, Matteo RS. Changes in EEG spectral edge frequency correlates with the hemodynamic response to laryngoscopy and intubation. Anesthesiology. 1987;67:139–42.
- Sidi A, Halimi P, Cotev S. Estimating anesthetic depth by electroencephalography during anesthetic induction and intubation in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. J Clin Anesth. 1990;2:101–7.
- Dwyer RC, Rampil IJ, Eger II EI, Bennett HL. The electroencephalogram does not predict depth of isoflurane anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1994;81:403–9.
- Dutton RC, Smith WD, Smith NT. EEG predicts movement response to surgical stimuli during general anesthesia with combinations of isoflurane, 70% N₂O, and fentanyl. J Clin Monit. 1996;12:127–39.
- Rampil IJ, Mason P, Singh H. Anesthetic potency (MAC) is independent of forebrain structures in the rat. Anesthesiology. 1993;78:707–12.
- King BS, Rampil IJ. Anesthetic depression of spinal motor neurons may contribute to lack of movement in response to noxious stimuli. Anesthesiology. 1994;81:1484–92.
- Zhou HH, Mehta M, Leis AA. Spinal cord motoneuron excitability during isoflurane and nitrous oxide anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1997;86:302–7.
- Leslie K, Sessler DI, Schroeder M, Walters K. Propofol blood concentration and the bispectral index predict suppression of learning during propofol/ epidural anesthesia in volunteers. Anesth Analg. 1995;81:1269–74.
- Liu J, Singh H, White PF. Electroencephalogram bispectral analysis predicts the depth of midazolaminduced sedation. Anesthesiology. 1996;84:64–9.
- Liu J, Singh H, White PF. Electroencephalographic bispectral index correlates with intraoperative recall and depth of propofol-induced sedation. Anesth Analg. 1997;84:185–9.
- Myles PS, Leslie K, McNeil J, Forbes A, Chan MT. Bispectral index monitoring to prevent awareness during anaesthesia: the B-Aware randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2004;363:1757–63.
- Moller DH, Rampil IJ. Spectral entropy predicts auditory recall in volunteers. Anesth Analg. 2008;106:873–9.
- White EL. Cell types. In: White EL, editor. Cortical circuits: synaptic organization of the cerebral cortexstructure, function and theory. Boston: Birkäuser; 1989. p. 19–45.
- Newman J. Thalamic contributions to attention and consciousness. Conscious Cogn. 1995;4:172–93.
- 25. Steriade M. Cellular substrate of brain rhythms. In: Niedermeyer E, da Silva FD, editors. Electroencephalography. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2005. p. 31–83.
- Jasper H. Report of committee on methods of clinical exam in EEG. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1958;10:370–5.
- 27. Tinker JH, Sharbrough FW, Michenfelder JD. Anterior shift of the dominant EEG rhythm during anesthesia
in the Java monkey: correlation with anesthetic potency. Anesthesiology. 1977;46:252–9.

- Rundshagen I, Schröder T, Prichep LS, John ER, Kox WJ. Changes in cortical electrical activity during induction of anaesthesia with thiopental/fentanyl and tracheal intubation: a quantitative electroencephalographic analysis. Br J Anaesth. 2004;92:33–8.
- Levy WJ. Power spectrum correlates of changes in consciousness during anesthetic induction with enflurane. Anesthesiology. 1986;64:688–93.
- Shannon CE. The mathematical theory of communication. Urbana: University of Illinois Press; 1962.
- Rampil IJ. Intelligent detection of artifact. In: Gravenstein JS, Newbower RS, Ream AK, Smith NT, editors. The automated anesthesia record and alarm systems. Boston: Butterworth; 1987.
- 32. Barlow JS. Artifact processing in EEG data processing. In: Lopes da Silva FH, Storm Van Leeuwen W, Rémond A, editors. Clinical applications of computer analysis of EEG and other neurophysiological signal. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1986. p. 15–62.
- Davenport WB, Root WL. An introduction to the theory of random signals and noise. New York: Wiley-IEEE Press; 1987.
- Papoulis A. Probability, random variables, and stochastic processes. 3rd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1991.
- Bendat JS, Piersol AG. Random data: analysis and measurement procedures. 3rd ed. New York: Wiley-Interscience; 2000.
- 36. Isaksson A, Wennberg A. Spectral properties of nonstationary EEG signals, evaluated by means of Kalman filtering: application examples from a vigilance test. In: Kellaway P, Petersén I, editors. Quantitative analytic studies in epilepsy. New York: Raven; 1976. p. 389–402.
- McEwen J, Anderson GB. Modelling the stationarity and gaussianity of spontaneous electroencephalographic activity. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 1975;22:361–9.
- Gasser T, Bächer P, Möcks J. Transformation towards the normal distribution of broad band spectral parameters of the EEG. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1982;53:119–24.
- Bickford RG. Automatic electroencephalographic control of general anesthesia. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1950;2:93–6.
- Arom KV, Cohen DE, Strobl FT. Effect of intraoperative intervention on neurologic outcome based on electroencephalographic monitoring during cardiopulmonary bypass. Ann Thorac Surg. 1989;48:476–83.
- Hjorth B. EEG analysis based on time domain properties. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1970;29:306–10.
- Depoortere H, Francon D, Granger P, Terzano MG. Evaluation of the stability and quality of sleep using Hjorth's descriptors. Physiol Behav. 1993;54:785–93.
- 43. Kanno O, Clarenbach P. Effect of clonidine and yohimbine on sleep in man: polygraphic study and EEG analysis by normalized slope descriptors. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1985;60:478–84.

- Burch NR. Period analysis of the EEG on a generalpurpose digital computer. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1964;115:827–43.
- 45. Klein FF. A waveform analyzer applied to the human EEG. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 1976;23:246–52.
- Demetrescu MC. The aperiodic character of the electroencephalogram. Physiologist. 1975;18:189 (abstract).
- Gregory TK, Pettus DC. An electroencephalographic processing algorithm specifically intended for analysis of cerebral electrical activity. J Clin Monit. 1986;2:190–7.
- Rampil IJ, Weiskopf RB, Brown JG, Eger II EI, Johnson BH, Holmes MA, et al. 1653 and isoflurane produce similar dose-related changes in the electroencephalogram of pigs. Anesthesiology. 1988;69:298–302.
- Rampil IJ, Laster MJ. No correlation between quantitative electroencephalographic measurements and movement response to noxious stimuli during isoflurane anesthesia in rats. Anesthesiology. 1992;77:920–5.
- Matousek M, Petersén I, Friberg S. Automatic assessment of randomly selected routine EEG records. In: Dolce G, Künkel H, editors. CEAN–computerized EEG analysis. Stuttgart: Fisher; 1975. p. 421–8.
- Cooley JW, Tukey JW. An algorithm for machine calculation of complex Fourier series. Math Comput. 1965;19:297–301.
- Volgyesi GA. A brain function monitor for use during anaesthesia. Can Anaesth Soc J. 1978;25:427–30.
- Jonkman EJ, Poortvliet DC, Veering MM, De Weerd AW, John ER. The use of neurometrics in the study of patients with cerebral ischaemia. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1985;61:333–41.
- Edmonds HLJ, Griffiths LK, van der Laken J, Slater AD, Shields CB. Quantitative electroencephalographic monitoring during myocardial revascularization predicts postoperative disorientation and improves outcome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1992;103:555–63.
- 55. Adams DC, Heyer EJ, Emerson RG, Moeller JR, Spotnitz HM, Smith DH, et al. The reliability of quantitative electroencephalography as an indicator of cerebral ischemia. Anesth Analg. 1995;81:80–3.
- Russ W, Kling D, Krumholz W, Fraedrich G, Hempelmann G. Experiences with a new EEG spectral analyzer in carotid surgery. Anaesthesist. 1985;34:85–90.
- Baker AB, Roxburgh AJ. Computerised EEG monitoring for carotid endarterectomy. Anaesth Intensive Care. 1986;14:32–6.
- 58. Hanowell LH, Soriano S, Bennett HL. EEG power changes are more sensitive than spectral edge frequency variation for detection of cerebral ischemia during carotid artery surgery: a prospective assessment of processed EEG monitoring. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 1992;6:292–4.
- Young WL, Moberg RS, Ornstein E, Matteo RS, Pedley TA, Correll JW, et al. Electroencephalographic monitoring for ischemia during carotid endarterectomy: visual versus computer analysis. J Clin Monit. 1988;4:78–85.
- Rampil IJ. A primer for EEG signal processing in anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1998;89:980–1002.

- Oshima E, Shingu K, Mori K. E.E.G. activity during halothane anaesthesia in man. Br J Anaesth. 1981;53:65–72.
- Neigh JL, Garman JK, Harp JR. The electroencephalographic pattern during anesthesia with ethrane: effects of depth of anesthesia, PaCo2, and nitrous oxide. Anesthesiology. 1971;35:482–7.
- Eger 2nd EI, Stevens WC, Cromwell TH. The electroencephalogram in man anesthetized with forane. Anesthesiology. 1971;35:504–8.
- Clark DL, Hosick EC, Adam N, Castro AD, Rosner BS, Neigh JL. Neural effects of isoflurane (forane) in man. Anesthesiology. 1973;39:261–70.
- 65. Tatsumi K, Hirai K, Furuya H, Okuda T. Effects of sevoflurane on the middle latency auditory evoked response and the electroencephalographic power spectrum. Anesth Analg. 1995;80:940–3.
- 66. Laitio RM, Kaskinoro K, Sarkela MO, Kaisti KK, Salmi E, Maksimow A, et al. Bispectral index, entropy, and quantitative electroencephalogram during single-agent xenon anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 2008;108:63–70.
- Jaaskelainen SK, Kaisti K, Suni L, Hinkka S, Scheinin H. Sevoflurane is epileptogenic in healthy subjects at surgical levels of anesthesia. Neurology. 2003;61:1073–8.
- Vakkuri A, Yli-Hankala A, Sarkela M, Lindgren L, Mennander S, Korttila K, et al. Sevoflurane mask induction of anaesthesia is associated with epileptiform EEG in children. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2001;45:805–11.
- 69. Kuramoto T, Oshita S, Takeshita H, Ishikawa T. Modification of the relationship between cerebral metabolism, blood flow, and electroencephalogram by stimulation during anesthesia in the dog. Anesthesiology. 1979;51:211–7.
- Yamamura T, Fukuda M, Takeya H, Goto Y, Furukawa K. Fast oscillatory EEG activity induced by analgesic concentrations of nitrous oxide in man. Anesth Analg. 1981;60:283–8.
- Rampil IJ, Kim JS, Lenhardt R, Negishi C, Sessler DI. Bispectral EEG index during nitrous oxide administration. Anesthesiology. 1998;89:671–7.
- 72. Smith NT, Hoff BH, Rampil IJ, Sasse FJ, Flemming DC. Does thiopental or N₂O disrupt the EEG during enflurane? Anesthesiology. 1979;51:s4 (abstract).
- 73. Kaieda R, Todd MM, Warner DS. The effects of anesthetics and PaCO₂ on the cerebrovascular, metabolic, and electroencephalographic responses to nitrous oxide in the rabbit. Anesth Analg. 1989;68:135–43.
- 74. Avramov MN, Shingu K, Mori K. Progressive changes in electroencephalographic responses to nitrous oxide in humans: a possible acute drug tolerance. Anesth Analg. 1990;70:369–74.
- Kiersey DK, Bickford RG, Faulconer Jr A. Electroencephalographic patterns produced by thiopental sodium during surgical operations; description and classification. Br J Anaesth. 1951;23:141–52.
- Clark DL, Rosner BS. Neurophysiologic effects of general anesthetics. I. The electroencephalogram and

sensory evoked responses in man. Anesthesiology. 1973;38:564-82.

- Schwilden H, Schuttler J, Stoeckel H. Closed-loop feedback control of methohexital anesthesia by quantitative EEG analysis in humans. Anesthesiology. 1987;67:341–7.
- Ford EW, Morrell F, Whisler WW. Methohexital anesthesia in the surgical treatment of uncontrollable epilepsy. Anesth Analg. 1982;61:997–1001.
- Wyler AR, Richey ET, Atkinson RA, Hermann BP. Methohexital activation of epileptogenic foci during acute electrocorticography. Epilepsia. 1987;28:490–4.
- Hazeaux C, Tisserant D, Vespignani H, Hummer-Sigiel M, Kwan-Ning V, Laxenaire MC. Electroencephalographic impact of propofol anesthesia. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 1987;6:261–6.
- Billard V, Gambus PL, Chamoun N, Stanski DR, Shafer SL. A comparison of spectral edge, delta power, and bispectral index as EEG measures of alfentanil, propofol, and midazolam drug effect. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1997;61:45–58.
- Doenicke A, Loffler B, Kugler J, Suttmann H, Grote B. Plasma concentration and E.E.G. after various regimens of etomidate. Br J Anaesth. 1982;54:393–400.
- Ebrahim ZY, DeBoer GE, Luders H, Hahn JF, Lesser RP. Effect of etomidate on the electroencephalogram of patients with epilepsy. Anesth Analg. 1986;65:1004–6.
- Ghoneim MM, Yamada T. Etomidate: a clinical and electroencephalographic comparison with thiopental. Anesth Analg. 1977;56:479–85.
- Milde LN, Milde JH, Michenfelder JD. Cerebral functional, metabolic, and hemodynamic effects of etomidate in dogs. Anesthesiology. 1985;63:371–7.
- McPherson RW, Sell B, Traystman RJ. Effects of thiopental, fentanyl, and etomidate on upper extremity somatosensory evoked potentials in humans. Anesthesiology. 1986;65:584–9.
- Sebel PS, Bovill JG, Wauquier A, Rog P. Effects of high-dose fentanyl anesthesia on the electroencephalogram. Anesthesiology. 1981;55:203–11.
- Wauquier A, Bovill JG, Sebel PS. Electroencephalographic effects of fentanyl-, sufentanil- and alfentanil anaesthesia in man. Neuropsychobiology. 1984;11:203–6.
- Benthuysen JL, Smith NT, Sanford TJ, Head N, Dec-Silver H. Physiology of alfentanil-induced rigidity. Anesthesiology. 1986;64:440–6.
- Weinger MB, Cline EJ, Smith NT, Blasco TA, Koob GF. Localization of brainstem sites which mediate alfentanil-induced muscle rigidity in the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 1988;29:573–80.
- 91. de Castro J, Van de Water A, Wouters L, Xhonneux R, Reneman R, Kay B. Comparative study of cardiovascular, neurological and metabolic side effects of 8 narcotics in dogs. Pethidine, piritramide, morphine, phenoperidine, fentanyl, R 39 209, sufentanil, R 34 995. II. Comparative study on the epileptoid activity

of the narcotics used in high and massive doses in curarised and mechanically ventilated dogs. Acta Anaesthesiol Belg. 1979;30:55–69.

- 92. Greenblatt DJ, Ehrenberg BL, Gunderman J, Locniskar A, Scavone JM, Harmatz JS, et al. Pharmacokinetic and electroencephalographic study of intravenous diazepam, midazolam, and placebo. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1989;45:356–65.
- Fleischer JE, Milde JH, Moyer TP, Michenfelder JD. Cerebral effects of high-dose midazolam and subsequent reversal with Ro 15–1788 in dogs. Anesthesiology. 1988;68:234–42.
- Lanier WL, Milde JH, Michenfelder JD. Cerebral stimulation following succinylcholine in dogs. Anesthesiology. 1986;64:551–9.
- Chapple DJ, Miller AA, Ward JB, Wheatley PL. Cardiovascular and neurological effects of laudanosine. Studies in mice and rats, and in conscious and anaesthetized dogs. Br J Anaesth. 1987;59:218–25.
- 96. Shi WZ, Fahey MR, Fisher DM, Miller RD, Canfell C, Eger II EI. Laudanosine (a metabolite of atracurium) increases the minimum alveolar concentration of halothane in rabbits. Anesthesiology. 1985;63:584–8.

Clinical Application of Raw and Processed EEG

11

Phillip E. Vlisides and George A. Mashour

Key Learning Points

- Raw EEG waveforms and spectrogram patterns help characterize the neurophysiologic properties of various anesthetics.
- Processed EEG monitoring has not been shown to reduce the risk of awareness with explicit recall (AWR) compared to end-tidal anesthetic concentration (ETAC) monitoring protocols.
- EEG-guided titration of anesthetic depth may help to minimize the risk of cognitive dysfunction after surgery though multicenter trials are needed to confirm preliminary findings.
- Various EEG markers are indicative of cerebral ischemia, and they tend to demonstrate frequency slowing, decreased power and variability of faster frequencies, and increased regional asymmetry.

Introduction

In 1924, Hans Berger began recording electrical activity from the scalp of humans [1]. His motivation was to prove the existence of telepathy, as he believed his sister telepathically sensed he was in danger when he suffered a military accident in World War I. As he continued to improve electrode technology, Berger ultimately discovered synchronized 10-Hz oscillations in the occipital region after subjects closed their eyes; these oscillations were later called "Berger waves." Although initially met with skepticism, Berger's findings were later independently confirmed [2], and different groups of investigators began exploring the neurophysiologic properties of the electroencephalogram (EEG) in the subsequent decades. Since then, the role of EEG has continued to evolve. EEG now has diagnostic and prognostic value for various neurologic conditions, such as epilepsy [3], stroke [4], traumatic brain injury [5], and brain death [6]. Clinical and research efforts have led to the release of guidelines for EEG use in neurologic patients [7] as well as the growth of governing bodies such as the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society.

The clinical application of EEG has been largely confined to the field of neurology, but there is growing interest in the use of EEG for

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_11

P.E. Vlisides, Ph.D. • G.A. Mashour, M.D., Ph.D. (⊠) Department of Anesthesiology, 1H247 University Hospital, University of Michigan Medical School, SPC 5048, 1500 East Medical Center Drive, Ann Arbor, MI 48109-5048, USA e-mail: pvliside@med.umich.edu; gmashour@med.umich.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

brain monitoring during anesthesia [8]. To date, there is no standard anesthetic monitor for the brain although this is arguably the target organ of anesthetic administration during surgery. Targeted brain monitoring during anesthesia and surgery may improve neurologic outcomes by reducing the risk of intraoperative awareness with explicit recall (AWR) and by enhancing postoperative cognitive recovery. Further research is needed to identify reliable EEG markers that reflect level of consciousness and to explore the ability of EEG to improve such perioperative neurologic outcomes. This approach must begin, however, with a basic understanding of the neurophysiologic effects of various anesthetics as reflected by the EEG. Thus, in this chapter, we will review the anesthetic effects on both raw and processed EEG data and then discuss the clinical utility of EEG for surgical patients.

EEG Data Acquisition and Interpretation

Raw EEG

Continuous EEG data are collected from scalp electrodes applied in standard locations (Fig. 11.1) that detect spikes in cortical microvoltages at various frequencies. These microvoltage spikes are believed to reflect postsynaptic voltage potentials from pyramidal neurons activated by cortical and thalamic sources [9]. Voltage oscillation frequencies are often divided into gamma (26-80 Hz), beta (13-25 Hz), alpha (9-12 Hz), theta (5-8 Hz), delta (1-4 Hz), and slow-wave (<1 Hz) bandwidths. At any given time (in both conscious and unconscious states), many bandwidths may be contributing to the overall EEG waveform. To deconstruct frequencies into individual components, a Fourier transformation can be performed [10]. This transformation is represented as an EEG spectrogram, which depicts time on the x-axis, frequency on the *y*-axis, and power on the *z*-axis (Fig. 11.2). This allows one to more easily analyze frequency bandwidth power for any given EEG segment. The reader is referred to Chap. 10 ("EEG



Fig. 11.1 Standard 10–20 system for location of EEG scalp electrode placement (i.e., montage). The number 10 indicates distance in percentage (10%) from nasion and inion to adjacent frontal and occipital electrodes, respectively. The number 20 indicates distance in percentage (20%) among remaining electrodes. Leads on the *left side* have odd numbers, and leads on the *right side* have even numbers. *F* indicates frontal; *T* temporal, *C* central, *P* parietal, *O* occipital. *Midline* (vertex) electrodes are denoted with the letter *z*, which indicates zero

Monitoring") for further information regarding EEG acquisition and monitoring. As we will see below, each anesthetic is associated with a specific pattern in both the raw EEG and corresponding spectrogram.

At depths consistent with general anesthesia, propofol predominantly displays alpha, delta, and slow oscillations on the raw EEG (Fig. 11.3a). On the corresponding spectrogram, high power is demonstrated in these corresponding frequency bandwidths (Fig. 11.3b). Ether-based volatile anesthetics (e.g., isoflurane, sevoflurane, desflurane) demonstrate a similar pattern on the raw EEG, which is characterized by alpha, theta, delta, and slow oscillations (Fig. 11.3a). On the spectrogram, high power is demonstrated in these bandwidths, often with more theta power compared to the propofol spectrogram (Fig. 11.3b). Halogenated ethers and propofol share similar neurophysiologic traits with non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep. For example, coherent oscillatory spindle activity is present with both propofol sedation and NREM sleep, which is believed to reflect a breakdown of thalamocortical processing [11–13]. Asynchronous slow-



Fig. 11.2 Example spectrogram is depicted, with time (min) on the *x*-axis, EEG frequency (Hz) on the *y*-axis, and power (dB) on the *z*-axis



Fig. 11.3 Comparison of raw EEG and spectrogram patterns among different anesthetic classes. (a) Raw EEG patterns are displayed for each anesthetic class represented. Faster frequencies are appreciated with ketamine compared to other anesthetics. (b) Each anesthetic drug

class corresponds to a specific spectrogram signature, which may reflect nuances in molecular and circuital properties in each class (Reproduced from Purdon et al. [56]; with permission)

wave oscillations are also noted during both sleep and propofol anesthesia, which may represent fragmented cortical connectivity [11, 14].

Uniquely, ketamine anesthesia is associated with increased beta and gamma oscillatory activity on the raw EEG (Fig. 11.3a). This stands in contrast with the lower frequency patterns of propofol and ether-based volatile agents. During general anesthesia with ketamine, increased power is noted in the gamma range, particularly near 30 Hz (Fig. 11.3b). Lastly, dexmedetomidine induces characteristic EEG changes that vary depending on the depth of sedation. For example, during periods of light sedation, increased power is noted in the low-beta range on the spectrogram (Fig. 11.4a), which likely reflects



Fig. 11.4 EEG characteristics with light dexmedetomidine sedation. (a) Increased power is noted as a red streak in the low-beta range (~13 Hz) under light sedation, likely corresponding to spindle activity. (b) Coherent spindle activity is noted during light sedation on the raw EEG, similar to spindle activity appreciated during NREM

the presence of spindle patterns on the raw EEG also similar to those observed during NREM sleep (Fig. 11.4b). With deeper levels of dexmedetomidine sedation, increased power is noted in the slow-delta bandwidths (Fig. 11.4c), and slow-delta oscillations are noted on the corresponding raw EEG (Fig. 11.4d). This presents a similar pattern to that observed with propofol and ether-based volatile agents but without the alpha oscillation (see Fig. 11.3).

Though these EEG patterns reflect neurophysiologic differences among anesthetic classes, they do not necessarily provide insights into the mechanisms behind anesthetic-induced loss of

sleep. (c) With increasing doses of dexmedetomidine, increased power is noted in the slow-delta bandwidths. (d) Slow-delta oscillations are appreciated on the corresponding raw EEG tracing with higher doses of dexmedetomidine (Reproduced from Purdon et al. [56]; with permission)

consciousness. For example, propofol-mediated loss of consciousness has been linked with alpha rhythm anteriorization, which may be mediated by γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) potentiation [12]. This alpha rhythm anteriorization does not appear in the very young or very old [15, 16], and it has not been consistently demonstrated with sevoflurane- and ketamine-induced loss of consciousness, which involve agents that have known molecular targets other than GABA receptors [17–19]. Despite these molecular and neurophysiologic differences, all three drug classes have the ability to consistently induce loss of consciousness. An emerging explanation for this common functional outcome may be the shared ability of these anesthetics to inhibit communication between anterior and posterior brain regions [17–19]. Specifically, loss of consciousness with propofol, sevoflurane, and ketamine is correlated with reduced EEG measures of frontal-to-parietal directed connectivity [17–19], which is believed to be a surrogate of information transfer involved in conscious experience [20].

Processed EEG

The Bispectral Index (BIS) and SEDLine monitors are two of the most commonly used portable EEG systems for intraoperative EEG monitoring, although many systems are available (Table 11.1). Each system has a set of corresponding electrode channels-or montagesthat are applied to the forehead of patients for EEG data acquisition. Both raw and processed EEG data are captured and displayed. In this context, processed EEG refers to the acquisition, integration, analysis, and conversion of raw EEG data—by a proprietary multivariable algorithm-to a dimensionless number meant to reflect anesthetic depth (Table 11.2). With the BIS system, for example, values ranging from 40 to 60 reflect depth consistent with general anesthesia [21], and values ranging from 25 to 50 reflect this same depth with the SEDLine monitor [22]. Processed EEG values have specific limitations, however, which will be discussed further in the next section.

Clinical Utility of Raw and Processed EEG

Processed EEG has largely been studied with the aim of preventing AWR. Comparative trials have not demonstrated a reduced risk of AWR with processed EEG monitoring compared to endtidal anesthetic concentration (ETAC) monitoring protocols [23, 24], but processed EEG monitoring does reduce the incidence of AWR compared to routine care and monitoring [24, 25]. Furthermore, this may be particularly helpful during total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA),

 Table 11.1 Commercially available processed EEG systems^a

		Index
		target
Monitor	Data and display features	range ^b
Bispectral Index	Raw EEG, processed	40–60
(BIS)	values	
	 BIS index 	
	 Spectral analysis 	
SEDLine	Raw EEG, processed	25-50
	values	-
	– Patient State Index (PSI)	
	 Spectral analysis 	
Narcotrend	Raw EEG, processed values	D, E
	– EEG stage (A-F)	40-60
	 Narcotrend Index 	
	 Spectral analysis 	
Entropy module	State entropy	40-60
	(EEG-based)	
	Response entropy	
	(EMG-based)	
IoC-View	Raw EEG, processed	40-60
	values	
	 IoC Index 	
	 EEG suppression ratio 	
SNAP II	High-frequency	50-65
	(80-240 Hz) and	
	low-frequency	
	(0–18 Hz) EEG analysis,	
	processed SNAP Index	10 60
NeuroSENSE	Raw EEG, processed	40–60
	values	
	- Wavelet-based	
	(WAV _{CNS}) index	
	 – Spectral analysis 	

EEG electroencephalogram, *IoC* index of consciousness, *EMG* electromyogram

Table 11.2 Processed EEG steps

Signal sampling	
Bandpass filtering	
Artifact detection	
Suppression ratio calculation	
Fourier analysis (γ , β , α , θ , δ bandwidths)	
Total power calculation	
→Coherence and power analysis	
→Multivariate analysis	
Index value calculated	

^aThe authors do not imply support for any particular device ^bNumber range reportedly consistent with general anesthesia for each device

where ETAC monitoring is not available, and the risk of awareness may be increased [26]. There are several reasons why processed EEG might not be effective in reducing AWR beyond simple ETAC monitoring. For example, anesthetists in these studies used the processed EEG value, rather than raw EEG data interpretation, to gauge anesthetic depth. As such, assessment of anesthetic depth came from a processed algorithm, rather than from direct neurophysiologic assessment. This approach may be problematic, as index values do not take into account the different neurophysiologic properties of various anesthetics. For example, ketamine and nitrous oxide lead to an increased EEG oscillation frequency [27, 28], which may in turn render a higher processed EEG value. Additionally, precise neural correlates of consciousness remain under active investigation. Although certain EEG-based markers such as frontal-parietal disconnection [19, 29] and disruption of thalamocortical connectivity [12, 30] provide insights into causally sufficient mechanisms to induce unconsciousness, the neuroscientific framework that defines consciousness remains incompletely understood.

Thus, attempts to distill a patient's level of consciousness to a single number are not yet rooted in complete scientific understanding. A deeper neurophysiologic understanding of consciousness and anesthetic action is likely to be helpful in determining levels of consciousness.

Though intraoperative EEG monitoring has been long examined for the prevention of AWR, EEG may also be useful for appropriately titrating anesthetic depth. For example, EEG allows practitioners to detect burst suppression, a pattern of electrical bursts interspersed with electrical silence (Fig. 11.5). This pattern represents a profound depth of general anesthesia that is not observed during sleep. Longer periods of intraoperative and postoperative burst suppression have correlated with postoperative delirium [31, 32], and a recent meta-analysis of prospective trials has demonstrated a reduced risk of postoperative delirium with BIS-guided protocols [33]. Alternatively, titrating anesthetic depth to achieve burst suppression can be useful in certain circumstances, such as cerebral aneurysm clipping, where burst suppression may reduce the risk of ischemic injury by reducing cerebral metabolism [34].



Fig. 11.5 Burst suppression illustrated with continuous EEG data



Fig. 11.6 Frequency slowing noted after clamping of the right carotid artery during endarterectomy. Irregular, delta-wave activity is appreciated with attenuation of faster frequencies. Changes are more pronounced on the *right*, which is the side of clamping. EEG waveforms

return to baseline after shunt is placed. Reproduced with permission from Dr. Don Schomer and Dr. Fernando Lopes da Silva, Niedermeyer's Electroencephalography: Basic Principles, Clinical Applications, and Related Fields, Fifth Edition [57]

Thus, EEG-titrated anesthetic depth may be useful in certain clinical scenarios, which would be valuable to anesthesiologists for improving perioperative neurologic outcomes.

Lastly, both raw continuous (cEEG) and quantitative EEG (qEEG) findings may be useful for the detection of cerebral ischemia in high-risk settings. Cortical voltage oscillations begin to decrease in frequency once cerebral blood flow (CBF) decreases below specific ischemic thresholds [35, 36]. This slowing results from ischemic damage to neurons, which have high oxygen and glucose requirements to maintain electrochemical gradients across cellular membranes [37]. Frequency slowing is manifested by specific EEG patterns. Intraoperatively, for example, asymmetric oscillatory slowing has been demonstrated during carotid endarterectomy (CEA), marked particularly by irregular delta waveforms [35, 38] (Fig. 11.6). Also during CEA, spectral edge frequencies and relative delta band power are qEEG markers that have helped objectively identify ischemia during carotid clamping [39]. Postoperatively, both cEEG and qEEG have been shown to successfully predict cerebral ischemia in certain pathologic settings. For example, certain features of cEEG and qEEG predict cerebral ischemia from vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. For cEEG, pathologic delta patterns [40] and regional attenuation of faster frequencies-especially without delta waves presentcan help acutely diagnose cerebral ischemia [41]. Reduced total power [42] and decreased relative alpha frequency variability [43] are qEEG markers that have demonstrated utility predicting cerebral ischemia due to vasospasm. These quantitative markers of the EEG may be particularly useful, as they are easier to interpret and do not require continuous EEG surveillance and expertise to interpret the data.

Future Directions of EEG Monitoring

Although significant progress has been made since the first suggestion in 1937 that EEG may be used as an intraoperative monitoring modality [44], the current approach to assessing anesthetic depth is still fairly rudimentary. First, it is important to note that the most commonly used metrics of anesthetic depth-hemodynamics and MACare flawed. In the case of hemodynamics, there is no consistent relationship between hypertension and insufficient anesthetic depth or, perhaps more importantly, hypotension and supratherapeutic anesthetic depth. There are numerous determinants of blood pressure and heart rate (e.g., hypovolemia) that are independent of anesthetic dosing or neural activity. In support of this, numerous cases of intraoperative awareness have been identified in the absence of frank hemodynamic changes [45]. In the case of MAC, we have known since the 1990s that the functional endpoint of MAC-movement-is suppressed primarily through anesthetic effects on the spinal cord [46–48]. Thus, MAC is not intrinsically linked to the anesthetic effects on the brain.

In order to advance the field, we need a more sophisticated knowledge of either anesthetic mechanisms in the brain or the neurobiology of consciousness (or both). Current approaches to the EEG are attempting to focus on these two domains of knowledge. Currently available processed EEG monitors display indices that were, primarily, empirically derived through a comparison of the awake EEG and the anesthetized, without necessarily considering whether the differences between the two were related to anesthetic mechanisms or the neural substrate of consciousness. Currently, there are more principled approaches to the EEG. One focuses on linking the systems neuroscience effects of anesthetics to network-level oscillations, searching for drug-specific signatures on the EEG [15]. For example, in healthy adults anesthetized with propofol, a strong alpha oscillation can be seen in the frontal spectrogram, which has been hypothesized to result from a GABAergic effect in the nucleus reticularis of the thalamus that sets up a highly coherent thalamocortical oscillation [49]. Ketamine, on the other hand, does not have strong GABAergic properties and does not result in increased alpha. Rather, slow oscillations and high-frequency gamma activity are observed [19], the latter possibly due to the NMDA antagonist effects on GABAergic interneurons. These entrained oscillations can restrict the normally flexible repertoire of connectivity and communication across the cortex. The other principled approach to the EEG and intraoperative monitoring focuses on the neural correlates of consciousness in the normal state of wakefulness and how these correlate change with anesthetic exposure. It is generally believed that the integration of neural information is a prerequisite for conscious experience [50]; if interrupted, disrupted, or eliminated, conscious processing would not occur. There are various surrogates for connectivity and communication that can be assessed with EEG. Techniques to assess functional connectivity (statistical interdependence between two brain areas) include coherence and phase synchronization [51]. Techniques to assess directed connectivity (a statistical interdependence that unfolds over time) include transfer entropy and Granger causality [52]. Techniques to assess effective connectivity (the identification of a causal influence of one brain region on another) include dynamic causal modeling [53]. All of these techniques have been examined during general anesthesia. Although a complicated literature, it has been generally found that longrange functional connections and surrogates of communication are broken down during general anesthesia, which presumably reflects the interrupted information synthesis that leads to the breakdown of consciousness. This has been found consistently across all major classes of anesthetics [19]. Thus, while the attempt to link underlying anesthetic mechanisms to EEG features seeks to identify drug-specific signatures, the approach to understanding the neural correlates of consciousness seeks to identify state-specific signatures that are invariant with respect to drug type. The latter approach has many stages of development before real-time monitoring can be attempted. However, there is the promise of a drug-invariant approach that might accurately identify the breakdown or return of consciousness in the operating room and perhaps even disruptions of consciousness in the postoperative period (such as delirium). Furthermore, we must recognize that all of these techniques aim to monitor the sedative-hypnotic effects of general anesthetics. The potent and clinically important amnesic effects are mediated by structures in the medial temporal lobe and may be less amenable to monitoring.

Case Presentation

A 62-year-old man with a pertinent past medical history significant for a right anterior cerebral artery aneurysm presented to the operating room for aneurysm clipping. Intraoperative EEG and somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP) monitoring were planned to monitor for ischemia during the procedure. Shortly after anesthetic induction, neuromonitoring electrodes were placed for EEG and SSEP signal acquisition, and baseline data were obtained. A balanced technique was employed for maintenance of anesthesia, which included propofol and sufentanil infusions with 0.5 minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) of isoflurane. Shortly after this maintenance regimen was initiated, the following pattern was noted in the EEG (Fig. 11.7). Upon detection of burst suppression, the propofol infusion dose was decreased, and the pattern returned to slow-wave oscillations. The EEG was used to titrate the anesthetic depth for the rest of the case, and burst suppression was in fact requested prior to aneurysm clipping for ischemic neuroprotection. The aneurysm was successfully clipped, and the rest of the case proceeded uneventfully. The patient was extubated and transported to the neurologic intensive care unit for postoperative recovery and monitoring.



Fig. 11.7 Additional example of burst suppression. This pattern may be noted during periods of deep anesthesia

Conclusion

EEG can serve as a valuable tool for surgical patients in a variety of clinical settings. Although processed EEG monitors do not reduce the incidence of AWR compared with ETAC monitoring protocols, this may be due to an incomplete understanding of EEG markers that reflect the loss of consciousness. Although promising findings are currently being evaluated [17, 54], a further understanding of the neural correlates of consciousness is needed before we can confidently identify true EEG markers of consciousness. Nonetheless, EEG monitoring may play a useful role in other clinical arenas, such as preventing deleterious neurologic outcomes of surgery and anesthesia. EEG-guided anesthetic titration might minimize the risk of postoperative cognitive dysfunction (POCD) and postoperative delirium; multicenter trials are needed to further explore these possibilities. The amount of time spent in burst suppression and deeper planes of anesthesia, as represented in our case discussion, has correlated with cognitive dysfunction postoperatively [31, 55], and further exploration is warranted to assess whether this has causal significance or if the presence of burst suppression is a marker of a vulnerable brain. Furthermore, EEG monitoring has been shown to detect cerebral ischemia in select surgical and intensive care unit settings. These monitoring strategies may have the potential to detect cerebral ischemia and prevent perioperative stroke in highrisk settings although this requires further exploration. We are presently at an exciting interface between clinical neuroscience and anesthesiology, as technologies for studying the brain continue to improve, and subsequent discoveries continue to shape our understanding of the central nervous system. Anesthesiologists have the first-hand ability to monitor and modulate the brain with everimproving scientific understanding.

References

 Stone JL, Hughes JR. Early history of electroencephalography and establishment of the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2013;30:28–44.

- 2. Adrian ED. Electrical activity of the nervous system. Arch Neurol Psychiatry. 1934;32:1125–36.
- Smith SJ. EEG in the diagnosis, classification, and management of patients with epilepsy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2005; 6(Suppl 2):ii2–7.
- Jordan KG. Emergency EEG, and continuous EEG monitoring in acute ischemic stroke. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2004;21:341–52.
- Beridze M, Khaburzania M, Shakarishvili R, Kazaishvili D. Dominated EEG patterns and their prognostic value in coma caused by traumatic brain injury. Georgian Med News. 2010;186:28–33.
- Chen Z, Cao J, Cao Y, Zhang Y, Gu F, Zhu G, et al. An empirical EEG analysis in brain death diagnosis for adults. Cogn Neurodyn. 2008;2:257–71.
- Huang C, Zhang P, Du R, Li Y, Yu Y, Zhou M, et al. Treatment of acute hypernatremia in severely burned patients using continuous veno-venous hemofiltration with gradient sodium replacement fluid: a report of nine cases. Intensive Care Med. 2013;39:1495–6.
- Bartual PJ. The current status of vestibular examination in daily practice. Acta Otorrinolaringol Esp. 1989;40 Suppl 2:192–8 [in Spanish].
- 9. Olejniczak P. Neurophysiologic basis of EEG. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2006;23:186–9.
- Babadi B, Brown EN. A review of multitaper spectral analysis. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 2014;61:1555–64.
- Nir Y, Staba RJ, Andrillon T, Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Fried I, et al. Regional slow waves and spindles in human sleep. Neuron. 2011;70:153–69.
- Vijayan S, Ching S, Purdon PL, Brown EN, Kopell NJ. Thalamocortical mechanisms for the anteriorization of alpha rhythms during propofol-induced unconsciousness. J Neurosci. 2013;33:11070–5.
- Huupponen E, Maksimow A, Lapinlampi P, Sarkela M, Saastamoinen A, Snapir A, et al. Electroencephalogram spindle activity during dexmedetomidine sedation and physiological sleep. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2008;52:289–94.
- Lewis LD, Weiner VS, Mukamel EA, Donoghue JA, Eskandar EN, Madsen JR, et al. Rapid fragmentation of neuronal networks at the onset of propofol-induced unconsciousness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:E3377–86.
- Purdon PL, Pavone KJ, Akeju O, Smith AC, Sampson AL, Lee J, et al. The ageing brain: age-dependent changes in the electroencephalogram during propofol and sevoflurane general anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2015;115 Suppl 1:i46–57.
- Akeju O, Pavone KJ, Thum JA, Firth PG, Westover MB, Puglia M, et al. Age-dependency of sevofluraneinduced electroencephalogram dynamics in children. Br J Anaesth. 2015;115 Suppl 1:i66–76.
- Blain-Moraes S, Lee U, Ku S, Noh G, Mashour GA. Electroencephalographic effects of ketamine on power, cross-frequency coupling, and connectivity in the alpha bandwidth. Front Syst Neurosci. 2014;8:114.
- Blain-Moraes S, Tarnal V, Vanini G, Alexander A, Rosen D, Shortal B, et al. Neurophysiological correlates of sevoflurane-induced unconsciousness. Anesthesiology. 2015;122:307–16.

- Lee U, Ku S, Noh G, Baek S, Choi B, Mashour GA. Disruption of frontal-parietal communication by ketamine, propofol, and sevoflurane. Anesthesiology. 2013;118:1264–75.
- Dehaene S, Changeux JP. Experimental and theoretical approaches to conscious processing. Neuron. 2011;70:200–27.
- Punjasawadwong Y, Phongchiewboon A, Bunchungmongkol N. Bispectral index for improving anaesthetic delivery and postoperative recovery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;6, CD003843.
- 22. Prichep LS, Gugino LD, John ER, Chabot RJ, Howard B, Merkin H, et al. The Patient State Index as an indicator of the level of hypnosis under general anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2004;92:393–9.
- Avidan MS, Jacobsohn E, Glick D, Burnside BA, Zhang L, Villafranca A, et al. Prevention of intraoperative awareness in a high-risk surgical population. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:591–600.
- Mashour GA, Shanks A, Tremper KK, Kheterpal S, Turner CR, Ramachandran SK, et al. Prevention of intraoperative awareness with explicit recall in an unselected surgical population: a randomized comparative effectiveness trial. Anesthesiology. 2012;117:717–25.
- Myles PS, Leslie K, Mcneil J, Forbes A, Chan MT. Bispectral index monitoring to prevent awareness during anaesthesia: the B-Aware randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2004;363:1757–63.
- 26. Zhang C, Xu L, Ma YQ, Sun YX, Li YH, Zhang L, et al. Bispectral index monitoring prevent awareness during total intravenous anesthesia: a prospective, randomized, double-blinded, multi-center controlled trial. Chin Med J (Engl). 2011;124:3664–9.
- Hayashi K, Tsuda N, Sawa T, Hagihira S. Ketamine increases the frequency of electroencephalographic bicoherence peak on the alpha spindle area induced with propofol. Br J Anaesth. 2007;99:389–95.
- Foster BL, Liley DT. Nitrous oxide paradoxically modulates slow electroencephalogram oscillations: implications for anesthesia monitoring. Anesth Analg. 2011;113:758–65.
- 29. Ku SW, Lee U, Noh GJ, Jun IG, Mashour GA. Preferential inhibition of frontal-to-parietal feed-back connectivity is a neurophysiologic correlate of general anesthesia in surgical patients. PLoS One. 2011;6:e25155.
- Akeju O, Loggia ML, Catana C, Pavone KJ, Vazquez R, Rhee J, et al. Disruption of thalamic functional connectivity is a neural correlate of dexmedetomidineinduced unconsciousness. Elife. 2014;3, e04499.
- 31. Soehle M, Dittmann A, Ellerkmann RK, Baumgarten G, Putensen C, Guenther U. Intraoperative burst suppression is associated with postoperative delirium following cardiac surgery: a prospective, observational study. BMC Anesthesiol. 2015;15:61.
- 32. Andresen JM, Girard TD, Pandharipande PP, Davidson MA, Ely EW, Watson PL. Burst suppression on processed electroencephalography as a predictor of postcoma delirium in mechanically ventilated ICU patients. Crit Care Med. 2014;42:2244–51.

- 33. Whitlock EL, Torres BA, Lin N, Helsten DL, Nadelson MR, Mashour GA, et al. Postoperative delirium in a substudy of cardiothoracic surgical patients in the BAG-RECALL clinical trial. Anesth Analg. 2014;118:809–17.
- Doyle PW, Matta BF. Burst suppression or isoelectric encephalogram for cerebral protection: evidence from metabolic suppression studies. Br J Anaesth. 1999;83:580–4.
- 35. Sharbrough FW, Messick Jr JM, Sundt Jr TM. Correlation of continuous electroencephalograms with cerebral blood flow measurements during carotid endarterectomy. Stroke. 1973;4:674–83.
- 36. Sundt Jr TM, Sharbrough FW, Piepgras DG, Kearns TP, Messick Jr JM, O'Fallon WM. Correlation of cerebral blood flow and electroencephalographic changes during carotid endarterectomy: with results of surgery and hemodynamics of cerebral ischemia. Mayo Clin Proc. 1981;56:533–43.
- Hansen AJ. Effect of anoxia on ion distribution in the brain. Physiol Rev. 1985;65:101–48.
- Sundt Jr TM, Sharbrough FW, Anderson RE, Michenfelder JD. Cerebral blood flow measurements and electroencephalograms during carotid endarterectomy. J Neurosurg. 1974;41:310–20.
- 39. Laman DM, Wieneke GH, Van Duijn H, Veldhuizen RJ, Van Huffelen AC. QEEG changes during carotid clamping in carotid endarterectomy: spectral edge frequency parameters and relative band power parameters. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2005;22:244–52.
- Rivierez M, Landau-Ferey J, Grob R, Grosskopf D, Philippon J. Value of electroencephalogram in prediction and diagnosis of vasospasm after intracranial aneurysm rupture. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1991;110:17–23.
- 41. Schneider AL, Jordan KG. Regional attenuation without delta (RAWOD): a distinctive EEG pattern that can aid in the diagnosis and management of severe acute ischemic stroke. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2005;45:102–17.
- Labar DR, Fisch BJ, Pedley TA, Fink ME, Solomon RA. Quantitative EEG monitoring for patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1991;78:325–32.
- Vespa PM, Nuwer MR, Juhasz C, Alexander M, Nenov V, Martin N, Becker DP. Early detection of vasospasm after acute subarachnoid hemorrhage using continuous EEG ICU monitoring. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1997;103:607–15.
- Gibbs FA, Gibbs EL, Lennox WG. Effects on the electroencephalogram of certain drugs which influence nervous activity. Arch Int Med. 1937;60:154–66.
- 45. Kent CD, Posner KL, Mashour GA, Mincer SL, Bruchas RR, Harvey AE, Domino KB. Patient perspectives on intraoperative awareness with explicit recall: report from a North American anaesthesia awareness registry. Br J Anaesth. 2015;115 Suppl 1:i114–21.
- Rampil IJ. Anesthetic potency is not altered after hypothermic spinal cord transection in rats. Anesthesiology. 1994;80:606–10.

- Rampil IJ, Mason P, Singh H. Anesthetic potency (MAC) is independent of forebrain structures in the rat. Anesthesiology. 1993;78:707–12.
- Antognini JF, Schwartz K. Exaggerated anesthetic requirements in the preferentially anesthetized brain. Anesthesiology. 1993;79:1244–9.
- 49. Ching S, Cimenser A, Purdon PL, Brown EN, Kopell NJ. Thalamocortical model for a propofol-induced alpha-rhythm associated with loss of consciousness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:22665–70.
- Mashour GA. Cognitive unbinding: a neuroscientific paradigm of general anesthesia and related states of unconsciousness. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2013;37:2751–9.
- Hudetz AG. General anesthesia and human brain connectivity. Brain Connect. 2012;2:291–302.
- 52. Moon JY, Lee U, Blain-Moraes S, Mashour GA. General relationship of global topology, local dynamics, and directionality in large-scale brain networks. PLoS Comput Biol. 2015;11, e1004225.
- Boly M, Moran R, Murphy M, Boveroux P, Bruno MA, Noirhomme Q, et al. Connectivity changes underlying spectral EEG changes during propofolinduced loss of consciousness. J Neurosci. 2012;32:7082–90.
- Mashour GA. Top-down mechanisms of anestheticinduced unconsciousness. Front Syst Neurosci. 2014;8:115.
- Chan MT, Cheng BC, Lee TM, Gin T. BIS-guided anesthesia decreases postoperative delirium and cognitive decline. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2013;25:33–42.
- Purdon PL, Sampson A, Pavone KJ, Brown EN. Clinical electroencephalography for anesthesiologists: part I: background and basic signatures. Anesthesiology. 2015;123:937–60.
- NiedermeyerE, LopesDaSilvaF.Electroencephalography: basic principles, clinical applications, and related fields.
 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2005.

Questions

- 1. Which of the following allows for EEG frequency decomposition into its individual components?
 - A. Fourier analysis
 - B. Hilbert transformation
 - C. Louvain algorithm
 - D. Network analysis

- 2. Which of the following most correctly describes processed EEG monitoring?
 - A. Processed EEG is considered a standard monitor in the field of anesthesiology.
 - B. Processed EEG values consistently reflect anesthetic depth regardless of anesthetic medications used.
 - C. It has not been shown to prevent awareness with explicit recall (AWR) when compared to end-tidal anesthetic concentration (ETAC) monitoring protocols.
 - D. The Bispectral Index (BIS) is the only processed EEG monitor commercially available at present.
- 3. Which EEG pattern, when observed for long periods of time, has been correlated with post-operative delirium?
 - A. Spindle oscillations
 - B. Alpha rhythm anteriorization
 - C. Increased beta and gamma bandwidth power
 - D. Burst suppression
- 4. Cerebral ischemia is manifested by all of the following EEG patterns EXCEPT:
 - A. Cortical symmetry in the alpha frequency bandwidth
 - B. Regional attenuation of faster frequencies without delta (RAWOD)
 - C. Reduced alpha frequency variability
 - D. Onset of irregular delta activity on continuous EEG (cEGG) monitoring and increased delta power during quantitative EEG (qEGG) monitoring

Answers

- 1. A
- 2. C
- 3. D
- 4. A

A Guide to Central Nervous System Near-Infrared Spectroscopic Monitoring

12

Harvey L. Edmonds Jr., Michael R. Isley, and Jeffrey R. Balzer

Key Learning Points

- Regional oxygen saturation (rSO₂) represents tissue sample microcirculatory O₂ supply-demand balance.
- Baseline rSO₂ values and intraoperative performance are non-standard and device dependent.
- rSO₂ monitoring aids in determining the:
 - Development of a potentially injurious oxygen imbalance
 - Nature of the imbalance
 - Potential appropriate corrective action
 - Patient response to intervention
- Interpretation of rSO₂ requires additional clinical information.

J.R. Balzer, Ph.D. Department of Neurological Surgery, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Suite B-400, 200 Lothrop Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA e-mail: balzjr@UPMC.EDU

- Clinical applications of cerebral oximetry include:
 - Detection of preexisting brain oxygen debt
 - Identification of position-related perfusion asymmetry
 - Characterization of vasomotor reactivity, vasoneural coupling and cerebral autoregulation
 - Aiding the determination of blood transfusion need
 - Detection of malperfusion
 - Guidance of supplementary cerebral perfusion

Introduction

Central nervous system oximetry uses transcranial or peri-spinal near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) to evaluate changes in neuronal oxygenation non-invasively and continuously. Its operation relies on two basic principles. First, near-infrared light has the capacity to penetrate human tissue, including bone. Second, in these tissues, hemoglobin is the predominant absorbing substance (i.e., chromophore) in the nearinfrared range [1].

The binding of oxygen to hemoglobin alters its infrared absorption spectrum. As a result, the concentrations of oxy- and deoxyhemoglobin may be determined by measurement of light absorption at two or more wavelengths.

H.L. Edmonds Jr., Ph.D. (🖂)

Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, University of Louisville School of Medicine, 830 Huntington Road, Louisville, KY 40207-3633, USA e-mail: lharvo@louisville.edu

M.R. Isley, Ph.D., D.A.B.N.M., F.A.S.N.M. Department of Intraoperative Neuromonitoring, Orlando Regional Medical Center, Arnold Palmer Hospital for Children, 92 West Miller Street, Orlando, FL 32806, USA e-mail: Michael.Isley@orlandohealth.com

Determination of absolute chromophore concentrations is based on the familiar Lambert-Beer equation and requires knowledge of the optical path length within the tissue sample volume. Claims regarding the accuracy of these measures remain controversial due to the confounding variations in the thickness and light-scattering properties of extraneural tissue and cerebrospinal fluid layers. Despite the continuing uncertainty associated with absolute measurements, close agreement has been shown between brain oxygen level-dependent functional magnetic resonance imaging (BOLD-fMRI) and NIRS estimates of brain stimulation-induced change in deoxyhemoglobin dynamics [2]. Independent direct measures of optical path length and cerebral/spinal chromophore concentrations are currently unavailable. Consequently, the putative "absolute" concentrations of oxy- and deoxyhemoglobin produced by some oximeters appear to be, at best, semi-quantitative estimates [3, 4].

Measurement of the relative concentrations of the hemoglobin moieties (i.e., oxygen saturation) also relies on the Lambert-Beer intensity ratio of incident-to-absorbed light. However, in contrast to attempts at absolute chromophore concentration measurement, the problematic path length factor is eliminated [1]. Because blood within the cerebral vascular bed is typically 70-85 % venous and capillary with the remainder arterial [3], the accuracy of this measure of regional cerebral oxygen saturation (rSO₂) has been validated against the invasive field saturation measurement (i.e., 25-30% arterial oxygen saturation + 70\% -75% internal jugular venous oxygen saturation) [5]. However, concern has been expressed that the algorithmic assumption of a constant ratio of arterial and venous blood within the sampled tissue may not accurately represent the inevitable fluctuations in the actual arterial-venous volume relationship [6].

Instrumentation

Medtronic-Covidien (Boulder, CO) currently produces the INVOS[™] 5100C cerebral oximeter, the first commercial device to receive US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) clearance for

continuous measurement of cerebral and somatic rSO₂ in patients larger than 2.5 kg. It uses two wavelengths of infrared light generated by broad bandwidth light-emitting diodes. Through a patented process termed "spatial resolution," the INVOS[™] device uses multi-site extra- and intracranial measurements to suppress the influence extracranial hemoglobin of (Fig. 12.1). Independent studies have shown that the source of the resultant rSO_2 metric is approximately 65% intracranial [7]. More than 700 peerreviewed articles have characterized performance of INVOS[™] systems in a wide range of clinical and experimental settings [8].

Three other cerebral oximeters have received FDA clearance. The CAS Medical (Branford, CT) Fore-Sight[®] uses four wavelengths of infrared light with single-site extra- and intracranial measurement to produce a differential rSO₂ signal [9]. Approximately 90 peer-reviewed articles have described device performance in a variety of clinical settings [10]. In addition, several studies have compared Fore-Sight[®] and INVOSTM performance [11–15]. In general, interdevice measurement disparities led the investigators to conclude that the rSO₂ values were device specific.

Nonin Inc., (Plymouth, MN) manufacturers the EquanOX® 7600 cerebral oximeter. The analytic approach resembles that of the CAS Fore-Sight® (i.e., four infrared wavelengths and single-site extra- and intracranial differential measurement). The optode contains two light sources, so that the resulting rSO₂ apparently represents an average from pairwise measurements in adjacent tissue samples [16]. About two dozen peer-reviewed articles describe device performance in various clinical settings [17]. The authors of a four-way comparison of INVOS™, Fore-Sight®, and EquanOX® (3- and 4-wavelength) devices concluded that the resultant rSO₂ values were not interchangeable [4]. This situation resembles the discrepant arterial oxygen saturation measurements that have been reported between on-site invasive co-oximetry and laboratory-based complete blood count analysis [18].

The OrNim Inc. (Los Gatos, CA) CerOx® measures brain or peripheral tissue regional oxygen saturation using a combination of multiple wavelength near-infrared light and phase-



© Somanetics Corporation

Fig. 12.1 The *shaded parabolas* illustrate the transcranial photon paths from a scalp-mounted infrared (IR) light source to adjacent proximal (shallow) and distal (deep) sensors. The photon paths depicted represent those used with spatially resolved spectroscopy. With this technique, photons arriving at the shallow and deep detectors are reflected by distinct regions of the cerebral cortical microcirculation. Ratios developed from the multi-site intracranial measurements enable suppression of both extracranial

modulated ultrasound [19]. Currently, there is one peer-reviewed article that characterizes its clinical performance [20]. Comparative studies with competing devices are unavailable.

Additional research instruments without FDA clearance include the (1) NIRO® 100, 200, and 300 (Hamamatsu Photonics KK, Hamamatsu City, Japan) [21], (2) Oxiplex® TSS (ISS, Champaign, IL) [22], and (3) O3® (Masimo, Irvine, CA) [23]. Their clinical application requires an FDA Investigational Device Exemption and/or an Institutional Review Board-approved research protocol with informed patient consent.

Transcranial NIRS Technology

Regional Cerebral Oxygen Saturation Measurement

With the exception of infants, brain mass is too large for transillumination, and as a result, NIRS in adults and children relies on reflectance spectroscopy. An optical electrode or optode, containing both near-infrared and infrared light sources as well as sensors to detect light reflected from reflection and interindividual variability in intracranial photon scatter. The commercial alternative of differential spectroscopy locates the shallow detector much closer to the IR source. As a result, incident photons arriving at this detector have been reflected exclusively from extracortical tissues. The differential shallow vs. deep signal suppresses extracranial reflection. Additional wavelengths of infrared light are used in an attempt to suppress intracranial photon scatter variation

the underlying tissue, is fixed on the calvarium. The optode is generally placed on glabrous skin to avoid contamination by environmental infrared light. Light-tight seals around the sensor(s) aid in artifact suppression. In the proximity of intense infrared sources, it may be necessary to drape the cranium with infrared-opaque material. Disposable optodes contain electroconductive material referenced to the instrument. These optodes should be isolated from electrophysiologic electrodes or ultrasound probes to prevent artifactual contamination or signal degradation.

Large, reusable optodes require fixation and mechanical stabilization with a strap or elastic band, whereas small disposable optodes rely on an adhesive patch that also serves as a light shield. Because of variations in anatomy, skull curvature, and the position of sinus cavities and surface blood vessels, accuracy may be compromised if disposable optodes are placed contrary to the manufacturer's instructions [24, 25]. In particular, placement over the sagittal sinus is potentially problematic due to the large amount of pooled venous blood found there and its confounding effects on photon absorption and scattering [24]. Furthermore, disposable optodes designed for adults should not be used on patients weighing less than 40 kg. Pediatric and neonatal optodes are available from some manufacturers for small patients. Regardless of the optode style, care must be taken to avoid excessive or prolonged compression of the underlying sensitive forehead or scalp tissue. The FDA-cleared optodes have a flat design to minimize tissue compression.

Manufacturers should provide convincing data that the device is actually capable of measuring cerebral as opposed to cranial hemoglobin [7]. Known changes in cerebral perfusion or oxygenation should be manifest by appropriate change in the intracranial oxygenation metric [7]. Evidence should verify that extracranial contamination does not substantially confound interpretation [6]. By measuring optical signals obtained from two detectors placed at different distances greater than 2 cm from the infrared source, oximsystems utilizing spatially resolved eter spectroscopy (i.e., INVOS™ and NIRO®) measure the slope of absorption change as a function of photon penetration depth. Their proprietary algorithms partially suppress the confounding influences of interindividual differences in intracranial photon path length and scattering [1].

FDA-cleared cerebral oximeters display rSO_2 trends as a function of time. Research devices may additionally provide estimates of change in the concentrations of oxy-, deoxy-, and total hemoglobin as well as parenchymal cytochrome aa₃. The trends of some devices represent moving averages, while others are a time series of discrete measures. Because smoothing can dramatically affect the responsiveness of the trends to important physiologic perturbations, the averaging time constant should be clearly described by the manufacturer and understood by the user.

Now it is not possible to directly confirm the accuracy of transcranial measurement of regional cerebral oxygen by an independent analytical method. The closest approximation to this goal has been the comparison with field saturation [5]. As with other neuromonitoring modalities, optimal recording technique dictates that a simple calibration method should be available to confirm that both the optode and recording electronics/software are functioning properly. Although some manufacturers currently provide a calibration device for their recording electronics, none is available for use with individual optodes.

Safety Considerations

Potential users of this technology should ensure that NIRS devices intended for clinical application successfully restrict environmental current flow to patient connections and between optodes. The low-intensity light sources used in these devices are similar to those found in pulse oximeters and do not appear to represent a safety hazard [25]. The higher powered laser light source used in the Ornim oximeter is rated as Class 1, meaning that there is no evidence that its use can lead to potential injury. With any of these devices, care must be taken to avoid undue pressure of the optode against the unprotected forehead or scalp, particularly in infants and young children. Some manufacturers recommend that the skin should be checked for irritation and sensors replaced daily.

Technical Considerations

Cerebral oximeters are relatively immune to motion and electrocautery interference that plague electrophysiologic and ultrasound measurements. The most troublesome artifacts for NIRS are environmental light contamination and light piping. Especially in infants, intense infrared light (i.e., heat source) can readily penetrate the skull opposite the optode and artifactually elevate reflected intracranial light by transillumination. An elevated extracranial signal may occur in adults through the use of a pulse oximeter probe placed on the nasal bridge or forehead, which illuminates the frontal sinuses with infrared light [26]. Contamination may also occur through light piping. Translucent material such as hair, perspiration beads, or moisture condensate in the proximity of the sensors can act as a conduit for environmental infrared light.

Although rSO₂ measurement is relatively insensitive to melanin and other normal skin pigments [27], anatomic anomalies or underlying pathology in darkly pigmented patients may have a confounding influence [28]. Systems utilizing two wavelengths cannot distinguish between normal and pathologic hemoglobin moieties. The presence of methemoglobin or other abnormal hemoglobins will result in a functional saturation measurement that can be quite different than the fractional measurement. Non-heme chromophores such as bilirubin and biliverdin [29, 30], as well as some intravascular dyes like indigo carmine and methylene blue [31], absorb photons and reduce signal intensity. In contrast, other dyes such as indocyanine green may falsely elevate rSO_2 values [32].

The intracranial presence of extravascular blood (i.e., hematoma or hemorrhage) within the frontal tissue sampled by the oximeter renders the rSO₂ estimate ambiguous [33]. A fundamental assumption of the computational algorithms used in several NIRS devices is that the infrared signal reflects exclusively intravascular hemoglobin. Mixture of this signal with that obtained from a stagnant pool of poorly or unoxygenated blood can result in uninterpretable values. This consideration also influences sensor placement. A midline locus should not be used in order to avoid placement over the sagittal sinus. A superior placement on the forehead also helps to avoid the frontal sinuses [26].

Placement directly over a metabolically inactive cortical infarct may result in indeterminate information because of the lack of oxygen extraction from sequestered venous blood. However, several recent studies have observed abnormally low rSO₂ values sampled from regions containing cerebral cortical infarction [34, 35]. Optode placement over regions of damaged or absent brain tissue (i.e., hemispherectomy) may result in spurious readings. In addition, a postcraniotomy metal plate implant obviously makes monitoring impossible. Conversely, the absence of frontal bone can result in overscaled reflected signals [36]. Skull defects and abnormal frontal sinus anatomy can often be identified simply through transillumination with a flashlight.

Limitations of Cerebral Oximetry

On the basis of current clinical literature and expert opinion, cerebral oximetry has some limitations as a monitoring tool. First, direct validation of the accuracy of rSO₂ currently is not possible because of the absence of true noninvasive measures of brain oxygen saturation and oxy- and deoxyhemoglobin and cytochrome aa₃ concentrations. Second, baseline brain oxygen saturation measurement appears to be influenced by sensor position on the forehead, and at present, sensor placement is limited to glabrous skin. Finally, because rSO₂ represents focal measurement of prefrontal cortex, regional hypoperfusion affecting large portions of the intracranial anterior or posterior circulations may be invisible to forehead sensors.

Rationale for Cerebral NIRS Monitoring

The generic rSO_2 trend measures change in regional cerebral microcirculatory oxygen supply balance. Currently, this information is not otherwise available in the perioperative or critical care settings. This NIRS technology can prove invaluable as an aid in interpreting electrophysiologic or cerebral hemodynamic data. Change in electrophysiologic signals indicates functional alteration in a specific neural pathway or region, but does not indicate the underlying cause or the most appropriate corrective action. Similarly, transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound documents change in blood flow velocity through the large basal cerebral arteries, but provides no information about the underlying functional status of the neural tissue at risk. In either case, concomitant rSO₂ monitoring aids in determining the:

- 1. Development of a potentially injurious oxygen imbalance
- 2. Nature of the imbalance
- 3. Potential appropriate corrective action
- 4. Patient response to intervention.

The INVOSTM-derived normative median rSO₂ for healthy adults, children, and neonates, respectively, are 65% [27], 71% [37], and 78% [38], whereas lower values have been described for adult (62%) [39], pediatric (60%) [40], and neonatal (67%) [41] patients with cardiac disease. Because rSO₂ reflects a composite of arterial and venous blood, normative values are higher than published values for jugular venous oxygen saturation (SjvO₂) ranges for both healthy adults [42] and cardiac surgery patients [43]. Although conscious baseline rSO₂ values appear to be device specific, currently only limited normative values are available for the other cerebral oximeters [9, 16].

Both noninvasive rSO_2 [44] and invasive brain field saturation [5] are associated with hemoglobin concentration and hematocrit. The relationships appear to be complex and nonlinear [45], such that rSO_2 is independent of hematocrit at fractions greater than 0.3 [46]. Thus, the apparent relationships between these measures and low hematocrit and [hemoglobin] seem to reflect inherent properties of cerebral oxygen saturation that occur with inadequate oxygen delivery.

Kishi et al. [44] observed in adolescent and adult patients that rSO_2 was significantly correlated with patient age. Yet, this apparent age-dependency may be simply a manifestation of underlying pathology (i.e., older patients tend to have more disease and dysfunction). A study by Baikoussis et al. [45] involving adult and geriatric patients supports this interpretation.

This study also documented close interhemispheric agreement in preanesthetic baseline rSO_2 measurements. In contrast, marked asymmetry is the rule with SjvO₂. Indeed, SjvO₂ right-left asymmetry greater than 10% has been reported to occur in two thirds of patients [46].

In a cohort of more than 2097 adult cardiac surgery patients, INVOSTM preoperative rSO_2 values less than 60% were associated with increased risk of morbidity and mortality [47]. A similar study involving 1178 patients found even greater risk with rSO₂ baseline below 50% [39]. Subnormal intraoperative rSO_2 is associated with

heightened risk of postoperative delirium and neurocognitive dysfunction [48–53].

Despite the establishment of normative absolute rSO_2 values, it should be appreciated that the number represents exclusively a measure of highly regional intracranial hemoglobin saturation. Individualized static baseline rSO_2 values correlate with cardiac function. However, these static values do not necessarily provide direct information about cerebral well-being [54, 55].

Thus, values within the normative range may be obtained from patients with cerebral infarction or brain death [56]. Cadaveric rSO₂ values may also lie within the normative range [57] because postmortem cerebral venous oxygen saturation ranges between 5 and 95%, depending on the cause of death and body storage conditions [58]. Because both the pulse and cerebral oximeters are functionally spectrophotometers, they may generate normative saturation values from illumination of chromophore-containing inanimate objects (i.e., pumpkins) [59].

Preoperative Factors

Interpretation of the clinical significance of cerebral dysoxygenation during surgery or critical care is heavily influenced by underlying patient pathophysiology. There are a number of preexisting factors that affect both the static rSO₂ value and its dynamic response to physiologic change. These factors involve primarily influences on oxygen delivery. Thus, patients with chronic hypertension or diabetes mellitus may have impaired cerebral pressure autoregulation. In such cases, oxygen delivery may be transiently impaired by orthostasis or other positional change. Delivery may also be impaired through vascular stenosis, cardiac dysfunction with low cardiac output, anemia, pulmonary dysfunction, or right heart/pulmonary artery congenital anomalies [60]. These various disorders explain, in part, the wide range of baseline values observed in awake surgical patients prior to preoxygenation.

Systemic Arterial Pressure

The principle of cerebral autoregulation states that cerebral perfusion (i.e., oxygen delivery) is independent of mean systemic arterial pressure over a wide range (i.e., 50-150 mmHg). In healthy individuals, profound hypotension is required to significantly reduce oxygen delivery with a concomitant rSO_2 decrease. However, even a small pressure decrease within the normal autoregulatory range may result in rSO₂ decline if autoregulation is diminished or entirely absent [8]. Cerebrovascular insufficiency from dysautoregulation may be secondary to a preexisting pathology (e.g., stroke) or be iatrogenically induced during surgery (e.g., volatile anesthetics, nonpulsatile perfusion, hypocapnia, hypothermia) [61]. Recently, reports have described the benefit of cerebral oximetry in the detection of position-related cerebral hypoperfusion while systemic arterial pressure remained within the normally acceptable range [62]. Availability of the arterial pressure trend is essential for interpretation of rSO₂ change.

Systemic Arterial Oxygenation

Delivery of oxygen to the brain depends, in part, on the relative concentration of oxygenated hemoglobin in the arterial blood. An inadequate oxygen supply will thus eventually result in decreased arterial oxygen saturation. However, because systemic oxygen reserves far exceed those of the metabolically active healthy brain [63], a venous-dominant rSO₂ decrease will often precede systemic arterial oxygen desaturation [64].

Oxygen delivery also depends on the availability of hemoglobin. Blood loss or hemodilution can result in an insufficient supply of oxygen to meet brain demands, even though the cerebral perfusion pressure, flow, and arterial oxygen saturation are within normal limits [8]. It is essential to note any marked change in hemoglobin that may accompany sudden rSO₂ changes [65]. Because of the sensitivity of rSO₂ as a measure of inadequate hemoglobin concentration, it has been proposed as a factor to be considered in determining transfusion triggers [66].

Systemic Arterial CO₂ and pH

Normally, cerebral arteries are exquisitely sensitive to hydrogen ion shifts and thus to CO_2 changes. For example, middle cerebral artery flow velocity typically changes approximately 4% for each 1 mmHg change in the arterial CO_2 partial pressure [67]. This vasomotor reactivity (VMR) may be alternatively measured with cerebral oximetry. INVOSTM-determined normal VMR has been defined as approximately 1% rSO₂ change for each 1 mmHg CO₂ change [68]. Because hyper- and hypocapnea have profound effects on normally reactive cerebral arteries, an end-tidal or arterial carbon dioxide trend may be invaluable in the interpretation of rSO₂ changes.

With rising arterial CO_2 tension, the absence of a parallel rSO₂ increase suggests impairment of both cerebral VMR and autoregulation. Furthermore, an interhemispheric VMR asymmetry warns of a possible vasculopathy (i.e., intracranial stenosis or silent infarct). Anesthesia providers armed with this information may optimize perfusion management to maintain cerebral perfusion in both hemispheres [68].

Cerebral Blood Flow Obstruction

Systemic arterial pressure reflects perfusion at sites distant from the head. Obstruction to one or more vessels carrying blood to the brain may result in a profound decrease in regional cerebral oxygen delivery without altering either systemic pressure or oxygenation. For example, with bilateral carotid disease and an incomplete circle of Willis, head rotation may obstruct flow by vertebral artery compression [69]. Of course, mechanical carotid occlusion for endarterectomy may produce regional ischemia in the absence of a functionally intact collateral perfusion [70]. Alternatively, during cardiopulmonary bypass, a malpositioned aortic cannula or balloon occluder may block flow to a critical head vessel [71]. Continuous delivery of oxygen to the brain is impeded if venous outflow is compromised (i.e., edema or malpositioned caval cannula). Such obstruction will decrease rSO_2 [72].

Temperature

Changes in rSO₂ cannot be fully understood without knowledge of the cranial temperature fluctuations. Cooling is used for neuroprotection during surgery requiring circulatory arrest because hypothermia, in part, decreases brain oxygen requirement. Thus, during cooling, a nonlinear rSO₂ rise indicative of cerebral hyperoxia may occur despite a decline in cerebral blood flow [69]. Because the magnitude of hypothermic reduction in cerebral oxygen demand varies markedly among individuals, monitoring of cerebral oxygen balance helps to determine the optimal temperature for circulatory arrest. With progressive cooling, rSO₂ typically reaches a plateau with cortical synaptic quiescence (i.e., flat-line EEG) [69]. During rewarming, cerebral blood flow may fall relative to metabolism due, in part, to a cold-induced vasoparesis [73]. The severity of the potentially injurious flowmetabolism mismatch (i.e., vasoneural uncoupling) is manifested by a proportionate rSO₂ decrease [74].

Anesthetic Adequacy

Approximately 60% of cerebral oxygen consumption is spent on interneuronal communication [75]. Therefore, rSO_2 is influenced by the choice of anesthetic agent and resulting magnitude of cerebrocortical synaptic depression. Agents such as the opioids exert much of their action at subcortical sites. With these agents, rSO₂ may remain relatively unchanged over a wide dose range. Alternatively, the volatile halogenated agents, propofol and barbiturate hypnotics can virtually eliminate interneuronal signaling (i.e., flat-line EEG). This metabolic suppression typically results in rSO₂ increase [76]. Similarly, inadequate anesthetic may lead to increased oxygen consumption in the waking brain accompanied by rSO₂ decrease. Therefore, intraoperative interpretation of rSO₂ is aided by an objective, quantifiable measure of cerebrocortical synaptic activity (i.e., hypnotic adequacy).

Seizure Activity

With intact vasoneural coupling, increased neural activity produces cerebral blood flow increases that are far larger than associated local metabolic increases [77]. Because this hemodynamic response has variable onset and duration, intermittent activation leads to complex oscillations in hemoglobin saturation, causing a transient rise in the venous-dominant rSO₂ measurement [78]. Based on this phenomenon, a rapidly oscillating rSO₂ trend has been used to detect suspected seizure activity in chemically paralyzed, ventilated patients [77, 78]. This situation is not uncommon, since subclinical seizures are thought to occur in up to one quarter of neurocritical care patients [79].

Supplemental Cerebral Perfusion

For surgery requiring hypothermic circulatory arrest, supplemental cerebral perfusion (SCP), both antegrade (ACP) and retrograde (RCP), appear to provide added neuroprotection [80]. Despite the widespread use of these techniques, optimal management procedures have not been established and vary widely among institutions. Cerebral oximetry has aided management in several important ways. First, it identifies an SCP requirement. As the hypothermia-elevated rSO₂ declines toward a predetermined oxygen debt threshold [81], it warns the surgical team of the impending need to initiate SCP. Second, the rSO₂ trend provides direct objective evidence that cerebral perfusion actually has been established and is appropriate to avoid either hypo- or hyperperfusion [82]. Absent this evidence, one is typically forced to rely on an unjustified assumption of SCP flow adequacy. The evidence vs. assumption dichotomy may help explain the wide range of published RCP clinical experiences, since many lack either rSO₂ or ultrasonic evidence of retrograde blood flow.

Case reports have documented rapid rSO_2 detection of ACP hemispheric flow asymmetry due to perfusion cannula malposition [83], or an

incomplete circle of Willis [82]. Neither of these events is rare [84, 85]. The recent study of Senanayake et al. [86] illustrates the potential clinical value of rSO_2 guidance for SCP management. They found in a series of 27 adult ACPsupported aortic arch repairs that by maintaining rSO_2 at baseline level, postoperative neurodeficit could be completely avoided.

Rationale for Peri-spinal NIRS Monitoring

Recently, a custom-built NIRS optode and an indocyanine green tracer technique were used to validate translaminar peri-spinal oxygen saturation (SsO_2) . The neuromonitoring technique demonstrated both local blood flow autoregulation and CO_2 reactivity [87]. SsO₂ monitoring has been achieved by placing FDA-cleared optodes designed for adult transcranial tissue oximetry over the lower thoracic and upper lumbar spine. Badner et al. [88] described the application in two thoracic aortic aneurysm endovascular repairs. In the first, thoracic sensor SsO_2 decline was corrected with mean arterial pressure (MAP) increase and cerebral spinal fluid (CSF) drainage. In the second, an uncorrectable SsO_2 decline of greater than 50 % followed deployment of a thoracic endograft and presaged postoperative paraplegia. A contemporaneous case report examined the SsO₂ vs. MAP relationships before and after deployment of an arch endograft [89]. Postoperatively, SsO₂-guided blood pressure management until autoregulation eventually returned. This observation suggests that SsO₂ monitoring may offer insight into the genesis and prevention of delayed spinal cord ischemic injury. The SsO₂ aortic endograft experience has also been replicated in open thoracoabdominal aneurysm repair [90]. In this clinical population, Etz et al. [91] performed a pilot study using commercial optodes placed bilaterally over lower thoracic and upper lumbar paraspinous vascular collateral networks (CNs) [91]. Declines in lumbar CN oxygenation appeared to be directly linked to aortic perfusion compromise.

Conclusions

Despite the absence of multiple, positive, largesample, prospective randomized outcome studies, cerebral oximeters are now installed in the majority of institutions performing adult and/or pediatric cardiac surgery [92]. Yet, a clear consensus on the optimal utilization of this technology by anesthesia providers remains elusive [92–96]. A recent survey highlights the clinical uncertainty [96]. Survey authors attributed the uncertainty to a dearth of both large, randomized clinical trials and nonproprietary educational and training programs and products.

References¹

- Ferrari M, Quaresima V. Near-infrared brain and muscle oximetry: from the discovery to current applications. J Near Infrared Spectrosc. 2012;20:1–14.
- Huppert TJ, Hoge RD, Diamond SC, et al. A temporal comparison of BOLD, ASL and NIRS hemodynamic responses to motor stimuli in adult humans. NeuroImage. 2006;29:368–82.
- Ferrari M, Quaresima V. A brief review on the history of human functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) development and fields of application. NeuroImage. 2012;63:921–35.
- *Bickler PE, Feiner JR, Rollins MD. Factors affecting the performance of 5 cerebral oximeters during hypoxia in healthy volunteers. Anesth Analg. 2013;117:813–23. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24023027.
- Kim MB, Ward DS, Cartwright CR, Kolano J, Chlebowski S, Henson LC. Estimation of jugular venous O₂ saturation from cerebral oximetry or arterial O₂ saturation during isocapnic hypoxia. J Clin Monit. 2000;16:191–9.
- Sørensen H, Rasmussen P, Sato K, Persson S, Olesen ND, Nielsen HB, et al. External carotid artery flow maintains near infrared spectroscopy-determined frontal lobe oxygenation during ephedrine administration. Br J Anesthesiol. 2014;113:452–8.
- Sørensen H, Rasmussen P, Siebenmann ZM, Hvidtfeldt M, Ogoh S, et al. Extra-cerebral oxygenation influence on near-infrared-spectroscopy-determined frontal lobe oxygenation in healthy volunteers: a comparison between INVOS-4100 and NIRO-200NX. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging. 2015;35:177–84.
- *Scott JP, Hoffman GM. Near-infrared spectroscopy: exposing the dark (venous) side of the circulation.

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24:74–88. https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24267637.

- Ikeda K, MacLeod DB, Grocott HP, Moretti EW, Ames W, Vacchiano C. The accuracy of a nearinfrared spectroscopy cerebral oximetry device and its potential value for estimating jugular venous oxygen saturation. Anesth Analg. 2014;119:1381–92.
- Koh JL, Levin SD, Chehab EL, Murphy GS. Cerebral oxygenation in the beach chair position: a prospective study on the effect of general anesthesia compared with regional anesthesia and sedation. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2013;22:1325–31.
- Moerman A, De Hert S. Are cerebral oximeters designed to measure ambient light? Br J Anaesthesiol. 2011;106:753–5 [letter].
- Davie SN, Grocott HP. Impact of extracranial contamination on regional cerebral oxygen saturation. Anesthesiology. 2012;116:834–40.
- Closhen D, Berres M, Werner C, Engelhard K, Schramm P. Influence of beach chair position on cerebral oxygen saturation: a comparison of INVOS and Fore-Sight cerebral oximeter. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2013;25:414–9.
- Sørensen H, Secher NH, Siebenmann C, et al. Desaturation with norepinephrine administration may be device manufacturer specific. Anesthesiology. 2013;118:982 [letter].
- 15. Moerman A, Vandenplas G, Bové T, Wouters PF, De Hert SG. Relation between mixed venous oxygen saturation and cerebral oxygen saturation measured by absolute and relative near-infrared spectroscopy during off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting. Br J Anaesth. 2013;110:258–65.
- MacLeod DB, Ikeda K, Vacchiano C, Lobbestael A, Wahr JA, Shaw AD. Development and validation of a cerebral oximeter capable of absolute accuracy. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2012;26:1007–14.
- Apostolidou I, Morissette G, Sarwar MF, Konia MR, Kshettry VR, Wahr JA, et al. Cerebral oximetry during cardiac surgery: the association between cerebral oxygen saturation and perioperative patient variables. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2012;26:1015–21.
- Carabini LM, Navarre WJ, Ault ML, Bebawy JF, Gupta DK. A comparison of hemoglobin measured by co-oximetry and central laboratory during major spine fusion surgery. Anesth Analg. 2015;120:60–5.
- Racheli N, Ron A, Metzger Y, et al. Non-invasive blood flow measurements using ultrasound-modulated diffused light. Proc SPIE. 2012;8223:82232A.
- Rosenthal G, Furmanov A, Itshayek E, Shoshan Y, Singh V. Assessment of a noninvasive cerebral oxygenation monitor in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. J Neurosurg. 2014;120:901–7.
- Perrera T, Lewis PM, Davidson AJ, Junor P, Bottrell S. A pilot study to determine whether visually evoked hemodynamic responses are preserved in children during inhalational anesthesia. Pediatr Anesth. 2015;25:317–26.
- 22. Meng L, Gelb AW, McDonagh DL. Changes in cerebral tissue oxygen saturation during anaesthetic-

induced hypotension; an interpretation based on neurovascular coupling and cerebral autoregulation. Anaesthesia. 2013;68:736–41.

- 23. Redford D, Paidy S, Kashif F. Absolute and trend accuracy of a new regional oximeter in healthy volunteers during controlled hypoxia. Anesth Analg. 2014;119:1315–9.
- 24. Okada E, Yamamoto D, Kiryu N, Katagiri A, Yokose N, Awano T, et al. Theoretical and experimental investigation of the influence of frontal sinus on the sensitivity of the NIRS signal in the adult head. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2010;662:231–6.
- Bozkurt A, Onaral B. Safety assessment of nearinfrared light emitting diodes for diffuse optical measurements. Biomed Eng Online. 2004;3:9–18.
- 26. Kurihara K, Kawaguchi H, Obata T, Ito H, Sakatani K, Okada E. The influence of frontal sinus in brain activation measurements by near-infrared spectros-copy analyzed by realistic head models. Biomed Opt Express. 2012;3:2121–30.
- Booth EA, Kukatz C, Ausman J, Wider M. Cerebral and somatic venous oximetry in adults and infants. Surg Neurol Int. 2010;1:75–80.
- Sun X, Ellis J, Corso PJ, Hill PC, Chen F, Lindsay J. Skin pigmentation interferes with the clinical measurement of regional cerebral oxygen saturation. Br J Anaesth. 2015;114:276–80.
- 29. Jun I-G, Shin W-J, Park Y-S, Song JG, Kim YK, Hwang GS, et al. Factors affecting intraoperative changes in regional cerebral oxygen saturation in patients undergoing liver transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2013;45:245–50.
- 30. Song JG, Jeong SM, Shin WJ, Jun IG, Shin K, Huh IY, et al. Laboratory variables associated with low near-infrared cerebral oxygen saturation in icteric patients before liver transplantation surgery. Anesth Analg. 2011;112:1347–52.
- Ishiyama T, Kotoda M, Asano N, Ikemoto K, Mitsui K, Sato H, et al. The effects of patent blue dye on peripheral and cerebral oxyhaemoglobin saturations. Anaesthesia. 2015;70:429–33.
- 32. Yoo KY, Baek HY, Jeong S, Hallacoglu B, Lee J. Intravenously administered indocyanine green may cause falsely high near-infrared cerebral oximetry readings. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2015;27:57–60.
- 33. Shafer R, Brown A, Taylor C. Correlation between cerebral blood flow and oxygen saturation in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage and traumatic brain injury. J NeurointervSurg. 2011;3:395–8.
- 34. Bösel J, Purrecker JC, Nowak F, Renzland J, Schiller P, Pérez EB, et al. Volatile isoflurane sedation in cerebrovascular intensive care patients using AnaConDa®: effects on cerebral oxygenation, circulation, and pressure. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38:1955–64.
- 35. Aries MJH, Coumou AD, Elting JWJ, van der Harst JJ, Kremer BP, Vroomen PC. Near infrared spectroscopy for the detection of desaturations in vulnerable ischemic brain tissue. Stroke. 2012;43:1134–6.
- 36. Sehic A, Thomas MH. Cerebral oximetry during carotid endarterectomy: signal failure resulting from

large frontal sinus defect. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2000;14:444–6.

- Rao RP, Danduran MJ, Dixon JE, Frommelt PC, Berger S, Zangwill SD. Near-infrared spectroscopy: guided tilt-table testing for syncope. Pediatr Cardiol. 2010;31:208–14.
- Bernal NP, Hoffman GM, Ghanayem NS, Arca MJ. Cerebral and somatic near-infrared spectroscopy in normal newborns. J Pediatr Surg. 2010;45: 1306–10.
- Heringlake M, Garbers C, Käbler J-H, Anderson I, Heinze H, Schön J. Preoperative cerebral oxygen saturation and clinical outcomes in cardiac surgery. Anesthesiology. 2011;114:58–69.
- 40. Abdul-Khaliq H, Troitzsch D, Berger F, Lange PE. Comparison of regional transcranial oximetry with near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) and jugular venous bulb oxygen saturation for the monitoring of cerebral oxygenation in infants and children. Biomed Tech (Berl). 2000;45:328–35.
- 41. Hoffman GM, Brosig CL, Mussatto KA, Tweddell JS, Ghanayem NS. Perioperative cerebral oxygen saturation in neonates with hypoplastic left heart syndrome and childhood neurodevelopmental outcome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2013;146:1153–64.
- Chieregato A, Calzolari F, Trasforini G, Targa L, Latronico N. Normal jugular bulb oxygen saturation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74:784–6.
- 43. Diephuis JC, Moons KGM, Nierich AN, Bruens M, van Dijk D, Kalkman CJ. Jugular bulb desaturation during coronary artery surgery: a comparison of off-pump and on-pump procedures. Br J Anaesth. 2005;94:715–20.
- 44. Kishi K, Kawaguchi M, Yoshitani K, Nagahata T, Furuya H. Influence of patient variables and sensor location on regional cerebral oxygen saturation measured by INVOS 4100 near-infrared spectrophotometers. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2003;15:302–6.
- 45. Baikoussis NG, Karanikolas M, Siminelakis S, Matsagas M, Papadopoulos G. Baseline cerebral oximetry values in cardiac and vascular surgery patients: a prospective observational study. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2010;5:41–6.
- 46. Stocchetti N, Pararella A, Bridelli F, Bacchi M, Piazza P, Zuccoli P. Cerebral venous oxygen saturation studied with bilateral samples in the internal jugular veins. Neurosurgery. 1994;34:38–44.
- 47. Sun X, Ellis J, Corso PJ, Hill PC, Lowery R, Chen F, Lindsay J. Mortality predicted by preinduction cerebral oxygen saturation after cardiac operation. Ann Thorac Surg. 2014;98:91–6.
- 48. Schoen J, Husemann L, Tiemeyer C, Lueloh A, Sedemund-Adib B, Berger KU, et al. Cognitive function after sevoflurane- vs. propofol-based anaesthesia for on-pump cardiac surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Br J Anaesth. 2011;106:840–50.
- 49. de Tournay-Jette E, Dupis G, Bherer L, Deschamps A, Cartier R, Denault A. The relationship between cerebral oxygen saturation changes and postoperative cognitive dysfunction in elderly patients after coro-

nary artery bypass graft surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2011;25:95–104.

- 50. Palmbergen WAC, van Sonderen A, Keyhan-Falsafi AM, Keunen RW, Wolterbeek R. Improved perioperative neurological monitoring of coronary artery bypass graft patients reduces the incidence of postoperative delirium: the Haga Brain Care strategy. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2012;15:671–7.
- 51. Lin PY, Zhang F, Xue Q, Yu B. Accuracy of regional cerebral oxygen saturation in predicting postoperative cognitive dysfunction after total hip arthroplasty: regional cerebral oxygen saturation predicts POCD. J Arthroplast. 2013;28:494–7.
- 52. Demir G, Çukurova Z, Eren G, Hergünsel O. Comparison of the effects of on-pump and offpump coronary artery bypass surgery on cerebral oxygen saturation using near-infrared spectroscopy. Korean J Anesthesiol. 2014;67:391–7.
- 53. Salazar F, Doñate M, Boget T, Bogdanovich A, Basora M, Torres F, et al. Relationship between intraoperative regional cerebral oxygen saturation trends and cognitive decline after total knee replacement: a posthoc analysis. BMC Anesthesiol. 2014;14:58.
- 54. Paquet C, Deschamps A, Denault AY, Couture P, Carrier M, Babin D, et al. Baseline regional cerebral oxygen saturation correlates with left ventricular systolic and diastolic function. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2008;22:840–6.
- 55. Skhirtladze K, Birkenberg B, Mora B, Moritz A, Ince I, Ankersmit HJ, et al. Cerebral desaturation during cardiac arrest: its relation to arrest duration and left ventricular pump function. Crit Care Med. 2009;37:471–5.
- 56. Kytta J, Ohman J, Tanskanen P, Randell T. Extracranial contribution to cerebral oximetry in brain dead patients: a report of six cases. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1999;11:252–4.
- Schwarz G, Litcher G, Kleinert R, Kleinert R, Jobstmann R. Cerebral oximetry in dead subjects. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1996;8:189–93.
- Maeda H, Fukita K, Oritani S, Ishida K, Zhu BL. Evaluation of post-mortem oxymetry with reference to the causes of death. Forensic Sci Int. 1997;87:201–10.
- 59. Litscher G, Schwarz G. Transcranial cerebral oximetry—is it clinically useless at this moment to interpret absolute values obtained by the INVOS 3100 cerebral oximeter? Biomed Tech (Berl). 1997;42:74–7.
- 60. Roh Y-J, Choi J-W, Suh J-H, Shim JY, Choi IC. Correlation between pre-operative brain magnetic resonance angiography findings and intra-operative cerebral oxygen saturation during coronary artery bypass graft surgery. J Int Med Res. 2009;37:1772–9.
- 61. Ono M, Brady K, Easley RB, Brown C, Kraut M, Gottesman RF, Hogue Jr CW. Duration and magnitude of blood pressure below cerebral autoregulation threshold during cardiopulmonary bypass is associated with major morbidity and operative mortality. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2014;147:483–9.
- 62. Moerman AT, De Hert SG, Jacobs TF, De Wilde LF, Wouters PF. Cerebral oxygen desaturation during

beach chair position. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2012;29:82–7.

- Brown MM, Wade JPH, Marshall J. Fundamental importance of arterial oxygen content in the regulation of cerebral blood flow in man. Brain. 1985;108:81–93.
- Suehiro K, Okutai R. Cerebral desaturation during single-lung ventilation is negatively correlated with preoperative respiratory functions. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2011;25:127–30.
- 65. Cem A, Serpil UO, Fevzi T, Murat O, Umit G, Esin E, Pinar U, et al. Efficacy of near-infrared spectrometry for monitoring the cerebral effects of severe dilutional anemia. Heart Surg Forum. 2014;17:E154–9.
- 66. Bashir Z, Haynes S, Sandbach P, Calderwood R, McCollum C, Thorniley M. Cerebral oxygen saturation measurements in red cell transfusion. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2012;737:51–6.
- 67. Hancock SM, Mahajan RP, Athanassiou L. Noninvasive estimation of cerebral perfusion presure and zero flow pressure in healthy volunteers: the effects of changes in end-tidal carbon dioxide. Anesth Analg. 2003;96:847–51.
- Aritürk C, Okten M, Ozgen Z, Erkek E, Uysal P, Gullu U, et al. Utility of cerebral oxymetry for assessing cerebral arteriolar carbon dioxide reactivity during cardiopulmonary bypass. Heart Surg Forum. 2014;17:E169–72.
- Edmonds Jr HL, Ganzel BL, Austin III EH. Cerebral oximetry for cardiac and vascular surgery. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2004;8:147–66.
- Mortiz S, Schmidt C, Bucher M, Wiesenack C, Zimmermann M, Schebesch KM, et al. Neuromonitoring in carotid surgery: are the results obtained in awake patients transferable to patients under sevoflurane/fentanyl anesthesia? J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2010;22:288–95.
- Chan SKC, Underwood MJ, Ho AM, So JM, Ho AK, Wan IY, Wong RH. Cannula malposition during antegrade cerebral perfusion for aortic surgery: role of cerebral oximetry. Can J Anesth. 2014;61:736–40.
- Vernick WJ, Oware A. Early diagnosis of superior vena cava obstruction facilitated by the use of cerebral oximetry. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2011;25:1101–3.
- Gugino LD, Aglio LS, Edmonds Jr HL. Neurophysiological monitoring in vascular surgery. Bailliere's Clin Anaesthesiol. 2000;14:17–62.
- 74. Ono M, Joshi B, Brady K, Easley RB, Zheng Y, Brown C, et al. Risks for impaired cerebral autoregulation during cardiopulmonary bypass and postopeative stroke. Br J Anaesthesiol. 2012;109:391–8.
- Patel PM, Drummond JC, Lemkuil BP. Cerebral physiology and effects of anesthetics and techniques. In: Miller RD, editor. Miller's anesthesia. 8th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2015. p. 387–422.
- Fassoulaki A, Kaliontzi H, Petropoulos G, Tsaroucha A. The effect of desflurane and sevoflurane on cerebral oximetry under steady-state conditions. Anesth Analg. 2006;102:1830–5.
- 77. Hoge RD, Atkinson J, Gill B, Crelier GR, Marrett S, Pike GB. Linear coupling between cerebral blood

flow and oxygen consumption in activated human cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;96:9403–8.

- Diaz GA, Cesaron E, Alfonso I, Dunoyer C, Yaylali I. Near infrared spectroscopy in the management of status epilepticus in a young infant. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2006;10:19–21.
- Vespa PM, Nenov V, Nuwer MR. Continuous EEG monitoring in the intensive care unit: early findings and clinical efficacy. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1999;16:1–13.
- Williams ML, Ganzel BL, Slater AD, Slaughter MS, Trivedi JR, Edmonds HL, Pagni SA. Antegrade versus retrograde cerebral protection in repair of acute ascending aortic dissection. Am Surg. 2012;78:349–51.
- Fischer GW, Lin HM, Krol M, Galati MF, Di Luozzo G, Griepp RB, Reich DL. Noninvasive cerebral oxygenation may predict outcome in patients undergoing aortic arch surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2011;141:815–21.
- 82. Harrer M, Waldenberger FR, Weiss G, Folkmann S, Gorlitzer M, Moidl R, Grabenwoeger M. Aortic arch surgery using bilateral antegrade selective cerebral perfusion in combination with near-infrared spectroscopy. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2010;38:561–9.
- 83. Agostini M, De Gregorio V, Bertora M, Avallato C, Locatelli A. Near-infrared spectroscopy-detected cerebral ischemia resolved by cannulation of an axillo-femoral graft during surgical repair of type A aortic dissection. Heart Surg Forum. 2012;15:E221–3.
- Orihashi K, Sueda T, Okada K, Imai K. Malposition of selective cerebral perfusion catheter is not a rare event. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2005;27:644–8.
- Merkkola P, Tulla H, Ronkainen A, Soppi V, Oksala A, Koivisto T, Hippeläinen M. Incomplete circle of Willis and right axillary artery perfusion. Ann Thorac Surg. 2006;82:74–9.
- Senanayake E, Komber M, Nassef A, Massey N, Cooper G. Near-infrared spectroscopy monitoring with antegrade cerebral perfusion during aortic surgery. J Card Surg. 2012;27:211–6.
- 87. Amiri AR, Lee CH, Leung TS, Hetreed M, Craggs MD, Casey AT. Intraoperative assessment of human spinal cord perfusion using near infrared spectroscopy with indocyanine green tracer technique. Spine J. 2013;13:1818–25.
- Badner NH, Nicolaou G, Clarke CF, Forbes TL. Use of spinal near-infrared spectroscopy for monitoring spinal cord perfusion during endovascular thoracic aortic repairs. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2011;25:316–9.
- 89. Moerman A, Van Herzeele I, Vanpeteghem C, Vermassen F, François K, Wouters P. Near-infrared spectroscopy for monitoring spinal cord ischemia during hybrid thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair. J Endovasc Ther. 2011;18:91–5.
- Demir A, Erdemli Ö, Ünal U, Taşoğlu İ. Near-infrared spectroscopy monitoring of the spinal cord during Type B aortic dissection surgery. J Card Surg. 2013;28:291–4.
- Etz CD, van Asspern K, Gudehus S, Luehr M, Girrbach FF, Ender J, et al. Near-infrared spectroscopy monitoring of the collateral network prior to, during, and after thoracoabdominal aortic repair: a pilot study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2013;46:651–6.

- Edmonds HL Jr. 2010 standard of care for central nervous system monitoring during cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2010;24:541–3 [editorial].
- 93. *Vretzakis G, Georgopoulou S, Stamoulis K, Stamatiou G, Tsakiridis K, Zarogoulidis P, et al. Cerebral oximetry in cardiac anesthesia. J Thorac Dis. 2014;6 (Suppl 1):S60–9. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/24672700.
- 94. *[No authors listed]. The cerebral oximetry marketplace. What's available and which features matter. Health Dev. 2013;42:394–406. https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/24482860.
- *Mahal I, Davbie SN, Grocott HP. Cerebral oximetry and thoracic surgery. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2014;27:21–7. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24263686.
- 96. Zacharias DG, Lilly K, Shaw CL, Pirundini P, Rizzo RJ, Body SC, Longford NT. Survey of the clinical assessment and utility of near-infrared cerebral oximetry in cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2014;28:308–16.

Questions

With each of the following questions, choose the single best response.

- 1. Which of the following conditions may confound rSO₂ measurement and interpretation?
 - a. Skin hyperpigmentation
 - b. Skull defects
 - c. Cortical infarcts
 - d. All of the above.
- 2. Which of the following statements regarding rSO₂ and arterial blood pressure are correct?
 - a. In the autoregulatory range, rSO₂ is independent of blood pressure.
 - b. Below the autoregulatory range, rSO_2 is inversely related to blood pressure.
 - c. Position-related rSO₂ declines are prevented when blood pressure is maintained within the normal autoregulatory range.
 - d. All of the above.

- 3. During the induction of deep hypothermia:
 - a. There is an inverse linear relationship between nasopharyngeal temperature and rSO₂.
 - b. The nonlinear rSO₂ increase reaches a plateau with cortical synaptic quiescence.
 - c. Cooling consistently produces a predictable decline in brain oxygen demand.
 - d. None of the above.
- 4. An abnormally low baseline rSO₂ may be due to:
 - a. Cardiac dysfunction
 - b. Anemia
 - c. Pulmonary dysfunction
 - d. All of the above.
- 5. When measuring cerebral vasomotor reactivity (VMR) with cerebral oximetry,
 - A normal response is defined as a 4% rSO₂ change/1 mmHg PaCO₂.
 - b. It is unnecessary to monitor both hemispheres.
 - c. A normal rSO₂ response suggests intact autoregulation.
 - d. None of the above.

Answers

- 1. D
- 2. A
- 3. B
- 4. D
- 5. C

Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound

13

Harvey L. Edmonds Jr.

Key Learning Points

- TCD measures:
 - Cerebral blood flow direction, velocity, and pulsatility within large arteries and veins
 - Cerebral autoregulation
 - Vasomotor reactivity
 - Neurovascular coupling
 - Embolization
- TCD blood flow-velocity changes reflect flow changes if vessel diameter and blood viscosity remain constant.
- High-intensity transient signals (HITS) provide a semiquantitative TCD embolization estimate within a specified cerebral artery.
- The quality of TCD measurements is userdependent and based on sonographer training, skill, experience, and practice.
- Cranial hyperostosis and cerebrovascular pathology may preclude TCD measure in nearly one quarter of adult patients.

Introduction

The purpose of perioperative and critical care transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasonographic monitoring is to assess cerebral perfusion *change*. This is accomplished through noninvasive continuous measurement of blood flow-velocity within the largest intracranial blood vessels. Because normative velocity values may vary widely, the primary monitoring objective generally is the trending of relative velocity. Changes in blood flow and flow-velocity are proportional as long as blood viscosity and vessel diameter remain constant [1].

Technology

Principles of TCD Measurement

Nearly four decades ago, it was first observed that \sim 2 MHz ultrasound waves often could penetrate the thin temporal bone of the adult human skull and insonate the large, basal intracranial arteries and veins. This finding led to development of the first commercial TCD ultrasonographs. Despite significant improvements, current TCD monitors share basic features common with the original devices (Fig. 13.1). The basic TCD examination and monitoring techniques have been recently reviewed [2, 3]. Scalp-mounted probes, containing

H.L. Edmonds Jr., Ph.D. (🖂)

Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, University of Louisville School of Medicine, 830 Huntington Road, Louisville, KY 40207-3633, USA e-mail: lharvo@louisville.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 A. Koht et al. (eds.), *Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists* and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_13



Fig. 13.1 The drawing at the left depicts the transtemporal insonation of the M1 segment of the left middle cerebral artery (MCA) at a depth (i.e., distance) of 55 mm from the ultrasound probe face. Note that at more shallow depths, only MCA branches are generally accessible by the ultrasound beam. On the right is shown a single-depth Doppler spectral trend display in the upper half of the monitor image. The horizontal axis is time, here representing eight cardiac cycles. The vertical axis is instantaneous blood flow-velocity. By convention, positive values

indicate blood flow directed toward the probe. The graytone scale at the right shows the variation in signal intensity occurring through a cross-section of the insonated artery. Below is the power M-mode Doppler display. Here, the vertical axis indicates depth. The *wide horizontal light*-colored band depicts the velocity of probedirected blood flow through the entire MCA linear segment. The *thin horizontal white line* shows the specific depth from which the above spectral display was derived

both an oscillating piezoelectric crystal and a microphone, generate the high-frequency sound and record its echoes. Blood flow direction and velocity of the echogenic erythrocytes are determined through the use of pulsatile sound and calculation of the Doppler-shift frequency between the transmitted acoustic signal and its echoes. Laminar flow in the largest vessels creates an echo series with the highest shift frequencies (i.e., velocities) in the vessel mid-region.

A time series of instantaneous Fourier-derived frequency spectra over a single cardiac cycle produces a pulsatile waveform resembling a blood pressure trace. Monochrome dot intensity or color-coded echo amplitude at each frequency is typically scaled as log change (i.e., dB) above background noise. The highest flow-velocity occurs at peak systole and lowest at end-diastole.

By briefly recording echoes only after each sound pulse (i.e., gating), the velocity spectra may be obtained from a user-defined tissue sample volume at an intracranial locus (i.e., depth below the scalp). Alternatively, the overlapping of multigated spectra creates an M-mode (motion-mode) display simultaneously encompassing velocities over a wide depth range. Because particulate and gaseous emboli have greater acoustic impedance (i.e., reflectivity) than erythrocytes, their presence within the scrolling flow-velocity spectrum or M-mode display is signified as high-intensity transient signals (HITS) (Fig. 13.2). Complexities and uncertainties inherent in ultrasonic embolic detection render the HITS counts of current FDAcleared TCD ultrasonographs as semi-quantitative estimates.

Recently, probe fixation devices have been developed that permit continuous imaging of cerebral perfusion with color duplex sonography [4]. Thus, it is now possible to visualize intracranial vascular pathology procedurally and continuously measure hemodynamically significant changes in large vessel diameter [5].



Fig. 13.2 The four *arrows* at the top of this flow-velocity spectral display indicate the presence of emboliform high-intensity transient signals (HITS). Each HIT is shown as a *white spot* within the gray-scale spectral trend. The acous-

TCD Limitations

The first and foremost limitation of TCD is that it measures blood flow-velocity, not flow. Because velocity is influenced by vessel diameter, blood viscosity, acid–base balance and temperature, an abnormally high velocity may indicate either hyper- or hypoperfusion. For example, hypercapnia may increase middle cerebral artery (MCA) diameter by more than 20%, which markedly alters the relationship between flow and flow-velocity.

Second, the quality of TCD information is user-dependent. Correct vessel identification and accurate velocity measurement rely on the training, skill, experience, and practice of the sonographer [6]. Interobserver agreement is high among qualified practitioners who regularly make TCD measurements, but declines substantially among occasional users [6].

Third, effective transtemporal insonation of intracranial vessels is not possible in all patients. Both cranial hyperostosis and the presence of intracranial vascular disease may prevent monitoring through this cranial site in a significant fraction of patients. For example, successful TCD measurement through all intracranial ultrasonic windows was possible in 78 % of a large series of healthy elderly patients [7]. Alternative insonation sites may be utilized partially overcome this limitation. to Commercially available submandibular probe

tic signatures of the two most recent HITS are shown in the display on the right. Notice the absence of pulsatility in the spectral trend recorded during nonpulsatile cardiopulmonary bypass

fixation devices enable continuous simultaneous insonation of the extracranial internal carotid artery (EICA) and internal jugular vein [8]. This approach permits monitoring of blood flow-velocity both toward and away from the brain as well as detection of gaseous and particulate emboli. In addition, intermittent brief transorbital insonation of the carotid siphon with a handheld probe [9] may be helpful in documenting the establishment and maintenance of selective antegrade or retrograde cerebral perfusion during systemic circulatory arrest for aortic arch reconstruction [10].

Fourth, TCD provides no direct information on the cause of observed velocity changes. Sudden signal loss may be caused by flow cessation or unintentional probe movement. Correct causal determination requires input from other monitoring modalities.

Rationale for Cerebral Hemodynamic Monitoring

Transcranial Doppler is most widely used to quantify cerebral hemodynamic function. Measurements include (1) large vessel blood flow direction, and maximum, mean (Vm), and minimum velocity and pulsatility; (2) cerebral autoregulation; (3) vasomotor reactivity (VMR) to ΔCO_2 ; (4) neurovascular coupling (NVC) and cerebral emboli detection [11].

Cerebral Blood Flow-Velocity Change

For the first application, in diagnostic settings, momentary intra- and extracranial velocity measurements obtained from the patient are compared with vessel-specific age-corrected normative values. During perioperative and critical care hemodynamic monitoring, the potentially profound influences of anesthetic and surgical management on cerebral hemodynamics preclude this approach. Instead, abnormality is inferred from trended changes in flow-velocity referenced to a preprocedure baseline [12]. Because the MCA typically carries approximately 40% of the hemispheric blood flow, it is generally the preferred monitoring site [13]. The issue of correct vessel identification may be minimized by using a recording depth of less than 50 mm. With an appropriate probe angle in the adult cranium, at this "shallow" insonation depth, the only arterial signals arise from the MCA or its branches.

When MCA diameter and blood viscosity remain constant, the concept of noteworthy velocity change as an indicator of altered cerebral perfusion has been based on its relationship to the concomitant appearance of clinical signs. In conscious subjects, hypoperfusion-derived syncope appeared with a greater than 60% decrease in mean flow-velocity or a total signal absence at end-diastole [14]. During general anesthesia, a greater than 60% flow-velocity decrease coincided with a cerebral blood flow fall to less than 20 mL/100 g/min and pathologic EEG suppression [15]. Flow-velocity declines of greater than 80% have been associated with a significantly increased stroke risk [16]. However, the clinical correlation with MCA flow-velocity has been less than perfect. In the setting of carotid endarterectomy with regional anesthesia, McCarthy et al. [17] found that clamp-related neurologic dysfunction occurred in just one-third of cases in which MCA flow-velocity declined greater than 60%.

The rapid detection of a cerebral blood flow obstruction by TCD may be brain- or life-saving. Anesthesia providers often lack data on the functional status of a patient's intracranial arteries and veins. This paucity of knowledge increases the risk for a generally avoidable and potentially injurious cerebral blood flow obstruction. Despite the limitations described previously [17], TCD can rapidly identify an MCA flow obstruction during carotid endarterectomy or carotid artery stenting associated with head positioning, excessive vascular traction, carotid occlusion [16], dissection [18], or hematoma [19]. The optimal approach to intravascular shunt use remains controversial. Nevertheless, a meta-analysis of 32 studies with pre- and postcarotid endarterectomy brain imaging noted a 38% reduction in brain infarct incidence in groups utilizing neuromonitoring-based selective shunting [20].

In the repair of an acute aortic dissection, initiation of total cardiopulmonary bypass through a femoral artery may redirect blood flow through the false lumen. Cerebral inflow obstruction may then result in a potentially lethal malperfusion syndrome. TCD can instantly detect its development and guide successful surgical correction [8].

TCD-detectable inflow obstruction may be seen during attempted retrograde cerebral perfusion even with the presence of venous effluent from open carotid arteries. With an internal jugular functional valve [21], retrograde flow of oxygenated blood from the superior vena cava will be directed upward through extracranial veins and downward through the extensive azygous system. Without a functional jugular valve, momentary complete systemic circulatory arrest may lead to cerebral venous collapse. Initiation of effective retrograde flow may require a brief pressure of more than the oft-recommended 25 mmHg to restore flow in these collapsed vessels [22]. Currently, TCD offers the only direct method to verify the establishment of retrograde cerebral perfusion. Using this approach, Estrera et al. [23] demonstrated the effectiveness of TCD in the management of retrograde cerebral perfusion. Interestingly, the majority of clinical studies describing experience with this perfusion technique used neither TCD nor cerebral oximetry to document successful initiation or maintenance of bihemispheric retrograde flow.

TCD is also invaluable for the documentation of selective antegrade cerebral perfusion during systemic circulatory arrest [8]. Bilateral TCD monitoring can assure the surgeon that both MCAs are appropriately perfused via a single right axillary, innominate, or carotid cannula. Further, Neri et al. [24] showed that selective antegrade perfusion could prevent the cerebral dysautoregulation that typically follows a period of hypothermic total circulatory arrest.

Before or immediately after cardiopulmonary bypass, TCD can detect and guide correction of a cerebral outflow obstruction occurring in response to a malpositioned venous perfusion cannula. The resultant cerebral vascular resistance increase is manifested by a decline or absence of flow-velocity during end-diastole [25].

There are both technical and physiologic explanations for the observed large MCA flowvelocity declines without clinical correlates. With insonation depths of greater than 55 mm, inadvertent insonation of the distal ICA may occur near the bifurcation into the middle and anterior cerebral arteries. Carotid clamping will markedly lower ICA velocity, even with adequate collateral flow through the circle of Willis. Alternatively, vigorous collateral flow through leptomeningeal collaterals may maintain hemispheric function despite MCA hypoperfusion [26].

Currently, TCD provides the only continuous, direct measure of cerebral hyperperfusion. The perioperative monitoring of cerebral perfusion is far from routine. Thus, the incidence as well as the clinical and socioeconomic significance of this all-too-common problem is underappreciated. In fact, a surprisingly high (10%)incidence of postoperative symptomatic hyperperfusion has been reported to occur after carotid endarterectomy [27] or carotid angioplasty and stenting [28]. It should be appreciated that this is at least five times higher than the oft-reported incidence of perioperative hypoperfusion toward which most carotid surgery neuromonitoring resources are directed [29].

Cerebral hyperperfusion is defined as a blood flow increase well in excess of metabolic demand, with flow-velocity increases of higher than 100% above baseline [30]. Clinical manifestations include severe focal headache, face and eye pain, seizures, focal neurologic deficit, and cognitive disturbances including delirium [27]. Because structural damage and widespread edema are typically absent, diagnostic imaging studies are often uninformative. Without the rare complication of an intracerebral hemorrhage [29], most clinical signs of the hyperperfusion syndrome are transient and self-limiting, albeit expensive for the healthcare delivery system [30]. However, there may be a persistent impairment of cognitive or neuropsychologic function leading to a decreased quality of life [31, 32]. The full economic impact of postoperative or critical care hyperperfusion is incompletely understood (e.g., hospital readmission, rehabilitation attrition, impaired independence, slow return to work) [33], and specific syndrome components are associated with longer and more costly hospital stays [34].

Cerebral Autoregulation

The relationship between cerebral perfusion and systemic perfusion pressure is unpredictable. For example, during adult cardiopulmonary bypass, cerebral autoregulation remains intact in only half of patients [35] and the lower mean arterial pressure limit *range* is approximately 50 mmHg [36].

Optimal patient management requires continuous information on the adequacy of cerebral perfusion. An initially intact autoregulation may be transiently disrupted as a consequence of anesthetic technique, i.e., spinal anesthesia [37], or surgical necessity, i.e., deep hypothermic circulatory arrest [8]. Alternatively, it may be preserved through the adoption of improved perfusion techniques, i.e., supplemental antegrade or retrograde cerebral perfusion [38].

Transcranial Doppler and cerebral oximetry are two approaches to achieving this goal. Information provided by the two techniques may sometimes be complementary since TCD measures large vessel flow-velocity while cerebral oximetry measures microcirculatory hemoglobin oxygen saturation at the site of tissue gas exchange. Thus, hypoxia decreases MCA blood flow-velocity via vasodilation, while microcirculatory regional O₂ saturation (rSO₂) declines in response to reduced O₂ delivery [39]. However, in other cases, the two measures of cerebral perfusion may appear to be in conflict. For example, the vasopressor phenylephrine increases MCA velocity and decreases rSO₂, while the opposite occurs with administration of the hypotensive agent, sodium nitroprusside. This seeming paradox has been explained by drug-induced changes in MCA diameter [5].

Vasomotor Reactivity

The use of TCD to determine VMR is well established [40]. It describes the cerebral hemispherespecific relationship between PaCO₂ and MCA blood flow or flow-velocity. Early knowledge of the patient's VMR status may be of considerable value during perioperative anesthetic management [40]. First, VMR is a precondition for cerebral autoregulation [41]. With a normal VMR (i.e., 4% Δ velocity/mmHgCO₂), TCD can define both the lower limit of autoregulation and the zero-flow pressure below which perfusion ceases [42]. A subnormal VMR and associated dysautoregulation identify pressure-passive hemispheric perfusion and an increased stroke risk, which may lead to adjustments in the anesthetic plan [43]. Second, the presence of normal VMR alerts anesthesia providers to the potential hazards of hypocapnia. Aggressive hyperventilation of CO₂-reactive patients following endotracheal intubation may decrease MCA flow-velocity by more than 30% and produce ischemic EEG suppression [44]. Third, TCD identifies hemispheric asymmetry in VMR, which can lead to blood flow steal from the non-CO₂-reactive hemisphere in the presence of hypercapnia [45]. Fourth, knowledge of the VMR status is important during the planning for deep hypothermia. In both pediatric [38] and adult patients [46], optimal brain cooling with high cerebral blood flow appears to be best achieved through pH-stat acid-base management, while rewarming favors alpha-stat control. Establishment of these ideal conditions requires CO₂-reactive arteries in both cerebral hemispheres.

Vasomotor reactivity and cerebral autoregulation are related, but distinct, phenomena. Autoregulation requires normal VMR, but may become suppressed while cerebral artery CO₂ responsiveness remains intact. For example, volatile anesthetics [47] and other vasoactive agents [48] may diminish TCD-assessed autoregulation without affecting cerebral artery constriction with hypocapnia. Additionally, it should be appreciated that the widespread notion of a universally intact cerebral autoregulation with a lower limit of 50 mmHg is based on a 1953 study of 15 conscious pregnant women, half of whom were toxemic [49]. In fact, the 1973 article that published the nowfamiliar sigmoid autoregulatory graph of blood pressure vs. cerebral blood flow emphasized that the lower limit was highly variable and in hypertensive patients often above 100 mmHg [50].

Neurovascular Coupling

Neurovascular coupling refers to the mechanism that adapts local cerebral blood flow to changes in associated neuronal activity in the healthy brain [51]. Van Alfen et al. [52] used TCD and EEG recording to illustrate the maintenance of NVC during brain cooling. In aortic surgery requiring hypothermic circulatory arrest, cooling to 25 °C partially suppressed cerebral metabolic activity and resulted in a burst-suppression EEG pattern. Despite unchanged extracorporeal blood flow, the TCD recording evidenced an oscillating flow-velocity trend, with peaks occurring approximately 5 s after the onset of each burst of EEG activity; velocity nadirs occurred with a similar delay following cessation of each burst.

Circulatory arrest may disrupt NVC due to vasoparesis. Resultant uncoupling observed with TCD monitoring during subsequent reperfusion and rewarming may portend developing brain injury if NVC is not restored [53].

Peca et al. [54] combined TCD with visual evoked potentials (VEPs) to compare NVC in healthy subjects and patients with amyloid angiopathy. During photic stimulation, uncoupling was evident in the patients because flow-velocity responsiveness was suppressed while VEP changes were the same as in healthy subjects [54].

Combined TCD and EEG recording during anesthetic induction demonstrated that NVC was maintained with propofol. In contrast, sevoflurane appeared to disrupt NVC with resulting luxury cerebral perfusion and EEG suppression [55]. Prompt flow adaptation to changing metabolic needs appears to be caused by an incompletely understood local vasodilation evoked by neuronal activation. The relative contribution of NVC and systemic factors to cerebral blood flow regulation is currently unknown [56].

Cerebral Embolization

Of the currently available neuromonitoring modalities, TCD is unique in its capacity to detect both gaseous and particulate emboli within the cerebral circulation. TCD has detected cerebral emboli associated with cardiac [57], carotid [58], laparoscopic [59], and hip and knee surgery [60]. During postoperative or critical care, such emboli have been observed in patients with (1) new mechanical aortic valves [61], (2) infective endocarditis [62], (3) atrial fibrillation [63], or (4) those with implanted ventricular assist devices [64]. The presence of persistent TCD-detected embolization may lead to the development of focal neurologic deficits. However, the clinical expression of embolic injury appears to be a threshold phenomenon that may require a persistent HITS rate of more than two per minute [65]. With the incorporation of this threshold concept, TCD-guided antiplatelet therapy has successfully reduced particulate-based HITS and associated neurodeficit signs following carotid endarterectomy [66].

To date, TCD monitoring has not been widely used to detect perioperative particulate emboli. The lack of enthusiasm seems based, in part, on the mistaken notion that reasonable therapeutic options are unavailable. In fact, several choices are available to mitigate brain injury once ultrasonic HITS begin to appear. With early detection, the embolic source may be detected and controlled. TCD-guided antiplatelet therapy can mollify the influence of a thrombus formed in the carotid lumen postendarterectomy [66] or in the fibrillating atrium after cardiac surgery. TCD may help minimize the clinical consequences of atheroemboli through a directed reduction in aorta/carotid manipulation [67], enhancement of cerebral emboli clearance, or augmentation of penumbral or collateral perfusion.

Large numbers of HITS representing lipid microemboli have been reported during cardiac and aortic surgery [68]. TCD-guided alterations in surgical and perfusion technique have been shown to markedly reduce aggregate HITS counts and are associated with improved outcome [69].

Finally, TCD aids in the prompt detection of massive cerebral gas embolization. The promptness of the detection and certainty of the cause can facilitate effective therapeutic interventions in a timely fashion [70].

Conclusion

TCD provides the only FDA-cleared method to continuously and directly monitor change in cerebral hemodynamics in the perioperative and critical care settings. The information is clinically valuable and potentially life-saving. However, the quality of the information provided by TCD is heavily influenced by the training, skill, experience, and practice of the sonographer. Therefore, those who interpret TCD findings should have a sound appreciation of both the technology and those who produce the hemodynamic data. Armed with this knowledge, anesthesia providers may confidently use TCD information to improve patient care.

References¹

- Beaudin AE, Brugniaux JV, Vöhringer M, Flewitt J, Green JD, Friedrich MG, et al. Cerebral and myocardial blood flow responses to hypercapnia and hypoxia in humans. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2011;301:H1678–86.
- *Purkayastha S, Sorond F. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound: technique and application. Semin Neurol. 2012;32:411–20.
- Bathala L, Mehndiratta MM, Sharma VK. Transcranial Doppler: technique and common findings (Part 1). Ann Indian Acad Neurol. 2013;16:174–9.
- Shiogai T, Koyama M, Yamamoto M, Hashimoto H, Yoshikawa K, Nakagawa M. Monitoring of brain tissue perfusion utilizing a transducer holder for transcranial color duplex sonography. Acta Neurochir. 2013;118(Suppl):229–33.

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

- Stewart JM, Medow MS, DelPozzi A, Messer ZR, Terilli C, Schwartz CE. Middle cerebral O₂ delivery during the modified Oxford maneuver increases with sodium nitroprusside and decreases during phenylephrine. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2013;304:H1776–83.
- Shen Q, Stuart J, Venkatesh B, Wallace J, Lipman J. Inter-observer variability of the transcranial Doppler ultrasound technique: impact of lack of practice on the accuracy of measurement. J Clin Monit Comput. 1990;15:179–84.
- *Suri MF, Georgiadis AL, Tariq N, Vazquez G, Qureshi N, Qureshi AI. Estimated prevalence of acoustic cranial windows and intracranial stenosis in the US elderly population: ultrasound screening in adults for intracranial disease study. Neuroepidemiology. 2011;37:64–71
- Edmonds Jr HL. Monitoring of cerebral perfusion with transcranial Doppler ultrasound. In: Nuwer MR, editor. Intraoperative monitoring of neural function handbook of clinical neurophysiology, vol. 8. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2008. p. 909–23.
- Santalucia P, Feldmann E. The basic transcranial Doppler examination: technique and anatomy. In: Babikian VL, Wechsler LR, editors. Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. 2nd ed. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann; 1999. p. 13–31.
- Edmonds HL Jr, Gordon EK, Levy WJ. Central nervous system monitoring. In: Kaplan JA, editor. Kaplan's cardiac anesthesia. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2016; in press.
- *Willie CK, Colino FL, Bailey DM, Tzeng YC, Binsted G, Jones LW, et al. Utility of transcranial Doppler ultrasound for the integrative assessment of cerebrovascular function. J Neurosci Methods. 2011;196:221–37.
- *Edmonds Jr HL, Isley MR, Sloan T, Alexandrov A, Razumovsky AY. American Society of Neurophysiologic Monitoring and American Society of Neuroimaging joint guidelines for transcranial Doppler ultrasonic monitoring. J Neuroimaging. 2011;21(2):177–83.
- Clark JM, Skolnick BE, Gelfand R, Farber RE, Stierheim M, Stevens WC, et al. Relationship of 133Xe cerebral blood flow to middle cerebral arterial flow-velocity in men at rest. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 1996;16:1255–62.
- Edmonds Jr HL, Singer I, Schic A, Strickland T. Multimodality neuromonitoring for neurocardiology. J Interven Cardiol. 1998;11:197–204.
- Jørgensen LG. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound for cerebral perfusion. Acta Physiol Scand. 1995;625(Suppl):1–44.
- Spencer MP. Transcranial Doppler monitoring and causes of stroke from carotid endarterectomy. Stroke. 1997;28:685–91.
- McCarthy RJ, McCabe AE, Walker R, Horrocks M. The value of transcranial Doppler in predicting cerebral ischaemia during carotid endarterectomy. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2001;21:408–12.

- Srinivasan J, Newell DW, Sturzenegger M, Mayberg MR, Winn HR. Transcranial Doppler in the evaluation of internal carotid artery dissection. Stroke. 1996;27:1226–30.
- Rosenkranz M, Gerloff C. Secondary bleeding into a subacute carotid wall hematoma. Circulation. 2010;131:e395–6.
- Schnaudigel S, Gröschel K, Pilgram SM, Kastrup A. New brain lesions after carotid stenting versus carotid endarterectomy. Stroke. 2008;39:1911–9.
- Imai M, Hanaoka Y, Kemmotsuo K. Valve injury: a new complication of internal jugular vein cannulation. Anesth Analg. 1994;78:1041–6.
- Ganzel BL, Edmonds Jr HL, Pank JR, Goldsmith LJ. Neurophysiologic monitoring to assure delivery of retrograde cerebral perfusion. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1997;113:748–57.
- Estrera AL, Garami Z, Miller III CC, Sheinbaum R, Huynh TT, Porat EE, et al. Cerebral monitoring with transcranial Doppler ultrasonography improves neurologic outcome during repairs of acute type A aortic dissection. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005;129:277–85.
- Neri E, Sassi C, Barabersi L, Massetti M, Pula G, Buklas D, et al. Cerebral autoregulation after hypothermic circulatory arrest in operations on the aortic arch. Ann Thorac Surg. 2004;77:72–9.
- 25. Rodriguez RA, Cornel G, Semelhago L, Splinter WM, Weerasena NA. Cerebral effects in superior vena caval cannula obstruction: the role of brain monitoring. Ann Thorac Surg. 1997;64:1820–4.
- 26. Kim Y, Sin DS, Park HY, Park MS, Cho KH. Relationship between flow diversion on transcranial Doppler sonography and leptomeningeal collateral circulation in patients with middle cerebral artery occlusive disorder. J Neuroimaging. 2009;19:23–6.
- 27. Hirooka R, Ogasawara K, Sasaki M, Yamadate K, Kobayashi M, Suga Y, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging in patients with cerebral hyperperfusion and cognitive impairment after carotid endarterectomy. J Neurosurg. 2008;108:1178–83.
- Bakoyiannis CN, Tsekouras N, Georgopoulos S, Tsigris C, Filis K, Skrapari I, et al. Can the diameter of endoluminal shunt influence the risk of hyperperfusion syndrome after carotid endarterectomy? Int Angiol. 2008;27:260–7.
- Wilson PV, Ammar AD. The incidence of ischemic stroke versus intracerebral hemorrhage after carotid endarterectomy: a review of 2,452 cases. Ann Vasc Surg. 2005;19:1–4.
- Dalman JE, Beenakkers ICM, Moll FL, Leusink JA, Ackerstaff RG. Transcranial Doppler monitoring during carotid endarterectomy helps to identify patients at risk of postoperative hyperperfusion. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 1999;18:222–7.
- Ogasawara K, Yamadate K, Kobayashi M, Endo H, Fukuda T, Yoshida K, et al. Postoperative cerebral hyperperfusion associated with impaired cognitive function in patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy. J Neurosurg. 2005;102:38–44.
- 32. Ogasawara K, Sakai N, Kuriowa T, Hosoda K, Iihara K, Toyoda K, et al. Intracranial hemorrhage associated with cerebral hyperperfusion syndrome following carotid endarterectomy and carotid artery stenting: retrospective review of 4,494 patients. J Neurosurg. 2007;107:1130–6.
- 33. Hudetz JA, Hoffmann RG, Patterson KM, Hosoda K, Iihara K, Toyoda K, et al. Preoperative dispositional optimism correlates with a reduced incidence of postoperative delirium and recovery of postoperative cognitive function in cardiac surgical patients. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2010;24:560–7.
- 34. Thomason JW, Shintani A, Peterson JF, Pun BT, Jackson JC, Ely EW. Intensive care unit delirium is an independent predictor of longer hospital stay: a prospective analysis of 261 non-ventilated patients. Crit Care. 2005;9:R375–81.
- 35. Joshi B, Brady K, Lee J, Easley B, Panigrahi R, Smielewski P, et al. Impaired autoregulation of cerebral blood flow during rewarming from hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass and its potential association with stroke. Anesth Analg. 2010;110:321–8.
- 36. Joshi B, Ono M, Brown C, Brady K, Easley RB, Yenokyan G, et al. Predicting the limits of cerebral autoregulation during cardiopulmonary bypass. Anesth Analg. 2012;114:503–10.
- Bonnet MP, Larousse E, Asehnoune K, Benhamou D. Spinal anesthesia with bupivacaine decreases cerebral blood flow in former preterm infants. Anesth Analg. 2004;98:1280–3.
- Andropoulos DB, Easley RB, Brady K, McKenzie ED, Heinle JS, Dickerson HA, et al. Cerebral perfusion with neuromonitoring for neonatal aortic arch reconstruction. Ann Thorac Surg. 2013;95:648–54.
- 39. Imray C, Chan C, Stubbings A, Rhodes H, Patey S, Wilson MH, et al. Time course variations in the mechanisms by which cerebral oxygen delivery is maintained on exposure to hypoxia/altitude. High Alt Med Biol. 2014;15:21–7.
- Willie CK, Macleod DB, Shaw AD, Smith KJ, Tzeng YC, Eves ND, et al. Regional brain blood flow in man during acute changes in arterial blood gases. J Physiol. 2012;590:3261–75.
- Van Lieshout JJ, Wieling W, Karemaker JM, Secher NH. Syncope, cerebral perfusion and oxygenation. J Appl Physiol. 2003;94:833–48.
- 42. Hancock SM, Mahajan RP, Athanassiou L. Noninvasive estimation of cerebral perfusion pressure and zero-flow pressure in healthy volunteers: the effects of changes in end-tidal carbon dioxide. Anesth Analg. 2003;96:847–51.
- 43. *Ono M, Joshi B, Brady K, Easley RB, Zheng Y, Brown C, et al. Risks for impaired cerebral autoregulation during cardiopulmonary bypass and postoperative stroke. Br J Anaesthes. 2012;109:391–8.
- 44. Halpern P, Neufeld MY, Sade K, Silbiger A, Szold O, Bornstein NM, Sorkine P, et al. Middle cerebral artery flow-velocity decreases and electroencephalogram (EEG) changes occur as acute hypercapnia reverses. Intensive Care Med. 2003;29:1650–5.

- 45. Hosada K, Kawaguchi T, Ishii K, Minoshima S, Kohmura E. Comparison of conventional region of interest and statistical mapping method in brain single-photon emission computed tomography for prediction of hyperperfusion after carotid endarterectomy. Neurosurgery. 2005;57:32–41.
- 46. Svyatets M, Tolani K, Zhang M, Tulman G, Charchaflieh J. Perioperative management of deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2010;24:644–55.
- Bedforth NM, Hardman JG, Nathanson MH. Cerebral hemodynamic response to the introduction of desflurane: a comparison with sevoflurane. Anesth Analg. 2000;91:152–5.
- Brassard P, Seifert T, Wissenberg M, Jensen PM, Hansen CK, Secher NH. Phenylephrine decreases frontal lobe oxygenation at rest but not during moderately intense exercise. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2010;108:1472–8.
- 49. McCall ML, Taylor HW. The action of hydergine on the circulation and metabolism of the brain in toxemia of pregnancy. Am J Med Sci. 1953;226:537–41.
- Strangaard S, Olesen J, Skinhøj E, Lassen NA. Autoregulation of brain circulation in severe arterial hypertension. Br Med J. 1973;1(5852):507–11.
- Girouard H, Iadecola C. Neurovascular coupling in the normal brain and in hypertension, stroke, and Alzheimer disease. J Appl Physiol. 2006;100:328–35.
- 52. van Alfen N, van Hal M, Karmann C. Coupling between electroencephalography pattern and cyclic transcranial Doppler flow during aortic root surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2011;23:55–6.
- GuginoLD,AglioLS,EdmondsJrHL. Neurophysiological monitoring in vascular surgery. Baillieres Clin Anaesth. 2000;14:17–62.
- Peca S, McCreary CR, Donaldson E, Kumarpillai G, Shobha N, Sanchez K, et al. Neurovascular decoupling is associated with severity of cerebral amyloid angiopathy. Neurology. 2013;81:1659–65.
- 55. Jung HS, Sung T-Y, Kang H, Kim JS, Kim TY. Cerebral blood flow change during volatile induction in large-dose sevoflurane versus intravenous propofol induction: transcranial Doppler study. Korean J Anesthesiol. 2014;67:323–8.
- Phillips AA, Chan FH, Zheng MM, Krassioukov AV, Ainslie PN. Neurovascular coupling in humans: physiology, methodological advances and clinical implications. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2016;36:647–64.
- 57. Alassar A, Soppa G, Edsell M, Rich P, Roy D, Chis Ster I, et al. Incidence and mechanisms of cerebral ischemia after transcatheter aortic valve implantation compared with surgical aortic valve replacement. Ann Thorac Surg. 2015;99:802–8.
- Piorkowski M, Kläffling C, Botsios S, Zerweck C, Scheinert S, Banning-Eichenseher U, et al. Postinterventional microembolism signals detected by transcranial Doppler ultrasound after carotid artery stenting. Vasa. 2015;44:49–57.
- 59. Schramm P, Engelhard K, Scherhag A, Schier F, Werner C, et al. High-intensity transient signals dur-

ing laparoscopic surgery in children. Br J Anaesth. 2010;104:224-7.

- Koch S, Forteza A, Lavernia C, Romano JG, Campo-Bustillo I, Campo N, Gold S. Cerebral fat microembolism and cognitive decline after hip and knee replacement. Stroke. 2007;38:1079–81.
- 61. Guerrieri-Wolf L, Choudhary BP, Abu-Omar Y, Taggart DP. Solid and gaseous cerebral micro embolization after biologic and mechanical aortic valve replacement: investigation with multirange and multifrequency transcranial Doppler ultrasound. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2008;135:512–20.
- Lepur D, Baršić B. Incidence of neurological complications in patients with native-valve infective endocarditis and cerebral microembolism: an open cohort study. Scand J Infect Dis. 2009;41:709–13.
- Kumral E, Balkir K, Uzuner N, Evyapan D, Nalbantgil S. Microembolic signal detection in patients with symptomatic and asymptomatic lone atrial fibrillation. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2001;13:192–6.
- 64. Sato K, Hanzawa K, Okamoto T, Kyo S, Hayashi J. Frequency analysis of high-intensity transient signals of transcranial Doppler ultrasound in patients supported with a left ventricular assist device. J Artif Organs. 2008;11:201–3.
- 65. Payne DA, Jones CI, Hayes PD, Thompson MM, London NJ, Bell PR, et al. Beneficial effects of clopidogrel combined with aspirin in reducing cerebral emboli in patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy. Circulation. 2004;109:1476–81.
- 66. Saedon M, Singer DRJ, Pang R, Tiivas C, Hutchinson CE, Imray CH. Registry report on kinetics of rescue antiplatelet treatment to abolish cerebral microemboli after carotid endarterectomy. Stroke. 2013;44:230–3.
- 67. Kim K, Reynolds T, Donayre C, Kopchok G, White R, De Virgilio C, Chauvapun J. Predictability of cerebral embolization from aortic arch manipulations during thoracic endovascular repair. Am Surg. 2011; 77:1399–409.
- Bismuth J, Garami Z, Anaya-Ayala JE, Naoum JJ, El Sayed HF, Peden EK, et al. Transcranial Doppler findings during thoracic endovascular repair. J Vasc Surg. 2011;54:364–9.
- 69. Gasparovic H, Borojevic M, Malojcic B, Gasparovic K, Biocina B. Single aortic clamping in coronary artery bypass surgery reduces cerebral embolism and improves neurocognitive outcomes. Vasc Med. 2013;18:275–81.

 Yeh Jr T, Austin III EH, Sehic A, Edmonds Jr HL. Rapid recognition and treatment of cerebral air embolism: the role of neuromonitoring. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2003;126:589–91.

Questions

With each of the following questions, indicate whether the statement is true or false.

- 1. TCD is a quantitative measure of cerebral blood flow.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 2. Like EEG and cerebral oximetry, TCD monitoring is possible in nearly all patients.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- In contrast to EEG, TCD monitoring can promptly detect potentially injurious cerebral hyperperfusion.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 4. Combined EEG and TCD can detect anesthetic-induced uncoupling of cerebral blood from neuronal activity.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 5. TCD can detect both particulate and gaseous emboli within the cerebral circulation.
 - a. True
 - b. False

Answers

- 1. B
- 2. B
- 3. A
- 4. A
- 5. A

Monitoring of Jugular Venous Oxygen Saturation

14

Deepak Sharma and Abhijit Lele

Introduction

Maintaining adequacy of cerebral blood flow (CBF) and oxygenation is the cornerstone of neurocritical care and anesthetic management during craniotomy when the risk of cerebral ischemia may be high. Jugular venous oximetry by cannulation of the jugular bulb allows monitoring of cerebral oxygenation. Normal jugular venous oxygen saturation (SjvO₂) ranges from 55 to 75% with values at either extreme reflecting probable global cerebral ischemia or hyperemia [1–3]. Importantly, jugular oxygenation values are reflective of global cerebral oxygenation and may not be able to detect focal ischemia in the brain. Yet, monitoring of SjvO₂ can provide early diagnosis of global ischemia and is useful to guide clinical decisions for optimizing hyperventilation therapy, perfusion pressure, fluid management, and oxygenation in adults as well as children [4-8]. Jugular venous desaturation has been shown to be associated with poor neurologic outcomes after brain injury [2]. Although monitoring of $SjvO_2$ is not a new technique [9],

it has evolved substantially from sampling techniques to its utilization both in the operating room and in the ICU. This chapter provides a concise review of relevant literature with focus on the following aspects:

- 1. Rationale for SjvO₂ monitoring
- 2. Anatomy of cerebral venous drainage
- 3. Technical aspects of jugular venous oximetry
 - Placement of jugular bulb catheters
 - Fiberoptic versus laboratory co-oximetry
 - Sampling rate from jugular bulb catheters
 - Complications and contraindications
- Normative SjvO₂ values and differential diagnosis of abnormal SjvO₂ values
- 5. Clinical applications of SjvO₂ monitoring
- 6. Limitations (Table 14.1)

Rationale for SjvO₂ Monitoring

The jugular venous oxygenation reflects a balance between cerebral oxygen supply and metabolic consumption, the SjvO₂ value being directly proportional to cerebral oxygen supply and inversely proportional to cerebral oxygen consumption. Consequently, SjvO₂ monitoring provides a means to indirectly assess the ability of the brain to extract and metabolize oxygen. In the healthy brain, the cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen (CMRO₂) is coupled to the CBF such that when CMRO₂ increases, CBF increases to match

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_14

D. Sharma, M.B.B.S., M.D., D.M. (⊠) • A. Lele, M.D. Departments of Anesthesiology & Pain Medicine and Neurological Surgery, Harborview Medical Center, University of Washington, 325 9TH Avenue, Box # 359724, Seattle, WA 98104, USA e-mail: dsharma@uw.edu; abhijit2@uw.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

CBF	Cerebral blood flow
CMRO ₂	Cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen
O ₂ ER	$\begin{array}{l} Oxygen \mbox{ extraction ratio } = (O_2 \\ \mbox{ consumption}/O_2 \mbox{ delivery}) = AVDO_2 \times CBF / \\ CaO_2 \times CBF = AVDO_2 / CaO_2 = \\ SaO_2 - SjvO_2 / SaO_2 \end{array}$
SaO_2	Arterial oxygen saturation
PaO ₂	Oxygen tension pressure in arterial blood
SjvO ₂	Oxygen saturation in the jugular bulb blood
PjvO ₂	Oxygen tension pressure in jugular venous blood
AVDO ₂	Arteriovenous difference of oxygen = $(SaO_2 - SjvO_2) \times 1.34 \times Hb+$ $(PaO_2 - PjvO_2) \times 0.0031$
CaO ₂	Arterial oxygen content = $(SaO_2 \times 1.34 \times Hb) + (PaO_2 \times 0.0031)$
CjvO ₂	Jugular venous oxygen content = $(SjvO_2 \times 1.34 \times Hb) + (PjvO_2 \times 0.0031)$

Table 14.1 Key to abbreviations and physiologic terms used in the chapter

demand. Using the Fick principle, cerebral oxygen consumption can be calculated as:

$$CMRO_2 = CBF \times (CaO_2 - CjvO_2)$$

where

 $CaO_2 = (SaO_2 \times 1.34 \times Hb) + (PaO_2 \times 0.0031)$ and

$$CivO_2 = (SivO_2 \times 1.34 \times Hb) + (PivO_2 \times 0.0031).$$

The dissolved oxygen is negligible and can be ignored. Also, the hemoglobin is constant. As a result, the content of oxygen is, in fact, proportional to the oxygen saturation. Hence, the difference in arterial-venous content of blood (AVDO₂) can be determined by the difference in SaO₂ and SjvO₂. Rearranging the above equation,

$AVDO_2 = CMRO_2 / CBF$

Therefore, $SjvO_2$ is a function of the arterial oxygen saturation (SaO₂), CBF, and CMRO₂. In a situation in which CMRO₂ increases without a concomitant increase in CBF, the AVDO₂ increases in conjunction with cerebral oxygen extraction and decreases in SjvO₂. As a result, in the clinical situations, a decrease in SjvO₂ indicates either relative increase in CMRO₂ or a relative decrease in CBF and can help the clinician make a differential diagnosis of cerebral desaturation. Importantly, during disease states such as traumatic brain injury (TBI) as well as under anesthesia, the normal relationship between cerebral oxygen consumption and cerebral blood flow is often altered (uncoupling). However, the clinical value of $SjvO_2$ monitoring lies in the fact that even in such conditions, the oxygen content of jugular venous blood continues to reflect the relative balance between oxygen consumption and supply. Notably, both hypoxia and anemia can reduce the oxygen delivery to the brain.

Essentially, the SjvO₂ monitoring helps in detecting episodes of cerebral hypoxia/ischemia that may lead to poor neurologic outcome [2]. Based on SjvO₂ monitoring, appropriate interventions can be made to either decrease the elevated CMRO₂ due to seizures or hyperthermia or to optimize hemodynamic and ventilation parameters to increase the reduced CBF in the setting of below normal SjvO₂ values. Conversely, in situations of cerebral hyperemia characterized by supranormal SjvO₂ values, depending on the clinical setting, either the CBF may be reduced by blood pressure reduction (e.g., after resection of intracranial arteriovenous malformation) or the anesthetic depth/sedation reduced as appropriate.

Anatomy of Cerebral Venous Drainage

Figure 14.1 shows a diagrammatic representation of cerebral venous drainage. The cerebral venous system is composed of superficial and deep venous plexuses. Venous blood from the brain flows via superficial and deep cerebral veins into the venous sinuses (which lie between the outer endosteal and the inner meningeal layer of the dura mater). Venous sinuses drain into the internal jugular veins (IJVs). The cerebral veins can also be referred to as external (superficial or cortical) and internal (deep) groups. The external group drains mostly into the superior sagittal sinus and, to a lesser extent, to the cavernous or the sphenoparietal sinuses. The internal group of



Fig. 14.1 Cerebral venous sinuses: (a) superior view. (b) Oblique posterior view. Note the convergence of several individual sinuses on the internal jugular vein (IJV) near

the jugular bulb (Reproduced with permission from the original author of *Clinical Anatomy Principals* [Chapter 2, page 157] published by Mosby Yearbook Inc. 1996)

cerebral veins drains into the straight sinus that, together with the superior sagittal sinus, joins to form the confluence of sinuses (torcular Herophili). The two lateral sinuses take origin from the confluence and course laterally to reach sigmoid sinuses and then the jugular bulbs. The jugular veins drain blood predominantly from the ipsilateral side, but also from the contralateral side (minority). Ultimately, all the venous sinuses drain into the IJVs, which comprise two bulbs, the superior and inferior. The superior bulb provides an anatomically viable sampling site. Of the two lateral sinuses, the right is larger in 62%of the patients, the left is larger in 26%, and the sinuses are of the same size in 12% [10]. Cavernous and circular sinuses at the base of the brain have equally free communication from side to side and drain through the petrosal sinuses to the jugular bulbs. Although the dural sinuses join at the confluence of sinuses in most people, the blood from the straight sinus (draining subcortical areas) tends to flow into the left lateral sinus and the blood from the superior sagittal sinus

(draining cortical areas) tends to flow into the right lateral sinus [11].

On average, two thirds of the blood from a single internal carotid artery is drained by the ipsilateral IJV, and one third is drained by the contralateral jugular vein [12]. Although the jugular venous blood is derived from both cerebral hemispheres, the venous drainage is usually asymmetrical, with the majority of the patients draining cerebral venous blood dominantly into the right side jugular bulb, some draining dominantly into the left side and a few may drain equally into both jugular bulbs. In patients draining primarily into one jugular bulb, a side-to-side asymmetry of greater than 10% in SjvO₂ values can occur [1]. Hence, it is recommended that a jugular bulb catheter be placed into the IJV on the side of dominant cerebral venous drainage [1, 4] although it is often argued that in the presence of a focal brain injury, the catheter should be placed on the side ipsilateral to brain injury. The cerebral venous dominance can be easily determined by examining the venous caliber on the cerebral



Fig. 14.2 Venous phase of cerebral angiograms of three different patients demonstrating right-dominant (**a**), left-dominant (**b**), and right-left co-dominance (**c**) of cerebral venous drainage

angiogram (a larger caliber indicating dominant venous drainage) [4], by ultrasonographic comparison of the size of the IJVs [13], or computerized tomographic assessment of the jugular foramen size [14]. Figure 14.2 shows the venous phase of cerebral angiograms of three different patients demonstrating right-dominant, leftdominant, and right-left co-dominance of cerebral venous drainage. In a series of 32 patients with severe TBI and simultaneous measurements of SjvO₂ in the right and left jugular bulbs, the average difference in SjvO₂ between the right and left jugular bulb was 5% [15]. Fifteen patients had a maximal right-to-left difference in SjvO2 of more than 15% [15]. Three additional patients had differences more than 10% [14]. It was not possible to predict on the basis of CT scan information which patients would have significant differences in SjvO₂ or which jugular bulb would have the most abnormal values [15]. These findings further support selecting the jugular bulb on the side of dominant venous drainage for SjvO₂ monitoring [4].

The IJV is a direct continuation of the intracranial sigmoid sinus (see Fig. 14.1). It begins at the jugular foramen of the skull and ends at the thoracic inlet (behind the manubrium sterni where, after crossing the subclavian artery, it joins the subclavian vein to form the brachiocephalic trunk). It thus traverses the entire length of neck, enclosed in the carotid sheath, in close proximity to the carotid arteries. During its course, it lies posterolateral to the carotid artery and crosses it from the lateral to the medial side. The IJV has two dilatations: one at each end, referred to as the superior and inferior "jugular bulbs." The superior (upper) bulb is an outpouching of the venous wall and is more prominent, whereas the inferior (lower) bulb is a dilation of the vein situated about 1 cm above the clavicle and is less defined.

The previously mentioned, anatomic facts have important clinical implications pertaining to extracranial contamination of blood sampled from the jugular bulb. Such contamination can come from multiple sources: (1) emissary and frontal veins drain blood into the superior sagittal sinus; (2) the sigmoid sinus receives blood from the cavernous sinus through petrosal sinuses. The cavernous sinus in turn communicates with the ophthalmic veins and pterygoid venous plexus; (3) influx of blood from pharyngeal venous plexus and facial veins, which can be a source of contamination if the catheter tip migrates caudally, below the superior bulb. Contamination by extracranial blood will give false high readings of SjvO₂ because oxygen extraction by extracranial tissues is less than that of the brain.

Technical Aspects of Jugular Venous Oximetry

Placement of Jugular Bulb Catheter

Under careful aseptic precautions, the IJV on the side to be cannulated is typically punctured under ultrasound guidance at the level of the apex of the triangle formed in the neck by the two heads of the sternocleidomastoid muscle and the clavicle. The Trendelenburg position, often used for central venous cannulation for improved ultrasonographic visualization of the IJV, may not be an option in patients with poor intracranial compliance. The Seldinger technique can be used to thread the jugular bulb catheter over a guide wire. An introducer sheath (5-6 French size) is first inserted through which an oximetric catheter (4.5–5 French) is advanced in a cephalad direction until a resistance is felt (15-20 cm in most adults), which generally coincides with approaching the superior jugular bulb where there is a slight bend in the vessel lumen just below the jugular foramen below the base of the skull. The catheter is then pulled back half a centimeter. The cannulation technique is similar to that for central venous catheterization except that the needle, guide wire, and catheter are advanced in a cephalad direction (Fig. 14.3). We routinely use a 16 G, 5.25-in. long venous cannula for intraoperative jugular venous oximetry [4, 6]. We usually insert the catheter to a distance equal to that measured from the point of insertion to the level of the mastoid process until resistance is met. This technique is helpful in adult as well as pediatric patients [4].

The final position of the catheter in the jugular bulb should be confirmed by a lateral X-ray of the skull documenting the catheter tip at the level of, and just medial to, the mastoid process. It has been suggested that radiographic assessment of jugular venous catheters is best performed using an overpenetrated Stenvers view (with rotation of the head 15° - 20° away from the side of the SjvO₂ catheter) and a companion over-penetrated lateral radiograph of the neck. Alternatively, on an



Fig. 14.3 Depicting a central venous catheter and a jugular venous catheter inserted on the same side of the neck. The central venous line is inserted caudad while the jugular bulb catheter is inserted cephalad

anteroposterior (AP) view of the skull, a correctly positioned catheter should lie cranial to the line extending from the atlantoaxial joint and below the inferior orbital margin [16]. Accurate positioning of the catheter tip is essential for dependable SjvO₂ data. Even when the catheter is placed in a perfect position, it is not unusual for the catheter tip to migrate leading to falsely high SjvO₂ values [10]. Hence, the catheter may need readjustment periodically. The presence of an introducer sheath facilitates such adjustments.

It is recommended that the jugular bulb on the side of dominant venous drainage be cannulated. Different suggested approaches to identify the dominant IJV are:

- If a cerebral angiogram is available, identify the dominance on the venous phase [4] (see Fig. 14.2)
- Use ultrasound to identify the larger caliber IJV, which corroborates with cerebral venous dominance [13]
- Cannulate the side with the larger jugular foramen on computerized tomography [14]
- Cannulate the IJV, compression of which results in a greater increase in the intracranial pressure (ICP) [17]
- In the presence of a focal lesion, cannulate the ipsilateral jugular bulb [18]

Continuous Fiberoptic Jugular Oximetry Versus Intermittent Sampling

Jugular oximetry can be performed either by intermittent sampling of blood or by fiberoptic technology using spectrophotometric catheters that allow continuous displays of SjvO₂ values. The underlying principle is based on the differential absorption of light at different wavelengths by oxyhemoglobin and reduced hemoglobin. The Baxter-Edwards system (Edslab Sat II, Baxter Edwards Critical Care Division, Irvine, CA) uses two wavelengths of light for reflectance spectrophotometry and is calibrated against a sample of the patient's blood. The Abbott system (Opticath Oximetrix, Abbott Critical Care System, Abbott Park, IL) uses three wavelengths of light and may be calibrated in vivo (against the patient's blood) or in vitro (built-in calibration).

A prospective protocol comparing 195 blood gas measurements with simultaneously recorded continuous bedside oximetric monitor values for 31 ICU patients with TBI undergoing jugular venous oxygenation monitoring for an average of 3.4 days reported acceptable correlation between the in vivo monitor (Baxter-Edwards, Santa Ana, CA) and in vitro co-oximetry [19]. Although the sensitivity of the continuous oximetry was somewhat low (45-50%), the specificity was 98-100%, indicating that it is less of a concern that patients may be misdiagnosed as having desaturations resulting in unnecessary interventions [19]. Nonetheless, the investigators recommended that suspected jugular bulb desaturation should be verified before taking therapeutic actions [19]. The fiberoptic catheter has also been noted to provide accurate measures of SjvO2 during neurosurgical procedures in a series of 12 patients with 111 readings ranging from 42 to 95% [20]. However, in another ICU study of patients with TBI, there was a poor correlation for the first in vivo calibration although subsequently, a close correlation between jugular bulb catheter and oximetry values was demonstrated during episodes of jugular bulb oxygen desaturation resulting from a variety of causes including hypocapnia, hypoperfusion, and intracranial hypertension [21]. These investigators also recommended validation with a laboratory oximeter prior to continuous jugular bulb oximetry [21]. Subsequent to calibration with a laboratory cooximeter, the Edslab catheter (Baxter Healthcare Corporation, Irvine, CA, USA) was also found to provide SjvO₂ values that correlated well with co-oximetry with no appreciable drift and negligible bias [22]. Interestingly, the measurement of $SjvO_2$ by the fiberoptic method compared poorly with bench oximetry during cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) although there was good agreement between the two methods in the 18 h postoperatively [23]. There were wide limits of agreements (mean difference ± 2 SD) between the two methods during operation (-20.29 to)18.05%), whereas after operation the limits of agreement were far narrower (-6.39 and 7.45%)[23]. When indwelling catheters are used for continuous SjvO₂ monitoring for several days and/or hemoglobin level is expected to change, it is customary to draw blood samples from the jugular bulb to calibrate the oximeteric catheter at least once daily.

Sampling Rate

Below the jugular bulb, the IJV receives facial and retromandibular venous blood, causing extracranial admixture. Consequently, faster rates of sampling increase the admixture from the extracranial veins, giving falsely elevated SjvO₂ valmechanically ventilated ues. In patients undergoing neurosurgical procedures, Matta and Lam [24] found that sampling at rates faster than 2 mL/min resulted in significantly higher SjvO₂ values. Hence, to avoid overestimation of SjvO₂, blood samples should be drawn slowly, at approximately 2 mL/min, particularly when the patient is hyperventilated or CBF is otherwise reduced pharmacologically (e.g., during barbiturate therapy) [24]. Importantly, there are no data to prove that the rate of 2 mL/min is free of extracranial blood contamination. Although sampling rates slower than 2 mL/min may further improve accuracy, they may not be practical and may not allow rapid assessment of changes.

Complications

Potential complications are associated with either (1) insertion of the catheters (carotid artery puncture, injury to nerves, injury to lymphatic duct on the left side, pneumothorax) or (2) the presence of an indwelling catheter (infection, thrombosis). In a series of 80 patients, Jakobsen and Enevoldsen [25] had an accidental carotid artery puncture with the Seldinger technique in one patient. Subsequently, Matta et al. [6], in a series of placements of retrograde jugular venous bulb catheters in 100 consecutive anesthetized patients undergoing neurosurgical procedures, reported carotid artery punctures in two patients that were controlled by firm pressure. We have reported our experience of placing jugular bulb catheters in anesthetized pediatric patients and noted no arterial punctures [8]. The use of ultrasound is likely to further reduce the risk of arterial puncture, especially with experienced providers. Serious consequences involving the development of a hematoma that may follow the insertion of a 5-6French introducer can be avoided, if the smaller catheter (#18g) is always connected to a pressure transducer to ascertain (from the waveform) the presence of the catheter in the vein prior to insertion of the introducer. In a rare case, inadvertent penetration of the posterior wall of the jugular vein during cannulation has been reported, leading to the placement of the catheter tip in the subarachnoid space [26]. Another rare case of unintentional cannulation of the anterior venous plexus of the cervical epidural space during retrograde catheterization of the jugular vein has also been reported [27]. Other complications such as Horner's syndrome and injuries to the phrenic or recurrent laryngeal nerve may also occur.

The ICP can be increased by obstruction of cerebral venous drainage. Although concerns are sometimes raised about the possible obstruction of cerebral venous outflow by jugular bulb catheters, the size of the catheter used for $SjvO_2$ is very small compared with the size of the vein being cannulated. In fact, Goetting and Preston [28] found no evidence that jugular venous catheterization with indwelling catheters has any significant effect on ICP [28]. Venous thrombosis

associated with SjvO₂ monitoring has not been reported but could have serious consequences. The risk can be minimized by using the smallest catheter and maintaining patency of the catheter. Infection and sepsis is a known complication with all types of indwelling catheters. Stocchetti et al. [15] reported catheter-induced sepsis in 1.8% of 45 patients. Strict aseptic technique during insertion and maintenance of catheters is critical.

Contraindications

Absolute contraindications include venous thrombosis. Relative contraindications include hypercoagulable states, coagulopathy, the presence of tracheostomy (due to risk of infection), and unstable cervical spine conditions providing suboptimal patient positioning for placement of the catheter.

Normative SjvO₂ Values and Differential Diagnosis of Abnormal SjvO₂ Values

The SjvO₂ in normal subjects is reported to be in the range of 55–71% [9]. A later study reported the lower limit of $SjvO_2$ to be lower than previously reported [29]. In humans, confusion develops with hypoxia or orthostatic hypotension when CjvO₂ drops from 3 to 2.7 µmol/mL, which corresponds to an SjvO₂ of about 45% [30]. Unconsciousness develops when SjvO₂ reaches a value of less than 24%. In patients undergoing CPB [31] and in patients with traumatic intracranial hematomas [32], increased anaerobic cerebral metabolism was observed when CjvO₂ decreased below 3 μ mol/mL. This value of CjvO₂ corresponds to an SjvO₂ of 50 %. In the first 5-10days after TBI, the SjvO₂ is higher, averaging 68.1±9.7% (range, 32–96%) [10]. In general, an SjvO₂ less than 50 % indicates cerebral ischemia and an SjvO₂ greater than 75% indicates cerebral ischemia.

Figure 14.4 presents a suggested approach to the management of low SjvO₂. Briefly, before



Fig. 14.4 A suggested approach to the management of low SjvO₂ value

any intervention, the low SjvO₂ value should be confirmed by a laboratory co-oximetry. Low $SivO_2$ can result from (1) increased cerebral metabolic activity (due to seizures or fever), or (2) decreased oxygen availability (due to hypoxia, anemia, excessive hyperventilation, hypotension, intracranial hypertension, or vasospasm). The decrease in SjvO₂ associated with cerebral ischemia is nonlinear such that a minimal decrease in SjvO₂ is seen initially when CBF is near normal, becoming more steep as CBF drops below 35-40 mL/100 g/min. In normal humans, the $SjvO_2$ has been noted to remain unchanged with normovolemic hemodilution decreasing the hematocrit to 26% [33]. Following brain injury, the lower limit of autoregulation of CBF is shifted to the right, resulting in marked decreases in CBF with relatively minor changes in blood pressure or cerebral perfusion pressure [4]. In anesthetized individuals, the effects of anesthetic agents on CBF also need to be considered in the differential. For example, propofol anesthesia maintains the coupling between CBF and metabolism but in conjunction with hyperventilation can cause jugular venous desaturation [34]. Conversely, volatile anesthetic agents cause flow-metabolism "uncoupling" leading to an increase in SjvO₂ [35].

Cerebral hyperemia (SjvO₂ >75%) can occur due to intracranial arteriovenous malformations or because of therapeutic hypothermia /sedation to produce burst suppression. High SjvO₂ may be treated with controlled moderate hyperventilation or hemodynamic control. Importantly, however, the SjvO₂ may be elevated due to cerebral infarction. The therapeutic interventions in response to abnormal SjvO₂ values should be made considering information obtained from other monitors simultaneously.

Clinical Applications of SjvO₂ Monitoring

Jugular oximetry has important applications in intensive care as well intraoperatively during neurosurgery and cardiac surgery.

Intensive Care Unit Uses of Jugular Venous Oximetry

Monitoring of $SjvO_2$ is a useful part of a multimodal monitoring approach. Because it has a low accuracy to detect regional ischemia, it is most useful in patients with global abnormalities. Select applications of jugular oximetry in the intensive care setting are discussed next.

Traumatic Brain Injury

Patients with severe TBI are susceptible to cerebral ischemia from secondary insults. However, hemodynamic monitoring alone is not sensitive enough to monitor cerebral oxygenation. Consequently, the current guidelines provide a Level III recommendation for the use of SjvO₂ and brain tissue oxygen monitoring, in addition to standard intracranial pressure monitors, in the management of patients with severe TBI [36]. Patients with a severe TBI without jugular venous desaturation episodes have significantly lower mortalities and a greater chance of a good recovery compared with patients with one or multiple desaturation episodes [37, 38]. Cerebral desaturation occurs in TBI patients due to treatable systemic (hypotension, hypoxia, hypocarbia, anemia) as well as cerebral (elevated ICP, vasospasm) causes. Episodes of desaturation are common, particularly in the first 48 h after injury, and monitoring SjvO₂ provides an early diagnosis of ischemia resulting from either intracranial or systemic causes [39–42]. High SjvO₂ values have also been associated with poor outcome [43]. Monitoring SjvO₂ also helps optimizing hyperventilation therapy [40, 41], fluid management and oxygenation [40, 44], and cerebral perfusion [4]. Patients with traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) may develop cerebral vasospasm and, in conjunction with transcranial Doppler, jugular oximetry can help differentiate between hyperemia from vasospasm. It is also useful in prognostication [45]. In fact, the number of $SjvO_2$ desaturations might be associated with outcome more strongly than other clinical and radiological features [46]. Importantly, however, while in the brain areas without focal pathology, there is generally a good correlation between changes in SjvO₂ and brain tissue oxygenation; in areas with focal pathology, there may be no correlation between the two [18]. Hence, brain tissue monitoring may provide additional information. According to the consensus statement of the Neurocritical Care Society

regarding use of multimodality monitoring, $SjvO_2$ monitoring should be part of a multimodal monitoring approach and used at least in combination with ICP monitoring. $SjvO_2$ therapy in isolation does not improve the outcome of severe TBI patients and so $SjvO_2$ -based therapy alone should not be used after TBI [47].

Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Serial SjvO₂ measurements in SAH patients may be helpful in identifying episodes of cerebral desaturation and instituting appropriate therapy. A series of 26 patients with 354 observations reported 10% desaturation episodes [48]. The ICP was significantly higher during the episodes of low SjvO₂ and lower PaCO₂ and cerebral perfusion pressures were frequently observed in association with low $SivO_2$ [48]. Moreover, increases in AVDO₂ can be predictive of clinically evident vasospasm in the subsequent hours to days [49]. According to the consensus statement of the Neurocritical Care Society, there are few data on how SjvO₂ monitoring may help manage secondary brain damage in patients with coma after SAH, intracerebral hemorrhage, and large ischemic stroke [47].

Intracranial Arteriovenous Malformation

Jugular oximetry is potentially useful in the assessment of adequacy of preoperative embolization in decreasing blood flow through large supratentorial arteriovenous malformations. When SjvO₂ decreases after preoperative embolization, indicating a decrease in shunting of blood, hyperemic complications occur less often after surgical resection [50]. Normal perfusion pressure breakthrough and hyperemia can occur after resection of the arteriovenous malformation, and the use of SjvO₂ monitoring has been described for timely identification of hyperemia and the institution of antihypertensive therapy to prevent breakthrough bleeding [51].

Intraoperative Uses of Jugular Venous Oximetry

Neurosurgical Anesthesia

Patients undergoing neurosurgical procedures are likely to have impaired cerebral autoregulation and, hence, may be susceptible to intraoperative cerebral ischemia [52]. Despite apparently "normal" blood pressure, cerebral oxygenation may be inadequate if the blood pressure is below the lower limit of cerebral autoregulation [53]. A modest decrease of blood pressure may lead to a significant decrease in SjvO₂ and increasing the blood pressure to a level above the lower limit of cerebral autoregulation by titrated infusion of vasopressors normalizes SjvO₂ [8]. Jugular oximetry is used to guide the determination of the minimum blood pressure that should be maintained to avoid global cerebral hypoperfusion during intracranial aneurysm surgery [54]. Moreover, hyperventilation in adult patients with intracranial tumors anesthetized with propofol may be associated with the risk of cerebral desaturation due to synergistic cerebral vasoconstrictive properties [37]. Monitoring SjvO₂ is helpful in titrating hyperventilation to accomplish brain relaxation by cerebral vasoconstriction within safe limits [6, 8]. In a series of 100 craniotomies in adult patients, SjvO₂ monitoring was helpful in detecting and treating episodes of cerebral desaturation in 60% of patients with aneurysms, 72% with intracranial hematomas, and 50% with tumors [6]. Another series of 19 children who underwent craniotomy for arteriovenous malformation resection, tumor removal, or aneurysm clipping noted that 11 (58%) patients experienced at least one episode of cerebral desaturation intraoperatively [8]. There were 25 episodes of cerebral desaturation, six of which were attributed to relative hypotension, four to hypocarbia, and 15 to a combination of both [8]. Essentially, intraoperative jugular venous oximetry allows monitoring of cerebral oxygenation during craniotomy without interfering with the surgical field and can guide anesthetic interventions such as hyperventilation, management of perfusion pressure, fluids, and oxygenation to optimize the cerebral physiology [4, 6, 8].

Cardiac Surgery

Postoperative cognitive decline in patients undergoing cardiac surgery is well recognized. Croughwell et al. [55] first reported a 23 % incidence of SjvO₂ less than 50 % during normothermic CPB, which was associated with lower CBF [7]. The desaturation is commonly associated with rewarming in preparation for separating from CPB [55, 56]. Subsequently, it was observed that patients who had desaturation during CPB had a greater decline in cognitive function after surgery [55]. During CPB, changes in the ratio between CBF and CMRO₂ can be detected by monitoring SivO₂. These changes are largely unpredictable and vary widely from patient to patient. Close monitoring of SjvO₂ in individual patients may allow better care of the brain during cardiac surgery [57]. Jugular bulb oximetry enables detection of periods of desaturation, which may indicate the need for appropriate intervention [58]. However, over the last several years, cerebral oximetry using near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) has become increasingly popular and preferred during cardiac surgery compared with jugular oximetry.

During CPBSurgery, changes in the ratio between CBF and CMRO₂ can be detected by monitoring SjO₂. These changes are largely unpredictable and vary widely from patient to patient. Close monitoring of SjO₂ in individual patients may allow better care of the brain during cardiac surgery. Jugular bulb oximetry is feasible, practical, and beneficial for patients undergoing CPB. It enables detection of periods of desaturation, which may indicate the need for appropriate intervention, and, in combination with arterial oxygen content, allows the calculation of AVDO₂.

Limitations

Several limitations of jugular venous oximetry exist.

 It monitors the balance between global CBF and CMRO₂. Regional ischemia can therefore be present despite normal SjvO₂. Also, mixing of blood from both sides may not be adequate and the blood from the ischemic areas may drain into the jugular bulb not being monitored.

- 2. The caudad migration of the catheter may cause false high readings of SjvO₂ due to contamination by extracranial blood.
- As CBF decreases, the amount of extracranial contamination may become proportionately greater resulting in falsely high readings.

Conclusion

Jugular venous oximetry is able to provide valuable information to optimize and individualize hemodynamic and ventilator parameters in patients at risk of neurologic injury and can also guide titration of pharmacologic agents. Careful patient selection and assessment of risk/benefit should be performed prior to jugular bulb cannulation.

References¹

- Schell RM, Cole DJ. Cerebral monitoring: jugular venous oximetry. Anesth Analg. 2000;90:559–66.
- Macmillan CS, Andrews PJ, Easton VJ. Increased jugular bulb saturation is associated with poor outcome in traumatic brain injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2001;70:101–4.
- *Pérez A, Minces PG, Schnitzler EJ, Agosta GE, Medina SA, Ciraolo CA. Jugular venous oxygen saturation or arteriovenous difference of lactate content and outcome in children with severe traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2003;4:33–8.
- *Chan KH, Miller JD, Dearden NM, Andrews PJ, Midgley S. The effect of changes in cerebral perfusion pressure upon middle cerebral artery blood flow velocity and jugular bulb venous oxygen saturation after severe brain injury. J Neurosurg. 1992;77: 55–61.
- Skippen P, Seear M, Poskitt K, Kestle J, Cochrane D, Annich G, Handel J. Effect of hyperventilation on regional cerebral blood flow in head-injured children. Crit Care Med. 1997;25:1402–9.
- *Matta BF, Lam AM, Mayberg TS, Shapira Y, Winn HR. A critique of the intraoperative use of jugular venous bulb catheters during neurosurgical procedures. Anesth Analg. 1994;79:745–50.

- *Moss E, Dearden NM, Berridge JC. Effects of changes in mean arterial pressure on SjO₂ during cerebral aneurysm surgery. Br J Anaesth. 1995;75:527–30.
- Sharma D, Siriussawakul A, Dooney N, Hecker JG, Vavilala MS. Clinical experience with intraoperative jugular venous oximetry during pediatric intracranial neurosurgery. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23:84–90.
- Gibbs EL, Lennox WG, Nims LF, Gibbs FA. Arterial and cerebral venous blood: arterial venous difference in man. J Biol Chem. 1942;325–32.
- *Feldman Z, Robertson CS. Monitoring of cerebral hemodynamics with jugular bulb catheters. Crit Care Clin. 1997;13:51–77.
- Gibbs EL, Gibbs FA. Bilateral internal jugular blood: comparison of A-V differences, oxygen-dextrose ratios and respiratory quotients. Anat Rec. 1934;59:419–26.
- Shenkin HA, Harmel MH, Kety SS. Dynamic anatomy of the cerebral circulation. Arch Neurol Psychiatry. 1948;60:240–52.
- Cormio M, Robertson CS. Ultrasound is a reliable method for determining jugular bulb dominance. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2001;13:250–4.
- Adams WM, Jones RL, Chavda SV, Pahor AL. CT assessment of jugular foramen dominance and its association with hand preference. J Laryngol Otol. 1997;111:290–2.
- Stocchetti N, Paparella A, Bridelli F, Bacchi M, Piazza P, Zuccoli P. Cerebral venous oxygen saturation studied with bilateral samples in the internal jugular veins. Neurosurgery. 1994;34:38–43.
- 16. Bankier AA, Fleischmann D, Windisch A, Germann P, Petritschek W, Wiesmayr MN, Hübsch P. Position of jugular oxygen saturation catheter in patients with head trauma: assessment by use of plain films. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1995;164:437–41.
- Lam JM, Chan MS, Poon WS. Cerebral venous oxygen saturation monitoring: is dominant jugular bulb cannulation good enough? Br J Neurosurg. 1996;10:357–64.
- Gupta AK, Hutchinson PJ, Al-Rawi P, Gupta S, Swart M, Kirkpatrick PJ, Menon DK, Datta AK. Measuring brain tissue oxygenation compared with jugular venous oxygen saturation for monitoring cerebral oxygenation after traumatic brain injury. Anesth Analg. 1999;88:549–53.
- Coplin WM, O'Keefe GE, Grady MS, Grant GA, March KS, Winn HR, Lam AM. Accuracy of continuous jugular bulb oximetry in the intensive care unit. Neurosurgery. 1998;42:533–9.
- Gunn HC, Matta BF, Lam AM, Mayberg TS. Accuracy of continuous jugular bulb venous oximetry during intracranial surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1995;7:174–7.
- Lewis SB, Myburgh JA, Reilly PL. Detection of cerebral venous desaturation by continuous jugular bulb oximetry following acute neurotrauma. Anaesth Intensive Care. 1995;23:307–14.
- 22. Souter MJ, Andrews PJ. Validation of the Edslab dual lumen oximetry catheter for continuous monitoring of

¹ Asterisks indicate key references.

jugular bulb oxygen saturation after severe head injury. Br J Anaesth. 1996;76:744–6.

- 23. Millar SA, Alston RP, Souter MJ, Andrews PJ. Continuous monitoring of jugular bulb oxyhaemoglobin saturation using the Edslab dual lumen oximetry catheter during and after cardiac surgery. Br J Anaesth. 1999;82:521–4.
- Matta BF, Lam AM. The rate of blood withdrawal affects the accuracy of jugular venous bulb. Oxygen saturation measurements. Anesthesiology. 1997;86:806–8.
- Jakobsen M, Enevoldsen E. Retrograde catheterization of the right internal jugular vein for serial measurements of cerebral venous oxygen content. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1989;9:717–20.
- Fumagalli P, Lusenti F, Martini C, Massei R. Retrograde cannulation of the jugular vein: erroneous positioning of the catheter in the subarachnoid space. Br J Anaesth. 1995;74:345–6.
- Gemma M, Tommasino C, Cipriani A, Calvi MR, Gerevini S. Cannulation of the cervical epidural venous plexus: a rare complication of retrograde internal jugular vein catheterization. Anesthesiology. 1999;90:308–11.
- Goetting MG, Preston G. Jugular bulb catheterization does not increase intracranial pressure. Intensive Care Med. 1991;17:195–8.
- Chieregato A, Calzolari F, Trasforini G, Targa L, Latronico N. Normal jugular bulb oxygen saturation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74:784–6.
- Lennox WG, Gibbs FA, Gibbs EL. Relationship of unconsciousness to cerebral blood flow and to anoxemia. Arch Neurol Psychiatry. 1935;34:1001–13.
- Sapire KJ, Gopinath SP, Farhat G, Thakar DR, Gabrielli A, Jones JW, et al. Cerebral oxygenation during warming after cardiopulmonary bypass. Crit Care Med. 1997;25:1655–62.
- Gopinath SP, Cormio M, Ziegler J, Raty S, Valadka A, Robertson CS. Intraoperative jugular desaturation during surgery for traumatic intracranial hematomas. Anesth Analg. 1996;83:1014–21.
- Paulson OB, Parving HH, Olesen J, Skinhoj E. Influence of carbon monoxide and of hemodilution on cerebral blood flow and blood gases in man. J Appl Physiol. 1973;35:111–6.
- 34. Kawano Y, Kawaguchi M, Inoue S, Horiuchi T, Sakamoto T, Yoshitani K, Furuya H, Sakaki T. Jugular bulb oxygen saturation under propofol or sevoflurane/ nitrous oxide anesthesia during deliberate mild hypothermia in neurosurgical patients. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2004;16:6–10.
- 35. Petersen KD, Landsfeldt U, Cold GE, Petersen CB, Mau S, Hauerberg J, Holst P, Olsen KS. Intracranial pressure and cerebral hemodynamic in patients with cerebral tumors: a randomized prospective study of patients subjected to craniotomy in propofol-fentanyl, isoflurane-fentanyl, or sevoflurane-fentanyl anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 2003;98:329–36.
- 36. Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, et al. Guidelines for the management of

severe traumatic brain injury. IX. Cerebral perfusion thresholds. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24 Suppl 1:S59–64.

- Robertson C. Desaturation episodes after severe head injury: influence on outcome. Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien). 1993;59:98–101.
- Robertson CS, Gopinath SP, Goodman JC, Contant CF, Valadka AB, Narayan RK. SjvO₂ monitoring in headinjured patients. J Neurotrauma. 1995;12:891–6.
- 39. Gupta AK, Hutchinson PJ, Al-Rawi P, Gupta S, Swart M, Kirkpatrick PJ, et al. Measuring brain tissue oxygenation compared with jugular venous oxygen saturation for monitoring cerebral oxygenation after traumatic brain injury. Anesth Analg. 1999;88:549–53.
- 40. Thiagarajan A, Goverdhan PD, Chari P, Somasunderam K. The effect of hyperventilation and hyperoxia on cerebral venous oxygen saturation in patients with traumatic brain injury. Anesth Analg. 1998;87:850–3.
- 41. Lewis SB, Myburgh JA, Thornton EL, Reilly PL. Cerebral oxygenation monitoring by near-infrared spectroscopy is not clinically useful in patients with severe closed-head injury: a comparison with jugular venous bulb oximetry. Crit Care Med. 1996;24:1334–8.
- 42. Fortune JB, Feustel PJ, Graca L, Hasselbarth J, Kuehler DH. Effect of hyperventilation, mannitol, and ventriculostomy drainage on cerebral blood flow after head injury. J Trauma. 1995;39:1091–9.
- Cormio M, Valadka AB, Robertson CS. Elevated jugular venous oxygen saturation after severe head injury. J Neurosurg. 1999;90:9–15.
- 44. Matta BF, Lam AM, Mayberg TS. The influence of arterial oxygenation on cerebral venous oxygen saturation during hyperventilation. Can J Anaesth. 1994;41:1041–6.
- 45. Gopinath SP, Robertson CS, Contant CF, Hayes C, Feldman Z, Narayan RK, Grossman RG. Jugular venous desaturation and outcome after head injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1994;57:717–23.
- 46. Fandino J, Stocker R, Prokop S, Trentz O, Imhof HG. Cerebral oxygenation and systemic trauma related factors determining neurological outcome after brain injury. J Clin Neurosci. 2000;7:226–33.
- 47. Le Roux P, Menon DK, Citerio G, Vespa P, Bader MK, Brophy G, et al. The International Multidisciplinary Consensus Conference on Multimodality Monitoring in Neurocritical Care: a list of recommendations and additional conclusions: a statement for healthcare professionals from the Neurocritical Care Society and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Neurocrit Care. 2014;21(Suppl 2):S282–96.
- Citerio G, Cormio M, Portella G, Vascotto E, Galli D, Gaini SM. Jugular saturation (SjvO₂) monitoring in subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Acta Neurochir Suppl. 1998;71:316–9.
- Heran NS, Hentschel SJ, Toyota BD. Jugular bulb oximetry for prediction of vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Can J Neurol Sci. 2004;31:80–6.
- Katayama Y, Tsubokawa T, Hirayama T, Himi K. Continuous monitoring of jugular bulb oxygen satu-

ration as a measure of the shunt flow of cerebral arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1994;80:826–33.

- Kimiwada T, Kamii H, Tominaga T, Kato M. A case of hyperemia during arteriovenous malformation surgery controlled with beta-blocker and jugular bulb oxygen saturation (SjO₂) monitoring. Masui. 2003;52:1074–8.
- 52. Sharma D, Bithal PK, Dash HH, Chouhan RS, Sookplung P, Vavilala MS. Cerebral autoregulation and CO₂ reactivity before and after elective supratentorial tumor resection. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2010;22:132–7.
- Sharma D, Ellenbogen RG, Vavilala MS. Use of transcranial Doppler ultrasonography and jugular oximetry to optimize hemodynamics during pediatric posterior fossa craniotomy. J Clin Neurosci. 2010;17:1583–4.
- Croughwell ND, Frasco P, Blumenthal JA, Leone BJ, White WD, Reves JG. Warming during cardiopulmonary bypass is associated with jugular bulb desaturation. Ann Thorac Surg. 1992;53:827–32.
- 55. Croughwell ND, Newman MF, Blumenthal JA, White WD, Lewis JB, Frasco PE, et al. Jugular bulb saturation and cognitive dysfunction after cardiopulmonary bypass. Ann Thorac Surg. 1994;58:1702–8.
- 56. Nakajima T, Kuro M, Hayashi Y, Kitaguchi K, Uchida O, Takaki O. Clinical evaluation of cerebral oxygen balance during cardiopulmonary bypass: on-line continuous monitoring of jugular venous oxyhemoglobin saturation. Anesth Analg. 1992;74:630–5.
- Shaaban Ali M, Harmer M, Latto I. Jugular bulb oximetry during cardiac surgery. Anaesthesia. 2001;56:24–37.

Suggested Reading

- Chan KH, Miller JD, Dearden NM, Andrews PJ, Midgley S. The effect of changes in cerebral perfusion pressure upon middle cerebral artery blood flow velocity and jugular bulb venous oxygen saturation after severe brain injury. J Neurosurg. 1992;77:55–61.
- Feldman Z, Robertson CS. Monitoring of cerebral hemodynamics with jugular bulb catheters. Crit Care Clin. 1997;13:51–77.
- Gibbs EL, Lennox WG, Nims LF, Gibbs FA. Arterial and cerebral venous blood: arterial venous difference in man. J Biol Chem. 1942:325–32.
- Gopinath SP, Cormio M, Ziegler J, Raty S, Valadka A, Robertson CS. Intraoperative jugular desaturation during surgery for traumatic intracranial hematomas. Anesth Analg. 1996;83:1014–21.
- Gopinath SP, Robertson CS, Contant CF, Hayes C, Feldman Z, Narayan RK, Grossman RG. Jugular venous desaturation and outcome after head injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1994;57:717–23.
- Gunn HC, Matta BF, Lam AM, Mayberg TS. Accuracy of continuous jugular bulb venous oximetry during intracranial surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1995;7:174–7.

- Gupta AK, Hutchinson PJ, Al-Rawi P, Gupta S, Swart M, Kirkpatrick PJ, et al. Measuring brain tissue oxygenation compared with jugular venous oxygen saturation for monitoring cerebral oxygenation after traumatic brain injury. Anesth Analg, 1999;88:549–53.
- Katayama Y, Tsubokawa T, Hirayama T, Himi K. Continuous monitoring of jugular bulb oxygen saturation as a measure of the shunt flow of cerebral arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1994;80:826–33.
- Le Roux P, Menon DK, Citerio G, Vespa P, Bader MK, Brophy G, et al. The International Multidisciplinary Consensus Conference on Multimodality Monitoring in Neurocritical Care: a list of recommendations and additional conclusions: a statement for healthcare professionals from the Neurocritical Care Society and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Neurocrit Care. 2014;21 Suppl 2:S282–96.
- Matta BF, Lam AM. The rate of blood withdrawal affects the accuracy of jugular venous bulb. Oxygen saturation measurements. Anesthesiology. 1997;86:806–8.
- Matta BF, Lam AM, Mayberg TS, et al. A critique of the intraoperative use of jugular venous bulb catheters during neurosurgical procedures. Anesth Analg. 1994;79:745–50.
- Moss E, Dearden NM, Berridge JC. Effects of changes in mean arterial pressure on SjO₂ during cerebral aneurysm surgery. Br J Anaesth. 1995;75:527–30.
- Pérez A, Minces PG, Schnitzler EJ, Agosta GE, Medina SA, Ciraolo CA. Jugular venous oxygen saturation or arteriovenous difference of lactate content and outcome in children with severe traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2003;4:33–8.
- Robertson CS, Gopinath SP, Goodman JC, Contant CF, Valadka AB, Narayan RK. SjvO₂ monitoring in headinjured patients. J Neurotrauma. 1995;12:891–6.
- Sharma D, Siriussawakul A, Dooney N, Hecker JG, Vavilala MS. Clinical experience with intraoperative jugular venous oximetry during pediatric intracranial neurosurgery. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23:84–90.

Questions

- 1. Which of the following is correct regarding jugular venous oximetry?
 - Continuous fiberoptic jugular oximetry is more accurate and reliable than sampling by laboratory co-oximetry
 - b. Jugular bulb catheter should routinely be inserted on the right side
 - c. There is a high risk of carotid artery injury during the insertion of jugular bulb catheter
 - d. Jugular bulb catheter does not increase intracranial pressure by obstructing the cerebral venous drainage

- 2. Which of the following is NOT correct regarding jugular venous oximetry?
 - a. It is helpful in optimizing blood pressure and ventilation parameters intraoperatively.
 - b. $SjvO_2 < 50\%$ predicts poor outcome in patients with severe traumatic brain injury.
 - c. It is sensitive to focal cerebral ischemia.
 - d. None of the above.
- 3. Determination of the dominant cerebral venous drainage to decide the side to be cannulated for jugular venous oximetry should be based on which of the following?
 - a. Visualizing the venous phase of cerebral angiogram
 - b. Comparing the diameters of both IJVs using ultrasound
 - c. Comparing the sizes of both jugular foramen on computed tomography
 - d. Any of the above
- All of the following conditions are likely to cause low SjvO₂ values on jugular oximetry EXCEPT

- a. Normal perfusion pressure breakthrough after resection of intracranial arteriovenous malformation
- b. Hyperventilation therapy in traumatic brain injury
- c. Hypotension during aneurysm surgery
- d. Severe anemia
- 5. Differential diagnosis of an increase in SjvO₂ value should include all EXCEPT
 - a. Cerebral vasospasm
 - b. Burst suppression
 - c. Caudad drift of the jugular bulb catheter tip
 - d. Hypothermia

Answers

- 1. d
- 2. c
- 3. d
- 4. a
- 5. a

Intracranial Pressure Monitoring

15

Ross Martini, Andrea Orfanakis, and Ansgar Brambrink

Key Learning Points

- The consequences of intracranial hypertension on cerebral perfusion and overall outcome may be severe; patients with prolonged or severe elevations in ICP are at risk for poor neurologic outcome and mortality.
- Several modalities of ICP monitoring exist, the most common being the intraventricular catheter. Risks of intraventricular catheter placement include development of tract hemorrhage, infection, ventriculitis, and upward herniation from overdrainage of cerebrospinal fluid.

A. Orfanakis, M.D. Oregon Anesthesiology Group, Anesthesiology, Critical Care Medicine—Anesthesia, 3181 SW Sam Jackson Park Rd, Portland, OR 97239, USA e-mail: orfanaka@ohsu.edu

Department of Anesthesiology, Columbia University College of Physicians & Surgeons, 630 West 168th Street, New York, NY 10032, USA e-mail: brambrin@ohsu.edu

- Parenchymal pressure sensors are also commonly used in patients with TBI. There is a reduced risk of infection and bleeding with parenchymal monitors, but no ability to treat hydrocephalus.
- Accuracy of intraventricular and intraparenchymal ICP monitoring is equivalent. Both monitors may fail to identify regional intracranial hypertension, especially in the infratentorium.
- Interventions to reduce ICP should begin when ICP is higher than 15–20 mmHg for more than 5 min, and interventions to raise CPP should begin when CPP is lower than 50 mmHg.
- The ICP waveform contains two arterial pulsations, P1 and P2, and a venous wave, P3. The mean ICP and arterial pulsation amplitude reflect the degree of intracranial hypertension.
- Characteristics of the waveform morphology may suggest subtle changes in intracranial compliance or autoregulatory capacity.
- Rising of the P2 waveform beyond P1 may be an early sign of decreased intracranial compliance that precedes an elevation in the mean ICP.
- The RAP is the correlation coefficient (R) between the amplitude of the arterial pulsation (A) and the mean pressure (P) and reflects compensatory reserve to additional changes in intracranial volume.

R. Martini, M.D. (🖂)

Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, Oregon Health and Science University Hospital, 3181 SW Sam Jackson Park Road, Portland, OR 97239, USA e-mail: martinir@ohsu.edu

A. Brambrink, M.D.

Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_15

- Pressure reactivity (PRx) is a measurement of the response of ICP to slow changes in arterial blood pressure. PRx reflects autoregulatory capacity.
- ICP monitoring is a component of CPP-guided management for patients with TBI. Other monitors of cerebral perfusion may be utilized such as brain tissue oxygen monitoring and cerebral microdialysis.

Introduction

The cranium is uniquely intolerant to changes in volume. Under normal physiologic conditions, tissue cells, blood, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) maintain a consistent presence within the cranium and spinal cord areas. The relationship between components of the cranium and the pressure created by their presence is defined by the Monro–Kellie doctrine [1]. When any single component increases, the other two have a limited capacity to accommodate by shifting into accessory spaces so as to avoid a rise in intracranial pressure (ICP). Once that capacity to buffer is reached, very small increases in volume produce an exponential rise in pressure (Fig. 15.1). When ICP is elevated, the cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) decreases (CPP=ICP-MAP; MAP=mean arterial pressure), oxygen delivery is compromised, and ischemia may result. With critical elevations in ICP, brain tissue may herniate across dural or bony boundaries and precipitate life-threatening cerebral or brainstem ischemia [2] (Fig. 15.2).

The question of when to monitor ICP with an invasive device, as opposed to clinical presentation alone, has been a topic of vigorous debate. Numerous studies in recent decades have demonstrated that raised ICP in both adult and pediatric traumatic brain injury (TBI) is associated with poor outcomes [3]. ICP monitoring is also commonly utilized in patients with mass-occupying lesions, hydrocephalus, or cerebral edema, but formal guidelines exist only for patients with TBI. Whether monitoring ICP with a device can change outcomes while avoiding undue risk from

the monitor itself is the real question. No randomized controlled trial exists to date that demonstrates a clear outcome benefit for patients with ICP monitoring and ICP monitor-guided therapy. Several cohorts and observational databases have demonstrated a trend toward improved outcome in high-risk populations, which prompted the Brain Trauma Foundation (BTF) to publish guidelines in 2007 for ICP monitoring in TBI based on the benefits seen in this trend [4]. The BTF recommends placement of an ICP monitor in all TBI patients who may be salvageable and who have an abnormal head CT, with the goal of using this information to optimize CPP. In addition, the BTF recommends establishing a guideline-based approach to treatment of raised ICP. Such a guideline-based approach, or protocol-driven management, has been shown to decrease both mortality and hospital costs while not increasing the numbers of disabled survivors. In recent years, many investigators have questioned the utility of ICP monitoring to guide patient management in subsets of high-risk patients such as the elderly [5]. A randomized trial of ICP monitoring vs. imaging and clinical examination-guided management in 2012 also found no outcome benefit of ICP monitoring [6]. Many have questioned its generalizability to TBI management in the developed world, while others suggest the study indicates that ICP monitoring is an important component of multimodal monitoring of perfusion after TBI [7]. The BTF guidelines continue to recommend ICP monitoring for guiding clinical management.

The intraventricular catheter (IVC), often termed EVD for extraventricular drain, is the commonly held "gold standard" for ICP monitoring. The catheter measures global ICP, which is transmitted to the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) filled ventricle and from there to fluid-filled tubing, which interfaces with a standard external transducer (Fig. 15.3). Alternatively, the catheter may contain a transducer within the lumen itself. Accurate interpretation of ICP by a ventricular catheter assumes an unobstructed connection between all CSF-containing compartments and free flow of fluid. The intraventricular catheter is introduced into the frontal horn of the lateral ventricle via a **Fig. 15.1** Graphical representation of the Monro– Kellie doctrine. Any increase in a single component of intracranial volume (blood, cerebrospinal fluid [CSF], tissue) must be matched by a decrease in another if intracranial pressure (ICP) is to be maintained. When an intracranial mass or edema expands beyond the buffering capacity of venous blood and CSF, ICP will rise



Fig. 15.2 Cerebral blood flow (CBF) is maintained at a constant state when cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) is between approximately 50 and 150 mmHg. This steady state of flow is provided by an intact autoregulation system. Above or below 50 and 150 mmHg, CBF is proportional to CPP. A PaO₂ below 50 mmHg produces a significant increase in CBF. PaCO₂ increases CBF by approximately 1 mL/100 g/min for every 1 mmHg increase in CO2. Increase in ICP can decrease CBF by decreasing CPP. CPP=MAP-ICP



percutaneous route through a twist drill or burr hole made at Kocher's point. Ideal positioning of the tip is in the ventricle, contralateral to the cerebral hemisphere with the disease-producing mass effect (Fig. 15.4). If the disease process leads to significant midline shift and effacement of the contralateral ventricle, then the catheter should be placed in the ventricle located within the hemisphere harboring disease to avoid worsening midline shift. The IVC transducer systems should be calibrated to a zero reference point at the foramen of Monroe, which conveniently coincides with the



Fig. 15.3 An intraventricular drain placed in a patient following subarachnoid hemorrhage complicated by hydrocephalus



Fig. 15.4 Noncontrasted computed tomography (CT) of the head demonstrating correct placement of an IVC with the tip located in the lateral ventricle. Effacement of the ventricles is a relative contraindication to placement of an intraventricular catheter (IVC) or can be a sign of overd-rainage of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) when an IVC is already present. The IVC tip may also become entrapped in a collapsed ventricle, or displaced into the brain parenchyma, causing inaccurate measurement of ICP

external auditory meatus. The IVC can be zeroed repeatedly after placement, which is in contrast to some intraparenchymal devices that cannot be recalibrated after insertion. The particular advantage of the IVC results from the option to use the ventricular catheter as a diagnostic and therapeutic tool. For example, in the event of malignant increases in ICP, the intraventricular catheter can be used to drain CSF, thereby decreasing pressure [8]. The dual utility has promoted the IVC to be the favored monitor in many neuroscience intensive care units. Additionally, the IVC can be used to administer pharmacotherapies such as antibiotics or thrombolytics as well as to provide for easy sampling of CSF for laboratory investigations.

Risks associated with placement of an IVC include bleeding and damage to eloquent tissues along the track toward the ventricle. In a coagulopathic patient, the risk of bleeding could produce high morbidity or even mortality and placement may be contraindicated. Multiple passes, in an attempt to place an IVC, can cause measurable tissue damage and only experienced providers should attempt to place this catheter. Risks also exist in transport or repositioning of a patient with an IVC. Unless a patient is in immediate danger of herniation, the IVC should remain clamped during transport or during significant patient repositioning to prevent inadvertent overdrainage of CSF and subsequent upward herniation (Fig. 15.5). It is best to secure the drain manifold to an IV pole. To prevent infection, the drain should never rest on the floor. Once the patient has been appropriately positioned, the catheter should be leveled to the external auditory meatus, unclamped and the IVC waveform transduced.

Intracranial processes that lead to complete effacement of the ventricular system are considered contraindications to the IVC. In addition to the difficulty and risks with placement, information gathered from IVC monitoring in such scenario will be of limited value, as accurate ICP measurements via an IVC are dependent on the presence of CSF and unobstructed flow of fluid throughout the ventricular system to deliver accurate information. Risks associated with maintaining an IVC are largely centered on CSF infection. Catheters remaining longer than 5 days are at especially increased risk for infection; some studies report an incidence as high as 1-5%. As with any device, care should be taken to maintain the highest level of sterility, utilize closed systems, and avoid any unnecessary sampling from the catheter. Compared with the intra-



Fig. 15.5 (a) An intraventricular catheter (IVC) placed in a patient with a diagnosis of long-standing hydrocephalus. (b) The same IVC was left unclamped prior to transport.

Neurologic deterioration was noted on examination and an emergent head CT demonstrated significant overdrainage of cerebrospinal fluid and ventricular collapse

parenchymal devices (discussed later), the IVC carries a much higher risk for infection [3, 9]. The added risk for the IVC comes from the column of fluid, which connects the hospital environment to the intraventricular system and provides a pathway for introduction of all manner of pathogens. In addition, the IVC system can be opened for sampling of fluid or administration of drugs, which incorporates risks that can be compared in principle with those of other indwelling catheters, e.g., central venous catheters.

Parenchymal devices to measure ICP can provide excellent diagnostic information and may be favored in clinical scenarios where an IVC is Several contraindicated. intraparenchymal devices are in use today. Each is placed directly into the brain tissue via a support bolt or tunneled subcutaneously before entering the brain via a burr hole. The Codman® microsensor (DePuy Synthes, Massachusetts, USA) is a miniature strain gauge that senses changes in pressure as an alteration in resistance across the tip. The Camino® (Integra LifeSciences Corporation, New Jersey, USA) is a fiber-optic device that senses pressure change as an alteration in a beam of transmitted light (Fig. 15.6). Both systems involve placement of a small system-specific probe into the brain parenchyma and with that carry similar risks and associated errors in interpretation. The risk of infection is much lower with intraparenchymal devices when compared with the IVC. Bleeding risks associated with the intraparenchymal devices may also be lower and therefore preferred when compared with the IVC in a patient with irreversible coagulopathy. Placement of the intraparenchymal device causes much less tissue damage and therefore less of a need for optimal coagulation physiology.

Information provided by both the IVC and parenchymal monitors is limited in that ICP is only measured in a relatively localized area of brain tissue [4]. Global ICP may not be reflected evenly throughout the cranium, particularly in the infratentorial vs. supratentorial cavities, as well as between right vs. left hemispheres (e.g., an IVC in the lateral horn may not accurately measure ICP in the posterior fossa). This type of variability has been well documented in studies comparing bilateral vs. unilateral cranial moni-Localized ICP toring. provided by space-occupying lesion may be physiologically devastating while causing little increase in global ICP such as the case in more subtle herniation syndromes.



Fig. 15.6 Intraparenchymal fiber-optic monitor Camino® (Integra Lifescience, New Jersey, USA). This monitor is placed through a burr hole with the monitor tip in an intraparenchymal position

Each of the two parenchymal systems (Codman®; Camino®) must be zeroed prior to placement of the probe and cannot be re-zeroed again while in situ. Baseline drift was a problem in the earlier versions, but mechanical advances have decreased the importance of this variable. Recent large cohort studies have verified the reliability of these newer models, specifically concluding that the small drift phenomenon that still remains was not clinically relevant for patient management [10]. A third type of device, produced by Raumedic © (Munchberg, Germany), the Neurovent-P, is an advanced probe that provides data on ICP, temperature, and brain tissue oxygenation. This is similar to the LICOX® system from Integra LifeSciences. These multimodality devices may well be the next forefront in ICP monitoring.

Several intraparenchymal device systems were also designed for possible placement in subdural and epidural locations. These monitors are not widely used clinically due to poor accuracy [4]. Lumbar drains, utilizing the same system as the IVC, are poorly diagnostic of ICPs and in the setting of increased ICP, may precipitate herniation if CSF is drained rapidly. This type of monitor is not recommended for routine monitoring of ICP due to these concerns.

Independent of the technology used, ICP readings are interpreted by both amplitude and waveform. Definitions for normal vs. pathologic ICP are dependent on age, position, and the presence of acute or chronic disease. For an adult in the supine position, an ICP between 2 and 15 mmHg is normal [2]. A TBI patient is considered to have intracranial hypertension above 15 mmHg and demands therapy above 20 mmHg [4]. A patient with chronic hydrocephalus and an internalized shunt should be evaluated further when ICP is 15 mmHg or greater. In traumatic brain injury, sustained ICP above 25 mmHg is predictive of increased mortality [9].

The BTF has published recommendations on ICP and CPP thresholds for treatment. Unfortunately, it may not be as simple as a single goal for either ICP or CPP (CPP is defined as MAP-ICP). Patients with TBI have varying degrees of intact cerebrovascular autoregulation. Blood vessels in contused or ischemic brain tissue, or areas with traumatic bleeding, may have greatly impaired ability to adapt to changes in cerebral blood flow. Uninjured portions of brain may have relatively intact autoregulation. A patient with autoregulation that is presumed to be intact (such as a patient with a traumatic subdural hematoma that has been adequately decompressed) may tolerate a CPP of less than 70 mmHg; this population can be managed with CPP-directed goals of 50-70 mmHg (and greater than 70 mmHg when improvement in neurologic exam is noted), utilizing therapies that increase mean arterial blood pressure. Patients with focally or globally impaired autoregulation will demonstrate increased ICP in response to raised CPP, a reaction termed *pressure passive autoregulation*. This group is better managed with ICP-directed goals of less than 20 mmHg, employing ICP-lowering therapies [9, 11, 12].

Importantly, the ICP waveform can be used as a surrogate parameter for measuring cerebrovascular autoregulation. A more technical approach to ICP and CPP management can be achieved by dissecting the intricacies of this waveform. Waveform analysis is being used in some neuroscience institutions, and may provide the information needed to tailor therapies in a more patient-specific manner. Advanced waveform interpretation is best done with specialty software. Spectral analysis can break down the ICP waveform to plot each harmonic component independently and determine their respective magnitudes.

The ICP waveform reflects the mean ICP and its change over time in response to pressure changes from parallel-occurring physiologic events transmitted to the cranium (such as from pulsations of blood flow, changes in respiration, and vasogenic reactivity). The normal ICP waveform consists of three peaks each decreasing in height. The component peaks are P1 (percussion wave), P2 (tidal wave), and P3 (dicrotic wave) (Fig. 15.7). It is assumed that P1 and P2 are the result of the pulsation of arterial blood vessels: P1 represents the systolic pulse wave and P2 represents the harmonic reverberation of the pulse against the intracranial compartment. In contrast, P3 is assumed to be venous in origin. A slow sinusoidal pattern will also reverberate the waveform in accordance with changes in intrathoracic pressure during the respiratory cycle.

Many physiologic and pathophysiologic states have been identified as modifiers of the ICP waveform: arterial hypotension will decrease both the mean ICP and the amplitude of the waveform, particularly P1. An increase in mean ICP and rising amplitude of both P1 and P2 are seen with arterial hypertension. A space-occupying lesion will increase mean ICP as well as ICP waveform amplitude. If a mass lesion creates a critical rise in ICP, to the point of decreased CPP, the ICP waveform will change in that P2 will continue to rise beyond its neighbor peaks and P1 will become buried (Fig. 15.8). Increases in CSF volume may also increase both mean ICP and waveform amplitude, but will preserve waveform configuration. Hyperventilation, drainage of CSF, and the head-up position will all decrease mean ICP and waveform amplitude. Cerebral vasospasm will produce little change in mean ICP but may decrease waveform amplitude. Severe hypercapnia or hypoxia will increase mean ICP and produce a rounded waveform appearance, which is due to large increases in the amplitude of the ICP





Fig. 15.7 Normal intracranial pressure waveform. Note the three prominent peaks each decreasing in height (P1, P2, P3). P1 and P2 represent the pulsation and counterpulsation of the arterial pressure waveform, where P3 represents venous reverberation

Fig. 15.8 Deranged intracranial pressure waveform with peak P2 higher than P1. Before mean intracranial pressure (ICP) begins to rise, subtle changes in the waveform morphology may indicate reduced intracranial compliance. P2 rising above P1, a widening of the waveform, and an increasing amplitude may all precede a rise in the mean ICP

waveform. Early signs of decreased intracranial compliance may be suggested by increased waveform amplitude, P2 elevation, and a rounded out appearance of the overall waveform (see Fig. 15.8) before mean ICP begins to rise.

The P1 and P2 waves provided by arterial pulsation reflect mean ICP and together can be defined as the "fundamental component" of the waveform. This fundamental component is considered to reflect the autoregulatory reserve, that is to say that increases in ICP as a response to increases in arterial BP are evidence of weakened cerebral autoregulation. The amplitude of the fundamental component correlates with mean ICP and is equally predictive of outcome in patients with TBI.

A measurement of the "compensatory reserve" of the intracranial compartment, or the degree to which changes in intracranial volume effect changes in ICP, has been calculated from characteristics of the ICP waveform: the index of compensatory reserve is calculated from the amplitude of the pulse waveform component and the mean ICP, and is called RAP. Mathematically, RAP is defined as the correlation coefficient [R] between amplitude of the fundamental component [A] and the mean pressure [P].

At low ICP, a RAP of zero indicates little to no change in pressure with an increase in intracranial volume, which represents a state of good compensatory reserve. An elevated RAP suggests diminished compensatory reserve and predicts that even small changes in intracranial volume will result in large changes in ICP. At high ICP, the RAP will be positive and will increase until it reaches a breakpoint after which the RAP will fall below zero, indicating total exhaustion of any remaining autoregulatory capacity, and very low compliance (impending cerebral herniation). Here the cerebral arterioles are maximally dilated in an attempt to maintain CPP and ultimately collapse, leading to a decrease of pulse pressure transmission from arterial bed to cerebral tissue (acute risk for brain ischemia) [6, 8].

Cerebral pressure reactivity (PRx) is another index computed from the ICP waveform and measures autoregulatory capacity: PRx assesses the response of ICP to slow spontaneous changes in arterial blood pressure. A normally reactive cerebrovascular bed will decrease cerebral blood volume (and thus ICP) in response to an increase in arterial blood pressure and PRx will be low or negative. A deranged cerebrovascular bed, denoted by a positive PRx, will increase ICP passively in response to an increase in arterial blood pressure (little to no autoregulatory capacity). The PRx may help to guide the practitioner toward an optimal pressure window of the individual patient in CPP-directed therapy [6, 8].

The high PRx has been associated with poor outcome in patients after traumatic brain injury [13], and guiding CPP management by optimization of the PRx has been associated with improved outcomes [14]. Another index of cerebral autoregulation, the pulse amplitude index (PAx), quantifies the relationship between slow fluctuations of arterial blood pressure and ICP pulse amplitude: elevated PAx is associated with poor outcome and mortality. PAx may better reflect autoregulatory capacity than PRx in situations when compliance and ICP are low but when autoregulation remains impaired, such as after a decompressive hemicraniectomy for treatment subsequent to an ischemic stroke or TBI [15].

The goal of ICP monitoring is to gather information to aid the practitioner in the management of physiologic parameters so as to avoid ischemia (low CPP) and hyperemia (high CPP) (see Fig. 15.2). ICP magnitude and waveform analysis can also prove useful when prognosticating based on an assessment of cerebral compensatory reserve and cerebral pressure reactivity. Future areas of investigation will likely focus on the role of ICP waveform analysis in guiding clinical therapies toward optimization of CPP and increased intracranial compliance, and whether the interventions based on advanced ICP monitoring can influence patient outcome.

Clearly, ICP monitoring is not the only established monitor of brain perfusion. Brain tissue oxygen tension, laser Doppler/thermal diffusion flowmetry, positron emission tomography/tissue perfusion CT, jugular venous oxygen saturation, microdialysis, and transcranial Doppler have also been described as methods to estimate brain tissue perfusion and further guide ICP and CPP goals. Multimodality approaches, which integrate ICP monitoring along with additional measures of cerebral physiology, particularly brain oxygen tension, are likely to be the next big step in the management of the brain-injured patient; however, much further research is necessary.

Continuous ICP monitoring is a cornerstone of care of the brain-injured patient, and in the setting of protocol-driven care, appears to benefit patients' outcome. Whether invasive ICP monitoring can benefit an individual patient depends largely on the clinician's interpretation of the data and the selection of medical or surgical therapies.

References¹

- Cottrell JE, Young WL. Cottrell and young's neuroanesthesiology. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier; 2010.
- Kosteljanetz M. Intracranial pressure: cerebrospinal fluid dynamics and pressure-volume relations. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl. 1987;111:1–23.
- Wiegand C, Richards P. Measurement of intracranial pressure in children: a critical review of current methods. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2007;49:935–41.
- *Brain Trauma Foundation. American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. VII. Intracranial pressure monitoring technology. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24 Suppl 1:S45–54.
- Dang Q, Simon J, Catino J, Puente I, Habib F, Zucker L, Bukur M. More fateful than fruitful? Intracranial pressure monitoring in elderly patients with traumatic brain injury is associated with worse outcomes. J Surg Res. 2015;198:482–8.
- *Chesnut RM, Temkin N, Carney N, Dikmen S, Rondina C, Videtta W, et al. A trial of intracranialpressure monitoring in traumatic brain injury. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:2471–81.
- *Chesnut R, Bleck T, Citerio G, Classen J, Cooper DJ, Coplin WM, et al. A consensus-based interpretation of the BEST TRIP ICP trial. J Neurotrauma. 2015;15:1722–4.
- Andrews PJ, Citerio G, Longhi L, Polderman K, Sahuquillo J, Vajkoczy P, et al. NICEM consensus on neurological monitoring in acute neurological disease. Intensive Care Med. 2008;34:1362–70.
- Smith M. Monitoring intracranial pressure in traumatic brain injury. Anesth Analg. 2008;106:240–8.

- Czosnyka M, Czosnyka Z, Pickard JD. Laboratory testing of three intracranial pressure microtransducers: technical report. Neurosurgery. 1996;38:219–24.
- Robertson CS, Narayan RK, Contant CF, Grossman RG, Gokaslan ZL, Pahwa R, et al. Clinical experience with a continuous monitor of intracranial compliance. J Neurosurg. 1989;71(5 Pt 1):673–80.
- Zweckberger K, Sakowitz OW, Unterberg AW, Kiening KL. Intracranial pressure-volume relationship. Physiol Pathophysiol Anaesthes. 2009;58: 392–7.
- *Czosnyka M, Hutchinson PJ, Balestreri M, Hiler M, Smielewski P, Pickard JD. Monitoring and interpretation of intracranial pressure after head injury. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2006;96:114–8.
- Steiner LA, Czosnyka M, Piechnik SK, Smielewski P, Chatfield D, Menon DK, Pickard JD. Continuous monitoring of cerebrovascular pressure reactivity allows determination of optimal cerebral perfusion pressure in patients with traumatic brain injury. Crit Care Med. 2002;30:733–8.
- Aries MJ, Czosnyka M, Budohoski KP, Kolias AG, Radolovich DK, Lavinio A, et al. Continuous monitoring of cerebrovascular reactivity using pulse waveform of intracranial pressure. Neurocrit Care. 2012;17:67–76.

Questions

- 1. Which of the following represents the latest sign of decreased intracranial compliance?
 - a. Increased waveform amplitude
 - b. P2 elevation
 - c. A rounded out appearance of the overall waveform
 - d. Increased mean ICP
- 2. Which of the following statements about the RAP is FALSE?
 - a. RAP is a measurement of compensatory reserve.
 - b. RAP reflects the relationship between the amplitude and the mean pressure of the ICP waveform.
 - c. A RAP of zero indicates no remaining compensatory reserve.
 - d. A negative RAP with high ICP is a poor prognostic sign.
- 3. Which of the following physiologic value represents the highest risk for cerebral ischemia?
 - a. ICP 14 mmHg
 - b. CPP 46
 - c. RAP 0
 - d. PaO₂ 65

¹Key references marked with asterisk.

- 4. Which of the following statements about cerebral blood flow is INCORRECT?
 - a. Cerebral blood flow (CBF) is maintained at a constant state when cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) is between approximately 50 and 150 mmHg.
 - b. Above or below 50 and 150 mmHg, cerebral blood flow is proportional to CPP.
 - c. A PaO₂ below 50 mmHg produces a significant increase in CBF.
 - d. PaCO₂ increases CBF by approximately 1 mL/100 g/min for every 10 mmHg increase in CO₂.

Answers

1. D Explanation: An increase in the mean ICP will usually occur after more subtle waveform changes indicating decreased intracranial compliance.

- 2. C Explanation: At low ICP, a RAP of zero indicates little to no change in pressure with an increase in intracranial volume, which represents a state of good compensatory reserve. An elevated RAP suggests diminished compensatory reserve and predicts that even small changes in intracranial volume will result in large changes in intracranial pressure.
- 3. B Explanation: Cerebral perfusion pressure lower than 60 is associated with cerebral ischemia in patients with traumatic brain injury. All of the other physiologic values are normal.
- 4. D Explanation: Small changes in PaCO₂ can result in proportional increases in CBF as a result of cerebral vasodilation. PaCO₂ increases CBF by approximately 1 mL/100 g/ min for every 1 mmHg increase in CO₂.

IOM Instrumentation Layout and Electrical Interference

16

Brett Netherton and Andrew Goldstein

Key Learning Points

- Electrical interference challenges recording of tiny neurophysiologic signals due primarily to electromagnetic coupling, the relatively large size of electromagnetic fields present in the operating room, and the large conductivity of skin.
- The team performing IOM, including the anesthesiologist and other professionals, has many tools to effectively battle electrical interference.

Introduction

Performance of Intraoperative Neuromonitoring (IOM) routinely requires up to 50 or more patient attachment electrodes connecting the patient to IOM instrumentation in order to electrically stimulate and record physiologic signals. Finding patient skin locations to apply these many electrodes and laying out the leadwires is only one of the challenges the anesthesiologist and IOM team face.

- The physiologic signals are tiny relative to other electrical sources nearby, and are sometimes in the low microvolt range. If we assign 1 in. to 1 μ V, finding a sensory evoked potential in the presence of 120-V wall voltage is like trying to find a piece of notebook paper somewhere between Miami, Florida and Anchorage, Alaska.
- *The IOM recording circuitry acts as an antenna* to the multitude of nearby electrical noise sources in the OR, potentially rendering the IOM ineffective.
- *The large capacitance of skin* facilitates coupling of unwanted electrical noise, often into the IOM recording circuitry.
- *High-energy electrical equipment* such as the electrosurgical unit (ESU or "Bovie") in addition to introducing electrical interference in the IOM recordings may, without adequate attention to cabling layout, create electrode burns.

This chapter discusses the physics underlying the electrical and electromagnetic interactions occurring when neuromonitoring is performed in the electrically hostile setting of the operating

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_16

Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_16) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

B. Netherton, MS, CNIM, FASNM, FASET (⊠) Signal Gear LLC, 27 Sweetwater Drive, Prosperity, SC 29127, USA e-mail: Brett@signalgear.com

A. Goldstein, B.S., C.N.I.M. Manager Biomedical Services, IONM, SpecialtyCare, Brentwood, TN, USA e-mail: agoldstein@neuromonitors.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

room. The goal is to demonstrate how electrical interference makes its way to IOM recordings, and to illuminate methods of laying out IOM instrumentation equipment, leadwires, and electrodes for optimal and safe electrophysiologic recordings. The electrical and physics explanations are not intended as a detailed treatise. Rather, it is desired that the OR professional retains helpful mental pictures and checklists to use in the everyday performance of IOM.

Basic Electronics and Definitions

While the field of electronics is wonderfully complex, the basic concepts necessary to understand how electrical interference can enter the recordings are not difficult to understand. Figure 16.1 shows a circuit that is a simplification of the recording circuit, with a source and three impedances.

Definition 1 An *Electrical Circuit* is a closed loop pathway in which electrical current flows. The amount of current flowing is the same at every point along the circuit. The circuit must be continuous such that it is complete; an opening along the path stops current flow. The source of voltage drives a current through the circuit impedances according to Ohm's law. In electronics, there are many types of voltage sources including constant (or DC for direct current) or alternating (or AC for alternating current). Our IOM recording circuit as shown in Fig. 16.1 has physiologic voltage sources that are alter-

nating with a range of frequency components, designated as V_{tissue} .

Definition 2 <u>Impedance</u> (usually denoted as "Z") is the term for devices that resist the flow of electrical current. There are three basic types of impedance as described below.

Definition 3 <u>Ohm's law</u> is a very simple relationship. It takes voltage (V) to drive a current through impedance (Z) to that current flow (I) according to the formula: Current=Voltage/ Impedance (I = V/Z). A different way to phrase it is that current passing through impedance builds up a voltage across that impedance.

KEY POINT: When current flows in the circuits due to some voltage source such as a physiologic signal, that current builds a voltage across every location in the circuit where there is impedance.

Definition 4 A <u>Voltage Divider</u> explains that the source voltage divides among the impedances in the circuit. Larger impedances get a larger share of the voltage, but the sum of the voltages building on the circuit impedances always totals the exact value of the source voltage.

KEY POINT: We wish the physiologic signal to build up voltage on the amplifier input impedance where it can be amplified. We therefore need to ensure that the electrode impedances are small relative to the amplifier input impedance, as shown in Fig. 16.1.



Fig. 16.1 Simplified recording circuit showing tissue voltage source V_{tissue} , two impedances representing electrodes $Z_{\text{electrode1}}$ and $Z_{\text{electrode2}}$, and the input impedance of the amplifier Z_{amp}



Fig. 16.2 Simplified recording circuit with potential sources of electrical interference

Definition 5 An <u>Amplifier</u> is an electronic circuit that multiplies an input voltage by a gain factor to deliver an output voltage. IOM equipment generally utilizes differential amplifiers in which the input voltage is the voltage difference between two inputs.

- Technical Note: An ideal differential amplifier would deliver an output equal to the voltage difference across its inputs (or differential voltage) multiplied by the gain. A real-world amplifier also amplifies the voltage common to both inputs (or common mode voltage) though to a much lesser extent. The iso-ground serves as the reference point for this common mode voltage. The measure of an amplifier's ability to reject the common mode voltage is the common mode rejection ratio (CMRR), which is the ratio of its differential gain to its common mode gain. The CMRR of modern IOM equipment can exceed 100 dB or 100,000:1.
- KEY POINTS: Selection of an iso-ground location impacts common mode voltage. Furthermore, imbalances between electrode impedances result in one electrode impedance

with more voltage buildup and negatively impact the CMRR of an amplifier.

Sources of electrical interference and more details have been added to the simplified recording circuit in Fig. 16.2. Notice that $Z_{\text{electrode2}}$ is now shown as a complex of three different parts in parallel. This is because electrical impedance has three components, including a resistive component *R*, capacitive component *C*, and inductive component *L*. For simplicity, the impedance subcomponents are only shown for $Z_{\text{electrode2}}$, but exist for all circuit impedances, even if just at the tiniest of levels.

Electrical Impedance is a measure of the opposition to alternating current flow. It is the vector summation of three different impedance components arising from electrical resistance, electrical capacitance, and electrical inductance. This is usually reported in Ohms (Ω).

Electrical Resistance is a measure of the opposition to direct current flow. The resistive component of impedance does not change with frequency.

Electrical Capacitance is a measure of how much charge can be held. The capacitive component of impedance decreases as the frequency of flowing current (or applied voltage) increases.

Electrical Inductance is a measure of opposition to a changing current flow. The inductive component of impedance increases as the frequency of flowing current (or applied voltage) increases.

KEY POINT: The capacitive and inductive components of impedance allow nearby sources of electrical interference to couple through the air with the recording circuitry.

It is the inductive and capacitive components highlighted in Fig. 16.2 that allow for the two most common pathways for electrical interference to enter the recording circuit.

Pathway 1: The Skin of the Patient C_{skin}

The patient's skin has large capacitance (the ability to hold charge). It is this capacitance that allows the skin to build up large static voltages that hurt when they are discharged in the winter. This capacitance aids the skin of the patient in being an attractive antenna for electrical interference nearby. In filling the capacitance of the patient's skin, the charge distributes all over the patient's body surface, inherently bringing this noise to the recording electrodes in contact with the skin and into the recording circuit.

Pathway 2: Ambient Sources of Electrical Noise V_{noise}

A source of ambient electrical interference is shown as V_{noise} . For simplicity, it is only shown to be coupling with the impedance of leadwire 2. However, every part of the circuit is potentially susceptible. As we will see later in the chapter and in many of the videos, the leadwires as well as the patient's skin are particularly vulnerable.

An understanding of how these two pathways enable noise to enter the recording circuit will help us consider electromagnetic coupling mechanisms discussed later.

- Technical note: An essential concept in data acquisition is signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). We can think of any of the recordings as a combination of two elements. The first is the signal we are interested in. The remainder is what we consider to be noise. Noise is also referred to as interference or artifact and these terms are often used interchangeably. The ratio of the power of the signal to the power of the noise is the signal-to-noise ratio. The higher the signal-to-noise ratio, the more likely we are to be able to gain useful information from a recording. To achieve these results, we can increase the signal or reduce the noise.
- Signal averaging is commonly used when the signal-to-noise ratio is low (e.g., auditory brainstem response where the signal has very low voltage). Averaging improves the signal-to-noise ratio by reducing the noise amplitude by virtue of the fact that the signal in each trial stimuli remains the same, but the noise varies in a random way such that averaging trials reduce the averaged noise, with the signal-to-noise ratio improving by the square root of the number of averaging trials.
- While averaging represents an important way to improve signal-to-noise ratio, it does nothing to reduce actual noise. Much of what is presented in this chapter falls on the side of reducing the noise reaching the amplifiers, or else making the noise more common so it is rejected.

The Basic IOM Recording Circuit

The many recording electrodes attached to the patient are but a repetition of the same basic recording circuit many times over. Figure 16.3 shows the basic recording circuit including the instrumentation amplifier, two recording electrodes, amplifier iso-ground, and physiologic signal source (V_{tissue}). Though the three electrodes shown are subdermal needle electrodes, other electrode types such as hydrogel surface pads, EEG cups, and longer needles may also be used in IOM settings. The concepts discussed here are



Fig. 16.3 Example of a recording scenario highlighting the basic IOM recording circuit



Fig. 16.4 The basic recording circuit electrical schematic showing all electrical connections in the circuit including the resistive, capacitive, and inductive components of

impedance. Note the numerous dissimilar metal-to-metal connections (highlighted in the inserts)

pertinent regardless of the electrode type used or the IOM equipment used.

If the insulation covering the electrodes is removed, it becomes obvious that electrodes contain many materials, even the seemingly simple needle electrodes shown. This is depicted in Fig. 16.4.

The electrical equivalent circuit is shown in Fig. 16.4 with the exposed connections within the electrodes shown. When thinking about electrode impedance, it is common to consider the impedance of the electrode attachment to skin. However, as Fig. 16.4 shows, at many points on

the circuit, we find impedance. The components of the basic recording circuit are listed under the following subheadings.

Tissue Physiologic Generator (V_{tissue})

The physiologic signal volume conducts in three dimensions outward from the neurogenic or myogenic source through the array of tissues surrounding it, losing amplitude exponentially as it migrates outward. A portion of the volume conducted signal electrical field conducts to each recording elec-



Fig. 16.5 Near infinite tissue pathways from generator to recording electrode. Current flows from the source generator to the recording electrode using a near infinite number of tissue pathways dependent on conductivity of each pathway

trode via a near infinite number of pathways, shown in white outline, in Fig. 16.5. As a result of volume conduction losses as well as signal attenuation traveling through high impedance tissues such as adipose, by the time the physiologic signal reaches the recording electrodes, the amplitude is exponentially lower than at the source.

Circuit Component: Tissue Between Generator and Electrode (Z_{tissue})

The signal pathways follow the path of least impedance through the array of different tissues from source to recording electrode. Tissues like muscle, blood vessels, capillary beds, and mucosa have low impedance (below 1 k Ω) [1]. Skin can range in impedance depending on location on the body, thickness, and concentration of sweat and sebaceous glands (typically over 40 k Ω) [1]. Tendon, fat, and bone have the highest impedances though these layers also represent unavoidable pathways to current flow if surface or subdermal needles are used. Note that many of the pathways shown from the source to the recording electrode are surprising, as they may follow unexpected pathways as shown by the far right signal path in Fig. 16.5. These multiple parallel pathways can be considered as an equivalent impedance, shown in black outline in the figure (pathways) and labeled Z_{tissue} . There is no typical value of Z_{tissue} , as the adipose layer thickness in the patients varies dramatically.

KEY POINT: Since tissue impedance is frequency dependent, we can assume that the different fundamental frequency components of physiologic signals will attenuate differently when volume conducted through tissue and that is indeed the case. Higher frequency signal components volume conduct through tissue with more amplitude loss on average than lower frequency signal components. Note that this tissue-filtering effect occurs prior to the signal reaching the recording electrodes!

Circuit Component: Electrode Connection to the Patient + Electrode Components (Z_{electrode})

Electrode connection to patient: This portion of impedance is due to the connection of the electrode with the patient's tissue. This is typically the impedance many IOM clinicians first think of when asked what their impedances are and why care is usually taken to lower this impedance by attention to skin preparation and electrode placement.

Due to the high impedance of the epidermis, particularly the stratum corneum, it is necessary to either prepare the skin surface by some form of debridement or to use electrodes that bypass this high impedance layer such as needle electrodes. Exact levels of impedance achieved vary depending on skin preparation and surface area of electrode used, but may be anywhere between a few hundred ohms and 10 k Ω or more. The electrode conductor in contact with patient tissue has the ability to hold charge, therefore it is important to consider this portion of impedance to be a resistance in parallel with a capacitance. Needless to say, it is best to avoid dissimilar electrode types in one amplifier circuit to minimize impedance imbalance between electrodes.

Electrode components at the patient end of the electrode: Excellent volumes have been published detailing patient attachment electrodes for recording and stimulating physiologic signals [2]. Mention of a few details pertinent to the discussion is warranted.

Electrode patient connections may contain many different materials, whether biocompatible metal, conductive plastic, ionically rich hydrogel, carbon or metal foils, glues, solders, and a large list of other possible materials. In the subdermal needles shown, a medical grade stainless steel needle is soldered to a 19-strand tinned copper wire, so many different metals are present in this tiny junction. When placed together to form the patient attachment end of the electrodes, the contribution to impedance is quite low, typically less than a few ohms. However, where there are dissimilar metals, it is possible to have a voltage generated through galvanic corrosion mechanisms, the same reaction used to create voltages in many batteries. All that is needed is ionic fluid to bath the metal-to-metal junction. Ionic fluids such as sweat are readily present around the operating room bed. Any such galvanic voltage generated is added to the recording circuit as electrical interference.

KEY POINT: To avoid metal-to-metal galvanic corrosion voltages contaminating the recording circuit, care should be taken to avoid accidentally bathing the electrode and hub in fluids.

Circuit Component: The Wire Between the Electrode Patient End and Connector End (Z_{leadwire})

The leadwire may have many different types of conductor covered by an electrical insulating material. Some examples of conductors include multistrand tinned copper, copper, carbon fiber, and tinsel wire. Though the leadwire generally has less than a few ohms of impedance, this portion of the recording circuit plays a large role in electromagnetic interference through the inductive and capacitive components of impedance.

NOTE: Though all portions of the basic recording circuit have an inductive component of impedance, for simplicity, only the inductive component of impedance of the leadwire has been shown in Fig. 16.4.

<u>Circuit Component: Leadwire connection to</u> <u>safety connector + Electrode to amplifier connec-</u> <u>tion (Z_{pin}) </u>

The leadwire connection to the touchproof socket is typically a molded plastic over a metal ferrule crimped to the leadwire conductor. While the metal used in the mechanical crimp that grips the leadwire conductors could be tin, copper, brass, gold-plated brass, or others, this end of the electrode almost universally contains two dissimilar metals, as shown in the insert of Fig. 16.7, where the gold-plated brass ferrule is crimped to the 19-strand tinned copper leadwire. Since the molded plastic overmold keeps ionic fluids away from the dissimilar metal joints, this connection is rarely a source of galvanic voltage. Connection is made at the amplifier via a 1.5-mm diameter pin over which the touchproof socket of the leadwire fits. This metal pin is typically gold-plated brass but

could be other conductive metals. As part of electrical troubleshooting, it is important to consider this connection. A loose connection can be a source of intermittent impedance. Though it is very rare, it is possible for the plastic overmold to have plastic slivers down inside the 1.5-mm opening that hinder the electrical connection between the 1.5-mm pin and the touchproof socket conductor.

KEY POINT: As part of troubleshooting, the IOM team should remember that electrodes may be nonfunctioning right out of the box, though it is very infrequent that this occurs.

Circuit Component: Amplifier Impedance (Z_a)

The input impedance of the IOM amplifier is the combination of the two impedances labeled Z_a . Modern IOM amplifiers utilize ever smaller, more powerful electronics, especially integrated circuitry. The result is a smaller circuitry footprint yielding more sensitive amplifiers with ever higher input impedances of more than 100 k Ω . A technical note is included at the end of this chapter highlighting amplifier characteristics important for the IOM team to understand.

Circuit Component: Amplifier Iso-ground

The iso-ground position holds as much confusion for the IOM team as any other area of instrumentation. It has an electrode connected to the patient as shown in Fig. 16.4, so it has the same impedance variables and potential to pick up ambient electrical interference as any other electrode position has. Hence the location of the iso-ground placement can influence the amount of noise in the recording. The technical note at the end of the chapter highlights more on iso-ground.

Video 16.7 demonstrates that the efficacy of iso-ground to decrease electrical interference pickup is very location specific.

Basic Circuit Summary Points

- The physiologic signals are often very small in amplitude by the time they volume conduct to the recording electrodes.
- The very high input impedances of modern IOM equipment (>100 M Ω) relative to the much lower electrode impedances (<10 k Ω) ensure that the vast majority of the signal appears across the amplifier inputs.
- The leadwires and patient skin invite coupling with electromagnetic interference.

Understanding Sources of Electrical Interference

The primary method by which electrical interference is introduced to the recording circuits is via electromagnetic coupling, which includes three components: inductive coupling, capacitive coupling, and radiative coupling [3].

Inductive coupling occurs when an electric current is generated in the recording circuit via movement of the recording wires in relation to a magnetic field, either by the leadwires moving through the magnetic field or the magnetic field moving near the leadwires. With the exception of the occasional intraoperative magnetic resonance imaging unit (MRI), there are relatively few stationary magnets in the operating room setting. However, the magnetic component of electromagnetic waves can create inductive coupling with the recording circuit. Since the inductive component of impedance increases with frequency, this occurs primarily at low frequencies, such as with 60-Hz wall voltage.

Capacitive coupling occurs when a radiofrequency energy source is near enough to the recording circuit to couple with it via the capacitive component of impedance. Since the capacitive component of impedance decreases with frequency, capacitive coupling plays a role in the recording circuit at high frequencies.

Electromagnetic radiative coupling is the principle by which radiofrequency energy from a radio station travels many miles to be picked up by antennas with the sounds heard by a radio. **Fig. 16.6** Recording electrodes act similar to the dipole antenna of a radio and can receive electromagnetic signals such as those from radio stations. Fortunately these signals consist of high frequencies that are not usually seen as noise in physiologic IOM signals



Though the recording leadwire pairs are technically a simple dipole antenna, as shown in Fig. 16.6, the frequencies from RF-radiated signals are generally too high to create visible electrical interference in the recording circuits due to the filter settings used. Although occasionally, IOM clinicians may hear AM radio stations amplified over their speakers when listening to the EMG sounds.

The IOM practitioner can use electromagnetic coupling to advantage by creating a leadwire pair to use as a searching coil placed into one recording input of the IOM amplifier. An example of this is shown in Fig. 16.8 later in this chapter. This wire loop can be valuable in attempting to locate electromagnetic sources when attempting to either mitigate electrical noise at the source or move the source equipment to redirect a directional field away from the recording leadwires or patient skin.

It is critical for the IOM clinician to understand methods of leadwire management to lower the amount of electromagnetic coupling occurring. Figure 16.7 highlights three typical leadwire layouts frequently used, including twisted pairs, ribbon pairs, and loose pairs.

For demonstration purposes in Fig. 16.7, each of the three leadwire configurations has a focused radiofrequency source. The radiofrequency field strength decreases exponentially with distance away from the source, so the closest leadwire will couple an exponentially higher amount of the field.

KEY POINT: Electromagnetic fields dissipate inversely with distance squared. As highlighted in many of the video demonstrations, creating distance from these fields can greatly diminish their influence on IOM recordings.

In the twisted pair leadwire set, the red and black leadwires are, on average, the exact same distance from the RF source, so even though both leadwires couple the exact same amount of electromagnetic interference, the amplifiers will not amplify the interference since it is common mode.

In the ribbon pair leadwire set, the red wire, though very near the black leadwire, is closer to the RF source, so it couples a slightly larger amount of interference. This small difference in coupling between the red and black leadwires of the ribbon, though small, will not be common mode and will therefore be included in the recording as interference.

In the loose pair leadwire set, the black wire is obviously further away from the source than the red wire, leading to an exponential difference in the recorded interference, which will be amplified in the recording as interference.

Interestingly, this twisted pair method is also used to reduce the emission of electromagnetic



Fig. 16.7 Methods used to manage recording wires in IOM. As described, the twisted pair method reduces the amount of electromagnetic noise more than a ribbon pair, which reduces it more than loose wires

radiation from power lines. In that case, the twist causes each wire to cancel the effect of its pair. This is often referred to as an old "mariner's trick" to reduce the effect of nearby power cords on magnetic compasses. Unfortunately, most power cords in the OR are not twisted pairs.

KEY POINT: Bringing recording leadwire pairs together decreases the amount of electromagnetic interference amplified by making the interference coupled to each leadwire more common than with the recording leadwires separated.

As the IOM clinician knows, sources of electromagnetic interference are plentiful in the operating room. An incomplete list of electrically noisy equipment components includes wall voltage, fans, pumps, heating elements, and some light bulbs. Once identified, the noise signal can be reduced by moving these sources farther away (or up or down relative to the recording wires) by the square of the distance. In addition, occasionally the device emitting the electromagnetic signal emits it in a relatively unidirectional manner such that if it can be rotated relative to the recording wires, the noise recorded may be reduced.

In addition, it is crucial to identify currents established in patient attachment leadwires due to electromagnetic coupling as they may result in patient burns at the patient attachment electrode. Powerful fields such as those associated with the electrosurgical unit and MRI RF pulse coils are of particular concern. The risk of electrode burns has been documented previously [4–7].

See the addendum to this chapter for videos demonstrating many of the topics discussed including the electromagnetic fields associated with a few pieces of OR equipment. But the more important message is that it is quite easy for you as the OR clinician to develop a troubleshooting skill set to diagnose electromagnetic interference sources.

Practical Tips

Specifically for the Anesthesiologist

The anesthesia team is in an ideal position to help find problems that can plague the IOM team.

- Watch for dislodged IOM electrodes. The impedance of both needle and surface electrodes increases dramatically when dislodged.
- If possible, try to have anesthesia equipment and power cords as far away from recording electrodes as possible.
- Note when new equipment (e.g., blood warmers) is added to the operating room such that if a search for noise ensues, the new equipment can be evaluated as a new source of noise.
Fig. 16.8 Example of a simple to make noise sensor. This is essentially a wire coil to pick up electromagnetic noise that can be attached to the amplifier to locate the source



For the IOM Professional

- Ensure that all hydrogel-type patient attachment electrodes ("stick on" electrodes like ECG electrodes) are fresh and within use-by date. This is especially true for the electrosurgical unit return ("grounding") pad, which plays a critical role in patient safety.
- ٠ Prepare your own electromagnetic directional sensing coil to locate sources of electromagnetic noise (Fig. 16.8). A 2.2-k Ω resistor can be purchased in an electronics store or online for pennies. After removing the electrodes from two long leadwires and stripping the insulation off of the ends, twist a leadwire to each end of the resistor wires. By taping the leadwires with resistor to a flat mobile surface with the leadwires widely separate, twisting the extra leadwire together and plugging the two leadwires into a channel of your IOM system yields a directional sensor. Monitoring the free run signal on your IOM system will allow you to view the electromagnetic fields in front of the flat surface.
- Become adept at identifying electromagnetic interference. Practice monitoring 60-Hz interference using different free run sensitivities and time bases. Remember that the peak-topeak time of a 60-Hz sine wave is 16.67 ms.

During Patient Setup

- Bundle (twist or braid if possible) all recording electrode leadwires, including the iso-ground
- Keep all leadwires separated from the patient's skin
- Monitor the electrosurgery unit (ESU) return pad placement and interact with the team setting up the ESU. Become familiar with the Association of Operating Room Nurses (AORN) guidelines on electrosurgery [8].
- Ensure that the ESU active and return cables have distance from the skin of your patient and your leadwires. It is probable that your OR team does not know how the ESU can electromagnetically couple with your leadwires.

When Troubleshooting Electrical Noise

- Intermittent noise can be caused by loose safety connectors on the end of the leadwires plugged into the amplifier. Be aware of this because, though rare, it does happen. Jiggling the safety connector can typically reveal this as a source.
- Monitor free run signals to identify the frequency of the electromagnetic interference. This

is a simple way to rule out if 60-Hz interference is contaminating the recordings.

- If the IOM instrumentation will allow, unplug the iso-ground electrode from the amplifier input to see if the location of the iso-ground is adding to the noise.
- Be certain to utilize the correct number of isogrounds. Many 32-channel IOM systems consist of two 16-channel amplifiers. Each amplifier should have a single iso-ground and the iso-grounds of separate amplifiers should not be connected. Check the system documentation to identify this circumstance.
- With the approval of the OR team, physically rotate, raise, or lower electrical equipment in question.
- With the approval of the OR team, selectively unplug electrical equipment in question to identify if it is the source of artifact. If a marked reduction in 60-Hz noise occurs when unplugging, the device may need to be checked by the Hospital Biomedical Department for leakage current or a bad ground (similar to the type of periodic equipment check done on IOM equipment). In addition to increasing noise in the IOM recording, a bad ground on a device may allow dangerous currents to be delivered to the patient or staff.

Technical Note: Modern IOM Equipment and Grounding

There was a time when it was almost necessary to have an engineering degree to be able to operate an intraoperative monitoring system. The various settings and adjustments were controlled by many physical knobs and dials. Sometimes making changes in the recordings involved moving plugs or cabling. While modern IOM systems have taken many of the technical details involved in the electronics of data acquisition from the forefront and buried them behind slick graphical interfaces, effective troubleshooting still requires knowledge of what is happening behind the scenes. Without that knowledge, troubleshooting can be haphazard and ineffective, resulting in lost time and inadequate patient care.

It is important to understand some basic features of electronics involved in the data acquisition in order to effectively locate and reduce noise in the recordings. Figure 16.9 shows a simplified model of the path of the signal from patient to display. This section will focus on the elements in blue.

Recording Pathway: Input Switching

- Modern IOM equipment is very flexible. It is capable of many stimulating and recording montages, the configurations of which can often be changed on the fly. This has become possible due to advances in electronics that allow electrode switching. It is no longer necessary to connect electrodes to the inputs associated with specific amplifier channels. Electrodes can be connected to headboxes or other input peripherals in ways that are convenient, either in terms of physical layout or simply remembering where to plug the electrodes in. This has effectively eliminated the need for splitters and jumpers to connect a single electrode to multiple inputs.
- With this advancement comes new concerns. Signal pathways within the equipment have become physically closer and the same circuit path may be used in a short span of time for several different signals. This can result in interference or crosstalk between electrodes or channels. Some manufacturers recommend turning off or disabling unused electrodes since an electrode can convey an unwanted signal by acting as an antenna. This coupling can happen internally to the equipment as well as in the environment surrounding the patient.



Fig. 16.9 Signal pathway of signal acquisition from the patient to the IOM equipment display

Recording Pathway: Amplifiers

- The core of the data acquisition system is the amplifier. The basic amplifier used in IOM equipment is known as the instrumentation amplifier. This amplifier has three inputs. These inputs are named in various ways. The first two inputs may be referred to as active and reference or as inverting and non-inverting; the third input is commonly referred to as isoground, signal ground, or simply ground.
- It is important to take a step back here and look at the ground input in more detail.
 - The first point to make is that this ground input is not the same as earth ground, the ground pin on the wall electrical outlet, or even the chassis ground on the IOM equipment. For the purpose of this discussion we will refer to the ground input as iso-ground.

$$V_{\text{out}} = A_{\text{D}} \left(V_1 - V_2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} A_{\text{C}} \left(V_1 + V_2 \right)$$

 V_{out} is the output of the amplifier V_1 and V_2 are the amplifier inputs A_D is the differential mode gain A_C is the common mode gain

- Iso-ground is an active part of the amplifier circuit. It serves to increase the common mode rejection ratio (CMRR) of the amplifier circuit. While an ideal amplifier circuit's output is the difference between the signals at the two active inputs multiplied by the amplifier gain, a real-world amplifier also amplifies the signal that is common to both inputs. This is the common mode signal. The output based on common mode gain and differential gain is calculated as:
- Earth ground is important in reducing the risk of injury due to electrical shock from contact with equipment. In modern equipment, earth ground is electrically isolated from the patient connections, including the iso-ground connection. Older texts taught the importance of grounding a patient for



Fig. 16.10 Symbol used to denote Isolated Patient Applied Part: Type BF

safety and of avoiding ground loops where interference could be caused by currents flowing between various ground connections. This was particularly important with the use of explosive anesthetics such as ether where the buildup of voltages leading to discharge by sparks could ignite the anesthetic. Modern OR design focuses on isolation of the patient from the wall electrical supply [9–11]. The iso-ground lead is no longer subject to those considerations because of the isolation. Isolated patient connections are marked on medical equipment with the symbol in Fig. 16.10.

- The current that can flow into the isoground is limited for patient safety. Because of this and its isolation from the earth ground, the iso-ground is not able to serve as a sink path to conduct large interference signals away from the patient. For this reason, an iso-ground cannot "sink" large signals in the manner that an earth ground was able to.
- Because of the isolation between an isoground and earth ground, the likelihood of noise coming through the earth ground to contaminate signals is far less than in older equipment. An earth ground does still have the ability to sink noise signals and therefore a more common problem with grounding is a poor or open ground on a piece of equipment allowing it to emit excessive noise (*see* Video 16.6).

Recording Pathway: Antialiasing Filters

Modern IOM equipment has antialiasing filters to reduce the amplitudes of higher frequency components that are beyond the system's ability to appropriately sample (the Nyquist frequency). These filters are applied to the signal before the analog to digital conversion stage and are independent of the high-cut/low-pass filter settings available to the user and should not be a source of concern.

Recording Pathway: A/D Convertors

- Analog-to-digital (A/D) conversion is the process by which the analog physiologic signals are converted to digital data.
- The resolution and range of an A/D convertor impact the quality of the recorded signals. The resolution is the number of steps that the convertor can discern between its highest and lowest levels (its range or scale). Because of the binary format of the computerized data, the resolution is expressed in bits with the number of steps being 2 to the power of the bits of resolution. The resolution of modern IOM equipment can exceed 16 bits (2^{16} or 65526). Due to the rounding error at the smallest step, the signal-to-noise ratio of an ideal A/D convertor is calculated as $20 * \log_{10}(2^N)$ where N is the bits of resolution.
- The amplifier gain is used to match the amplitude of the signal being recorded to the range of the A/D convertors. If the amplitude is too low, then the full resolution of the A/D convertor is not being utilized and the effective resolution of the amplifier is lowered. For every bit the effective resolution is reduced, the signal-to-noise ratio is reduced by 6 dB. In the extreme, this results in signals taking a choppy or staircase appearance. If the amplitude is too high, then the result is "clipping" where the elements of the signal that are at a higher voltage than the maximum that can be processed

by the A/D convertor are all expressed as that maximum.

KEY POINT: It is common to assume that modern A/D conversion resolution is greatly improved over that in older equipment. While that is true, it is crucial for the IOM team to realize that to fully utilize the capabilities of the IOM system, it is necessary to select a gain setting that utilizes the full range (or scale) of the A/D converter input.

Recording Pathway: Digital Signal and Computer Processing

Once the domain of large computer systems, digital signal processing (DSP) is now commonly handled by circuitry in specialized "chips." The speed and capabilities of these circuits have advanced to the point where most systems no longer have discrete analog filters other than the anti-aliasing and DC blocking filters. Instead, what are still often referred to as analog high-pass (low-cut) and low-pass (high-cut) filters are in fact mathematical models implemented by the DSP circuitry and applied to the incoming data stream in real time. Making a filter change in the software causes parameters to be changed in the model rather than resistors or capacitors changed in a filter circuit. Even though the filters no longer consist of discrete components, they still behave in the same way. A digitally implemented 4-pole 100-Hz low-pass Butterworth filter will still have the same effects on phase and amplitude as an analog filter. Those effects must be taken into account whenever changes are made. The same considerations apply to 60Hz notch filters (50Hz in some countries). It is tempting to use them to reduce the power line noise prevalent in the operating room. These were once separate filters similar to the anti-aliasing filers but able to be toggled on and off. Now incorporated along with the other filters in DSP, notch filters can still produce distortion of the signals. This is considered undesirable and their use is not recommended.

Conclusion

The recording of IOM signals is based on basic electrical principles. Although these are usually in the purview of the IOM recording team, the anesthesiologist plays an important role in helping reduce the unwanted noise and in identifying physical problems with electrode connections.

References

- 1. Koumbourlis AC. Electrical injuries. Crit Care Med. 2002;30(11 Suppl):S424–30.
- Geddes LA. Electrodes and the measurement of bioelectric events. New York: Wiley; 1972.
- Moller AR. General considerations about intraoperative neurophysiology and monitoring. In: Moller AR, editor. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring. 3rd ed. New York: Springer; 2011. p. 329–44.
- *Stecker MM, Patterson T, Netherton BL. Mechanisms of electrode induced injury. Part 1: theory. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2006;46(4):315–42.
- *Patterson T, Stecker MM, Netherton BL. Mechanisms of electrode-induced injury. Part 2: clinical experience. Am J Electrodiagnostic Technol. 2007;47(2): 93–113.
- *Netherton B, Stecker MM, Patterson T. Mechanisms of electrode-induced injury. Part 3: practical concepts and avoidance. Am J Electrodiagnostic Technol. 2007;47:257–63.
- Russell MJ, Gaetz M. Intraoperative electrode burns. J Clin Monit. 2004;18:25–32.
- Spruce L, Braswell ML. Implementing AORNrecommended practices for electrosurgery. AORN J. 2012;1995:373–84.
- 9. Graham S. Electrical safety in the operating theatre. Curr Anaesthesia Crit Care. 2004;15:350–4.
- Litt L. Electrical safety in the operating room. In: Miller RD, editor. Miller's anesthesia. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2005.
- Ehrenwerth J, Seifert HA. Electrical and fire safety. In: Barash PG, Cullen BF, Stoelting RK, editors. Clinical anesthesia. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2006.

Questions

- 1. Regarding the use of amplifier iso-ground in IOM, which of the following statements are true?
 - The efficacy of the iso-ground electrode to decrease electromagnetic interference is highly dependent on location where it is placed.

- b. The iso-ground electrode has the same potential to pick up ambient electrical interference as any other recording electrode position has.
- c. It is not a patient safety issue to disconnect the iso-ground electrode from the amplifier to troubleshoot if the isoground is contributing noise to the recording instead of decreasing noise.
- d. All of the above statements are true
- 2. Moving sources of electromagnetic fields such as a fluid warmer can alter the interference picked up in the recording leadwires and patient skin. Which of the following is NOT true?
 - a. The electromagnetic field strength decreases exponentially with distance.
 - b. Most electromagnetic fields are directional meaning that rotating or lowering/raising the associated equipment may decrease interference pickup.
 - c. Radiative coupling such as from an AM radio station is also a dominant component of the interference the IOM equipment picks up from OR equipment.
 - d. Any portions of the equipment radiating the electromagnetic field that happen to be in contact with patient skin might physically conduct the noise straight to skin, so moving the equipment away from patient skin may stop the conduction.
- 3. The IOM team may, in some instances, be able to unplug the OR table. Which of the following is true about unplugging the OR table?
 - a. Always decreases 60-Hz electrical interference being coupled to the lead-wires and patient skin.
 - b. May decrease 60-Hz electrical interference being coupled to the leadwires and patient skin, but may increase 60-Hz electrical interference since unplugging removes the earth grounding of the bed, allowing the bed to become a giant antenna for nearby 60-Hz noise.
 - c. Is always a good idea.
 - d. All of the above statements are true.

- 4. The skin and subcutaneous fat layers of the patient have electrical characteristics challenging to the IOM team. Which of the following is TRUE?
 - a. Skin has the ability to hold large amounts of electrical charge (it has large electrical capacitance). Electrical interference signals coupling to skin at one location of the body rapidly conduct to the entire skin surface of the body, including where the electrodes are.
 - b. The relatively large impedance of skin not only requires prep for placing surface electrodes, but the combination high impedance of skin and subcutaneous fat drastically attenuate physiologic signal power.
 - c. Dangerous levels of electrical energy from the electrosurgical pencil cable can couple to electrode leadwires. Having the electrode leadwires or electrosurgical cabling on skin enhances this coupling.
 - d. All of the above are true.
- 5. Which of the following is TRUE about electromagnetic coupling in the operating room:
 - a. Moving magnets near the leadwires presents a changing magnetic field, which will couple interference to the leadwires and patient skin.

- b. Equipment-emanating time changing fields such as 60-Hz electromagnetic fields will couple interference to the leadwires and patient skin.
- c. Equipment such as microscope lighting emanating an electromagnetic field that is time changing, even if not at 60 Hz, will couple interference to the leadwires and patient skin.
- d. Electromagnetic fields in the operating room are generally bipolar or quadruple, meaning they are directional.
- e. All of the above are true.
- 6. Of the three components of electrical impedance, which does not vary with changing the frequency of the current through them?
 - a. Resistance component of impedance
 - b. Capacitive component of impedance
 - c. Inductive component of impedance
 - d. All vary with changing frequency
 - e. None of these vary with changing frequency

Answers

- 1. D
- 2. C
- 3. B
- 4. D
- 5. E
- 6. A

Signal Optimization in Intraoperative Neuromonitoring

17

Robert E. Minahan and Allen S. Mandir

Key Learning Points

- The root cause(s) of suboptimal neuromonitoring signals can be traced to patient-related, anesthetic/systemic-related, and/or technical issues.
- A systematic approach to identifying underlying causes and applying solutions allows efficient signal optimization

Patient-Related Issues

Even when technical issues are eliminated or minimized, a patient's pre-existing pathophysiology may hamper the ability to obtain robust baseline data. Logic dictates that for at least a percentage of surgeries, it is exactly these preoperative neurologic deficits that have led to the surgical procedure. As well, patients may exhibit preoperative neurologic dysfunction that may be unrelated to the surgical procedure being monitored, yet hamper the neurophysiologic pathways being monitored. For example, a patient undergoing an intradural spinal cord tumor resection may also present with peripheral neuropathy. Although the peripheral neuropathology in this case is not related to the spinal central nervous system tumor, monitoring standard modalities such as somatosensory-evoked potentials, motorevoked potentials (MEPs), and/or electromyography may all be affected by the neuropathy.

There is wide variation in the degree of preexisting neural dysfunction and likewise wide variation in the degree to which this will affect the neuromonitoring. It behooves the intraoperative team not to assume pre-existing pathology is the sole cause of poor signals, but rather to consider that other possible factors discussed in this chapter may be at least partly to blame. We will discuss here several approaches to maximize signals for modalities when pre-existing deficits exist and to cope with signal amplitudes that remain unavoidably poor because of preoperative pathophysiology.

Somatosensory-Evoked Potentials

Peripheral Nerve Disorders

Radiculopathy is a common finding in monitored patients and its effect on somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) varies greatly from no effect to obliteration of signals depending on the extent and levels of nerve root involvement. For standard SSEP testing, the ascending volley is mediated by

R.E. Minahan, MD (⊠) • A.S. Mandir, MD, PhD Department of Neurology, Medstar Georgetown University Hospital, 3800 Reservoir Rd, NW 7th floor PHC Building, Washington, DC 20007, USA e-mail: rminahan@yahoo.com; allen_mandir@yahoo.com

at least two nerve roots (e.g., posterior tibial nerve [L4, L5, S1]; ulnar nerve [C8, T1]; and median nerve [C6, C7, \pm C8/T1]). If a radiculopathy is limited (e.g., C5 radiculopathy), all standard SSEPs may well be unaffected. Given the mediation by at least two roots, satisfactory SSEPs are often attainable even when a monoradiculopathy directly affects some of the proximal projections of the nerve stimulated.

Neuropathy is also commonly encountered in the operating theater and often has a great effect on obtaining SSEPs. Unlike radiculopathy, polyneuropathies affect the peripheral nerve more widely and thus SSEPs are likely to be hampered. For length-dependent polyneuropathies, SSEP signals are typically affected symmetrically sideto-side, but longer length pathways are affected to a greater degree (posterior tibial nerve ≫ulnar nerve>median nerve). An effective counter to this phenomenon is to stimulate the nerve more proximally (Fig. 17.1), thereby bypassing the distal segment of nerve that exhibits the greatest dysfunction. Focal neuropathies, on the other hand, may show great asymmetry in SSEPs, including side-to-side asymmetry.

Stimulation requirements are often increased in peripheral neuropathy and, as a rule, supramaximal stimulation of the peripheral nerve for SSEP acquisition improves the consistency of the responses. This makes establishing that a supramaximal level is present more important in the presence of neuropathy, and methods to elucidate supramaximal stimulation levels are discussed further in the "Technical Issues" section. It is further important to anticipate that SSEP latencies will be prolonged for patients with neuropathy and displayed time scales may need to be adjusted to avoid missing late-arriving SSEP waveform components. When stimulating more proximally, the relative latency of these components will be shorter than from a distal site, but may still be prolonged if the neuropathy is extensive.

Body habitus can present difficult challenges for the intraoperative neuromonitoring team. Those with little muscle mass may have a propensity for peripheral nerve compressions and additional padding may be needed to prevent or correct this risk. Conversely, patients with obesity suffer from increased rates of peripheral compression due to their increased body and limb weight and one must again be alert for these factors when evaluating SSEPs. Furthermore, with increased adipose tissue or peripheral edema, the distance from skin to target nerve for stimulation is



Fig. 17.1 Proximal stimulation with length-dependent neuropathy. Proximal stimulation (popliteal fossa) elicited tibial nerve SSEPs, whereas distal stimulation (ankle)

did not in a patient with known diabetes but no documented history of neuropathy. This pattern suggests the presence of length-dependent diabetic neuropathy

increased, making it more difficult to supramaximally stimulate. For most stimulation sites, marginal increases in the distance from the site to the nerve can be overcome with simple increases in the stimulation intensity, assuming the underlying nerve remains normal. However, it is not uncommon that the underlying medical conditions that are associated with obesity or edema are also associated with peripheral nerve dysfunction. As a result, obesity or edema may complicate monitoring and more proximal stimulation sites, use of needle-stimulating electrodes as opposed to surface stimulation, or even use of longer-than-standard stimulating needles may be helpful.

Central Nervous System Dysfunction

Central nervous system pathophysiology also presents challenges to SSEP monitoring. Strokes, central demyelinating disorders such as multiple sclerosis, and other central disorders may have varying effects on SSEPs depending on the degree of central impairment. Central conduction delays, poor evoked waveforms, or absent evoked waveforms may result. In patients with demyelinating disease (e.g., multiple sclerosis), temperature management becomes particularly important as increased temperatures may impair neural transmission and therefore degrade signals in these patients (Uhthoff's phenomenon). As such, it is important to document core temperatures and avoid relative hyperthermia in these patients.

Because scalp recording sites for SSEPs are a reflection of the electrode position relative to the brain tissue, any factor that alters this relationship may alter recordings. Scalp hematomas may dampen cortical response amplitudes; especially in patients with bleeding dyscrasia, a hematoma may even result from the placement of SSEP scalp recording needles. Similarly, subdural air, subdural hematomas/hygromas, or other tumors in this location have an even more profound effect and some of these may not be known to the intraoperative team at the time of surgery. When SSEP recordings point to dampening at a specific recording electrode rather than at all recording sites, one should consider a process possibly being present between the brain and scalp in addition to problems with the electrode itself.

Similarly, a shift in the brain may occur after resection of a large tumor or when changing the position of the patient (supine to prone, supine to sitting position, or the reverse). Whereas the SSEP recording electrodes may stay in exactly the same position on the scalp, the underlying brain may shift slightly and therefore the relative orientation between brain and scalp may be altered and thereby affect SSEP signals.

During intracranial procedures, sterile field requirements may alter standard SSEP needle placements and thus changes in morphologies should be expected depending on the degree of displacement from standard electrode sites. In some cases, this alteration may be mitigated if the surgeon places sterile needles in the field. Neuronal migration disorders of cortical tissue (abnormal fetal migration of developing brain) or normal variation may also produce atypical SSEP cortical responses. For example, some patients will present with cortical waveforms following lower extremity SSEP stimulation that have a wider than typical N37 [1] distribution and a small or absent P37, thereby mimicking an upper extremity type of scalp distribution ("N37" morphology). Although this may be identified by its pattern if sufficient recording channels are utilized, verifying that the stimulation and recording electrodes are properly placed is also usually warranted for most atypical patterns (refer also to the section on technical issues in this chapter).

Motor-Evoked Potentials

Patient pathophysiology that affects SSEPs may similarly affect transcranial electrical MEPs. However, given the difference and variability in the central neural pathways that mediate these monitoring modalities, there is a complementary nature between SSEPs and MEPs and one may remain more reliable than the other in the face of preoperative neurologic dysfunction.

Peripheral Nervous System Disorders

As with SSEPs, radiculopathy may affect MEP signals and the degree to which this is manifest will depend on whether the affected myotome is



Fig. 17.2 New L5 radiculopathy affecting SSEP more than MEP. Right-sided MEPs (*left panel*) and SSEPs (*right panel*) taken at similar times during a lumbar surgery where a suspected root injury occurred. Note the clear disparity in that MEPs, including the posterior tibial

reproducibility to baseline levels, whereas SSEPs following right posterior tibial nerve stimulation shows dramatic and sustained decrease (*red* and *black traces*) from that of baseline (*green trace*) ture. Given their reliance on conduction restricted

relevant to the acquired motor signals. As muscles selected for MEPs may be innervated by different roots/nerves than those that mediate SSEPs, one can appreciate that MEPs and SSEPs may be differentially affected (Fig. 17.2). Neuropathies may also affect motor signals and, with the common length-dependent form, commonly used distal muscles for MEPs (i.e., thenar, abductor hallucis) may be disproportionately affected. In addition, neuropathies may be predominantly either motor or sensory, which may also contribute to disparities between MEP and SSEP baselines.

Strategies are limited to address these issues for MEPs, but one should be aware of the surgical level of importance. Muscles used for recordings can be chosen outside of weak myotomes. Likewise, more proximal muscles can be chosen if significant distal motor neuropathy exists, although often proximal muscles are not as reliably monitored for MEPs. If a procedure involves high cervical levels (e.g., C3–4), deltoid muscles (C5 root) may well serve an important role in monitoring even if a severe neuropathy is present that precludes or limits MEPs in distal musculature. Given their reliance on conduction restricted to central white matter, D-wave recordings avoid peripheral nerve issues entirely, much in the same way they avoid anesthetic and neuromuscular junction issues.

Central Nervous System Dysfunction

Motor-evoked potentials are highly sensitive to a new myelopathy occurring during a surgical procedure, which leads, in part, to their utility in neuromonitoring. Unfortunately, sensitivity to a pre-existing myelopathy is similarly high, presenting a particular challenge for acquiring MEPs in that setting with marginal or absent signals often being the result. When this occurs, ideal anesthetic conditions as well as meticulous placement and adjustment of stimulating electrodes may be required for monitorable MEPs to be present. In addition, facilitating techniques may be required to increase the chance of eliciting a response or to maintain a response in the face of changing conditions or anesthetic fade during a procedure. These facilitating techniques are further discussed in the "Technical Issues" section below under the "Poor signals" subheading.

Electromyography and Nerve Conduction Studies

Electromyography (EMG) monitoring and pedicle screw stimulation testing is reliant on an intact motor unit, and anything that disrupts the motoneuron, root, nerve, neuromuscular junction, or muscle may have an effect. The presence of applicable disease states and particularly weakness in target muscles should warn the neurophysiology team of possible limitations in the use of these modalities. (For more information on nerve conduction studies, *see* Chap. 38, "Surgery in the Peripheral Nervous System").

Radiculopathy or neuropathy may greatly reduce the sensitivity of EMG monitoring as mechanical perturbation of roots or nerves may not be as readily reflected at the muscle in these conditions. The location and duration of the lesion are influential in how these effects are demonstrated. An acute lesion leaves the distal nerve functionally intact, which can be dangerously misleading if the nerve is stimulated distal to the lesion yielding a robust compound muscle action potential (CMAP) and giving the impression it is functionally intact (e.g., in facial nerve testing). Thus, testing as proximal as possible is preferred to assure functional integrity of the nerve. With more chronic axonal lesions, Wallerian degeneration proceeds within a week and the distal nerve will also show dysfunction as well, although in rare cases the distal nerve may remain functional in a nonfunctioning nerve (neurapraxic conduction block).

Radiculopathy/neuropathy may also significantly impact testing that relies on stimulation thresholds such as pedicle screw electrical testing. In the normal setting, a high stimulation threshold suggests that the screw is well-insulated by bone and thus is appropriately positioned. However, falsely elevated thresholds due to nerve dysfunction may occur during pedicle screw testing in the presence of radiculopathy/ neuropathy and, as such, test results involving weak myotomes should be interpreted with caution. If possible, direct proximal root stimulation may help determine if a root has a stimulation threshold in the normal range (e.g., <4 mA using typical stimulation parameters). It may also be helpful to examine relative thresholds if multiple screws are evaluated and the finding of a threshold that is much lower than companion screws should alert suspicion and receive additional evaluation for malpositioning from the surgeon. Similarly, for free run EMG monitoring, it should be kept in mind that sensitivity may be affected depending on the muscles tested and severity/distribution of the radiculopathy/neuropathy.

Pre-existing neuromuscular junction disorders may also influence EMG testing. Depending on the type of disorder, measures of neuromuscular blockade may also yield unreliable results and the response to pharmacologic neuromuscular blockade may be highly exaggerated and prolonged.

Electroencephalography

Electroencephalography (EEG) is typically monitored either by scalp electrodes and/or by direct cortical recordings (electrocorticography) during intraoperative neuromonitoring. EEG may be useful for such intracranial surgeries as aneurysmal or other vascular repair, brain mass excisions, and in epileptic foci excision. It is also useful in extracranial surgeries like carotid endarterectomies to assess for hemispheric ischemia.

Unprocessed EEG is also useful in identifying the deep anesthetic state that exhibits a burstsuppression pattern (Fig. 17.3). This state is easy to identify and may be useful as a surrogate marker of other synaptic suppression affecting neuromonitoring signals (e.g., those related to MEPs) and the deep cortical anesthetic state supplies information to the anesthesia team that they may use to titrate anesthetics. On the other hand, if the goal is to assess through the entire range of anesthetic depth, EEG requires digital processing techniques (e.g., Bispectral Index [BIS] monitor) that are often imperfect and fall outside the usual realm of the neuromonitoring team (see Chap. 11, "Clinical Application of Raw and Processed EEG").

Those anatomic barriers that insulate or alter SSEP recording electrodes (as discussed



Fig. 17.3 Burst suppression pattern on the EEG. A burst suppression pattern follows a bolus of propofol on this limited EEG montage



Fig. 17.4 Patient anesthesia chart

previously) can have the same inhibitory effect on obtaining EEG traces. In particular, hygromas, subdural hematomas, and scalp hematomas are examples of fluid spaces that will insulate scalp needles from underlying cerebral generators of EEG. These and other preoperative abnormalities such as focal attenuation, epileptiform discharges, or rhythmic slowing are likely to be present prior to surgery, making preoperative or preincision EEG a helpful reference to distinguish between these pre-existing displays and new findings (Fig. 17.4).

Anesthetic and Systemic Effects

The goals of anesthesia, analgesia, and amnesia may at times be in direct opposition to obtaining robust neurophysiologic data. Those neurophysiologic functions requiring more synapses are in turn typically the first to be blunted by anesthesia (e.g., conscious acts) and differential effects are noted within neurologic pathways utilized by common neuromonitoring tests (e.g., MEPs affected to higher degree than SSEPs). Although a bell curve may generally exist for the average anesthetic affect across patients, there is wide variation for an individual patient's responses.

A number of systemic variables may also impact neuromonitoring data both directly and through the patient's reaction to an anesthetic. Temperature, pH, blood pressure, hematocrit, oxygenation, CO₂ levels, blood loss, fluid status, and other factors can impact monitoring signals, which can dramatically change intraoperatively [2]. Stability of anesthetic and systemic parameters improves the stability of neuromonitoring data and allows for a clearer interpretation. However, the reality is that some degree of variation is inevitable and wide degrees of change may be unavoidable. Understanding the impact that anesthetic/systemic variations have on neuromonitoring data and the ability to differentiate this from new neural dysfunction is part of the art of intraoperative neuromonitoring. For more details, see Chap. 19, "Anesthesia Management and Intraoperative Electrophysiological Monitoring."

Somatosensory-Evoked Potentials

Because anesthetics produce their greatest effect on pathways with the greatest number of synapses, SSEPs recorded from cortical generators are affected more than recordings from subcortical sites. As seen in Fig. 17.5, the A1-Fpz subcortical channel recordings are unchanged relative to baseline even though the cortical channel recordings have been greatly diminished with increases in anesthesia. Because the operation in this case was an orthopedic spine case, the stability of the subcortical response helps to provide reassurance that conduction is proceeding normally across the surgical levels despite the large changes from anesthesia. The largest subcortical response typically is generated in a Cerv5-Fpz channel, which adds a small N13 cervical component to what is primarily positive medullary activity (P13, P14) recorded in the Fpz electrode. Additionally, a pure medullary response is purposefully recorded in cervical level cases by foregoing the Cerv5 electrode for one above the neck such as from the ear (A1 in Fig. 17.5).

Use of the subcortical response to identify anesthetic effects in lower extremity SSEPs may be more problematic because these subcortical signals are notoriously more difficult to obtain as compared with those from the upper extremities. Thus, for thoracolumbar procedures, when a subcortical response is not available to aid interpretation, one may have to rely on cortical responses that are inherently more affected by anesthetics. In this situation, stability of the upper extremity subcortical signals in the face of both upper and lower extremity cortical signal decline can still lead to a conclusion that an anesthetic/systemic effect is at play.

Other limiting factors for the acquisition of a subcortical response are its particular susceptibility to electrical noise due to the long interelectrode distances and the presence of myogenic artifact due to the proximity of recording electrodes to muscle. As a result, these signals are commonly degraded when a patient is under relatively light anesthetic and is not under neuromuscular blockade. If these are the causes, the noise may be abated with increased anesthetics and/or delivery of neuromuscular blockade, although these may often not be desirable for other reasons. Alternatively, narcotics and other intravenous agents will typically have lesser effect on the cortical and subcortical components of the signals while still effectively mitigating EMGinduced artifact.

Although stable subcortical responses may confirm adequate dorsal column function across the surgical levels in spine surgeries, intracranial neurologic dysfunction remains possible despite a preserved subcortical response. A not uncommon example exists in the case of anterior cervical Fig. 17.5 Anesthetic suppression of cortical SSEP responses. Right ulnar SSEP recordings were obtained during a cervical spine fusion using four cortical (Cz-Fz, C3-C4, C3-Fz, C3-Cz) and one subcortical channel (A1-Fz). The green traces are baseline responses, red traces are current traces, and black traces are the previous set. After an increase in anesthetic gas, the subcortical response is stable, whereas all cortical traces are blunted and delayed compared with baseline (a similar pattern was present in left ulnar recordings at the time)



procedures where the placement of retractors may impinge on a carotid artery. If adequate collateral flow is not present, hemispheric ischemia may result that will affect cortical responses from the contralateral upper extremity while leaving the associated subcortical response unaffected. Thus, in conditions when cortical responses are diminished and one has to rely on subcortical SSEP responses alone, a change due to carotid retraction could readily be missed.

Increased anesthetics, decreased oxygenation or hematocrit, decreased perfusion pressures, and perturbed pH may all similarly affect SSEPs with a preferential effect on cortical SSEPs. Although one may expect globally similar or at least symmetric bilateral effects on cortical responses with increases of anesthesia, practical experience not uncommonly demonstrates quite asymmetric changes due to anesthetic alterations. These often appear accentuated when baseline asymmetries already exist and patterns may emerge that greatly increase the chance that changes are mistakenly interpreted as arising from a surgical cause.

Motor-Evoked Potentials

Anesthetic agents and systemic changes may have profound and variable effects on MEPs. Inhalational agents potently suppress the ability to activate motoneurons. As a result, propofol, supplemented at times with ketamine and/or narcotic, has become a widely used agent and its use is more conducive to acquiring MEPs compared with the use of inhalational agents at similar degrees of anesthetic depth. However, it should be kept in mind that any anesthetic agent, whether intravenous or inhalational, is capable of inhibiting MEPs and high-dose propofol can also dramatically suppress MEPs [3]. Measuring the blood's concentration of intravenous (IV) agents is rarely practical, and physiologic measures such as using a BIS EEG-type monitor have been imperfectly reliable. Simpler EEG measures, as noted previously (Fig. 17.3), can identify burst suppression indicating a deep cortical level of anesthesia. This may be used as a guide to the anesthesia team that anesthetics are becoming excessive as a deep anesthetic state is clearly reached with burst suppression. At that point, a reduction in anesthetic delivery might be considered and any further increase in anesthetics would be expected to further suppress neurophysiologic responses, to increase the incidence of propofol infusion syndrome [4] and to increase the likelihood of long wake-up times at the end of the procedure. In addition, bolus dosing of propofol may yield wide swings in MEP suppression, leading to a difficult interpretative environment for the monitoring team.

For practical purposes, some mixture of inhalational gases and IV anesthetics are commonly used in procedures that use MEPs. However, patients exhibit vastly different sensitivities to inhalational agents in terms of the suppression of their MEPs. For patients who are particularly sensitive or for patients who are myelopathic or have other neurologic impairment, MEP signals may not be recordable. When this occurs in the setting of a mixed inhalational and intravenous anesthetic technique, a subsequent shift toward intravenous and away from inhalational agents can improve the likelihood of obtaining useful MEPs in these cases.

When poor or absent MEPs are encountered, a number of steps focused on improving the stimulation delivery may be taken in parallel with efforts to improve the anesthetic environment. These are discussed previously and also in the "Technical Issues" section below under the "Poor signals" subheading.

The level of neuromuscular blockade is obviously an important additional factor in the acquisition of MEPs. However, unlike anesthetic agents, of which the action is on already difficult to activate central synapses, the action of neuromuscular blockade is more predictably linear on the amplitude of the MEP. That being said, an understanding of the state of this blockade is important and high levels of blockade will prevent MEP acquisition. We find it helpful to utilize train-of-four measures in each limb so as to provide the most accurate assessment of the systemic level of blockade and to assess for focal variability. MEPs are also sensitive to other systemic parameters such as blood pressure, pH, oxygenation levels, and hematocrit. It is not uncommon that MEPs can slowly diminish in their response over the course of a procedure and this is likely a combination of anesthetic effects and the inevitable changes in blood composition that occur during surgery such as blood loss. Resultant decreases in hematocrit and thus oxygenation with concomitant pH perturbations are all thwarting factors to the acquisition of MEPs. An additional adverse systemic factor that is frequently overlooked when attempting to acquire MEPs is rising core temperature with the use of body warmers. Mild hypothermia may actually improve MEPs [5], while extremes of temperature in either direction will impair MEP monitoring. As with SSEPs, all of these systemic parameters may exacerbate the effects of anesthetics and it is common to see these culminating effects with time; especially in longer surgical procedures.

Electromyography

EMG monitoring is relatively immune to the effects of anesthetic agents; appropriate monitoring typically requires only that neuromuscular junction functioning be intact. Inhalational and intravenous agents used for anesthesia do not have a clinically evident effect on this junction. However, paralytic agents are commonly used, and by definition, may have a profound effect on EMG activity. Sensitivity to the effects of these agents varies greatly across patients as does the recovery of neuromuscular junction function. Therefore, the effect of this dosing is not precisely predicted and instead must be measured at the muscle. For pedicle screw testing, a T1 % (amplitude of an evoked supramaximal abductor pollicis brevis [APB] muscle response as compared with preanesthetic baseline) of over 20% has a minimal effect on threshold testing [6], which translates to the more easily electrically measured train-of-four ratio in the gastrocnemius of 35% (unpublished data). Visually assessed mechanical measures of ulnar nerve "twitches" has wide inter-rater variability, although, if used, this level of blockade usually corresponds to three or four twitches out of four. Levels of partial blockade that do not affect the sensitivity of free-running EMG are not well-defined, but are likely not clinically impaired at those parameters discussed before. When in doubt and when possible, erring on the side of less blockade is preferred.

Electroencephalography

Certain anesthetics may have a more pronounced effect on EEG than others, but sufficient concentration of any anesthetic may alter EEG. Boluses of intravenous anesthetics in particular may also influence EEG greater than say SSEPs; if there is a sudden global suppression in EEG while SSEPs remain stable, an anesthetic-related contributor is the usual cause (*see* Fig. 17.3).

Differentiation of effects on our signals from systemic factors versus from new neurologic dysfunction is not always clear cut and some alterations in systemic patient physiology may contribute to new focal neurologic dysfunction. For example, relative hypotension in isolation may affect some signals without expectation of adverse sequelae in most cases. However, if surgical steps result in tissue that cannot tolerate any decrease in perfusion, even mild relative hypotension could cause a critical threshold for tissue ischemia to be surpassed. As such, one often needs to simultaneously take action related to possible new neurologic dysfunction while addressing other factors that may be obscuring the ability to correctly identify potential new dysfunction.

Technical Issues

"Technical issues" is a broad term that concerns the technique used to acquire signals. As noted in the Introduction, these issues have their roots in good basic technique, and a solid working knowledge of neuromonitoring is assumed. Beyond basic technique, we hope to address further coping strategies in response to the patient and anesthesia challenges discussed previously, the sometimes electrically hostile operating room environment, equipment failure, and unintended deviations from usual methods.

As in all areas of signal optimization, a rational step-wise approach to understanding, localizing, and addressing the specific issues at hand will provide the best route to timely and effective optimization. In contrast, inexperienced persons may try steps "because they worked before" (often for a different problem) or in an otherwise illogical way. A moment of thought in these situations will often save valuable time, allowing redirection of attention to other optimization or even the monitoring itself. One extreme example is someone who wanted to "replace all the electrodes" when encountering a high-amplitude noise problem, but instead, with some quick investigation, showed that this was an external noise source (unplugging the bed solved the problem). Once issues are identified as technically related (as opposed to or in addition to patient/anesthesia-related issues), our goal is to further break down the issues until we come to a specific answer (Fig. 17.6).

For technical issues, we first decide whether the problem fits into one of three broad areas: increased electrical noise, poor signal amplitude, or atypical patterns of signal response. One will quickly recognize that the first two categories are the two components of the SNR, and deciding the root cause of a poor signal is usually deciding whether the problem is primarily increased noise, decreased signal, or both. This distinction hinges on both an understanding of the usual levels of background noise and the usual response characteristics of target signals. If we encounter a poor SNR and the amplitude of electrical noise exceeds our expectation for typically sized signals, then



Fig. 17.6 Technical chart

we'd expect that electrical noise is our primary issue. If, on the other hand, the level of electrical noise is below the range of typical signals, then we expect that low signal is the primary cause. This may appear trivial, but some common errors demonstrate that this thought process is not universally applied. For example, most of us have probably encountered a situation in which the sensitivity for recording has been increased to a point that universally present intrinsic noise is displayed prominently and the absent signals are described as "noisy." Conversely, with high noise levels, recording sensitivity may be decreased to make the baseline superficially appear to have a reasonable noise level when, in fact, embedded signals would never be recognizable. The key to avoiding these errors is to have an understanding of expected amplitude and latency of the target signal. If one knows their target values, they will adjust their settings to those values rather than to a potentially deceiving "look" and the differentiation between noise and signal issues should be much easier.

The third main category for technical issues primarily deals with errors in the configuration of our monitoring systems or electrodes. This may be due to failure to correctly configure or connect components or it may be due to breakage of the equipment. When these "errors" occur, signals may be present in unexpected patterns/morphology, but possibly with reasonable recording fidelity. At other times, select signals will be absent in patterns that do not make physiologic sense or signals may be completely and unexpectedly absent but possibly with clues such as absence of stimulation artifact.

As is apparent, there is overlap between the "poor signal" category and the signal acquisition error category. In fact, one might logically consider this third category as a subdivision of the poor signal category. For discussion and thought organization purposes regarding the signal acquisition error category, we will focus on frank errors or breakage, whereas in the prior category, we will focus on reasonable but potentially suboptimal aspects of either the stimulation or the recording systems.

Increased Electrical Noise

Electrical noise is a constant accompaniment to neuromonitoring and some level of background noise is omnipresent and must be tolerated. However, a number of routine strategies are used to limit ubiquitous noise such as common mode rejection amplifiers, signal averaging techniques, and electrical filtering. When, despite these measures, the amplitude of electrical noise increases to the point that it adds variability to or overwhelms the recorded signals, it may interfere with identification and interpretation of neuromonitoring data.

When feasible, the best and most common strategy for dealing with noise is to remove or mitigate (by changing the source's location or the location of recording equipment/wires) the offending noise generator. In order to remove noise, the source must first be identified. One possible strategy is to note where the noise amplitude is the greatest, and if our signals point to a specific area of the body, we can look in that area first. Unfortunately, a clear focality to noise is not always obvious, so we also characterize the frequency of the intruding noise, which may yield clues as to its source (Table 17.1).

Electrical Noise: 60 Hz

Probably the most common noise type is the sinusoidal 60-Hz waveform (in the US and 50 Hz in most parts of the world) due to the alternating current in our power supplies. This noise is easily recognized by its 16.67-ms period and its typical sine wave morphology (Fig. 17.7). For free-running data where the period may not be easy to see, attenuation or elimination of the noise when the 60-Hz notch filter is turned on should help verify its presence. Once noise is identified as exhibiting a 60-Hz frequency, the next step is to identify the source and again the distribution of the noise may yield clues. If the noise is maximal in a specific area of the body, this is more likely to point to an external (room noise) source. If, on the other hand, the noise is restricted to recordings that correspond to a given component of the recording system, this would point to an internal (within the recording system) source. If we can narrow down the pos-

Table 17.1 Common sources of elctrical	l noise
--	---------

External sources of 60-Hz noise	Internal sources of 60-Hz noise
1. The operative bed	1. Poor/partial electrode contact with the body
2. Fluid warmers	2. A damaged electrode
3. Body warmers	3. Poor connection of the electrode to the recording system
4. Electrical islands, extension cords	4. Dysfunctional jackbox, associated cable, or their connection
5. BIS monitors	5. Dysfunction amplifier
6. Fluorescent lights	6. General current leak in the system
7. Fluoroscopy unit	
8. Other electrical device in the vicinity	
9. Power line noise (e.g. nearby heavy equipment use)	
High-frequency noise	Low-frequency noise
1. Muscle artifact	1. Stimulation artifact
2. Microcurrent artifact	2. Movement artifact
3. Electrocautery activation	3. High-amplitude noise transients "intrusions"
4. Electrocautery return pad (constant impedance testing)	4. "Baseline drift" from poor electrode contact
5. Operating microscope	5. Cardiac/pulse artifact
6. Fluoroscopy unit	6. Respiratory or ventilator artifact
7. Other electrical devices	7. Compression device activation

sibilities, our search for a source will be far more efficient (*see* Table 17.1).

Often the 60-Hz noise source may be identified, but the offending device is critical to the procedure and cannot be eliminated or sufficiently mitigated. In these situations, steps may be taken to mitigate the interference; the most common of these is the 60-Hz notch filter. This filter is commonly and appropriately used to reduce electrical noise in our recordings. However, a number of potential pitfalls must be kept in mind. The notch filter, like any electrical filter, can be overwhelmed by electrical noise and if the filter limits are exceeded, the noise may still disrupt the physiologic data. Furthermore, this process may transform electrical noise into waveforms that may mimic physiologic data. For



Fig. 17.7 60-Hz electrical noise. Sixty Hertz noise with characteristic 16.67-ms period partially obscuring tibial nerve SSEPs (**a**). Removal of an electrical device resolves the 60-Hz noise (**b**)



Fig. 17.8 EEG contamination with 60 Hz noise despite use of notch filter. EEG recordings from longitudinal channels of the left hemisphere (*blue*) and right hemisphere (*red*) show high amplitude 60 Hz noise (**a**). Use of the 60-Hz notch filter results in marked attenuation and

alteration of the original noise, but residual noise persists (b) and obscures the relatively low-amplitude true underlying EEG activity that is revealed after removal of the offending noise source (c)

example, Fig. 17.8 shows EEG with notchfiltered high-amplitude 60-Hz noise with bleedthrough that may appear as brain-wave activity to the inexperienced electroencephalographer. As is obvious, this misinterpretation of noise as EEG activity could be disastrous in some clinical situations.

Another pitfall with use of the notch filter is that some of our recorded signals contain 60 Hz as a component frequency and thus the notch filter may lead to attenuation in those recordings. Finally, for averaged signals, the notch filter may cause ringing artifact with introduction of new noise that is sometimes worse than the original 60 Hz offender or, again, may produce a waveform that emulates a physiologic response. Given the above potential pitfalls, we avoid reflexive or routine use of the notch filter, preferring to eliminate the noise source. However, some noise sources cannot be identified or, if identified, cannot be removed or mitigated. Thus, judicious use of the notch filter is appropriate in many situations with the above precautions in mind. In addition, some systems offer notch filters other than 60-Hz that can be tailored to specific frequencies as needed after analysis of the predominant frequency band of the noise. Similar cautions apply regarding signal attenuation, bleed through, and ringing, but these filters may be useful tools if used with these potential problems in mind.

Electrical Noise: High Frequency

High-frequency noise is often the most disruptive and is often difficult to eliminate. As with any noise, recognition of the source is critical to finding an appropriate means to optimize signals. Table 17.1 notes the most common highfrequency noise sources; each has unique clinical features that allow identification and signal optimization. Myogenic artifact tends to occur as background tone returns to muscles when neuromuscular blockade wears off and anesthetic depth is relatively light. Although additional neuromuscular blockade is typically highly effective, in many situations it has been allowed to wear off for a clinical reason, and re-dosing is not a preferred option. Alternative specific steps can include administration of narcotics (infusion of high doses of short-acting narcotics is effective with little effects on monitoring) or otherwise deepening the level of anesthesia.

Microcurrent noise artifact [7] occurs when metals of different types come into contact in association with a bath of electrolyte solution (typically irrigation fluid or bodily fluids within the surgical field). In most situations, microcurrent artifact can be suspected when surgical instruments are in the field and may be in contact with instrumentation being implanted or with metal retractors (e.g., placing screws to secure a plate after cervical discectomy and fusion). Microcurrent noise can be difficult to distinguish from muscle artifact in some situations, but the clinical situation usually will point to the correct source.

Noise from activation of monopolar electrocautery is typically obvious (especially if the cautery device's alarm is audible) and obliterates all but the highest amplitude electrical signals. Bipolar coagulation is similarly obvious, but is often compatible with acquisition of moderateamplitude and remotely generated signals. For all electrocautery, the typical response is to suspend signal acquisition during cautery activity. A related source of noise arises from the automated testing of the monopolar electrocautery return pad's impedance (Fig. 17.9) and this highfrequency noise is likely to affect electrodes in the immediate vicinity of the pad. Gaining as much distance between the pad and the recording electrodes is desirable both to minimize this noise and for safety reasons, described in Chap. 16, "Wiring and Electrical Interference in IOM." Electrocautery frequencies are usually well outside the typical filter ranges of our systems and thus no filtering is likely to be useful.

Other electrical devices may also introduce high-frequency noise and some, such as an operating microscope or fluoroscopy unit, may be needed in the immediate proximity to the patient and cannot be turned off during specific portions of a procedure. If these cannot be moved to a more favorable location, then the general strategies to deal with electrical noise suggested later are often the only options.



Fig. 17.9 Electrocautery high-frequency noise. EMG monitoring in the left quadriceps ("LVM-LVL") is disrupted by noise from the electrocautery return pad (**a**) dur-

ing a L3–L4 posterior fusion. Movement of the pad away from recording electrodes resolves the issue (**b**)

Electrical Noise: Low Frequency or Intermittent

Low-frequency noise tends to be less disruptive in general than the higher frequency varieties, but can still be troublesome. A common type of low-frequency noise is stimulation artifact; the sometimes large electrical noise associated with the electrical stimulation we deliver. At times, exaggerated stimulation artifact may result if either the recording or the stimulating electrodes are in poor contact with the body. In addition, proximity of recording electrodes to the stimulation components that generate the electrical charge being delivered (the "stim box") may introduce artifact. Even when all components are correctly configured, stimulation artifact may still occur and can be countered with strategies targeted to both the stimulation and recording systems. On the stimulation side, the minimum effective stimulation level should be used and the anode should be in proximity to the cathode but away from the recording target. Recording parameter alterations include increasing the cut-off value for the lowfrequency filter, assuming this alteration does not unduly degrade the signal. One such example is an increase in the low-frequency filter setting during motor nerve conduction testing of thoracic roots when recording from the abdominal muscles (stimulation artifact is very common). In this setting, a low-frequency filter as high as 100 Hz has a minor effect on compound motor action potential amplitudes and no discernible effect on measured thresholds under normal conditions. Another strategy that is available in many systems is the incorporation of a delay after stimulation before the recording is triggered. This will prevent the greatest energy from the stimulation from affecting the amplifier and will therefore greatly reduce the subsequent capacitive discharge artifact that otherwise results. This can be highly effective, although of course the triggered physiologic response must have an onset latency that exceeds the trigger delay. Finally, in some cases, stimulation artifact may enter the recording system through electrodes attached to the recording system but purportedly inactive at the time. An example would be testing of transcranial motorevoked potentials with large artifact entering through the inactive somatosensory potential recording electrodes on the scalp (Fig. 17.10). In such a case, increasing the distance between the stimulation and inactive recording electrodes may help, and if not, temporary physical disconnection of the inactive electrodes during stimulation may be needed.

Movement artifact in our recordings can occur from surgical activity or from other devices in the patient's vicinity. Noise from surgical activity will depend on the surgeon's actions, but often can be seen as delta activity in the EEG. Even if surgical activity is not directly over the recording electrodes, the surgical drapes may also be in contact with these electrodes, thereby focally transmitting the energy of surgical actions. Movement may also be introduced by blood pressure cuff activation, ventilators, sequential compression devices, or pulse artifact. The periodicity of these movements coupled with the lack of correlation to surgical events is the hallmark of these noise sources. If one is not aware of these possible sources of noise, they can be mistaken for physiologic activity such as pulse artifact identified as "focal delta" in the EEG or the noise resulting from an endotracheal tube cuff leak can be mistaken for periodic cranial nerve EMG activity.



Fig. 17.10 Stimulation artifact entering via inactive recording electrodes. Stimulation artifact obscures MEPs while inactive SEP electrodes are connected to the record-

ing system (a). Disconnection of SEP electrodes during testing removes stimulation artifact (b)

One of the more frustrating forms of noise comes in bursts of high-amplitude activity, making it more difficult to identify and counter. These noise intrusions can at times be related to surgical activity, but at other times may remain mysterious. For averaged signals, common noise strategies such as reducing the stimulation rate or increasing the number of averages in a trial only serve to increase the likelihood that these intrusions wipe out the targeted physiologic signal. In this case, even if signals are imperfectly acquired, short runs of averages in which the intrusions are not captured may be the best strategy. In addition, reduction of the rejection threshold (as discussed later) may be particularly helpful.

Electrical Noise: General Strategies

The previous discussion about noise focuses on identifying and removing noise sources. Unfortunately, eliminating noise is not always possible in the operating room (OR), and strategies then shift to minimizing the noise while improving the underlying signal such that evaluation of signals can proceed. As always, this is a focus on the SNR.

Strategies to increase the signal are few but can be effective. Actions include optimization of recording sites, avoidance of pre-existing neural dysfunction, and optimization of stimulation. In this latter category, a reduction in stimulation rate produces an increase in the amplitude of responses for many averaged central-evoked potential signals. Finally, attempts to reduce or alter the anesthetic regimen may allow emergence of larger signals that may become adequate despite the presence of noise.

Strategies focused on noise reduction include the configuration and selection of recording channels. In general, the use of small interelectrode distances reduces noise, but this must be balanced against phase cancelation if recording electrodes are so close that they both "see" the same signal. The specific balance of these factors may depend on the specifics of any noise problem, but as a rule, one recording electrode is placed where the target signal is expected to have maximal activity and the reference electrode will be placed as close as possible where there is minimal (or reverse polarity) activity. Such a configuration allows for the greatest difference in electrical potential between electrodes (the signal) while keeping electrodes close to each other so that they "see" roughly similar levels of noise (which will thereby cancel each other), thus allowing for maximization of the SNR.

The ideal recording channel is not always predictable for a given patient, and the best recording channel may change over the course of a procedure. For example, when recording somatosensory-evoked potentials, differential anesthetic effects may alter the distribution of cortical responses, thereby improving or degrading responses in specific channels and potentially changing which channel might be considered "best." Similarly, the use of multiple cortical recording channels is often important when coping with electrical noise. We frequently see noise affect some channels more than others and, when it cannot be eliminated, the availability of many channels increases the likelihood that at least one remains adequate and thereby salvages the ability to continue to monitor. More traditional recording channels using electrodes overlying the somatosensory cortex and referenced to Fpz are excellent under good recording conditions, but they are also commonly the most sensitive to electrical noise given the relatively long interelectrode distances and the proximity of an electrode at Fpz to potentially excess myogenic noise from the frontalis muscle. In these situations, Cz'-C3' or Cz'-C4' (or their inverses) often are the most noise-resistant channels (see Fig. 17.7) [8]. Recording adjustments for other types of signals may also be made. When recording auditoryevoked potentials, the C3' or C4' sites may provide an alternative recording site when the more commonly used Cz' site is associated with excessive noise.

The routine and meticulous management of electrode wires will help to avoid electrical noise. Recording wires should be closely grouped/ braided. These grouped wires should then run together from their patient attachment to the jackbox inputs. Along this course, the wires should be separated from other electrical wires or electrical devices as much as possible (especially electrocautery wiring) and excess length of wires should never be coiled, as explained in Chap. 16. When noise sources cannot be moved, it is sometimes possible to move the electrodes on the patient to new locations away from the source that allow continued monitoring while minimizing noise.

Averaging signals to improve their SNR is a routinely utilized strategy for many neuromonitoring tests in which target signals are small in comparison to typical background noise. The SNR is improved by a factor of the square root of the number of averages, so one of the easiest ways to improve the SNR is to simply average more. In addition, some signals that are not routinely averaged may be better delineated by the addition of averaging.

The acquisition (stimulation) rate also plays an important role with averaged signals. Any change in stimulation rates can potentially improve signals depending on the frequency of noise present, and one may find that another rate is more suitable for attenuating the noise present. If the predominant noise that is present is in sine wave form and of known frequency, one can even alter the stimulation rate to attempt to initiate stimulation in a way that "hits" the sine wave at intervals that are half a wave apart (by using a rate that has a stimulation period that is an integer multiple of the noise-period +0.5 * noise-period). In other words, if the latency of the target response to stimulations 1, 3, 5 ... corresponds to the presence of the peak of the sine wave, then the response to stimulation 2, 4, 6 ... would arrive along with the trough of the sine wave. The combination of odd and even responses would theoretically then allow more effective cancellation of the noise. Stimulation rates that meet these criteria can be easily calculated for any noise frequency. Examples for 60-Hz noise include 13.333, 10.909, 4.8, 4.444, 3.636, 2.105, and 1.101. Such stimulation rates are therefore described as "ideal" for 60-Hz noise [9]. The exact opposite of the above strategy would be to use a stimulation rate that hits the 60-Hz sine wave at the same sine wave location with every response (e.g., peak every time). Such a "resonate frequency" would dramatically impair the efficacy of averaging. Most will recognize this as

what we seek to avoid when following the rule to never use stimulation rates that are even divisors of 60. However, many think of this as only whole numbers while forgetting that rates such as 1.2, 1.25, 1.5, 2.4, 2.5, 3.75, and 7.5 Hz are also divisors in the sense that, when multiplied by integers, they equal 60 and therefore they are just as resonate and just as deleterious to averaged signals as are whole number divisors. Finally, just to complicate this situation further, we have noted that at times, use of "ideal" rates are not the most effective rates for noise elimination and this may reflect times when harmonic frequencies of 60 Hz are also present. It turns out that EVERY stimulation rate that is "ideal" for 60 Hz is resonate for 120 Hz (and selected other harmonics) and thus in some situations use of ideal rates is not as effective. In conclusion, attempts with ideal rates may be helpful but we need to be flexible, and a bit of trial and error with a range of rates may be necessary.

Most modern neuromonitoring systems automatically reject trials that contain too much noise so that these are not incorporated into the completed average. For this function, single responses that contain activity with amplitude in excess of a set level are rejected as excessively noise-filled prior to incorporation into the averaged response. Default levels are typically adequate under usual conditions, but it is often overlooked that the cutoff amplitude for rejection can be adjusted and reduction of the cut-off amplitude (more responses rejected) can reduce noise in the final average. Conversely, when averaging is effective but too many averages are rejected, then the cutoff level can be increased.

Band-pass electrical filtering is a standard part of all modern monitoring signal acquisition and the addition of notch filtering to counter-specific frequencies is an available addition. Commonly used default band-pass ranges can be altered if it is done with an understanding of what the impact on the recorded signals will be and how comparisons to any baseline data will be affected. Given the potential to impair signals in addition to attenuating noise, this is usually a late attempt to acquire signals when other steps have failed. In addition to simple band-pass filtering, adaptive filtering methods may become incorporated into future systems [10].

Possibly the most important aspect of coping with electrical noise is differentiating noise from physiologic signals. Misidentification of noise as signal may lead to disastrous results if this produces a false suggestion that the nervous system is still functioning as expected (see Fig. 17.8). One such case was published as an example of false-negative MEP monitoring in which an automated system identified noise as persisting motor signals after spinal correction in surgery for kyphoscoliosis [11]. Visual inspection of published figures shows possible though, if present, exceedingly small left leg motor signals prior to spinal correction, while on the right leg only sine wave noise was discernible. After spinal correction was performed during the surgery, no leg signals could be visually identified from either side, although clear right leg sine wave noise persisted. Despite this, the amplitude of the noise automatically recorded and measured by the computer was numerically comparable to data obtained earlier for both legs and thus signals were considered "within normal limits." The potential for disaster with this type of error is apparent.

Poor Signal Amplitudes

When signals are low in amplitude, it is most commonly considered to be caused by the patient's physiology or due to anesthetic suppression of signals. In addition to attempts to counter these possible causes, an assessment for the contribution of technical causes should always be made. At other times, a neurologically normal patient may unexpectedly have poor amplitudes and a technical cause is suspected. For both of these situations, the logical approach to the assessment is made simpler by splitting consideration into either recording or stimulation causes.

Recording Technique

Meticulous placement of recording electrodes in standard positions and well-conceived basic acquisition parameters will allow high-quality initial signals in the greatest number of cases. When standard technique is closely followed but signals are still lacking, further improvement in some cases may be possible for signals that are small recording sensitive to adjustments (SSEPs>ABRs or myogenic potentials). Adjustments may proceed by trial and error or a systematic approach may be used [1]. It goes without saying that in order to improve signals, they must be correctly identified to start, and for this, a full appreciation of their expected polarities, latencies, amplitudes, and relations to other signals or signal components must be known. These factors as well as an understanding of the expected most active electrodes will also be invaluable in identifying situations in which errors have been made, as discussed later.

Stimulation Technique

Somatosensory-evoked potentials, train-of-four testing, and several additional types of testing are best performed with a supramaximal stimulation level. This is a stimulation level that corresponds to activation of all axons within the targeted nerve that contribute to the elicited response. As indicated by the name, it is also a stimulation level for which further increases in stimulation intensity yield no further increase in the response amplitude. For the appropriate tests, use of a supramaximal level is important for two reasons. First, it yields the largest responses, which will benefit the SNR. Second, the supramaximal level depends on a functional measure rather than a specific stimulator output number. As such, it is reproducible and this level of stimulation can always be reliably reestablished even if stimulation electrodes are altered, thereby leaving comparisons to baseline findings valid. The specific levels of stimulation that achieve the minimum supramaximal level will vary by patient and will depend on the proximity of stimulating needles to the targeted nerves as well as the function of those nerves. These factors imply that even in a given patient, significant left to right asymmetry in stimulation may be entirely appropriate if side-to-side electrode placement varies, anatomy varies, or nerve function varies.

In general, the supramaximal level can be achieved through a relatively wide range of stimulation intensities from the "minimum supramaximal level" up to the maximum stimulation output of the system. While this full range of stimulation may be safe in most circumstances, a setting near the minimum supramaximal level is generally preferred in order to minimize unnecessary electrical energy delivery and to prevent spread of stimulation outside the targeted nerve. Determination of the minimum supramaximal level can be time-consuming if averaged and sometimes variable signals are assessed such as with cortical SSEP responses, but more stable alternates are often available. An SSEP peripheral nerve response is typically stable and requires little averaging, thus allowing multiple trials at differing stimulation levels over a short period. Similarly, determination of the supramaximal level for the train-of-four test is simple given the large amplitude and unaveraged muscle potentials produced. However, if partial neuromuscular blockade is present, then single stimuli should be delivered and at least 7 s between stimulations should be allowed so that trial-to-trial amplitudes can be compared without introduction of a decremental response due to the presence of nondepolarizing neuromuscular blockade. Often the same nerve used for a train-of-four is used for SSEPs and the supramaximal level found in the train-of-four can suggest a supramaximal level for SSEPs, since the larger fiber sensory axons are typically depolarized before the slightly smaller motor axons. If the stimulation is monopolar (e.g., popliteal fossa), then results directly translate, whereas if bipolar stimulation is used (as is typical at the wrists and ankles) then minor variability may be introduced due to the reversal of stimulation polarity between those two tests (cathode proximal for SSEP and distal for train-of-four). If the limb is visualized, the presence of robust movement with stimulation similarly accomplishes this goal.

For superficial nerves with normal physiology, the precise determination of the minimum supramaximal level is not needed as long as standard stimulation levels are high enough to be supramaximal, while not so high that there is unintended activation of nearby nerves. Spread to nearby nerves occurs most commonly at the wrist when the ulnar nerve is targeted, but high stimulation levels also activate the nearby median nerve. As a general rule, we limit stimulation of the ulnar nerve to 35 mA or less (with 0.3-ms pulse width), which for typically sized patients with normal nerves and stimulating electrodes in our standard position results in stimulation well above the minimum supramaximal level, while still below the point we expect to activate the nearby median nerve. For SSEPs, selective stimulation of the ulnar nerve is important as it represents a lower entry of the ascending activity into the spinal cord (C8-T1) so that most of the cervical spinal cord is assessed. It is similarly important to selectively stimulate the ulnar nerve to distinguish it from the median nerve when assessing for peripheral nerve dysfunction.

Limiting stimulation to single nerves is typically desired; however, there may be times when purposeful stimulation spread to the median nerve may be useful, such as when an ulnar nerve response is degraded and subsequent assessment of the median nerve is desired. Loss of ulnar signals can occur due to dysfunction at any point in its course, whereas if the median nerve is simultaneously affected, the localization is most likely to be where these nerves travel together (wrist, axilla, or brachial plexus), assuming a peripheral nerve problem is the clinical expectation. For most patients, robust spread to the median nerve from electrodes over the ulnar nerve can be achieved with a stimulation of 65 mA at 0.3-ms pulse width. Another site where stimulation spread is likely to occur is at the popliteal fossa where both tibial and common peroneal nerves are present. However, the deep course of these nerves and higher stimulation intensities routinely needed make it more difficult to isolate just one of these nerves on a routine basis.

There may be some situations where stimulation artifact or excessive patient movement forces use of a submaximal stimulation level where a supramaximal one might normally be chosen. This may introduce less consistent reproducibility of the proportion of axons activated on a trial to trial basis, but can be used if this factor is understood. Twitch threshold is one option for a reproducible submaximal stimulation level, assuming target muscles can be visually assessed and neuromuscular blockade flux is not a factor.

Submaximal stimulation levels are also used for a variety of testing. Motor and auditoryevoked potentials may be elicited at threshold or at higher stimulation levels, although elucidation of a supramaximal level is not necessary in most cases and not desired in others. H-reflex testing requires a submaximal stimulation. Various stimulation techniques for assessing proximity to neural structures (e.g., pedicle screw testing) are performed at or near threshold.

Comprehensive acquisition methods for transcranial motor-evoked potentials can be found elsewhere [12]. Motor-evoked potentials are intrinsically more variable than most other signals we assess, are highly sensitive to anesthetics, and can vary dramatically depending on the stimulation methods. Effective stimulation depends on the location of the stimulating electrodes, the intensity of each pulse in the stimulation train of pulses, the number of pulses in the stimulation train, the interpulse interval, and any possible priming techniques used. Specific strategies for each of the above parameters are beyond the scope of this chapter, but the primary goal of stimulation is the successful activation of the anterior horn cells in the spinal cord and, when motor signals are poor, a number of maneuvers may be used to improve this activation. With poor signals, only a small minority of the anterior horn cells projecting to muscles used for recording will be activated, but this may be improved by either increasing the number of anterior horn cells that receive synaptic input or by increasing the likelihood that the anterior horn cell is successfully depolarized in response to this synaptic input. An increase in the number of anterior horn cells that receive presynaptic input can be achieved via higher stimulation intensities that are able to activate wider areas of brain and therefore greater numbers of axons. However, one may quickly run out of stimulator capacity or face diminishing returns on further stimulation increases with this strategy alone. In addition, the wider area of stimulation also activates deeper structures in the brain, which may be problematic for intracranial procedures. The other main way to improve motor signals is to increase the likelihood that the anterior horn cells that receive presynaptic input actually depolarize in response to this input. This latter focus may relate to both the stimulation parameters and to the pharmacologic/ anesthetic milieu. Alteration of stimulation parameters that improve the likelihood that any given anterior horn cell depolarizes include optimization of the interstimulus interval, an increase in the number of pulses in a stimulation train, or employment of "priming" techniques such as dual trains [13] or preliminary peripheral nerve stimulation [14–16]. As can be seen in the referenced materials, the specific methods for preliminary peripheral nerve stimulation varies, but our preferred technique uses bilateral tibial nerve stimulation, which is interleaved and repetitively activated as they would for an SSEP (supramaximal stimulation, ~4.7 Hz). Repetitive tibial nerve stimulation is maintained for 15 s or more with activation of MEPs immediately following. The primary pharmacologic maneuver to improve the probability that anterior horn cells are depolarized is a reduction in anesthetic inhibition either through reduction of the depth of anesthetic and/ or through a shift in anesthetics towards ones that less potently inhibit this process. The choice of maneuvers used to improve motor signals should depend on the time remaining in a procedure and with attention to the likelihood of "anesthetic fade" [17]. In general, at the beginning of a procedure we focus on stimulation electrode location and the anesthetic regimen while keeping priming techniques in reserve to counteract possible "fade" effects that may occur later in the procedure.

Several comments were made previously concerning alteration of stimulation rates in order to combat electrical noise. Independent of noise issues, slowing a stimulation rate improves the synchrony of averaged central-evoked potential signals. This can be a very useful technique to show that signals persist when increased anesthetic requirement or other systemic factors have already impaired comparisons to baseline signals. If noise is a problem and cannot be eliminated, the greater amplitudes will improve the signal-tonoise ratio, although the focus in this case is on the signal portion of the signal-to-noise ratio. Effects on the noise incorporated into averaged signals will be less predictable and will depend on the specific rate chosen. However, be aware that slower acquisition may reduce temporal fidelity and divert monitoring attention away from other important modalities. In addition, the resulting increased signal amplitudes can potentially compromise comparisons to baseline signals and might theoretically reduce the ability to identify a new neurologic insult. While we keep this possibility in mind when reducing averaging rates, we would rarely consider a signal "fixed" by a slower rate as having a "significant" change in the first place. Moreover, reduction of averaging rates is usually used in settings where baseline comparisons are already somewhat compromised (e.g., anesthetic suppression or increased noise) (Fig. 17.11).

Errors of Signal Acquisition

The previous discussions focused on improving signals when faced with challenges that are largely external to the standard neuromonitoring technique. However, constant vigilance must be maintained for errors of configuration of the neuromonitoring system or for malfunction in one of its components.

Electrode Plug-In Errors

Multimodal neuromonitoring involves the placement of dozens of electrodes and each must go in its assigned jackbox or stimulation output slot. To make matters worse, electrodes are often connected to the patient, the wires are all gathered together, the patient is repositioned, and the wires are then covered (drapes, compression devices, warmers, and more) with only the ends accessible. Only then are the wire ends finally plugged into their respective slots. Given the associated challenges of correct configuration, every neuromonitoring team must have a system to correctly identify each elec-





Fig. 17.11 SEP amplitude increase with reduced stimulation rates. Waterfall displays of the left median and left tibial nerve SSEPs are shown with the baseline responses at the bottom (*green*). Gradual reduction in signal amplitudes was noted during the case in association with anes-

thetic/systemic effects. A decrease in stimulation rate from 4.7z to 1.1 Hz (*arrows*) resulted in increased amplitudes. Similar improvement was seen in right median and posterior tibial responses as well as in ulnar responses bilaterally

Left Posterior Tibial Nerve SEP

trode when they are no longer able to easily directly trace it back to its location on the body. Usually these systems utilize a color coding system identifying both location and side of the body, pairing/ grouping of electrodes, numbers of knots in the wire, labels, or combinations of these. Particular attention to errors must occur when the usual routine is disrupted, such as when one monitorist takes over for another during or after the initial set-up period, when the patient is not in the usual position during electrode placement, or when needle scarcity alters usual color or grouping schemes.

Greater care, better systems, and better memories all serve to reduce error rates in how electrodes are plugged into the system; unfortunately, the inherent complexity and associated number of chances for error mean that at some point errors will occur. When those errors do occur, we rely on the understanding of our tests and our target signals to identify these problems from clues in the data generated. If electrode swaps occur, it can alter interpretation of signal changes and we may focus on the wrong side of the body or the wrong limbs if the problem is not discovered. A particularly tragic example is one of "false-negative MEPs" in a scoliosis surgery when the upper limb muscles were swapped with the lower extremity muscles. In this case the lower extremity signals appeared to persist through surgery, but since these were in fact signals from the upper extremities, they persisted through the surgery. The falsely labeled upper extremity signals, on the other hand, were lost in association with spinal correction and the patient awoke paralyzed [18–21]. Clues from the data that were missed in this case included earlier latencies in the "feet" compared to the "hands" and an unexplained loss of signals in the "hands" with timing correlated to spinal correction.

Probably, the most common type of plug-in error is a left/right swap of electrodes, and this can affect almost any type of neuromonitoring test with identification depending on the specific test. For free-running activity such as electroencephalography or electromyography, identification often will depend on associated artifact. Movement artifact from surgery, stimulation artifact from other tests, and cardiac artifact should all confirm correct laterality or the electrodes should be re-checked. When myogenic potentials are purposefully elicited (e.g., pedicle screw testing), the side of stimulation should match, and if not, the electrodes should be checked (Fig. 17.12).

With evoked potential testing, a left/right swap is expected when signals reflect a pattern for the "wrong" side and the problem may lie with either the stimulation or the recording system. Identification of the "wrong" side is relatively easy for motor-evoked potentials when stimulation electrodes are over each hemisphere and both sides of the body are recorded. In such a case, if the left body activation is intended but only right body responses are observed, the presence of a swap is fairly obvious, although whether the cause is a swap in stimulation versus recording remains to be resolved. Routine bilateral muscle recordings are suggested because if only the targeted side of the body is recorded, signals may be interpreted as small or absent in the presence of a swap when in actuality much better signals are recordable contralateral to those being assessed. For any type of myogenic potential, the presence of a train-of-four response on the expected muscle is a good indicator that at least that muscle is correctly matched to the stimulation and, if those stimulation electrodes are correct, indicates the recorded muscle is correct. Conversely, a flat train-of-four test with no stimulation artifact suggests a mismatch of the stimulation and recording sites and likely electrode error. Finally, clues from the patient can be very helpful and when (individually) stimulating any peripheral nerve, movement of the corresponding musculature gives an instant confirmation that stimulation laterality is correct.

With auditory-evoked potential testing, the presence of Wave I is a good indicator of laterality and other typical lateralized differences (larger Wave III ipsilaterally, smaller Wave II–III interval contralaterally, greater IV/V separation contralaterally) may be helpful. When signals are poor or these typical differences are not apparent, recording laterality may be indicated by the side with greatest surgical artifact if it is a lateralized approach. It is certainly hoped that errors would be fixed at an earlier stage, but if signal degradation occurs contralateral to an expected side of



Fig. 17.12 Correction of left/right ulnar nerve SSEP stimulation swap. Four consecutive ulnar SSEP averages are shown spanning the correction of a left/right ulnar stimulation swap. N19 activity is noted at approximately 19 ms on both sides. The intended left ulnar stimulation on the left side of the figure shows initially poor activity in the C4'-Fpz channel and the initially up-going response

in the C3'–C4' channel ("swapped") reflects a greater negative potential in the C3' electrode as compared to C4' in conflict with expectations for greatest negativity at C4'. Analogous alterations are noted in the "swapped" responses on the right and the stimulation error was identified and corrected with typical signal morphology thereafter

surgical risk, then a search for a left/right stimulus swap is indicated in addition to usual troubleshooting of the stimulator. Evaluation of the stimulation should be traced from the ear to the computer inputs to confirm laterality when possible, and if doubt persists or as a primary method, use of a stethoscope to confirm the side of stimulation is a useful alternate technique. Failure to identify swaps of the recording electrodes (usually A1 and A2) may be embarrassing on review, but have less of an impact on interpretation.

Recognition of electrode swaps with somatosensory-evoked potentials requires understanding of the expected pattern of cortical signal response over the scalp. For example, a left ulnar nerve N19 cortical response typically has its maximum negativity at or near the C4' electrode. If we use a C4'-Fpz channel for recording (negative in input 1 plotted up in our system), then we would expect the recorded N19 to be larger than the ones recorded in Cz'-Fpz or C3'-Fpz and this should be assessed. This assessment is made easier for us if we are using a C4'-C3' channel, as this directly compares the relative activity at these locations. If correctly configured, we would expect an upgoing deflection for N19 (negative) in this channel, whereas if the C3'/C4' electrodes are swapped or the left/right ulnar stimulation electrodes are swapped, then we would be surprised to see a response that is inverted relative to usual expectations with the C3' electrode showing greater negativity as compared to the C4' electrode. In such a situation, either the patient has extremely rare variant anatomy (uncrossed somatosensory pathways); the N19 was misidentified; or, as is most likely, there is a swap. See Fig. 17.12 for this phenomenon and its correction. With lower extremity somatosensoryevoked potentials, one must of course incorporate that the targeted cortical signals are typically

positive (e.g., P37 for the tibial nerve response) and that the most active electrodes are midline or ipsilateral. Once this is understood, a similar process as above can be applied to identify left/right swaps.

The complexity of multimodality monitoring aids identification of electrode swaps due to the necessary integration of testing. If, for example, ulnar nerve stimulators are utilized to test both somatosensory-evoked potentials and a train-offour but there is a left/right swap present, then in addition to the cortical response alterations described above, we'd also expect to see a flat, stimulus artifact-free response in the hand trainof-four test. Thus, we obtain another indication of a set-up error from the train-of-four. Of course, this assumes that those hand muscle electrodes were not also swapped (as they might if hand/ wrist electrodes are grouped before plugging in), but if that is the case then motor-evoked potentials should show the responses on the "wrong" side. Thus, unless every lateralized electrode is swapped with its contralateral counterpart (a sorry situation indeed!), we should see multiple indications in our signals.

There are an innumerable number of possible electrode swaps that are not simply left/right exchanges, and identifying any signal pattern that is "not right" should prompt evaluation. Clearly all these patterns cannot be specifically discussed, but an understanding of the side, polarity, and latency of an expected response, coupled with information integrated from all test modalities, should allow identification of a problem in almost all cases.

System Errors

The neuromonitoring apparatus can falter in many ways and when trying to identify the source of an error, a good first step is once again to start by determining if the problem is in the stimulation or recording system. For the recording system, the primary tool is measurement of impedance (explained in more detail in the preceding chapter). A high impedance of a specific electrode initiates a search for a cause. The most common cause and most people's gut reaction is "my electrode came off." If the electrode appears to be in position, however, the search must continue and it is helpful to think in terms of the most distal to the most central parts of the monitoring system. Moving from most peripheral to most central, we can consider fault in the following elements: electrode disconnection, electrode breakage (may be internal and not apparent), extension pods/extender system (if used), pod/ extender cable, inputs to the main acquisition box, or amplifiers. Identifying which of these components is the culprit is one of the more elementary processes of "troubleshooting."

Often simple inspection of these components will not yield an answer and one simple method is to replace components within the faulty electrical chain and then reassess after each replacement. While replacement with a new component is an option (e.g., remove electrode and replace with a new one), it is often more convenient and more efficient (especially if patient access is limited or discouraged) to swap a component that is known to be working with one that is potentially malfunctioning in order to sort out where the problem lies. For example, if inputs for a working electrode are swapped with the one associated with high impedance, then one should quickly be able to determine if the problem is in the needle or is more central within the monitoring setup. If the high impedance "follows the needle," i.e., occurs in previously bad electrode but in a more central input previously shown to be working, then we know the problem is in that electrode. Conversely, if the known "good" electrode now shows high impedance, then we know that some more central component is malfunctioning. In the latter case, swapping more central components can continue along the same vein until the specific problem is identified.

As one moves centrally to the level of potentially broken amplifiers or their projections, we would expect dysfunction to occur in preselected channels rather than associated with specific electrodes. Physically "swapping" out individual amplifiers is rarely an option; however, if an idle system is available, the whole amplifier box might be swapped. If new amplifiers are not an option, tests will often need to be reconfigured to avoid the malfunctioning amplifiers. Unfortunately, some systems automatically assign amplifiers to the prespecified recording channels and deletion of a "bad" channel may result in the reassignment of the dysfunctioning amplifier to a previously good channel. If amplifiers can't be individually chosen and tend to get reassigned, we typically choose to duplicate the channel (thereby forcing use of a new amplifier) without removing the old channel (so the bad amplifier is not reassigned). In addition, with multimodal monitoring, there may be bad channels in multiple different tests, thereby complicating the picture further. Remedial measures will depend on the equipment used and parts available.

This discussion focuses on hardware issues, but we might consider the "most central" component of our system to be the software. Software or specific patient files can become corrupted and in some cases do not allow monitoring to proceed. There are many system-specific quirks that monitoring teams will learn to counter that are unique to their systems. However, if these do not work, the monitorist (assuming she is a nonexpert in computers) will typically be left with unsatisfying remedial maneuvers such as rebooting the software, rebooting the computer, initiating a new patient test file, or simply swapping out the monitoring computer for another.

Probably, the most common problem with software is incorrect programming by the monitoring team. Innumerable settings may be misapplied, so familiarity with one's specific software system, awareness of appropriate settings, and suspicion of this problem need to be present. This becomes more important if the system was recently updated, used by others, or if it is an unfamiliar system. If one connects an electrode to the jackbox in the "correct" spot but the computer is programmed for a different spot, an error will obviously result. If the programmed electrode input remains empty, then it will show high impedance and in a way this is the most central aspect of our "bad electrode" issue from above. If, instead, a different electrode is erroneously placed in the targeted input slot, then this becomes an electrode swap issue as discussed above and programming errors should remain in mind as potential causes of electrode swaps as well.

System errors in the stimulating system can also be a challenge. When most neuromonitoring systems cannot deliver the prescribed electrical stimulation output, it will give a warning to the user. When such a warning occurs, we can perform a peripheral to central evaluation of the stimulation system similar to the recording system evaluation described earlier. However, when an expected response to stimulation is absent, one should not assume that the absence of these warnings from the system is a fool-proof indication that all stimulation components are functioning properly and that the stimulation was indeed delivered as hoped. In such cases, it is possible that current can flow while not properly being delivered to the stimulating electrodes (electrical short) or to the target tissue (current shunting). These situations may be difficult to recognize and, given coincident absence of target signals, often must be evaluated in parallel with concerns for neurologic dysfunction.

Stimulator evaluation is often dependent on the testing involved. For nerve root, peripheral nerve, or cranial nerve stimulation, use of positive controls is most helpful when available. For example, in a cerebellopontine angle case, we routinely have recordings available from the trapezius so that the accessory nerve can be stimulated as needed even though that nerve is not commonly at significant risk. Similarly, directly stimulating muscle (usually with higher stimulation output) can yield a direct muscle contraction and demonstrate at least some level of current flow. Failing access to positive controls, changing both the stimulating probe (cathode) and the anode are reasonable steps and if concern of stimulation failure persists, moving those new electrodes to a stimulation output that is known to be working is also worthwhile. For MEPs, some level of patient movement is almost always apparent and lack thereof should prompt evaluation. In addition, if straight needles are used for stimulation, then frequent confirmation that they are fully inserted prevents partial stimulation. For somatosensory-evoked potentials, use of peripheral nerve recording sites is helpful to prove stimulation delivery and, if neuromuscular blockade is not full, then evaluation for movement or of an

associated train-of-four test can confirm intact stimulation. For auditory-evoked potentials, the presence of Wave I confirms effective stimulation, whereas absence of Wave I when cochlear function loss is not expected suggests loss of effective stimulation. Click stimulation artifact can be suggestive that a stimulus was delivered, but the presence of artifact should not be considered definitive proof of adequate click stimulation delivery.

General Principles

Timing of Optimization

Signal optimization may be needed at any time during a surgical procedure, but the most common need is at the start of the procedure when signals are first acquired and one sorts through the patient's specific needs related to their physiology, the anesthetic regimen, and the signal acquisition technique. In general, the time between initial signal acquisition and the exposure of the surgical site is an appropriate time to optimize signals. This represents a time prior to primary surgical risk, but (ideally) after equilibration of initial anesthetic and systemic variables allowing for the selection of representative baseline signals at that time, which will serve as a basis of comparison through the remainder of the case. Unfortunately, for most cases the initial incision is followed by nearly incessant electrocautery, making further signal assessment difficult or impossible until exposure is complete. Thus, the best time for initial signal acquisition and optimization is mostly limited to the time prior to incision.

Later in the procedure, additional optimization may be needed as both the operating room environment (e.g., new noise sources) and the patient physiology is likely to be in flux. Patient physiology and therefore our signals may be impacted by new neural dysfunction, changing anesthetic regimens, signal fade despite apparently stable anesthetic regimens [17], altered blood pressure, altered temperature, anemia, fluid shifts/edema, and myriad other factors that may not be easily tracked. In addition, new problems with the neuromonitoring system or technique may unfold during the procedure. Attention to all these possible issues is an ongoing process.

Prioritization

Complicated cases, complicated patients, and the frequent use of multimodality monitoring all lead to situations in which multiple tests will need some level of optimization attention. As always, the time window for this is finite and therefore one must both be efficient in this process and prioritize which signals to approach first. Often, the signal optimization process begins as soon as any issue is identified. However, this can be a problem if there are other, possibly yet to be discovered, issues that are more pressing or if that optimization process distracts from ongoing assessment of other more critical tests. One trivial example of poor prioritization in this regard might relate to monitoring a scoliosis procedure with an imminent incision. It would not make sense to repeatedly acquire, over-average, and mark ulnar somatosensory-evoked potentials before even attempting first runs of motor testing or lower extremity somatosensory signals.

Each case will present a unique set of circumstances, so no specific formula for prioritization can be given, but decisions will hinge on some straightforward considerations when time pressures exist. First, the signals that are expected to be most important to monitoring at-risk areas should in general be addressed before control signals or ancillary tests. Second, some steps toward optimization may require access to the patient and that access will only be available for limited windows. Taking advantage of access will be a priority. Similarly, one type of optimization process may need long noise-free periods, while others might be addressed during or between electrically noisy times such as during surgical steps in which electrocautery is frequently in use (e.g., initial exposure). Third, the degree to which suboptimal signals may impact interpretation should be considered with priority

given to those tests where the impact is greatest. Finally, even if some signals requiring optimization may be of lesser importance, their correct acquisition may add insight as to problems with other signals and therefore may merit earlier attention, especially if steps are easy and quick to address.

Prioritization also extends beyond the scope of the neuromonitoring signals. For example, electrical noise from an operating microscope may wipe out target signals. If all efforts to overcome this noise fail and scope replacement is not an option, a decision must be made as to whether the neuromonitoring signals or the microscope is more important to the patient's well-being and, in almost all cases, the microscope wins (at least for some time interval). Less clear situations arise frequently in which surgical, anesthetic, and neuromonitoring goals appear to be in conflict. Again, no formula can be given for the best way to address these conflicts other than a focus on the best interest of the patient. As prioritization spans these areas, it is likely that the surgeon, the anesthesiologist, and the neuromonitorist have an initially incomplete understanding of the issues outside their own realm. When this occurs, communication, flexibility, and creative solutions are paramount for true, patient-centric optimization, which is, of course, the overarching goal.

Conclusion

The process of moving from a determination that "signals are bad" to implementing steps that will improve them is a complex one, but a logical approach will yield the most efficient path to improving signals. The complexity of this process increases dramatically when multiple issues are encountered, but is simplified by realizing that all of these issues can be categorized as patient-related, anesthetic/systemic-related, or technical and this categorization starts a process that can organize thinking and break down the complexity.

Finally, we would all like to see beautiful neuromonitoring signals in every case. Technical

skill and superior monitoring methods can achieve this much of the time, but at times there will simply be factors beyond our control that will impair signals. We must keep in mind that optimized signals imply we have made the best use of the hand dealt to us and it is the ability to cope with the difficult cases that is a true mark of neuromonitoring technical skill.

References¹

- MacDonald DB, Stigsby B, Al ZZ. A comparison between derivation optimization and Cz'-FPz for posterior tibial P37 somatosensory evoked potential intraoperative monitoring. Clin Neurophysiol. 2004; 115:1925–30.
- *Sloan TB, Jantti V. Anesthetic effects on evoked potentials. In: Nuwer MR, editor. Intraoperative monitoring of neural function. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2008. p. 94–127.
- Nathan N, Tabaraud F, Lacroix F, Mouliès D, Viviand X, Lansade A, et al. Influence of propofol concentrations on multipulse transcranial motor evoked potentials. Br J Anaesth. 2003;91:493–7.
- Mirrakhimov AE, Voore P, Halytskyy O, Khan M, Ali AM. Propofol infusion syndrome in adults: a clinical update. Crit Care Res Pract. 2015;2015:260–385.
- Meylaerts SA, De HP, Kalkman CJ, Lips J, De Mol BA, Jacobs MJ. The influence of regional spinal cord hypothermia on transcranial myogenic motor-evoked potential monitoring and the efficacy of spinal cord ischemia detection. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1999;118:1038–45.
- *Minahan RE, Riley L, Lukaczyk TA, Cohen D, Kostuik JP. The effect of neuromuscular blockade on pedicle screw stimulation thresholds. Spine. 2000;25:2526–30.
- *Pearlman RC, Isley MR, Ganley JC. Electrical artifact during intraoperative electromyographic neuromonitoring. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2008;48:107–18.
- MacDonald DB, Al-Zayed Z, Stigsby B, Al-Homoud I. Median somatosensory evoked potential intraoperative monitoring: recommendations based on signalto-noise ratio analysis. Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;120:315–28.
- Krieger D, Balzer J, Crammond D, Sclabassi R. Use of Stimulus Rate to Reject Line Noise. American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring Annual Meeting. May 13, 2004. San Antonio, TX (abstract).

¹Key references marked with asterisk.

- Zhang H, Venkatesha S, Minahan R, Sherman D, Oweis Y, Natarajan A, Thakor NV. Intraoperative neurological monitoring. Continuous evoked potential signal extraction and analysis. IEEE Eng Med Biol Mag, 2006;25:39–45.
- Hong JY, Suh SW, Modi HN, Hur CY, Song HR, Park JH. False negative and positive motor evoked potentials in one patient: is single motor evoked potential monitoring reliable method? A case report and literature review. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2010; 35:E912–6.
- *Osburn LL. A guide to the performance of transcranial electrical motor evoked potentials. Part 1. Basic concepts, recording parameters, special considerations, and application. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2006;46:98–158.
- *Journee HL, Polak HE, De KM. Conditioning stimulation techniques for enhancement of transcranially elicited evoked motor responses. Neurophysiol Clin. 2007;37:423–30.
- *Deletis V, Schild JH, Beric A, Dimitrijevic MR. Facilitation of motor evoked potentials by somatosensory afferent stimulation. Electroencephalogr Clinical Neurophysiol 1992;85: 302–10.
- Taniguchi M, Schramm J. Motor evoked potentials facilitated by an additional peripheral nerve stimulation. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol Suppl. 1991;43:202–11.
- 16. Yamamoto Y, Kawaguchi M, Hayashi H, Abe R, Inoue S, Nakase H, et al. Evaluation of posttetanic motor evoked potentials—the influences of repetitive use, the residual effects of tetanic stimulation to peripheral nerve, and the variability. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2010;22:6–10.
- Lyon R, Feiner J, Lieberman JA. Progressive suppression of motor evoked potentials during general anesthesia: the phenomenon of "anesthetic fade". J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2005;17:13–9.
- Donohue ML, Allott G, Calancie B, Modi HN, Suh SW, Yang JH, et al. False-negative transcranial motor-evoked potentials during scoliosis surgery causing paralysis. Spine 2009;34:e896–900. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2010;35:722–3.
- Lieberman JA, Berven S, Gardi J, Hu S, Lyon R, MacDonald DB, et al. False-negative transcranial motor-evoked potentials during scoliosis surgery causing paralysis. Spine. 2009;34:e896–900.
- Minahan R, Mandir AS, Modi HN, Suh SW, Yang JH, et al. False-negative transcranial motor-evoked potentials during scoliosis surgery causing paralysis. Spine. 2009;34:e896–900. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2010;35:720–1.
- Modi HN, Suh SW, Yang JH, Yoon JY. Falsenegative transcranial motor-evoked potentials during scoliosis surgery causing paralysis: a case report with literature review. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2009;34:E896–E900.

Questions

- 1. In the setting of length-dependent peripheral neuropathy, an improvement in somatosensory-evoked responses may result from:
 - a. An increase in stimulation intensity
 - b. More proximal stimulation sites
 - c. Use of the median nerve as opposed to the tibial nerve
 - d. All of the above
- An increase in anesthetic levels is least likely to reduce:
 - a. Motor-evoked potential myogenic response amplitudes
 - b. Somatosensory-evoked potential cortical response amplitudes
 - c. Somatosensory-evoked potential subcortical response amplitudes
 - d. Electrical noise from return of muscle tone or voluntary muscle activation
- 3. Which of the following is not true relating to 60-Hz noise:
 - a. It is typically seen as a sinusoidal wave with period of 16.67 ms
 - b. It is best eliminated from an averaged signal with stimulation rates that are even divisors of 60.
 - c. It can be produced by fluid warmers near the operative field
 - d. Notch filters may reduce it
- 4. Which of the following is most likely to reduce stimulation artifact
 - An increase in the low frequency filter cut off
 - b. An increase in the stimulation intensity
 - c. Greater separation between anode and cathode
 - d. Greater separation between recording electrodes
- 5. In the appropriate setting, poor signal amplitudes may be due to
 - a. Pre-existing neuropathophysiology
 - b. Anesthetic suppression of signals
 - c. Incorrect technique
 - d. All of the above

Answers

- 1. d
- 2. c
- 3. b
- 4. a
- 5. d
Section II

Anesthesia Considerations

Anesthesia for Awake Neurosurgery

Antoun Koht, Georg Neuloh, and Matthew C. Tate

Key Learning Points

- Awake craniotomies are used to maximize resection of tumors near the eloquent area.
- Successful awake craniotomies require: motivated and cooperative patient, skilled and gentle surgical team, and knowledge communicative anesthesiologist to be able to provide good blocks, appropriate sedation while communicating positively with the patient.
- Scalp blocks can easily be performed with bilateral blocks being able to provide stable condition for pinning and surgery.

A. Koht, M.D. (🖂)

G. Neuloh, M.D. Department of Neurosurgery, University of Aachen, Aachen, Germany e-mail: gneuloh@ukaachen.de

M.C. Tate, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Neurological Surgery, Northwestern Memorial Hospital, 676 North Saint Clair Street, Suite 2210, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: mtate@nm.org

- The use of modified block of the auricular temporal nerve will decrease the possibility of facial nerve palsy related to the anesthetic agents.
- Awake carotid endarterectomy can be performed with super facial blocks.
- Awake craniotomy patients will experience itching of the nose, dry mouth, and the feeling of the urge to urinate. Patients should be alerted to these ahead of time and to assure the patients about helping to overcome these annoyances.

Introduction

Neurosurgical operations performed in awake patients are increasingly being used. Procedures employing this technique include resection of tumors and epileptic foci in and around the eloquent areas of the brain, localization of the proper nucleus for deep brain stimulation, testing for spinal cord stimulator placement and other pain procedures, carotid endarterectomy, and surgery on the spine and peripheral nervous system [1–6]. Proponents cite easy neurologic evaluation, short recovery, fewer complications, and early discharge from the hospital. In this chapter, we discuss the anesthetic regimen as well as monitoring of neurologic function during these procedures.

Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_18) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Departments of Anesthesiology, Neurological Surgery and Neurology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 251 East Huron Street, F-5-704, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: a-koht@northwestern.edu

Indications and Patient Selection

Resection of tumors in the vicinity of the eloquent areas has been associated with a higher risk of neurologic deficit or incomplete resection due to efforts to minimize the deficit. Made possible by the ability of local anesthesia and scalp blocks to allow a craniotomy to expose an insensitive brain, an awake, alert, responsive, and comfortable patient will provide conditions for optimal tumor resection with minimal neurologic deficits [5, 7, 8] This setting enables the team to perform an ongoing neurologic exam to identify the speech center, motor and sensory strips, and the visual center. This allows the surgeon to better identify the tumor margins and thus provide near complete resection of the tumor while sparing the clinical function of the eloquent areas. In addition, some studies show that a craniotomy performed in the awake patient is superior to that under general anesthesia, providing a better clinical outcome and superior chemical homeostasis as it is exhibited by fewer changes in the large neutral amino acids (LNAAs) profiles [9].

The key ingredients for success in these craniotomies include a knowledgeable anesthesiologist; a skilled surgeon; and a motivated, cooperative patient that lacks major psychologic and behavioral problems. The challenges for the anesthesiologist include rapid anesthetic adjustments; maintenance of stable hemodynamics; adequate ventilation while producing minimal interference with the monitoring systems; and managing occasional complications such as nausea, vomiting, and seizures. Verbal communication with the patient is extremely important as it provides a powerful monitor of neurologic function in the awake patient undergoing a craniotomy [10]. A significant language barrier should be considered a relative contraindication to the use of this technique. The anesthesiologist must possess the ability to select the appropriate type and dose of sedatives and analgesics, the skills needed to perform regional blocks, and the ability to effectively interact with the patient intraoperatively. This is indispensable for providing safe patient care. The neurosurgeon may need to inject a local anesthetic to supplement a regional block, use gentle manipulation to dissect dural attachments to minimize pain, and be ready to communicate with the patient as well.

Preoperative Evaluation and Preparation

A thorough evaluation of the patient's medical history should identify the presence of seizures, obstructive sleep apnea, ischemic heart disease, a predisposition for nausea and vomiting, and previous problems associated with local anesthesia administration. The care team should have a thorough discussion of the anesthetic and surgical plans in advance of the surgery. The patient should have a clear explanation of the plan, including an introduction to the operating room environment. The patient should be made aware that the operating room may be cold; that due to the administration of opioids, they may have an intermittent urge to scratch their nose, they may have dry lips; and that due to the presence of an indwelling urinary catheter, they may feel the urge to urinate; and most importantly that they will have the team immediately available to help at all times.

The patient should be positioned on the operating table to minimize discomfort; extra padding on the surface of the table is recommended. The patient's position on the operating room table should enable all members of the team to perform their work and maintain effective communication with the patient. Usually the patient is in the supine position with a small degree of lateral tilt or in the lateral position. In order to keep in constant communication with the patient and to maintain the ability to readily manage the airway, the patient's face should be in direct view of the anesthesiologist. In fact, maintenance of eye contact and intermittent verbal communication with the patient is extremely important and generally serves as a very effective anxiolytic. In a recent paper, Hansen et al. [11] suggested psychologic rather than pharmacologic support and promoted a technique of



Fig. 18.1 Flexile screen placed at the head of the table serves to protect the face, enable communication with the patient, and to monitor the airway

fully awake patients (awake–awake–awake). This visual contact should be assured by placing a small surgical table ("Mayo") or a special flexible screen at the top of the table around the patient's head and securing the surgical drapes in such a way that access to the patient's face is unobstructed (Fig. 18.1). An unobstructed view of the patient's face is also needed during visual and motor testing and will be discussed later.

The anesthesiologist will need to assess the patient after positioning to further plan for management of the airway by inserting a laryngeal mask airway (LMA) or direct laryngoscopy using a flexible fiberscope should the clinical situation arise. In some situations, the use of a nasal airway placed under topical anesthesia may be used to prevent soft tissue obstruction throughout the operation. Some anesthesiologists prefer to manage the airway differently and elect to place an LMA or a nasal endotracheal tube under local anesthesia from the start.

Monitoring

As in general anesthesia, standard monitoring includes electrocardiogram, blood pressure and respiratory rate, end-expiratory CO_2 , pulse oximetry, urine output, and a monitor to assess the depth of sedation (*see* Chap. 11, "Clinical Application of Raw and Processed EEG"). Monitoring by direct observation offers valuable

information regarding the patient's comfort level, specialized neurologic testing, and fosters trust and allays anxiety.

Throughout the procedure, oxygen is delivered to the patient by nasal cannula or by face mask. Both of these devices should be attached to a line for continuous monitoring of end-expiratory CO₂ and the respiratory rate. Monitoring the respiratory rate will guide the administration of opioids. Should the decision be made to insert an arterial line, it should be done very gently under local anesthesia or under deep sedation in the asleep-awake-asleep technique (see further discussion). Use of an arterial line minimizes discomfort from the frequent inflation of the blood pressure cuff, provides continuous blood pressure measurement, and facilitates sampling for arterial blood gases and other values. Some centers use a simple processed electroencephalogram (EEG) to guide the administration of propofol and other sedatives.

Sedation and Analgesia

Sedative and analgesic medications are generally used in preparation for surgery and during the first and third stages of the procedure [12–15]. A variety of agents may be used for sedation and analgesia. Midazolam is useful as a premedication while short-acting agents that are more easily titrated are used during surgery. Midazolam is frequently avoided if electrocorticography is planned for seizure mapping or in older patients who may not be able to cooperate during testing.

Propofol is the agent most used for sedation during surgery as it is a short-acting drug that has a fast onset of action and a short recovery period [15–18]. At low concentrations, propofol has the added advantage of antiemetic effects by its action on the cannabinoid receptors [19]. The administration of propofol may be guided by the use of continuous monitoring of the processed EEG [16, 17]. Opioids may be administered during surgery to supplement analgesia in the event that there is discomfort from a patchy regional block, positioning, or the urinary catheter. A variety of opioids may be administered either as bolus injections or by infusion. A fast-acting opioid with a short half-life and rapid recovery such as remiferitanil has all of these advantages [20] and is our opioid of choice. In our practice, we start remifentanil at 0.1 µg/kg/min and adjust the infusion rate to keep respiratory rate between 8 and 12 breaths per minute before starting a lowdose propofol, which is usually less than 25 μ g/ kg/min. It is not unusual for some patients to require a higher dose of remifentanil, up to 0.18 μ g/kg/min, while some other patients may require a lesser dose. Therefore, it is essential to monitor respiratory rate and reach the proper remifentanil infused dose before the start of the propofol infusion. The use of optimal narcotic dose helps the patient to tolerate surgical position and discomfort of the urinary catheter. Others use higher doses of propofol and lower remifentanil. It is important to have propofol and remifentanil infusions enter the intravenous line at the catheter or to use dedicated intravenous lines to prevent inadvertent bolus injections.

Dexmedetomidine is a selective alpha-2 adrenergic agonist that works on the subcortical level (locus ceruleus) and has been used to provide sedation and some analgesia without respiratory depression; however, it has no amnesia [21]. Dexmedetomidine acts at the brainstem and in many parts of the body, including the smooth muscles of the blood vessels, thus explaining why higher doses can result in bradycardia and hypotension. Dexmedetomidine has a rapid onset, is metabolized by the liver, and excreted by the kidney. Dexmedetomidine has a distribution half-life of 6 min and a clearance half-life of 2 h, which is longer than propofol. It was first used in functional neurosurgery by Bekker et al. [22] and its use has been supported by others [23, 24]. Typical doses of dexmedetomidine used to achieve the desired level of sedation and analgesia range between 0.2 and 0.6 µg/kg/h administered by continuous infusion [25].

Regional Anesthesia

Regional anesthetic blocks of nerves innervating the scalp are superior to local infiltration to blunt the responses to Mayfield pin placement and sur-



Fig. 18.2 Picture of the head shows drawing of the six nerves that innervate the scalp. GO is greater occipital nerve, LO is lesser occipital nerve, AT is auriculotemporal nerve, ZT is zygomaticotemporal nerve, SO is supra orbital nerve, and ST is supratrochlear nerve

gical stimulation, and to provide postoperative pain control [26–28]. A variety of local anesthetic agents may be used for the regional anesthesia. Long-acting agents with minimal side effects in combination with epinephrine in a final concentration 1:200,000 are often used. The goal is to achieve a block that lasts for the duration of the procedure and afterward to afford postoperative pain relief.

The scalp is innervated, on each side, by six nerves (Fig. 18.2), four of which are branches of the trigeminal nerve and two originate in the cervical region. The four branches of the trigeminal nerve are the Supratrochlear, Supraorbital, Zygomaticotemporal, and Auriculotemporal. The lesser and greater occipital nerves originate from branches of the second and third cervical nerve roots [2, 26, 29-31]. These nerves may be blocked individually or captured in a continuous ring. Individual blocks have longer duration and require the use of less medication and thus lower the risk of possible side effects. The details of regional anesthesia of the scalp are presented in Table 18.1. All injections are done after negative aspiration.

The choice of local anesthetic for the scalp blocks should be one with a rapid onset and a long duration. Many agents may be used including bupivacaine, lidocaine, ropivacaine, levobupivacaine, and tetracaine. Epinephrine in a final concentration of 1:200,000 may be used in conjunction with these

i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	r me searp, deses used at r toran esterni e niversity	
Supratrochlear branch Video 18.1-ST	Blocked at the supratrochlear notch, which easily can be palpated where the bridge of the nose meets the supraorbital ridge. The direction of the short 25G needle should be perpendicular to the notch to prevent the needle from sliding down into the orbit or up toward the forehead (Video 18.1)	1 mL
Supraorbital branch Video 18.2-SO	Blocked at the supraorbital notch in the middle of the upper eyebrow usually in direct line with the pupil of the eye. The short 25G needle should be directly perpendicular to the notch to prevent the needle from sliding down into the orbit or up toward the forehead (Video 18.2)	1 mL
Zygomaticotemporal branch	Blocked at a point just above the zygomatic arch lateral to midway between the orbital edge and the tragus of the ear	3–5 mL
Video 18.3-ZT	The 25G needle, 38 mm long, is inserted to the surface of the temporal bone and slides forward toward the orbit. After negative aspiration, 3 mL local anesthetic injected, the needle withdrawn one cm then 1 cm ³ anesthetic injected. Again the needle withdrawn 1 cm followed by the injection of 1 cm ³ more of local anesthetics. This is performed at the side of surgery. The nonsurgical side, only 3 cm ³ are injected	
Auriculotemporal branch Video 18.4-AT	Blocked 1 cm above the tragus just posterior to the superficial temporal artery. This modification is to avoid possible facial nerve palsy [32]	3 mL
Lesser occipital nerves Video 18.5-LO	The lesser occipital nerve is blocked by the injection of local anesthetics in the grove palpated just behind the mastoid at straight line behind the tragus (video 18.2). An alternative method is to perform the block at 2.5 cm lateral to the greater occipital nerve block along the superior nuchal line	3 mL
Greater occipital nerves Video 18.6-GO	Blocked at the superior nuchal line just medial to the occipital artery or one-third of the distance along a line drawn from the greater occipital protuberance and the mastoid	3 mL

Table 18.1 Regional anesthesia of the scalp, doses used at Northwestern University

agents to prolong the duration of the block. Our current practice at Northwestern University incorporates the use of 6 mL of tetracaine 1% (60 mg) mixed with 30 mL of 1% lidocaine with epinephrine 1:200,000 (300 mg). We perform bilateral blocks of the six nerves. The total volume injected of this mixture, lidocaine/tetracaine, is 30 mL, which contains 50 mg tetracaine and 250 mg lidocaine. This technique reliably enables us to immediately place the three pins head holder comfortably. Also, it is associated with stable vital signs, provides 8 h of surgical time, and up to 22 h of pain relief. In 9 years, we have had no side effects or local anesthetic toxicity to report. In most cases, regional anesthesia of the scalp provides sufficient surgical anesthesia for the duration of the surgery. Should a patient experience pain after the craniotomy while mapping, the scalp blocks may be supplemented with a dural block as described in the following section.

A faster, though less specific approach to anesthesia of the scalp is provided by infiltrating in a line that essentially connects the injection sites of the six branches at their roots in addition to infiltrating the surgical incision site with a field block. This approach leads to a less solid block and is associated with the use of higher doses of local anesthetic.

Anesthetic Management

The anesthetic management for neurosurgical procedures in patients that are awake may be divided into at least three categories. The first may be termed Asleep Awake Asleep (AAA). Variations of this technique are used by many anesthesiologists [15, 23, 31-36]. In the early stages of the procedure including provision of anesthesia for the scalp, Mayfield pin insertion, skin incision, craniotomy, and provision of anesthesia of the dura, general anesthesia is provided to assure patient comfort. The patient is anesthetized with a combination of short-acting agents such as propofol, or dexmedetomidine and an ultra-short-acting opioid. Airway management may be augmented by insertion of an LMA or a nasal endotracheal tube. The nasal endotracheal tube is placed into the trachea in the initial or "Asleep" stage, withdrawn to the level of the pharynx in the second or "Awake" stage, and reintroduced back to the trachea during the final "Asleep" stage. The anesthetic technique preferred at the second author's institution, is deep sedation with a nasal endotracheal tube positioned in the posterior pharynx under fiber optic control, which remains in place throughout surgery. This ensures safe airway management with spontaneous ventilation during the craniotomy and allows a smooth transition to an awake patient who is able to participate and speak without airway irritation. It also provides a mechanism for a safe and efficient endotracheal intubation if warranted during closure or at any point in case of emergency.

When an LMA is utilized, it is positioned around the vocal cords during the first and last stages of the surgery. The disadvantages of this technique are the potential for irritation of the airway during endotracheal tube or LMA manipulation, and for paradoxical responses to the anesthetics administered during the intermediate "Awake" stage. Another potential problem is that of movement of the head during the transitions between anesthetic depths with the risk of patient injury.

In the AAA technique, during the "awake" phase, the surgeon may need to anesthetize the dura before incising it. If needed, a short-acting anesthetic agent such as mepivacaine or lidocaine would suffice for the roughly 2 h needed

for brain mapping and tumor resection in the awake patient. Dural anesthesia may be achieved during the transition from sedation after the craniotomy has been completed in one of two ways: the meningeal trigeminal branches may be blocked by injecting a local anesthetic into the base of the projected dural flap with a fine (25-30 gauge) needle. In elderly patients or others in which the dura is very thin, this procedure carries a risk of damaging cortical vessels and causing a subdural hematoma. In our experience (Bonn University), a very effective method uses anesthetic-soaked cottonoids or compresses applied to cover the dural flap for 5 min before incision, and on the base of the dural flap until closure. For example, 10-20 mL of 1 % mepivacaine is sufficient for a large craniotomy. This application technique provides rapid anesthesia to the dura, does not interfere with the progress of the procedure, and contributes little to the total volume of local anesthetic with regards to the risk of systemic local anesthetic toxicity.

Another anesthetic management technique, and the preferred method at the first author's institution, is one that provides sedation along a spectrum of different depths while maintaining the patient in an awake or readily arousal state. This is commonly referred to as *monitored anesthesia care (MAC) with sedation*. In this technique, we use remifentanil at higher doses (0.05–0.18 µg/kg/min) to maintain a respiratory rate of 8–12 in addition to a small infusion of propofol, which is usually less than 25 µg/ kg/min. The patient will be awake at all times with varying degrees of sedation and analgesia to maintain good ventilation, oxygenation, and a clear airway.

Recently, the complete awake–awake–awake technique without sedation has been advocated by Hansen et al. [11]. In this technique, medication is substituted by psychologic intervention.

Cortical and Subcortical Mapping and Neurologic Monitoring

Surgery performed on a patient who is awake and cooperative allows for testing of all neurologic functions. The utility of the technique is limited, however, by the total duration of the procedure, the patient's position, and the operative setting. Completion of the procedure in less than 2 h is optimal as the patient's position may be difficult to tolerate for extended periods of time. During an awake procedure performed with continuous sedation, the patient often tolerates longer periods of operative time.

The specific test of neurologic function is dependent on the location of the target lesion. Motor function may be difficult to monitor clinically. However, motor and sensory function can be assessed in the anesthetized patient with neurophysiologic methods. Cognitive functions such as language, calculation, spatial orientation, memory, and even emotion may also be tested under awake conditions. However, there are no established intraoperative protocols for these assessments. Typically, surgery in an awake patient is all but required for language preservation in the face of lesions of the left or dominant hemisphere.

Language testing requires some linguistic expertise and is frequently performed by a dedicated psychologist or linguist. Apart from specific expertise in language testing, reassurance and support for the patient undergoing a craniotomy while awake is a key factor for successful mapping and monitoring. An experienced anesthesiologist with interest in and familiarity with these procedures may perform the testing. There is broad consensus among groups performing awake surgery that a naming paradigm is suited to map and monitor the essential aspects of language function [37]. A picture of an object is presented for 4 s and is named by the patient, often embedded into a carrier sentence such as "This is a banana." During this time, the surgeon does or does not stimulate the cortex or the subcortical fibers.

Neurologic testing comprises both mapping and monitoring. Using the example of language production, mapping refers to the identification and delineation of eloquent cortical areas and subcortical fiber tracts, which are involved in preserving these structures during lesion resection. Monitoring refers to continuous or intermittent testing of some target function in order to detect and avert functional impairment due to ischemia or other insult. These are complementary aspects of intraoperative functional preservation. Mapping requires electrical stimulation of the cortex or the white matter in order to elicit or, more frequently, inhibit a neurologic function. In these cases, the patient may perceive a "tugging" or motor movement that is not perceptible to the observant anesthesiologist.

Cortical areas where reproducible speech inhibition by stimulation is encountered, are defined as essential for language production. However, there is no reproducible evidence to date that proves that all of these areas are truly indispensable. Typically, bipolar electrical stimulation at a frequency of 50-60 Hz for 1-4 s is employed (Ojemann stimulator). However, stimulation using a high-frequency stimulator, similar to that used for transcranial motor evoked potential stimulation, can be used and is associated with a lower incidence of induced seizures [37-39]. The stimulation parameters are discussed by Szelenyi et al. [40]. It is important to avoid the induction of clinical or subclinical seizures from excessive cortical stimulation [41]. Ideally, the stimulation threshold for after discharges (as a prestage of seizure) is determined by electrocorticography (ECoG) recordings from strip electrodes positioned around the target area, prior to the actual mapping procedure.

Induction of clinical or subclinical focal seizures is rarely dangerous. However, such activity can distort the mapping results, prompting the need for intervention. Irrigating the surgical field with cold Lactated Ringers solution is usually sufficient to interrupt the seizure activity [42]. Sedative drugs such as benzodiazepines should be avoided in order to preserve the patient's wakefulness and cooperation for further testing. However, a small dose of propofol (25–50 mg) may be needed if cold irrigation is inadequate. Secondary generalization of seizures hardly ever occurs and can be handled as indicated in the next paragraph.

Complications

Craniotomies, whether they are performed under general, MAC, or AAA anesthesia, are associated with the same complications [2, 31]. As cited, seizures may occur as a result of stimulation during neurologic testing or from excessive use of local anesthetics. Depression of ventilation due to heavy sedation or opioid use may lead to hypercarbia and/or hypoxemia. This may be minimized by careful monitoring and the use of short-acting agents in dedicated intravenous lines. Nausea and vomiting are troublesome intraoperative issues for awake patients and may be minimized by pretreatment with antiemetic medications and the use of low doses of propofol infusion. Nausea related to surgical maneuvers and direct dural irritation may be difficult to prevent and treat pharmacologically and may be relieved only by decreasing surgical stimulation. The ambient room temperature should be adjusted to the liking of the patient and intravenous fluids should be warmed to prevent and minimize shivering. If shivering occurs despite these other maneuvers, it may be effectively treated with medication such as small doses of meperidine, clonidine, or physostigmine. Hemodynamic changes such as hypertension may occur and can be easily treated with beta-blockers and medication to ease anxiety. Pain as a result of poor local anesthesia may occur and should be supplemented by analgesic agents and additional infiltration of local anesthetics, if appropriate. The possibility of local anesthetic toxicity should be kept in mind and the total dose of infiltrated local anesthetics should be calculated and tracked including local anesthetics used during the insertion of the Foley catheter. At times, sedation may yield a paradoxical effect and lead to disinhibition and a lack of cooperation. In this case, the infusion of a sedative or analgesic medication may be decreased or stopped until the patient returns to an appropriate baseline or may require pharmacologic reversal. Seizures may occur during neurologic testing and can be treated as described in the previous section. Significant blood loss may be a complication. The incidence of air embolism is actually increased during awake craniotomies due to the negative intrathoracic pressure, with coughing being the first sign.

Complications related to performing the scalp blocks, such as nerve injury, intravenous and intraarterial injection, intracranial injection, infection, and facial nerve palsy can occur [43]. To minimize such complications, we modified the auriculotemporal block by performing the block 1 cm above the tragus just behind the superficial artery and decreasing the volume from 5 to 3 mL [32].

Anesthesia for Awake Neurovascular Procedures

Awake craniotomies have been used during cerebral aneurysm surgery, resection of AVMs, and extracranial to intracranial (EC-IC) bypass surgery for Moya-Moya disease to enable the team to perform immediate neurologic exams during surgery [44–46].

Anesthesia for Awake Deep Brain Stimulation

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) is a specific procedure performed in an awake patient. The procedure is performed using a stereotactic technique and has proved beneficial in the treatment of central movement disorders, epilepsy, psychiatric disorders, and obesity [47, 48]. In the case of Parkinson's disease, it has emerged as a therapeutic modality [49–51].

If a deep brain electrode is to be placed on only one side of the brain, then it should be mentioned that clinical motor testing will be conducted on the contralateral upper extremity. For this reason, the intravenous line, arterial line (frequently used to monitor hypertension), and noninvasive blood pressure cuff should all be placed on the ipsilateral arm to avoid interfering with the clinical testing. In the anesthetic management for DBS, infusions of short-acting agents may be used (e.g., propofol, remifentanil). And these agents are avoided during single unit acquisition. Medication administration should be stopped in time to allow recovery before actual neurologic testing so that the nucleus may be identified [52]. Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptormediated medication (e.g., benzodiazepines) should be avoided because they may inhibit the tremor, which is the endpoint of awake testing. Most anesthetics that act on GABA receptors interfere with the DBS testing and should be used with care [53]. Even ultra-short-acting agents such as propofol and remifentanil should be stopped intraoperatively in time for testing as both agents have been reported to interfere with accurate results [54]. Certain medications may interfere with the neurologic testing and should not be administered during DBS procedures such as phenothiazine, droperidol, and metoclopramide [55, 56]. The α -2 receptor agonist and to a lesser degree the µ-opioid receptor agonist dexmedetomidine can be used as it has no effect on the microelectrode recording (MER) testing. Frequently encountered, intraoperative hypertension must be aggressively treated to avoid intracranial bleeding (often below 140 mmHg) and hydralazine and infusions of sodium nitroprusside, nitroglycerine, or nicardipine are used (beta-blocking agents are avoided since they may reduce the tremor activity).

Unwanted side effects to the insertion of DBS electrodes may include motor phenomena such as muscle contractions or dysphasia from stimulating the corticospinal or corticobulbar efferent of the internal capsule. In such cases, electrodes are repositioned. Others may include sensory perceptions including transient paresthesia or visual flashes. (For more information on DBS testing and monitoring, *see* Chap. 5, "Deep Brain Stimulation.")

Certain complications may occur during DBS procedures. These include respiratory depression, airway obstruction, hypoxemia, nausea, vomiting, seizures, hypertension, sneezing, bronchospasm, pulmonary edema, angina, and air embolism [53, 57]. Some complications may occur in the postoperative period, such as bleeding, seizures, or a neurologic deficit [57]. In general, there is no one anesthesia protocol, but a variety of methods, often influenced by personal experiences, that are not necessarily supported by solid literature.

Anesthesia for Awake Seizure Surgery

Seizures are found in 5.1% of the world population. Of the patients treated in the United States, up to 30–40% are resistant to medical management and require more aggressive surgical treatment. Resections of the seizure focus near the eloquent area carry a relatively high risk of postoperative neurologic deficits. Recent advances in structural imaging, functional testing, and stereotactic surgery, in addition to awake craniotomies, have minimized that risk. Awake craniotomies are considered when the lesion is near the eloquent area and precise resection may spare damage to critical centers [13].

Chronically implanted subdural grid and strip electrodes, as well as stereotactically implanted depth electrodes, can be used for functional mapping as an alternative to awake surgery in children, for example. These patients have an initial procedure performed under general anesthesia for implantation of the subdural grid and electrodes. The initial postoperative period provides unlimited testing time for more complex cognitive paradigms and higher test-retest reliability [58]. The disadvantage of this approach is that the patient must have two separate surgical procedures with the associated risks. Although it has been adopted for regular brain tumor surgery it has not gained wide acceptance for this application [58]. (For more details, see Chap. 45, "Epilepsy Seizures: OR and and ICU Applications of EEG.")

Anesthesia for Awake Carotid Surgery

Carotid stenosis in excess of 70% is associated with an increased risk of stroke, especially if associated with a transient ischemic attack (TIA). To minimize such risk, patients may undergo carotid endarterectomy, carotid angioplasty, or stenting as a preventive measure to decrease the likelihood of a cerebrovascular accident. These procedures are associated with an intraoperative risk of stroke due to either ischemia or embolization. To minimize the risk of ischemia, a shunt may be inserted to provide blood flow to the ipsilateral hemisphere. Placement of the shunt, however, may be associated with stroke due to embolization or carotid dissection. As a result, the question of whether or not to shunt during carotid surgery remains unsettled [59].

Many methods have been used to minimize the risk of shunts yet still be assured of the maintenance of adequate cerebral blood flow [59-61]. These may be divided into two categories: cerebral blood flow measurements and neurophysiologic monitoring. Cerebral blood flow may be measured directly or indirectly by transcranial Doppler (see Chap. 13, "Transcranial Doppler"), jugular bulb monitoring (see Chap. 14, "Monitoring of Jugular Venous Oxygen Saturation"), near infrared spectroscopy (see Chap. 12, "Near-Infrared Spectroscopy"), and measurements of stump pressure. Neurophysiologic testing may be used to assess continued cerebral circulation in the patient that is either awake or asleep. In the awake patient, responses to verbal commands may be used to reflect adequate perfusion. In the patient under general anesthesia, neurophysiologic monitoring using EEG (see Chap. 10, "EEG Monitoring") and/or SSEPs (see Chap. 1, "Somatosensory Evoked Potentials") may be successfully used to assess the adequacy of blood flow to the brain.

Carotid surgery in the awake patient provides a sensitive and specific method for evaluating cerebral circulation and brain function but requires an experienced anesthesiologist; surgeon; and cooperative, motivated patient. The patient's responses to verbal commands by demonstrating their ability to move the contralateral hand is a sensitive method that will identify patients who require shunt placement. While the literature is divided between the use of regional and general anesthesia and the recent large (GALA [General Anesthetic versus Local Anesthetic for Carotid Surgery]) study that failed to show differences with regards to neurologic outcome, there are advantages to the use of a regional technique [62-64]. Those advantages include a lower incidence of shunt placement, shorter hospital stay, cost savings, and fewer cardiovascular and pulmonary complications [62].

Sedation

The ingredients for success in carotid surgery in the awake patient include a gentle and efficient surgical team, an anesthesiologist familiar with performing regional blocks, and an informed and cooperative patient. The entire team, including the patient, should be briefed regarding the planned surgery and anesthetic management as in the case of the awake patient for tumor resection. The patient should be comfortably positioned on the operating room table. The head of the table should be slightly elevated. A flexible screen should be positioned over the patient's head to ensure visualization of the patient's face, access to the airway, and protection from inadvertent pressure on the face by the surgical team. Continuous verbal communication with the patient serves to ease anxiety and assure neurologic monitoring. A propofol infusion of 25-50 µg/kg/min provides both a sedative and antiemetic effect. It may be supplemented with the use of a short-acting opioid such as remifentanil (0.03-0.07 µg/kg/min) to provide analgesia while maintaining adequate ventilation. These patients may experience pain during stimulation of the unblocked recurrent laryngeal nerve or pressure traction against the mandible. Alternatively, an agent such as dexmedetomidine may be used to provide sedation and analgesia but its use may be associated with an increase in the incidence of shunt placement [65]. During carotid cross-clamping, patients may benefit from an enriched inspired oxygen concentration. This benefit may be related to the increase in the amount of dissolved oxygen, which is directly related to the oxygen partial pressure [66].

Anesthesia

Regional anesthesia can be achieved by several methods [62]. Although described in the literature, a cervical epidural block produces anesthesia bilaterally and carries with it a significant risk of cardiovascular compromise. Local infiltration has also been described but is rarely used by surgeons. A deep cervical block is adequate for surgery and may be achieved either in a single injection from the interscalene approach [67] or by individually blocking the C2 through C4 nerve roots [68]. In the single injection technique, a 22-gauge B-Bevel needle is used to enlist a paresthesia at the C3 level. Injection of 20 mL of local



Fig. 18.3 Drawing shows the location of the superficial cervical block

anesthetic provides a block of all three nerve roots as the local spreads up and down. For individual nerve blocks, needles are inserted from points behind the sternocleidomastoid (SCM) muscle, and directed medial and caudal to enlist a paresthesia from each of the corresponding nerves. Five milliliters of local anesthetic may be injected at each level. Problems associated with both of these methods include the inadvertent injection of local anesthetic into the intrathecal or epidural space, an intra-arterial injection, blocking the phrenic nerve, or cervical sympathetic blockade with development of a Horner's syndrome.

The superficial cervical block has the advantages of the deep cervical block but with fewer complications. This is the technique we use at Northwestern University (Fig. 18.3). We utilize a mixture of 40 mg of tetracaine and 30 mL of 1 % lidocaine. A needle is inserted at the level of C3, 1.5 cm posterior to the posterior border of the SCM muscle. Subcutaneous infiltration includes 5 mL of local anesthetic infiltrated superiorly to the mastoid process and 10 mL inferiorly to the sternal notch. From an entry point at C3, 5 mL of the local anesthetic are used to infiltrate subcutaneously anterior to the midline. From the same entry point at C3, 5 mL should be injected deep to the belly of the SCM, where the three branches exit from the nerve roots. A total of 25 mL of the local anesthetic is enough to achieve a block.

Complete anesthesia is difficult to obtain with the deep and superficial blocks performed alone or in combination. The pain may originate from the inferior alveolar nerve at the angle of the mandible and the patient may experience a tooth ache. This is generally caused by surgical retraction on the lower mandible and may be relieved by adjusting the retractor. An alternative method is to block the inferior alveolar nerve.

Despite the regional technique, the patient may feel some pain during the dissection of the carotid artery or exhibit a profound bradycardia. The deep and superficial cervical blocks do not block the recurrent laryngeal nerve that innervates the carotid body and carotid sinus. Surgical manipulation or retraction about the carotid bifurcation may be the cause. This effect may be blocked by the instillation of 2 mL of local anesthetic directly into the surgical field.

Neurologic Monitoring

An awake, cooperative patient able to respond to questions and to confirm motor strength in the contralateral arm constitutes the best neurologic monitoring [69]. For this reason, sedation administration should be judicious and oversedation avoided. Prior to incision, patients are asked to rehearse a requested motor task, such as squeezing a horn or a device capable of transducing the generated pressure from their contralateral hand. The test should be repeated early in the surgery and then at frequent intervals. Our plan includes periodic verbal instructions for the patient to perform the motor task every minute for 4 min, every 2 min up to 10 min, and then at 5-min intervals until the carotid is unclamped. Because the patient must understand the directive and perform the task, we are monitoring not only motor strength but mental status. Should the patient not understand the directive or be unable to perform the task in the first 4 min after carotid cross-clamping, then the surgeon may elect to insert a shunt. Overall, the incidence of shunt placement is less than 10% during awake carotid surgery [60].

Carotid stump pressure higher than 50 mmHg is considered a good indicator for sufficient flow, while a lower stump pressure may indicate poor collateral circulation and the need for shunt placement [70]. The stump pressure measurement is obtained by inserting a small gauge needle into the carotid stump and connecting it to a pressure transducer. Unfortunately, there is no general agreement in the literature regarding the validity of the information obtained from stump pressure measurements [60, 69, 71].

Near-infrared cerebral oximetry can be used to detect a drop in regional cerebral oxygen saturation of the anterior cerebral artery distribution at the time of the carotid cross-clamp. Unfortunately, there is not a commonly accepted threshold for the drop in saturation that would predict the need for shunt insertion [72]. It is recommended to establish a baseline after the monitor is connected and oxygenation established. For more information, *see* Chaps. 12 ("Near-Infrared Spectroscopy" and 30 "Carotid Surgery").

The monitoring of venous oxygen saturation (SjO_2) from the jugular bulb is not commonly used during carotid endarterectomy surgery. The sensitivity and specificity for SjO_2 is not high enough to make it the sole driver for decision-making with regards to shunt placement [61]. For more details, *see* Chap. 14, "Monitoring of Jugular Venous Oxygen Saturation."

Conclusion

Regional and local anesthesia in neurosurgery has clear advantages for testing neurologic functions that cannot be monitored easily. Its use provides excellent operating conditions in an awake patient for surgery in or near the eloquent areas, resection of seizure foci, and carotid endarterectomy. This technique also enables the operative team to optimize localization during deep brain stimulation. The awake patient provides one of the best neurologic monitors. The use of this monitor as an adjunct guides decision-making for shunt placement during carotid endarterectomy, minimizes the incidence of postoperative neurologic deficits, promotes maximal tumor resection, shortens hospital stay, and is associated with fewer complications.

References¹

- 1. Bilotta F, Rosa G. 'Anesthesia' for awake neurosurgery. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2009;22:560–5.
- *Bonhomme V, Franssen C, Hans P. Awake craniotomy. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2009;26:906–12.
- Klimek M, Verbrugge SJ, Roubos S, van der Most E, Vincent AJ, Klein J. Awake craniotomy for glioblastoma in a 9-year-old child. Anaesthesia. 2004;59:607–9.
- Howe KL, Zhou G, July J, Totimeh T, Dakurah T, Malomo AO, et al. Teaching and sustainably implementing awake craniotomy in resource-poor settings. World Neurosurg. 2013;80:e171–4.
- Chacko AG, Thomas SG, Babu KS, Daniel RT, Chacko G, Prabhu K, et al. Awake craniotomy and electrophysiological mapping for eloquent area tumours. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2013;115:329–34.
- Sacko O, Lauwers-Cances V, Brauge D, Sesay M, Brenner A, Roux FE. Awake craniotomy vs surgery under general anesthesia for resection of supratentorial lesions. Neurosurgery. 2011;68:1192–8. discussion 8–9.
- *Blanshard HJ, Chung F, Manninen PH, Taylor MD, Bernstein M. Awake craniotomy for removal of intracranial tumor: considerations for early discharge. Anesth Analg. 2001;92:89–94.
- Kim SS, McCutcheon IE, Suki D, Weinberg JS, Sawaya R, Lang FF, et al. Awake craniotomy for brain tumors near eloquent cortex: correlation of intraoperative cortical mapping with neurological outcomes in 309 consecutive patients. Neurosurgery. 2009;64:836–45; discussion 345–6.
- Hol JW, Klimek M, van der Heide-Mulder M, Stronks D, Vincent AJ, Klein J, et al. Awake craniotomy induces fewer changes in the plasma amino acid profile than craniotomy under general anesthesia. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2009;21:98–107.
- *Costello TG, Cormack JR. Anaesthesia for awake craniotomy: a modern approach. J Clin Neurosci. 2004;11:16–9.
- *Hansen E, Seemann M, Zech N, Doenitz C, Luerding R, Brawanski A. Awake craniotomies without any sedation: the awake-awake technique. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2013;155:1417–24.
- Frost EA, Booij LH. Anesthesia in the patient for awake craniotomy. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2007;20:331–5.
- Erickson KM, Cole DJ. Anesthetic considerations for awake craniotomy for epilepsy. Anesthesiol Clin. 2007;25:535–55.
- Dinsmore J. Anaesthesia for elective neurosurgery. Br J Anaesth. 2007;99:68–74.

¹Key references marked with asterisk.

- Sarang A, Dinsmore J. Anaesthesia for awake craniotomy: evolution of a technique that facilitates awake neurological testing. Br J Anaesth. 2003;90:161–5.
- Hans P, Bonhomme V, Born JD, Maertens de Noordhoudt A, Brichant JF, Dewandre PY. Targetcontrolled infusion of propofol and remifentanil combined with bispectral index monitoring for awake craniotomy. Anaesthesia. 2000;55:255–9.
- Lobo F, Beiras A. Propofol and remifentanil effect-site concentrations estimated by pharmacokinetic simulation and bispectral index monitoring during craniotomy with intraoperative awakening for brain tumor resection. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2007;19:183–9.
- Soriano SG, Eldredge EA, Wang FK, Kull L, Madsen JR, Black PM, et al. The effect of propofol on intraoperative electrocorticography and cortical stimulation during awake craniotomies in children. Paediatr Anaesth. 2000;10:29–34.
- Schelling G, Hauer D, Azad SC, Schmoelz M, Chouker A, Schmidt M, et al. Effects of general anesthesia on anandamide blood levels in humans. Anesthesiology. 2006;104:273–7.
- Beers R, Camporesi E. Remifentanil update: clinical science and utility. CNS Drugs. 2004;18:1085–104.
- *Rozet I. Anesthesia for functional neurosurgery: the role of dexmedetomidine. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2008;21:537–43.
- Bekker AY, Kaufman B, Samir H, Doyle W. The use of dexmedetomidine infusion for awake craniotomy. Anesth Analg. 2001;92:1251–3.
- Souter MJ, Rozet I, Ojemann JG, Souter KJ, Holmes MD, Lee L, et al. Dexmedetomidine sedation during awake craniotomy for seizure resection: effects on electrocorticography. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2007;19:38–44.
- 24. Moore 2nd TA, Markert JM, Knowlton RC. Dexmedetomidine as rescue drug during awake craniotomy for cortical motor mapping and tumor resection. Anesth Analg. 2006;102:1556–8.
- Hall JE, Uhrich TD, Barney JA, Arain SR, Ebert TJ. Sedative, amnestic, and analgesic properties of small-dose dexmedetomidine infusions. Anesth Analg. 2000;90:699–705.
- 26. *Pinosky ML, Fishman RL, Reeves ST, Harvey SC, Patel S, Palesch Y, et al. The effect of bupivacaine skull block on the hemodynamic response to craniotomy. Anesth Analg, 1996;83:1256–61.
- Watson R, Leslie K. Nerve blocks versus subcutaneous infiltration for stereotactic frame placement. Anesth Analg. 2001;92:424–7.
- Nguyen A, Girard F, Boudreault D, Fugere F, Ruel M, Moumdjian R, et al. Scalp nerve blocks decrease the severity of pain after craniotomy. Anesth Analg. 2001;93:1272–6.
- *Geze S, Yilmaz AA, Tuzuner F. The effect of scalp block and local infiltration on the haemodynamic and stress response to skull-pin placement for craniotomy. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2009;26:298–303.

- Osborn I, Sebeo J. "Scalp block" during craniotomy: a classic technique revisited. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2010;22:187–94.
- Piccioni F, Fanzio M. Management of anesthesia in awake craniotomy. Minerva Anestesiol. 2008;74(7–8):393–408.
- Bebawy JF, Bilotta F, Koht A. A modified technique for auriculotemporal nerve blockade when performing selective scalp nerve block for craniotomy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2014;26:271–2.
- 33. *Lobo FA, Amorim P. Anesthesia for craniotomy with intraoperative awakening: how to avoid respiratory depression and hypertension? Anesth Analg. 2006;102:1593–4. author reply 4.
- Baldinelli F, Pedrazzoli R, Ebner H, Auricchio F. Asleep-awake-asleep technique during carotid endarterectomy: a case series. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2010;24:550–4.
- Audu PB, Loomba N. Use of cuffed oropharyngeal airway (COPA) for awake intracranial surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2004;16:144–6.
- Olsen KS. The asleep-awake technique using propofol-remifentanil anaesthesia for awake craniotomy for cerebral tumours. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2008;25:662–9.
- Ojemann G, Ojemann J, Lettich E, Berger M. Cortical language localization in left, dominant hemisphere: an electrical stimulation mapping investigation in 117 patients. J Neurosurg. 1989;71:316–26.
- Berger MS, Kincaid J, Ojemann GA, Lettich E. Brain mapping techniques to maximize resection, safety, and seizure control in children with brain tumors. Neurosurgery. 1989;25:786–92.
- Duffau H. Contribution of cortical and subcortical electrostimulation in brain glioma surgery: methodological and functional considerations. Neurophysiol Clin. 2007;37:373–82.
- 40. Szelenyi A, Bello L, Duffau H, Fava E, Feigl GC, Galanda M, et al. Intraoperative electrical stimulation in awake craniotomy: methodological aspects of current practice. Neurosurg Focus. 2010;28:E7.
- Yingling CD, Ojemann S, Dodson B, Harrington MJ, Berger MS. Identification of motor pathways during tumor surgery facilitated by multichannel electromyographic recording. J Neurosurg. 1999;91:922–7.
- 42. Sartorius CJ, Berger MS. Rapid termination of intraoperative stimulation-evoked seizures with application of cold Ringer's lactate to the cortex. Technical note. J Neurosurg. 1998;88:349–51.
- McNicholas E, Bilotta F, Titi L, Chandler J, Rosa G, Koht A. Transient facial nerve palsy after auriculotemporal nerve block in awake craniotomy patients. A A Case Rep. 2014;2:40–3.
- 44. *Gabarros A, Young WL, McDermott MW, Lawton MT. Language and motor mapping during resection of brain arteriovenous malformations: indications, feasibility, and utility. Neurosurgery. 2011;68: 744–52.

- Abla AA, Lawton MT. Awake motor examination during intracranial aneurysm surgery. World Neurosurg. 2014;82:e683–4.
- 46. Passacantilli E, Anichini G, Cannizzaro D, Fusco F, Pedace F, Lenzi J, et al. Awake craniotomy for trapping a giant fusiform aneurysm of the middle cerebral artery. Surg Neurol Int. 2013;4:39.
- Halpern CH, Wolf JA, Bale TL, Stunkard AJ, Danish SF, Grossman M, et al. Deep brain stimulation in the treatment of obesity. J Neurosurg. 2008;109:625–34.
- Awan NR, Lozano A, Hamani C. Deep brain stimulation: current and future perspectives. Neurosurg Focus. 2009;27:E2.
- Deuschl G, Schade-Brittinger C, Krack P, Volkmann J, Schafer H, Botzel K, et al. A randomized trial of deep-brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:896–908.
- Weaver FM, Follett K, Stern M, Hur K, Harris C, Marks Jr WJ, et al. Bilateral deep brain stimulation vs best medical therapy for patients with advanced Parkinson disease: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2009;301:63–73.
- Benabid AL, Chabardes S, Mitrofanis J, Pollak P. Deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8:67–81.
- Chakrabarti R, Ghazanwy M, Tewari A. Anesthetic challenges for deep brain stimulation: a systematic approach. N Am J Med Sci. 2014;6:359–69.
- 53. Khatib R, Ebrahim Z, Rezai A, Cata JP, Boulis NM, John Doyle D, et al. Perioperative events during deep brain stimulation: the experience at Cleveland Clinic. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2008;20:36–40.
- Krauss JK, Akeyson EW, Giam P, Jankovic J. Propofol-induced dyskinesias in Parkinson's disease. Anesth Analg. 1996;83:420–2.
- Nicholson G, Pereira AC, Hall GM. Parkinson's disease and anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2002;89:904–16.
- Poon CC, Irwin MG. Anaesthesia for deep brain stimulation and in patients with implanted neurostimulator devices. Br J Anaesth. 2009;103:152–65.
- Venkatraghavan L, Manninen P, Mak P, Lukitto K, Hodaie M, Lozano A. Anesthesia for functional neurosurgery: review of complications. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2006;18:64–7.
- Kral T, Kurthen M, Schramm J, Urbach H, Meyer B. Stimulation mapping via implanted grid electrodes prior to surgery for gliomas in highly eloquent cortex. Neurosurgery. 2006;58(1 Suppl):ONS36–43; discussion ONS36–43.
- Rerkasem K, Rothwell PM. Routine or selective carotid artery shunting for carotid endarterectomy and different methods of monitoring in selective shunting. Stroke. 2009;40:e564–72.
- 60. Hans SS, Jareunpoon O. Prospective evaluation of electroencephalography, carotid artery stump pressure, and neurologic changes during 314 consecutive carotid endarterectomies performed in awake patients. J Vasc Surg. 2007;45:511–5.
- 61. Moritz S, Kasprzak P, Woertgen C, Taeger K, Metz C. The accuracy of jugular bulb venous monitor-

ing in detecting cerebral ischemia in awake patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2008;20:8–14.

- Stoneham MD, Knighton JD. Regional anaesthesia for carotid endarterectomy. Br J Anaesth. 1999;82:910–9.
- Guay J. Regional or general anesthesia for carotid endarterectomy? Evidence from published prospective and retrospective studies. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2007;21:127–32.
- 64. Lewis SC, Warlow CP, Bodenham AR, Colam B, Rothwell PM, Torgerson D, et al. General anaesthesia versus local anaesthesia for carotid surgery (GALA): a multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2008;372(9656):2132–42.
- 65. Bekker AY, Basile J, Gold M, Riles T, Adelman M, Cuff G, et al. Dexmedetomidine for awake carotid endarterectomy: efficacy, hemodynamic profile, and side effects. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2004;16:126–35.
- 66. Stoneham MD, Lodi O, de Beer TC, Sear JW. Increased oxygen administration improves cerebral oxygenation in patients undergoing awake carotid surgery. Anesth Analg. 2008;107:1670–5.
- Winnie AP, Ramamurthy S, Durrani Z, Radonjic R. Interscalene cervical plexus block: a singleinjection technic. Anesth Analg. 1975;54:370–5.
- Moore DC. Regional block: a handbook for use in the clinical practice of medicine and surgery. Springfield: Charles C. Thomas; 1978.
- 69. Moritz S, Kasprzak P, Arlt M, Taeger K, Metz C. Accuracy of cerebral monitoring in detecting cerebral ischemia during carotid endarterectomy: a comparison of transcranial Doppler sonography, near-infrared spectroscopy, stump pressure, and somatosensory evoked potentials. Anesthesiology. 2007;107:563–9.
- Calligaro KD, Dougherty MJ. Correlation of carotid artery stump pressure and neurologic changes during 474 carotid endarterectomies performed in awake patients. J Vasc Surg. 2005;42:684–9.
- Kwaan JH, Peterson GJ, Connolly JE. Stump pressure: an unreliable guide for shunting during carotid endarterectomy. Arch Surg. 1980;115:1083–6.
- Rigamonti A, Scandroglio M, Minicucci F, Magrin S, Carozzo A, Casati A. A clinical evaluation of nearinfrared cerebral oximetry in the awake patient to monitor cerebral perfusion during carotid endarterectomy. J Clin Anesth. 2005;17:426–30.

Questions

- Awake craniotomies can be done in the following methods
 - a. Sleep, awake, sleep
 - b. Sedated, awake, sedated
 - c. Awake, awake, awake
 - d. A and b
 - e. All of the above

- Sleep awake sleep is usually done by the following methods except
 - a. LMA awake LMA
 - b. Nasal intubation awake nasal intubation
 - c. Deep sedation, awake, deep sedation
 - d. Oral intubation, awake, oral intubation
- 3. Awake carotid surgery can be performed under the following techniques except
 - a. Deep cervical blocks
 - b. Super facial cervical blocks
 - c. Cervical epidural block
 - d. Cervical spinal anesthesia
 - e. None of the above
- 4. During deep brain stimulation, the use of midazolam for premedication is greatly encouraged to help sedate the patient.
 - a. True
 - b. False

- 5. In calculating the total dose of local anesthetics, we should add
 - a. Local anesthetics used by the anesthesiologist
 - b. Local anesthetics used by the surgeon to infiltrate the field
 - c. Local anesthetics that may be used for pinning
 - d. Local anesthetics used to place the Foley catheter
 - e. All of the above

Answers

- 1. E
- 2. D
- 3. D
- 4. False
- 5. E

Anesthesia Management and Intraoperative Electrophysiological Monitoring

19

Tod B. Sloan

Key Learning Points

- The techniques of IOM can be divided into four groups by whether they depend on muscle responses and are therefore sensitive to the use of neuromuscular blocking agents (NMBA) and whether they are markedly depressed by halogenated agents.
- It is currently believed that the action of anesthetic agents is primarily mediated through changes in synaptic function by their interaction with specific receptors.
- Since the EEG is produced by cortical synapses, anesthetic agents alter EEG monitoring. A regular progression of activation, then drop in frequency and amplitude, burst suppression and electrical silence is typical of many agents.
- In general for each IOM modality, the effects of anesthetic agents can be somewhat predicted by noting the location of synapses within the neural pathway.
- Additional insight into the action of anesthetics on evoked responses is given by examin-

ing the neural mechanisms of anesthetics that result in the behavioral goals of amnesia, unconsciousness, immobility, blocking of noxious sensory stimuli (antinociception), and muscle relaxation.

- With unconsciousness, immobility (lack of movement to noxious sensory stimuli) is the consequence of anesthetic action blocking noxious stimuli and interrupting the reflex pathway in the spinal cord.
- MEP is the most difficult technique to record under General Anesthesia with TIVA being the most supportive.
- In some patients MEP can be recorded using TIVA supplemented with ½ MAC desflurane or sevoflurane.

Anesthetic agents used to produce general anesthesia and physiological management during procedures have an impact on the ability of intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IOM) to be conducted. The most challenging circumstances are when the monitoring techniques used are sensitive to anesthetic agents, making the agent choice difficult. This chapter will discuss the general principles behind the effects of anesthetic agents and the known effects on electrophysiological monitoring. The specific choice of anesthetic agents will depend on the patient, the effects of the agents, the monitoring techniques used, and the anesthetic goals.

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_19

T.B. Sloan, M.D., M.B.A., Ph.D. (⊠) Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO 80045, USA e-mail: Tod.Sloan@ucdenver.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Impact of IOM Technique and Patient Comorbidity

In general, the strategy for choosing a supportive anesthetic begins with the modalities planned for IOM. The techniques can be divided into four groups by whether they depend on muscle responses and are therefore sensitive to the use of neuromuscular blocking agents (NMBA) and whether they are markedly depressed by halogenated agents (Fig. 19.1). If only sensitive to NMBA, the anesthetic can be designed with the free use of halogenated agents but avoid NMBA. If only sensitive to halogenated agents, these must be severely restricted or avoided (i.e., total intravenous anesthesia [TIVA]) but NMBA can be uti-Unfortunately, many procedures lized. use multiple IOM techniques such that the monitoring is sensitive to both NMBA and halogenated agents.

The second consideration is how difficult it is to conduct IOM in an individual patient. This is usually a consequence of either immaturity at very young ages or as a consequence of neural pathology, especially in the older patient. This is depicted in Fig. 19.2. Adult patients may have nervous system deficits from age and from neural morbidity such as myelopathy, vascular disease, diabetes, and other primary central nervous system (CNS) pathology. In both of these groups the responses may be difficult to acquire and the anesthesia effects may be more profound. In addition, patients with chronic opioid use can also provide challenges by limiting the effectiveness of opioids, which are usually key agents in the anesthetic. Finally, the chosen anesthetic must address the specific medical comorbidities of the patient and those management aspects necessary for the conduct of the surgery.

Mechanism of Drug Action

It is currently believed that although anesthetic agents must have properties of lipid solubility to penetrate into the nervous system, the action of these drugs is primarily mediated through changes in synaptic function by their interaction with specific receptors [1–10]. Differences between agents depend on each one's profile of action on different synaptic receptors, the varying location of those receptors, and the specific subtypes of these receptors involved in their action.

For example, many of these agents increase the inhibitory activity in the major inhibitory synapse by facilitating the effect of γ -amino-butyric acid (GABA) by action at the GABAa receptor [10]. Another common drug effect is inhibition of the major excitatory synapse at the N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA) receptor [10]. Other synaptic targets include neuronal acetylcholine (nACh), µ opioid receptor, central α^2 receptors, potassium, calcium receptors, and the glycine channels (the major inhibitory synapse in the spinal cord) [10]. Muscle relaxation is mediated through acetylcholine receptors located at the neuromuscular junction (mACh) [10]. The combination of effects at these receptors is what gives rise to the effects of general anesthesia as well as the alterations in the electroencephalogram (EEG) and evoked potentials.

Fig. 19.1 IOM techniques can be divided into four groups depending on susceptibility to the effects of muscle relaxants and to the effects of halogenated anesthetics

d d	Acceptable	Restricted	
nated Age Restricte	Cortical SSEP, Auditory EEG, Visual EP D wave (epidural)	Transcranial MEP (Muscle recording)	
e of Haloge cceptable	ABR Epidural SSEP Subcortical SSEP	Motor cranial n. EMG Spinal Reflex Response	
δĀ.			

. .

....



Fig. 19.2 The ease of recording evoked responses varies with patient age, neural immaturity at young ages, and the presence of neural pathology

Anesthetic Effects on the Electroencephalogram

General Effects

Because the EEG is produced by cortical synapses, anesthetic agents alter EEG monitoring [11] (see Chap. 10, "EEG Monitoring"). Although differences between individuals and anesthetics occur, most anesthetics produce a typical sequence of events with increasing drug levels [12, 13] (Fig. 19.3). At induction, mild activation is seen with rhythmic beta activity replacing the 8- to 10-Hz α rhythm seen in the parietal and superior temporal cortex. With loss of consciousness there is a marked drop in high frequency activity (25– 50 Hz gamma-band), an increase in slower frequency theta and delta activity, and a shift in power to the frontal regions. In addition, there is an increase in synchrony of the EEG with variations in activity between regions being reduced including uncoupling of the interaction between frontal and parietal regions and across the midline [13]. As the anesthetic drug effect increases there is a gradual slowing of the frequency and gradual reduction in amplitude and power. Then periods of electrical silence are interspersed with periods of activity (burst suppression) and finally complete electrical silence.

The reduction in synaptic activity at burst suppression and electrical silence is associated with a reduction in the associated metabolic activity of approximately 50 % (Fig. 19.4). This depressant effect has been used for the treatment of status epilepticus and for intentional metabolic suppression to improve the balance of nutrient supply and demand such as during surgery in which ischemic injury may occur (e.g., intracranial vascular surgery, cardiac surgery, and carotid surgery). Because burst suppression is associated with near maximal metabolic suppression, this can be used as an end point to monitor the drug administration for metabolic depression.

Specific Drugs and the EEG

Halogenated Agents

The halogenated anesthetic agents produce the typical depression pattern of Fig. 19.3, producing burst suppression at about 1.5 or higher minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) (the MAC of an inhalational agent is the minimal alveolar concentration of the agent where 50 % of the subjects do not move in response to a painful stimulus) [14]. With increasing age, the brain becomes increasingly sensitive to anesthetics and burst



Fig. 19.3 Typical EEG changes with progressively increasing levels of inhalational anesthesia. As shown, the amplitude increases as the variability of the EEG is reduced to synchronous activity in the 8- to 12-Hz range.

As anesthesia deepens, the amplitude and frequency decrease, giving way to burst suppression and finally electrocerebral silence. (From Stockard and Bickford [12]; with permission)



suppression is produced at lower concentrations. Halothane does not follow the typical dose effect of the other agents; it does not readily cause burst suppression but rather a gradual decrease in amplitude with widespread α activity (8–14 Hz) [15].

Not all anesthetic agents produce this general pattern; some can activate the EEG resulting in increased amplitude and frequency with a few ultimately producing epileptiform activity [11]. For example, enflurane and sevoflurane produce EEG changes similar to those of isoflurane but have been associated with increased EEG activity and seizures in some circumstances. With hyperventilation they can produce epileptiform spikes or even electrographic seizures. With these seizures, anesthetic depression of the spinal cord may prevent associated muscular activity (see "Immobility" later) [16]. Sevoflurane can also induce epileptiform activity in patients with epilepsy [17]. Rapid induction with sevoflurane, particularly with hyperventilation and prolonged anesthesia with high concentrations, can produce generalized or focal seizures (even in healthy subjects).

Nitrous Oxide

When used alone, nitrous oxide (N₂O) decreases the frequency and amplitude of α rhythms seen in a restful awake state. It then produces a frontally dominant high frequency (>30 Hz) activity, which coincides with analgesia and depressed consciousness. When combined with halogenated inhalational agents, it can be additive or antagonistic depending on the circumstances and the neurophysiological measure used. Thus, N₂O may be "context sensitive." For example, N₂O has proconvulsant properties or can suppress epileptic spike activity during electrocorticography (ECoG) depending on the other agents used.

Propofol

Propofol produces the typical EEG anesthetic depression described earlier, including burst suppression and electrical silence at higher doses [18]. As such, propofol has been used for the treatment of status epilepticus and to produce metabolic depression. Despite its seizure-suppressive activity, propofol has become a popular agent for conscious sedation during surgery to identify and ablate seizure foci because its rapid metabolism allows it to be eliminated when awake testing and ECoG is desired.

Etomidate

Etomidate produces the typical EEG anesthetic depression pattern described earlier. Like propofol, it has been used to produce EEG silence and metabolic depression and should be avoided at larger doses during cortical mapping for seizure foci. Different than propofol, at low doses (0.1 mg/kg) it may enhance the detection of seizure foci by evoking native epileptic seizures in patients [19].

Barbiturates

Barbiturates follow the typical pattern of EEG progression described earlier leading to electrical silence. They are the classic agents to produce metabolic depression ("barbiturate coma"). Not typical of all barbiturates, low-dose methohexital (0.5 mg/kg) has been used like etomidate to enhance epileptic spike activity during electro-corticography (ECoG) in surgery to identify seizure foci [19].

Benzodiazepines

Most benzodiazepines produce the typical EEG anesthetic depression pattern but have a less profound effect on the EEG, usually generalized slowing into the theta and delta range at high doses without progressing to burst suppression. They have potent anticonvulsant effects such that they should be avoided if cortical mapping for seizure foci is planned. Midazolam can produce burst suppression and this is used in treatment of status epilepticus.

Dexmedetomidine

Dexmedetomidine activates endogenous nonrapid eye movement sleep-promoting pathways producing an EEG, which is very similar to slow wave sleep [13]. It is not reported to produce burst suppression but has been shown to reduce the thiopental dose requirement for burst suppression by 30% [20].

Droperidol

Droperidol has little effect on the EEG when used alone; however, it lowers seizure threshold. It does not appear to produce neuroexcitatory phenomena or induce seizures in epileptic patients. When combined with fentanyl ("neurolept anesthesia"), droperidol increases EEG α activity at low doses. At higher doses, it produces high-amplitude beta and delta activity.

Opioids

Opioids do not appear to produce an initial excitement phase in the EEG and do not produce burst suppression or electrical silence. They do produce a dose-related decrease in frequency of the EEG maintaining amplitude with activity in the delta range. They are frequently used during ECoG in surgery for seizure focus ablation. Some clinicians have found alfentanil useful in enhancing epileptic spikes [13].

Ketamine

Ketamine produces initial suppression of awake α rhythms, and then induces high-amplitude theta activity in the EEG, with an accompanying increase in beta activity [21]. At large doses, polymorphic delta with interspersed beta is reported [22]. Ketamine is thus an excitatory agent producing heightened synaptic function and increased motor tone and muscle movement. Seizures have not generally been observed and it is usually anticonvulsive, but it has been reported to provoke seizure activity in persons with epilepsy but not in normal subjects [23, 24].

Anesthesia Selection and EEG

The choice of anesthetic agents depends on the specific application of the EEG [25]. When monitoring for cerebral ischemia, a choice of drugs that keep the EEG active is desired. For the termination of sustained seizure activity or intentional depression of cerebral metabolic activity, intravenous agents (e.g., propofol) have been used. General anesthesia with the halogenated agents has also been used to treat status epilepticus. For the recording of seizure foci during awake craniotomy for the purposes of seizure focus ablation, infusions of short-acting agents have been used (with local anesthesia for the craniotomy and placement of a Mayfield head holder) (*see* Chaps. 18, "Anesthesia for Awake Neurosurgery", and 45, "Epilepsy and Seizures: OR and ICU Applications of EEG"). When seizure focus ablation is conducted under general anesthesia, agents that are minimally depressant should be used during ECoG.

Anesthetic Effects on Evoked Potentials

Consistent with a synaptic mediated effect, the effect of anesthetic agents on cortical evoked responses parallels their effect on the EEG. This has been shown by Winters for the midlatency cortical auditory (MLAEP) response [26]. Similar to the EEG, most anesthetic agents cause a progressive depression of the cortical evoked responses, although some agents are excitatory (e.g., etomidate, ketamine). Also like the effects on the EEG, some agents (e.g., opioids) cause much fewer dramatic changes, making them desirable during IOM. Because general anesthetics primarily affect synaptic function rather than neuronal conduction, the majority of anesthetic effects are amplitude changes with smaller changes in latency [27]. For a more in-depth discussion of using the EEG to assess sedation and anesthesia, see Chap. 11, "Clinical Application of Raw and Processed EEG."

Effect Based on Location of Synapses

In general, for each IOM modality, the effects of anesthetic agents can be somewhat predicted by noting the location of synapses within the neural pathway. For example, the somatosensory evoked potential (SSEP) pathway has no synapses until the cervicomedullary junction (near the nucleatus cuneatus and nucleatus gracilis) (*see* Chap. 1, "Somatosensory Evoked Potentials"). As such, recordings of the SSEP response in the peripheral nerve (e.g., popliteal fossa, Erb's point), along the spinal cord (e.g., epidural), or the subcortical response recorded over the cervical spine show minimal anesthetic effects. Major anesthetic



Fig. 19.5 Changes in lower extremity somatosensory evoked potentials recorded at several locations with increasing concentrations of isoflurane in the baboon. (a) Recordings from the epidural space that indicate minimal effects. (b) Minimal effects in the response recorded over

the cervical spine. (c) A prominent effect on the response recorded over the somatosensory cortex. (d) A plot of the amplitude of the cortical response showing a nonlinear amplitude reduction as the isoflurane concentration is increased

effects are seen at or above the second synapse located in the thalamus (i.e., the cerebral cortex response). These effects are shown in Fig. 19.5 with isoflurane and are typical for most anesthetics, which are depressant on the EEG and evoked potentials.

For the auditory brainstem response (ABR), few synapses are involved in the brainstem such that anesthetic effects are minimal (*see* Chap. 3, "Auditory Evoked Potentials"). Because the cortical midlatency response (MLAEP) is heavily dependent on synaptic function, the anesthetic impact is far more substantial.

Motor evoked potentials (MEP) are susceptible to anesthetic agents at several synaptic locations (*see* Chap. 2, "Transcranial Motor Evoked Potentials"). The first location is in the motor cortex where anesthetic depression of internuncial neurons reduces production of "I" waves. Because the "D" waves are the result of direct pyramidal cell stimulation, they are relatively unaffected by anesthetic agents [28, 29]. This maintenance of D waves and loss of I waves with increasing isoflurane is shown in the baboon in Fig. 19.6.

The second location is internuncial synapses within the spinal cord. The anesthetic impact on any given pathway likely depends on the number of these synapses involved. The descending motor tracts follow through lateral and medial pathways with the more distal muscles (i.e., hand and foot) served by the lateral pathway. Because this lateral pathway has fewer synapses, myogenic MEP in these distal muscles (hands and feet) may be slightly less affected by anesthetics than the truncal muscles served by the medial pathway.

Anesthetic action at the anterior horn cell may also impair the generation of a muscle response through synaptic depression. Since the D and I waves must summate temporally to activate the anterior horn cell, the loss of I waves increases the difficulty of obtaining a myogenic response (compound muscle action potential [CMAP]) with a single transcranial pulse stimulation [30, 31]. In addition, other descending tracts (descending



Fig. 19.6 Changes in transcranial motor evoked potentials recorded in the epidural space (**a**) and in the myogenic response (compound muscle action potentials; CMAP) in the hand (**b**) in the baboon. Shown is the main-

suprasegmental systems [corticospinal, rubrospinal, vestibulospinal, and reticulospinal systems] and propriospinal systems) influence the excitability of the anterior horn cell such that anesthetic effect in these pathways could result in additional effect on the myogenic MEP.

This need for temporal summation and the loss of I waves explains some of the success of multipulse stimulation technique, which produces a volley of D waves [32, 33]. At higher anesthetic doses, an even more profound synaptic block at the anterior horn cell may prohibit synaptic transmission, regardless of the composition of the descending spinal cord volley of activity. The spinal cord has been suggested as the location of the most prominent anesthetic effect on myogenic MEP responses [34].

One additional synapse that may be affected by anesthesia in the motor pathway is the neuromuscular junction. Fortunately, with the exception of neuromuscular blocking agents, anesthetic drugs have little effect at the neuromuscular junction.

Effect Based on Anesthesia Goals

Additional insight into the action of anesthetics on evoked responses is given by examining the

tenance of the single D wave ("D") and loss of the multiple I waves ("I") in the epidural recording and loss of the myogenic response with increasing concentrations of isoflurane

neural mechanisms of anesthetics that result in the behavioral goals of amnesia, unconsciousness, lack of movement in response to noxious stimuli (immobility), and blocking of noxious sensory stimuli (antinociception).

Amnesia

Amnesia is thought to be one of the most potent effects of many general anesthetics. It is thought that this involves anesthetic action at the GABAa receptor (with additional contributions at the NMDA and nACh synapses) in the hippocampus, amygdala, and entorhinal and/or perirhinal cortex. Fortunately, anesthetic agents usually block memory formation at or below drug levels that produce unconsciousness [10, 35].

Unconsciousness

Consciousness is likely mediated by a neural network involving the thalamocortical, corticothalamic, and reticulothalamic neurons [36]. Anesthetic action producing unconsciousness is thought to be mediated primarily through the GABAa and central α 2 receptors, with additional contributions through the NMDA, potassium channels, and nACh receptors. In general, most anesthetics produce unconsciousness through mechanisms including (1) reducing arousal stimuli to the cerebral cortex by actions at the brain-(midbrain reticular formation). stem (2)interfering with cortical processing of information, and (3) blocking sensory information from being received by the cortex through actions at the thalamus ("thalamic gating") and at the dorsal horn of the spinal cord [37]. This suggests that the major impact of drugs producing unconsciousness will be depression of the cortical sensory responses (SSEP, MLAEP, and visual evoked potential [VEP]).

It appears that the neural mechanisms producing unconsciousness are nonlinear, similar to an "on-off" system with an abrupt loss of consciousness over a narrow increase of anesthetic concentration [10]. This has been termed a "consciousness switch" and depends on the interaction of two sets of nuclei [36]. One set promotes consciousness (Laterodorsal Tegmental Nucleus, Pedunculopontine Nucleus, Locus Coeruleus, Dorsal Raphe, Ventral Periaqueductal Gray, and Tuberomammillary Nucleus) and the other promotes unconsciousness (Ventrolateral Preoptic Nucleus and Median Preoptic Nucleus). This suggests the anesthetic impact on cortical sensory responses may also be on-off with the major amplitude change occurring over a narrow anesthetic dosage range. The "threshold" for this switch appears to vary with patients as well as with anesthetic agents and may define the ability to use anesthetic agents at concentrations near those that produce unconsciousness.

Immobility

With unconsciousness, immobility (lack of movement to noxious sensory stimuli) is the consequence of anesthetic action interrupting the reflex pathway in the spinal cord. This effect is used to characterize the anesthetic potency of inhalational agents termed "MAC" suggesting halogenated agents will be effective in blocking movement at MAC levels [9]. The major anesthetic effect responsible for this is action of halogenated agents which is thought to be mediated through the spinal cord glycine channels with some contribution at GABAa [38] (which is thought to be the mechanism of etomidate and propofol [35, 39]).

The parts of this reflex pathway include afferent sensory stimuli, which can be effected in the periphery and in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. The second part is the neural pathways within the spinal cord. This includes interneurons in the reflex as well as the anterior horn cell. The last component is the efferent pathway from the anterior horn to the muscle and includes transmission through the neuromuscular junction. Hence, immobility is a consequence of anesthetic action blocking sensory afferents, reflex pathways in the spinal cord, and motor efferents. In addition, anesthetic action at the neuromuscular junction will affect movement. Although the reflex pathways can be modulated by descending influences, evidence suggests that immobility is primarily a spinal cord action and is largely independent of drug effect at the brainstem and cortex [40].

The net effect of this pathway is that anesthetic effects on the different parts contribute to immobility. Thus, a balance can be achieved with agents that reduce afferent sensory stimuli, agents that interfere with spinal cord transmission, and agents that reduce the efferent activity. This may allow immobility to be achieved with doses of these agents that allow IOM recording when otherwise higher doses of each agent would be needed and prevent recording.

Antinociception

In addition to blocking sensory transmission to the brain (such as at the thalamus mentioned earlier), the blocking of noxious stimuli ("antinociception") by drug action also occurs throughout the brain and spinal cord. In the spinal cord, sensory stimuli are modulated in the dorsal horn by NMDA and opioid synapses. Descending influences from the midbrain and brainstem also exert an inhibitory or excitatory effect on the dorsal horn transmission. Alpha2 agonists mediate some of the antinociception either directly, modulating descending influences, or by enhancing opioid action [41]. Opioids, norepinephrine, and serotonin play a role in these descending inhibitory pathways [42]. As mentioned earlier, anesthetic effects that reduce sensory transmission through the thalamus and alter cortical processing of sensory information also contribute to antinociception.

Specific Anesthesia Drugs

The differences between drugs are likely a consequence of differing profiles on receptor types (e.g., GABA, NMDA), differing location of drug action (i.e., pre- or postsynaptic effects), the spectrum of effects on individual subtypes of these receptors, and the anatomic distribution of the receptors and subtypes. Hence, the choice of an anesthetic technique becomes a balance of attempting to use concentrations of agents that are supportive of monitoring while accomplishing behavioral goals and the needs of the procedure. Some agents are more supportive of the monitoring techniques and are usually favored.

Halogenated Inhalational Agents

The most prominent anesthetic effects on evoked responses during clinical anesthesia are those of the halogenated inhalational agents (e.g., isoflurane, sevoflurane, desflurane), which makes them most difficult to use with some IOM techniques (notably myogenic MEP). These agents have a broad action on neural structures and are very effective in producing unconsciousness and amnesia through their action at the GABAa receptor. They are also very effective in producing immobility through their effect at the spinal cord glycine receptor. In addition, they contribute to antinociception via actions at the NMDA, nACh, and potassium channels.

For the SSEP, the predominant anesthetic effect is on responses generated above the level of the thalamus [43, 44] (Fig. 19.5). The blocking of sensory transmission at the thalamus is shown by the reduction of spontaneous and evoked output of the thalamic relay nuclei starting at 0.3–0.5 MAC [1, 37, 44]. This explains why cortical sensory evoked responses can often not be recorded with concentrations above 0.5–1 MAC [45, 46]. Above this level the inhalational agents produce marked effects in a nonlinear, on-off fashion consistent with anesthetic action on consciousness. Hence, the inhalational agents must be limited in most patients to 0.5-1 MAC when monitoring the cortical SSEP. The threshold of the ability to record varies between patients and the presence of neural pathology. In some patients, such as those with very poor responses (e.g., neural degeneration), the halogenated agents may need to be severely restricted (e.g., <0.5 MAC) or not used at all if responses are to be obtained.

Fortunately, responses recorded at peripheral nerves, over the cervical spinal cord, and from electrodes in the epidural space or spinal canal can usually be recorded with only minimal anesthetic effect [47]. Similarly, the ABR can also be recorded without major anesthetic effect. However, the cortical auditory response (MLAEP) is similar to the cortical SSEP with marked anesthetic effect.

The halogenated anesthetic agents decrease VEP amplitude and increase latency [48–50]. Studies of the a and b wave of the electroretinogram show that halogenated agents (and sedatives) decrease amplitude with some agents increasing the response latencies [51, 52]. One study noted with induction with sevoflurane the responses were lost [53].

The effect of the halogenated agents on the spinal reflex mediating immobility is used to determine MAC and is a prominent action of the halogenated agents. Of note, the concentration–effect curve is rather steep with changes in the spinal cord reflex pathway occurring over a relatively narrow concentration range [54]. This may explain the difficulty of finding a suitable anesthetic concentration, which allows recording of myogenic MEP responses.

Because of the anesthetic effect at the spinal cord, the myogenic response of the MEP is the most challenging to record with the halogenated inhalational agents and may require them to not be used (Fig. 19.6). When recordable, the major anesthetic effect may occur at low concentrations (e.g., <0.2–0.5% isoflurane) with loss of responses above 0.3–0.5 MAC [55–57]. Consistent with the depression of reflex movement by a spinal action of halogenated anesthetics, these agents also depress the Hoffmann reflex (H-reflex) [58, 59]. Studies suggest that the myogenic MEP is depressed more than the H-reflex (50% vs. 22% with sevoflurane) [59, 60].

Several recent studies have shown that in some patients, myogenic responses can be recorded with 0.5 MAC of desflurane or sevoflurane [61–64]. In these cases, the amplitude of the MEP is reduced compared with TIVA but monitoring appears to be conducted successfully. In a few patients the MEP could not be recorded until the halogenated agent was eliminated and TIVA used; in one patient it was never recorded. This suggests that the use of 0.5 MAC of a halogenated agent should be reserved for patients with robust responses (i.e., minimal neural pathology) and when used, preparations for converting to TIVA be available when responses cannot be acquired at baseline. At present, it is unclear whether desflurane or sevoflurane is less depressant at these doses [63].

Since the D wave is usually unaffected by anesthesia, it can usually be recorded in the epidural space or spinal canal at anesthetic concentrations of halogenated agents.

Nitrous Oxide

As a nonhalogenated inhalational agent, N_2O is different from the halogenated agents; N_2O is particularly effective in antinociception due to its action at the NMDA receptor with additional contributions at the μ opioid, nACh, and potassium channels. In addition, it contributes to unconsciousness and amnesia through minor actions at the GABAa and central $\alpha 2$ receptors and contributes to immobility through minor actions at the glycine receptor [65].

The effects of nitrous oxide on the SSEP are similar to the halogenated agents, although the effects vary with the other anesthetic agents being employed. When used alone, nitrous oxide tends to produce graded amplitude and latency changes in a dose-dependent manner [66, 67], with minor or no changes in subcortical responses [47]. Nitrous oxide is a more potent depressant of the P_{15} – N_{20} SSEP response than isoflurane when compared on a MAC basis [68]. Because nitrous oxide is very insoluble, the changes can occur rapidly. Nitrous oxide reduces VEP amplitude with increase in latency at higher doses. When nitrous oxide is added to a halogenated agent, the VEP is lost.

When added to halogenated anesthetics, nitrous oxide may cause additional changes in latency and amplitude [47] or have no apparent additive effect [45]. Studies of equal MAC mixtures of isoflurane and nitrous oxide have demonstrated that the mixture has a more potent effect on cortical SSEP than would be predicted by adding the individual effects of each agent, suggesting a synergism from different mechanisms of action [69]. In cases in which nitrous oxide is added to intravenous agents, amplitude changes predominate, without latency change [70–72].

Studies with MEP [73, 74] show that N₂O produces depression of myogenic responses similar to the halogenated agents [56, 72, 74]. When compared at equal MAC concentrations, nitrous oxide produces more profound changes in myogenic MEP than any other inhalational anesthetic agent [68, 75]. Similar to low doses of halogenated agents, myogenic MEP can be recorded in some patients when N₂O is used in concentrations below 50–60% [74]. As with other modalities, the effect of N₂O is dependent on the other anesthetics used with marked depression when N₂O is combined with a halogenated agent [76, 77]. Like the halogenated agents, the effects on the epidurally recorded MEP are minimal.

Intravenous Agents

Sedative-Hypnotics: Propofol

When the concentration of halogenated agents must be restricted, intravenous sedative hypnotics are usually employed to achieve amnesia and unconsciousness. Of the agents available, propofol is currently the most commonly utilized agent. Propofol has potent effects on unconsciousness and amnesia via actions at the GABAa receptor. This action at the GABAa and minor effects at the glycine receptor contribute to immobility during anesthesia. Finally, it makes minor contributions to antinociception through actions at the glycine and nACh receptors.

Propofol induction produces amplitude depression in cortical SSEP, VEP, and MLAEP with rapid recovery after cessation of a short infusion (actual time for longer infusions is dependent on the duration of the infusion, a consequence of the context-sensitive half-time) [78, 79]. Propofol does not enhance cortical responses. When the SSEP is recorded in the epidural space, propofol has no significant effect. At sedative doses, the SSEP is affected at the cortex only. At higher doses (hypnosis), the thalamic response is also affected [80]. At anesthetic doses, the cortical SSEP response amplitude is reduced and is lost at higher doses [56, 81–83].

Propofol induction produces amplitude depression in cortical responses and myogenic MEP with minimal effects on the epidurally recorded D wave with rapid recovery after cessation of infusion [34, 56, 81–83]. Similar to the halogenated agents, I waves are lost during propofol anesthesia consistent with synaptic effects on the brain similar to the depression of the EEG. When propofol is studied without other agents (and without surgical stimulation), MEPs can usually be recorded at burst suppression, although the amplitude is lower than at lighter levels [84].

Different from the steep concentration–immobility effect curve of the halogenated agents, the dose–response curve on immobility is substantially flattened with changes occurring over a wider concentration range [54]. This suggests that it is more likely to identify a concentration where propofol provides adequate anesthetic effect and acceptable depression of the H-reflex and myogenic MEP than with a halogenated agent [58, 81–83, 85].

At doses consistent with adequate anesthesia, patients with neurological compromise and poor responses may not have recordable myogenic MEP with propofol [54]. The same situation arises if higher doses of propofol are needed, such as with chronic GABAa acting drug usage (e.g., ethanol, benzodiazepines) or when an increased effect of propofol is needed to accomplish immobility when opioid tolerance produces poor antinociception [54]. When higher propofol doses appear to be needed, some TIVA methods have used ketamine or lidocaine to provide additional drug effect so that the dose of propofol can be reduced into an acceptable range [86].

Etomidate

An alternative sedative-hypnotic is etomidate, which also has potent cortical effects on unconsciousness and amnesia via actions at the GABAa receptor. It contributes to immobility via actions at the GABAa and glycine receptors, and has some minor contributions to antinociception through actions on the potassium channels. Of note, its use in TIVA has been reduced in many centers due to concerns of adrenal suppression and worsened outcome, especially in sepsis [87, 88].

At low doses, etomidate also enhances the amplitude of the cortical SSEP [89–94]. Fortunately, the enhancing activity occurs at doses that are consistent with the desired degree of and amnesia needed unconsciousness for TIVA. This amplitude increase appears coincident with the myoclonus seen with the drug, suggesting a heightened cortical excitability (however, no evidence of seizure activity was seen) [95, 96]. A sustained increase with constant drug infusion has been used to enhance cortical SSEP monitoring that was otherwise not recordable [89–94]. A cat study suggests that the location of enhancement is cortical [96], which is consistent with clinical studies showing enhancement of cortical responses with no enhancement in subcortical responses [90]. Higher doses of etomidate cause depression of the evoked responses (similar to the EEG) suggesting a biphasic effect (enhancement followed by depression).

Studies with myogenic MEP have suggested that etomidate is an excellent agent for induction and monitoring of this modality. Of several intravenous agents studied, etomidate had the least degree of amplitude depression after induction doses or with continual intravenous infusion [81, 82, 97–100]. At low doses, etomidate also enhances the myogenic MEP amplitude [89–94, 100]. This appears coincident with the myoclonus seen with the drug, suggesting a heightened cortical excitability [95, 96]. It is interesting that etomidate also increases the H-reflex, suggesting a change in α motor neuron excitability in the spinal cord [101]. This effect may be contributing to the enhancement of myogenic responses of MEP [81, 82, 97–100].

Benzodiazepines

Benzodiazepines, notably midazolam, also act at the GABAa receptor and have been advocated as supplements to TIVA because of amnestic properties and the ability to reduce the chance of hallucinogenic activity with ketamine. Midazolam, in doses consistent with induction of anesthesia and in the absence of other agents, produces a mild depression of the cortical SSEP [81, 93, 95, 102-105]. It has also been used in TIVA, prior to the introduction of propofol, with conditions suitable for anesthesia and cortical SSEP monitoring [90]. As such, when myogenic MEP is monitored, small doses for premedication or occasional supplementation during anesthesia usually allows myogenic MEP recording. Unfortunately, benzodiazepines (notably midazolam) produce marked acute and prolonged depression of myogenic MEP at larger doses [81, 82, 93, 95, 102–105].

In addition to possible cortical locations for the benzodiazepine effect, an effect at the spinal cord has been described as antinociceptive through actions at the GABA receptors in lamina I and II in the dorsal horn [106, 107]. This drug action is thought to be responsible for the depression of the H-reflex by diazepam [106, 107].

Dexmedetomidine

Another agent used to promote unconsciousness is dexmedetomidine, which acts as a central, selective $\alpha 2$ adrenoreceptor agonist drug. Dexmedetomidine has been shown to reduce the amount of propofol, opioids, and halogenated inhalational agents needed during anesthesia [108]. Of note, it does not produce amnesia. Side effects of hypotension and bradycardia relate to its sympatholytic properties and limit the drug to a role as a supplement to other anesthetic agents. The effects on SSEP recordings are minimal, possibly due to selective brainstem action at the locus coeruleus such that thalamic blocking is minimal. But, as with propofol, higher blood levels of dexmedetomidine inhibit MEP monitoring. When used as a supplement to isoflurane or a propofolfentanyl-nitrous oxide anesthetic, no additional depression to the cortical SSEP is seen [109].

Dexmedetomidine appears compatible with myogenic MEP when low doses are used and in the absence of other agents. However, higher blood levels of dexmedetomidine (or when moderate dosages of other agents such as propofol are used with dexmedetomidine) inhibit myogenic MEP monitoring [110–112].

Barbiturates

In general, the effects of barbiturates on the cortical SSEP are very small [113, 114], but the effect of thiopental can be rather profound and long lasting on the myogenic MEP at higher doses [77, 82, 97]. Methohexital has been used as a substitute for propofol in TIVA with acceptable cortical SSEP and myogenic MEP monitoring [113–115].

Droperidol

Droperidol appears to have minimal effects when combined with an opioid on cortical SSEP [116, 117].

Intravenous Antinociception: Opioids

To achieve all four anesthetic goals using intravenous anesthetics, opioids or ketamine is usually used to produce antinociception. Of note, these agents also help with immobility due to actions on the afferent portion of the reflex. Like its effects on the EEG, opioid effects on SSEP and MEP are minimal, especially on spinal or subcortical recordings [28, 29, 56, 73, 81, 82, 98, 103, 118–135]. The effects on the SSEP are reversed with naloxone, suggesting that the effect is mediated by the μ receptor [136, 137]. Some transient depression of amplitude and increases of latency in cortical responses can be seen with bolus doses and occasional loss of late cortical peaks (over 100 ms) at higher doses [81, 97, 116]. The spinal application of morphine or fentanyl produces minimal changes in the cortical SSEP [70, 76]. Several studies have shown a minimal depressant effect of clinical doses of opioids on the myogenic MEP [28, 29, 56, 73, 81, 82, 98, 103, 118–135].

Opioids can potentiate the effects of propofol. In addition, bolus doses of these agents will produce transient depression of responses and higher concentrations can persistently produce significant depression. As such, the delivery of opioid by infusion is important during anesthetic maintenance similar to the use of infusions of other agents [138]. Opioids appear to have minimal effects on the VEP, except that pupil constriction can reduce the effectiveness of the stimulation reducing amplitude and bolus doses can transiently reduce the amplitude [137, 139].

Ketamine

As an alternative or supplement to the opioids (particularly when the patient is opioid tolerant), ketamine has very potent antinociceptive actions via its action at the NMDA receptor. In addition, it contributes to unconsciousness and amnesia via minor actions at the GABAa receptor. As seen in the EEG, ketamine is an excitatory agent and has been reported to increase cortical SSEP amplitude [70, 140] and increase the amplitude of myogenic and spinal recorded MEP responses. Ketamine also increases the H-reflex, suggesting a change in α motor neuron excitability may contribute to the MEP enhancement [82, 97, 101, 117, 141–145].

High dosages, however, produce depression of the myogenic response consistent with its known property of spinal axonal conduction block [146]. As such, ketamine can be added to an intravenous technique to enhance the antinociceptive effect while allowing reduction of agents, which produce depression of the evoked responses (e.g., propofol). Unfortunately, increases in intracranial pressure are seen in patients with cortical abnormalities. Hallucinatory activity can also be seen and is minimized by using midazolam and avoiding its use prior to awakening. Of note, ketamine is also thought to minimize acute opioid tolerance through its action at the NMDA receptor [147].

Lidocaine, Magnesium, and Regional Anesthesia

Lidocaine, when infused intravenously at a low dose, has been shown to reduce propofol and opioid doses in TIVA with maintenance of the cortical SSEP and myogenic MEP [148]. It is believed to act via GABA, NMDA, and sodium channels leading to contributions in unconsciousness, immobility, and antinociception. It has been used in patients who are opioid tolerant and is associated with reductions in postoperative pain. Similarly, magnesium infusion offers similar benefits but has not been fully explored with IOM [149]. It is thought to act similarly to ketamine through the NMDA receptor.

When used for regional anesthesia, local anesthetics block conduction in the neural pathways affected, causing loss of sensory and motor responses. This has been shown with epidural anesthesia [150–152], intravenous regional block [153], specific nerve blocks [154], thoracic paravertebral blocks [155], and topical anesthesia where stimulation is being conducted [156].

Neuromuscular Blocking Agents

Despite the controversy associated with the use of NMBA during IOM, a substantial amount of experience has been published. There are certain portions of surgical procedures where neuromuscular blockade (NMB) is routinely requested; in addition to intubation, NMB is often used during transabdominal approach to the anterior lumbar spine, during the initial portions of a posterior thoracic spinal procedure to reduce paraspinous muscle activity, and in interventional suites to facilitate a radiographic background "mask" to be subtracted. In addition, NMB is occasionally requested to prevent patient movement during microscopic surgery [157]. It should be noted that other techniques beside NMB have been used to reduce movement.

Some IOM techniques do not rely on muscle responses such that NMB can be used if they are the only responses measured. These include SSEP, VEP, or ABR [158]. To the extent they reduce electromyographic (EMG) noise in the recording, they may improve the signal-to-noise ratio and improve recording [158, 159].

Motor-Evoked Potentials

Because the myogenic MEP response and H-reflex is dependent on neural transmission through the neuromuscular junction (NMJ), NMB will reduce the amplitude of the response and complete NMB will prevent monitoring of the myogenic MEP [160, 161]. However, monitoring with the MEP in the spinal canal (D wave) will be possible and relaxation may improve recording because of reduction of the paraspinous muscle artifact from stimulation [29, 131].

Human and animal studies demonstrate that the muscle (M) response from peripheral nerve stimulation is reduced more than the myogenic response to transcranial MEP stimulation (e.g., the myogenic MEP amplitude seen in these studies was 50-60 % of the unblocked value when M response was reduced to 20% [160–162]). These nonlinearities may be the result of the differences in muscle activation due to repetitive activation of spinal motor neurons, which occurs with centrally applied stimulation due to spatial and temporal summation [163]. Interestingly, several studies show that myogenic MEP responses could be recorded even in the absence of a mechanical response [160–162, 164]. Because the M wave and myogenic MEP show a parallel reduction with NMB, it has been suggested that the single twitch response might be used to "calibrate" the MEP response should amplitude fluctuations from NMBA be of concern [162].

A large number of clinical studies have been published where myogenic responses of MEP were conducted during partial NMB (pNMB). Successful monitoring has been reported with a single twitch response at 5–15% [165], 10% [102, 134], 15% [166], 10–25% [128, 133], 20% [118, 126, 130, 167], 25% (124), 30–50% [28, 98, 165, 168], and 80–90% [130, 133, 162, 168] of the unblocked baseline. When neuromuscular blockade is assessed by train-of-four (TOF) count, acceptable MEP monitoring has been conducted with only one [162, 169] or two of four [121, 129] responses remaining.

As a consequence of amplitude reduction, the ability to record with pNMB will be dependent on other factors, which reduce the myogenic response such as anesthesia or neurologic disease. One clinical study indicated that if the myogenic MEP amplitude is greater than 150 μ V, then MEP monitoring should be possible, suggesting the pNMB might be titrated to the MEP amplitude to facilitate monitoring [162]. Hence, if neurologic pathology results in initially small responses, a reduction in amplitude by pNMB may make it difficult to distinguish from background. Similarly, anesthetic choices that reduce amplitude or increase the threshold for stimulation may compound this problem, particularly if pathology in the nervous system increases the anesthetic sensitivity or NMBA effects. This anesthetic effect may also be more profound in young children with incompletely developed nervous systems and the elderly with neural degeneration.

Of note is that partial NMB is associated with higher cortical stimulation thresholds [170]. As such, pNMB may also be problematic in surgery on the cerebral cortex (e.g., cerebral aneurysm clipping) where the MEP is being used to monitor the motor cortex; the higher stimulation voltage needed may cause stimulation to occur deep at the internal capsule or brain stem and render the monitoring less effective in detecting cortical pathology (e.g., ischemia from the placement of temporary or permanent clips) [171].

Because myogenic MEP responses are reduced by NMB, methods to increase the amplitudes would be desirable when pNMB is used. Since transmission across the NMJ is known to be enhanced by prior tetanic stimulation, this effect has been explored [157, 172]. MEP myogenic amplitude enhancement was seen in the muscles of the peripheral nerve stimulated as well as other muscles, suggesting a central enhancement as well as conditioning of the neuromuscular junction [173]. Myogenic MEP enhancement has also been seen by applying a peripheral sensory stimulus (a train of stimuli in the receptive field of the withdrawal reflex of the anterior tibialis muscle) [174].

Facial Nerve

Studies have been conducted examining the effect of pNMB on facial nerve monitoring when stimulation is used to identify the location of the nerve in the operative field and monitor its integrity [175]. Successful monitoring has been observed when stimulation of the nerve was done proximal and distal to the tumor bed. Consistently the impact on the facial muscles (orbicularis oculi, orbicularis oris) from facial nerve stimulation is less than the impact on the hypothenar muscles from ulnar nerve stimulation (e.g., when the hypothenar muscle was 25 % of baseline the facial muscle response was 50–53%) [176–178]. When the ulnar nerve response was reduced to 50 % of baseline, 94 % of patients had facial muscle response. This was reduced to 90 % when the ulnar response was 25% of the unblocked state [176]. No studies have been published examining the effect of pNMB on responses evoked by nonelectrical stimuli or with cranial nerves activated by transcranial stimulation similar to MEP (i.e., corticobulbar responses); however, a reduction in amplitude or increase in transcranial stimulation threshold should be expected.

Recurrent Laryngeal Nerve

The effect of pNMB on monitoring of the recurrent laryngeal nerve during thyroid surgery has shown that responses can be reliably recorded when the accelerometry response was 10% or better of baseline when measured from stimulation of the ulnar nerve; at this level of pNMB the mean EMG response of the vocalis was approximately 32% of the response with no relaxation [179]. This is consistent with another study where the effect of NMBA was greater on the thenar muscles than on the vocalis [180].

Peripheral Nerve Monitoring and Pedicle Screw Testing

Studies of the impact of pNMB on peripheral nerve monitoring have evaluated the impact on stimulation of pedicle screws placed in the spine. One study indicated that pNMB was associated with a higher threshold of stimulation [181]. When the hypothenar response to ulnar stimulation was less than 20-25% of the unblocked response, the increase in threshold for stimulation of the peripheral nerve could result in falsely elevated pedicle screw thresholds in the L4-S1 nerve root [178, 182]. The authors note that this effect may be more profound with chronically compressed nerves, which are known to be more sensitive to NMBA.

If NMBA Is Used

When NMBA is used it is important to coordinate this with the IOM techniques used. If used for induction, it is key to have it wear off (or be reversed) for baseline recordings (especially if prepositioning values are needed). Similarly, during the portion of procedures where IOM is critical, it needs to be delivered by a carefully titrated infusion and the TOF monitored to prevent the inadvertent loss of the response signaling an alert [160, 161].

Because pNMB will reduce the response amplitude, the ability to record with pNMB will be dependent on the initial amplitude, the effects of the anesthetic management (especially halogenated agents), and neurological pathology in the pathway monitored. In addition, since muscles and nerves may vary in their response to stimulation and NMBA, the impact of pNMB may also vary with the specific nerve and muscle monitored [183]. Hence, it is important to monitor the TOF in the IOM monitored muscle [184]. It is also important to note that halogenated inhalational agents have effects at the NMJ acetylcholine receptor that will enhance the effects of NMBA such that variations in the halogenated agent may change the degree of pNMB [183]. In general, given the complexities and importance of the IOM, avoidance of neuromuscular blocking agents is advised when possible.

Total Intravenous Anesthesia

Given the impact of the anesthetic agents, TIVA without NMBA is often chosen when myogenic MEP responses are monitored. The most common intravenous anesthetic currently involves an opioid and a sedative (e.g., propofol) given by infusion. This allows a steady-state anesthetic effect to minimize anesthetic-related changes that could be confused with impending neural compromise. Supplemental anesthetic agents may also be helpful if the effect of the intravenous agents is excessive or opioids are less effective as in patients with opioid tolerance. In this respect, ketamine and lidocaine have been commonly used [86, 185]. The maintenance of a constant anesthetic effect is important (as much as possible) such that baseline drift does not reduce or increase the sensitivity to neural compromise. Both a decrease and an increase in baseline values have been seen and ascribed to anesthesia, although many other variables (including physiology such as temperature) can contribute to the changes [186, 187].

Physiological Considerations in Anesthesia Management

In addition to producing anesthesia, the anesthesiologist also manages the physiological changes induced by anesthetic agents or surgery. Some of these changes contribute to changes in evoked responses and others can help mitigate some adverse circumstances that would otherwise lead to neural injury (*see* Chap. 20, "Monitoring

Applications and Evaluating Changes"). For example, during some cases, blood pressure is deliberately lowered to reduce operative bleeding, but excessive hypotension can lead to ischemia. In humans during surgery, SSEP changes have been observed at blood pressures, which would not ordinarily be associated with neural ischemia (e.g., systolic blood pressures above 90 mmHg systolic). This has suggested that the lower limit of autoregulation and acceptable blood pressure may be higher than expected in some patients [188]. This has been thought to be due to individual variability [189] or the result of operative mechanical stress combined with the blood pressure reduction leading to a more profound effect than predicted by blood pressure alone [190]. In several of these patients, an increase in blood pressure restored the response [191, 192].

As such, in many circumstances when a change in evoked responses signals a possible neural compromise, blood pressure is often elevated to treat possible ischemia. In addition to global hypotension, regional hypoperfusion, hypoxemia, severe anemia, excessive hyperventilation, and reduced neural perfusion pressure (e.g., raised intracranial or cerebrospinal fluid pressure) can lead to ischemia. In these circumstances other maneuvers may be necessary in addition to elevation of the blood pressure.

Hypothermia can alter evoked responses by changing nerve depolarization (increased action potential duration [193], reduced conduction velocity [194], and decreased synaptic function [195]) resulting in increases in latency and decreases in amplitude of evoked responses [196]. Hypothermia can also be regional (e.g., a cold limb or cold irrigation fluids). Since hypothermia has other adverse consequences (e.g., increased operative bleeding, postoperative infection, and cardiovascular complications), maintaining normothermia is usually a desirable intraoperative goal unless deliberate hypothermia is being used as a part of the procedure.

Changes in a variety of other physiological variables may produce alterations in the evoked responses during surgical monitoring. For example, significant reduction in blood volume can alter evoked responses due to changes in blood flow distribution despite the absence of significant blood pressure changes (e.g., extremity ischemia altering the SSEP as blood flow to central organs is spared). An increase in superior vena cava pressure during cardiopulmonary bypass has been associated with SSEP changes [197]. Other physiologic events may occur too slowly to be noted as changes in the evoked response. For example, changes in glucose, sodium, potassium, and other electrolytes important in the neurochemical environment and affecting neural depolarization and conduction can result in evoked response changes [198].

Conclusion

The changes with anesthesia and physiology make the anesthesiologist a key member of the neurophysiological monitoring team. To provide optimal monitoring, the anesthesiologist should choose an anesthetic technique that is acceptable for the patient and supportive of the electrophysiological signals being monitored. In addition, since all anesthetic agents have some effect, keeping the anesthetic levels constant during surgery will reduce the chance that an anesthetic change will be confused with possible neural compromise. Further, providing a physiologically supportive environment is also important, which may involve changing the physiology (e.g., raising blood pressure) when monitoring suggests the change may have a favorable effect on the health of the nervous system.

References¹

- Ting CH, Angel A, Linkens DA. Neuronal network modelling of the effects of anaesthetic agents on somatosensory pathways. Biol Cybern. 2003; 88(2):99–107.
- Goto T, Nakata Y, Morita S. How does xenon produce anesthesia? A perspective from electrophysiological studies. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2001;39(2): 85–94.

- Cheng G, Kendig JJ. Enflurane directly depresses glutamate AMPA and NMDA currents in mouse spinal cord motor neurons independent of actions on GABAA or glycine receptors. Anesthesiology. 2000;93(4):1075–84.
- Franks NP, Dickinson R, de Sousa SL, Hall AC, Lieb WR. How does xenon produce anaesthesia? Nature. 1998;396(6709):324.
- Flood P, Krasowski MD. Intravenous anesthetics differentially modulate ligand-gated ion channels. Anesthesiology. 2000;92(5):1418–25.
- Raines DE, Claycomb RJ, Scheller M, Forman SA. Nonhalogenated alkane anesthetics fail to potentiate agonist actions on two ligand-gated ion channels. Anesthesiology. 2001;95(2):470–7.
- Campagna JA, Miller KW, Forman SA. Mechanisms of actions of inhaled anesthetics [see comment]. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(21):2110–24.
- Perouansky M, Hemmings HC Jr. Presynaptic actions of general anesthetics. In: Antognini JF, Carstens C, Raines DE, editors. Neural mechanisms of anesthesia. New York: Springer; 2003. p. 345–69.
- Hemmings Jr HC, Akabas MH, Goldstein PA, Trudell JR, Orser BA, Harrison NL. Emerging molecular mechanisms of general anesthetic action. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2005;26(10):503–10.
- *Alkire MT, Hudetz AG, Tononi G. Consciousness and anesthesia. Science. 2008;322(5903):876–80.
- Winters WD. Effects of drugs on the electrical activity of the brain: anesthetics. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. 1976;16:413–26.
- Stockard J, Bickford R. The neurophysiology of anesthesia. In: Gordon E, editor. A basis and practice of neuroanesthesia. 2nd ed. New York: Excerpta Medica; 1981. p. 3–50.
- 13. *Jäntti V, Sloan T. Anesthesia and intraoperative electroencephalographic monitoring. In: Nuwer M, editor. Intraoperative monitoring of neural function, handbook of clinical neurophysiology. New York: Elsevier; 2008. p. 77–93.
- 14. Sharbrough FW, Messick Jr JM, Sundt Jr TM. Correlation of continuous electroencephalograms with cerebral blood flow measurements during carotid endarterectomy. Stroke. 1973;4(4): 674–83.
- Yli-Hankala A. The effect of nitrous oxide on EEG spectral power during halothane and isoflurane anaesthesia. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1990;34(7):579–84.
- 16. Jantti V, Yli-Hankala A. Correlation of instantaneous heart rate and EEG suppression during enflurane anaesthesia: synchronous inhibition of heart rate and cortical electrical activity? Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1990;76(5):476–9.
- Iijima T, Nakamura Z, Iwao Y, Sankawa H. The epileptogenic properties of the volatile anesthetics sevoflurane and isoflurane in patients with epilepsy [see comment]. Anesth Analg. 2000;91(4):989–95.
- Huotari AM, Koskinen M, Suominen K, Alahuhta S, Remes R, Hartikainen KM, et al. Evoked EEG

¹Key references marked with asterisk.

patterns during burst suppression with propofol. Br J Anaesth. 2004;92(1):18–24.

- Rampil IJ. Electroencephalogram. In: Albin MA, editor. Textbook of neuroanesthesia with neurosurgical and neuroscience perspectives. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1997. p. 193–220.
- Buhrer M, Mappes A, Lauber R, Stanski DR, Maitre PO. Dexmedetomidine decreases thiopental dose requirement and alters distribution pharmacokinetics. Anesthesiology. 1994;80(6):1216–27.
- Kochs E, Scharein E, Mollenberg O, Bromm B, Schulte am Esch J. Analgesic efficacy of low-dose ketamine. Somatosensory-evoked responses in relation to subjective pain ratings. Anesthesiology. 1996;85(2):304–14.
- Hirota K. Special cases: ketamine, nitrous oxide and xenon. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2006;20(1):69–79.
- Voss LJ, Sleigh JW, Barnard JP, Kirsch HE. The howling cortex: seizures and general anesthetic drugs. Anesth Analg. 2008;107(5):1689–703. Epub 2008/10/22.
- Pai A, Heining M. Ketamine. Continuing education in anaesthesia. Crit Care Pain. 2007;7(2):59–63.
- Sloan T, Jameson LC. Monitoring anesthetic effect. In: Koht A, Sloan T, Toleikis JR, editors. Monitoring the nervous system for anesthesiologists and other health professionals. New York: Springer; 2012. p. 337–60.
- Winters WD, Mori K, Spooner CE, Bauer RO. The neurophysiology of anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1967;28(1):65–80.
- *Franks NP, Lieb WR. Which molecular targets are most relevant to general anaesthesia? Toxicol Lett. 1998;100–101:1–8.
- Gugino LD, Aglio LS, Segal NE. Use of transcranial magnetic stimulation for monitoring spinal cord motor paths. Sem Spine Surg. 1997;9:315–36.
- Stephen JP, Sullivan MR, Hicks RG, Burke DJ, Woodforth IJ, Crawford MR. Cotrel-dubousset instrumentation in children using simultaneous motor and somatosensory evoked potential monitoring. Spine. 1996;21(21):2450–7.
- Stone JL, Ghaly RF, Levy WJ, Kartha R, Krinsky L, Roccaforte P. A comparative analysis of enflurane anesthesia on primate motor and somatosensory evoked potentials. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1992;84(2):180–7.
- Kalkman CJ, Drummond JC, Ribberink AA. Low concentrations of isoflurane abolish motor evoked responses to transcranial electrical stimulation during nitrous oxide/opioid anesthesia in humans. Anesth Analg. 1991;73(4):410–5.
- Taylor BA, Fennelly ME, Taylor A, Farrell J. Temporal summation—the key to motor evoked potential spinal cord monitoring in humans. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1993;56(1):104–6.
- Taniguchi M, Cedzich C, Schramm J. Modification of cortical stimulation for motor evoked potentials under general anesthesia: technical description. Neurosurgery. 1993;32(2):219–26.

- 34. Loughnan BA, Anderson SK, Hetreed MA, Weston PF, Boyd SG, Hall GM. Effects of halothane on motor evoked potential recorded in the extradural space. Br J Anaesth. 1989;63(5):561–4.
- Bonin RP, Orser BA. GABA(A) receptor subtypes underlying general anesthesia. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2008;90(1):105–12.
- 36. Saper CB. The neurobiology of sleep. Continuum (Minneap Minn). 2013;19(1 Sleep Disorders):19–31. Epub Feb 13, 2013.
- John ER, Prichep LS. The anesthetic cascade: a theory of how anesthesia suppresses consciousness. Anesthesiology. 2005;102(2):447–71.
- Antkowiak B. How do general anaesthetics work? Naturwissenschaften. 2001;88(5):201–13.
- 39. Sonner JM, Antognini JF, Dutton RC, Flood P, Gray AT, Harris RA, et al. Inhaled anesthetics and immobility: mechanisms, mysteries, and minimum alveolar anesthetic concentration[see comment][erratum appears in Anesth Analg. 2004 Jan;98(1):29]. Anesth Analg. 2003;97(3):718–40.
- Rampil IJ. Anesthetic potency is not altered after hypothermic spinal cord transection in rats. Anesthesiology. 1994;80(3):606–10.
- Furst S. Transmitters involved in antinociception in the spinal cord. Brain Res Bull. 1999;48(2):129–41.
- Van Dort CJ, Baghdoyan HA, Lydic R. Neurochemical modulators of sleep and anesthetic states. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2008;46(3):75–104.
- 43. da Costa VV, Saraiva RA, de Almeida AC, Rodrigues MR, Nunes LG, Ferreira JC. The effect of nitrous oxide on the inhibition of somatosensory evoked potentials by sevoflurane in children. Anaesthesia. 2001;56:202–7.
- 44. Detsch O, Vahle-Hinz C, Kochs E, Siemers M, Bromm B. Isoflurane induces dose-dependent changes of thalamic somatosensory information transfer. Brain Res. 1999;829:77–89.
- 45. Manninen PH, Lam AM, Nicholas JF. The effects of isoflurane and isoflurane-nitrous oxide anesthesia on brainstem auditory evoked potentials in humans. Anesth Analg. 1985;64(1):43–7.
- 46. Shimoji K, Maruyama Y, Shimizu H, Fujioka H, Urano S. The effects of anesthetics on somatosensory evoked potentials from the brain and spinal cord in man. In: Gomez QJ, Egay LM, de la Cruz Odi MF, editors. Anaesthesia safety for all. New York: Elsevier; 1984. p. 159–64.
- Peterson DO, Drummond JC, Todd MM. Effects of halothane, enflurane, isoflurane, and nitrous oxide on somatosensory evoked potentials in humans. Anesthesiology. 1986;65(1):35–40.
- Neuloh G. Time to revisit VEP monitoring? Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2010;152(4):649–50.
- Nakagawa I, Hidaka S, Okada H, Kubo T, Okamura K, Kato T. [Effects of sevoflurane and propofol on evoked potentials during neurosurgical anesthesia] [article in Japanese]. Masui. 2006;55(6):692–8.
- Ota T, Kawai K, Kamada K, Kin T, Saito N. Intraoperative monitoring of cortically recorded visual

response for posterior visual pathway. J Neurosurg. 2010;112(2):285–94.

- Tremblay F, Parkinson JE. Alteration of electroretinographic recordings when performed under sedation or halogenate anesthesia in a pediatric population. Doc Ophthalmol. 2003;107(3):271–9.
- Iohom G, Whyte A, Flynn T, O'Connor G, Shorten G. Postoperative changes in the full-field electroretinogram following sevoflurane anaesthesia. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2004;21(4):272–8.
- 53. Sasaki T, Itakura T, Suzuki K, Kasuya H, Munakata R, Muramatsu H, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of visual evoked potential: introduction of a clinically useful method. J Neurosurg. 2010;112(2): 273–84.
- 54. Logginidou HG, Li B-H, Li D-P, Lohmann JS, Schuler HG, DiVittore NA, et al. Propofol suppresses the cortical somatosensory evoked potential in rats. Anesth Analg. 2003;97(6):1784–8.
- 55. *Kawaguchi M, Sakamoto T, Ohnishi H, Shimizu K, Karasawa J, Furuya H. Intraoperative myogenic motor evoked potentials induced by direct electrical stimulation of the exposed motor cortex under isoflurane and sevoflurane. Anesth Analg. 1996;82(3):593–9.
- Pechstein U, Nadstawek J, Zentner J, Schramm J. Isoflurane plus nitrous oxide versus propofol for recording of motor evoked potentials after high frequency repetitive electrical stimulation. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1998;108(2): 175–81.
- 57. Ubags LH, Kalkman CJ, Been HD. Influence of isoflurane on myogenic motor evoked potentials to single and multiple transcranial stimuli during nitrous oxide/opioid anesthesia. Neurosurgery. 1998;43(1):90–4; discussion 4–5.
- Kammer T, Rehberg B, Menne D, Wartenberg H-C, Wenningmann I, Urban BW. Propofol and sevoflurane in subanesthetic concentrations act preferentially on the spinal cord: evidence from multimodal electrophysiological assessment. Anesthesiology. 2002;97(6):1416–25.
- Pereon Y, Bernard JM, Nguyen The Tich S, Genet R, Petitfaux F, Guiheneuc P. The effects of desflurane on the nervous system: from spinal cord to muscles. Anesth Analg. 1999;89(2):490–5.
- Zhou HH, Zhu C. Comparison of isoflurane effects on motor evoked potential and F wave. Anesthesiology. 2000;93(1):32–8.
- Holdefer RN, Anderson C, Furman M, Sangare Y, Slimp JC. A comparison of the effects of desflurane versus propofol on transcranial motor-evoked potentials in pediatric patients. Childs Nerv Syst. 2014;30(12):2103–8.
- 62. Chong CT, Manninen P, Sivanaser V, Subramanyam R, Lu N, Venkatraghavan L. Direct comparison of the effect of desflurane and sevoflurane on intraoperative motor-evoked potentials monitoring. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2014;26(4):306–12.
- 63. Sloan TB, Toleikis JR, Toleikis SC, Koht A. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during spine surgery with total intravenous anesthesia

or balanced anesthesia with 3% desflurane. J Clin Monit Comput. 2015;29(1):77–85.

- 64. *Malcharek MJ, Loeffler S, Schiefer D, Manceur MA, Sablotzki A, Gille J, et al. Transcranial motor evoked potentials during anesthesia with desflurane versus propofol: A prospective randomized trial. Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;126(9):1825–32.
- Ohara A, Mashimo T, Zhang P, Inagaki Y, Shibuta S, Yoshiya I. A comparative study of the antinociceptive action of xenon and nitrous oxide in rats. Anesth Analg. 1997;85(4):931–6.
- Houston HG, McClelland RJ, Fenwick PB. Effects of nitrous oxide on auditory cortical evoked potentials and subjective thresholds. Br J Anaesth. 1988;61(5):606–10.
- Zentner J, Ebner A. Nitrous oxide suppresses the electromyographic response evoked by electrical stimulation of the motor cortex. Neurosurgery. 1989;24(1):60–2.
- 68. Thornton C, Creagh-Barry P, Jordan C, Luff NP, Dore CJ, Henley M, et al. Somatosensory and auditory evoked responses recorded simultaneously: differential effects of nitrous oxide and isoflurane [see comment]. Br J Anaesth. 1992;68(5):508–14.
- 69. Sloan TB, Rogers J, Rogers J, Sloan H. MAC fractions of nitrous oxide and isoflurane are not electrophysiologically additive in the ketamine anesthetized baboon. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1995;7:314.
- Schubert A, Licina MG, Lineberry PJ. The effect of ketamine on human somatosensory evoked potentials and its modification by nitrous oxide [erratum appears in Anesthesiology 1990 Jun;72(6):1104]. Anesthesiology. 1990;72(1):33–9.
- Sloan TB, Koht A. Depression of cortical somatosensory evoked potentials by nitrous oxide. Br J Anaesth. 1985;57(9):849–52.
- 72. Zentner J, Kiss I, Ebner A. Influence of anesthetics—nitrous oxide in particular—on electromyographic response evoked by transcranial electrical stimulation of the cortex. Neurosurgery. 1989;24(2):253–6.
- Firsching R, Heinen-Lauten M, Loeschke G. [The effects of halothane and nitrous oxide on transcranial magnetic evoked potentials] [article in German]. Anasthesiol Intensivmed Notfallmed Schmerzther. 1991;26(7):381–3.
- 74. Jellinek D, Platt M, Jewkes D, Symon L. Effects of nitrous oxide on motor evoked potentials recorded from skeletal muscle in patients under total anesthesia with intravenously administered propofol. Neurosurgery. 1991;29(4):558–62.
- Sloan TB. Evoked potentials. In: Albin MA, editor. Textbook of neuroanesthesia with neurosurgical and neuroscience perspectives. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1997. p. 221–76.
- 76. van Dongen EP, ter Beek HT, Schepens MA, Morshuis WJ, de Boer A, Aarts LP, et al. Effect of nitrous oxide on myogenic motor potentials evoked by a six pulse train of transcranial electrical stimuli: a possible monitor for aortic surgery. Br J Anaesth. 1999;82(3):323–8.
- 77. Sakamoto T, Kawaguchi M, Inoue S, Furuya H. Suppressive effect of nitrous oxide on motor evoked potentials can be reversed by train stimulation in rabbits under ketamine/fentanyl anaesthesia, but not with additional propofol. Br J Anaesth. 2001;86(3):395–402.
- Scheepstra GL, de Lange JJ, Booij LH, Ros HH. Median nerve evoked potentials during propofol anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 1989;62(1):92–4.
- Freye E, Hartung E, Schenk GK. Somatosensoryevoked potentials during block of surgical stimulation with propofol. Br J Anaesth. 1989;63(3):357–9.
- Rudolph U, Antkowiak B. Molecular and neuronal substrates for general anaesthetics. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2004;5(9):709–20.
- Kalkman CJ, Drummond JC, Ribberink AA, Patel PM, Sano T, Bickford RG. Effects of propofol, etomidate, midazolam, and fentanyl on motor evoked responses to transcranial electrical or magnetic stimulation in humans. Anesthesiology. 1992;76(4):502–9.
- Taniguchi M, Nadstawek J, Langenbach U, Bremer F, Schramm J. Effects of four intravenous anesthetic agents on motor evoked potentials elicited by magnetic transcranial stimulation. Neurosurgery. 1993;33(3):407–15; discussion 15.
- Keller BP, Haghighi SS, Oro JJ, Eggers Jr GW. The effects of propofol anesthesia on transcortical electric evoked potentials in the rat. Neurosurgery. 1992;30(4):557–60.
- 84. MacDonald DB, Al Zayed Z, Stigsby B. Tibial somatosensory evoked potential intraoperative monitoring: recommendations based on signal to noise ratio analysis of popliteal fossa, optimized P37, standard P37, and P31 potentials. Clin Neurophysiol. 2005;116(8):1858–69.
- Kakinohana M, Nakamura S, Miyata Y, Sugahara K. Emergence from propofol anesthesia in a nonagenarian at a Bispectral Index of 52. Anesth Analg. 2005;101(1):169–70.
- Kawaguchi M, Furuya H. Intraoperative spinal cord monitoring of motor function with myogenic motor evoked potentials: a consideration in anesthesia. J Anesthesia. 2004;18(1):18–28.
- Vinclair M, Broux C, Faure P, Brun J, Genty C, Jacquot C, et al. Duration of adrenal inhibition following a single dose of etomidate in critically ill patients. Intensive Care Med. 2008;34(4):714–9.
- Cuthbertson BH, Sprung CL, Annane D, Chevret S, Garfield M, Goodman S, et al. The effects of etomidate on adrenal responsiveness and mortality in patients with septic shock. Intensive Care Med. 2009;35(11):1868–76.
- Kochs E, Treede RD, Schulte am Esch J. [Increase in somatosensory evoked potentials during anesthesia induction with etomidate]. Anaesthesist. 1986;35(6):359–64.
- Sloan TB, Ronai AK, Toleikis JR, Koht A. Improvement of intraoperative somatosensory evoked potentials by etomidate. Anesth Analg. 1988;67(6):582–5.

- McPherson RW, Sell B, Traystman RJ. Effects of thiopental, fentanyl, and etomidate on upper extremity somatosensory evoked potentials in humans. Anesthesiology. 1986;65(6):584–9.
- Russ W, Thiel A, Schwandt HJ, Hempelmann G. [Somatosensory evoked potentials under thiopental and etomidate] [article in German]. Anaesthesist. 1986;35(11):679–85.
- 93. Koht A, Schutz W, Schmidt G, Schramm J, Watanabe E. Effects of etomidate, midazolam, and thiopental on median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials and the additive effects of fentanyl and nitrous oxide. Anesth Analg. 1988;67(5):435–41.
- 94. Langeron O, Lille F, Zerhouni O, Orliaguet G, Saillant G, Riou B, et al. Comparison of the effects of ketamine-midazolam with those of fentanylmidazolam on cortical somatosensory evoked potentials during major spine surgery. Br J Anaesth. 1997;78(6):701–6.
- Sloan TB, Fugina ML, Toleikis JR. Effects of midazolam on median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials. Br J Anaesth. 1990;64(5):590–3.
- 96. Samra SK, Sorkin LS. Enhancement of somatosensory evoked potentials by etomidate in cats: an investigation of its site of action. Anesthesiology. 1991;74(3):499–503.
- Glassman SD, Shields CB, Linden RD, Zhang YP, Nixon AR, Johnson JR. Anesthetic effects on motor evoked potentials in dogs. Spine. 1993;18(8):1083–9.
- Yang LH, Lin SM, Lee WY, Liu CC. Intraoperative transcranial electrical motor evoked potential monitoring during spinal surgery under intravenous ketamine or etomidate anaesthesia. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1994;127(3–4):191–8.
- Lumenta CB. Effect of etomidate on motor evoked potentials in monkeys [see comment]. Neurosurgery. 1991;29(3):480–2.
- Sloan TB, Levin D. Etomidate amplifies and depresses transcranial motor evoked potentials in the monkey. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1993;5:299.
- 101. Kano T, Shimoji K. The effects of ketamine and neuroleptanalgesia on the evoked electrospinogram and electromyogram in man. Anesthesiology. 1974;40(3):241–6.
- 102. Scheufler K-M, Zentner J. Total intravenous anesthesia for intraoperative monitoring of the motor pathways: an integral view combining clinical and experimental data. J Neurosurg. 2002;96(3): 571–9.
- 103. Zentner J. Motor evoked potential monitoring in operations of the brainstem and posterior fossa. In: Schramm J, Moller AR, editors. Intraop neurophysiol monitoring. Berlin: Springer; 1991. p. 95–105.
- 104. Ghaly RF, Stone JL, Levy WJ, Kartha R, Adlrete A, Brunner EB, et al. The effect of an anesthetic induction dose of midazolam on motor potentials evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation in the monkey. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1991;3:20–5.
- 105. Schonle PW, Isenberg C, Crozier TA, Dressler D, Machetanz J, Conrad B. Changes of transcranially evoked motor responses in man by midazolam, a

short acting benzodiazepine. Neurosci Lett. 1989;101(3):321–4.

- 106. Crawford ME, Molkejensen F, Toftdahl DB, Madsen JB. Direct spinal effect of intrathecal and extradural midazolam on visceral noxius stimulation in rabbits. Br J Anaesth. 1993;70:642–6.
- 107. Faull RL, Villiger JW. Benzodiazepine receptors in the human spinal cord: a detailed anatomical and pharmacological study. Neuroscience. 1986;17(3): 791–802.
- 108. Tobias JD, Goble TJ, Bates G, Anderson JT, Hoernschemeyer DG. Effects of dexmedetomidine on intraoperative motor and somatosensory evoked potential monitoring during spinal surgery in adolescents. Paediatr Anaesth. 2008;18(11): 1082–8.
- 109. Bloom M, Beric A, Bekker A. Dexmedetomidine infusion and somatosensory evoked potentials. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2001;13:320–2.
- 110. Yamamoto Y, Kawaguchi M, Kakimoto M, Inoue S, Furuya H. The effects of dexmedetomidine on myogenic motor evoked potentials in rabbits. Anesth Analg. 2007;104(6):1488–92.
- 111. Mahmoud M, Sadhasivam S, Salisbury S, Nick TG, Schnell B, Sestokas AK, et al. Susceptibility of transcranial electric motor-evoked potentials to varying targeted blood levels of dexmedetomidine during spine surgery. Anesthesiology. 2010; 112(6):1364–73.
- 112. Rozet I, Metzner J, Brown M, Treggiari MM, Slimp JC, Kinney G, et al. Dexmedetomidine does not affect evoked potentials during spine surgery. Anesth Analg. 2015;121(2):492–501.
- 113. Newlon PG, Greenberg RP, Enas GG, Becker DP. Effects of therapeutic pentobarbital coma on multimodality evoked potentials recorded from severely head-injured patients. Neurosurgery. 1983;12(6):613–9.
- 114. Drummond JC, Todd MM, U HS. The effect of high dose sodium thiopental on brainstem auditory and median somatosensory evoked responses in humans. Anesthesiology. 1985;63:249–54.
- 115. Sloan TB, Vasquez J, Burger E. Methohexital in total intravenous anesthesia during intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2013;27(6):697–702.
- 116. Ghaly RF, Stone JL, Levy WJ, Krinsky L, Asokan A. The effect of neuroleptanalgesia (droperidolfentanyl) on motor potentials evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation in the monkey. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1991;3:117–9.
- 117. Kalkman CJ, Drummond JC, Patel PM, Sano T, Chesnut RM. Effects of droperidol, pentobarbital, and ketamine on myogenic transcranial magnetic motor-evoked responses in humans. Neurosurgery. 1994;35(6):1066–71.
- 118. Lang EW, Beutler AS, Chesnut RM, Patel PM, Kennelly NA, Kalkman CJ, et al. Myogenic motorevoked potential monitoring using partial neuromuscular blockade in surgery of the spine. Spine. 1996;21(14):1676–86.

- 119. Jones SJ, Harrison R, Koh KF, Mendoza N, Crockard HA. Motor evoked potential monitoring during spinal surgery: responses of distal limb muscles to transcranial cortical stimulation with pulse trains. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1996;100(5):375–83.
- 120. Schmid UD, Boll J, Liechti S, Schmid J, Hess CW. Influence of some anesthetic agents on muscle responses to transcranial magnetic cortex stimulation: a pilot study in humans. Neurosurgery. 1992;30(1):85–92.
- 121. Pechstein U, Cedzich C, Nadstawek J, Schramm J. Transcranial high-frequency repetitive electrical stimulation for recording myogenic motor evoked potentials with the patient under general anesthesia. Neurosurgery. 1996;39(2):335–43; discussion 43–4.
- 122. Owen JH. Applications of neurophysiological measures during surgery of the spine. In: Frymoyer JW, editor. The adult spine: principles and practice. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven Publishers; 1997. p. 673–702.
- 123. Kalkman CJ, Been HD, Ongerboer de Visser BW. Intraoperative monitoring of spinal cord function. A review. Acta Orthop Scand. 1993;64(1):114–23.
- 124. Ubags LH, Kalkman CJ, Been HD, Drummond JC. The use of a circumferential cathode improves amplitude of intraoperative electrical transcranial myogenic motor evoked responses. Anesth Analg. 1996;82(5):1011–4.
- Zentner J. Noninvasive motor evoked potential monitoring during neurosurgical operations on the spinal cord. Neurosurgery. 1989;24(5):709–12.
- 126. Glassman SD, Zhang YP, Shields CB, Johnson JR, Linden RD. Transcranial magnetic motor-evoked potentials in scoliosis surgery. Orthopedics. 1995;18(10):1017–23.
- Zentner J. Motor evoked potential monitoring during neurosurgical operations on the spinal cord. Neurosurg Rev. 1991;14(1):29–36.
- 128. Shields CB, Paloheimo MPJ, Backman MH, Edmonds HLJ, Johnson JR. Intraoperative use of transcranial magnetic motor evoked potentials. In: Chokroverty S, editor. Magnetic stimulation in clinical neurophysiology. London: Butterworths; 1990. p. 173–84.
- 129. Calancie B, Harris W, Broton JG. "Threshold-level" multipulse transcranial electrical stimulation of motor cortex for intraoperative monitoring of spinal motor tracts: description of method and comparison to somatosensory evoked potential monitoring. J Neurosurg. 1998;88:457–70.
- Herdmann J, Lumenta CB, Huse KO. Magnetic stimulation for monitoring of motor pathways in spinal procedures. Spine. 1993;18(5):551–9.
- Levy WJ, McCaffrey M, York DH, Tanzer F. Motor evoked potentials from transcranial stimulation of the motor cortex in cats. Neurosurgery. 1984;15(2): 214–27.
- 132. Watt JW, Fraser MH, Soni BM, Sett PK, Clay R. Total i.v. anaesthesia for transcranial magnetic evoked potential spinal cord monitoring. Br J Anaesth. 1996;76(6):870–1.

- 133. Stinson Jr LW, Murray MJ, Jones KA, Assef SJ, Burke MJ, Behrens TL, et al. A computer-controlled, closedloop infusion system for infusing muscle relaxants: its use during motor-evoked potential monitoring. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 1994;8(1):40–4.
- 134. Nagle KJ, Emerson RG, Adams DC, Heyer EJ, Roye DP, Schwab FJ, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of motor evoked potentials: a review of 116 cases. Neurology. 1996;47(4):999–1004.
- 135. Morota N, Deletis V, Constantini S, Kofler M, Cohen H, Epstein FJ. The role of motor evoked potentials during surgery for intramedullary spinal cord tumors. Neurosurgery. 1997;41(6):1327–36.
- 136. Lee VC. Spinal and cortical evoked potential studies in the ketamine-anesthetized rabbit: fentanyl exerts component-specific, naloxone-reversible changes dependent on stimulus intensity. Anesth Analg. 1994;78(2):280–6.
- 137. Chi OZ, McCoy CL, Field C. Effects of fentanyl anesthesia on visual evoked potentials in humans. Anesthesiology. 1987;67:827–30.
- 138. Asouhido I, Katsardis V, Vaidis G, Ioannou P, Givissis P, Christodoulou A, et al. Somatosensory evoked potentials suppression due to remifentanil during spinal operations; a prospective clinical study. Scoliosis. 2010;5:8–13.
- Sloan T. Anesthesia and intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26(2):227–35.
- 140. Schwender D, Klasing S, Madler C, Poppel E, Peter K. Mid-latency auditory evoked potentials during ketamine anaesthesia in humans. Br J Anaesth. 1993;71(5):629–32.
- 141. Shimoji K, Kano T. Evoked electrospinogram: interpretation of origin and effects of anesthetics. In: Phillips MI, editor. Brain unit activity during behavior. Springfield: Charles C. Thomas; 1973. p. 171–90.
- 142. Ghaly RF, Stone JL, Aldrete JA, Levy WL. Effects of incremental ketamine hydrochloride dose on motor evoked potentials (MEPs) F3 following transcranial magnetic stimulation: a primate study. J Neurosurg Anesthiol. 1990;2:79–85.
- 143. Kothbauer K, Schmid UD, Liechti S, Rosler KM. The effect of ketamine anesthetic induction on muscle responses to transcranial magnetic cortex stimulation studied in man. Neurosci Lett. 1993;154(1–2):105–8.
- 144. Ubags LH, Kalkman CJ, Been HD, Porsius M, Drummond JC. The use of ketamine or etomidate to supplement sufentanil/N2O anesthesia does not disrupt monitoring of myogenic transcranial motor evoked responses. J Neurosurg Anesthiol. 1997;9(3):228–33.
- 145. Inoue S, Kawaguchi M, Kakimoto M, Sakamoto T, Kitaguchi K, Furuya H, et al. Amplitudes and intrapatient variability of myogenic motor evoked potentials to transcranial electrical stimulation during ketamine/N2O- and propofol/N2O-based anesthesia. J Neurosurg Anesthiol. 2002;14(3):213–7.
- 146. Iida H, Dohi S, Tanahashi T, Watanabe Y, Takenaka M. Spinal conduction block by intrathecal ketamine in dogs. Anesth Analg. 1997;85(1):106–10.

- 147. Kissin I, Bright CA, Bradley Jr EL. The effect of ketamine on opioid-induced acute tolerance: can it explain reduction of opioid consumption with ketamine-opioid analgesic combinations? Anesth Analg. 2000;91(6):1483–8.
- 148. Sloan TB, Mongan P, Lyda C, Koht A. Lidocaine infusion adjunct to total intravenous anesthesia reduces the total dose of propofol during intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2014;28(2):139–47.
- 149. Telci L, Esen F, Akcora D, Erden T, Canbolat AT, Akpir K. Evaluation of effects of magnesium sulphate in reducing intraoperative anaesthetic requirements. Br J Anaesth. 2002;89(4):594–8.
- 150. Loughman BA, Fennelly ME, Henley M, Hall GM. The effects of differing concentrations of bupivacaine on the epidural somatosensory evoked potential after posterior tibial nerve stimulation. Anesth Analg. 1995;81(1):147–51.
- 151. Dahl JB, Rosenberg J, Lund C, Kehlet H. Effect of thoracic epidural bupivacaine 0.75% on somatosensory evoked potentials after dermatomal stimulation. Reg Anesth. 1990;15:73–5.
- 152. Loughnan BA, Murdoch LJ, Hetreed MA, Howard LA, Hall GM. Effects of 2% lignocaine on somatosensory evoked potentials recorded in the extradural space. Br J Anaesth. 1990;65(5):643–7.
- 153. Lang E, Erdmann K, Gerbershagen HU. Median nerve blockade during diagnostic intravenous regional anesthesia as measured by somatosensory evoked potentials [see comment]. Anesth Analg. 1993;76(1):118–22.
- 154. Benzon HT, Toleikis JR, Shanks C, Ramseur A, Sloan T. Somatosensory evoked potential quantification of ulnar nerve blockade. Anesth Analg. 1986;65(8):843–8.
- 155. Richardson J, Jones J, Atkinson R. The effect of thoracic paravertebral blockade on intercostal somatosensory evoked potentials. Anesth Analg. 1998;87(2):373–6.
- 156. Svensson P, Arendt-Nielsen L, Bjerring P, Kaaber S. Oral mucosal analgesia quantitatively assessed by argon laser-induced thresholds and single-evoked vertex potentials. Anesth Pain Control Dent. 1993;2(3):154–61.
- 157. Yamamoto Y, Kawaguchi M, Hayashi H, Horiuchi T, Inoue S, Nakase H, et al. The effects of the neuromuscular blockade levels on amplitudes of posttetanic motor-evoked potentials and movement in response to transcranial stimulation in patients receiving propofol and fentanyl anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 2008;106(3):930–4.
- Sloan TB. Nondepolarizing neuromuscular blockade does not alter sensory evoked potentials. J Clin Monit. 1994;10(1):4–10.
- Sloan TB. Evoked potential monitoring. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 1996;34(3):109–36.
- 160. Sloan TB, Erian R. Effect of atracurium-induced neuromuscular block on cortical motor-evoked potentials. Anesth Analg. 1993;76(5):979–84.

- 161. Sloan TB, Erian R. Effect of vecuronium-induced neuromuscular blockade on cortical motor evoked potentials. Anesthesiology. 1993;78(5):966–73.
- 162. Kalkman CJ, Drummond JC, Kennelly NA, Patel PM, Partridge BL. Intraoperative monitoring of tibialis anterior muscle motor evoked responses to transcranial electrical stimulation during partial neuromuscular blockade. Anesth Analg. 1992;75(4):584–9.
- 163. Day BL, Rothwell JC, Thompson PD, Dick JPR, Cowan JMA, Berardelli A, et al. Motor cortex stimulation in intact man. Multiple descending volleys. Brain. 1987;110:1191–209.
- 164. Paton WD, Waud DR. The margin of safety of neuromuscular transmission. J Physiol. 1967;191(1): 59–90.
- 165. van Dongen EP, ter Beek HT, Schepens MA, Morshuis WJ, Langemeijer HJ, de Boer A, et al. Within-patient variability of myogenic motorevoked potentials to multipulse transcranial electrical stimulation during two levels of partial neuromuscular blockade in aortic surgery. Anesth Analg. 1999;88(1):22–7.
- 166. Hargreaves SJ, Watt JWH. Intravenous anaesthesia and repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation monitoring in spinal column surgery. Br J Anaesth. 2005;94(1):70–3.
- 167. de Haan P, Kalkman CJ, de Mol BA, Ubags LH, Veldman DJ, Jacobs MJ. Efficacy of transcranial motor-evoked myogenic potentials to detect spinal cord ischemia during operations for thoracoabdominal aneurysms. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1997;113(1):87–100; discussion, 1011.
- Lee WY, Hou WY, Yang LH, Lin SM. Intraoperative monitoring of motor function by magnetic motor evoked potentials. Neurosurgery. 1995;36(3):493–500.
- 169. Sekimoto K, Nishikawa K, Ishizeki J, Kubo K, Saito S, Goto F. The effects of volatile anesthetics on intraoperative monitoring of myogenic motor-evoked potentials to transcranial electrical stimulation and on partial neuromuscular blockade during propofol/fentanyl/nitrous oxide anesthesia in humans. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2006;18(2):106–11.
- 170. Guo L, Gelb AW. False negatives, muscle relaxants, and motor-evoked potentials. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2011;23(1):64.
- 171. Burke D, Hicks RG, Stephen JP. Corticospinal volleys evoked by anodal and cathodal stimulation of the human motor cortex. J Physiol. 1990;425:283–99.
- 172. Kakimoto M, Kawaguchi M, Yamamoto Y, Inoue S, Horiuchi T, Nakase H, et al. Tetanic stimulation of the peripheral nerve before transcranial electrical stimulation can enlarge amplitudes of myogenic motor evoked potentials during general anesthesia with neuromuscular blockade. Anesthesiology. 2005;102(4):733–8.
- 173. Taniguchi M, Schram J, Cedzich C. Recording of myogenic motor evoked potential (mMEP) under general anesthesia. In: Schramm J, Moller AR, editors. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring. Berlin: Springer; 1991. p. 72–87.

- 174. Kaelin-Lang A, Luft AR, Sawaki L, Burstein AH, Sohn YH, Cohen LG. Modulation of human corticomotor excitability by somatosensory input. J Physiol. 2002;540:623–33.
- 175. Sloan TB. Evoked potentials. anesthesia and motor evoked-potentials monitoring. In: Deletis V, Shills J, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery. San Diego: Academic Press; 2002. p. 451–64.
- 176. Cai YR, Xu J, Chen LH, Chi FL, Cai Y-R, Xu J, et al. Electromyographic monitoring of facial nerve under different levels of neuromuscular blockade during middle ear microsurgery. Clin Med J (Engl). 2009;122(3):311–4.
- 177. Kizilay A, Aladag I, Cokkeser Y, Miman MC, Ozturan O, Giulhas N. Effects of partial neuromuscular blockade on facial nerve monitorization in otologic surgery. Acta Otolaryngol. 2003;123:321–4.
- 178. Blair EA, Teeple Jr E, Sutherland RM, Shih T, Chen D. Effect of neuromuscular blockade on facial nerve monitoring. Am J Otol. 1994;15(2):161–7.
- 179. Marusch F, Hussock J, Haring G, Hachenberg T, Gastinger I. Influence of muscle relaxation on neuromonitoring of the recurrent laryngeal nerve during thyroid surgery. Br J Anaesth. 2005;94(5):596–600.
- 180. Chu KS, Wu SH, Lu IC, Tsai CJ, Wu CW, Kuo WR, et al. Feasibility of intraoperative neuromonitoring during thyroid surgery after administration of nondepolarizing neuromuscular blocking agents. World J Surg. 2009;33(7):1408–13.
- 181. Minahan RE, Riley 3rd LH, Lukaczyk T, Cohen DB, Kostuik JP. The effect of neuromuscular blockade on pedicle screw stimulation thresholds. Spine. 2000;25(19):2526–30.
- 182. Holland NR, Lukaczyk TA, Riley LH, 3rd, Kostuik JP. Higher electrical stimulus intensities are required to activate chronically compressed nerve roots. Implications for intraoperative electromyographic pedicle screw testing. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1998;23(2):224–7.
- Sloan TB. Muscle relaxant use during intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2013;27(1):35–46. Epub 2012/09/28.
- 184. Schwartz DM, Sestokas AK, Dormans JP, Vaccaro AR, Hilibrand AS, Flynn JM, et al. Transcranial electric motor evoked potential monitoring during spine surgery: is it safe? Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2011;36(13):1046–9.
- 185. Altermatt FR, Bugedo DA, Delfino AE, Solari S, Guerra I, Munoz HR, et al. Evaluation of the effect of intravenous lidocaine on propofol requirements during total intravenous anaesthesia as measured by bispectral index. Br J Anaesth. 2012;108(6):979–83.
- 186. *Lyon R, Feiner J, Lieberman JA. Progressive suppression of motor evoked potentials during general anesthesia: the phenomenon of "anesthetic fade". J Neurosurg Anesthiol. 2005;17(1):13–9.
- 187. Lee JY, Schwartz DM, Anderson DG, Hilibrand AS. Epidural hematoma causing dense paralysis after anterior cervical corpectomy. A report of two cases. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2006;88(1):198–201.
- May DM, Jones SJ, Crockard HA. Somatosensory evoked potential monitoring in cervical surgery: iden-

tification of pre- and intraoperative risk factors associated with neurological deterioration. J Neurosurg. 1996;85(4):566–73.

- Drummond JC. The lower limit of autoregulation: time to revise our thinking? Anesthesiology. 1997;86(6):1431–3.
- 190. Seyal M, Mull B. Mechanisms of signal change during intraoperative somatosensory evoked potential monitoring of the spinal cord. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19(5):409–15.
- 191. Wiedemayer H, Fauser B, Sandalcioglu IE, Schafer H, Stolke D. The impact of neurophysiological intraoperative monitoring on surgical decisions: a critical analysis of 423 cases. J Neurosurg. 2002;96(2):255–62.
- 192. Dolan EJ, Transfeld EE, Tator CH, Simmons EH, Hughes KF. The effect of spinal distraction on regional blood flow in cats. J Neurosurg. 1980;53:756–64.
- 193. Klee MR, Pierau FK, Faber DS. Temperature effects on resting potential and spike parameters of cat motoneurons. Exp Brain Res. 1974;19(5):478–92.

Questions

- 1. Which of the following is thought to be the major inhibitory synapse in the cerebral cortex:
 - a. GABA
 - b. NMDA
 - c. Glycine
 - d. Neuronal Ach
 - e. mu
- 2. Which of the following is thought to be the major inhibitory synapse in the spinal cord:
 - a. GABA
 - b. NMDA
 - c. Glycine
 - d. Neuronal Ach
 - e. mu
- 3. Which of the following agents is least likely to be associated with seizures
 - a. Etomidate
 - b. Methohexital
 - c. Sevoflurane
 - d. Ketamine
 - e. Desflurane
- 4. Which of the following monitoring techniques are the most difficult to record under anesthesia
 - a. Cortical SSEP
 - b. Cranial nerve EMG responses
 - c. Epidural MEP D waves

- 194. Desmedt JE. Somatosensory evoked potentials in neuromonitoring. In: Desmedt JE, editor. Neuromonitoring for surgery. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1989. p. 1–22.
- 195. Weight FF, Erulkar SD. Synaptic transmission and effects of temperature at the squid giant synapse. Nature. 1976;261(5562):720–2.
- 196. Dolman J, Silvay G, Zappulla R, Toth C, Erickson N, Mindich BP, et al. The effect of temperature, mean arterial pressure, and cardiopulmonary bypass flows on somatosensory evoked potential latency in man. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1986;34:217–22.
- 197. Hill R, Sebel PS, de Bruijn N, Neville W. Alterations in somatosensory evoked potentials associated with inadequate venous return during cardiopulmonary bypass. J Cardiothorac Anesth. 1987;1(1):48–50.
- Deutsch E, Sohmer H, Weidenfeld J, Zelig S, Chowers I. Auditory nerve brain-stem evoked potentials and EEG during severe hypoglycemia. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1983;55:714–6.
 - d. Muscle MEP responses
 - e. Auditory Brainstem Responses
 - Anesthetic actions which prevent movement under general anesthesia include all of the following except
 - a. Muscle relaxants
 - b. Antinociception
 - c. Spinal cord reflex pathway inhibition
 - d. Blocking of sensory stimuli at the thalamus
 - e. None of the above
 - 6. Which of the following physiological abnormalities is least likely to alter cortical SSEP recordings:
 - a. Hypothermia
 - b. Hypocarbia
 - c. Hypercarbia
 - d. Hypoxemia
 - e. Hypotension

Answers

- 1. a
- 2. c
- 3. e
- 4. d
- 5. d
- 6. c

Section III

Clinical Applications

Monitoring Applications and Evaluating Changes

Antoun Koht, Tod B. Sloan, and J. Richard Toleikis

The chapters that follow present case examples of various applications of intraoperative monitoring. After a discussion of the patient problem, the application of monitoring is presented. The authors have provided examples of intraoperative monitoring (IOM) changes that may signal adverse neurophysiological conditions. When this occurs, a search for the etiology and possible corrective or supportive measures is important. This introduction attempts to provide an overview of that search since all team members must participate in that endeavor.

Although the surgeon or professional conducting the procedure (such as in interventional radiology) needs to be alerted if the IOM becomes

T.B. Sloan, M.D., M.B.A., Ph.D. Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO 80045, USA e-mail: Tod.Sloan@ucdenver.edu

J.R. Toleikis, Ph.D. Department of Anesthesiology, Rush University Medical Center, 1653 W. Congress Parkway, Jelke 739, Chicago, IL 60612, USA e-mail: jrtoleikis@gmail.com unreliable or indicative of a possible neurological injury, it is erroneous to always ascribe changes to be procedure related. Frequently, the changes are not the result of the procedure and they indeed "did not do anything." But while they are evaluating if any part of the procedure could be the etiology of the IOM change, all team members need to search their respective areas for possible contributing factors. For a complete assessment, changes are almost always the result of changes in the five categories (surgical/procedure, anesthesia, physiology, positioning, the technical conduct of the monitoring), or some combination of these factors.

To assist with this assessment, Fig. 20.1 presents a basic algorithm for the anesthesiologist and other members of the monitoring team, to use in evaluating the possible contributions to response deteriorations. This is not exhaustive and clearly the observation and imagination of the operating room team will be necessary to determine the possible etiologies and methods to favorably alter the course of the surgery or procedure.

The anesthesiologist is in a key position to evaluate the impact of anesthesia, physiology, and positioning, and therefore plays an important role in the search for an etiology. Often the specifics of the change can help identify possible causes. For example, anesthetic causes tend to be global and not to be focal in nature. Although certain IOM modalities are more sensitive to

A. Koht, M.D. (🖂)

Departments of Anesthesiology, Neurological Surgery and Neurology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 251 East Huron Street, F-5-704, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: a-koht@northwestern.edu



Fig. 20.1 (a-g) A basic algorithm for the anesthesiologist and other members of the monitoring team to use in evaluating the possible contributions to response deteriorations





348

Fig. 20.1 (continued)



Fig. 20.1 (continued)

anesthetic agents (e.g., cortical somatosensory evoked potential [SSEPs] or muscle motor evoked potentials [MEPs]) (see Chap. 19, "General Anesthesia for Monitoring"), it would be very unusual for anesthetics to alter only one hemisphere or one extremity more than the other. In addition, some modalities are rarely affected by anesthetic agents (e.g., short latency ABRs, subcortical SSEPs, EMG responses [aside from muscle relaxant effects], and spinal recordings of SSEPs and MEPs). Therefore, if the change in the IOM is related to an anesthetic effect, then a quick search for changes in the management becomes essential. Since a steady-state anesthetic protocol is least likely to produce changes, any abrupt change in drug delivery that may lead to an alteration in drug levels should be considered as a possible etiology. One exception is a slow change in IOM amplitude referred to as "fade," which is often ascribed to anesthesia but is not well understood [1]. In addition to being of global nature, anesthesia-related changes tend to occur within a short time (1-15 min) after alteration of the anesthetic levels.

A second category where the anesthesiologist must search for etiologies is that of physiology. Some of these effects are noted in several chapters. Like anesthetic effects, physiological effects may be global in their nature (i.e., they would usually expect to affect both sides of the body). Also like anesthesia, adverse physiology generally has more impact on cortical responses than subcortical responses, and within the spinal cord it has more of an effect on grey matter than white matter (see Chap. 40, "Surgery on Thoracoabdominal Aortic Aneurysms"). Hence, a quick scan of the physiological monitoring may help identify a change in blood pressure, heart rate, ventilation/oxygenation, etc. The effects of physiology can also be focal. For example, blood flow to one part of the brain could be reduced by carotid occlusion, hypothermia could occur primarily in one arm due to rapid infusion of cold fluids, and so on. In these cases, the question that must be asked is, what is the anatomic region that is affected based on the IOM responses, and what are the possible physiological circumstances in that region that could be unfavorable for the neural paths involved?

Frequently, the physiological effect is one of ischemia, and this is often amenable to changes in management so as to be supportive to the neural system. Not surprisingly, some surgical maneuvers may be contributing to the ischemia, and it is the combination of factors that leads to the end result of inadequate blood flow. For example, a brain or vascular retractor, an inadvertently misplaced vascular clip, a cannula in the iliac artery, a pledget placed against the spinal cord to tamponade bleeding, and so on, could cause an otherwise adequate blood pressure to be inadequate. For this reason, many anesthesiologists may raise the mean blood pressure when IOM changes suggest possible ischemia even though the specific etiology is unclear.

Also in the purview of the anesthesiologist is consideration of positioning. Evoked potential (EP) changes related to position tend to be associated with regional anatomical sites. Some of the positional changes may be related to the initial body position such as head position during the use of Mayfield pins, while other changes may be related to inadvertent movements of the body parts. Some positioning changes may be obvious (such as an arm that is pushed by a radiology device or a surgical assistant into an adverse position), but others may be more subtle (e.g., spine sagging from release of intervertebral ligaments). In this case, a good knowledge of vascular and neural anatomy and a review of the patient's position (and any possible changes such as neck or arm movement) may reveal a possible etiology. As with anesthesia and physiology, a review of the specific neural tracts whose function is altered will help point to the specific area of concern if adverse positioning is considered. Not surprisingly, arm and shoulder positioning are frequent sources of concern, as is neck positioning in cervical and cortical procedures.

Finally, searching for technical problems is often a shared responsibility since IOM electrodes and equipment are in a "shared space." Although the IOM monitoring professional will usually take the responsibility for searching for technical problems, the anesthesiologist can also help by looking for changes in electrodes and equipment (e.g., a transcranial Doppler [TCD] transceiver), as well as considering the introduction of new equipment that may have moved IOM equipment or introduced electrical noise that alters the signal.

Experience suggests that there are two major categories of technical aspects in which the anesthesiologist may assist the IOM professional in the search for problems. First is electrical noise that contaminates and degrades the IOM signals. These can be transmitted through the electrical supply that the equipment is plugged into or may be due to electromagnetic signals transmitted through the air. Frequently, this is from a newly added electrical device such as a blood warmer that is near the IOM recording electrodes or recording amplifiers but can also be from a power cord that is moved near the electrodes or preamplifiers. Machines that are used for anticlotting during surgery can also often produce high electrical interference. Twisting the leads that are connected to the patient and lifting those away from the headbox or amplifiers will often help to alleviate the magnitude of this problem. Once identified, the device may be able to be relocated recognizing that the electrical noise may be reduced by plugging into a different electrical socket, rotating the orientation of the device, or moving it farther away from the recording electrodes (radiated noise falls by the square of the distance from the source). If a particular piece of equipment consistently interferes with recording, it may need to be checked by the biomedical department for a bad ground. Noise could also occur if any of the recording electrodes (especially the ground electrode) are fully or partially dislodged. In addition, dislodged stimulating electrodes could also affect the IOM responses. Hence, examining for obvious electrode or IOM equipment problems near the patient could be helpful. Finally, some equipment may actively

supply a test signal to the patient to check their connections, and this could be a source of electrical noise necessitating that an alternate piece of equipment be used for these cases. This has been observed in some electroencephalographic (EEG) recording devices (checking their electrode impedance) and some electrosurgical units (monitoring the grounding pad). For more details on electrical problems and signal optimization, *see* Chaps. 16 ("Wiring and Electrical Interference in IOM") and 17 ("Techniques for the Optimization of Signal Acquisitions").

Technical changes tend to be one-sided; however, bilateral changes can occur if the problem is related to a common lead. Like anesthesia, physiology, and positioning, the identification of technical problems also relates to anatomy—in this case the "anatomy" of the IOM equipment and the stimulating and recording equipment/ electrodes. Just as the team effort must be designed to make the IOM most effective, when changes occur, the team must also work effectively to identify possible etiologies for correction as well as possible changes in management, which may provide a more supportive neural environment; both of which are designed to improve the safety for the patient and facilitate the best possible outcome.

Dedication Thanks to Carine Zeeni, Dhanesh Gupta, Laura Hemmer, and John Bebawy for their contribution to the Algorithm.

Reference

 Lyon R, Feiner J, Lieberman JA. Progressive suppression of motor evoked potentials during general anesthesia: the phenomenon of "anesthetic fade". J Neurosurg Anesthiol. 2005;17(1):13–9.

Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring for Intracranial Aneurysm Surgery

Laura B. Hemmer, Carine Zeeni, Bernard R. Bendok, and Antoun Koht

Key Learning Points

 Intraoperative neuromonitoring during intracranial aneurysm clipping acts as a real-time method for detecting ischemia and is effective both for risk warning and assistance with surgical strategy decision making.

L.B. Hemmer, M.D. (⊠) Departments of Anesthesiology and Neurological Surgery, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 251 E. Huron, Suite F5-704, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: l-hemmer@northwestern.edu

C. Zeeni, M.D. Department of Anesthesiology, American University of Beirut Medical Center, P.O. Box 11-0236, Riad El-Solh, Beirut 1107 2020, Lebanon e-mail: cz07@aub.edu.lb

B.R. Bendok, M.D. Department of Neurologic Surgery in Arizona, Mayo Clinic Arizona, Mayo Clinic Hospital, Mayo Clinic College of Medicine, 5777 East Mayo Boulevard, Phoenix, AZ 85054, USA e-mail: bendok.bernard@mayo.edu

A. Koht, M.D.

Departments of Anesthesiology, Neurological Surgery and Neurology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 251 East Huron Street, F-5-704, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: a-koht@northwestern.edu

- MEPs confer additional monitoring benefit over SSEPs in detecting ischemia in parts of the motor pathway with an intracranially distinct blood supply from the sensory pathway (e.g., subcortical areas/deep structures supplied by perforating arteries). They can also give earlier warning than SSEPs of potential injury, because subcortical pathways can be particularly sensitive to interruption of blood flow.
- Since multiple vascular territories can be affected during intracranial neurovascular procedures, the use of both SSEP and TCMEP monitoring for the upper and lower extremities should be routinely considered. However, it is especially important to monitor the territory most at risk based on aneurysm location (e.g., contralateral upper extremity for ICA and MCA aneurysms, and contralateral lower extremity for anterior cerebral aneurysms.)

Introduction

Primary intracranial aneurysms (i.e., those not associated with infectious or traumatic causes) are found in approximately 1-3% of the population, although the prevalence is higher in women, smokers, and patients with a genetic predisposition (i.e., autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease or a family member with subarachnoid hemorrhage [SAH]) [1–3]. The natural history of

Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_21) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

intracranial aneurysms is heavily dependent on the location of the aneurysm and the aneurysm geometry (e.g., diameter, aspect ratio, size of the parent artery) at the time of discovery [4–6]. Other factors that may affect the natural history include a previous history of SAH, familial history of SAH, presence of connective tissue disease, cocaine abuse, and heavy alcohol intake [7]. In addition, patient factors, such as smoking, hypertension, and other causes of systemic inflammation, can increase the risk of aneurysmal rupture [8]. Therefore, the incidence of aneurysmal rupture is estimated to be between 0.05 and 6% per year, depending on patient factors and the aneurysm anatomy and geometry [1–7, 9].

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage is a neurologic catastrophe that requires care at medical centers that can not only treat the cerebral aneurysm, but also manage the associated cardiac, cerebral, and pulmonary complications that increase perioperative morbidity and mortality [1]. Approximately 10–15% of patients experience sudden death, while only 20-30 % return to preoperative neurologic status, often because of the high neurologic morbidity associated with delayed cerebral ischemia. Aneurysmal rebleeding, which occurs in at least 4% of patients in the first 24 h and then 1.5% additional per day over the next 2 weeks, is associated with a 70 % mortality. The preoperative neurologic status (measured by the Hunt and Hess Clinical Grade or the World Federation of Neurological Surgeons Grade) is the major determinant of neurologic outcome and mortality from all causes. In fact, neurologic grade as well as the Fisher score is a useful biomarker for the risk of development of delayed neurologic ischemic deficits and subsequent neurologic morbidity and mortality [1]. For the above-mentioned scales, both Hunt and Hess and World Federation of Neurological Surgeons Grade are based on clinical presentation and they grade consciousness or consciousness and motor deficit, respectively, while the Fisher score is based on the hemorrhage pattern on initial head CT scan.

Most aneurysms are asymptomatic until they rupture. For aneurysms found prior to rupture by screening high-risk patients or by evaluation of neurologic symptoms related to mass effect, such as headaches, cranial neuropathies, or seizures, treatment is dependent on the predicted risk of rupture or progression of neurologic symptoms. For patients younger than 60 years of age who have unruptured, small (<7 mm) anterior circulation aneurysms, microsurgical clip ligation offers the benefit of definitive repair with no change in neurologic and cognitive morbidity and mortality at 30 days and 1 year [3]. In contrast, for aneurysms amenable to both microsurgical clipping and endovascular therapy, endovascular therapy may be associated with less mortality and lower incidences of neurologic morbidity and cognitive impairment. However, the risks of aneurysm recurrence and subsequent hemorrhage are higher with endovascular therapy compared with microsurgical clipping [2, 10]. Most ruptured aneurysms should be treated by either microsurgical clipping or endovascular coiling as early as feasible in order to reduce the risk of rebleeding. A decision regarding treatment modality should be made as a multidisciplinary effort between cerebrovascular surgeons and endovascular specialists and based on patient and aneurysm characteristics [11].

Unfortunately, treating a ruptured aneurysm does not decrease the incidence of delayed cerebral ischemia. However, early aneurysm treatment does allow the neurocritical care team to employ all available management modalities, including hemodynamic augmentation and cerebral angioplasty or intra-arterial vasodilator therapy with a significant decrease in the possibility of aneurysm rebleeding [1]. Of note, "triple-H therapy", consisting of hypertension, hypervolemia, and hemodilution, has long been a mainstay of critical care management of these patients, but evidence of efficacy is lacking and accumulating clinical studies and guidelines now emphasize hemodynamic augmentation with euvolemia maintenance and induced hypertension for delayed cerebral ischemia [11, 12].

Cerebrovascular surgery, from planned temporary arterial occlusion, malpositioned aneurysm clips impinging on the parent vessel or inadvertently occluding a perforating artery, accidental dissection-related trauma, and/or unintended local injury from brain retraction, presents substantial risks of cerebral ischemia that can produce neurologic morbidity and cognitive impairment. As with preoperative aneurysm rupture, intraoperative aneurysmal rupture (or re-rupture) is associated with a substantial neurologic and cognitive morbidity and high mortality. Aneurysms can rupture at multiple key times during the intraoperative period due to abrupt increases in the transmural pressure of the aneurysm wall or as a result of direct aneurysm injury during surgical dissection and aneurysm manipulation. Transmural pressure increases can be seen both with arterial hypertension (such as can occur without adequate anesthesia during tracheal intubation, placement of Mayfield head fixation, and surgical incision), or with intracranial hypotension (such as can occur with aggressive cerebral spinal fluid drainage). Any perioperative tool that serves as an early warning of cerebral ischemia may decrease neurologic morbidity, cognitive impairment, and mortality.

Although endovascular therapy may be associated with less mortality and lower incidences of neurologic morbidity and cognitive impairment for some aneurysms, endovascular therapy has its own series of potential neurologic insults. Along with catheter-induced inadvertent aneurysm rupture, one of the potentially most devastating endovascular accidents that can occur is inadvertent embolization of a downstream artery. Neurophysiologic monitoring, as used in some centers, serves as an early warning to the interventionalist to detect rebleed, hemorrhage, or embolic ischemia and may also decrease complications. See Chap. 42, "Interventional Neuroradiology", for additional details.

Large (10–25 mm) and giant (>25 mm) aneurysms require special perioperative considerations. Often these aneurysms are difficult to treat surgically because they can be calcified, partially thrombosed, and have complex necks. In addition, these large and giant aneurysms are most often located in the posterior circulation, including the basilar apex. This provides its own surgical difficulties because of treacherous surgical access due to the deep location and a plethora of perforating arteries and cranial nerves in close proximity. Endovascular recurrence rates are highest in this subgroup. Hence, there remains a strong rationale

to approach these lesions microsurgically [13, 14]. If endovascular therapy is not a viable option, these aneurysms often require a logistically complex surgical approach that includes such techniques adenosine-induced flow as arrest. endovascular balloon suction-occlusion of the parent vessel, deep hypothermic circulatory arrest, and extracranial-intracranial arterial bypass [15, 16]. Each of these techniques is associated with its own neurologic morbidity and mortality, some of which can be mitigated by neurophysiologic monitoring and techniques that might decrease the vulnerability of the brain to injury by prolonging tolerance to temporary ischemia [17, 18].

Case Presentation 1: MCA Aneurysm

A 45-year-old woman without significant past medical history is scheduled for clipping of a right 8×5 mm MCA aneurysm at the junction of M1 discovered on MRI done after a minor motor vehicle accident.

Which Monitors Should You Consider for the Aneurysm Clipping?

American Society of Anesthesiologists' standard monitors, including end-tidal carbon dioxide monitoring and temperature, should be used. Because hemodynamic control to minimize risk of aneurysm rupture is imperative, and manipulation of systemic pressure with vasoactive agents is often required, intra-arterial pressure monitoring also is indicated. Central venous access and pressure monitoring may be desired for vasoactive medication delivery and for assistance in determining volume status, particularly in especially complex or ruptured aneurysms. Osmotic diuretics are often used, mandating urine output monitoring. Multimodal neurophysiological monitoring-electroencephalography (EEG), somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP), and motor-evoked potential (TCMEP) monitoringshould be considered to help identify cerebral ischemia.

What Do We Expect the Selected Neuromonitoring Modalities to Monitor During This Surgery?

The EEG is sensitive to changes in cerebral perfusion and can be used to confirm pharmacologic burst suppression, if this is employed. SSEPs can give a real-time indication of the functional integrity of the sensory system and, due to shared blood supply to the motor cortex, can give an indication of motor function [19]. TCMEPs can detect ischemia in parts of the motor pathway with an intracranially distinct blood supply from the sensory pathway (e.g., subcortical areas/deep structures supplied by perforating arteries). They can also give earlier warning of potential injury, because subcortical pathways can be particularly sensitive to interruption of blood flow [20, 21]. See Chaps. 10 ("EEG Monitoring"), 1 ("Somatosensory Evoked Potentials"), and 2 ("Transcranial Motor Evoked Potentials") for the technical aspects of performing these neuromonitoring techniques, respectively.

Although there are ethical concerns in withholding a potentially beneficial treatment or ignoring warnings of neurological system compromise (making prospective, randomized, blinded trials of neuromonitoring modalities in intracranial aneurysm clip ligation unlikely), there is accumulating literature support for neuromonitoring [22]. SSEP and TCMEP monitoring together has been found to alter the surgical strategy in 20% of aneurysm clipping surgeries, with TCMEPs resulting in surgical strategy change in 16% and SSEPs in 4% [21, 23]. In a study comparing the motor outcomes at a single center for unruptured anterior circulation aneurysm clipping before and after institution of TCMEPs, Yeon et al. [24] concluded that, with SSEP and TCMEP monitoring, postoperative motor deficits can be minimized to less than 1%, which is comparable to or better than coiling. In MCA aneurysm clipping, such as for the patient in this case presentation, a prospective cohort study by Yue et al. [25] concluded that patients without intraoperative TCMEPs were nearly four times more likely to experience postoperative motor status decline than patients with TCMEPs (odds ratio, 4.77; P=0.042) [25]. Guo et al. [26] reviewed case series and a permanent intraoperative TCMEP loss was found to have a positive predictive value of 1.0. Transient signal loss or deterioration was found to be associated with a variety of postoperative clinical findings, and the positive predictive value of a transient loss or signal change was 0.31. Application of causality guidelines, as by Holdefer et al. [27], shows very strong association, consistency across settings, and biological plausibility between surgical events and evoked potential changes in aneurysm clipping surgery.

What are Some Drawbacks of Each of the Above Monitors in Relation to This Surgery?

If burst suppression is requested by the surgeon, EEG monitoring for ischemia is then not possible during the critical phases of aneurysm clipping [19]. SSEPs can miss a most feared complication of aneurysm surgery-new motor deficit. In fact, in up to 25% of cases of new postoperative motor deficit, there were unaltered SSEPs [21]. TCMEPs can be technically complex to employ in microneurosurgery, especially with concerns about patient movement elicited by TCMEPs [28, 29]. Some of the concern about movement with TCMEPs in this patient population may be overstated (although intraoperative movement could be catastrophic), since a retrospective review of 220 craniotomies for aneurysm clipping reported that 3.2% of patients exhibited unacceptable movement with transcranial TCMEP stimulation, and in all but one case, TCMEP monitoring could be resumed after either deepening the anesthetic or decreasing stimulation intensity (depending on the suspected etiology of the movement), yielding a 99.5 % monitoring rate [30]. (Also see Chap. 22 ["Intracranial Arteriovenous Malformation Surgery"] for further discussion related to movement with TCMEP signal acquisition.) With use of the minimum necessary stimulation intensity, the microsurgical field movement expected can be seen in Video 21.1. Importantly, too high of a stimulation intensity can also result in false-negative TCMEP results, as described in Chap. 22.

Upon arrival to the operating room and placement of the American Society of Anesthesiologists' standard monitors, infusions of remifentanil $(0.1 \,\mu g/kg/min)$ and propofol (50 $\mu g/kg/min)$ were initiated and anesthesia was induced with boluses of lidocaine (1.5 mg/kg), propofol (2 mg/kg), and the intermediate acting non-depolarizing neuromuscular junction blocking agent, rocuronium (0.7 mg/kg). After confirming adequate neuromuscular relaxation with a nerve stimulator, the trachea was intubated and the patient was mechanically ventilated with an inspired fraction of oxygen of 50 % (air:oxygen mixture). Desflurane was titrated to maintain an end-tidal alveolar desflurane concentration of 0.5 minimum alveolar concentration or MAC. Anesthesia was maintained with a combination of desflurane (0.5 MAC), remifentanil (0.1-0.5 µg/kg/min), and propofol (0-150 µg/kg/min), and no additional neuromuscular junction blocking agent was administered. The right radial artery was cannulated for invasive arterial pressure monitoring and multiple (at least two) large-bore peripheral intravenous cannula were inserted for intravenous fluid administration, with one IV cannula dedicated to administration of intravenous anesthetic infusions. Since the aneurysm was unruptured, patient was normotensive and did not have history of hypertension, and the noninvasive blood pressure cuff was deemed reliable, the arterial line was placed after induction. After bladder catheterization was completed, the patient's head was placed in a Mayfield head fixation device and the patient was then positioned supine with the left arm pressure points padded after placing it to the patient's side while the right arm was placed on a padded arm board, easily accessible to the anesthesia team. Prior to surgical preparation of the head for incision, the neuromonitoring technologist placed the stimulating and recording electrodes in the scalp and the extremities for monitoring the EEG, median nerve SSEPs and TCMEPs, and the anesthesiologist placed a bispectral index (BIS) monitor. There are insufficient data to recommend one specific anesthetic regimen (the anesthetic described above is a common regimen at the authors' institutions), but hemodynamic control must be maintained to minimize risk of aneurysm rupture and consideration

should be given to strategies to protect the brain against ischemic injury, such as avoidance of hyperglycemia [11].

During surgical field draping, the technologist obtained baseline values for all modalities and reported the following information: the EEG showed profound slowing with some burst suppression activity, the SSEPs showed decreased amplitude of the cortical wave recorded from stimulation of the left median nerve with normal right median nerve SSEPs, and the TCMEP responses were of small amplitude but symmetrical and present in all extremities.

What is the Interpretation of These Neurophysiologic Monitoring Waveforms?

It is clear that because the surgery has not started, none of the observed abnormalities in the neuromonitoring modalities are caused by a surgical insult. Therefore, other etiologies, such as technical problems with signal acquisition, physiologic disturbances to peripheral and central nervous system (CNS) function, and positional and pharmacologic factors, should be entertained. Since none of these factors alone could explain all the abnormalities, each one should be analyzed separately.

Slow EEG activity with periods of burst suppression is most likely related to medications [31–34]. Because the findings are global, they are unlikely related to blood flow irregularity resulting from head position (e.g., jugular venous obstruction from extreme neck rotation or flexion). Although hypotension from extreme headup positioning can contribute to such changes, it is unlikely to be the cause in this case with the patient's supine positioning and blood pressure within preoperative normal limits. The most likely cause is profound depth of anesthesia induced by the combination of desflurane (0.5)MAC) and propofol infusion (100 µg/kg/min) [35]. In fact, the BIS value is 22. After temporarily decreasing the propofol infusion rate to $25 \,\mu g/$ kg/min for 10 min, the BIS value increases to 35 and burst suppression on EEG disappeared.

The global decrease in TCMEP signals at this stage of surgery is most likely due to residual motor blockade post-muscle relaxant administration for intubation [36]. While inhalational agents do affect TCMEP signals, the concentration used here is usually low enough to allow adequate TCMEP signals in a neurologically intact patient without residual muscle relaxant present [37]. Although we have identified the likely cause of the abnormal global TCMEP signals, it is important to go through the entire differential to avoid overlooking a second cause of abnormal TCMEPs. A quick scan of the arterial pressure will exclude the other possible (and potentially devastating) cause of global signal changes. If there is concern that global hypoperfusion from systemic hypotension is causing signal change, temporarily increasing mean arterial pressure while not changing any other potential cause of the signal change will serve to test whether the patient had reached her lower limit of pressure autoregulation [38]. In this case, residual partial muscle blockade was confirmed by the neurophysiologist (or could be checked by train-of-four ratio). Over the following 30 min, the TCMEP amplitude improved as motor blockade resolved.

Unlike the global EEG and TCMEP findings, the SSEP signal abnormality is focal. Cortical SSEP changes due to anesthetic agents or physiological causes are usually bilateral and thus this SSEP abnormality is not related to either surgery (which has not commenced yet), anesthetic, or physiologic causes [39, 40]. Therefore, with this focal abnormality, a positioning or technical etiology would be suspected. Obstruction of jugular venous drainage from an extreme rotation and/or flexion of the neck is a possibility, but this is unlikely because the EEG had a global change, ruling out unilateral cerebral hypoperfusion from jugular venous obstruction. Examination of the left arm demonstrated no peripheral compression of the median nerve or any stretch on the brachial plexus-both positioning-related causes of abnormal signals from a single extremity [41]. The last possibility is a technical problem with signal acquisition, either at the stimulation site (left median nerve) or the recording site (scalp

over the right lateral sensory cortex). A low stimulation intensity at the median nerve could produce these changes. This could be caused by excessive insulation between the stimulating electrode pad and the median nerve (i.e., obesity, edema, malpositioned stimulation pads far from the nerve). It can also be caused by an error in delivering the appropriate stimulation to the patient. Recording from Erb's point and subcortical signals from cervical leads could confirm that the stimulus was being correctly delivered (and also confirm that the peripheral positioning was adequate) [42]. A normal Erb's point and cervical recording with decrease or loss of the cortical responses can be related to blood flow obstruction to the right carotid artery. This possibility is excluded with positive palpation of the superficial temporal artery. A very rare but possible cause is aneurysm rupture during induction or pinning due to sudden hypertension. However, blood pressure was maintained in normal range, and upon examination, pupils are miotic but equal in size and bilaterally reactive, decreasing the possibility of an intracranial catastrophe. Further inspection of the recording leads revealed a malpositioned C4' scalp needle electrode and correction of this needle position resulted in normal signals. A similar circumstance could occur during the craniotomy if the brain had pulled away from the skull leaving a layer of air between the brain and recording electrode (Fig. 21.1).

As surgery commenced, all neurophysiologic parameters were within normal limits. The dura was opened and the microscopic portion of surgery started. Surgery progressed well and the surgeon performed a few surgical adjustments to the surgical field to facilitate good exposure of the aneurysm. The technologist then announces an isolated but significant drop in the amplitude of the TCMEP signals recorded from the left hand (Fig. 21.2).

What is the Cause of This Change?

With any change in a signal during a surgical procedure, a surgical cause must be sought out quickly and efficiently—surgical causes must be







Fig. 21.2 Loss of hand TCMEP due to retractor pressure with prompt recovery after releasing the retractor

quickly reversed before permanent damage occurs. Since surgical maneuvers were being performed with multiple adjustments of the retractors, this was likely the culprit. Retractor pressure can alter blood flow from the lenticulostriate arteries that supply the deep cortical and subcortical motor and sensory pathways or the branches of the anterior or middle cerebral arteries that feed the motor and sensory strips [43].

As noted above, TCMEP responses are more sensitive to ischemia and precede SSEP changes [21, 29, 44]. While the presence of SSEPs may be assuring of the outcome, the TCMEP changes serve as an early warning system for possible damaging ischemia [45]. In this case, the release of the retractor resulted in fast recovery of the TCMEP signals. To make sure no other source of change in TCMEP is overlooked, it is important, as always, to scan the rest of the possible causes of a unilateral change in a TCMEP. An isolated change is unlikely to be related to anesthesia or physiological maneuvers; since position was not altered, if there is no new pressure on the left upper extremity, this cause can be excluded too. Simple evaluation of the stimulation pattern and the impedance of the stimulating electrodes, which were unchanged from baseline, can also rule out technical causes.

The surgical exposure proceeded well, and the surgeon requested initiation of pharmacologic burst suppression to, in theory, prolong the tolerance for ischemia in preparation for possible temporary clip placement [18, 46–48]. (Of note, there is no solid clinical evidence that pharmacologic treatment of ischemic brain and/or agents used intraoperatively for burst suppression is effective in these patients.) [11, 18]. Burst suppression was achieved by increasing the propofol infusion to 150 μ g/kg/min. New "baseline" neuromonitoring signals should be obtained before critical surgical maneuvers, since high doses of most intravenous anesthetics can affect evoked potentials [49]. The surgeon took a final look and placed two tandem permanent clips. Two minutes later, the TCMEP signals of the left hand deteriorate followed by left median nerve SSEP changes.

What is the Cause of These Changes?

Since these unilateral changes occurred after surgical manipulation, surgical causes for such change are highly likely and should be investigated and managed immediately [21, 29, 45]. All members of the team should be involved in the investigation. The technologist should check the machine to confirm the fidelity of the system and exclude any last minute technical error. The anesthesiologist should induce hypertension (we usually raise blood pressure by approximately 20%) to increase perfusion via the collateral circulation (i.e., the leptomeningeal pathways). The surgeon will visually inspect the field for potential vascular compromise, use a Doppler to interrogate blood flow, and may use indocyanine green (ICG) to perform a noninvasive angiogram (see Chap. 22). In this case, the ICG angiogram showed clip impingement on one of the blood vessels [50, 51]. The clip was readjusted with immediate recovery of TCMEPs followed by recovery of SSEPs (Fig. 21.3) (Video 21.2).

When a permanent clip is placed, there is risk of occluding a perforating artery, decreasing the size of the parent artery or causing severe spasm. Changes in TCMEP/SSEP can help identify such changes related to ischemia and a quick readjustment and treatment may prevent postoperative neurologic deficits [21, 29]. After clip readjust-



Fig. 21.3 Basilar artery aneurysm; A=baseline, B=clip positioned, C=clip removed, D=clip repositioned, E=clip repositioned again

ment and recovery of the signals, ICG and the Doppler confirmed good blood flow. The surgery concluded uneventfully. The patient emerged smoothly and was extubated in the operating room with the patient still receiving an infusion of remifentanil 0.05 μ g/kg/min. Immediate post-operative exam revealed no neurological deficits. Fentanyl was administered as needed for postoperative analgesia and the patient was taken to the recovery room before proceeding to the ICU for overnight monitoring.

Case Presentation 2: ICA/ Ophthalmic Aneurysm

An otherwise healthy 57-year-old female is scheduled for craniotomy for clip ligation of an unruptured 12 mm right internal carotid artery aneurysm just distal to the ophthalmic artery.

Anesthesia proceeded as in the first case, above. The surgical plan included potential placement of a right internal carotid artery endovascular balloon for occlusion with suction decompression to facilitate aneurysm clipping [52]. Both groins and the right neck were prepped and draped prior to starting the craniotomy.

Should Only Upper Extremity SSEPs and TCMEPs, Only Lower Extremity SSEPs and TCMEPs, or Both Upper and Lower Extremity SSEPs and TCMEPs be Monitored for This Surgery?

With intracranial surgery, it is important to monitor the territory of the vascular structures where ischemia is most likely to occur [53]. For aneurysms involving the internal carotid artery (such as this case), middle cerebral artery, or posterior circulation, ischemia is most likely to involve the vascular territory of the sensory cortex of the contralateral upper extremity [44]. Hence, upper extremity SSEPs and TCMEPs are the most appropriate monitoring modalities. If the aneurysm involved the anterior cerebral artery or the anterior communicating artery, the contralateral lower extremity would be at primary risk [44]. With this surgery, the anterior circulation may also be at risk, and thus, monitoring the lower extremities should also be performed. In reality, since multiple vascular territories can be affected during intracranial neurovascular procedures in general, the use of both SSEP and TCMEP monitoring for the upper and lower extremities should be routinely considered [54].

Baseline-evoked potentials for upper and lower extremity SSEPs and TCMEPs were robust in amplitude and normal in latency and morphology. Surgery proceeded uneventfully with exposure of the aneurysm. The decision was made to proceed and place an endovascular balloon into the intracranial internal carotid artery proximal to the aneurysm via the right femoral artery. This was done with a plan to inflate the balloon, suction deflate the aneurysm, and trap the aneurysm with a temporary clip placed distal to the aneurysm on the intracranial internal carotid artery.

Trapping an aneurysm refers to the temporary occlusion of both antegrade blood flow from the upstream, parent artery, and retrograde blood flow from the distal, collateral arteries, in order to allow tension in the aneurysm neck to decrease enough for clip ligation and possible parent artery clip reconstruction. For anterior communicating artery aneurysms and middle cerebral artery aneurysms, trapping involves placement of three

to four temporary clips. In contrast, for intracranial proximal paraclinoid carotid artery aneurysms, either a temporary cross clamp has to be placed on the extracranial internal carotid artery after exposure by neck dissection, or an endovascular balloon tip catheter has to be placed in the internal carotid artery, proximal to the aneurysm, and the balloon inflated to occlude antegrade blood flow (Fig. 21.4). A more distal intracranial internal artery temporary clip is still required to occlude retrograde blood flow into the aneurysm. Suction can be applied in this scenario via the endovascular catheter to decompress the aneurysm while retrograde blood flow continues [52]. These maneuvers will enable the surgeon to safely clip the aneurysm, but with the risk of ischemia to any territory that is perfused by perforator arteries within the trapped arterial segment (e.g., the recurrent artery of Huebner during trapping for an anterior communicating artery aneurysm or the opthalmic artery during trapping of a paraclinoid carotid artery aneurysm). There is also the potential for ischemia to the territory normally supplied by the trapped parent artery, unless collateral flow via the Circle of Willis and/ or the leptomeningeal pathway arteries is adequate.



Fig. 21.4 Angiogram showing the placement of the balloon in the ICA, the aneurysm and both the MCA and ACA

Although traditionally both burst suppression and hypothermia would have been applied for this case, there is a dearth of literature support for these activities. In theory, decreasing the oxygen consumption of the brain, along with increasing collateral blood flow, may prolong the time that the brain can tolerate ischemia [18, 47, 48]. Administering an intravenous hypnotic or a volatile anesthetic decreases oxygen consumption of neuronal tissue associated with electrical activity. However, once the EEG achieves a burst suppression ratio of 0.8 (i.e., an EEG pattern of 80 % electrical silence and 20 % bursts of activity), there is little additional decrease in the cerebral metabolic rate and the cerebral blood flow [55]. Hypothermia can also decrease cerebral oxygen consumption, with the added benefit of decreasing both the cellular metabolism associated with electrical activity and the energy requirements for nonelectrical cell processes [56]. Therefore, hypothermia may produce additional tolerance to cerebral ischemia as the temperature is lowered below the point of electrical silence [57]. Unfortunately, mild intraoperative hypothermia (33.5 °C) did not change the neurologic or cognitive outcomes in patients who had World Federation of Neurologic Surgeons Grade I or II SAH when compared with normothermia in a large international, multicenter, double-blinded, randomizedcontrolled study (Intraoperative Hypothermia for Aneurysm Surgery Trial [IHAST]) [58]. In addition to prolonging the tolerance to ischemia during aneurysm trapping, hemodynamic maneuvers that increase the collateral blood flow (e.g., increase systemic mean arterial pressure, decrease brain bulk, increase brain luxury perfusion) may prevent the onset of ischemia [18]. In this case, we achieved burst suppression and increased the blood pressure.

Surgery proceeded with the balloon inflated. The EEG demonstrated a burst suppression ratio of 0.8, and both the TCMEP and SSEP signals were stable. The aneurysm was difficult to clip and it took extra time to be completed. Twelve minutes after initiating the trapping, TCMEP signals from both the left arm and the left foot deteriorated, followed by SSEP signal deterioration at

15 min. Signal deterioration was thought to be related to cerebral ischemia from trapping. The surgeons were notified; unfortunately, they had opened the aneurysm dome and therefore reperfusion at that time was not an option (Video 21.3). The mean arterial pressure was increased approximately 20%. Surgery proceeded with complete loss of both TCMEP and SSEP signals after 2 more minutes despite further induced hypertension. With completion of the aneurysm clip ligation and clip reconstruction of the parent artery, the balloon was deflated and the distal temporary clip was removed. The TCMEP and SSEP signals gradually recovered to baseline morphology. Visual inspection, Doppler testing, and ICG angiograms demonstrated satisfactory reconstruction of the parent artery and no areas of inadequate dye or Doppler flow. Surgery proceeded and the patient was awakened at the end of surgery. On wake-up, it was noted that the patient had mild weakness on the left side, more in the arm than the leg, and both improved within 30 min.

In this case, the TCMEP and SSEP changes occurred at minutes 12 and 15, respectively. These late occurring post-trapping changes are likely better tolerated than changes that may occur within the first 4 min after temporary arterial occlusion or aneurysm trapping [21, 29, 44]. The changes seen in both TCMEP and SSEP are due in this case to surgical maneuvers consistent with the aneurysm trapping. In general, all other causes should be contemplated and excluded. However, because of the temporal relationship to the known surgical insult, we needed to concentrate on the surgical cause. It is important to have a stable anesthetic and hemodynamic course and to avoid changes in technical parameters at this point of surgery in order to avoid producing false-positive signal deterioration.

The initial weakness in the first 30 min after emergence from anesthesia may be related to regional ischemia caused by blood flow interruption and alterations in regional cerebral blood flow, especially in areas of ischemia. Reduced reperfusion may result in slower washout of the anesthetic drug, thereby prolonging the time course until the region at risk recovers from anesthesia [59].

Case Presentation 3: Basilar Apex Aneurysm

A 64-year-old woman is undergoing an orbitozygomatic-pterional craniotomy for microsurgical clipping of an unruptured 15-mm wideneck basilar apex aneurysm.

How Does This Aneurysm Location Influence the Choice of Neurophysiologic Monitoring Modalities to be Used?

Part of the large morbidity and mortality associated with surgical correction of basilar apex and posterior circulation aneurysm is due to the proximity of multiple brainstem and subcortical perforator arteries as well as the limited surgical corridors, which make visualization challenging [17]. Although SSEPs and TCMEPs provide information regarding the integrity of the subcortical and brainstem pathways with regard to direct neurologic injury or injury secondary to ischemia, brainstem auditory-evoked responses (ABRs) provide additional monitoring more specific to the brainstem integrity, and ABRs are very resistant to anesthetic effects (see Chap. 3 ["Auditory Evoked Potentials"] for additional information). Therefore, ABRs are often included to give complimentary information to help determine the specific location of neurologic trespass that may produce permanent neurologic injury from trauma or ischemia. In addition, because it is difficult to obtain a panoramic view of basilar apex aneurysms and the perforators at risk for injury, using these neuromonitoring modalities provides better functional evaluation of the possibility of clip impingement of perforators (Fig. 21.5). Electromyography (EMG) for cranial nerve monitoring of any cranial nerve with a motor component at anatomic risk may also be used for posterior circulation aneurysms (see Chap. 7, "Electromyography", for additional information.)

After isolating the aneurysm, the surgeon determined that the aneurysm neck was extremely tense and that there was no safe location to place a temporary arterial clip to soften the aneurysm neck. After the aneurysm had been exposed and the patient demonstrated an EEG with a burst suppression ratio of >0.8, as requested by the surgeon, the surgeon manipulated the aneurysm to inspect possible clip placement and inadvertently ruptured the aneurysm. The microsurgical field filled with blood and it was impossible for the surgeon to identify any anatomical structures to control the bleeding. The anesthesiologist administered 0.4 mg/kg of adenosine as a rapid intravenous bolus and this produced a 15 s sinus pause and a total of 45 s of profound hypotension (systolic blood pressure <60 mmHg), allowing a bloodless field and permanent clip placement [15] (Video 21.4 and Video 21.5).

All neurophysiologic signals were stable. The surgeon evaluated the position of the clip and was satisfied. As the surgeon irrigated the field to prepare to begin dural closure, the left upper extremity TCMEPs became attenuated.



Fig. 21.5 ABR tracing showing the changes in waves IV and V

What are the Most Likely Etiologies for This Signal Change?

The operative team again follows a systematic approach to determine the etiology of this focal change. Physiologic and anesthetic etiologies are improbable for a focal change and technical causes were ruled out. Because the change occurred only a few minutes after surgical manipulation that has a high probability of causing a neurologic injury (placement of a permanent aneurysm clip), a surgical etiology is most likely. After communication with the surgeon, an ICG angiogram was performed and a small perforator deep to the aneurysm neck was found to be occluded by the permanent clip. An additional dose of adenosine was administered and the surgeon repositioned the permanent clip. A second ICG angiogram, after the background ICG had dissipated, was performed and the perforator appeared patent. The TCMEPs began to normalize 2 min after clip repositioning and returned to baseline levels before completion of the dural closure [21, 29, 44, 45].

References¹

- Bederson JB, Connolly Jr ES, Batjer HH, Dacey RG, Dion JE, Diringer MN, et al. Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a statement for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Heart Association. Stroke. 2009;40(3): 994–1025.
- Molyneux A, Kerr R, Stratton I, Sandercock P, Clarke M, Shrimpton J, et al. International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomised trial. Lancet. 2002;360(9342):1267–74.
- Wiebers DO, Whisnant JP, Huston 3rd J, Meissner I, Brown Jr RD, Piepgras DG, et al. Unruptured intracranial aneurysms: natural history, clinical outcome, and risks of surgical and endovascular treatment. Lancet. 2003;362(9378):103–10.
- Chang HS. Simulation of the natural history of cerebral aneurysms based on data from the International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms. J Neurosurg. 2006;104(2):188–94.

- Rahman M, Smietana J, Hauck E, Hoh B, Hopkins N, Siddiqui A, et al. Size ratio correlates with intracranial aneurysm rupture status: a prospective study. Stroke. 2010;41(5):916–20.
- Yoshimoto Y. A mathematical model of the natural history of intracranial aneurysms: quantification of the benefit of prophylactic treatment. J Neurosurg. 2006;104(2):195–200.
- Lall RR, Eddleman CS, Bendok BR, Batjer HH. Unruptured intracranial aneurysms and the assessment of rupture risk based on anatomical and morphological factors: sifting through the sands of data. Neurosurg Focus. 2009;26(5):E2.
- Shi C, Awad IA, Jafari N, Lin S, Du P, Hage ZA, et al. Genomics of human intracranial aneurysm wall. Stroke. 2009;40(4):1252–61.
- Mira JM, Costa FA, Horta BL, Fabiao OM. Risk of rupture in unruptured anterior communicating artery aneurysms: meta-analysis of natural history studies. Surg Neurol. 2006;66 Suppl 3:S12–9. discussion S9.
- Scott RB, Eccles F, Molyneux AJ, Kerr RS, Rothwell PM, Carpenter K. Improved cognitive outcomes with endovascular coiling of ruptured intracranial aneurysms. Neuropsychological outcomes from the international subarachnoid aneurysm trial (ISAT). Stroke. 2010;41(8):1743–7.
- 11. Connolly Jr ES, Rabinstein AA, Carhuapoma JR, Derdeyn CP, Dion J, Higashida RT, et al. Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a guideline for Healthcare Professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2012;43(6):1711–37.
- Dankbaar JW, Slooter AJ, Rinkel GJ, Schaaf IC. Effect of different components of triple-H therapy on cerebral perfusion in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a systematic review. Crit Care. 2010;14(1):R23.
- 13. Mitchell P, Kerr R, Mendelow AD, Molyneux A. Could late rebleeding overturn the superiority of cranial aneurysm coil embolization over clip ligation seen in the International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial? J Neurosurg. 2008;108(3):437–42.
- 14. Ausman JI. The International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial II: comparison of clipping vs coiling: key questions. Are the results of the study generalizable? Should clipping be done for patients less than 40 years of age? Surg Neurol. 2008;70(1):104–7.
- Bebawy JF, Gupta DK, Bendok BR, Hemmer LB, Zeeni C, Avram MJ, et al. Adenosine-induced flow arrest to facilitate intracranial aneurysm clip ligation: dose–response data and safety profile. Anesth Analg. 2010;110(5):1406–11.
- Young WL, Lawton MT, Gupta DK, Hashimoto T. Anesthetic management of deep hypothermic circulatory arrest for cerebral aneurysm clipping. Anesthesiology. 2002;96(2):497–503.
- Quinones-Hinojosa A, Alam M, Lyon R, Yingling CD, Lawton MT. Transcranial motor evoked potentials during basilar artery aneurysm surgery: technique application for 30 consecutive patients. Neurosurgery. 2004;54(4):916–24. discussion: 24.

¹Key references marked with asterisk.

- Warner DS. Perioperative neuroprotection: are we asking the right questions? Anesth Analg. 2004;98(3):563–5.
- Holland NR. Subcortical strokes from intracranial aneurysm surgery: implications for intraoperative neuromonitoring. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1998;15(5): 439–46.
- Horiuchi K, Suzuki K, Sasaki T, Matsumoto M, Sakuma J, Konno Y, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of blood flow insufficiency during surgery of middle cerebral artery aneurysms. J Neurosurg. 2005;103(2): 275–83.
- *Neuloh G, Schramm J. Monitoring of motor evoked potentials compared with somatosensory evoked potentials and microvascular Doppler ultrasonography in cerebral aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg. 2004;100(3):389–99.
- Bacigaluppi S, Fontanella M, Manninen P, Ducati A, Tredici G, Gentili F. Monitoring techniques for prevention of procedure-related ischemic damage in aneurysm surgery. World Neurosurg. 2012;78(3–4): 276–88.
- *Neuloh G, Schramm J. Evoked potential monitoring during surgery for intracranial aneurysms. In: Handbook of clinical neurophysiology. vol. 8. New York: Elsevier; 2008. p. 801–14.
- 24. Yeon JY, Seo DW, Hong SC, Kim JS. Transcranial motor evoked potential monitoring during the surgical clipping of unruptured intracranial aneurysms. J Neurol Sci. 2010;293(1–2):29–34.
- 25. *Yue Q, Zhu W, Gu Y, Xu B, Lang L, Song J, et al. Motor evoked potential monitoring during surgery of middle cerebral artery aneurysms: a cohort study. World Neurosurg. 2014;82(6):1091–9.
- Guo L, Gelb AW. The use of motor evoked potential monitoring during cerebral aneurysm surgery to predict pure motor deficits due to subcortical ischemia. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;122(4):648–55.
- Holdefer RN, MacDonald DB, Skinner SA. Somatosensory and motor evoked potentials as biomarkers for post-operative neurological status. Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;126(5):857–65.
- Sloan TB, Janik D, Jameson L. Multimodality monitoring of the central nervous system using motorevoked potentials. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2008;21(5):560–4.
- Szelenyi A, Langer D, Kothbauer K, De Camargo AB, Flamm ES, Deletis V. Monitoring of muscle motor evoked potentials during cerebral aneurysm surgery: intraoperative changes and postoperative outcome. J Neurosurg. 2006;105(5):675–81.
- Hemmer LB, Zeeni C, Bebawy JF, Bendok BR, Cotton MA, Shah NB, et al. The incidence of unacceptable movement with motor evoked potentials during craniotomy for aneurysm clipping. World Neurosurg. 2014;81(1):99–104.
- 31. Billard V, Gambus PL, Chamoun N, Stanski DR, Shafer SL. A comparison of spectral edge, delta power, and bispectral index as EEG measures of alfentanil, propofol, and midazolam drug effect. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1997;61(1):45–58.

- 32. Egan TD, Minto CF, Hermann DJ, Barr J, Muir KT, Shafer SL. Remifentanil versus alfentanil: comparative pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in healthy adult male volunteers. Anesthesiology. 1996;84(4):821–33.
- Rampil IJ, Laster M, Dwyer RC, Taheri S, Eger II EI. No EEG evidence of acute tolerance to desflurane in swine. Anesthesiology. 1991;74(5):889–92.
- Scott JC, Ponganis KV, Stanski DR. EEG quantitation of narcotic effect: the comparative pharmacodynamics of fentanyl and alfentanil. Anesthesiology. 1985;62(3):234–41.
- Short TG. Using response surfaces to expand the utility of MAC. Anesth Analg. 2010;111(2):249–51.
- 36. Kalkman CJ, Drummond JC, Kennelly NA, Patel PM, Partridge BL. Intraoperative monitoring of tibialis anterior muscle motor evoked responses to transcranial electrical stimulation during partial neuromuscular blockade. Anesth Analg. 1992;75(4):584–9.
- Reinacher PC, Priebe HJ, Blumrich W, Zentner J, Scheufler KM. The effects of stimulation pattern and sevoflurane concentration on intraoperative motorevoked potentials. Anesth Analg. 2006;102(3):888–95.
- Drummond JC. The lower limit of autoregulation: time to revise our thinking? Anesthesiology. 1997; 86(6):1431–3.
- Peterson DO, Drummond JC, Todd MM. Effects of halothane, enflurane, isoflurane, and nitrous oxide on somatosensory evoked potentials in humans. Anesthesiology. 1986;65(1):35–40.
- 40. Liu EH, Wong HK, Chia CP, Lim HJ, Chen ZY, Lee TL. Effects of isoflurane and propofol on cortical somatosensory evoked potentials during comparable depth of anaesthesia as guided by bispectral index. Br J Anaesth. 2005;94(2):193–7.
- Anastasian ZH, Ramnath B, Komotar RJ, Bruce JN, Sisti MB, Gallo EJ, et al. Evoked potential monitoring identifies possible neurological injury during positioning for craniotomy. Anesth Analg. 2009;109(3):817–21.
- 42. Benzon HT, Toleikis JR, Meagher LL, Shapiro BA, Ts'ao CH, Avram MJ. Changes in venous blood lactate, venous blood gases, and somatosensory evoked potentials after tourniquet application. Anesthesiology. 1988;69(5):67–82.
- Andrews RJ, Bringas JR. A review of brain retraction and recommendations for minimizing intraoperative brain injury. Neurosurgery. 1993;33(6):1052–63. discussion 63–4.
- 44. Szelenyi A, Kothbauer K, Bueno de Camargo A, Langer D, Flamm ES, Deletis V. Motor evoked potential monitoring during cerebral aneurysm surgery: technical aspects and comparison of transcranial and direct cortical stimulation. Neurosurgery. 2005; 57(ONS Suppl 4):331–8.
- 45. Neuloh G, Schramm J. What the surgeon wins, and what the surgeon loses from intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring? Acta Neurochir. 2005;147(8):811–3.
- Hoffman WE, Charbel FT, Edelman G, Ausman JI. Thiopental and desflurane treatment for brain protection. Neurosurgery. 1998;43(5):1050–3.

- 47. Newman MF, Croughwell ND, White WD, Sanderson I, Spillane W, Reves JG. Pharmacologic electroencephalographic suppression during cardiopulmonary bypass: a comparison of thiopental and isoflurane. Anesth Analg. 1998;86(2):246–51.
- 48. Newman MF, Murkin JM, Roach G, Croughwell ND, White WD, Clements FM, et al. Cerebral physiologic effects of burst suppression doses of propofol during nonpulsatile cardiopulmonary bypass. CNS Subgroup of McSPI. Anesth Analg. 1995;81(3):452–7.
- Banoub M, Tetzlaff JE, Schubert A. Pharmacologic and physiologic influences affecting sensory evoked potentials: implications for perioperative monitoring. Anesthesiology. 2003;99(3):716–37.
- Raabe A, Nakaji P, Beck J, Kim LJ, Hsu FP, Kamerman JD, et al. Prospective evaluation of surgical microscope-integrated intraoperative near-infrared indocyanine green videoangiography during aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg. 2005;103(6):982–9.
- 51. de Oliveira JG, Beck J, Seifert V, Teixeira MJ, Raabe A. Assessment of flow in perforating arteries during intracranial aneurysm surgery using intraoperative near-infrared indocyanine green videoangiography. Neurosurgery. 2008;62(6 Suppl 3):1300–10.
- 52. Parkinson RJ, Bendok BR, Getch CC, Yashar P, Shaibani A, Ankenbrandt W, et al. Retrograde suction decompression of giant paraclinoid aneurysms using a No. 7 French balloon-containing guide catheter. Technical note. J Neurosurg. 2006;105(3):479–81.
- Bloom MJ, Kofke WA, Nemoto E, Whitehurst S. Monitoring for cerebrovascular surgery. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 1996;34(3):137–47.
- Jameson LC, Janik DJ, Sloan TB. Electrophysiologic monitoring in neurosurgery. Anesthesiol Clin. 2007; 25(3):605–30. x.
- 55. Warner DS, Takaoka S, Wu B, Ludwig PS, Pearlstein RD, Brinkhous AD, et al. Electroencephalographic burst suppression is not required to elicit maximal neuroprotection from pentobarbital in a rat model of focal cerebral ischemia. Anesthesiology. 1996;84(6):1475–84.
- Nakashima K, Todd MM, Warner DS. The relation between cerebral metabolic rate and ischemic depolarization. A comparison of the effects of hypothermia, pentobarbital, and isoflurane. Anesthesiology. 1995;82(5):1199–208.
- Todd MM, Warner DS. A comfortable hypothesis reevaluated. Cerebral metabolic depression and brain protection during ischemia. Anesthesiology. 1992;76(2):161–4.
- Todd MM, Hindman BJ, Clarke WR, Torner JC. Mild intraoperative hypothermia during surgery for intracranial aneurysm. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(2):135–45.
- Wang M, Joshi S. Electrocerebral silence after intracarotid propofol injection is a function of transit time. Anesth Analg. 2007;104(6):1498–503.

Questions

- 1. Question (True or False): Motor-evoked potential signal that is lost and then recovers during surgery after intervention taken to reverse the deleterious effect still indicates the patient will awake with neurological deficit.
- 2. Question (True or False): MEPs offer little additional information as long as EEG and SSEP are monitored during aneurysm clipping.
- Question (True or False): For an anterior cerebral artery aneurysm, monitoring EEG and SSEPs and MEPs of bilateral lower extremities is important for detecting comprise to a critical neurological structure.

Answers

- False. Signals that are lost and then recover after intervention during surgery can lead to a range of clinical findings postoperatively from no deficit, transient deficit, to mild permanent deficit. As noted above, Guo et al.
 [26] found the positive predictive value of a transient loss or signal change was 0.31.
- 2. False. MEPs are able to monitor parts of the motor pathway with separate blood supply than the sensory pathway. This is particularly important for perforating artery compromise that could be undetected by EEG and SSEP, but could result in hemiplegia for the patient. Furthermore, MEPs often give earlier warning of potential injury than SSEPs.
- 3. True. It is important to at least monitor the anatomic area most at risk during surgery. For aneurysms involving the anterior circulation, the contralateral lower extremity is at most risk. For aneurysm involving the internal carotid artery, middle cerebral artery, or posterior circulation, ischemia is most likely to involve the vascular territory of the sensory cortex of the contralateral upper extremity.

Intracranial Arteriovenous Malformation Surgery

22

Laura B. Hemmer and Carine Zeeni

Key Learning Points

- There is evidence from both an adult and pediatric patient series that neuromonitoring intraoperatively is useful to help prevent morbidity in surgical and endovascular management of cerebral AVMs.
- Particularly for intracranial surgeries, transcranial motor-evoked potentials are made more accurate by decreasing stimulation intensity. If stimulation intensity is too high, myogenic MEPs from contralateral limbs could be obtained despite presence of cortical ischemia or even deeper subcortical ischemia, and this would lead to a false-negative MEP result.
- Advances in neuroimaging, neuromonitoring, and microsurgical technique are allowing more surgical treatment of AVMs located in close proximity to eloquent areas when treat-

L.B. Hemmer, M.D. (🖂)

e-mail: l-hemmer@md.northwestern.edu

C. Zeeni, M.D.

ment once would have been limited to more conservative management. Neuromonitoring advances facilitating this surgery include application of EEG, SSEPs, MEPs, as well as mapping techniques for patients under general anesthesia. There is also some more recent promotion of awake anesthetic techniques to facilitate monitoring and mapping for resection of AVMs in or near eloquent areas.

Introduction

Arteriovenous malformations (AVMs) are tangled anastomoses of blood vessels in which arteriovenous shunting occurs in a central nidus (the area where feeding arteries converge and from which enlarged veins drain) [1, 2]. AVMs are the most common type of vascular malformation, with autopsy data suggesting an overall frequency of about 1-4% [3]. However, only about 12% of AVMs become symptomatic [1]. The mean age at presentation is 35 years old, and the majority present with intracranial hemorrhage (usually intracerebral hemorrhage) [1, 4]. There is an overall risk of initial hemorrhage of about 2-4% per year. The next most common presentation is seizure, followed by headache and focal neurological deficit [1]. In young children, presentation can also include congestive heart failure and hydrocephalus [3].

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_22

Departments of Anesthesiology and Neurological Surgery, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 251 E. Huron, Suite F5-704, Chicago, IL 60611, USA

Department of Anesthesiology, American University of Beirut Medical Center, P.O. Box 11-0236, Riad El-Solh, Beirut 1107 2020, Lebanon e-mail: cz07@aub.edu.lb

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017



Fig. 22.1 Angiogram of an arteriovenous malformation (AVM)

The most commonly used grading scale for AVMs is the Spetzler-Martin AVM Grading Scale, a five-point scale that considers AVM size, pattern of venous drainage, and location [5]. Other important factors in determining management include surgical accessibility, number of feeding arteries, flow velocity through lesion, steal from surrounding brain, and presence of associated aneurysms [3, 5]. With the Spetzler-Martin scale, higher-grade lesions have a higher treatment associated morbidity [5].

Arteriography is the "gold standard" for defining the arterial and venous anatomy of AVMs (Fig. 22.1). Magnetic resonance imaging is also used for localizing and defining AVM topography [3]. High-flow, angiographically identifiable AVMs are considered "giant" if their size is greater than 6 cm [6].

Treatment options for AVMs include expectant monitoring versus complete obliteration using microneurosurgery, endovascular techniques, or radiosurgery. Embolization can be employed presurgically or preradiosurgically for progressive flow reduction and decrease in nidus size, to occlude deep/inaccessible arterial vessels and to eliminate related aneurysms. It can also be used palliatively for worsening neurological defi-



Fig. 22.2 Microsurgical excision of an arteriovenous malformation with a temporary clip in place

cits in large AVMs not suitable for surgical management. Radiosurgery is usually employed to destroy small AVMs, especially if they are poorly accessible or if they are in an eloquent brain location [3]. In patients who undergo radiosurgery that then fails, surgery is usually facilitated, since deep and fragile arteriolar feeders tend to become fibrotic and easier to manage [7]. Surgically, AVMs are usually excised with routine microsurgical technique by ligating arterial feeders and then excising the nidus and resecting the draining vein(s) [1, 3] (Fig. 22.2).

Prior to management, it is sometimes necessary to perform Wada testing with intracarotid injection or superselective Wada testing in the neurointerventional suite with specific arterial injection of usually the short-acting barbiturate amobarbital to inhibit gray matter structures and the local anesthetic lidocaine to inhibit white matter structures to detect eloquent brain tissue perfused en passage by AVM feeding arteries to better preserve function [8]. For embolization, materials used include Gelfoam (from purified skin gelatin), polyvinyl alcohol particles, N-butyl cyanoacrylate, Onyx (a non-adhesive liquid polymer), and a variety of coils [9]. Although the patient is awake for Wada testing, general anesthesia is preferred at many centers for AVM embolization to facilitate imaging and prevent patient movement. Depending on the agent deployed, some specific anesthetic maneuvers may be undertaken. For example, transient profound-induced hypotension may be necessary to aid in correct embolic glue setting, and temporary apnea is sometimes requested to improve visualization [10] (see Chaps. 20 and 21 for discussion of potential physiological effects on neuromonitoring as well as later in this chapter).

Routine neuroanesthetic management for intracranial lesions applies to AVM surgical resections. Because AVM resections are generally elective, the patient should be medically optimized prior to surgery. There is the potential for rapid and massive blood loss, so adequate intravascular access and blood availability is mandatory [3, 11]. Risk of AVM rupture during induction is low, but it should be remembered that the incidence of a coexisting intracranial aneurysm is at least about 10%, so blood pressure control in the range of the patient's normal pressures is warranted [1, 3, 11]. The selected anesthetic regimen must maintain hemodynamic stability, provide amnesia, prevent patient movement to noxious stimulation, facilitate neuromonitoring, and allow rapid emergence, but no specific regimens have demonstrated superior safety in intracranial surgery [12, 13]. Anesthetics that decrease cerebral metabolic rate and vasoactive agents that do not promote cerebral vasodilation are usually selected. Maintenance of normothermia or a mild decrease in body temperature resulting from general anesthesia is generally accepted. Patients should be rewarmed in preparation for emergence [3, 11, 14].

Case Presentation

A 35-year-old woman with no significant past medical history presents for craniotomy for AVM resection after the AVM was incidentally discovered on an MRI performed for the patient's complaint of headaches. The AVM is located in the middle cerebral artery territory, and it has a maximal diameter of 4 cm.

What management could be considered to potentially decrease blood loss prior to surgical resection of the AVM?

Staged reduction in blood supply to the malformation via intra-arterial embolization is often recommended to decrease the size of the arteriovenous shunt [3, 6]. (For information on neuromonitoring for interventional neuroradiology procedures, see Chap. 42, "Interventional Neuroradiology".) To avoid development of collateral blood flow, surgical resection of the AVM should occur within several days after embolization of the final feeding artery [3].

Which monitors should you consider for the surgical resection?

Monitoring for cerebrovascular surgery is aimed at all the physiological influences on cerebral blood flow [15]. American Society of Anesthesiologists' standard monitors including end-tidal carbon dioxide and temperature monitoring should be used. Because manipulation of systemic pressure with vasoactive agents is often required, intra-arterial pressure monitoring also is indicated. Central venous pressure monitoring may be desired for assistance in determining volume status. Osmotic diuretics are often used, mandating urine output monitoring. If the operative site is above heart level, a precordial Doppler probe to monitor for air entrainment should be employed (and placement of a multiorifice catheter for air aspiration should also be considered). Finally, especially if deliberate temporary arterial occlusion is planned, multimodal neurophysiological monitoring-electroencephalography (EEG), somatosensory evoked potential (SSEP), and motor-evoked potential (MEP) monitoringshould be considered to help identify cerebral ischemia (and therefore identify feeder vessels to eloquent areas) [16]. (See Chaps. 10 ["EEG Monitoring"], 1 ["Somatosensory Evoked Potentials], and 2 ["Transcranial Motor Evoked Potentials"] for the technical aspects of performthese neuromonitoring techniques, ing respectively.)

What are potential benefits of combining SSEP and MEP monitoring?

There is a dearth of prospective and randomized trials of neurophysiological monitoring in intracranial surgery. However, there is evidence, from both adult and pediatric patient series, that neuromonitoring intraoperatively is useful to help prevent morbidity in surgical and endovascular management of cerebral AVMs [17–20]. Because SSEPs and MEPs provide complementary information about the neurological system, combining these modalities may give a better reflection of the patient's actual neurological status [21]. In fact, in up to 25% of cases in which a new postoperative deficit manifests in intracranial neurovascular surgery (especially intracranial aneurysm surgery), intraoperative SSEP recordings were unchanged. This is not surprising since anatomically distinct arteries not supplying sensory pathways supply parts of the motor pathway (e.g., subcortical portions) [22]. MEPs also can give earlier warning of potential ischemic injury compared to SSEPs [23]. Finally, if there is difficulty in obtaining signals from one of the modalities, combining SSEPs and MEPs can increase the number of patients who can be successfully monitored [21]. Of course, it is especially important to ensure the anatomic area most at risk from the particular surgery is monitored, as discussed in Chap. 21 ("Intracranial Aneurysm Clipping").

Although the majority of AVMS are suptratentorial in location, what additional neuromonitoring would be helpful if the AVM involved the posterior fossa/vertebrobasilar circulation?

Posterior circulation and brainstem ischemia can be identified by using a combination of SSEPs, MEPs, and auditory brainstem-evoked potentials (ABRs) [17, 24] (see Chap. 3, "Auditory Evoked Potentials" for additional information). Electromyography for cranial nerve monitoring of any cranial nerve with a motor component at anatomic risk may also be added to the neuromonitoring regimen (see Chap. 7, "Electromyography", for additional information).

When should neuromonitoring be performed during the case?

Recordings should be obtained after anesthesia induction and once a steady state of anesthesia is achieved (but before incision) as a baseline. Obtaining a baseline before incision allows time for troubleshooting if technical difficulties are encountered, and, if evoked potential changes occur, it could help identify (and allow correction of) patient malpositioning while a surgical cause is a nonfactor. Recordings should be obtained at regular intervals during the procedure, even when there is minimal risk of neural injury. Anesthetic agents and levels, physiological parameters (mean arterial pressure and temperature), and surgical events should be noted with each reading. If burst suppression is initiated, a new "baseline" should be obtained before critical surgical maneuvers are undertaken, since high doses of most intravenous anesthetics can affect evoked potentials [25]. During critical surgical manipulation, neuromonitoring should be performed continually.

Transcranial MEP stimulation can cause movement of the patient. What can be done to minimize this movement?

Naturally occurring field movement can be limited with transcranial MEP stimulation by minimizing stimulus intensity to the lowest amount that results in reliable MEPs [26]. To avoid movement of the microsurgical field during critical surgical work, brief surgical pauses for monitoring should be coordinated with MEP testing. Often, MEP stimulation can be facilitated by the anesthesiologist noting a pause in surgery and initiating communication between the technologist and surgeon to efficiently acquire MEPs. Most MEP acquisitions can be timed to coincide with surgical instrument exchange. In addition, some stimulation locations used for MEPs may be associated with less movement. (To not sacrifice SSEP and/or MEP head electrode position when craniotomy site interferes with ideal electrode positioning, sterile electrodes can be placed by the surgeon.) Video monitoring can also be used to assist the neurophysiology team in timing stimulation with surgical pauses.

Spontaneous movement of the patient under anesthesia without muscle relaxation, which could occur with MEP stimulation, can be largely avoided by keeping the patient adequately anesthetized. We routinely use a maintenance anesthetic technique of moderate opioid dosing $(\geq 0.1 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1} \ min^{-1} \ remifentanil, 0.5 \ minimum$ alveolar concentration (MAC) of volatile anesthetic, and 0–150 $\ \mu g \ kg^{-1} \ min^{-1} \ propofol$). We pay close attention to volume status and phenylephrine (10–50 $\ \mu g \ min^{-1}$) is added, if needed, to maintain adequate hemodynamics. Since much of the anesthetic regimen is via intravenous infusion, diligence is required to ensure that drug delivery problems, such as extravasation or mechanical obstruction, do not occur (which could result in the patient being "light" and spontaneously moving).

After initial baseline MEP recordings are obtained, you note detectable signals from bilateral upper and lower extremities. However, you notice that both contralateral and ipsilateral waveforms are obtained with stimulation of one hemisphere. What is happening and what can be done to correct this?

The stimulation intensity should be decreased. Otherwise, during surgery, cerebral ischemia could be missed, resulting in false-negative findings. This is because too high of a transcranial stimulus intensity can activate deep subcortical motor pathways and bypass ischemic higher cortical levels, resulting in myogenic MEPs from the contralateral limbs being generated despite cerebral ischemia [17, 27]. Deep subcortical motor pathway ischemia could also be missed if activation of the corticospinal tract occurred even more caudally [26, 28]. In other words, as the intensity of stimulation is increased, the activation site of corticospinal fibers is shifted deeper into the brain. There appears to be a limit to how deeply the site of activation can be displaced by increasing the transcranial MEP stimulation intensity, and this limit appears to be similar to the site activated by stimulation at the level of the brainstem (likely at the pyramidal decussation) [29]. Higher stimulation intensity is required to overcome muscle relaxation, so avoiding muscle relaxant post-intubation can help minimize stimulus intensity [30, 31]. In summary, transcranial MEPs are made more accurate by decreasing the stimulation intensity [27].

The stimulation intensity is decreased to the point where only contralateral extremity waveforms are obtained. However, now there is no signal from one foot. Surgery has not yet begun. What can be done to improve the signal knowing that increasing the intensity results in bilateral limb stimulation?

The monitoring team can increase the number of stimulus pulses in the stimulation train. Often,

lower extremity MEP responses require more train pulses than upper extremity MEPs [28]. Since the threshold intensity of MEPs depends on the number of pulses, the duration of each pulse, and the locations of the stimulating and recording electrodes, the amplitude of muscle responses generally can be increased by increasing the number of pulses, the duration of each pulse, and/or the stimulation intensity and by optimizing electrode locations [32]. (However, as noted above, increasing the stimulation intensity can have the undesirable effect of incorrect localization.) In this patient, with the increase in stimulus train count, detectable signals in all four extremities return with bilateral stimulation.

What nonradiographic intraoperative method could be used to help delineate the vasculature while the surgeons are dissecting around the AVM?

Although digital subtraction angiography is the "gold standard" for evaluating vascular flow in AVM surgery, distinguishing AVM vasculature also can be facilitated by several nonradiographic methods, including Doppler ultrasound imaging and fluorescent angiography [33, 34]. Indocyanine green (ICG) video angiography is one of the fluorescent techniques, and it is based on the different timing of vessel fluorescence. After intravenous injection, ICG leads to arteries fluorescing first (within 3-12 s), then arterialized veins, and then nonarterialized cortical veins. Images are viewed using a near-infrared video integrated microscope. The light source includes the ICG excitation wavelength, and the images are viewed through an optical filter that allows only fluorescence in the ICG emission wavelength. The recommended dose of ICG for angiography is $0.2-0.5 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$. ICG is cleared by the liver, and it has a mean half-life of 3-4 min. Of note, viewing ICG fluorescence is hindered by blood, so, if a hematoma is present, it should be removed as much as possible before ICG injection [34]. ICG video angiography can be used not only to distinguish AVM vasculature, but also serial imaging during dissection can be useful in identifying feeder vessels and in assessing nidus perfusion, as well as confirming complete removal after lesion resection [35]. At our institution, we rouThe electrophysiologist reports to the surgery and anesthesia teams that the amplitude of the MEP response from one lower extremity has decreased significantly. The surgeons state that they are not working in the territory of the anterior cerebral artery, so they do not expect to see changes in the MEPs from the lower extremities. The surgeons also recently had noted that the brain was "tight", so the patient currently is being more aggressively hyperventilated. What should you do to determine the etiology of the MEP change and possibly mitigate any neurological problem?

Since the change is unilateral, a technical, positional, or surgical etiology is suspected (instead of a physiologic or pharmacologic etiology which should cause a bilateral change). The electrophysiologist should repeat the MEP stimulus to ensure the problem is reproducible. Once reproducibility is confirmed, the electrophysiologist should check for possible technical problems by checking electrode impedances and stimulation parameters. As this technical check is occurring, the anesthesia team should check the patient's position and padding while paying special attention to the affected extremity and any monitors or intravenous lines in that extremity. In this case, if no technical or positional problems are detected, a surgical problem could remain; especially since the patient is being hyperventilated because of increased brain bulk, some local cortical injury from retractor pressure could be occurring [36]. Brain retraction injury can be caused by focal pressure from the retractor blade on brain tissue. The deformation of brain tissue from the retractor causes a reduction in blood flow to the area, and this can lead to ischemia. Local direct tissue trauma to the neurons, their processes, and/or glia is also possible. Resulting injury is likely dependent on the number and shape of retractors and on the pressure and duration of retraction [37]. Upon questioning, the surgeons state they do have a retractor that they can reposition, and they do so. To lessen potential ischemia to the area, raising the systemic blood pressure and less aggressive hyperventilation (since hyperventilation is decreasing cerebral blood flow) could be undertaken by the anesthesia team [36, 37]. Approximately 15 min after these maneuvers, the signals return to baseline. Of note, although prolonged hyperventilation has been shown to be detrimental in instances such as traumatic brain injury, intraoperative hyperventilation has been shown to improve operating conditions and moderate hyperventilation to facilitate surgery seems reasonable and is still routinely employed [13, 38].

What affects the speed with which MEPs can detect potential ischemia?

The different speed with which MEPs can detect potential ischemia is likely due to differences in the amount of collateral circulation to the vulnerable area. For example, the subcortical motor pathways are especially sensitive to interruption of blood flow—encroachment on the lenticulostriate arteries results in a change in MEPs within about 60 s, while interruption of the middle cerebral artery branches to the motor cortex results in changes in MEPs often within 10 min [23].

During AVM resection, EEG slowing is noted, then a global decrease in MEP amplitude occurs, and then this is followed by a global increase in SSEP latency of greater than 10%. The surgeons are notified of these changes. What do you expect is the cause and what should you do?

A global change is likely to have a pharmacologic or physiologic etiology. After confirming that there have not been any recent changes in your anesthetic, including no change in hypnotic anesthetic, a physiologic change should be suspected. Physiologic factors that could influence evoked potentials include blood pressure, hematocrit, temperature, acid–base balance, and oxygen and carbon dioxide tensions [25]. After quickly insuring adequate oxygenation and ventilation, the mean arterial pressure (MAP) should be checked. You find that the MAP is now below 20% from the patient's baseline. While starting to augment the patient's obtained, and it shows the patient is now anemic. You realize there has been more blood loss than initially recognized. Thus, the change in neuromonitoring is likely due to the combined effects of hypotension and decreased oxygen carrying capacity of the blood [39].

Oxygen carrying capacity should be improved by transfusing packed red blood cells, and, in the meantime, mean arterial pressure should be increased to aid cerebral perfusion. With aggressive volume resuscitation, the patient's neuromonitoring parameters return to baseline.

For neuromonitoring changes to have occurred, what was the likely cerebral blood flow?

EEG changes appear quickly with cerebral ischemia, and ischemia is first seen as EEG slowing. As ischemia worsens, loss of voltage also occurs [40, 41]. EEG changes can be seen under general anesthesia with cerebral blood flow (CBF) of 10–25 mL/100 g/min; major EEG changes occur with CBF of less than 10 mL/100 g/min [17, 40]. SSEPs are unchanged until cortical blood flow is reduced to about 20 mL/100 g/min, and they change and then are lost at blood flows between 15 and 18 mL/100 g/min [36]. Deleterious effects of cerebral ischemia are potentially reversible at these levels if CBF is improved, since experimental levels associated with cerebral infarction are 10–12 mL/100 g/min [17].

MEPs, as utilized in the case above, give realtime assessment of primary motor system integrity. What additional monitoring could be utilized if the AVM was located within or in very close proximity to the primary motor cortex and/or the corticospinal tract?

Advances in neuroimaging, neuromonitoring, and microsurgical technique are allowing more surgical treatment of AVMs located in close proximity to motor cortical areas or motor projection systems that once would have been limited to conservative management or radiosurgery [20]. Cortical and subcortical bipolar or monopolar mapping intraoperatively is standard for identification of motor neuron assemblies, particularly since mass lesions can distort normal anatomy, making it difficult to locate specific brain functions relying solely on anatomic landmarks. Initially during surgery, neuronavigation based on preoperative images is often used for the craniotomy approach and for lesion localization prior to dural opening. As surgical resection nears the interface of lesion and functional motor tissue, mapping is repeatedly performed to determine a safe plane for resection, with lower motor thresholds indicating a closer location of eloquent tissue. Similar to the concerns of too high of a stimulation intensity causing false-negative results for transcranial MEPs, as discussed above, too high of a stimulation intensity for mapping can lead to a false-positive MEP result from current spread [19]. EEG monitoring is performed during mapping to monitor for epileptic activity.

What would an alternative anesthetic technique be for a patient with an AVM located in or very near the motor and/or language cortex?

Since AVM resection is generally more technically challenging, slower, and has a greater risk of significant bleeding than tumor resection, awake craniotomy techniques have not traditionally been offered for AVM resection. However, with the cooperation of neurosurgeons, neuroanesthesiologists, and neurophysiologists at our institution (unpublished data) and others, there have been advances in awake craniotomies for AVM resections [42]. Seizure activity, as can occur in these patients especially during the mapping phase of surgery, can be treated first by prompt flooding of the field with sterile ice-cold saline by the surgeon and then, if needed, intravenous administration of propofol and/or benzodiazepine by the anesthesiologist.

Postoperatively, if the patient's mental status deteriorated, what cause particular to AVM obliteration should be considered? What type of neurological monitor might you consider at this point?

Brain edema and hemorrhage postoperatively can complicate successful AVM resection [1]. Although controversial, there are two main hypotheses for the cause of brain edema and hemorrhage during or after surgery—normal perfusion pressure breakthrough (NPPB) and occlusive hyperemia.

According to the NPPB theory, there is preferential shunting of blood to the AVM and away from normal brain because of lower blood pressure within the AVM's arterial feeders. Arteries within adjacent brain respond to this hypotension by dilating to maintain as much flow as possible. Once increased (but normal) flow is reestablished through these vessels after AVM resection, a loss of autoregulatory compensation from the chronic dilation results in surrounding brain edema and hemorrhage [6, 43]. According to the occlusive hyperemia theory, arterial stagnation and/or venous outflow obstruction from the AVM resection causes the swelling and hemorrhage [44, 45]. There continues to be little understanding of the actual pathophysiology of these deleterious events that can occur after AVM resection [46]. To help evaluate and manage the patient, an intracranial pressure monitor could be considered. (For types of ICP monitors and their technical aspects, see Chap. 15, "Monitoring Intracranial Pressure.")

What precautions should be taken to avoid NPPB?

Swelling and hemorrhage can be limited by tight blood pressure control postoperatively, staging of the surgical resection if the AVM is giant, and with presurgical embolization and/or radiosurgery to reduce the size of the arteriovenous shunt [6, 43]. In addition, since venous thrombosis is also a risk postresection or postembolization, euvolemia should be maintained after treatment [6, 45].

Would the management of an AVM differ if the patient was pregnant, and what additional monitoring should you consider?

Data suggest that the risk of AVM hemorrhage to the parturient is similar to that of the nonparturient [47]. Data also suggest that increased venous pressure during a Valsalva maneuver is not directly transmitted across the AVM nidus, and in most cases, vaginal delivery does not carry a higher risk of hemorrhage than cesarean section delivery [3, 48]. (Although forceps delivery for a passive second stage of labor is sometimes still planned [49].) Thus, if a woman with a known AVM anticipates pregnancy, treatment should be considered before pregnancy. Once pregnancy is established, elective treatment would generally be delayed until after pregnancy [3]. However, if AVM hemorrhage occurs during pregnancy, the risk for rebleeding may be increased compared with the nonparturient [47]. In this case, early

definitive therapy may be warranted [3]. If the fetus is viable (\geq 24 weeks' gestation) at the time of neurosurgery, three options can be considered in consultation with the surgical and obstetrical teams: neurosurgery performed with a plan to maintain the fetus in utero; cesarean delivery followed immediately by the neurosurgical procedure; or cesarean delivery followed by later neurosurgery.

In addition to the patient monitoring discussed above, perioperative fetal heart rate and myometrium tone monitoring would need to be discussed with the obstetricians [47]. It should be noted that the safety of SSEP and MEP monitoring in pregnant patients has not been established. Use of SSEPs and MEPs in a late-stage pregnant patient has been reported, but there is some concern, especially with the higher electrical energy delivered by transcranial MEPs, that uterine contractions could be stimulated [50]. Finally, if the neurosurgical procedure immediately follows a cesarean delivery, arrangements for intraoperative checks of uterine tone and bleeding during the neurosurgical procedure need to be made [47].

References¹

- Group TAMS. Arteriovenous malformations of the brain in adults. N Engl J Med. 1999;340(23):1812–8.
- Doppman JL. The nidus concept of spinal cord arteriovenous malformations. A surgical recommendation based upon angiographic observations. Br J Radiol. 1971;44(526):758–63.
- Ogilvy CS, Stieg PE, Awad I, Brown Jr RD, Kondziolka D, Rosenwasser R, et al. AHA Scientific Statement: recommendations for the management of intracranial arteriovenous malformations: a statement for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2001;32(6):1458–71.
- Al-Shahi R, Warlow C. A systematic review of the frequency and prognosis of arteriovenous malformations of the brain in adults. Brain. 2001;124(Pt 10):1900–26.
- Spetzler RF, Martin NA. A proposed grading system for arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1986;65(4):476–83.
- Chang SD, Marcellus ML, Marks MP, Levy RP, Do HM, Steinberg GK. Multimodality treatment of giant intracranial arteriovenous malformations. Neurosurgery. 2003;53(1):1–11. discussion 3.

¹Asterisk indicates key references.

- Batjer HH, Duckworth EA. Selected drake teachings: an affectionate look back and a look forward—the Charles G. Drake lecture: 2006. Neurosurgery. 2009;65(2):360–9. discussion 70–1.
- Fitzsimmons BF, Marshall RS, Pile-Spellman J, Lazar RM. Neurobehavioral differences in superselective Wada testing with amobarbital versus lidocaine. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2003;24(7):1456–60.
- Vaidya S, Tozer KR, Chen J. An overview of embolic agents. Semin Intervent Radiol. 2008; 25(3):204–15.
- Varma MK, Price K, Jayakrishnan V, Manickam B, Kessell G. Anaesthetic considerations for interventional neuroradiology. Br J Anaesth. 2007;99(1): 75–85.
- Drummond JC, Patel PM. Neurosurgical anesthesia. In: Miller RD, Eriksson LI, Fliesher LA, Weiner-Kronish JP, Young WL, editors. Miller's anesthesia. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingston; 2009. p. 2048–9, 66–7.
- Cole CD, Gottfried ON, Gupta DK, Couldwell WT. Total intravenous anesthesia: advantages for intracranial surgery. Neurosurgery. 2007;61(5 Suppl 2): 369–77. discussion 77–8.
- *Miller C, Mirski M. Anesthesia considerations and intraoperative monitoring during surgery for arteriovenous malformations and dural arteriovenous fistulas. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2012;23(1):153–64.
- 14. Zeeni C, Bebawy JF, Gupta DK, Koht A. Anesthesia considerations in neurovascular surgery. In: Bendok BR, Batjer HH, Naidech AM, Walker MT, editors. Hemorrhagic and ischemic stroke: medical, imaging, surgical, and interventional approaches. 1st ed. New York: Thieme Medical; 2011. p. 171–81.
- Bloom MJ, Kofke WA, Nemoto E, Whitehurst S. Monitoring for cerebrovascular surgery. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 1996;34(3):137–47.
- *Jameson LC, Sloan TB. Neurophysiologic monitoring in neurosurgery. Anesthesiol Clin. 2012;30(2): 311-31.
- Lopez JR. Neurophysiologic intraoperative monitoring of pediatric cerebrovascular surgery. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;26(2):85–94.
- Chang SD, Lopez JR, Steinberg GK. The usefulness of electrophysiological monitoring during resection of central nervous system vascular malformations. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 1999;8(6):412–22.
- Schucht P, Seidel K, Murek M, Stieglitz LH, Urwyler N, Wiest R, et al. Low-threshold monopolar motor mapping for resection of lesions in motor eloquent areas in children and adolescents. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;13(5):572–8.
- Lepski G, Honegger J, Liebsch M, Soria MG, Narischat P, Ramina KF, et al. Safe resection of arteriovenous malformations in eloquent motor areas aided by functional imaging and intraoperative monitoring. Neurosurgery. 2012;70(2 Suppl Operative):276–88. discussion 88–9.
- Weinzierl MR, Reinacher P, Gilsbach JM, Rohde V. Combined motor and somatosensory evoked potentials for intraoperative monitoring: intra- and

postoperative data in a series of 69 operations. Neurosurg Rev. 2007;30(2):109–16. discussion 16.

- Neuloh G, Schramm J. Monitoring of motor evoked potentials compared with somatosensory evoked potentials and microvascular Doppler ultrasonography in cerebral aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg. 2004;100(3):389–99.
- Horiuchi K, Suzuki K, Sasaki T, Matsumoto M, Sakuma J, Konno Y, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of blood flow insufficiency during surgery of middle cerebral artery aneurysms. J Neurosurg. 2005;103(2):275–83.
- Manninen PH, Patterson S, Lam AM, Gelb AW, Nantau WE. Evoked potential monitoring during posterior fossa aneurysm surgery: a comparison of two modalities. Can J Anaesth. 1994;41(2):92–7.
- Banoub M, Tetzlaff JE, Schubert A. Pharmacologic and physiologic influences affecting sensory evoked potentials: implications for perioperative monitoring. Anesthesiology. 2003;99(3):716–37.
- Szelenyi A, Kothbauer K, de Camargo AB, Langer D, Flamm ES, Deletis V. Motor evoked potential monitoring during cerebral aneurysm surgery: technical aspects and comparison of transcranial and direct cortical stimulation. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(4 Suppl):331–8. discussion 8.
- Tanaka S, Takanashi J, Fujii K, Ujiie H, Hori T. Motor evoked potential mapping and monitoring by direct brainstem stimulation. Technical note. J Neurosurg. 2007;107(5):1053–7.
- Macdonald DB. Intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring: overview and update. J Clin Monit Comput. 2006;20(5):347–77.
- Rothwell J, Burke D, Hicks R, Stephen J, Woodforth I, Crawford M. Transcranial electrical stimulation of the motor cortex in man: further evidence for the site of activation. J Physiol. 1994;481(Pt 1):243–50.
- Guo L, Gelb AW. The use of motor evoked potential monitoring during cerebral aneurysm surgery to predict pure motor deficits due to subcortical ischemia. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;122(4):648–55.
- Guo L, Gelb AW. False negatives, muscle relaxants, and motor-evoked potentials. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2011;23(1):64.
- Taniguchi M, Cedzich C, Schramm J. Modification of cortical stimulation for motor evoked potentials under general anesthesia: technical description. Neurosurgery. 1993;32(2):219–26.
- 33. Takagi Y, Kikuta K, Nozaki K, Sawamura K, Hashimoto N. Detection of a residual nidus by surgical microscope-integrated intraoperative near-infrared indocyanine green videoangiography in a child with a cerebral arteriovenous malformation. J Neurosurg. 2007;107(5 Suppl):416–8.
- 34. Killory BD, Nakaji P, Gonzales LF, Ponce FA, Wait SD, Spetzler RF. Prospective evaluation of surgical microscope-integrated intraoperative near-infrared indocyanine green angiography during cerebral arteriovenous malformation surgery. Neurosurgery. 2009;65(3):456–62. discussion 62.
- 35. Ng YP, King NK, Wan KR, Wang E, Ng I. Uses and limitations of indocyanine green videoangiography
for flow analysis in arteriovenous malformation surgery. J Clin Neurosci. 2013;20(2):224–32.

- 36. Jameson LC, Sloan TB. Monitoring of the brain and spinal cord. Anesthesiol Clin. 2006;24(4):777–91.
- Andrews RJ, Bringas JR. A review of brain retraction and recommendations for minimizing intraoperative brain injury. [see comment]. Neurosurgery. 1993;33(6): 1052–63. discussion 63–4.
- 38. Gelb AW, Craen RA, Rao GS, Reddy KR, Megyesi J, Mohanty B, et al. Does hyperventilation improve operating condition during supratentorial craniotomy? A multicenter randomized crossover trial. Anesth Analg. 2008;106(2):585–94. table of contents.
- 39. Lyon R, Lieberman JA, Grabovac MT, Hu S, Lyon R, Lieberman JA, et al. Strategies for managing decreased motor evoked potential signals while distracting the spine during correction of scoliosis. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2004;16(2):167–70.
- Jameson LC, Janik DJ, Sloan TB. Electrophysiologic monitoring in neurosurgery. Anesthesiol Clin. 2007;25(3):605–30. x.
- 41. Seubert CN, Mahla ME. Neurologic monitoring. In: Miller RD, Eriksson LI, Fleisher LA, Wiener-Kronish JP, Young WL, editors. Miller's anesthesia. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingston; 2009. p. 1483.
- 42. Gabarros A, Young WL, McDermott MW, Lawton MT. Language and motor mapping during resection of brain arteriovenous malformations: indications, feasibility, and utility. Neurosurgery. 2011;68(3):744–52.
- Souter MJ, Lam AM. Neurocritical care. In: Miller RD, Eriksson LI, Fleisher LA, Wiener-Kronish JP, Young WL, editors. Miller's anesthesia. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingston; 2009. p. 2899–900.
- 44. Al-Rodhan NR, Sundt Jr TM, Piepgras DG, Nichols DA, Rufenacht D, Stevens LN. Occlusive hyperemia: a theory for the hemodynamic complications following resection of intracerebral arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1993;78(2):167–75.
- Wilson CB, Hieshima G. Occlusive hyperemia: a new way to think about an old problem. J Neurosurg. 1993;78(2):165–6.
- Arikan F, Vilalta J, Noguer M, Olive M, Vidal-Jorge M, Sahuquillo J. Intraoperative monitoring of brain tissue oxygenation during arteriovenous malformation resection. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2014;26(4):328–41.
- Wang LP, Paech MJ. Neuroanesthesia for the pregnant woman. Anesth Analg. 2008;107(1):193–200.
- Young WL, Kader A, Pile-Spellman J, Ornstein E, Stein BM. Arteriovenous malformation draining vein physiology and determinants of transnidal pressure gradients. The Columbia University AVM Study Project. Neurosurgery. 1994;35(3):389–95. discussion 95–6.
- Finnerty JJ, Chisholm CA, Chapple H, Login IS, Pinkerton JV. Cerebral arteriovenous malformation in pregnancy: presentation and neurologic, obstetric, and ethical significance. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999;181(2):296–303.
- Pastor J, Pulido P, Lopez A, Sola RG. Monitoring of motor and somatosensory systems in a 26-week pregnant woman. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2010;152(7):1231–4.

Questions

- 1. Question (True or False): It is now considered standard of care to perform evoked potential monitoring for intracranial AVM resections.
- 2. Question (True or False): If, soon after intubation, there is difficulty obtaining baseline MEPs in both upper and lower extremities, concern for AVM rupture during intubation must be high.
- 3. Question (True or False): Assuming MEP responses are present and reproducible, the stimulus intensity is unimportant as long as it is within generally recommended ranges.

Answers

- 1. False. There is a lack of prospective and randomized trials of neurophysiological monitoring in intracranial surgery, and evoked potential monitoring is not considered "standard of care" for this surgery. However, there is growing evidence from case series that neuromonitoring intraoperatively is useful to help prevent morbidity in management of cerebral AVMs.
- 2. False. Risk of AVM rupture during induction is low. Since there can be a coexisting intracranial aneurysm, blood pressure control in the range of the patient's normal pressures is warranted, however. Assuming a hemodynamically smooth induction and continuing stable vital signs, AVM rupture is not likely to be the culprit of poor MEPs. (Concern for intracranial bleeding would be elevated in the presence of bradycardia and hypertension, i.e., Cushing response). The globally poor MEPs are likely the result of residual muscle blockade used to facilitate intubation.
- 3. False. The lowest possible stimulus intensity should always be used. Too high of a stimulus intensity can lead to false-negative intraoperative monitoring results if stimulation occurs deep to the area of ischemia, increases the potential for patient movement intraoperatively, and increases the risk of adverse events such as bite injury.

Intraoperative Neurophysiologic Monitoring During Surgery for Supratentorial Mass Lesions

Georg Neuloh, Antoun Koht, and Matthew C. Tate

Key Learning Points

- Postoperative neurological deficits after resection of brain tumors are caused by either direct track insult or ischemic insults from proximal and distal arteries.
- Sensory evoked potentials are used during surgery for resection of brain tumors to identify the central sulcus and can detect cerebral ischemia.
- Motor evoked potentials can detect ischemia ahead of the sensory evoked potentials and may detect ischemia occurring in a pure motor structure.
- Intraoperative monitoring for resection of brain tumors is possible under general anesthesia in most cases. Only when speech is desired to be tested, then an awake craniotomy is better suited.

e-mail: gneuloh@ukaachen.de

A. Koht, M.D.

M.C. Tate, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Neurological Surgery, Northwestern Memorial Hospital, 676 North Saint Clair Street, Suite 2210, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: mtate@nm.org The supratentorial space consists of both cerebral hemispheres and is separated from the infratentorial space by the tentorium (see Chap. 24, "Surgery for Infratentorial Mass"). Two-thirds of all adult central nervous system (CNS) tumors occur in the supratentorial space [1-], whereas in children, about only one-third of CNS tumors occur here. Common primary brain tumors in adults are gliomas (45-50%), meningiomas, pituitary adenomas, primary CNS lymphomas, medulloblastoma, and ependymomas. By far the most common brain tumors are metastases, notably lung cancer, breast cancer, and malignant melanoma. Fifty percent of patients with metastases have multiple lesions, and up to 50% of patients with cancer have brain metastases. However, only a small proportion of patients with brain metastases undergo neurosurgical treatment. Primary brain tumors rarely metastasize outside the CNS.

Supratentorial mass lesions can be located in close proximity or attached to functionally important cortical areas and to subcortical fiber pathways. New neurological deficits, after surgery for such lesions, may occur in two ways: directly from a resection close to or within those functional areas or indirectly by inadvertent compromise of their remote vascular supply. Preserving their functional integrity with a maximum surgical resection requires both intermittent identification and delineation of critical regions (mapping), and continuous functional monitoring

G. Neuloh, M.D. (🖂)

Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital, RWTH Aachen, Pauwelsstrasse 30, 52074 Aachen, Germany

Departments of Anesthesiology, Neurological Surgery and Neurology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 251 East Huron Street, F-5-704, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: a-koht@northwestern.edu

[4–6]. The continuous examination of language and cognition during surgery requires awake surgery (see Chap. 18, "Anesthesia for Awake Neurosurgery"), while primary motor and somatosensory functions can be tested with neurophysiological methods in patients under general anesthesia and several recent studies support their use [7–11]. These methods are employed for brain tumors and likewise for vascular and epilepsy surgery. Here, we discuss a pertinent case of functional preservation during surgery for a glioma of the insula of Reil. This case illustrates typical conditions and methods for neurophysiological monitoring during brain surgery.

Case: Resection of an Insular Glioma

A 50-year-old man presented with a history of partial seizures and a mild sensorimotor rightsided hemisyndrome. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed an enhanced mass lesion of the left insular region without extension into the adjacent opercula (insular glioma Yasargil type 3b) [12]. Resection was performed with neurophysiologic motor mapping and monitoring as detailed below. Histology revealed a glioblastoma. There was a transient moderate postoperative aggravation of the hemiparesis that resolved by discharge. Early postoperative MRI revealed an ischemic lesion close to the corona radiata. The patient underwent radiochemotherapy and repeated cycles of temozolomide thereafter [13].

Risks of Surgery for Insular Tumors and Other Supratentorial Mass Lesions

The major neurological risk of surgery for insular gliomas (about 10% of supratentorial gliomas) and many other deeply seated tumors is new hemiparesis. Those brain tumors are critically related to the primary motor system in two ways. Typically, they are near to the corona radiata at their dorsoapical extension [14]. In addition, insular and other tumors are surrounded by a variety of vessels, mainly branches from the middle cerebral artery, which supply the motor fibers along their supratentorial course [14–16]. The sylvian branches supply a major part of the motor cortex, the proximal perforating vessels supply the basal ganglia and the internal capsule, and the peripheral insular and also the opercular perforators supply the corona radiata. Monitoring and preservation of the primary motor pathways is crucial because there is no functional substitute for the primary corticospinal projections as opposed to parts of the language and somatosensory networks. Secondary motor areas (supplementary motor area, premotor cortex) and their projections can be sacrificed unilaterally without significant permanent sequelae.

In general, similar risk factors apply to many deeply seated and even superficial supratentorial tumors. They are frequently located close to the corticospinal tract at its extended course. These tumors may also be adjacent to arteries that supply the corticospinal tract, including the lesser known opercular perforating vessels [17]. For example, temporomesial tumors may encroach on the cerebral peduncle and the vessels of the ambient cistern.

Preservation of Nonmotor Function Using Mapping and Monitoring Techniques

Nonmotor functional systems may require functional mapping and monitoring, depending on the location of the target lesion and the surgical approach (see Chap. 9, "Cortical Mapping"). Mapping the cortex with cortical stimulation and functional monitoring during awake surgery for language and other functions is discussed in Chap. 18 [18]. The somatosensory fibers may be continuously monitored by SSEPs, which are reliable indicators of central cortical perfusion. Limited resections of somatosensory cortex and its afferents are possible without permanent deficits. Supratentorial auditory pathways might be monitored by cortical auditory evoked potentials (ABRs). However, this is hardly ever required due to the extensive bilateral crossover connections of the auditory system. In contrast, significant damage of the visual pathways results in visual field deficits that can be quite debilitating.

Unfortunately, intraoperative monitoring of visual evoked potentials (VEP) under general anesthesia has proven technically difficult and they are still of questionable clinical usefulness, although some progress seems to have occurred recently [19, 20] (see Chap. 4, "Visual Evoked Potentials"). For preservation of the visual pathway, diffusion tensor imaging-based tractography may be useful, particularly if it is fed into a neuronavigational, frameless stereotaxic system. This method is suitable for displaying other fiber tracts as well, including the pyramidal tract. However, there are still technical uncertainties regarding this method, in particular with large, space-occupying lesions (brain shift) and peritumoral edema. Likewise, functional imaging (fMRI) may be useful for a rough allocation of functional areas, but is not suited for sharp resection guidance. Recently, awake stimulationbased mapping has been shown to reliably identify optic radiations, which may be preserved depending on the goals of oncological and functional goals of surgery [21]. At present, electrophysiological methods remain the "gold standard" for functional mapping and monitoring.

Motor Mapping and Monitoring

In centrally located tumors, safe resection requires initial identification of the primary motor cortex. Moreover, with insular and other deep lesions, motor mapping is a prerequisite for adequate positioning of the stimulating electrode for continuous motor monitoring. Neurophysiological mapping is achieved mainly in two ways: (1) Stimulation mapping (either with the parameters described in Chap. 18 [22] or as described below for the elicitation of motor evoked potentials [23]) is required for the direct identification of the motor cortex and corticospinal tract, but can be time-consuming and may be misled by premotor or even postcentral corticospinal projections. Interestingly, recent data indicate that one may tailor the approach to motor cortex and corticospinal tract mapping using either low-frequency or high-frequency stimulation depending on the clinical scenario [24]; and (2) In most cases, fast and unambiguous results can be

obtained easily by the indirect method of SSEP phase reversal mapping. Median nerve SSEPs are recorded from an electrode array positioned perpendicularly across the central sulcus over the motor hand area. The tangentially orientated overall source current of the primary postcentral cortical SSEP response generates a polarity-reversed mirror image at precentral recording positions, thus allowing unambiguous identification of the central sulcus and, indirectly, of the primary motor cortex [25]. In some cases, direct motor stimulation mapping usefully complements the SSEP phase reversal recordings [26]. For some deeply seated tumors, mapping of the motor cortex is not necessary. Instead, MEP stimulation is performed transcranially at predefined positions according to anatomical landmarks [27].

After identification of the motor cortex, stimulation for eliciting motor evoked potentials is repeated every 5-10 s throughout the resection via the cortical surface electrodes employed for phase reversal recording. Stimulation at higher frequencies of up to 2 Hz is mainly employed in spinal surgery, but does not yield very stable MEP amplitudes. On the other hand, longer intervals between consecutive MEP recordings do not allow for continuous functional assessment. Every stimulus consists of a short train of four to seven electrical anodal pulses (of 300-1000 ms pulse duration) at an intensity of up to 200 mA. The cathode (subdermal needle electrode) is placed at a frontal midline position. This pulse train elicits a series of action potentials that descend the corticospinal tract. Temporal summation of the burst of excitatory postsynaptic potentials at the alpha motoneuron overcomes the inhibitory effects of general anesthesia so as to elicit motor responses that can be recorded via surface or subdermal needle electrodes from the target muscles (muscle MEPs) [28]. Obviously, muscle relaxation must be avoided in such cases, although MEPs may still be recordable if the train of four has two responses present. Total intravenous anesthesia with propofol and opioids (e.g., remifentanil) is best suited for MEP monitoring, but balanced anesthesia with low-dose $(\leq 0.5 \text{ MAC})$ halogenated agents in combination with an opioid (e.g., remifentanil) is also acceptable in many patients. MEP amplitude is the target parameter to be monitored in supratentorial surgery. In our experience, a decrease of 50% is a significant warning sign for impending motor damage. Other groups rely on tighter criteria (a decrease in amplitude of up to 70-80%) with a higher risk of false-negative results [29]. Latency prolongation without amplitude decrease rarely occurs [30].

Monitoring Results and Surgical Intervention

In the present case, arm muscle MEPs were monitored (Fig. 23.1). There were highly stable responses in two out of three muscles (I). During medial tumor resection, a significant drop of MEP amplitudes (II) occurred. Causes unrelated to the resection, such as positional, technical, physiological, and pharmacological, were examined and excluded. Once these causes were excluded, the surgeon was informed about the MEP changes. Resection of the tumor was temporarily halted and the site was inspected and irrigated; papaverine-soaked gelfoam was applied, and the self-retaining retractor in the sylvian fissure was loosened and readjusted (III). After stabilization of the MEP responses (IV), the tumor resection was safely completed.

Possible Causes of the MEP Change and the Role of the Surgical Interventions

First, inadvertent bolus injections of anesthetics or muscle relaxation must be excluded, as well as a drop of blood pressure and body temperature,



Fig. 23.1 MEP monitoring during surgery for supratentorial tumor surgery with MEP changes

which all may significantly affect MEP amplitudes. In particular, a slow, gradual decrease of blood pressure and body temperature must be taken into account. The MEP parameters are not linearly related to cerebral perfusion but can change abruptly in a more stepwise fashion. When individual threshold values are encountered, MEP amplitude may have a sudden deterioration at an unpredictable point in time. For example, there is no absolute blood pressure threshold value. However, any mean arterial pressure below 70 mmHg may be critical, and significant drops in blood pressure must be avoided and reported when they do occur. Body temperature should be maintained above 36 °C by air-warming systems, if necessary. After this check for nonsurgical causes, a warning must be issued to the surgeon. Typically, resection or dissection is halted at this point. At the same time, inadvertent decreases of blood pressure or body temperature are reversed and these measures should be communicated to the surgeon. The surgeon must exclude technical causes for MEP changes such as displacement of stimulation electrodes; poor contact of an electrode with the result of high impedance (subdural irrigation and wet cottonoids on top of the electrode are helpful); subdural air collection; or a shift of the motor cortex away from the stimulation electrodes after removal of a mass lesion.

With the possibility of a surgically related cause for the MEP change, the surgeon's attention must be directed at specific surgical conditions that may have caused the monitoring event. Obvious causes may be detected such as resection and electrocoagulation in close vicinity or within the motor tract as revealed by neuronavigation or anatomic criteria. The intervening activity is halted and may be resumed only after MEP changes have stabilized or recovered, or if further resection appears to be possible and safe according to anatomic or other external criteria. Frequently, no specific reason can be found for MEP deteriorations. However, a temporary halt of dissection and readjustment of the brain retraction is often sufficient to enable MEP recovery and further safe resection. However, the previous

surgical course of the procedure must be taken into account at this point. Extensive manipulation of remote blood vessels supplying the motor tract at some previous step of dissection is a typical cause of inexplicable MEP deterioration. It may be useful to place pieces of gelfoam or cottonoids soaked with papaverine or nimodipine at sites of (previous) vascular manipulation.

Why Is Neurophysiologic Monitoring Useful?

Clinical case series have shown that MEP deterioration occurs at stages when motor damage is imminent but still reversible. The clinical correlation of MEP recordings-motor function-is not assessable at the time of monitoring unless an awake craniotomy is being performed. Thus postoperative motor outcome is the best surrogate parameter. In large case series, the following correlation has been repeatedly confirmed: If MEP amplitudes recover or there is partial recovery as a result of surgical intervention, there is no deficit or only transient/minor new motor deficits postoperatively. Fortunately, MEP deterioration is reversible after surgical intervention in the majority of cases. In many of those cases, diffusion-weighted MRI reveals ischemic lesions but not definite stroke affecting the corticospinal tract [15].

If there is an irreversible amplitude decrease and in particular an irreversible MEP loss, there is a high probability of permanent new paresis, frequently associated with a stroke comprising the corticospinal tract. Conversely, stable MEP recordings point to a favorable motor outcome and allow for safe completion of critical steps of the procedure. Therefore, there are three reasons for the use of monitoring: (1) prevention of new permanent deficits; (2) safe completion of critical procedures in order to achieve maximal tumor cytoreduction; and (3) an educational reason, which is to steepen the surgeon's individual learning curve and to improve the surgical skills for future cases. Monitored cases seem to have both a lower incidence of new postoperative deficits and better surgical resections, which lead to favorable results [15, 31, 32].

Conclusion

Resection of supratentorial mass lesions is associated with considerable functional morbidity, particularly when the lesions are located near blood vessels or near the eloquent cortices (e.g., motor cortex). New paresis is of particular concern due to the extended course of the motor system in the brain and the lack of clearly identifiable primary corticospinal pathways. New functional deficits are frequently caused by ischemic lesions that occur during tumor resection, and not very often by cutting into functional cortex and fiber tracts. This applies in particular with insular and other deeply seated tumors as in the present case. Therefore, motor preservation requires both mapping of the motor cortex (cortical stimulation, SSEP phase reversal) and continuous monitoring using MEP recordings, which can be performed with the patient under general anesthesia. Other functions such as language, vision, and somatosensory perception may be mapped and monitored in awake procedures or by other neurophysiologic and imaging methods. The causes of MEP changes may include nonsurgical conditions such as technical, physiological, pharmacological, and positional causes that need to be identified and excluded. Stable MEP recordings allow for safe completion of surgery whereas deterioration due to surgical causes should lead to early surgical intervention. Restoration of the MEP signals may prevent the occurrence of permanent new deficits.

References¹

- Rajaraman V, Jackson CH, Branch J, Petrozza PH. Supratentorial and pituitary surgery. In: Albin MS, editor. Textbook of neuroanesthesia with neurosurgical and neuroscience perspectives. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1997. p. 931–70.
- Ojemann RG. Meningiomas: clinical features and surgical management. In: Wilkins RH, Rengacharry SS, editors. Neurosurgery. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1985. p. 635–54.
- Pollack IF. Pediatric brain tumors. Semin Surg Oncol. 1999;16:73–90.

- G. Neuloh et al.
- Schucht P, Seidel K, Murek M, Stieglitz LH, Urwyler N, Wiest R, et al. Low-threshold monopolar motor mapping for resection of lesions in motor eloquent areas in children and adolescents. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;13(5):572–8.
- Schucht P, Seidel K, Beck J, Murek M, Jilch A, Wiest R, et al. Intraoperative monopolar mapping during 5-ALA-guided resections of glioblastomas adjacent to motor eloquent areas: evaluation of resection rates and neurological outcome. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;37(6):E16.
- Landazuri P, Eccher M. Simultaneous direct cortical motor evoked potential monitoring and subcortical mapping for motor pathway preservation during brain tumor surgery: is it useful? J Clin Neurophysiol. 2013;30(6):623–5.
- Obermueller T, Schaeffner M, Shiban E, Droese D, Negwer C, Meyer B, et al. Intraoperative neuromonitoring for function-guided resection differs for supratentorial motor eloquent gliomas and metastases. BMC Neurol. 2015;15:211.
- Shiban E, Krieg SM, Obermueller T, Wostrack M, Meyer B, Ringel F. Continuous subcortical motor evoked potential stimulation using the tip of an ultrasonic aspirator for the resection of motor eloquent lesions. J Neurosurg. 2015;123(2):301–6.
- *Krieg SM, Schaffner M, Shiban E, Droese D, Obermuller T, Gempt J, et al. Reliability of intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring using motor evoked potentials during resection of metastases in motor-eloquent brain regions: clinical article. J Neurosurg. 2013;118(6):1269–78.
- Gempt J, Krieg SM, Huttinger S, Buchmann N, Ryang YM, Shiban E, et al. Postoperative ischemic changes after glioma resection identified by diffusionweighted magnetic resonance imaging and their association with intraoperative motor evoked potentials. J Neurosurg. 2013;119(4):829–36.
- Krieg SM, Shiban E, Droese D, Gempt J, Buchmann N, Pape H, et al. Predictive value and safety of intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring with motor evoked potentials in glioma surgery. Neurosurgery. 2012;70(5):1060–70. discussion 70–1.
- Yasargil MG, Reeves JD. Tumours of the limbic and paralimbic system. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1992;116(2–4):147–9.
- Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(10):987–96.
- Lang FF, Olansen NE, DeMonte F, Gokaslan ZL, Holland EC, Kalhorn C, et al. Surgical resection of intrinsic insular tumors: complication avoidance. J Neurosurg. 2001;95(4):638–50.
- *Neuloh G, Pechstein U, Schramm J. Motor tract monitoring during insular glioma surgery. J Neurosurg. 2007;106(4):582–92.
- Neuloh G, Simon M, Schramm J. Stroke prevention during surgery for deep-seated gliomas. Neurophysiol Clin. 2007;37(6):383–9.

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

- Kumabe T, Higano S, Takahashi S, Tominaga T. Ischemic complications associated with resection of opercular glioma. J Neurosurg. 2007;106(2):263–9.
- Ojemann G, Ojemann J, Lettich E, Berger M. Cortical language localization in left, dominant hemisphere. An electrical stimulation mapping investigation in 117 patients. J Neurosurg. 1989;71(3):316–26.
- Neuloh G. Time to revisit VEP monitoring? Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2010;152(4):649–50.
- Luo Y, Regli L, Bozinov O, Sarnthein J. Correction: clinical utility and limitations of intraoperative monitoring of visual evoked potentials. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0133819.
- *Gras-Combe G, Moritz-Gasser S, Herbet G, Duffau H. Intraoperative subcortical electrical mapping of optic radiations in awake surgery for glioma involving visual pathways. J Neurosurg. 2012;117(3):466–73.
- 22. Szelenyi A, Bello L, Duffau H, Fava E, Feigl GC, Galanda M, et al. Intraoperative electrical stimulation in awake craniotomy: methodological aspects of current practice. Neurosurg Focus. 2010;28:E7.
- Deletis V. Intraoperative neurophysiology and methodologies used to monitor the functional integrity of the motor system. In: Deletis V, Shils J, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery. London: Academic; 2002. p. 25–51.
- 24. Bello L, Riva M, Fava E, Ferpozzi V, Castellano A, Raneri F, et al. Tailoring neurophysiological strategies with clinical context enhances resection and safety and expands indications in gliomas involving motor pathways. Neuro Oncol. 2014;16(8):1110–28.
- 25. Romstock J, Fahlbusch R, Ganslandt O, Nimsky C, Strauss C. Localisation of the sensorimotor cortex during surgery for brain tumours: feasibility and waveform patterns of somatosensory evoked potentials. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2002;72(2):221–9.
- Cedzich C, Taniguchi M, Schafer S, Schramm J. Somatosensory evoked potential phase reversal and direct motor cortex stimulation during surgery in and around the central region. Neurosurgery. 1996;38(5):962–70.
- *Neuloh G, Schramm J. Motor evoked potential monitoring for the surgery of brain tumours and vascular malformations. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2004;29:171–228.

- *Taniguchi M, Cedzich C, Schramm J. Modification of cortical stimulation for motor evoked potentials under general anesthesia: technical description. Neurosurgery. 1993;32(2):219–26.
- *Kombos T, Suess O, Ciklatekerlio O, Brock M. Monitoring of intraoperative motor evoked potentials to increase the safety of surgery in and around the motor cortex. J Neurosurg. 2001;95(4):608–14.
- *Neuloh G, Pechstein U, Cedzich C, Schramm J. Motor evoked potential monitoring with supratentorial surgery. Neurosurgery. 2004;54(5):1061–70. discussion 70–2.
- Neuloh G, Bien CG, Clusmann H, von Lehe M, Schramm J. Continuous motor monitoring enhances functional preservation and seizure-free outcome in surgery for intractable focal epilepsy. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2010;152(8):1307–14.
- 32. Ottenhausen M, Krieg SM, Meyer B, Ringel F. Functional preoperative and intraoperative mapping and monitoring: increasing safety and efficacy in glioma surgery. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(1):E3.

Questions

- 1. Under general anesthesia, all of the following can be monitored except
 - A. Motor function
 - B. Sensory function
 - C. Speech function
- 2. True or false: Brain tumors often metastasize to other parts of the body.
- 3. MEP changes during surgery may be due to:
 - A. Anesthesiologist using muscle relaxants
 - B. Technical cause by the technologist
 - C. Surgical causes by the surgeons
 - D. Technical factors caused by the surgeon
 - E. All of the above

Answers

- 1. C
- 2. False
- 3. E

Surgery for Infratentorial Mass

Michael J. Malcharek and Gerhard Schneider

Key Learning Points

Introduction

- Surgery in the infratentorial space most commonly involves tumors affecting the brainstem and cranial nerves.
- Monitoring commonly involves EMG of cranial nerves at risk. ABRs, SSEPs, and MEPs may be used in addition to monitor brainstem integrity.
- Injury to the facial nerve and auditory nerve are common complications which prompts monitoring of ABRs and EMG.
- The most common tumors are in the cerebellopontine angle and are often acoustic neuromas (vestibular schwannomas).
- An NIH panel noted facial nerve monitoring during acoustic neuromas improves outcome.
- Surgical approaches to CPA tumors vary with the size and location of tumors and the risk of hearing loss.

M.J. Malcharek, M.D., Ph.D. (🖂) Division of Neuroanaesthesia and Intraoperative Neuromonitoring, Department of Anaesthesiology, Intensive Care and Pain Therapy, Klinikum St. Georg gGmbH Leipzig, Delitzscher Strasse 141, 04129 Leipzig, Saxony, Germany e-mail: mmalcharek@me.com

G. Schneider, M.D.

Department of Anesthesiology, Emergency Medicine and Pain Therapy, University Witten/Herdecke, Helios Clinic Wuppertal, Wuppertal, North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany e-mail: gerhard.schneider@uni-wh.de The infratentorial space is that region of the intracranial space including the posterior cranial fossa below the tentorium cerebella. The tentorium cerebella are an extension of the dura mater which separates the basal surface of the occipital lobe and temporal lobes from the cerebellum and brainstem. This region includes all of the brainstem with the exception of the superior portion of the mesencephalon, which extends through an opening in the tentorium. The tentorium is a rather rigid structure such that volume expansion above or below can lead to transtentorial herniation often noted clinically by pressure on the third cranial nerve and a dilated pupil (mydriasis) on the affected side.

Several aspects of the central nervous system here make surgery risky. For example, this region has a large number of important neurological structures and contains every efferent pathway in the CNS. The blood supply is distinct from the supratentorial space (paired vertebral arteries form the basilar artery), which can be occluded by neck extension or rotation and there are large venous sinuses within the dural folds of the tentorium, which can entrain air resulting in air embolism (especially with surgery in the sitting position).

A variety of surgical procedures are conducted in this space. These include microvascular decompression for trigeminal neuralgia (see Chap. 25), surgery for hemifacial spasm (see

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_24

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Chap. 26), as well as removal of tumors and vascular malformations. The same vascular abnormalities that occur in the supratentorial space also occur in the infratentorial space. In addition, spontaneous hemorrhage can occur, particularly in the cerebellum where 20% of all hypertensive bleeds occur [1].

Tumors are the most common reason for surgery in the posterior fossa [1]. The tentorium demarcates the incidence of brain tumors in adults and children. In adults, one-third of all tumors are located in this region whereas two-thirds of childhood tumors are located here [1-3]. For tumors located below the surface, mapping techniques have been developed to locate safe-entry zones for surgical access (Chap. 7). In adults, the most common primary tumors are acoustic neuromas which are also called vestibular schwannomas and often are associated with neurofibromatosis NF II. Metastases are also common and usually come from primary lesions in the lung or breast. In children, the most common tumors under age 1 year are astrocytomas, cerebellar primary neuroectodermal tumors, meduloblastomas, ependymoma, and brainstem gliomas. For children under the age of 2 years, 70% are meduloblastomas or low-grade gliomas.

Because there is little space for swelling within the tumor (especially with metastases which are usually highly vascular), obstruction of the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) drainage from the cerebrum is common resulting in hydrocephalus and abnormalities of cranial nerve function (such as diplopia, loss of airway protective reflexes) or changes in respiratory function or consciousness and may prompt emergent surgery for CSF diversion or decompression. This may be particularly urgent when bleeding into the space occurs.

Most infratentorial tumors are benign but the density of vital neurologic structures in the posterior fossa requires a thorough preoperative assessment and careful surgical technique to avoid brainstem damage. Tumors located in the space between the cerebellum and pons, known as the cerebellopontine angle (CPA), are the most common neoplasms in the posterior fossa of the adult patient, accounting for 5–10% of intracra-

nial tumors. Eighty-five percent of CPA tumors are acoustic neuromas which are a benign tumor of the covering of the vestibular component of the auditory nerve (cranial nerve VIII), usually starting in the internal auditory canal and growing outward into the posterior fossa eventually affecting the cerebellum and brainstem. This often presents as tinnitus, hearing loss, or vertigo and unsteadiness. Acoustic neuromas and other tumors in the CPA can also cause signs and symptoms secondary to compression of nearby cranial nerves, particularly cranial nerves V and VII (facial nerve) [1].

Although facial nerve dysfunction is not a common presenting symptom, it is of particular note with surgery for acoustic neuromas because, in addition to compression with tumor growth, the facial nerve's visual identity may be obscured by the tumor. Facial nerve palsy is one of the two most common postoperative complications of surgery for acoustic neuromas (the other is a CSF leak) [1]. Experience has noted that if monitoring can assist in keeping the nerve structurally intact during surgery, facial nerve function has a good chance of recovery even if weakness is noted immediately postoperatively. In these cases, over 60% of patients with intact nerves at the conclusion of surgery will regain at least partial function several months postoperatively [4].

Because of the improvement in outcome in posterior fossa surgery seen with facial nerve monitoring [5, 6], a National Institutes of Health (NIH) consensus panel concluded, "the benefits of routine intraoperative monitoring of the facial nerve have been clearly established [in vestibular schwannoma]. This technique should be included in surgical therapy" [7]. Thereafter, facial nerve monitoring became a standard of care in surgery in the United States for acoustic neuroma and is commonly monitored in other surgeries in the CPA [7].

The functional integrity of the facial nerve and its corticobulbar pathway can be evaluated using electromyography (EMG) after direct stimulation of facial nerve (mapping), free running EMG (monitoring), and corticobulbar motor-evoked potentials (coMEP) after transcranial stimulation. EMG techniques can be used to monitor cranial nuclei and cranial nerves which may be at risk, as well as differentiating EMG responses from nerves which might be confused with responses from the facial nerve. For mapping, stimulation of brainstem tissue can be used to identify the facial nerve in the operative field and also identify the location of multiple cranial nuclei to allow "mapping" of the brainstem surface to find the safe-entry zones for surgery on tumors located deep to the surface [8].

In addition to the facial nerve, a large number of other structures are at risk for injury. If not already damaged, hearing loss may occur due to damage to the adjacent auditory fibers of cranial nerve VIII. Hence, salvaging hearing on the operative or nonoperative side using auditory brainstem response (ABR) may be part of the surgical and monitoring strategy. The choice of other electrophysiological tests strongly depends on the specifics of the surgical approach and plan. This includes the positioning of the patient, placement of retractors, tumor resection, and preparation of nerve tissue or blood vessels. As such, neurophysiological considerations for monitoring cases of CPA surgery include the assessment of sensory (SSEP, ABR) and motor pathways (MEP and cranial nerve EMG).

Knowledge of the particular steps of the surgical procedures and efficient communication with the neurosurgeon is essential for the neurophysiologist to focus on appropriate intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IOM) modalities. For example, there are three basic surgical approaches to surgery in the posterior fossa and each has implications for monitoring [1]. The midline suboccipital approach is the most common and offers good exposure to the midline structures (including the vertebral and basilar arteries) and cerebellum. The middle fossa approach is suitable for small tumors when hearing preservation is desired. A variety of other approaches have been used depending on the need for access to specific structures. For surgery on tumors in the CPA, the retrosigmoid and translabyrinthine approaches are also common [9]. The retrosigmoid approach is a versatile approach which allows good access to the midline and the

CPA region and reduces the amount of cerebellar retraction needed compared to the midline suboccipital approach. The translabyrinthine approach provides excellent access to the entire CPA region and excellent exposure for acoustic neuromas (but provides poor access to the inferior aspect of the posterior fossa). The translabyrinthine approach can be used for tumors larger than 3 cm or for smaller tumors when preservation of hearing is not attempted because this approach sacrifices hearing on the operative side. It is thought to have lower morbidity for these surgeries (notably headaches) and better exposure of the facial nerve in some circumstances.

Resection of a Meningioma in the Right Cerebellopontine Angle

A 64-year-old woman presented with a history of walking difficulties, dizziness, and right-sided scotoma. She was scheduled for suboccipital craniotomy and resection of a meningioma in the right CPA (Fig. 24.1). The procedure was planned in the sitting position.



Fig. 24.1 MRI of 64-year-old woman that shows a large tumor mass in the right cerebellopontine angle (CPA). The cerebellum is shifted to the left hemisphere and the brainstem is compressed

Total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) was used to maintain general anesthesia (infusion of 5 mg/kg/h propofol (83 µg/kg/min) and 0.4 µg/kg/min remifentanil). Additional neuromuscular blockade (NMB) was avoided because of intended monitoring of the corticobulbar tract (pathway of cranial nerve VII).

The level of hypnosis was monitored using the EEG-based bispectral index (BIS) recorded from the left forehead. A transesophageal Doppler probe was inserted after positioning of the patient to detect air embolism.

Potential Problems and Structures at Risk

Brain surgery in the sitting position bears the risk of air embolism. In addition, sufficient perfusion pressure must be maintained.

The sitting position has some potential benefits. It allows a better exposure of the surgical field, improved drainage of CSF, reduced blood loss, less tissue damage, reduced ICP, and decreased rate of cranial nerve damage. Potential risks of the sitting position include postoperative quadriplegia, damage to peripheral or cranial nerves, postoperative pneumocephalus, and venous or paradoxical air emboli.

Sudden alterations of the cardiovascular and respiratory systems may occur during or after brainstem manipulation with surgery in the posterior fossa or as a result of the patient's pathology due to the tight space. The size of the posterior fossa is limited and a small increase of infratentorial volume may produce high pressure on the brainstem with dramatic changes in the vital signs and mental status. This may produce sudden apnea without previous warning signs, e.g., changes in alertness or consciousness. Isolated pathology in the posterior fossa will not lead to dilatation of the pupils. Preoperatively, posterior fossa tumors are associated with the risk of hydrocephalus, damage to cranial nerves, and pressure to the brainstem. Intraoperative manipulations of the brainstem may induce sudden changes in heart rate, blood pressure and arrhythmia (pons, roots of cranial nerve V (trigeminus), IX (glossopharyngeus), and X (vagus)), or bradycardia (periventricular reticular formation). gray, Postoperative complications can occur as sequelae of damage to the cranial nerves. Damage to the trigeminal nerve (V) may lead to lesions of the cornea and damage to the facial nerve (VII) may lead to exsiccation of the eye. Impairment of the vestibulocochlear nerve (VIII) may induce postoperative dizziness and hearing loss and injury to the caudal brain nerves (IX, X, XII) impairs swallowing and increases the risk of aspiration.

Postoperative complications may occur due to swelling or bleeding and can be manifested as sudden apnea or alterations in mental status. Hyperperfusion or clotted blood vessels, leakage of CSF or disruption of CSF circulation, and pneumocephalus are typical postoperative complications.

Monitoring

The goals of hemodynamic monitoring are to ensure adequate central nervous system perfusion, maintain cardiorespiratory stability, and detect and treat air embolism. Blood pressure should be measured at the head level to ensure adequate cerebral perfusion pressure while central venous pressure is measured at the heart level. For monitoring air embolism, transesophageal echo (TEE) is the most sensitive method of detection. However, precordial Doppler is the most widely used method.

Neurophysiological Monitoring

A. Positioning of the patient in the sitting position requires flexion of the head and may lead to a dramatic decrease in the perfusion of the cervical spine. This is due to different perfusion zones, especially of the posterior spinal arteries at the cervical and upper thoracic levels. Since the dorsal columns are served by the posterior cervical arteries, monitoring of the somatosensory tract via SSEPs is useful for detecting regional ischemia. Figure 24.2a, b



(Intensity 25 mA / impulse width 0.2 ms / positive square / pulse rate 4.7/s / average 200 / bandpass 5 - 900 Hz)

* positioning of the patient ** repositioning of the head

Fig. 24.2 Cervical and cortical SSEP recordings after stimulation of the left (**a**) and right (**b**) median nerve during positioning of the patient in the sitting position. Anteflexion of the head (*) led to dramatic depression of

shows recordings of the SSEPs after stimulation of the left and right median nerves during positioning of the patient's head. Only a few minutes after flexion, the amplitudes of the cervical (C7 level) and cortical responses from both sides were dramatically reduced. Following correction of the head position, all the SSEP responses recovered. Some teams also monitor motor-evoked potentials to assess ischemia in the motor tracts with positioning.

A global reduction in the amplitude of both cervical and cortical responses may also be due to a global change of the patient physiology or systematic technical errors and such causes should be ruled out. Appropriate stimulation can be verified by assessing the evoked response at the level of the Erb's point. Appropriate positions and contact impedances of the

cervical and cortical amplitudes. Recovery of all responses after repositioning of the head (**). No remarkable change of latencies was found

recording electrodes must be verified. General anesthesia should be maintained at as steady a state as possible to minimize amplitude changes as a result of the anesthetic agents. In this case, there was no SSEP recording at the Erb's point and therefore a systematic technical error cannot be excluded (e.g., electrical disturbance of the reference electrode). Therefore, the electrodes were rechecked. With bilateral stimulation and symmetric changes, an error at the stimulus level is very unlikely. There was no change of the continuous propofol infusion and no bolus doses were given.

B. *The placement of retractors* for approaching the tumor can cause shifting of cerebellar tissue which can either involve direct compression of the vestibulocochlear nerve (CN VIII) or indirect impairment of the brainstem. Auditory



Fig. 24.3 Recordings of ipsilateral ABRs after stimulation of the right (**a**) and left (**b**) ear monitoring the episode of retractor placement. Notice the initially prolonged latency of peak V in the right (tumor side) and the unfavorable signal-to-noise ratio with unstable recordings of peak I and III. Peak V is reproducible and stable.

brainstem responses (ABRs) provide excellent information about the integrity of the auditory pathway and are sensitive to ischemia or tissue damage to the brainstem.

Ipsilateral recordings of ABRs after stimulation of the right and left ear are shown in Fig. 24.3a, b. In contrast to ABRs acquired on the left, the initial recordings from the right side show unstable waves I–III. In addition, the latency of the IV/V complex and the interpeak latencies of I–V were prolonged on the right side (Table 24.1). It is likely that the large size of the tumor and chronic compression of the brainstem led to instability of particular waves and prolongation of the conduction time. Immediately after positioning the retractor (*), the amplitude of peak V (right) dropped about 40%. The surgeon was informed by the neurophysiologist and with the removal of the retractor (**), the response completely recovered. In contrast, no change was observed in the left-sided response

Table 24.1 ABR ipsilateral recordings

Side of stimulation	Right			Left		
Peaks	Ι	III	V	Ι	III	V
Latency (ms)	1.9	n.r.	7.8 (†)	1.8	4.1	6.6
Amplitude (nV)			328			564
IPL I–III (ms)	n.r.			2.3		
IPL (I–V) (ms)	5.9 (†)			4.8		
IPL III–V (ms)		n.r.			2.5	

Listing of initial latencies of peak I, III, and V as well as the amplitude of peak V and interpeak latencies (IPL) I–III, I–V, III–V of ipsilaterally recorded ABRs after stimulation of the left and right ear. Latencies of peak V right and IPL I–V are prolonged. Peaks I–IV are not reproducible on the right side. Amplitude of peak V from the right ABR is about half the size of peak V of the left ABR

Peak III, IPL I–III, and IPL III–V are not reproducible (n.r.) on the right side

The increase of latencies of waves III–V can also be caused by systemic hypothermia and to a much lesser degree, by general anesthesia (TIVA or balanced anesthesia). But in those cases, the increase of latencies should be bilateral and should have reached their maximum at the time of positioning the retractor. To be able to separate those effects, it is helpful to set a second referential baseline prior to the opening of the dura.

As seen in Fig. 24.3a, the IV/V complex from the right side, which initially remained stable, changed during the placement of the retractor. The neurosurgeon was immediately informed when the amplitude dropped almost 50% even though the latency did not change. After removing the retractor, flushing the surgical field with warm saline and then repositioning the retractor, the amplitudes of the IV/V complex recovered. In cases when the latency of wave V increases more than 0.5 ms, the surgeon should also be informed.

As seen in Fig. 24.3, visual analysis of the waveforms indicates an unfavorable signal-tonoise ratio of the right-sided ABRs in comparison to the left ABRs. This is not uncommon because of changes of local temperature and manipulation around cerebellar tissue.

C. Identification of the facial nerve: Depending on the position and the size of the tumor, the surgeon should try to localize the facial nerve prior to resection in order to establish a baseline for later assessments during surgical resection (Fig. 24.4d). Sometimes the facial nerve is pushed behind the tumor so the surgeon has to start resection first. Mapping of nerve tissue may even be impossible before large parts of the tumor mass have been removed.



Fig. 24.4 (a) Recordings demonstrate the situation of difficult identification of functional facial nerve fibers. After stimulation of a questionable structure (intensity 1 mA, bipolar concentric hand probe electrode), the surgeon was not sure whether they had damaged facial nerve

tissue. Unchanged corticobulbar motor-evoked potentials (coMEPs) presume an intact corticobulbar pathway and suppose no lesion of the facial nerve (**b**, **c**). Identification of the facial nerve (**d**) after final resection of the tumor (intensity 0.05 mA)

EMG (DNS VII right) 10 min after NMB



С

a EMG (DNS VII right) prior NMB

(Intensity 100 mA / Impuls width 0.8 ms / ISI 2 ms / 1-5 pulses / filtering: bandpass 120-2000 Hz)

Fig. 24.5 Demonstration of the dependence of electromyography (EMG) and coMEP recordings on neuromuscular blockade (NMB). Traces of EMG (**a**) and coMEP (**b**) recordings from different facial muscles in the absence of muscle relaxants. All coMEP responses could be recorded after transcranial electrical stimulation (C3-Cz, impulse duration 1 ms (alternating impulse), five pulses with a multipulse rate of 0.2/s). No response was recorded from the nasalis muscle. To evaluate the possibility of superficial stimulation of facial muscles, a single pulse control was applied next to multipulse stimulation. After administering 40 mg rocuronium (train of four (TOF)=0/4), EMG responses were dramatically diminished and (c) coMEPs recorded from the orbicularis oculi muscle were abolished. There also was almost no response from the orbicularis oris and mentalis muscles (d)

D. *The tumor resection* is the most dangerous part of the procedure in which iatrogenic damage of the vestibulocochlear, trigeminal, and facial nerve can occur. This is seen if the facial nerve, clinically intact, is fanned out by the tumor mass. In these cases, the surgeon has to frequently switch between resection and mapping of the facial nerve. A characteristic recording of EMG responses of the orbicularis oculi and oris muscle is shown in Fig. 24.4d. Since mapping by direct nerve stimulation (DNS) only provides information about the peripheral part of

the pathway, it can be beneficial to evaluate the entire corticobulbar tract by the monitoring of coMEP of the facial nerve (Fig. 24.4b, d). Figure 24.4a illustrates a situation where the surgeon was concerned about possible damage to questionable fibers. There was no response to DNS even with an increased intensity of mA (concentric bipolar hand probe). 1 However, unchanged recordings of the coMEP would suggest that the pathway was intact and if responses of the coMEP were also reduced, damage to the facial nerve would be very likely. Note that transcranial stimulation of the corticobulbar pathway can also result in direct stimulation of the facial nerve extracranially. A single pulse control stimulation is used to differentiate this extracranial activation because a single pulse will not activate the corticobulbar pathway like multipulse stimulation (Fig. 24.5).

- Unfortunately muscle relaxants and, to a much lesser degree, anesthetic agents may cause similar changes in EMG and coMEP recordings. Both methodologies strongly depend on the level of NMB. In addition, coMEPs are influenced by intravenous (e.g., propofol) and inhalational agents, especially if boluses are administered.
- Traces from a different patient, seen in Fig. 24.5ad, demonstrate changes in amplitude of EMG responses after DNS of the facial nerve and coMEPs under the influence of NMB. These results emphasize the deteriorating effect of muscle relaxants on EMG recordings. It is recommended that NMB be avoided when EMGs or MEPs are monitored. However, some investigators report the ability to monitor facial muscle activity under partial NMB. In the latter case, it is recommended to control the level of NMB by using train of four (TOF) monitoring and maintaining a level of at least two responses during TOF stimulation. If required, this may be reached by continuous infusion of a short-acting muscle relaxant.
- False-negative results of EMG recordings after DNS of the facial nerve can occur, especially in patients with large tumors due to accidental stimulation of motor fibers of the trigeminal

nerve. This leads to contractions of the masseter muscles and this EMG activity can spread and may be recorded by electrodes that are placed for recording the EMG of the facial muscles. In this case, the latencies of the EMG responses will help in the differential diagnosis. Usually, the peak latencies of EMG responses after DNS of the trigeminal nerve are less than 6 ms whereas the peak EMG latencies from stimulation of the facial nerve are longer than 8 ms.

- In cases of chronic compression of the trigeminal nerve by the tumor mass, we observed longer latencies of the trigeminal EMG than the facial nerve EMG. Thus, unless trigeminal activity is separately recorded (e.g., from the masseter muscle), false-negative results cannot be completely ruled out by recognition of latencies only.
- The patient was extubated immediately after surgery in the operating room and there was no clinical sign of damage of cranial nerves V, VII, and VIII. No somatosensory or motor deficits were detected as well.

References¹

- Porter SS, Sanan A, Rengachary SS. Surgery and anesthesia of the posterior fossa. In: Albin MS, editor. A textbook of neuroanesthesia with neurosurgical and neuroscience perspectives. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1997. p. 971–1008.
- Ojemann RG. Meningiomas: clinical features and surgical management. In: Wilkins RH, Rengacharry SS, editors. Neurosurgery. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1985. p. 635–54.
- Pollack IF. Pediatric brain tumors. Semin Surg Oncol. 1999;16:73–90.
- Yingling CD. Intraoperative monitoring of cranial nerves in skull base surgery. In: Jackler RK, Brackman DE, editors. Neurotology. St. Louis: Mosby; 1994. p. 967–1002.
- *Cheek JC. Posterior fossa intraoperative monitoring. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1993;10:412–24.
- Synopsis of a panel held at the annual meeting of the American Otological Society. Indications for cranial nerve monitoring during otologic and neurotologic surgery. Am J Otol. 1994;55:611–3.
- National Institute of Health (NIH). Consensus development conference (held December 11–13, 1991). Consens Statement. 1991:9.

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

- *Bricolo A, Sala F. Surgery of brainstem lesions. In: Deletis V, Shils JL, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery. Boston: Academic; 2002. p. 267–89.
- Jackler RK. Overview of surgical neurotology. In: Jackler RK, Brackman DE, editors. Neurotology. St. Louis: Mosby-Year Book; 1994. p. 651–84.

Questions

- The most common monitoring technique(s) used in infratentorial surgery include EMG of muscles innervated by cranial nerves and
 - a. ABRs
 - b. SSEPs
 - c. tcMEPs
 - d. A and B
- 2. The facial nerve can be monitored using EMG from the
 - a. Temporalis muscle
 - b. Orbicularis oculi muscle
 - c. Masseter muscle

- d. Orbicularis oris muscle
- e. B and D
- 3. The ABR can be monitored using all of the following EXCEPT
 - a. Scalp electrodes
 - b. Recordings from c.n. VIII
 - c. Electrodes on the cochlear nucleus
 - d. Corticobulbar responses
- 4. Which of the following surgical approaches to CPA tumors involves loss of the hearing apparatus preventing salvage of hearing
 - a. Retrosigmoid
 - b. Translabyrinthine
 - c. Suboccipital
 - d. None of the above
 - e. All of the above

Answers

- 1. d
- 2. e
- 3. d
- 4. b

Trigeminal Microvascular Decompression

Antoun Koht

Key Learning Points

- Trigeminal neuralgia is unilateral, recurrent episodes of severe pain can be triggered by minor stimulation.
- More common in females, right side and the distribution of V2 and V3.
- Microvascular decompression is effective management when medical treatments fail.
- Surgery may be associated with complications related to position, retractors, ischemia to the brainstem, 8th cranial nerve and other cranial nerves.
- Bradycardia, asystole, and trigeminal cardiac reflex can be associated with surgery.
- The causes of evoked potentials changes can be related to technical, positional, pharmacological, physiological, or surgical factors.

Introduction

Trigeminal pain is described as sudden, severe, unilateral, brief, recurrent episodes of sharp shooting pain in the distribution of one or more

A. Koht, M.D. (🖂)

Departments of Anesthesiology, Neurological Surgery and Neurology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 251 East Huron Street, F-5-704, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: a-koht@northwestern.edu of the trigeminal branches. It is more common in females, the right side of the face, and in the maxillary and mandibular branches of the trigeminal nerve, V2 and V3 [1]. The incidence is five in 100,000. Pain can be a sequel to normal stimuli such as eating or shaving. This pain is thought to be related to nerve compression by an artery or vein at the nerve dorsal root entry zone. Multiple vascular contacts including veins are common and not identifying all the contacts can be the reason for surgical treatment failure. In theory, the compression produces demyelination of nerve fibers that can affect transmission, processing, and the interpretation of impulses. The entry zone was first observed by Dandy in 1929. Later, Dodd proposed demyelination at the entry zone as the cause of pain that Gardner described as a short circuit of afferent stimuli. In addition, King suggested a central mechanism for pain in the trigeminal distribution. Jannetta reviewed the above information and promoted microvascular decompression (MVD) as an effective treatment [2]. Left untreated, the patient with trigeminal neuralgia proceeds to have shorter intervals free of pain and may progress to have another more complicated type 2 pain syndrome. Patients who fail medical management either because of pain control or excessive side effects are candidates for surgical treatment. An extensive radiological examination may include reliable threedimensional (3D) high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) with constructive

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_25

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

interference in steady state (CISS) or fast imaging employing steady state acquisition sequence (FIESTA) that can identify the location and degree of compression at the entry zone [3]. The clinical diagnosis combined with this expanded radiological examination and the intraoperative use of indocyanine (IC) green will lead to better preoperative planning and an improved surgical outcome [4–6].

Early surgical strategies were performed in the prone position with the goal of partially or completely cutting the trigeminal nerve. Since then, the surgery is commonly performed in the lateral position with the goal of decompressing the nerve through a small suboccipital, retromastoid craniectomy utilizing the microscope and more recently using an endoscopic technique [2, 7–9]. The use of endoscopy offers several advantages: a smaller incision, less tissue manipulation, excellent visualization, fewer complications, less postoperative pain, and a shorter hospital stay [10]. Other treatment modalities have been added to the management of trigeminal neuralgia such as stereotactic radiosurgery, percutaneous balloon compression, glycerol rhizolysis, percutaneous radiofrequency lesioning and the newly, albeit experimental, gasserian ganglion neuromodulation. In this chapter, we discuss a MVD done in the lateral position. However, there are complications that include incisional infection (1.3%), hearing loss (1.9%), brainstem and cerebral infarction, CSF leak (1.6%), facial nerve palsy (2.9%), facial numbress (9.1%) and to lesser degree diplopia, ataxia, meningitis, and hydrocephalus [1, 7]. The observed complications after MVD of the cranial nerves directly involved in the surgical approach, and specifically the cochlear cranial nerve, gave rise to cranial nerve monitoring during such surgical procedures [11, 12]. Monitoring select portions of the nervous system to minimize such complications is the essence of this book.

Presentation of Clinical Scenarios

Surgical success starts before incision. Proper positioning will make it easier to perform surgery and improper positioning may compromise the results. The patient is usually placed in the lateral position after induction of anesthesia and needed lines are secured. Pressure points should be padded, a pillow should be placed between the legs, and an axillary roll should be utilized. The patient position is secured using a bean bag, bolsters, or another mechanism. The head should be positioned and stabilized using a three-pin holding device, and rotated 10° away from the surgical side so that the plane of the surgical field is kept parallel to the floor. The neck is flexed so as to preserve at least a 2-cm distance between the mandible and sternum. Positioning is a shared responsibility between the anesthesiologist and surgeon to ensure adequate access into the superior posterior fossa and to maintain a line of sight to the 5th cranial nerve while not compromising intracranial arterial blood flow, venous drainage, or airway patency.

Attention must be paid to the positioning of both upper extremities. The dependent arm is at risk of vascular compromise and as a result an axillary roll must be carefully placed so that the pulse oximeter can be placed on this arm to detect vascular compromise. The nondependent arm is actually at a higher risk of nerve injury due to positioning. In order to provide more working room, the shoulder of the ipsilateral arm should be gently and carefully pulled inferiorly so as to avoid any excess traction on the upper brachial plexus. Monitoring during MVD will include all American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) standard monitors in addition to the neurophysiologic monitoring. Neurophysiologic monitoring should be directed to the structures at risk. The most commonly used monitoring modality is the auditory brainstem response (ABR), which is used to detect hearing loss. (For more information about ABRs, see Chap. 3, "Auditory-Evoked Potentials"). A recent review of the literature of MVD operations found the occurrence of facial nerve palsy to be 2.9% (0.5-6.2), facial numbness to be 9.1% (1.3-19.6), and postoperative mortality to be 0.1% (0.02–0.2). As a result, in addition to the use of ABRs during MVD procedures, such complications support the use of somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) and/or motor evoked potentials (MEPs) and cranial nerve monitoring as well [1]. Monitoring using

these modalities allows for the detection of compromised circulation to the brainstem as well as functional changes due to positioning. Laser evoked potentials and trigeminal evoked potentials have been used as research tools but are not routinely used [13, 14]. The rest of this chapter includes six cases: five MVD cases monitored with only ABRs, and one case (#2) monitored with ABRs and MEPs.

Case #1

A 60-year-old, 80-kg woman with left-sided trigeminal neuralgia refractory to medical management was admitted for MVD. She was brought to the operating room, moved onto the surgical table, and ASA standard monitors were applied. Induction of anesthesia included lidocaine (100 mg); propofol, 1.5 mg/kg; and rocuronium, 0.7 mg/kg, with simultaneous initiation of infusions of remifentanil, 0.1 µg/kg/min, and propofol, 25 µg/kg/min. Direct laryngoscopy and endotracheal intubation was performed with a 7.5-mm endotracheal tube secured to the right side of the mouth. A soft bite block was inserted between molars on the left side. A radial arterial line, an additional intravenous line, and a Foley

Fig. 25.1 Technical ABR changes. The first tracing on the top is the baseline while the second set (second from top) was taken during obstruction of the silicone earpiece tube. The lower three traces are taken after the release of obstruction





What was the Cause of This Change? Was it Surgical, Pharmacologic, Physiologic, Positional, or Technical?

A surgical cause could be easily eliminated since the change occurred prior to surgical incision. Changes related to anesthetic agents are usually bilateral. However, because the ABR changes were unilateral (the responses to right ear stimulation were normal), an anesthetic-related cause was unlikely. In addition, short latency ABRs (those measured early in the first 10 ms after stimulation) are generally resilient to anesthetic changes. When changes do occur in the presence of inhalation anesthetic agents, they are limited to small increases in latency that do not exceed 0.75 ms. Nitrous oxide has no effect on ABRs, and narcotics, propofol, and barbiturates minimally affect ABRs [15]. Midlatency ABRs $(\geq 50 \text{ ms})$ are affected by anesthetics, but these were not monitored in this case. The anesthetic agents used for this particular patient had very little effect and could be excluded as the cause of the change.

Physiologic changes related to hypothermia may occur while surgery is in progress-when the brain is exposed to a relatively cool ambient temperature and cold solutions are used for irrigation. The effect of hypothermia has been reported to either increase or decrease the amplitude of the ABR. Some reports state that in the face of hypothermia, latency increases of about 7 % for each 1 °C will affect wave I of the ABR, and below 26 °C this effect will double [15]. This did not occur in this case. Other physiologic factors such as hypotension, hypoxemia, and low arterial CO₂ concentration can cause bilateral changes. In this case, there were no such changes in any of these physiologic parameters. In rare situations when a major pathological condition is present in one ear, a physiologic change may lead to bilateral signal changes, with the changes more pronounced on the side with pathology.

We are left with the possibility of either a positional or technical etiology for the encountered change. Because the normal first tracing was done after the patient was positioned with the head fixed without any head or position readjustment, positioning as the cause of the ABR change could be excluded as well.

Technical reasons for ABR changes may include the failure to generate or deliver proper stimulation or the inability to collect and analyze the signals [15]. Disconnected and broken wires and operator errors account for some of the technical changes. Fluid in the ear canal, kinking of the silicone extension tube, or complete or partial dislodgement of an earpiece can all interfere with stimulation intensity and result in decreased amplitude or completely obliterated responses. Placing cotton and wax or ointment over the earpiece protects against such a problem. The inability to properly collect signals may be related to high impedance, broken wires, noise artifacts, and the use of electrical cautery. The use of an ultrasound aspirator or monopolar cautery can saturate the amplifier and lead to poor signal acquisition. In addition, the use of an integer number for the stimulation rate can cause the acquisition system to lock onto rather than to cancel out 60/50 Hz interference commonly associated with the frequency at which power is being delivered and thus interfere with signal acquisition. For more information about technical problems, see Chap. 16, "Wiring and Electrical Interference in Intraoperative Monitoring".

In this case, a review of the potential technical causes for loss of the ABR response revealed that a near complete kink of the silicone extension tube following draping was the cause. The signals recovered immediately after releasing the kink, allowing the appropriate intensity sound stimulus to be applied.

Case #2

In another scenario similar to Case #1, a 58-yearold man with left-sided disease was placed in the lateral position. The surgeon requested IOM monitoring, to include ABR, cranial nerves 5 and 7 in addition to MEP. Baseline responses revealed normal ABRs on both sides. The MEP baseline responses revealed an absent left hand, but present left foot responses and the presence of both hand and foot responses from the right side (Fig. 25.2).



Fig. 25.2 Left panel is tc-MEP from the right hemisphere, showing the missing left hand responses and present left foot response. The right side panel is left tc-MEP with both hand and foot responses

What Could Be the Cause?

In this case we have normal ABRs with absent left hand MEP responses. As in the first case, the surgical procedure had not yet begun, so a surgical cause for the absence of the response was excluded. Anesthesia could be ruled out as a cause since there were no changes in the anesthetic delivery or depth of anesthesia. In addition, changes due to anesthetics are usually bilateral. Physiologic changes such as those due to hypotension, hypothermia, hypocarbia, and hypoxemia are usually bilateral as well. Because there were no changes in any of these parameters, physiologic causes for the absent left hand MEP response were eliminated. However, localized ischemia in the left arm due to a tourniquet is possible, but none had been used. The possibility of a technical cause for the absent response exists. A technical cause would involve either stimulation or recording. Two needles were used for MEP stimulation and because responses were present from the right side and the left lower extremity, stimulation can be excluded as a cause for the absent response. The other possibility to explain this absence is the recording needles in the left hand. These were examined and found to be fine.

Low-intensity stimulation is not a possible cause since there were small responses from the other side indicating that the stimulation intensity was strong enough to elicit responses from both sides. In addition, if responses were absent, it would usually be the foot rather than the hand response if the stimulation intensity was too weak. We are left with positioning as the cause of the absent response. Could this be caused by head position and ischemia-related changes? This is unlikely since the ABRs were normal bilaterally and the right side and left foot MEP responses were normal as well. A very localized ischemic event or a stroke is possible but these cannot be diagnosed based on a clinical examination only. A close examination of the left arm revealed that the arm had been stretched backward by the tape used to keep the arm away from the surgical field. Releasing the tape and moving the arm slightly forward resulted in an immediate recovery of the MEP signals. Their absence may have been due to stretching of nerves or ischemia produced by the abnormal position. A pulse oximeter had been placed on the fingers of the right rather than the left hand to monitor for possible ischemia resulting from the lateral positioning, and therefore we were not able to confirm ischemia as the cause of



Fig. 25.3 Left side panel is stimulating from right side tc-MEP showing recovery of the left hand responses after adjusting the arm position. The right side is normal responses from left tc-MEP

the absent signals. The fast signal recovery points to ischemia as the cause of the absent responses rather than stretching. Left uncorrected, the positioning may have resulted in nerve injury.

Changes in the ABR due to extreme head positions have been reported by Grundy et al. [16]. Severe flexion and twisting of the head resulting from a patient being positioned in the lateral position may alter the relationship of intracranial structures, increase intracranial pressure, decrease cerebral blood flow, and disturb blood flow to the 8th cranial nerve and other areas of the brain, which can result in changes of the ABRs and MEPs. Such changes are generally corrected with readjustment of the head position and restoration of normal blood flow. Inspection of the head position in this case indicated a slight distortion of the head position but major distortion of the arm. After repositioning of the arm to a more neutral position, the signals readily recovered (Fig. 25.3). This patient may also have had abnormal anatomy or some pathology accentuated by the extreme position that led to changes in the MEPs. If the ABR, SSEP, and MEP baselines are obtained after a patient's positioning is completed and if the signals are severely abnormal, it may be necessary to readjust the position of the head and extremities.

Case #3

This case is similar to the first case. Baseline values were obtained and the signals were stable before and after positioning of the patient. The surgical procedure began, the dura was opened, and the surgical microscope was used. The surgeon placed and then adjusted a self-retaining surgical retractor several times in order to facilitate surgical exposure and to decompress the trigeminal nerve. During this period, the technologist observed gradual changes of the ABR signals, which included a 5–15% increase in wave V latency and a 40% decrease in wave V amplitude from the ipsilateral ear (Fig. 25.4).

Is This a Significant Change?

Polo et al. [17] designated a 0.4-ms (7%) change in latency of wave V as an early warning sign, a 0.6-ms (10%) change in latency as the time to alert the surgeon, and a 1-ms (17%) latency change as serious enough that it needed to be addressed especially if it was associated with a change in amplitude [17]. In contrast, in 2006, Ramnarayan and Mackenzie [18] found a 0.9-ms latency



Fig. 25.4 Technical and surgical (retractor ABR changes). The trace on the top is the baseline. Technical change is the second tracing (from top). Cerebellum

increase and 50% amplitude drop to be significant and associated with postoperative hearing loss. Our in-house criteria for alerting the surgeon of a potentially significant change is a progressive 5, 10, and 15% increase in latency. Some authors depend on latency alone, but Hatayama and Moller [19] believe changes in wave V amplitude are important and should be used as warning criteria when they decrease by 40%. The changes observed in this case did reach a significant level that required the surgeon's attention.

What is the Cause of This Change?

Technical and positional causes were excluded, as the patient remained in a stable position and proper functioning of the monitoring system was verified. Both the ambient temperature and the patient's measured temperature were unchanged, no cold irrigation had been used, and the vital signs were stable. Physiologic causes were therefore unlikely to be the cause of the observed ABR changes. Since the changes were unilateral, pharmacologic- and anesthetic-related causes were doubtful, so surgical factors remained as the likely potential etiology.

retractor was placed at 9:55 and released at 10:55. Changes in waves I, III, and V can be seen between these times

Surgical causes of ABR changes can be divided into three categories [20]. The first group includes gradual changes in ABR signals from stimulation of the ear on the operative side that recover with surgical maneuvers such as repositioning of the retractor. These are usually not associated with hearing loss. The second group includes ABR changes where there is an abrupt loss of all waves except wave I on the operative side that do not recover with surgical maneuvers. Such changes are usually associated with postoperative hearing loss. The third group of changes consists of a loss of all ABR signals after wave I on the contralateral side of surgery. This change is usually associated with brainstem dysfunction and may result in severe postoperative neurological deficits beyond just hearing loss.

Surgical causes for ABR changes may be due to mechanical or thermal irritation or injury to the 8th cranial nerve or its blood supply, which result in abrupt loss of the signals [15]. Coagulation of small blood vessels that provide blood flow to the cochlea or of veins that drain from the brainstem may result in such changes. Slower changes in the signals without complete loss may be a consequence of direct compression or traction on the nerve or indirect traction on the nerve through cerebellar retraction and tension on the bridging arachnoid bands. Indirect interference with blood supply to the cochlear nerve caused by compression, coagulation, spasm, or intentional occlusion can lead to varying degrees of ABR changes. Retraction of the cerebellum to improve surgical exposure may lead to stretching and potential damage of the 8th cranial nerve, and be associated with an alteration in ABR signals. Such damage can be more critical in MVD than in cases of tumor resection. During cases of tumor resection, distortion of the nerve by stretch or compression may be better tolerated having occurred over time, whereas during MVD, this anatomical stretch represents an acute insult. Changes related to traction of the cerebellum recover soon, often within minutes after retractor adjustment. If abnormal signals persist, the retractor should be completely withdrawn, and the 8th cranial nerve checked for any evidence of compression including from the Teflon pledgets utilized by the surgeon to isolate the trigeminal nerve from surrounding structures impinging on it.

A clinical situation in which there is wave I delay or loss, with wave V delayed but present, may be the result of mechanical or thermal damage to the cochlea. The presence of wave I associated with equal changes in waves III and V is related to a more proximal injury to the 8th cranial nerve and could be attributed to causes such as cerebellar retraction, nerve compression, or small vessel vasospasm. Preserved waves I and III with delay or loss of wave V may be caused by mechanical, thermal, or vascular injury in the mid to upper pons. Injury to the auditory pathways cephalic to the lower mesencephalon may be associated with normal ABRs. A vascular injury in the posterior fossa that spares the auditory pathway can be associated with normal ABRs.

Of note, an interesting phenomenon is vasospasm, which may be seen in the vascular loop surrounding the cranial nerves during MVD. Successful treatment of spasm of the loop by the application of topical papaverine either directly or via a papaverine-soaked pledget yields immediate improvement of blood flow in the loop but may be associated with decreased blood

flow to the cochlea and a loss of the ABR signals within a few minutes. The cause of this change is not clear, although the low pH of papaverine has been suspected [21]. In this case, the changes were gradual, ipsilateral, and involved waves I, III, and V. Delayed latency changes were equal for waves III and V, which pointed to an issue with the 8th cranial nerve proximal to the cochlea and related to the retraction on the cerebellum. The changes in wave I could be related to a compromise in blood flow to the internal auditory artery, either by partial obstruction or spasm. The surgeon inspected the operative site and decided to reposition the retractor. Soon after repositioning, the signals started to recover back to baseline. The most likely cause of such changes was retractor pressure on the cerebellum, which decreased blood flow to the 8th cranial nerve. Strategies to improve the signals include relaxing the retractor, dividing the arachnoid tension bands between the 8th cranial nerve and the cerebellum, and pharmacologically raising the blood pressure. Raising the blood pressure could help by increasing collateral blood flow to the area, especially if retractor repositioning alone did not provide recovery of the signals.

Case #4

In this case, a healthy 45-year-old woman who failed medical management for trigeminal neuralgia was scheduled for MVD. Anesthesia and surgery proceeded in similar fashion to the previous cases. The patient was quite stable, signals were normal and consistent, and the surgery began and progressed without incident. The surgeon was far into the dissection around the 5th cranial nerve to isolate it from the artery when adhesions were noted between the compressing artery and the sensory portion of the 5th cranial nerve. The anesthesiologist noticed an increase in blood pressure and heart rate and thus administered a bolus dose of 0.5 µg/kg of remifentanil and increased the remifentanil infusion rate to 0.2 µg/kg/min. Vital signs stabilized over the next 10 min followed by a period of fluctuating blood pressure during which the pulse varied 20-30% from baseline. The BIS



Fig. 25.5 Trigeminal cardiac reflex. EKG changes with severe bradycardia leading to asystole. Three strips with each strip showing two EKG traces on the top and middle,

monitor was stable and the surgical procedure proceeded at a slow pace. Suddenly, the heart rate dropped to 30 beats per minute followed by 8 s of asystole with a precipitous drop in systemic blood pressure (Fig. 25.5).

What Happened? Is This Related to the Remifentanil Infusion, a Cardiac Incident, Brainstem Manipulation, or Something Else?

Remifentanil is associated with production of a sympathetic blockade that may lead to indirect bradycardia and hypotension. In rare situations, the change in vital signs may resemble those in the case at hand. Such changes in pulse and blood pressure usually follow a bolus injection and recover spontaneously over a short period of

the blood pressure tracing is at the bottom of the strip. Graphic trend is seen in the bottom of the figure

time. Cardiac incidents may also occur in patients with coronary artery disease or other comorbidities. Direct brainstem manipulation can be associated with abrupt fluctuations in pulse and blood pressure that may exceed a 20% change from baseline values. This etiology should be considered and reported to the surgeon who may adjust the amount of direct contact with the brainstem. The clinical picture could also be the result of the trigeminal cardiac reflex. It is a well-described phenomenon that may be triggered during surgical procedures at the cerebral pontine angle area or skull base, an MVD, or a sudden and significant manipulation of the dura. In addition, the trigeminal cardiac reflex may also be elicited during ophthalmologic surgery, surgery of the maxilla, and other areas innervated by the trigeminal nerve [22]. Release of surgical traction or cessation of the trigger stimulation will allow

the reflex to cease and the vital signs to return to normal without further intervention. However, if the stimulation resumes, the reflex may reoccur. On occasion, the reflex may produce such a profound change in heart rate and blood pressure that the clinical picture progresses to cardiac arrest. The mechanism for this reflex was described in The Journal of Neurosurgery in 1999 [23]. In summary, stimulation of the trigeminal nerve sends an afferent signal to the sensory nucleus at the brainstem, which then crosses to the motor nucleus of the vagus nerve. The signal then travels through the efferent arm to the heart, lungs, and stomach to cause bradycardia, apnea, and hypergastric secretions. This reflex may be a cerebral oxygen conserving reflex [24].

In this patient, the trigeminal cardiac reflex was suspected and the surgeon was alerted to stop any manipulations. The surgeon was not in direct contact with the brainstem but was manipulating a blood vessel adhering to the trigeminal nerve near the brainstem. Blood pressure and heart rate returned to normal soon after the surgeon stopped the manipulation.

Case #5

The following case depicts a rather rare scenario for MVD in an otherwise healthy patient with refractory medical management. The anesthesia, positioning, and surgical course followed the same regimen as the previous cases. The surgical course proceeded without incident during which the MVD was completed. The ABR remained stable throughout the procedure and the surgeon started to close. Upon closure of the dura, the ABR signals started to deteriorate and were completely lost with the closure of the fascia.

What is the Problem and What Should Be Done?

Unilateral ABR changes at this stage of the operation are not characteristic of those caused by anesthetic depth, physiologic causes, or patient positioning. Occasionally, irrigation with cold saline in the surgical field just before dural closure can cause a decline in signals, but these occur immediately. In this case, the changes occurred after the dura was closed. The two most likely causes for this change were technical or surgical. In this case, no technical cause could be identified. Since the dura was closed, neither direct manipulation of the 8th cranial nerve or low blood flow from retractor pressure could be implicated. Indirect factors related to intradural anatomical changes that could decrease blood flow to the 8th cranial nerve at different locations remained a possibility. Bleeding, hematoma, and clot formation could affect the integrity of the nerve. Changes and loss of ABRs, caused by these factors, after the closure of the dura have been reported previously [11, 25–27].

Bleeding and cerebral edema may be the result of movement caused by light anesthesia, high blood pressure, or inadequate hemostasis by the conclusion of surgery. In some patients, coagulation and cutting of a petrosal vein larger than 2 mm in caliber may lead to obstruction of drainage from parts of the brainstem. In turn, this can result in venous congestion, edema, and an increased intracranial pressure (ICP) and may be the cause of the ABR changes. Contralateral hearing loss has been reported due to vascular congestion causing brainstem shift, edema, and high ICP, and has been associated with ABR changes [28]. Before disruption of such a vein, an occlusion test with a temporary aneurysm clip placed on the vein in conjunction with ABR monitoring may be helpful to prevent such a complication [29].

In this patient, the decision was made to reopen the surgical field and explore the operative site. The surgeon looked for a possible source of bleeding either in the CP angle or within the cerebellar parenchyma, some limitation of blood flow related to vascular kinking, or malpositioning secondary to shift of the Teflon felt. During this time, the anesthesiologist raised the blood pressure to increase collateral circulation. The surgical exploration revealed a small blood collection engulfing the 8th cranial nerve. This was related to a bleeding stump of a branch of the petrosal vein, which had been sectioned on the approach. Once the blood was evacuated, ABR signals started to recover.

Case #6

A 46-year-old 85-kg woman is having rightsided MVD surgery for trigeminal neuralgia. As in previous cases, the patient was positioned in the lateral position and the surgery progressed very well without any noticeable changes in the ABRs. After the main procedure was completed and while securing hemostasis, the technologist noticed significant changes of the right ABR at 10:35 and complete loss at 10:39 (Fig. 25.6). No changes in the left ABR were observed.

What happened? What is the cause? If we go through the differential diagnosis and review all five causes of EP changes—technical, physiological, pharmacological, surgical, or positional—we should get the cause. Changes on one side are unlikely to be due to anesthetic agents or physiological alterations. Special physiological condi-



Fig. 25.6 ABR tracing. Papaverine was used at 10:30 and resulted in the loss of ABR responses on the right side which recovered by 10:51 after aggressive irrigation with

warm saline to dilute and clear papaverine. No postoperative complications

tions such as regional hypothermia, while possible, are unlikely to be a cause, since only warm irrigations were used for the hemostasis. Severe regional ischemia that affects the distribution of the 8th cranial nerve is possible, but why? No clips or retractors were used at that time. Technical causes should always be considered when localized changes or losses occur. A survey of all technical possibilities did not reveal any cause. Changes due to positioning are unlikely to have occurred since no such changes occurred since the start of the case. At the time when the changes occurred, the surgeon was only performing hemostasis; there were no retractors, no major manipulations, and the dura was not closed with overinfusion of saline [30]. It seems that none of the five causes of EP changes can be easily identified. What is the cause? In this case, the author was walking into the room when he heard the neurosurgical chief resident announcing the use of papaverine to reverse spasm. The surgical team was alerted to its potential effects and stopped any further usage. While the anesthesiologist was talking to the surgeon, the technologist announced that signal changes were occurring. The chief resident was instructed to flush the field with warm saline to minimize the effects of the papaverine. The signals gradually recovered and were back to normal by 10:51. The possible cause of this effect is the low pH of papaverine, which can affect the 8th cranial nerve [21]. If papaverine is needed, its use should be limited to

Conclusion

a precise location.

In these six cases we reviewed different clinical situations in which changes of ABRs and MEP signals occurred during MVD surgery. In each case, we followed an algorithm with a stepwise approach to identify the etiology and management. It is critical for both the anesthesiologist and surgeon to work in concert to identify changes, analyze their cause, start treatments, and to perform surgical maneuvers that may reverse changes in a timely fashion in order to optimize the surgical outcome.

References¹

- *Xia ZJ, Zhu J, Wang YN, Dou NN, Liu MX, et al. Effectiveness and safety of microvascular decompression surgery for treatment of trigeminal neuralgia: a systematic review. J Craniofac Surg. 2014;25(4):1413–7.
- *Jannetta PJ. Arterial compression of the trigeminal nerve at the pons in patients with trigeminal neuralgia. J Neurosurg. 1967;26(1 Suppl):159–62.
- *Li GW, Zhang WC, Min Y, Ma QF, Zhong WX. Surgical skills of adhesions and transposition of trigeminal nerve for primary trigeminal neuralgia. J Craniofac Surg. 2014;25(4):1296–8.
- Zacest AC, Magill ST, Miller J, Burchiel KJ. Preoperative magnetic resonance imaging in type 2 trigeminal neuralgia. J Neurosurg. 2010;113(3): 511–5.
- 5. Leal PR, Hermier M, Froment JC, Souza MA, Cristino-Filho G, Sindou M. Preoperative demonstration of the neurovascular compression characteristics with special emphasis on the degree of compression, using high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging: a prospective study, with comparison to surgical findings, in 100 consecutive patients who underwent microvascular decompression for trigeminal neuralgia. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2010;152(5):817–25.
- Ferroli P, Acerbi F, Broggi M, Broggi G. Arteriovenous micromalformation of the trigeminal root: intraoperative diagnosis with indocyanine green videoangiography: case report. Neurosurgery. 2010;67(3 Suppl Operative):onsE309–10; discussion onsE310.
- McLaughlin MR, Jannetta PJ, Clyde BL, Subach BR, Comey CH, Resnick DK. Microvascular decompression of cranial nerves: lessons learned after 4400 operations. J Neurosurg. 1999;90(1):1–8.
- Sekula Jr RF, Frederickson AM, Jannetta PJ, Bhatia S, Quigley MR. Microvascular decompression after failed gamma knife surgery for trigeminal neuralgia: a safe and effective rescue therapy? J Neurosurg. 2010;113(1):45–52.
- Vaz-Guimaraes F, Gardner PA, Fernandez-Miranda JC. Fully endoscopic retrosigmoid approach for posterior petrous meningioma and trigeminal microvascular decompression. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2015;157(4):611–5.
- Artz GJ, Hux FJ, Larouere MJ, Bojrab DI, Babu S, Pieper DR. Endoscopic vascular decompression. Otol Neurotol. 2008;29(7):995–1000.
- Moller AR, Moller MB. Does intraoperative monitoring of auditory evoked potentials reduce incidence of hearing loss as a complication of microvascular decompression of cranial nerves? Neurosurgery. 1989;24(2):257–63.
- Brock S, Scaioli V, Ferroli P, Broggi G. Neurovascular decompression in trigeminal neuralgia: role of intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in the

¹Asterisk indicates key references.

learning period. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2004;82(5–6):199–206.

- Truini A, Cruccu G. Laser evoked potentials in patients with trigeminal disease: the absence of Adelta potentials does not unmask C-fibre potentials. Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;119(8):1905–8.
- Dong CC, Macdonald DB, Akagami R, Westerberg B, Alkhani A, Kanaan I, Hassounah M. Intraoperative facial motor evoked potential monitoring with transcranial electrical stimulation during skull base surgery. Clin Neurophysiol. 2005;116(3):588–96.
- *Legatt AD. Mechanisms of intraoperative brainstem auditory evoked potential changes. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19(5):396–408.
- *Grundy BL, Procopio PT, Jannetta PJ, Lina A, Doyle E. Evoked potential changes produced by positioning for retromastoid craniectomy. Neurosurgery. 1982;10(6 Pt 1):766–70.
- 17. Polo G, Fischer C, Sindou MP, Marnette V. Brainstem auditory evoked potential monitoring during microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm: intraoperative brainstem auditory evoked potential changes and warning values to prevent hearing loss—prospective study in a consecutive series of 84 patients. Neurosurgery. 2004;54(1):97–104. discussion 104–6.
- Ramnarayan R, Mackenzie I. Brain-stem auditory evoked responses during microvascular decompression for trigeminal neuralgia: predicting post-operative hearing loss. Neurol India. 2006;54(3):250–4.
- Hatayama T, Moller AR. Correlation between latency and amplitude of peak V in the brainstem auditory evoked potentials: intraoperative recordings in microvascular decompression operations. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1998;140(7):681–7.
- Raudzens PA, Shetter AG. Intraoperative monitoring of brain-stem auditory evoked potentials. J Neurosurg. 1982;57(3):341–8.
- *Chadwick GM, Asher AL, Van Der Veer CA, Pollard RJ. Adverse effects of topical papaverine on auditory nerve function. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2008;150(9):901–9; discussion 909.
- *Schaller B. Trigemino-cardiac reflex during microvascular trigeminal decompression in cases of trigeminal neuralgia. J Neurosurg Anesth. 2005;17(1):45–8.
- Schaller B, Probst R, Strebel S, Gratzl O. Trigeminocardiac reflex during surgery in the cerebellopontine angle. J Neurosurg. 1999;90(2):215–20.
- 24. Sandu N, Spiriev T, Lemaitre F, Filis A, Schaller B; Trigemino-Cardiac-Reflex-Examination-Group (T.C.R.E.G.). New molecular knowledge towards the trigemino-cardiac reflex as a cerebral oxygenconserving reflex. ScientificWorldJournal. 2010;10: 811–7.
- 25. Wahlig JB, Kaufmann AM, Balzer J, Lovely TJ, Jannetta PJ. Intraoperative loss of auditory function

relieved by microvascular decompression of the cochlear nerve. Can J Neurol Sci. 1999;26(1):44–7.

- 26. Neu M, Strauss C, Romstöck J, Bischoff B, Fahlbusch R. The prognostic value of intraoperative BAEP patterns in acoustic neurinoma surgery. Clin Neurophysiol. 1999;110(11):1935–41.
- Grundy BL, Jannetta PJ, Procopio PT, Lina A, Boston JR, Doyle E. Intraoperative monitoring of brain-stem auditory evoked potentials. J Neurosurg. 1982;57(5):674–81.
- Strauss C, Naraghi R, Bischoff B, Huk WJ, Romstöck J. Contralateral hearing loss as an effect of venous congestion at the ipsilateral inferior colliculus after microvascular decompression: report of a case. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2000;69(5):79–82.
- Zhong J, Li ST, Xu SQ, Wan L, Wang X. Management of petrosal veins during microvascular decompression for trigeminal neuralgia. Neurol Res. 2008;30(7):697–700.
- Jo KW, Kong DS, Park K. Microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm: long-term outcome and prognostic factors, with emphasis on delayed cure. Neurosurg Rev. 2013;36(2):297–301. discussion 301–2.

Questions

- 1. Which of the following can result in unilateral evoked potentials during MVD?
 - a. Retractors
 - b. Papaverine
 - c. Technical problems
 - d. All of the above
- 2. Trigeminal cardiac reflex is the result of:
 - a. Injection of medication by the anesthesiologist
 - b. Irritation of the 8th cranial nerve
 - c. Irritation of the facial nerve
 - d. Irritation of the trigeminal nerve
- 3. Unilateral absence of ABR at the start of the operation may be caused by
 - a. Bolus of anesthetic drugs
 - b. Hypotension
 - c. Surgical manipulation
 - d. Abnormal head position

Answers

- 1. D
- 2. D
- 3. D

Surgery for Hemifacial Spasm

26

Raymond F. Sekula Jr., Jeffrey R. Balzer, Jesse D. Lawrence, and Penny P. Liu

Key Learning Points

- HFS consists of unilateral facial nerve dysfunction resulting in spasms of the ipsilateral facial muscles. MVD is a surgical procedure that addresses a proposed etiologic cause of HFS, vascular compression causing ephaptic transmission, and is successful in the majority of well-selected patients.
- Electromyography revealing characteristic, spontaneous activity and an abnormal motor response of the facial musculature and MRI confirming vascular compression of the facial nerve are important tools for distinguishing the disease and determining the role of operative intervention.

R.F. Sekula Jr., M.D., M.B.A., F.A.C.S. (⊠) J.R. Balzer, Ph.D. • J.D. Lawrence, B.S. Department of Neurological Surgery, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, 200 Lothrop Street, Suite B400, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA e-mail: sekularf@upmc.edu; balzerjr@upmc.edu; jdl79@pitt.edu

P.P. Liu, M.D. Division of Neuroanesthesia, Department of Anesthesiology, Tufts Medical Center, 800 Washington Street, Boston, MA 02111, USA e-mail: pennyliumd@gmail.com

- Compression of the facial nerve along any portion of the centrally myelinated root nerve is the target for decompression during MVD and is achieved by use of shredded Teflon implants or, in some instances, "slinging" of the artery away from the nerve.
- Considerations for anesthesia specific to MVD for HFS include optimal positioning, avoidance of nondepolarizing agents, and minimization of fluid overload.
- Intraoperative use of abnormal motor response monitoring can be used as a guide for adequate facial nerve decompression and has been shown to correlate with increased odds of symptom resolution postoperatively.
- Due to the proximity of the vestibulocochlear nerve to the facial nerve, hearing loss following MVD for HFS is a possible complication of MVD for HFS, and the use of brainstem auditory evoked responses to mitigate the risk of hearing loss should be considered.

Introduction

Hemifacial spasm (HFS), a syndrome of unilateral facial nerve hyperactive dysfunction, is a severe and disabling condition that causes impairments in a patient's quality of life [1–4]. Spasms begin insidiously in the orbicularis oculi muscle and spread over time to the muscles of the face with

Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_26) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

variable involvement of the frontalis and platysma muscles. Ultimately, the patient may develop prolonged contractions of all the involved muscles, causing severe, disfiguring grimacing with partial closure of the eye and drawing up of the corner of the mouth, the so-called tonus phenomenon [5]. The majority of patients also exhibit the reverse Babinski sign, which is appreciated as paradoxical raising of the eyebrow during closing of the eye [6, 7]. The best available data suggest that the prevalence rate of HFS is ten patients per 100,000 in the population of the United States and Norway [8, 9].

Electrophysiology and Pathophysiology of HFS

The diagnosis of HFS can largely be made clinically, but electromyography (EMG) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may help in distinguishing the disorder from other abnormal facial movement disorders, such as blepharospasm, tics, partial motor seizures, synkinesis, craniocervical dystonia, neuromyotonia, and facial myokymia [10, 11]. The electrophysiologic hallmarks of HFS consist of spontaneous, high-frequency (as many as 150 impulses per second), synchronized firing of EMG activity. In addition, an abnormal motor response (AMR), also known as the "lateral spread response," can be elicited by electrically stimulating one branch of the facial nerve and recording triggered electromyographic (t-EMG) responses from muscles innervated by other branches of the facial nerve. Specifically, electrical stimulation of the zygomatic branch of the facial nerve will result in an AMR recording from the mentalis muscles when the t-EMG response should be limited to only the orbicularis oculi muscle.

There remains no consensus regarding the etiopathogenesis of HFS. One hypothesis asserts that symptoms are caused by ephaptic transmission at the location of the vascular contact along the facial nerve [12, 13]. Ephaptic transmission refers to the "crosstalk" between axon fibers as a result of axon demyelination. Alternatively, it has been submitted that the symptoms are secondary to hyperactivity of the facial nucleus [14]. While the hypothesis of ephaptic transmission was popularized for many years, the hypothesis of facial motor nucleus hyperactivity has been supported by intraoperative electrophysiological recordings made during MVD [15, 16], clinical studies [17], and the results of intraoperative blink reflex testing. The blink reflex is elicited by stimulation of the supraorbital nerve and consists of afferent and efferent pathways along the trigeminal and facial nerves, respectively. In anesthetized patients without HFS, the blink reflex is typically suppressed. However, in the anesthetized HFS patient, a blink reflex can be elicited ipsilateral to the side of facial spasm [18]. The hypothesis is that the pathological hyperactivity in the facial motor nucleus compensates for the suppression typically induced by general anesthesia.

A third proposed contributor is facial nerve depolarization from supraorbital nerve stimulation via axono-axonal ephapsis in the periorbital region. Axono-axonal depolarization of these terminal facial nerve axons would carry the signal antidromically to the site of presumed demyelination (ostensibly at the area of vascular compression) and induce an ephaptic response in the lower facial muscles [19]. The term "lateral spread" is often used interchangeably with the term "AMR." The term "lateral spread," however, should be reserved for describing the AMR in relationship to the theory of ephaptic transmission, as the term "lateral spread" neglects the theory of motor nucleus hyperexcitability.

It is certainly possible that all three mechanisms contribute in part to the generation of abnormal reflex responses. As the AMR often disappears with vascular decompression of the centrally myelinated facial nerve, ephaptic transmission is thought to be a more likely, or more common, cause of the AMR. Isolated facial motor nucleus hyperactivity may account for a minority of HFS cases refractory to MVD or, alternatively, to a continuum of disease severity (i.e., motor nucleus hyperexcitability follows ephaptic transmission at the site of vascular compression).

Anatomy of the Facial Nerve and Etiology of HFS

A discussion of anatomy requires a consistent vocabulary. The anatomical terms, hereto used, were first proposed by Tomii et al. [20] and subse-



Fig. 26.1 Coronal SSFP image showing facial nerve anatomy: root exit point (RExP), attached segment (AS), root detachment point (RDP), transition zone (TZ), and cisternal portion (CP)

quently expanded by Campos-Benitez and Kaufmann [21]. The facial nerve emerges from the brainstem at the nerve's root exit point from the pontomedullary sulcus. Along its course, it adheres (i.e., the attached segment of the facial nerve) to the pons for 8-10 mm. The nerve then separates from the pons at the so-called root detachment point. The next segment of the nerve is termed the transition zone or the Obersteiner-Redlich zone where the oligodendrocyte-derived central myelin transitions to the peripheral Schwann cells. A study by Tomii et al. [20] of this transition zone revealed that (1) the maximum length from the root detachment point to the most proximal portion of the transition zone is 1.4 mm and (2) the maximum length from the most proximal to the most distal portion of the transition zone is 2.1 mm. In practice, our group uses 4 mm as the maximum distance from the root detachment point to the end of the transition zone (Fig. 26.1). Beyond the transition zone, the seventh nerve lies adjacent to the anterior rostral border of the CN VIII complex and continues into the acoustic meatus. Rostral and anterior to the VII/VIII complex, the trigeminal root is visible as it emerges from the pons, eventually traveling laterally toward the petrous apex to Meckel's cave. Caudal to the VII/VIII complex, emerging from the lateral surface of the medulla, are the rootlets of the glossopharyngeal and vagus nerves. Our experience with HFS suggests that vascular compression along any portion of the centrally myelinated facial nerve may contribute to symptoms. This portion extends from the root exit point to the distal transition zone. As of note, our

group hesitates to use the term "root entry zone" or "root exit zone" as (1) it is imprecisely defined but approximately corresponds to the root detachment point and the transition zone, and (2) does not include the root exit point or the attached segment, which is the most common site of nerve compression [22, 23]. The most common offending vessels are the anterior inferior cerebellar artery (AICA) and the posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA), which occur in the setting of a tortuous vertebrobasilar tree in half of affected patients [24].

Imaging in HFS

Imaging of patients with HFS who are considered for MVD is intended to delineate the facial nerve and adjacent vessels. Studies should include thinsection multiplanar steady-state free precession (SSFP) MRI sequences, which are heavily T2 weighted and provide excellent contrast between CSF and adjacent tissue [25]. The role of SSFP imaging in the evaluation of vascular compression syndromes has been described [26-29] and recently optimized for HFS by our group [22, 23]. Studies are performed on either 1.5 or 3 T MRI scanners (Optima and Discovery; GE Healthcare, Milwaukee, WI) and include whole-brain sagittal T1, axial fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR), and diffusion weighted imaging (DWI) sequences. Thin-section axial, coronal, and sagittal SSFP images through the brainstem are obtained. It is important to note that the role of imaging in HFS is supportive and not diagnostic.

As reported by our group, imaging has a sensitivity of 75–92.9% and a specificity of 28.6–75% [30]. The high sensitivity warrants appropriate counseling in patients deemed clinically favorable for surgery but have no vascular compression on thin-slice T2-weighted MRI. Furthermore, the low specificity does not warrant justification of surgery for positive imaging findings in clinically unfavorable surgical candidates.

Operative Technique of Microvascular Decompression of the Facial Nerve

Medications have been shown to be largely ineffective in treatment of HFS [31–34]. Serial botulinum toxin injections of the facial musculature may provide a temporary respite but are not curative. In addition, prolonged use of botulinum toxin may result in persistent facial nerve paresis or palsy. For this reason, MVD, the only etiological therapy for HFS, is the preferred treatment [33, 35].

Microvascular decompression is performed under general anesthesia with the patient in the contralateral decubitus position (Fig. 26.2, utilizing auditory brainstem-evoked potentials [ABRs]), facial EMG, and monitoring of the AMR in a previously described manner [35]. A retromastoid incision is made behind the hairline, and a small craniectomy below the asterion is performed. The edge of the sigmoid sinus is identified, and the dura mater is opened. After appropriate brain relaxation is achieved with cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) drainage, the facial nerve is exposed from the root exit point to the transition zone and examined for vascular contact. In concert with our neuromonitoring team, arteries are decompressed from the facial nerve using shredded Teflon[®] implants. Occasionally, our surgeon (RS) transposes or "slings" the artery away from the facial nerve. ABRs and facial EMG are used to monitor the patients in all cases. Direct monopolar facial nerve stimulation is used in selected cases (Videos 26.1 and 26.2).

Anesthetic Considerations During MVD for HFS

Induction of general anesthesia may begin with propofol or etomidate. A depolarizing muscle relaxant is often used for the intubation. It has been our experience that even a small defasciculating dose of nondepolarizing muscle relaxant used during the intubation period is enough to obscure the detection of the AMR at the beginning of the case. Maintenance of general anesthesia can be achieved with a variety of techniques as long as the patient remains motionless without the use of muscle relaxants. Some patients may require only an inhalational agent while others

Fig. 26.2 Photograph of patient in the lateral decubitus position. Patient's head is placed at the foot of the operating table to allow more leg room for the surgeon during the microsurgical portion of the procedure. The head is secured with three-point fixation and the patient is turned in the lateral decubitus position. The head is rotated slightly away from the affected side and flexed to allow approximately two fingerbreadths from the sternum



may require inhalation as well as an infusion of either propofol or narcotic such as remifentanil. Meticulous attention to proper positioning takes into consideration avoidance of extreme head and neck flexion or rotation, proper placement of an axillary roll, as well as proper padding of both upper and lower extremities to prevent peripheral nerve injury. There should always be a final confirmation of bilateral breath sounds to confirm the absence of endotracheal tube migration.

Principles of Intraoperative Neuromonitoring for HFS

The AMR can be elicited in nearly every patient with HFS. Nondepolarizing muscle relaxants can obscure results. Bipolar subdermal needle recording electrodes are placed in the orbicularis oculi and mentalis muscles. Paired electrodes are placed approximately 0.5-1 cm apart. Bipolar stimulating electrodes were inserted subdermally over the zygomatic branch of the facial nerve midway between the outer canthus and tragus. Monophasic pulses were delivered at an intensity of 1-20 mA, a frequency of 4.0 Hz, and a pulse width of 0.2 ms. Final positioning of the stimulating electrodes is based on the location that maximizes the orbicularis oculi response and the AMR recorded from the mentalis muscle group. Once identified, suprathreshold stimulation intensity is utilized throughout the procedure. Electrodes are then affixed to the skin in their optimal position with tape.

To avoid nerve fatigue, the AMR is evoked at approximately 5-min intervals until dural opening. Once the dura is opened, the AMR should be recorded continuously throughout the dissection and decompression and then again periodically during closure to detect the potential reappearance of the AMR. Occasionally, the AMR disappears as CSF is drained, ostensibly as a result of relaxation of vascular compression of the facial nerve. Of note, our group has not used brain retraction in the past 5 years [36]. An attempt is made to restore the AMR by increasing the current intensity (up to 20 mA), increasing the stimulation frequency, and finally by increasing pulse widths in increments of 50 µs. After decompression of suspected arteries and veins from the facial nerve and disappearance of the AMR, a further attempt is made to "drive" or stimulate the AMR by increasing the frequency to 30 Hz. If the AMR cannot be elicited, we consider the AMR to have completely resolved.

Monitoring for Complications

Cranial nerve injuries during MVD may result in facial weakness, hearing impairment, vestibular dysfunction, and dysphagia and/or hoarseness, which can affect satisfaction with MVD despite the absence of HFS postoperatively. ABRs are used to monitor cochlear nerve function throughout the procedure. In addition, continuous monitoring of the AMR (Fig. 26.3) and occasional monopolar



Fig. 26.3 Tracings of the AMR showing changes during MVD for HFS
facial EMG are performed during the procedure. Indeed, neuromonitoring in MVD surgery has been shown not only to improve patient outcome in terms of symptom resolution, but also to decrease the occurrence of hearing loss and facial nerve weakness after surgery [37–39]. Monitoring of somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) used to detect brainstem stroke secondary to vascular manipulation may be considered but is not routinely performed by our group. Monitoring of the ninth and tenth cranial nerves is not performed.

In the following examples, we review cases from our experience over the past 30+ years of MVD for HFS.

Case Illustrations

Case 1: Understanding the AMR During MVD of the Facial Nerve

A 42-year-old woman with right-sided HFS underwent an MVD after serial botulinum toxin injections resulted in unsatisfactory results. During the operation, the AICA and PICA were noted to be tightly compressing the right facial nerve. During decompression of the PICA, the AMR resolved and could not be elicited (Fig. 26.4). The patient awoke from the operation with much reduced spasms, which gradually decreased and resolved entirely 4 months after the operation.

Team notes: Even after appropriate decompression of the facial nerve, as many as half of the patients have persistent spasms, which resolve over the course of a few weeks to 23 months [35]. Since the AMR often disappears when the offending vessel is lifted off of the facial nerve in a microvascular decompression procedure, its use has been suggested as an intraoperative guide to success [18, 40-43]. Because HFS disappears or gradually resolves over time in many patients in whom the AMR persists intraoperatively, many authors have questioned the utility of intraoperative EMG [44-47]. In a large study evaluating 300 patients, Kong et al. [43] found a statistical difference at 1-year follow-up in the outcomes between two groups

based on whether the AMR resolved or persisted [43]. Their report is the only one to show a statistically different outcome in cases where the AMR did not resolve. A meta-analysis by Sekula et al. [35] of the data concerning the relationship between resolution or persistence of the AMR after MVD and the resolution or persistence of HFS showed that the chance of a cure if the AMR was abolished after MVD was 4.2 times greater than when the AMR persisted. Thirumala et al. [48], reporting on 259 patients undergoing MVD with intraoperative monitoring of the lateral spread response (LSR), found that abolishment of the LSR during surgery was associated with statistically significant rates of spasm relief immediately postoperatively and at discharge. This increased rate of spasm relief was not observed at later follow-up between the two groups [48]. Furthermore, reoperation for persistent symptoms and botulinum toxin treatments prior to surgery does not affect rates of intraoperative abolishment of the LSR [49, 50]. Based on these results, we support that AMR should be monitored routinely in the operating room, and surgical decision-making in the operating room should be guided by the absence or presence of the AMR.

Case 2:"Frozen Shoulder" or Adhesive Capsulitis of the Glenohumeral Joint after MVD in the Contralateral Decubitus Position

A 52-year-old woman with right-sided HFS underwent an MVD after serial botulinum toxin injections resulted in unsatisfactory results. During the operation, the PICA was noted to be tightly compressing the right facial nerve. During decompression of the PICA, the AMR resolved and could not be elicited. No change in SSEPs was noted. The patient awoke without spasms but complained of pain, stiffness, and limited range of movement of her *left* shoulder.

The surgeon recommended observation and increasing use of the left shoulder for the first 6 weeks following the operation. During those 6



Fig. 26.4 Disappearance of the AMR with successful microvascular decompression of the facial nerve (*Y*-axis represents time in seconds following MVD of facial

nerve). The compound action potential is being recorded at the mentalis muscle while the facial nerve branch to the orbicularis oculi is stimulated

weeks, the patient's shoulder pain increased to the point that she did not use the left shoulder and upper extremity and required assistance with dressing. The surgeon referred the patient for physical therapy, which was ineffective. The patient was then referred to an orthopedic surgeon who diagnosed her with a "frozen shoulder" or adhesive capsulitis of the glenohumeral joint. MRI of the left shoulder confirmed adhesive capsulitis. The surgeon performed "manipulation" of the left shoulder under a general anesthetic in the operating room, and the patient awoke with reduced pain and improved range of motion. Over the next few weeks, the pain resolved entirely and range of motion was restored.

Team notes: The pathophysiology of adhesive capsulitis is elusive. Although this complication is rare with the contralateral decubitus position, it

should be considered in the differential diagnosis of those patients complaining of pain and reduced range of motion of either shoulder. Additionally, extreme care should be taken when retracting the nondependent shoulder inferiorly due to the potential for stretching of the brachial plexus. This is true when shoulders are taped and pulled away from the operative field (see Fig. 26.2) whether in the supine (such as in an anterior cervical discectomy and fusion), prone (such as in a suboccipital decompression), or in lateral position, as in this case, a retromastoid approach for microvascular decompression.

Case 3: Inability to Access Brainstem Due to Intravenous Fluid Overload

A 35-year-old man with right-sided HFS was taken to the operating room for an MVD. After a retromastoid craniectomy was achieved, the dura was opened. The surgeon noted that the brain immediately "herniated through the dural opening." After a dose of mannitol and 20 min of head elevation, the brain relaxed to the point that the dura could be closed. MVD was aborted, and the operation was rescheduled.

Team notes: Accessing the brainstem and cranial nerves requires communication between the surgeon and the anesthesia providers. Particularly in younger patients, the brain can be "full," making the brainstem difficult to access. When possible, intravenous fluids should be limited prior to dural opening. In general, most patients receive a total of about 1 L of crystalloid or less for the entire perioperative period.

Case 4: Technical Difficulties with the Inserted Earpiece for Acquiring ABRs

A 57-year-old woman with left-sided HFS underwent an MVD after serial botulinum toxin injections resulted in unsatisfactory results. During drilling of the retromastoid craniectomy, the neuromonitoring technician became concerned because of reduced amplitude and prolonged latency of the left ABR. After confirmation that the patient was hemodynamically stable, the neuromonitoring technician checked the left earpiece and noted that the earpiece had become dislodged. The earpiece was adjusted and the ABR returned to baseline.

Team notes: Kinking of the ear insert tubing occurs infrequently and can be minimized by making sure the tubing is run away from the operative field. When the ABRs change without good reason, the insert and tubing should always be checked for proper delivery of the click stimulus (Fig. 26.5).

Case 5: Hearing Loss as a Result of MVD for HFS

A 67-year-old woman with right-sided HFS underwent an MVD after serial botulinum toxin injections resulted in permanent facial weakness (House-Brackmann grade II/VI) [51]. After dural opening, a brain retractor was used to elevate the cerebellum away from the brainstem for exposure of the facial nerve. During this maneuver, the neuromonitoring technician advised the surgeon that waves III and V of the right ABRs had increased in latency by 0.8 ms. Within a few minutes, the neuromonitoring technician advised that the amplitude of the ABRs had decreased by 50 %.

After notification of a reduction in amplitude of the ABRs, the surgeon removed the retractor and stopped dissection. The anesthesiologist increased the mean arterial blood pressure 10 mmHg to a MAP of 80 mmHg. Within 2 min, the latency improved and the amplitude increased. Within 5 min, the ABRs had returned to baseline, and the surgeon resumed exposure of the facial nerve.

Team notes: Hearing loss remains a significant risk with MVD of the facial nerve for HFS, with partial hearing loss ranging from 0.5 to 9.5% and complete hearing loss ranging from 0.7 to 7.6% [2, 33, 52, 53]. Polo et al. [53] have provided data concerning a stepwise reduction in hearing with progressive latency increases of Peak V of the ABR during microvascular decompression. In



Fig. 26.5 Tracings of the ABRs depict dislodged insert earpiece

their study of 84 consecutive patients undergoing MVD for HFS, they report that in the group with more than a 20-dB loss in pure tone audiogram, delays in the latency of Peak V were on average 1 ms. To this end, a recent study by our group showed that intraoperative loss of wave V resulted in significantly increased odds of hearing loss [38]. Recently, our group attempted to address this with avoidance of a fixed, self-retained cerebellar retractor in favor of dynamic retraction and subsequently demonstrated a reduction in ipsilateral high-frequency hearing loss (HFHL) from 50 to 7.4 % [36].

Case 6: Anesthesia and the AMR

A 54-year-old woman with a 10-year history of right-sided HFS is brought to the operating room for MVD of the facial nerve. After positioning the patient in the contralateral decubitus position, the neuromonitoring technician reports an inability to obtain an AMR of the right facial nerve.

After confirming that the AMR was documented in the Cranial Nerve and Brainstem Disorders Clinic, discussion among the team revealed that a nondepolarizing muscle relaxant had been given during induction for intubation. The team waited 30 min before beginning the procedure, allowing the agent to wear off.

Team notes: Although the evidence is anecdotal, we believe that there is no role for the use of nondepolarizing muscle relaxants in cases involving microvascular decompression for HFS. It has been our experience that a small defasciculating dose of a nondepolarizing muscle relaxant used during the intubation period is enough to obscure the detection of the abnormal spread at the start of the case. The return of the AMR after the use of a nondepolarizing agent becomes unpredictable.

Case 7: Stroke During MVD for HFS

A 35-year-old woman with right-sided HFS underwent MVD of the right facial nerve. After exposing the facial nerve, the anterior inferior cerebellar arteries as well as multiple perforators of that vessel were noted to be tightly compressing the facial nerve. A preoperative MRI had revealed right-sided dolichoectasia of the vertebrobasilar system with clear compression of the right facial nerve. During the operation, the AICA with perforators and the vertebral artery were decompressed without incident. The AMR was abolished. SSEPs were not measured during the procedure.

Upon awakening, the patient was free of spasms, but, within an hour, she noted contralateral trunk and extremity hypalgesia and thermoanesthesia, ipsilateral Horner syndrome, ipsilateral hypohidrosis, and gait ataxia consistent with a Wallenberg syndrome [54, 55]. Stroke involving the PICA, vertebral artery, or their respective perforators was suspected [56], and a postoperative MRI of the brain confirmed a small infarct involving the lower lateral medulla and posterior cervical spinal cord. Because intraoperative videos did not indicate an avulsion of a perforator or major vessel during decompression of the vertebral and posterior inferior cerebellar arteries (including a complicated tangle of arterioles compressing the facial nerve likely representing PICA medullary perforators), occult compression or vasospasm of perforators was

suspected. Although some authors have suggested the use of papaverine to prevent vasospasm-related ischemia [44], we do not routinely use papaverine during MVD due to concerns of vestibulocochlear toxicity [57]. The patient was discharged from acute rehabilitation on postoperative day 13 with improved and independent ambulation. At 10.3-month follow-up, ipsilateral hypohidrosis and gait ataxia had improved significantly with moderate improvement of contralateral extremity thermoanesthesia. The patient notes some incoordination with jogging and persistent difficulty with high humidity due to hypohidrosis.

Team notes: Because of the low incidence of stroke with MVD of the facial nerve (i.e., <0.2%), we have not utilized SSEPs for MVD for any cranial neuralgia in recent years. It is likely, however, that a change in the SSEPs would be noted, at least in a delayed fashion, in the event of an ischemic event involving the brainstem. If so, application of papaverine to the affected blood arterial vessels (see above explanation), repositioning of Teflon pledgets, and increasing the mean arterial blood pressure (particularly with hypertonic saline) may have been valuable in this patient.

Case 8: Facial Weakness and MVD for HFS

A 42-year-old man with right-sided HFS underwent MVD of the facial nerve at another institution. Although the operative record noted a significant latency increase of the ABR, specific details were not provided. The patient awoke with persistent spasms and a deaf right ear. Because as many as half of patients awake from MVD for HFS with persistent but reduced spasms and proceed to a spasm-free state over the course of a few weeks to as long as 24 months, the patient was observed by the surgeon for 1 year. At 1 year, the patient was referred to our center with no improvement in spasms.

A repeat MVD was offered. During the MVD, a vein tightly compressing the facial nerve was noted. Prior to and after coagulation of the vein with low-power bipolar cautery, the facial nerve was stimulated at 0.2 mA. Prior to coagulation, the nerve responded robustly. After coagulation, the nerve did not respond at 0.2 mA but did respond at 0.5 mA. The patient awoke with weakness (House-Brackmann, Grade V/VI), which improved completely within 9 months [51].

Team notes: Facial weakness following MVD of the facial nerve for HFS may occur immediately or be delayed. Facial weakness detected immediately following MVD indicates dysfunction occurring at operation (e.g., mechanical dislocation/pressure, thermal trauma or ischemic injury by vascular occlusion, vascular compression, or vasospasm) whereas facial weakness, which develops in a delayed manner, is less well understood. The incidence of delayed facial palsy has been reported to be between 2.8 and 8.3% [3, 58–60]. Although the phenomenon of delayed facial weakness following MVD for HFS is well known, no explanation is entirely satisfactory, and the evidence is incomplete. Some have suggested reactivation of a dormant virus or delayed facial nerve edema [61, 62]. Fortunately, resolution of delayed facial weakness following MVD for HFS is almost uniformly complete [58–61]. The prognosis of immediate facial weakness is less auspicious. In their series of 1524 operations, Huh et al. [52] reported that 11.4 and 1% of patients undergoing MVD for HFS developed immediate transient and permanent facial weakness, respectively. It should also be noted that many patients who present for surgical evaluation of HFS have peripheral weakness caused by botulinum toxin injections, and many others (those with tonus phenomenon, in particular) have mild to peripheral weakness.

Over the years, we have learned that the removal of veins near the facial nerve is better achieved with purposeful avulsion using a microhook rather than bipolar electrocautery. Facial nerve EMG can be used to thoroughly identify the centrally myelinated portion of the facial nerve before and after decompression of arteries or removal of veins in selected cases. In our experience, an intact facial nerve will respond at 0.2 mA.

Case 9: Vestibular Nerve Dysfunction (After MVD for HFS)

A 68-year-old woman underwent MVD for HFS. During the MVD, dissection rostral to the superior vestibular portion of the vestibulocochlear nerve was required. During exposure of the rostral portion of the facial nerve, the latency of the ABR increased by 1.2 ms. After the decompression, the ABR slowly returned to baseline over 10 min. Upon awakening, the patient was free of spasms with preserved hearing, but complained of vertigo and disequilibrium requiring assistance with ambulation. The patient's condition improved slowly over a few months.

Team notes: Data regarding vestibular nerve dysfunction following MVD for HFS are scarce. Because the centrally myelinated portion of the facial nerve lies in proximity to the vestibulocochlear nerve, complete decompression of the facial nerve may result in transient or permanent injury to the vestibular portion of the vestibulocochlear nerve. Samii et al. [2] reported transient and permanent vestibular nerve dysfunction following MVD of the facial nerve for HFS in 9.6 and 2.7% of patients, respectively, and the authors hypothesized that the dysfunction "was probably attributable to direct mechanical trauma or temporary reduction of the blood supply to the vestibular nerves" [2]. Our own group reports 2.7 % occurrence of transient vestibular dysfunction in the elderly with no permanent symptoms and 3.7 and 1.9% occurrence of transient and permanent vestibular dysfunction in non-elderly patients, respectively [3]. Because the vestibulocochlear nerve is intimately associated with the facial nerve at the brainstem, vestibular nerve dysfunction can occur particularly with HFS where rostral compression is the norm [63, 64]. In our experience, risk of vestibular nerve dysfunction following MVD for HFS is increased when decompression is rostral to the facial nerve, adjacent to the vestibular portion of the vestibulocochlear nerve, and dissection of adhesions about the vestibulocochlear nerve in reoperations is required. The ABR can be used as an indirect guide to potential injury of the vestibular portion

of the vestibulocochlear nerve. When the latency of the ABR increases (particularly beyond 0.5 ms), the team should consider potential causes such as excessive retraction, systemic hypotension, compression of the cochlear portion of the vestibulocochlear nerve by Teflon, and others. As of note, in the past 5 years, our surgeon (RS) has abandoned decompression rostral to the vestibulocochlear nerve with no diminution in positive outcome.

Case 10: Dysphagia/Hoarseness Following MVD for HFS

An 82-year-old woman with right-sided HFS underwent MVD of the facial nerve. During the operation, a dolichoectatic vertebrobasilar system had shifted into the lower cranial nerves including the facial, vestibulocochlear, glossopharyngeal, and vagus nerves. After decompression of the vertebrobasilar system away from the lower cranial nerves, the patient awoke spasm free but with obvious hoarseness and inability to swallow on the right side. Physical examination showed left uvular deviation and minimal movement of the left side of the pharynx. Flexible laryngoscopy revealed good mobility of the vocal cords. After a few days of intravenous fluids and oral restriction, the patient's swallowing improved to the point that she could safely resume oral intake.

Team notes: Infrequently, patients awaken with hoarseness and/or dysphagia after MVD of the facial nerve due to manipulation and/or stretching of the glossopharyngeal and vagus nerves. Neurogenic dysphagia can involve dysfunction of any of the three phases of deglutition [65]. In the past, we have noticed that some patients, particularly elderly patients, experience significant transient dysphagia and/or hoarseness following microvascular decompression of the facial nerve. Because the facial nerve lies in proximity to the glossopharyngeal and vagus nerves, complete decompression of the facial nerve may result in transient or permanent injury to those nerves.

A study previously published by our group of 131 HFS patients undergoing MVD showed that 14.8% of elderly patients experienced transient dysphagia and/or hoarseness with no patients experiencing permanent symptoms. No elderly patients required a feeding tube or medialization of the vocal cords; 2.9 and 1.9% of young patients experienced transient and permanent dysphagia and/or hoarseness, respectively. One young patient required medialization of a vocal cord. Resolution of transient dysphagia and/or hoarseness may be protracted, and in this series of patients, resolution of transient dysphagia and/ or hoarseness ranged from 1 to 10 months in the elderly cohort and 2 weeks to 6 months in the young cohort [3].

References¹

- Heuser K, Kerty E, Eide PK, Cvancarova M, Dietrichs E. Microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm: postoperative neurologic follow-up and evaluation of life quality. Eur J Neurol. 2007;14(3):335–40.
- Samii M, Günther T, Iaconetta G, Muehling M, Vorkapic P, Samii A. Microvascular decompression to treat hemifacial spasm: long-term results for a consecutive series of 143 patients. Neurosurgery. 2002;50(4):712–8. discussion 718–9.
- *Sekula RF Jr., Frederickson AM, Arnone GD, Quigley MR, Hallett M. Microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm in patients >65 years of age: an analysis of outcomes and complications. Muscle Nerve. 2013;48(5):770–6.
- *Miller LE, Miller VM. Safety and effectiveness of microvascular decompression for treatment of hemifacial spasm: a systematic review. Br J Neurosurg. 2012;26(4):438–44.
- 5. Jannetta P, Samii M. The cranial nerves. Berlin: Springer; 1981.
- Babinski J. Hemipasme facial peripherique. Rev Neurol (Paris). 1905;13:443–50.
- 7. Stamey W, Jankovic J. The other Babinski sign in hemifacial spasm. Neurology. 2007;69(4):402–4.
- Auger RG, Whisnant JP. Hemifacial spasm in Rochester and Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1960 to 1984. Arch Neurol. 1990;47(11):1233–4.
- Nilsen B, Le KD, Dietrichs E. Prevalence of hemifacial spasm in Oslo, Norway. Neurology. 2004;63(8):1532–3.
- Martí-Fàbregas J, Montero J, López-Villegas D, Quer M. Post-irradiation neuromyotonia in bilateral facial and trigeminal nerve distribution. Neurology. 1997;48(4):1107–9.

¹Asterisk indicates key references.

- Valls-Sole J. Facial palsy, postparalytic facial syndrome, and hemifacial spasm. Mov Disord. 2002;17 Suppl 2:S49–52.
- Gardner WJ. Cross talk the paradoxical transmission of a nerve impulse. Arch Neurol. 1966;14(2):149–56.
- Nielsen V. Pathophysiology of hemifacial spasm: II. Lateral spread of the supraorbital nerve reflex. Neurology. 1984;34(4):427–31.
- 14. Ferguson JH. Hemifacial spasm and the facial nucleus. Ann Neurol. 1978;4(2):97–103.
- Moller A. Hemifacial spasm: ephaptic transmission or hyperexcitability of the facial motor nucleus? Exp Neurol. 1987;98(1):110–9.
- 16. Moller AR. Cranial nerve dysfunction syndromes: pathophysiology of microvascular compression. In: Barrow DL, editor. Neurosurgical Topics Book 13: surgery of cranial nerves of the posterior fossa. Park Ridge, IL: American Association of Neurologic Surgeons; 1993.
- Esteban A, Molina-Negro P. Primary hemifacial spasm: a neurophysiological study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1986;49(1):58–63.
- Moller A, Jannetta P. Physiologic abnormalities in hemifacial spasm studied during microvascular decompression operations. Exp Neurol. 1986;93:584–600.
- Montero J, Junyent J, Calopa M, Povedano M, Valls-Sole J. Electrophysiological study of ephaptic axonoaxonal responses in hemifacial spasm. Muscle Nerve. 2007;35(2):184–8.
- Tomii M, Onoue H, Yasue M, Tokudome S, Abe T. Microscopic measurement of the facial nerve root exit zone from central glial myelin to peripheral Schwann cell myelin. J Neurosurg. 2003;99(1):121–4.
- Campos-Benitez M, Kaufmann AM. Neurovascular compression findings in hemifacial spasm. J Neurosurg. 2008;109(3):416–20.
- 22. *Hughes MA, Branstetter BF, Taylor CT, Fakhran S, Delfyett WT, Frederickson AM, Sekula RF Jr. MRI findings in patients with a history of failed prior microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm: how to image and where to look. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2015;36(4):768–73.
- *Hughes M, Branstetter BF, Frederickson AM, Oskin JE, Yankevich U, Sekula RF. Imaging hemifacial spasm. Neurographics. 2015;5(1):2–8.
- Nagatani T, Inao S, Suzuki Y, Yoshida J. Perforating branches from offending arteries in hemifacial spasm: anatomical correlation with vertebrobasilar configuration. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1999;67(1):73–7.
- Sheth S, Branstetter 4th BF, Escott EJ. Appearance of normal cranial nerves on steady-state free precession MR images. Radiographics. 2009;29(4):1045–55.
- Borges A, Casselman J. Imaging the trigeminal nerve. Eur J Radiol. 2010;74(2):323–40.
- 27. Zeng Q, Zhou Q, Liu Z, Li C, Ni S, Xue F. Preoperative detection of the neurovascular relationship in trigeminal neuralgia using three-dimensional fast imaging employing steady-state acquisition (FIESTA) and magnetic resonance angiography (MRA). J Clin Neurosci. 2013;20(1):107–11.

- Jo KW, Kong DS, Hong KS, Lee JA, Park K. Longterm prognostic factors for microvascular decompression for trigeminal neuralgia. J Clin Neurosci. 2013;20(3):440–5.
- 29. Garcia M, Naraghi R, Zumbrunn T, Rösch J, Hastreiter P, Dörfler A. High-resolution 3D-constructive interference in steady-state MR imaging and 3D time-offlight MR angiography in neurovascular compression: a comparison between 3T and 1.5T. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2012;33(7):1251–6.
- 30. Sekula Jr RF, Frederickson AM, Branstetter 4th BF, Oskin JE, Stevens DR, Zwagerman NT, Grandhi R, Hughes MA. Thin-slice T2 MRI imaging predicts vascular pathology in hemifacial spasm: a case–control study. Mov Disord. 2014;29(10):1299–303.
- Savino PJ, Sergott RC, Bosley TM, Schatz NJ. Hemifacial spasm treated with botulinum A toxin injection. Arch Ophthalmol. 1985;103(9):1305–6.
- Kraft SP, Lang AE. Cranial dystonia, blepharospasm and hemifacial spasm: clinical features and treatment, including the use of botulinum toxin. CMAJ. 1988;139(9):837–44.
- *Barker FG II, Jannetta PJ, Bissonette DJ, Shields PT, Larkins MV, Jho HD. Microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. J Neurosurg. 1995;82(2):201–10.
- Wang A, Jankovic J. Hemifacial spasm: clinical findings and treatment. Muscle Nerve. 1998;21(12):1740–7.
- 35. Sekula Jr RF, Bhatia S, Frederickson AM, Jannetta PJ, Quigley MR, Small GA, Breisinger R. Utility of intraoperative electromyography in microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm: a meta-analysis. Neurosurg Focus. 2009;27(4):E10.
- 36. *Thirumala P, Frederickson AM, Balzer J, Crammond D, Habeych ME, Chang YF, Sekula RF, Jr. Reduction in high-frequency hearing loss following technical modifications to microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. J Neurosurg. 2015;123(4):1059–64.
- Thirumala PD, Carnovale G, Habeych ME, Crammond DJ, Balzer JR. Diagnostic accuracy of brainstem auditory evoked potentials during microvascular decompression. Neurology. 2014;83(19):1747–52.
- Thirumala PD. Hearing outcomes after loss of brainstem auditory evoked potentials during microvascular decompression. J Clin Neurosci. 2015;22(4):659–63.
- 39. *Thirumala PD, Krishnaiah B, Habeych ME, Balzer JR, Crammond DJ. Clinical impact of residual lateral spread response after adequate microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm: a retrospective analysis. Br J Neurosurg. 2015;29(6):818–22.
- Moller AR, Jannetta PJ. On the origin of synkinesis in hemifacial spasm: results of intracranial recordings. J Neurosurg. 1984;61(3):569–76.
- Moller AR, Jannetta PJ. Hemifacial spasm: results of electrophysiologic recording during microvascular decompression operations. Neurology. 1985;35(7):969–74.
- 42. Yamashita S, Kawaguchi T, Fukuda M, Watanabe M, Tanaka R, Kameyama S. Abnormal muscle response monitoring during microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2005;147(9):933–7. discussion 937–8.

- 43. Kong DS, Park K, Shin BG, Lee JA, Eum DO. Prognostic value of the lateral spread response for intraoperative electromyography monitoring of the facial musculature during microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. J Neurosurg. 2007;106(3):384–7.
- 44. Sindou MP. Microvascular decompression for primary hemifacial spasm. Importance of intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2005;147(10):1019–26. discussion 1026.
- 45. Hatem J, Sindou M, Vial C. Intraoperative monitoring of facial EMG responses during microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. Prognostic value for long-term outcome: a study in a 33-patient series. Br J Neurosurg. 2001;15(6):496–9.
- 46. Kiya N, Bannur U, Yamauchi A, Yoshida K, Kato Y, Kanno T. Monitoring of facial evoked EMG for hemifacial spasm: a critical analysis of its prognostic value. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2001;143(4):365–8.
- 47. Joo WI, Lee KJ, Park HK, Chough CK, Rha HK. Prognostic value of intra-operative lateral spread response monitoring during microvascular decompression in patients with hemifacial spasm. J Clin Neurosci. 2008;15(12):1335–9.
- 48. "Thirumala PD, Shah AC, Nikonow TN, Habeych ME, Balzer JR, Crammond DJ, et al. Microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm: evaluating outcome prognosticators including the value of intraoperative lateral spread response monitoring and clinical characteristics in 293 patients. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;28(1):56–66.
- 49. Wang X, Thirumala PD, Shah A, Gardner P, Habeych M, Crammond D, Balzer J, Burkhart L, Horowitz M. Microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm: focus on late reoperation. Neurosurg Rev. 2013;36(4):637–43. discussion 643–4.
- Wang X, Thirumala PD, Shah A, Gardner P, Habeych M, Crammond DJ, Balzer J, Horowitz M. Effect of previous botulinum neurotoxin treatment on microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. Neurosurg Focus. 2013;34(3):E3.
- House JW, Brackmann DE. Facial nerve grading system. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1985;93(2):146–7.
- 52. Huh R, Han IB, Moon JY, Chang JW, Chung SS. Microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm: analyses of operative complications in 1582 consecutive patients. Surg Neurol. 2008;69(2):153–7. discussion 157.
- 53. Polo G, Fischer C, Sindou MP, Marneffe V. Brainstem auditory evoked potential monitoring during microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm: intraoperative brainstem auditory evoked potential changes and warning values to prevent hearing loss prospective study in a consecutive series of 84 patients. Neurosurgery. 2004;54(1):97–104. discussion 104–6.
- 54. Currier RD, Dejong RN. The lateral medullary (Wallenberg's) syndrome. Med Bull (Ann Arbor). 1962;28:106–13.
- Currier R, Dejong R. Some comments on Wallenberg's lateral medullary syndrome. Neurology. 1961;11:778–91.

- Lister JR, Rhoton Jr AL, Matsushima T, Peace DA. Microsurgical anatomy of the posterior inferior cerebellar artery. Neurosurgery. 1982;10(2):170–99.
- Chadwick GM, Asher AL, Van Der Veer CA, Pollard RJ. Adverse effects of topical papaverine on auditory nerve function. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2008;150(9):901– 9. discussion 909.
- Kim B, Lee JA, Kong DS, Park K. Delayed facial palsy following microvascular decompression in hemifacial spasm. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 1999;28:1332–6.
- Kuroki A, Itagaki S, Nagai A. Delayed facial palsy after microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. Facial Nerve Res. 1991;11:147–50.
- Lovely TJ, Getch CC, Jannetta PJ. Delayed facial weakness after microvascular decompression of cranial nerve VII. Surg Neurol. 1998;50(5):449–52.
- Rhee DJ, Kong DS, Park K, Lee JA. Frequency and prognosis of delayed facial palsy after microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2006;148(8):839–43. discussion 843.
- 62. Furukawa K, Sakoh M, Kumon Y, Teraoka M, Ohta S, Ohue S, Hatoh N, Ohnishi T. Delayed facial palsy after microvascular decompression for hemifacial spasm due to reactivation of varicella-zoster virus. No Shinkei Geka. 2003;31(8):899–902.
- Ryu H, Yamamoto S, Miyamoto T. Atypical hemifacial spasm. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1998;140(11):1173–6.
- 64. Jannetta PJ. Surgical treatment of cranial rhizopathies. Paper presented at Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Montreal, QC, Canada; 1996.
- Pollack IF, Pang D, Kocoshis S, Putnam P. Neurogenic dysphagia resulting from Chiari malformations. Neurosurgery. 1992;30(5):709–19.

Questions

- 1. Which theory describing the etiology of HFS best explains the phenomena of an intact blink reflex in the anesthetized HFS patient ipsilateral to disease?
 - A. Ephaptic transmission at the site of vascular contact
 - B. Hyperactivity of the facial nerve nucleus
 - C. Axono-axonal ephapsis in the periorbital region
 - D. Abnormal excitation of the ventral posterolateral nucleus of the thalamus
- 2. What imaging modality is best to delineate cranial nerves and adjacent vasculature?
 - A. Diffusion weighted imaging with highresolution fiber tracking
 - B. Thin-slice steady-state free precession MRI
 - C. 18F-FDG positron emission tomography
 - D. Fast fluid-attenuated inversion recovery MRI

- 3. Which of the following would not account for absence/loss of AMR?
 - A. Dislodgment of bipolar electrodes from orbicularis oculi and mentalis muscles
 - B. Application of nondepolarizing agent during intubation
 - C. Overstimulation of facial muscles prior to access to the cerebellar pontine angle
 - D. Kinking of the ear insert tubing
- 4. Which of the following cranial nerve deficits is the least probable complication of MVD for HFS resulting from indirect manipulation?
 - A. Dysphagia/hoarseness
 - B. Loss of high-frequency hearing
 - C. Ipsilateral facial pain/numbness
 - D. Loss of pupillary reflexes

Answers

1. B. Explanation: Anesthesia suppresses the blink reflex in nondysfunctioning facial nerves. The ability to elicit a blink reflex in HFS patients is best explained by hyperactivity of the facial nerve nucleus.

- 2. B. Explanation: SSFP MRI are heavily T2 weighted, resulting in contrast between CSF and adjacent nerves and vasculature.
- 3. D. Explanation: The ear insert is used for auditory brainstem response audiometry and not for monitoring of the abnormal motor response.
- 4. D. Explanation: The fifth, eighth, ninth, and tenth cranial nerves are in close proximity to the seventh cranial nerve and are often visualized during MVD. Loss of pupillary reflexes is unlikely to occur from indirect manipulation but may be a sign of posterior fossa edema/hemorrhage requiring immediate surgical intervention.

Skull Base Surgery

David E. Traul and Thomas N. Pajewski

Key Learning Points

- Due to the complex nature of skull base procedures involving limited surgical exposure and the proximity of vital neurological and vascular structures, utilization of IOM can facilitate surgical progress, reduce recovery times, and help prevent unwanted morbidity.
- Multiple modalities of IOM, such as EMG, evoked potentials, and EEG may be used for surgery of the skull base to help identify neuroanatomical structures and also to detect potential trauma due to mechanical, thermal, or ischemic insults.
- Positioning requirements for skull base surgery may put the patient at risk for peripheral nerve injuries that may be detected and potentially prevented through the use of IOM.

D.E. Traul, M.D., Ph.D.

Department of General Anesthesiology, Cleveland Clinic, 9500 Euclid Avenue/E30, Cleveland, OH 44195, USA e-mail: trauld@ccf.org

T.N. Pajewski, Ph.D., M.D. (⊠) Division of Neuroanesthesiology, Department of Anesthesiology, University of Virginia Health System, 1 Hospital Drive, Old Medical School, Room 4748, PO Box 800710, Charlottesville, VA 22908, USA e-mail: pajewski@virginia.edu • Proper interpretation and evaluation of IOM recordings and their changes are imperative to benefit both the patient and the practitioner.

Introduction

Over the past several decades, advancements in many areas of clinical medicine have facilitated the progress and application of surgical intervention for lesion of the skull base. The skull base is composed of the ethmoid, sphenoid, occipital, frontal, and parietal bones, as well as the petrous portion of the temporal bone. Traditionally, this anatomical area has been divided into three compartments: the anterior, middle, and posterior cranial fossae. Located or coursing through this area are a number of vital structures including the pituitary gland, cranial nerves, cavernous sinuses, and the internal carotid arteries. Lesions of the skull base lesion can be defined as those invading a skull base bone or one whose location requires resection of a skull base bone for surgical exposure. Surgical intervention must take into consideration potential damage to the cranial nerves and vascular structures. Improvements in surgical techniques, the development of precision tumor removal instruments, and the advent of modern neuroimaging such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) now permit more frequent consideration of invasive treatment and palliative intervention for

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 A. Koht et al. (eds.), *Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists*

and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_27

lesions of the skull base that were previously considered either inoperable or associated with unfavorable morbidity. In conjunction with the increased popularity and complexity of skull base surgery, the utilization of neuromonitoring modalities during these invasive procedures has proven to be of benefit to both the practitioner and the patient. Intraoperative neuromonitoring (IOM) provides the surgeon with a tool to identify and map neuroanatomical structures, assist in the early detection of trauma during the procedures, and predict neurological preservation at the end of the procedure. Additionally, IOM benefits the patient with shorter surgical times, a more precise and complete lesion removal, and an improved chance at avoiding neurological morbidity.

Perioperative Considerations

In addition to the routine concerns of providing anesthesia for patients undergoing operative procedures, skull base surgery presents some unique considerations for the anesthesiologist. These include variations in patient positioning, the possibility of venous air embolism, significant blood loss, and prolonged operative times. Positioning patients for skull base surgery may involve a range of possibilities depending on the surgical considerations and the planned operative approach. In addition to being placed in the supine position, skull base surgery may require the patient to be placed in a sitting or park bench position. These positions are associated with an increased risk of venous air embolism due to the operative site being elevated above the level of the heart. The risk of venous air embolism may also be increased in this patient population since many patients with intracranial tumors are hypovolemic, resulting in a decreased central venous pressure that increases the risk for venous air entrapment. Additionally, skull base surgery can involve resection of the jugular vein and cavernous sinus, which often is performed with the operative site elevated above the level of the heart. Due to the complexity of these operations, their positioning requirements, and their prolonged

duration, peripheral nerve injuries may occur even with meticulous attention to details of proper positioning and padding. Significant blood loss also needs to be anticipated during skull base surgery. Preoperative assessment of the lesions location, size, and presumed histological type can help determine the potential for significant intraoperative hemorrhage. For example, meningiomas and glomus tumors are highly vascular lesions frequently located in the skull base associated with significant blood loss during resection. Additionally, lesions involving the cavernous sinus or associated blood vessels are also likely to be associated with substantial blood loss. In select cases, preoperative embolization of the lesion can significantly decrease intraoperative blood loss. The role of controlled hypotension during these surgical procedures needs to be balanced with the risks of potentially ischemic conditions.

Goals of IOM During Skull Base Surgery

The use of IOM during skull base surgery may help reduce the risk of significant neurological sequela that has burdened this type of surgery in the past. Historically, limiting surgical exposure with the goal of preservation of adjacent vital neural and vascular structures often impeded surgical progress and was associated with prolonged surgical times. IOM reduces incision length and allows a smaller craniotomy to be made by providing the surgeon a means by which identification of anatomical structures is permitted through a smaller exposure area. This, in turn, reduces trauma to the surrounding tissue decreasing morbidity and reducing recovery time. The surgeon can rely on IOM to detect, in real-time, trauma to the adjacent tissue from mechanical forces such as retraction or electrocautery. IOM may facilitate the identification of neuroanatomical structures under conditions where the neural structures are grossly misplaced and hinders the progress of lesion extirpation. Furthermore, IMO may also aid the surgeon when morphological changes to the neural tissue due to local inflammation or lesion invasion make identification of such structures difficult. Finally, the preservation of neurological function may be tested in an anesthetized patient undergoing skull base surgery at a time when clinical examination is otherwise impossible. This allows the surgeon to alter the surgical technique or approach with the goal of minimizing or reversing damage to the monitored structures.

Modes of Neuromonitoring

Lesions of the skull base arise from a heterogeneous mixture of histological structures such as bone (osteochordoma, osteosarcoma), vascular structures (hemangioma), neural tissue (schwannoma, neurofibroma, meningioma), and skin (epidermal cyst). Due to the confinements of the skull base, extirpation of these lesions is often technically challenging. As a result, several types of IOM may be utilized to assist the surgical intervention. The use of IOM and the type of modality employed are dictated not only by the location of the lesion and involved tissue, but also by the structures at risk during the procedure. Furthermore, the concomitant use of multiple modalities during the procedure allows more sensitive detection of the pathophysiological process of concern.

Electromyography

Commonly, electromyography (EMG) is employed to identify and help detect injury to cranial nerves via measurement of the electrical activity of innervated muscle. At baseline, muscle activity in an anesthetized patient is relatively silent and the detection of muscle activity permits the surgeon rapid feedback of direct stimulation or mechanical manipulation such as stretching or thermal injury to the corresponding nerve [1-3]. Due to the location of lesions around the brainstem, skull base surgery typically necessitates the direct or indirect EMG monitoring of the lower cranial nerves. Selection of which cranial nerves to monitor by EMG is determined by the relationship of the nerve to the lesion and also by the clinical significance that damage to the nerve

may cause to the patient. Surgery involving structures in the middle fossa such as the orbits or cavernous sinus poses risk to cranial nerves II, IV, and VI, all of which may be monitored with EMG recordings of the extra-ocular muscles. Lesions of the posterior fossa such as cerebellar pontine angle (CPA) tumors or acoustic neuromas require EMG of the lower cranial nerves (V, VII-XII). However, consideration is also given to the clinical significance that an injury to a given nerve will have on a patient. For instance, while injury to cranial nerves V, VII, and X may lead to significant morbidity in the patient, injury to cranial nerve IX (glossopharyngeal) has little clinical significance to most patients and therefore EMG monitoring of this cranial nerve is less common.

EMG monitoring of the facial nerve (VII) is probably the most documented of all the cranial nerves given the morbidity associated with injury and the common involvement of the facial nerve with acoustic neuromas. Intraoperative EMG monitoring of the facial nerve may help in the preservation of facial nerve function and can be used to prognosticate facial nerve postoperative function [1, 4–7]. These findings are likely related to using EMG to identify the facial nerve as well as for the detection of pathophysiological changes during tumor exploration and resection. Therefore, use of EMG monitoring of the facial nerve during CPA tumor resection remains a common entity by itself, or in a multimodal capacity with evoked potentials [8]. The glossopharyngeal nerve (IX) innervates only one muscle, the stylopharyngeus, which is not readily accessible for direct EMG monitoring. When monitoring is desired, neural stimulation of the glossopharyngeal nerve can be detected by electrode placement into the ipsilateral soft palate, which then detects activity of the stylopharyngeus muscle by proxy. Concomitant monitoring of the vagal nerve (X) is also required with this technique to differentiate activity between the two nerves. Dysfunction of the vagal nerve can lead to significant hoarseness and dysphagia. Therefore, EMG monitoring of cranial nerve X is frequently performed during skull base surgery involving lesions located near the jugular foramen. Electrode placement directly into the vocalis muscle requiring direct laryngoscopy can

often be avoided with the use of modified endotracheal tubes with surface electrodes positioned at the level of the vocal folds. While less invasive, the surface electrode technique is more susceptible to positional changes and poor electrode contact. IOM of the accessory nerve (XI) is frequently performed due to the relative ease of reliable recording in the trapezius muscle and due to the fact that elicited muscle activity of the accessory nerve often indicates that nearby cranial nerves are also at risk.

Evoked Potentials (SSEP, MEP, VEP, ABR)

In order to monitor neural structures that do not have significant motor innervations, or whose motor innervations would be difficult to monitor via EMG, other IOM modalities are needed during skull base surgery. Evoked potentials such as somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEP) and motor-evoked potentials (MEP) are modalities used to assess various functional changes due to the compromise of neural structures as well as vascular structures [9, 10]. For instance, potential ischemic insults may be detected with a loss or change of evoked potential recordings of electrodes placed over the corresponding motor or sensory cortex. Additionally, SSEP changes may be seen during concussive (hammering) injury or compression of the surrounding neural tissue. Another modality, brainstem auditory-evoked potentials (ABRs), is used to detect potential injury to the auditory nerve ipsilateral to the lesion as well as potential injury to the brainstem when bilateral pathways are monitored [11]. While IOM with ABR has been shown to reduce postoperative morbidity in posterior fossa surgery [12], ABR may also be utilized to assess the efficacy of surgery such as during microvascular decompression of the facial nerve. Finally, reversible ischemic injury during skull base surgery may be monitored by electroencephalogram (EEG) that can detect changes in the metabolic rate of the cerebral cortex.

While IOM for skull base surgery has become invaluable, limitations of its use should be con-

sidered. Most of these limitations are not unique to skull base surgery and should be assessed in any surgery in which IOM is employed. First, the use of IOM techniques comes with an added cost of the hardware used as well as the technical supervision required for reliable application and interpretation. Second, many modalities of IOM are sensitive to inhalational and intravenous anesthetic agents that may decrease the sensitivity and specificity of the recordings [13]. Third, the clinical significance of IOM recordings is often debated among practitioners.

Case 1

A 42-year-old woman with well-controlled hypertension and anxiety/depression who presented with headaches, vertigo, and tinnitus was diagnosed with left-sided hemangioblastoma in the cerebellar pontine angle and scheduled to undergo surgical resection with a lateral suboccipital approach. Her preoperative assessment revealed a normal neurological examination without cranial nerve deficits. The patient was anesthetized with boluses of lidocaine, propofol, rocuronium, and fentanyl, after which an endotracheal tube was placed. Anesthesia maintenance was provided by intravenous infusions of propofol, lidocaine, and remifentanil. A right radial arterial line was placed and a urinary catheter incorporating a temperature probe was inserted. IOM was then established with EMG recordings of cranial nerves VII, X, and XII. Additionally, bilateral ABR and four-limb SSEPs were established. The patient was placed in right lateral position and her head secured in Mayfield pins. A warm-air temperature regulation blanket was placed on the patient. After the surgical site was prepped and draped, baseline recordings of EMG, SSEP, and ABR were normal. After incision and craniotomy, retractors were placed and resection of the lesion progressed. After 10 min, retraction was increased and a shift in latency of the ipsilateral ABR waveform of about 0.4 ms was observed (Fig. 27.1). Low-grade facial nerve EMG firing was also noted. There were no deviations from baseline in SSEPs.





Differential Diagnosis of ABR Findings

Several nonphysiological processes may contribute to changes in ABRs during IOM [14]. Inherent to any IOM, ABRs are susceptible to mechanical failure and operative errors such as malfunctioning equipment, accidental removal of the stimulating earpiece, or an obstruction in the tubing connected to the earpiece. These conditions may artificially produce increases in latency, decreases in amplitude, or even an entire loss of signal recordings. Other possible nonphysiological processes that can affect ABR signal recording include artifact created by electrocautery or ultrasonic aspirating devices. In the present case, all the data collection and recording equipment was inspected and determined to be working properly. The use of electrocautery was infrequent and no cavitational ultrasonic surgical aspirator devices were being utilized. We therefore determined that changes in ABR recordings were not caused by a nonphysiological etiology.

Short-latency ABR recordings are relatively resistant to the effects of intravenous and volatile anesthetic agents even at levels of anesthesia that attenuate or abolish other forms of IOM (EEG, SSEP, etc.). However, ABRs become more susceptible to anesthetic agent levels when the patient is hypothermic or hypotensive. While reversible prolongation of peak latencies have been observed in patients undergoing induced hypothermia during cardiac procedures [15], unintended mild hypothermia during a prolonged surgical case or even localized hypothermia due to room temperature irrigation baths may produce some degree of latency change in ABR wave peaks. In our case, the patient's core temperature had not changed and only warm saline was used as irrigation for the operative site. Therefore, it was unlikely that the changes in ABR latency observed in our patient were due to hypothermia. Invasive blood pressure monitoring ruled out any contribution of hypotension to the ABR changes as the patient's mean arterial pressure was not significantly lower than baseline measures. In examination of the changes seen in Fig. 27.1, the waveforms in the figure are clearly present and few, if any, changes are seen in the amplitude of the evoked responses. However, a gradual increase in latencies is seen in all wave peaks and between peaks. This observation would argue against the direct mechanical manipulation or dissection of the auditory nerve since such an injury would elicit an abrupt change in the ABR waveform and, when severe, is often accompanied by loss of wave peaks. Additionally, ischemia to the cochlea via damage to the anterior inferior cerebellar artery or the internal auditory artery would also cause an abrupt change to the responses and potential loss of wave peaks. Alternatively, stretch or excessive retraction of the auditory nerve would cause a gradual increase in wave latencies consistent with the finding in our case. Finally, ischemia or injury to the brainstem may also cause changes in ABR recording, and often these changes are bilateral. However, ABRs may not show any changes during ongoing brainstem or cerebral ischemia if there is sparing of the auditory region. In our case, the lack of baseline changes in concomitant SSEP and EEG recordings indicated that a more pronounced ischemic event was not occurring.

Case Progression

The surgeon was notified that the ABR changes were most consistent with stretch or retraction of the acoustic nerve. At that point, the surgeon temporarily removed the retractors and then reapplied the retraction intermittently throughout the remainder of the case. As seen in Fig. 27.1, the latency of the ABRs improved and approached baseline measurements by the end of the case. Additionally, EMG activity of the facial nerve gradually resolved. The patient was extubated in the operating room and transported to the neurosurgical intensive care unit. Postoperative evaluation revealed no new neurological deficits.

Case 2

A 67-year-old man with coronary artery disease, diabetes, and hypothyroidism presented with diplopia and was diagnosed with a right-sided sphenoid wing meningioma. He was scheduled for a frontal temporal craniotomy after undergoing preoperative embolization of the tumor a day prior to surgery. Preoperative examination revealed a normal neurological evaluation except for mild diplopia with lateral gaze. The patient was anesthetized with induction boluses of lidocaine, propofol, rocuronium, and fentanyl. The patient was intubated and maintenance of anesthesia was provided by intravenous infusions of propofol, lidocaine, and remifentanil. Additional monitoring included left radial arterial line and a urinary catheter with temperature probe. IOM was established with EMG recordings of cranial nerves III, IV, VI, and VII along with four-limb



Fig. 27.2 SSEP recording from the four extremities with changes in upper right extremity that was related to positioning

SSEP. The patient was placed in supine position with slight rotation of the torso. His head was secured with Mayfield pins. A warm-air temperature regulation blanket was placed on the patient. After the surgical area was prepped and draped, baseline EMG and SSEP recordings were normal. The craniotomy proceeded uneventfully with nominal blood loss. As the tumor was being resected, a marked decline in amplitude of the right upper extremity SSEP recordings was noted. Cranial nerve recordings were unchanged from baseline (Fig. 27.2).

Differential Diagnosis of SSEP Findings

The decrease in amplitude of the right upper extremity SSEP recordings prompted an investigation of both a physiological and nonphysiological etiology to the change from baseline. Technical issues related to the monitoring were less likely given that the recordings from the other extremities were unchanged and after verifying the integrity of the electrodes placed in the right upper extremity. The maintenance anesthesia regimen had not been changed nor had the patient experienced significant hemodynamic or temperature variations. Due in part to the preoperative embolization of the tumor, minimal blood loss has occurred at this point, which made it unlikely that anemia was contributing to the changes in amplitude. Furthermore, since the findings were isolated to a single extremity, this suggested that the changes in amplitude were not systemic in nature, but rather directly related to the surgical procedure or to the patient's positioning. Given that the findings were ipsilateral to the operative site, it was determined that the positioning of the right upper extremity was most likely the cause of changes in SSEP.

Case Progression

After being notified that the right upper extremity SSEP recordings had changed, the surgeon was able to stop operating while the IOM findings were verified and investigated. Examination of the patient's right arm revealed that it had moved when the Mayo stand had been repositioned during the operation. Once the placement of the Mayo stand was corrected, the SSEP recordings returned to baseline values over the next 20 min. Upon conclusion of the operation, the patient was extubated in the operating room and transported to the intensive care unit. Postoperative examination revealed no sensory or motor deficits in the right upper extremity. Cranial nerve functions were also found to be at preoperative baseline.

Conclusion

In the first case, changes in baseline ABRs were interpreted correctly, reported to the surgeon, and the appropriate action was implemented to resolve the findings. While the sensitivity and specificity of intraoperative ABR changes are often questioned [16, 17], our case outlines an example where utilization of IOM may have prevented unwanted neurological morbidity. This is consistent with other data that suggest that the use of ABR in skull base surgery may improve patient outcomes [18]. In the second case, changes in SSEP recordings were evaluated and lead to an intervention that might have prevented peripheral nerve injury due to an alteration in the patient's position. While not isolated related to the operative site, positional neuropathies are a common morbidity associated with prolonged surgical times often found with skull base surgeries. IOM during skull base surgery is a valuable tool that benefits both the patient and the practitioner. Correct implementation of various IOM modalities and proper interpretation of their recordings may help with the identification of neuroanatomical structures, the detection of mechanical and thermal injury, and facilitate progression of the surgery.

References¹

- Maurer J, Pelster H, Amedee RG, Mann WJ. Intraoperative monitoring of motor cranial nerves in skull base surgery. Skull Base Surg. 1995;5:169–75.
- *Schlake HP, Goldbrunner RH, Milewski C, Krauss J, Trautner H, Behr R, Sorensen N, Helms J, Roosen K. Intra-operative electromyographic monitoring of the lower cranial motor nerves (LCN IX–XII) in skull base surgery. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2001;103:72–82.
- *Topsakal C, Al-Mefty O, Bulsara KR, Williford VS. Intraoperative monitoring of lower cranial nerves in skull base surgery: technical report and review of 123 monitored cases. Neurosurg Rev. 2008;31:45–53.
- *Glasker S, Pechstein U, Vougiouka VIs, Van Velthoven V. Monitoring motor function during resection of tumours in the lower brain stem and fourth ventricle. Childs Nerv Syst. 2006;22:1288–95.
- Jellinek DA, Tan TC, Symon C. The impact of continuous electrophysiological monitoring on preservation of the facial nerve during acoustic tumour surgery. Br J Neurosurg. 1991;5:19–24.
- Sobottka SB, Schackert G, May SA, Wiegleb M, Reiss G. Intraoperative facial nerve monitoring (IFNM) predicts facial nerve outcome after resection of vestibular schwannoma. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1988;140:235–42. discussion 42–3.
- Torrens M, Maw R, Coakham H, Butler S, Morgan H. Facial and acoustic nerve preservation during excision of extracanalicular acoustic neuromas using the suboccipital approach. Br J Neurosurg. 1994;8:655–65.
- Matthies C, Raslan F, Schweitzer T, Hagen R, Roosen K, Reiners K. Facial motor evoked potentials in cerebellopontine angle surgery: technique, pitfalls and predictive value. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2011;113:872–9.
- McPherson RW, Szymanski J, Rogers MC. Somatosensory evoked potential changes in positionrelated brain stem ischemia. Anesthesiology. 1984; 61:88–90.
- *Neuloh G, Bogucki J, Schramm J. Intraoperative preservation of corticospinal function in the brainstem. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2009; 80:417–22.
- Schramm J, Watanabe E, Strauss C, Fahlbusch R. Neurophysiologic monitoring in posterior fossa surgery. I. Technical principles, applicability and limitations. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1989;98:9–18.
- Radtke RA, Erwin CW, Wilkins RH. Intraoperative brainstem auditory evoked potentials: significant decrease in postoperative morbidity. Neurology. 1989;39:187–91.
- Banoub M, Tetzlaff JE, Schubert A. Pharmacologic and physiologic influences affecting sensory evoked

¹Asterisk indicates key references.

potentials: implications for perioperative monitoring. Anesthesiology. 2003;99:716–37.

- *Legatt AD. Mechanisms of intraoperative brainstem auditory evoked potential changes. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19:396–408.
- Markand ON, Warren C, Mallik GS, Williams CJ. Temperature-dependent hysteresis in somatosensory and auditory evoked potentials. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1990;77:425–35.
- Friedman WA, Kaplan BJ, Gravenstein D, Rhoton Jr AL. Intraoperative brain-stem auditory evoked potentials during posterior fossa microvascular decompression. J Neurosurg. 1985;62:552–7.
- Watanabe E, Schramm J, Strauss C, Fahlbusch R. Neurophysiologic monitoring in posterior fossa surgery. II. BAEP-waves I and V and preservation of hearing. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1998;98: 118–28.
- Hatayama T, Moller AR. Correlation between latency and amplitude of peak V in the brainstem auditory evoked potentials: intraoperative recordings in microvascular decompression operations. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1998;140:681–7.

Questions

- Reducing the possibility of complications due to the proximity of vital vascular and neurological structures during skull base surgery can be achieved through the utilization of IOM. Which of the following modalities have been shown to be useful during these operations?
 - A. Evoked potential (SSEP, MEP, and ABR) monitoring
 - B. Processed EEG (e.g., Bispectral Index) monitoring
 - C. EMG monitoring
 - D. Transcranial Doppler
- 2. The most commonly monitored cranial nerve during skull base surgery is which of the following:
 - A. The glossopharyngeal nerve (CN IX)
 - B. The facial nerve (CN VII)
 - C. The hypoglossal nerve (CN XII)
 - D. The occulomotor nerve (CN III)
- 3. Which monitoring modality is most likely to detect the potential for injury as a result of the patient being malpositioned?
 - A. Somatosensory-evoked potentials
 - B. Auditory brainstem response monitoring

- C. Electromyography monitoring
- D. Motor-evoked potentials
- 4. Which of the following monitoring modalities is most resistant to the effects of anesthetic agents?
 - A. Somatosensory-evoked potentials
 - B. Auditory brainstem response monitoring
 - C. Electromyography monitoring
 - D. Motor-evoked potentials
- 5. While the potential benefit for IOM during skull base surgery has been recognized for many years, determining which modality or combination of modalities to utilize is determined by careful consideration of a number of factors. Limitations to a uniform approach for these cases are dependent on the evaluation of which of the following factors?
 - A. The technical and supervisory requirements for the implementation of IOM in a particular surgical procedure can be very challenging. Appropriately trained staff may not be readily available in all operating locations.
 - B. The potential impact of anesthetic selection on the patient's physiological state must be balanced with the impact that these drugs have on the ability of the IOM team to obtain reliable readings in order to properly guide the surgeon.
 - C. The clinical importance and relevance of intraoperative changes is at times subject to considerable debate. Making clinical decisions under these circumstances requires a careful consideration of the patient's clinical condition, the changes that were noted, and the skill and experience of the members of the team including the surgeon, anesthesiologist, and neurophysiologist.

Answers

 Both A and C are correct. While electromyography can aid in detecting and thus preventing injury to cranial nerves, the addition of evoked potentials helps assess various functional changes due to the compromise of neural structures as well as vascular structures.

- B is correct. The facial nerve (CN VII) is the most commonly monitored cranial nerve during skull base surgery.
- 3. A is correct. Positional neuropathies can be the result of patient malpositioning during the often prolonged surgical times associated with skull base surgery.
- 4. B is the correct answer. Somatosensoryevoked potentials are impacted by the choice of anesthetic agents, but not nearly as much as the motor-evoked potentials. Electromyography is not susceptible to anesthetic agents, under

clinically relevant conditions, but is sensitive to the effects of neuromuscular blocking agents. Auditory brainstem response measurements are relatively resistant to anesthetics and are not impacted by the use of neuromuscular agents.

5. All of the above. As with many aspects of medicine, evaluation of difficult clinical situations requires a careful consideration of the risks and benefits along with the analysis of findings that may not always be straightforward to interpret.

Surgery for Chiari Type I Malformation

Penny P. Liu, Chaim I. Nelson, Gregory D. Arnone, Ashley Kane Palmer, and Raymond F. Sekula Jr.

Introduction

The constellations of neuroanatomic findings and clinical sequelae related to congenital hindbrain herniation currently known as Chiari malformations first began finding predominance in the medical literature in the nineteenth century [1, 2]. While physicians prior to Dr. Chiari had acknowledged anatomic findings consistent with Chiari malformations, it was Dr. Chiari who—based on

P.P. Liu, M.D. (🖂)

Division of Neuroanesthesia, Department of Anesthesiology, Tufts Medical Center, 800 Washington Street, Boston, MA 02111, USA e-mail: pennyliumd@gmail.com

C.I. Nelson, M.D.

Department of Anesthesiology PGY3, Tufts Medical Center, 800 Washington Street, Boston, MA 02111, USA

G.D. Arnone, M.D. Department of Neurosurgery, Allegheny General Hospital, 320 East North Avenue, Pittsburgh, PA 15212, USA

A.K. Palmer Charlottesville, VA, USA

R.F. Sekula Jr., M.D., M.B.A., F.A.C.S. Division of Neurosurgery, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, 200 Lothrop Street, Suite B400, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA e-mail: rsekula@wpahs.org; sekularf@upmc.edu his descriptions of postmortem anatomic findings-developed the classification system that stands today [3]. Although the cases described by Chiari and colleagues varied considerably, the essential condition was that of a herniation of a tongue-like process of cerebellar tissue into the cervical canal. This description is consistent with Chiari malformation type I (CM-I). Both type II and III Chiari malformations are congenitally acquired and associated with neural tube defects in a caudal and craniocervical distribution respectively. Chiari II patients exhibit downward displacement of the cerebellar vermis, brainstem, and fourth ventricle through the foramen magnum, boney abnormalities within the calvarium, and are frequently associated with spinal dysraphism. Type III Chiari malformations are rare and severe, involving significant morbidity and mortality related to varying levels of hindbrain herniation into associated cephaloceles. Type-V Chiari malformations are also rare and associated with hypoplasia or absence of the cerebellum. Classically, Chiari malformations as a group have been reported to have an incidence of roughly 1:1000 births—with the majority of cases coming to medical attention as a result of clustered, nonspecific clinical findings such as headache or abnormal gait [4]. With the advent of increasingly refined neuroanatomical imaging modalities, however, increasing numbers of patients are coming to medical attention in the absence of clinical findings or with variants of classically described

pathology, leading to modifications of the Chiari classification system in modern literature. Patients presenting to the operative arena for any variety of reasons and also carrying a diagnosis of Chiari malformation are therefore becoming more common, in turn bearing unique considerations in perioperative management. This chapter will focus on only one Chiari malformation subtype: the type I classification.

Anatomy and Pathophysiology

CM-I patients often demonstrate reduction in size of the posterior cranial fossa. As the cerebellar tonsils descend through the foramen magnum and enter the cervical canal, they may cause direct compression of the brainstem structures in this area. Bony abnormalities of the posterior fossa and upper cervical spine may exacerbate compression of the neural elements. Cerebral spinal flow can be altered, leading to a spinal cord syrinx in the cervical spine [5, 6]. Whether or not the compression of cerebellar tissue within the fossa is an impetus for or result of pathologic sequelae, however, remains a topic of controversy [7]. Although all patients with CM-I share the anatomic characteristic of caudal tonsillar displacement of the cerebellum through the foramen magnum, the embryologic pathways leading to such herniation vis a vie abnormalities in neural crest and somite activity are likely varied and complex [8, 9]. Subsequently, additional structural and functional defects of the central nervous system frequently associated with Chiari I malformation are not ubiquitous among all patients. Additionally, subsets of populations exist where CM-I is acquired later in life secondary to connective tissue disorders or trauma-a feature unique to CM-I patients.

Symptomatology of Chiari I Malformation

Many patients with CM-I do not have any symptoms and are brought to medical attention due to incidental radiographic findings. When symptoms do occur, however, headache is frequently involved, often described as Valsalva-induced and suboccipital in nature. The headache is exacerbated by increases in intracranial pressure, typically occurring when patients strain for any reason. Other symptoms can include visual abnormalities, hearing and equilibrium difficulty, swallowing dysfunction, apnea, nausea, palpitations, gait ataxia, and a host of other seemingly nonspecific complaints. Unlike patients with the more severe CM-II, which typically manifests in infancy, patients with CM-I may remain asymptomatic or present in adulthood with subtle clinical findings related to brainstem compression. The symptoms gradually worsen over time, and it is not uncommon to see a college student with formerly good grades beginning to have increasing troubles in his or her studies due to the debilitating headaches. In cases of CM-I associated with a syrinx, patients may develop motor or sensory abnormalities of the extremities.

Diagnosis of Chiari I Malformation

The diagnosis of Chiari I malformation is made, in part, with the use of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Sagittal MRI images will show the presence of tonsillar descent below a line drawn from the basion to the opisthion (i.e., at the level of the foramen magnum). While it is generally accepted that greater than 5 mm caudal displacement of the cerebellar tonsils is pathologic, tonsillar displacements between 3 and 5 mm may also be considered pathologic if grouped with other findings. Such findings include neurologic deficits, signs of structural compression, or presence of a syrinx. Additional consideration must be given to the patient's age at the time of the study, as less than 6 mm herniation is considered within normal limits if presenting as an isolated finding in the first decade of life [10]. In severe cases, cerebellar tonsils may descend to the level of the second or third cervical vertebrae. On these images, particular attention should be paid to the location of the vertebral artery and the course of the posterior inferior cerebellar artery adjacent to the cerebellar tonsils. Syringomyelia may be appreciated with supplemental imaging of the spinal cord.

With advances in imaging over the past 20 years, tonsillar ectopia, as it is largely used today, is a poor sole criterion for diagnosis of CM-I [11]. Barkovich et al. [12] demonstrated that 14% of normal control patients had tonsils below the foramen magnum and one in 200 normal control patients had tonsils projecting 5 mm or more below the foramen magnum by MRI imaging. Further, extent of tonsillar herniation in CM-I has never been satisfactorily correlated with severity of symptoms. In the 1980s, the advent of MRI made it possible to make an accurate, noninvasive diagnosis of this disorder for the first time. In the largest series to date, Elster and Chen [13] reviewed MRI images from 12,226 patients and found that a large percentage (31%) of patients with tonsils herniated 5 mm or more below the foramen magnum were asymptomatic [13]. Today, quantitative analysis of cerebrospinal fluid dynamics is increasingly used in the workup of patients with CM-I [14-16]. Therefore, a comprehensive review of the imaging findings and clinical symptoms is used to make the diagnosis.

Operative Technique for Chiari I Malformation

The classic operation¹ for Chiari I malformation involves decompression of the posterior fossa via a suboccipital craniectomy, laminectomy of the atlas, and expansile duraplasty with or without cerebellar tonsillar resection. The patient is positioned to provide the surgeon access to the posterior fossa. Most teams prefer the prone position, but the lateral position can provide acceptable

access as well. An incision is made in the back of the neck from the inion to the upper cervical spine. A high-speed drill is used to perform a suboccipital craniectomy with laminectomies of the atlas and sometimes the axis. The dura is opened from the cerebellum down to the cervical spine just under the level of the tonsillar descent. Many methods (subpial suction and electrocautery, laser, etc.), based on surgeon's preference, are available to reduce the size of the tonsils. The tonsils re-reduced to the level of the obex. At this point, the entry into the fourth ventricle is exposed, and an autologous or synthetic patch graft is often sewn into the dura to provide expansion of the area available for the hindbrain structures. Meticulous closure follows.

Potential Structures at Risk During Surgery for Chiari I Malformation

Exposure of the craniocervical junction must be performed with great care. Figure 28.1a, b depict the anatomy of the area and structures at risk. As the vertebral arteries emerge over the C1 laminae and turn anteriorly to pierce the dura before entering the foramen magnum, they are vulnerable to injury. Special care must be taken during cervical laminectomy and suboccipital craniectomy not to compromise these vessels. During tonsillectomy, the surgeon must take care not to injure the posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA), which underlies the cerebellar tonsils. The PICA supplies blood to the lateral medulla, inferior aspect of the posterior lobe of the cerebellum, cerebellar tonsils, and portions of the choroid plexus. Injury can cause ischemia and infarction, leading to the Wallenberg syndrome. The nuclei of the sixth and seventh cranial nerves are found in the floor of the fourth ventricle; however, given their deep location, injury is rare. Finally, manipulation of the eleventh cranial nerve through the foramen magnum lateral to the spinal cord provides brisk excitement of the trapezius muscles in the absence of blockade. True injury to the spinal accessory nerve, however, is also unusual.

¹*Note:* The senior surgeon [R. F. Sekula] prefers his own variation on the classic operation, which includes a limited skin incision [1 in.], limited suboccipital craniectomy and cervical laminectomy, with cerebellar tonsil reduction and expansile duraplasty.



Fig. 28.1 Anatomy of the posterior craniocervical junction in Chiari malformation (**a**). Sagittal noncontrast T_1 -weighted MR image in a patient with Chiari I malformation demonstrating herniation of the cerebellar tonsils (*large arrow*) below the foramen magnum. Also shown is the lamina of the second cervical vertebra (*small arrowhead*), the obex (*small arrow*), and the fourth ventricle (*large arrowhead*). Intraoperative posterior view of Chiari malformation surgery (*top of photograph is caudal*) (**b**). After

a suboccipital craniectomy is performed and the posterior arch of C1 is removed, the posterior dural band (*small arrowhead*) is divided, revealing the descended cerebellar tonsil (*large arrow*) over the cervicomedullary junction (*large arrowhead*). The tonsillomedullary segment of the left posterior inferior cerebellar artery (*small arrow*) is shown coursing between the cerebellar tonsil and cervicomedullary junction

Positioning Considerations During Surgery

For the prone position, the head is held in threepoint fixation. The neck is flexed to increase the working area in the craniocervical junction. It is imperative to recheck endotrachial tube positioning and ensure that bilateral breath sounds are present following neck flexion, as migration of the endotracheal tube leading to mainstem intubation is possible. An appropriate amount of neck flexion allows for surgical exposure without compromising adequacy of ventilation, arterial inflow, or venous outflow. The definition of excessive neck flexion may vary from patient to patient based on variability in boney anatomy or degree of preexisting neural structural compression. If arterial inflow is restricted, ischemia can result. If venous outflow is restricted, macroglossia and intracranial hypertension may occur. In general, there should be at least two to three fingerbreadths of space between the anterior mandible and the sternal notch. The shoulders are often gently pulled inferiorly and taped into position. Careful attention to the amount of traction on the shoulders can minimize the chance of brachial plexus injury. If somatosensory-evoked potentials are utilized for the case, the brachial plexus can be monitored.

Principles of Intraoperative Neuromonitoring for Chiari I Malformation Surgery

The body of evidence supporting mandated use of neuromonitoring during surgical decompression of Chiari I malformation is lacking. Clinicians have, nevertheless, demonstrated some utility in somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP) and brainstem auditory-evoked potential (BAEP) monitoring during positioning and in assessing adequacy of surgical decompression respectively [17]. After establishing baseline SSEP signal values, changes during SSEP monitoring can indicate a problem with positioning of the patient due to compression of the brain stem or cervical spine. Prompt recognition and correction of the problem by repositioning can avert a potentially disastrous outcome. SSEP monitoring can also provide information about the dorsal sensory elements of the spinal cord and brainstem during the procedure. Likewise, direct mechanical surgical insults and ischemia of the brainstem due to compression, spasm, or injury to the PICA can be detected by changes during SSEP monitoring. Correction of the surgical insult, blood pressure manipulation, addition of corticosteroids, administration of rheologic agents, or repair of the injury may provide benefit if actively pursued in response to monitoring changes. Monitoring of MEPs is infrequently used during CM-I decompression as no clear advantage has been demonstrated beyond that offered by SSEP or BAEP monitoring. The use of MEPs in this setting should therefore be relegated to surgeon preference.

Case Illustration

Stroke During an Operation for Chiari I Malformation

A 28-year-old female presented with progressive debilitating Valsalva-induced suboccipital headaches and unilateral upper extremity weakness. She underwent MR imaging and was subsequently diagnosed with Chiari I malformation with cervical syringomyelia. The tonsils were noted to descend 7 mm below the foramen magnum, and a syrinx extending from C2 to C7 was appreciated. She elected to undergo suboccipital craniectomy, cervical laminectomy, cerebellar tonsillar reduction, and allograft duraplasty. The patient was positioned prone on laminectomy rolls, with the head and neck fixed in a threepoint pin-based head fixation device. Two hours after skin incision, at the time of the cerebellar tonsillar resection, the posterior spinal radicular arteries on the dorsal aspect of the upper cervical spinal cord appeared blanched. This finding was believed to be unrelated to cauterization. Also within this time period, the neuromonitoring technician reported that the SSEPs were decreased in amplitude. With blood pressure elevation and the direct application of papaverine, vasodilation and reperfusion of the posterior spinal radicular arteries were noted within minutes of the above vascular changes. However, following reperfusion of the posterior spinal radicular arteries, the SSEPs remained reduced from baseline. The operation was completed and the patient awoke with weakness and incoordination of her lower extremities. During the first few months after the operation, the patient's strength and coordination improved, but she continues to struggle with ambulation at a follow-up period of 36 months.

Team Notes

The pre-positioning baseline traces are represented in Fig. 28.2a. Figure 28.2b represents tracings 1 h after the baseline traces were recorded, coinciding with the patient having just been placed in the prone position, neck flexed with the head held in a fixation device. During surgery, an amplitude decrease and a latency shift in the tracings should prompt a differential diagnosis including excessive surgical retraction, hypotension, ischemia, or positioning injury. After the operation, a closer review revealed increasing latency and a diminution in amplitude of the SSEP traces, particularly pronounced in the lower extremity SSEPs, shortly after initial positioning (i.e., after flexing the neck). These circumstances should have immediately raised suspicion of a positioning-related problem. The events of this particular case provide a strong argument for prepositioning baseline neurophysiologic testing as well as postpositioning testing. Baseline traces become invaluable when the practitioner is confronted with patients with neu-



Fig. 28.2 Pre-positioning baseline SSEP traces (a). SSEP traces 1 h after positioning (b)

ropathy caused by a comorbid condition such as diabetes mellitus or elderly patients with fewer active nerve fibers and, hence, SSEPs of potentially lesser amplitude. In the case of this 28-yearold woman undergoing an operation for Chiari malformation, detecting the SSEP changes after initial positioning would have allowed for early correction and adjustment of the surgical position.

In principle, both the surgeon and anesthesiologist should agree on the amount of neck flexion acceptable for surgical exposure as well as adequacy of ventilation and adequacy of venous outflow of the head and neck to prevent macroglossia and intracranial hypertension. When possible, two to three fingerbreadths of space between the anterior mandible and the sternal notch is suggested. In this case, the patient's neck was likely overflexed, which led to chronic stretching and vasospasm of the posterior spinal radicular arteries with presumed diminution in perfusion. Vigilance and attention to monitoring traces are important at all stages of the operation in order to detect a correctable insult early.

To review the information on somatosensoryevoked potentials from Chap. 1, stimulation of the median nerve leads to an evoked potential at the brachial plexus. This P9 response is recorded at Erb's point (slightly above the midportion of the clavicle) and is generated from the nerves of the brachial plexus near the point at which they enter the spine. The recordings at Erb's point indicate brachial plexus activity and confirm appropriate electrical stimulation of the median nerve. Prolongation of the interval between the P14 and the N20 peaks is referred to as the central conduction time. This interval indicates changes in the integrity of the primary somatosensory system. Thus, a prolonged central conduction time is a sign of ischemia. Recall the P14-P16 waves are generated in close proximity to the dorsal column nuclei while the N20 wave is generated in the primary somatosensory cortex. Whereas the conduction time in the median nerve may be increased in a cool upper extremity during a lengthy surgical procedure, central conduction time is not affected. Factors affecting central conduction time include surgical retraction, anesthetic depth, hypothermia (drop in core temperature), and hypotension-the last three of which affect SSEPs bilaterally.

A comprehensive differential diagnosis for decreased amplitude of SSEPs along with a latency

shift should include consideration of physiologic factors, technical causes, responses to anesthetic drugs, surgical events, and patient positioning. Physiologic factors such as hypotension or a decrease in core temperature can cause changes in the SSEPs. Timely assessment of the patient's vital signs can confirm the absence of hypotension contributing to ischemia or a decrease in body temperature. Hypotension, in general, leads to a more global decrease in amplitude, whereas hypothermia causes a slowing of the neural conduction velocity in peripheral nerves and a gradual increase in the latency of the SSEPs [18]. Mean arterial blood pressure should be increased if a hypotensive or hypoperfusion insult is suspected. Upon discovery of hypoperfusion in the spinal radicular arteries in the case above, direct application of papaverine was used in addition to pressor medications. Interestingly, the use of papaverine hydrochloride as a vasodilator to treat vasospasm has been implicated in transient cranial nerve dysfunction. Its application has been reported to affect the oculomotor and facial nerves, as well as cause auditory dysfunction [19].

Technical causes for response changes can sometimes be detected by increases in electrode impedance. Electrode placement, optimal stimulus intensity, and stimulus rate are important factors that can affect the measured responses during any operation. Such issues as sweat and oil on a patient's skin can lead to changes in contact impedance if surface electrodes are utilized. Environmental (electrical) interference can also influence response waveform morphology.

Anesthetic drugs, particularly the halogenated agents, can produce a dose-related increase in latency and decrease in amplitude of SSEP tracings. Although SSEPs are not as sensitive to such changes as are motor-evoked potentials, it is best to maintain a steady state of anesthesia and avoid giving a bolus of a drug. Nitrous oxide can also increase the latency and decrease the amplitude of cortical SSEPs. In the above case, nitrous oxide was avoided and anesthesia was maintained with sevoflurane, propofol, and remifentanil infusions. Sevoflurane remained constant at 0.5 minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) in order to minimize drug-induced SSEP changes. Although halogenated inhalational agents produce a dose-related increase in latency and decrease in amplitude of the SSEPs, intravenous agents have minimal impact on SSEPs at low to moderate doses. (For more information, 19, "General Anesthesia see Chap. for Monitoring".)

In a suboccipital decompression surgery for Chiari malformation, during the resection of the cerebellar tonsils, it is not uncommon to see "noise" on the SSEP tracings (Fig. 28.3). After the "noise" has resolved, it is imperative to establish whether or not there has been any change from baseline. If a change in SSEPs persists, the team must perform a timely analysis of the problem, taking into account the aforementioned variables.

Finally, possible complications associated with patient positioning in posterior fossa surgery are extensive (Table 28.1). In the presented case, timing of when the SSEP changes occurred and the fact that the changes persisted despite efforts to maintain temperature, blood pressure, and steady anesthetic state make a strong case for SSEP changes being induced by head and neck flexion.



Fig. 28.3 SSEP noise during reduction of cerebellar tonsils with bipolar electrocautery

•	e 1	e 1		
Complications	Sitting position	Prone position	Lateral, three quarter prone	Park Bench
Narvous system	bitting position	Tione position	position	position
Combrol isohomia			0	
Cerebral schemia	++	+	0	+
	++	+	0	+
Palsies				
Cranial nerve	+ ++		++	
Brachial plexus	+		++	++
Sciatic nerve	+	0	0	0
Peroneal nerve	+	0	?	
Airway				
Edema of face, tongue, neck (posterior obstruction)	++	++	+	0
Endotracheal tube migration	++	++	+	+
Pulmonary				
Ventilation/perfusion abnormalities	+	++	+	+
Increased airway pressures	0	++	0/+	0
Tension pneumocephalus	+	+	0	0
Cardiovascular				
Hypotension	++	++	0	+
Dysrhythmias	++	++	±	++
Need for blood transfusion	+	++	±	+
Miscellaneous				
Eye compression	0	+++	++	+
Venous air embolism	+++	++	+	++
Paradoxical air embolism	++	+	?	?

 Table 28.1
 Complications associated with surgical positioning in posterior fossa surgery

Smith [20], © Mosby Elsevier, 2010; with permission

0,+,++,+++ indicate relative probability from no risk to high risk

References

- Cleland J. Contribution to the study of spina bifida, encephalocele, and anencephalus. J Anat Physiol. 1883;17:257–91.
- Carmel PW, Markesbery WR. Early descriptions of the Arnold-Chiari malformation. The contribution of John Cleland. J Neurosurg. 1972;37(5): 543–7.
- Chiari H. Uber veranderungen des kleinhirns infolge von hydrocephalie des grosshimns. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 1891;17:1172–5.
- National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke. Chiari Malformation Fact Sheet. 2015; Publication No. 13-4839. http://www.ninds.nih.gov/ disorders/chiari/detail_chiari.htm
- Ellenbogen RG, Armonda RA, Shaw DW, Winn HR. Toward a rational treatment of Chiari I malformation and syringomyelia. Neurosurg Focus. 2000;8(3):E6.
- Milhorat TH, Chou MW, Trinidad EM, Kula RW, Mandell M, Wolpert C, et al. Chiari I malformation redefined: clinical and radiographic findings for 364

symptomatic patients. Neurosurgery. 1999;44(5): 1005–17.

- Mohammadali MS, Tubbs SR, Oakes WJ. The Chiari malformations. New York: Springer Science + Business Media; 2013. Chapter 4.
- Koentges G. Developmental systems biology: deciphering the molecular causes of Chiari I./II. Paper presented at UIC/Conquer Chiari Research Symposium. Chicago: University of Illinois; 2007.
- Matsuoka T, Ahlberg PE, Kessaris N, Iannarelli P, Dennehy U, Richardson WD, et al. Neural crest origins of the neck and shoulder. Nature. 2005;436(7049):347–55.
- Chiapparini L, Saletti V, Solero C, Bruzzone M, Valentini L. Neuroradiologic diagnosis of Chiari malformations. Neurol Sci. 2011;32:S283–6.
- 11. Sekula Jr RF, Jannetta PJ, Casey KF, Marchan EM, Sekula LK, McCrady CS. Dimensions of the posterior fossa in patients symptomatic for Chiari I malformation but without cerebellar tonsillar descent. Cerebrospinal Fluid Res. 2005;2:11.
- Barkovich AJ, Wippold FJ, Sherman JL, Citrin CM. Significance of cerebellar tonsillar position on MR. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1986;7(5):795–9.

- Elster AD, Chen MY. Chiari I malformations: clinical and radiologic reappraisal. Radiology. 1992;183(2):347–53.
- Loth F, Yardimci MA, Alperin N. Hydrodynamic modeling of cerebrospinal fluid motion within the spinal cavity. J Biomech Eng. 2001;123(1):71–9.
- 15. Raksin PB, Alperin N, Sivaramakrishnan A, Surapaneni S, Lichtor T. Noninvasive intracranial compliance and pressure based on dynamic magnetic resonance imaging of blood flow and cerebrospinal fluid flow: review of principles, implementation, and other noninvasive approaches. Neurosurg Focus. 2003;14(4):e4.
- Sivaramakrishnan A, Alperin N, Surapaneni S, Lichtor T. Evaluating the effect of decompression surgery on cerebrospinal fluid flow and intracranial compliance in patients with Chiari malformation with magnetic resonance imaging flow studies. Neurosurgery. 2004;55(6): 1344–50. discussion 1350–1.
- Sala F, Squintani G, Tramontano V, Coppola A, Gerosa M. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during surgery for Chiari malformations. Neurophysioslogy. 2011;32:S317–9.
- Moller AR. Intraoperativeneurophysiologicalmonit oring, vol. 2. Luxembourg: Harwood Academic; 2006.
- Chadwick GM, Asher AL, Van Der Veer CA, Pollard RJ. Adverse effects of topical papaverine on auditory nerve function. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2008;150(9): 901–9. discussion 909.
- Smith DS. Anesthetic management for posterior fossa surgery. In: Cottrell JE, Young WL, editors. Cottrell and Young's Neuroanesthesia. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier; 2010. p. 206.

Suggested Reading

- Anderson RC, Dowling KC, Feldstein NA, Emerson RG. Chiari I malformation: potential role for intraoperative electrophysiologic monitoring. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2003;20(1):65–72.
- Chiapparini L, Saletti V, Solero CL, Bruzzone MG, Valentini LG. Neuroradiological diagnosis of Chiari malformations. Neurol Sci. 2011;32 Suppl 3:S2863–6.
- Loth R, Yardimci MA, Alperin N. Hydrodynamic modeling of cerebrospinal fluid motion within the spinal cavity. J Biomech Eng. 2001;123(1):71–9.
- Tubbs RS, Oakes JW. The Chiari malformations. New York: Springer; 2013.

Questions

- True/False: Chiari I malformation presents an absolute contraindication to epidural anesthesia in the setting of labor.
- A 7-year-old girl is brought to her pediatrician by her parents with complaints of acute on chronic worsening of suboccipital headaches

and difficulty with schoolwork. An MRI is obtained revealing 5-mm caudal displacement of the cerebellar tonsils through the foramen magnum.

Which of the following statements is true?

- a. 5-mm caudal displacement of the cerebellar tonsils confirms the diagnosis of Chiari I malformation in this patient
- b. Headache is a relatively uncommon presenting symptom for Chiari I malformation
- c. Isolated 5-mm displacement of the cerebellar tonsils through the foramen magnum is consistent with a diagnosis of Chiari II malformation
- d. Diagnostic criteria for Chiari I malformation in the first decade of life include 6-mm caudal displacement of the cerebellar tonsils. Given the symptomaticity of the patient, however, CM-I malformation is high on the differential diagnosis in this patient's case
- 3. A 19-year-old female patient weighing 65 kg presents to the operating room for posterior fossa decompression of CM-I malformation. Anesthesia is induced with 150 mg of propofol, 40 mg of rocuronium, and 100 μ g of fentanyl. The patient is intubated without event. An additional 18 g IV and a left-radial arterial line are placed. The patient is transitioned to a prone position with her head secured in Mayfield pins, and baseline SSEPs are established. Just prior to incision, the anesthesia resident administers 2 g of cefazolin, 10 mg of rocuronium, and 50 µg of fentanyl. Maintenance anesthesia is provided with propofol and remifentanyl gtt. Within 10-min of incision, the neuromonitoring technician reports an increased latency and reduction in amplitude of SSEPs. Particular attention should be paid to:
- a. Dosing of paralytic agent, as residual neuromuscular blockade is likely affecting the SSEP reading
- b. The effect of hypothermia on evoked potentials
- c. Patient positioning
- d. Excessive blood loss in the surgical field

Answers

- 1. False Although much of the literature describing laboring CM-I patients is limited in terms of case numbers, safe and successful use of epidural and combined spinal-epidural anesthetics in the setting of labor have been described. Clearly, elevated intracranial pressure puts the patient at risk for herniation in the setting of dural puncture with an epidural needle should it exist. In the hands of an experienced provider, however, the risk of inadvertent dural puncture can be minimized. Moreover, early neuraxial intervention in the setting of active labor may minimize the increases in intracranial pressure associated with painful contractions. Once placed, catheter rates should be titrated slowly to avoid rapid changes in blood pressure and subsequently cerebral perfusion pressure.
- d Although diagnostic criteria for CM-I includes 6-mm caudal displacement of the cerebellar tonsils during the first decade of life and 5-mm caudal displacement thereafter, the sensitivity of tonsillar displacement as a sole criteria for the diagnosis of CM-I is quite low. Even in the setting of cerebellar

tonsil displacement of 3–5 mm, neurologic signs or symptoms at the time of presentation can be a strong indicator of disease. Subsequently, diagnosis of CM-I malformation is often multimodal in nature, with the clinical picture at the time of presentation playing an important role.

3. c Although use of SSEP monitoring is not ubiquitous during posterior fossa decompression, some studies have indicated a benefit in neuronal compromise detecting during patient positioning. SSEP monitoring can detect vascular perturbations to nerve structures secondary to excessive compression. Given the time course in the vignette above, excessive neck flexion with compromise of vertebral artery flow or brachial plexus damage related to excessive shoulder traction are areas of particular concern. Neuromuscular blockade has no effect on SSEPs. While hypothermia and major blood loss could lead to diminished amplitude and increased latency of SSEP signals, it is unlikely that either of those factors would be an issue this early in the procedure.

ENT and Anterior Neck Surgery

29

W. Scott Jellish and Michail Avramov

Key Learning Points

- Monitoring for each type of otolaryngological anterior neck procedure will depend on what structures are involved or could be compromised by the surgical approach.
- Cochlear potentials have advantages over other auditory potentials because they are faster with more rapid acquisition of waveforms. They can also monitor changes in cochlear blood flow.
- Facial nerve EMG monitoring has some critical limitations. It is only applicable when exposed areas of nerve are present and is hard to use if the nerve is covered by tumor. Nerve activation by stimulation is not uniform and could be affected by flattening or expansion of the normal shape of the nerve.
- Facial MEPs and EMG fulfill different neuromonitoring needs. FMEP provides information on overall nerve integrity and correlation

W.S. Jellish, M.D., Ph.D. (⊠)
M. Avramov, M.D., Ph.D.
Department of Anesthesiology, Loyola University
Health System, 2160 South First Avenue,
Maywood, IL 60153, USA
e-mail: wjellis@lumc.edu; mavramov@lumc.edu

with functional status, while EMG is best used for nerve identification and mapping.

 Recurrent laryngeal nerve monitoring is best done with an ET tube fitted with stainless steel electrodes which make contact with the vocal cords when the ET tube is properly positioned. Preoperative use of a drying agent such as glycopyrrolate will reduce salivation and pooling of saliva which could produce loss of signal from salt bridging.

Introduction

This chapter describes the types of monitoring modalities that may be used for ear, nose, and throat (ENT) and anterior neck surgery, the structures at risk, and the methods to monitor these structures to prevent iatrogenic damage and injury caused by surgical trauma. The different monitors that may be used for these particular procedures are suggested, as the type of monitoring used depends on the particular approach or procedure.

The case is that of a 51-year-old white man presenting with squamous cell cancer of the temporal bone with extension of the tumor to the left neck and throat. The patient will undergo a left auriculectomy and temporal bone resection. He will have a middle fossa craniotomy, parotidectomy, with an accompanying left neck dissection.

Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_29) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_29

He will have a subsequent anterior lateral free flap to close the anticipated defect.

Different monitoring modalities may be used during the procedure to protect the structures at risk from surgical trauma. The area of surgical dissection could disrupt or traumatize several cranial nerves as they exit the skull base and extend into the neck to innervate muscles of the face and the upper pharynx. Vascular structures may also be at risk for tumor involvement. Blood supply to the brain and cerebral blood flow could be compromised during the neck dissection. Multimodality recordings from a combination of various generators provide an effective method to reduce the morbidity associated with intracranial or extracranial surgery in the region of the third through twelfth cranial nerves. Electromyography (EMG) and compound muscle action potentials (CMAPs) are helpful when monitoring nerve function. This tumor is also tracking down the neck, and the mass involves a portion of the carotid artery with possible recurrent laryngeal nerve involvement. Tumor involvement of the carotid artery may necessitate cross-clamping of that structure with possible temporary cerebral hypoperfusion. Cerebral function will be monitored using electroencephalography. Recurrent laryngeal nerve function will also be monitored using EMG and compound motor action potentials recorded with a NIM[™] EMG endotracheal tube (Medtronic Xomed, Inc., Jacksonville, Florida).

The selection of which monitoring technique to use is best made on the basis of each individual's clinical situation and the structures at risk. Eighth cranial nerve involvement by the tumor was minimal, but the close proximity of the tumor to the nerve will necessitate the measurement of auditory brainstem responses (ABR) (see Chap. - 3, "Auditory Evoked Potentials"). Because the ratio of surface electrical signal to noise is low, especially in the operating room where there is high acoustics and electrical noise, long signal averaging is needed [1]. Also, the patient does have some hearing loss on the operative side which could reduce ABR amplitude. Direct nerve monitoring of the acoustic nerve was considered, but exposure would have been a problem with the operative electrode interfering with the surgical field. An alternative monitor to record auditory potentials could be the use of tympanic electrodes placed on the promontory to record near field cochlear-auditory nerve activity or electrocochleography (ECochG). This auditory measure provides relatively large amplitudes (5–10 mV) and requires only a small number of sweeps to achieve a compound action potential. The auditory potentials can be recorded by means of a noninvasive electrode placed in the extratympanic intrameatal canal or adjacent to the tympanic membrane.

Difficulties are routinely experienced when monitoring eighth cranial nerve function because of the compressive effects of the tumor on neural and vascular structures. Once a mass is discovered, test parameters should be adjusted with the goal of producing the best evoked responses possible. Optimizing auditory evoked potentials during preoperative testing is beneficial for intraoperative monitoring. Obtaining evoked potentials just before surgery maximizes the chance that significant decrements have not occurred in the interim. A good baseline response is essential for reporting any change that occurs during surgery. Evoked otoacoustic emissions may play a role in the estimation of cochlear health, gauging cochlear vascular supply, and differentiating cochlear versus sensory components of hearing loss in patients with tumors in close proximity to the nerve. Eighth nerve monitoring techniques have inherent strengths and weaknesses and may be affected by pharmacologic agents or physiologic events during surgery (Table 29.1). A commonly encountered problem with ABRs involves the temporary deterioration of waveforms which results from masking of the responses by noise produced by temporal bone drilling and suction irrigation [2]. The ABR represents the response of the distal auditory nerve to the brainstem's lateral lemniscus following auditory stimulation and is the most commonly employed method for monitoring the eighth cranial nerve. For patients with large tumors or elevated hearing sensitivity, an adequate ABR often takes 30-60 s of averaging. The intraoperative ABR analysis consists largely of the calculation of interwave latency values between wave components. The latencies usually monitored are

Effect				
Resistant to effects of				
anesthesia				
Modality: auditory brainstem response				
Delay of 0.5–1.0 ms prolongation of wave V; I–V interpeak latency prolonged when end-tidal concentration exceeds 1.5 %				
≥20 mg/kg dose, wave V prolonged; amplitude reductions noted with larger doses				
>9 mg/kg, latencies prolonged, amplitudes reduced				
Modality: facial electromyography				
Latency and amplitude of CMAP following impaired propagation of potentials				
Spontaneous and triggered EMG abolished until worn off or reversed (can be a lengthy time period)				
ABR absolute, interpeak latencies prolonged, wave amplitudes diminish; neurotonic stimulation of EMG activity				
Averaged auditory responses degraded, abolished				
Reduced oxygen affects endocochlear potentials, decreases cochlear output				

Table 29.1 Effects of pharmacologic agents and physiologic events on intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring

ABR auditory brainstem response, CMAP compound muscle action potential, EMG electromyogram

between waves I and II, I and III, III and V, and I and V. The precise latency values of interest, however, depend on the purpose for monitoring. Since tumor involvement was distal and involved components of the vestibular apparatus, primary emphasis was on calculation of the latency intervals between waves I and II or waves I and III. Simultaneous recordings of ECochG can provide information about the involved ear more quickly because the recording electrode is placed closer to the response generators. Cochlear potentials have several advantages over other auditory potentials which include faster, nearly online acquisition of waveforms as well as the ability to monitor changes in cochlear blood flow. ECochG monitoring was difficult in this patient because of the problems with placing an electrode in the ear canal or within the middle ear space along with high electrode impedance. The use of smaller ear probes, coupled with the use of anchoring wax, has allowed for easier and quicker response acquisition due to better electrode contact. ECochG-evoked responses can provide an early indication of changes in the neurophysiologic status of the peripheral and central nervous system during surgery. These changes can occur because of both physiologic and surgical factors such as hypotension, hypoxia, and compression or retraction of nerves or brain structures. A shortcoming of the ECochG, a representation of very early evoked potentials from cochlear hair cells and the distal eighth cranial nerve, is that it provides little information regarding the proximal nerve or the surgical effects on its function.

To record or monitor ECochG, preoperative plans should be made for placing a reference electrode deep in the external ear canal (or through the tympanic membrane onto the promontory) along with other monitoring leads before the patient is prepped for surgery. Intraoperative ECochGs are made using an FZ to promontory recording electrode array. The FZ site is located in the midline approximately halfway between the bridge of the nose and vertex. A well-formed response is characterized by the presence of all major wave components such as the ECochG summating potential (SP), the action potential (AP), and often ABR waves I, II, III, and V [3]. Intraoperatively, the ECochG components of interest are almost always the SP and the AP waves. Both the latency and amplitude of each component are regularly calculated and monitored. The latency is typically defined as the time in milliseconds between the click stimulus presentation and the peak of the wave. Amplitude values of SP and AP are calculated from a common baseline. The major advantage of intraoperative ECochG is that it has improved surgical technique. Intraoperative ECochG instantly confirms to the surgeon which vessel or which maneuver caused a loss of response and this immediate feedback has resulted in significantly improved surgical technique for hearing preservation.

Parotid resection will also necessitate the need for facial nerve monitoring (see Chap. 7, "Electromyography"). The absence of clinically detectable facial nerve deficits does not rule out the presence of subclinical nerve damage. The facial nerve was embedded in fibrous tissues of the tumor; therefore, continuous EMG monitoring of facial muscles during parotidectomy was performed to reduce the incidence of facial paresis or paralysis. To assist with the identification of the facial nerve and the mapping of its branches and to protect against inadvertent surgical damage, subdermal needle electrodes were placed to record EMG from the frontalis, orbicularis oculi, orbicularis oris, and mentalis muscles. This provided continuous intraoperative nerve monitoring of the four peripheral branches of the facial nerve: frontal, zygomatic, buccal, and marginal mandibular using free run and triggered EMG. The EMG activity was monitored continuously to ensure anatomical integrity of the facial nerve pathways and to correctly identify the distal branches prior to dissection. Spontaneous EMG activity during surgical manipulation was promptly communicated back to the surgeon to ensure that it was only transient and not sustained, which would be consistent with nerve injury.

There is a growing body of evidence that supports the value of cranial nerve monitoring in a variety of surgical environments. Intraoperative facial nerve monitoring is an important adjunct to enhance neural preservation, particularly when tumor, infection, trauma, or anatomic variation places the nerve at increased risk. Contemporary intraoperative facial nerve monitoring is based on facial muscle electromyographic activity. Recording evoked electromyographic activity from the muscle rather than the nerve itself takes advantage of the amplification that occurs at the neuromuscular junction. This form of monitoring is used to provide the surgeon with information regarding the location and extent of the facial nerve contour, surgical trauma, and nerve function.

Surgically evoked facial EMG activity may be classified as either nonrepetitive or repetitive depending on whether single or repetitive discharges occur with a given response. Nonrepetitive activity or phasic bursts may be observed with electrical, mechanical, or thermal stimulation [4]. Surgical manipulation of the facial nerve may result in elicitation of nerve fiber action potentials. An important feature of nonrepetitive evoked EMG activity is the apparent lack of temporal delay between the stimulus and the observed response. Repetitive firing of facial nerve fibers or train activity may be elicited by nerve traction and particularly lateral, nerve compression. Facial nerve EMG activity such as this evoked during surgery has been referred to as an injury potential or neurotonic discharge. There is typically a significant temporal delay, up to a minute, between the provocative or stimulus event and the onset of repetitive activity. Because of this, the identity of the initiating event may be unclear.

Electrical stimulation of the nerve may be an important addition to the surgeon's ability to assess the anatomic location of the facial nerve. Monopolar stimulation is best used to map the general vicinity of the nerve with regard to the tumor mass. After localization of the facial nerve has been accomplished, microtrauma during dissection may result in significant nerve injury. Surgical manipulation often provokes a mechanically evoked facial nerve response that results from rapid neural deformities producing ionic depolarization. Traction responses tend to occur as multiple asynchronous potentials in contrast to a synchronized potential seen with brief direct mechanical contact. Drilling adjacent to the nerve using high-speed pneumatic drills may elicit mechanical and thermal evoked potentials. Even if bone overlies the nerve, vibration can be transmitted through the bone, which could affect nerve firing. Thermal changes can also evoke train potentials. Cold irrigation fluid causes asyn**Table 29.2** List of ideas designed to help decrease intraoperative artifacts [19]^a

Remove grease and abrade skin before applying scalp electrodes			
Glue electrodes down with collodion			
If electrodes are on overnight, regel, and abrade scalp in the operating room			
Keep electrode impedances at approximately 2000Ω			
Use short electrode wires			
Use short interelectrode distances between pairs of recording electrodes			
Braid the recording electrode wires with each other			
Have backup stimulus and recording electrodes available and already in place on the patient			
Keep recording and stimulating wires and cords far away from one another			
Do not cross cables or wires over other cables,			
especially power cables			
especially power cables Do not kick, jar, or sway the wires			
especially power cables Do not kick, jar, or sway the wires Keep the low filter above 1 Hz whenever possible			
especially power cables Do not kick, jar, or sway the wires Keep the low filter above 1 Hz whenever possible Unplug unused equipment			
especially power cables Do not kick, jar, or sway the wires Keep the low filter above 1 Hz whenever possible Unplug unused equipment Avoid appliances with two-pronged power plugs (ungrounded)			
especially power cables Do not kick, jar, or sway the wires Keep the low filter above 1 Hz whenever possible Unplug unused equipment Avoid appliances with two-pronged power plugs (ungrounded) Stop averaging whenever amplifiers are blocking (e.g., after electrocautery)			
especially power cables Do not kick, jar, or sway the wires Keep the low filter above 1 Hz whenever possible Unplug unused equipment Avoid appliances with two-pronged power plugs (ungrounded) Stop averaging whenever amplifiers are blocking (e.g., after electrocautery) Adjust sensitivity so that some trials cause artifact rejection			
especially power cables Do not kick, jar, or sway the wires Keep the low filter above 1 Hz whenever possible Unplug unused equipment Avoid appliances with two-pronged power plugs (ungrounded) Stop averaging whenever amplifiers are blocking (e.g., after electrocautery) Adjust sensitivity so that some trials cause artifact rejection Use enough neuromuscular junction blocking agents			
especially power cables Do not kick, jar, or sway the wires Keep the low filter above 1 Hz whenever possible Unplug unused equipment Avoid appliances with two-pronged power plugs (ungrounded) Stop averaging whenever amplifiers are blocking (e.g., after electrocautery) Adjust sensitivity so that some trials cause artifact rejection Use enough neuromuscular junction blocking agents Delay recording until several milliseconds after stimulus			

^aFor more information, see Chap. 16, "Wiring and Electrical Interference in IOM."

chronous potentials to occur, which will subside as the irrigation fluid temperature increases. With drilling, heat buildup may also occur, which could cause aberrant nerve firing. Care should be taken to irrigate the drill to avoid heat buildup during boney dissection. Other techniques to help reduce intraoperative artifacts are listed in Table 29.2. It is imperative to have an adequate baseline with minimal electrical activity.

Facial nerve (FN) EMG monitoring, though almost a care standard for these types of surgical procedures, has some critical limitations. The method is applicable only to exposed portions of the nerve and is hard to utilize if the nerve is covered by tumor. Also, the activation of the facial nerve by direct stimulation is not uniform. The nerve structure may be altered with spreading of nerve fascicles and flattening or expansion of the normal shape of the nerve due to tumor compres-

sion. The motor action potential proximal and distal to the tumor is not reliable, and the prognostic value of the compound muscle action potential amplitude at the end of surgery is of limited predictive value. Transcranial electric stimulation for eliciting motor evoked potentials of the facial nerve (FMEPs) and vagus (vagal MEPs) along with other cranial nerves, (collectively termed "corticobulbar MEPs") have been introduced as an adjunct to EMG monitoring [5]. The use of FMEPs allows the activation of motor pathways proximal to the site of the lesion and enables checking the condition of the facial nerve before its visualization. Despite positive reports of their use, FMEPs and corticobulbar MEPs have not yet become a routine tool in neurosurgery or otolaryngology. This may be due to difficulties in application and interpretation of signals. There is considerable artifact and interference associated with CN MEPs. Artifact suppression is improved using insulated head holder pins and by short interstimulus intervals less than 2 ms. Stimulating electrode position can influence waveforms and response latencies. Some authors report placement of the stimulating electrodes at C3 or C4 and others 1 cm anterior near the motor strip at M3 or M4 [6]. Also, a correlation is observed between the extent of tumor size and the quality of the MEP response. MEP latency is shorter with small tumors but increases significantly with increasing tumor size [7]. This could be due to edema or stretch of the nerve by the tumor. MEP amplitude is decreased with increasing tumor sizes corresponding to a reduction of active nerve fibers. Using MEPs, facial nerve status can be assessed even before the surgery has started. FN function can also be predicted by the use of an amplitude ratio that measures waveform amplitudes at the end versus the start of surgery. Patients having good FN function, House/ Brackman (HB) 1 or 2, had a ratio of 85% or greater. The HB facial nerve grading system is a commonly used, standardized, and reliable method to assess facial function. Grade 1 is normal, whereas Grade II is slight weakness only noticeable on close inspection. Grade III is gross and obvious facial dysfunction; it is not disfiguring but weakness is noted. Grade IV is more severe, with disfiguring asymmetry with incomplete eye closure and mouth asymmetry. Grade V is severe dysfunction with barely perceptive movement of the affected side, while Grade VI is complete paralysis. With HB3 function, the amplitude ratio was found to be in the 60-70%range, and with a more severe FN deficit, HB4, the ratio is around 30-35%. With severe FN injury corresponding to HB 5 or 6, the FMEP is below 15 % or lost completely. FMEPs are identified by their shape and latency. Physiologically, an appearance of a centrally mediated FMEP before 12-ms latency is not realistic. In the case of space-occupying lesion, longer latencies are expected. Contralateral function of FMEP is also important. Recording of the healthy side serves as a technical control at the start and during all stages of the operation. By contralateral stimulation, the neurophysiologist may verify whether stimulation itself is deficient, whether air accumulation prevents reliable motor cortex activation, or whether the problem is related to the surgical site.

FMEPs and EMG fulfill different tasks in neuromonitoring. FMEP provides information on overall facial nerve integrity and correlates well with functional status. EMG and CMAP are best used for focal nerve identification and mapping. Either method does not affect the other but compliments their respective information. FMEP helps to identify nerve integrity and overcomes the specific limitations of stimulation intensity and reliability when using EMG. FMEP latency and amplitude provide relevant information on the functional status of the FN before the start and throughout surgery. A preserved FMEP end-to-start ratio above 55% predicts preserved eye closure.

After the tumor is removed, nerve integrity can be assessed by stimulating it at an area that is proximal to the dissection. Nerves that require elevated stimulus current to reach a firing threshold will demonstrate some degree of postoperative weakness [8, 9]. The presence or absence of a facial evoked response must be interpreted within the context of the surgical procedure. Electrical silence may occur from an absence of facial nerve stimulation, a severe insult which precludes depolarization, transection of the nerve, or technical problems with the equipment.

Table	29.3	Checklist	for	intraoperative	nerve	facial
monito	oring p	roblems [2	0]			

Problem	Possible solution	
Current jump	Bipolar stimulator	
Current shunting	Insulated stimulator	
Cautery artifact noise	Muting circuit	
Cautery precludes monitoring	Visualize face	
Laser heating effect	Monitor baseline amplitude	
Saline cooling	Heat saline with "blood warmer"	
Stimulus artifact	Increase "stimulus ignore" time	
Static discharge	Insulated instruments	
No response to	Power off	
stimulation	Current intensity too low	
	Current measured too low	
	Electrode impedance too high	
	Electrode disconnect	
	Current shunting	
	Threshold setting too high	
	Volume too low	
	Muscle relaxant used	
	"Stimulus ignore" too long	
	Seventh nerve not contacted	
	Other cranial nerve/tissue	
	Facial nerve injured	

Nerves that have been significantly manipulated during the dissection may demonstrate fatigue. In these instances, stimulus current may need to be increased. Ultrasonic aspiration of the tumor creates low-level artifacts or triggers the autonomic muting circuitry. The use of monopolar cautery may charge the stimulator probe, which can result in a false-positive response. Severe neuropraxic nerve injury can prevent depolarization, just as axonal injuries do. Most surgeons will not resect nerves solely on the basis of the lack of an ability to stimulate. A complete list of problems that could be present with monitoring and possible solutions is found in Table 29.3.

Monitoring the lower cranial nerves also necessitates strict control of muscle relaxants and the elimination of mechanically evoked responses with the presentation of electrically evoked responses. Long-acting muscle relaxants should be avoided. Although low doses may not have a
significant effect on the responses to electrical stimulation, they may diminish the ability to monitor small amplitude responses associated with mechanically evoked potentials of the facial nerve. Thus, muscle relaxants should be avoided altogether, if possible, during surgical manipulation with short-acting agents only used to facilitate intubation. Anesthetic agents such as N2O, opioids, barbiturates, and halogenated agents have minimal, if any, effect on these electrically evoked responses [10]. General anesthesia was maintained with an inhaled agent and an infusion of opioid without the use of muscle relaxants. All standard respiratory and hemodynamic anesthesia monitors were placed. Body temperature was continuously monitored and special measures to maintain normothermia during this prolonged surgical procedure included the use of a forced-air heating blanket and intravenous fluid warmer. The goal was to maintain stable, normal physiological functions including oxygenation, ventilation, arterial blood pressure, body temperature, and to provide a steady level of anesthesia using a drug combination favorable to neurophysiologic monitoring.

With the present case, tenth cranial nerve monitoring was important since the tumor also involved portions of the recurrent laryngeal nerve. There are optimal essential elements for intraoperative nerve monitoring of the vagus and recurrent laryngeal nerves (RLNs) that are important. Preoperative laryngoscopy is necessary to assess the functional integrity of the RLNs bilaterally before the beginning of surgery to obtain accurate preoperative information on glottic function. Presurgical dissection suprathreshold vagal nerve stimulation allows for verification of the intraoperative neural monitoring (IONM) system function and therefore allows for subsequent neural mapping for the RLN with accuracy. Postsurgical suprathreshold vagal stimulation allows for the most accurate prognostic testing of postoperative glottic function. It has been noted that vagal stimulation has higher sensitivity, slightly higher specificity, and higher positive predictive values to determine vocal cord paralysis as compared to RLN stimulation [11]. Vagal stimulation allows for testing of the entire neural circuit and avoids the potential false-negative

scenario of stimulating a damaged RLN distal to the injury site.

The vagus nerve is monitored using electrode pairs placed into the intrinsic laryngeal structures on the side ipsilateral to the tumor. Placement of these electrodes is made with the use of a diagnostic laryngoscope. An even better, less invasive, technique to monitor the recurrent laryngeal nerve innervation of the oropharyngeal space and vocal cords is with the use of an endotracheal tubebased system with embedded electrodes. The ET tube is a flexible silicone elastomer with an inflatable cuff. The tube is fitted with four stainless steel wire electrodes (two pairs) that are embedded in the silicone of the main shaft and exposed superior to the cuff only for a short distance (30 mm). The electrodes are placed to make contact with the vocal cords when the ET tube is properly positioned below the vocal cords. A video laryngoscope is ideal for correctly positioning these monitoring tubes. It is also important to avoid the use of lidocaine spray or other local anesthetics applied to the trachea before intubation or these could interfere with nerve function and monitoring. Alternatively, standard ET tubes may be made into monitoring tubes by placement of a thin adhesive pad containing the paired electrodes. The lower tip of these electrodes is placed approximately 7-10 mm above the upper edge of the ET tube cuff. The endotracheal tube electrode when correctly placed will make contact with the medial surface of the bilateral cords to allow for monitoring of the bilateral thyroarytenoid/vocalis muscle's surface depolarization.

Proper positioning of the tube is important to achieve a good signal, and tube size is chosen that provides optimal contact with the vocal cords. These endotracheal tubes have outer diameters that are larger than standard ET tubes, so usually a size smaller than normal is chosen. The largest tube considered safe should be used to intubate the larynx, as this will provide optimal contact with the vocal cords. The tube should be placed with a stylet because they are less rigid than standard ET tubes; however, newer versions of these recording NIM tubes seem to be of similar stiffness to regular ET tubes. Preoperative use of a drying agent such as glycopyrrolate is utilized to reduce salivation and pooling of saliva at the cuff. This pooling could produce a reduced signal due to salt bridging at the electrode interface. Care must be taken during the intubation process to assure that the electrodes are properly aligned relative to the vocal cords. The amount of inadvertent rotation of the endotracheal tube during intubation, especially with right-handed anesthesiologists, could be as much as 30°. This rotational error could produce improper placement of the tube, thus reducing the signal [12]. In some instances, the tube is marked at the 12 o'clock position at the upper margin of the exposed electrodes to help with a counterclockwise adjustment of the tube for proper electrode alignment.

With patient positioning, if the head is extended and shoulder rolls are placed, monitoring tube malpositioning can occur. The ET tube may be displaced relative to a neutral intubating position by up to 21 mm inward and almost 33 mm outward as the patient is moved into full neck extension. All tests to assure ET tube vocal cord contact are made after the patient is in the final position for the surgery. In this case, the neurophysiologist looked for the development of respiratory variation, which is a coarsening of the monitoring baseline. Once this was observed, both the monitoring technician and anesthesiologist were assured that the tube was in the correct position.

The latency of the EMG responses to tenth nerve stimulation varies depending on the site of stimulation. Monitoring of the vagus is especially important because of the neurologic deficits that result from its functional loss. Owing to the extensive visceral communication of the tenth cranial nerve, disturbances in autonomic function may be encountered during surgical stimulation; especially reflex bradycardia or sudden asystole. Physical traction applied to the nerve may generate a massive response compared to the low-level constant current stimulation normally seen during monitoring. When this type of response is anticipated, the anesthesiologist may have to administer prophylactic anticholinergic agents to obtund the response.

There are numerous factors that affect cranial nerve EMG and evoked responses. During the surgical dissection, the physician must identify the track of the nerve and also its anatomic structure as it is involved with the tumor. There are several situations that could mimic facial nerve injury. These should always be assessed during the surgical procedure. While resecting the tumor from the facial nerve, this first train activity was noted (Fig. 29.1). This is surgical irritation of the nerve during the dissection. It is considered nonrepetitive asynchronous activity, which is referred to as an injury potential or neurotonic discharge. The surgeon should be made aware of this activity and adjust the surgical dissection to reduce the neural irritation. As the dissection of the tumor continued, surgical isolation of the



Fig. 29.1 Asynchronous train activity while resecting the tumor from the facial nerve



Fig. 29.2 Facial nerve firing immediately after irrigation of the site



Fig. 29.3 Low-amplitude high-frequency activity as debulking procedure continues

nerve from the tumor was accomplished by drilling the mastoid with irrigation of the surgical site to improve exposure. Immediately after irrigation of the site, facial nerve firing occurred that had the activity pattern observed in Fig. 29.2. The surgeon felt that he had caused damage to the nerve from drilling the bone to expose it. Prior to this, no irritation or injury potential was observed. The anesthetic agents had remained constant and hemodynamically the patient was stable with no evidence of light anesthesia. The irrigation fluid was noted to be cold. After replacing the fluid with a solution at body temperature, the firing dissipated. Cold irrigation causes nerve irritation and produces continuous firing of the nerve, which appears similar to traumatic injury. After the temperature to the surgical area had been normalized, the aberrant firing of the nerve diminished. Traumatic nerve injury will continue to produce asynchronous nerve firing that is not normalized by physiologic changes in temperature or blood flow. The surgery progressed and both the facial nerve and tenth cranial nerve were localized within the tumor bed. The surgeon began to debulk the tumor using the CUSA ultrasonic aspirator. The debulking procedure continued and low-amplitude high-frequency activity was noted (Fig. 29.3).

Nitrous oxide, other inhalational anesthetics, and intravenous narcotics do not affect EMG readings. However, anesthetic depth from these agents must be sufficient to negate spontaneous activity from the vocal cords or facial nerve. With this patient, increased coarsening of the monitoring baseline was observed with small waveforms typically varying from 30 to 70 mV. This type of activity can occur immediately before the unparalyzed patient moves, and the neurophysiologist was worried that the patient was awakening [13]. In addition, the surgeon was concerned because it was becoming difficult to differentiate spontaneous activity from evoked activity.

The anesthetic concentration of both inhaled anesthetic and opioid infusion were increased, but a low level of activity was still noted and the surgeon wanted a quiet baseline to detect any nerve irritation during tumor debulking. The inhalational anesthetic was changed from sevoflurane to desflurane since sevoflurane has been associated with higher baseline EMG activity at the level of the larynx. In addition, the opioid infusion was further increased and additional 2 mg IV midazolam was administered (Videos 29.1 and 29.2). The background nerve rumble continued but it was noticed to have periodicity. After closer observation, it was determined to be associated with the use of the ultrasonic aspirator. The surgeon was informed and the ultrasonic power was reduced during the dissection. The background artifact was diminished and the surgical resection proceeded without incident.

As the tumor debulking continued, the vagal nerve EMG signal, which had waveforms noted at greater than 100 mV after stimulation, dropped to less than 20 mV with stimulation of 2 mA. Latency was noted to be unchanged, and the results of evoked glottis movement with stimulation were equivocal. The surgeon began to assess the course of the nerve to determine any evidence of a lesion or if a clip or suture had entrapped the nerve. There was assurance by the anesthesiologist that no additional paralytic agent had been administered. The stimulating probe was checked and

replaced and the stimulus current was noted to be at 1 mA. The endotracheal NIM tube impedance was also noted to be good. It was finally found that the monitor event threshold was set too high to produce stimulation artifact suppression. It was noted that, while stimulating the distal segment of the RLN, the evoked response occurred within this stimulus suppression artifact period and was falsely suppressed. The monitor was adjusted to shorten the stimulation artifact suppression and the signal returned with stimulation. This demonstrates that there are numerous reasons for intraoperative RLN stimulus errors and loss of signal. Once noted, the problem should be evaluated to assess that the monitors are working properly so that no false-positives or false-negatives are present (Fig. 29.4).

The electroencephalogram (EEG) was continuously recorded from needle electrodes in an eight-channel bipolar montage to help with the assessment of anesthetic depth and to monitor cerebral responses in case of surgical compromise to the cerebral blood supply during neck dissection. The EEG undergoes predictable pattern changes during anesthesia. This has been the basis for the introduction, over the last 20-30 years, of a considerable number of different processed, or quantitative, EEG-based anesthesia monitors, e.g., more recently, bispectral index (BIS), patient state index (PSI), and spectral entropy (SE). Presenting the information as a single number is helpful for the clinical anesthesiologist. In the case of the BIS index scale of 100 to 0, decreasing values are associated with deeper planes of anesthesia. Thus, the primary utility of BIS is to ensure adequate hypnotic state during anesthesia and a lack of intraoperative awareness. Although processed EEG has been extensively used intraoperatively, the expert visual inspection of contemporaneous raw EEG in this specific clinical setting is still considered as clinically the most critical and superior "gold standard." This is the reason why a real-time raw EEG must always be simultaneously displayed with any processed EEG index-based neuromonitoring [14].

The EEG responds to cerebral ischemia and if profound global ischemia is present for a suffi-

Intraoperative LOS Evaluation Standard



LOS Definition:

- 1 -EMG change from initial satisfactory EMG
- 2 -No or low response (i.e. 100 µV or less) with stimulation at 1-2 mA, dry field
- 3-No laryngeal twitch and/or observed glottic twitch

With LOS:

1-Map lesion and determine Type I (Segmental) or Type II (Global) injury 2-Consider contralateral surgery timing

Fig. 29.4 Intraoperative loss of signal evaluation standard

ciently long period of time (e.g., longer than 10-20 s), EEG changes are readily observed. The EEG response to transient events and incomplete ischemia is not as robust and the arguments pro and con concerning its use in these circumstances have persisted. However, it is notable that in a survey of neuromonitoring for carotid endarterectomy, the EEG was the most commonly used neuromonitoring modality in over 67% of all

cases [15]. In our patient, tumor extension to the carotid artery carries the risk of arterial surgical injury or need for clamping during the neck dissection, which may result in transient cerebral hypoperfusion. In such a case, one approach may be the placement of a shunt to the internal carotid artery, but this has the inherent iatrogenic problems of increased risk of cerebral embolization of atherosclerotic debris and air, potential intimal

damage with postoperative thrombosis, technical problems with shunt kinking or occlusion, and obstruction to surgical exposure during the tumor dissection. The EEG response to temporary carotid clamping provides a rationale for the use of selective shunting, i.e., based on the specific patient needs at the time, which improves its risk-benefit ratio. In the circumstances of carotid endarterectomy, selective shunting based on major changes in the EEG pattern has been reported to reduce the incidence of stroke tenfold [16]. Alternative monitors for adequate cerebral circulation and neuronal function such as transcranial Doppler measurements of cerebral blood flow velocity in the midcerebral artery or oxygen saturation dle measurement using jugular oxygen saturation or noninvasive cerebral oximetry are available, but during cranial base and neck surgery they are cumbersome and have found limited use.

The predominant EEG change with the onset of ischemia is one of progressive slowing with attenuation of fast activities and the (usually) sudden appearance of high-amplitude delta waves that ultimately transforms to an isoelectric pattern. Variants of theta prodrome or blockade of prior delta activity have also been described [17]. During carotid endarterectomy, a significant EEG change has been defined as a greater than 50%decrease in amplitude of 8- to 15-Hz activities (fast alpha/slow beta) [18]. Ultimately, the key to utilizing the EEG as a monitor of cerebral hypoperfusion and ischemia is to associate a possibly deleterious intraoperative event (carotid clamp or injury, profuse blood loss, hypoxemia) with a rapid transition in the ongoing EEG pattern.

It is important to compare the symmetry of EEG pattern changes since unilateral frequency and amplitude changes ipsilateral to the occlusion occur twice as often as bilateral changes. If BIS is used, the EEG slowing is reflected by a rapid decrease in the index values with recovery when cerebral perfusion is adequately restored [19]. However, the BIS sensor is typically unilateral, which precludes interhemispheric comparison and consideration must be given when placing it on the side of the surgical procedure. In addition, BIS monitoring will only detect ischemia in the frontal lobes and may miss evidence of poor perfusion or ischemia in other brain regions. In some instances, SSEP monitoring may be used to detect both cortical and subcortical ischemia.

During neck dissection of the tumor in the vicinity of the carotid artery, ipsilateral augmentation of delta activity was noted in the frontal EEG of our patient. The asymmetry of these EEG changes and their association with surgical dissection adjacent to the carotid artery suggested intermittent obstruction to cerebral blood flow. It was also noted that arterial blood pressure had drifted below baseline pressure at that time. Normotension was promptly restored and the surgeon proceeded with gentler tumor manipulation. Thereafter, the EEG pattern returned to baseline and remained symmetric.

When neuromuscular relaxants are not used, the appearance of EMG "contamination" in the recorded EEG may also signal the presence of more intense surgical stimulation and the need to adjust the anesthetic level. Prior studies have also found facial nerve EMG to be a better predictor of patient movement than BIS [12]. During tumor debulking, an increase in background EMG activity was reported. It was also observed at that time that higher frequency EMG activity was superimposed on the ongoing EEG pattern. Considering the possibility of a lighter plane of anesthesia, after a small bolus of propofol and an increase of the opioid infusion, the EMG and EEG changes subsided.

Outcomes

Postoperative care for each patient varies as to the extent of surgery. Patients with small lesions and minimal reconstructions can be done as same day surgical procedures with early discharge. If the facial nerve has been mobilized or extensive soft tissue dissection performed, the patient can be observed overnight with discharge the following day. This patient had dissection of vascular structures, extensive surgical intervention with free flap reconstruction of the surgical defect. The patient was observed in the neurological intensive care unit for several days for intensive wound care and observation of both hemodynamic and neurologic status. Temporal bone neoplasms are usually associated with high complication rates and prolonged recovery times. The surgery involved both the vagal nerve and portions of the recurrent laryngeal nerve. The patient had the potential for severe swallowing deficits and passive aspiration. He underwent a bedside vocal cord and swallowing evaluation as part of his postoperative assessment using a flexible fiber optic laryngoscope. Some patients will require adjunctive therapy including thyroplasty and possible palatal adhesion. Rehabilitation of the facial nerve and eye began immediately. A paralytic eyelid risks exposure keratosis and possible blindness. This patient suffered temporary facial paresis requiring the eyelid to be lubricated and taped at night. The postoperative facial paresis was managed conservatively. After several months without return of function, a nerve substitution procedure or static suspension procedure may be attempted.

Refinement in conducting biomaterials and stimulus generators has enhanced the safety of direct neural stimulation and recording. The application of intraoperative monitoring for neurotologic surgery should achieve the following objectives:

- Distinguish cranial nerves from soft tissue and tumor through selective neural stimulation
- Expedite tumor excision by identifying regions of tumor not containing neurologic structures
- Provide early indication for surgical trauma
- Confirm neural responses at the end of surgery
- Identify and assess the degree of neurologic injury resulting from the surgery
- Maintain functional hearing if possible and identify the site of the lesion along the auditory pathway
- Maintain neurologic integrity after tumor removal

The past experience with intraoperative monitoring suggests that reduction of the CMAP response obtained with electrical stimulation of the nerve proximal to the tumor site loosely correlates with postoperative dysfunction. These observations require that more exacting correlations be obtained of electrophysiologic findings with ultimate prognoses.

In terms of outcomes, there are few controlled studies comparing monitored to unmonitored cases. However, the experience of most clinicians would favor that the preservation of neurologic function after anterior neck and skull base tumor surgery is improved with the use of these monitors. Most of these monitors have inherent strengths and weaknesses and may be affected by pharmacologic and physiologic factors that occur during surgery. Several drugs used clinically in the operative setting may interfere with the propagation of potentials along motor nerve and muscular membranes. The anesthesiologist must have an intimate knowledge of what effect these agents and physiologic events have on these monitoring modalities and must work in close collaboration with both the surgical and monitoring teams in order to produce an optimal outcome.

References¹

- *Attias J, Nageris B, Ralph J, Vajda J, Rappaport ZH. Hearing preservation using combined monitoring of extra-tympanic electrocochleography and auditory brainstem responses during acoustic neuroma injury. Int J Audiol. 2008;47:178–84.
- Legatt AD. Mechanisms of intraoperative brainstem auditory evoked potential changes. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19(5):396–408.
- Schwaber MK, Hall JW. Intraoperative electrocochleography. In: Kartush JM, Bouchard KR, editors. Neuromonitoring in otology and head and neck surgery. 1st ed. New York: Raven; 1992. p. 215–28.
- Prass RL, Luders H. Acoustic (loudspeaker) facial electromyographic (EMG) monitoring II: use of evoked EMG activity during acoustic neuroma resection. Neurosurgery. 1986;19:392–400.
- *Akagami R, Dong CC, Westerberg BD. Localized transcranial electric motor evoked potentials for monitoring cranial nerves in cranial base surgery. Neurosurgery. 2005;57:78–85.

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

- Dong CCJ, MacDonald DB, Akagami R, Westerberg B, Alkhani A, Kanaan I, Hassounah M. Intraoperative facial motor evoked potential monitoring with transcranial electric stimulation during skull base surgery. Clin Neurophysiol. 2005;116:588–96.
- *Matthies C, Raslan F, Schweitzer T, Hagen R, Roosen K, Reiners K. Facial motor evoked potentials in cerebellopontine angle surgery: technique, pitfalls and predictive value. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2011;113(10):872–9.
- *Nakao Y, Piccirillo E, Falcioni M, Taibah A, Kobayashi T, Sanna M. Electromyographic evaluation of facial nerve damage in acoustic neuroma surgery. Otol Neurotol. 2001;22(4):554–7.
- *Holland NR. Intraoperative electromyography. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19(5):444–53.
- Isley MR, Edmonds HL, Stecker M. Guidelines for intraoperative neuromonitoring using raw (analog or digital waveforms) and quantitative electroencephalography: a position statement by the American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2008;23:369–90.
- *Dralle H, Sekulla C, Haerting J, Timmermann W, Neumann HJ, Kruse E, et al. Risk factors of paralysis and functional outcome after recurrent laryngeal nerve monitoring in thyroid surgery. Surgery. 2002;136:1310–22.
- Randolph GW, Dralle H, International Intraoperative Monitoring Study Group, Abdullah H, Barczynski M, Bellantone R, et al. Electrophysiologic recurrent laryngeal nerve monitoring during thyroid and parathyroid surgery: international standards guideline statement. Laryngoscope. 2001;121:S1–16.
- American Encephalographic Society. Statement on the clinical use of quantitative EEG. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1987;4:87.
- Cheng MA, Theard MA, Templehoff R. Anesthesia for carotid endarterectomy: a survey. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1997;9:211–6.
- 15. Nuwer MR. Intraoperative electroencephalography. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1993;10:437–44.
- Clute HL, Levy WJ. Electroencephalographic changes during brief cardiac arrest in humans. Anesthesiology. 1990;73:821–5.
- Craft RM, Losasso TJ, Perkins WJ, et al. EEG monitoring for cerebral ischemia during carotid endarterectomy (CEA): how much is enough? Anesthesiology. 1994;81:A213.
- *Morimoto Y, Monden Y, Ohtake K, Sakabe T, Hagihira S. The detection of cerebral hypoperfusion with bispectral index monitoring during general anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 2005;100:158–61.
- Nuwer MR. Evoked potential monitoring in the operating room. New York: Raven; 1986. p. 5–48.
- Kartush JM, Bouchard KR. Neuromonitoring in otology and head and neck surgery. New York: Raven; 1997. p. 114.

Questions

1. Which intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring method is least affected by anesthetic agents?

A. ABR

- B. Corticobulbar MEP
- C. Electrocochleography
- D. EMG
- E. SSEP
- 2. Which is not an objective for monitoring the cranial nerves?
 - A. Provides early recognition of surgical trauma
 - B. Monitors neurologic integrity after tumor removal
 - C. Expedites tumor excision by identifying regions of tumor not containing neurologic structures
 - D. Assessment of irrigation fluid used during the procedure
 - E. Identify the site of the lesion along neural pathways
- 3. Should long-acting muscle relaxants be used during FN EMG monitoring?
 - A. Yes
 - B. Only if partial paralysis used
 - C. No
 - D. Only if used with TIVA anesthesia
 - E. Only if used with warm irrigating solution
- 4. Which two selections below should be assessed after RLN loss of signal?
 - A. ETT position
 - B. Stimulation current at 1–2 mA
 - C. Neuromuscular blockade
 - D. All of the above
 - E. None of the above

Answers

- 1. C
- 2. D
- 3. C
- 4. D

Carotid Surgery

30

Zirka H. Anastasian, Eugene Ornstein, and Eric J. Heyer

Key Learning Points

- Ways to monitor for cerebral perfusion during CEA include: intraoperative clinical exam, electrophysiological exam, cortical cerebral blood blow, and cerebral oxygenation.
- The clinical intraoperative examination requires that the patient be fully awake in order to perform an accurate examination of mental status.
- The level of anesthesia should remain constant prior to clamping the carotid artery so that changes in TCD cerebral blood flow velocity and/or changes in the EEG can be attributed to changes in cerebral blood flow exclusively, without having pharmacological or physical changes interfering with assessment.

• When significant changes in the EEG are seen upon application of carotid artery clamping despite managing blood pressure, a shunt should be inserted to prevent global hemispheric ischemia. Similarly, >60 % decrease in cerebral blood flow velocity as seen with TCD should also necessitate insertion of a shunt.

Introduction

Patients have carotid artery surgery most commonly due to extracranial stenosis at the bifurcation of the common carotid artery into the internal and external carotid artery branches. Patients undergo carotid surgery if they are symptomatic to prevent fatal or disabling strokes. The North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial (NASCET) and the European Carotid Surgery Trial (ECST) have shown the benefit of carotid endarterectomy (CEA) in symptomatic patients with greater than 70% stenosis at the internal carotid artery; CEA reduced the risk of fatal ipsilateral stroke by 80% over the 2-3 years after surgery [1–3]. However, decisions about treatment for patients with moderate level of stenosis (50-69%) must take into account recognized risk factors for a small benefit. Exceptional surgical skill is obligatory if CEA is to be performed on these patients [4]. Patients with stenosis of less than 50% did not benefit from CEA [4].

Z.H. Anastasian, M.D. • E. Ornstein, Ph.D., M.D. Department of Anesthesiology, Columbia University, 622 West 168th Street, New York, NY 10032-3784, USA

e-mail: zirka.horochiwsky@gmail.com; eo4@columbia.edu

E.J. Heyer, M.D., Ph.D. (⊠) Department of Neurological Surgery, Columbia University, 710 W 168th Street, New York, NY 10032-3784, USA e-mail: ejh3@columbia.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Koht et al. (eds.), *Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_30

There remains debate regarding the necessity of performing this type of surgery on asymptomatic patients. The Asymptomatic Carotid Atherosclerosis Study (ACAS) recommended addition of CEA to best medical therapy for asymptomatic carotid stenosis if CEA could be performed with a less than 3% perioperative major morbidity and mortality rate [3]. Current American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology/American Stroke Association/ Society for Vascular Surgery guidelines recommend (class IIa, level A evidence) CEA in asymptomatic patients who have greater than 70 % stenosis of the internal carotid artery, if the risk of perioperative stroke, myocardial infarction (MI), and death is low [5]. These guidelines further recommend that selection of asymptomatic patients be guided by an assessment of patient comorbidity, life expectancy, and other individual factors and should include a thorough discussion of the risks and benefits of the procedure with an understanding of patient preferences [5]. Indexes for determining risks of complications that have been developed include age, dyspnea on exertion or rest, previous peripheral revascularization or amputation, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), recent angina, and functional status [6].

Since 2000, there has been increasing interest in performing carotid artery angioplasty and stenting as an alternative to CEA; however; which patients are appropriate for this therapy is still unclear. Comparative studies have only recently been reported. The Carotid and Vertebral Transluminal Angioplasty Arterv Study (CAVATAS) showed that endovascular treatment decreased cranial nerve injury and hematoma risk compared with CEA [7]. The 30-day risk of stroke or death was high in both groups. In contrast, the Stent-Supported Percutaneous Angioplasty of the Carotid Artery versus Endarterectomy (SPACE) study was a European, multicenter study that showed a higher rate of ipsilateral stroke and death within 30 days after treatment in the patients randomized to stenting [8]. The Endarterectomy versus Angioplasty in Patients with Symptomatic Severe Carotid Stenosis (EVA 3S) was terminated early due to

safety concerns, and showed a significantly lower rate of stroke and death in the CEA group [9].

The International Carotid Stenting Study (ICSS) is a multicenter, international, randomized controlled trial that investigated the safety of endovascular treatment as compared with CEA in symptomatic patients. The results showed an increased risk for stroke, death, or procedure MI after 120 days in the endovascular treatment group [10, 11].

The Carotid Revascularization Endarterectomy Versus Stenting Trial (CREST) is also a multicenter, international (the USA and Canada), randomized controlled trial that, in contrast to the ICSS trial, investigated symptomatic and asymptomatic patients. Their primary endpoints included the periprocedural risk of stroke, death, and MI, as well as the risk of ipsilateral stroke over a 4-year time frame [12]. The study concluded that CEA and endovascular therapy both have similar composite outcomes, long-term safety, and efficacy; however, endarterectomy had a lower rate of perioperative stroke whereas the rate of coronary infarction was lower with endovascular treatment. However, younger patients had slightly better outcomes with endovascular therapy and older patients had better outcomes with endarterectomy, possibly due to technical factors: increased vascular tortuosity and calcification in elderly patients. The association of older age and increased risk of complications with endovascular therapy was also noted in the SPACE and ICSS trials [8, 10].

Therefore, trials thus far have shown that both endovascular and endarterectomy treatment are effective procedures, each of which may prove to be more beneficial to patients in specific subgroups.

In the remainder of this chapter, we will discuss two cases of typical patients undergoing a CEA, and the anesthetic and neuromonitoring considerations specific to maximize and measure cerebral perfusion. We will then discuss the neurophysiological changes that occur during the clamping of the carotid artery during surgery, two possible neuromonitoring changes associated with the carotid clamping, and the intraoperative management when these changes arise. Finally, we will analyze the possible causes of changes during neuromonitoring.

Case 1

The patient was a 72-year-old man with a 1-week history of left-sided hemispheric stroke affecting his right arm more so than his leg. The weakness had improved, but he still noted awkwardness of his right hand, especially when writing since he was right-handed. His past medical history was significant for coronary artery disease, status post coronary artery bypass surgery 1 year ago, and peripheral vascular disease, status post femoralpopliteal bypass on the right for claudication. He had a history of hypertension, for which he inconsistently took hydrochlorothiazide and amlodipine and a history of hypercholesterolemia, for which he took simvastatin. He did not complain of dyspnea on exertion, chest pain, or paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnea. He smoked one pack per day of cigarettes for 60 years.

On physical examination, his vital signs were a blood pressure of 160/90 mmHg (bilateral arms), a pulse of 80 beats per minute and regular, an oxygen saturation of 97% on room air, and a respiratory rate of 16 breaths per minute. He weighed 85 kg and was 178 cm tall. Examination of his chest demonstrated clear breath sounds bilaterally, and normal S1 and S2 heart sounds, without murmurs or extra heart sounds. Neurological examination was normal except for problems with naming, right arm drift, and impaired fine finger movements of the right hand. There was hyperreflexia on the right side, arm and leg, and a Babinski sign on the right. No sensory findings were elicited.

In preoperative examinations, magnetic resonance angiography demonstrated greater than 80% stenosis of the left and a 30% stenosis of the right internal carotid arteries (Fig. 30.1). Magnetic resonance imaging and cerebral Doppler further confirmed the identification and location of stenosis in the left internal carotid artery. The examination using a cerebral angiogram was not done for a couple of reasons: angiography does not provide adequate information into the physiological response of the cerebral vasculature to identify those patients at the greatest risk of hemodynamic ischemia [13]; in addition, studies have found a correlation between the



Fig. 30.1 This MRI angiogram is from a patient with left carotid artery stenosis just above the level of the carotid artery bifurcation (*arrowhead*)

use of cerebral angiography and neurological complication (stroke or transient ischemic attack), permanent neurological deficit, and even mortality [14–17].

The neurologist discussed the two possible treatment options of CEA, and carotid artery angioplasty/stenting with the patient. The patient elected to have CEA due to the decreased risk of periprocedural stroke.

Preoperative: Anesthetic and Neuromonitoring Considerations

Specific Goals in the Anesthetic Management of a Carotid Endarterectomy

Patients presenting for CEA typically have diffuse vascular disease, involving the heart and peripheral vascular circulation [18]. Because of significant stenosis of one or more major vessels supplying blood flow to the brain, maintaining normal arterial blood pressure, and avoiding hypotension are particularly critical to ensure adequate blood flow to the brain. These patients have more recently had blood pressures of 200/120 rather than 120/60. Therefore, a higher blood pressure is much more clinically typical of the patient's baseline physiology than a low one. Although avoidance of hypotension is a fundamental anesthetic goal during general surgery, the maintenance of adequate cerebral perfusion despite anesthetic pharmacological effects and surgical manipulation is especially critical during CEA. The rule of "high is good, low is bad" becomes particularly applicable for these patients having CEA.

Different Possible Monitoring Techniques to Assess Cerebral Blood Flow

There are four methods to monitor the brain for adequate cerebral perfusion: two are functional and two relate to cerebral blood flow. The two functional methods are (1) clinical intraoperative examination of an awake patient (see Chap. 18, "Anesthesia for Awake Neurosurgery"); (2) electrophysiological examination by evoked potential monitoring (see Chap. 1, "Somatosensory Evoked Potentials") or monitoring of spontaneous electrical activity from the cortex (see Chap. 10, "EEG Monitoring"). Monitoring spontaneous electric activity by electroencephalography (EEG) monitors activity that arises from the cortex (see Chap. 19, "General Anesthesia for Monitoring"). Evoked potential monitoring such as somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEP) evaluates both subcortical and cortical regions. Motor evoked potential monitoring (MEPs) can also monitor for blood flow to subcortical areas of the motor tract. The two blood flow-related methods are (1) cortical cerebral blood flow measurements, and (2) oxygen saturation of the cortex. Cortical cerebral blood flow measurements can be determined directly with techniques utilizing xenon, but this technique has the associated technical difficulty of environmental removal. More commonly, a surrogate measure of cerebral blood flow is used such as transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasonography, which evaluates cerebral blood flow velocity in major cerebral arteries that are 13, "Transcranial subcortical (see Chap. Doppler"). Oxygen saturation of the cortex is based on the adequacy of cerebral blood flow and uses near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) to measure oxygen saturation of the cortex (see Chap. 12, "Near-Infrared Spectroscopy").

The clinical intraoperative examination requires that the patient be fully awake in order to

perform an accurate examination of mental status including language, as well as motor and sensory functions. The other techniques can be performed with patients under general anesthesia. Commonly, awake patients require the surgical area to be anesthetized using a regional technique with either a superficial or deep cervical block. The patient has to understand and agree with the expectation that they will be awake during their surgery, subject to the sounds of the operating rooms, and be able to participate upon request with neurological testing. In addition, the possibility of sudden airway compromise must be considered. A major advantage to awake neurological testing is the lack of needed equipment and expertise in using it to perform testing.

Although at our institution, EEG and TCD monitoring is considered the standard, at other institutions, SSEP and MEP monitoring are performed. Changes in median nerve SSEPs during carotid clamping is a sensitive marker of ischemia of the middle cerebral artery (MCA) territory. A limitation of this monitoring technique is false-negative SSEP results, reported in up to 3.5% of patients [19]. However, to identify ischemia of the anterior cerebral artery and subcortical territories, tibial nerve SSEPs and MEPs should be used and decreases this false-negative rate [20]. It may be possible that triple monitoring (monitoring EEG, SSEP, and MEP) could improve sensitivity and specificity in finding ischemia during carotid clamping; however, studies addressing this question are limited and there is no evidence in the literature to support doing so as of yet [21, 22]. NIRS is also an assessment of cerebral flood flow by measuring oxygen saturation of the cortex. Although this measurement correlated with changes on EEG and awake testing, the positive predictive value of this modality of measurement is low [23, 24].

Agents used for achieving general anesthesia affect the various monitoring techniques differently. For example, SSEPs are significantly reduced when nitrous oxide is administered, whereas spontaneous electrophysiological activity from the cortex measured with EEG is enhanced with nitrous oxide due to its sympathomimetic properties [25].

Intraoperative Course

In the operating room, routine monitors were placed in addition to a preinduction left radial arterial line. The time during general anesthesia when intraoperative hypotension most commonly occurs is with and immediately after induction; therefore, a preinduction arterial line allows for rapid blood pressure monitoring and control during this interval. Two neuromonitors were placed: a transcranial Doppler ultrasound was placed on the left temporal area insonating on the left MCA (Fig. 30.1), and an EEG cap (Electro-cap International Inc., Eaton, OH) was applied with 16 electrodes placed according to the International 10–20 electrode placement system (Fig. 30.2). The EEG montage was a bipolar "double-banana" montage (Fig. 30.3).

The patient was sedated with fentanyl, $100 \mu g$, and midazolam, 3 mg. He was pre-curarized with rocuronium, 10 mg, 3 min prior to induction. He was induced with etomidate, 20 mg, and succinvlcholine, 140 mg. Intubation was with a Macintosh size 3 blade and the vocal cords were seen. A #8.0 endotracheal tube passed without difficulty. Anesthetic maintenance for the patient was with 0.7% isoflurane and 50% N₂O. Since his blood pressure decreased after induction, a phenylephrine drip (40 µg/mL) was started at 30 mL/h to maintain his blood pressure at 150/90 mmHg. Five minutes before clamping the carotid artery, 6500 mg of heparin was administered (0.08 μ g/kg) intravenously and the resultant activated clotting time (ACT) was 254 s. The phenylephrine drip rate was increased to 60 mL/h and the arterial blood pressure increased to 185/100 mmHg during this pre-cross clamp interval.

Clamps were applied sequentially to the superior thyroid artery, the common carotid artery, internal carotid artery, and the external carotid artery.

Transcranial Doppler Ultrasonography

TCD was monitored throughout the procedure. In addition to temperature, blood pressure, and endtidal carbon dioxide (PeCO₂), TCD measurements (peak and mean MCA flow velocities), pulsatility index (PI), and delta %, which is the



Fig. 30.2 Electroencephalography. *Top panel* depicts the International 10–20 System from (a) left and (b) above the head. This is a standard way of placing and naming electrode positions based on landmarks and distances between them on the patient's head: the anterior to posterior distance is from nasion to inion, and the lateral distances from preaurical point on the left to preaurical point on the right. The "10-20" refers to percentages of these distances where electrodes are placed. All even-numbered electrodes are on the right and odd-numbered electrodes are on the left. "F", "C", "T", "P", "O", and "A" are frontal, central, temporal, parietal, occipital, and ear lobe, respectively. The subscripts refer to F_P, and "Z" is midline. The "double banana" montage is a bipolar montage where two strings of electrodes are arranged anterior to posterior parallel to the midline and parallel to the circumference. Viewed from above, the electrodes form a shape that looks like two bananas. Bottom panel depicts Montage: Bipolar and Referential. All electrical potentials are potential differences. These differences are generated from differential amplifiers by comparing pairs of neighboring electrodes called a bipolar montage, shown on the left, or by comparing pairs of electrodes all referred to the same reference electrode, called a referential configuration, shown on the right. This figure was made available at http://www.bem.fi/book/13/13.htm#03 under the terms of GNU Free Documentation License, Version 1.3

change in mean cerebral blood flow velocity compared to baseline, were obtained at specific times during surgery as part of our research protocol. These times are:

- baseline (before induction)
- pre-clamp (at heparin injection)
- clamping, shunt insertion (if required)



Fig. 30.3 Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. This figure is a horizontal view of the head with the TCD probe on the left temporal area insonating on the ipsilateral middle and anterior cerebral arteries. It demonstrates where our TCD was placed on the patient to obtain the tracings

shown below. This figure was made available at http:// en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Transcranial_doppler.jpg under the terms of GNU Free Documentation License, Version 1.3 by Rune Aaslid

- post-clamping (15 min after clamping)
- · clamp release
- 5-min post-release
- 10-min post-release

At each event, the surgeons were informed of relevant TCD information.

To measure the MCA flow velocity, a 2-MHz Doppler probe was placed over the temporal bone ipsilateral to the operative side (left); the MCA at a depth of 50 mm was the main detected target. Prior to surgical draping, a headframe (Model 600, Spencer Technologies, Seattle, WA) was placed around the patient's head to hold the Doppler probe transducer firmly in position throughout the procedure.

At baseline, the patient's MCA velocity and PI were within normal range, varying from 57 to 63 cm/s (normal, 35–100 cm/s) and 0.90 to 1.05, respectively (Fig. 30.4a, Table 30.1). This broad velocity range can be explained by decreasing blood flow to the brain with age, the dependence of cerebral blood flow on the partial pressure of CO_2 and the level of cerebral metabolism [17]. Right after clamping, MCA velocities quickly dropped by 64% from the pre-clamp value, resulting in timed average mean velocity (TAMV) of 21 cm/s and PI of 0.5 (Fig. 30.4b, c). In comparison to TAMV, PI is usually more sensitive for detecting measurement changes in cerebrovascular resistance due to clamping. This significant decrease in MCA velocity demonstrated the patient's poor collateral blood flow. No shunt was used despite the fact that there was more than 50% decline in flow velocity from the baseline. Cerebral tolerance to carotid clamping was assessed by an equation by mean velocity MCA% (mv MCA%):

(mvMCAclamping / mvMCApre clamping)×100

Generally, a shunt is placed when mv MCA % is less than or equal to 15 % [13]. In this case, the calculated mv MCA% was 33 % and therefore a shunt was not placed.

After release of the clamps, MCA velocities rapidly increased above pre-clamp value (TAMV, 60 cm/s; PI, 1.32) and then decreased toward the pre-clamp value (TAMV, 44 cm/s; PI, 1.39 at 5 min after clamp release; TAMV, 56 cm/s; PI, 1.17 at 15 min after the release) (Fig. 30.4d).

Case 2

We also present another patient, with an 80% stenosis of the left internal carotid artery demonstrated by magnetic resonance angiography. Overall, the TCD monitoring during the procedure demonstrated a similar trend of changes in MCA velocity and PI to that seen with the first patient. In comparison to the first patient, his baseline peak and mean MCA velocities were lower (peak, 52 cm/s; mean, 34 cm/s) (Fig 30.4e, Table 30.2). After clamping, these velocities instantaneously and drastically went down to 19 and 30 cm/s, respectively (Fig 30.4f). Although mv MCA% calculated using the formula provided above indicated 35% decrease (which is above the suggested cutoff number; 15%), a shunt was still placed in order to add sufficient blood flow that had not been reached previously due to inadequate collateral flow. The problem was quickly fixed by shunt placement, and the velocities were raised closer to his baseline values (Fig. 30.4g). Once the clamps were released, MCA velocity increased above pre-clamp value (TAMV, 52 cm/s) and then dropped toward the baseline value (TAMV, 40 cm/s; PI, 1.01 at 5 min after clamp release; TAMV, 41 cm/s; PI, 0.98 at 15 min after clamp release) (Fig. 30.4h), similar to what we saw in the first patient.

EEG Monitoring

EEG monitoring for a CEA can be performed with either needle electrodes placed subcutaneously on a patient's scalp, or with surface EEG electrodes-either using an EEG cap with electrodes sown into a standard configuration that is then applied to the patient's head like a swimcap, or with surface electrodes placed on the scalp and held on with collodion adhesive. Needle electrodes have an advantage of having very low resistance, which improves the recording. The disadvantages of needle electrodes include pain upon insertion, which necessitates a post-induction placement, needle-stick safety hazard, and minor bleeding at the insertion sites. Likewise, the major advantage of the EEG cap is a comfortable application, which can be done pre-induction. The major disadvantage is the potential of having high resistance due to the fact that the electrodes sit on top of the scalp and are connected to the scalp EEG via conductive gel (Electro-Gel, Electro-Cap International, Inc., Eaton, Ohio). Another disadvantage is get-

	Peak velocity (cm/s)	Mean velocity (cm/s)	Pulsatility index		
Baseline	86	60	0.90		
Clamp on	28	21	0.50		
Post-shunt	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Post-clamp	33	25	0.54		
Clamp off	113	60	1.32		
5 min post-release	74	44	1.39		
10 min post-release	96	56	1.17		

Table 30.1 TCD monitoring data from patient 1, who did not have a shunt placed^a

^aMCA velocities and PI at post-clamp were measured

Table 30.2 TCD data on patient 2, who underwent shunting^a

	Peak velocity (cm/s)	Mean velocity (cm/s)	Pulsatility index		
Baseline	52	34	0.90		
Clamp on	19	12	0.52		
Post-shunt	42	30	0.72		
Post-clamp	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Clamp off	80	52	0.84		
5 min post-release	67	40	1.01		
10 min post-release	66	41	0.98		

^aThe velocities and PI at post-shunt replaced the values of post-clamp

ting the collodion out of the patient's hair after surgery.

In this patient, as mentioned above, an EEG cap (Electro-cap International Inc., Eaton, OH) was applied with 16 electrodes placed in according to the 10–20 International placement positions (Fig. 30.2). The EEG montage was a bipolar "double-banana" montage (Fig. 30.2).

The agents used for anesthetic maintenance are important to consider when monitoring the EEG. N_2O is sympathomimetic and increases the frequencies recorded on the EEG, allowing for a greater difference in the event of ischemia and slowing of the EEG [25]. Likewise, avoiding a high concentration of volatile agent, in our case isoflurane, avoids a dose-dependent slowing of the EEG [26]. Most importantly, it is important to maintain a steady level of anesthetic agents during the period of clamping to avoid changes that may be attributable to changes in agent, as opposed to changes in cerebral blood flow.

Upon clamping the carotid artery, changes in velocity were noted in the TCD recording, the EEG recording was closely monitored. No changes were seen on the EEG in this patient. The surgeon was informed and surgery proceeded without the placement of a shunt.

In contrast to this patient, we present an example of a third patient who had similar changes on TCD, but had marked unilateral slowing of frequency on EEG (Fig. 30.5). The surgeon was informed, and a shunt was placed.

Analysis of the Cause of Intraoperative Neuromonitoring Changes

There are various possible explanations for a change in EEG and TCD at the time of carotid clamping. Broadly, these include physical changes, e.g., hypothermia; pharmacological changes, e.g., the administration of lidocaine, induction agents, or an increase in volatile agents; as well as ischemic changes due to decreased blood flow after clamping of the carotid. As previously mentioned, the reason the level of anesthesia should not change prior to clamping the carotid artery is that we would like to attribute changes in TCD cerebral blood flow velocity and/or changes in the EEG to changes in cerebral blood flow exclusively, without having pharmacological or physical changes interfering with assessment.

in the Power M-mode. The "x-axis" is in seconds between the time markers. The boxed numbers to the left of each tracing show the depth in mm, power, and sample volume. The boxed numbers on the right of each tracing show the peak, mean, diastolic velocities, and pulsatility index (PI)

Fig. 30.4 (continued) frames, "1" and "2". "1" is the Power M-mode tracing (analogous to the ultrasound mode) on the "y-axis" in mm and visualizes flow from 30 to 80 mm from the surface of the scalp. "2" is the Doppler velocity in cm/s on the "y-axis" at a distance indicated by the yellow line



Fig. 30.4 Transcranial Doppler ultrasound tracings. Patient 1: TCD tracings at four different time points relative to cross-clamping the carotid artery: (**a**) before, (**b**) immediately at, (**c**) during, and (**d**) after unclamping the carotid artery. Each tracing consists of two frames, "1" and "2". "1" is the Power M-mode tracing (analogous to the ultrasound mode) on the "y-axis" in mm and visualizes flow from 30 to 80 mm from the surface of the scalp. "2" is the Doppler velocity in cm/s on the "y-axis" at a distance indicated by the yellow line in the Power M-mode. The "x-axis"

is in seconds between the time markers. The boxed numbers to the left of each tracing show the depth in mm, power, and sample volume. The boxed numbers on the right of each tracing show the peak, mean, diastolic velocities, pulsatility index (PI), and the percentage change from baseline of the mean cerebral blood flow velocity. Patient 2: TCD tracings at four different time points relative to crossclamping the carotid artery: (e) before, (f) immediately at, (g) after shunt insertion, and (h) after shunt removal and unclamping the carotid artery. Each tracing consists of two



Fig. 30.5 Electroencephalogram with processed EEG. Electroencephalogram from a patient showing the 30-min processed EEG before, during, and after clamping the carotid artery in left panels (**a**) and (**b**). The "raw" EEG is shown on the right panels without EEG changes in (**a**) and with EEG changes in (**b**). *Both* (**a**) *and* (**b**) *are indicated*

by the vertical line on the processed EEG. The processing is performed using software from Persyst Development Corporation (Prescott, AZ, http://www.persyst.com). "Raw" EEG is shown with odd numbered electrode on the left and even on the right. A complete description is provided in Fig. 30.3 Since the brain has a rich vascular supply, reduction of cerebral blood flow by more than 60% is needed to change the EEG predictably. Changes in cerebral blood flow velocity of this magnitude greatly increase the likelihood of developing new neurologic findings after surgery [27].

Changes in cerebral perfusion are accompanied by compensatory changes in cerebrovascular resistance. In the TCD, this is reflected in a decrease in cerebral blood flow velocity initially greater than is seen a few minutes later. The change in cerebral vascular resistance is also seen in the PI is a calculated measurement of the systolic cerebral blood flow velocity minus the diastolic cerebral blood flow velocity divided by the mean cerebral blood flow velocity [28]. It reflects changes in peripheral cerebral resistance. Normal values of this unit-less variable are 0.6-1.1. Changes in cerebral blood velocity occur immediately and can be observed immediately by the TCD, in contrast to changes of the EEG, which can have a time delay after the clamping of the carotid artery. Decreases in cerebral blood flow velocity reflect percentage decreases in cerebral blood flow without indicating what the actual value of cerebral blood flow is if the diameter of the insonated vessel remains constant. In addition to monitoring the percent decrease in cerebral blood flow, the TCD can be clinically useful in ensuring blood flow in patients with shunts. Some surgeons who always place shunts across the surgical site still use TCD monitoring to indicate that the shunt is actually working well [29, 30, 53].

While an absolute absence of cerebral blood flow causes significant delta waves to be seen in less than 10 s, generally clamping of the carotid artery reduces but does not eliminate cerebral blood flow [31]. Therefore, insufficient cerebral blood flow may take a minute or more to develop. Depending on the collateral flow present, decreased cerebral blood flow less than 20 mL/100 g of brain tissue/min results in ipsilateral or bilateral decrease of fast frequency EEG waves (>5 Hz), and a predominance of high-amplitude slow frequency waves less than 4 Hz [32–35].

While one might be inclined to think that one monitor more likely predicts neurologic outcome than another, the purpose of the TCD and EEG is to address the issue of the adequacy of collateral circulation when the carotid artery is clamped. Dr. Rampil demonstrated that patients who had normal baseline EEG prior to surgery and experienced greater than 9.5 min of cerebral ischemia (as indicted by the EEG) developed new neurologic deficits [36]. However, most patients who develop new neurologic findings after CEA do so because of emboli [37]. The effect of emboli cannot be determined by the EEG, but the presence of emboli can be seen by TCD. Gaunt presented evidence that most emboli are gaseous, but greater than ten particulate emboli are associated with both incipient carotid artery thrombosis and the development of major neurological deficits [4].

Management of Changes

If there are changes in cerebral blood flow reflected by any of our cerebral perfusion monitors, after letting the surgeons know, arterial blood pressure should be increased [38]. While in theory the mean arterial pressure should be the parameter to be followed, this is a calculated variable and reflects changes in systolic blood pressure. Therefore, our rule of thumb is to look to the systolic blood pressure as the variable we increase. Remember, almost all of our elder patients have seen systolic arterial blood pressures greater than 200 mmHg more recently than 120 mmHg. Systolic pressure is increased while the surgeons complete insertion of a shunt from below the surgical site to above the site. An infusion of phenylephrine is commonly used to increase peripheral vascular resistance and increase systemic arterial pressure without constricting cerebral vessels [39].

When significant changes in the EEG are seen upon application of carotid artery clamping, a shunt should be inserted to prevent global hemispheric ischemia. Similarly, a greater than 60% decrease in cerebral blood flow velocity as seen with TCD should also necessitate insertion of a shunt. We have seen clinical cases where there were no significant EEG changes with significant decreases in cerebral blood flow velocity and patients awoke with transient neurologic and neuropsychometric changes [40]. These two modalities look at different components of cerebral perfusion. Emboli can be clearly seen with dissection of the carotid artery and its bifurcation when using TCD, and particularly when the internal carotid artery clamp is released [29].

Outcome

Prior to unclamping the carotid artery, and particularly the internal carotid artery, systemic arterial blood pressure is reduced to normal or in a range up to 20% below normal. This is frequently achieved by stopping the phenylephrine infusion. If cerebral ischemia had been seen by TCD or EEG when the carotid artery was occluded, then it is seen again when the carotid artery is reclamped to remove the shunt. There is increasing concern that of the 10-15% of patients who develop hyperperfusion with release of the carotid artery clamp, many of them will also develop significant neurocognitive changes [41– 48]. It may be that the usual definition of hyperperfusion of twice baseline cerebral blood flow is too stringent and that small increases also produce neurologic problems.

Fortunately, the incidence of new neurologic deficits after CEA surgery is less than 5% [1, 49]. Some of us (EJH) have made a career defining more subtle changes in cognitive functioning [50–52]. However, in most patients these findings resolve by 6 months [50].

The patients, in both scenarios described in this chapter, awoke quickly in the operating room at the end of the surgery without any new neurological deficits.

Conclusion

During CEA, neuromonitoring is critical to ensure adequate cerebral perfusion. Neuromonitoring can be used to determine if a shunt is necessary to increase global perfusion when the carotid artery is clamped. Alternately, if shunts are routinely used by the surgeon, then neuromonitoring can be used to determine that the shunt is working correctly. Our primary tool to prevent ischemia is systemic arterial blood flow: keep it where the patient normally is, or higher. Remember the golden rule: low is bad, high is good.

References

- North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial Collaborators. Beneficial effect of carotid endarterectomy in symptomatic patients with high-grade carotid stenosis. N Engl J Med. 1991;325:445–53.
- Ferguson GG, Eliasziw M, Barr HW, Clagett GP, Barnes RW, Wallace MC, Taylor DW, et al. The North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial: surgical results in 1415 patients. Stroke. 1999;30:1751–8.
- Executive Committee for the Asymptomatic Carotid Atherosclerosis Study. Endarterectomy for asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis. JAMA. 1995;273:1421–8.
- Barnett HJM, Taylor DW, Eliasziw M, Fox AJ, Ferguson GG, Haynes RB, Rankin RN, et al. Collaborators NASCET. Benefit of carotid endarterectomy in patients with symptomatic moderate or severe stenosis. N Engl J Med. 1998;339:1415–25.
- Brott TG, Halperin JL, Abbara S, Bacharach JM, Barr JD, Bush RL, Cates CU, et al. 2011 ASA/ACCF/AHA/ AANN/AANS/ACR/ASNR/CNS/SAIP/SCAI/SIR/ SNIS/SVM/SVS guideline on the management of patients with extracranial carotid and vertebral artery disease. A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, and the American Stroke Association, American Association of Neuroscience Nurses, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, American College of Radiology, American Society of Neuroradiology, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Society of Atherosclerosis Imaging and Prevention, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Interventional Radiology, Society of NeuroInterventional Surgery, Society for Vascular Medicine, and Society for Vascular Surgery. Circulation. 2011;124:e54-130.
- Gupta PK, Ramanan B, Mactaggart JN, Sundaram A, Fang X, Gupta H, Johanning JM, Pipinos II. Risk index for predicting perioperative stroke, myocardial infarction, or death risk in asymptomatic patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy. J Vasc Surg. 2013;57:318–26.
- Ederle J, Bonati LH, Dobson J, Featherstone RL, Gaines PA, Beard JD, Venables GS, et al. Endovascular treatment with angioplasty or stenting versus endarterectomy in patients with carotid artery stenosis in the Carotid and Vertebral Artery Transluminal Angioplasty

Study (CAVATAS): long-term follow-up of a randomised trial. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8:898–907.

- Jansen O, Fiehler J, Hartmann M, Bruckmann H. Protection or nonprotection in carotid stent angioplasty: the influence of interventional techniques on outcome data From the SPACE trial. Stroke. 2009;40:841–6.
- Ricotta II JJ, Malgor RD. A review of the trials comparing carotid endarterectomy and carotid angioplasty and stenting. Perspect Vasc Surg Endovasc Ther. 2008;20:299–308.
- International Carotid Stenting Study Investigators, Ederle J, Dobson J, Featherstone RL, Bonati LH, van der Worp HB, de Borst GJ, Lo TH, Gaines P, Dorman PJ, Macdonald S, Lyrer PA, Hendriks JM, McCollum C, Nederkoorn PJ, Brown MM. Carotid artery stenting compared with endarterectomy in patients with symptomatic carotid stenosis (International Carotid Stenting Study): an interim analysis of a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2010;375:985–97.
- Bonati LH, Jongen LM, Haller S, Flach HZ, Dobson J, Nederkoorn PJ, et al. New ischaemic brain lesions on MRI after stenting or endarterectomy for symptomatic carotid stenosis: a substudy of the International Carotid Stenting Study (ICSS). Lancet Neurol. 2010;9:353–62.
- Brott TG, Hobson II RW, Howard G, Roubin GS, Clark WM, Brooks W, et al. Stenting versus endarterectomy for treatment of carotid artery stenosis. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(1):11–23.
- Lucertini G, Cariati P, Ermirio D, Viacava A, Misuri A, Grana A, Belardi P. Can cerebral vasoreactivity predict cerebral tolerance to carotid clamping during carotid endarterectomy? Cardiovasc Surg. 2002;10: 123–7.
- Hankey GJ, Warlow CP, Sellar RJ. Cerebral angiographic risk in mild cerebrovascular disease. Stroke. 1990;21:209–22.
- Davies KN, Humphrey PR. Complications of cerebral angiography in patients with symptomatic carotid territory ischaemia screened by carotid ultrasound. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1993;56:967–72.
- Newell DW, Aaslid R. Transcranial Doppler: clinical and experimental uses. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Rev. 1992;4:122–43.
- 17. Newell DW, Aaslid R. Transcranial doppler. New York: Raven; 1992.
- Hertzer NR, O'Hara PJ, Mascha EJ, Krajewski LP, Sullivan TM, Beven EG. Early outcome assessment for 2228 consecutive carotid endarterectomy procedures: the Cleveland Clinic experience from 1989 to 1995. J Vasc Surg. 1997;26:1–10.
- Schweiger H, Kamp HD, Dinkel M. Somatosensoryevoked potentials during carotid artery surgery: experience in 400 operations. Surgery. 1991;109:602–9.
- 20. Malcharek MJ, Kulpok A, Deletis V, Ulkatan S, Sablotzki A, Hennig G, et al. Intraoperative multimodal evoked potential monitoring during carotid endarterectomy: a retrospective study of 264 patients. Anesth Analg. 2015;120:1352–60.

- Lam AM, Kianpour D. Monitoring for carotid endarterectomy: more or less? Anesth Analg. 2015;120:1186–8.
- 22. Alcantara SD, Wuamett JC, Lantis II JC, Ulkatan S, Bamberger P, Mendes D, et al. Outcomes of combined somatosensory evoked potential, motor evoked potential, and electroencephalography monitoring during carotid endarterectomy. Ann Vasc Surg. 2014;28:665–72.
- 23. Mauermann WJ, Crepeau AZ, Pulido JN, Lynch JJ, Lobbestael A, Oderich GS, Worrell GA. Comparison of electroencephalography and cerebral oximetry to determine the need for in-line arterial shunting in patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2013;27:1253–9.
- 24. Stilo F, Spinelli F, Martelli E, Pipito N, Barilla D, De Caridi G, et al. The sensibility and specificity of cerebral oximetry, measured by INVOS - 4100, in patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy compared with awake testing. Minerva Anesthesiol. 2012;78:1126–35.
- Ebert T, Kampine J. Nitrous oxide augments sympathetic outflow: direct evidence from human peroneal nerve recordings. Anesth Analg. 1989;64:444–9.
- Hoffman WE, Edelman G. Comparison of isoflurane and desflurane anesthetic depth using burst suppression of the electroencephalogram in neurosurgical patients. Anesth Analg. 1995;81:811–6.
- Halsey Jr JH. Risks and benefits of shunting in carotid endarterectomy. The International Transcranial Doppler Collaborators. Stroke. 1992;23:1583–7.
- Aleksic M, Heckenkamp J, Gawenda M, Brunkwall J. Pulsatility index determination by flowmeter measurement: a new indicator for vascular resistance? Eur Surg Res. 2004;36:345–9.
- Smith JL, Evans DH, Gaunt ME, London NJ, Bell PR, Naylor AR. Experience with transcranial Doppler monitoring reduces the incidence of particulate embolization during carotid endarterectomy. Br J Surg. 1998;85:56–9.
- Heyer E, Winfree C, Mack W, Connolly E. Transcranial Doppler monitoring during carotid endarterectomy: a technical case report. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2000;12:233–9.
- Adams DC, Heyer EJ, Emerson RG, Spotnitz HM, Delphin E, Turner C, Berman MF. Implantable cardioverter defibrillator: evaluation of clinical neurologic outcome and electroencephalographic changes during implantation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1995;109:565–73.
- 32. Michenfelder JD, Sundt TM, Fode N, Sharbrough FW. Isoflurane when compared to enflurane and halothane decreases the frequency of cerebral ischemia during carotid endarterectomy. Anesthesiology. 1987;67:336–40.
- 33. Sundt Jr TM, Sharbrough FW, Piepgras DG, Kearns TP, Messick Jr J, O'Fallon WM. Correlation of cerebral blood flow and electroencephalographic changes during carotid endarterectomy: with results of surgery and hemodynamics of cerebral ischemia. Mayo Clin Proc. 1981;56:533–43.
- Nuwer MR. Intraoperative electroencephalography. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1993;10:437–44.

- Sharbrough FW, Messick JM, Sundt TMJ. Correlation of continuous electroencephalograms with cerebral blood flow measurements during carotid endarterectomy. Stroke. 1973;4:674–83.
- Rampil IJ, Holzer JA, Quest DO, Rosenbaum SH, Correll JW. Prognostic value of computerized EEG analysis during carotid endarterectomy. Anesth Analg. 1983;62:186–92.
- Krul JM, van Gijn J, Ackerstaff RG, Eikelboom BC, Theodorides T, Vermeulen FE. Site and pathogenesis of infarcts associated with carotid endarterectomy. Stroke. 1989;20:324–8.
- Heyer EJ, Mergeche JL, Anastasian ZH, Kim M, Mallon KA, Connolly ES. Arterial blood pressure management during carotid endarterectomy and early cognitive dysfunction. Neurosurgery. 2014;74:245– 51. discussion 51–3.
- Drummond JC, Oh YS, Cole DJ, Shapiro HM. Phenylephrine-induced hypertension reduces ischemia following middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. Stroke. 1989;20:1538–44.
- 40. Costin M, Rampersad A, Solomon RA, Connolly ES, Heyer EJ. Cerebral injury predicted by transcranial Doppler ultrasonography but not electroencephalography during carotid endarterectomy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2002;14:287–92.
- 41. Chida K, Ogasawara K, Suga Y, Saito H, Kobayashi M, Yoshida K, et al. Postoperative cortical neural loss associated with cerebral hyperperfusion and cognitive impairment after carotid endarterectomy: 123I-iomazenil SPECT Study. Stroke. 2009;40: 448–53.
- 42. Hirooka R, Ogasawara K, Sasaki M, Yamadate K, Kobayashi M, Suga Y, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging in patients with cerebral hyperperfusion and cognitive impairment after carotid endarterectomy. J Neurosurg. 2008;108:1178–83.
- Karapanayiotides T, Meuli R, Devuyst G, Piechowski-Jozwiak B, Dewarrat A, Ruchat P, et al. Postcarotid endarterectomy hyperperfusion or reperfusion syndrome. Stroke. 2005;36:21–6.
- 44. Matsubara S, Moroi J, Suzuki A, Sasaki M, Nagata K, Kanno I, Miura S. Analysis of cerebral perfusion and metabolism assessed with positron emission tomography before and after carotid artery stenting. J Neurosurg. 2009;111:28–36.
- 45. Matsumoto S, Nakahara I, Higashi T, Iwamuro Y, Watanabe Y, Takahashi K, et al. Near-infrared spectroscopy in carotid artery stenting predicts cerebral hyperperfusion syndrome. Neurology. 2009;72:1512–8.
- 46. Ogasawara K, Yamadate K, Kobayashi M, Endo H, Fukuda T, Yoshida K, et al. Postoperative cerebral hyperperfusion associated with impaired cognitive function in patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy. J Neurosurg. 2005;102:38–44.
- van Mook WN, Rennenberg RJ, Schurink GW, van Oostenbrugge RJ, Mess WH, Hofman PA, de Leeuw PW. Cerebral hyperperfusion syndrome. Lancet Neurol. 2005;4:877–88.

- Zachrisson H, Blomstrand C, Holm J, Mattsson E, Volkmann R. Changes in middle cerebral artery blood flow after carotid endarterectomy as monitored by transcranial Doppler. J Vasc Surg. 2002;36:285–90.
- 49. Young B, Moore WS, Robertson JT, Toole JF, Ernst CB, Cohen SN, et al. An analysis of perioperative surgical mortality and morbidity in the asymptomatic carotid atherosclerosis study. Stroke. 1996;27:2216–24.
- Heyer E, Adams D, Todd G, Solomon R, Quest D, Steneck S, Connolly E. Neuropsychometric changes in patients after carotid endarterectomy. Stroke. 1998;29:1110–5.
- Heyer EJ, Gold M, Mitchell E, Zurica J, Connolly ES. Cognitive dysfunction in patients having carotid endarterectomy performed with regional anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 2006;105:A201.
- 52. Heyer EJ, Sharma R, Rampersad A, Winfree CJ, Mack WJ, Solomon RA, Todd GJ, et al. A controlled prospective study of neuropsychological dysfunction following carotid endarterectomy. Arch Neurol. 2002;59:217–22.
- 53. Gaunt ME, Martin PJ, Smith JL, Rimmer T, Cherryman G, Ratliff DA, Bell PRF, Naylor AR. Clinical relevance of intraoperative embolization detected by transcranial Doppler ultrasonography during carotid endarterectomy: a prospective study of 100 patients. Br J Surg. 1994;81:1435–9.

Questions

- 1. During a carotid endarterectomy, which of the following changes are suggestive of ischemia?
 - A. Ipsilateral increase in frequency of EEG
 - B. Ipsilateral decrease in frequency of EEG
 - C. Increase in MCA flow velocity on TCD
 - D. Patient continues to talk and squeeze contralateral hand
- During carotid clamping during an endarterectomy, EEG frequency is noted to decrease and MCA flow velocity decreased by 60%. Appropriate management includes:
 - A. Surgeon notification
 - B. Blood pressure increase to an MAP 20% above baseline
 - C. Shunt placement by surgeon
 - D. All of the above

Answers

- 1. B
- 2. B

Anterior Cervical Spine Surgery

31

John F. Bebawy, Antoun Koht, and Srdjan Mirkovic

Key Learning Points

- The safety of ACDF for patients with cervical radiculopathy, with or without neurophysiologic monitoring, is extremely high, with very low rates of temporary or permanent neurologic sequelae.
- The risk of neurologic injury during an ACDF for those patients with myelopathic symptoms and requiring a cervical corpectomy, laminectomy, or foraminotomy, while unknown, is thought to be higher than that for patients with a radiculopathy alone. For these cases, multimodality neurophysiologic monitoring (SSEP, MEP, EMG) may play a significant role in

J.F. Bebawy, M.D. (🖂)

S. Mirkovic, M.D.

e-mail: chicagospinedoc@gmail.com

detecting, and hopefully averting, impending neurologic injury.

 While EMG monitoring is beneficial in detecting mechanical insults to the nerve roots or spinal cord, it lacks the ability to detect changes related to ischemia.

Introduction

An anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (ACDF) is a routinely performed surgery to relieve spinal stenosis, remove intervertebral disk and bony matter that may be impinging upon neural elements, and also to mechanically stabilize the cervical spine after such material is removed. Herniated intervertebral disk material or osteophytes in the spinal canal or intervertebral foramina may cause compression of the spinal cord or nerve roots, respectively. Such compression may lead to radiculopathy, myelopathy, or both, and patients can present with significant symptoms such as pain, numbness, paresthesias, weakness, or paralysis.

The ACDF procedure can be performed at one or multiple levels with varying amounts of complexity depending on the extent of neural tissue compression. An anterior approach in the cervical spine is often preferred to a posterior approach for discectomy due to anatomic favorability. However, in more extensive anterior surgeries, a

Department of Anesthesiology and Neurological Surgery, Northwestern University, 251 East Huron Street, Suite F5-704, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: j-bebawy@northwestern.edu

A. Koht, M.D.

Departments of Anesthesiology, Neurological Surgery and Neurology, Northwestern Memorial Hospital, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 251 East Huron Street, F-5-704, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: a-koht@northwestern.edu

Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 A. Koht et al. (eds.), *Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists*

and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_31

posterior cervical fusion may also be warranted to stabilize the cervical spine (see Chap. 32, "Posterior Cervical Spine Surgery"). The safety of an ACDF for patients with cervical radiculopathy, with or without neurophysiologic monitoring, is extremely high, with very low rates of temporary or permanent neurologic sequelae [1]. One exception to this is the occurrence of a C5 palsy, which may have an incidence of up to 5.9%. While it is unclear why the C5 nerve root is at higher iatrogenic risk than other nerve roots, this complication seems to be associated with more profound spinal cord compression and possibly ischemic axonal injury secondary to microvascular trauma [2]. Other rare forms of injury include hypoglossal nerve injury, C6 injury causing a Horner's syndrome due to sympathetic chain injury, and basilar artery ischemia due to excessive cervical extension.

In contrast, the risk of a neurologic injury during an ACDF for those patients with myelopathic symptoms requiring cervical corpectomy, laminectomy, or foraminotomy, while unknown, is thought to be higher than that for patients with radiculopathy alone [3]. Likewise, upper cervical spine surgery is often considered more risky than surgery at lower cervical levels [4]. For any of these cases, and particularly for those requiring complex reconstruction, multimodality neurophysiologic monitoring may play a significant role in detecting, and hopefully averting, impending neurologic injury [5–7]. The most frequently used modalities of neurophysiologic monitoring in these cases are somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs), spontaneous electromyography (EMG), and transcranial motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) [8, 9], with dermatomal sensory-evoked potentials and direct epidural (D wave) MEP recordings being used to a lesser degree. Transcutaneous, mid-thoracic D-wave recording has been advocated due to the false-positives that may arise from SSEP recording alone and in circumstances in which transcranial MEPs may be difficult or impossible [10].

Neurophysiologic monitoring has generally been accepted during the surgical management of scoliosis, but has mixed acceptance during cervical operations such as ACDF [11, 12]. The value of SSEPs alone has been questioned in these cases; however, the combined usage of SSEP, EMG, and MEP monitoring is gaining support [13, 14]. When SSEPs are used for ACDF, median nerve responses are generally thought to be more helpful when higher cervical levels (C3–C6) are operated on, while ulnar nerve responses are more frequently favored when lower cervical levels (C6–T1) are the operative target [15].

Because SSEPs function specifically as a monitor of the posterior elements of the spinal cord (i.e., dorsal columns), and nonspecifically as a monitor of the entire spinal cord, they are prone to false-negatives in the detection of injuries to the anterior spinal cord (e.g., corticospinal tracts) [3, 12] and/or nerve roots. Hence, spontaneous EMG monitoring has been advocated in these surgeries, in combination with SSEPs and MEPs, as a way to specifically monitor the motor component of the nerve roots [4]. Identification of muscle-specific spontaneous EMG discharges would be the most efficient indicator of mechanical irritation of a nerve root, preceding the more concerning changes in SSEPs and MEPs, which might be related to ischemia.

While EMG monitoring is beneficial in detecting mechanical insults to the nerve roots or spinal cord, it lacks the ability to detect changes related to ischemia [16]. Therefore, many authors have advocated the routine use of MEPs in those patients thought to be at high risk for intraoperative ischemia due to compression (e.g., severe myelopathy due to critical spinal canal stenosis, severe spondylolisthesis) [13, 17]. SSEPs may be less sensitive than MEPs in this regard, as anterior (motor) spinal elements tend to be at higher risk during anterior spinal surgery. In all reported case series, MEPs were employed in conjunction with SSEPs in order to improve both sensitivity and specificity of the neurophysiologic monitoring being performed. In most published reports, SSEPs have a low but finite incidence of falsepositives (Taunt et al. [12] reported 1.8%), and an even lower incidence of false-negatives [1]. MEPs and EMG may serve a confirmatory role in these cases.

A study by Cole et al. [5] revealed that for single-level spine surgery, neuromonitoring was only helpful in lowering neurologic complication rates for lumbar laminectomies, with no added benefit for lumbar discectomies, lumbar fusions, or ACDFs. Furthermore, a large prospective study by Helseth et al. [6] found that outpatient microsurgical cervical decompression was feasible without neuromonitoring and with a very low overall complication rate. Others, however, advocate for multimodality neuromonitoring, even in single-level ACDFs. Epstein argues that because quadriparesis/quadriplegia is one of the more common reasons for malpractice suits after single-level ACDFs, neuromonitoring (and specifically MEP monitoring) should be employed in these cases.

Another consideration related to nervous system injury during ACDF, and also a concern during thyroid and parathyroid surgery, is injury to the recurrent laryngeal nerve (RLN). This is the most common type of neurologic injury related to ACDFs and can be caused by direct surgical trauma to the nerve, nerve compression between a retractor and the shaft of the endotracheal tube, high endotracheal tube cuff pressure, or a combination of these elements [18]. RLN injury usually occurs on the side of the surgical approach. The incidence of injury has been shown to increase with the number of cervical spine levels operated on, when the lowest level instrumented is T1, when the surgical approach is from the patient's left side, when the Cloward retractor is opened greater than 3 cm to expose the spine, and with previous surgery at that location [19, 20]. Although the incidence of postoperative vocal cord dysfunction is 2-5%, most vocal cord injuries resolve within several months.

The RLN is often monitored using EMG, specifically by employing an endotracheal tube adapter or commercially available endotracheal tube with surface electrodes that contact the true vocal cords. Direct visualization of the vocal cords and the electrodes on the endotracheal tube is necessary to ensure proper positioning of these devices (depth and tube rotation). A new method for monitoring RLN function is the use of corticobulbar track motor-evoked potentials with recording from the vocal cords [21]. Many practitioners use succinylcholine, rather than a longer acting muscle relaxant, to facilitate intubation in these cases so that muscle function will recover before the time that monitoring is necessary (although this practice is not always required, since the vocal cords are relatively resistant to the effects of intermediate acting muscle relaxants when given in judicious doses) [22]. An alternative method for intubation if succinylcholine is contraindicated is to use ephedrine, 15 mg; remifentanil, 4 µg/kg; and propofol, 2 mg/kg. Dimopoulos et al. [23] have gone further to describe a method by which they objectively quantify the amount of RLN irritation in ACDFs by the amount of EMG activity, and determined that longer surgeries, multilevel surgeries, previous surgical intervention, and the use of selfretaining retractors are all associated with more RLN irritation. Also, it is important to be cognizant of the use of topical lidocaine on or near the vocal cords, as might be performed during an awake intubation, as this might preclude adequate monitoring of the RLN [24]. Despite this, RLN monitoring is used more commonly in thyroid and parathyroid surgery, being used less frequently for ACDF surgery where other neuromonitoring modalities predominate. Another and long used way to minimize laryngeal nerve is to deflate the cuff of the endotracheal tube. However, there is concern about aspiration in addition to circuit leak.

Case 1

A 68-year-old male, 85 kg, ASA PS 3, with a past medical history of poorly controlled DM and HTN, presents for an ACDF of C4–C7 (rightsided approach) for severe myelopathic and radiculopathic symptoms. The patient has been complaining of bilateral upper extremity weakness, numbness, and bilateral lower extremity paresthesias. A cervical MRI examination reveals critical spinal canal stenosis at C5 and C6, and extensive osteophytic lesions throughout.

The patient was monitored with standard ASA monitors, and multimodality neurophysiologic monitoring was employed, including SSEPs, MEPs, and EMG. Because of the patient's

myelopathy, an awake fiberoptic intubation was planned so as to clinically examine the patient after intubation. Intubation proceeded smoothly, a neurologic examination was performed with no change from preintubation status, and anesthesia was then induced. Induction consisted of propofol, remifentanil, and rocuronium. Rocuronium was chosen to facilitate positioning because prepositioning responses were not deemed necessary and its relatively rapid metabolism would allow MEP and EMG monitoring as soon as possible. If monitoring of the patient's neck position had been required (such as with an unstable cervical spine injury), the avoidance of muscle relaxants could have been planned. A radial arterial line was then placed to facilitate close monitoring of the patient's hemodynamic status. Maintenance of anesthesia consisted of propofol, 50–150 µg/kg/min; remifentanil, 0.05–0.5 µg/kg/ min; and desflurane end-tidal 3.3 % (0.5 MAC) in oxygen and air (FiO₂ 0.5); no muscle relaxant was used after intubation. Stimulating and recording electrodes were placed for the planned neuromonitoring, and the patient's arms were padded, tucked at his sides, and wrapped firmly with sheets. Baseline SSEPs and MEPs were obtained after a "steady state" of anesthesia, with slightly diminished amplitudes in the upper extremity SSEPs, more diminished amplitudes and increased latencies in the lower extremity SSEPs, and slightly diminished MEPs in all four extremities.

What are the possible causes for the diminished baseline SSEP and MEP signals in this patient?

The diminished responses, involving both SSEPs and MEPs, observed at baseline (i.e., before the start of surgery), were not caused by surgical maneuvers, since surgery had not commenced. Moreover, because a global diminishment in signals was seen without complete loss of the signals, a positional or technical cause was unlikely. Physiologic factors such as hypothermia and hypotension may produce such changes; however, these too are unlikely reasons for the changes because both parameters were within normal limits. In some patients, blood pressure that is borderline-low may lead to a global decrease in signals. Because hypotension is a common cause of SSEP changes in these patients [25], the anesthesiologist will often raise the blood pressure by 20% while continuing to troubleshoot for a cause. In this case, raising the blood pressure did not significantly correct the observed low signal parameters.

At this point, we are left with whether anesthetic effects, underlying pathology, or a combination of the two is responsible for the decreased signals. Certainly, the diminished MEP signals could be partially related to the residual effects of the muscle relaxant used during intubation. A train-of-four (TOF) nerve stimulation test would help identify such a cause. This was done in this case and showed 80% TOF recovery. Increasing the MEP stimulation intensity by 50 V produced a better global MEP signal. Other anesthetic drugs may also be contributory, especially in the presence of a volatile anesthetic. Sedatives/hypnotics (e.g., propofol) and opioids tend to have minimal effects on SSEPs and MEPs unless they are given in large doses. Volatile anesthetics, however, may cause more depression of evoked potentials; nonetheless, when given at 0.5 MAC or less as part of a balanced anesthetic technique, the volatile anesthetics are usually compatible with adequate evoked potential tracings unless the patient has significant neurologic dysfunction (e.g., myelopathy). To test the possibility that the volatile agent was responsible for the decreased SSEP and MEP signals in this case, the desflurane was turned off and the propofol infusion was increased to maintain anesthetic depth. No sizable improvement was seen in either the SSEP or MEP amplitudes after sufficient time to remove the volatile agent. During the following 20 min, SSEP signals remained stable, whereas MEP signals improved slightly; consistent with nearcomplete recovery from the muscle relaxant.

Most likely in this patient, severe cervical canal stenosis coupled with severe peripheral neuropathy secondary to poorly controlled diabetes are the major contributing factors to the globally diminished evoked potentials seen at baseline.

The surgery was begun and proceeded uneventfully throughout exposure. During the course of deeper dissection, however, a slight decrease in



Fig. 31.1 Representative of cortical SSEP changes caused by unilateral carotid occlusion due to retractor malposition

the amplitude of the SSEP of the left arm was noticed. Repeated testing confirmed further SSEP deterioration by more than 50% in amplitude in both the left arm and left leg although the left Erb's point waveform was not changed (Fig. 31.1). No changes were seen on the right side. EMG activity was also negative. The surgeon was notified and MEPs were tested, which revealed a complete loss of signals of the left hand and left leg with normal right-sided responses.

What are the possible causes for the diminished left-sided SSEP and MEP signals at this point in time?

Given that this change is focal (not global) in nature, anesthetic and physiologic causes for the diminished signals are less likely. Hence, surgical, technical, or positional causes should be sought to explain this evoked potential change. In this case, the anesthesiologist raised the blood pressure by 20% above its current level while troubleshooting other causes. The position of the arms was checked while the neuromonitoring technologist was assessing the technical fidelity of the signals. There were no apparent technical or positional problems, leaving us only with a potential surgical cause for these changes. The surgical causes for signal changes may be related to mechanical stress, thermal injury, surgical injury, or ischemia. Mechanical stresses are usually associated with EMG discharges and are related to either nerve root irritations or dural insults. Neither instrumentation nor thermal devices were being used on any of the neural structures at this time. Ischemia to the left arm could explain MEP changes but it would

not explain the SSEP changes in the lower extremity nor those in the upper extremity (since the response from Erb's point was normal). In fact, occlusion of the right-sided cerebral blood supply is a more likely cause of the changes that were seen. An ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke to the right hemisphere, caused by manipulation of an atherosclerotic right carotid artery, is a possibility. Even more likely is cerebral ischemia caused by obstruction of the right carotid artery, which is in close proximity to the surgical field and may be distracted by the surgical retractor.

Absent blood flow within the right carotid artery was confirmed by the anesthesiologist by palpation of the right superficial temporal artery (transcranial Doppler could also have been used for this indication). The surgeon was informed and repositioned the retractors, which resulted in an immediate restoration of the right superficial temporal pulse as well as both the MEP and SSEP waveforms.

Case 2

A 36-year-old, ASA PS 1, woman without significant past medical history is scheduled for a C5-C7 ACDF for disk herniation and removal of an osteophyte. Anesthesia is performed with standard ASA monitoring and neurophysiologic monitoring consisting of EMG recorded from the deltoid, biceps, and triceps, SSEPs, and MEPs for the upper and lower extremities. Normal baselines of all monitoring parameters were obtained prior to surgery. Discectomies at the C4-5, C5-6, and C6-7 interspaces were performed and significant bony overgrowth along the pedicles of the vertebral canal was removed. At one point, during shaving along the pedicle of C5, there was a burst of spontaneous EMG activity recorded from the biceps (Fig. 31.2).

What could be the cause of this EMG change?

EMGs are used during such operations to continuously monitor for mechanical irritations to the spinal cord or nerve roots induced by the different surgical instrumentation used. EMG discharges are related to mechanical insults that cause depolarization, and are not related to ischemia. The premise of using EMG monitoring is



to alert the surgeon to changes related to such mechanical irritation before a greater insult occurs that can lead to more permanent neuronal damage. Notably, "light" anesthesia can be a cause for abnormal EMG discharges that are not surgically related (however, light anesthesia usually produces activity in multiple muscles rather than the one muscle noticed here). The use of other electrical devices, such as cautery, may also produce "false" EMG discharges. EMG discharges have been graded in intensity according to a four-level system [16]. In this case, the discharges were mild, the surgeon was notified, and the discharges disappeared immediately thereafter. The surgeon continued to work but a few minutes later severe discharges reappeared (which might indicate the potential for a larger mechanical and/or ischemic insult). The surgeon was again notified and paused surgical activity while MEPs were obtained. During this time, SSEPs were also being acquired. These modalities were used as confirmatory tests in the presence of the EMG changes, testing for any potential spinal cord injury that might be caused by ischemia as a result of mechanical distortion.

MEPs were acquired and revealed no changes. SSEP responses were also stable. How should we proceed?

Because the only change seen in the neurophysiologic monitoring was an increase in EMG activity at C5 or C6, there is most likely a surgical reason for the observed change. In this case, the most likely scenario is that the C5 or C6 nerve root emerging from the intervertebral foramen has been mechanically irritated during attempted decompression at the foramen. EMG provides a real-time alert for impending neurologic deficits related to a mechanical insult. The SSEP and MEP waveforms were most probably not affected because they tend to transmit along major peripheral nerves, which originate from many individual nerve roots, thus masking irritation or impending injury to a single nerve root.

A disadvantage of EMG monitoring compared to MEP monitoring is that it can be "contaminated" by artifact from various sources, including patient movement, Bovie interference, etc., while this is not the case with the relatively high amount of stimulation needed to generate MEPs. A potential advantage of EMG monitoring compared with MEP monitoring, as was seen in this case, is the continuous nature of EMG signal acquisition, which might detect compression/injury to a nerve with greater sensitivity than an evoked MEP, whose acquisition is intermittent and would require deliberate acquisition at or after the time of the insult to the nerve to detect it. Most importantly, as illustrated in this case, EMG also has the advantage of being able to detect irritation to a single nerve root, which is less likely with either SSEP or MEP monitoring, because these modalities monitor major mixed sensory/motor



nerves and muscles that have overlapping nerve root innervation.

The surgeon stopped working in the C5–C6 nerve root area and the EMG recording returned to a silent state. The surgeon proceeded to complete the surgery without any further changes in the neuromonitoring signals. The patient was awakened, extubated, and examined neurologically, with no change in the examination as compared with her preoperative status.

Case 3

A 47-year-old woman, 140 kg, ASA PS 2 with a past medical history of morbid obesity, is scheduled for a C3–C5 ACDF (right-sided approach) for intermittent and nonreproducible radiculopathic symptoms in her left upper arm. Her clinical examination is not consistent with any myelopathy, and a cervical MRI seems to confirm this (no spinal cord impingement). Of note, on her physical examination, the patient has a Mallampati Class IV airway with a thyromental distance of 4 cm. Previous anesthetic records indicate that she was easy to ventilate by bag/ mask but difficult to intubate, requiring fiberoptic intubation.

How should the airway be secured in this patient? Should an awake or asleep technique be used? Would neuromonitoring, after induction but prior to intubation, be of any value in this case? What neuromonitoring modalities should be used for this case?

Based on the patient's previous airway history, an awake or asleep fiberoptic technique would seem prudent. The advantage of an awake fiberoptic intubation, besides maintaining spontaneous ventilation, would be to retain the ability to examine the patient for evidence of new radiculopathic/myelopathic symptoms during and after intubation. An asleep fiberoptic intubation could also be performed, with SSEPs and EMG acquired pre- and postintubation (under "steady state" anesthesia), to confirm that neurologic injury from intubation had not occurred. Whether intubation is performed awake or asleep, the use of flexible fiberoptic bronchoscopy should limit the amount of neck movement and cervical subluxation compared to a direct laryngoscopy.

For this surgical procedure, any combination of the neuromonitoring modalities mentioned above could be used depending on the level of concern for spinal cord, nerve root, or peripheral nerve injury.

Because no myelopathy is suspected in this patient, and because of a known ability to mask ventilate her in the past, an oral asleep fiberoptic intubation is chosen to secure the airway. SSEPs of the median and posterior tibial nerves are obtained as well as EMG of the deltoid, biceps, and triceps muscles. All of these neuromonitoring modalities remained unchanged before and after intubation under a "steady state" of anesthesia, being careful to record signals after recovery from the succinylcholine (i.e., no residual effect on EMG) used to facilitate intubation. A small amount of rocuronium (20 mg) was then given to assist during positioning and exposure. Anesthesia was maintained with propofol, 100-150 µg/kg/min, and fentanyl, 1-5 µg/kg/h (TIVA), which were infused through a dedicated intravenous (IV) catheter placed in the left arm. Fluids and bolus medications were injected into the IV catheter placed in the right arm. SSEP baselines were obtained from all four extremities and were found to be robust and reproducible. Before surgical incision, the neuromonitoring technologist reports a greater than 50% decrease in the amplitude and an increase in the latency of the SSEP signals recorded from the right arm (Fig. 31.3).

What could be the cause of these right arm SSEP changes? What should be done to correct these changes and avoid injury?



. ,

Fig. 31.3 SSEP changes at the cervical level due to excessive traction on the shoulder caused by taping too tightly

Since surgery has not yet begun, surgical causes for the observed changes are eliminated, and because this is a unilateral change, anesthetic and physiologic causes are unlikely. The possibility of a technical cause exists (e.g., due to a decrease in stimulation intensity caused by partially dislodged stimulating pads). All stimulating and recording pad placements were checked, and all other technical parameters were within normal limits. On further evaluation of the right shoulder position, the shoulder was found to be taped down to the table rather tightly, placing it in undue traction. The tape was somewhat released, which resulted in the return of the SSEP signals to baseline. Presumably, the observed change was related to stretching of the brachial plexus, and if left uncorrected might have led to a longerlasting neurapraxia. A similar effect could result from straps attached to the wrists to allow traction, which would improve visualization of the spine under fluoroscopy. Other causes of a change in the SSEP responses from the upper arm were also excluded (such as a tourniquet effect of the noninvasive blood pressure cuff or drapes used to hold the arm or a cold arm from infusing cold intravenous fluids).

As surgery proceeded, the anesthesiologist noticed a few episodes in which the blood pressure and heart rate suddenly and inexplicably rose in association with an elevated Bispectral Index (BIS) value, seeming to indicate periods of "light" anesthesia. These were treated with IV boluses of medication. However, after three such episodes, the anesthesiologist added desflurane, 6.6% end-tidal concentration (1 MAC), to control these episodes. The patient's vital signs and BIS value promptly returned to those of a "normally" anesthetized state, and the case continued. The surgeon continued to work near the spinal cord and a few minutes later the neuromonitoring technologist noticed a decrease in the amplitude of all the cortical SSEPs without any changes to the cervical or Erb's point SSEP waveforms and without any EMG discharges.

What could be the cause of this global change in cortical SSEPs alone?

This is a global change that is isolated to the cortical leads with normal signals from both

J.F. Bebawy et al.



Fig. 31.4 SSEP changes during intravenous infiltration of the extremity

Erb's point and the cervical spinal cord. Technical, positional, and surgical causes for such a change are unlikely because of the global nature of the signal aberrations. Physiologic factors are a possibility, but none can be identified, as blood pressure and temperature were found to be within normal limits. Hence, an anesthetic cause, namely the addition of a volatile agent at 1 MAC, seems to be the most likely candidate for the observed changes. Inhalation agents administered at less than 0.5 MAC can be used in most patients with good SSEP signal acquisition. Levels higher than this may be problematic in some patients, especially in those patients who have pre-existing diminished baseline SSEPs. In this case, the inhalation agent was decreased to 0.5 MAC and the SSEP signals recovered to baseline.

Near the completion of surgery, the cortical, cervical, and Erb's point SSEP responses from the left arm began to deteriorate, while the right arm signals remained stable (Fig. 31.4).

What might be the cause of this type of change in SSEPs?

Since this was a unilateral change, it is unlikely to be caused by anesthetic agents or physiologic alterations (with the possible exception of regional hypothermia causing a cold arm). A positional cause might be possible, but the timing of the changes does not support this as there was no recent change in the patient's position. Technical causes for the change were checked by the neuromonitoring technologist and were ruled out. Furthermore, a surgical cause for the changes was deemed unlikely as the surgery was at the stage of closure with no direct manipulation of the spinal column, and no bleeding or hematoma on the spine was visualized.

In this case, the disappearance of the left upper extremity SSEP waveforms seems to coincide with "light" anesthesia, as evidenced by the previously mentioned changes in hemodynamic vital signs, necessitating the addition of a volatile agent. These changes, when taken together, should prompt the anesthesiologist to examine intravenous lines, drug infusion pumps, and so on for appropriate drug delivery. If drugs or fluids have extravasated into an extremity, a decrease in SSEP signals from that extremity might be expected. This would be due to expanding tissue planes and, subsequently, to a greater distance between the stimulating electrode and the peripheral nerve being stimulated.

To counteract this problem, stimulation intensity can be increased at the peripheral nerve site that is stimulated. Another option to improve signal strength is to exchange the surface transcutaneous stimulating electrodes for needle stimulating electrodes, which can be quite helpful in cases in which there is a significant amount of adipose tissue or edema (or extravasated fluid), causing the nerve to be more distant from the skin surface.

The left upper extremity was examined and appeared to be in a good position without any excessive extension, abduction, or external pressure. The extremity, however, was noted to be somewhat tense in the forearm, and drug extravasation was suspected. The pulse oximeter was placed on the left hand and obtained a strong signal. Radial and ulnar pulses were confirmed as being present on the affected side. The intravenous catheter on the left arm was removed, and the intravenous medications were subsequently connected and delivered to the IV catheter in the right hand. The transcutaneous stimulating electrodes were exchanged for needle stimulating electrodes in the affected extremity, and the SSEP signals gradually but dramatically improved. The remainder of the case was uneventful.

Conclusion

An ACDF is a commonly performed surgical procedure with a generally low, but finite, incidence of nervous system injury. Neurophysiologic monitoring is often employed for these cases, especially in complex operations so as to avert neurologic injury. Because of the potential for central as well as peripheral nervous system injury during these cases, it is important to apply a systematic approach when troubleshooting changes in neuromonitoring signals, paying close attention to how the different modalities of the neuromonitoring interact to paint a picture of the status of the nervous system at any given point in time.

References¹

- *Smith PN, Balzer JR, Khan MH, Davis RA, Crammond D, Welch WC, et al. Intraoperative somatosensory evoked potential monitoring during anterior cervical discectomy and fusion in nonmyelopathic patients—a review of 1,039 cases. Spine J. 2007;7(1):83–7.
- Bose B, Sestokas AK, Schwartz DM. Neurophysiological detection of iatrogenic C-5 nerve deficit during anterior cervical spinal surgery. J Neurosurg Spine. 2007;6(5):381–5.
- Bose B, Sestokas AK, Schwartz DM. Neurophysiological monitoring of spinal cord function during instrumented anterior cervical fusion. Spine J. 2004;4(2):202–7.
- Mobbs RJ, Rao P, Chandran NK. Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion: analysis of surgical outcome with and without plating. J Clin Neurosci. 2007;14(7): 639–42.
- 5. *Cole T, Veeravagu A, Zhang M, Li A, Ratliff JK. Intraoperative neuromonitoring in single-level

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

spinal procedures: a retrospective propensity scorematched analysis in a national longitudinal database. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2014;39(23):1950–9.

- Helseth O, Lied B, Halvorsen CM, Ekseth K, Helseth E. Outpatient cervical and lumbar spine surgery is feasible and safe: a consecutive single center series of 1449 patients. Neurosurgery. 2015;76(6):728–37; discussion 37–8.
- Epstein NE. The need to add motor evoked potential monitoring to somatosensory and electromyographic monitoring in cervical spine surgery. Surg Neurol Int. 2013;4 Suppl 5:S383–91.
- *Kombos T, Suess O, Da Silva C, Ciklatekerlio O, Nobis V, Brock M. Impact of somatosensory evoked potential monitoring on cervical surgery. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2003;20(2):122–8.
- Cruccu G, Aminoff MJ, Curio G, Guerit JM, Kakigi R, Mauguiere F, et al. Recommendations for the clinical use of somatosensory-evoked potentials. Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;119(8):1705–19.
- Gokaslan ZL, Samudrala S, Deletis V, Wildrick DM, Cooper PR. Intraoperative monitoring of spinal cord function using motor evoked potentials via transcutaneous epidural electrode during anterior cervical spinal surgery. J Spinal Disord. 1997;10(4):299–303.
- 11. Khan MH, Smith PN, Balzer JR, Crammond D, Welch WC, Gerszten P, et al. Intraoperative somatosensory evoked potential monitoring during cervical spine corpectomy surgery: experience with 508 cases. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2006;31(4):E105–13.
- *Taunt Jr CJ, Sidhu KS, Andrew SA. Somatosensory evoked potential monitoring during anterior cervical discectomy and fusion. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2005;30(17):1970–2.
- Eggspuehler A, Sutter MA, Grob D, Jeszenszky D, Dvorak J. Multimodal intraoperative monitoring during surgery of spinal deformities in 217 patients. Eur Spine J. 2007;16 Suppl 2:S188–96.
- 14. *Jones SJ, Buonamassa S, Crockard HA. Two cases of quadriparesis following anterior cervical discectomy, with normal perioperative somatosensory evoked potentials. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74(2):273–6.
- Curt A, Dietz V. Traumatic cervical spinal cord injury: relation between somatosensory evoked potentials, neurological deficit, and hand function. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1996;77(1):48–53.
- Skinner SA, Transfeldt EE, Mehbod AA, Mullan JC, Perra JH. Electromyography detects mechanicallyinduced suprasegmental spinal motor tract injury: review of decompression at spinal cord level. Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;120(4):754–64.
- Hilibrand AS, Schwartz DM, Sethuraman V, Vaccaro AR, Albert TJ. Comparison of transcranial electric motor and somatosensory evoked potential monitoring during cervical spine surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2004;86-A(6):1248–53.
- Apfelbaum RI, Kriskovich MD, Haller JR. On the incidence, cause, and prevention of recurrent laryngeal nerve palsies during anterior cervical spine surgery. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2000;25(22):2906–12.

- Kriskovich MD, Apfelbaum RI, Haller JR. Vocal fold paralysis after anterior cervical spine surgery: incidence, mechanism, and prevention of injury. Laryngoscope. 2000;110(9):1467–73.
- Muzumdar DP, Deopujari CE, Bhojraj SY. Bilateral vocal cord paralysis after anterior cervical discoidectomy and fusion in a case of whiplash cervical spine injury: a case report. Surg Neurol. 2000;53(6):586–8.
- Deletis V, Fernández-Conejero I, Ulkatan S, Rogić M, Carbó EL, Hiltzik D. Methodology for intraoperative recording of the corticobulbar motor evoked potentials from cricothyroid muscles. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;122(9):1883–9.
- 22. Marusch F, Hussock J, Haring G, Hachenberg T, Gastinger I. Influence of muscle relaxation on neuromonitoring of the recurrent laryngeal nerve during thyroid surgery. Br J Anaesth. 2005;94(5):596–600.
- Dimopoulos VG, Chung I, Lee GP, Johnston KW, Kapsalakis IZ, Smisson III HF, et al. Quantitative estimation of the recurrent laryngeal nerve irritation by employing spontaneous intraoperative electromyographic monitoring during anterior cervical discectomy and fusion. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2009; 22(1):1–7.
- Randolph GW, Dralle H, Abdullah H, Barczynski M, Bellantone R, Brauckhoff M, et al. Electrophysiologic recurrent laryngeal nerve monitoring during thyroid and parathyroid surgery: international standards guideline statement. Laryngoscope. 2011;121 Suppl 1:S1–16.
- 25. May DM, Jones SJ, Crockard HA. Somatosensory evoked potential monitoring in cervical surgery: identification of pre- and intraoperative risk factors associated with neurological deterioration. J Neurosurg. 1996;85(4):566–73.

Questions

- 1. What is the value of recording the Erb's point waveform on SSEPs when performing an ACDF?
- 2. Why might MEPs be an especially useful monitoring modality, in addition to SSEPs and EMG, in ACDF?
- 3. What differences exist in the anesthetic regimen that can be used when SSEPs are used alone versus when SSEPs are used in conjunction with MEPs?

Answers

 Changes in the Erb's point waveform (increased latency or decreased amplitude) without changes in cortical or subcortical signals may signal a problem with conduction through the upper extremity due to localized effects.

- 2. MEPs will monitor the anterolateral spinal cord (corticospinal tracts) for ischemia, which may be more at risk than the posterior spinal cord (dorsal columns) during anterior cervical surgery.
- 3. The use of MEPs prohibits or severely limits the amount of muscle relaxant that can be used, whereas with SSEPs alone, muscle relaxant may actually help to improve the signal obtained. In both cases, 0.5 MAC or less of volatile anesthetic should be used to allow signal acquisition.

Posterior Cervical Spine Surgery

Paul D. Mongan and Vikas V. Patel

Key Learning Points

- Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy
 - A. Most common cause of progressive neurologic decline in patents over 50.
 - B. Primarily affects C5–7
 - C. Relatively minor neck injuries can result in devastating spinal cord injury
 - D. MRI T2-weighted spinal cord enhancement represents spinal cord damage due to ischemia, edema, or compression.
 - E. Extensive spinal cord decompression variably results in improved neurologic function, but does prevent further decline.
- Long-term complications of extensive posterior decompression include
 - A. Development of thick fibrous scar causing spinal cord compression
 - B. Progressive cervical kyphosis in decompression without three column stabilization

V.V. Patel, M.D.

- Lateral mass and pedicle screw fixation with rods has become the technique of choice for posterior stabilization due to:
 - A. Superior deformity correction
 - B. Improved immediate and long-term threecolumn stabilization
 - C. Versatility for application in many conditions
- Laminoplasty is an alternative to decompression and fusion in patients with spinal stenosis with intact cervical architecture and limited pain due to degenerative changes.
- Intraoperative neurologic monitoring with somatosensory, transcranial motor-evoked and nerve root EMG monitoring is helpful in preventing devastating intraoperative injury.
 - A. Pre-positioning baselines are helpful in detecting issues with surgical positioning
 - B. Responses to intraoperative degradation in signals include examining technical, physiologic, surgical, and anesthetic factors.
 - C. Communication and rapid action are imperative to decrease complications.

Introduction

Posterior cervical spine surgery is usually performed for multilevel compression, instability of the spine, fracture, degenerative disk disease, or stabilization for tumor removal. In addition,

P.D. Mongan, M.D. (⊠) Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado Hospital, 12401 E 17th Avenue, Aurora, CO 80045, USA e-mail: paul.mongan@ucdenver.edu

Department of Orthopedic Surgery, University of Colorado, 12631 E. 17th Avenue, Mail Stop B202, Academic Office 1, Room 4602, Denver, CO 80045, USA e-mail: vikas.patel@ucdenver.edu

candidates for surgery include patients who have progressive neurologic changes with signs of severe spinal cord compression and neurologic changes that include:

- Weakness in the arms or legs
- Numbness in the hands
- Fine motor skill difficulties
- Imbalance issues
- Gait changes

Common posterior surgical procedures include laminoplasty, laminectomy with or without instrumentation and fusion, and laminotomy.

A laminoplasty relieves spinal cord compression by cutting one side of the lamina completely and the other partially, enabling it to swing open like a door, relieving compression on the spinal cord. It is then held open with titanium spacers or bone graft and plates.

A posterior cervical laminectomy and decompression with/without instrumentation and fusion is most commonly performed for patients with deformity, instability, cord compression and other spinal conditions, such as tumors, and infections. This surgery extensively removes the lamina, thickened ligament, and/or bone spurs that are putting pressure on the spinal cord and nerve roots and instrumentation restores threecolumn stability while bone fusion takes place.

Cervical laminotomies are limited procedures performed to relieve pressure on a compressed spinal nerve. Only a portion of the lamina is excised to relieve compression of nerve roots.

Intraoperative neurologic monitoring is frequently performed in conjunction with laminoplasty and multilevel laminectomies. Important monitoring modalities to detect spinal cord compromise include somatosensory-evoked potentials, transcranial motor-evoked potentials, and selective nerve root EMG monitoring.

Posterior cervical stabilization and fusion with or without decompression is a commonly performed procedure for fracture and/or dislocation of the cervical spine, to stop the progression of spinal deformity, or to decompress the spinal cord and/or nerve roots (tumors, infections, deformity, and stenosis). While fracture repair



Fig. 32.1 Posterior cervical instrumentation and fusion of C1 ring fracture

and nerve root decompressions are usually limited to one or two levels, decompression of the spinal canal for tumors, infections, and cervical spinal stenosis can be multilevel procedures (Fig. 32.1).

In preparation for these surgical procedures, a thorough evaluation of the bony and ligamentous anatomy guides the surgical approach and technique. This evaluation is accomplished with standard radiologic evaluations (anterior, lateral, flexion, and extension views of the cervical spine), computed tomography (CT), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

X-ray and CT scan are used primarily to evaluate bony abnormalities, while an MRI allows for evaluation of discoligamentous pathology and provides clear visualization of the spinal cord with any impingement or compression. If severe, spinal cord damage can be visualized with the MRI T2-weighted and STIR (short tau inversion recovery) images, spinal cord enhancement on the T2-weighted images may reflect pathologic changes due to inflammation, edema, ischemia, gliosis, or myelomalacia [1, 2] (Fig. 32.2). MRI with intravenous contrast can also help to assess blood flow as well as tumor margins.

Many surgical options have been described for posterior spinal fixation for fractures of C1 or C2, lateral mass/laminar fractures of C3–C7, or posterior decompression and stabilization for extensive spinal stenosis. These techniques include interspinous or sublaminar wiring, lami-



Fig. 32.2 MRI T2-weighted image with enhancing cord lesion (*arrow*) behind C5

nar hooks, lateral mass, and pedicle screw fixation [3]. Recent studies, however, have shown that three-column stability is best preserved with lateral mass and pedicle screw fixation because they provide (1) superior deformity correction, (2) greater immediate and long-term stabilization, and (3) can be used in almost all conditions requiring posterior stabilization or reconstruction of the occipitocervical spine, midcervical spine, or cervicothoracic junction [4, 5] (Fig. 32.3). Table 32.1 reviews the major indications for instrumentation with pedicle/lateral mass screws.

In comparison to lateral mass screws, pedicle screws have a higher pullout force and the greatest capacity for restoring sagittal alignment of the cervical spine with correction of malalignment in the occipitoatlantoaxial region [6–8]. However, because of the size of the pedicle screws in relation to the pedicle and the narrow trajectory required, they also have a greater chance of nerve root or vertebral artery injury. Since the risks of neurovascular complications caused by malaligned screw placement into the cervical pedicle cannot be completely avoided, they are often placed in the higher cervical and cervicalthoracic levels where the pedicle has sufficient size for screw placement [9–14].

Cervical spinal myelopathy (CSM) is another common indication for a posterior cervical surgi-



Fig. 32.3 Posterior laminectomy and fusion with pedicle screw instrumentation, C1, T1–T2 with lateral mass screw instrumentation C2, C3, C4, C5, C6, and C7

Tab	le	32	2.1	(Cer	vica	l pe	dicl	e/	lateral	mass	screw	inc	licat	ions
-----	----	----	-----	---	-----	------	------	------	----	---------	------	-------	-----	-------	------

Posterior disruption or anterior/posterior disruption without severe vertebral body injury
Cervical spinal instability caused by nontraumatic lesions (metastatic tumor, rheumatoid arthritis, and destructive infectious lesions)
Correction of cervical malalignment in the sagittal plane, including postlaminectomy and posttraumatic kyphosis spondyloarthropathy
Stabilization of the segmental motion caused by posterior decompression
Posterior reduction and stabilization at the cervicothoracic junction
Salvage of previous anterior surgeries
Rigid stabilization of the craniocervical fixation

cal procedure. In contrast to cervical fractures, which occur mostly in males younger than 40 years old, CSM is the most common cause of progressive neurologic decline in patients more than 50 years old [15, 16]. In most cases, myelop-athy develops slowly due to spinal cord compression from progressive degenerative arthritis (osteophytes), ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament (OPLL) or hypertrophy of the ligamentum flavum. The lower extremities are usually affected first with patients presenting
with gait disturbances caused by the degeneration of the spinocerebellar and corticospinal tracts. Further compression or acute injury can result in upper extremities, loss of coordination, and difficulty with fine motor tasks [15].

In general, CSM most commonly affects the C5–C7 region of the cord with a variable clinical presentation. Often patients will have neck pain and stiffness and can experience deep aching or burning in the upper extremities (brachialgia). Motor and sensory dysfunction may be unilateral or bilateral depending on the extent and location of cord compression.

Patients with mild signs and symptoms of CSM are usually followed clinically. However, surgical decompression from an anterior or posterior approach is indicated in patients with progressive moderate to severe neurologic deficits. While the optimal surgical strategy (anterior vs. posterior or a combined procedure) for CSM) remains controversial, there is no clear evidence that either approach more reliably results in recovery from a compressive myelopathy [3, 14, 17] (Fig. 32.4). The goals of the surgical procedure are to decompress the spinal cord to avoid either static or dynamic compression, restore sagittal alignment, stabilize the spinal column, and avoid kyphosis. While the surgical procedure itself inconsistently improves myelopathic symptoms, it does prevent further decline of neurologic function [18, 19]. Thus, in many cases the surgery is prophylactic to prevent continued spinal cord damage and loss of function.

Because the majority of the abnormal anatomyproducing spinal cord compression is located anteriorly, the procedure most commonly chosen is an anterior cervical discectomy/corpectomy and fusion (ACDF; see Chap. 31). However, in multilevel compression and/or progressive deformity, posterior decompression with instrumentation may be indicated, often in combination with an anterior procedure. In the past, posterior decompressions alone often led to progressive kyphosis. With modern fixation techniques and the increased use of cervical instrumentation and fusion, this is much less common [4] (Fig. 32.5).

With improvements in posterior instrumentation (screw and rod fixation) in the past decade, there has been an increased use of posterior decompression and instrumentation for the treatment of extensive degenerative cervical myelopathy. One complication of the extensive



Fig. 32.4 Combined anterior (C3–C5) and posterior fusion with lateral mass screws, C2, C3, C4, C5, C7, and bilateral pedicle screws, T1 and T2



Fig. 32.5 Previous anterior cervical fusion at C4–5 with posterior laminectomy C3–5. The patient now presents for posterior cervical instrumentation secondary to spon-dylolisthesis at C2–4 and progressive kyphosis

laminectomy is the formation of a thick fibrous scar at the operative site that replaces the bony compression and with progressive kyphosis reproduces the original symptoms in the extended postoperative period. An alternative technique to a laminectomy is a laminoplasty, which provides for relief of the pressure on the spinal cord with surgical reconstruction of the posterior vertebral elements to increase space for the neural structures while maintaining aspects of the bony posterior arch [20]. Thus, muscle reattachment is also possible to help maintain a posterior tension band and reduce the risk of postoperative kyphosis. A laminoplasty involves cutting through the lamina of the vertebrae on one side and merely cutting a groove on the other side and then "swinging" the freed flap of bone open to relieve the pressure on the spinal cord. The spinous process may be removed to facilitate the process. The bone flap is then propped open using small wedges or pieces of bone such that the enlarged spinal canal will remain in place [3, 21, 22] (Fig. 32.6). Mini-plates can also be used to maintain the open canal and increase stability.



Fig. 32.6 Posterior cervical laminoplasty C3–C6

While the progression of CSM is highly variable, major neurologic injury from even relatively minor spinal cord injuries can manifest as one of four clinical syndromes (central cord syndrome, anterior cord syndrome, Brown-Sequard syndrome, and a transverse lesion syndrome). The most common location for spinal injuries from trauma is in the flexible regions of the cervical spine (e.g., C4–C5). The central vascular region of the spinal cord is the most easily injured, with progressive degrees of injury extending the injury radially until the entire cord is injured (transverse lesion syndrome). Anatomic knowledge of the spinal pathways of the syn-

dromes helps guide the approach to interpretation

of intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring

cervical

decompression

posterior

during

(Table 32.2). During posterior cervical procedures, the application of somatosensory- and motorevoked responses is frequently helpful in the evaluation of intraoperative compromise of the spinal cord during the procedure and during positioning of the patient. While the use of intraoperative neuronavigation systems and fluoroscopy aids in placement of the pedicle screws, cortical perforation still occurs in 20-25% of pedicle screw placements [11, 14]. A recent small study (n=26) evaluated the sensitivity and specificity of pedicle/lateral mass screw stimulation thresholds for the determination of cortical perforation [23]. A stimulation threshold of 15 mA or greater provided a 99% positive predictive value (89% sensitivity, 87% specificity) that the screw was within the lateral mass or pedicle. However, stimulation values of 10–15 mA provided an intermediate sensitivity and specificity (66 and 90%, respectively); whereas a stimulation value of less than 10 mA was highly predictive that a screw is malpositioned (70% sensitivity, 100% specificity). Thus, the addition of the intraoperative evoked EMG monitoring is a valuable tool in the evaluation of lateral mass and pedicle screw placements with stimulation values below 10 mA triggering evaluation, repositioning, and possible removal of the pedicle screw.

Syndrome	Clinical findings	Anatomy
Central cord syndrome	Injury to central grey matter (anterior horn cells) or lateral columns with greater weakness or paralysis, pain and temperature loss of the upper extremities compared to the lower extremities Light touch and proprioception is usually spared	dorsal columns cortico-spinal tract (motor) spino-thalamic
Brown-Sequard	Injury to the corticospinal tract.	(pain & temperature)
syndrome	Injury to the controloginal flact, dorsal column, and spinothalamic tract resulting in: Ipsilateral weakness or paralysis Ipsilateral loss of proprioception and light touch loss Contralateral pain and temperature loss below the lesion	
Anterior cord syndrome	Loss of motor, pain and temperature, with preservation of fine touch and proprioception	
Transverse lesion syndrome	Loss of all function below the level of injury	

 Table 32.2
 Cervical spinal cord injury syndromes—clinical findings and anatomic correlation

Case Presentation

A 32-year-old man suffered a spinal cord injury at C3/4 after a fall down a flight of stairs. He had a severe central cord injury with loss of strength and sensation in bilateral upper extremities. He was not able to squeeze his hands. He did have 1/5 strength in his upper extremities and 4/5 strength in all muscle groups of his lower extremities. Sensation was intact in the lower extremities. CT scan showed a comminuted fracture of the right C3 lamina and left posterior lateral C3 vertebral body/pedicle junction that extended into the facet joint. The MRI showed an abnormal bright signal on T2-weighted sequences within the gray and white matter of the spinal cord at the C3/4 level consistent with a contusion. There was mild subluxation of the C3 facet on C4 with intact anterior and posterior longitudinal ligaments and 5 mm of anterior spinal space (Fig. 32.7). After review of the surgical options and analysis of the risks and benefits, the patient opted for posterior stabilization and fusion.

The patient was brought to the operating room. After local anesthetic topicalization of the nasal, oral, and laryngeal mucosa, a nasal fiberoptic intubation was performed with minimal sedation and minimal movement of the head and

neck. General anesthesia was induced with propofol and maintained with infusions of propofol and sufentanil. Neuromonitoring electrodes were placed and baseline somatosensory- and motorevoked potential signals were obtained. All of the waveforms exhibited significant prolongation in latency. The amplitude, though small, was easily discerned from background noise and these findings were consistent with the central cord syndrome. The Mayfield head holder was placed and the patient turned prone on the Wilson frame with the neck slightly flexed. Evoked potentials immediately after positioning showed significant diminution of both the somatosensoryand motor-evoked responses (Fig. 32.8). The blood pressure was immediately increased to 20% above baseline and positioning was evaluated with fluoroscopy. Repositioning of the cervical spine with the head flexed forward and translated posteriorly improved alignment of C3 in relation to C4. Recovery of the evoked responses occurred within 15 min and the decision was made to continue with the procedure.

After surgical exposure, lateral mass screws were placed at C2, C3, and C4 on the left side and C2 and C4 on the right side. No screws were placed at C3 on the right side as the facet was fractured and it was unlikely to provide any stabilization.



Fig. 32.7 CT scan with a comminuted fracture of the right C3 lamina (*long arrow*) left posterior lateral C3 vertebral body/pedicle junction (*short arrow*). MRI with

abnormal bright signal on T2-weighted sequences within the gray and white matter of the spinal cord (*arrow*) at the C3/4 level



Fig. 32.8 Somatosensory (SSEP) and transcranial motorevoked (MEP) responses. Waveform 1 represents the baseline tracing after induction and intubation, but before prone positioning. After initial positioning the SSEP responses were significantly diminished and the MEP

Stimulation of the lateral mass screws resulted in EMG responses that were all greater than 15 mA. The lateral mass screws were secured with rods that provided reduction and distraction of the facet and subluxation at C3–C4. The evoked responses did not change significantly over the duration of the procedure and the patient awoke with no new neurologic deficits.

Discussion

When presented with a patient with an unstable cervical spine fracture, intubation and positioning are critical times of the procedure that can result in neurologic injury. The first major decision is how to proceed with securing the airway since this may impact spinal cord perfusion. There is no objective evidence that one method is safer than any other. The critical consideration is to prevent excessive motion of the cervical spine. In a patient with a normal airway examination, a direct laryngoscopy with inline stabilization is an option and may be required in an uncooperative patient. A large retrospective series of patients (n=3000) at the University of Maryland Shock Trauma Center revealed a 10% incidence of cer-

responses were not present (waveform 2). After repositioning of the cervical spine under fluoroscopic guidance, there was prompt return of both the SSEP and MEP responses (3) that persisted for the duration of the procedure (waveforms 4 and 5)

vical spine fractures that were intubated safely with direct laryngoscopy and inline stabilization [24]. However, this method is associated with a reduction in visualization of the larynx by at least one grade [25, 26]. Thus, in a patient with a marginal airway examination and suspected difficult visualization, it may not be the best option. Other methods of indirect visualization (videolaryngoscope or asleep fiberoptic intubation) after induction would also be acceptable [27–29]. However, in this case, a sedated fiberoptic intubation after topicalization was chosen. The advantage of this technique is that it allows for immediate neurologic evaluation after intubation. However, inadequate topical anesthesia of the larynx and trachea can result in significant patient discomfort with hypertension and tachycardia and placement of an endotracheal tube past a marginally anesthetized larynx and into the trachea can result in significant coughing with associated unacceptable cervical motion.

The second major consideration after intubation is obtaining baseline somatosensory- and motorevoked potentials before and after surgical positioning. Even with an anterior surgical approach, significant surgical positioning occurs after the induction of anesthesia due to the relaxation of paraspinous muscle spasms or "unlocking" of facet joints, which were "locked" in abnormal positions. This may also occur in patients positioned awake and tested clinically in the prone position. In a patient with an unstable cervical spine or significant stenosis, obtaining pre-position baseline evoked responses can be critical to the evaluation of cervical spine alignment after surgical positioning. Thus, the avoidance of long-acting neuromuscular blocking agents and volatile agents is helpful in obtaining and evaluating the baseline responses. In this case, the baseline responses were obtained after induction with the cervical spine position unchanged. However, after prone positioning, the loss of potentials prompted a critical alert to evaluate for potential causes of signal loss. Hemodynamic parameters and oxygenation were quickly reviewed. Until the validity of the information can be verified, the blood pressure was augmented to 20% above the baseline response to ensure adequate spinal cord perfusion. Anesthetic administration was reviewed to insure that neuromuscular blockade and volatile anesthetics have not been administered. Frequently, neuromonitoring stimulating and recording electrodes are dislodged during prone positioning such that ensuring that stimulation impulses are delivered and recording electrodes are in place is essential at this time. At the same time, the surgeon needs to review and maximize cervical alignment based on the anatomy of the cervical pathology. In this case, the patient had intact anterior and posterior ligaments with bilateral unstable posterior bony elements with facet joint involvement. Despite the MRI finding of an intact posterior ligament, the mild anterior subluxation of C3 on C4 probably indicated some ligament laxity. Fluoroscopic evaluation of cervical spine alignment is helpful to review for an increase in subluxation or a rotational abnormality from the fracture at the C3-C4 facet joint. Evaluation in this case revealed slight increase in anterior subluxation with intact lordosis. After evaluation of positioning, it was determined that posterior translation of C3 with a slight reduction in lordosis could provide more anatomic alignment of the cervical spine in relation to the spinal

cord. In this case, this resulted in rapid (<5 min) return of the motor responses and 15-min normalization of the sensory responses.

References¹

- *Harrop JS, Naroji S, Maltenfort M, Anderson DG, Albert T, Ratliff JK, et al. Cervical myelopathy: a clinical and radiographic evaluation and correlation to cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2010;35(6):620–4.
- Mummaneni PV, Kaiser MG, Matz PG, Anderson PA, Groff M, Heary R, et al. Preoperative patient selection with magnetic resonance imaging, computed tomography, and electroencephalography: does the test predict outcome after cervical surgery? J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;11:119–29.
- Mummaneni PV, Kaiser MG, Matz PG, Anderson PA, Groff MW, Heary RF, et al. Cervical surgical techniques for the treatment of cervical spondylotic myelopathy. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;11:130–41.
- Anderson PA, Matz PG, Groff MW, Heary RF, Holly LT, Kaiser MG, et al. Laminectomy and fusion for the treatment of cervical degenerative myelopathy. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;11:150–6.
- Houten JK, Cooper PR. Laminectomy and posterior cervical plating for multilevel cervical spondylotic myelopathy and ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament: effects on cervical alignment, spinal cord compression, and neurological outcome. Neurosurgery. 2003;52:1081–7; discussion 1087–8.
- Zhou F, Zou J, Gan M, Zhu R, Yang H. Management of fracture-dislocation of the lower cervical spine with the cervical pedicle screw system. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2010;92:406–10.
- Rhee JM, Kraiwattanapong C, Hutton WC. A comparison of pedicle and lateral mass screw construct stiffnesses at the cervicothoracic junction: a biomechanical study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2005;30:E636–40.
- Kothe R, Ruther W, Schneider E, Linke B. Biomechanical analysis of transpedicular screw fixation in the subaxial cervical spine. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2004;29:1869–75.
- ^{*}Yukawa Y, Kato F, Ito K, Horie Y, Hida T, Nakashima H, et al. Placement and complications of cervical pedicle screws in 144 cervical trauma patients using pedicle axis view techniques by fluoroscope. Eur Spine J. 2009;18:1293–9.
- Lee GY, Massicotte EM, Rampersaud YR. Clinical accuracy of cervicothoracic pedicle screw placement: a comparison of the "open" lamino-foraminotomy and computer-assisted techniques. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2007;20:25–32.

¹Key references marked with asterisk.

- Kast E, Mohr K, Richter HP, Borm W. Complications of transpedicular screw fixation in the cervical spine. Eur Spine J. 2006;15:327–34.
- Richter M, Mattes T, Cakir B. Computer-assisted posterior instrumentation of the cervical and cervicothoracic spine. Eur Spine J. 2004;13:50–9.
- Ludwig SC, Kramer DL, Balderston RA, Vaccaro AR, Foley KF, Albert TJ. Placement of pedicle screws in the human cadaveric cervical spine: comparative accuracy of three techniques. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2000;25:1655–67.
- Abumi K, Shono Y, Ito M, Taneichi H, Kotani Y, Kaneda K. Complications of pedicle screw fixation in reconstructive surgery of the cervical spine. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2000;25:962–9.
- "Tracy JA, Bartleson JD. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Neurologist. 2010;16:176–87.
- Klineberg E. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: a review of the evidence. Orthop Clin North Am. 2010;41:193–202.
- Bapat MR, Chaudhary K, Sharma A, Laheri V. Surgical approach to cervical spondylotic myelopathy on the basis of radiological patterns of compression: prospective analysis of 129 cases. Eur Spine J. 2008;17:1651–63.
- *Shin JJ, Jin BH, Kim KS, Cho YE, Cho WH. Intramedullary high signal intensity and neurological status as prognostic factors in cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2010;152:1687–94.
- Avadhani A, Rajasekaran S, Shetty AP. Comparison of prognostic value of different MRI classifications of signal intensity change in cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Spine J. 2010;10:475–85.
- Matz PG, Anderson PA, Groff MW, Heary RF, Holly LT, Kaiser MG, et al. Cervical laminoplasty for the treatment of cervical degenerative myelopathy. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;11:157–69.
- 21. *Petraglia AL, Srinivasan V, Coriddi M, Whitbeck MG, Maxwell JT, Silberstein HJ. Cervical laminoplasty as a management option for patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy: a series of 40 patients. Neurosurgery. 2010;67:272–7.
- Hale JJ, Gruson KI, Spivak JM. Laminoplasty: a review of its role in compressive cervical myelopathy. Spine J. 2006;6:289S–98.
- Djurasovic M, Dimar JR, Glassman SD, Edmonds HL, Carreon LY. A prospective analysis of intraoperative electromyographic monitoring of posterior cervical screw fixation. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2005;18:515–8.
- Grande CM, Barton CR, Stene JK. Appropriate techniques for airway management of emergency patients with suspected spinal cord injury. Anesth Analg. 1988;67:714–5.
- 25. Santoni BG, Hindman BJ, Puttlitz CM, Weeks JB, Johnson N, Maktabi MA, et al. Manual in-line stabilization increases pressures applied by the laryngoscope blade during direct laryngoscopy and orotracheal intubation. Anesthesiology. 2009;110: 24–31.

- 26. Thiboutot F, Nicole PC, Trepanier CA, Turgeon AF, Lessard MR. Effect of manual in-line stabilization of the cervical spine in adults on the rate of difficult orotracheal intubation by direct laryngoscopy: a randomized controlled trial. Can J Anaesth. 2009;56:412–8.
- Ford P, Nolan J. Cervical spine injury and airway management. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2002;15: 193–201.
- Crosby ET. Airway management in adults after cervical spine trauma. Anesthesiology. 2006;104: 1293–318.
- Fuchs G, Schwarz G, Baumgartner A, Kaltenbock F, Voit-Augustin H, Planinz W. Fiberoptic intubation in 327 neurosurgical patients with lesions of the cervical spine. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1999;11:11–6.

Questions

- A 56-year-old male is involved in a motor vehicle accident and sustains the neck injury. The patient's physical examination is consistent with a Brown-Sequard spinal cord injury. Which of the following likely represents the motor and sensory findings?
 - A. Bilateral upper extremity loss of motor function and unilateral lower extremity loss of pain and temperature sensation
 - B. Ipsilateral loss of pain and temperature sensation and contralateral loss of motor function
 - C. Ipsilateral loss of motor function and contralateral loss of pain and temperature sensation
 - D. Bilateral loss of pain and temperature sensation and unilateral loss of motor function
- A 52-year-old female is undergoing a C2–7 posterior cervical fusion and a C5–6 posterior discectomy for spinal spondylosis, central disk herniation at C5–6 with an associated myleopathy. Immediately following prone positioning in a Mayfield head holder there is a 15% decrease in the lower extremity somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) and 90% loss in the motor-evoked potentials (tcMEPs) in the lower extremities. What is the next most appropriate step in management?
 - A. Proceed with procedure as planned.
 - B. Obtain lateral cervical C-arm images to optimize neck position

- C. Observe for 15 min and then repeat motor and sensory neurophysiologic testing
- D. Cancel the procedure and proceed with an emergency MRI
- 3. A 79-year old man falls, sustaining a hyperextension injury to his neck. An MRI shows the following. On motor examination, he has 2/5 strength in his deltoids, elbow and wrist flexors and extensors. He has 4/5 strength in his hip flexors, knee flexors, extensors, ankle dorsiflexors, and plantarflexors. Sensation is preserved in both his upper and lower extremities as well as his sacral segments. Injury to which of the following tracts contributes greatest to his motor function deficits?
 - A. Dorsal columns
 - B. Spinocerebellar tract

- C. Anterior corticospinal
- D. Lateral corticospinal
- E. Lateral spinothalamic
- 4. Which term **BEST** describes this spinal cord injury pattern in this 79-year-old man?
 - A. Central cord syndrome
 - B. Incomplete spinal cord injury
 - C. Complete spinal cord injury
 - D. Brown-Sequard syndrome
 - E. Posterior cord syndrome

Answers

- 1. A
- 2. B
- 3. B
- 4. A

Surgery for Scoliosis Correction

Mary Ellen McCann, Robert M. Brustowicz, and Sulpicio G. Soriano

Introduction

Idiopathic scoliosis is a common condition, with an incidence of 0.47-5.2% in school-aged children [1]. In general, scoliosis is characterized by lateral and rotational derangements in the spine and vertebrae angles respectively. These deformities become progressively worse with time and may require major corrective surgery to prevent deterioration of the spine angle and cardiopulmonary sequelae related to severe scoliosis [2]. These include restrictive lung disease, pulmonary hypertension, cor pulmonale, pain, and neurologic impairment, which, if left untreated, can be fatal by age 50 years. Corrective surgery often involves distraction and fusion of multiple levels of the thoracic and lumbar spine and is commonly associated with significant intraoperative problems including major blood loss, venous air embolism, and spinal cord injury (usually from spinal cord ischemia during de-rotation and straightening of the spine). A variety of surgical techniques and instrumentation have been reported. Posterior surgical approaches include (1) Harrington distraction with Wisconsin or Lugue segmental wiring, (2) combined distraction and wiring [Cotrel-Dubousset], and (3) mechanical fixation using pedicle screws. Techniques incorporating combined anterior release with either anterior or posterior instrumentation (Dwyer, Weiss springs) require a thoracotomy or a thoracoabdominal surgical approach (see Chap. 34, "Surgery on the Thoracic Spine"). The severity of the spinal deformity is graded by the degrees of angle of curvature (Cobb angle) and surgery is usually indicated when this angle exceeds 50° .

The majority of scoliosis (70–80%) is idiopathic in nature and may have a genetic, multifactorial, and sex-linked association [1]. It is more common in girls than boys and is not typically associated with coexisting diseases, with the exception of cardiopulmonary derangements directly due to the severity of the Cobb angle. Non-idiopathic scoliosis comprises congenital, neuromuscular, and mesenchymal scoliosis. Congenital scoliosis is marked by malformed vertebrae and may be associated with coarctation of the aorta and cyanotic congenital heart disease. Neuromuscular scoliosis due to muscular dystrophy, cerebral palsy, spinal bifida, and spinal muscular atrophy is complicated by the chronic and

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_33

M.E. McCann, M.D. (🖂) • R.M. Brustowicz, M.D. S.G. Soriano, M.D.

Department of Anesthesiology, Perioperative and Pain Medicine, Boston Children's Hospital, 300 Longwood Avenue, Boston, MA 02115, USA

Department of Anaesthesia, Harvard Medical School, 300 Longwood Avenue, Boston, MA 02115, USA e-mail: Mary.McCann@childrens.harvard.edu; Robert.Brustowicz@childrens.harvard.edu; Sulpicio.Soriano@childrens.harvard.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

debilitating nature of the primary disease. Furthermore, neuromuscular disorders are associated with increased risk of rhabdomyolysis, arrhythmias, myocardial dysfunction, and malignant hyperthermia leading to cardiac decompensation upon exposure to volatile anesthetics and succinylcholine. In advanced cases, cardiac failure occurs from cardiomyopathy, arrhythmias, and cor pulmonale. Mesenchymal disorders include Marfan syndrome, structural anomalies (myelodysplasia), primary or secondary malignancies of the spine, and trauma can be the cause of neuromuscular scoliosis. Thoracic surgery done in infancy is associated with iatrogenic scoliosis occurring during adolescence. Back pain in pediatric patients suggests infection, tumor, trauma, or Scheuermann's kyphosis. Each of these diagnoses has implications for the anesthesiologist beyond the usual considerations for spinal surgery.

Hemodynamic stability and integrity of the spinal cord are the major challenges for the safe conduct of anesthesia during scoliosis surgery. Given the extensive surgical exposure, dissection, and vertebral distraction, sudden blood loss or venous air embolus can rapidly deteriorate to cardiovascular collapse. Therefore, normovolemia should be maintained throughout the procedure. Although the overall incidence of cardiac arrest in children undergoing surgical correction of spinal deformities is 0.4%, patients with neuromuscular scoliosis are three times more likely to have intraoperative cardiac arrests when compared with patients with idiopathic scoliosis [3]. Factors that were associated with cardiac arrests were the number of vertebra levels fused and blood loss. The Scoliosis Research Society and the European Spinal Deformity Society have endorsed multimodal intraoperative neuromonitoring to assess spinal cord and rootlet integrity during scoliosis surgery. This report revealed a significant reduction in the rate of paralysis from an expected 4 to 0.55% with the use of intraoperative neuromonitoring [4]. Given the dramatic reduction in neurologic morbidity, intraoperative neuromonitoring is an essential part of the intraoperative management of the child with scoliosis [5, 6]. Recent guidelines published by the

American Clinical Neurophysiology Society (ACNS) provide an evidence-based assessment that intraoperative neuromonitoring detected changes associated with postoperative neurologic deficits [7]. The following case illustrates many of the intraoperative considerations in scoliosis surgery.

Case Report

A 13-year-old girl presented for posterior spinal fusion from T4-L4. She was first diagnosed with scoliosis at age 6 when her pediatrician noted a curvature to her back. This resulted in a referral to an orthopedic specialist who noted on physical examination that she had a 3° right upper thoracic and a 4° left lumbar paraspinal prominence. This translated into a thoracic curve measuring 11° convex to the right and a lumbar curve measuring 18° convex to the left by x-ray. A full spinal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan did not detect other coexisting anatomical processes such as a Chiari I malformation and/or syrinx. Her mother and maternal aunt had mild stable thoracic scoliosis. Given the history, physical and imaging procedures, the patient was diagnosed with mild juvenile idiopathic scoliosis.

She returned for follow-up every 6 months and by age 8 her lumbar curve had progressed to 30°. Initial conservative management with a Boston brace was unsuccessful due to noncompliance and her curvature became progressively worse in the ensuing 5 years.

At age 13 years, her thoracolumbar spine x-rays revealed a 50° right thoracic and a 70° left lumbar curve. She was postmenarchal for 9 months with a bone age of 15 years old. Bending x-rays demonstrated moderate flexibility. Her height and weight were 165 cm and 87 kg, respectively. The dramatic increase in her thoracic and lumbar curvature and her skeletal maturity necessitated the need for surgical stabilization of her spine.

The patient's preoperative evaluation revealed normal coagulation studies with a prothrombin time of 12.0 s, a partial thromboplastin time of 32 s, and platelet count of 325,000 and her hematocrit was 38%. No other laboratory studies were obtained. Physical examination revealed an obese female. All other physical parameters were normal except for a noticeable thoracic hump. The baseline blood pressure was 110/62 mmHg. The patient was counseled by the anesthesiologist about the course of the anesthetic and prepared her for the possibility of an intraoperative wake-up test.

Anesthetic

Discussion

A multidisciplinary approach to the intraoperative management of an adolescent for scoliosis surgery mandates careful preoperative planning by the anesthesiologist, orthopedic surgeon, and the neurophysiologist. The neurophysiologist expressed a desire for "light" anesthesia to optimize intraoperative neuromonitoring. The surgeon requested that the mean blood pressure be maintained at 65 mmHg to ensure adequate spinal cord perfusion and to minimize blood loss during the procedure [8]. The anesthesiologist expressed concerns that an adequate level of anesthesia be administered in order to minimize the chance of intra-operative awareness [9].

A small bore intravenous line was inserted in the patient in the holding area. The patient then received midazolam for anxiolysis and perioperative amnesia because evidence has shown that patients receiving a light volatile anesthetic (up to 1 minimum alveolar concentration [MAC] of isoflurane and nitrous oxide in combination) or a balanced anesthesia technique can have bispectral index (BIS) numbers in the high 60 to low 70 range during the anesthetic [9]. These high BIS levels can be a harbinger of potential intraoperative awareness. Given the concern for awareness during surgery, use of BIS was considered.

Discussion

BIS monitoring has been shown to decrease the incidence of intraoperative awareness in highrisk patients undergoing general anesthesia [10]. Standard motor-evoked potentials and somatosensory-evoked potentials can be performed while monitoring the BIS number without



Fig. 33.1 Adolescent in the headrest (ProneView, Dupaco, Oceanside, CA). The potential pressure points include the forehead and chin. It is important to make sure that the weight of the head is distributed between these pressure points

interference. However, the anesthesia team was planning on positioning the patient in the prone position with the face resting in a protective helmet system (ProneView, Dupaco, Oceanside, CA). The pressure points of the ProneView are the forehead and the chin and the anesthesia team was concerned that the BIS electrode might predispose the patient to a pressure sore on the forehead (*see* Fig. 33.1).

Anesthesia was induced with propofol and fentanyl and tracheal intubation was facilitated with low-dose rocuronium (0.5 mg/kg). Intubation was atraumatic and two bite blocks (made of soft gauze) were inserted into the mouth between the molars to protect the tongue from impingement during the MEPs [11]. Care was taken to tape the oral endotracheal tube securely because the patient would be prone for 4–6 h for this procedure. Several large-bore intravenous lines and a radial artery catheter were inserted.

Anesthesia was maintained with the administration of 0.6 % isoflurane and 70 % nitrous oxide. Several intravenous boluses of fentanyl (50–100 μ g) were administered throughout the maintenance phase of the anesthesia in order to provide a constant level of analgesia.

The neurophysiologist was asked to acquire MEPs by stimulating at the C1 and C2 scalp electrode positions rather than using the C3 and C4 positions. SSEPs and electromyography (EMG) monitoring was also planned for this case.

Discussion

Although most intraoperative neuromonitoring groups prefer a total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) technique and most centers if using volatile agents limit the total volatile plus nitrous oxide, there is evidence that using trains of 3-5 pulses (interstimulation interval, 2 ms) for MEPs will allow adequate neuromonitoring with a volatile gas technique as long as the total MAC is 1 or less for the majority of healthy patients with robust responses [12-14]. Other anesthetic drug combinations include a mixture of another volatile agent (desflurane or sevoflurane) with nitrous oxide up to 1 MAC (see Chap. 19, "General Anesthesia for Monitoring") or a total intravenous anesthetic, which could consist of a narcotic, propofol, methohexital, ketamine, or dexmedetomidine with or without nitrous oxide. Our rationale for choosing for a volatile gas with nitrous oxide is that if neuromonitoring signals are lost or there is a surgical event that necessitated a "wakeup test," rapid emergence from anesthesia can be easily achieved with the volatile anesthetics [15]. Monitoring the MEPs using the C1 and C2 scalp electrode position produces less activation of the masseter muscle than when the C3 and C4 electrode positions are used (Fig. 33.2).

After induction of anesthesia, the patient's blood pressure was 88/50 mmHg. The isoflurane concentration was decreased to 0.2%. The blood pressure improved to 95/55 mmHg and the inhaled anesthetics were maintained at the lower concentrations. The patient was carefully positioned prone on the Jackson table and all extremities were padded and a forced hot air warmer blanket (Bair Hugger; Arizant Inc., Eden Prairie, MN) was placed on the lower extremities. The neuromonitoring technician reported good SSEPs and MEPs in all four extremities. The surgeon



Fig. 33.2 View of neuromonitoring leads placed in a montage in the skin overlying the cortex

made the incision, the blood pressure rose to 130/88 mmHg, and the anesthesiologist increased the inhaled anesthetic concentration (1 MAC) and administered an additional bolus fentanyl for a total peri-induction dose of 15 μ g/kg. The blood pressure decreased to a mean of 66 mmHg. The neuromonitoring technician then reported that there was a decrease in amplitude and increase in latency in the potentials from three extremities and loss of signal in the right hand for the SSEPs. The patient's temperature at this time was recorded as 34.5 °C.

Discussion

The possible reasons for the decrements in the signal were identified and discussed. Although the initial plan of administering 1 MAC equivalent of isoflurane and nitrous oxide should have been compatible with neuromonitoring, it was determined that the baseline measurements were actually recorded when the patient was receiving 0.7 MAC. Volatile anesthetic drugs and nitrous oxide will decrease the amplitude and increase the latency of both the MEPs and the SSEPs. The MEPs are more sensitive to the effects of volatile agents. In neurologically intact adolescents, administering 1 MAC equivalents of isoflurane and nitrous oxide should be compatible with adequate signals. But in this case, 1 MAC of gas represented an increase in anesthesia from baseline and thus would be expected to cause the observed changes in latency and in amplitude. Since the attenuation of the signals occurred during the

skin incision, it was deemed unlikely that the changes could be attributed to surgical injury to the spinal cord and nerves.

The anesthesia team decreased the inhaled isoflurane and nitrous oxide concentrations and started a propofol infusion of 75 μ g/kg/min. This maneuver maintained the patient's mean blood pressure between 65 and 70 mmHg. Since the modest increase in the inhaled isoflurane concentrations would not be sufficient to completely depress the SSEPs from the right hand, the technologist verified the placement of the electrodes and found them intact.

Within 5 min of decreasing the inhaled concentration of isoflurane and nitrous oxide, the SSEPs returned to their baseline values except for those on the right hand, which did not fully return and were only intermittent with prolonged latency and decreased amplitude. Coincidently, the pulse oximeter on the right index finger intermittently registered a weak signal.

Discussion

The different etiologies for the loss of SSEP signals from the right hand include loss of electrodes on the right hand, poor connection between electrode and skin of the right hand, injury to the spinal cord, and injury to the brachial plexus.

The technician checked the impedance of the electrodes on the patient's right hand and found it to be normal at 5 k Ω . The recording and stimulating leads on the patient's head, hand, arm, and shoulder were also intact. The arm position appeared to be normal. The anesthesia team informed the surgical team about the loss of signals and asked them whether there was any surgical manipulation of the lower cervical and upper thoracic spinal cord. The attending surgeon noted that surgical field included T4-L4 segments and did not include the high thoracic and low cervical area. The anesthesiologist peered under the drapes again and noticed that the right arm was abducted at the shoulder. At this point the orthopedic assistant surgeon admitted to "hip checking that arm out of the way" so they could better assist with the surgery. The anesthesiologist repositioned the arm so that the shoulder was not

abducted but in a neutral position and that the upper arms were positioned 90° in front of the patient's torso to limit traction on the brachial plexus. The anesthesiologist also established that the axilla was free from chest pads on the surgical table. The waveform on the pulse oximeter immediately normalized. Within 10 min, the SSEPs in the right hand returned to normal [16]. In this particular instance, both the pulse oximeter and the SSEP monitors revealed a positioning problem and possibly averted a postoperative neuropathy.

Decortication of the bone for the spinal fusion resulted in profuse venous bleeding and the surgeon requested that the anesthesiologist lower the mean blood pressure to 55 mmHg in order to stem the bleeding [17]. Although the anesthesia team had some concerns that the lower blood pressure might increase the risk of spinal cord and optic nerve ischemia, they concurred with the surgeon and lowered the blood pressure to a mean of 55 mmHg with labetolol [18]. Hypovolemia was rapidly treated by a 3:1 ratio of normal saline to blood loss fluid bolus. The patient's temperature at this time was 34.5 °C and the hematocrit was 26% with normal arterial blood gas values. The anesthesiologist turned on the fluid warmer and applied a forced warm air blanket to the upper torso to help maintain the patient's temperature. Immediately, the neuromonitoring technician announced a deterioration in the monitoring signals. The anesthesiologist asked the neuromonitoring technician to characterize the recent change in signals and found that the amplitude and latency had not changed but that the signals became unreliable due to increased background electrical noise.

Discussion

Rapid fluid resuscitation with crystalloids can lead to excessive facial swelling, may interfere with organ function and can cause the patient to rapidly lose body heat in patients in the prone position. Both low body temperature and anemia are associated with increased latency and decreased amplitude in MEPs and SSEPs. However, electrical interference can lead to unreliable signals.

Electrical interference with the MEPs and SSEPs by other electrical devices commonly occurs in the operating room (Fig. 33.3). It is important to try to establish a temporal association between the addition of an electrical device such as a forced hot air warmer or a blood warmer with the onset of the electrical interference. The most efficient way to determine whether a device is causing interference is to briefly turn the device off and see if the interference resolves. Once the likely culprit is identified, often moving the device to a location in the room away from the neuromonitoring wires will decrease the level of electrical interference (see Chap. 16, "IOM Instrumentation Layout and Electrical Interference").

The anesthesiologist turned off the blood warmer and forced air warmer and moved them to the contralateral side of the neuromonitoring wires. Although the electrical interference did not completely resolve, the signals were significantly improved [18, 19].

The surgeons inserted all their pedicle screws bilaterally. They then requested that the neuromonitoring technician help them do triggered EMG to ensure proper placement of the pedicle screws. The surgeons placed the stimulation probe on the pedicle screw and a needle electrode wire was inserted in the tissue above the surgical field to complete the circuit for the stimulation current (Fig. 33.4). The surgeon began to stimulate the first pedicle screw with 8 mA and gradually increased the current to 20 mA. No EMG signal was detected with stimulation.

Discussion

At this point it is important for the neuromonitoring team to confer with the surgical and anesthesia team. The causes for the lack of triggered EMG signal include excessive muscle relaxation, an unattached anode electrode wire, and/or a nonconductive pedicle screw. Some pedicle screws are made of hydroxyapatite and do not conduct electrical impulses. In this case, stimulation needs to be performed by inserting the probe into the screw pilot hole. In this particular case, the screws were made of an electroconductive material and the surgeon had neglected to plug in the anode needle electrode.

Once the anode electrode wire was inserted properly, the surgeon then began stimulating the pedicle screws in an orderly fashion starting on the right thorax and continuing to the final lumbar pedicle screw and then repeating the process on the left. All of the triggered EMG responses from stimulation of the pedicle screws from the T5 level to the L5 level were normal, indicating that there was no triggered EMG responses to less than 8 mA except for the right-sided T5 and T6 screws whose triggered thresholds were less than 6 mA, respectively.

Discussion

The triggered EMG is an appropriate test of pedicle screw placement because cortical bone is a

Fig. 33.3 Close proximity of the ECG lead and transversus abdominis neuromonitoring lead

Fig. 33.4 Pedicle screw testing by the surgeon





good electrical insulator, which suggests that it should take a triggered electrical stimulus of greater than 6 mA to cause an EMG response [20]. A response at less than 6 mA can mean that the pedicle screw has broken through the cortex and is lying close to the thoracic nerve roots. Since pooled blood can conduct an electrical current, it is possible to obtain a triggered EMG response at less than 8 mA when the operative field is not dry and if the current is shunted toward and excites the thoracic nerve roots. In general, lumbar pedicle screw testing is more reliable than thoracic pedicle screw testing [20]. It is also possible that current shunting can result in elevated screw thresholds [21].

The surgeons visually inspected and palpated the pedicle screw area and found no break in the cortex. So they felt it was unlikely that the pedicle screw had broken through the medial wall of the pedicle and was lying close to the spinal cord and nerve roots. However, both of these screws were submerged in blood. Despite meticulous suctioning of the retained blood from the operative field, stimulation of the screws at 6 mA did not evoke EMG responses in T5 and T6.

Once the patient's MAP reached 55 mmHg, there was a noticeable improvement in the surgical site with much less visible bleeding. The anesthesiologist was able to decrease the intraoperative replacement fluids and the surgeon found it much easier to continue. Despite active warming of the patient and intravenous infusions, the patient's core temperature continued to drift downward and reached 33.9 °C.

The surgeon placed the first rod and began to distract the spine. The neuromonitoring technician announced a loss of the lower limb MEPs and then shortly thereafter reported the loss of SSEPs to the lower limbs and that the MEP and SSEP signals to the upper arms showed significant decrease in amplitude and latency.

Discussion

The surgeon, anesthesiologist, and neuromonitoring technician conferred about the possible reasons for the poor signals [5]. The global decrement in both evoked potentials (poor signals in the upper extremities and loss of signals in the lower extremities) pointed toward a systemic nonsurgical reason for at least part of the decrease in signal quality. Factors associated with increased latency and decreased amplitude of signals include hypotension, hypovolemia, anemia, hypothermia, hypocapnia, and increased inspired concentrations of inhaled anesthetic agents. This particular patient had a normal PaCO₂, which dismissed hypocapnia as the sole contributing factor. However, the patient was both hypothermic and hypotensive. In order to warm the patient, the room temperature was increased to 25 °C, the forced warm air blankets were increased to the warmest setting, and all intravenous fluids were warmed. They also rapidly elevated the blood pressure to preoperative levels. Although the patient's hypotension and hypothermia may diminish the SSEP and MEP signals for the lower limbs, it is likely that other factors may be involved. The operative etiologies for loss of signals include any surgical maneuver, which might interfere with the blood supply to the spinal cord in the thoracolumbar region. In attempts to control the bleeding, the surgeons may have inadvertently ligated a spinal artery. They also may have directly compressed a spinal artery or indirectly stretched or kinked a spinal artery during distraction of the spine leading to diminished blood flow and spinal cord ischemia. The surgeons inspected and loosened their retractors but did not see any pulsating vessels. They also removed the single rod to release any spinal cord distraction. The anesthesia team administered a phenylephrine infusion at this time to increase the patient's MAP to 10% above baseline in an effort to improve spinal cord perfusion. After 10 min, the signals did not improve and the surgeon and anesthesiologist agreed to perform a wake-up test [21-23].

The volatile agent and the nitrous oxide were terminated. The nurse went under the drapes to watch the patient's feet during the wake-up test. It is essential that adequate help is available to prevent the patient from moving in an uncontrollable fashion and accidently extubating her trachea during the wake-up test. The anesthesiologist gently placed a hand over the top of the patient's head to prevent the patient from lifting their head during the test. He also placed a hand over the patient's right hand and had an assistant place their hand over the patient's left hand. These maneuvers were performed to prevent the patient from displacing the endotracheal tube or lifting their head out of the protective foam head holder. Once the end-tidal gases were at 0.2 MAC, the anesthesiologist requested that the patient squeeze his left hand to indicate she was able to respond to verbal commands. Once the patient did that, the anesthesiologist requested that the patient wiggle all their toes to examine spinal cord function. The patient wiggled all their toes on the second request and after reassuring that the patient had normal spinal cord function, the anesthesiologist re-anesthetized the patient with midazolam and propofol. The patient's SSEPs and MEPs returned to baseline values, which may have been the result of a blood pressure increase or reduction in anesthetic effect.

Discussion

The healthcare team conferred about the best way to proceed with this case. The decision was made to optimize parameters, which might interfere with adequate neuromonitoring. The room temperature was increased to 25 °C and the patient's core temperature rose to 36 °C. The anesthesia team chose to maintain the MAP at 65-70 mmHg, a hematocrit above 25%, and electrolytes and arterial blood gases (ABGs) within normal limits [5]. Of note, a wake-up test is often associated with an increase in the blood pressure. Since high-dose opioids may delay emergence, the decision was made to reinstitute isoflurane and nitrous oxide in order to facilitate additional wake-up tests, if upon further distraction there was loss of signals.

The surgeons proceeded by carefully positioning their retractors and the first rod. Once the rod was placed, they gently distracted the spinal vertebrae in order to straighten the spine. This time there was no loss of signals and they placed the second rod with maintenance of both MEP and SSEP signals.

The surgeons closed and dressed the wound and the healthcare team positioned the patient in the supine position on the bed to facilitate the anesthetic emergence. At this time, it was noted that the sponge bite block that had originally been inserted between the left molars was now dislodged and was soaked with blood. Inspection of the tongue revealed a deep laceration on the left side with continued bleeding.

An otolaryngologist examined the patient and closed the laceration. The patient's trachea was successfully extubated and the patient was transferred to the postanesthesia care unit.

Discussion

The healthcare team discussed the factors that could have caused the tongue laceration. The patient biting down on their own tongue most likely occurred during the wake-up test or as a result of the MEPs. There are no reported episodes of tongue lacerations occurring during the wake-up test but numerous reports after MEP monitoring [11]. There is no absolute way to prevent this and tongue lacerations have occurred even when bite blocks were in place [24]. Most anesthesiologists make their own bite block by rolling up several pieces of gauze and taping them in place. It is important to adequately place them and then devise a method to ensure that the bite block is not displaced intraoperatively. Furthermore, the use of high voltage for MEPs may amplify masseter muscle contraction and increase the chance for tongue injury. All bite blocks and sponges placed in the mouth must be accounted for at the cessation of the case.

References

- Konieczny MR, Senyurt H, Krauspe R. Epidemiology of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. J Child Orthop. 2013;7:3–9.
- Huh S, Eun LY, Kim NK, Jung JW, Choi JY, Kim HS. Cardiopulmonary function and scoliosis severity in idiopathic scoliosis children. Korean J Pediatr. 2015;58(6):218–23.
- Menga EN, Hirschfeld C, Jain A, Tran DP, Caine HD, Njoku DB, et al. Intraoperative cardiopulmonary arrest in children undergoing spinal deformity correction: causes and associated factors. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2015;40(22):1757–62.
- Nuwer MR, Dawson EG, Carlson LG, Kanim LE, Sherman JE. Somatosensory evoked potential spinal cord monitoring reduces neurologic deficits after scoliosis

surgery: results of a large multicenter survey. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1995;96(1):6–11.

- Sloan T. Anesthesia and intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26(2):227–35.
- Busso VO, McAuliffe JJ. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in pediatric neurosurgery. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24(7):690–7.
- Nuwer MR, Emerson RG, Galloway G, Legatt AD, Lopez J, Minahan R, et al. Evidence-based guideline update: intraoperative spinal monitoring with somatosensory and transcranial electrical motor evoked potentials: report of the Therapeutics and Technology Assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology and the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. Neurology. 2012;78(8):585–9.
- Schwartz DM, Auerbach JD, Dormans JP, Flynn J, Drummond DS, Bowe JA, et al. Neurophysiological detection of impending spinal cord injury during scoliosis surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007;89(11): 2440–9.
- McCann ME, Brustowicz RM, Bacsik J, Sullivan L, Auble SG, Laussen PC. The bispectral index and explicit recall during the intraoperative wake-up test for scoliosis surgery. Anesth Analg. 2002;94(6):1474–8.
- Myles PS, Leslie K, McNeil J, Forbes A, Chan MT. Bispectral index monitoring to prevent awareness during anaesthesia: the B-Aware randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2004;363(9423):1757–63.
- Mahmoud M, Spaeth J, Sadhasivam S. Protection of tongue from injuries during transcranial motor-evoked potential monitoring. Paediatr Anaesth. 2008;18(9):902–3.
- Kalkman CJ, Ubags LH, Been HD, Swaan A, Drummond JC. Improved amplitude of myogenic motor evoked responses after paired transcranial electrical stimulation during sufentanil/nitrous oxide anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1995;83(2):270–6.
- Pelosi L, Stevenson M, Hobbs GJ, Jardine A, Webb JK. Intraoperative motor evoked potentials to transcranial electrical stimulation during two anaesthetic regimens. Clin Neurophysiol. 2001;112(6):1076–87.

- Ubags LH, Kalkman CJ, Been HD. Influence of isoflurane on myogenic motor evoked potentials to single and multiple transcranial stimuli during nitrous oxide/ opioid anesthesia. Neurosurgery. 1998;43(1):90–4.
- Ku AS, Hu Y, Irwin MG, Gunawardene S, Tan EE, Luk KD. Effect of sevoflurane/nitrous oxide versus propofol anaesthesia on somatosensory evoked potential monitoring of the spinal cord during surgery to correct scoliosis. Br J Anaesth. 2002;88(4):502–7.
- Schwartz DM, Drummond DS, Hahn M, Ecker ML, Dormans JP. Prevention of positional brachial plexopathy during surgical correction of scoliosis. J Spinal Disord. 2000;13(2):178–82.
- Patel NJ, Patel BS, Paskin S, Laufer S. Induced moderate hypotensive anesthesia for spinal fusion and Harrington-rod instrumentation. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1985;67(9):1384–7.
- Gibson PR. Anaesthesia for correction of scoliosis in children. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2004;32(4): 548–59.
- Gonzalez AA, Jeyanandarajan D, Hansen C, Zada G, Hsieh PC. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during spine surgery: a review. Neurosurg Focus. 2009;27(4), E6.
- Duffy MF, Phillips JH, Knapp DR, Herrera-Soto JA. Usefulness of electromyography compared to computed tomography scans in pedicle screw placement. Spine. 2010;35(2):E43–8.
- Toleikis J. Neurophysiological monitoring during pedicle screw placement. In: Deletis V, Shils JL, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery. New York: Academic; 2002. p. 231–64.
- Noonan KJ, Walker T, Feinberg JR, Nagel M, Didelot W, Lindseth R. Factors related to false- versus true-positive neuromonitoring changes in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis surgery. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2002;27(8):825–30.
- 23. Brustowicz RM, Hall JE. In defense of the wake-up test. Anesth Analg. 1988;67(10):1019.
- Legatt AD. Current practice of motor evoked potential monitoring: results of a survey. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19:454–60.

Neurophysiological Monitoring in Thoracic Spine Surgery

34

Tod B. Sloan, Evalina Burger, Christopher J. Kleck, and Anthony M. Oliva

Key Learning Points

- In the thoracic spine, the procedures may be approached anteriorly, posteriorly, or by a combined approach. Anterior surgery may involve thoracotomy or sternotomy, and may include division of the hemidiaphragm.
- The procedure with greatest risk utilized in deformity correction is a posterior vertebral column resection (osteotomy).
- Placement of pedicle screws in the thoracic spine is more challenging than in the lumbar spine since they are smaller, narrower, and have greater anatomical variability in diameter, shape, and have varying anteromedial and

E. Burger, M.D. • C.J. Kleck, M.D. Department of Orthopaedics, University of Colorado, Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, USA e-mail: Evalina.burger@ucdenver.edu; Christopher.kleck@ucdenver.edu cephalad angulation. In addition to the risk to nerve roots, the spinal cord is also at risk for direct injury with a medially positioned screw. This is due to the spinal canal being smaller compared with the size of the spinal cord.

- Medial penetration of a thoracic pedicle screw can also produce a dural tear leading to a cerebrospinal fluid leak and intracranial hypotension. If it is associated with a nonreversible IOM change, it is always associated with a new-onset neurological deficit.
- Neurological risk is increased in some patients, especially with congenital kyphosis, neurofibromatosis, or skeletal dysplasia. It is also increased in patients with preoperative asymmetric neurological deficits, paresthesias, bowel or bladder dysfunction, or excessive neck or back pain.
- Although direct trauma to the spinal cord can produce injury, paralysis is thought to be most likely the result of an ischemic insult to the anterior and central portions of the spinal cord.
- Ligation of the segmental vessels to the spinal cord is routine during anterior thoracic surgery and has been generally considered safe if the ligation is unilateral, performed on the convexity of the curve and the ligation occurs at the mid-vertebral level.

T.B. Sloan, M.D., M.B.A., Ph.D. (⊠) A.M. Oliva, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO 80045, USA e-mail: Tod.Sloan@ucdenver.edu; Anthony.oliva@ucdenver.edu

Monitoring techniques for the prevention of blindness in the prone position are not currently effective. It is thought to be related to ischemia of the posterior optic nerve.Introduction

Indications for spinal deformity surgery in the thoracic spine are similar to those in the cervical or lumbar spine. The major differences in the procedure include the special considerations needed to accommodate the anatomical variations in the orientation of the facet joints and pedicles, as well as the varying approaches to the spine, which may involve surgery through the chest cavity or extra-pleural from posterior with resection of the ribs.

Among the common indications is the correction of developmental, degenerative, congenital conditions, and iatrogenic causes leading to a spinal deformity (e.g., scoliosis and kyphosis) [1]. Idiopathic scoliosis is found in 2–3% of all children but can also be associated with other conditions that have additional implications for anesthesia management [2]. These include Marfan syndrome and osteogenesis imperfecta [2]. Fewer than 10% of children with scoliosis need surgery to prevent the consequences of curve progression, which include limitations of pulmonary function (girls have ten times the risk of boys, accounting for why surgery is more common in girls) [2]. Back pain is a complaint in 80% of scoliotic patients [2]. Sagittal plane spinal deformity presents in a variety of forms, including congenital, Scheuermann's kyphosis, traumatic, oncologic, and iatrogenic. These cases often require prolonged anesthesia and increased blood loss, creating further difficulty with the provision of intraoperative neuromonitoring (IOM).

Spinal fusion has been the mainstay of surgical treatment of spinal deformity for nearly a century and often involves multilevel anterior discectomy with bone grafting combined with posterior pedicle screw constructs and fusion, which may extend above and below the thoracic region [3, 4]. The surgical indications for thoracic deformity correction include (1) idiopathic curve greater than 40° , (2) severe deformity with asymmetry in a growing adolescent, (3) a curve greater than 50° after skeletal maturity that has a high chance of progression, (4) thoracic lordosis with a high chance of progression to impair pulmonary function, (5) symptomatic Scheuermann's kyphosis with greater than 75° kyphosis, (6) thoracolumbar neuromuscular curves in patients with cerebral palsy, (7) spinal muscular atrophy, (8) myelomeningocele or poliomyelitis to prevent progression and pain, (9) adult patients with scoliosis with intractable pain, neurological dysfunction, pulmonary dysfunction, or cosmetic issues, (10) adult patients with kyphosis due to trauma/tumor creating significant anterior sagittal imbalance, neurological dysfunction, or risk for progression, and (11) patients who have undergone previous spine surgery with progressive junctional level disease and kyphosis leading to intractable pain, neurological dysfunction, or risk for progression [1].

Congenital kyphosis occurs less commonly than scoliosis and is caused by developmental anomalies that impair longitudinal growth of the anterior or anterior-lateral portion of the spine. An abnormal vascular supply to the spinal cord has been postulated [5] as a cause for the condition. The apex of the deformity commonly occurs at the thoracolumbar junction. The most common form is associated with failure of the vertebral body to develop. Many of these patients have other anomalies such as hemifacial microsomia, Alagille, Jarcho-Levin, Klippel-Feil, Goldenhar, Joubert syndrome, and VACTERL, trisomy 18, and diabetic embryopathy [5]. The risk of neurological injury is high in these patients; monitoring is considered essential, especially in older children in whom the risk is higher than in those who are younger [5].

Scheurmann's kyphosis is associated with at least three levels of thoracic vertebral bodies with greater than 5° of anterior wedging, endplate irregularities (Schmorl's nodes), and increased kyphosis of the thoracic spine. This is generally identified in adolescents around puberty, when radiographic findings become easily identifiable. Surgical indications are similar to those described for other spine conditions, including intractable pain, neurological compromise, progressive deformity, cardiopulmonary compromise, and cosmesis.

Other indications for thoracic spine fusion include trauma, infection, tumor, and degenerative disk disease. Surgical indications in cases where infectious causes are suspected should include a bacteriological diagnosis and removal of spinal compression from an abscess [1]. Surgery for spinal tumors allows diagnosis, correction of a pathological fracture, treatment of intractable pain, and treatment for a primary cancer, solitary metastasis, or recurrence. Malignant etiologies have the highest perioperative mortality and infectious etiologies have the highest complication rate and length of stay [3]. Most cases of disk herniation are treated with discectomy (removal of the disk) and autograft or artificial cage replacement or by corpectomy (removal of the vertebral body) alone or with discectomy [3].

Surgical Approach

In the thoracic spine, the procedures may be approached anteriorly, posteriorly, or by a combined approach [1]. Each approach has advantages and disadvantages, and controversy exists about the added value of a combined anterior and posterior approach [6].

The anterior spine approach was initially used to treat Pott's disease in the early twentieth century [3]. More recently (since 1969), anterior instrumentation has been commonly used with trauma and tumors because it allows structural correction and spares the necessity of fusion of some distal levels [4, 7]. Surgery for spinal tumors appears to have improved results of assessing diagnosis, correction of a pathological fracture, treatment of intractable pain, and treatment for a primary cancer or solitary metastasis or recurrence [1]. The anterior approach has also been useful in adult scoliosis patients for curve improvement and has been suggested to be a requirement in the treatment of congenital spine deformities as well as trauma [7]. The anterior approach has also been found useful with spondylitis with involvement of the vertebral body by resection of the pathology and reconstruction of the spinal column [8].

The anterior approach to different areas of the spine is usually varied depending on the involved region of the spine. Three regions are usually identified (T1–5, T6–9, and T10–L1) [9]. For the cephalad region (down to T6), the approach usually involves a right thoracotomy, although very high approaches (C7–T2) may involve a sternotomy [3, 7]. Below T6, the approach involves a thoracotomy with the middle region (T6–12) usually approached by a left posterior–lateral thoracotomy.

In general, the thoracotomy is usually located about two interspaces above the target vertebral body or disk. For scoliosis, it is often on the convex side of the curve [3]. For T11–12 lesions, a thoracolumbar approach usually requires resection of the tenth rib and limited posterolateral division of the ipsilateral hemidiaphragm and its paravertebral interspace including the psoas musculature [3]. The caudal or thoracolumbar region (L1–2) is associated with a left-sided approach and minimal diaphragm mobilization (to avoid the liver) [7].

Anterior spine fusion is generally more advantageous than posterior fusion because it reduces the levels of fusion, prevents the crankshaft phenomenon (growth of the anterior portion of the spine when the posterior spine is fused resulting in lordosis and bending of the fusion mass [10]), and is better at correcting hypokyphosis [1, 6], 11]. The anterior approach also provides excellent exposure to allow decompression of the spinal canal. This contributes to an improved neurological outcome with vertebral fractures [1, 7]. In addition, the anterior approach minimizes damage to the posterior ligamentous structures, spinal cord, and segmental nerve roots [3]. The anterior approach offers advantages of less blood loss, a kyphotic effect for a lordotic deformity, prevention of erector musculature denervation, and absence of prominent implants [6].

The anterior approach has higher morbidity rates than the posterior approach [7]. Pulmonary complications are quite common in up to 50% of patients [3]. The most common problems are atelectasis, prolonged pleural air leakage, hemorrhage, infection, and post-thoracotomy pain [8]. In addition, with anterior spine surgery, the segmental vessels may be inadvertently or intentionally ligated, producing spinal cord ischemia or a relative ischemia that makes the spinal cord more sensitive to other adverse events [4]. The most feared complication is spinal cord ischemia from division of the artery of Adamkiewicz; especially in the regions where it is most commonly located (especially T9–12 on the left) [3]. The loss of critical anterior radicular arteries is particularly an issue in congenital conditions leading to spine deformity, because these patients appear to have abnormal vascularity [5].

However, any organ in the thorax can be injured. This includes the occurrence of chylothorax, especially when exposure occurs along the lower aspect of the thoracic spine during a right-sided approach [3]. Delayed rupture of the aorta due to a pseudo-aneurysm has also been reported [8, 9]. Of note, the death rate of patients with malignancy is higher such that some authors recommend reserving surgery for those patients who have preoperative neurological deficits [3].

Because some of the morbidity of the anterior approach is due to the necessity for a thoracotomy, newer techniques have been developed using thorascopic methods (video-assisted thorascopic surgery [VATS]). VATS has been successfully used in thoracic and thoracolumbar spine surgery. As with open thoracotomy, VATS requires a double lumen tube or bronchial blocker and lateral decubitus positioning; a right-sided approach is usually recommended [9].

All indications for surgery via a thoracotomy are also indications for VATS and include scoliosis, Scheuermanns's disease, hemivertebrae, crankshaft deformities, tumor resection, spinal decompression secondary to fractures, decompression of nerve roots secondary to spinal degeneration, and spinal correction of deformities. Contraindications are intolerance to one-lung ventilation, high airway pressures, emphysema, severe respiratory insufficiency, and previous thoracotomy [9].

VATS is comparable to open and posterior procedures in terms of curve correction and adequate exposure from T2–L1. It provides better cosmesis, reduced morbidity, lower blood loss, lower infection rates, better illumination and magnification of the spine (especially the dura and the origin of the nerve roots), less damage to adjacent tissues, pulmonary compromise, pain, blood loss, and muscle wall morbidity compared with standard thoracotomy. VATS increases operative time, intensive care unit time, the need for an iliac crest bone graft, and complication rates, but has shorter overall recovery time and hospitalization, with less pulmonary function impairment [9, 11].

The most common complications of VATS include pleural effusion, intercostal neuralgia, and ipsilateral pneumothorax [12]. It can be difficult to control bleeding with VATS so preservation of blood vessels is recommended [9]. Because of the higher death rates in patients with malignancy, the thorascopic approach may offer less risk in these patients [3].

There has also been a trend toward the use of a posterior approach to achieve similar surgical results as described for anterior surgery. In tumor and trauma, the vertebral body segment can be excised and anterior column support placed through a costotransversectomy. This surgical approach involves the resection of the ribs bilaterally, typically out to the level of the posterior angle, providing surgical access to the level. Again, the thoracic contents are at risk, although these procedures are done without breach of the pleural space. Similar to procedures done with a thoracotomy, anterior spinal cord blood supply may be at risk with these approaches.

Compared to the anterior approach, the posterior approach allows preservation of the thoracic wall musculature with decompression of neuroforamina and the central canal. It is better for patients who require fusions of multiple curves [6]. Advocates for the posterior approach indicate less morbidity and the reduced possibility of a kyphotic deformity from loss of alignment [1].

A second advantage of the posterior approach is that access to the posterior spinal elements allows an osteotomy. At least two osteotomies are used to treat sagittal plane deformity of the thoracic spine. The Smith-Peterson osteotomy (SPO) was originally developed for the surgical correction of ankylosing spondylitis and is now used for other kyphotic deformities as well. This procedure involves removal of posterior column bone, facet joints, the inferior portion of the lamina of the rostral vertebrae, spinous process, and ligamentum flavum. This shortens the vertebral column, resulting in hyperextension at the level hinging around the disk space. Pedicle subtraction osteotomies (PSO) are also utilized when greater correction is needed. In this procedure, a wedge cut to the anterior third of the vertebral body (including the complete removal of the pedicles and posterior elements bilaterally) is undertaken. The procedure with greatest risk utilized in deformity correction is a posterior vertebral column resection (PVCR; removal of an entire vertebral segment), typically with the placement of anterior column support and angular correction. Neurological complications have been reported for each of these. A recent publication reported new neurological deficits in 3.7% of patients. This risk increases incrementally with greater amounts of bone resection. PSOs resulted in nearly double (7%) the risk for new neurological deficits. Complete cord injuries have been reported with PVCR procedures, and neurological changes are higher, although the rate is difficult to determine. Up to 22% of patients have been reported to have intraoperative IOM changes [1].

It is thought that many of these complications are related to stretching and injury to the anteriorly located blood vessels [13]. If osteotomies are performed, the possibilities of residual fragments of bone, gel foam, or bone wax necessitate the examination of the spinal canal, especially if IOM indicates a possible problem [4]. If IOM changes occur with closure of the osteotomy, the correction is released and lesser correction or intraoperative changes to the surgical plan are made.

A debate exists about the best posterior instrumentation for the correction of scoliosis/kyphosis. Because of the access to the pedicles of the vertebrae, segmental instrumentation with pedicle screws can be used; these methods appear to produce the best three-column fixation with a more powerful correction of coronal plane deformities [14]. This is particularly useful in scoliosis when the curve exceeds 100° or a sagittal kyphosis of more than 120° is present [15].

The success of segmental instrumentation with pedicle screws has been well demonstrated

in the lumbar-sacral spine, where the corrective forces are greater than hook and wire techniques. However, placement of pedicle screws in the thoracic spine is more challenging than in the lumbar spine since they are smaller, narrower, have greater anatomical variability in diameter, shape, and have varying anteromedial and cephalad angulation [16–18]. One author has suggested that the pedicles from T4 to T8 may not be wide enough for pedicle screw insertion [19]. However, new techniques, including the use of computerassisted navigation, have made it possible to instrument the thoracic spine, even in extremely difficult situations with greater success and decreased risk to patients.

The rates of thoracic pedicle screw malposition may exceed the reported rates for the lumbar spine, perhaps because the thoracic pedicles are smaller; especially in women where the pedicles are smaller than their male counterparts [20]. However, the complication rates of thoracic pedicle screws are similar to other methods of spinal instrumentation [21]. In addition to the risk of injury to nerve roots, the spinal cord is at risk with a medially positioned screw due to direct injury or spinal stenosis likely because the spinal canal is smaller compared with the size of the spinal cord [17]. This is particularly true on the concave side of the spine with scoliosis (especially at the apex), where the spinal cord may be in direct contact with the medial wall of the pedicle [16, 22-25].

With lateral malposition, the pedicle screw can irritate or injure the nerve roots as well as injuring major vessels (e.g., the aorta), pleura, spinal segmental arteries, and viscera. Because of the proximity to the roots, the identification of malpositioned screws has been attempted using stimulation of the screws to determine the thresholds for EMG activation of the muscles innervated by the corresponding nerve roots. This technique has been successfully utilized in the lumbar-sacral spine, but studies with this technique have had mixed results with pedicle screws placed in the thoracic spine cephalad to T10 [26]. Using this technique, malpositioned screws in the thoracic spine are more difficult to detect, likely because of less robust innervation of musculature

(rectus abdominis and intercostal muscles) [27]. Attempts using the paraspinous muscles [28] and electrodes in the axilla [22] have had variable success.

The risk to the spinal cord by medial malposition appears to occur when the screw encroaches beyond 2 mm and compresses the spinal cord [22]. An alternate approach to identify medial malposition utilizes stimulation of the screw pilot hole with a four-pulse technique similar to that used transcranially for MEP [17, 20, 22]. This stimulation is thought to activate the corticospinal tract in the spinal cord and is measured as triggered EMG in the leg muscles (anterior tibialis, medial gastrocnemius, abductor hallucis, and quadriceps). This technique appears to be successful, providing that the pilot hole is stimulated with a ball-tipped probe before the screw is placed (because the screws are made of titanium, which is a poor electrical conductor due to the oxide coating) [20]. It has been shown to significantly reduce the incidence of clinically relevant thoracic pedicle screw medial malpositioning [20].

Of note, medial penetration of a thoracic pedicle screw can also produce a dural tear, leading to a cerebrospinal fluid leak and intracranial hypotension [29]. Since a nonreversible IOM change with a tear is always associated with a new-onset neurological deficit, monitoring can guide whether repair of the leak is needed [30].

Neurological Risks of Thoracic Surgery

In general, the risks of neurological injury with surgery on the thoracic spine relate to the pathophysiology of the individual patient and the surgical procedure used. The reported risk of spinal cord injury in scoliosis varies between 0.3 and 1.4% with the most recent data from the Scoliosis Research Society of 0.5% (2006) when intraoperative monitoring has been used [4]. Neurological risk is increased in some patients, especially in those with congenital kyphosis, neurofibromatosis, or skeletal dysplasia [4]. It is also increased in patients with asymmetric neurological deficits, preoperative paresthesias, bowel or bladder dysfunction, or excessive neck or back pain [4].

With respect to the surgical procedure, the proposed mechanisms of injury during spine surgery are direct cord trauma (hooks, wires, and pedicle screws), epidural hematoma, distraction, or compression of the spinal cord from correction by instrumentation, excessive tension on blood vessels leading to ischemia, spinal cord ischemia from relative hypotension, anemia, or ligation of anterior segmental vessels [4].

In general, surgical techniques have evolved to maximize the amount of correction and minimize the fusion levels. As such the instrumentation has evolved from Harrington distraction to rod-screw constructs [6]. These improvements now allow for segmental instrumentation and fusion through the use of multiple anchor points in the vertebrae. The ability to correct complex curves are significantly increased but the risk for neurological injury is also increased with the addition of more fixation points [4]. Because metal instrumentation is stronger than bone, a screw or hook has the potential to cut through the bone if excessive force is applied [6]. As such, each step during instrumentation and correction has the potential to produce injury, making realtime continuous assessment or monitoring important for immediately identifying changes in neurological status. Adding osteotomies, corpectomy, and anterior fusion increases the risk of further neurological compromise as the vascular supply of the spinal cord can be disrupted due to direct ligation of segmental vessels [3]. Further, distraction or compression of the anterior blood supply can also lead to neurological changes.

Although direct trauma to the spinal cord can produce injury, paralysis is thought to be most likely the result of an ischemic insult to the anterior and central portions of the spinal cord. This makes blood pressure management very important [31]. In general, this means that early identification of the problem may allow correction of the offending element or adjustment of the physiology to improve blood flow and perfusion pressure, reducing the risk of permanent neurological injury. This will be most effective when the reduction in blood flow relates to the smaller vascular structures within the spinal cord and less when the major vasculature is compromised.

Major vascular injury during spine surgery depends on the level of surgery. For example, the internal carotid artery and vertebral artery are more commonly compromised with anterior cervical surgery and the vertebral artery is more commonly compromised during the posterior cervical approach [32]. In the anterior approach to thoracolumbar spine surgery, the aorta, inferior vena cava, and azygous and hemiazygous veins can be injured. Further, avulsion or sacrifice of the intercostal arteries can occur. The thorascopic approach is associated with less vascular injury [32]. Thoracic pedicle screws can injure the aorta (as can a K wire), and can lead to injury or a pseudoaneurysm [32].

Ligation of the segmental vessels to the spinal cord is routine during anterior thoracic surgery and has been generally considered safe if the ligation is unilateral, performed on the convexity of the curve, and the ligation occurs at the midvertebral level [32]. However, anterior spinal artery syndrome has been reported in patients who have had prior correction for kyphosis [32]. Compression of the superior mesenteric artery between the aorta and the duodenum has also been reported during spine straightening for scoliosis correction with nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, and distention occurring 1 week after surgery [32]. Anterior lumbar surgery has been associated with laceration of the iliac veins or (less commonly) the iliac artery; especially at the L4–5 level [32].

The risk of ischemic injury is increased due to the increasing complexity of instrumentation and the increasing complexity of the pathophysiology in patients presenting for surgery. This has raised a concern about optimal blood pressure management [33]. Although deliberate hypotension has been used successfully in some young healthy patients undergoing simple instrumentation, recommendations for a more physiologically normal blood pressure have emerged in older patients with increased neurological risk or increasingly complex procedures. For example, a mean blood pressure (BP) less than 55 mmHg increases neurological risk [4]. If it is desired to lower blood pressure to reduce bleeding, mild hypotension to a mean BP of 65 to 75 mmHg has been recommended prior to the corrective maneuver with a restoration of the mean BP to greater than 70 mmHg after spinal manipulation and correction [4]. Hence it has become common to increase the mean pressure, when appropriate, in patients exhibiting possible ischemia (such as when IOM indicates a possible neural compromise). A second suggestion is the use of intravenous lidocaine (2 mg/kg) to provide vasodilation in the ischemic spinal cord after segmental vessel ligation during anterior surgery [34].

Finally, if spinal cord injury is suspected, it has been suggested to keep the mean arterial pressure (MAP) greater than 80 mmHg postoperatively as well as to administer methyl prednisolone (although its effectiveness is debated) [35]. The optimal blood pressure in this circumstance should be individualized based on the patient's presurgical baseline and any vascular pathology. Ideally, clinical assessment or electrophysiological monitoring may help determine the minimally adequate pressure.

Monitoring in Thoracic Spinal Surgery

The Stagnara wake-up test was first described and is still used in some centers, but has largely been replaced by electrophysiology [36]. The somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP) was introduced in 1977 by Nash and more recently transcranial motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) have been used since US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval in 1995 [37]. Of note, MEP changes have been reported with low blood pressure. As a result, keeping the mean BP greater than 80 mmHg or 20% above their normal baseline blood pressure has been recommended [4].

A variety of monitoring techniques have been used for thoracic spine surgery:

 The Stagnara wake-up test has been used to assess motor function during the procedure [38]. Since the surgical procedure involves several possible mechanisms for spinal injury, there is not one clear time for a wake-up test to be helpful other than to confirm significant intraoperative electrophysiological changes.

- Testing for clonus can be used on awakening, but as with the wake-up test, it will not allow a timely identification of a problem nor help identify a specific insult needing correction.
- 3. The spontaneous EMG of muscles innervated by the nerve roots in the operative field can be used as described above. However, in the thoracic region of the spine, this methodology may be less effective than for cervical or lumbar regions. Spontaneous EMG can also assess impending light anesthesia when background EMG activity is seen in multiple channels.
- 4. Cortical SSEPs can be used to assess transmission in the white matter of the dorsal columns through the operative field as well as to detect unfavorable circumstances in the arms, neck, brainstem, and cortex. When the cortical responses from the lower extremity change, the cortical response from the upper extremity can be used as a reference for global effects (e.g., anesthesia, whole body hypothermia) to differentiate these changes from problems in the operative field.
- 5. SSEPs recorded by an epidural electrode can also be used to assess spinal cord transmission, especially if there are not adequate cortical responses or those from the cervical spine. Optimally, this requires placing electrodes cephalad and caudal to the operative site. Techniques using the epidural or paraspinous electrodes for simulation and recording above and below the operative area have also been used.
- 6. MEPs recorded as compound muscle action potential responses (CMAPs) are useful for assessing transmission in the anterior white matter motor tracts. They are also a means for assessing the functional status of the gray matter of the lower extremities to the extent it is in the operative field (L4–S2 roots). As with the SSEP, the upper extremity responses serve as a reference.
- MEPs recorded by an epidural electrode can also be used for this purpose, similar to the dis-

cussion of the epidural recordings for the SSEPs. However, with scoliosis, D wave changes have been observed due to the rotation of the spinal cord during spinal derotation [39].

- 8. The H-Reflex response can be used in conjunction with MEPs or as a replacement if conventional MEPs cannot be obtained. This response assesses the peripheral nerves, spinal gray matter reflex pathways, and will be sensitive to a cross-sectional spinal cord injury cephalad to the gray matter involved in the reflex (L4–S2 for posterior tibial nerve).
- The electroencephalogram (processed or raw) can be used to assess the anesthetic effects on the cerebral cortex. For these surgeries, it is unlikely that cerebral ischemia would occur.

Unfortunately, one neurological complication of prone spine surgery is not detected by IOM. Postoperative visual loss is a rare but devastating complication of spine surgery in the prone position. The incidence ranges from 0.017 to 0.1% and may be due to occipital lobe infarction, retinal infarction or, most commonly, posterior ischemic optic neuropathy. A case-controlled study revealed risk factors that include male gender, obesity, and head-down position (e.g., Wilson Frame), longer anesthesia duration, large blood loss, anemia, and crystalloid rather than colloid volume replacement [40, 41]. This is thought to be consistent with venous congestion as well as ischemia. Recommendations for reducing the risk have been published, but to date, monitoring of the full field, flash-induced electroretinogram, VEP, and intraocular pressure have not been systematically evaluated for their effectiveness in the prevention of this condition [40– 42] (see Chap. 4, "Visual Evoked Potentials," for review of these techniques).

Case 1

A 33-year-old 70-kg woman with congenital scoliosis had an anterior T6–T8 interbody fusion with cages, lateral plate, and screws for degenerative thoracic disk disease. This resolved her symptoms but 3 years later she presented with



Fig. 34.1 Chest radiographs taken preoperatively of the patient in Case 1 showing the spine instrumentation

chronic pain following a "pop" that started with back motion. CT and MRI studies were consistent with disease at the adjacent levels (T4–5 and T5–6) with probable nonunion of the original fusion (Fig. 34.1). She also had a history of depression. A pulmonary embolism occurred after her first spine fusion, which was thought to originate in her left arm. Her physical examination shows normal light touch, strength, and sensation in all extremities, but a tender spine sensitive to palpation over the region of the original fusion.

After failure of conservative therapy and facet joint injections, she was scheduled for posterior exploration of the original fusion T6-8 and posterior fusion T4-8 with segmental instrumentation using local autograft bone and bone morphogenetic protein. Preoperative evaluation revealed no additional medical problems. General anesthesia was induced after sedation with midazolam (2 mg) using propofol (200 mg), lidocaine (40 mg), fentanyl (100 µg), rocuronium (50 mg), and vancomycin (1 g). General endotracheal anesthesia was maintained using a propofol infusion (160-170 µg/kg/min), sufentanil infusion (0.5–0.6 μ g/kg/h), desflurane (2–3%) inspired), with no additional muscle relaxant. In addition, ketamine (50 mg) and decadron (4 mg) were given during the 5-h procedure. The patient

was positioned prone with the head in a neutral position head holder and the arms were placed on arm boards with the shoulders abducted at 90° , elbows at 90° , and arms slightly forward from the plane of the chest.

In addition to the usual physiological monitors, processed EEG monitoring was used and blood pressure was monitored by an intra-arterial catheter (mean BP was maintained between 75 and 90 mmHg). Esophageal temperature was maintained between 35.9 and 37.2 °C. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring was conducted using SSEPs (median nerve and posterior tibial nerve), transcranial elicited MEPs recorded from the abductor pollicis brevis (APB) and abductor hallicus (AH) muscles, and free-run electromyography from the APB and T4–8 intercostal muscles. Pedicle screw testing was conducted and all responses were elicited at stimulation intensities greater than 20 mA.

The surgical procedure proceeded uneventfully. Pedicle screw placement was difficult owing to the narrow nature of the pedicles. Intraoperative CT scanning and computerassisted navigation were used to enhance visible landmarks. Decortication of the spinous processes and placement of segmental instrumentation were accomplished and the wound was closed. The intraoperative monitoring was uneventful with no apparent changes due to surgical events. However, the amplitude of the cortical SSEPs from the left arm and the MEPs recorded from the left APB markedly decreased during the procedure. The arm position was adjusted and the blood pressure was raised resulting in resolution of the changes. The tracings are shown in Fig. 34.2. On awakening, the patient had no neurological changes and was discharged on postoperative day 3 with improved back symptoms and pain management. Her postoperative visits demonstrated continued improvement.

Discussion

For this case, the response changes can be assessed as the result of the four etiological cate-



Fig. 34.2 Selected tracings during the surgery in Case 1. Cortical SSEP tracings are shown at various times from the left (L) and right (R) median (MN) and posterior tibial nerves (PTN). MEP tracings are shown at the bottom as

recorded from the left and right abductor pollicis brevis (*APB*) and abductor hallicus (*AH*). The *asterisk* marks the onset of the loss of the SSEPs and MEPs recorded from the left arm

gories: Surgical, anesthetic, technical, anatomic/ positioning, and physiological. A surgical etiology was thought to be unlikely in this case primarily because the operative site was well below the neural tracts involved in the loss. When the surgeon was informed about the loss, they could not visualize how their procedure could account for this change.

Anesthetic effects would be an unlikely cause of the changes that were observed in this case, where two modalities in only one extremity were affected. In general, anesthetic effects would most likely be bilateral and global (i.e., affecting all four extremities). On the other hand, the effects of anesthesia could result in a differential effect on modalities that are most sensitive to anesthetic agents (e.g., MEPs) as well as possibly a greater effect on lower extremity responses than upper extremity responses. Finally, if the amplitude of the responses is diminished and is near the background noise level, a greater anesthetic effect might be expected on very low amplitude responses as compared to larger amplitude, more robust responses.

Finally, if the arm that lost the responses had some sort of regional anesthetic effect, then anesthesia could have accounted for the loss. Aside from a regional blockade (such as brachial plexus block or Bier block), this would require that the anesthetic agent be selectively trapped in the arm and be of the kind to interfere with axonal conduction of the SSEPs and MEPs or generation of the MEPs. Because most intravenous anesthetic agents interfere with synaptic transmission, the only agent that might be involved would be muscle relaxants. However, this would not account for the SSEP loss. If, however, a local anesthetic (e.g., lidocaine) had been injected and was trapped (e.g., a tight blood pressure cuff), then anesthetic agents could potentially be involved.

A review of the anesthetic record and discussion with the anesthesiologist did not reveal any potential etiologies for the loss. A review of technical causes for the changes was conducted. Nothing in the programming of the machine used for acquiring the IOM modalities could account for the changes. The stimulators and recording amplifiers appeared to function properly. With respect to anatomy and positioning issues, these were thought to possibly be a cause. A cerebral stroke was thought to be unlikely since that would likely have altered at least one of the other extremities. The common nerve roots involved include C8 and T1 (median nerve C6-T1, APB C8–T1) and the patient reportedly had a bulging nucleus pulposus in the cervical spine. For this to have caused the problem, there would likely to have been adverse neck positioning. This late in the case, it was thought to be unlikely since there was no evidence of improper positioning initially and the neck position had not changed. The most likely anatomic/positioning issue was pressure or traction on the brachial plexus from unfavorable arm position. The arm was examined and it appeared to be in an acceptable position. It had not been moved by the surgeons leaning on it nor had it been moved by radiology equipment, but a combination of positioning with the factors noted below was considered possible.

Examination of the forearm revealed a swollen tense arm that appeared to be caused by the infiltration of the intravenous line on that side and not due to a hematoma at the arterial line site. Temporary placement of the pulse oximeter on the fingers of that hand revealed a very poor tracing. In retrospect, the anesthesiologist noted some problems with the arterial line, which had been placed in the radial artery of that arm. Specific examination of the ground, stimulation and recording electrodes revealed marked swelling at the site of the SSEP median nerve stimulation and MEP recording needles. During SSEP stimulation, the hand motion was markedly different than it had been before the swelling. In addition, the blood pressure cuff appeared tighter than usual, perhaps due to the arm swelling.

The arm swelling could have both mechanical and physiological effects contributing to the signal loss. With respect to the SSEP stimulation electrodes, the swelling could have moved the needles away from the median nerve, decreasing the effectiveness of the stimulation and producing local ischemia in the hand impairing the recording of the MEP. Visual inspection of both sets of needles suggested that this might have been the case. With respect to the perfusion of the arm and physiological effects, the tense arm was suggestive of a developing compartment syndrome with resulting ischemia of the muscles and nerves involved in creation of the SSEPs and MEPs. In addition, the tense blood pressure cuff could also have been contributing to ischemia and the possibility of a vascular abnormality resulting in or from the DVT in that arm. Finally, the arm was cold from the infiltration of



Fig. 34.3 Preoperative lateral radiograph of Case 2 showing the magnitude of thoracic deformity before (**a**) and after (**b**) surgery

unwarmed fluids and this may also have contributed to the changes in the monitoring responses. Other physiological changes were also considered, but central changes such as relative hypotension, hypocarbia, and whole body hypothermia were thought to be unlikely since only one extremity was affected and the anesthesia monitors did not reveal these abnormalities.

In response to the change, the arm was repositioned to insure minimal problems at the brachial plexus and elbow. The mean BP was elevated by 10 mmHg. The noninvasive blood pressure cuff was moved to the other arm and the intravenous fluids in that arm were stopped. Warm pads were used to help with the arm temperature and absorption of the infiltrated fluids. The arm could not be elevated since this would increase the stress of the brachial plexus at the shoulder. The pulse in the arm, as assessed by the arterial line and pulse oximeter was observed to insure that a compartment syndrome requiring fasciotomy was not needed. The change in the evoked potentials gradually resolved and the surgery was completed uneventfully. Fortunately, the loss of monitoring capability in the arm did not reduce the monitoring signals most needed for the surgical procedure. By the conclusion of the procedure, the swelling had markedly improved and no new neurological abnormality in the involved arm could be identified.

Case 2

A 35-year-old woman with posttraumatic/postinfectious kyphosis resulting in fusion of the T7 and T8 vertebral bodies presented with severe thoracic kyphosis measuring 137°. This patient was treated nonoperatively for several years, including physical therapy, medications, and alternative treatments without improvement. She endorsed worsening deformity with the inability to maintain forward gaze. After a complete medical evaluation, including preoperative evaluation with endocrine and anesthesia, a posterior PVCR of T7, and posterior instrumentation from T2–L2 was planned (Fig. 34.3). General anesthesia was induced with propofol and maintained with total intravenous anesthesia. No volatile anesthetic was used at any time. Intravenous infusion of propofol, sufentanil, ketamine, and lidocaine were titrated for the remainder of the case. The patient was positioned prone with the head in a neutral position head holder and the arms were placed on arm boards with the shoulders abducted at 90°, elbows at 90°, and arms slightly forward from the plane of the chest.

In addition to the standard physiological monitors, processed EEG monitoring was used as well as an intra-arterial catheter to monitor blood pressure continuously. The mean arterial pressure was maintained between 85 and 110 mmHg for the case with intermittent use of vasoactive medications. Esophageal temperature was maintained between 35.9 and 37.2 °C. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring was conducted using SSEPs (median nerve and posterior tibial nerve), transcranial elicited MEPs recorded from the APB, tibialis anterior (TA) and abductor hallicus (AH) muscles, and free running electromyography from the bilateral rectus abdominus and iliopsoas muscles.

The surgical procedure proceeded uneventfully. During the exposure portion of the case, it was noted that the left lower extremity cortical SSEP signal amplitude attenuated to greater than 50% of baseline values (Fig. 34.4) and the MEPs were maintained (Fig. 34.5). This was not observed in any other cortical signals for the remaining extremities. Importantly, the subcortical SSEP signals for the left lower extremity remained consistent with baseline values, thus an alert was not called. The left lower extremity cortical SSEP signals fluctuated above and below the 50% threshold for the remainder of the procedure.

Pedicle screw placement was difficult due to the narrow nature of the pedicles. Intraoperative CT scanning and computer-assisted navigation were used to enhance visible landmarks. No IOM perturbations were observed during this portion of the surgical procedure. Decortication of the spinous processes and a Smith-Peterson osteotomy (SPO) were then performed. During this



Fig. 34.4 Cortical SSEP tracings are shown at various times from the left (L) and right (R) median (MN) and posterior tibial nerves (PTN) for Case 2. The *asterisk*

marks the onset of the loss of the SSEPs and MEPs recorded from the left arm



Fig. 34.5 Selected MEP tracings for Case 2 from the left and right abductor pollicis brevis (*APB*), tibialis anterior (*TA*), and abductor hallicus (*AH*). The tracings at the top

were from the baseline and the bottom tracings were recorded at closing



Fig. 34.6 Graph of selected tracings of the cortical SSEP amplitudes from the left (L) and right (R) median (MN) and posterior tibial nerves (PTN) as taken from the technical log of the case. Amplitudes are plotted as a fraction of the baseline values at the beginning of the monitoring (A)

through closing (*E*, end). The amplitude of the left PTN response fell below the 50% threshold alert criteria value at *B*. The amplitude of the left and right MN responses fell during the Smith-Peterson osteotomy (*C* to *D*) but did not reach the 50% threshold alert criteria value

segment of the procedure, acute blood loss and anemia prompted transfusion of two units of packed red blood cells. A decline in upper extremity amplitude was seen, but not to alert levels (>50% decrease in amplitude). At this time, the surgeons requested a 10-mg dose of dexamethasone. The amplitude decrease resolved; no acute lower extremity amplitude changes or loss of MEPs were seen. Lastly, placement of segmental instrumentation and deformity correction was accomplished. During the osteotomy and spinal correction, MEPs were obtained frequently to ensure that vascular compromise and overcorrection was avoided. No further IOM perturbations were observed during this portion of the procedure. The wound was closed shortly thereafter and no new neurological deficits were noted postoperatively.

Discussion

The change in SSEP amplitudes is better visualized when the amplitude values are plotted from the technical log of the case (Fig. 34.6). Looking at this graph, it is apparent that the amplitude of the upper extremity median SSEP responses (MN)

increased their amplitude following baseline acquisition, perhaps due to an influence of residual anesthesia induction drugs at baseline that resolved during further recording. This "baseline drift" reduced the sensitivity of the monitoring for these tracings such that the values of the MN amplitudes did not reach alert thresholds during the SPO when the acute blood loss occurred. As such, monitoring should consider acute changes such as those seen during the osteotomy (C to D) as a basis for concern. For example, if the baseline had been reset to the higher values at the time of x rays prior to the surgery, the amplitudes would have fallen below the alert threshold of 50% (i.e., the amplitudes would have fallen to 45-44% [left, right] of the new baseline). Fortunately, correction of the anemia and volume loss corrected the likely cause of the amplitude decline. Because MEPs are more sensitive to spinal cord ischemia, it was good monitoring strategy to frequently follow the MEP values during this time to insure that the transfusion and physiological management were optimal.

In contrast to the responses obtained from the upper extremity, the lower extremity amplitudes declined after the baseline recordings. Although not clear why, it was felt likely that a temperature decline in the lower extremity during positioning and skin preparation may have contributed to that change. A drop in esophageal temperature of 1.4 °C and a 6–7% increase in latency were consistent with the reduced conduction velocity in the legs from a temperature decline. If the PTN baseline amplitude values had been reset to the amplitudes at the time of x rays prior to the surgery (i.e., 47-74% [left, right] of the initial values), the amplitude values would have not have declined to less than 70% of the new baselines. In this case, the team was reassured by the slow steady decline in amplitudes that preceded the surgical intervention and with the fact that MEPs remained present.

Such baseline drift has been seen in previous cases. The term "anesthetic fade" has been used for the increase in stimulation voltage needed to record MEPs as the surgery progresses [43]. In this case, declines and increases in SSEP amplitudes were both seen. Although an anestheticrelated factor may have been associated with the amplitude increase as noted above, it is unlikely that anesthesia contributed to the lower extremity SSEP amplitude decline since a global decrease would have been expected. As such, "anesthetic fade" might perhaps be better considered as "baseline drift" since multiple causes might contribute. As noted, tracking baseline drift so as to reset alert criteria and watching for acute amplitude declines are prudent practices to help optimize monitoring.

Conclusions

The use of intraoperative monitoring has become common place in the correction of spinal deformity. The initial demonstration of improved outcome was in the correction of scoliosis. The value in reducing preventable paralysis with scoliosis was shown by the Scoliosis Research Society (SRS) and European Spinal Deformities Society. They pooled the results of 173 surgeons who performed correction of spinal deformity in 51,263 cases (scoliosis, kyphosis, fractures, and spondylolisthesis) [44]. The overall incidence of neurological injury with SSEP monitoring was 0.55% (1 in 182 cases), well below the 0.7–4.0% expected based on historical experience. In 1992, the SRS published a position paper that concluded that "neurophysiological monitoring can assist in the early detection of complications and possibly prevent post-operative morbidity in patients undergoing operations on the spine" [44]. This was echoed in the British literature, saying "it is standard practice to conduct some form of monitoring when performing any spinal operation that is associated with a high risk of neurological injury" [45]. This made the utilization of monitoring a virtual standard of care during axial skeletal and spinal cord procedures [46].

Recently the American Academy of Neurology with the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society published an evidence-based guideline update on spine monitoring with SSEPs and MEPs [47, 48]. They identified class I and class 2 evidence which showed that the detection of adverse IOM changes during monitoring allowed significant reduction in the occurrence of paraparesis, paraplegia, and quadriplegia. All patients with new-onset neurological changes had changes in IOM responses. This finding has been echoed by multiple studies, and the cost-effectiveness in scoliosis has been demonstrated [44, 46, 49–60].

Hence continuous IOM, in a real-time fashion utilizing MEPs as well as SSEPs, is crucial in preventing and minimizing neurological injury, which can be a direct result of the surgical intervention or an indirect result of factors unrelated to the surgical field. The complexity of modernday spine surgery, the abnormal physiological position of the patient during surgery, and the length of the surgical procedures all put the patient at risk for neurological injury, which may vary from a simple peripheral nerve neuropraxia to a devastating complete spinal cord injury. Utilizing appropriate modalities of IOM can prevent and correct most of these complications through early detection.

References¹

 *Abraham DJ, Herkowitz HN, Katz JN. Indications for thoracic and lumbar spine fusion and trends in use. Orthop Clin North Am. 1998;29(4):803.

¹Asterisk indicates key references.

- Miller NH. Cause and natural history of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Orthop Clin North Am. 1999;30(3):343–52.
- *Pettiford BL, Schuchert MJ, Jeyabalan G, Landreneau JR, Kilic A, Landreneau JP, et al. Technical challenges and utility of anterior exposure for thoracic spine pathology. Ann Thorax Surg. 2008;86(6):1762–8.
- *Pahys JM, Guille JT, D'Andrea LP, Samdani AF, Beck J, Betz RR. Neurologic injury in the surgical treatment of idiopathic scoliosis: guidelines for assessment and management. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2009;17(7):426–34.
- Noordeen MHH, Garrido E, Tucker SK, Elsebaie HB. The surgical treatment of congenital kyphosis. Spine. 2009;34(17):1808–14.
- Cheng JS, Lebow RL, Schmidt MH, Spooner J. Rod derotation techniques for thoracolumbar spinal deformity. Neurosurgery. 2008;63(3 Suppl):149–56.
- *Nadir A, Sahin E, Ozum U, Karadag O, Tezeren G, Kaptanoglu M. Thoracotomy in spine surgery. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2008;56(8):482–4.
- Borm W, Hubner F, Haffke T, Richter HP, Kast E, Rath SA. Approach-related complications of transthoracic spinal reconstruction procedures. Zentralbl Neurochir. 2004;65(1):1–6.
- Longo UG, Papapietro N, Maffulli N, Denaro V. Thoracoscopy for minimally invasive thoracic spine surgery. Orthop Clin North Am. 2009;40(4):459–64.
- Dubousset J, Herring JA, Shufflebarger H. The crankshaft phenomenon. J Pediatr Orthop. 1989;9(5):541–50.
- Reddi V, Clarke Jr DV, Arlet V. Anterior thoracoscopic instrumentation in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a systematic review. Spine. 2008;33(18):1986–94.
- Garcia P, Pizanis A, Massmann A, Reischmann B, Burkhardt M, Tosounidis G, et al. Bilateral pneumothoraces, pneumomediastinum, pneumoperitoneum, pneumoretroperitoneum, and subcutaneous emphysema after thoracoscopic anterior fracture stabilization. Spine. 2009;34(10):E371–5.
- La Marca F, Brumblay H. Smith-Petersen osteotomy in thoracolumbar deformity surgery. Neurosurgery. 2008;63(3 Suppl):163–70.
- Lonner BS, Auerbach JD, Boachie-Adjei O, Shah SA, Hosogane N, Newton PO. Treatment of thoracic scoliosis: are monoaxial thoracic pedicle screws the best form of fixation for correction? Spine. 2009;34(8):845–51.
- Bridwell KH, Anderson PA, Boden SD, Vaccaro AR, Wang JC. What's new in spine surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008;90(7):1609–19.
- Isley MR, Zhang XF, Balzer JR, Leppanen RE. Current trends in pedicle screw stimulation techniques: lumbosacral, thoracic, and cervical levels. Neurodiagn J. 2012;52(2):100–75.
- Calancie B, Donohue ML, Harris CB, Canute GW, Singla A, Wilcoxen KG, et al. Neuromonitoring with pulse-train stimulation for implantation of thoracic pedicle screws: a blinded and randomized clinical study. Part 1. Methods and alarm criteria. J Neurosurg Spine. 2014;20(6):675–91.

- Danesh-Clough T, Taylor P, Hodgson B, Walton M. The use of evoked EMG in detecting misplaced thoracolumbar pedicle screws. Spine. 2001;26(12): 1313–6.
- Cinotti G, Gumina S, Ripani M, Postacchini F. Pedicle instrumentation in the thoracic spine. A morphometric and cadaveric study for placement of screws. Spine. 1999;24(2):114–9.
- *Donohue ML, Murtagh-Schaffer C, Basta J, Moquin RR, Bashir A, Calancie B. Pulse-train stimulation for detecting medial malpositioning of thoracic pedicle screws. Spine. 2008;33(12):E378–85.
- Li G, Lv G, Passias P, Kozanek M, Metkar US, Liu Z, et al. Complications associated with thoracic pedicle screws in spinal deformity. Eur Spine J. 2010;19(9): 1576–84.
- Hicks JM, Singla A, Shen FH, Arlet V. Complications of pedicle screw fixation in scoliosis surgery: a systematic review. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2010;35(11):E465–70.
- Calancie B, Donohue ML, Moquin RR. Neuromonitoring with pulse-train stimulation for implantation of thoracic pedicle screws: a blinded and randomized clinical study. Part 2. The role of feedback. J Neurosurg Spine. 2014;20(6):692–704.
- 24. Sarlak AY, Buluc L, Sarisoy HT, Memisoglu K, Tosun B. Placement of pedicle screws in thoracic idiopathic scoliosis: a magnetic resonance imaging analysis of screw placement relative to structures at risk. Eur Spine J. 2008;17(5):657–62.
- 25. de Blas G, Barrios C, Regidor I, Montes E, Burgos J, Piza-Vallespir G, et al. Safe pedicle screw placement in thoracic scoliotic curves using t-EMG: stimulation threshold variability at concavity and convexity in apex segments. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2012;37(6):E387–95.
- Samdani AF, Tantorski M, Cahill PJ, Ranade A, Koch S, Clements DH, et al. Triggered electromyography for placement of thoracic pedicle screws: is it reliable? Eur Spine J. 2011;20(6):869–74.
- Toleikis JR. Neurophysiological monitoring during pedicle screw placement. In: Deletis V, Shils JL, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery. New York: Academic; 2002. p. 231–64.
- Silverstein JW, Mermelstein LE. Utilization of paraspinal muscles for triggered EMG during thoracic pedicle screw placement. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2010;50(1):37–49.
- Albayram S, Ulu MO, Hanimoglu H, Kaynar MY, Hanci M. Intracranial hypotension following scoliosis surgery: dural penetration of a thoracic pedicle screw. Eur Spine J. 2008;17 Suppl 2:S347–50.
- 30. Feng B, Shen J, Zhang J, Zhou X, Liang J, Qui G. How to deal with cerebrospinal fluid leak during pedicle screw fixation in spinal deformities surgery with Intraoperative neuromonitoring change. Spine. 2012;39(1):E20–5.
- Vitale MG, Moore DW, Matsumoto H, Emerson RG, Booker WA, Gomez JA, et al. Risk factors for spinal cord injury during surgery for spinal deformity. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2010;92(1):64–71.

- *Inamasu J, Guiot BH. Vascular injury and complication in neurosurgical spine surgery. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2006;148(4):375–87.
- Drummond JC. The lower limit of autoregulation: time to revise our thinking? Anesthesiology. 1997;86(6):1431–3.
- Klemme WR, Burkhalter W, Polly Jr DW, Dahl LF, Davis DA. Reversible ischemic myelopathy during scoliosis surgery: a possible role for intravenous lidocaine. J Pediatr Orthop. 1999;19(6):763–5.
- 35. Bracken MB, Shepard MJ, Holford TR, Leo-Summers L, Aldrich EF, Fazl M, et al. Administration of methylprednisolone for 24 or 48 hours or tirilazad mesylate for 48 hours in the treatment of acute spinal cord injury. Results of the Third National Acute Spinal Cord Injury Randomized Controlled Trial. National Acute Spinal Cord Injury Study. JAMA. 1997;277(20): 1597–604.
- Schwartz DM, Auerbach JD, Dormans JP, Flynn J, Drummond DS, Bowe JA, et al. Neurophysiological detection of impending spinal cord injury during scoliosis surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007;89(11): 2440–9.
- Nash Jr CL, Lorig RA, Schatzinger LA, Brown RH. Spinal cord monitoring during operative treatment of the spine. Clin Orthop. 1977;126:100–5.
- Vauzelle C, Stagnara P, Jouvinroux P. Functional monitoring of spinal cord activity during spinal surgery. Clin Orthop. 1973;93:173–8.
- Ulkatan S, Neuwirth M, Bitan F, Minardi C, Kokoszka A, Deletis V. Monitoring of scoliosis surgery with epidurally recorded motor evoked potentials (D wave) revealed false results. Clin Neurophysiol. 2006;117(9): 2093–101.
- Postoperative Visual Loss Study Group. Risk factors associated with ischemic optic neuropathy after spinal fusion surgery. Anesthesiology. 2012;116(1):15–24.
- *Lee LA. Perioperative visual loss and anesthetic management. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2013;26(3): 375–81.
- Nickels TJ, Manlapaz MR, Farag E. Perioperative visual loss after spine surgery. World J Orthop. 2014;5(2):100–6.
- Lyon R, Feiner J, Lieberman JA. Progressive suppression of motor evoked potentials during general anesthesia: the phenomenon of "anesthetic fade". J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2005;17(1):13–9.
- 44. Nuwer MR, Dawson EG, Carlson LG, Kanim LE, Sherman JE. Somatosensory evoked potential spinal cord monitoring reduces neurologic deficits after scoliosis surgery: results of a large multicenter survey. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1995;96(1):6–11.
- 45. Loughman BA, Fennelly ME, Henley M, Hall GM. The effects of differing concentrations of bupivacaine on the epidural somatosensory evoked potential after posterior tibial nerve stimulation. Anesth Analg. 1995;81(1):147–51.
- Anonymous. Scoliosis Research Society: position statement on somatosensory evoked potential moni-

toring of neurologic spinal cord function during surgery. Park Ridge, IL; 1992.

- 47. *Nuwer MR, Emerson RG, Galloway G, Legatt AD, Lopez J, Minahan R, et al. Evidence-based guideline update: intraoperative spinal monitoring with somatosensory and transcranial electrical motor evoked potentials*. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2012;29(1):101–8.
- 48. Nuwer MR, Emerson RG, Galloway G, Legatt AD, Lopez J, Minahan R, et al. Evidence-based guideline update: intraoperative spinal monitoring with somatosensory and transcranial electrical motor evoked potentials: report of the Therapeutics and Technology Assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology and the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. Neurology. 2012;78(8):585–9.
- 49. Wilber RG, Thompson GH, Shaffer JW, Brown RH, Nash Jr CL. Postoperative neurological deficits in segmental spinal instrumentation. A study using spinal cord monitoring. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1984;66(8):1178–87.
- Ben-David B. Spinal cord monitoring. Orthop Clin North Am. 1988;19(2):427–48.
- Owen JH. The application of intraoperative monitoring during surgery for spinal deformity. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1999;24(24):2649–62.
- 52. Schwartz DM, Sestokas AK, Hilibrand AS, Vaccaro AR, Bose B, Li M, et al. Neurophysiological identification of position-induced neurologic injury during anterior cervical spine surgery. J Clin Monit Comput. 2006;20(6):437–44.
- Padberg AM, Thuet ED. Intraoperative electrophysiologic monitoring: considerations for complex spinal surgery. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2006;17(3): 205–26.
- Slimp JC, Slimp JC. Electrophysiologic intraoperative monitoring for spine procedures. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2004;15(1):85–105.
- 55. Pajewski TN, Arlet V, Phillips LH, Pajewski TN, Arlet V, Phillips LH. Current approach on spinal cord monitoring: the point of view of the neurologist, the anesthesiologist and the spine surgeon. Eur Spine J. 2007;16 Suppl 2:S115–29.
- Padberg AM, Bridwell KH. Spinal cord monitoring: current state of the art. Orthop Clin North Am. 1999;30(3):407–33.
- Meyer Jr PR, Cotler HB, Gireesan GT. Operative neurological complications resulting from thoracic and lumbar spine internal fixation. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1988;237:125–31.
- MacDonald DB, Al Zayed Z, Khoudeir I, Stigsby B. Monitoring scoliosis surgery with combined multiple pulse transcranial electric motor and cortical somatosensory-evoked potentials from the lower and upper extremities. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2003;28(2):194–203.
- Owen J. Cost efficacy of intraoperative monitoring. Semin Spine Surg. 1997;9(4):348–52.
- Nuwer MR. Spinal cord monitoring with somatosensory techniques. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1998;15(3): 183–93.

Questions

- 1. Monitoring of the cortical SSEPs in thoracic spinal surgery
 - A. Is unnecessary if MEPs are available
 - B. Monitors for the possibility of brachial plexus positioning injury
 - C. Has a better correlation with a motor injury than the H Reflex response
 - D. Monitors for anterior spinal artery ischemia
 - E. Monitors for loss of bowel or bladder function
- 2. Monitoring of spinal corrective surgery by MEPs with epidural electrodes
 - May give false-positive changes with spinal derotation
 - B. Allow detection of unilateral spinal injury
 - C. Are unnecessary when SSEPs are monitored
 - D. The I waves give an estimate of corticospinal fiber number
 - E. Is not useful because it requires muscle relaxation
- 3. Complications described with the anterior approach to the thoracic spine INCLUDE:
 - A. Diaphragm surgery
 - B. Pulmonary complications
 - C. Loss of segmental radicular artery supply to the spinal cord
 - D. Damage to the aorta
 - E. All of the above
- 4. The Peterson-Smith Osteotomy involves removal of
 - A. Posterior column bone
 - B. Facet joints and the spinous process
 - C. The inferior portion of the lamina of the 6. rostral vertebrae 7.
 - D. The ligamentum flavum
 - E. All of the above

- 5. Which of the following is not thought to be a primary mechanism of motor injury in spinal corrective surgery?
 - A. Direct trauma from instrumentation
 - B. Deliberate hypotension
 - C. Epidural hematoma
 - D. Dural tear
 - E. Ligation of the posterior spinal artery
- 6. Complications of thoracic pedicle screws include all of the following EXCEPT:
 - A. Direct spinal cord injury
 - B. Nerve root injury
 - C. Aorta injury
 - D. Pleural injury
 - E. Vertebral artery injury
- Methods proposed to reduce the risk of postoperative blindness include all of the following EXCEPT:
 - A. Use of colloid solution rather than just crystalloid for volume resuscitation
 - B. Maintaining a head-down position to keep the eye perfused
 - C. Avoiding hypotension
 - D. Avoiding excessive anemia
 - E. Using a different positioning table than the Wilson frame when possible.

Answers

- 1. B
- 2. A 3. E
- 4. E
- 5. E
- 6. E
- 7. B

Intraoperative Neurophysiologic Monitoring for Lumbosacral Spine Procedures

Deborah A. Rusy, Corey Amlong, and Aimee Becker

Key Learning Points

- Multimodality monitoring (SSEP+Tc-MEPs+EMG) provides the surgeon with optimal information about the state of the nervous system. This helps to increase sensitivity and provide the surgeon with additional information on the specificity of any warnings issued.
- Many studies have demonstrated the value of pedicle screw EMG monitoring for the protection of nerve root and neural tissue during lumbar pedicle screw placement.
- Triggered EMG is an excellent technique for determining whether lumbar pedicle screws are properly placed; however, use of the technique for screws in other locations (thoracic, cervical) may be helpful although normative data are less clear.
- SSEP monitoring alone may not detect all iatrogenic nerve root injuries, particularly in surgeries involving lumbosacral levels. The combination of SSEPs with corresponding level EMG monitoring is most ideal for the

Department of Anesthesiology, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, B6/319, Clinical Sciences Center, 600 Highland Avenue, Madison, WI 53792, USA

e-mail: darusy@wisc.edu; caamlong@wisc.edu; aweitzel@wisc.edu

detection and prevention of nerve tissue injury.

• The advantage of monitoring during lumbar discectomy procedures is not well defined.

Lumbar spine disorders are the most common causes of disability in persons under the age of 45, with annual direct and indirect costs of these disorders amounting to billions of dollars [1]. More than a half million lumbosacral spine surgical procedures are performed each year to treat these spine disorders. Disease states of the lumbosacral spine that may require surgical correction include: scoliosis. spinal stenosis, degenerative disk disease, herniated nucleus pulposis, spondylysis, spondylolisthesis, spondylolysis, cauda equina syndrome, spinal cord tumor, tethered cord, and traumatic lumbosacral fractures. Surgical procedures to treat these disorders include: decompressive laminectomy, foraminotomy, anterior spinal fusion, posterolateral lumbar fusion with or without instrumentation, posterior lumbar interbody fusion (PLIF), transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion (TLIF), anterior lumbar interbody fusion (ALIF), extreme lateral interbody fusion (ELIF), lumbar discectomy or microdiscectomy, lumbar corpectomy, tethered cord release, rhizotomy, and disk arthroplasty.

It is essential to have a good understanding of lumbosacral spine and spinal cord anatomy, the patient's disease, and the corrective surgical

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_35

D.A. Rusy, M.D., M.B.A. $(\boxtimes) \bullet C$. Amlong, M.D., M.S. A. Becker, M.D.

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017
procedure in order to determine which intraoperative neurophysiologic tests will detect iatrogenic spinal cord and nerve injury during surgery. The lumbosacral spine consists of five lumbar vertebrae and five sacral vertebrae. They are connected to each other and stabilized by the intervertebral disks, the posterior zygopophysial joints, and the supraspinous, interspinous, ligamentum flavum, posterior longitudinal, and anterior longitudinal ligaments. The five sacral vertebrae are fused to form the sacrum. In the adult, the normal spinal cord ends at the conus medullaris, which lies at approximately the L1-L2 level. The filum terminale is the extension of the pia mater that descends from the conus medullaris to the coccyx. The cauda equina consists of the bundle of lumbar and sacral nerve roots that exit off the spinal cord at the conus medullaris and travel in the spinal canal, until exiting from their respective foraminae.

Neurologic deficit is one of the most devastating iatrogenic complications that can occur following surgical correction of spine deformities. For lumbosacral spine procedures, preservation of nerve root neurologic function is the main priority, as only the thecal sac and nerve roots are located below the L1–L2 level. However, in the patient with a tethered spinal cord or other abnormality leading to the spinal cord being below L1–L2, the spinal cord may also be at risk.

The objective of intraoperative neurophysiologic cord monitoring is to immediately detect and alert the surgeon of any neurologic compromise during the surgical procedure, so that corrective action can be taken to reverse an injury before permanent damage occurs. During lumbosacral spine procedures, the intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring tests used to preserve neurologic function and provide immediate feedback information regarding any iatrogenic injuries with potential neurologic deficit include somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs), transcranial motor-evoked potentials recorded as muscle responses (Tc-MEPs) or as direct spinal cord recordings (D waves), continuous or spontaneous electromyography (EMG), and triggered or stimulated EMG from nerve root or pedicle screw stimulation with resulting compound muscle action potential (CMAP) recordings from corresponding myotomes. Refer to the chapters of this book relating to these tests for in-depth descriptions of these specific monitoring techniques. SSEPs are the most commonly used intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring test during spine surgery. However, SSEP monitoring may not detect all iatrogenic nerve root injury [2–4]; particularly in surgeries involving lumbosacral levels. Because of this, EMG and MEP monitoring gained increased popularity. Several studies have shown that for lumbosacral spine surgery, the combination of SSEPs with corresponding level EMG monitoring is most ideal for the detection and prevention of nerve tissue injury [4, 5]. MEPs may also be useful for detecting spinal cord ischemia for those patients where the spinal cord extends below L1–L2.

Decompressive Laminectomy With or Without Fusion and Instrumentation

A decompressive laminectomy consists of the surgical removal of the vertebral laminae to create more space for compressed nerve tissue. The surgeon may perform a laminectomy with or without fusing vertebrae or removing part of the involved disk. Instrumentation of the unstable areas of the spine with rods, plates, screws, and wire devices may also be used if a posterior spinal fusion is performed. During decompressive laminectomy with or without fusion and instrumentation, the mechanism of iatrogenic neurologic injury has been attributed to direct injury to cord or nerve root during drilling or probing, during placement of hardware into the spine, or during the decompression or distraction of the spine. With the combination of SSEP, MEP, and EMG monitoring, immediate detection of injury is possible, and this real-time alert to the surgeon can allow for changes in the course of the procedure that may prevent permanent injury.

Although it has been reported that the medical literature does not support the hypothesis that intraoperative monitoring can improve patient outcomes in patients undergoing surgery with instrumentation for lumbar degenerative disease [2, 3], several studies have demonstrated the efficacy of using multimodal intraoperative monitoring (MIOM) during lumbosacral spine surgery [4–6]. Sutter et al. [5] prospectively studied 409 patients with lumbar stenosis undergoing lumbar decompression with or without instrumentation. All 409 patients were monitored with MIOM, which consisted of cortical and spinal SSEPs, MEPs, and continuous EMG. Of these, 390 had no MIOM changes, and only two of these had false-negative monitoring results. Three hundred and eighty-eight patients had true negative findings, and only one patient had false-positive changes. Eighteen patients had true positive MIOM changes, which predicted a postoperative neurologic deficit. Of the 20 patients with postoperative deficits, 18 recovered function (12 recovered completely and 6 recovered partially). The sensitivity of MIOM for these procedures was 90% and the specificity was 99.7% for predicting a postoperative neurologic deficit. The authors speculate that in those cases with minor complications, the outcome would have been worse had the surgeon not been alerted.

Gunnarsson et al. [4] retrospectively analyzed 213 patients having thoracolumbar surgery with concurrent SSEP and continuous EMG monitoring in order to determine the sensitivity and specificity of each test for detecting new postoperative motor deficits. They found that SSEPs had a sensitivity of 28.6% and a specificity of 94.7%, whereas the sensitivity and specificity for EMG was 100 and 23.7%, respectively. They concluded that the combined use of both modalities could be more powerful in identifying potential neural injury.

Voulgaris et al. [6] suggested that MEPs might have additional value for predicting postoperative outcomes. In a study of 23 patients who had lumbar decompressive laminectomies for spinal stenosis, 17/25 had greater than a 50% increase in MEP amplitudes, while 6/17 had little increase or no change. In follow-up, the 17 patients with greater than a 50% increase in MEP amplitude had the greatest decrease in visual analog pain scores.

Cole et al. [7] performed a retrospective propensity score-matched analysis on a national database of over 85,000 patients between 2006 and 2010, comparing rates of neurologic deficit following elective single-level spinal procedures (anterior cervical disk fusion [ACDF], lumbar fusion, lumbar laminectomy and lumbar discectomy) with and without intraoperative neuromonitoring (IOM), as well as the associated payment differences. They found that in all single-level spine procedures with IOM, neurologic complications were significantly decreased only among lumbar laminectomies (0.0% vs. 1.18 %; P=0.002). No differences were observed with ACDF, lumbar fusions, or lumbar discectomies. There was a significant increase in total payments seen with all procedures with the addition of IOM: ACDF payments increased by 16.24 %, lumbar fusions 7.84 %, lumbar laminectomies 24.33%, and lumbar discectomies by 22.54%.

Pedicle screws are often used as a point of fixation. A hole is drilled into the pedicle wall of the vertebrae followed by the screw placement. Accidental breach of the pedicle wall exposes the adjacent nerve root, with possible nerve root irritation or injury during and following screw placement. The use of SSEPs alone, as demonstrated by Gundanna et al. [8] during lumbar surgery, does not always detect a malpositioned pedicle screw, which can lead to postoperative radiculopathy.

Current delivered from a monopolar stimulating electrode placed within a pedicle hole, or touching a pedicle screw, can elicit EMG CMAP responses from corresponding limb muscles, which can alert the surgeon to a pedicle wall breach before injury to an adjacent nerve root can occur (Fig. 35.1).

Many studies have demonstrated the value of pedicle screw EMG monitoring for the protection of nerve root and neural tissue during lumbar pedicle screw placement [10–12]. Bindal et al. [13] acquired triggered EMG recordings by stimulating the pedicle access needle and pedicle tap during TLIF. Their findings altered the trajectory of the pedicle access needle in 76.2% of the procedures, and they felt this had led to a safer pedicle cannulation.

Fig. 35.1 Stimulus-triggered EMG for the detection of pedicle wall breach. Electrical stimulation of hole (a) with low current activates the adjacent nerve root, evoking a CMAP response, representing a pedicle wall breach. Stimulation of the screw at hole (b) demonstrates high impedance to current through a layer of cortical bone, as no evoked CMAP is produced. This represents correct screw position. Reproduced with permission from Husain [9]



Raynor et al. [14] reported on the use of triggered electromyogenic stimulation (TrgEMG) in 1078 spine procedures with lumbar (L2-S1) pedicle screw placement. An ascending method of constant current stimulation was applied to each screw in order to obtain a CMAP from lower extremity myotomes. They concluded that the probability of detection of a medial wall breach by a pedicle screw increases with decreasing EMG thresholds. The probability of detecting medial wall breach with a TrgEMG stimulation threshold of greater than 8 mA was 0.31%. A threshold of 4.0-8.0 mA yielded a probability of 17.4%, while less than 4.0 was 54.2%. A TrgEMG threshold of 2.8 mA had a specificity of 100% but a sensitivity of only 8.4%. The authors concluded that TrgEMG is a useful adjunct during screw placement, but should always be used in conjunction with some other form of monitoring.

At the same time, numerous studies have suggested that evoked CMAPs from muscles innervated by lumbar nerve roots, with stimulus thresholds of less than 4–6 mA, are suggestive of a pedicle wall breach [15–17]. Parker et al. [18] concluded that using a 5-mA stimulus threshold TrgEMG had a very high specificity but low sensitivity. Sensitivity increased with increasing stimulation at the cost of a greatly lowered specificity. It should be noted that during monitoring, false-negative results could occur when stimulating only the mobile crown of a polyaxial-type screw [14]. Anderson et al. [17] stressed the importance of stimulating the screw either at the hexagonal port or directly at the screw shank to avoid these false-negatives.

Glassman et al. [19] demonstrated with postoperative CT that lumbar pedicle screw stimulations requiring more than 15 mA to obtain a CMAP were 98% accurate in determining that the screw was located correctly in the pedicle.

Lumbar Interbody Fusion

Lumbar interbody fusion is a commonly utilized treatment for discogenic back pain (secondary to a degenerative, herniated, or inflamed disk) and spine instability. There are several different variations of the procedure, including posterior lumbar interbody fusion (PLIF), transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion (TLIF), anterior lumbar interbody fusion (ALIF), and extreme lateral interbody fusion (ELIF).

Posterior Lumbar Interbody Fusion (PLIF)

With this surgical technique, a midline posterior incision is made, the spinal muscles are separated and retracted, and the spine laminae and a small portion of the facet joints, which lay directly over the nerve roots, are removed. The affected disks are removed and a bone graft, allograft, or biomechanical spacer implant with cage is inserted into the disk space to promote fusion of the adjacent vertebrae. The spine is then stabilized with additional instruments (rods, screws, wires). Bose et al. [20] retrospectively analyzed 61 patients having PLIFs who were monitored with continuous EMG and triggered CMAP responses from muscles innervated by nerve roots adjacent to placed pedicle screws. Twenty-one percent of patients had sustained neurotonic activity or an evoked CMAP with a current intensity of less than 7 mA during pedicle screw stimulation prompting an alert and reposition of a pedicle screw. It was their opinion that MIOM minimized postoperative neural deficits.

Transforaminal Lumbar Interbody Fusion (TLIF)

During TLIF procedures, the spine is approached from the side of the spinal canal through a paramedian posterior incision. This modified posterior approach reduces the amount of surgical muscle dissection and minimizes nerve manipulation required to gain access to the vertebrae, disk, and nerves. Laminectomy, discectomy, facet fusion, and posterolateral spine fusion and instrumentation are typically performed. Disk material is removed from the spine through the right, left, or both sides of the spinal canal, and typically, a bone graft (bone block or cage implant) is inserted. Spinal strength and stability is then achieved with screws or rods. Nerve root retraction is often needed to place the interbody device. Real-time detection of neuropraxia can be achieved with a combination of continuous EMG recordings and evoked CMAP threshold responses following electrical stimulation from pedicle screws or screw holes [13]. Bindal et al. [13] reported the use of continuous electrical stimulation of the pedicle access needle with a 7-mA current during placement of 105 lumbar pedicle screws in minimally invasive TLIF procedures in order to assess safe screw placement. Current was held constant as the needle was placed percutaneously at the lateral portion of the determined transverse process, walked medially to the junction of the transverse process and the facet joint, and then inserted into the pedicle. At this point, anteroposterior fluoroscopy was also used to confirm needle laterality. The 7-mA threshold resulted in 0% incidence of EMG activation of the tap with a current of less than 15 mA. Detection of EMG at a current of 7 mA or less signaled close proximity of the medial nerve root resulting in lateral alteration of the needle trajectory in 76.2% of their cases. (The author does state that there may have been falsepositives. However, the 7-mA threshold was selected to yield a minimal false-negative rate.) With this method of percutaneous pedicle screw placement, they reported 0% incidence of malpositioned hardware.

Anterior Lumbar Interbody Fusion (ALIF)

During ALIF, an incision is made in the lower abdominal area, and the abdominal muscles and vessels are retracted, allowing access to the front of the spine. When performing this procedure, particularly at the L4–L5 level, there is 5% risk of both acute and delayed vascular insult secondary to tears and laceration of the aorta, common iliac and vena cava vessels, or retraction of the iliac arteries for adequate exposure of the disk space [21]. Venous injury occurs more frequently than arterial and is most commonly caused by retraction on the great vessels. Vascular injury is reported at a higher incidence in laparoscopic versus open ALIF [21]. Vascular tear or laceration is usually immediately recognized and repaired. However, ischemic injury due to retraction of vessels and possible thrombus occlusion may go undetected without continuous intraoperative monitoring. Undetected injury may result in a postoperative sensory or motor deficit, pain, and in some cases, mortality [22–26]. Monitoring techniques that can pick up lower extremity vascular occlusion include lower extremity vessel palpation, pulse oximetry, and spinal cord SSEP monitoring [24, 26, 27]. Nair et al. [28] report a case of iliac artery injury during an L3-S1 ALIF procedure that was detected with MIOM. On



Fig. 35.2 Three compressive events during ALIF, with both SSEP and MEP signal decreases noted in the first and third compressions, and only SSEP decrease noted during

the second compression. Reproduced with permission from Nair et al. [28]

three different occasions during the procedure there were changes in tibial nerve SSEPs, abductor hallucis MEPs, or both, which corresponded with decreased pulses in the left leg following compression of the iliac artery with either a retractor or an L4–L5 spacer. Following notification to the surgeon, compression was released on all occasions, and blood flow was restored (Fig. 35.2). Similarly, Yaylani et al. [29] describe in a retrospective cohort study SSEP changes coinciding with retractor placement that subsequently resolved after surgeon notification and adjustment of the retractor during ALIF.

Isley et al. [22] depict another case of left common iliac occlusion after anterior interbody fusion that was detected with SSEP

Intraoperative monitoring. No changes in SSEPs were noted during the ALIF, and no EMG discharges suggestive of nerve root irritation were noted during the discectomies, partial corpectomies, distraction, or instrumentation. However, during closure, there was a gradual decline and loss of the subcortical and cortical SSEP waveforms. Palpation and Doppler examination verified loss of pulses in the extremity. Following vascular consult, thrombectomy and patch angioplasty of the left common and external iliac arteries was performed, perfusion was restored, and SSEP waveforms recovered. This case demonstrates the importance of continued monitoring until closure during this procedure (Fig. 35.3).

POSTINDUCTION BASELINE





CLOSURE OF ANTERIOR INCISON





C LEFT EXTERNAL AND INTERNAL ILIAC ARTERIAL THROMBECTOMIES AND PATCH ANGIOPLASTY



Fig. 35.3 Within each part figures are pairs of SSEP waveforms recorded at the popliteal fossa (*top traces*), brainstem (*middle traces*), and sensory cortex (*bottom traces*) for the left and right legs after stimulation of the PTN (labeled L PTN and R PTN, respectively) during three surgical events. Baselines are shown in (**a**). For the waveforms recorded to



left PTN stimulation in (b), there was a loss of the dominant components at all recording sites due to thrombotic occlusion of the left common iliac arterial bifurcation. (c) Recovery of the SSEP waveforms after thrombectomies of the left common iliac arterial bifurcation. Reproduced with permission from Isley et al. [22]

Extreme Lateral Interbody Fusion (ELIF/XLIF)

The ELIF, also known as XLIF (Nuvasive, San Diego, CA) or DLIF (Medtronic, Minneapolis, MI), is a less invasive procedure with a smaller incision; however, a high incidence of lumbar plexus traction neuropraxia has been reported [23]. A flank incision is made with the patient in the lateral position, and the disk space is accessed by blunt dissection through the psoas muscle and traversing lumbar plexus. Once the disk space is entered, the disk is removed, and a new implant is inserted. During surgical dissection through the psoas muscle, traction on the lumbar plexus by the expandable cannulas used to perform the ELIF can cause a neuropraxia of the genitofemoral nerve with symptoms of thigh or groin numbness. The use of EMG monitoring using the EMG activity from muscles innervated by the lumbar nerve roots and plexus at risk during the surgery may decrease the incidence of nerve injury. The EMG-based Neurovision system (Nuvasive; San Diego, CA) incorporates a surgical dissection tool used by the surgeon that has a tiny stimulation electrode on the tip that provides the surgeon real-time continuous feedback on whether plexus structures are stimulated when dissecting through the psoas muscle.

Bendersky et al. [30] developed a new protocol for IOM during ELIF procedures, which included EMG and transpsoas stimulation. Monopolar needle electrodes were placed in the femoris and/or vastus medialis (for femoral nerve), grasilis muscle (obturator nerve), immediately below the anterior superficial iliac spine (lateral cutaneous femoral nerve), and in the cremaster muscle for men and the labium majus for women (genitofemoral nerve). Reproducible responses were obtained in 107 patients in these terminal branches of the lumbar plexus, which were well preserved during dissection. No patient (0%)developed new motor postoperative deficits. Nineteen (17.75%) patients had minor and transient sensory symptoms, lasting less than a month, and one patient (0.93%) had longer duration of sensory complaints (3 months). They concluded that detailed IOM of the lumbar plexus branches was beneficial in delineating the proximity of the intrapsoas nerves during ELIF procedures.

Paracoccygeal Transsacral Fixation

One additional minimally invasive fixation technique has been used for management of spinal instability at the L4-L5 and L5-S1 level. This approach involves placement of a guide pin through the paracoccygeal notch using fluoroscopic guidance with the patient in the prone position. The guide "walks" ventral to S2-S5, displacing the rectum until entering the spine at the junction of S1-S2 on a trajectory to L5. A trocar is threaded over the guide to L4-L5 or L5-S1. Working through the trocar, the disk can be removed and screws placed in the bone. Additional fixation can be placed using the anterior or posterior approach. This technique was introduced in 2004 as a method to minimize muscle dissection, nerve root retraction, and annular disruption. The biomechanical advantage of this procedure is the preservation of the supporting structures at the L5–S1 level [31]. EMG monitoring (including the pudendal nerve) is usually performed. Also possibly at risk are the sympathetic fibers of the hypogastric nerve (L2–L5) and the parasympathetic fibers from S2–S4. In addition, the rectum and vascular structures in the posterior pelvis and mesorectum (middle sacral artery and veins) are at risk.

Lumbar Microdiscectomy

Dimopoulos et al. [32] prospectively randomized 112 patients with extruded disk undergoing lumbar microdiscectomy with or without continuous intraoperative EMG monitoring of the muscles innervated by the nerve root at the operative site level. They concluded that there was no correlation found between intraoperative spontaneous or continuous EMG findings and immediate postoperative pain.

Two cases of postoperative cauda equina syndrome following single-level lumbar microdiscectomy have been reported. Both were initially detected by an abrupt decrease of intraoperative cortical and subcortical SSEP amplitudes [33]. Cole et al. [7], in a retrospective propensity score-matched analysis of a national database, found no significant decrease in neurologic complications when comparing lumbar microdiscectomy with and without IOM; however, they did find that there was a significant increase in total payments for the procedure when using IOM. It is still to be determined if the benefits gained by monitoring during microdiscectomy are worth the time and cost of the test.

References¹

- *Chou R, Loeser J, Owens D, et al. Interventional therapies, surgery, and interdisciplinary rehabilitation for low back pain: an evidence-based clinical practice guideline from the American Pain Society. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2009;34(10):1066–77.
- Resnick DK, Choudhri TF, Dailey AT, Groff MW, Khoo L, Matz PG, et al. Guidelines for the performance of fusion procedures for degenerative disease of the lumbar spine. Part 15: electrophysiological monitoring and lumbar fusion. J Neurosurg Spine. 2005;2:725–32.
- Sharan A, Groff MW, Dailey AT, Groff MW, Khoo L, Matz PG, et al. Guideline update for the performance of fusion procedures for degenerative disease of the lumbar spine. Part 15: electrophysiological monitoring and lumbar fusion. J Neurosurg Spine. 2014;21:102–5.
- Gunnarsson T, Krassioukov A, Sarieant R, Fehlings M. Real-time continuous intraoperative electromyographic and somatosensory evoked potential recordings in spinal surgery: correlation of clinical and electrophysiologic findings in a prospective, consecutive series of 213 cases. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2004;29(6):677–84.
- Sutter MA, Eggspuehler A, Grob D, Porchet F, Jeszenszky D, Dvorak J. Multimodal intraoperative monitoring (MIOM) during 409 lumbosacral surgical procedures in 409 patients. Eur Spine J. 2007;16 Suppl 2:S221–8.
- Voulgaris S, Karagiorgiadis D, Alexiou GA, Mihos E, Zigouris A, Fotakopoulos G, et al. Continuous intraoperative electromyographic and transcranial motor evoked potential recordings in spinal stenosis surgery. J Clin Neurosci. 2010;17:274–6.
- *Cole T, Veeravagu A, Zhang M, Li A, Ratliff JK. Intraoperative neuromonitoring in single-level spinal procedures: a retrospective propensity score-matched analysis in a national longitudinal database. Spine. 2014;39(23):1950–9.
- Gundanna M, Eskenazi M, Bendo J, Spivak J, Moskovich R. Somatosensory evoked potential monitoring of lumbar pedicle screw placement for in situ posterior spinal fusion. Spine J. 2003;3(5):370–6.

- Husain AM. A practical approach to neurophysiologic intraoperative monitoring. New York: Demos Medical; 2008.
- Santiago-Perez S, Nevado-Estévez R, Aguirre-Arribas J, Pérez-Conde MC. Neurophysiological monitoring of lumbosacral spinal roots during spinal surgery: continuous intraoperative electromyography (EMG). Electromyogr Clin Neurophysiol. 2007; 47(7–8):361–7.
- Calancie B, Madsen P, Lebwohl N. Stimulus-evoked EMG monitoring during transpedicular lumbosacral spine instrumentation. Initial clinical results. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1994;19:2780–6.
- Toleikis JR, Skelly JP, Carlvin AO, Toleikis SC, Bernard TN, Burkus JK, et al. The usefulness of electrical stimulation for assessing pedicle screw placements. J Spinal Disord. 2000;13:283–9.
- Bindal RK, Ghosh S. Intraoperative electromyography monitoring in minimally invasive transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion. J Neurosurg Spine. 2007;6:126–32.
- *Raynor B, Lenke L, Bridwell K, Taylor B, Padberg A. Correlation between low triggered electromyographic threshold and lumbar pedicle screw malposition: analysis of 4857 screws. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2007;32(24):2673–8.
- Lenke LG, Padberg AM, Russo MH, Bridwell KH, Gelb DE. Triggered electromyographic threshold for accuracy of pedicle screw placement. An animal model and clinical correlation. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1995;20:1585–91.
- Maguire J, Wallace S, Madiga R, Leppanen R, Draper V. Evaluation of intrapedicular screw position using intraoperative evoked electromyography. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1995;20:1068–74.
- Anderson DG, Wierzbowski LR, Schwartz DM, Hilibrand AS, Vaccaro AR, Albert TJ. Pedicle screws with high electrical resistance: a potential source of error with stimulus-evoked EMG. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2002;27:1577–81.
- Parker SL, Amin AG, Farber SH, McGirt MJ, Sciubba DM. Ability of electromyographic monitoring to determine the presence of malpositioned pedicle screws in the lumbosacral spine: analysis of 2450 consecutively placed screws. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011;15:13–5.
- Glassman SD, Dimar JR, Puno RM, Johnson JR, Shields CB, Linden RD. A prospective analysis of intraoperative electromyographic monitoring of pedicle screw placement with computed tomographic scan confirmation. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1995;20: 1375–9.
- Bose B, Wierzbowski LR, Sestokas AK. Neurophysiologic monitoring of spinal nerve root function during instrumented posterior lumbar spine surgery. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2002;27(13):1444–50.
- Wood KB, Devine J, Fischer D, Dettori JR, Janssen M. Vascular injury in elective anterior lumbosacral surgery. Spine. 2010;35(9 Suppl):S66–75.

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

- 22. Isley M, Zhang XF, Smith R, Cohen M. Intraoperative neuromonitoring detects thrombotic occlusion of the left common iliac arterial bifurcation after anterior lumbar interbody fusion: case report. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2007;20(1):104–8.
- Bergey DL, Villavicencio AT, Goldstein T, Regan JJ. Endoscopic lateral transpsoas approach to the lumbar spine. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2004;29:1681–8.
- 24. Krassioukov A, Sarjeant R, Arkia H, Fehlings MG. Multimodality intraoperative monitoring during complex lumbosacral procedures: indications, techniques, and long-term follow-up review of 61 consecutive cases. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;1(3):243–53.
- Chang YS, Guyer RD, Ohnmeiss DD, Moore S. Case report: intraoperative left common iliac occlusion in a scheduled 360-degree spinal fusion. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2003;28:E316–9.
- Kulkarni S, Lowery GL, Ross RE, Ravi Sankar K, Lykomitros V. Arterial complications following anterior lumbar interbody fusion: report of eight cases. Eur Spine J. 2003;12(1):48–54.
- Brau SA, Spoonamore MJ, Snyder L, Gilbert C, Rhonda G, Williams LA, Watkins RG. Nerve monitoring changes related to iliac artery compression during anterior lumbar spine surgery. Spine J. 2003;3:351–5.
- Nair MN, Ramakrishna R, Slimp J, Kinney G, Chesnut RM. Left iliac artery injury during anterior lumbar spine surgery diagnosed by intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring. Eur Spine J. 2010;19 Suppl 2:S203–5.
- Yaylani I, Ju H, Yoo J, Ching A, Hart R. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring in anterior lumbar interbody fusion surgery. J Clin Neurophys. 2014;31(4):352–5.
- Bendersky M, Sola C, Muntadas J, Gruenberg M. Monitoring lumbar plexus integrity in extreme lateral transpsoas approaches to the lumbar spine; a new protocol with anatomical bases. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(5):1051–7.
- Akesan B, Wu C, Mehbod AA, Transfeldt EE. Biomechanical evaluation of paracoccygeal transsacral fixation. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2008;21(1):39–44.
- 32. Dimopoulos VG, Feltes CH, Fountas KN, Kapsalakis IZ, Vogel RL, Fuhrmann B, et al. Does intraoperative electromyographic monitoring in lumbar microdiscectomy correlate with postoperative pain? South Med J. 2004;97:724–8.

33. Dimopoulos V, Fountas KN, Machinis TG, Feltes C, Chung I, Johnston K, et al. Postoperative cauda equina syndrome in patients undergoing single-level lumbar microdiscectomy. Report of two cases. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19(2):E11.

Questions

- Which intraoperative neuromonitoring modality has been proven to be most beneficial in preventing injury during lumbar microdiscectomy?
 - a. Somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP)
 - b. Triggered EMG
 - c. Nerve action potential (NAP)
 - d. None of the above
- 2. Lowering triggered EMG thresholds during pedicle screw placement has which of the following benefits?
 - a. Better sensitivity and specificity
 - b. Better sensitivity while sacrificing specificity
 - c. Better specificity while sacrificing sensitivity
 - d. Decreased incidence of medial wall breach
- 3. Which of the following statements is FALSE with regard to lumbosacral anatomy?
 - a. In adults, the filum terminale generally terminates at L1–L2
 - b. There are five lumbar and five sacral vertebrae in the lumbosacral spine
 - c. The cauda equine refers to bundles of nerve roots that exit off of the conus medullaris and travel in the spinal column until exiting at their respective foraminae
 - d. The sacral vertebrae are fused

Answers

- 1. D
- 2. C
- 3. A

Intramedullary Spinal Cord Surgery

36

Beate Poblete and Karl F. Kothbauer

Key Learning Points

- Loss or deterioration of SSEPs during myelotomy is a common finding and NOT associated with motor deficits.
- Presence of muscle MEPs always correlates to the absence of significant motor deficits.
- Transient paraparesis is neurophysiologically characterized by loss of uni- or bilateral muscle MEPs and preservation of D-Wave.

Introduction

Intradural spinal tumorsare much less common than primary intracranial tumors, and overall represent 2-4% of all primary tumors of the central nervous system (CNS). They may be intradural extramedullary tumors, that is, they are located inside the dural sac but outside the spinal cord, and thus exert external compression on the cord. This group comprises meningiomas and nerve sheath tumors (schwannomas, neurofibromas). They are more frequent in adults. The other, more delicate group are intramedullary tumors, also called intrinsic tumors, as they are located within the substance of the spinal cord. They are the predominant spinal tumor type in children. Histologically the most frequent intramedullary tumor is the ependymoma in adults, and the pilocytic astrocytoma in children. These and the great majority of all other tumor types are histologically benign, and graded 1 or 2 by the World Health Organization (WHO) system. Higher grade tumors are rare. Glioblastomas are extremely rare.

The typical presenting signs and symptoms of intradural tumors, and intramedullary tumors in particular, include pain, which is more pronounced in the reclining position. The typical patient has disturbed sleep because of pain in the neck, the shoulders, the arms and legs, uni- or bilaterally, often combined with mild sensory symptoms like numbness and paresthesias. Typically, this type of pain improves or resolves during the day. Neurologic dysfunction may occur in the form of deterioration of fine motor skills for the hands, gait and balance disturbance, or outright paresis. The great majority of patients have slow onset or slow progression of symptoms. Rapidly developing symptoms would indicate the rare case of higher grade tumor.

In recent years, due to the immense progress of clinical oncology, more and more patients with intramedullary metastasis have been

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_36

B. Poblete, M.D.

Division of Anesthesiology, Luzerner Kantonsspital, Luzern 6000, Switzerland e-mail: Beate.Poblete@luks.ch

K.F. Kothbauer, M.D. (⊠) Division of Neurosurgery, Luzerner Kantonsspital, Luzern 6000, Switzerland e-mail: Karl.Kothbauer@luks.ch

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

presented and the occasional surgery to remove a metastatic lesion has been done.

Spinal cord tumors may also be vascular; the hemangioblastoma being the most frequent type. This may occur with or without the genetic predisposition of von Hippel-Lindau disease. Cavernomas and arteriovenous malformations occur in the spinal cord, but particularly the latter are exceedingly rare.

The other genetic disorder associated with spinal cord tumors is neurofibromatosis. Type 1 frequently is associated with nerve sheath tumors; type 2 additionally with ependymomas.

A peculiar variant of ependymoma is also well known in the spinal canal: the myxopapillary ependymoma is called such because of its characteristic histologic appearance. It is usually located in or around the conus medullaris and the cauda equina. In fact, it may be located intra- and extramedullary at the same time, which makes resection treacherous. In terms of their internal structure, intramedullary tumors may be solid or cystic with various combinations of the two. The presence of cysts is a predisposition to cause spinal deformity, particularly scoliosis. Often, the presence of cysts facilitates the tumor removal as the cyst opening quickly provides space to directly access the tumor without going along the cord-tumor interface all along.

In terms of treatment, the widespread consensus, based on a lot of experience and some evidence, is that intramedullary tumors should be removed microsurgically. Because most tumors are benign, this mostly results in long survival. The rare malignant tumors have a poor prognosis. Adjuvant treatment, i.e., radiation and chemotherapy, is given only in exceptional circumstances of inoperability or persistent recurrence, or for the rare tumor which is higher grade (WHO 3 or 4).

The oncologic outcome is characterized by long survival. An intramedullary tumor very rarely changes the life expectancy. The neurologic outcome of surgery is characterized by a small motor morbidity. The rate of significant motor deficit may be under 5%. However, the loss of some sensory function is surely much higher, probably above 50%. This can result in ataxia, superficial sensory dysfunction or, most severely, loss of joint position sense.

Neurosurgical resection of spinal cord tumors greatly benefits from the use of intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring. At this time, it is generally accepted that somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP), D wave, and motor-evoked potential (MEP) data represent the functional integrity of the respective sensory and motor pathways in the spinal cord. There continues to be a debate about the evidence base as to whether or not the utilization of monitoring influences the overall outcome of spinal cord tumor resection.

The degree of resection, survival, and the neurologic outcome greatly depend on several crucial factors: well-delineated tumors where a "plane of dissection" can be developed in surgery are more likely to be completely resectable and have an almost zero recurrence rate (ependymomas, hemangioblastomas). Astrocytomas may vary in their configuration and mostly have at least in part of their surface a diffuse interface to the normal cord and thus are much less well resectable. The most important neurologic factor for postoperative neurologic outcome is the preoperative neurologic status: the patient with intact function and only minor symptoms has much less risk of surgery-induced deterioration than the patient with barely preserved function preoperatively. Consequently it is almost never possible to reverse a once-established neurologic deficit, meaning that a patient who comes to surgery already paraplegic usually cannot recover, even with complete tumor resection.

From the perspective of a neurosurgeon experienced in spinal cord surgery, the most important factors for successful resection include the expert application of intraoperative neurophysiologic techniques at all steps of the operation. Certainly, the surgical experience is an essential prerequisite anyway. But the interpretation of continuously acquired monitoring data in an environment of constant and easy communication between surgeon and monitoring team is indispensable. It was not neurosurgeons but orthopedic surgeons who first implemented intraoperative monitoring with sensory-evoked potentials for the spinal cord in an effort to reduce neurologic morbidity of spinal surgeries [1]. The technology has vastly improved since these early times. In addition to the slow and unreliable [2] spinal monitoring with SSEPs, concepts for direct monitoring of the motor pathways were developed in the 1980s [3–9], implemented for practical use in the 1990s [10–14], and further refined and widely applied in the following decade [15].

Neurophysiology

Motor potentials are evoked with transcranial electrical motor cortex stimulation. The stimulus points are C3, C4, C1, C2, Cz, and a point 6 cm in front of Cz (International 10/20 EEG electrode system). Cork-screw electrodes are optimal for fixation to the scalp, but straight needle electrodes as well as surface electrodes are also in use.

Electrical stimulation with rectangular constant current impulses of 0.5 ms duration and intensities between 15 and 220 mA is used.

D waves [3] are elicited with single stimuli. This is therefore called the "single stimulus technique." The D waves are recorded as traveling waves directly from the spinal cord with an electrode placed over the spinal cord usually in the spinal epidural space. Baseline recordings are obtained during the surgical opening. The signal usually does not require averaging although recording quality often improves with a few averages. The stimulations are repeatable at a rate of 0.5–2 Hz. This provides practically "realtime" feedback. The relevant D wave parameter is its peak-to-peak amplitude. A decrease of more than 50% of the baseline amplitude is considered critical and has been found to be associated with a motor deficit [12]. Latency changes of the D wave are mostly not due to surgery but to factors such as temperature [16]. Higher stimulation intensities are followed by shorter D wave latencies [8]. This is likely due to the corticospinal tract fiber activation occurring deeper in the white matter of the brain.

Muscle MEPs are elicited with transcranial electrical stimulation over the same electrodes as for the D wave. A train of five to seven stimuli with 4 ms interstimulus intervals [17, 18] is used. The technique is called "multipulse technique" [13] or "train stimulus technique" [9]. Compound muscle action potentials are recorded with needle electrodes from target muscles in all four extremities (thenar, anterior tibialis, abductor hallucis). Practically all muscles, including those innervated by cranial nerves and even the diaphragm and the external anal sphincter, can be used as recording sites. Muscle MEPs also do not require averaging and can be repeated at a rate of 0.5-2 Hz. With the focal anode as the stimulating electrode, a montage of C1/2 (anode at C1, cathode at C2) or C2/1 is tried first to elicit muscle MEPs in all four extremities. In individual cases, C3/4, C4/3, or Cz/6 are used as alternative stimulation points [19].

The principle of evoking muscle responses is understood in the context of the D wave concept: each individual electrical stimulus on the motor cortex, either on the exposed cortex or using transcranial stimulation [6], elicits a D wave in the corticospinal tract. A fast train of five stimuli at 250 Hz elicits five consecutive D waves, which then travel down the corticospinal tract 4 ms apart. The spinal alpha-motorneurons receive these five D waves and that increases their membrane potential up to firing threshold [4] even under the conditions of general anesthesia. The parameter monitored is the presence or absence of muscle MEPs in the target muscles within a stimulus intensity range of 15-220 mA. This allor-none concept has been adopted because of the enormous variability of muscle MEP amplitudes [10, 20, 21] and because a motor deficit occurred only when the muscle responses were lost [7, 10,14, 21].

With more and more MEP monitoring performed, worldwide safety concerns have required further study into the biologic effects of electric neural stimulation. So far this growing use has not resulted in significant numbers of reported complications resulting from tissue damage [22, 23] or seizures. Nevertheless, this issue continues to be growing in importance [24].

Anesthesia for Neurophysiologic Monitoring

Total intravenous anesthesia with an as constant as possible infusion of propofol (100–150 μ g/kg/ min) and fentanyl (1 μ g/kg/h) is ideal when MEP monitoring is utilized for an operation. Propofol for anesthesia with MEP monitoring has been reported with various stimulation techniques [25–30]. Bolus injections of both intravenous (IC) agents should be avoided because this appears to temporarily disrupt muscle MEP recording. This can be particularly problematic during the critical resection part of any spinal cord tumor surgery.

We found the addition of ketamine, 0.25 mg/kg/min, a particularly useful addition to the anesthetic management [31].

Halogenated anesthetics should not be used [23], even though low doses may be tolerable. They elevate muscle MEP stimulus thresholds and block muscle MEPs in a dose-dependent fashion [32]. Using them adds an uncontrollable variable without improving anesthesia.

Short-acting muscle relaxants are given for intubation only. Neurosurgeons and anesthesiologists may be somewhat uncomfortable with some patient movement during surgery, which results from the effects of transcranial motor cortex stimulation. "Partial" muscle relaxation [21] to improve on this problem continues to be debated. We doubt that it improves anesthesia management, but are convinced that it makes monitoring data less reliable. The proven specificity of muscle MEP data would likely suffer, and some patient movement from stimulation could still not be entirely avoided. Therefore, this would combine poor monitoring with poor relaxation.

Case 1

History, Clinical Assessment, and Imaging

This 55-year-old man had a several years' history of subtle signs of neurologic dysfunction, such as nighttime back pain, slow deterioration of endur-

ance and stamina in sports, mild urinary dysfunction, and subtle reduction in sexual function. At diagnosis, the symptoms had escalated to a significant degree of gait dysfunctionand a walking distance reduced to about 100 m. Magnetic resonance imaging (Fig. 36.1) revealed a large mass in the lower thoracic spinal cord with extensive upper thoracic cord edema and venous engorgement around the conus. The tumor matrix appeared dark on T2, which indicates an above average degree of fibrous tissue. Urgent resection was recommended due to the presence of significant neurologic dysfunction and recent neurologic deterioration, as the degree of preoperative neurologic dysfunction correlates with the degree of perioperative deterioration [12, 33].

Surgery and Intraoperative Monitoring

The monitoring routines for surgery of intramedullary spinal cord tumors include MEP and SSEP recordings from the upper and lower extremities. Thenar, tibialis anterior, flexor hallucis brevis bilaterally were used. Cortical SSEP responses were recorded from median and tibial nerve stimulation. In thoracic tumors, the upper extremity recordings serve as controls for the surgically relevant lower extremity recordings. In addition, recordings of bulbocavernosus reflex, pudendal nerve SSEPs and anal MEPs can be attempted.

The patient was positioned prone with the head in a soft face padding mounted on a mirror plate. During the approach phase of the operation, a sudden drop in the cortical amplitude of the right median nerve was noted (Fig. 36.2). An immediate assessment of the situation showed that unchanged recordings from the left side excluded the possibility of a systemic effect such as a change in anesthesia regimen. The surgery was excluded because the relevant spinal level was low thoracic and therefore not corresponding to the median SSEP. Inspection of the electrodes and cables as well as the patient's positioning showed an insufficient padding and malposition of the right arm. This was corrected and the recordings normalized at the next set of recordings.



Fig. 36.1 Magnetic resonance images of an extensive intramedullary tumor in lower thoracic spinal cord with complete obstruction of the spinal canal (**a**), significant enhancement (**b**), and dark T2-signal indicating fibrous

tissue (c). The large size on imaging does not even allow the differential diagnosis of an intramedullary versus an intradural-extramedullary tumor



Left Median Nerve SEP



Fig. 36.2 A sudden drop in cortical signal amplitude from the right median nerve SEP prompted analysis and insufficient padding and suboptimal arm position was found and corrected. This resulted in rapid recovery of the

response. The contralateral side showed no change at the same time, indicating that it could not be caused by systemic factors

During resection of the spinal cord tumor, significant difficulty was encountered as the tumor was found to be very firm and thus could not be grabbed or easily decompressed. Internal decompression was achieved using a microsurgical laser [34]. This brought the size of the mass sufficiently down so that the remaining tumor mass could be dissected out of the edematous spinal cord in toto. There was no further significant change in either motor- or sensory-evoked potential recordings.

The patient awoke from anesthesia without significant motor deficits. Postoperative MRI showed complete tumor removal.

Case Summary Interpretation and Discussion

A 55-year-old man with progressive paraparesis underwent resection of an intramedullary tumor eventually diagnosed as a solitary fibrous tumor (Fig. 36.1) [35]. During surgery, a unilateral sudden decrease of median nerve SSEP was noted (Fig. 36.2) and found to be caused by less-thanoptimal padding of the right forearm. Improved positioning rapidly improved the response. This was a mechanical problem unrelated to the operation per se, due to patient positioning which was identified and corrected immediately.

This case demonstrates that routinely recording evoked potentials from upper and lower extremities is useful even when the surgery takes place caudal to the level of the cervical spinal cord. Upper extremity recordings may serve as controls for difficult lower extremity recordings and as controls to systemic effects of core temperature change and the effects of anesthetic agents. Considering the possible influences of these factors, it became evident that the observed change must have been caused by a nonsurgical (far cranial to the surgery) influence and a nontechnical (no artifacts, correct electrode posinonsystemic tions), (stable recordings contralaterally and on the lower extremities) problem. Positioning-related compressive neuropathy is not an infrequent occurrence in complex surgical positioning [36]. Early detection is possible with an evoked potential change such as the one shown here [37]. The case also provides evidence that even SEPs requiring averaging can provide fast information upon potential and correctable problems.

Case 2

History, Clinical Assessment, and Imaging

A 4-year-old boy with nighttime neck pain and progressive clumsiness of the right hand was diagnosed with a cervical intramedullary spinal cord tumor. On MRI, the lesion showed a marked heterogeneity and significant internal compression of the spinal cord by both solid tumor masses and cystic formations (Fig. 36.3). Tumor resection was recommended to obtain a histologic diagnosis and as optimal primary tumor treatment.

Surgery and Intraoperative Monitoring

Routine monitoring for cervical intramedullary spinal cord tumors includes MEP and SSEP recordings from the upper and lower extremities. Thenar, tibialis anterior, flexor hallucis brevis are used. In this context, cortical SSEP responses are recorded from ulnar and tibial nerves, respectively. If possible, an epidural electrode is inserted to record D waves.

The patient was positioned prone with the head fixed in neutral position in a four-pronged Sugita headholder. A laminotomy C3 to T3 was made for surgical exposure. After a dorsal myelotomy, the extensive tumor tissue was removed in piecemeal fashion using the Cavitron ultrasonic aspirator (CUSA), regular suction, and the microsurgical laser. MEP and SEP signals for the entire right side were permanently lost during resection on the right side (Fig. 36.4). Waiting, irrigation, induced hypertension, and additional steroid administration did not achieve recovery of the recordings. The resection remained subto-



Fig. 36.3 Sagittal and axial MR images of the pilocytic astrocytoma in the cervical spinal cord

tal. No attempt was made to remove tumor residuals adherent to the still-functioning left side of the cord. The patient awoke with a severe rightsided hemiparesis. Over the long run he recovered motor function of the left side, learned how to walk and run, but remained with a severely impaired right hand and an abnormal gait.

Case Summary Interpretation and Discussion

A 4-year-old boy underwent surgical resection of a cervical intramedullary spinal cord pilocytic astrocytoma. At a critical stage of the resection, a significant change of MEPs of both upper and lower extremities occurred on the right side. MEP and SSEP signals for the entire right side were permanently lost. The resection remained incomplete and the patient had a severe right-sided hemiparesis. The leg recovered partially, the upper extremity remained significantly impaired.

This case demonstrates both the immediate feedback provided by the loss of MEPs on one side and the significant neurologic consequences of a complete loss of both upper and lower extremity recordings. Usually the leg recovers faster and easier than the hand, and unilateral loss of lower extremity MEPs usually recovers completely [14]. However, the complete loss of both extremities on one side appears to have graver consequences. This young patient recovered gross motor function of the arm but not the motor skills adequate for the dominant hand. He developed left-handedness and his rehabilitation was aimed at achieving this goal. His walking improved rapidly to independence but his gait remained massively abnormal.

Fig. 36.4 MEP

recordings from the right and left hypothenar (*bottom traces*) and the right tibialis anterior and abductor hallucis muscles, respectively (*top traces*). The lower extremity recordings disappear simultaneously at a well-defined point. The right hypothenar recordings disappeared gradually and remained stable on the left side

MEP loss on the right

Left Tibial







Right Hypothenar



à





The preoperative anatomy allowed a preassessment that the right side was under significant risk and that the left side must be preserved at all cost. This concept unfolded during the operation in that indeed the right side suffered, but the left could be preserved and thus useful functioning and social independence was saved. Continuation of the surgery to achieve an anatomically complete resection even of the tumor components involving the left side of the cord would likely have resulted in a complete loss of motor function bilaterally.

Case 3

History, Clinical Assessment, and Imaging

A 54-year-old woman with a year-long progressive history of nighttime back pain presented with a sensory level below Th7 and MR imaging revealed an intradural-extramedullary tumor at the level of Th9 (Fig. 36.5).



Fig. 36.5 Sagittal and axial MR images of what turned out to be a meningioma which was tightly adherent to the pial surface of the spinal cord

Surgery and Intraoperative Monitoring

The monitoring routines for surgery of intraduralextramedullary tumors and intramedullary spinal cord tumors are identical with MEP and SEP recordings from the upper and lower extremities. Thenar, tibialis anterior, flexor hallucis brevis bilaterally were used.

The patient was positioned prone. During the laminectomy, baseline recordings were obtained. Upon opening of the dura, significant hemorrhage occurred from around the tumor and epidurally. Adequate exposure and hemostasis required some time and some blood loss. Left tibialis anterior MEPs disappeared at that time. Blood loss was rapidly compensated with fluid replacement. There was no significant hypotension during that time. MEPs reappeared after about 40 min (Fig. 36.6).

Summary, Interpretation, and Discussion

A 54-year-old woman underwent laminectomy and resection of an intradural meningioma at T9. This case differs little from intramedullary tumor resections and is therefore presented in this context. After dural opening, a significant hemorrhage occurred. Rapid fluid replacement was considered important and started immedisignificant hypotension was ately. Thus, avoided. Nevertheless, during this time a temporary loss of muscle MEPs from the left tibialis anterior occurred. Both systemic and local factors could have contributed to these findings: local pressure on the tumor and subsequently to the spinal cord during hemostasis and initial tumor resection could have caused temporary MEP loss. In addition, the blood loss compen-



Fig. 36.6 Loss and reappearance of muscle MEPs in the lower extremity on one side during hemorrhage and tumor removal

sated through fluid replacement could have contributed to the MEP loss despite stable blood pressure in the situation of both local and systemic vulnerability of the corticospinal system originally due to tumor compression. We consider the proactive maintenance of stable circulatory parameters by the anesthesiologist essential to avoid lasting neurologic dysfunction. It would be an error to wait with fluid replacement until the blood pressure indeed decreases. Correction of the volume deficit at such a late time would be trailing events, carrying more risk for ischemic damage.

Discussion

The use of MEP data, both D wave and muscle MEPs, has found significant acceptance and implementation in the growing community of



Fig. 36.6 (continued)

intraoperative monitoring specialists worldwide. Intramedullary and extramedullary tumors (like the one in Case 3) are basically monitored using the same techniques, practical setups, and interpretation criteria: preservation of muscle MEPs is always associated with preserved motor function, loss of muscle MEPs is highly likely to indicate temporary loss of motor function as long as the D wave is preserved. Loss of both muscle MEPs and D wave is indicating irreversible loss of motor function. There is a scenario of present muscle MEPs but absent or unrecordable D wave. This is interpreted as a desynchronization of the D wave and is sometimes observed in patients with intradural-extramedullary tumors as well as in patients who underwent prior radiation therapy.

The patient care essentially requires extensive integration of neurosurgery, neurophysiology, and neuroanesthesia. As the three case vignettes presented in this contribution show, an array of interpretation from all three specialties contribute to the integrated picture. The neuroanesthesiologist should not only be a passive "provider of anesthesia" for the operation but an active, and as Case 3 shows, even proactive partner in the entire effort to manage, control, influence and eventually maintain neurologic homeostasis and neurologic integrity of essential neural structures.

References

- Nash CL, Lorig RA, Schatzinger L, Brown RH. Spinal cord monitoring during operative treatment of the spine. Clin Orthop Rel Res. 1977;126:100–5.
- Lesser RP, Raudzens P, Lüders H, Nuwer MR, Goldie WD, Morris III HH, et al. Postoperative neurological deficits may occur despite unchanged intraoperative somatosensory evoked potentials. Ann Neurol. 1986;19:22–5.
- Patton HD, Amassian VE. Single-and multiple unit analysis of cortical stage of pyramidal tract activation. J Neurophysiol. 1954;17:345–63.
- Philips CG, Porter R. The pyramidal projection to motoneurones of some muscle groups of the baboon's forelimb. In: Eccles JC, Schadé JP, editors. Progress in brain research, vol. 12. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1964. p. 222–43.
- Merton PA, Morton HB. Stimulation of the cerebral cortex in the intact human subject. Nature. 1980;285:227.
- Katayama Y, Tsubokawa T, Maemjima S, Hirayama T, Yamamoto T. Corticospinal direct response in humans: identification of the motor cortex during intracranial surgery under general anesthesia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr. 1988;51:50–9.
- Zentner J. Noninvasive motor evoked potential monitoring during neurosurgical operations in the spinal cord. Neurosurgery. 1989;24(5):709–12.
- Burke D, Hicks RG, Stephen JPH. Corticospinal volleys evoked by anodal and cathodal stimulation of the human motor cortex. J Physiol. 1990;425:283–99.
- Taniguchi M, Schramm J, Cedzich C. Recording of myogenic motor evoked potentials under general anesthesia. In: Schramm J, Møller ÅR, editors. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring in neurosurgery. Berlin: Springer; 1991. p. 72–87.
- Jones SJ, Harrison R, Koh KF, Mendoza N, Crockard HA. Motor evoked potential monitoring during spinal surgery: responses of distal limb muscles to transcranial cortical stimulation with pulse trains. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1996;100:375–83.
- Pechstein U, Cedzich C, Nadstawek J, Schramm J. Transcranial high-frequency repetitive electrical stimulation for recording myogenic motor evoked potentials with the patient under general anesthesia. Neurosurgery. 1996;39(2):335–44.
- Morota N, Deletis V, Constantini S, Kofler M, Cohen H, Epstein FJ. The role of motor evoked potentials during surgery for intramedullary spinal cord tumors. Neurosurgery. 1997;41(6):1327–36.
- Calancie B, Harris W, Broton JG, Alexeeva N, Green BA. "Threshold-level" multipulse transcranial electrical stimulation of motor cortex for intraoperative monitoring of spinal motor tracts: description of method and comparison to somatosensory evoked potential monitoring. J Neurosurg. 1998;88(1):457–70.
- Kothbauer KF, Deletis V, Epstein FJ. Motor evoked potential monitoring for intramedullary spinal cord tumor surgery: correlation of clinical and neurophysi-

ological data in a series of 100 consecutive procedures. Neurosurg Focus. 1998;4(5). Article 1. http:// www.aans.org/journals/online_j/may98/94-95-91.

- Sala F, Palandri G, Basso E, Lanteri P, Deletis V, Faccioli F, Bricolo A, et al. Motor evoked potential monitoring improves outcome during surgery for intramedullary spinal cord tumor: a historical control study in 50 patients. Neurosurgery. 2006;58(6):1129–43.
- 16. Deletis V. Intraoperative monitoring of the functional integrity of the motor pathways. In: Devinsky O, Beric A, Dogali M, editors. Electrical and magnetic stimulation of the brain and spinal cord. New York: Raven; 1993. p. 201–14.
- Deletis V, Rodi Z, Amassian VE. Neurophysiological mechanisms underlying motor evoked potentials in anesthetized humans. Part 2. Relationship between epidurally and muscle recorded MEPs in man. Clin Neurophysiol. 2001;112:445–52.
- Deletis V, Isgum V, Amassian VE. Neurophysiological mechanisms underlying motor evoked potentials in anesthetized humans. Part 1. Recovery time of corticospinal tract direct waves elicited by pairs of transcranial electrical stimuli. Clin Neurophysiol. 2001;112:438–44.
- Szelenyi A, Kothbauer KF, Deletis V. Transcranial electric stimulation for intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring: stimulation parameters and electrode montages. Clin Neurophysiol. 2007;118: 1586–95.
- Woodforth IJ, Hicks RG, Crawford MR, Stephen JP, Burke DJ. Variability of motor-evoked potentials recorded during nitrous oxide anesthesia from the tibialis anterior muscle after transcranial electrical stimulation. Anesth Analg. 1996;82:744–9.
- Lang EW, Beutler AS, Chesnut FM, Patel PM, Kennelly NA, Kalkman CJ, et al. Myogenic motorevoked potential monitoring using partial neuromuscular blockade in surgery of the spine. Spine. 1996;21(14):1676–86.
- Agnew WF, McCreery DB. Considerations for safety in the use of extracranial stimulation for motor evoked potentials. Neurosurgery. 1987;20(1):143–7.
- Taniguchi M, Cedzich C, Schramm J. Modification of cortical stimulation for motor evoked potentials under general anesthesia: technical description. Neurosurgery. 1993;32(2):219–26.
- MacDonald DB. Safety of intraoperative transcranial electrical stimulation motor evoked potential monitoring. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19(5):416–29.
- 25. Sloan TB. Intraoperative neurophysiology and anesthesia management. In: Deletis V, Shils J, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery. Vol 1. Amsterdam: Academic, Elsevier; 2002. p. 451–74.
- 26. Jellinek D, Jewkes D, Symon L. Noninvasive intraoperative monitoring of motor evoked potentials under propofol anesthesia: effect of spinal surgery on the amplitude and latency of motor evoked potentials. Neurosurgery. 1991;29:551–7.
- Kalkman CJ, Drummond JC, Ribberink AA, Patel PM, Sano T, Bickford RG. Effects of propofol, etomidate, midazolam and fentanyl on motor evoked responses to

transcranial electrical or magnetic stimulation in humans. Anesthesiology. 1992;76:502–9.

- Schmid UD, Boll J, Liechti S, Schmid J, Hess CW. Influence of some anesthetic agents on muscle responses to transcranial magnetic cortex stimulation: a pilot study in man. Neurosurgery. 1992;30(1):85–92.
- Taniguchi M, Nadstawek J, Langenbach U, Bremer F, Schramm J. Effects of four intravenous anesthetic agents on motor evoked potentials elicited by magnetic transcranial stimulation. Neurosurgery. 1993;33(3):407–15.
- 30. Fennelly ME, Taylor BA, Hetreed M. Anaesthesia and the motor evoked potential. In: Jones SJ, Boyd S, Hetreed M, Smith NJ, editors. Handbook of spinal cord monitoring 1992, vol. 1. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic; 1993. p. 272–6.
- Kothbauer K, Schmid UD, Liechti S, Rösler KM. The effect of ketamine anesthetic induction on muscle responses to transcranial magnetic cortex stimulation studied in man. Neurosci Lett. 1993;154:105–8.
- Ubags LH, Kalkman CJ, Been HD. Influence of isoflurane on myogenic motor evoked potentials to single and multiple transcranial stimuli during nitrous oxide/opioid anesthesia. Neurosurgery. 1998;43(1):90–4.
- Woodworth GF, Chaichana KL, McGirt MJ, Sciubba DM, Jallo GI, Gokaslan Z, et al. Predictors of ambulatory function after surgical resection of intramedullary spinal cord tumors. Neurosurgery. 2007;61(1):99–105; discussion 105–6.
- Jallo GI, Kothbauer KF, Epstein FJ. Contact laser microsurgery. Child's Nerv Syst. 2002;18:333–6.
- Jallo GI, Roonprapunt C, Kothbauer K, Freed D, Allen J, Epstein F. Spinal solitary fibrous tumors: a series of four patients: case report. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(1), E195.
- Warner MA, Warner ME, Martin JT. Ulnar neuropathy. Incidence, outcome, and risk factors in sedated or anesthetized patients. Anesthesiology. 1994;81(6):1332–40.
- 37. Labrom RD, Hoskins M, Reilly CW, Tredwell SJ, Wong PK. Clinical usefulness of somatosensory evoked potentials for detection of brachial plexopathy secondary to malpositioning in scoliosis surgery. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2005;30(18):2089–93.

Suggested Reading

- Brotchi J. Intrinsic spinal cord tumor resection. Neurosurgery. 2002;50:1059–63.
- Jallo G, Kothbauer K, Epstein FJ. Intrinsic spinal cord tumor resection: operative nuances. Neurosurgery. 2001;49:1124–8.
- Kothbauer KF. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring for intramedullary spinal-cord tumor surgery. Neurophysiol Clin. 2007;37:407–14.
- Sala F, Kothbauer K. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during surgery for intramedullary spinal cord tumors. In: Nuwer M, editor. Intraoperative monitoring of neural function. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2008. p. 632–50.

Questions

 During a spinal cord tumor surgery in a 2-yearold child in prone position with the head turned rather sharply to the side and positioned in a ring, the muscle MEPs of the right upper and lower extremities first require higher stimulation intensity and soon disappear soon after baselines were obtained and BEFORE the surgeon even got to laminotomy.

This is most likely due to:

- A. Hypothermia resulting from poor covering during anesthesia preparation and monitoring setup.
- B. Hypotension due to blood loss.
- C. Compression of the spinal cord at the level of the cervicothoracic junction.
- D. Poor positioning and position-induced transient spinal cord compression.
- Upon resection of a T2 to T11 intramedullary ganglioglioma in a 14-year-old girl, a loss of muscle MEPs from the right tibialis anterior muscles occurs. The ipsilateral abductor hallucis has not been recordable even at baseline at maximum intensity settings. The D wave is down in amplitude about 30% from baseline. Thenar MEPs are bilaterally intact and unchanged.

What should you do next?

- A. Advise the surgeon of the change and recommend temporarily halting resection and start irrigation.
- B. Alert the anesthesiologist to a possible perfusion deficit.
- C. Ask the anesthesiologist if the anesthesia level may be too light.
- D. Further increase the stimulus intensity and the number of pulses per train and repeat recordings.
- 3. A right-handed adult patient has an intramedullary astrocytoma with asymmetric configuration from C2 to C7. His symptoms are primarily nighttime pain in the ulnar left forearm. The surgical plan is to enter the cord on the left (i.e., symptomatic and nondominant) side.

During this operation it is essential to preserve:

- A. SSEPs of the right leg, muscle MEPs of the left arm and the D wave.
- B. The D wave.

- C. SSEPs of the right arm and leg, D wave, bilateral upper extremity MEPs, and right lower extremity MEPs.
- D. Muscle MEPs of both tibialis anterior and abductor hallucis muscles.
- 4. A myxopapillary ependymoma of the conus and cauda equina extending from T11 to L5 is resected in a 5-year-old boy. What is the role of D-Wave recording in this surgery?
 - A. The D wave must be recorded with priority over muscle MEPs and bulbocavernosus-reflex.

- B. The D wave cannot be recorded.
- C. The D wave must be recorded using a collision technique.
- D. The D wave amplitude must remain above 50% of baseline to ensure preserved sphincter function.

Answers

- 1. D
- 2. A
- 3. B
- 4. B

Intraoperative Monitoring in Tethered Cord Surgery

37

Daniel J. Janik and Claudia F. Clavijo

Key Learning Points

- Derangements in this process of spinal cord will lead to various forms of spinal dysraphism, including the TCS. Although usually diagnosed in childhood, an adult form is well known. Developmental attachments and traction may remain subclinical and be aggravated over time by repeated traction of the conus medullaris during spine flexion, trauma, or degenerative stenosis of the spinal canal.
- Patients present with various sensorimotor changes in the lower limbs and abdomen; these include pain (low back and leg), weakness, altered sensation, bowel and/or bladder dysfunction, and sexual dysfunction.
- Up to 90% of all patients brought to surgery will experience either improvement or stabilization of their complaints.
- It is necessary to identify and protect the multiple nerve roots in the cauda prior to surgical resection of the filum terminale or any other fibrous adhesions causing the tethering phenomenon, as well as protection of the motor and sensory tracts. Mapping techniques are useful in identifying and sparing functional

D.J. Janik, M.D. (🖂) • C.F. Clavijo, M.D.

e-mail: Daniel.Janik@ucdenver.edu;

neural structures. They are also helpful in identifying nonfunctional neural tissue to allow for complete untethering.

- A multimodality approach to monitoring the neural structures at risk is warranted. Neurophysiologic monitoring is needed not only to predict but also to prevent nerve injury. Therefore, monitoring modalities available to achieve this include posterior tibial and median nerve somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEP), pudendal and individual spinal nerve root sensory-evoked potentials, transcranial motor-evoked potentials (MEP), spontaneous and evoked electromyography (EMG) of musculature in the myotomes from L2 to S4, the bulbocavernosus reflex (BCR), and pressure urometry.
- Regarding the efficacy of multimodality monitoring, EMG had a sensitivity of 100% and SSEP had a specificity of up to 100% in several studies.
- Intraoperative motor-evoked potential improvement has been reported after complete and successful untethering. This was associated with clinical improvement in the immediate postoperative period.
- Several authors support the use of evoked EMG of the anal sphincter as adequate to monitor pudendal nerve function and to preserve both fecal and urinary continence.
- Relaxation is mediated by sympathetic preganglionic fibers from T11–L2, which syn-

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_37

Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, 12401 E 17th Avenue, Aurora, CO 12401, USA

Claudia.clavijo@ucdenver.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

apse with the postganglionic nerves in the mesenteric and sacral plexuses; finally traveling to the bladder via the hypogastric nerve. A method of monitoring the detrusor contraction through the use of vesical pressure has been used successfully in at least two case study series. Stimulation of the autonomic fibers of S2–4 will then yield an increase in bladder pressure.

The BCR aids in the assessment of three . anatomical structures/pathways at spinal levels S2–4. The afferent path is formed by the sensory fibers of the pudendal nerve, and the efferent limb travels over the motor fibers of the pudendal nerve to the muscles of the pelvic floor including the external anal sphincter. The pudendal nerve can be electrically stimulated over the dorsum of the penis or the clitoris with the motor response captured with needle electrodes inserted into the anal sphincter. Whether or not the BCR correlates with preservation of sphincter control or sexual function postoperatively is controversial.

Introduction

The tethered cord syndrome (TCS) is a constellation of symptoms resulting from an abnormal fixation and restricted movement of the spinal cord. The immobility of the spinal cord is caused by attachment of neural tissue to inelastic structures such as a thickened filum terminale, adhesions (developmental or postsurgical), lipomeningomyelocele, intradural lipomas, or arachnoiditis [1]. It is interesting to note that the embryological origins of the spinal cord are twofold: the proximal segment is formed when the ectoderm overlying the notochord forms the neural plate, involutes, and then closes to form the neural tube with cranial and caudal neuropores; distal to the caudal neuropore is the caudal cell mass, which differentiates into the distal neural tube, the end of which is the ventriculus terminalis. The caudal cell mass forms the conus medullaris, filum terminale, and cauda equina. During gestation the conus ascends in relation to the ver-

tebral bodies, and tissue caudal to the ventriculus terminalis forms the filum. The vertebral column grows at a rate disproportional to the neural structures resulting in elongation of the filum and ascension of the conus until, at about 3 months' postnatal age, it rests at the L1-2 level [2]. Derangements in this process will lead to various forms of spinal dysraphism including the TCS. Although usually diagnosed in childhood, an adult form of this condition is well known that can also be caused by trauma or previous surgery to the spine. Developmental attachments and traction may remain subclinical and be aggravated over time by repeated traction of the conus medullaris during spine flexion, trauma, or degenerative stenosis of the spinal canal. Animal models have shown that continuous traction produces histopathological changes in white and grey matter that are proportional to the tension applied to the cord and the length of exposure. Neurophysiologic changes in both somatosensory-evoked potentials and motor-evoked potentials correlate with histopathological findings [3]. Patients present with various sensorimotor changes in the lower limbs and abdomen, which include pain (low back and leg), weakness, altered sensation, bowel and/or bladder dysfunction, and sexual dysfunction, as seen in Table 37.1 [4]. In a recent series of 24 adult patients with TCS, scoliosis and congenital talipes equinovarus were found in 45.8 and 12.5 % of patients, respectively [5]. While pain is the most common manifestation in adults, children

Table 37.1 Presenting complaints in patients with TCS

Clinical feature	Patients, n (%)
Muscular weakness	46 (78)
Back pain	43 (73)
Bladder dysfunction	42 (71)
Altered sensation	40 (68)
Leg pain or sciatica	33 (56)
Cutaneous stigmata	15 (25)
Foot deformities	13 (22)
Muscular atrophy	13 (22)
Leg length discrepancy	5 (8)
Spinal deformity	5 (8)
Fecal incontinence	4 (7)
Sexual dysfunction	2 (3)

Adapted from Lee et al. [4]

present more often with a motor weakness and alteration in tone and reflexes [6]. It is possible that this occurs due to the inability of the young children to communicate sensory changes or changes in urinary function like urgency or incomplete voiding.

As a result of the mechanical tethering of the spinal cord, there is a reduction in blood flow to the lower segments of the spinal cord, particularly in the conus. This leads to a derangement of oxidative metabolism in the grey matter of the cord with an impaired reduction/oxidation state in the cytochrome a, a3 system. Energy metabolism is therefore impaired. Spectrophotometry and Doppler flowmetry studies in humans and in experimental animal models show that this process can be reversed by surgical release of the cord resulting in improved blood flow and return to a more normal redox state [5, 7]. Neurologic improvement then parallels these changes. Surgical intervention is usually recommended for symptomatic patients, but it is still controversial whether to intervene on asymptomatic patients with evidence of tethered cord [5, 6]. Surgical treatment is aimed at the most complete untethering and release of the spinal cord as is possible utilizing microsurgical techniques. The goal is to relieve or stabilize symptoms and avoid further deterioration of neurologic function. Data show that the symptom most responsive to treatment is pain of the back or legs (up to 83% improvement), followed by weakness (up to 69%). Patients with a back and radicular pain history shorter that 1 year had better pain relief after untethering compared to those presenting with symptoms of longer duration [8].

Several studies have shown that up to 90% of all patients brought to surgery will experience either improvement or stabilization of their complaints (Table 37.1) [4].

Case Presentation

A 47-year-old man presented to the neurosurgeon with a history of nonradiating pain in the midthoracic region of his back. In addition, he complained of dull, aching pain in the posterior aspect of the left thigh and in the left buttock. He had noticed progressive weakness in his left leg and foot along with numbness and tingling in the left leg. When asked, he also admitted to intermittent difficulty voiding his bladder. His medical history consisted of essential hypertension, social alcohol consumption, and a 4-5 MET (metabolic equivalent of task) exercise tolerance. He was taking lisinopril for his blood pressure with good control. Physical examination revealed a decrease in sensation to touch in the left leg along the anterolateral aspect including the dorsum of the foot and great toe. His muscle strength was 5/5 in the arms and right leg, but was 3-4/5 in the left foot dorsi- and plantar flexion. Radiographic studies consisted of X-rays of the thoracic and lumbosacral spine as well as full spine MRI. The MRI showed a cystic lesion in the thoracic spine at the T6–7 level, and the appearance of a short and thickened filum terminale (Fig. 37.1). He was scheduled for a thoracic laminectomy and cyst removal and a lumbar exploration and untethering of the spinal cord.

Monitoring Modalities

Given the location of the spinal cyst and the proposed untethering procedure, neurologic structures at risk include the thoracic spinal cord (both corticospinal tracts and posterior columns) and the nerves of the cauda equina. These structures may be injured through various mechanisms including vascular compromise (surgical interruption, vasospasm, arterial hypotension, anemia, hypoxemia), compression from surgical retractors, overheating from electrocautery, or traction from improper positioning surgical manipulation [9]. or Paramount during surgery is the need to preserve motor and sensory function of the lower extremities as well as bowel, bladder, and sexual function. This necessitates the identification and protection of multiple nerve roots in the cauda prior to surgical resection of the filum terminale or any other fibrous adhesions causing the tethering phenomenon, as well as protection of the motor and sensory tracts. Mapping techniques are useful in identifying and sparing functional neural structures. They



Fig. 37.1 MRI of lumbosacral spine. (**a**) Sagittal view. Note thickened filum terminale indistinguishable from low-lying conus medullaris (*fine arrows*) and adherent to posterior elements in caudal canal. Also note skin indenta-

tion on back with hair growth (*thick arrow*), which is pathognomonic of spinal dysraphism. (**b**) Transverse view. Note septum (*fine arrow and rectangle*) bifurcating the conus medullaris (*thick arrows*)

are also helpful for identifying nonfunctional neural tissue to allow for complete untethering. Due to distorted anatomy in some patients, identification of neural structures based on anatomy and visual appearance only could be challenging. On the other hand, some patients have lost function of neural structures that can only be identified as nonfunctional with intraoperative neurophysiologic studies. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring has also been used in a recent study by Jackson et al. [10] to confirm functional level in patients 18 months to 5 years old presenting for untethering after having fetal repair of myelomeningocele.

During the procedure, two modalities will be used to meet the objectives. First, mapping will identify and separate functional neural elements from nonfunctional fibrous bands and the filum. Second, monitoring will continuously assess the functional integrity of neural tracts. In addition, the surgeon will benefit from immediate warning of impending damage when contacting any neural structures in the surgical field with the expectation that changes can then be made to minimize or avoid permanent injury. Neurophysiologic monitoring is needed not only to predict but also to prevent nerve injury. Therefore, monitoring modalities available to achieve this include posterior tibial and median nerve somatosensoryevoked potentials (SSEPs), pudendal and individual spinal nerve root sensory-evoked potentials, transcranial motor-evoked potentials (MEPs), spontaneous and evoked electromyography (EMG) of musculature in the myotomes from L2 to S4, the bulbocavernosus reflex (BCR), and pressure urometry.

Anesthetic Management

To optimize outcome, the anesthetic technique was tailored to minimize deleterious effects on the monitoring modalities employed (SSEPs, MEPs, EMG), allowing the best feedback to the surgeon regarding impending neurologic injury. A total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) technique was employed with judicious use of neuromuscular blockade. The patient was premedicated with 2 mg intravenous (IV) midazolam. Electrocardiogram, noninvasive blood pressure, bispectral index analysis (EEG, BIS), and pulse oximeter probes were attached, and the patient was preoxygenated with 10 L O_2 by mask for 3 min. Anesthesia was induced with 1.5–2.0 mg/kg propofol and 15 µg sufentanil IV. After confirmation of the ability to provide ventilation by face mask, 50 mg rocuronium was given IV. When adequate muscle relaxation was confirmed, the trachea was intubated with a 8.0-mm ID endotracheal tube and secured at 23 cm depth. No additional neuromuscular blocking agents were administered for the duration of the case. Ketamine, 1 mg/kg, was given intravenously. For maintenance of anesthesia, an intravenous infusion was begun using a mixture consisting of 10 mg propofol and 0.5 mg ketamine per cc for hypnosis and infused at a rate between 100 and 300 µg/kg/ min of the propofol. Sufentanil was used for analgesia. An additional 45 µg was given IV bolus (titrated) to achieve a loading dose of $1 \mu g/kg$ as tolerated while maintaining mean arterial blood pressure (MABP) of greater than 70 mmHg, and a continuous infusion was begun at a rate of 0.3 µg/kg/h. The propofol/ketamine and sufentanil infusions were adjusted during the case to maintain the bispectral index at 40-60 and the MABP between 70 and 90 mmHg. A radial artery cannula was placed to continuously monitor blood pressure and the patient was placed in the prone position with both arms tucked to the sides for surgery after placement of the intraoperative neuromonitoring (IONM) needles, grounding pad, and protective pads.

Intraoperative Neuromonitoring

Pursuant to the goals of mapping, monitoring, and warning, as stated above, several authors have advocated a multimodality approach to monitoring the neural structures at risk [11–21]. In particular, Krassioukov et al. [14] studied a group of 61 patients undergoing complex lumbosacral procedures; among them were 15 cases of tethered cord. All patients were monitored with a combination of evoked and spontaneous EMG and posterior tibial nerve SSEPs. Of the three patients

who awoke with new neurologic deficits, only one had a significant change in SSEPs. The presence or absence of responses during stimulated EMG resulted in the alteration of the course of the surgical procedure in 24 cases (42%). Regarding the efficacy of multimodality monitoring, Gunnarsson et al. [15] performed a retrospective analysis of 213 cases of thoracolumbar surgery, three of which were for tethered cord, using a combination of EMG and SSEPs. In their series, 14 patients had new neurologic deficits all of which had significant EMG activation, but only four had a change in SSEPs considered significant. In their study, EMG had a sensitivity of 100%, and SSEPs had a specificity of 94.5%. This reinforced the use of more than one monitoring technique. In a series of 44 adult patients undergoing surgery for tethered cord, Paradiso et al. [16] found that the combined use of SSEPs and EMG limited neurologic morbidity. They had one patient with a transient and one patient with a permanent neurologic deficit postoperatively. In one patient, a significant change in SSEP monitoring resulted in a change in surgical strategy. Their calculated measures of efficacy showed a sensitivity of EMG of 100 % and a specificity of SSEPs of 100%-very similar to the Gunnarsson study. Beyazova et al. [22] recommended the inclusion of direct stimulation of nerve roots since it produced a positive response that differentiated neural tissue from nonfunctional connective tissue in three of ten patients while SSEPs or MEPs had not changed throughout the procedure. Sala et al. [23] recently confirmed that multimodal intraoperative neuromonitoring techniques, particularly the use of MEPs that includes anal sphincter and BCR, reduced morbidity in a series of 47 patients. This study found that 12% of patients presented unexpected muscle responses when tissue considered as nonfunctional was stimulated [19]. Garg et al. [5] retrospectively studied 24 adult patients who presented for tethered cord procedures. Neurophysiological monitoring was not conducted since it was not available. In one patient, weakness increased due to the accidental section of a functional neural structure. This situation could have been prevented by the use of intraoperative neuromonitoring, as it has been prevented

in other series of patients. Sala et al. [23] (64 patients) and Valentini et al. [21] (149 patients) reported the use of multimodal neuromonitoring approach in their institutions for complex spinal cord untethering and occult spinal dysraphism, respectively. Both concluded that the combination of mapping and other monitoring techniques such as EMG, MEPs, and BCR improved the level of untethering while decreasing morbidity [20, 21]. For rare dysraphic malformations like retained medullary cord, a form of severe tethering lesion, the use of mapping was considered indispensable since anatomical appearance alone will not be sufficient to resect the retained cord safely [23].

In this patient, the modalities employed were SSEPs, MEPs, stimulated and spontaneous EMG, the bulbocavernosus reflex, and pressure urometry. Posterior tibial and median nerve SSEPs were chosen to assess the functional integrity of the posterior columns below the level of surgery and to use the arms as a control above the level of surgery as well as to monitor for positioning injury. To monitor the stimulated and spontaneous EMG, specific muscles were chosen to cover the myotomes from L2 to S4 as inclusively as possible given the amount of channels available. Also, bladder pressure urometry, through the use of a urinary catheter attached to a pressure transducer system, allowed monitoring of the bladder detrusor muscle function.

Somatosensory-Evoked Potentials

Posterior tibial nerve SSEP monitoring allows continual functional assessment of the posterior columns with sensory input from the dermatomes of L4 through S1 with the primary contribution from L5 and S1. Given the dual surgical approaches in the thoracic spine and the lumbosacral spine, posterior tibial SSEPs provided essential information about injury to dorsal spinal cord structures, especially in the thoracic region, and sensory nerves in the lower levels. In this situation, electrodes were placed in the popliteal fossa to record nerve action potentials (thus insuring adequacy of stimulus), over the cervical spine to record subcortical responses, and in the scalp to record cortical responses. Subcortical cervical responses help to differentiate whether changes in the cortical response are due to anesthetic effects or from other causes since, as mentioned in an earlier chapter, these are resistant to the effects of anesthetic drugs.

The median nerve is formed from fibers from the roots of C6-T1 with occasional contributions from C5. Median nerve SSEPs therefore monitor the functional integrity of the posterior columns above the thoracic level of this patient's cyst. Electrodes are placed over the brachial plexus, cervical spine, and scalp for the same reasons as mentioned previously for posterior tibial nerve SSEPs. These will not be affected by any surgical maneuvers in the thoracic or lumbosacral spine and can therefore aid in the differential diagnosis of changes, being used as a control compared with the posterior tibial responses. They can also be used to detect and prevent impending positional injury to the brachial plexus or median nerve-an issue when the patient is prone.

While posterior tibial SSEPs will provide information from the L4 to S1 level, the entire cauda is at risk during untethering. To enhance input to the surgical team, somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) from the levels S2 to S4 can be obtained from stimulation of the pudendal nerve. This is accomplished by stimulating the nerve on the dorsum of the penis or the clitoris. However, since the responses obtained are of low amplitude and require a high number of repetitions to generate repeatable responses, thus making reliable acquisition difficult, the utility of this technique has been questioned and was not used on this patient [13, 17, 18, 24].

Transcranial Motor-Evoked Potentials

The surgical approach to the thoracic spine cyst places the corticospinal tracts at risk for injury from multiple factors including physiologic derangements such as hypotension. SSEP monitoring alone will not suffice to monitor for this injury as SSEPs are not a measure of motor tract function and are mediated by anatomical structures with a separate vascular supply. Therefore, MEP monitoring is essential. Monitoring the functional integrity of the motor tracts in tethered cord surgery is important because the presence of the muscle response at closure correlates with preserved muscle control and the absence of postoperative motor deficits [18]. Intraoperative motor-evoked potential improvement has been reported after complete and successful untethering. This was associated with clinical improvement in the immediate postoperative period [25]. Responses were monitored in the upper and lower extremities for the same reasons as stated for SSEPs: to be used as control responses and to monitor for positional injuries. Motor-evoked potentials were monitored using transcranial electrical stimulation of the motor cortex and recording the compound muscle action potential (CMAP) generated from the abductor pollucis brevis (APB), abductor hallucis (AH), and tibialis anterior (TA) muscles. For the lumbar approach to the untethering of the spinal cord, D wave monitoring of the MEPs would not be helpful since these are not recordable below the level of the conus medullaris. Electrodes placed in the external anal sphincter will provide feedback on the motor elements of the pudendal nerve (S2-S4).

Electromyography

Both evoked and spontaneous EMG were employed in this patient for two reasons. The first is to allow the surgeon to identify discrete nerve roots (mapping) and differentiate them from nonfunctional tissue such as fibrous bands and the filum. When using evoked EMG to isolate the functional neural tissue from the inert filum and to determine where to make the release cut, it has been suggested by Quinones-Hinojosa et al. [26] that a filum to motor root stimulation threshold ratio of 100:1 is adequate to insure that the sectioned tissue contains no neural elements [26]. The second reason is to provide the surgeon with immediate feedback of impending injury when making contact with nerves thereby allowing him or her to modify the surgical technique and avoid permanent damage. Some authors believe that

this is the most important modality employed during tethered cord surgery [19, 20, 23] and can provide prognostic value [27]. In this study, the investigators stimulated the caudal end of the spinal cord and recorded the threshold necessary to elicit motor responses in muscles of the leg and perineum. Patients with a higher stimulation threshold after untethering experience further neurologic deterioration postoperatively. Leg and pelvic muscles that are useful in covering the myotomes from L2 to S4 are listed in Table 37.2, with the level providing the primary contribution being underlined.

While it is controversial whether there is sufficient variation in the primary motor nerve root supply to the anal and urethral sphincters to warrant monitoring of each muscle separately, it is difficult both to obtain electrodes suitable for use on a urinary catheter and to reliably place them within the vicinity of the urethral sphincter. Several authors support the use of evoked EMG of the anal sphincter as adequate to monitor pudendal nerve function and to preserve both fecal and urinary continence. In this patient, electrodes were placed in the vastus medialis (quadriceps femoris), tibialis anterior, lateral gastrocnemius, abductor hallucis, and external anal sphincter muscles. Bipolar stimulating forceps were used to minimize current spread to adjacent structures.

 Table 37.2
 Myotomes used for monitoring the tethered cord

Vastus medialis (Quadriceps femoris)—L2, <u>L3</u> , <u>L4</u> (femoral nerve)
Tibialis anterior $-\underline{L4}$, L5 (deep peroneal nerve)
Extensor hallucis longus—L4, <u>L5</u> (deep peroneal nerve)
Abductor hallucis—L5, <u>S1</u> , S2 (medial plantar branch, tibial nerve)
Gluteus maximus—L5, <u>S1</u> , S2 (inferior gluteal nerve)
Lateral Gastrocnemius-L5, S1, S2 (tibial nerve)
Medial Gastrocnemius $-\underline{S1}$, S2 (tibial nerve)
Soleus—S2 (Tibial nerve)
External anal sphincter—S2, S3, S4 (inferior rectal branch, pudendal nerve)
Urethral (vesical) sphincter—S2, S3, S4 (deep branch, perineal nerve)

Sensory-Evoked Potentials

On occasion, a structure may be stimulated in the surgical field and yield no corresponding motor response in monitored muscles. The structure may be the dorsal sensory root of a spinal nerve. To insure that this is not the case, prior to surgical release, a sensory-evoked potential may be performed. The structure can be stimulated with a handheld hook electrode using the SSEP stimulation and recording parameters already in use with the posterior tibial nerve, and subcortical and cortical responses can be acquired. The cortical response of a nerve root that is stimulated in this fashion will appear with an initial positive deflection at approximately 20 ms (P20) [13, 17].

Bladder Pressure Urometry

Proper bladder function consists of two separate components: storage, which is regulated by the external sphincter (dysfunction of which is manifested as urinary incontinence), and emptying, which is initiated by contraction of the bladder detrusor muscles. While the external sphincter is innervated by the motor branches of the pudendal

nerve, the detrusor contraction is under autonomic control. Detrusor contraction is innervated by parasympathetic fibers from spinal segments S2-4 via the pelvic nerve, which synapses with postganglionic fibers near the bladder wall. Relaxation is mediated by sympathetic preganglionic fibers from T11–L2, which synapse with the postganglionic nerves in the mesenteric and sacral plexuses, finally traveling to the bladder via the hypogastric nerve. Acquiring direct EMG activity from the detrusor muscle fibers is technically difficult and risks bladder wall puncture. Therefore, a method of monitoring the detrusor contraction through the use of vesical pressure has been used successfully in at least two case study series [28, 29]. The technique involves placing a urinary catheter, filling the bladder with 250 cm³ of normal saline solution, and attaching the catheter to a standard pressure monitoring transducer with the pressure waveform displayed on the vital sign monitor (Fig. 37.2). Stimulation of the autonomic fibers of S2-4 will then yield an increase in bladder pressure (usually 35-70 cm H_2O). The latency between stimulation and contraction is approximately 2-10 s. Stimulation intensity is 4-5 mA and must be continuous over 10–20 s [16, 28, 29].



Fig. 37.2 Bladder pressure monitoring. This technique requires the placement of a urinary catheter (a). Note that the catheter has a port to connect the transducer. After placing the catheter, filling the bladder with 250 cm^3 of normal

saline solution and clamping the catheter to avoid emptying of the bladder is needed. A standard pressure monitor transducer is attached to the catheter (**b**). The pressure waveform is displayed on the vital sign monitor

Bulbocavernosus Reflex

The BCR aids in the assessment of three anatomical structures/pathways: sensory, motor, and the grey matter of the spinal cord, at spinal levels S2–4. The afferent path is formed by the sensory fibers of the pudendal nerve. These neurons synapse in the grey matter of the spinal cord at the spinal segments S2-4 and the efferent limb travels over the motor fibers of the pudendal nerve to the muscles of the pelvic floor including the external anal sphincter. The pudendal nerve can be electrically stimulated over the dorsum of the penis or the clitoris with the motor response captured with needle electrodes inserted into the anal sphincter. Another method of obtaining this response is to stimulate the dorsal roots of S2-4 and record the CMAP from the anal sphincter [18]. Although this reflex tests a complete reflex arc, because the reflex is polysynaptic, it is sensitive to the effects of volatile anesthetics. This makes the response difficult to maintain during surgery [17, 20]. Also, whether or not the BCR correlates with preservation of sphincter control or sexual function postoperatively is controversial [12, 18]. (For more information, see Chap. 8, "The Use of Reflex Responses for IOM").

Intraoperative Course

At the outset of surgery, the patient's anesthetic was maintained as described above with the blood pressure targeted to be within 10% of the preoperative baseline as measured in the preoperative holding area on the morning of surgery. The patient had a preoperative systolic blood pressure of 100 mmHg. Monitoring modalities employed included (1) posterior tibial and median nerve SSEPs with recording electrodes placed at the C3', C4', FZ, Cs5 (cervical spine at the C5 level) positions (International 10-20 System); (2) MEPs with responses monitored in the left and right APB, AH, and TA muscles; (3) evoked and continuous EMG of the left and right vastus medialis (quadriceps femoris), TA, AH, gastrocnemius, and external anal sphincter muscles; (4) bladder pressure urometry; and (5) BCR testing. The first stage of his operation was to remove the thoracic cyst. Baseline SSEP tracings were obtained and showed reduced amplitude of the responses from the left leg compared with those from the arms and right leg. Monitoring modalities were stable throughout the cyst excision. Once the thoracic cyst was resected, the lumbosacral spine was surgically exposed in preparation for release of the tethered cord. Posterior tibial and median nerve SSEPs were monitored continually and remained stable. MEPs were obtained from the TA and AH muscles bilaterally, confirming functional integrity of the spinal segments L4-S2. Interestingly, no response to transcranial electric stimulation was noted in the bladder pressure although there was a response in the anal sphincter.

While the SSEPs and MEPs give the surgeon information about the function of the motor and sensory tracts, they neither provide an early warning for injury nor identify neural elements contained within the thickened filum. For those reasons, the evoked and spontaneous EMG are more valuable and provide a mapping technique.

During dissection of the cauda equina and after placement of a retractor, it was noted from the spontaneous EMG that there was low frequency, asynchronous motor unit firing in the anal sphincter electrodes (Fig. 37.3). From the absence of firing in any of the leg muscle leads, it was determined that the left or right lower sacral (S3-4) roots were being compressed. The surgeon inquired whether this was a warning of a potential injury. The IONM team assessment was that this represented only contact activation. Neurotonic discharges, or A-trains, as they are sometimes referred to, differ from these contact potentials because they appear as high-frequency rhythmic discharges and are indicators of neurologic injury. These contact potentials resolved upon repositioning of the retractor.

To map the nerve roots, the surgeon used bipolar stimulating forceps, which delivered 5-mA, 1-Hz stimulation pulses. Responses were noted in all of the monitored muscles. Particular attention was paid to identification of the anal sphincter responses in isolation from the leg



Fig. 37.3 Contact discharges from the right anal sphincter leads. Shown is low frequency, asynchronous motor unit firing in the right anal sphincter electrodes, which occurred during dissection of the cauda equina and after placement of a retractor



Fig. 37.4 Stimulated EMG of the anal sphincter during cauda equina mapping. Shown are the responses from muscles during mapping of the cauda equina to locate S2–S4. Of note is that these tracings reveal EMG activity in the anal

sphincter muscle (but not the other muscles) during stimulation of the nerve roots using a bipolar stimulating forceps. Shown are a series of recordings (stack) with each successive recording stacked on top of the other tracings

muscle responses in order to delineate the S2–4 nerve roots (Fig. 37.4).

At those levels THAT elicited a response in the anal sphincter, the stimulation was repeated with a train of pulses delivered at a rate of 4.6/s for approximately 10 s or until an increase in bladder pressure was noted. In the event of a change, the pressure was allowed to return to baseline after cessation of stimulation prior to proceeding to the next root. Once the visible nerve roots were mapped, the filum terminale was again stimulated with particular attention paid to the anal sphincter response. At one point, the filum was stimulated at an intensity of 5 mA, and a low amplitude response was obtained from the anal sphincter muscles with an increase of approximately 15 mmHg in the bladder pressure. Since the surgeon reported that his visual assessment would have been that this was inert tissue, further dissection was carried out in tissue layers in order to locate functional neural fibers. After several layers were separated, tested, and removed, the continuous high-frequency stimulation technique was again employed. This resulted in an increase in bladder pressure of greater than 50 mmHg, indicating the presence of nerve fibers contributing to detrusor function as well as highamplitude firing in the anal sphincter (Fig. 37.5).

As a result, surgical dissection was discontinued to preserve the neural bundle. It was decided



Fig. 37.5 Response of bladder pressure to stimulation. (a) Baseline pressure (~17 mmHg). Note respiratory variation in the bladder pressure. (b) Baseline tracing with artifact caused by increase in intra-abdominal pressure from surgeon's manipulations. (c) Response of bladder pressure to continuous stimulation of nerve bundle buried in filum terminale. Note increase from baseline of 17 mmHg to greater than 65 mmHg. Note that the baseline pressure varies among the tracings depending on the volume of urine in the bladder



Fig. 37.6 Presence of bulbocavernosus reflex documented after cutting of filum terminale. Shown are EMG responses from the anal musculature recorded during the testing of the bulbocavernosus reflex after cutting of the

that all inactive tissue had been safely detached at that point. Preservation of the lower sacral roots was confirmed by the continued presence of an anal sphincter muscle response when MEPs were elicited. In addition, elicitation of the BCR was accomplished after the filum was cut (Fig. 37.6).

Postoperative Outcome

In the postanesthesia care unit (PACU), the patient was responding to commands and moving all four extremities. Because the patient's state was influenced by the residual effects of anesthesia, it was difficult to ascertain if there was a change in his muscle strength. Gross examination did not reveal any changes from the baseline sensory examination. Over the first 2 weeks following the operation, the patient had significant progressive resolution of his back pain as well as his leg pain. Leg weakness persisted initially and was treated with physical therapy. The patient did report subjective improvement in his urinary filum terminale to verify the integrity of the S2–S4 nerve roots. The summation method was used with a train of ten stimuli and recording of anal sphincter EMG response at the 35- to 55-ms interval

bladder voiding function. There was no deterioration in his anal sphincter function.

References¹

- Aufschnaiter K, Fellner F, Wurm G. Surgery in adult tethered cord syndrome (ATCS): review of literature on occasion of an exceptional case. Neurosurg Rev. 2008;31:371–84.
- Hertzler DA, DePowell JJ, Stevenson CB, Mangano FT. Tethered cord syndrome: a review of the literature from embryology to adult presentation. Neurosurg Focus. 2010;29(1):E1.
- Huang SL, Peng J, Yuan GL, Ding XY, He XJ, Lan BS. A new model of tethered cord syndrome produced by slow traction. Sci Rep. 2015;5:9116.
- Lee GY, Paradiso G, Tator CH, Gentili F, Massicotte EM, Fehlings MG. Surgical management of tethered cord syndrome in adults: indications, techniques, and long-term outcomes in 60 patients. J Neurosurg Spine. 2006;4:123–31.
- Garg K, Tandon V, Kumar R, Sharma BS, Mahapatra AK. Management of adult tethered cord syndrome:

¹Asterisk indicates key references.

our experience and review of literature. Neurol India. 2014;62:137–42.

- Coung JB, Tubbs RS, Oakes WJ. Tethered cord syndrome in children: a review. Neurosurg Focus. 2007;23(2):E2.
- Yamada S, Lonser RR. Adult tethered cord syndrome. J Spinal Disord. 2000;13(4):319–23.
- Romagna A, Suchorska B, Schwartz C, Tonn JC, Zausinger S. Detethering of a congenital tethered cord in adult patients: an outcome analysis. Acta Neurochir. 2013;155:793–800.
- Deletis V, Sala F. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring of the spinal cord during spinal cord and spine surgery: a review focus on the corticospinal tracts. Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;119:248–64.
- Jackson EM, Schwartz DM, Sestokas AK, Zarnow DM, Adzick NS, Johnson MP, et al. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in patients undergoing tethered cord surgery after myelomeningocele repair. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;13:355–61.
- Kothbauer K, Schmid UD, Seiler RW, Eisner W. Intraoperative motor and sensory monitoring of the cauda equina. Neurosurgery. 1994;34(4):702–7.
- Sala F, Krzan MJ, Deletis V. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in pediatric neurosurgery: why, when, how? Childs Nerv Syst. 2002;18: 264–87.
- Kothbauer KF, Novak K. Intraoperative monitoring for tethered cord surgery: an update. Neurosurg Focus. 2004;16(2):1–5.
- Krassioukov AV, Sarjeant R, Arkia H, Fehlings MG. Multimodality intraoperative monitoring during complex lumbosacral procedures: indications, techniques, and long-term follow-up review of 61 consecutive cases. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;3: 243–53.
- 15. Gunnarsson T, Krassioukov AV, Sarjeant R, Fehlings MG. Real-time continuous intraoperative electromyographic and somatosensory evoked potential recordings in spinal surgery: correlation of clinical and electrophysiologic findings in a prospective, consecutive series of 213 cases. Spine. 2004;29(6):677–84.
- 16. *Paradiso G, Lee GY, Sargeant R, et al. Multimodality intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring findings during surgery for adult tethered cord syndrome: analysis of a series of 44 patients with long-term followup. Spine. 2006;31(18):2095–102.
- *Khealani B, Husain AM. Neurophysiologic intraoperative monitoring during surgery for tethered cord syndrome. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;26(2):76–81.
- Kothbauer KF, Deletis V. Intraoperative neurophysiology of the conus medullaris and cauda equina. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26:247–53.
- *Sala F, Squintani G, Tamontano V, Arcaro C, Faccioli F, Mazza C. Intraoperative neurophysiology in tethered cord surgery: techniques and results. Childs Nerv Syst. 2013;29:1611–24.
- "Sala F, Tramontano V, Squintani G, Arcaro C, Tot E, Pinna G, Meglio M. Neurophysiology of complex spinal cord untethering. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2014; 31:326–36.

- Valentini L, Selvaggio G, Erbetta A, et al. Occult spinal dysraphysm: lessons learned by retrospective analysis of 149 surgical cases about natural history, surgical indications, urodynamic testing and intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring. Childs Nerv Syst. 2013;29:1657–69.
- Beyazova M, Zinnuroglu M, Emmez H, Kaya K, Ozkose HZ, Baykaner MK, et al. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during surgery for tethered cord syndrome. Turk Neurosurg. 2010;20(4):480–4.
- Sala F, Barone G, Tramontano V, Gallo P, Ghimenton C. Retained medullary cord confirmed by neurophysiological mapping. Childs Nerv Syst. 2014; 30:1287–91.
- Kothbauer K, Seiler RW. Tethered spinal cord syndrome in adults. Nervenarzt. 1997;68(4):285–91.
- Pratheesh R, Babu KS, Rajshekhar V. Improvement in intraoperative transcranial electrical motor-evoked potentials in tethered cord surgery: an analysis of 45 cases. Acta Neurochir. 2014;156:723–31.
- Quinones-Hinojosa A, Gadkary CA, Gulati M, von Koch CS, Lyon R, Weinstein PR, Yingling CD. Neurophysiological monitoring for safe surgical tethered cord syndrome release in adults. Surg Neurol. 2004;62:127–35.
- Husain AM, Shah D. Prognostic value of neurophysiologic intraoperative monitoring in tethered cord syndrome surgery. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;26:244–7.
- Shinomiya K, Fuchioka M, Matsuoka T, Okamoto A, Yoshida H, Mutoh N, et al. Intraoperative monitoring for tethered spinal cord syndrome. Spine. 1991;16(11): 1290–4.
- Schaan M, Boszczyk B, Jaksche H, Kramer G, Günther M, Stöhrer M. Intraoperative urodynamics in spinal cord surgery: a study of feasibility. Eur Spine J. 2004;13:39–43.

Questions

- In tethered cord surgery, the most common mechanisms of injury are vascular compromise, compression, overheating, and traction.
 A. True
 - B. False
- 2. The main objective of neuromonitoring in tethered cord surgery is to preserve motor and sensory function of the lower extremities as well as bowel, bladder, and sexual function.
 - A. True
 - B. False
- To accomplish the goals of neuromonitoring in tethered cord surgery, the use of SSEP monitoring as a single technique identifies all neurological structures at risk.
 - A. True
 - B. False
- Mapping techniques are not necessary since visual identification of relevant neurological structures is usually possible.
 - A. True
 - B. False
- 5. Multimodal neuromonitoring techniques including somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP), transcranial motor-evoked potentials (MEP), spontaneous and evoked electromyography (EMG), the bulbocavernosus reflex (BCR), and pressure urometry are the most recommended techniques for intraoperative neuromonitoring in tethered cord surgery.
 - A. True
 - B. False

- Bladder pressure urometry could be used as a surrogate of EMG direct monitoring of the detrusor muscle since direct monitoring is difficult and could cause complications.
 - A. True
 - B. False

Answers

- 1. A 2. A
- 3. B
- 4. B
- 5. A
- 6. B

Surgery in the Peripheral Nervous System

Leo T. Happel and David G. Kline

Key Learning Points

- Operative nerve recordings are easy and provide valuable information that facilitates decision-making
- Nerve recordings have few anesthetic constraints
- The information obtained can be diagnostic
- Using operative recordings can improve outcomes

Objectives

There are many reasons to record from peripheral nerve in an operating room setting. These include "monitoring" functions for the purpose of providing an ongoing evaluation of peripheral nerve function during procedures that place the nerve at risk. Examples of such procedures would be hip replacement surgery, thyroid/parathyroid surgery, and any procedures that would place peripheral nerves at exaggerated risk for positioning palsies. These recordings will have much in common with recordings made for the purpose of

L.T. Happel, Ph.D. (⊠) • D.G. Kline, M.D. Department of Neurosurgery, LSU Health Science Center, 2020 Gravier Street, 7th Floor, New Orleans, LA 70112, USA e-mail: lhappel@cox.net facilitating diagnosis of a nerve lesion. Early efforts to repair injured peripheral nerve surgically were often performed with a minimum of relevant information [1]. Having such information is perhaps a more significant reason to record from peripheral nerve; to provide diagnostic information relating to nerve injury. The purpose of this chapter is to provide emphasis on this subject. In this case, recordings obtained during surgery can provide definitive information that allows the surgeon to make informed decisions. An accurate diagnosis of a peripheral nerve problem at the time of surgery allows the surgeon to provide the optimal method to deal with the pathology.

The vast majority of peripheral nerve injuries leave the nerve in some degree of continuity [2, 3]. A particular nerve lesion in continuity may create a spectrum of damage within the nerve itself and this often precludes an accurate diagnosis with conventional EMG testing [4-6]. The best method to deal with such an injury is thus difficult to determine, but nevertheless is a prime determinant of outcome. Human peripheral nerve is capable of significant regeneration following an injury, if conditions are optimal, but the efficacy is much less than the regeneration seen in lower mammals [7, 8]. Intuitive decisions by the surgeon are not likely to provide the optimal conditions for regeneration [6, 9]. Deciding between a relatively simple neurolysis and a more complex section, removal of lesion, and suture repair

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_38

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017



Fig. 38.1 Degrees of nerve injury that leave the nerve in continuity. The mildest injury is neurapraxic, which represents a loss of electrical function with little, if any, anatomic change. More severe is an axonotmetic injury with disruption of the axonal membrane but minimal disturbance to connective tissue. Wallerian degeneration of the

will greatly affect outcome [10]. To elucidate, a neurolysis involves splitting the outer sheath of the nerve, the epineurium (see Fig. 38.1), to expose the fascicles within and then removing the buildup of connective tissue between them. The method of electrically stimulating nerve and recording the compound nerve action potential (CNAP) across the lesion in continuity can provide definitive information on the status of the fiber population within the nerve. Thus, axonotmetic and mild neurotmetic pathology, seen in Fig. 38.1, can be given sufficient time to allow for spontaneous regeneration. With this information in hand, the surgeon can then accurately choose the best method of repair. Furthermore, if a protocol is established that allows some opportunity for spontaneous regeneration to occur fol-

axon occurs. Progressively more severe is the mild neurotmetic injury (mild connective tissue damage) and then severe neurotmetic injury (severe connective tissue damage and severe scarring). The latter will usually require a complete surgical repair

lowing a nerve injury, regeneration can be assessed using this same methodology [11]. Use of this method, then, prevents the surgeon from further damaging nerve that is already in the process of regeneration. A recommended protocol would be to postpone surgery on an acute injury by an interval of 3–5 months. During this time, spontaneous regeneration will begin if conditions permit. Then, at surgery, a determination can be made whether such regeneration is in progress or not [2]. A more severe neurotmetic injury rarely regenerates spontaneously and would require complete section of the nerve and removal of the scar that blocks the regrowth of axons and then reconnecting the proximal and distal ends.

The anesthetic considerations associated with operative recording from peripheral nerve are minimal. General anesthetics do not affect peripheral nerve directly and the CNAP is minimally affected by halogenated agents, nitrous oxide, and intravenous anesthetics. If the patient becomes significantly hypothermic, there may be a mild to moderate decrease in nerve conduction velocity, but the amplitude of the CNAP would not be significantly affected. In the protocol described here, the stimulating electrodes and the recording electrodes are both placed on peripheral nerve. Therefore, neuromuscular junction blockade would not affect the CNAP. In some instances, though, it is reassuring to see evoked movement when stimulating peripheral nerve. It is not advisable to use evoked movement instead of a CNAP to evaluate nerve function. The reason for this is described elsewhere in this chapter.

The method of stimulating and recording CNAPs is straightforward and requires little experience to become proficient [12]. Since the size of the CNAP is considerably larger than the brain potentials recorded in operative monitoring, the process of signal averaging is not required. The necessary instrumentation is commonly available. Either equipment used for operative monitoring or EMG instrumentation can be used successfully. There are very few anesthetic considerations that would affect peripheral nerve recordings. Perhaps the most important would be the use of a tourniquet on the limb from which recordings will be made. If a tourniquet is used, the tourniquet should be released at least 20 min prior to any recordings. This would provide ample opportunity for perfusion to restore normal function prior to any recordings.

Stimulation of nerve through electrodes in direct contact is safe and effective. Stimulation parameters vary somewhat depending upon the size of the nerve being studied. For example, the normal, healthy ulnar nerve at the elbow requires an intensity of approximately 4–6 mA (8–10 V) when pulse duration is very short (<0.1 ms). We use these very-short-duration stimulus pulses to determine the presence of larger, myelinated fibers that can mediate motor function. Very small,

unmyelinated fibers will not respond to these short-duration pulses [14]. However, nerve that has been chronically compressed or nerve that is highly scarred may require very high levels of stimulation at this pulse duration [11, 13]. In this case, it may be necessary to use intensities as high as 30-40 mA (60-80 V) at very short pulse durations (0.02 ms) to insure stimulation of fibers embedded in scar [14]. It should be noted that very-short-duration stimulus pulses (on the order of 0.02 ms) preferentially activate larger, myelinated fibers that will mediate motor function. While there may be some concern for possible damage to nerve stimulated directly at these intensities, it should be pointed out that even with these high intensity levels there is little risk of damage to the nerve itself. Long periods of stimulation may induce a variety of factors that damage nerve. However, damage produced by short-term stimulation results primarily from the heat due to electrical currents or from electrolysis, the "plating" effect of salt deposition. Both of these processes require significant electrical power. One can easily see that the average electrical power, expressed in watt-seconds, conveyed by 30 mA of current flowing for 0.1 ms and a repetition rate of 5 pulses/s is very small and very little heat is produced. $(Power = I^2 RT = (current)^2 \times resistance \times time.$ Assuming current=30 mA, resistance= 2000Ω , and 5 pulses at 0.1 ms, $P = 0.032 \times 2000 \times 0.0005 =$ 0.0009 W-S of average power delivered under these conditions). There is also very little electrolysis over the short term (several seconds of stimulation) because of a small amount of power. Kline and Hackett [11] histologically examined peripheral nerves from primates used in nerve research and have never found evidence of damage with stimulation well beyond these intensities. Further, in operative studies on human subjects, there have been no reports of postoperative nerve dysfunction as a result of this stimulation [11]. Under the conditions described here, electrical stimulation remains a safe mechanism for the evaluation of peripheral nerve.

Recording the CNAP from normal peripheral nerve is also very easy since the response is large in size (0.2-1 mV). Since the response is large in



Fig. 38.2 Electrodes used for the stimulation and recording of peripheral nerve CNAPs. (*Top*) Electrodes applied directly to nerve. The stimulating electrode is a tripolar electrode and the recording electrode is bipolar (see text). Note that the electrodes can be used over just a few centimeters of nerve length. (*Bottom*) Selection of different size electrodes to be applied to various size peripheral nerves. The gap between contacts can be varied with the size of the nerve to be studied

size, it does not require averaging to enhance the response. In fact, averaging is to be discouraged since it could lead to a deceptive large appearance of a response when, in reality, the response is extremely small. In the absence of averaging, it has been determined that a minimum of 4000 fibers of adequate size must be present in order to produce a clear CNAP [15]. This number of fibers has the potential to mediate significant function and therefore the appearance of a clear CNAP is a good prognostic indicator.

Figure 38.2 illustrates the type of electrodes that I have successfully used to stimulate and record from peripheral nerve. Stainless steel electrodes represent a good cost-effective means of providing stimulation.

Of great importance, however, is that silver electrodes not be used to provide stimulation. When silver electrodes are used, there is the possibility that silver salts could be deposited and these are very toxic. The stimulation of an intact nerve in situ presents an unusual set of circumstances [10]. The application of a potential difference with electrodes along the length of a nerve creates two current paths. First, there is a current in the gap between the two electrodes; second, there is a current flowing away from the electrodes, through the nerve, through the tissues of the body, and back to the other electrode. The latter current path is problematic as a current along the length of the nerve will be recorded together with the CNAP. This produces excessive stimulus artifact and, when the distance between stimulating and recording electrodes is short, may obscure the action potential. A solution to this problem is to use a tripolar electrode with the outermost terminals connected together. In this arrangement, the application of a potential difference between the inner and outer electrodes still produces two currents; neither involves the whole nerve. The reduction in stimulus artifact achieved in this way permits even very small action potentials in injured or regenerating nerves to be seen. The use of a tripolar electrode also serves to limit the spread of stimulating current longitudinally along the length of nerve [10]. The latter is undesirable as misleading observations are made when sufficient current spreads several centimeters away from the stimulating point. While there may be no viable axons at the point of stimulation, the spread of current may excite distant viable axons, leading to the production of a CNAP. This phenomenon could lead to the false inference of excitable axons at the point of stimulation. A further exposition of this problem has been published previously [10].

For recording, a bipolar pair of electrodes is used. The configuration of the recording electrodes is also important to the successful evaluation of the electrical characteristics of peripheral nerve. Two stainless steel wire electrodes along the length of the nerve with a separation of at least 3–5 mm work well. If these electrodes are Fig. 38.3 Normal CNAP (a) recorded over a length of 15 cm through the brachial plexus. Note the shorter duration of the CNAP when compared to the abnormal response below. Calibration: 200 µV/div, 1 ms/div. Abnormal CNAP (**b**) recorded over a length of 7 cm through the brachial plexus. The lower amplitude is a reflection of fewer fibers and the broad base indicates dispersion of conduction velocities. Calibration 200 µV/div, 1 ms/div



moved too close together, the amplitude of the recorded action potential will be reduced; thus, a larger distance of 5 mm is recommended, particularly for larger nerves. Further description of the features of recording electrodes has also been published previously [10].

Figure 38.3 demonstrates the appearance of the normal CNAP and to contrast this with the appearance of a very abnormal CNAP. The normal CNAP shows relatively large amplitude and a very short duration. The short duration indicates that the conduction velocities of the numerous fibers within the

nerve are very similar. By contrast, the low amplitude seen in the abnormal CNAP indicates fewer fibers present and these show extensive temporal dispersion due to wide variations in conduction velocities [16]. These findings will be referred to in the practical illustrations.

It is very important to note that the patient's history should be placed into context with the operative peripheral nerve recordings. An example of this relevance would be the case of a stretch injury to the brachial plexus. When the more proximal elements are stretched, there is the possibility of an avulsive injury to the nerve roots. In a severe avulsion, the nerve roots are torn loose from the spinal cord in such a way that the dorsal root ganglia are separated from the spinal cord leaving them connected to the sensory fibers of peripheral nerve. In this case, the sensory fibers of peripheral nerve will remain normal, but are disconnected from the spinal cord. The motor fibers of the same root are separated from their cell body in the anterior horn of the spinal cord and these fibers will undergo Wallerian degeneration. With operative stimulation and recording during brachial plexus exploration, a large CNAP such as that seen in Fig. 38.5 becomes the indicator of a poor prognosis. It shows normal sensory fiber activity in the clinical situation with no motor activity. These are the characteristics of an avulsive injury. In this case, a repair would not be effective.

Practical Illustrations of the Application of Operative Recordings

I would like to provide illustrative examples of two specific cases that will emphasize important points. These cases have been selected as good examples of general principles.

Case 1

The first case is that of a 34-year-old man who first noticed a swelling in the bicipital groove of his left arm about 8 months previously. There was no history of trauma. The lump grew rapidly and was associated with a progressive loss of function in the median and ulnar distributions of his left arm. EMG studies performed 3 weeks prior to surgery indicated extensive denervation potentials in both the median and ulnar nerve distributions. An MRI study was performed and is shown in Fig. 38.4a. The presence of a nerve tumor is clearly demonstrated.

The patient was taken to surgery and the median and ulnar nerves were exposed over a length of approximately 12 cm in the bicipital groove revealing a large tumor, seen in Fig. 38.4b. In the absence of operative neurophysiology, the appearance of this large tumor together with the preoperative EMG studies would have clearly indicated the necessity to resect this lesion and repair the median and ulnar nerves by suturing the proximal and distal ends of the severed nerves. This kind of repair would have meant that all of the fibers of both the median and ulnar nerves would have to regenerate through the distal reaches of the arm. This process would have



Fig. 38.4 MRI of the left upper arm of a patient with a large, rapidly growing tumor in the left bicipital groove (**a**). Exposed tumor attached to the median and ulnar nerves in the bicipital groove (**b**)



Fig. 38.5 Large, normal CNAP recorded with both stimulation and recording proximal to the tumor. The very short latency between stimulus artifact and CNAP reflects

a very short distance between stimulating and recording electrodes

required years to accomplish. The function restored by such a repair would be considerably less than that achieved if a more conservative repair could be applied. Therefore, a precise diagnosis at the time of surgery could greatly affect outcome.

Stimulating and recording electrodes were both applied proximal to the tumor. The stimulating electrodes were placed proximal to the recording electrodes. This is routinely done to insure that stimulation activates all of the fibers within the nerve. If stimulation is performed distally and recordings made proximally, those fibers that are added to the nerve proximal to the stimulating electrodes would not be stimulated. This means that some of the fibers beneath the recording electrodes would not be active and would not contribute to the size of the CNAP. In this case, with both stimulating and recording electrodes proximal to the tumor, a large normal CNAP was recorded. This is illustrated in Fig. 38.5.

Subsequently, the recording electrodes were shifted distal to the tumor and stimulation and recording were once again performed. The recordings revealed an unusual "double" CNAP as seen in Fig. 38.6.

The first component of this "double" response was produced by a small population of relatively normal fibers. These fibers likely mediated those functions in median and ulnar nerve distributions that still remained. The second component of the "double" response represented function in fibers that were severely affected by the tumor. These fibers did not produce significant function since they appeared to be severely demyelinated. Voluntary function requires a train of impulses be conducted through the nerve. However, one of the characteristics of severe demyelination is a rate-dependent conduction block that suppresses volleys of action potentials [17]. The stimulating and recording process produces only a single conducted action potential and thus can demonstrate functional connection when voluntary effort cannot. Undoubtedly, many of the fibers of the median and ulnar nerves were interrupted by the tumor and the loss of these fibers was manifest in the preoperative EMG studies. These lesioned fibers made no contribution to



Fig. 38.6 Complex "double" CNAP recorded with stimulation proximal to the tumor and recording electrodes positioned distal to the tumor. This indicates two distinctly different populations of axons in the median and

ulnar nerves. The majority of fibers (the larger potential) show a markedly delayed conduction velocity due to demyelination from chronic compression

the CNAP that was observed. This CNAP demonstrated the presence of large numbers of functional fibers through the region of the tumor. This clearly contraindicated complete resection of the median and ulnar nerves to remove this tumor. Therefore, a more conservative neurolysis was performed and a biopsy specimen was sent for frozen section. Surprisingly, the pathology report indicated that this tumor was not even a nerve tumor. Indeed, it proved to be a myosarcoma that had invaded the nerve from adjacent muscle. With this information in hand, a complete removal of the tumor was accomplished and the continuity of the median and ulnar nerves was preserved.

A postoperative follow-up of this patient at 8 weeks indicated a pronounced return of function in the median and ulnar nerve distributions. Over this short time period, the reason for the return of function was likely due to remyelination of fibers in the median and ulnar nerves that had been compressed by the tumor. It is clear in this case that the use of operative neurophysiology produced a far better outcome than a

visual inspection that would have led to complete resection of the tumor.

Case 2

The second case is that of a 5-year-old boy with a flail right arm from birth. Radiographic studies gave no indication of meningoceles that might suggest an avulsive injury with the roots being ripped out from the spinal cord. Repeated EMG studies showed profound denervation of all muscles in the right arm, indicating an extensive loss of motor axons. It was decided to perform an exploratory procedure on his right brachial plexus in an effort to confirm that this represented the level of his lesion and also to perform a repair if that was indeed the case.

At surgery, the brachial plexus was extensively exposed and stimulation and recording electrodes applied at the trunk and cord levels. Recordings made from upper middle and lower trunk failed to reveal any CNAP. However, when the upper trunk was stimulated, it was noted that the patient exhibited evoked movement in hand intrinsic muscles. Recordings from the medial and lateral cords also failed to reveal any CNAP at all. While the hand movements suggested the existence of some axonal regrowth, the absence of CNAPs gave no indication of regeneration.

The explanation for these findings lies in the patient's age and the mechanism of regeneration. In the 5 years following his brachial plexus injury, this patient did have the regrowth of a very small number of axons, perhaps eight or ten, that regrew spontaneously. However, these axons did not mature to a size that would permit them to mediate voluntary movement. Therefore, the patient had no voluntary ability to produce visible contractions. When the stimulating electrodes were applied, the stimulus pulses synchronized action potentials in the 8-10 fine fibers that had regrown the length of the arm [18]. When all of these tiny motor units contracted simultaneously, they could then produce visible contraction, creating the impression of significant innervation. Given that these fibers had a window of 5 years to mature and had not done so, it was unlikely that they would ever develop the capacity to mediate voluntary movement. This observation illustrates the point that motor activity is a poor measure of the integrity of peripheral nerve. The presence of motor activity can be misleading.

Visible scarring could be seen in the upper middle and lower trunk levels, though, more proximally, the roots had a more normal appearance. Since there was not adequate length of these elements at the root level to perform both stimulation and recording, it was decided to stimulate the proximal roots and record the somatosensoryevoked potential from the contralateral sensory cortex. When this was done, the C5–C8, and T1 roots all produced large somatosensory-evoked potentials. This indicated functional nerve at the proximal root level. This illustrates that it is not always necessary for both stimulation and recording to be performed within the operative site. As necessity dictates, the stimulation or the recording site can be shifted outside of the surgical site.

With the knowledge that the proximal roots were all viable, it was decided to place sural nerve grafts in the upper, middle, and lower trunks.

Two years postoperatively, this patient had regained some voluntary control of deltoid, biceps, and triceps muscle. While this does not restore his right arm to complete functional use, it does present much greater rehabilitative potential. He now has the opportunity to oppose his normal left arm with a prosthetic device on the right.

In summary, this case demonstrates that the regenerative potential of a juvenile is far greater than that of an adult. At 5 years post-injury, an adult would not possess as much regenerative potential. This case also demonstrates that improvisation in the method of stimulating and recording from peripheral nerve can be very effective in providing useful information. This case provided good localization of the level of viable nerve tissue as a grafting point and served to produce an outcome that was far superior to methods that would rely on intuitive decisions by the surgeon.

Summary

Operative recordings of peripheral nerve activity provide definitive diagnostic information that significantly improves clinical outcomes of nerve repair. Many of the factors considered in the cases presented here could also be applied to "monitoring" activities as well. Thoughtful application of these principles can easily lead to the development of new and better means of evaluating and monitoring peripheral nerve activity. In an effort to encourage the use of these techniques, I have included a flow chart that is intended to facilitate this procedure (Fig. 38.7). This flow chart includes technical issues as well as the neurophysiology of peripheral nerve and serves as a practical aid to operative recordings. With the acquisition of reliable data from peripheral nerve recordings, intuitive decision-making on the part of the surgeon becomes unnecessary.



Flow Chart For Operative Peripheral Nerve Stimulation And Recording

Fig. 38.7 Flow chart used intraoperatively to facilitate diagnostic testing of peripheral nerve injuries

References¹

- *Kline DG, Happel LT. Operative assessment of peripheral nerve. In: Loftus CM, Biller J, Baron EM, editors. Intraoperative neuromonitoring. New York: McGraw Hill; 2014.
- Kline D. Evaluation of neuroma in continuity. In: Omer G, Spinner M, VanBeek A, editors. Management of peripheral nerve problems. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 1998.
- 3. Sunderland S. Nerves and nerve injuries. 2nd ed. Edinburgh: Churchill-Livingstone; 1978.
- Happel L, Kline D. Intraoperative neurophysiology of the peripheral nervous system. In: Deletis V, Shils J, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery. New York: Academic; 2002. p. 169–94.

- Nelson KR. Use of peripheral nerve action potentials for intraoperative monitoring. Neurol Clin. 1988;6:917–33.
- Oberle J, Antoniadis G, Ruth S, Richter H. Value of nerve action potentials in surgical management of traumatic nerve lesions. Neurosurgery. 1997;41(6):1337–44.
- Collins W, O'Leary J, Hunt W, Schwartz H. An electrophysiological study of nerve regeneration in the cat. J Neurosurg. 1955;12:39–46.
- Kline DG, Happel LT. Penfield lecture. A quarter century's experience with intraoperative nerve action potential recording. Can J Neurol Sci. 1993;20(1):3–10.
- Williams HB, Terzis JK. Single fascicular recordings: an intraoperative diagnostic tool for the management of peripheral nerve lesions. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1976;57:562–9.
- *Happel L, Kline D. Nerve lesions in continuity. In: Gelberman R, editor. Operative nerve repair and reconstruction, vol. 1. Philadelphia: JB Lippincott; 1991. p. 601–16.

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

- Kline DG, Hackett ER. Reappraisal of timing for exploration of civilian peripheral nerve injuries. Surgery. 1975;78:54–65.
- 12. Tiel R, Happel L, Kline D. Nerve action potential recording method and equipment. Neurosurgery. 1996;39(1):103–9.
- Holland NR, Lukaczyk TA, Riley III LH, Kostuik JP. Higher electrical stimulus intensities are required to activate chronically compressed nerve roots. Spine. 1998;23(2):224–7.
- *Kline D. Nerve action potential recordings. In: Kim DH, Midha R, Murovic JA, Spinner R, editors. Nerve injuries. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 2008.
- Zhao S, Kim D, Kline D, Beuerman R, Thompson H. Somatosensory evoked potentials can be recorded despite severe loss of transmitting fibers. Muscle Nerve. 1993;16:1220–7.
- Dorfman L, Cummins KL. Conduction velocity distributions: a population approach to electrophysiology of nerve. New York: WR Liss; 1981.
- Kimura J. Clinical consequences of demyelination. In: Eloectrodiagnosis in diseases of nerve and muscle: principles and practice. 3rd ed. New York: Oxford Press; 2001. p. 82.
- Happel LT. Operative neurophysiology of peripheral nerves. In: Yeoman's neurological surgery. 6th ed., vol. 3. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2011. p. 2410–2.

- b. that electrical stimulation is more effective than voluntary effort
- c. the presence of at least 4000 functional, large axons in that section
- d. at least unmyelinated axons are working
- e. there should also be evoked movement present
- 2. The effects of anesthesia on the CNAP:
 - a. are most prominent for nitrous oxide
 - b. are most prominent for halogenated agents
 - c. can completely block the CNAP
 - d. selectively decrease conduction velocity
 - e. are minimal when stimulating and recording from nerve
- 3. A very long duration CNAP with low amplitude indicates
 - a. a wide distribution of fiber types within that nerve
 - b. that only sensory fibers are being recorded
 - c. that only motor fibers are being recorded
 - d. that resection and repair is necessary
 - e. stimulus intensity is too high

Answers

- 1. c
- 2. e
- 3. a

Questions

- 1. The presence of a clear CNAP in a section of peripheral nerve indicates;
 - a. that the patient's symptoms are due to a neurapraxic injury

Surgery of the Aortic Arch

39

K. Annette Mizuguchi, Linda S. Aglio, and Laverne D. Gugino

Key Learning Points

- Hypothermia is the main therapeutic preventative approach for minimizing neurological deficits during circulatory arrest.
- Hypothermia protects the brain by suppressing electrical activity and by depressing presynaptic release of excitatory amino acid transmitters
- Extended periods of circulatory arrest have been associated with apoptotic histologic changes in the central nervous system neurons and may be responsible for one of the pathological processes involved with delayed neurological deficits following hypothermic circulatory arrest.
- Circulatory arrest durations >35–45 min with insufficient patient cooling leads to postoperative neurological deficits.
- Surrogate temperature data tend to lag behind true brain temperatures during rapid temperature changes; because of variability across patients and surrogate temperature sites, the

e-mail: amizuguchi@partners.org; laglio@partners.org; ldgugino@partners.org best surrogate temperature site for accurately predicting brain temperature is not currently available.

Case Presentation

A 62-year-old chairman of a well-known investment firm is seen in the emergency room of a tertiary hospital. He complains of severe chest pain, which is "tearing" in nature and localizes to the anterior chest. His past medical history is remarkable for hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, coronary artery disease, and an aortic arch aneurysm. His aneurysm is 5.5 cm in diameter and he was scheduled to undergo an elective surgical repair 7 days from his present emergency room visit. He had a left carotid endarterectomy in the past, which required placement of a shunt following carotid cross clamp application. On examination, his blood pressure is equal, bilaterally, in both the arms. Auscultation reveals a regular rhythm without a murmur. His EKG is unchanged from his most recent EKG performed for his scheduled, elective aneurysm repair, 2 weeks ago. His medications include atorvastatin, metoprolol, aspirin (81 mg), and lisonopril. The chest X-ray shows a widened mediastinum. After his blood pressure and chest pain were stabilized with a short-acting beta-blocker, narcotics, and sedatives, a CT angiogram was obtained. This

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_39

K.A. Mizuguchi, M.D., Ph.D., M.M.Sc.

L.S. Aglio, M.D. • L.D. Gugino, M.D. (🖂) Department of Anesthesiology, Perioperative and Pain Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, 75 Francis Street, Boston, MA 02114, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

revealed an aortic dissection with a tear located in the aortic arch. The dissection extends proximally to the sinus of Valsalva and distally down the descending aorta. The patient and his family are concerned that his neurological function after surgery will impair his ability to function at a high level at his job.

Introduction

A dissection of the aorta, which involves the ascending aorta, is referred to as a Stanford Type A dissection [1]. Type A aortic dissections are true surgical emergencies with the mortality rate increasing 1-2% per hour after the onset of symptoms [2]. The mortality rate for medical management is 56%, whereas the mortality rate for a surgical repair ranges from 6.3 to 30% [2].

Because the patient has a dissection starting from the sinus of Valsalva and extending beyond the arch to the descending aorta, the surgeon elects to replace the entire aorta from the sinus of Valsalva to the proximal descending aorta. The surgical approach will require cardiopulmonary bypass with hypothermic circulatory arrest and selective antegrade cerebral perfusion [2, 3]. This chapter reviews pertinent issues regarding the intraoperative management of this patient.

Circulatory arrest with durations greater than 35-45 min and insufficient patient cooling lead to postoperative neurological deficits. Neurological deficits can be classified as transient neurological deficits (TNDs), fixed deficits, and delayed deficits. TNDs include a disease spectrum of coma, delirium, confusion, psychosis requiring pharmacologic treatment, seizures, and transient Parkinsonian symptoms [4–13]. These patients have normal CT and/or MRI scans and they typically recover during the postoperative period prior to discharge. Ergin et al., however, have shown that these patients, when properly tested, are found to have cognitive deficits weeks to months after their hospitalization [12, 13]. These results suggest that TNDs are markers for subtle brain damage that occur during circulatory arrest. TNDs increase in incidence as a function of increasing age, duration of circulatory arrest, and temperature achieved prior to circulatory arrest.

TND has been reported to have an incidence as high as 63% with deep hyperthermic circulatory arrest (DHCA) at core temperature of 10-15 °C for 40–80 min [4–13]. More recent reports cite an incidence of 4%, using newer selective antegrade cerebral perfusion techniques [5, 14, 15].

In contrast, patients with fixed deficits have abnormal CT and/or MRI scans [1–7]. This deficit is usually considered to result from embolic phenomenon. Increased age, atherosclerotic load of the aorta and arch vessels, thrombi within the aorta, unstable vital signs, and neurological deficit prior to surgical repair have all been described as risk factors for fixed postoperative neurological deficits [2, 3, 7, 14–18]. Recent permanent stroke rates have been reported at 6.5% for DHCA, 9.8% for DHCA plus direct cannulation of the carotid arteries, and 1.1% for DHCA with right subclavian artery antegrade cerebral perfusion [14, 15].

Lastly, a delayed deficit that appears hours to days following the surgical procedure is caused by either embolic phenomenon or apoptosis [19, 20]. The apoptotic process is considered to occur after episodes of milder ischemic stress (i.e., shorter period of circulatory arrest or cooler body temperature) compared to ischemic episodes giving rise to deficits occurring intraoperatively [19, 21, 22].

Hypothermia and Cerebral Protection During Circulatory Arrest

As mentioned previously, surgical correction of an aortic dissection of the aortic arch will require a period of circulatory arrest. The main therapeutic preventative approach for minimizing neurological deficits during circulatory arrest is hypothermia [23–28]. The normothermic brain uses up to 20% of total body oxygen consumption. Approximately, 60% is used to support electrical and synaptic activities of the central nervous system, while the remaining 40% is used to maintain normal transmembrane electrochemical gradients [29–38].

Cerebral blood flow (CBF) in the adult averages 50–60 mL/min/100 g of brain tissue [29, 30, 32, 37]. Because there is little capacity for storage in the brain of glucose and oxygen beyond what is immediately used for ongoing metabolism, the metabolic rate of the brain can be calculated from glucose and/or oxygen uptake [34]. A consequence of the lack of energy substrate storage within the brain results in limited tolerance for the normothermic brain to short periods of absent blood flow (i.e., 3–5 min at 37 °C) before experiencing ischemia.

In the normal individual, CBF and metabolism are coupled so that an increase in metabolic demand is met with an increase in CBF [29, 30, 37–39]. CBF also demonstrates pressure autoregulation, where for a given level of metabolic demand, CBF remains constant over a range of perfusion pressures (50–150 Torr) [29, 30, 37–39]. This pressure autoregulation relationship shifts to a higher pressure baseline in hypertensive patients [30, 37].

As the brain is cooled, the metabolic rates for both glucose and oxygen decrease [30, 32, 35]. Experimental animal studies have shown that the cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen decreases by 50% at 27 °C and will decrease further as the brain temperature decreases to 18 °C [31, 32, 35, 37]. Human studies have demonstrated comparable results [34]. With cooling, because of metabolic coupling, CBF will decrease.

However, as brain temperatures fall below 20 °C, the ability to control CBF by cerebral metabolic rate is attenuated [37, 39]. While cooling. leads to an exponential decrease in metabolic rate, cerebral blood flow decreases in a linear fashion. At 18 °C, the ratio of blood flow to metabolic rate is 70:1, whereas at 37 °C it is 20:1. Thus, cooling of the brain leads to a state of luxury perfusion [29, 30, 37–39].

Hypothermia protects the brain by several mechanisms. First, electrical activity of the brain is typically suppressed at temperatures below 17 °C [40–42]. This consequently reduces metabolic demand by 50–60% [29, 31, 34, 36]. Hypothermia also decreases the utilization of intracellular high energy phosphorus compounds (i.e., increases the phosphocreatine:ATP ratio) required for the maintenance of normothermic membrane structure [31]. The Q_{10} temperature coefficient describes the ratio of two cerebral metabolic oxygen consumption (CMR0₂) measure-

Table 39.1 Calculated safe duration during hypothermia circulatory arrest

Temperature (°C)	Cerebral metabolic rate (% of baseline)	Safe duration of HCA (min)
37	100	5
30	56 (53-60)	9 (8–10)
25	37 (33–42)	14 (12–15)
20	24 (21–29)	21 (17–24)
15	16 (13–20)	32 (25–38)
10	11 (8–14)	45 (36–62)

Calculations based on assumption that there is a 5-min tolerance for circulatory arrest at 37 °C. Values in parentheses are 95% confidence intervals. Printed with permission from McCullough et al. [34]

HCA hypothermic circulatory arrest

ments at temperatures separated by 10° [34, 38]. The Q_{10} determined for swine, dogs, and humans was 2.46, 2.2, and 2.3, respectively [34, 37, 38]. Using this information and assuming a 5-min central nervous system tolerance during circulatory arrest at 37 °C, McCullough et al. [34] calculated a safe duration of hypothermic circulatory arrest as a function of several target temperatures (Table 39.1). These calculated safe arrest durations are, in general, consistent with the outcome studies. In studies with experimental animals, circulatory arrest durations greater than 30 min led to increased histological evidence of ischemic necrosis of brain tissue [33]. In addition, clinical, neurological, and behavioral scores deteriorate in animals experiencing prolonged circulatory arrest duration [31–33, 43]. Reich et al. demonstrated an increased incidence of postoperative cognitive dysfunction in patients undergoing circulatory arrest at 13 °C for durations greater than 29 min [12]. Therapeutic effects of hypothermia have, likewise, been demonstrated in patients experiencing cardiopulmonary arrest at 37 °C who were cooled immediately following restoration of spontaneous circulation [26–28].

A second mechanism for the protective effect of hypothermia is through depression of presynaptic release of excitatory amino acid transmitters (e.g., glutamate and aspartate). This leads to a decrease in excitotoxicity and a subsequent decrease in the extent of neuronal damage after circulatory arrest [32, 44, 45]. Finally, in a study where swine were cooled to 19 °C and placed in circulatory arrest for 90 min and histologically examined at various times from 1 h to 1 week after circulatory arrest, neuronal damage was most significant in the animals that were histologically examined 8–72 h after circulatory arrest. They noted that caspace-3 and -8, indicators of apoptosis, were elevated. Caspace-3 remained elevated for 72 h [19]. Increased activity was also seen in cytosolic cytochrome c. and fos-protein. Apoptotic histological changes were observed in central nervous system neurons. The authors concluded that apoptosis is one of the pathological processes involved with delayed neurological deficits following hypothermic circulatory arrest.

With few exceptions, pharmacological protective strategies have not been found to protect the human central nervous system from ischemic damage during cardiopulmonary procedures [46–61] (Table 39.2). Hence, we depend on deep hypothermia as one of our primary techniques for brain protection.

The protection offered by deep hypothermia, however, is limited to relatively short periods of time (see Table 39.1) [34]. Hence, selective antegrade cerebral perfusion is often administered as an adjunct protective scheme during the surgical procedure [62–75].

During the rewarming phase following circulatory arrest, CMR02 increases along with an increase in cerebral blood flow. Typically, in the absence of selective antegrade cerebral perfusion, there is an initial cerebral blood flow hyperemia, which is caused by an oxygen debt accumulated during the arrest phase [29, 30, 35, 37, 38]. This reflects residual metabolic activity present even at profound hypothermic brain temperatures. After a short hyperemic phase, cerebral blood flow decreases inappropriately for the increased metabolic demand present during and after rewarming. Thus, cerebral blood flow again becomes uncoupled from metabolic demand [29, 30, 37–39]. There is evidence of increased production (i.e., up regulation) of endothelial adhesion molecules, which tend to trap "clusters" of leukocytes in the small cerebral blood vessels. This leads to leukocyte activation with subsequent blocking of cerebral blood vessels and an increase in the postoperative inflammatory process [29, 30, 35, 37]. Webster et al. [76] recently demonstrated that, during global cerebral ischemia, hypothermia decreased the activation of DNA-bound NF-Kappa B. NF-Kappa B. is a major transcription factor regulating genes associated with inflammatory mediators. Inhibition of this transcription factor attenuates inflammation.

Another occasional consequence of circulatory arrest is increased intracranial pressure caused by cerebral edema [77]. This develops after cardiopulmonary bypass is reinstituted. It can be detected by observing bulging fontanelles in neonates or infants. If a transcranial Doppler is available, a decrease or reversal of diastolic cerebral blood flow velocity is detected [78]. The increased intracranial pressure can be reversed by 10–15 min of cold perfusion after cardiopulmonary bypass is resumed following a period of circulatory arrest [77].

Temperature Monitoring

Because of the importance of profound hypothermia for protecting the central nervous system, many surgeons rely on body temperature to decide when an appropriate decreased target brain temperature has been reached prior to beginning circulatory arrest. Direct brain temperature is usually not available during routine cardiac procedures. Clinicians must rely on extracerebral temperature monitoring for determining a safe temperature for initiating circulatory arrest. Stone et al. [79] were the first to compare the accuracy of several surrogate temperature monitoring sites to temperatures acquired directly from the brain. Their patients were undergoing open craniotomies for clipping of giant aneurysms, which required periods of circulatory arrest. Temperature probes were placed 4 cm within the depth of the cerebral cortex and were compared to temperature data recorded from the bladder, rectum, pulmonary artery, tympanic membrane, nasopharynx, esophagus, and skin of the axilla and lower limbs. Comparisons were made during cooling to 16 °C and during rewarming to

	Proposed primary			Type of	
Drug	mechanism	References	n	surgery	Main findings
Thiopental	\downarrow CMRO ₂	Nussmeier et al. [46]	182	Valvular	Thiopental ↓ cognitive complications 10 days after surgery
		Zaidan et al. [47]	300		No difference in neurologic outcomes thiopental versus placebo
Propofol	↓ CMRO ₂	Roach et al. [48]	300	CABG	No difference in cognitive complications 5–7 days or 50–70 days after surgery propofol vs. controls
Nimodipine	Ca++channel blocker	Legault et al. [49]	225	Valvular	Study terminated early due to higher mortality in treated vs control group; no evidence of benefit with nimodipine on cognitive outcomes
Prostacyclin	↓ platelet aggregation, ↓ inflammation	Fish et al. [50]	150	Valvular	No difference in cognitive outcomes 2 weeks after surgery between treated and control patients
Aprotinin	Mechanism(s) unknown; may be due to ↓↓ pericardial aspirate	Levy et al. [54]	287	CABG	No strokes in "high" and "low" dose aprotinin groups vs controls $(n=5)$ and "pump" prime only $(n=1)$ groups $(P=0.01)$ inflammation
		Harmon et al. [55]	36	CABG	Cognitive deficits 2 weeks after surgery lower in aprotinin vs placebo group (23 vs. 55 %, P<0.05)
Lidocaine	Na+channel blockade; membrane stabilization/↓ EAA release	Mitchell et al. [56]	55	Valvular	Neurocognitive outcome better 10 days and 10 weeks after surgery in lidocaine vs placebo group but not at 6 months
		Wang et al. [57]	42	CABG	Improved neurocognitive function 9 days after surgery with lidocaine vs. placebo
Clomethiazole	GABA receptor agonist	Kong et al. [58]	219	CABG	No difference in neurocognitive function 4–7 weeks after surgery in clomethiazone vs placebo groups
Pexelizumab	↓ C5a and C5b-9	Mathew et al. [59]	800	CABG	Pexelizumab had no effect on global cognition but did lower decline in the visuo-spatial domain compared with placebo

 Table 39.2
 Randomized, placebo-controlled trials of pharmacologic neuroprotection for adults undergoing cardiac surgery

Modified with permission, Hogue et al. [128]

*CMRO*₂ cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen, *CABG* coronary artery bypass grafts, *EAA* excitatory amino acid, *NMDA N*-methyl-D-aspartate, *GABA* gamma aminobutyric acid



Fig. 39.1 Plots of temperature changes during rapid cooling and rewarming of patients on cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB). Temperatures acquired from the brain, CPB arterial inflow (bypass perfusate), central sites (i.e., pulmonary artery, nasopharynx, esophagus, tympanic membrane), and peripheral sites (bladder, rectum, axilla, sole of foot). With the exception of the sole of the foot, all temperatures were equal prior to cooling. Sites which tracked the brain temperatures the closest were the nasopharynx and esophagus. Reprinted with permission from Stone et al. [79]

37 °C after a period of circulatory arrest. Prior to cooling, with the exception of the sole of the foot, temperatures from all recording sites were equal. During rapid cooling in preparation for circulatory arrest, none of the surrogate monitoring sites tracked the brain's temperature well (Fig. 39.1). All temperatures lagged behind the brain temperature. The nasopharyngeal and esophageal temperature probes showed the smallest difference in comparison to direct brain temperatures. Just prior to initiating circulatory arrest, the difference between the temperatures at the surrogate sites and the actual brain temperature was ±2.8 °C. During rewarming, the same phenomenon was noted. Here, nasopharyngeal and esophageal temperature probes recorded temperatures that were closest to the brain

temperature. Of concern, when the nasopharyngeal temperature reached 37 °C, the brain was typically 1-2 °C higher. As hyperthermia is known to increase the degree of ischemia-induced brain damage, these results were concerning [80–85]. The variability across patients, as well as across temperature-monitoring sites, precluded choosing one site as the best surrogate temperature for predicting brain temperatures during rapid temperature changes. Stone et al. [79] also studied patients undergoing excision of brain tumors during normothermic conditions. Temperatures recorded at cortical depths of 1 cm were typically cooler by 0.5-3 °C compared to temperature probes placed at cortical depths of 4 cm. In addition, the superficial cortical temperature recordings showed greater variability, particularly when cold irrigation fluids were used. They reasoned that the variability of the superficial temperature recordings was caused by the effects of ambient temperature and cool irrigation fluids.

Crowder et al. [86] subsequently studied the correlation of brain temperature to tympanic membrane, esophagus, bladder, pulmonary artery, and the jugular bulb temperature. The jugular bulb was considered to be an excellent monitoring site as it drained 60-66% of venous blood flow from the homologous cortex, with 1% contamination from extracranial sources [86-88]. Brain temperatures were monitored with temperature probes placed in the subdural space distant to the craniotomy site (i.e., under the intact cranium, so as to minimize the effects of ambient room temperature on the subdural temperature recordings). Moderate hypothermia was induced with the lowest reported brain surface temperature reaching 32.3 °C. Their results confirmed Stone's study and showed that large fluctuations of the brain surface temperature (i.e., subdural temperature) caused by irrigation fluid and ambient temperature made the comparison of jugular bulb and true parenchymal brain temperature unreliable. Additionally, jugular bulb temperatures tended to be higher than all other monitoring sites during rewarming. Nevertheless, studies following Crowder et al.'s report have assumed that the jugular bulb can be used to track brain

temperature during rapid temperature changes. Grocott et al. [87] showed that nasopharyngeal temperatures were lower than jugular bulb temperatures, but, in general, they tracked jugular bulb changes accurately during rapid cooling. At rewarming, however, jugular bulb temperatures were consistently 1–2 °C higher (implying that brain temperature may be higher than nasopharyngeal temperature). Similar results have been reported by other investigators [88].

In summary, all investigations have demonstrated that surrogate temperature data tend to lag behind true brain temperatures during rapid temperature changes. The greatest bias is found during rewarming and can lead to brain temperature reaching 1–3 °C higher than recorded from surrogate temperature sites [79]. A second conclusion derived from all investigations is that the variability across patients, as well as the data from surrogate temperature sites, precludes choosing one best site for accurately predicting brain temperatures during rapid cooling and rewarming.

Neuroelectrophysiological Monitoring

The appropriate temperature for initiating circulatory arrest should be cold enough for reducing adverse neurological outcomes through the mechanisms discussed in the section on "Temperature Monitoring." On the other hand, excessive cooling may lead to adverse outcomes secondary to intraneuronal ice crystal formation with subsequent injury (e.g., usually expected at temperatures below 10 °C) [40]. Secondly, longer bypass time is required in order to achieve these low temperatures as well as increased time for rewarming. Hence, several investigators have studied the use of temperature-related changes of the electroencephalogram (EEG) and somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) for determining the appropriate temperature for initiating circulatory arrest [40, 41].

Stecker et al. studied typical changes seen in the EEG during cooling prior to circulatory arrest (Fig. 39.2). Four EEG patterns were noted (please see Chap. 10 for review of EEG monitoring). The order of appearance with decreasing body temperatures is as follows: pre-cooling EEG (Fig. 39.2d), appearance of periodic complexes (Fig. 39.2e), burst suppression (Fig. 39.2f), and electrocerebral silence (Fig. 39.2g). The distribution of patients demonstrating each of the characteristic EEG patterns as a function of temperature is shown in Fig. 39.2a-c. The importance of these results is that there is a range of temperatures rather than a single best temperature for which each of the sequential EEG patterns occurs during cooling on bypass. The mean nasopharyngeal temperature where periodic EEG complexes are noted was 29.6±3 °C. Burst suppression occurred at 24.4 ± 4 °C and electrocerebral silence at 17.8 ± 4 °C. Therefore, typically the patients will be cooled at 2 °C below the temperature at which suppressed EEG is achieved prior to initiating circulatory arrest.

Please refer to Chap. 1 for an in-depth review of SSEP responses. Figure 39.3 demonstrates the relationship between the cortical (N20), spinal cord (N13), and Erb's point (i.e., brachial plexus) response latencies with temperature [88]. Note that latency increases at each recording site as body temperature decreases. This temperature effect on latency is due, in part, to the effect of temperature on conduction velocity along axons such that, at 2.7 and 7.2 °C, conduction blocks occur in unmyelinated and myelinated axons, respectively [88]. These effects are in turn due to the effects of hypothermia on the rate of change of sodium channels within axonal membranes [89, 90]. Stecker demonstrated an increase in SSEP refractory periods as body temperature decreases, suggesting that a slower stimulation frequency and increased stimulation intensity are required for acquiring SSEP responses at colder temperatures [40, 90, 91].

Figure 39.4 demonstrates that at sufficiently low body temperatures, SSEPs are lost. This phenomenon offers a second physiological parameter, in addition to EEG changes, for determining an appropriate target temperature for suppressing electrical activity in the brain. Figure 39.5 demonstrates the orderly disappearance of the



Fig. 39.2 The distribution of nasopharyngeal temperatures for patients developing (a) periodic EEG samples, (b) burst suppression, and (c) electrocerebral silence during rapid cooling prior to circulatory arrest. Examples of

typical EEG patterns prior to cooling are shown in (d): Periodic complexes and burst suppression are shown in (e) and (f), respectively. (g) shows an example of EEG suppression. Reprinted with permission from Stecker [93]

thalamocortical (C), followed by the suppression of the cervicomedullary responses (D, E) as colder nasopharyngeal temperatures are reached. Figure 39.5a, b shows the distribution of nasopharyngeal temperatures for loss of the cortical and cervicomedullary responses. The N20-P22 complex acquired from thalamic and cortical generators disappears with body cooling to a nasopharyngeal temperature of 21.4 ± 4 °C and the cervical medullary responses (N13) are lost at 17.8 ± 4 °C. These SSEP values are consistent with the results acquired by Ghariani et al. [92]. As was the case for EEG changes during cooling, a single targeted temperature is inadequate for accurately predicting the individual brain and spinal cord electrical suppression during induced hypothermia. EEG, cortical, and subcortical SSEP responses (for determining subcortical depression) were monitored during the cooling phase of our case. The results were used for determining the appropriate nasopharyngeal temperature for initiating circulatory arrest.

After the portion of the surgical repair of the patient's dissection is carried out during circulatory arrest and selective antegrade cerebral perfusion, the patient is rewarmed. Electrophysiologic modalities for tracking the rewarming process have also been studied [93]. During this phase of



Effect of Temperature on latency of Erb's Point, N13 and N20 Potentials



limited change in latency of the brachial plexus responses with increasing prolongation of the spinal cord dorsal columns and sensory cortex latencies with colder temperatures. Reprinted with permission from Stecker [91]



Fig. 39.4 The effect of cooling and rewarming of the somatosensory cortex N20 latency and amplitude. The variability of the N20 amplitude is greater than the latency.

The N20 latency is probably a better N20 parameter for monitoring the effect of temperature on the cortex. Reprinted with permission from Stecker et al. [91]



Fig. 39.5 The distribution of nasopharyngeal temperatures for loss of the N20-P22 cortical SSEP complex (**a**) and spinal cord N13 responses (**b**) in patients undergoing rapid cooling prior to circulatory arrest. Examples of typi-

cal SSEPs during rapid cooling prior to cooling (c), after loss of the cortical SSEP responses with prolongation of the N13 (d) and loss of the N13 spinal cord response. Reprinted with permission from Stecker et al. [93]

the procedure, the EEG and SSEP responses take on an additional significance beyond merely tracking the rewarming effects on the central nervous system. In this case, they can also predict the occurrence of new neurological deficits occurring during the circulatory arrest phase of the procedure.

Stecker demonstrated the pattern of EEG and SSEP responses observed during rewarming prior to separation from bypass. In neurologically normal patients, the order of reappearance of SSEP and EEG activity was consistent across the patients studied. The N13 SSEP waveform reappeared first after rewarming followed by the thalamocortical SSEP responses (i.e., N20-P22). EEG burst suppression activity appeared next

followed by continuous EEG activity, which occurs on average 28.1 min later. The rewarming rate on average was 0.42±0.19 °C per minute from a circulatory arrest nasopharyngeal temperature of 14.4±2 °C. In general, the time of recovery of the N20-P22 SSEP responses during rewarming increased by 0.3-1.0 min for each minute of circulatory arrest. Of importance, the time as well as the nasopharyngeal temperature for reappearance of continuous EEG and the thalamocortical SSEP (i.e., N20-P22) responses were significantly longer and higher, respectively, in patients who developed new postoperative neurological deficits compared with patients with normal postoperative neurological outcomes (Tables 39.3 and 39.4). Based on these results, a

Description	Factor	n	Mean (SD)	Factor	Mean, SD	Factor	Mean (SD)
Reappearance of burst suppression	T ^R as	48	19.0 (9)	NT ^R as	21.2 (5)	CT ^R as	20.6 (3)
Reappearance of continuous EEG	T ^R Cont	47	47.1 (26)	NT ^R Cont	30.1 (5)	CT ^R Cont	26.8 (4)
Reappearance of N ₂ 0-P ₂₂	T ^R N ₂ 0	66	14/2 (7)	NT ^R N ₂ 0	18.6 (3)	CT ^R N ₂ 0	20.0 (3)
Reappearance of N ₁₃	TRN ₁₃	37	12.6 (6)	NT ^R N ₁₃	17.2 (2)	CT ^R N ₁₃	19.2 (2)

Table 39.3 Summary of times and temperature for events during rewarming in patients neurologically intact postoperatively^a

Reprinted with permission from Stecker et al. [40]

Shows the times and temperatures for the reappearance of EEG burst suppression, continuous EEG, the upper limb N20-P22, and subcortical N13 SSEP responses during rewarming. All data were acquired from patients without either permanent transient neurological deficits. The fourth column shows the individual time factors and mean and standard deviation for the times in minutes for EEG and SSEP responses listed in the first column. The sixth and eighth columns show the mean and standard deviation for the nasopharyngeal temperature (i.e., NT) and central temperatures (i.e., CT, bladder and rectal temperature sites) for return of each EEG and SSEP factor listed in the first column. The third column lists the number of patients whose data was used for calculating each mean and standard deviation *EEG* encephalogram, *SSEP* somatosensory-evoked potential

^aIncludes only patients without either preoperative, intraoperative strokes, or postoperative confusion

multivariable analysis allowed calculation of the relative risk of new postoperative deficits occurring during the circulatory arrest and initial rewarming phases of the operation by determining the product of 1.56 and 1.27 and the temperature for the reappearance of continuous EEG and N20-P22 SSEP responses, respectively (see Table 39.5). This approach accurately predicted new postoperative neurological deficits 89% of the time. Ghariani et al. [92] found similar delays in recovery of central nervous system (i.e., CNS) electrical activity in patients with new postoperative neurological deficits [92].

Finally, other investigators demonstrated that loss of SSEP responses prior to cooling or following circulatory arrest during aortic surgery correlated with new deficits [92, 94, 95]. Cheung et al. [94], however, demonstrated a large degree of variance for cortical SSEP amplitudes acquired from patients with normal outcomes following bypass procedures. In order to predict new focal deficits, a 21-fold left–right amplitude asymmetry of the N20-P22 (i.e., thalamocortical) response was required [94].

Acid Base Management on Bypass

Hypothermia has profound effects on neutral pH of water. During cooling, CO₂ solubility increases, shifting the equilibrium of the following equation to the right.

$$H^+ + HCO_3^- \leftrightarrow H_2CO_2 \leftrightarrow H_2O + CO_2$$

This shift results in an increase in pH during cooling.

There are two management approaches for dealing with these arterial blood gas results. The first is referred to as the pH stat management scheme where the pH is kept constant. In this case, the perfusionist will either add CO_2 to the patient's blood or reduce the gas flow entering the oxygenator. This is done to correct the hypothermic blood pH to 7.4, at the expense of an increased load of CO_2 . Increased CO_2 leads to vasodilatation of the cerebral arterioles [29, 35, 96–99]. This uncouples autoregulation prior to 21–22 °C (i.e., where it is lost during alpha stat management). Cerebral blood flow increases in the cerebral cortex, as well as the brainstem,

•	ł		•	•		•				
Description	Factor	No.	Mean (SD)	$P^{ m b}$	Factor	Mean (SD)	Ρ	Factor	Mean (SD)	Ρ
Reappearance of burst suppression	$T^{R}as$	6	26.2	0.02	$NT^{R}as$	24.8 (6)	0.07	CT ^R as	22.5 (5)	0.23
Reappearance of continuous EEG	T ^R Cont	6	80.5 (28)	0.0008	NT ^R Cont	36.2 (0.8)	0.0007	CT ^R Cont	32.8 (4)	0.0006
Reappearance of N20-P22	T^RN_20	16	20.3 (9)	0.0004	$NT^{R}N_{2}0$	22.3 (4)	0.0002	$CT^{R}N_{2}0$	20.0 (2)	0.95
Reappearance of N_{13}	$T^{\text{R}}N_{13}$	10	16.5(9)	0.12	$\mathbf{NT}^{\mathrm{R}}\mathbf{N}_{13}$	18.8 (2)	0.07	$CT^{R}N_{13}$	19.7 (3)	0.45
Reprinted with permission from	n Stecker et al	[40]								

\mathbf{S}^{a}
E
Ű,
þ
al
<u>.</u>
စီ
0
in
ne
th
<u>8</u> .
S
ä
Ę
pa
п
ad
.н
E
/aı
ev
50
Ē.
ur
p
nts
ve
ē
ō
ef
ur
rat
ē
Ē
te
р
aı
es
Ξ.
ft
0
L.
ű
Ē
Su
4
ŝ
e
b
<u> </u>

Reprinted with permission from Stecker et al. [40]

Shows the times and temperatures for the reappearance of EEG burst suppression, continuous EEG, the upper limb N₂0-P²², and subcortical N₁₃ responses. The data for this table are calculated and reformatted, the same as for Table 39.3. The data were acquired from patients with new permanent or transient neurological deficits. Note the longer times and higher nasopharyngeal and central temperatures for the reappearance of each factor listed in the first column compared to patients with normal neurological outcomes "Includes only patients with intraoperative strokes or postoperative confusion

*Probability that corresponding factors in the neurologically normal and postoperative neurologic impairment groups are the same by Student's test

Table 39.5 Multivariable analysis of factors associated with either intraoperative stroke or postoperative confusion by stepwise logistic regression^a

Factor	Relative risk (per °C)	95 % CI	P value
NT ^R Cont	1.56	1.1–2.2	< 0.001
NT ^R N ₂ 0	1.27	1.02-1.56	0.015

Reprinted with permission from Stecker et al. [40] Relative risk factors calculated for the nasopharyngeal temperature at which continuous EEG or the N20 cortical SSEP responses reappear during rewarming is shown. The relative risks are listed in the second column and the 95% confidence intervals (CI) in the third column. The level or significance for the results is found in the fourth column. The relative risk for new neurological intraoperative strokes or postoperative TNDs can be calculated by multiplying the relative risk and the nasopharyngeal temperature at which continuous EEG or the N20 cortical responses reappear "All patients

leading to a decrease in temperature gradients. Temperature gradients might exist when pH stat management is not used during rapid cooling.

The second management scheme is the alpha stat management where the state of intracellular charges is kept constant. In this case, blood gas pH is not corrected for temperature. Thus, the perfusionist does not add CO_2 to the blood. Autoregulation is maintained for a longer period of time during cooling, with the expected decrease in cerebral blood. It is interesting to note in this regard that functioning poikilotherms use the alpha stat blood gas management. On the other hand, hibernating animals use pH stat [29, 30, 37]. Perhaps the reason for these preferences lies in the fact that pH stat management leads to a more uniform hypothermic body temperature and perhaps improved protection during hibernation.

Neonates, when cooled using alpha stat management for circulatory arrest, had an elevated incidence of choreoathetosis [96, 98, 100]. The incidence of this postoperative deficit decreased when pH stat management was used. This suggested improved and uniform hypothermic protection of the brainstem due to increased vasodilation. Animal studies showed an increased tolerance to circulatory arrest when pH stat management was used [100]. Furthermore, the alkalotic pH obtained with alpha stat management in conjunction with hypothermia shifts the oxyhemoglobin saturation curve to the left. This reflects increased affinity of hemoglobin for oxygen during conditions of high pH and low temperature [96-100]. Thus, high venous oxygen saturations with alpha stat management during cooling may not be caused by a cold brain extracting less oxygen from hemoglobin, but because hemoglobin will not release oxygen under cold, alpha stat management [96, 100]. With pH stat, on the other hand, left shift of the oxyhemoglobin saturation will decrease due to the increased acidity in the hypothermic patient's blood [100]. This implies that more oxygen will be available to brain cells during hypothermic circulatory arrest than with alpha stat management. However, oxygen supplies to the hypothermic brain during circulatory arrest may be principally met by dissolved oxygen in the stagnant cerebral blood volume during circulatory arrest [33, 35, 38]. In any event, caution should be exercised when interpreting increased venous oxygen saturations during hypothermia as a reflection of decreased oxygen extraction due to cold-induced reductions in metabolic oxygen demand when alpha stat management is used [98, 100].

Alpha stat management with the attendant cerebral blood flow decrease during hypothermia has been viewed as a benefit for patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass without circulatory arrest as enzymes tend to function more efficiently with alpha stat management in the cooled patient [29, 30, 37, 100]. A second benefit of alpha stat management in the adult patient is that decreased blood flow delivers fewer emboli to the brain as demonstrated in experimental animals [17, 18, 29, 30, 35, 37].

In summary, in neonates in whom embolic injury is less common, pH stat may be the preferred blood gas management scheme for cooling prior to circulatory arrest. This is due to the increased blood flow, which leads to a more uniform cooling of the brain compared with alpha stat management. Alpha stat management may be preferred during rewarming where the expected improvement in enzyme function and decreased delivery of emboli may lead to improved neurological function in the rewarmed patient. However, in adults in whom the risk of embolic neurological injury is greater, current clinical practice is to use alpha stat management for both cooling and rewarming.

Cerebral Oximetry

Cerebral oximetry offers several benefits both as an adjunct monitor during normothermic bypass and during hypothermic circulatory arrest and selective antegrade cerebral perfusion. As discussed in Chap. 14, cerebral oximetry is thought to measure cerebral venous blood oxygen saturation. Some authors have suggested that a 20% decrease from an anesthetized baseline value represents a significant decrease, suggesting cerebral increased oxygen extraction during ischemic stress [36, 101]. Others suggest that oximetry values less than 50% represent a state of relative ischemia, leading to excessive extraction [101, 102]. When bilateral oximetry is monitored, others have correlated a 10-15%asymmetry in venous oxygen saturation as an indirect indication of unilateral ischemia of the brain (Fig. 39.6). Venous oxygen saturation



Fig. 39.6 The cerebral regional oxygen saturation values relative to baseline (100%) for the left (**a**) and right (**b**) hemispheres in patients with (n=6) and without (n=40) postoperative permanent deficits. Data are plotted as

means \pm SEM. Reprinted with permission from Olsson et al. [103] SACP, selective antegrade cerebral perfusion; CPB, cardiopulmonary bypass; rSO₂, cerebral regional oxygen saturation; SEM, standard error of mean



d HbO₂ / dt >-0.5 ; HbO₂ reached the plateau state (nadir level)

Fig. 39.7 The time course of the decrease in regional cerebral venous oxygen saturation as recorded from a cerebral oximeter in piglets after the initiation of deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. The decrease in oxygen saturation is plotted as saturated hemoglobin in μ mol/L. A nadir value is defined as the point along the curve where

changes may then serve as an adjunct for EEG and evoked potential detection of cerebral cortical ischemia. Some investigators have predicted new neurological deficits based on asymmetries in the bilateral cerebral oximetry data [103].

During profound hypothermia and circulatory arrest, cerebral venous oxygen saturation is the only monitor available for warning when the safe duration of circulatory arrest has been reached [104]. Despite cooling the patient to profound hypothermic temperatures, cerebral metabolism, although profoundly reduced, still persists during circulatory arrest [105–107]. This is demonstrated by the steady decrease in venous oxygen saturation, which varies from 1.2 to 0.81 % decrease per minute observed in patients during circulatory arrest [105, 106, 108]. Investigators have demonstrated that after the initial decline in venous saturation, venous saturation values tend to level out to a plateau [104]. If the plateau value is 50% or better, some clinicians assume that it is safe to continue the circulatory arrest duration [102].

Other investigators suggest, however, that when the plateau is reached, it is time to institute selective antegrade cerebral perfusion, as the pla-

saturated hemoglobin reaches a plateau state. This, in turn, is derived as the time when the rate of change (i.e., the slope) of hemoglobin saturation curve becomes more than -0.5. Reprinted with permission from Sakamoto et al. [104] HCA, hypothermic circulatory arrest; HbO₂, oxygenated hemoglobin

teau represents a state at which maximum oxygen extraction has already occurred (Fig. 39.7) [104]. An increased duration of circulatory arrest once the plateau has been reached may lead to an increase of neurological deficits [104, 107, 108]. The same investigators have demonstrated in neonates that increased hematocrits tend to increase the tolerance for circulatory arrest. An increased tolerance for circulatory arrest is shown by an increased time from the initiation of circulatory arrest to the plateau phase of the cerebral oxygen saturation curve [108]. This has not been duplicated in an adult study, which showed an increase in cerebral oxygen desaturation with higher hematocrits during the initial phase of circulatory arrest [106]. On the other hand, outcome studies for neonates and adults show improved outcomes when extreme hemodilution is not used during bypass and circulatory arrest [109–111].

The importance of cerebral oximetry as a central nervous system monitor takes on added significance when it is realized that it is the only monitor available during circulatory arrest [112, 113]. Not all investigators, however, agree on its efficacy [114].

Transcranial Doppler

There are several reasons for employing transcranial Doppler (TCD) during the repairs of an aortic arch aneurysm or dissection. (Please refer to Chap. 13 for an in-depth review of the TCD technique.) The first is to serve as an adjunct to SSEP and EEG monitoring. Prior to initiation of cardiopulmonary bypass, sudden elevations in systolic pressure during surgical exposure may extend the dissection flap to involve the arch vessels, and thus, compromise flow to the upper extremities and/or brain. Monitoring bilateral middle cerebral artery blood flow velocities will help detect compromised flow to the brain.

After a safe period of circulatory arrest has been reached as determined by cerebral oximetry (see previous section), the surgeon will employ selective antegrade perfusion [62–75]. During the initiation of selective antegrade cerebral perfusion, the perfusion pressure required to initiate flow may be higher than anticipated in order to overcome the critical closing pressure of the cerebral arterial vasculature. The appearance of middle cerebral artery blood flow velocity will assure that adequate perfusion pressures are being used as well as detecting any problems in the placement of the selective antegrade catheter [115, 116].

Cardiopulmonary bypass and selective antegrade cerebral perfusion both have risks for cerebral embolization [16-18]. Transcranial Doppler is an excellent monitor for detecting cerebral embolization [115–117]. The passage of air or particulate embolic debris through the cerebral arteries produces a characteristic ultrasound signature referred to as a high-intensity transient (HITS). Of interest, the larger the transient highintensity signal recorded by the TCD, the greater the chance that the events represent an air embolus, due to the large differences in refractory index between air and blood [117]. Dexter and Hindman [118] calculated the absorption time of emboli as a function of emboli size and partial pressure of nitrogen in the emboli and blood.

Blood flow obstruction, caused by air emboli ranging in size from 25 to 100 μ m in diameter, is reversed due to the absorption of the air emboli within 4 min (i.e., in the absence of nitrogen tension in the emboli and blood). Larger bubbles, with volumes of 0.1 mL or greater, may obstruct blood flow for up to 12 h. Theoretically, air emboli of sufficient size may lead to new central nervous system ischemic injury. If cerebral emboli are detected, the surgeon may elect to use a short period of retrograde cerebral perfusion in an attempt to "flush out" air and solid embolic debris prior to rewarming and/or separation from cardiopulmonary bypass [119]. Retrograde cerebral perfusion is a method used to protect the brain during circulatory arrest by perfusing the brain in a retrograde manner via the superior vena cava [120]. TCD can assure that retrograde perfusion is actually perfusing the cerebral circulation successfully [116, 121].

Finally, following separation from cardiopulmonary bypass and return of pulsatile flow, the TCD may be useful for detecting reduced blood flow typical of patients who have undergone a period of circulatory arrest. Increased cerebral vascular resistance is detected as an increase in the pulsatility and can progress to an absence of diastolic blood flow velocity. One cause of loss of diastolic blood flow velocity is an increase in intracranial pressure caused by cerebral edema [78].

Combination of Cerebral Oximetry and Transcranial Doppler

A recent pilot study showed that cardiopulmonary bypass pump flows significantly correlated with cerebral oximetry and that flow of antegrade cerebral perfusion correlated with the middle cerebral artery (MCA) mean velocity and they defined a critical threshold level at which MCA blood flow ceased [122]. They found that maintaining antegrade cerebral perfusion flow rate at approximately 10 mL/kg/min resulted in cerebral oximetry values of 45% or greater. Thus, it is possible that a combination of monitoring techniques can provide individualized parameters to follow during DHCA.

Conduct of the Surgical Repair of the Aortic Dissection

The surgeon plans to use the right axillary artery for the arterial cannulation site for bypass. There are several reasons for his choice [63, 69, 71, 75]. First, the right axillary artery is relatively free of atherosclerosis and calcification compared with the ascending aorta, aortic arch, and descending aorta. Thus, manipulating this vessel has a lower risk of dislodging atherosclerotic debris into the circulation, which could lead to stroke or embolic damage of the other organs. Secondly, it eliminates the need for femoral artery cannulation used for retrograde arterial perfusion, which can also lead to a dislodged atherosclerotic plaque from the descending aorta and the possibility of cannulating the false lumen of the aorta. Finally, the right axillary artery can be used for both systemic as well as selective anterior cerebral perfusion [3] (Fig. 39.8).

Prior to anesthetic induction, the right radial artery and left radial or femoral arteries are cannulated for monitoring blood pressure. Left radial artery or femoral artery pressure lines allow monitoring of systemic perfusion. The rightsided arterial pressure line is used for monitoring cerebral perfusion pressure when the axillary artery is used for selective antegrade cerebral perfusion. Two large bore intravenous lines are placed for volume infusion. A BIS (bispectral index) EEG monitor and bilateral regional cerebral oximeter monitors are placed before induction. Finally, recording and electrical stimulation electrodes are placed for recording EEG, as well as upper and lower limb SSEP responses.

Rapid sequence induction is performed using propofol, fentanyl, and succinylcholine for intubation. Esmolol infusion and nitroglycerin are available in order to minimize any pressure increases during tracheal intubation. Isoflurane is used as the main maintenance agent. A nasopharyngeal temperature probe and bilateral transcranial Doppler transducers are also placed. A transesophageal echo probe (TEE) is placed in order to verify the extent of the dissection and also to verify the presence of pericardial fluid or blood and aortic insufficiency. A central line is then placed in the right internal jugular vein under ultrasound guidance.

After the right axillary artery is cannulated, a median sternotomy followed by bicaval venous cannulation is completed. The patient is then placed on bypass and cooling is initiated by perfusing cold (10 °C) oxygenated blood though the right axillary arterial cannula. The pH stat blood gas management scheme is used during cooling. The surgeon will cool beyond a nasopharyngeal temperature sufficient for suppression of all EEG, as well as upper and lower limb cortical and brainstem SSEP activity. Circulatory arrest will be initiated at 2 °C below the nasopharyngeal temperature where EEG and SSEPs are lost.

As bypass is initiated, the right and left TCD show absent flow in the middle cerebral arteries, although normal flow velocity was demonstrated prior to beginning bypass. The operative team speculated that the absent flow velocity may be due to elevated critical closing pressure and thus increased the perfusion pressure as recorded by the right axillary artery. An increase of 5 Torr is required for middle cerebral artery flow velocity to appear.

During cooling, the head is packed in ice in order to minimize rewarming of the brain during circulatory arrest. As the patient is cooled, the ascending aorta and arch vessels are surgically exposed. A trifurcated graft is prepared for anastomoses to the arch vessels (see Fig. 39.8). Prior to circulatory arrest, manipulation of the aorta is kept to a minimum in order to reduce the incidence of embolic dislodgement. Finally, although not immediately obvious, the use of the right axillary artery perfusion technique in conjunction with the use of the trifurcated graft for replacing the arch vessels eliminates the concern of a possible absence of perfusion of the left cerebral circulation during selective anterior cerebral perfusion. Right axillary artery perfusion can be a problem if the patient is missing both an anterior and posterior cerebral communicating arteries. Recall that this patient had a previous left carotid endarterectomy requiring a shunt using EEG changes as criteria for placing the shunt [123–126]. Approximately, 17% of the patients are missing both communicating arteries [124].





However, this operating plan allows for perfusion of both the right and left carotid arteries, regardless of the Circle of Willis abnormalities.

Sixty milligrams of potassium chloride is added to the cardiopulmonary bypass perfusate in order to elicit a diastolic cardiac arrest. At 16 °C, the EEG, cortical, and subcortical SSEP responses are suppressed. Left and right cerebral oximetry values have increased from 60% and 64 to 85% and 90%, respectively. Using pH stat blood gas management, the elevated cerebral oximetry values are considered a reflection of the increased venous oxygen saturation due to decreased oxygen extraction; a result of depression and subsequent loss of cerebral and subcortical electrical activities. During cooling, the perfusionist ensures that the hematocrit is between 25 and 30 and blood glucose values are less than 130 mg per deciliter.

The patient is then placed in Trendelenburg position to prevent air trapping, and circulatory arrest is initiated. During circulatory arrest, a clamp is placed on the proximal end of the trifurcated graft. The innominate artery is transected distal to its origin at the aortic arch where atherosclerosis is expected to be minimal. The large limb of the trifurcated graft is anastomosed to the distal end of the innominate artery in an end-toend fashion. The left carotid artery is subsequently anastomosed similarly to the second of the remaining side grafts.

During the initial portion of circulatory arrest, as expected, transcranial Doppler (TCD) flow velocities disappear. The cerebral oximeter demonstrates a bilateral decrease in venous oxygen saturation reflecting reduced but still present brain metabolic activity. The values decrease bilaterally and approach a plateau at 40 and 42 % as monitored from the right and left side of the forehead. The surgeon is warned that the values are below 50 % and the plateau suggests that maximum oxygen extraction may have occurred. Rather than completing the anastomoses of the left subclavian artery to the third limb of the

graft, the surgeon elects to place a cross clamp across the proximal left subclavian graft and initiates selective antegrade cerebral perfusion through the right axillary artery. The perfusate is oxygenated blood at 16 °C. Selective antegrade perfusion is accomplished by blood flowing from the right axillary artery to the right subclavian artery, through the innominate artery, as well as into the graft and up the left cerebral artery (see Fig. 39.8). As antegrade cerebral blood flow is resumed, the TCD demonstrates that bilateral middle cerebral artery (MCA) flow velocities and the cerebral oximeter values increase to above 80% bilaterally. The surgeon then completes the anastomoses of the third branch of the trifurcated graft to the left subclavian artery.

Although the brain, right upper limb, and part of the spinal cord are perfused, the rest of the body is still in circulatory arrest. The surgeon now directs his attention to the distal aortic arch. The distal arch is excised and an elephant trunk is constructed by inverting a tubular graft and placing both lumens in the descending aorta. An anastomosis is created with the edge of the inverted graft and the descending aorta. The inner portion of the graft is then everted and will form the proximal portion of the aortic arch. The distal portion of the elephant trunk is left free within the descending aorta. If the patient survives this operation, he will have the option of a second operation for repair of the descending aorta where the free end of the elephant trunk will be used for the proximal descending aortic anastomoses. As the aortic valve is normal, the surgeon then constructs a second tubular graft from the aortic valve annulus for replacing the ascending aorta. The right and left coronary arteries are then anastomosed to the proximal graft above the native aortic valve. The ascending aortic graft is then anastomosed to the proximal portion of the elephant trunk. The proximal portion of the trifurcated graft is subsequently attached to the newly formed aortic graft.

After all anastomoses are completed, a hole is made in the arch for flushing out any atherosclerotic, calcified, and/or air emboli in order to minimize cerebral or systemic embolization. The patient is then rewarmed. Total circulatory arrest lasts for 28 min and selective anterior cerebral perfusion lasts for 80 min. After selective anterior cerebral perfusion, the patient is placed back on full cardiopulmonary pulmonary bypass. When the temperature reaches 24 °C, the EEG and upper limb cortical and subcortical SSEP responses have returned. However, lower limb cortical, subcortical, and popliteal SSEP responses fail to recover. Bilateral TCD traces show antegrade bilateral MCA flow velocity with <5 high intensity transients (i.e., HITS) over 30 min, suggesting an absence of significant cerebral embolization. Bilateral cerebral oximetry values have decreased from the low 80 % range to 62 % and 64 %, respectively, for right- and left-sided cerebral oxygen saturation, as the patient reaches a nasopharyngeal temperature of 36 °C. The patient is maintained at 36 °C in order to avoid cerebral hyperthermia. These results suggest to the operative team that the lower limbs have become ischemic; either from an extension of the dissection distally, down the descending aorta or embolization from the ascending aorta and/or arch during the reinstitution of systemic cardiopulmonary bypass [126].

Examination of the TEE shows no evidence of an extension of the dissection in the upper thoracic aorta. Doppler examination of the bilateral femoral and popliteal arteries, however, fails to register blood flow. A vascular surgeon is consulted who performs bilateral embolization of the lower limb vessels. Flow returns and the patient is weaned from bypass successfully with minimal ionotropic support. TCD shows bilateral pulsatile middle cerebral blood flow velocity with normal diastolic flow velocities. The lower limb popliteal and cortical SSEP responses return within 5 min after the patient has been separated from bypass. The axillary artery and right atrial venous cannulas are removed. The patient's anticoagulation is reversed. After surgical bleeding is controlled, the patient's surgical wounds are closed. The patient is transferred to the cardiac intensive care unit. The following day, the patient is extubated with a normal postoperative neurological clinical examination. No delayed neurological deficits are observed over the subsequent 48 h. The patient was discharged to a rehabilitation facility on the seventh postoperative day.

Conclusion

Knowledge is power. We have demonstrated several instances during aortic surgery where neurophysiological, chemical, and hemodynamic information can be helpful for guiding the management of the surgical procedure. Perhaps the importance of these data is that it can detect deleterious changes occurring during the procedure that would not otherwise be known until the patient recovers from anesthesia in the postoperative period (e.g., initial absence of select anterior cerebral perfusion, determination of the safe duration of circulatory arrest, and lower limb embolization in this case). Detection, and an appreciation of these changes, can lead to early proactive treatments that may decrease the incidence of new postoperative deficits. In the future, a better understanding of the use of these data may allow early postoperative noninvasive intervention, such as intracranial vascular emboli extraction, angioplasty, stent placements, localized thrombolysis, or the use of several pharmacological agents [note: there is little evidence at present to support the use of most pharmacologic agents felt to have a useful protection or treatment effect for patients undergoing circulatory arrest] within a window of opportunity where they might make a difference in patient outcome. Experience with these monitoring modalities will hopefully further the efficacy of their use [127].

References¹

 2010 ACCF/AHA/AATS/ACR/ASA/SCA/SCAI/ SIR/STS/SVM guidelines for the diagnosis and management of patients with thoracic aortic disease: executive summary. A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American College of Radiology, American Stroke Association, Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Interventional Radiology, Society of Thoracic Surgeons, and Society for Vascular Medicine. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55:e27–e129.

- *Green GR, Kron IL. Aortic dissection. In: Cohn LH, Edmunds LH, editors. Cardiac surgery in the adult. 2nd ed. New York: McGraw Hill; 2003. p. 1095–122.
- Spielvoegel D, Etz CD, Silovitz D, Lansman SL, Griepp RB. Aortic arch replacement with a trifurcated graft. Ann Thorac Surg. 2008;83:S791–5.
- Czerny M, Fleck T, Ziimpler D, Dworschak M, Hofmann W, Hutschala D, et al. Risk factors of mortality and permanent neurologic injury in patients undergoing ascending aortic and arch repair. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2003;126:1296–301.
- *Hagl C, Ergin MA, Galla JD, Lansman SL, McCullough JN, Spielvogel D, et al. Neurologic outcome after ascending aorta-aortic arch operations: effect of brain protection technique in high-risk patients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2001;121:1107–21.
- Gega A, Rizzo JA, Johnson MH, Tranquilli M, Farkas EA, Elefteriades JA. Straight deep hypothermic arrest: experience in 394 patients supports its effectiveness as a sole means of brain preservation. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007;847:759–67.
- Ehrlich M, Ergin A, McCullough JN, Lansman SL, Galla JD, Bodian CA, et al. Predictors of adverse outcome and transient neurological dysfunction after ascending aorta/hemiarch replacement. Ann Thorac Surg. 2000;69:1755–63.
- Gaynor JW, Nicholson SC, Jarvik GP, Wernovsky G, Montenegro LM, Burnham NB, et al. Increasing duration of deep hypothermic circulatory arrest is associated with an increased incidence of postoperative electroecephalographic seizures. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005;130:1278–86.
- Immer FF, Barmettler H, Berdat PA, Immer-Bansi AS, Englberger L, Krähenbühl ES, Carrel TP. Effects of deep hypothermic circulatory arrest on outcome after resection of ascending aortic aneurysm. Ann Thorac Surg. 2002;74:422–5.
- Fleck TM, Czerny M, Hutschala D, Koinig H, Wolner E, Grabenwoger M, et al. The incidence of transient neurologic dysfunction after ascending aortic replacement with circulatory arrest. Ann Thorac Surg. 2003;76:1198–202.
- Ergin MA, Galla JD, Lansman SL, Quintana C, Bodian C, Griepp RB, et al. Hypothermic circulatory arrest in operations on the thoracic aorta determinants of operative mortality and neurologic outcome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1994;107:788–99.
- Reich DL, Uysal S, Silwinski M, Ergin MA, Kahn RA, Konstadt SN, et al. Neuropsychologic outcome after deep hypothermic circulatory arrest in adults. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1999;117:156–63.
- Ergin MA, Uysal S, Reich DL, Apaydin A, Lansman SL, McCullough JN, Griepp RB. Temporary neurological dysfunction after deep hypothermic circulatory arrest: a clinical marker of long-term functional deficit. Ann Thorac Surg. 1999;67: 1887–90.
- Hagl C, Khaladj N, Karck M, Kallenbach K, Leyh R, Winterhalter M, Haverich A. Hypothermic circula-

¹Key references marked with asterisk.

tory arrest during ascending and aortic arch surgery: the theoretical impact of different cerebral perfusion techniques and other methods of cerebral protection. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2003;24:371–8.

- Kazui T, Washiyama N, Muhammend BAH, Terada H, Yamashita K, Takinami M. Improved results of atherosclerotic arch aneurysm operations with a refined technique. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2001;121:491–9.
- Surner WQ, Mierzwiak DS, Daniel CR. Cerebral embolism with infarction and death from dislodged thrombus during retrograde femoral artery catheterization. J Forensic Sci. 1971;16:484–92.
- Plőchl W, Cook DJ. Quantification and distribution of cerebral emboli during cardiopulmonary bypass in the swine. Anesthesiology. 1999;1:183–90.
- Clark RE, Brillman J, Davis DA, Lovell MR, Price TR, Magovern GJ. Microemboli during coronary artery bypass grafting. Genesis and effect on outcome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1995;109:249–57.
- Ditsworth D, Priestley MA, Loepke AW, Ramamoorthy C, McCann J, Staple L, Kurth CD. Apoptotic neuronal death following deep hypothermic circulatory arrest in piglets. Anesthesiology. 2003;98:1119–27.
- Hartley A, Stone JM, Heron C, Cooper JM, Schapira AH. Complex I inhibitors induce dose-dependent apoptosis in PC12 cells: relevance to Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem. 1994;63:1987–90.
- "Siesjő BK, Katsura K-I, Zhao Q, Folbergrová J, Pahlmark K, Siesjö P, Smith ML. Mechanisms of secondary brain damage in global and focal ischemia: a speculative synthesis. J Neurotrauma. 1995;12:943–56.
- Siesjő BK, Siesjő P. Mechanisms of secondary brain injury. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 1996;13:247–68.
- Bigelow WG, Callaghan J, Hopps JA. General hypothermia for experimental intracardiac surgery. Ann Surg. 1950;132:531–8.
- Barone FC, Feuerstein GZ, White RF. Brain cooling during transient focal ischemia provides complete neuroprotection. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 1997;21:31–44.
- 25. Bachet J, Guilmet D, Goudot B, Termignon JL, Teodori G, Dreyfus G, et al. Cold cerebroplegia. A new technique of cerebral protection during operations on the transverse aortic arch. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1991;102:85–94.
- Bernard SA, Gray TW, Buist MD, Jones BM, Silvester W, Gutteridge G, Smith K. Treatment of comatose survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest with induced hypothermia. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:557–63.
- Hypothermia After Cardiac Arrest Study Group. Mild therapeutic hypothermia to improve the neurologic outcome after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:549–56.
- Bernard SA, Buist M. Induced hypothermia in critical care medicine: a review. Crit Care Med. 2003;31:2041–51.
- Prêtre R, Turina MI. Deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. In: Cohn LH, Edmunds LH, editors. Cardiac

surgery in the adult. 2nd ed. New York: McGraw Hill; 2003. p. 431–42.

- Griepp RB, Ergin MA, Lansman SL, Galla JD, Pogo G. The physiology of hypothermic circulatory arrest. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1991;3:188–93.
- Swain JA, McDonald TJ, Balaban RS, Robbins RC. Metabolism of the heart and brain during hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass. Ann Thorac Surg. 1991;51:105–9.
- Mault JR, Whitaker EG, Heinle JS, Lodge AJ, Greeley WJ, Ungerleider RM. Cerebral metabolic effects of sequential periods of hypothermic circulatory arrest. Ann Thorac Surg. 1994;57:96–101.
- 33. Ye J, Yang L, Del Bigio MR, Filgueiras CL, Ede M, Summers R, et al. Neuronal damage after hypothermic circulatory arrest and retrograde cerebral perfusion in the pig. Ann Thorac Surg. 1996;61:1316–22.
- 34. *McCullough JN, Zhang N, Reich DL, Juvonen TS, Klein JJ, Spielvogel D, et al. Cerebral metabolic suppression during hypothermic circulatory arrest in humans. Ann Thorac Surg. 1999;67:1895–9.
- 35. Amir G, Ramamoorthy C, Riemer K, Reddy VM, Hanley FL. Neonatal brain protection and deep hypothermic circulatory arrest: pathophysiology of ischemic neuronal injury and protective strategies. Ann Thorac Surg. 2005;80:1955–64.
- 36. Gugino LD, Aglio LS, Edmonds HL Jr. Neurophysiological monitoring in vascular surgery. In: Thomson DA, Gelman S, editors. Bailliere's clinical anaesthesiology, Chap 2, vol. 14, No. 1. London: Harcourt; 2000. p. 17–62.
- Harrington DK, Fragomeni F, Bonser RS. Cerebral perfusion. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007;83:S799–804.
- Ehrlich MP, McCullough JN, Zhang N, Weisz DJ, Juvonen T, Bodian CA, Griepp RB. Effect of hypothermia on cerebral blood flow and metabolism in the pig. Ann Thorac Surg. 2002;73:191–7.
- Tanaka J, Shiki K, Asou T, Yasui H, Tokunaga K. Cerebral autoregulation during deep hypothermic nonpulsatile cardiopulmonary bypass with selective cerebral perfusion in dogs. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1988;95:124–32.
- 40. "Stecker MM, Cheung AT, Pochettino A, Kent GP, Patterson T, Weiss SJ, Bavaria JE. Deep hypothermic circulatory arrest: I. Effects of cooling on electroencephalogram and evoked potentials. Ann Thorac Surg. 2001;71:14–21.
- 41. *Mizrahi EM, Patel VM, Crawford ES, Coselli JS, Hess KR. Hypothermic-induced electrocerebral silence, prolonged circulatory arrest, and cerebral protection during cardiovascular surgery. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1989;72:81–5.
- 42. *Mezrow CK, Midulla PS, Sadeghi AM, Gandsas A, Wang W, Bodian C, et al. Quantitative electroencephalography: a method to assess cerebral injury after hypothermic circulatory arrest. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1995;109:925–34.
- Langley SM, Chai PJ, Miller SE. Intermittent perfusion protects the brain during deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. Ann Thorac Surg. 1999;68:4–13.

- 44. Siesjö BK, Zhao Q, Pahlmark K, Siesjö P, Katsura K, Folbergrová J. Glutamate, calcium, and free radicals as mediators of ischemic brain damage. Ann Thorac Surg. 1995;59:1316–20.
- 45. Nakano S, Kato H, Kogure K. Neuronal damage in the rat hippocampus in a new model of repeated reversible transient cerebral ischemia. Brain Res. 1989;490:178–80.
- Nussmeier NA, Arlund C, Slogoff S. Neuropsychiatric complications after cardiopulmonary bypass: cerebral protection by a barbiturate. Anesthesiology. 1986;64:165–70.
- Zaidan JR, Klochany A, Martin WM, Ziegler JS, Harless DM, Andrews RB. Effect of thiopental on neurologic outcome following coronary artery bypass grafting. Anesthesiology. 1991;74:406–11.
- 48. Roach GW, Newman MF, Murkin JM, Martzke J, Ruskin A, Li J, et al. for the Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia (McSPI) Research Group. Ineffectiveness of burst suppression therapy in mitigating perioperative cerebrovascular dysfunction. Anesthesiology. 1999;90:1255–64.
- Legault C, Furberg CD, Wagenknecht LE, Rogers AT, Stump DA, Coker L, et al. Nimodipine neuroprotection in cardiac valve replacement: report of an early terminated trial. Stroke. 1996;27:593–8.
- 50. Fish KJ, Sarnquist FH, van Steenis C, Mitchell RS, Hilberman M, Jamieson SW, et al. A prospective, randomized study of the effects of prostacylin on platelets and blood loss during coronary bypass operation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1986;91:436–42.
- 51. Grieco G, d'Hollosy M, Culliford AT, Jonas S. Evaluating neuroprotective agents for clinical anti-ischemic benefit using neurological and neuropsychological changes after cardiac surgery under cardiopulmonary bypass: methodological strategies and results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of GM1 ganglioside. Stroke. 1996;27:858–74.
- Arrowsmith JE, Harrison MJ, Newman SP, et al. Neuroprotection of the brain during cardiopulmonary bypass: a randomized trial of remacemide during cardiopulmonary bypass. Stroke. 1998;29:2357–62.
- 53. Butterworth J, Legault C, Stump DA, Stygall J, Timberlake N, Pugsley WB. A randomized blinded trial of the antioxidant pegorgotein: no reduction in neuropsychological deficits, inotropic drug support, or myocardial ischemia after coronary artery bypass surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 1999;13:690–4.
- 54. Levy J, Pifarre R, Schaff H, Horrow JC, Albus R, Spiess B, et al. A multicenter, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of aprotinin for reducing blood loss and the requirement for donor-blood transfusion in patients undergoing repeat coronary artery bypass grafting. Circulation. 1995;92:2236–44.
- 55. Harmon DC, Ghori KG, Eustace NP, O'Callaghan SJ, O'Donnell AP, Shorten GD. Aprotinin decreases the incidence of cognitive deficit following CABG and cardiopulmonary bypass: a pilot randomized controlled study. Can J Anaesth. 2004;51:1002–9.

- Mitchell SJ, Pellet O, Gorman DF. Cerebral protection by lidocaine during cardiac operations. Ann Thorac Surg. 1999;67:1117–24.
- 57. Wang D, Wu X, Li J, Xiao F, Liu X, Meng M. The effect of lidocaine on early postoperative cognitive dysfunction after coronary artery bypass surgery. Anesth Analg. 2002;95:1134–41.
- Kong RS, Butterworth J, Aveling W, Stump DA, Harrison MJ, Hammon J, et al. Clinical trial of the neuroprotectant clomethiazole in coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Anesthesiology. 2002;97:585–91.
- 59. Mathew JP, Shernan SK, White WD, Fitch JC, Chen JC, Bell L, Newman MF. Preliminary report of the effects of complement suppression with pexelizumab on neurocognitive decline after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Stroke. 2004;35:2335–9.
- 60. Galandiuk S, Raque G, Appel S, Polk Jr HC. The two-edged sword of large-dose steroids for spinal cord trauma. Ann Surg. 1993;218:419–27.
- Dewhurst AT, Moore SJ, Liban JB. Pharmacological agents as cerebral protectants during deep hypothermic circulatory arrest in adult thoracic aortic surgery. Anaesthesiology. 2002;57:1016–21.
- 62. Immer FF, Moser B, Krähenbühl ES, Englberger L, Stalder M, Eckstein FS, Carrel T. Arterial access through the right subclavian artery in surgery of the aortic arch improves neurologic outcome and mid-term quality of life. Ann Thorac Surg. 2008;85:1614–8.
- 63. Khaladj N, Shrestha M, Meck S, Peterss S, Kamiya H, Kallenbach K, et al. Hypothermic circulatory arrest with selective antegrade cerebral perfusion in ascending aortic and aortic arch surgery: a risk factor analysis for adverse outcome in 501 patients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2008;135:908–14.
- 64. Di Eusanio M, Schepens MAAM, Morshuis WJ, Dossche KM, Di Bartolomeo R, Pacini D, et al. Brain protection using antegrade selective cerebral perfusion: a multicenter study. Ann Thorac Surg. 2003;76:1181–9.
- 65. Washiyama N, Kazui T, Takinami M, Yamashita K, Fujita S, Terada H, et al. Experimental study on the effect of antegrade cerebral perfusion on brains with old cerebral infarction. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2001;122:734–40.
- Pigula FA, Siewers RD, Nemoto EM. Regional perfusion of the brain during neonatal aortic arch reconstruction. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1999;117:1023–4.
- 67. Hagl C, Khaladj N, Peterss S, Hoeffler K, Winterhalter M, Karck M, Haverich A. Hypothermic circulatory arrest with and without cold selective antegrade cerebral perfusion: impact on neurological recovery and tissue metabolism in an acute porcine model. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2004;26:73–80.
- McKenzie ED, Andropoulos DB, DiBardino D, Fraser Jr CD. Congenital heart surgery 2005: the brain: it's the heart of the matter. Am J Surg. 2005;190:289–94.
- Strauch JT, Spielvogel D, Lauten A, Lansman SL, McMurtry K, Bodian CA, Griepp RB. Axillary artery

cannulation: routine use in ascending aorta and aortic arch replacement. Ann Thorac Surg. 2004;78:103–8.

- Svensson LG. Antegrade perfusion during suspended animation? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2002;124:1068–70.
- Numata S, Ogino H, Sasaki H, Hanafusa Y, Hirata M, Ando M, Kitamura S. Total arch replacement using antegrade selective cerebral perfusion with right axillary artery perfusion. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2003;23:771–5.
- Harrington DK, Walker AS, Kaukuntla H, Bracewell RM, Clutton-Brock TH, Faroqui M, et al. Selective antegrade cerebral perfusion attenuates brain metabolic deficit in aortic arch surgery. A prospective randomized trial. Circulation. 2004;110(Suppl II):II-231–36.
- Strauch JT, Spielvogel D, Haldenwang PL, Lauten A, Zhang N, Weisz D, et al. Cerebral physiology and outcome after hypothermic circulatory arrest followed by selective cerebral perfusion. Ann Thorac Surg. 2003;76:1972–81.
- Urbanski PP. Carotid artery cannulation in acute aortic dissection with malperfusion. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2006;131:1398–9.
- Moizumi Y, Motoyoshi N, Sakuma K, Yoshida S. Axillary artery cannulation improves operative results for acute type A aortic dissection. Ann Thorac Surg. 2005;80:77–83.
- Webster CM, Kelly S, Koike MA, Chock VY, Giffard RG, Yenari MA. Inflammation and NfkappaB activation is decreased by hypothermia following global cerebral ischemia. Neurobiol Dis. 2009;33:301–12.
- 77. Ehrlich MP, McCullough J, Wolfe D, Zhang N, Shiang H, Weisz D, et al. Cerebral effects of cold reperfusion after hypothermic circulatory arrest. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2001;121:923–31.
- Astudillo R, van der Linden J, Ekroth R, Wesslén O, Hallhagen S, Scallan M, et al. Absent diastolic cerebral blood flow velocity after circulatory arrest but not after low flow in infants. Ann Thorac Surg. 1993;56:515–9.
- 79. *Stone JG, Young WL, Smith CR, Solomon RA, Wald A, Ostapkovich N, Shrebnick DB. Do standard monitoring sites reflect true brain temperature when profound hypothermia is rapidly induced and reversed? Anesthesiology. 1995;82:344–51.
- 80. Grocott HP, Mackensen GB, Grigore AM, Mathew J, Reves JG, Phillips-Bute B, et al. and the Neurologic Outcome Research Group (NORG) and Cardiothoracic Anesthesiology Research Endeavors (CARE) Investigators of the Duke Heart Center. Postoperative hyperthermia is associated with cognitive dysfunction after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Stroke. 2002;33:537–41.
- Shum-Tim D, Nagashima M, Shinoka T, Bucerius J, Nollert G, Lidov HG, et al. Postischemic hyperthermia exacerbates neurologic injury after deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1998;116:780–92.
- Grigore AM, Grocott HP, Mathew JP, Phillips-Bute B, Stanley TO, Butler A, et al., and the Neurologic

Outcome Research Group of the Duke Heart Center. The rewarming rate and increased peak temperature alter neurocognitive outcome after cardiac surgery. Anesth Analg. 2002;94:4–10.

- Thong WY, Strickler AG, Li S, Stewart EE, Collier CL, Vaughn WK, Nussmeier NA. Hyperthermia in the forty-eight hours after cardiopulmonary bypass. Anesth Analg. 2002;95:1489–95.
- 84. Kaukuntla H, Harrington D, Bilkoo I, Clutton-Brock T, Jones T, Bonser RS. Temperature monitoring during cardiopulmonary bypass—do we undercool or overheat the brain? Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2004;26:580–5.
- Bissonnette B, Holtby HM, Davis AJ, Pua H, Gilder FJ, Black M. Cerebral hyperthermia in children after cardiopulmonary bypass. Anesthesiology. 2000;93:611–8.
- 86. *Crowder CM, Tempelhoff R, Theard A, Cheng MA, Todorov A, Dacey Jr RG. Jugular bulb temperature: comparison with brain surface and core temperatures in neurosurgical patients during mild hypothermia. J Neurosurg. 1996;85:98–103.
- Grocott HP, Newman MF, Croughwell ND, White WD, Lowry E, Reves JG. Continuous jugular venous versus nasopharyngeal temperature monitoring during hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass for cardiac surgery. J Clin Anesth. 1997;9:312–6.
- *Nussmeier NA, Cheng W, Marino MR, Spata T, Li S, Daniels G, et al. Temperature during cardiopulmonary bypass: the discrepancies between monitored sites. Anesth Analg. 2006;103:1373–9.
- Hodgkin AL, Huxley AF. A quantitative description of membrane current and it application to conduction and excitation in nerve. J Physiol. 1952;117:500–44.
- Stecker MM, Kent G, Escherick A, Patterson T, Cheung AT. Anesthesia and temperature effects on somatosensory evoked potentials produced by train stimuli. Int J Neurosci. 2002;112:349–69.
- *Stecker MM. Evoked potentials during cardiac and major vascular operations. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2004;8:101–11.
- 92. Ghariani S, Liard L, Spaey J, Noirhomme PH, El Khoury GA, de Tourtchaninoff M, et al. Retrospective study of somatosensory evoked potential monitoring in deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. Ann Thorac Surg. 1999;67:1915–8.
- 93. "Stecker MM, Cheung AT, Pochettino A, Kent GP, Patterson T, Weiss SJ, Bavaria JE. Deep hypothermic circulatory arrest: II. Changes in electroencephalogram and evoked potentials during rewarming. Ann Thorac Surg. 2001;71:22–8.
- 94. Cheung AT, Bavaria JE, Weiss SJ, Patterson T, Stecker MM. Neurophysiologic effects of retrograde cerebral perfusion used for aortic reconstruction. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 1998;12:252–9.
- Stecker MM, Cheung AT, Patterson T, Savino JS, Weiss SJ, Richards RM, et al. Detection of stroke during cardiac operations with somatosensory evoked responses. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1996;112:962–72.

- 96. Ohkura K, Kazui T, Yamamoto S, Yamashita K, Terada H, Washiyama N, et al. Comparison of pH management during antegrade selective cerebral perfusion in canine models with old cerebral infarction. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2004;128:378–85.
- Halstead JC, Spielvogel D, Meier DM, Weisz D, Bodian C, Zhang N, Griepp RB. Optimal pH strategy for selective cerebral perfusion. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2005;28:266–73.
- Jonas RA, Bellinger DC, Rappaport LA, Wernovsky G, Hickey PR, Farrell DM, Newburger JW. Relation of pH strategy and developmental outcome after hypothermic circulatory arrest. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1993;106:362–8.
- 99. Priestley MA, Golden JA, O'Hara IB, McCann J, Kurth CD. Comparison of neurologic outcome after deep hypothermic circulatory arrest with alpha-stat and pH-stat cardiopulmonary bypass in newborn pigs. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2001;121:336–43.
- Jonas RA. Hypothermia, circulatory arrest and the pediatric brain. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 1996;10:66–74.
- Edmonds Jr HL, Ganzel BL, Austin III EH. Cerebral oximetry for cardiac and vascular surgery. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2004;8:147–66.
- 102. Orihashi K, Sueda T, Okada K, Imai K. Nearinfrared spectroscopy for monitoring cerebral ischemia during selective cerebral perfusion. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2004;26:907–11.
- 103. Olsson C, Thelin S. Regional cerebral saturation monitoring with near-infrared spectroscopy during selective antegrade cerebral perfusion: diagnostic performance and relationship to postoperative stroke. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2006;131:371–9.
- 104. Sakamoto T, Hatsuoka S, Stock UA, Duebener LF, Lidov HG, Holmes GL, et al. Prediction of safe duration of hypothermic circulatory arrest by nearinfrared spectroscopy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2001;122:339–50.
- 105. Lilly KJ, Balaguer JM, Pirundini PA, et al. Early results of a comprehensive operative and perfusion strategy to attenuate the incidence of adverse neurological outcomes in on-pump coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) patients. Perfusion. 2006;21:311–7.
- Connelly G, Campbell LJ. Cerebral oximetry during hypothermic circulatory arrest. Anesthesiology. 2004;101:165.
- 107. Duebener LF, Sakamoto T, Hatsuoka S, Smith MA, Connelly G, Campbell LJ, et al. Effects of hematocrit on cerebral microcirculation and tissue oxygenation during deep hypothermic bypass. Circulation. 2001;104(Suppl I):I-260–4.
- 108. Sakamoto T, Zurakowski D, Duebener LF, et al. Combination of alpha-stat strategy and hemodilution exacerbates neurologic injury in a survival piglet model with deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. Ann Thorac Surg. 2002;73:180–90.
- 109. Jonas RA, Wypij D, Roth SJ, Hatsuoka S, Lidov HG, Holmes GL, et al. The influence of hemodilution on outcome after hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass:

results of a randomized trial in infants. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2003;126:1765–74.

- 110. Matthew JP, Mackensen GB, Phillips-Bute B, Stafford-Smith M, Podgoreanu MV, Grocott HP, et al. for the Neurologic Outcome Research Group (NORG) of the Duke Heart Center. Effects of extreme hemodilution during cardiac surgery on cognitive function in the elderly. Anesthesiology. 2007;107:577–84.
- 111. Wypij D, Jonas RA, Bellinger DC, Del Nido PJ, Mayer Jr JE, Bacha EA, et al. The effect of hematocrit during hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass in infant heart surgery: results from the combined Boston hematocrit trials. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2008;135:355–60.
- 112. Shin'oka T, Nollert G, Shum-Tim D, du Plessis A, Jonas RA. Utility of near-infrared spectroscopic measurements during deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. Ann Thorac Surg. 2000;69:578–83.
- 113. Hofer A, Haizinger B, Geiselseder G, Mair R, Rehak P, Gombotz H. Monitoring of selective antegrade cerebral perfusion using near infrared spectroscopy in neonatal aortic arch surgery. Eur J Anaesth. 2005;22:293–8.
- 114. Taillefer M-C, Denault AY. Cerebral near-infrared spectroscopy in adult heart surgery: systematic review of its clinical efficacy. Can J Anesth. 2005;52:79–87.
- 115. Karadeniz U, Erdemli O, Ozatik MA, Yamak B, Demirci A, Küçüker SA, et al. Assessment of cerebral blood flow with transcranial Doppler in right brachial artery perfusion patients. Ann Thorac Surg. 2005;79:139–46.
- Doblar DD. Intraoperative transcranial ultrasonic monitoring for cardiac and vascular surgery. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2004;8:127–45.
- 117. Kamiya H, Klima U, Hagl C, Logemann F, Winterhalter M, Shrestha ML, et al. Cerebral microembolization during antegrade selective cerebral perfusion. Ann Thorac Surg. 2006;81:519–21.
- 118. Dexter F, Hindman BJ. Recommendations for hyperbaric oxygen therapy of cerebral air embolism based on a mathematical model of bubble absorption. Anesth Analg. 1997;84:1203–7.
- Mills NL, Oschner JL. Massive air embolism during cardiopulmonary bypass: causes, prevention and management. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1980;80:708–17.
- 120. Ueda Y, Miki S, Kusuhara K, Okita Y, Tahata T, Yamanaka K. Surgical treatment of aneurysm or dissection involving the ascending aorta and aortic arch, utilizing circulatory arrest and retrograde cerebral perfusion. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1990;31:553–8.
- 121. Estrera AL, Garami Z, Miller III CC, Sheinbaum R, Huynh TT, Porat EE, et al. Determination of cerebral blood flow dynamics during retrograde cerebral perfusion using power M-mode transcranial Doppler. Ann Thorac Surg. 2003;76:704–10.
- 122. Wang X, Ji B, Yang B, Liu G, Miao N, Yang J, Liu J, Long C. Real-time continuous neuromonitoring
combines transcranial cerebral Doppler with nearinfrared spectroscopy cerebral oxygen saturation during total aortic arch replacement procedure: a pilot study. ASAIO J. 2012;58:122–6.

- 123. Gugino LD, Aglio LS, Yli-Hankala A. Monitoring the electroencephalogram during bypass procedures. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2004;8:61–83.
- 124. *Merkkola P, Tulla H, Ronkainen A, Soppi V, Oksala A, Koivisto T, Hippeläinen M. Incomplete circle of Willis and right axillary artery perfusion. Ann Thorac Surg. 2006;82:74–80.
- 125. Schwartz RB, Jones KM, LeClercq GT, Ahn SS, Chabot R, Whittemore A, et al. The value of cerebral angiography in predicting cerebral ischemia during carotid endarterectomy. Am J Roentgenol. 1992;159:1057–61.
- 126. Gugino LD, Kraus KH, Heino R, Aglio LS, Levy WJ, Cohn L, Maddi R. Peripheral ischemia as a complicating factor during somatosensory and motor evoked potential monitoring of aortic surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 1992;6:715–9.
- 127. Moazami N, Smedira NG, McCarthy PM, Katzan I, Sila CA, Lytle BW, Cosgrove 3rd DM. Safety and efficacy of intraarterial thrombolysis for perioperative stroke after cardiac operation. Ann Thorac Surg. 2001;72:1933–9.
- *Hogue CW, Palin CA, Arrowsmith JE. Cardiopulmonary bypass management and neurologic outcomes: an evidence-based appraisal of current practices. Anesth Analg. 2006;103:21–37.

There is a range of temperatures rather than a single best temperature for which each of the sequential EEG patterns occurs during cooling on bypass.

Questions

- 1. Which of the following is true regarding hypothermia during deep hypothermic circulatory arrest during aortic arch surgery?
 - a. The main therapeutic preventative approach for minimizing neurological deficits during circulatory arrest is hypothermia.
 - All patients can tolerate circulatory arrest durations >60 min safely.
 - c. Protection offered by deep hypothermia allows prolonged periods of circulatory arrest and adjuncts such as selective antegrade cerebral perfusion and is rarely necessary.

- d. Target temperature for hypothermia should be <10 °C to allow optimal cerebral protection.
- 2. Which of the following neuromonitoring techniques provides useful continuous data during circulatory arrest in patients undergoing aortic arch surgery?
 - a. somatosensory-evoked potentials
 - b. bispectral index
 - c. transcranial Doppler
 - d. cerebral oximetry
 - e. jugular bulb saturations
 - f. EEG
- 3. Which of the following statements is true?
 - a. The appropriate temperature for initiating circulatory arrest is best determined by observing a 50% decrease in cerebral saturation from baseline.
 - b. Transcranial Doppler is an excellent monitor for preventing cerebral embolization.
 - c. The longer it takes for the reappearance of continuous EEG and thalamocortical SSEPs after discontinuation of circulatory arrest as well as the higher the nasopharyngeal temperature is at the time EEG and SSEPs appear, the risk of developing new postoperative neurologic deficits is greater.
 - d. Cooling occurs uniformly and thus the site of temperature monitoring is not as important as the actual temperature attained.

Answers

 a The main therapeutic preventative approach for minimizing neurological deficits during circulatory arrest is hypothermia. Because the brain lacks energy substrate storage within the brain, the normothermic brain can tolerate only short periods of absent blood flow before experiencing ischemia (i.e., 3–5 min at 37 °C). Circulatory arrest durations greater than 35–45 min with insufficient patient cooling lead to postoperative neurological deficits. Brain protection offered by deep hypothermia is limited to relatively short periods of time (see Table 39.1). Thus, selective antegrade cerebral perfusion is often administered as an adjunct protective scheme during the surgical procedure. Although hypothermia is neuroprotective, excessive cooling may lead to adverse outcomes secondary to intraneuronal ice crystal formation with subsequent injury (e.g., usually expected at temperatures below 10 °C).

- 2. d All of the monitors listed can be utilized in patients undergoing aortic arch surgery. However, during circulatory arrest where there is no blood flow, cerebral oximetry is the only monitor that will provide meaningful data. EEG and SSEPs will be lost with progressive hypothermia.
- 3. c In neurologically normal patients, the order of reappearance of SSEP and EEG

activity was consistent across the patients studied. The N13 SSEP waveform reappeared first after rewarming followed by the thalamocortical SSEP responses (i.e., N20-P22). Of importance, the time as well as the nasopharyngeal temperature for reappearance of continuous EEG and the thalamocortical SSEP (i.e., N20–P22) responses were significantly longer and higher, respectively, in patients who developed new postoperative neurological deficits compared to patients with normal postoperative neurological outcomes. Transcranial Doppler is an excellent monitor for detecting cerebral embolization but cannot prevent cerebral embolization.

Electrophysiological Monitoring During Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm Surgery

40

Tod B. Sloan, Leslie C. Jameson, and Claudia F. Clavijo

Key Learning Objectives

- The role of IOM has been to identify spinal cord ischemia to allow changes in management that could improve spinal cord function and reduce permanent spinal cord injury.
- The chance of neurological injury is directly related to the time of ischemia and inversely related to the amount of residual blood flow.
- The motor tracts are perfused by the anterior spinal artery while the SSEP is perfused by the posterior spinal artery.
- The anterior spinal artery is perfused from the vertebral arteries, 2–8 radicular arteries from the aorta (the largest of which is referred to as the artery of Adamkiewicz), and lumbar arteries.
- The blood supply to the spinal cord is critically dependent on a mesh work of blood vessels supplied cephalad from the vertebral arteries, at the caudal end from sacral and iliac arteries, and from radicular perforators from intercostal arteries.
- Elevated CSF pressure reduces spinal cord perfusion

T.B. Sloan, M.D., M.B.A., Ph.D. (🖂)

L.C. Jameson, M.D. • C.F. Clavijo, M.D. Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, USA e-mail: Tod.Sloan@ucdenver.edu; leslie.jameson@ ucdenver.edu; Claudia.clavijo@ucdenver.edu • Open surgical procedure allows complete repair but has higher surgical morbidity (especially thoracotomy). The endovascular technique has lower morbidity but may not allow optimal organ perfusion (especially visceral organs). The long-term risk of paralysis may be the same.

Introduction

Intraoperative monitoring (IOM) of the central nervous system during surgery to repair aneurysms of the thoracoabdominal aorta (TAA) is an area of significant inquiry due to the substantial incidence of neurological injury with surgery. In particular, there is an interest in reducing the reported incidence of paralysis, which varies from 0.5% with aortic coarctation repairs (where the procedure is short and the patient usually has welldeveloped collateral circulation) to nearly 48% with emergency repairs of extensive thoracoabdominal degenerative lesions [1, 2]. It is clear that the risk of perioperative paralysis varies due to a substantial number of factors including the vascularity affected by the surgery, the specific patient anatomy and disease, and the procedure.

A thoracoabdominal aneurysm is defined when dissection of the aorta results in an arterial diameter exceeding 50% of the normal diameter [3]. The causative factors include those that cause degeneration of the medial vascular wall with loss

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_40

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

of elastic fibers and vascular smooth muscle cells and with proteoglycan deposition. Conditions associated with medial degeneration include increases in wall stress from hypertension, pheochromocytoma, cocaine use, and coarctation [3]. Physical trauma from weight lifting, deceleration injury in motor vehicle accidents, or falls can increase wall stress and cause dissection. Smoking increases dissection risk [3]. Inherited disorders can also result in dissection and include Marfan syndrome, Loeys–Dietz syndrome, the vascular form of Ehlers–Danlos syndrome, inflammatory diseases of the aorta, Turner syndrome, bicuspid aortic valve, and familial thoracic aortic aneurysm and dissection syndrome.

The role of IOM has been to identify spinal cord ischemia so as to allow changes in management that could improve spinal cord function and reduce permanent spinal cord injury. Paraplegia results from a variety of mechanisms that can cause reduced spinal cord perfusion including generalized ischemia, inadequate distal perfusion pressure, and the loss of critical radicular arteries, including the arteria radicularis magna. In addition, raised spinal cord cerebrospinal fluid pressure can reduce the effective arterial perfusion pressure to the spinal cord. IOM can detect the onset of ischemia and monitor the effectiveness of the treatment used to reduce the ischemia and extend the safe time needed for the surgical procedure.

IOM, Time, and Neurological Injury

Because the procedure involves repair of the aorta, there is an inevitable reduction in spinal cord blood flow; in addition, the procedure requires that the surgeon work as quickly as possible such that ischemia does not produce irreversible neurological damage. Thus, procedures that extend the ischemic period must be balanced with the potential benefit. It is in this respect that IOM is used to identify when additional time needs to be used to improve ischemia (i.e. reimplanting of a critical artery), or when this additional time is not needed such that the overall ischemic time is kept to a minimum.

This situation is similar to carotid endarterectomy (*see* Chap. 30, "Carotid Surgery"). Shown in Fig. 40.1 is the relationship of cerebral blood flow (plotted along the horizontal axis), IOM cortical electrical activity, and the presence of irreversible injury to the brain. Although the data for the spinal cord are not as well known as that depicted for the brain, the relationship of these variables is thought to be the same.

As shown, cortical electrical activity becomes abnormal below the threshold of adequate blood flow, which is estimated to be about 22 cm³/ min/100 g of brain weight and absent below 15 cm³/min/100 g (ischemic threshold) [4]. This ischemia can eventually lead to cellular death given sufficient time, with the time being related

Fig. 40.1 Depiction of electrical activity and the occurrence of irreversible cell death (infarction) as cerebral blood flow is reduced from normal (50 cm³/ min/100 g). As shown, the EEG becomes abnormal below 22 cm³/ min/100 g and absent when blood flow reaches $15 \text{ cm}^3/\text{min}/100 \text{ g}.$ Infarction occurs at 17-18 cm³/min/100 g after 3-4 h and progressively shorter periods with blood flow below this level



to the degree of hypoperfusion. Increasing severity of neural injury is inversely proportional to blood flow, increased severity with decreased flow, and directly proportional to time. Increased severity is seen with increased duration of ischemia. Hence, the fall in electrical activity signals a reduction in blood flow and the need to improve flow to increase the allowable operative time until irreversible injury occurs.

As described below, during TAA repair, improvement in flow may involve increasing blood pressure or reimplantation of blood vessels important for spinal cord perfusion or reducing the cerebrospinal fluid pressure to improve the net perfusion pressure. These maneuvers usually require additional operative time (e.g., reimplanting intercostal arteries), which risks increasing the ischemic time such that IOM can help determine if it is necessary and if it is effective.

Spinal Cord Blood Supply

Because of the role of spinal cord blood flow, it is useful to review the blood supply of the spinal cord. The spinal cord is supplied by the anterior spinal artery (AntSA), which perfuses the anterior two-thirds to four-fifths of the spinal cord, including the white matter motor tracts and the grey matter containing the anterior horn cells. The AntSA is key to the perfusion of the motor tracts and the MEP. Two posterior spinal arteries (PostSAs) supply the remaining portions of the cord, including the white matter dorsal columns and a small part of the posterior funiculi. The PostSAs are keys to the perfusion of the pathway of the SSEP. The PostSA and to some degree the AntSA run the length of the spinal cord; however, the AntSA is not continuous, especially in the midcervical, upper thoracic, and a narrowed region just cephalad to the lumbar enlargement. An anastomotic vascular ring surrounds the spinal cord and provides some shared blood flow between the anterior and posterior spinal arteries.

The spinal cord blood flow is autoregulated similar to the brain [5]. As such, the normal spinal cord will attempt to maintain spinal cord blood flow over a wide perfusion pressure. In some individuals, autoregulation extends from approximately 50–150 mmHg above the normal cerebrospinal fluid pressure (CSFP). However, similar to the brain, a wide variation exists, with some individuals having a lower limit of autoregulation that is substantially higher than for most individuals [6]. If the perfusion pressure falls below this lower limit of autoregulation, the spinal cord blood flow becomes directly dependent on perfusion pressure, which inevitably leads to ischemia.

The anterior and posterior spinal arteries are fed by arterial vessels from the aorta along the spinal column. In the cephalad region, they are fed by the vertebral arteries, and as they descend along the spinal cord they receive radicular perforators from the aorta. The paired PostSAs are fed by small radicular arteries at nearly every vertebral body. The AntSA receives blood flow from only two to eight radicular arteries that originate from the aorta [7]. In the cervical region, two or three segmental arteries arise from the cervical or subclavian arteries. The thoracic cord usually has only one to three anterior segmental arteries arising from the aorta, making it particularly susceptible to ischemia; blood flow to the spinal cord is compromised by reductions in pressure due to the long distances between major vessels. The region between T4 and T7 is thought to be the least well-supplied region of the spinal cord, and it is particularly vulnerable to ischemia. This explains the higher risk of paralysis in patients with disease of the thoracic segment of the aorta.

One anterior segmental artery is larger than the others and supplies about 75% of the blood flow to the AntSA. This artery is referred to as the "arteria radicularis magna" (ARM or Artery of Adamkiewicz) and supplies the lumbar enlargement of the spinal cord. The location of the ARM is variable, with the artery arising in 75% of patients from mostly left-sided intercostal arteries at T9–T12.

The vascular anatomy in patients with TAA is highly variable and patients may develop collateral circulation around arteries occluded by mural thrombi or arterial plaques. A meshwork of collateral blood vessels develops with the lumbar arteries (L3–L5) and the pelvic circulation becoming the main blood supply to the spinal cord in almost a quarter of the patients [8, 9]. This meshwork may explain why loss of some radicular arteries may not have the same consequences as in a normal patient. This also explains why the distal perfusion of the aorta is critically important during aorta cross-clamping.

In some patients, the radicular perforators from the PostSAs are critically important to spinal perfusion because of wide spacing between AntSA vessels, creating watershed regions of interrupted and poor perfusion. These critical arteries are most commonly seen between T8 and L4 [7, 8, 10]. In patients who are dependent on these vessels, critical intercostals need to be identified and reimplanted in order to reduce the incidence of operative paraplegia. With the ARM supplying 75% of blood flow, it is extremely important to reimplant the ARM in patients deemed at risk for loss of other critical vessels [8, 11–13]. Further, when critical radicular arteries are disconnected from the aorta during surgery and not reconnected, retrograde flow may cause a redistribution of blood from the AntSA [14].

In summary, the blood supply to the spinal cord is critically dependent on a meshwork of blood vessels supplied cephalad from the vertebral arteries, at the caudal end from sacral and iliac arteries, and from radicular perforators from intercostal arteries (which include the ARM). No consistent vascular pattern is seen in all patients, and spinal cord dependency on specific vascular regions varies. For example, in some patients, the supply from the cephalad vessels is sufficient such that the entire aorta can be excluded (without reimplantation of intercostals vessels) with no postoperative paraplegia occurring. In others, the key role of the pelvic circulation requires atrial-femoral or femoral venoatrial bypass to provide retrograde distal perfusion. Some patients are critically dependent on specific intercostal vessels. Unfortunately, these vessels cannot be identified using arteriograms. The role of IOM is to assist in identifying the specific ischemic risk factors in each patient and guide the necessary corrective measures to reduce neurological risk.

Open Surgical TAA Repair

Because of the risk from spinal cord, visceral, and limb ischemia, together with renal and respiratory failure, an open surgical repair of a TAA contributes to early mortality and morbidity. The recent American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Patients with Thoracic Aortic Disease gave recommendations for intervention based on the size of the thoracic aorta [15]. Based on these guidelines, open surgery is recommended for patients with TAAs larger than 6 cm (Class I, Level of Evidence: B) and for smaller sized aneurysms in patients with connective tissue disorders (Class I, Level of Evidence: C) [16]. Surgical repair is also recommended when there is endorgan ischemia or significant celiac, superior mesenteric, or renal artery atherosclerosis (Class I, Level of Evidence: B) [3]. Acute dissection involving the ascending aorta needs swift open surgical repair, although in some cases, hybrid approaches or endovascular interventions can be used [3, 17]. Finally, symptomatic aneurysms should be resected regardless of size [18].

Monitoring Strategy During Open TAA Surgery

To understand the role of IOM, it is useful to consider the surgical procedure in stages and consider the strategy for use of IOM so as to reduce the risk of paralysis [19]. Initially, proximal cross-clamping of the aorta is done. At this point, all spinal cord perfusion comes from the vertebral arteries. This cross-clamp also causes a critical elevation of blood pressure proximal to the clamp with accompanying elevations in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) pressure in the brain and spinal cord. This increased CSF pressure can further reduce spinal cord perfusion pressure (SCPP) [SCPP=spinal arterial pressure-spinal CSF pressure] compounding the reduction of spinal cord blood flow [2]. In order to minimize hypoperfusion, many surgeons try to limit the aortic cross-clamp to no more than 30-40 min.

Since perfusion is often not adequate, a surgeon may place a shunt or bypass pump between the proximal and distal aorta to extend the safe operative time. This bypass reduces the proximal hypertension and the associated increased CSFP. It provides better distal spinal cord perfusion for patients who are dependent on the caudal vessels [8]. Although a bypass perfusion pressure of 60–70 mmHg is generally accepted as adequate, the pressure necessary to effectively perfuse critical vessels is not known in any given patient without functional testing provided by IOM. Adequate pressure where IOM studies maintain pre-crossclamp amplitude and latency is as high as 90–110 mmHg [20, 21]. Use of these distal perfusion techniques has been reported to reduce the risk of paralysis to about 10% from the risk of 30-50% with cross-clamping alone [14].

In some patients, distal perfusion alone is adequate to provide spinal cord perfusion. In other patients, perfusion from the critical radicular arteries is also required to prevent paraplegia. In more than half of the patients with aneurysms, a rich collateral network surrounding the spinal cord prevents ischemia, even when otherwise critical intercostal arteries are sacrificed [22]. But a group of patients with inadequate collateral networks may exist, in which reimplantation of intercostal arteries may be crucial for maintaining adequate spinal cord blood flow. These patients can be identified using IOM testing during segmental cross-clamping of the aorta.

Several methods are available to provide reperfusion of critical arteries once they are identified. One approach is to preserve the back wall of the aneurysm where the intercostal arteries arise and use it in the aortic reconstruction thus restoring critical perfusion [2]. Since this technique may not be feasible, other techniques have been developed to identify and implant the arteries in the repaired aorta segment. Because of its importance, some surgeons attempt to identify the ARM preoperatively to ensure that it is reimplanted into the aortic graft. Simply reimplanting the ARM further reduces the risk of paralysis from 10% with distal perfusion to 5-6% [14, 23]. If it cannot be identified, some surgeons reimplant all intercostals in the T8– T12 range [2].

Intraoperative monitoring can also be useful to help assess if other techniques employed to reduce the risk of spinal cord ischemia are useful. Of particular note is the use of CSF drainage to maintain a low CSFP and improve the net perfusion pressure (CSFPP). Intraoperative monitoring can assist in identifying the critical CSFP that improves perfusion [24, 25].

In short, the goal of the surgical technique is to optimize the perfusion and reduce the overall ischemic time of the spinal cord. Hence, the surgeon must work expeditiously during the crossclamp time. The value of IOM is to promptly identify spinal cord regions that are ischemic while the insult is reversible and then guide the interventions to correct the ischemia and reduce the risk. IOM has been applied successfully to these surgeries and has reduced the risk of intraoperative paralysis.

Attempts to increase the allowable ischemic time in TAA repair by using hypothermia have not been universally applied because it can lead to adverse systemic effects of prolonged cardiopulmonary bypass and profound hypothermia (e.g., coagulopathy, endothelial dysfunction, systemic inflammation) when applied systemically [26]. However, since deep hypothermia (14.1– 20.0 °C) can reliably protect the spinal cord from ischemic damage, techniques using regional hypothermia are being explored. The results in early reports of TAA repair under regional spinal cord hypothermia using a custom-designed epidural catheter were excellent [26, 27]. Unfortunately, an ideal agent for pharmacologic neuroprotection has yet to be found [27].

Application of Intraoperative Monitoring to TAA Surgery

Since SSEP monitoring has been available since the 1980s, the most extensive clinical experience has been with SSEP monitoring. During aortic surgery, use of this technique can identify ischemia of the neural tract including peripheral nerve, white matter tracts of the dorsal columns, and ischemia in the brainstem or cerebral cortex.

A *slow* onset of cortical SSEP change (>15 min) usually indicates peripheral nerve ischemia. Isolated events, such as the femoral artery bypass cannula occluding flow to the leg, is one of the most frequent causes of peripheral nerve ischemia and *unilateral* loss of SSEP. If a bilateral change occurs *within* 15 min, it has been assumed to be of spinal cord origin, either from inadequate distal aorta perfusion or loss of critical intercostals. Thus, clinicians have used the SSEP to determine if bypass was necessary, if the pressure of bypass was adequate, and if it was safe to exclude a specific radicular artery.

One of the earliest human studies using the SSEP was done by Cunningham and Laschinger et al. [28]. They observed four patterns of change in the SSEP depending on the mechanism of ischemia. A type I pattern was where the SSEP was altered in 3–4 min following proximal cross-clamping of the aorta with complete loss in 8–9 min. This pattern was thought to be indicative of inadequate perfusion of the spinal cord from the distal arterial supply. This emphasized the value of bypass perfusion [29]. A type II pattern was where the SSEP did not change after aortic cross-clamping, suggesting adequate spinal perfusion was present from cephalad vessels.

A type III pattern was where the patient was critically dependent on a radicular artery and changes in the SSEP were noted when it was occluded. This points out the use of the SSEP to locate the critical intercostals during aortic crossclamping. The SSEP was shown to be restored when the critical intercostal was reimplanted or unclamped. Other studies report similar changes; rapid reperfusion of critical intercostal vessels restores the cortical SSEP and appears to reduce the risk of paraplegia [28, 30, 31]. A type IV pattern, where a gradual "fade out" reduction in amplitude but not latency of the SSEP over 30-50 min, is considered characteristic of lower extremity hypoperfusion [32]. This may signal the need to reorient the bypass cannula.

Use of the SSEP has not been completely reliable for always being able to predict paralysis since it does not monitor the motor tracts and instead monitors proprioception and vibration pathways in the posterior spinal cord [20]. In some cases, an SSEP loss has been correlated with motor injury. This is seen most often when an SSEP loss occurred rapidly after cross-clamping (within 3–5 min) or when the duration of an SSEP loss was prolonged (40–60 min) [29, 33–35].

With the advent of reliable motor-evoked potential monitoring, clinical inquiry turned toward the use of transcranial motor-evoked potential (MEP) monitoring. This form of monitoring differs from SSEP monitoring in that the responses can detect ischemia in the anterolateral white matter tracts, the spinal grey matter, and the peripheral nerve and muscles. The use of MEPs is of particular interest since aortic occlusion in dogs demonstrated that the predominant injury from spinal cord ischemia is grey matter necrosis [36, 37].

Although false negatives with MEP monitoring have occurred (i.e., immediate postoperative paralysis with preserved intraoperative MEP), most studies show an excellent correlation of outcome with MEP findings [8, 13, 20, 21, 25, 32, 38]. All studies, both clinical and experimental, have reported a rapid change in MEP, within 2-4 min, to ischemic conditions where the ischemia includes the spinal grey matter serving the muscles monitored. This rapid response provides more useful feedback in the intraoperative environment where time is critical in determining outcome. These clinical studies suggest that MEP monitoring is more sensitive to ischemia than SSEP monitoring and provides significant additional reductions in paraplegia.

Comparison of SSEP and MEP in Aorta Surgery

Clinical studies have found that when comparing SSEP and MEP findings, there is a relatively long delay (7–30 min) between the onset of ischemia and the disappearance of SSEP, whereas the MEP generally changes comparatively quickly within 2–5 min [21, 32, 39–41]. The most important finding was that SSEP changes were not always associated with MEP changes.

Clearly, the effectiveness of the monitoring and some of the differences between the SSEP, MEP, and epidural recorded responses relate to the specific neural tracts being monitored and their susceptibility to ischemia. Based on the available data, the time to electrical failure of various neural tissues is shown in Table 40.1. The cerebral cortex is the most sensitive to ischemia, with a loss of electroencephalographic (EEG) activity within 20 s after inadequate perfusion. In the spinal cord, the grey matter is most sensitive to ischemia, with a loss of synaptic activity within 1–2 min. Conduction in sensory and motor white matter tracts (axons) demonstrates alterations in activity within 3-6 min (SSEP tract) or 11 min (motor tract) and a loss of conduction at between 7 and 18 min (SSEP) or 11 and 17 min (MEP). Hence, the white matter tracts of the sensory and motor systems are about equal to each other in terms of sensitivity to ischemia [20, 32, 42, 43]. Isolated peripheral nerve ischemia results in the loss of SSEP and MEP conduction after 20–30 min.

The second issue comparing SSEP to MEP pertains to the prediction of outcome. When focusing on motor outcome, the MEP has the greater predictive power because it actually measures function in the cortical-spinal tract (CST). However, since only 5% of the CST fibers are involved in the response, the correlation is not exact [44]. Further, a variety of other descending tracts are needed for coordinated motor function, so losses in associated tracts may hamper motor function despite maintenance of adequate motor cell function in the CST [44]. Use of SSEPs also has the drawback that ischemia in the anterior spinal region that supplies the motor tracts may not be reflected in the posteriorly located SSEP tracts. Thus, the differences in arterial blood supply,

Table 40.1 Time to electrical failure in selected spinal neural tissues

Tissue	Time to electrical failure	
Cerebral cortex	20 s	
Spinal grey matter	1–2 min	
White matter (sensory)	7–18 min	
White matter (motor)	11–17 min	
Peripheral nerve	20–45 min	

Data from collected sources [2, 20, 24, 28, 39, 43, 59, 60]

AntSA versus PostSAs, produce a differential vulnerability to ischemia. Hence, the loss of the SSEP and MEP acts as a surrogate for the entire functional aspect of the spinal cord.

The progression of spinal cord ischemia after TAA interventions can frequently be identified by IOM and arrested before irreversible infarction results [27]. This spinal cord rescue depends on the early detection and immediate multimodal intervention to maximize spinal cord oxygen supply. The routine application of IOM in TAA repair remains controversial, although many operative teams have successfully integrated it into their practice [15]. Some studies show a significant role of MEPs during TAA repair and the subsequent surgical strategies necessary to maintain or regain spinal cord function, leading to significantly reduced paraplegia rates [45]. The recent American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Patients with Thoracic Aortic Disease indicate that motor- or somatosensory-evoked potential monitoring can be useful when the data will help to guide therapy (CLASS IIa, Level of Evidence: B) [16]. Protocols to guide therapy include those mentioned above (e.g., CSF drainage, increase in mean arterial and distal aortic pressure, reattachment of intercostal arteries) [45].

Endovascular Stent Placement

Although open surgical repair is the superior technique, thoracic endovascular aneurysm repair (TEVAR) avoids subjecting patients whose comorbid conditions predispose them to significant morbidity or mortality to the open procedure (especially a thoracotomy) [46]. Endovascular grafting may be of particular value in patients with significant comorbid conditions (older age, substantial cardiac, pulmonary, and renal dysfunction) who would be considered poor or unacceptable candidates for open surgery [16]. Recommendations from the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Patients with Thoracic Aortic Disease are that in The potential advantages of endovascular grafting include the absence of a thoracotomy incision and the need for partial or total extracorporeal circulatory support and clamping of the aorta. This procedure also has the advantage of a shorter ischemic time for distal tissues. In addition, several factors increase the blood flow reserve of the spinal cord during the perioperative period. These include (1) an increased cardiac output, (2) increased blood pressure, (3) avoidance of hypoxemia and anemia, (4) preservation of the critical intercostal arteries, and (5) reduced CSF pressure [21, 47].

The clinical advantages of endovascular stent placement have been stated to include shorter intensive care unit and hospital stay, lower 30-day mortality, fewer pulmonary complications, reduced pain, and reduced transfusion requirements [46, 48]. For example, 50% of patients have chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and the reduced pulmonary complications associated with stent placement improve the likelihood of hospital discharge [46].

However, endovascular treatment of TAAs is significantly more complex due to the need to incorporate visceral arteries in the repair at the same time that the aneurysm is excluded. One major problem with the endovascular techniques is the limited ability to provide vascular supply to blood vessels originating from the aorta in the region of the stent. This has led to stents with branches or fenestrations to provide a means to supply vessels such as the renal or mesenteric arteries [46]. The stents have not, however, been well developed for providing flow to the ARM or critical radicular arteries, such that spinal cord ischemia could occur if these vessels are compromised and are essential. These stents may require 4-6 weeks of manufacturing time, making them less useful in an emergency or for an urgent repair [15].

Several factors may limit the ability to use TEVAR in an individual patient. These include

the absence of suitable "landing zones" above and below the aneurysm (usually 2–3 cm of normal diameter aorta without circumferential thrombus for the stent to attach), an aortic width at the landing zones that exceeds the recommended width for the largest available endovascular grafts (generally 10–15% larger than the width of the aorta), a lack of vascular access sites, and severe aortic atherosclerosis [3, 16].

The disadvantages of TEVAR include late complications, which are uncommon with the open technique (graft migration, stent fracture, endovascular leaks, and stent failure necessitating surgical correction) [48]. In addition, TEVAR is associated with increased risk of atheroembolic stroke and retrograde type A dissection (especially in patients with fragile aortic wall) [49].

Although the complications of the open portion of the procedure are reduced, there is evidence that endovascular treatment of TAAs, similarly to open repair, carries the same risks of paraplegia, renal failure, stroke, and death [15]. High-risk factors of spinal cord injury during endovascular aortic repair are (1) coverage of the left subclavian artery, (2) extensive coverage of long segments of the thoracic aorta, (3) prior downstream aortic repair, (4) compromising important intercostal (T8–L1), vertebral, pelvic, and hypogastric collaterals, and (5) an aorta prone to give off atheromatous emboli [47].

The literature on the endovascular technique appears to report a lower than expected incidence of paraplegia when compared with open procedures [50–52]. Although patient selection may account for this, several other reasons may explain a lower risk of paraplegia, including the absence of opening or cross-clamping of the aorta, greater hemodynamic stability, and a "backwash" through the false lumen to the critical radicular arteries from the distal end of the stent. These events can contribute to increased obstruction of the relevant vessels during and after the procedure [50, 52].

With deployment of a stent, the problem of ischemic injury is made more difficult because it is difficult to evaluate for critical radicular arteries and impossible to reimplant these arteries. Consequently, paraplegia has been described as a complication of endovascular stent placement [53]. Test occlusion prior to permanent stenting can be a valuable method for changing the management approach [54, 55]. Hence, sacrificing the critical intercostal arteries is inevitable with TEVAR. Therefore, many cases in spinal cord injury have an incomplete and delayed appearance as compared with open aortic surgery [47, 56].

Including the delayed spinal cord injury, the incidence of spinal cord injury averages 3–5% with TEVAR [47]. There are no data that conclusively demonstrate that the prevalence of spinal cord injury is less for endovascular approaches than for open surgical repair [16]. Studies of IOM in endovascular procedures have shown that neurophysiological monitoring has been viewed as an effective method to detect spinal cord ischemia [40].

Hence, the major advantage of TEVAR relates to medical issues and the surgical risk of the open procedure [48]. Unfortunately, recent evaluations have suggested that endovascular therapy may not be effective [18]. Further, one fundamental concern remains to be evaluated with endovascular procedures [18]. This is that stents normally are designed to prevent the walls of the vessels and atheroma from collapsing into and occluding the vessel. However, with vessel dissection and aneurysm formation, the potential problem is that the stent is inside the vessel and may not effectively prevent the vessel walls from expanding. The impact of this may take some time to be fully evaluated. Clearly, more studies and long-term follow-up are needed.

Hybrid Techniques

As mentioned previously, one major problem with endovascular procedures is providing adequate vascular blood supply to organs below the diaphragm. In an effort to avoid some of the disadvantages of the open procedure and take advantage of the endovascular approach, hybrid procedures have been developed with an open procedure followed by endovascular stenting. Depending on aneurysm morphology, the hybrid repair consists of three steps: an optional infrarenal repair, extraanatomic debranching of renovisceral vessels, and deployment of stent grafts [57].

Although this removes the need for thoracotomy and high aortic cross-clamping with its significant morbidity, the morbidity of the open stage of the procedure remains high, so it is reserved for high-risk open surgical candidates [15, 57, 58]. To date, insufficient data are available to comment on the risk of neurological injury.

IOM Techniques During Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm Surgery

A variety of monitoring techniques have been used for thoracic aortic aneurysm repair:

- Cortical SSEPs can be used to assess transmission in the white matter of the dorsal columns to detect spinal cord ischemia. They can also detect cortical ischemia and unfavorable circumstances in the arms and legs relating to positioning (arms) and perfusion of the legs (if occluded by a distal bypass).
- MEPs recorded as muscle responses (CMAPs) are desirable to assess the transmission in the anterior white matter motor tracts. Their use will also assess the grey matter. They may also detect peripheral ischemia in the legs secondary to the distal bypass
- 3. Use of the H Reflex can be used in conjunction with MEPs (or as a replacement if conventional MEPs cannot be obtained). Its use assesses the peripheral nerves, spinal grey matter reflex pathways, and will be sensitive to a cross-sectional spinal cord injury cephalad to the grey matter involved in the reflex.
- 4. Electroencephalogram (processed or raw) can be used to assess the anesthetic effects on the cerebral cortex and detect ischemia in the brain.

Presentation of Case 1

The patient is a 67-year-old woman who presents for endovascular stenting of her thoracic aorta.

She is obese (120 kg) and has a history of smoking (40 pack-years) and hypertension. She takes metoprolol and amlodipine. She has limited exercise tolerance (cannot climb a flight of stairs due to shortness of breath). She is allergic to intravenous radiographic contrast agents. She presented with a lower thoracic stabbing pain that was associated with a distal penetrating ulcer in the lower thoracic aorta. In addition, a more proximal region of the aorta was dilated to 5 cm.

She was brought to the interventional suite and general anesthesia was induced with propofol (200 mg), fentanyl (200 μ g), and succinylcholine (100 μ g). After the trachea was intubated using a double-lumen endotracheal tube, anesthesia was maintained using a propofol infusion (150–175 μ g/kg/min) and sufentanil infusion (0.3–0.8 μ g/kg/min).

Mean blood pressure was maintained between 75 and 80 mmHg using phenylephrine, hydralazine, nitroglycerine, and adjustments to the anesthetic infusions. Heart rate was maintained at 50–55 beats per minute. Neurophysiological monitoring included processed EEG, cortical somatosensory-evoked responses from median nerve and posterior tibial nerve stimulation, and transcranial motor-evoked potentials recorded from muscles in the hand (adductor pollicis brevis) and lower extremities (anterior tibialis and abductor hallucis).

An initial pelvic angiogram revealed that her femoral artery was only 7 mm in diameter, which was too small for the percutaneous placement of the 9 mm stent, so a surgical cut down was done in the left common iliac artery. To facilitate this exposure, muscle relaxation was instituted (vecuronium, 10 mg). At this time, the MEPs in all extremities were lost and the SSEPs were unchanged (Fig. 40.2a). The MEP responses returned but at a lower amplitude as the muscle relaxation decreased. Following placement of the sheath into the iliac artery, the pulse and the MEPs from the left leg were lost. The SSEPs from the left leg were markedly diminished over the next 20 min (Fig. 40.2b). Two endovascular stents were placed through the iliac artery to the aorta to cover the dilated aorta and the ulcerated region. The mean blood pressure was decreased to

64 mmHg to determine if the stent would stay dilated against the aortic wall. Two small doses of muscle relaxant (two additional 2-mg doses of vecuronium) were given to facilitate closure of the iliac artery access site. The procedure completed uneventfully with return of adequate pulses and the SSEPs and MEPs from the left leg after repair of the arteriotomy. She awakened from anesthesia without neurological deficit and was discharged to home on the fifth postoperative day.

Discussion

For the global loss of the MEPs during exposure of the iliac artery, the loss is most likely due to the delivery of muscle relaxants by the anesthesia team. Certainly, this loss could be caused by the delivery of additional anesthetic agents (e.g., inhalational agents or a large dose of propofol), but these were not given. At this time, the anesthesia was being delivered by constant infusions, which had not changed. A global loss of MEPs could be caused by technical issues such as a loss of stimulation, loss of a stimulating electrode, or stimulator failure. However, maintenance of the stimulation artifact in the responses and examination of the machine and scalp suggested that these were not the explanation. The physiology of the patient such as temperature and blood pressure also had not changed, suggesting that this was not the cause. Finally, the surgery had not begun at this time, suggesting that it was unlikely that the interventional maneuvers were the cause of the change unless anaphylaxis to the intravenous contrast had ensued (at which time the SSEP would likely have been lost as well). Hence, the loss was ascribed to the muscle relaxant, and the responses returned as the muscle relaxant effect was diminished by time or the use of neuromuscular block reversal agents (neostigmine or Sugammadex). It is important to note that the train-of-four (TOF) responses measured in the hand or face may not reflect the degree of muscle relaxation in the leg. This is because different muscle groups can be affected differently by the same dose of muscle relaxant, and, in this case, the change in blood flow to the leg could alter the pharmacokinetics in that leg. Hence, the monitoring team should be monitoring a TOF



Fig. 40.2 Shown are the SSEP (*upper panel*) and MEP (*lower panel*) tracings for Case 1. Selected SSEP recordings (*upper panel*) are shown at various times as recorded from stimulation of the *left* (*L*) and *right* (*R*) median (MN) and posterior tibial (PTN) nerves. The lower panel shows selected MEP tracings at various times as recorded after

transcranial stimulation from the *left* (L) and *right* (R) adductor pollicis brevis muscles in the hand (APB) and the abductor hallucis muscles (AH) in the lower extremity. (**a**) Indicates recordings shortly after neuromuscular paralysis was instituted. (**b**) Indicates the time when blood flow to the left leg was occluded during the procedure

from the monitored muscles. Of note, the MEPs were not lost at closing when additional small doses of muscle relaxant were given. This is consistent with the ability to acquire MEPs under partial paralysis when the responses are robust, but it does reduce the sensitivity to ischemia (which would have been less likely at this time since the stent had already been deployed for some time).

The loss of the SSEPs and MEPs from the left leg that happened during the placement of the sheath in the iliac artery was most likely due to the decrease in blood flow to the leg consistent with the loss of activity in the pulse oximeter in the toe and loss of pulses in that extremity. Anesthesia changes would be unlikely since anesthesia effects would most likely be global and MEPs would more likely be affected than SSEPs. Because numerous electrodes are involved in stimulation and the recording of both the SSEP and MEP (two muscles) responses, it is unlikely that a technical cause was the reason for their loss. With respect to surgery, the only surgical procedure at this time was the sheath placement in the femoral artery such that other surgical causes would be unlikely. Finally, other physiological changes, such as hypothermia in the one leg, would be unlikely to have had such an abrupt onset. Since the responses returned when the flow was restored to the leg, this confirms that the occlusion of the iliac artery by the sheath was the cause. Unfortunately, this loss of responses prevented the SSEPs and MEPs from this leg from being used as a monitoring tool during the stent deployment and only the right leg was available.

Presentation of Case 2

The patient is a 56-year-old woman who presents for TEVAR. She has a history of hypertension and dyslipidemia and has a BMI of 20. She underwent a repair of an aortic coarctation at age 19. The patient developed acute heart failure and inadequate distal perfusion 2 weeks prior to the current events. Imaging revealed pseudoaneurysm of aortic graft and pseudoaneurysm of the thyrocervical trunk. A carotid-subclavian bypass was performed 3 days before in preparation for TEVAR. On the day of surgery, the patient is alert and oriented. She has limited exercise tolerance. Motor strength and sensation are preserved in the upper and lower extremities.

She was brought to the interventional suite. General anesthesia was induced with propofol (120 mg), fentanyl (200 µg), and rocuronium (30 mg). After intubation, propofol infusion (125-150 µg/kg/min) and sufentanil infusion $(0.2-0.6 \,\mu\text{g/kg/h})$ were started for maintenance of anesthesia. Anesthetic agents and vasoactive medications were adjusted to obtain a mean blood pressure between 70 and 80 mmHg and a heart rate between 50 and 60 bpm. Neurophysiological monitoring was planned and consisted of processed EEG, cortical SSEPs elicited by median nerve and posterior tibial nerve stimulation, and transcranial MEPs recorded from muscles in the hands (adductor pollicis brevis), legs (anterior tibialis), and feet (abductor hallucis). The procedure started with appropriate neurophysiological monitoring responses. During deployment of the endovascular graft, there was a sudden rupture of the proximal segment of the pseudoaneurysm. Within a few minutes, the patient arrested. Surgery was converted into an open thoracoabdominal procedure. During arrest, the EEG became silent and the SSEP and MEP signals rapidly disappeared. After aggressive resuscitation and surgical repair, the patient was stabilized and the neurophysiological signals started returning (Fig. 40.3a, b). A week later, the patient's neurological exam was normal. No sensory or motor deficits were detected.

Discussion

In this patient with an intact neurological exam before surgery, it was expected that the somatosensory- and motor-evoked potential signals would be adequate at baseline. If appropriate responses are not obtained when they are expected, a judicious approach should be done to identify the reason for the unexpected responses. For example, the use of neuromuscular blockers to facilitate placement of the endotracheal tube eliminates or decreases motor-evoked potentials. A TOF could help understand this situation. The use of inhalational agents by the anesthesia team and physiologic changes like hypotension could also affect both the somatosensory- and motorevoked responses with the motor-evoked potentials being more susceptible. Technical problems like stimulator failure or the accidental loss of the stimulation electrode during positioning and preparation are also possible.

After the proximal segment of the aneurysm ruptured in this case, the rapid decline of neurophysiological responses was witnessed until a complete loss was recorded after cardiocirculatory arrest. The complete absence of neurophysiologic signals correlated with the lack of perfusion in different organs during arrest, including the brain and spinal cord. The fact that the EEG, somatosensory-, and motor-evoked potential signals declined rapidly and disappeared simultaneously indicates what was also evident clinically; it was not due to changes in the anesthetic regimen or temperature-it was directly related directly to the surgical emergency. Note that the MEPs declined more rapidly than the SSEP. The return of signals was reassuring that the resuscitation was effective.

In open and endovascular procedures, the role of IOM is to identify spinal cord regions that are ischemic before the damage to the tissues is irreversible. It also helps guide the effect



Fig. 40.3 Shown are the MEP and SSEP tracings for Case 2. (a) Motor-evoked potential tracings recorded after transcranial stimulation of *left* (*L*) and *right* (*R*) adductor pollicis brevis (APB) muscle in the arm, tibialis anterior (TA) muscle in the leg and abductor hallicus muscle in the foot. Signals in *red* show traces at baseline. From top to bottom, tracing shows progression of the case from adequate neurophysiological responses to absence of responses during cardiac arrest and returning of signals

after surgical repair and stabilization. (b) Somatosensoryevoked potential tracings detected after stimulation of the *left* (*L*) and *right* (*R*) median nerve (MN) for the upper extremities and posterior tibialis nerve (PTN) for the lower extremities. Traces showed adequate neurophysiological signals at baseline (traces in *red* at the top) and progression to the absence of signals during cardiac arrest. At the bottom of each image, returning of signals can be seen of the different interventions to correct the ischemia. In this particular situation, IOM was helpful in detecting the integrity of the neurological system before intervention and providing information about the return of perfusion to the different organs by detecting the return of the somatosensory- and motor-evoked potentials and also brain activity when the patient was becoming stable. Symmetry in the responses was considered when analyzing the signals as they returned since asymmetric responses (e.g., no somatosensory and/or motor responses obtained from one side of the body, or an asymmetric EEG) suggest a residual ischemic event in the brain.

References¹

- Crawford ES, Crawford JL, Safi HJ, Coselli JS, Hess KR, Brooks B, et al. Thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysms: preoperative and intraoperative factors determining immediate and long-term results of operations in 605 patients. J Vasc Surg. 1986;3(3):389–404.
- *Connolly JE. Hume Memorial lecture. Prevention of spinal cord complications in aortic surgery. Am J Surg. 1998;176(2):92–101.
- *Goldfinger JZ, Halperin JL, Marin ML, Stewart AS, Eagle KA, Fuster V. Thoracic aortic aneurysm and dissection. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64(16):1725–39.
- Jones TH, Morawetz RB, Crowell RM, Marcoux FW, FitzGibbon SJ, DeGirolami U, et al. Thresholds of focal cerebral ischemia in awake monkeys. J Neurosurg. 1981;54(6):773–82.
- Hickey R, Sloan TB, Rogers JN. Functional organization and physiology of the spinal cord. In: Porter SS, editor. Anesthesia for surgery of the spine. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1995. p. 15–39.
- Drummond JC. The lower limit of autoregulation: time to revise our thinking? Anesthesiology. 1997;86(6):1431–3.
- Djindjian R, Hurth M, Houdart R. Arterial supply of the spinal cord. In: Djindjian R, editor. Angiography of the spinal cord. Baltimore: University Park Press; 1970. p. 3–13.
- *Jacobs MJ, de Mol BA, Elenbaas T, Mess WH, Kalkman CJ, Schurink GW, et al. Spinal cord blood supply in patients with thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysms. J Vasc Surg. 2002;35(1):30–7.
- Jacobs MJ, Elenbaas TW, Schurink GWH, Mess WH, Mochtar B. Assessment of spinal cord integrity during

thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair. Ann Thorac Surg. 2002;74(5):S1864–6; discussion S92–8.

- Adams HD, Van Geertruyden HH. Neurologic complications of aortic surgery. Ann Surg. 1956;144:574–610.
- Kuniyoshi Y, Koja K, Miyagi K, Shimoji M, Uezu T, Arakaki K, et al. Prevention of postoperative paraplegia during thoracoabdominal aortic surgery. Ann Thorac Surg. 2003;76(5):1477–84.
- Ogino H, Sasaki H, Minatoya K, Matsuda H, Yamada N, Kitamura S, et al. Combined use of adamkiewicz artery demonstration and motor-evoked potentials in descending and thoracoabdominal repair. Ann Thorac Surg. 2006;82(2):592–6.
- van Dongen EP, Schepens MA, Morshuis WJ, ter Beek HT, Aarts LP, de Boer A, et al. Thoracic and thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair: use of evoked potential monitoring in 118 patients. J Vasc Surg. 2001;34(6):1035–40.
- Wan IY, Angelini GD, Bryan AJ, Ryder I, Underwood MJ. Prevention of spinal cord ischaemia during descending thoracic and thoracoabdominal aortic surgery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2001;19(2):203–13.
- *Ziganshin BA, Elefteriades JA. Surgical management of thoracoabdominal aneurysms. Heart. 2014;100(20):1577–82.
- 16. *Hiratzka LF, Bakris GL, Beckman JA, Bersin RM, Carr VF, Casey DE, Jr, et al. 2010 ACCF/AHA/AATS/ ACR/ASA/SCA/SCAI/SIR/STS/SVM Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of patients with thoracic aortic disease. A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American College of Radiology, American Stroke Association, Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Interventional Radiology, Society of Thoracic Surgeons, and Society for Vascular Medicine. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55(14):e27-129.
- Nienaber CA, Clough RE. Management of acute aortic dissection. Lancet. 2015;385(9970):800–11.
- Elefteriades JA, Farkas EA. Thoracic aortic aneurysm clinically pertinent controversies and uncertainties. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55(9):841–57.
- Gloviczki P. Surgical repair of thoracoabdominal aneurysms: patient selection, techniques and results. Cardiovasc Surg. 2002;10(4):434–41.
- *de Haan P, Kalkman CJ. Spinal cord monitoring: somatosensory- and motor-evoked potentials. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2001;19(4):923–45.
- 21. *Dong CC, MacDonald DB, Janusz MT, Dong CCJ, MacDonald DB, Janusz MT. Intraoperative spinal cord monitoring during descending thoracic and thoracoabdominal aneurysm surgery. Ann Thorac Surg. 2002;74(5):S1873–6; discussion S92–8.
- 22. Pillai JB, Pellet Y, Panagopoulos G, Sadek MA, Abjigitova D, Weiss D, et al. Somatosensory-evoked potential-guided intercostal artery reimplantation in thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm surgery. Innovations (Phila). 2013;8(4):302–6.

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

- Svensson LG, Hess KR, Coselli JS, Safi HJ. Influence of segmental arteries, extent, and atriofemoral bypass on postoperative paraplegia after thoracoabdominal aortic operations. J Vasc Surg. 1994;20(2):255–62.
- 24. Jacobs MJ, Meylaerts SA, de Haan P, de Mol BA, Kalkman CJ. Assessment of spinal cord ischemia by means of evoked potential monitoring during thoracoabdominal aortic surgery. Semin Vasc Surg. 2000;13(4):299–307.
- 25. Jacobs MJ, Meylaerts SA, de Haan P, de Mol BA, Kalkman CJ. Strategies to prevent neurologic deficit based on motor-evoked potentials in type I and II thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair. J Vasc Surg. 1999;29(1):48–57; discussion 57–9.
- 26. Shimizu H, Mori A, Yoshitake A, Yamada T, Morisaki H, Okano H, et al. Thoracic and thoracoabdominal aortic repair under regional spinal cord hypothermia. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2014;46(1):40–3.
- Augoustides JG, Stone ME, Drenger B. Novel approaches to spinal cord protection during thoracoabdominal aortic interventions. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2014;27(1):98–105.
- Cunningham Jr JN, Laschinger JC, Merkin HA, Nathan IM, Colvin S, Ransohoff J, et al. Measurement of spinal cord ischemia during operations upon the thoracic aorta: initial clinical experience. Ann Surg. 1982;196(3):285–96.
- Robertazzi RR, Cunningham Jr JN. Monitoring of somatosensory evoked potentials: a primer on the intraoperative detection of spinal cord ischemia during aortic reconstructive surgery. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1998;10(1):11–7.
- Laschinger JC, Cunningham Jr JN, Isom OW, Nathan IM, Spencer FC. Definition of the safe lower limits of aortic resection during surgical procedures on the thoracoabdominal aorta: use of somatosensory evoked potentials. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1983;2(5):959–65.
- Laschinger JC, Cunningham Jr JN, Catinella FP, Nathan IM, Knopp EA, Spencer FC. Detection and prevention of intraoperative spinal cord ischemia after cross-clamping of the thoracic aorta: use of somatosensory evoked potentials. Surgery. 1982;92(6): 1109–17.
- 32. *Meylaerts SA, Jacobs MJ, van Iterson V, De Haan P, Kalkman CJ. Comparison of transcranial motor evoked potentials and somatosensory evoked potentials during thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair. Ann Surg. 1999;230(6):742–9.
- 33. Elmore JR, Gloviczki P, Harper Jr CM, Murray MJ, Wu QH, Bower TC, et al. Spinal cord injury in experimental thoracic aortic occlusion: investigation of combined methods of protection. J Vasc Surg. 1992;15(5):789–98; discussion 98–9.
- 34. Laschinger JC, Cunningham Jr JN, Baumann FG, Cooper MM, Krieger KH, Spencer FC. Monitoring of somatosensory evoked potentials during surgical procedures on the thoracoabdominal aorta. III. Intraoperative identification of vessels critical to

spinal cord blood supply. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1987;94(2):271–4.

- 35. Cunningham JN, Lim KH, Rose DM. Use of somatosensory evoked potentials to monitor spinal cord ischemia during surgery on the thoracic and thoraco-abdominal aorta. In: Ducker TBBR, editor. Neurophysiology and standards of spinal cord monitoring. New York: Springer; 1998. p. 328–40.
- Reuter DG, Tacker Jr WA, Badylak SF, Voorhees III WD, Konrad PE. Correlation of motor-evoked potential response to ischemic spinal cord damage. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1992;104(2):262–72.
- 37. Crawford ES, Svensson LG, Hess KR, Shenaq SS, Coselli JS, Safi HJ, et al. A prospective randomized study of cerebrospinal fluid drainage to prevent paraplegia after high-risk surgery on the thoracoabdominal aorta. J Vasc Surg. 1991;13(1):36–45; discussion 45–6.
- 38. de Haan P, Kalkman CJ, de Mol BA, Ubags LH, Veldman DJ, Jacobs MJ. Efficacy of transcranial motor-evoked myogenic potentials to detect spinal cord ischemia during operations for thoracoabdominal aneurysms. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1997;113(1):87–100; discussion 100–1.
- 39. de Haan P, Kalkman CJ, Jacobs MJ. Spinal cord monitoring with myogenic motor evoked potentials: early detection of spinal cord ischemia as an integral part of spinal cord protective strategies during thoracoabdominal aneurysm surgery. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1998;10(1):19–24.
- Weigang E, Hartert M, Siegenthaler MP, Pitzer-Hartert K, Luehr M, Sircar R, et al. Neurophysiological monitoring during thoracoabdominal aortic endovascular stent graft implantation. Eur J Cardiothoracic Surg. 2006;29(3):392–6.
- 41. Weigang E, Hartert M, Sircar R, V Samson P, Pitzer K, Genstorfer J, et al. Setup of neurophysiological monitoring with tcMEP/SSEP during thoracoabdominal aneurysm repair. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005;53(1):28–32.
- Kobrine AI, Evans DE, Rizzoli HV. The effects of ischemia on long-tract neural conduction in the spinal cord. J Neurosurg. 1979;50(5):639–44.
- 43. Guerit JM, Verhelst R, Rubay J, Khoury G, Matta A, Dion R. Multilevel somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs) for spinal cord monitoring in descending thoracic and thoraco-abdominal aortic surgery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 1996;10(2):93–103; discussion 103–4.
- 44. Sala F, Lanteri P, Bricolo A, Sala F, Lanteri P, Bricolo A. Motor evoked potential monitoring for spinal cord and brain stem surgery. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2004;29:133–69.
- 45. Greiner A, Mess WH, Schmidli J, Debus ES, Grommes J, Dick F, et al. Cyber medicine enables remote neuromonitoring during aortic surgery. J Vasc Surg. 2012;55(5):1227–32; discussion 32–3.
- Greenberg RK, Lytle B. Endovascular repair of thoracoabdominal aneurysms. Circulation. 2008;117(17):2288–96.

- 47. Uchida N. How to prevent spinal cord injury during endovascular repair of thoracic aortic disease. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2014;62(7):391–7.
- Abraha I, Romagnoli C, Montedori A, Cirocchi R. Thoracic stent graft versus surgery for thoracic aneurysm. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009;1:1–12.
- Canaud L, Ozdemir BA, Patterson BO, Holt PJ, Loftus IM, Thompson MM. Retrograde aortic dissection after thoracic endovascular aortic repair. Ann Surg. 2014;260(2):389–95.
- Bicknell CD, Riga CV, Wolfe JHN. Prevention of paraplegia during thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2009;37(6):654–60.
- Sinha AC, Cheung AT. Spinal cord protection and thoracic aortic surgery. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2010;23(1):95–102.
- 52. Schurink GWH, Nijenhuis RJ, Backes WH, Mess W, de Haan MW, Mochtar B, et al. Assessment of spinal cord circulation and function in endovascular treatment of thoracic aortic aneurysms. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007;83(2):S877–81; discussion S90–2.
- 53. Mitchell RS, Miller DC, Dake MD, Semba CP, Moore KA, Sakai T. Thoracic aortic aneurysm repair with an endovascular stent graft: the "first generation". Ann Thorac Surg. 1999;67(6):1971–4; discussion 9–80.
- 54. Bafort C, Astarci P, Goffette P, El Khoury G, Guerit J-M, de Tourtchaninoff M, et al. Predicting spinal cord ischemia before endovascular thoracoabdominal aneurysm repair: monitoring somatosensory evoked potentials. J Endovasc Ther. 2002;9(3):289–94.
- 55. Ishimaru S, Kawaguchi S, Koizumi N, Obitsu Y, Ishikawa M. Preliminary report on prediction of spinal cord ischemia in endovascular stent graft repair of thoracic aortic aneurysm by retrievable stent graft. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1998;115(4):811–8.
- 56. Maeda T, Yoshitani K, Sato S, Matsuda H, Inatomi Y, Tomita Y, et al. Spinal cord ischemia after endovascular aortic repair versus open surgical repair for descending thoracic and thoracoabdominal aortic aneurism. J Anesth. 2012;26(6):805–11.
- Gkremoutis A, Schmandra T, Meyn M, Schmitz-Rixen T, Keese M. Hybrid approach to emergent and urgent treatment of complex thoracoabdominal aortic pathology. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2014;48(4):407–13.
- Zhang Y, Lu Q, Pei Y, Wu M, Zhang S, Hong Y, et al. Total endovascular repair of thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysms with non-customized stent grafts. Ann Thorac Surg. 2014;98(5):1606–12.
- Czermak BV, Fraedrich G, Perkmann R, Mallouhi A, Steingruber IE, Waldenberger P, et al. Endovascular repair of thoracic aortic disease: what we have learned. Curr Probl Diagn Radiol. 2004;33(6):269–82.
- Cunningham Jr JN, Laschinger JC, Spencer FC. Monitoring of somatosensory evoked potentials during surgical procedures on the thoracoabdominal aorta. IV. Clinical observations and results. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1987;94(2):275–85.

Questions

- 1. Paraplegia results from a variety of mechanisms that include
 - A. High CSF pressure
 - B. Generalized ischemia
 - C. Inadequate distal perfusion pressure
 - D. Loss of critical radicular arteries
 - E. All of the above
- 2. The blood supply of the aorta is thought to be a meshwork of vascular collaterals. Which of the following is not a critical component?
 - A. Vertebral artery
 - B. Subclavian artery
 - C. Segmental arteries from the aorta
 - D. Artery of Adamkiewicz
 - E. Lumbar Arteries
- 3. When MEPs deteriorate, all of the following maneuvers may be helpful EXCEPT:
 - A. Raise the proximal mean blood pressure
 - B. Raise the distal mean pressure from the bypass bump
 - C. Reimplant a critical radicular artery
 - D. Lower the CSF pressure
 - E. High-dose methylprednisolone
- 4. Various methods of surgery have been utilized to repair TAA. The lowest risk of paralysis is with:
 - A. Open surgical repair
 - B. Endovascular repair
 - C. Hybrid techniques
 - D. All are about the same
- 5. Time to electrical failure with spinal cord ischemia is shortest with:
 - A. EEG
 - B. Cortical SSEP
 - C. Spinally recorded SSEP
 - D. The MEP D wave
 - E. Muscle-recorded MEPs

Answers

- 1. E
- 2. B
- 3. E
- 4. D
- 5. E

Monitoring During Cardiopulmonary Bypass

41

Harvey L. Edmonds Jr.

Key Learning Points

- Since brain injury during cardiopulmonary bypass is multifactorial, optimal neuroprotection is best achieved with multimodality neuromonitoring.
- Multimodality neuromonitoring permits patient management to be individualized rather than guided by recipe.
- Perfusion cannulae misadventures may result in neurologic injury via hypoperfusion, hyperperfusion, or embolization.
- The nonphysiologic characteristics of extracorporeal circulation including hemodilution, nonpulsatile perfusion, cooling, and rewarming also represent sources of neurologic injury.

Introduction

Despite the dramatic advances in myocardial preservation during cardiac surgery, brain injury remains a common and serious complication [1]. Although myocardial revascularization may be

H.L. Edmonds Jr., Ph.D. (🖂)

Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, University of Louisville School of Medicine, 830 Huntington Road, Louisville, KY 40207-333, USA e-mail: lharvo@louisville.edu achieved on a beating heart, the majority of these surgeries, as well as all open-heart surgery, require the use of cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB). The brain injury may be either diffuse or regional, with sequelae ranging from encephalopathy or stroke to subtle cognitive decline or disruptive personality changes [1]. Injury mechanisms include embolization, hypoperfusion, hyperperfusion, systemic inflammatory response, and hyperthermia [1]. Furthermore, two or more of these mechanisms may coexist. For example, hypoperfusion can exacerbate particulate or gaseous embolic injury by reducing the clearance of particulates or gas bubbles from the cerebral microcirculation [2].

Temporary removal of the heart and lungs from the systemic circulation and the processes of extracorporeal circulation and oxygenation create many opportunities for a surgical misadventure. Traditionally, management of perfusion and oxygenation has been based on systemic measures, normative values, and standardized patient management protocols. Since systemic physiologic monitors reflect average values obtained from a patient total vascular bed length that may exceed 50,000 miles [3], it is not surprising that brainspecific hypoperfusion or dysoxygenation may be undetected. The following case report exemplifies this phenomenon. The report also illustrates the benefits of multimodality neuromonitoring in promptly detecting cerebral hypoperfusion and guiding its successful correction.

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_41

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Causes of Injury During CPB and Neural Structures at Risk

The possibility of central nervous system injury begins before CPB initiation. Extracorporeal circulation is achieved via perfusion cannulae placed in major arterial and venous access points. Before or after CPB, cannula malposition may critically obstruct blood flow to or from the brain, spinal cord, and/or peripheral nerve, depending on the site of cannula placement [4]. In addition, during CPB, a malpositioned inflow cannula may direct the flow jet away from cerebral vessels and lead to regional or global brain ischemic injury [5]. Alternatively, the flow jet may be directed into the opening of a single cerebral artery with the risk of hemorrhagic hyperperfusion.

The perfusion cannulae and cardiac vents also pose a risk of embolic injury. Cannula introduction into a diseased aorta may dislodge atheromatous material into the cerebral circulation. During high-flow CPB, intra-aortic negative pressure is created at the aortotomy site. Consequently, an imperfect purse string suture around the cannula may permit air introduction into the cerebral circulation. Vent suction, negative venous pressures, and perfusionist administration of drugs and fluids may also introduce air into the extracorporeal perfusion circuit [6].

The circuit priming solution may be either blood based or a clear crystalloid solution. Particularly in the case of a bloodless prime and small patient, significant hemodilution may occur that can compromise adequate O_2 delivery to the brain while systemic oxygenation remains within an acceptable range. If a hematogenous prime solution utilizes stored whole blood or red cells, brain O_2 debt may still develop despite nearnormal hematocrit and hemoglobin concentration. The debt is the result of storage-induced erythrocyte dysfunction [7].

Nonpulsatile perfusion poses a potential risk to the cerebral cortical watershed areas and midbrain structures nourished by long, tiny lenticulostriate perforating arteries [8]. Injury risk is further heightened because blood is a non-Newtonian liquid with the flow characteristics of a Bingham fluid (i.e., viscosity is inversely related to flow velocity) [9]. Thus, with unchanged systemic mean perfusion pressure, the peak blood flow velocity reduction that typically accompanies nonpulsatile perfusion may compromise oxygen delivery in these vulnerable brain regions. Functional magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has allowed visualization of this CPB-induced multifocal brain hypoxia [10].

In the absence of multimodality neuromonitoring, anesthesia providers and perfusionists have traditionally relied on systemic perfusion pressure as a guide to the adequacy of brain perfusion. This reliance spawned the pervasive concept of "brainsafe" perfusion pressure. It is based on the widely held assumptions that (1) the lower autoregulatory limit is 50 mmHg and (2) nearly all patients maintain cerebral pressure autoregulation during CPB. It should be recognized that evidence of intact autoregulation assures only that cerebral perfusion and oxygenation are pressure independent. No assurance is given regarding the adequacy of perfusion to prevent brain O₂ debt. Thus, moderate hypocapnia may sustain autoregulated cerebral blood flow at a low level insufficient to meet the local brain O_2 needs [11].

Pharmacologic considerations also influence the role of suboptimal blood pressure management in the genesis of iatrogenic brain injury during CPB. The relationship between systemic pressure and cerebral perfusion is unpredictable. Thus, in the absence of neuromonitoring, brain perfusion and oxygenation in response to administration of vasoactive agents is undefined [12].

Variable brain response to blood pressure change should be expected. Blood pressure increases within a patient's individualized autoregulatory range typically result in an unchanged brain O_2 saturation [13]. In contrast, when baseline pressure is lower than the individual's autoregulatory lower limit, brain O_2 saturation becomes pressure dependent [13]. Should cerebral vascular resistance increase more than systemic resistance, blood pressure increase will be accompanied by a brain saturation decrease. Only appropriate neuromonitoring can distinguish among these possibilities for a given patient [13].

Iatrogenic brain injury during CPB may also result from suboptimal cooling for deep hypothermic neuroprotection. The large interpatient variation in brain response to cooling is exemplified by the extraordinarily wide 10 °C range of cranial temperatures associated with the onset of hypothermic electrocerebral silence [14]. In patients with CO_2^- reactive cerebral arteries, cooling with alpha-stat acid-base management may result in incomplete and nonuniform brain cooling and brain O_2 debt [11]. Alternatively, the higher blood flow achieved with pH-stat management leads to uniform cooling and cerebral hyperoxia [15]. A randomized clinical trial has demonstrated the superiority of pH-stat management for deep cooling [16]. Although many cardiac centers shift to alpha-stat during rewarming to hopefully expedite the return of autoregulation, this approach currently is without the support of randomized clinical evidence (see Chap. 39, "Surgery of the Aortic Arch").

Case Description

This 3-year-old, 15-kg ASA Class 3 patient underwent surgical repair of both a cardiac ventricular septal defect and subaortic stenosis via a median sternotomy. Anesthesia was induced with sevoflurane and maintained with isoflurane and fentanyl/ midazolam supplements. Near-normothermic nonpulsatile CPB was achieved with an inflow cannula placed in the ascending aorta and outflow cannulae in both the ascending and descending venae cavae. A blood prime was used to limit hemodilution.

The surgery was uneventful during the prebypass and bypass phases. However, immediately after discontinuation of CPB, sudden suppression of all neuromonitoring modalities suggested development of a major brain insult, despite unchanged respiratory gas and volatile anesthetic concentrations, systemic perfusion pressures, arterial and mixed venous oxygenation, and cranial temperature as well as an acceptable hemoglobin concentration. Nevertheless, neuro monitoring guided prompt identification and correction of the injury source, which resulted in an immediate restoration of cerebral cortical perfusion, oxygenation, and synaptic function.

Available Physiologic Monitors

Systemic arterial blood pressure was monitored continuously via the right radial artery. A 5-Fr. triple-lumen catheter inserted into the right internal jugular vein continuously monitored central venous and pulmonary artery pressures as well as cardiac output intermittently. During periods of pulsatile perfusion, systemic arterial oxygen saturation was measured continuously by pulse oximetry with a sensor on the right foot. In the presence of mechanical ventilation, inspired and end-tidal O_2 , CO_2 , and volatile anesthetic concentrations were monitored continuously. With nonpulsatile CPB, intermittent blood samples were obtained for determination of hemoglobin, hematocrit, arterial, and mixed venous blood gases.

Cerebral neuromonitoring consisted of (1) four-channel electroencephalography (EEG) (FP1-T7, FP2-T8, C3-O1, C4-O2) with bilateral frontal Bispectral Index (BIS[®]) trend (A-1000, Medtronic-Covidien, Boulder, CO) via gold cup electrodes; (2) bilateral frontal regional O₂ saturation (rSO₂) using the INVOSTM 4100 cerebral oximeter (Medtronic-Covidien, Boulder, CO) with pediatric sensors; and (3) right middle cerebral artery blood flow velocity with the TCD ultrasonography (NeuroGuard[®], Medasonics, Fremont, CA). Cranial temperature was monitored with a thermocouple placed in the nasopharynx.

Monitor Noteworthy Changes

Approximately 2 min after CPB discontinuation, the EEG waveforms suddenly became totally suppressed (i.e., flat line). The density spectral array EEG trend display (Fig. 41.1 at 11:10) showed an abrupt diffuse loss of all highfrequency EEG activity and a drop in the total power amplitude measure. In addition, bilateral BIS values began a rapid fall from 65 to 30 scale units (Fig. 41.2, *upper traces*).

This major cortical synaptic suppression was accompanied by growing oxygen debt within the microcirculation of the same cortical regions. The debt was manifested by a precipitous bilateral decrease in rSO₂ (Fig. 41.2, *middle traces*).



Fig. 41.1 This EEG recording represents *left* (channel 1) and *right* (channel 2) frontotemporal trends of density spectral array (DSA) frequency and total power amplitude trends. Recording began following anesthesia induction and continued until 15 min after discontinuation of CPB. Signal loss from 8:55 to 9:25 was the result of elec-

trocautery interference. Note the sudden bilateral loss of all high frequency EEG activity and total power decline at 11:10, immediately after CPB discontinuation. Also observe the rapid return of these measures following successful identification and correction of a potentially injurious physiologic imbalance



Fig. 41.2 Displayed are the multimodality neuromonitoring changes associated with developing physiologic imbalance and its prompt correction. The upper traces depicting a precipitous bilateral EEG Bispectral Index (BIS) suppression signify diffuse major cerebrocortical synaptic suppression of uncertain origin. Profound bilat-

Lastly, TCD systolic and diastolic velocities fell from 100/40 to 50/0 cm/s (Fig. 41.2, bottom left waveform). Once the cause of the neuromonitoring changes was identified and corrected, all measures rapidly returned to their pre-insult appearance (Fig. 41.2).

Differential Diagnosis

Technical

The most important advantage of multimodality neuromonitoring is that it minimizes the possibility of misinterpreting a technical recording problem as a sign of nervous system injury. Thus, it is extraordinarily unlikely that a single technical problem would simultaneously produce apparent

eral brain regional O_2 saturation (rSO₂) decline suggests developing brain O_2 debt as contributing to the EEG suppression. The suppressed TCD waveform in the *lower left panel* identifies the cause of the O_2 debt as an arterial inflow compromise. Repositioning of the aortic cannula resulted in an immediate recovery of all these measures

EEG suppression, brain oxygen desaturation, and diminished blood flow velocity. For example, EEG and TCD signals may be altered or suppressed by electrocautery and other sources of radiofrequency energy (Fig. 41.1). In contrast, because rSO₂ is based on near-infrared spectroscopy, it is typically immune to this interference. TCD is susceptible to environmental acoustic influences and both TCD and EEG may be altered by patient movement, but rSO₂ remains unaffected. Intense electromechanical radiation within the visible or near-infrared frequency spectra may disrupt rSO₂ monitoring but have no effect on the other modalities. Technical problems sufficient to affect all three modalities (i.e., electrical power fluctuations) would almost certainly also disrupt other monitoring and patient support devices.

Physiologic

EEG suppression unequivocally indicates a reduction in cortical synaptic activity, but the cause is often initially undefined. Suppression may reflect a relatively benign process, like excess hypnosis or hypothermia, or a malignant one such as hypoxia or ischemia. Because of this uncertainty, it was imperative that the cause of sudden EEG suppression be promptly identified.

In support of this notion, our group earlier examined the consequences of major EEG suppression in a cohort of 600 adult cardiac surgery patients managed with CPB [14]. EEG suppression was defined as a greater than 50% decline in total power in at least 1 of 19 channels that persisted for longer than 10 min and was unrelated to either cooling or increased hypnosis. Twenty of the 22 patients awakening with new neurologic deficits experienced noteworthy intraoperative EEG suppression. There also were ten patients with comparable EEG changes but no postoperative neurodeficit. The odds ratio that a neurodeficit would be preceded by EEG suppression was 568:1 (P < 0.001). All the deficit-related EEG changes were widespread, involving frontotemporal cortex in at least one hemisphere. This experience also suggested that the vast majority of ischemia-related EEG changes could be identified using a simplified two- or four-channel electrode montage.

The sudden large decline in rSO_2 indicated developing brain O_2 debt, but neither its cause nor functional significance could be defined without additional information. In both adult [17] and pediatric [18] patients, low brain rSO_2 has been associated with signs of brain injury. However, in the absence of cooling or hypnotic increase, the combination of rSO_2 decline with EEG suppression reliably identifies a potentially injurious functionally significant brain O_2 imbalance [19].

TCD measures blood flow velocity, not flow [20]. Altered rheology (i.e., hemodilution, hemoconcentration, hypothermia) may thus affect velocity, while total erythrocytic flow remains unaltered. In addition, an abrupt reduction in both systolic and diastolic middle cerebral artery flow velocity may be due to either an actual blood flow decrease or an unrecognized subtle shift in ultrasound probe position. Nevertheless, in the absence of ultrasound probe movement, sudden velocity declines are highly correlated with hypoperfusion [20]. As with rSO₂ changes, the functional significance of a velocity decrease requires information on cortical synaptic activity (i.e., EEG).

TCD is very helpful for the causal determination of coupled EEG and rSO₂ declines. Ultrasound provides the only means to unambiguously detect a cerebral particulate or gaseous embolic shower [21]. In the present case, a lack of emboliform high-intensity transient ultrasonic signals and an unchanged TCD velocity trend suggested that neither embolization nor hypoperfusion was involved. Attention was then focused on impaired oxygen delivery.

During pre- and postbypass pulsatile perfusion, with stable systemic perfusion pressure and cardiac output, the nature of TCD waveform changes permits discrimination between impaired cerebral arterial inflow and venous outflow. In the former case, both systolic and diastolic velocities fall [22], while in the latter only diastolic velocity decreases and the waveform becomes hyperpulsatile [23]. Sudden onset hyperpulsatility is suggestive of a venous cannula malposition, whereas a progressive onset is characteristic of expanding cerebral edema and intracranial hypertension [22].

Marked cerebral arteriolar constriction resulting from severe hypocapnia could produce all the neuromonitoring changes observed in this case. This explanation was discarded because hypocapnia also would have been manifested by low end-tidal CO_2 values.

Pharmacologic

Only severe cerebral vasoconstriction could conceivably lead to total EEG suppression, cerebral hypoperfusion, and oxygen debt. However, vasoconstrictor agents, typically used during cardiac surgery, act on both the systemic and cerebral circulations. Consequently, doses sufficiently high to constrict cerebral arterioles would also result in systemic hypertension. Thus, a pharmacologic etiology for the selective cerebral hypoperfusion and dysoxygenation appeared to be very unlikely.

Surgical

The sudden appearance of severe diffuse cerebral ischemia without systemic manifestations of hypoperfusion immediately directed attention to possible disruption of arterial inflow or venous outflow. In our experience, perfusion cannula malposition is an uncommon cause of cerebral ischemia during adult CPB [24]. However, the probability of its occurrence appears to be inversely related to patient size [14]. We have observed that nearly one-quarter of noteworthy neuromonitoring changes occurring during pediatric CPB are related to malposition of a perfusion cannula, vascular clamp, ligature, or vent [25].

Patient Management and Outcome

Since the diminished TCD waveform was most consistent with a cerebral inflow restriction, the malpositioned aortic cannula was repositioned. A seemingly small cannula reorientation immediately resulted in a normal TCD waveform, rSO₂ increase, and EEG recovery. The remainder of the surgery and postoperative recovery was uneventful.

Conclusion

Clinical studies now have demonstrated that multimodality neuromonitoring may be associated with improved outcome and associated lower costs [26]. Thoughtful integration of the information provided by each modality helps to overcome the limitations of each independent modality.

Disclosure

The author is a member of the Medtronic-Covidien Speakers' Bureau.

References¹

- *Seco M, Edelman JJB, Van Boxtel B, et al. Neurologic injury and protection in adult cardiac and aortic surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2015;29:185–95.
- Caplan LR, Hennerici M. Impaired clearance of emboli (washout) is an important link between hypoperfusion, embolism and ischemic stroke. Arch Neurol. 1998;55:1475–82.
- Vogel S. Vital circuits: on pumps, pipes and the workings of circulatory systems. New York: Oxford University Press; 1992. p. 15.
- Cordisco M, Newberger J, Shann KG, Mellas NB. Diagnosis of inadvertent cannulation of the azygos vein during cardiopulmonary bypass. J Extra Corpor Technol. 2010;42:235–7.
- Crumpstone T, Martin TD, Yang JJ, Peng YG. Misplacement of LVAD inflow cannula leads to insufficient output and tissue hyperperfusion. J Artif Organs. 2010;13:255–7.
- Fischer GW, Stone ME. Cerebral air embolism recognized by cerebral oximetry. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2009;12:56–9.
- Koch CG, Li L, Sessler DI, Figueroa P, Hoeltge GA, Mihaljevic T, Blackstone EH. Duration of red-cell storage and complications after cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:1229–39.
- *Moody DM, Bell MA, Challa VR. Features of the cerebral vascular pattern that predict vulnerability to perfusion or oxygenation deficiency: an anatomic study. Am J Neuroradiol. 1990;11:431–40.
- Urzua J, Meneses G, Fajardo C, Lema G, Canessa R, Sacco CM, et al. Arterial pressure-flow relationship in patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass. Anesth Analg. 1997;84:958–63.
- Mutch WA, Ryner LN, Kozlowski P, Scarth G, Warrian RK, Lefevre GR, et al. Cerebral hypoxia during cardiopulmonary bypass: a magnetic resonance imaging study. Ann Thorac Surg. 1997;64:695–701.
- Baraka A, Naufal M, El-Khatib M. Correlation between cerebral and mixed venous oxygen saturation during moderate versus tepid hypothermic hemodiluted cardiopulmonary bypass. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2006;20:819–25.
- Sørensen H, Rasmussen P, Siebenmann C, Zaar M, Hvidtfeldt M, Ogoh S, et al. Extra-cerebral oxygenation influence on near-infrared-spectroscopydetermined frontal lobe oxygenation in healthy volunteers: a comparison between INVOS-4100 and NIRO-200NX. Clin Physiol Funct Imag. 2015;35:177–84.
- Scott JP, Hoffman GM. Near-infrared spectroscopy: exposing the dark (venous) side of the circulation. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24:74–88.
- 14. *Edmonds Jr HL, Pollock Jr SB, Ganzel BL, et al. Monitoring: EEG and cerebral blood flow. In: Newman SP, Harrison MJG, editors. The brain and

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

cardiac surgery. Amsterdam: Harwood Academic; 2000. p. 143-64.

- Perl JM, Thomas DW, Grist G, Duffy JY, Manning PB. Hyperoxia for management of acid-base status during deep hypothermia with circulatory arrest. Ann Thorac Surg. 2000;70:751–5.
- 16. du Plessis AJ, Jonas RA, Wypij D, Hickey PR, Riviello J, Wessel DL, et al. Perioperative effects of alpha-stat vs. pH-stat strategies for deep hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass in infants. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1997;114:991–1001.
- Mohandas BS, Jagadeesh AM, Vikram SB. Impact of monitoring cerebral oxygen saturation on the outcome of patients undergoing open heart surgery. Ann Card Anaesth. 2013;16:102–6.
- Hoffman GM, Brosig CL, Mussatto KA, Tweddell JS, Ghanayem NS. Perioperative cerebral oxygen saturation in neonates with hypoplastic left heart syndrome and childhood neurodevelopmental outcome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2013;146:1153–64.
- Edmonds Jr HL, Singer I, Schic A, Strickland TJ. Multimodality neuromonitoring for neurocardiology. J Interven Cardiol. 1998;11:197–205.
- Edmonds Jr HL, Isley MR, Sloan TB, Alexandrov AV, Razumovsky AY. American Society of Neurophysiologic Monitoring and American Society of Neuroimaging joint guidelines for transcranial Doppler ultrasonic monitoring. J Neuroimaging. 2011;21(2):177–83.
- Purkayastha S, Sorond F. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound: technique and application. Semin Neurol. 2012;32:411–20.
- 22. Edmonds Jr HL. Monitoring of cerebral perfusion with transcranial Doppler ultrasound. In: Nuwer MR, editor. Intraoperative monitoring of neural function. Handbook of clinical neurophysiology, vol. 8. Amsterdam: Elsevier B.V; 2008. p. 909–23.
- Rodriguez RA, Cornel G, Semelhago L, Splinter WM, Weerasena NA. Cerebral effects in superior vena caval cannula obstruction: the role of brain monitoring. Ann Thorac Surg. 1997;64:1820–4.
- Edmonds Jr HL. Protective effect of neuromonitoring during cardiac surgery. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1053:12–9.
- 25. *Austin EH III, Edmonds HL Jr, Auden SM, Seremet V, Niznik G, Sehic A, et al. Benefit of neurophysiologic monitoring for pediatric cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1997;114:707–17.

26. *Zanatta P, Benvenuti SM, Bosco E, Bosco E, Baldanzi F, Palomba D, Valfrè C. Multimodal brain monitoring reduced major neurologic complications in cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2011;25:1076–85.

Questions

With each of the following questions, indicate whether the statement is true or false.

- During cardiac surgery, cerebral injury mechanisms may include embolization, hypoperfusion, hyperperfusion, systemic inflammatory response, and hyperthermia.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- A malpositioned aortic perfusion cannula may result in potentially injurious cerebral hypoor hyperperfusion.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- Maintenance of mean arterial blood pressure within normal limits ensures adequate subcortical perfusion.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- Cooling the brain to less than 20 °C ensures maximal neuroprotection during planned circulatory arrest.
 - a. True
 - b. False

Answers

- 1. a
- 2. a
- 3. b
- 4. b

Interventional Neuroradiology

Anthony K. Sestokas and Daniel M. Schwartz

Key Learning Points

- Intraoperative angiography affords repeated assessment of blood vessel patency during neuroendovascular surgery, but does not provide information about the functional integrity of neural structures fed by those vessels.
- There are limits to the resolution of angiographic imaging and unknown or varying neural tolerances for partial vessel occlusion.
- Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) complements angiographic imaging by providing real-time functional information about at-risk neural structures, early warning of evolving iatrogenic neurologic compromise, and opportunity for timely intervention to avoid or mitigate new-onset postoperative deficits.
- A multimodality IONM strategy extends anatomic coverage for detection of isolated ischemic change and provides neurophysiologic monitoring redundancy in the context of common at-risk vascular supplies.

Introduction

Since the first reports describing endovascular treatment of cerebral arteriovenous malformations over 50 years ago [1], neuroendovascular technologies have continued to develop, advancing diagnosis of vascular abnormalities within the central nervous system, providing opportunities for treatment of previously inoperable brain and spinal cord lesions, and making possible minimally invasive alternatives for a variety of open neurosurgical therapies [2–4].

While neuroendovascular surgery arguably has improved the margin of safety over many open neurosurgical procedures, it is not without inherent risk. Introduction of arterial catheters within the brain; deployment of balloons, stents, or coils; and therapeutic embolization all have the potential for unintended compromise of vital blood supplies, which can result in temporary or permanent neurologic deficit. While the risk of neural injury secondary to hemorrhage or vascular occlusion remains low, the consequences of neurologic deficit are both broad based and significant.

Although intraoperative angiography affords repeated assessment of blood vessel patency during the course of neuroendovascular surgery, it does not provide information about the functional integrity of neural structures fed by those vessels. Moreover, there are limits to the resolution of this imaging technology, as well as unknown or

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_42

A.K. Sestokas, Ph.D., D.A.B.N.M., F.A.S.N.M. (⊠) SpecialtyCare - IONM, 3100 West End Avenue, Suite 800, Nashville, TN 37203, USA e-mail: Anthony.Sestokas@specialtycare.net

D.M. Schwartz, Ph.D. Teaneck, NJ, USA e-mail: retiredfromiom@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

varying neural tolerances for partial vessel occlusion that may be identified angiographically, and could impact negatively on neurologic outcome. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) complements angiographic imaging by providing real-time functional information about at-risk neural structures. As such, it can add an additional margin of safety during neuroendovascular surgery by detecting evolving neural compromise and prompting timely intervention to reverse or limit the extent of an untoward neurologic complication.

Neurophysiological monitoring during neuroendovascular procedures is a natural extension of neuromonitoring principles and methods developed for open surgical treatment of vascular lesions affecting the central nervous system [4–12]. In addition to early detection of evolving iatrogenic neural injury, IONM can play an important role during provocative testing of critical blood supplies using techniques such as temporary vessel occlusion or injection of amobarbital sodium or lidocaine [4].

As in traditional open surgical approaches, the neuromonitoring plan for neuroendovascular surgery must be based on careful preoperative assessment of potential risk to neural structures, consistent with that described for monitoring spinal cord and nerve root function [13]. The selection of appropriate monitoring modalities follows from this assessment, and successful implementation is highly dependent both on tailored anesthetic management and skilled, real-time interpretation of test results.

Neuromonitoring Plan

Assessment of risk begins with evaluation of the patient's pathophysiology and review of the treatment plan. A partial list of diseases amenable to endovascular therapy includes cerebral aneurysms; arteriovenous malformations within the brain, spinal cord, and dura; carotid artery stenosis; cerebral vasospasm; central nervous system tumors; intractable epistaxis; and thromboembolic stroke [14]. Injury to central neural structures during interventions such as coiling, embolization, angioplasty, stenting, and thrombolysis can occur from interrupted delivery of oxygen and nutrients to these tissues secondary to embolic occlusion of vessels, hypotension, vasospasm, and/or hemorrhage. Because this interruption may be restricted to particular anatomic regions, it is important to understand the regional specificity and sensitivity of each available neuromonitoring modality and to provide complementary cross-coverage using a multimodality monitoring approach. For example, multichannel electroencephalography (EEG) has proven to be highly sensitive to evolving cortical ischemia secondary to occlusion of the carotid artery, but is largely insensitive to subcortical ischemia [10, 15]. Complementing EEG are motor- and sensory-evoked potentials, which, respectively, reflect functional conduction along the length of specific descending and ascending pathways within the nervous system, thereby extending neuromonitoring surveillance below the cortex.

Specifically, transcranial electric motor-evoked potentials (tceMEPs), mediated by the corticospinal tracts [16, 17], allow for functional monitoring of descending motor fibers within the internal capsule, brainstem, and spinal cord, as well as associated spinal cord interneurons, alpha motor neurons, and peripheral motor nerves (*see* Chap. 2, "Transcranial Motor-Evoked Potentials").

Likewise, somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs), mediated by ascending long tract fibers, can be used to monitor function of peripheral somatic nerve fibers, nuclei within the dorsal column-medial lemniscus pathway, somatic relay nuclei within the thalamus, ascending fibers within the internal capsule, as well as neurons within primary somatosensory cortex [18] (*see* Chap. 1, "Somatosensory-Evoked Potentials"). Brain stem auditory-evoked potentials, mediated by the auditory nerve, cochlear nucleus, superior olivary complex, and lateral lemniscus, allow for specific monitoring of brain stem structures when the posterior circulation of the brain is at risk [19] (*see* Chap. 3, "Auditory-Evoked Potentials").

Adoption of a multimodality assessment strategy, therefore, not only extends anatomic coverage for detection of isolated ischemic change during neuroendovascular surgery but also can provide neurophysiologic monitoring redundancy in the context of common at-risk vascular supplies.

In addition to detecting evolving central nervous system deficit, IONM plays an important tangential role in protecting the patient from peripheral nerve injury and limb ischemia. In particular, positioning of the patient's arms may place the ulnar nerve at risk of injury from compression and/or stretch. Ulnar nerve SSEPs and upper extremity tceMEPs have proven sensitivity for identifying such evolving injury during spine surgery [20, 21] and are an important monitoring adjunct during neuroendovascular procedures. Similarly, lower extremity tce-MEPs and SSEPs are sensitive to lower limb peripheral nerve compression as well as ischemia from vascular occlusion related to the femoral artery sheath [22, 23] (see Chap. 41, "Monitoring During Cardiopulmonary Bypass").

Anesthetic Management

The critical importance of proper anesthetic technique for effective neuromonitoring is often underappreciated. Use of volatile agents and nitrous oxide can significantly depress amplitudes and increase variability of tceMEPs and cortical SSEPs, resulting in unreliable responses or even the inability to record viable signals [24–26]. In these situations, suboptimal anesthetic technique may call the value of IONM inappropriately into question.

Alternatively, a total intravenous infusion technique of propofol in combination with an opioid (e.g., remifentanil), supplemented by intermittent, low dose (1–2 mg) bolus of a benzodiazepine (e.g., midazolam), has been shown to provide an optimized anesthetic base for neurophysiological monitoring [24]. Alternative agents such as ketamine and etomidate are viable intravenous adjuncts that may be administered in place of or in combination with propofol, when the latter is either contraindicated or in short supply [27, 28].

Each of these total intravenous anesthetic protocols can be used to achieve and maintain desired anesthesia endpoints, including akinesis, without use of additional neuromuscular blockade beyond the preintubation dose. It is important to emphasize that use of partial neuromuscular blockade during neuroendovascular surgery will compromise monitoring of the corticospinal tracts both by reducing tceMEP amplitudes and introducing significant variability [29] (*see* Chap. 19, "General Anesthesia for Monitoring").

Interpretation of Data

Effective neuromonitoring requires accurate and timely interpretation of recorded neurophysiological signals within the context of ongoing surgical manipulations as well as the patient's global physiologic/anesthetic state. Functional neurologic changes can occur within seconds of vascular occlusion, which must be detected and communicated immediately to the surgeon and anesthesiologist in an effort to facilitate prompt intervention. For these reasons, the authors believe that it is imperative that an interpreting neurophysiologist be present in the operating room during neuroendovascular procedures, rather than exclusively at a remote site with only network access to the recorded data. In the event of a functional neurophysiological change, physical presence within the operating room allows for effective communication about the severity of evolving injury, discussion of possible proximate causes, and implementation of rescue intervention.

Case Studies

We reviewed 135 neuroendovascular procedures monitored by a single professional surgical neurophysiology practice over a 56-month period to assess incidence and type of neuromonitoring alerts and to evaluate efficacy of monitoring. Seventy-four percent of the procedures involved coiling of anterior circulation aneurysms and 16% posterior circulation aneurysms. The majority of the remaining procedures addressed repair of arteriovenous fistulae or other classifications of vascular malformation.

Neuromonitoring alerts occurred in eight (5.9%) of 135 procedures. Alerts were associated with iatrogenic vascular compromise in four (50%) of eight cases. There were two cases of acute aneurysm rupture during catheter positioning, resulting in unilateral loss of tceMEPs in one and bilateral loss of both SSEPs and tceMEPs in



Fig. 42.1 Representative transcranial electric motorevoked potentials, ulnar nerve somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs), and posterior tibial nerve SSEPs recorded during neuroendovascular surgery for embolization of carotid artery fistula. The *top* set of traces in each panel shows baseline-evoked potentials recorded during the early stages of the procedure. The *middle* set of traces shows evoked potentials during balloon occlusion of the right internal carotid artery. *Arrows* indicate significant

amplitude attenuation of tceMEPs from left and right tibialis anterior muscles, as well as disappearance of cortical SSEPs to stimulation of the left ulnar and posterior tibial nerves. The *lower* set of traces in each panel shows full recovery of previously attenuated potentials following deflation of the balloon. *uln* ulnar nerve; *ptn* posterior tibial nerve; *FD* first dorsal interosseous muscle; *TA* tibialis anterior muscle; *Fpz*, *C3'*, *C4'* international 10–20 system designations for scalp recording electrode positions

the other. In both cases, anesthetic level was deepened rapidly with propofol bolus, using EEG burst suppression as a therapeutic target in an effort to reduce cerebral metabolic demand during emergent treatment to achieve hemostasis.

In a third case involving embolization of a carotid artery fistula, balloon occlusion of the right internal carotid artery produced unilateral loss of cortical SSEPs to stimulation of the left ulnar and left posterior tibial nerves, as well as attenuation of tceMEPs from bilateral lower extremities, as shown in Fig. 42.1. Here, the balloon was deflated immediately and mean arterial pressure elevated from 78 to 102 mmHg in an effort to restore adequate cerebral perfusion. All neuromonitoring changes resolved within several minutes of these interventions, and the procedure continued uneventfully.

The fourth instance of vascular compromise occurred during coiling of an anterior communicating artery aneurysm. Following placement of several coils, there was abrupt loss of tceMEPs from the right upper and lower extremities, as shown in Fig. 42.2. Responses from the left upper and lower extremities were unchanged from baseline, as were cortical SSEPs to interleaved stimulation of the left and right ulnar nerves, respectively. Cortical SSEPs to stimulation of the right posterior tibial nerve showed only a nominal, clinically insignificant 25 % attenuation from baseline, while those to stimulation on the left side were unchanged. Placement of additional coils was halted temporarily and an arteriogram performed. The arteriogram showed no embolic occlusion or evidence of obvious vasospasm at that time; however, it is not implausible that this acute right upper and lower myotomal tceMEP loss represented an early functional manifestation of developing vasospasm not yet appreciated on angiography. Following a brief surgical pause, tceMEPs on the right side reappeared and response amplitudes returned to baseline range. Placement of coils subsequently was resumed and completed successfully with no additional episodes of tceMEP amplitude attenuation.

Upper extremity positioning alerts occurred in five (3.7%) of 135 procedures and typically involved compression of the ulnar nerve. In each case, repositioning of the affected arm resulted in prompt resolution of neurophysiologic changes, as shown in Fig. 42.3. During the early stages of the procedure, tceMEPs from left first dorsal



Fig. 42.2 Representative tceMEPs, ulnar nerve SSEPs, and posterior tibial nerve SSEPs recorded during neuroendovascular surgery for coiling of anterior communicating artery aneurysm. The *top* set of traces in each panel shows baseline-evoked potentials recorded during the early stages of the procedure. The *middle* set of traces shows evoked potentials following placement of several coils. *Arrows* indicate disappearance of tceMEPs from right first dorsal interosseous and tibialis anterior muscles at this time. The *lower* set of traces in each panel shows full recovery of previously attenuated potentials following a surgical pause and angiography to rule out vascular occlusion



Fig. 42.3 Representative tceMEPs, ulnar nerve SSEPs, and posterior tibial nerve SSEPs recorded during the early stages of neuroendovascular surgery for coiling of anterior communicating artery aneurysm. The *top* set of traces in each panel shows baseline-evoked potentials. The *middle* set of traces shows evoked potential changes secondary to positioning of the left upper extremity. *Arrows*

indicate attenuation of the tceMEPs from left first dorsal interosseous muscle and the cortical SSEP to stimulation of the left ulnar nerve. The *lower* set of traces in each panel shows full recovery of previously attenuated potentials following repositioning of the left upper extremity. *LUE* left upper extremity, *RUE* right upper extremity

interosseous (FD) muscle and cortical SSEPs to stimulation of the left ulnar nerve decreased in amplitude by greater than 60% from baseline. At this time, there were no concomitant changes in any of the other tceMEPs, including those from left extensor carpi radialis muscle, which unlike the FD muscle is innervated by the radial and not the ulnar nerve.

In light of motor and sensory signal changes that appeared restricted to the left ulnar nerve, attention was directed to inspection of the left upper extremity. Following repositioning of the left arm, both the SSEPs and tceMEPs recovered to baseline amplitude.

Conclusions

Neurophysiological monitoring is effective in detecting evolving neural compromise and prompting timely intervention during neuroendovascular surgery. In the reported series, incidences of cerebrovascular and positioning-related neurophysiological changes were 3% and 3.7%, respectively. These results suggest that while the primary focus of neuromonitoring during neuroendovascular procedures is detection and reversal of developing iatrogenic injury secondary to vascular compromise, its role in identification of reversible positioning-related peripheral nerve compression should be neither overlooked nor underestimated. Finally, the high specificity of neuromonitoring during cerebrovascular surgery [6] is of value in confirming adequacy of collateral cerebral perfusion when there is a question of partial vessel occlusion during neuroendovascular therapy.

Success of monitoring during neuroendovascular surgery depends not only on the skill of the neuromonitoring team in detecting significant neurophysiologic change but also on close cooperation between the surgical neurophysiologist, anesthesiologist, and endovascular specialist in identifying the cause of change and initiating appropriate treatment.

References¹

- Luessenhop AJ, Spence WT. Artificial embolization of cerebral arteries. Report of use in a case of arteriovenous malformation. JAMA. 1960;172:1153.
- Hopkins LN, Higashida RT, Piepgras DG. Perspectives on training standards in neuroendovascular therapeutics. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2000;11(1):187–90.
- Molyneux A, Kerr R, Stratton I, Sandercock P, Clarke M, Shrimpton J, et al. International subarachnoid aneurysm trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomized trial. Lancet. 2002;360:1267–74.
- *Sala F, Niimi Y, Berenstein A, Deletis V. Neuroprotective role of neurophysiological monitoring during endovascular procedures in the spinal cord. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001;939:126–36.
- Lopez JR, Chang SD, Steinberg GK. The use of electrophysiological monitoring in the intraoperative management of intracranial aneurysms. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1999;66(2):189–96.
- *Neuloh G, Schramm J. Monitoring of motor evoked potentials compared with somatosensory evoked potentials and microvascular Doppler ultrasonography in cerebral aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg. 2004;100:389–99.
- Parenti G, Marconi F, Fiori L. Electrophysiological (EEG-SSEP) monitoring during middle cerebral aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg Sci. 1996;40: 195–205.
- ^{*}Quinones-Hinojosa A, Alam M, Lyon R, Yingling CD, Lawton MT. Transcranial motor evoked potentials during basilar artery aneurysm surgery: technique application for 30 consecutive patients. Neurosurgery. 2004;54(4):916–24.
- Schramm J, Koht A, Schmidt G, Pechstein U, Taniguchi M, Fahlbusch R. Surgical and electrophysiological observations during clipping of 134 aneurysms with evoked potential monitoring. Neurosurgery. 1990;26(1):61–70.
- Sundt TM, Sharbrough FW, Anderson RE, Michenfelder JD. Cerebral blood flow measurements and electroencephalograms during carotid endarterectomy. J Neurosurg. 1974;41:310–20.
- Suzuki K, Kodama N, Sasaki T, Matsumoto M, Konno Y, Sakuma J, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of blood flow insufficiency in the anterior choroidal artery during aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg. 2003;98:507–14.
- 12. *Szelenyi A, Kothbauer K, Bueno de Camargo A, Langer D, Flamm ES, Deletis V. Motor evoked potential monitoring during cerebral aneurysm surgery: technical aspects and comparison of transcranial and

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

direct cortical stimulation. Neurosurgery. 2005;57: 331–8.

- *Schwartz DM, Sestokas AK. A systems-based algorithmic approach to intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during spinal surgery. Semin Spine Surg. 2002;14(2):136–45.
- Armonda RA, Thomas JE, Rosenwasser RH. The interventional neuroradiology suite as an operating room. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2000;11(1):1–20.
- Lam AM, Manninen PH, Ferguson GG, Nantau W. Monitoring electrophysiologic function during carotid endarterectomy: a comparison of somatosensory evoked potentials and conventional electroencephalogram. Anesthesiology. 1991;75:15–21.
- Deletis V, Isgum V, Amassian VE. Neurophysiological mechanisms underlying motor evoked potentials in anesthetized humans. Part 1. Recovery time of corticospinal tract direct waves elicited by pairs of transcranial electrical stimuli. Clin Neurophysiol. 2001;112:438–44.
- Deletis V, Rodi Z, Amassian VE. Neurophysiological mechanisms underlying motor evoked potentials in anesthetized humans. Part 2. Relationship between epidurally and muscle recorded MEPs in man. Clin Neurophysiol. 2001;112:445–52.
- Toleikis JR. Intraoperative monitoring using somatosensory evoked potentials. A position statement by the American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring. J Clin Monit Comput. 2005;19(3):241–58.
- Moller AR. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring. Totowa: Humana Press; 2006.
- Schwartz DM, Drummond DS, Hahn M, Ecker ML, Dormans JP. Prevention of positional brachial plexopathy during surgical correction of scoliosis. J Spinal Disord. 2000;13(2):178–82.
- Schwartz DM, Sestokas AK, Hilibrand AS, Vaccaro AR, Bose B, Li M, et al. Neurophysiological identification of position-induced neurologic injury during anterior cervical spine surgery. J Clin Monit Comput. 2006;20:437–44.
- Bhalodia VM, Sestokas AK, Tomak PR, Schwartz DM. Transcranial electric motor evoked potential detection of compressional peroneal nerve injury in the lateral decubitus position. J Clin Monit Comput. 2008;22:319–26.
- Thomas JE, Armonda RA, Rosenwasser RH. Endosaccular thrombosis of cerebral aneurysms. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2000;11(1):101–21.
- DiCindio S, Schwartz DM. Anesthetic management for pediatric spinal fusion; implications of advances in spinal cord monitoring. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2005;23:765–87.
- Sloan TB. Anesthesia and motor evoked potential monitoring. In: Deletis V, Shils JL, editors. Neurophysiology in neurosurgery: a modern intraoperative approach. Philadelphia: Elsevier Science; 2002. p. 451–74.
- Sloan TB, Heyer EJ. Anesthesia for intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring of the spinal cord. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19(5):430–43.

- Sloan TB, Schwartz DM, Bell SD, Sestokas AK. Total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) alternatives in the face of a propofol shortage. Am Soc Neurophysiol Monit Newsl. 2009;17(6):3–8.
- Jensen V, Rappaport BA. The reality of drug shortages—the case of the injectable agent propofol. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(9):806–7.
- Devlin VJ, Schwartz DM. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring during spinal surgery. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2007;15:549–60.

Questions

- 1. Somatosensory-evoked potentials are sensitive to ischemic insult of
 - (a) Afferent fibers within the internal capsule
 - (b) Efferent fibers within the internal capsule
 - (c) Cortical neurons of the post-central gyrus
 - (d) (a) and (c)
 - (e) (a), (b) and (c)
- Multichannel EEG is most sensitive to ischemic injury of
 - (a) Basal Ganglia
 - (b) Internal Capsule
 - (c) Thalamus
 - (d) Cerebral Cortex
 - (e) Cerebellum
- Brain stem auditory-evoked potentials facilitate functional assessment of structures fed by the
 - (a) Basilar artery
 - (b) Carotid artery
 - (c) Anterior Cerebral Artery
 - (d) Middle Cerebral Artery
 - (e) All of the above
- 4. Transcranial electric motor-evoked potentials
 - (a) Are unaffected by the presence of neuromuscular blockade
 - (b) Can identify ulnar nerve compression
 - (c) Cannot be monitored during endovascular procedures because of excessive patient movement
 - (d) Always change in concert with somatosensory-evoked potentials
 - (e) Always change in concert with brainstem auditory-evoked potentials
- Ischemic insult to the lateral lemniscal pathway is best detected using
 - (a) Somatosensory-evoked potentials
 - (b) Motor-evoked potentials

- (c) Brain stem auditory-evoked potentials
- (d) EEG
- (e) (a) and (b)

6. Ischemic insult to the internal capsule is best detected using

- (a) Somatosensory-evoked potentials
- (b) Motor-evoked potentials
- (c) Brain stem auditory-evoked potentials
- (d) EEG
- (e) (a) and (b)

Answer Key for Test Questions

- 1. d
- 2. d
- 3. a
- 4. b
- 5. c
- 6. e

Intraoperative Neuromonitoring in Pediatric Surgery

43

Lisa Francis, Veronica Busso, and John J. McAuliffe

Key Learning Points

- Developmental factors have profound influences on the neurophysiology of young children; consequently, obtaining evoked potentials may require special techniques
- The intraoperative use of volatile anesthetic agents in young children can make obtaining meaningful IONM data impossible.
- Motor evoked potentials may be more easily obtained in very young children than SSEPs as a consequence of developmental factors if permissive anesthetic techniques are used during surgery.
- Care must be exercised when placing needles in the infant scalp due to the presence of open fontanels and sutures.

Introduction

The monitoring modalities most commonly used in adults are also commonly used during pediatric surgical procedures, including electromyography

M.D., M.B.A., D.A.B.N.M. (🖂)

Department of Anesthesiology, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, 3333 Burnet Avenue, Cincinnati, OH 45229, USA e-mail: john.mcauliffe@cchmc.org (EMG), somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs), transcranial motor evoked potentials (TcMEPs), electroencephalography (EEG), brainstem auditory evoked responses (BAERs), and other specific cranial nerve (VII, IX, X, XII) EMG monitoring. Monitoring the bulbocavernosus reflex during complex tethered cord releases and resections of spinal cord lipomas can provide useful information, as this modality is one of the few that provides information on the integrity of both afferent and efferent pathways simultaneously. The potentials obtained from young children and infants may require special techniques to elicit them because the nervous system of young children is still in development. Some of the major developmental processes are summarized in Table 43.1.

Anesthetic Management of Pediatric Surgical Procedures That Require Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring

The anesthesiologist must balance the condition of the patient, the surgical procedure, and the monitoring modalities to be used when selecting an anesthetic technique. Rare metabolic diseases such as mitochondrial myopathies may limit the choice of anesthetic agents that can be safely used. In these cases, the anesthesia team, surgeon, and neurophysiology team must formulate

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_43

L. Francis, D.O. • V. Busso, M.D. • J.J. McAuliffe,

Modality	Age affected	Factors	Manifestation	Adaptive strategy
MN, UN SSEPs	Birth—2 years	Central myelination	Broad, low-amplitude delayed cortical potentials	Decrease stimulus rate; increase pulse length
PTN SSEPs	Birth—4–6 years	Dorsal column myelination	As earlier	As earlier
TcMEPs	Birth—2 years	a	Exquisite sensitivity to volatile agents	Temporal facilitation techniques, high frequency stimulation for CN, UE
D-wave	Birth—2 years	CST myelination	Impossible to record	None known; rely on TcMEPs
EMG	Birth—2 years	b	Low signal amplitude, short duration potentials	Avoid surface pads for intraoperative recording, needle electrodes
BAERs	Birth-1 year	Central myelination	Sensitivity of wave V to volatile agents	TIVA technique
BCR	All	Polysynaptic reflex	Sensitivity to volatile agents	TIVA technique, pulse-train stimulation— double tap or double train with long ITI

 Table 43.1
 Monitoring modalities and developmental factors

^aFactors include reduced monosynaptic connections from CST to α -motor neurons (α MNs), altered α MN biophysical properties, immature target muscle, and dispersion of D waves and I waves on CST due to relatively high variance in conduction velocities

^bFactors include reduced muscle fiber diameter, reduced compound actional potential duration, and relatively large subcutaneous tissue layer

a plan that will provide as much information as possible to guide the procedure while protecting the patient from exposure to potentially hazardous anesthetic agents.

TIVA is the preferred anesthetic technique if TcMEPs are to be elicted. If TIVA is not a feasible option, 0.5 MAC of inhalation agent (desflurane) supplemented with remifentanil can be used in the absence of significant neurological compromise. Higher stimulation intensities may be required to elicit TcMEPs due to volatile agent effects at the level of the alpha motor neurons (α MNs) [1]. Increased stimulus intensities have attendant risks of excessive patient movement and increased risk of bite injuries such as tongue lacerations. The use of volatile agents is also associated with an increased rate of false-positive alerts compared with TIVA [2].

It is generally accepted that healthy young adults, with no pathology involving the pathways involved in IONM, can be anesthetized with either a TIVA or 0.5 MAC desflurane-based anesthetic during monitored (IONM) procedures. This is not the case for young children. The presence of low residual concentrations of sevoflurane, fol-

lowing an inhalation induction, may significantly impair the generation of TcMEPs in the lower extremities. Currently, unpublished data from the author's institution indicates that volatile agent added over a TIVA, as is sometimes done to suppress patient movement, can dramatically reduce TcMEP amplitudes in the lower extremity muscles of young healthy adolescents. TIVA, with propofol and remifentanil, is the recommended primary anesthetic regimen when IONM is required in pediatric patients. The addition of ketamine (5-20 µg/kg/min) to the anesthetic may help provide improved hemodynamic stability, but care must be taken to terminate a ketamine infusion in a timely manner due to the pharmacokinetic properties of ketamine. Ketamine, propofol, and isoflurane have been shown to cause neurodegeneration in the brains of subhuman primates when used in high doses over a period of time [3]; however, the effects in humans are an area of controversy as these agents may protect from damage due to nociceptive inputs [4]. Some propofol sparing may also be achieved by using dexmedetomidine, but dexmedetomidine must be used judiciously as blood levels greater than
0.6 ng/mL depress the MEPs [1]. A low-dose infusion (0.2 μ g/kg/h) without a loading bolus keeps the blood levels below the threshold. If electromyography (EMG) or TcMEPs are used as one of the monitoring modalities, the neuromuscular blocking agents (NMBs) should be avoided if possible. If used for intubation, the use of short-acting agents is preferred as baseline potentials may be acquired within 10–20 min of intubation in some cases. NMBs should be completely avoided, or completely reversed if cranial nerve EMG and/or cranial nerve TcMEPs are to be acquired in young children.

Concern about the ability to assess anesthetic depth with TIVA is cited as a primary reason for not using this technique. Recently published data define the EEG patterns associated with the initial loss of consciousness and maintenance of such loss in healthy volunteers receiving propofol infusions [5, 6], sevoflurane [7], and dexmedetomidine [8]. EEG patterns associated with surgical anesthesia conditions in infants from age 0 to 6 months using sevoflurane have also been published [9]. Similar patterns are also found when using fast-Fourier analysis (FFA) of frontal montage EEG in patients in the same age groups receiving TIVA anesthetics (Fig. 43.1a-d). Although EEG data can be informative regarding cortical activity, it is not completely reliable as a predictor of movement. The successful use of TIVA relies on the suppression of nociceptive stimuli with sufficient narcotic dosing, as propofol has limited ability to prevent movement in dose ranges compatible with eliciting reliable



Fig. 43.1 Two-montage frontal EEG/DSA during TIVA anesthesia in children of different ages. (**a**–**d**) Real-time raw EEG and time-stacked density spectral array (DSA) acquired during TIVA anesthetics for children of ages 4 months, 14 months, 5 years, and 15 years, respectively. (**a**) At 4 months of age, the presence of a high-power delta band is associated with a surgical plane of anesthesia. There is also a 14-Hz beta frequency band present in this

sample. (b) Dense delta and alpha bands are associated with a surgical plane of anesthesia at this age. The raw EEG from the 14-month-old child was recorded during emergence; the DSA shows a transition from a surgical plane (steady state) to a pattern suggestive of emergence. The EEG and DSA patterns for the 5-year-old child (c) and the 15-year-old child (d) are very similar

TcMEPs in the lower extremities of young children. Using a combination of bilateral frontal montage EEG with fast Fourier transform, and EMG, it is possible to monitor both the cortical response to anesthetic dosing and EMG signs of incipient movement. Spontaneous EMG used to monitor the facial and lower cranial nerves has been found to be predictive of incipient patient movement during emergence from anesthesia [10, 11]. We have also found that spontaneous EMG activity in the small muscles of the hands can signify incipient movement as well.

Monitoring Modalities and Development

Somatosensory Evoked Potentials

Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) constitute a set of signals generated by action potentials of nuclei in the CNS and primary sensory cortical neurons in response to stimulation of peripheral nerves; most commonly the median or ulnar nerves for the upper extremities and the posterior tibial nerves for the lower extremities. These signals travel ipsilaterally from the site of the initial peripheral nerve stimulus and then ascend via the dorsal columns, conveying vibration and proprioceptive sensation to either the cuneate (upper extremities) or gracile (lower extremities and trunk) nuclei in the medulla. From there, the response crosses over to the contralateral side in the arcuate fibers and travels to the ventral-posterior lateral tiers of the thalamus via the medial lemniscus. Then the response travels to the cortex through the posterior limb of the internal capsule. Therefore, monitoring SSEPs provides information concerning the integrity of the vibration and proprioceptive sensory tract from the periphery to the primary sensory cortex [12–14]. The basics of SSEPS are covered in more detail in Chap. 1.

The challenge posed by pediatric patients, especially the very young, is that the different parts of the pathways involved in the formation of SSEPs mature at different rates. Myelination of the central pathways is generally complete by 2 years of age, but the myelination of the dorsal columns is not complete until about 8 years of age [15]. The medial lemniscus is usually fully myelinated by 12 months and the thalamocortical projections by 12–18 months of age [16]. As a consequence of the delayed myelination of the dorsal columns, there tends to be greater dispersion of signals traveling up the dorsal columns of a 2-year-old child than an adult, thus resulting in a lower likelihood of generating a useable PTN cortical SSEP in the 2-year-old child. Failure to obtain cortical PTN SSEPs in children younger than 2 years is not uncommon; the rate of failure increases in the face of pathology within the spinal cord and with anesthesia/sedation [17]. We have found that TcMEPs are obtained more frequently than PTN SSEPs when monitoring thoracic and lumbar spinal cord function in children younger than 6 years of age, when using a TIVA technique [18].

The median nerve peripheral responses and cervical potentials have very short latencies in infants and children younger than age 2. Although conduction velocities in the peripheral nerves do not reach adult values until 5 years of age [19], due to the shorter distance between stimulus and recording electrodes, the latencies are much shorter than in an adult. Once the signals reach the medullary nuclei (gracile and cuneate), slower synaptic transmission and slower central conduction times, due to incomplete myelination, result in prolonged peripheral to cortical interpeak latencies and near-adult-value cortical latencies.

Infant cortical SSEPs and cortically dependent neurophysiological signals will, in general, be more sensitive to anesthetic effects than will cortical SSEPs in a school-age child or an adolescent [20]. Recording cortical potentials in this group of children is challenging and is very dependent on the anesthesia team providing a permissive anesthetic and managing it carefully.

When attempting to record SSEPS from an infant or child under 2, the technologist can increase the chance of recording potentials by reducing the stimulus rate and increasing the stimulus pulse width compared to the rate and pulse widths typically used to record SSEPs in adults. Additionally, the waveforms will have altered morphologies; the cortical potentials will have lower amplitudes and longer durations due to the "smearing" effects of conduction velocity dispersion. For many clinical applications, cortical potentials are not essential. For example, when monitoring a tethered cord release, highquality cervical potentials recorded by using an Fz-C5s montage will provide the essential information concerning the integrity of the sacral roots that comprise the PTN (L4–S3). It is often possible to obtain adequate cervical PTN potentials in the same patient as poorly reproducible PTN cortical potentials; failure to include the Fz-C5s montage due to "insufficient" channels may obviate any chance of monitoring PTN potentials in young children.

There is one important technical concern when performing SSEPs in infants under 18 months of age, and that relates to the fontanelles. The anterior and posterior fontanelles are midline openings in the skull that, in conjunction with open sutures, permit rapid brain growth during infancy. The anterior fontanelle may initially enlarge after birth but then decrease in size after 6 months of age. It is typically closed to palpation between 9 and 18 months of age. The anterior fontanelle should be located in young infants as it is proximate to the Fz site. Needle placement at or close to the anterior fontanelle should be avoided. Some infants have a palpable wide metopic suture in the frontal midline. If found, needles should be placed off the midline. The posterior fontanelle is typically closed to palpation by 4 months of age.

Transcranial Motor Evoked Potentials

Within 10 years of the adoption of SSEPs as a means to monitor scoliosis surgery, it was noted that postoperative deficits could occur despite unchanged SSEPs [21]. In response, MEPs were introduced, allowing assessment of the integrity of the large diameter corticospinal tract (CST) axons and the α MNs.

The basic neurophysiology of motor evoked potentials is discussed in Chap. 2, "Transcranial Motor Evoked Potentials." The introduction of MEPs into pediatric clinical practice was motivated by the observation that intra- and postoperative motor deficits can occur without a sensory deficit as monitored by SSEPs. Therefore, it is necessary to monitor the functional integrity of the motor tracts of the spinal cord apart from the sensory tracts. MEPs serve this purpose. MEPs are usually elicited by applying a high voltage, short duration stimulus to the scalp overlying the primary motor cortex. This electrical stimulus depolarizes the axons of the pyramidal neurons (D waves) and the interneurons (I waves) [22]. The D and I waves are conducted along the CST to activate the spinal α MNs [23]. The MEP, recorded from a pair of needle electrodes placed in the muscle groups of interest, represents the compound muscle action potential (CMAP) initiated by the D and I waves. The amplitude, latency, and morphology of the CMAP are the criteria to assess the integrity of the motor pathways. Criteria have been developed for issuing an alert to the surgical team due to changes in the MEPs [24–26]. There are no published large series examining the application of these criteria for alerting the surgical team to changes in children under age 6; however, clinical experience and data from a small series study [27] indicate these criteria are applicable in this age group with the caveats discussed in Macdonald et al. [24].

The D waves are insensitive to anesthetic agents and can be generated even in the presence of greater than 1 MAC of volatile agent [28]. While the amplitude of the D wave may not be affected, the exact latency of the D-wave may be sensitive to volatile agents. The I waves are highly sensitive to anesthetics [28] as well as to ischemia. Cortical ischemia produces an abrupt decrease in MEP amplitude of about 50-75 % due to loss of late I waves [29]. Cortical inhibitory circuits are immature in the infant and may lag excitatory circuits [30]; this may contribute to a reduction in I wave production with transcranial stimulation. The sensitivity of MEPs to anesthetic agents is due largely to the sensitivity of the α MNs. All anesthetics decrease the resting membrane potential of the α MNs; thus, a greater change in membrane potential is required to achieve depolarization [31]. The neuromodulatory influence of serotonin and noradrenaline has a significant effect on α MN excitability by regulating channel open-state time and resting membrane potential [32]. Volatile agents reduce serotoninergic output while ketamine may potentiate it [33, 34]. All of the adverse effects of anesthetic agents on MEP generation are more prominent in young children due to immaturity of the motor system. Although direct corticospinal tract to α MN connections are present in the MNs innervating muscles of the hand [35], there are both anatomic and molecular changes in the properties of the α MNs associated with maturation [36–38].

As a consequence of these factors, special techniques such as temporal or spatial facilitation may be required to elicit MEPs in very young children. The temporal facilitation technique, also called double-train stimulation, can be very effective for obtaining TcMEPs from young children [39, 40]. Spatial facilitation is technically more difficult and is limited to the homonymous muscle in a single (or two, upper or lower) limb(s), whereas temporal facilitation has no such limits. The stimulation parameters found to be effective in over 60% of cases are shown in Table 43.2. The interstimulus interval is defined as the time between pulses in a train of pulses and has units of milliseconds. Some equipment manufacturers do not specify interstimulus interval per se, but rather specify rate in pulses per second. A rate of 1000 pulses per second yields an interstimulus interval of 1 ms. The intertrain interval is the time between trains. It is defined in the literature as the time between the start of the first train and the start of the second train. However, on some commercially available equipment, the definition is the time between the end of the first train and the start of the second train-the distinction is critical. The intertrain interval (ITI) and interstimulus interval (ISI) may require optimization depending on the target muscle group and any underlying pathology. The degree of facilitation is sensitive to the intertrain interval [39]; the maximum amplitudes of TcMEPs obtained from upper versus lower extremity muscles will generally occur at different interstimulus intervals, with longer ISIs favoring lower extremities [41].

Table 43.2 Parameters for use of temporal facilitationTcMEPs

Parameter	Value	Range	Comments
Voltage	Start 125/125	As needed	Achieve MEP amplitude variance of < 20 % of mean
Pulse length	75 μs	50-100	100 µs optimal but considered slow charge in US
Pulses in train	4/4	3/3-4/6	Longer trains may elicit LE MEPs
Interpulse interval ^a	1–1.33 ms	1–3 ms	Short IP(S)I favors UE and CN, longer favors LE
Intertrain interval ^b	12 ms	9–15 ms	Equipment- specific definition

^aInterpulse interval or interstimulus interval (ISI) is the reciprocal of pulse frequency (p/s); p/s of 500 is equivalent to an ISI of 2 ms

^bThe definition of ITI varies between users of the term. Journee et al. define ITI as the time between *start* of the first train and start of the second train. Some equipment manufacturers define ITI as the time between the *end* of the first train and the start of the second train. The difference is the length of the first train. Use of the correct definition is important to avoid inhibition occurring as a result of a longer, or shorter, than desired ITI

Electromyography

The basic principles of electromyography have been discussed in Chap. 7. The application of the technique to infants and children under anesthesia does not require the use of special techniques such as those required to elicit TcMEPs. The muscle mass of infants and young children is reduced compared to adults; at birth, the diameter of individual fibers is about one-fourth that of an adult. Fiber diameter increases in size through puberty [42]. Additionally, the mean duration of motor unit action potentials is significantly shorter in infancy and early childhood than at 20 years of age. Thus, EMG responses will have a different appearance and may have lower than expected amplitude, especially if subdermal needles are used. Positioning the needle electrodes intramuscularly will enhance the value of EMG monitoring [43].

Electroencephalography

The EEG waveform represents the fluctuating influence of excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs) and inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (IPSPs) on the dendrites of cortical neurons in part generated by the interaction of cortical and thalamo-cortical relay neurons. The frequencies observable from these recordings are limited by the skull, galea, and scalp as these structures form an effective low-pass filter. The EEG can be recorded and analyzed by direct inspection of waveform patterns and by means of the density spectral array (DSA). The EEG exhibits certain characteristics that are age and anesthetic agent dependent [44]. In general, there is a progression of the EEG frequency content from posterior to anterior-the fastest frequencies occurring in the frontal recording montages. The normal EEG displays symmetry between hemispheres and shows synchronization across montages. Sharp wave and spikes may suggest an underlying seizure disorder. Abnormally slow EEG suggests diffuse metabolic abnormalities. The anesthetic depth is determined by the proportion of alpha activity (8-15 Hz), beta activity (15-25 Hz), theta activity (4-7 Hz), and delta activity (1-3 Hz) recorded on the EEG tracing. Spectral edge frequency has been used as a marker of anesthetic depth although the correlation between sedation scores and SEF95 remain imperfect as is true for bispectral index (BIS) [45]. Children younger than 2 years of age, especially those younger than 12 months, display higher SEF95 values for similar sedation scores than older children; the same is true for BIS values [46].

For many procedures, a simple two-montage EEG such as Fp1-C3, Fp2-C4 may be sufficient. Procedures involving the cerebral vasculature may require use of more extensive EEG monitoring, using montages that cover the at-risk vascular territories and the watershed areas associated with the cerebral vasculature in question. As noted previously, much of the frontal EEG spectral power in a young child under anesthesia is in the delta frequency band. However, significant alpha frequency power may also present in children over 6 months of age. Loss of the alpha frequency power and generalized EEG amplitude reduction during vascular procedures or mass lesion resections near major vessels, unless associated with an abrupt change in anesthetic "depth," or level, is cause for alerting the surgeon, analogous to similar changes during a carotid endarterectomy (see Chap. 20, "Monitoring Applications and Evaluating Changes").

Brain Stem Auditory Evoked Responses

The neurophysiology of brainstem auditory evoked responses and the techniques for acquiring them are discussed in Chap. 3, "Auditory Evoked Potentials." Auditory evoked responses are typically divided into short, middle, and long latency responses. During surgery, only the short latency responses are resistant to the effects of anesthetic agents and are useful for assessing the integrity of the eighth cranial nerve and the ascending auditory pathways to the level of the inferior colliculus. The "resistance" of shortlatency BAERs to anesthesia is age dependent; clinical experience indicates that identification of wave V in infants younger than 6 months who have been anesthetized with sevoflurane is much more difficult, due to low amplitude signals, than in infants anesthetized with propofol (Unpublished data). In the nonanesthetized state, BAERs can be recorded from infants at 25 to 27 weeks' gestation. Term infants will have wave I latencies similar to those of adults; wave III and V latencies reach adult values by 18–36 months of age [47].

Bulbocavernosus Reflex

Monitoring the bulbocavernosus reflex has been proposed by Skinner as a means of preserving lower sacral nerve function during intradural and extradural surgeries at the level of the conus medullaris, cauda equina, sacral plexus, and the pudendal nerve [48] (see Chap. 8, "The Use of Reflex Responses for Intraoperative Monitoring" for details). Acquisition of the reflex requires use of a multipulse technique applied as a double train with a long intertrain interval. Alternatively, a double-tap technique can be used. In either case, the acquisition time must be sufficiently long to capture the response (200 ms window). The reflex is also sensitive to anesthetic technique in young children and infants; TIVA is the preferred anesthetic technique for acquisition of this reflex. Recording electrodes are placed on opposite sides of the anal sphincter. These same electrodes can be used to record TcMEPs from the anal sphincter. Loss of the BCR but not the anal sphincter TcMEP suggests damage to the efferent pathways in the reflex arc. We record BCRs during complex tethered cord releases, lipoma resections, and similar procedures. The presence of a preexisting major urodynamic abnormality usually makes recording the BCR impossible, whereas mild abnormalities are not incompatible with recording the BCR (Fig. 43.2).

Common Pediatric Surgical Procedures Utilizing IONM

A summary of common pediatric surgical procedures and the IONM modalities utilized during these procedures is presented in Table 43.3. A detailed discussion of some of the listed procedures follows.



Fig. 43.2 Bulbocavernosus reflex (BCR). The BCR was elicited from an 11-month-old girl undergoing repair of complex tethered cord and spinal cord lipoma resection. The stimulating cathode was placed at the clitoris and the anode slightly laterally and caudad. Correct positioning of the anal sphincter recording electrodes is also important

(see Skinner reference for details). Two trials of right side stimulation are shown. In this case, a bilateral response is obtained. Note the complexity and duration of the response. The right side response appears to have two parts; loss of either the early or the late response may be significant and should be reported to the surgeon

Procedure	Modalities	Comments
Posterior spinal fusion	UN & PTN SSEPs, TcMEPs EMG, trig-EMG	
Spinal cord tumor resection	UN & PTN SSEPs, Dorsal column mapping, D wave, TcMEPs, EMG	D wave may not be obtained if child <22 months. old or lesion below T10
Tethered cord and variants	EMG, trig-EMG, BCR, +/- UN & PTN SSEPs, TcMEPs	Inclusion of sphincters in TcMEP montages when possible
Selective dorsal rhizotomy	EMG, trig-EMG	Trig-EMG acquired using single pulse and 50-Hz pulse train
Chiari (with syrinx) decompression	MN & PTN SSEPs, TcMEPs, +/- CN XI EMG	Significant bradycardia may be seen during coagulation of cerebellar tonsils
Resection of supratentorial mass lesions	MN & PTN SSEPs, TcMEPs, +/- DCS ^a , SCM ^b	Use near-threshold techniques for TcMEPs
Resection of	MN & PTN SSEPs, TcMEPs, BAERs,	Use near-threshold techniques for TcMEPs
infratentorial mass lesions CPA region/ lateral	CN VII-EMG +/- CN V, VI, IX, X -EMG, CN VII TeMEP	Hemispheric stimulation suggested for CN TcMEPs
Resection of	MN & PTN SSEPs, TcMEPs, BAERs,	Use near-threshold techniques for TcMEPs
infratentorial mass lesions fourth ventricle/midline	CN VII-EMG +/- CN V, VI, IX-XII -EMG, CN VII, X, XII TcMEP	Hemispheric stimulation suggested for CN TcMEPs

Table 43.3 Common pediatric surgical procedures and IONM modalities

^aDirect cortical stimulation (DCS) parameters are different than those for TcMEPS. Anode stimulation keeping delivered current below 25 mA with remote cathode (e.g., Fz). Typical: 4-pulse train, 500 µs pulses with 2–4 ms ISI ^bSubcortical mapping (SCM) is useful for estimating distance between resection point and CST. Multiple studies have concluded that the distance in millimeters between the stimulus point and the CST is equal to the number of mA needed to elicit a motor response. The techniques described by Seidel et al. [58] have worked well in children

Posterior Spinal Fusion

Perhaps the most common surgical procedure performed in children and adolescents utilizing IONM is posterior spinal fusion for scoliosis. Scoliosis may result from congenital abnormalities, neuromuscular disorders, or may be idiopathic. Prior to the availability of IONM, the "wake-up" test was used to assess the integrity of the motor system during surgery. The problem with this approach is that the wake up is a snapshot at one point in time. The time between insult and the discovery of a loss of movement may be too long to take meaningful steps to mitigate the damage. The combined use of EMG, SSEPs, and MEPs is advocated for spine surgery to correct scoliosis and kyphosis [49, 50]. Significant changes in MEPs may be associated with technical factors, physiological factors (hypotension), positioning, anesthetic effects, or surgical causes [51].

Permanent or transient neurologic injury can occur during pedicle screw placement. Pedicle screws provide a rigid mechanism to connect each vertebral segment with the rods that straighten the spine. A correctly placed pedicle screw should be completely surrounded by bone; a misplaced screw may breach the spinal canal medially and can directly traumatize the spinal cord, which may result in instantaneous or delayed loss of MEPs and SSEPs. A medial breach with trauma to the spinal cord may be associated with EMG discharges several segments below the level of screw placement [52]. Evaluation of TcMEPs after large discharges of this type is suggested, as these discharges have been associated with acute loss of TcMEPs [52]. Boney tissue has greater impedance to electric current than nerve tissue. Direct application of electrical current to each pedicle screw and the monitoring of EMG activity from muscles that receive their innervation from spinal nerves associated with screw locations can detect a breach of the pedicle wall and potentially avoid injury to nerve roots or to the spinal cord caused by malpositioned or misdirected pedicle screws. Pedicle screw thresholds below 4 mA are associated with

a high rate of medial breach for screws placed in the lumbar–sacral region. In practice, a threshold of 6 mA is typically used for thoracic screws [53]. The introduction of titanium pedicle screws has led some authors to develop alternative techniques for pedicle screw testing. Probing the tap hole while using a ball-tip probe using a multipulse technique with constant current has been proposed as an alternative to conventional pedicle screw testing [54].

There is debate over the appropriate criteria to use for issuing an "alert" or "alarm" based on MEP changes [25]. There is no debate about the implications of sudden loss of both MEPs and SSEPs following placement of a pedicle screw or a sublaminar wire. It is important that all parties are in agreement as to the specific criteria to be used before a case is started and the course of action to be followed in the event of an alarm. If baselines show a large amount of variability, then total loss may be the best criteria, as false positives are avoided and there is time for recovery from ischemic events if corrective measures are taken within 30 min [55]. One caveat to this approach is that ischemia in the high thoracic region may go undetected for many minutes due to the fact that white matter is more resistant to ischemia than motor neurons [56]. This scenario is much less common than direct trauma to the cord, but one must be vigilant, as treating the root cause may prevent a long-term or permanent loss of motor function.

Anesthetic Management During Spine Surgery

In the past, posterior fusions were performed with controlled hypotension. This technique is no longer recommended. Intraoperative blood pressure management is dependent on the severity of the curve, the type of spinal deformity (kyphosis vs scoliosis), and existing comorbidities. Severe kyphosis should receive special attention, as the incidence of neurological injury with reduction of kyphosis is significantly higher than that for scoliosis [57]. Osteotomies may be performed if a curve is rigid or for sagittal imbalance or other complex deformities. Pedicle subtraction and three-column osteotomies are associated with greater risk of neurological injury [57].

Acute, complete loss of SSEPs and/or MEPs during a spinal deformity correction procedure poses a significant challenge to the operating team. Spinal cord injury can occur from direct injury, from a vascular injury related to an implant, or from vascular compromise not directly related to the implant (ischemia secondary to hypoperfusion). Once SSEP or MEP loss is detected. previously established protocols designed to cover this contingency should be executed. Checklist approaches for the management of loss of neurophysiological potentials have been published [58]. Frequently, mean arterial blood pressure (MAP) is elevated to some predetermined target range to increase the spinal cord perfusion pressure. This can be accomplished by reducing the dose of anesthetic agent, increasing intravascular volume through colloid or blood transfusion, or by infusion of a vasoconstrictor (phenylephrine) or an inotrope (dopamine). The hematocrit and arterial blood gases should be optimized. At the same time, the surgeon will evaluate the field to judge if there is reversible intervention or other evidence of direct injury.

Dorsal Rhizotomy

Selective dorsal rhizotomies are done to decrease spasticity in children with cerebral palsy, spinal cord injury, or traumatic brain injury. The spasticity results from abnormal regulation of the gamma motor neurons and abnormal connections between 1A afferents and α MNs. The combination results in the classic cog-wheel behavior seen with passive movement of a joint. Excitatory influences dominate at the alpha motor neurons, leading to spasticity and contractures.

Surgically, afferent (sensory) dorsal nerve roots from L1 to S1 are divided into rootlets and the rootlets are selectively cut to reduce the spasticity. Each rootlet is sequentially tested, initially with a 1- to 2-Hz constant current pulse to determine the threshold current needed to elicit a stable EMG response. The threshold current is then applied for 1 s at 50 Hz and the response noted

A							
Trace Window							
Area 3 - LEFT				Area 3 - RIGHT			
		white Balan	ADD LONG				32:em7-rt7
Stimulus onset		w Law Date					
			VAST LAT				33:em8-rt8 20 pV
			HAMSTRING		+		34-pmg-rtg
a galgh-all adapted in the state of the stat	and the second second		and the standard by the second				20 µY
			TIB ANT				35:em10-rt10
			20 μ				copr
			MED GAST				36:em11-rt11 20 µV
		de la desine	ANAL SPHINCT		+ + +		[37:em12-rt12] 100 (N
0.5 s/div				0.5 s/div	++		++
Trace Window							
Area 3 - LEFT				Area 3 - RIGHT			
	differentels in the	Personal Contraction of the	ADD LONG				32:em7-rt7 20 µV
		~	VAST LAT		+		33:em8-rt8
	langta (Baldy) ann a da langa	Aft	er discharges				20 µV
<- Stimulus	onset	-1	HAMSTRING				34:em9-rt9
	and dependently a	4	20 49				20 μγ
	- All and a start	offinal &	TIB ANT				35:em10-rt10 20 pv
	ALL ALL	1					
- Manhanana and an and a state of the state of the state	And the second second	Appendimenter of	MED GAST				36:em11-rt11 20 py
al a she low	Ald marked by the	Al un the balance	A ANAL SRHINCT		المحل المراجع المراجع		37:em12-rt12
hald a shake the sheet to show the state	a the bir addition of	an a fill and in the fact	i hat he had a state of a		and the line of the line of the	the state of the s	
0.5 s/div	han die	the state of the s		0.5 s/div			

Fig. 43.3 Triggered EMG Responses to a 50-Hz stimulus during selective dorsal rhizotomy (SDR). The response to a 1-s-long 50 Hz stimulus of a dorsal L5 rootlet during a SDR is shown in both panels. A minimally pathological response is shown in (**a**); this was the best rootlet among all tested

[59]. The response is graded by the number of muscles exhibiting EMG activity, and the intensity and duration of the activity (see Fig. 43.3a, b). Responses involving muscles contralateral to the stimulated root are always pathological. Direct palpation of muscle responses by an experienced physiatrist augments the neurophysiological data and can be very helpful in selecting rootlets to cut versus rootlets to save. Sacral roots below S1 are generally not interrogated during these procedures as these roots contain fibers important to preservation of urogenital function. If S2 plays a significant role in the spasticity, attention is paid to the sphincter activity elicited when individual rootlets are stimulated, as significant sphincter activation may be grounds for sparing the rootlet.

In general, 50–65% of all rootlets are sectioned but at least one rootlet from each root is spared to preserve normal sensation in the distribution of the root in question. Muscle relaxants must be avoided

from the L5 root. A very pathological response is shown in (b). There is EMG activity after the end of the stimulus (after discharges) from multiple muscles ipsilateral to the stimulus and from the adductor longus on the contralateral side. The patient's main gate impediment was scissoring

and excessive depth is undesirable as the technique relies on α MNs responding to input from homonymous 1A afferents. Preservation of the clonus response helps assure that EMG responses can be elicited using reasonable stimulating currents. Therefore, the goal of IONM is to help the surgeon to restore the balance between the inhibitory and excitatory motor influences, while preserving as much sensory innervation as possible. Postoperatively, this procedure results in improved muscle tone, mobility, and balance.

Tethered Cord Release

Tethered cords occur because the conus medullaris is prevented from migrating cephalad as the child grows. Tethered cord can be diagnosed clinically or radiographically. The most common signs and symptoms are leg muscle weakness and sensory loss, bowel or bladder dysfunction, back or leg pain, and disturbed gait. MRI may reveal a displaced cord, scar, lipoma, or tight filum. Pathophysiologically, there is a mechanical deterioration that distorts the cord and neuronal components. A growth spurt can cause increased tension on the distal portion of the cord, leading to impaired blood flow and cord ischemia, which usually improves after surgery. Most often the anomalous tissue preventing the natural migration also contains nerve tissue as well. Similar to dorsal rhizotomies, direct-stimulation EMG allows the surgeon to differentiate the nerve tissue from the anomalous tissue prior to cutting to allow the cord release. Monitoring bowel and bladder function via anal sphincter and detrusor muscle EMG and monitoring BCR helps to maximize the probability of preservation of function.

Craniotomy for Tumor/Mass Lesion Resection

Multiple structures are at risk during resection of intracranial mass lesions depending on the location of the lesion. Multiple IONM modalities may be employed to help assure the surgeon of the integrity of the nervous system. During resection of supratentorial tumors, the CST may be close to the resection margins. The location of the incision may prevent optimal placement of the stimulation electrodes for eliciting TcMEPs. In some cases, sterile stimulation electrodes may be placed in the field on the motor cortex. The motor strip must first be identified using phase reversal of the median nerve SSEP N20 peak prior to direct cortical stimulation (see Fig. 43.4). Subcortical mapping, using cathodal stimulation, is useful to determine this distance between the resection margin and the CST



Fig. 43.4 Direct cortical stimulation (DCS) during supratentorial tumor resection. Two consecutive trials of direct cortical stimulation over hand motor area using a 1×4 grid (#3 location) are shown in (**a**, **b**), respectively.

The stimulation parameters were four pulses, 500-ms pulse length, 4 ms ISI, 25 mA. Note there is minimal variability in the amplitude as long as the grid remains stationary



Fig. 43.5 Brainstem cavernoma. The MRI shows the location of a brainstem cavernoma in a 15-month-old child who developed acute onset of right-sided weakness and a right lower facial droop. Both the CST and corticobulbar tracts were involved. CN VII EMG was used during the resection but CN VII TcMEPs could not be obtained at baseline on the right, consistent with the presenting physical findings

and to estimate the likelihood of residual deficits associated with the subcortical resection [60].

Monitoring cranial nerve function is frequently done during resection of infratentorial lesions (see Fig. 43.5). Individual cranial nerves may be monitored by use of cranial nerve (CN) EMG (Fig. 43.6b). EMG from specific cranial nerves is very sensitive to the effects of NMBs; consequently, these drugs should be avoided if CN EMG is employed. Special techniques have been described to elicit EMG responses from CN VII, X, and XII [61, 62]. Cranial nerve EMG displays specific patterns predictive of later dysfunction, especially so for the facial nerve [63, 64]. EMG responses to direct stimulation of the floor of the fourth ventricle (rhomboid fossa) may be used to map the location of cranial nerves and their nuclei in order to find a safe entry point for tumor resection [65]. The location of critical structures in the rhomboid fossa may be significantly distorted depending on the location of a brainstem lesion [66]. While much attention is paid to the location of the facial colliculus, it is important to remember that the hypoglossal nucleus and the motor nucleus of CN X are in close proximity to the floor of the fourth ventricle in the caudal segment of the rhomboid fossa and the nucleus of CN VI lies near the facial colliculus. These mapping techniques cannot guarantee the integrity of the corticobulbar tracts. However, these should be monitored by either direct cortical stimulation or transcranial techniques [62, 65, 67]. by Hemispheric stimulation is the technique of choice for eliciting cranial nerve TcMEPs in children in order to minimize the probability of direct stimulation of the facial nerve on the side of interest. Correct placement of the anode over the face motor area is key to successful acquisition of CN VII and XII TcMEPs. High-frequency pulses (1 ms ISI) appear to work well with 75 μ s pulses. The actual latency of the facial nerve TcMEP may be normal or significantly prolonged at baseline depending on the size, location, and secondary effects of the mass lesion (see Fig. 43.5c, d).

The only afferent pathway that can be monitored is the auditory pathway. The BAER provides information concerning the integrity of the auditory nerve, cochlear nucleus, and lateral lemniscus. Sudden significant changes in heart rate and/or blood pressure may be the only indications of irritation of CN IX/X afferent pathways and should prompt immediate notification of the surgeon by the anesthesia team.

Monitoring of tumor resections in the posterior fossa requires a highly skilled IONM team and careful attention to the anesthetic management. The techniques used to elicit TcMEPs for intracranial surgery are different than those used during spine surgery. The region of the CST depolarized on the anode side must be as close to the axon hillock as possible to avoid depolarization of the CST beyond the region at risk. In most cases, acquisition of TcMEPs from the intrinsic muscles of the hand and digital flexors is sufficient to provide information regarding the integrity of the motor pathways. Exceptions to this generalization include lesions near the lateral part of the crus cerebri, as the CST fibers projecting the α MN innervating lower extremity muscles are in close proximity. Excessive anesthetic depth, producing burst suppression, or use of volatile agents in young children may prevent eliciting



Fig. 43.6 CN EMG and CN VII TCMEPS during posterior fossa tumor resections. (a) An example of CN VI firing briefly during the resection of a posterior fossa tumor lying high in the rhomboid fossa (CN VI and VII monitored). (b) Demonstrates a train from CN XII on the left. The detailed morphologies of the CMAPs are shown in the bottom half of the panel. The lower cranial nerves were at risk during the resection of the tumor monitored using CN VII—XII EMG bilaterally. Two facial nerve

TcMEPs are shown in (c, d). (c) Illustrates a left facial nerve TcMEP with a normal latency; a small APB MEP is present at a longer latency. The right facial nerve response is shown to be sure that the left TcMEP is a real MEP and not the result of direct stimulation of the facial nerve. The facial nerve TcMEP in (d) has a delayed latency. The tumor in this case was much larger than that of case in (c) and distorted the brainstem at the level of the facial colliculus

lower extremity TcMEPs when appropriate stimulating conditions for intracranial surgery are utilized. Further, smaller changes in the amplitude of the MEPs are needed to achieve alarm criteria during intracranial surgery than for spine surgery and the time window for corrective action is shorter during intracranial surgery than for spine surgery [68, 69]. The influence of anesthetic agents can confound the interpretation of changes if the anesthetic is not well managed or communication between the IONM team, the anesthesia team, and the surgical team is less than ideal.

Conclusion

A close working relationship between the anesthesiologist, the surgeon, and the neuromonitoring team yields optimal patient care during these specialized surgical procedures. The anesthesiologist must have an in-depth understanding of the surgical procedure, as well as a general knowledge of the different IONM modalities available, to help insure an anesthetic plan tailored to the successful interpretation of IONM data and optimal patient outcome.

References

- Mahmoud M, Sadhasivam S, Salisbury S, Nick TG, Schnell B, Sestokas AK, et al. Susceptibility of transcranial electric motor-evoked potentials to varying targeted blood levels of dexmedetomidine during spine surgery. Anesthesiology. 2010;112(6): 1364–73.
- Tamkus AA, Rice KS, Kim HL. Differential rates of false-positive findings in transcranial electric motor evoked potential monitoring when using inhalational anesthesia versus total intravenous anesthesia during spine surgeries. Spine J. 2014;14(8):1440–6.
- Creeley C, Dikranian K, Dissen G, Martin L, Olney J, Brambrink A. Propofol-induced apoptosis of neurones and oligodendrocytes in fetal and neonatal rhesus macaque brain. Br J Anaesth. 2013;110 Suppl 1:i29–38.
- Yan J, Jiang H. Dual effects of ketamine: neurotoxicity versus neuroprotection in anesthesia for the developing brain. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2014;26(2):155–60.
- Purdon PL, Pierce ET, Mukamel EA, Prerau MJ, Walsh JL, Wong KF, et al. Electroencephalogram signatures of loss and recovery of consciousness from propofol. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(12):E1142–51.
- Mukamel EA, Pirondini E, Babadi B, Wong KF, Pierce ET, Harrell PG, et al. A transition in brain state during propofol-induced unconsciousness. J Neurosci. 2014;34(3):839–45.
- Akeju O, Westover MB, Pavone KJ, Sampson AL, Hartnack KE, Brown EN, et al. Effects of sevoflurane and propofol on frontal electroencephalogram power and coherence. Anesthesiology. 2014;121(5):990–8.
- Akeju O, Pavone KJ, Westover MB, Vazquez R, Prerau MJ, Harrell PG, et al. A comparison of propofol- and dexmedetomidine-induced electroencephalogram dynamics using spectral and coherence analysis. Anesthesiology. 2014;121(5):978–89.
- Cornelissen L, Kim SE, Purdon PL, Brown EN, Berde CB. Age-dependent electroencephalogram (EEG) patterns during sevoflurane general anesthesia in infants. eLife. 2015;4:e06513.
- Jellish WS, Leonetti JP, Buoy CM, Sincacore JM, Sawicki KJ, Macken MP. Facial nerve electromyographic monitoring to predict movement in patients titrated to a standard anesthetic depth. Anesth Analg. 2009;109(2):551–8.
- Prell J, Rampp S, Ache J, Laule S, Rachinger J, Scheller C, et al. The potential of quantified lower cranial nerve EMG for monitoring of anesthetic depth. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2012;24(2):139–45.
- Nash Jr CL, Lorig RA, Schatzinger LA, Brown RH. Spinal cord monitoring during operative treatment of the spine. Clin Orthop Rel Res. 1977;126:100–5.
- Gilmore R. The use of somatosensory evoked potentials in infants and children. J Child Neurol. 1989;4(1):3–19.
- Gilmore R. Somatosensory evoked potential testing in infants and children. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1992;9(3):324–41.

- Cracco JB, Cracco RQ, Stolove R. Spinal evoked potential in man: a maturational study. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1979;46(1):58–64.
- 16. Yakolev P. The myelogenic cycles of regional maturation in the brain. In: Minkowski A, editor. Regional development of the brain in early life. Philadelphia: FA Davis; 1967. p. 3.
- Fagan ER, Taylor MJ, Logan WJ. Somatosensory evoked potentials: Part I. A review of neural generators and special considerations in pediatrics. Pediatr Neurol. 1987;3(4):189–96.
- McIntyre IW, Francis L, McAuliffe JJ. Transcranial motor evoked potentials are more easily acquired than somatosensory evoked potentials in children less than 6 years of age. Anesth Analg. 2016;122(1):212–8.
- Eyre JA, Miller S, Ramesh V. Constancy of central conduction delays during development in man: investigation of motor and somatosensory pathways. J Physiol. 1991;434:441–52.
- Whittle IR, Johnston IH, Besser M. Short latency somatosensory-evoked potentials in children—Part 1. Normative data. Surg Neurol. 1987;27(1):9–18.
- Lesser RP, Raudzens P, Luders H, Nuwer MR, Goldie WD, Morris III HH, et al. Postoperative neurological deficits may occur despite unchanged intraoperative somatosensory evoked potentials. Ann Neurol. 1986;19(1):22–5.
- Amassian VE, Stewart M. Motor cortical and other cortical interneuronal networks that generate very high frequency waves. Suppl Clin Neurophysiol. 2003;56:119–42.
- Macdonald DB. Intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring: overview and update. J Clin Monit Comput. 2006;20(5):347–77.
- 24. Macdonald DB, Skinner S, Shils J. Yingling C; American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring. Intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring—a position statement by the American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring. Clin Neurophysiol. 2013;124(12):2291–316.
- 25. Langeloo DD, Journee HL, de Kleuver M, Grotenhuis JA. Criteria for transcranial electrical motor evoked potential monitoring during spinal deformity surgery. A review and discussion of the literature. Neurophysiologie Clin. 2007;37(6):431–9.
- 26. Quinones-Hinojosa A, Lyon R, Zada G, Lamborn KR, Gupta N, Parsa AT, et al. Changes in transcranial motor evoked potentials during intramedullary spinal cord tumor resection correlate with postoperative motor function. Neurosurgery. 2005;56(5):982–93.
- Fulkerson DH, Satyan KB, Wilder LM, Riviello JJ, Stayer SA, Whitehead WE, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of motor evoked potentials in very young children. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;7(4):331–7.
- Burke D, Hicks R, Stephen J. Anodal and cathodal stimulation of the upper-limb area of the human motor cortex. Brain. 1992;115(Pt 5):1497–508.
- 29. Fujiki M, Furukawa Y, Kamida T, Anan M, Inoue R, Abe T, et al. Intraoperative corticomuscular motor evoked potentials for evaluation of motor function: a

comparison with corticospinal D and I waves. J Neurosurg. 2006;104(1):85–92.

- Tasker JG, Peacock WJ, Dudek FE. Local synaptic circuits and epileptiform activity in slices of neocortex from children with intractable epilepsy. J Neurophysiol. 1992;67(3):496–507.
- Rampil IJ, King BS. Volatile anesthetics depress spinal motor neurons. Anesthesiology. 1996;85(1): 129–34.
- Heckman CJ, Mottram C, Quinlan K, Theiss R, Schuster J. Motoneuron excitability: the importance of neuromodulatory inputs. Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;120(12):2040–54.
- Mukaida K, Shichino T, Koyanagi S, Himukashi S, Fukuda K. Activity of the serotonergic system during isoflurane anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 2007;104(4):836–9.
- 34. Irifune M, Shimizu T, Nomoto M. Ketamine-induced hyperlocomotion associated with alteration of presynaptic components of dopamine neurons in the nucleus accumbens of mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 1991;40(2):399–407.
- 35. Eyre JA, Miller S, Clowry GJ, Conway EA, Watts C. Functional corticospinal projections are established prenatally in the human foetus permitting involvement in the development of spinal motor centres. Brain. 2000;123(Pt 1):51–64.
- Olivier E, Edgley SA, Armand J, Lemon RN. An electrophysiological study of the postnatal development of the corticospinal system in the macaque monkey. J Neurosci. 1997;17(1):267–76.
- Jakowec MW, Fox AJ, Martin LJ, Kalb RG. Quantitative and qualitative changes in AMPA receptor expression during spinal cord development. Neuroscience. 1995;67(4):893–907.
- Armand J, Olivier E, Edgley SA, Lemon RN. Postnatal development of corticospinal projections from motor cortex to the cervical enlargement in the macaque monkey. J Neurosci. 1997;17(1):251–66.
- Journee HL, Polak HE, De Kleuver M. Conditioning stimulation techniques for enhancement of transcranially elicited evoked motor responses. Clin Neurophysiol. 2007;37(6):423–30.
- Journee HL, Polak HE, de Kleuver M, Langeloo DD, Postma AA. Improved neuromonitoring during spinal surgery using double-train transcranial electrical stimulation. Med Biol Eng Comput. 2004;42(1):110–3.
- 41. van Hal C, Hoebink E, Polak HE, Racz I, de Kleuver M, Journee HL. Optimum interpulse interval for transcranial electrical train stimulation to elicit motor evoked potentials of maximal amplitude in both upper and lower extremity target muscles. Clin Neurophysiol. 2013;124(10):2054–9.
- 42. Barbet JP, Butler-Browne GS, Labbe S, Maillet M, Pompidou A. Quantification of the diameter of muscular fibres in the course of the development of the quadriceps. Bull Assoc Anat. 1991;75(230):25–9.
- 43. Skinner SA, Transfeldt EE, Savik K. Surface electrodes are not sufficient to detect neurotonic discharges: observations in a porcine model and clinical review of deltoid electromyographic monitoring

using multiple electrodes. J Clin Monit Comput. 2008;22(2):131–9.

- Eisermann M, Kaminska A, Moutard ML, Soufflet C, Plouin P. Normal EEG in childhood: from neonates to adolescents. Neurophysiol Clin. 2013;43(1):35–65.
- 45. Bruhn J, Bouillon TW, Radulescu L, Hoeft A, Bertaccini E, Shafer SL. Correlation of approximate entropy, bispectral index, and spectral edge frequency 95 (SEF95) with clinical signs of "anesthetic depth" during coadministration of propofol and remifentanil. Anesthesiology. 2003;98(3):621–7.
- 46. Jeleazcov C, Schmidt J, Schmitz B, Becke K, Albrecht S. EEG variables as measures of arousal during propofol anaesthesia for general surgery in children: rational selection and age dependence. Br J Anaesth. 2007;99(6):845–54.
- Salamy A. Maturation of the auditory brainstem response from birth through early childhood. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1984;1(3):293–329.
- Skinner SA, Vodusek DB. Intraoperative recording of the bulbocavernosus reflex. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2014;31(4):313–22.
- 49. MacDonald DB, Al Zayed Z, Khoudeir I, Stigsby B. Monitoring scoliosis surgery with combined multiple pulse transcranial electric motor and cortical somatosensory-evoked potentials from the lower and upper extremities. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2003;28(2):194–203.
- Fehlings MG, Brodke DS, Norvell DC, Dettori JR. The evidence for intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in spine surgery: does it make a difference? Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2010;35(9 Suppl):S37–46.
- Schwartz DM, Auerbach JD, Dormans JP, Flynn J, Drummond DS, Bowe JA, et al. Neurophysiological detection of impending spinal cord injury during scoliosis surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007;89(11): 2440–9.
- Skinner SA, Transfeldt EE, Mehbod AA, Mullan JC, Perra JH. Electromyography detects mechanicallyinduced suprasegmental spinal motor tract injury: review of decompression at spinal cord level. Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;120(4):754–64.
- Raynor BL, Lenke LG, Kim Y, Hanson DS, Wilson-Holden TJ, Bridwell KH, et al. Can triggered electromyograph thresholds predict safe thoracic pedicle screw placement? Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2002;27(18):2030–5.
- 54. Donohue ML, Swaminathan V, Gilbert JL, Fox CW, Smale J, Moquin RR, et al. Intraoperative neuromonitoring: can the results of direct stimulation of titaniumalloy pedicle screws in the thoracic spine be trusted? J Clin Neurophysiol. 2012;29(6):502–8.
- 55. Lips J, de Haan P, de Jager SW, Vanicky I, Jacobs MJ, Kalkman CJ. The role of transcranial motor evoked potentials in predicting neurologic and histopathologic outcome after experimental spinal cord ischemia. Anesthesiology. 2002;97(1):183–91.
- 56. Lips J, de Haan P, Bouma GJ, Jacobs MJ, Kalkman CJ. Delayed detection of motor pathway dysfunction after selective reduction of thoracic spinal cord blood flow in pigs. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2002; 123(3):531–8.

- 57. Fu KM, Smith JS, Polly DW, Ames CP, Berven SH, Perra JH, et al. Morbidity and mortality associated with spinal surgery in children: a review of the Scoliosis Research Society morbidity and mortality database. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;7(1):37–41.
- Ziewacz JE, Berven SH, Mummaneni VP, Tu TH, Akinbo OC, Lyon R, et al. The design, development, and implementation of a checklist for intraoperative neuromonitoring changes. Neurosurg Focus. 2012;33(5), E11.
- Fasano VA, Barolat-Romana G, Zeme S, Squazzi A. Electrophysiological assessment of spinal circuits in spasticity by direct dorsal root stimulation. Neurosurgery. 1979;4(2):146–51.
- 60. Seidel K, Beck J, Stieglitz L, Schucht P, Raabe A. The warning-sign hierarchy between quantitative subcortical motor mapping and continuous motor evoked potential monitoring during resection of supratentorial brain tumors. J Neurosurg. 2013;118(2):287–96.
- Deletis V, Fernandez-Conejero I, Ulkatan S, Costantino P. Methodology for intraoperatively eliciting motor evoked potentials in the vocal muscles by electrical stimulation of the corticobulbar tract. Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;120(2):336–41.
- 62. Dong CC, Macdonald DB, Akagami R, Westerberg B, Alkhani A, Kanaan I, et al. Intraoperative facial motor evoked potential monitoring with transcranial electrical stimulation during skull base surgery. Clin Neurophysiol. 2005;116(3):588–96.
- Prell J, Rampp S, Romstock J, Fahlbusch R, Strauss C. Train time as a quantitative electromyographic parameter for facial nerve function in patients undergoing surgery for vestibular schwannoma. J Neurosur. 2007;106(5):826–32.
- Romstock J, Strauss C, Fahlbusch R. Continuous electromyography monitoring of motor cranial nerves during cerebellopontine angle surgery. J Neurosurg. 2000;93(4):586–93.
- 65. Sala F, Manganotti P, Tramontano V, Bricolo A, Gerosa M. Monitoring of motor pathways during brain stem surgery: what we have achieved and what we still miss? Neurophysiol Clin. 2007;37(6):399–406.
- 66. Bertalanffy H, Tissira N, Krayenbuhl N, Bozinov O, Sarnthein J. Inter- and intrapatient variability of facial nerve response areas in the floor of the fourth ventricle. Neurosurgery. 2011;68 Suppl 1:23–31.
- Deletis V, Fernandez-Conejero I, Ulkatan S, Rogic M, Carbo EL, Hiltzik D. Methodology for intra-operative recording of the corticobulbar motor evoked potentials from cricothyroid muscles. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;122(9):1883–9.
- 68. Szelenyi A, Langer D, Beck J, Raabe A, Flamm ES, Seifert V, et al. Transcranial and direct cortical stimulation for motor evoked potential monitoring in intracerebral aneurysm surgery. Clin Neurophysiol. 2007;37(6):391–8.
- 69. Szelenyi A, Langer D, Kothbauer K, De Camargo AB, Flamm ES, Deletis V. Monitoring of muscle motor evoked potentials during cerebral aneurysm surgery: intraoperative changes and postoperative outcome. J Neurosurg. 2006;105(5):675–81.

Suggested Reading

- Cornelissen L, Kim SE, Purdon PL, Brown EN, Berde CB. Age-dependent electroencephalogram (EEG) patterns during sevoflurane general anesthesia in infants. eLife. 2015;4:e06513.
- Journee HL, Polak HE, De Kleuver M. Conditioning stimulation techniques for enhancement of transcranially elicited evoked motor responses. Clin Neurophysiol. 2007;37(6):423–30.
- Lips J, de Haan P, de Jager SW, Vanicky I, Jacobs MJ, Kalkman CJ. The role of transcranial motor evoked potentials in predicting neurologic and histopathologic outcome after experimental spinal cord ischemia. Anesthesiology. 2002;97(1):183–91.
- McIntyre IW, Francis L, McAuliffe JJ. Transcranial motor evoked potentials are more easily acquired than somatosensory evoked potentials in children less than 6 years of age. Anesth Analg. 2016;122(1):212–8.

Questions

- 1. At what age is the anterior fontanelle typically closed to palpation?
- True or False: The inability to obtain D-waves in an 18-month-old child precludes obtaining motor evoked potentials.
- 3. What is the EEG "signature" for loss of consciousness with propofol?
- 4. What technique is especially helpful when trying to elicit motor evoked potentials from young children?

Answers

- 1. 9–18 months of age
- False; although D waves cannot be recorded with current techniques in an 18-month-old child, MEPs can be recorded in a very high percentage of cases if TIVA is used for the anesthetic.
- The presence of high power in the delta and alpha frequency bands, in frontal montages, has been shown to be associated with loss of consciousness with propofol.
- 4. Double-train stimulation as described by Journee and coworkers facilitates obtaining MEPs in young children. The optimization of stimulating parameters is frequently required to obtain optimal results.

Section IV

Intensive Care

Monitoring in the Intensive Care Unit

Louanne M. Carabini

Key Learning Objectives

- Balance multimodal monitoring for optimization of cerebral perfusion and oxygenation
- Consider the risks and benefits of noninvasive versus invasive hemodynamic monitoring in neurocritical care
- Describe the challenges of static central venous pressures as an estimate of preload
- Present the benefits of dynamic monitors of preload responsiveness.

Introduction

Neurologic illness is complex and often complicated by adverse effects on the cardiopulmonary system. Studies have shown improved outcomes for patients treated in a dedicated neurologic intensive care unit (NICU) likely secondary to specialized nursing care, neurointensivist teams, and protocolized management of complex neurologic illness [1]. The common types of hemodynamic monitors within any intensive care unit (ICU)

L.M. Carabini, M.D. (🖂)

Department of Anesthesiology, Section of Critical Care Medicine, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 251 East Erie Street, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: l-carabini@northwestern.edu include temperature monitoring, continuous blood pressure measurements, electrocardiography, respiratory and ventilatory parameters, as well as static and dynamic measurements of volume status and cardiac output [2, 3]. Neuromonitoring within the NICU is often conducted with transcranial Dopplers, intracranial pressure (ICP) monitors, cerebral oxygen monitors, microdialysis catheters, and electroencephalograms; all of which are described in detail elsewhere in this text [4]. This discussion is presented in the context of a few case descriptions to exemplify the complexities of monitoring and managing patients with severe neurologic disease.

Case 1: Traumatic Brain Injury

A 42-year-old man presents to the emergency room after a gunshot wound to the left temporal region, with alcohol and cocaine in his initial toxicology screen. Upon admission, he demonstrated signs of high ICP with loss of consciousness and Cushing's response, which includes hypertension, bradycardia, and an abnormal respiratory pattern [5]. His initial Glascow Coma Scale score was seven, which is consistent with severe traumatic brain injury (TBI). The patient's trachea was immediately intubated and he was admitted to the NICU for management of intracranial hypertension (ICH) and severe TBI. A full discussion of ICP monitors can be found in

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_44

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Chap. 15, "Monitoring Intracranial Pressure"; however, the basic concepts for treating ICH and physiologic monitors appropriate for the management of TBI shall be discussed in this section.

After intubation and transfer to the NICU, the patient was empirically treated for ICH with hyperventilation in an effort to decrease the partial pressure of carbon dioxide (PaCO2) in the blood, thereby increasing the pH of the cerebral spinal fluid (CSF). Alkalinizing the CSF stimulates chemoreceptors and results in vasoconstriction of the cerebral vasculature [<mark>6</mark>]. Vasoconstriction decreases the cerebral blood flow and ICP within minutes. However, hyperventilation is only a temporary treatment for ICH because over the course of 8–12 h, the CSF will equilibrate the pH and reverse the vasoconstriction. If hyperventilation is continued, the patient is at risk of rebound vasodilation and increased ICP or ischemia secondary to profound vasoconstriction. Consequently, it is important to frequently sample arterial blood gases and correlate the PaCO₂ with dynamic ICP measures while instituting other methods for treating ICH [6]. Alternatively, one can use capnography, the measure of expired or end-tidal carbon dioxide (ETCO₂) as a surrogate for PaCO₂ and thus a continuous monitor of ventilation. However, frequent calibration with bloodgas analysis is required as there are many factors that can alter the alveolar-arterial gradient for carbon dioxide, including low cardiac output and increases in anatomic or physiologic dead space ventilation [7].

During the acute phase of resuscitation for his severe TBI, the patient underwent placement of an external ventriculostomy drain for monitoring and management of ICH. Over the course of a few hours, the patient's ICP rose over 20 mmHg, which is generally considered the threshold for initiating pharmacologic therapy knowing that sustained ICP has been associated with poor outcomes and mortality [8–10]. Pharmacologic therapy for ICH includes diuresis with osmolar or loop diuretics, hyperosmolar therapy with hypertonic saline or mannitol, sedation, and finally burst suppression or barbiturate-induced coma and paralysis [8, 11, 12]. Furthermore, simple maneuvers to improve ICP should be instituted such as elevating the head of the bed, keeping the neck neutral to allow for unobstructed venous drainage, minimizing respiratory dyssynchrony and intrathoracic pressure associated with positive pressure ventilation, and avoiding painful procedures or stimuli without adequate sedation and analgesia that would increase blood pressure and or cerebral blood flow.

The early goals of treatment in TBI focus on the prevention of secondary injury. Primary injury involves the regions of the brain damaged with the initial insult. Secondary injury occurs with the systemic and regional alterations in pathophysiology that commonly result from neurologic insults and lead to decreased oxygen delivery to the surrounding parenchyma such as seizures, focal cerebral swelling, or increased ICP causing decreased cerebral perfusion. Systemic causes of secondary injury include hypotension, hypoxemia, anemia, hypo- or hypercapnia, hyperglycemia, and hyperthermia [12]. Preventing the systemic causes of secondary injury is at the forefront of critical care management in the NICU. There are several monitors available to measure brain tissue oxygenation including cerebral oximetry, jugular bulb saturation (see Chap. 14, "Monitoring of Jugular Venous Oxygen Saturation"), and tissue oxygenation monitors [13]. Furthermore, microdialysis catheters can be inserted into the parenchyma and used to monitor the metabolic stress levels of brain tissue with continuous measures of glucose, pyruvate, and lactate [14]. Clinically, these monitors provide a guide for managing cerebral perfusion pressure, which depends on mean arterial pressure and intracerebral pressure and should be balanced with cerebral metabolic rate and oxygen utilization.

Cerebral Oxygenation

In light of refractory intracerebral hypertension, our patient received a jugular venous oxygen saturation monitor to measure the oxygen delivery to the brain. On day 2 of admission, the saturation fell below 50%, which is a common threshold signifying risk of ischemia and secondary injury. Assuming the decreased measurement is not secondary to systemic causes such as anemia, hypoxemia, hypocapnia, or hypotension, cerebral causes including increased ICP and elevated metabolic rate must be diagnosed and treated. The patient was hemodynamically stable, normothermic, sedated, and paralyzed at the time. Accordingly, electroencephalography was initiated to rule out seizure and nonconvulsive status epilepticus. These clinical findings associated with the acute phase of TBI are often responsible for significant increases in cerebral metabolism and oxygen demand [15, 16].

After 5 days of maximal medical therapy for refractory ICH including hyperosmolar treatment with mannitol, diuresis with furosemide, and an induced barbiturate coma, the patient's ICP normalized, but he developed significant metabolic alkalosis consistent with loop diuretic treatment and refractory hypokalemia and hypomagnesemia. The ECG demonstrated frequent premature ventricular contractions consistent with hypokalemia. These findings often precipitate malignant arrhythmias such as torsades de pointes, ventricular tachycardia, and ventricular fibrillation [13]. The diuretic treatment should be held until the potassium and magnesium for this patient are replete and the metabolic alkalosis resolves.

This is just one example of numerous possible metabolic derangements diagnosed with continuous electrocardiography. The ECG changes associated with central nervous system injury were first recognized over 50 years ago by Burch and colleagues [17]. Most often found after subarachnoid hemorrhage, these changes include peaked T waves, prolonged QT intervals, and U waves. The pathophysiology of neurogenic myocardial dysfunction is not clear because several pathology case series from that time demonstrated normal hearts at autopsy [18].

Temperature Monitoring

On day 4 of admission, the patient was still intubated for altered mental status. While receiving cefazolin for prophylaxis with an external ventriculostomy drain, phenytoin for seizure prophylaxis, and haloperidol for agitation, the patient developed a fever of 38.3 °C. The differential diagnosis for hyperthermia in this patient ranges from infection to alcohol withdrawal, adverse effects of antibiotics, anticonvulsants, and antipsychotic medications, or central fever secondary to thalamic injury.

Hyperthermia increases the oxygen requirements of the brain and the metabolic rate of the body and is associated with worse prognosis, especially after neurologic injury [19]. Accurate monitoring of the core body temperature is necessary as peripheral measurements of temperature may be inaccurate for patients with hypoperfusion from low cardiac output, vasopressor therapy, or induced hypothermia. The role of therapeutic hypothermia after traumatic brain injury remains controversial. Several animal models and a few clinical trials of induced moderate hypothermia to core body temperatures of 32-33 °C have shown significantly reduced cerebral metabolic rate and promise for improved behavioral outcomes, but large multicenter clinical trials have yet to show conclusive evidence of improved long-term outcomes [20]. Furthermore, hypothermia has several adverse effects including shivering, increased risks of infection, arrhythmias, and coagulopathy [21].

The patient was ruled out for acute infection. His fever was controlled with an active cooling blanket until the antiepileptics and antipsychotic medications could be discontinued. He continued to recover from the ICP crisis and eventually was weaned from mechanical ventilatory support and transferred to acute rehabilitation.

Case 2: Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

A 37-year-old previously healthy woman presents with sudden and severe headache. Diagnostic imaging confirms a diffuse aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) secondary to a ruptured anterior communicating artery aneurysm. The patient was admitted to the NICU for monitoring of her hemodynamics, ICP, and neurologic status while awaiting the availability of surgical treatment to secure her aneurysm.

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage is associated with multiple neurologic and systemic

complications [22, 23]. Several grading scales have been developed to standardize prognosis and treatment recommendations. The most common grading scales are the Hunt and Hess grade, the World Federation of Neurosurgical Surgeons (WFNS) Scale, and the Fisher Scale. The Hunt and Hess grading scale ranges from zero to five depending on the patient's level of consciousness, symptoms of headache or visual changes, and their neurologic examination; it was originally described to predict surgical risk during aneurysm clipping. Similarly, the WFNS scale is also a clinical assessment scale ranging from zero to five depending on Glascow Coma Score and the presence or absence of motor deficits; it is primarily used to predict clinical outcomes. The Fisher scale differs from the former two in that it involves radiographic severity of SAH via CT scan and ranges from one, for no evidence of blood, to four for diffuse SAH or intracerebral and intraventricular blood clots. The Fisher scale correlates with the risk of vasospasm, which may lead to delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) and poor neurologic outcome [24].

Rebleeding after cerebral aneurysm rupture constitutes the most significant morbidity and mortality risk. Blood pressure control is vital until the aneurysm is secured with a surgical clip or endovascular coils. Delayed cerebral ischemia secondary to arterial narrowing, classically referred to as vasospasm, occurs 3-14 days after subarachnoid hemorrhage. DCI secondary to vasospasm remains the most common and preventable neurologic complication of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage leading to poorer prognosis and higher rates of long-term disability [23]. The pathophysiology involves cerebral vascular reactivity and arterial intimal narrowing that can progress to cerebral ischemia, infarction, and permanent neurologic dysfunction.

The incidence of vasospasm is often monitored with transcranial doppler ultrasonography (TCDs), serial neurologic exams, and cerebral angiograms. TCD ultrasonography is simple, conducted at the bedside, noninvasive, repeatable, and therefore the most frequent screening tool for cerebral vasospasm outside of serial neurologic exams [25, 26]. A full description of TCD ultrasonography and its clinical applications is discussed earlier in Chap. 13 ("Transcranial Doppler"); although briefly, TCDs measure velocity of flow in cerebral arteries assuming that higher velocities correspond to a narrower arterial lumen and therefore indicate vasospasm. The value of TCD ultrasonography rests in the individual trends for each patient [26]. For example, if our patient routinely demonstrated TCDs ranging in the low 100 cm/s but suddenly showed an increased velocity more than 200 cm/s in the anterior cerebral artery window, clinical correlation for vasospasm and diagnostic angiogram would be indicated.

Although TCDs often correlate with angiographic evidence of vasospasm, their sensitivity is limited for DCI at about 70-80% most likely because they provide only one snapshot of clinical assessment without continuous monitoring [25]. Brain tissue oxygen monitors offer continuous monitoring of areas at risk for ischemia or infarction. However, they are invasive and fail to provide a global assessment of cerebral perfusion [23]. Comparative studies evaluating the correlation of continuous monitors of cerebral perfusion based on flow, pressure, or oxygen indices including tissue partial pressure oxygen monitors, thermal dilution cerebral blood flow measures, and ICP measures have yet to demonstrate reliable associations with clinical outcome but many of these studies are small and differ in patient selection and methodology [25, 27].

Blood Pressure Monitoring

Common management protocols for the prevention of rebleeding and treatment of cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal SAH include specific parameters for blood pressure control and careful monitoring of the patient's fluid status, myocardial function, and respiratory physiology [22, 23].

Noninvasive blood pressure techniques typically measure distal pulsations with external compression of arterial flow. This method can only be used intermittently long term and is therefore limited in the intensive care unit where the risk of circulatory instability is high and recognition of

Criteria	SIADH	CSW	DI
Serum sodium mmol/L	<135	<135	>145
Serum osmolarity mOsm/kg	<285	<285	>290
Urine osmolarity mOsm/kg	>200	>200	>200
Urine sodium mmol/L	>25	>25	-
Fluid balance	1	Ļ	1

 Table 44.1
 Sodium diathesis

SIADH syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone, *CSW* cerebral salt wasting, *DI* diabetes insipidus

fluctuations in systolic and diastolic pressures is vital. Intra-arterial pressure monitoring provides a continuous and direct measure of systolic and mean blood pressure with a displayed waveform throughout the cardiac cycle. It is indicated when rapid swings in blood pressure or fluid shifts are anticipated, specific narrow range of blood pressure control necessary, and when noninvasive measurements are inaccurate.

Continuous blood pressure monitoring with periodic correlation to noninvasive cuff pressures ensures the most accurate estimate of systemic blood pressure. Furthermore, the arterial pulsations and waveforms can be used to estimate cardiac output and preload mechanics.

Any patient with a subarachnoid hemorrhage is at risk of significant medical and neurologic complications, including cardiogenic and neurogenic pulmonary edema causing respiratory failure, as well as common disturbances in sodium balance (Table 44.1) [28, 29]. Invasive hemodynamic monitors also provide access for frequent monitoring of arterial blood gases to ensure adequate oxygenation, ventilation, and correct metabolic derangements or electrolyte imbalance.

Case 3: Spinal Cord Injury

A 22-year-old male suffered a complete spinal cord injury at C6 after diving into a shallow pool. The patient presents to the emergency room hypotensive and bradycardic. Other diagnostic studies are negative for further injury. Neurologically, the patient is insensate below C5 and quadriplegic corresponding to American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) class A injury [30, 31]. However, he remains alert and oriented, maintain-

ing spontaneous ventilation and appropriate oxygen saturation. Of note, all patients suffering traumatic insult severe enough to cause spinal cord injury and hypotension should be evaluated for other injuries; particularly those presenting an immediate threat to life such as intracerebral hemorrhage, tamponade from aortic dissection, pneumothorax, and intra-abdominal injury [30].

Management of acute spinal cord injury aims to prevent secondary injury from neuronal hypoperfusion with associated progression of neurologic deficits. Accordingly, the maintenance of adequate cardiac output and systemic blood pressure for optimal spinal cord perfusion is paramount to the critical care goals for patients with spinal cord injuries [32]. Neurogenic shock often complicates high thoracic and cervical spinal cord injuries. It is a form of distributive shock characterized by autonomic dysfunction with a sympathectomy causing low systemic vascular resistance, decreased venous return, and hypotension [30, 32]. Fluid administration to restore and maintain euvolemia is the primary goal of early resuscitation of distributive shock and often guided by central venous pressures (Fig. 44.1), but clinical evaluation of the patient's intravascular volume status remains difficult [26].

Monitoring Fluid Status and Cardiac Output

The assessment of fluid status depends on the assimilation of multiple signs, symptoms, monitors, and laboratory values. This patient was managed with volume expansion and blood pressure augmentation to maintain a mean arterial pressure greater than 85 mmHg. Given the need for accurate assessment of intravascular volume and vasopressors to support the blood pressure, the patient had multiple indications for a central venous catheter. The typical CVP waveform is depicted and described in Fig. 44.1a. In order for the CVP to accurately estimate preload, intrathoracic pressure must equal atmospheric pressure, which occurs only at the end of expiration [33]. The CVP waveform varies with the cyclic changes in intrathoracic pressure during spontaneous and



Fig. 44.1 Central venous pressure waveform (**a**). Variations in central venous pressure (CVP) with positive pressure ventilation versus spontaneous ventilation (**b**). The true value of CVP should be measured at end-expiration

positive pressure ventilation [33, 34]. Figure 44.1b depicts the point along the CVP waveform where pressure should be recorded for clinical determination of transmural venous pressure.

Pulmonary Artery Catheters

Central venous pressure estimates preload by assuming a normal compliance within the left and right ventricles and pressure measurements that correlate with the left ventricular end diastolic volume or preload. The CVP misrepresents left ventricular filling pressures when ventricular or pulmonary artery compliance decreases or in the case of valvular disease or dysfunction. A pulmonary artery catheter (PAC) "wedged" with balloon occlusion to stop flow measures the pulmonary artery occlusion pressure (PAOP) which estimates left ventricular end-diastolic pressure through the static column of fluid in equilibrium with the left atrium. The PAOP is a better surrogate for preload as it is independent of right ventricular compliance and pulmonary hypertension or mitral stenosis [33, 35]. PACs also provide measures of cardiac output, mixed venous oxygen saturation, and estimates of systemic vascular resistance.

Returning to our patient with acute cervical spinal cord injury and hypotension, should he be refractory to volume resuscitation with progressive end-organ hypoperfusion and tissue hypoxia, he meets the definition of shock. Given traumatic injury in this patient, he could be suffering from hypovolemic, distributive, cardiogenic or obstructive shock secondary to hemorrhage, spinal cord injury, tamponade, or pneumothorax. Table 44.2 uses the common variables obtained from a PAC to describe the various hemodynamic features that differentiate shock states and allows for the appropriate treatment with fluids, blood products, inotropic support, or vasopressors.

Preload Responsiveness

The first priority for resuscitation of distributive shock with spinal cord injury is volume expansion to increase preload and restore euvolemia. However, the value of CVP or PAOP adequate for optimal spinal cord perfusion varies with each patient and does not always correlate with fluid responsiveness [33]. The Frank Starling Curve describes the relationship that increases in stroke volume result from increased preload but

Type of shock	Clinical example	CVP	SVR	PAOP	CO	SVO ₂
Hypovolemic	Acute hemorrhage	Ļ	1	Ļ	Ļ	\downarrow
Cardiogenic	Myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure	1	1	1	Ļ	Ļ
Obstructive	Pulmonary embolism, tamponade, tension, pneumothorax	↑	Ļ	Ţ	Ļ	Ţ
Distributive	Sepsis, neurogenic shock, anaphylaxis	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	1	↑↓

Table 44.2 Four types of shock

CVP central venous pressure, *SVR* systemic vascular resistance, *PAOP* pulmonary artery occlusion pressure, *CO* cardiac output, *SVO*₂ mixed venous oxygen saturation

only to a point beyond which inotropic or vasopressor support is necessary to augment blood pressure. Preload responsiveness is traditionally evaluated with a fluid challenge and observation of the resultant change in blood pressure or cardiac index. However, fluid boluses increase the risk of iatrogenic pulmonary edema, total body volume overload, and hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis. In the case of a patient with an indwelling arterial catheter receiving positive pressure ventilation, preload responsiveness can be assessed by observing the variation in pulse pressure or systolic blood pressure [34, 36].

Conclusion

Neurologic intensive care units staffed with nurses and physicians skilled and experienced in caring for patients with neurologic illness improve outcomes. The sophistication of neuromonitoring modalities in conjunction with hemodynamic monitors optimizes the management of critically ill patients and allows the intensive care team to monitor end organ perfusion continuously. In the NICU, the central nervous system is the tissue most at risk of ischemia. As mentioned earlier and in other chapters of this text, there are several monitors of cerebral perfusion and cerebral function available for continuous assessment during critical illness. Each type of monitor has advantages and disadvantages, complications and indications specific to different types of patients, and different classes of hemodynamic shock (Table 44.2). Outcomes literature supporting the use of continuous hemodynamic monitoring is lacking but often the risks are small and the patient morbidities high. This chapter reviewed the clinical role of several measures of cerebral perfusion and function as well as invasive and noninvasive hemodynamic monitors for patients in the ICU after neurologic injury.

References¹

- Bershad EM, Feen ES, Hernandez OH, Suri MF, Suarez JI. Impact of a specialized neurointensive care team on outcomes of critically ill acute ischemic stroke patients. Neurocrit Care. 2008;9(3):287–92.
- Pinsky MR. Hemodynamic monitoring in the intensive care unit. Clin Chest Med. 2003;24(4):549–60.
- 3. Pinsky MR. Rationale for cardiovascular monitoring. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2003;9(3):222–4.
- Yokose N, Sakatani K, Murata Y, Awano T, Igarashi T, Nakamura S, et al. Bedside monitoring of cerebral blood oxygenation and hemodynamics after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage by quantitative timeresolved near-infrared spectroscopy. World Neurosurg. 2010;73(5):508–13.
- Wan WH, Ang BT, Wang E. The Cushing Response: a case for a review of its role as a physiological reflex. J Clin Neurosci. 2008;15(3):223–8.
- Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care, AANS/CNS, Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, McConnell Hammond FF, Harris OA, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. XIV. Hyperventilation. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24(Suppl 1):S87–90.

¹Asterisk indicates key reference.

- *Andrews FJ, Nolan JP. Critical care in the emergency department: monitoring the critically ill patient. Emerg Med J. 2006;23(7):561–4.
- *Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care, AANS/CNS, Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, McConnell Hammond FF, Harris OA, Hartl R, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. IX. Cerebral perfusion thresholds. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24(Suppl 1):S59–64.
- Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care, AANS/CNS, Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, McConnell Hammond FF, Harris OA, Hartl R, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. VIII. Intracranial pressure thresholds. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24(Suppl 1):S55–8.
- Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care, AANS/CNS, Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, McConnell Hammond FF, Harris OA, Hartl R, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. VI. Indications for intracranial pressure monitoring. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24 Suppl 1:S37–44.
- 11. Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care, AANS/CNS, Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, McConnell Hammond FF, Harris OA, Hartl R, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. XI. Anesthetics, analgesics, and sedatives. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24(Suppl 1):S71–6.
- Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care, AANS/CNS, Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, McConnell Hammond FF, Harris OA, Hartl R, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. I. Blood pressure and oxygenation. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24(Suppl 1):S7–13.
- 13. Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care, AANS/CNS, Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, McConnell Hammond FF, Harris OA, Hartl R, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. X. Brain oxygen monitoring and thresholds. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24(Suppl 1):S65–70.
- de Lima Oliveira M, Kairalla AC, Fonoff ET, Martinez RC, Teixeira MJ, Bor-Seng-Shu E. Cerebral microdialysis in traumatic brain injury and subarachnoid hemorrhage: state of the art. Neurocrit Care. 2014;21(1):152–62.
- Eriksson EA, Barletta JF, Figueroa BE, Bonnell BW, Vanderkolk WE, McAllen KJ, Ott MM. Cerebral perfusion pressure and intracranial pressure are not surrogates for brain tissue oxygenation in traumatic brain injury. Clin Neurophysiol. 2012;123(6):1255–60.

- Nangunoori R, Maloney-Wilensky E, Stiefel M, Park S, Andrew Kofke W, Levine JM, et al. Brain tissue oxygen-based therapy and outcome after severe traumatic brain injury: a systematic literature review. Neurocrit Care. 2012;17(1):131–8.
- Burch GE, Meyers R, Abildskov JA. A new electrocardiographic pattern observed in cerebrovascular accidents. Circulation. 1954;9(5):719–23.
- Cropp GJ, Manning GW. Electrocardiographic changes simulating myocardial ischemia and infarction associated with spontaneous intracranial hemorrhage. Circulation. 1960;22:25–38.
- Commichau C, Scarmeas N, Mayer SA. Risk factors for fever in the neurologic intensive care unit. Neurology. 2003;60(5):837–41.
- 20. Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care, AANS/CNS, Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, McConnell Hammond FF, Harris OA, Hartl R, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. III. Prophylactic hypothermia. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24(Suppl 1):S21–5.
- *Peterson K, Carson S, Carney N. Hypothermia treatment for traumatic brain injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Neurotrauma. 2008;25(1):62–71.
- 22. *Connolly Jr ES, Rabinstein AA, Carhuapoma JR, Derdeyn CP, Dion J, Higashida RT, et al. Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2012;43(6):1711–37.
- *Rabinstein AA, Lanzino G, Wijdicks EF. Multidisciplinary management and emerging therapeutic strategies in aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9(5):504–19.
- Rosen DS, Macdonald RL. Subarachnoid hemorrhage grading scales: a systematic review. Neurocrit Care. 2005;2(2):110–8.
- Miller C, Armonda R. Monitoring of cerebral blood flow and ischemia in the critically ill. Neurocrit Care. 2014;21 Suppl 2:S121–8.
- Roederer A, Holmes JH, Smith MJ, Lee I, Park S. Prediction of significant vasospasm in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage using automated data. Neurocrit Care. 2014;21(3):444–50.
- 27. Barth M, Woitzik J, Weiss C, Muench E, Diepers M, Schmiedek P, et al. Correlation of clinical outcome with pressure-, oxygen-, and flow-related indices of cerebrovascular reactivity in patients following aneurysmal SAH. Neurocrit Care. 2010;12(2):234–43.
- Kirkman MA, Albert AF, Ibrahim A, Doberenz D. Hyponatremia and brain injury: historical and contemporary perspectives. Neurocrit Care. 2013;18(3):406–16.
- Rahman M, Friedman WA. Hyponatremia in neurosurgical patients: clinical guidelines development. Neurosurgery. 2009;65(5):925–35; discussion 35–6.
- Miko I, Gould R, Wolf S, Afifi S. Acute spinal cord injury. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2009;47(1):37–54.

- 31. Waring III WP, Biering-Sorensen F, Burns S, Donovan W, Graves D, Jha A, et al. _2009 review and revisions of the international standards for the neurological classification of spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med. 2010;33(4):346-52.
- 32. *Ryken TC, Hurlbert RJ, Hadley MN, Aarabi B, Dhall SS, Gelb DE, et al. The acute cardiopulmonary management of patients with cervical spinal cord injuries. Neurosurgery. 2013;72(Suppl 2):84-92.
- 33. *Andritsos MJ, Park KW. Advantages and limitations of static parameters of fluid loading. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2010;48(1):1-21.
- 34. *Asopa A, Karthik S, Subramaniam B. Current status of dynamic parameters of fluid loading. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2010;48(1):23-36.
- 35. Pinsky MR. Hemodynamic evaluation and monitoring in the ICU. Chest. 2007;132(6):2020-9.
- 36. Gunn SR, Pinsky MR. Implications of arterial pressure variation in patients in the intensive care unit. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2001;7(3):212-7.

Questions

- 1. A 55-year-old man is in the neurologic intensive care for therapeutic hypothermia after sudden cardiac arrest. The patient is hemodynamically unstable on vasopressor support. Which of the following temperature sources is not appropriate for monitoring this patient:
 - a. Skin temperature probe
 - b. Bladder catheter
 - c. Rectal temperature probe
 - d. Pulmonary artery catheter
- 2. A 22-year-old man suffers an acute traumatic cervical spinal cord injury with subsequent neurogenic shock. He requires full mechanical ventilatory support and is hypotensive on

phenylephrine to maintain blood pressure goals. Which of the following parameters is the best indication that the patient would have a positive blood pressure response to a fluid bolus?

- a. Central venous pressure of 9 cm H_2O
- b. Pulse pressure variation of less than 15%
- c. Systolic blood pressure variation of greater than 10 mmHg
- d. Stroke volume variation of less than 15%
- 3. A 74-year-old woman presents to the neurologic intensive care with an acute ischemic stroke of the right middle cerebral artery with associated cerebral edema, significant midline shift, and impending herniation. She is intubated, mechanically ventilated, and sedated. Her elevated intracranial pressure is treated immediately with mannitol and burst suppression as she is prepared for decompressive craniectomy. Which of the following is the most appropriate monitor of alveolar ventilation with the goal of acute hyperventilation?
 - a. End tidal CO₂
 - b. Arterial PaCO2
 - c. Minute ventilation
 - d. Oxygen saturation
- Answers
- 2. C
- 3. B

1. A

Epilepsy and Seizures: OR and ICU Applications of EEG

Sabrina G. Galloway and Tod B. Sloan

Key Learning Points

- Epilepsy is present in 0.5–1% of the population and 20–40% of the patients have seizures that cannot be controlled with antiepileptic drugs. Approximately 50% of these patients are surgical candidates, of which 30–60% of patients will become seizure free.
- Before surgery, patients are evaluated using continuous EEG with video monitoring and a variety of functional studies of their cortical activity such as functional MRI.
- A preoperative Wada test is used to determine the dominant hemisphere where speech and language eloquent cortex is located.
- Some patients have an initial craniotomy to place grid and depth electrodes so that EEG and video monitoring can be performed before a second craniotomy to resect the epileptogenic zone where the seizure initiates.

S.G. Galloway, B.S., R.EEG/EP T., C.N.I.M., C.L.T.M., F.A.S.E.T. Department of Neurology, SUNY Downstate Medical Center, Brooklyn, NY, USA

Neurodiagnostic Operations, Neuromonitoring Technologies, Inc Glenwood, MD, USA e-mail: sggway@gmail.com

T.B. Sloan, M.D., M.B.A., Ph.D. (🖂) Department of Anesthesiology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO 80045, USA e-mail: Tod.Sloan@ucdenver.edu

- The motor cortex can be identified by stimulation of the cortex and the patient identifying motion if awake or by muscle activity response from MEP if under general anesthesia.
- The eloquent cortex can be identified in the awake patient by errors in speech and language tasks during cortical stimulation.
- General anesthesia for craniotomies where ECoG recording is done requires minimal inhalational agents and may require total intravenous anesthesia if muscle responses from direct cortical stimulation with motor evoked potential methods are used.
- EEG is useful in the ICU for the detection of nonconvulsive seizures, the detection of cortical ischemia, and titration of metabolic-suppressing drugs.

Introduction

The electroencephalogram (EEG) is useful for several types of monitoring in the operating room and in the intensive care unit (ICU). As presented in Chap. 10 ("EEG Monitoring"), the EEG is the product of the electrical activity in synapses of cortical pyramidal cells. As such, its measurement on the scalp or from electrodes applied directly on the surface of the brain allows insight into the synaptic activity. EEG may be recorded using a variety of montages and reported both as EEG waveforms, quantitative data, and as processed variables (Chaps. 10 and 11, "Clinical Application of Raw and Processed EEG"). In particular, the ability to detect the electrical activity of seizures is a unique aspect specific to EEG that is useful during surgery and in the ICU.

With recent advances in EEG electrode technologies, the ability to record real-time continuous EEG (cEEG) with video for hours, days, and weeks without having to remove electrodes for computerized tomography (CT) and/or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), has increased its overall use in the ICU. EEG is used in a variety of clinical settings, with the largest majority being used for the detection and evaluation of seizures in the comatose or altered mental status patient and impending ischemia [1]. These applications will be reviewed here.

Epilepsy

Epilepsy is one of the most common neurological disorders, affecting 0.5-1% of the population [2, 3]. A seizure, i.e., a single occurrence, is a change in neuronal activity that presents as an abnormal EEG pattern associated with a variety of clinical symptoms (Fig. 45.1). These range from starting with impairment of consciousness to focal or generalized tonic clonic movements (termed convulsive). Nonconvulsive seizures also occur (and may go undetected) in the patient with altered mental status or coma. Epilepsy can have both genetic and acquired causes, with interaction of these factors in many cases. Genetic defects, likely effecting ion channels, are thought to be commonly involved. When the cause of a seizure is known (e.g., associated with a brain tumor) the



Fig. 45.1 Classic scalp recorded spike and waves in the right central-temporal head regions at *arrows* (*south west arrow*)

condition is not usually referred to as epilepsy. The terms seizure and epilepsy are often used interchangeably. However, epilepsy should only be used to describe a clinical diagnosis when seizures are unprovoked and recurrent.

Currently, over 20 antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) are available but 20-40% of patients cannot be successfully controlled on one or more drugs either due to ineffectiveness or unacceptable side effects [2, 3]. A lack of understanding of the generation of seizures inhibits the development of effective drugs. Mortality in drug-resistant patients is four times that in patients who are responsive to medication, prompting the desire for treatment to stop seizure activity to improve the quality of life and life expectancy. About 50% of drug-resistant patients are candidates for surgery. Surgery to help the patient achieve a seizure-free state involves removing the neural tissue of the "epileptogenic zone" and is successful in 30–60 % of patients in terms of long-term freedom from seizures [2]. This region is often referred to as the epileptogenic zone: the region where ictal discharges originate is called the "irritative" zone and the region that produces symptoms is referred to as the "symptomatogenic" zone.

Whether seizures are focal or generalized determines the type of surgical procedure. Some seizures are partial (starting in one hemisphere and affecting only part of the central nervous system) while some are generalized (starting in both hemispheres). Partial seizures may be preceded by an aura. Seizures are thought to originate in one or more localized zones thought to be the result of central nervous system (CNS) insults, which are usually never identified. Complete resection of the epileptogenic zone leads to the best results with freedom from seizures. In some patients the epileptogenic zone is impossible to resect because it cannot be identified, exists in multiple hemispheres, or because it overlaps with important eloquent cortex (e.g., motor or speech areas). These patients may be candidates for nonresective procedures such as disconnection of pathways that propagate the seizure (e.g., corpus callosotomy) or stimulation/modulation techniques (deep brain stimulation, vagal nerve stimulation, trigeminal nerve stimulation, responsive neurostimulation) [4].

When being evaluated for surgery, patients undergo simultaneous video and standard scalp 24-h EEG monitoring from 32 or more channels to characterize their clinical manifestations and associated electrographic patterns. Termed Phase I, video EEG monitoring (vEEG) can take days to a week depending on the successfulness of recording seizures. These patients are admitted into a dedicated epilepsy monitoring unit (EMU) generally with simultaneous withdrawal of AEDs. This facilitates the ability to record multiple seizures or nonepileptic events not requiring surgery within a short period of time. The patient or present family member participates in their seizure identification by actively pressing a portable alarm system. This alerts caregivers of the need to ensure patient safety during the ictal phase of the seizure, test the patient's postictal clinical condition, and review the simultaneously captured vEEG.

During the admission, standard activation procedures such as hyperventilation and sleep deprivation are used to enhance seizure capture. There may be multiple triggers for seizures. Therefore, it is important to use provocative techniques based on patient history to maximize the effectiveness of the patient admission. Video EEG is considered the standard in distinguishing seizures from other nonseizures such as parasomnias, syncopal episodes, and events with a psychogenic origin [5]. It is important to characterize the clinical context of the semiology of the patient's event to further help localize the region of seizure onset (epileptogenic zone). The recent advances of EEG-triggered functional MRI (fMRI) allow vEEG to be recorded simultaneously while performing fMRI during ictal and interictal periods. The premise being that since seizure activity causes increased cerebral hemodynamic changes, these can be correlated with fMRI blood oxygen level-dependent technique alongside the vEEG to closer pinpoint the epileptogenic zone [6]. Due to its practical limitations (recording during ictal events) its practice, while compelling, is limited.

Functional MRI, however, can play a useful role preoperatively in the identification of critical anatomical locations and their functions. Using rapid echo planar imaging while the patient performs multiple motor tasks such as tongue movements, fist clenching, toe or finger taps and a multiple language task such as the verb generation task or the semantic decisionmaking task, detects small changes in signal intensity related to changes in cerebral blood flow. Computerized image processing can then define the areas of cortex activated by the specific task. Simultaneous three-dimensional rendering of cerebral topography gives a unique display of critical relational anatomy, creating both a structural and functional brain model. The ability to localize different body representations in the primary motor and somatosensory cortex, as well as for localizing and lateralizing language function prior to surgery, is a complementary presurgical evaluation with the Gold Standard Wada test (intracarotid amobarbital testing) for language hemispheric dominance and for guidance with intraoperative cortical stimulation [7].

Because scalp vEEG recording is a considerable distance away from where a seizure may originate, scalp electrodes are only capable of detecting a seizure discharge after it has spread considerably. While scalp vEEG is good at giving an overview of the electrical activity of the brain and suggests where the seizures are originating, if surgical ablation of an epileptogenic zone is being considered, further patient assessment is needed during Phase II and/or Phase III monitoring. Phase II monitoring involves a craniotomy, where placement of multiple-sized subdural grids and strip electrodes are placed bilaterally depending on the presumed epileptogenic zone (Fig. 45.2). If further hemispheric localization is needed, Phase III monitoring involves a unilateral craniotomy with electrode recordings from up to 128 contact points and may involve the addition of depth electrodes (stereoelectroencephalography) in the hippocampal head regions. Surgical EEG recordings during these phases assure evidence of proper electrode contact with the cortical surface, creation



Fig. 45.2 Craniotomy showing 64-channel electrode grid placement on the cortical surface

of the preliminary maps identifying where the placement of the grids and electrode strips are located, and the ability to create the intracranial recording montage in the OR. Anesthesia management for this surgery is similar to others where electrocorticography is being recorded.

Following surgical recovery, the patient is again monitored in an EMU where attempts are made to further lateralize the epileptogenic zone by recording from the implanted electrodes and additionally analyzing the seizures using computerized techniques such as three-dimensional imaging. Using cortical electrodes, recorded seizures from the epileptogenic zone usually have high-frequency oscillations or evolving "rapid discharges" as compared to the standard spike and wave architecture seen from scalp leads [4] (Fig. 45.3). Phase II or III recording can last up to 2 weeks in the attempt to record multiple seizures with the same clinical manifestations (seizure signature) and localize them to their epileptogenic zone.

The patient then returns for another craniotomy to remove the electrodes, determine the cortical tissue to be removed, map functional tissue to be avoided, and resect the epileptogenic zone. In the operating room, recording of EEG directly from the cortical surface (ECoG) is valuable in the identification and localization of epileptic activity in preparation for pathological tissue



Fig. 45.3 Seizure activity consisting of high-frequency oscillations beginning in electrode contact point 14 followed by spread of the seizure to adjacent areas

resection as a means to control intractable epilepsy (Fig. 45.4a–c). Depending on the patient cooperativeness and the site of the epileptogenic zone, the approach to the surgery can either be done with the patient awake for the key portions (awake craniotomy) or done under general anesthesia. The choice of anesthesia agents greatly affects the ECoG.

Because of the patient's ability to participate in identification of eloquent regions, awake craniotomy is the preferred technique when these must be identified in the dominant hemisphere. This also minimizes the impact of anesthesia agents. For anesthesia considerations for an awake craniotomy, *see* Chap. 18 ("Anesthesia for Awake Neurosurgery"). In general, local anesthesia is used for the placement of stereotactic frames and head fixation devices (e.g., Mayfield) and topical anesthetics for discomfort of a urinary catheter. Infusions of propofol or dexmedetomidine with opioids (e.g., remifentanil) can assist during positioning and sedation until the craniotomy has been completed and the surgeons are ready for the procedure (at which time the infusions of the sedative and opioid are stopped).

However, general anesthesia will be needed in some patients who will be unable to cooperate or if an attempt at an awake procedure fails. If general anesthesia is used, it is important to maintain a stable light anesthetic during the ECoG recording using agents that minimize the depression of the ECoG signatures necessary for foci location. Opioids, with either propofol or dexmedetomidine, have been used. If halogenated agents are needed, very low doses of isoflurane or desflurane have been used [8]. Sevoflurane and nitrous oxide are not recommended.



Fig. 45.4 (a) Start of Focal Seizure during ECoG beginning in the depth electrodes DA4/DA5 and anterior temporal grid strips. (b) Seizure spreads to adjacent cortical

During the craniotomy, electrophysiological monitoring is used for several components. First, ECoG is used to confirm or identify the epileptogenic zone to be ablated. If the epileptic activity is not sufficiently active, medications that have been used to activate it are shown in Table 45.1 [8]. Of note, some of these medications may activate seizure activity nonspecifically (i.e., from areas other than the epileptogenic zone, may induce seizures, and some have doses that may not be appropriate in the awake patient [notably opioids]). Ketamine is one of these nonspecific neurostimulants. Use of methohexital and alfentanil appears to have the largest experience. Activation may be particularly important if general anesthesia is used. Hyperventilation appears to increase the nonspecific activation [8].

grids and strips. (c) Seizure stopped with saline applied directly to cortical surface—followed by cortical depression

Table 45.1	Intravenous	medications	which	may	activate
epileptogeni	c foci				

Drug	Dose
Methohexital ^a	25–100 mg
Etomidate	0.2 mg/kg
Propofol	50–175 mg
Fentanyl ^a	17–35 µg/kg
Remifentanil	1–2.5 µg/kg
Alfentanil	20–100 kg

Data from Chui et al. [8]

^aDenotes drugs that can activate nonspecifically

When the abnormal foci is located near the eloquent cortex (speech or motor cortex), an awake craniotomy combined with ECoG allows for identification and localization of these regions near the epileptogenic zone. Defining the margin





EKG1-EK

between abnormal and functional cortex allows normal brain preservation, complete epileptogenic zone resection, and a reasonable possibility of permanent seizure free state. Stimulation of the cortex is used to identify the functional tissue to be preserved.

Optimally, the identification of functional tissue to be spared is done during an awake craniotomy with preoperative identification of such areas using imaging techniques (e.g., singlepositron emission tomography [SPECT], PET for metabolically active areas with tasks, Wada testing to determine the dominant hemisphere, fMRI to create structural and functional brain models) or by use of the implanted electrodes at the bedside. In the operating room, mapping of these regions is done using different means of stimulation (handheld stimulators versus electrode grid strips) (Penfield technique versus direct cortical stimulation with motor evoked potentials; dcMEPs) and recording techniques are used to locate the eloquent cortex from the abnormal tissue [9] (see Chap. 9, "Brain and Spinal Cord Mapping").

For motor cortex mapping (*see* Chap. 9), focal electrical stimulation of the cortex combined with a clinical response in the awake patient locates the motor cortex by causing nonvoluntary motor activity. When awake, the patient is asked to identify movement (often a "tug") in response to stimulation. This patient participation can be continued if desired until the resection is complete or when the resection is halted as encroachment on the region is identified clinically. Occasionally the anesthesia team may identify associated movement. In the awake patient, the Penfield/Ojemann technique is typically used for stimulation.

For mapping of the speech-related areas, the brain is stimulated during a language-related task. For example, the patient may be shown a series of pictures of common objects and asked to name them (Boston Naming Test). The eloquent cortex is identified when the task is interrupted (speech arrest/pause or word errors) [10].

Second, ECoG is used to identify undesirable after discharges or elicited seizure activity caused

by the stimulation. The Penfield/Ojemann stimulation technique is associated with a moderate incidence of seizures so ECoG monitoring is important for seizure identification for this technique [11]. This activity may confound the identification of the initial epileptogenic foci by activating tissue adjacent to the epileptogenic zone and may pose a threat to the overall patient management (e.g., loss of airway in the wake patient). The EEG has characteristic waveforms after cortical stimulation and can be used to identify activity that is associated with preictal (precedes seizure) EEG, spreading seizure-like EEG, or an electrographic seizure. All of these EEG changes are usually stopped by cold saline applied directly on the exposed cortex. These can be followed by an appropriate (short acting) bolus of antiepileptic drugs (AED) such as propofol or methohexital should saline not terminate the seizure. Stimulation-induced seizures are frequent occurrences ranging from about 10 to 20 % of patients when a 50- to 60-Hz monopolar stimulator device is used (Penfield/Ojemann technique) [10, 12].

If general anesthesia is required or chosen, the motor cortex may be identified using direct stimulation of the cortex and recording of muscle responses using the motor evoked potential technique of direct cortex stimulation (dcMEP) and muscle recordings, as detailed in Chap. 2 ("Transcranial Motor Evoked Potentials"). For this stimulation, the high-frequency train technique for eliciting motor evoked potentials is more effective in overcoming the inhibitory effect of general anesthesia than the Penfield/Ojemann technique. As detailed in Chaps. 2 and 21 ("Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring for Intracranial Aneurysm Surgery"), the stimulation parameters of the dcMEP technique are critical such that the motor cortex is stimulated rather than stimulation deeper in the subcortex, as would occur with a stronger stimulus.

If the direct cortical MEP stimulation technique is used, total intravenous anesthesia is required (*see* Chap. 19, "Anesthesia Management and Intraoperative Electrophysiological Monitoring"). Muscle relaxants should also be avoided during this monitoring and train-of-four monitoring should be used to confirm resolution of any relaxants administered earlier in the procedure. As with the awake technique, monitoring can be continued during the resection. Fortunately, the incidence of stimulation-associated seizures is lower with the dcMEP technique (1-2%) due to the reduction in voltage needed to produce the same outcome (see Chap. 9, "Brain and Spinal Cord Mapping") [10, 12, 13]. Identification of the speech areas under general anesthesia is not currently possible. Neuronavigation techniques may be helpful inferring the location of the eloquent cortex from preoperative imaging studies (as earlier). Some preliminary studies suggest direct cortical stimulation may be helpful as cortical stimulation of some speech-related regions may activate regions of the motor cortex related to speech [14, 15]. If during the Phase II or Phase III monitoring, vEEG in conjunction with high-resolution MRI identifies mesial temporal sclerosis in which seizures originate from focal areas of the hippocampus, a less invasive craniotomy is performed with the use of MRI-guided laser technology. Unlike traditional lobectomy, the use of a laser-tipped probe is directed through a burr hole in the back of the skull toward the hippocampus to ablate the epileptic foci. This minimally invasive surgery is performed under general anesthesia with hospital stays being reduced typically to overnight [16].

Intensive Care EEG Monitoring

In a present-day critical care setting, it is no longer unusual to use multiple channel [16–32] continuous EEG or continuous EEG with video (cEEG) for making patient management decisions. Unlike a traditional bedside 20- to 30-min EEG, which is one point in time and interpreted hours to days after the recording, cEEG, continuous EEG in the critical care environment (CCEEG) (or neurotelemetry as it is termed when continuous recording and analysis for interpretation is provided), allows for uninterrupted assessment that triggers immediate treatment. If there is an unexplained neurological exam change with no corresponding image findings, a secondary cause of altered mental status or coma must be explored. cEEG demonstrates aspects of brain physiology that are not reflected in structural neuroimaging (CT or MRI). While functional neuroimaging techniques, such as PET, single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), and functional MRI (fMRI) can exhibit physiologic changes, they do not deliver the millisecond range of temporal resolution of CCEEG [17].

Continuous EEG is useful for seizure detection in the ICU, particularly when patients are pharmacologically paralyzed. It has been reported that more than half of the seizures in an ICU are associated with no or only subtle signs of clinical convulsive activity making diagnosis delayed or nonexistent. With the incidence of nonconvulsive status epilepticus (NCSE) in the critically ill of up to 37%, the use of CCEEG identifies and allows for quantification of seizure activity [9] (Fig. 45.5). Specifically, in the traumatic braininjured (TBI) patients, the estimate of NCSE occurring is 4–14% [9].

Evidence has suggested that the initial 30 min of using cEEG recording can predict the likelihood of seizures given the presence of certain EEG patterns of periodic lateralized discharges (LPDs) or generalized discharges (GPDs) as compared to generalized slowing. While periodic patterns are seen from a wide variety of clinical etiologies, the discharges themselves are highly correlated with nonconvulsive seizures and may represent an ictal (seizure) pattern in some patients with continuous to abundant activity [18] (Fig. 45.6).

In other patients, periodic discharges (PDs) persist despite the absence of seizures or after seizures have been controlled by AEDs. Presence of these should be carefully investigated clinically for evidence of toxic-metabolic, intracranial lesions, and/or infectious diseases [18]. Conversely, if the initial cEEG pattern is only one of generalized slowing, the patient is unlikely to develop seizures on subsequent cEEG monitoring [18]. In the ICU, the goal of cEEG is seizure identification and immediate treatment to prevent secondary

injury and subsequent neurological deterioration caused from seizures since they are associated with a very high cellular metabolic rate. High metabolic demand causes an unfavorable supply-to-demand relationship and ultimately to cellular injury and then death. This is true in the traumatic brain injury, subarachnoid hemorrhage, acute ischemic stroke, and intracranial hemorrhage patients. Therefore, seizure control is essential for positive patient outcomes.

Continuous EEG in the critical care environment can be used to monitor central nervous system drug effects such as the use of antiepileptics for seizure control and to guide patient care management for additional pharmacological support if seizures are refractory (refractory status epilepticus [RSE]). RSE carries a poor patient outcome with mortality rates reported to be 23–61 % [19]. Should additional pharmacological support of two or even a third AED not control RSE, continuous drips of midazolam, propofol, or pentobarbital are used for seizure control. The use of EEG to manage the drug delivery is recommended in the guidelines of the European Federation of Neurological Societies (EFNS) [20]. Titration of these medications reduces the side effects, notably hypotension and delayed return of consciousness. Further, residual drug level from higher than needed doses may delay EEG diagnosis of brain death.

While standard cEEG is generally multichannel raw data, the use of trending parameters in



Fig. 45.5 (a) Nonconvulsive seizures in ICU patient admitted for h/o alcohol abuse found unconscious and unresponsive. Abundant to continuous focal left occipital (O1/T5) sharps, spike, and waves in runs of 7–9 Hz (*south*

west arrow). (b) Field extends more anteriorly (T3 electrode) with periods of relative attenuation lasting 1–1.5 s between episodes (*south west arrow*)



Fig. 45.5 (continued)

parallel to raw EEG is a valuable quantification tool in determining quickly the number of periodic patterns in a 24-h period (Daily Pattern Duration) and daily seizure burden or the duration of seizures in a 24-h period (Daily Seizure Duration) [21]. When compared daily, these can help determine the effectiveness of treatment. In today's ICU equipment, multiple quantitative measures are generally derived from the fast Fourier transform (FFT) digitally displayed as density spectral arrays to color spectrograms and/or quantitative parameters such as spectral edge frequencies (SEF), asymmetry indexes, and frequency ratios as a few examples [22] (Fig. 45.7). While CCEEG has been poorly studied for the most appropriate trending choices, it is intuitive to choose quantitative measures and digital displays that demonstrate ratios of amplitude and frequencies. These may be different from seizure identification and seizure burden versus impending ischemia and metabolic suppression. Due to lack of centers providing CCEEG, the choice of quantitative EEG (qEEG) parameters is still a matter of debate and opinion. What is not in debate is the ability to always look at the raw cEEG display to allow assessment of the signal for quality, low voltage focal abnormalities easily missed by qEEG, and for contamination by artifact (Fig. 45.8).

In ICU patients, cEEG will also warn of other systemic abnormalities affecting the brain such as hypoxia, hypotension, and acidosis [9]. Correlation with advanced hemodynamics such as partial pressure of brain tissue oxygen (PbtO₂), cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen consumption


Fig. 45.6 Left periodic lateralized discharges (PEDs) in ICU patient admitted for altered mental status

(CMRO₂), or microdialysis (MD), and changing cardiopulmonary physiology provides a comprehensive multimodality approach to patient assessment (Fig. 45.9).

In addition, cEEG monitors the benefit or harm of other clinical interventions such as sedation management during treatment of high intracranial pressure or management of neuromuscular block during therapeutic hypothermia. Increased electromyography (EMG) in the EEG is evidence of inadequate sedation and neuromuscular block allowing for notification to the care team of the need for pharmacologic intervention. This will occur long before the patient is fully conscious or moves. Further, an absence of cEEG activity with the absence of medications that could suppress neuronal and cortical activity is helpful in the management of end-oflife decision making.

Other EEG Applications in the ICU

The EEG has been used in several other ways in the ICU. These include processed EEG to quantify sedation (*see* Chap. 11, "Clinical Application of Raw and Processed EEG") and the detection of unexpected cerebral ischemia. The latter is similar to the use of the EEG during carotid endarterectomy (*see* Chap. 30, "Carotid Surgery"). The ability to detect ischemia early allows management changes to improve blood flow so that the probability of irreversible damage is reduced.

Decreasing electrical activity in the EEG is an early finding when an adverse metabolic environment is present and can be used to detect neuronal ischemia. The most common causes of ischemia are hypoperfusion (restricted flow), hypotension



Fig. 45.7 Raw EEG with color density spectral array (*CDSA*). Note the spectral edge Frequency (*SEF*) line indication at 95% in white on the CDSA. An additional

table of numerical values provides multiple resources to analyze the raw EEG

(inadequate net perfusion pressure to provide adequate cerebral blood flow), and inadequate oxygen-carrying capacity (severe anemia). Similar to its use in the operating room during carotid endarterectomy (*see* Chap. 30), multichannel cEEG over the entire cortex can be used to determine if vessel compromise is associated with regional hypoperfusion or when relative ischemia occurs as a result of metabolic demand exceeding supply. Since anatomic variations in the circle of Willis and inadequate flow in major arteries can occur, compensation for loss of blood flow may not occur. The multichannel cEEG has the advantage of being applied over the entire cortex and can therefore detect ischemia in all vascular territories perfusing the cortical surface.



Fig. 45.8 EEG with trend spectrogram of left and right hemispheres derived from FFT shows change in state of consciousness of patient and increase in interictal spike

and wave. While a change is noted (*south west arrow*), only raw EEG reveals the significance of the change

When blood flow in a vessel is reduced, cEEG can signal poor collateral flow such as during intracranial vascular surgery. This change can suggest that medical interventions such as induced hypertension must be performed to improve collateral flow. Continuous EEG monitoring during these interventions can assist in determining their effectiveness in restoring blood flow. Without an improvement in EEG activity, administration of medications to suppress metabolic activity and extend cellular tolerance to hypoperfusion may be selected (see later). Unfortunately, drug metabolic suppression eliminates the effectiveness of cEEG to detect ischemia because the EEG amplitude and frequencies are suppressed.

The power of cEEG monitoring for ischemia is that the EEG abnormalities appear rapidly; the cEEG usually fails in 20 s following complete cessation of blood flow. The cEEG becomes abnormal below the threshold of adequate blood flow, which is estimated to be 22 cm³/min/100 g and absent below 15 cm³/min/100 g (ischemic threshold) (see Chap. 40, "Electrophysiological Monitoring During Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm Surgery," Fig. 40.1) [23]. This ischemia can eventually lead to cellular death; cell death is also a function of the duration of hypoperfusion. For example, cell death may take 3-4 h when the cerebral blood flow is just below the threshold where the cEEG becomes abnormal. Infarction occurs after a shorter period of time when the blood flow is lower than this level. Recovery of cellular function as perfusion improves is rapidly detected with the return of cEEG activity. Medical intervention such as induced hypertension subsequently increases perfusion reversing ischemic



Fig. 45.9 Multimodality monitoring with hemodynamics of intracranial pressure (*ICP*), intracranial temperature (*ICT*), cerebral perfusion pressure (*CPP*), partial pressure of oxygen in brain tissue (*PbtO2*), 2-channel density spec-

tral array (DSA), and raw EEG from six channels (three from the left and three from the right hemisphere) correlated in time. Courtesy Dick Moberg

change; this response has been documented during cEEG monitoring in surgical patients. The EEG is often considered the "gold standard" for this purpose when the patient is anesthetized.

In the ICU, cEEG has been used in efforts to vasospasm delayed detect and cerebral ischemia(DCI) in high-grade subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) patients. In this patient population, a reported 20-40% of patients are at risk [24]. In the early literature, the use of alpha variability as a derived quantitative measure of cEEG trended over time had a high positive predictive value in identifying vasospam when the alpha reactivity was poor or nonreactive [25]. Delayed cerebral ischemia, however, in the ICU may occur slowly over time (hours to days) in this population. This is difficult generally to appreciate with traditional surface cEEG. Therefore, new approaches have emerged to record impending ischemia.

One of these is the recording of cortical spreading depolarization waves (CSD). CSDs are large transitory neuronal depolarizations that slowly propagate, 1–3 min, through cerebral cortex from brain-injured tissue. CSD waves are cortically associated with isoelectricity, periodic discharges, and prolonged depression of spontaneous EEG activity. Cerebral perfusion pressure decreases usually precede the appearance of CSD. The increases in cellular metabolism needed for cellular repolarization may be more than the energy supply available in the ICU



Fig. 45.10 Induced burst suppression EEG. Long interelectrode distance recording showing brief bursts followed by suppression. Optimal burst suppression is generally considered four bursts per minute

patient [26]. This can be damaging to the compromised ICU patient. Recording of CSD requires implantation of invasive grid strip electrodes placed closely over the regional area of brain injury to record ECoG. This, however, can be accomplished during the craniotomy for evacuation of the hemorrhage. Evidence of CSD in the acute brain disorder will likely require the development of new clinical protocols to manage preservation of cerebral blood flow to improve recovery for the SAH patient [27].

Finally, the EEG has been used to monitor intentionally induced metabolic suppression so as to favorably alter the nutrient supply and energy demand relationship of neural cells. As detailed in Chap. 19, about 50% of the metabolic activity of neural cells is used by normal synaptic activity. The agents used for metabolic suppression vary as some drugs have additional desirable qualities (e.g., free radical scavenging with barbiturates) and undesirable qualities (e.g., slow kinetics with thiopental, adrenal suppression with etomidate).

This technique has been referred to as "barbiturate coma" when produced by barbiturates and has also been used during surgeries such as carotid endarterectomy (*see* Chap. 30) and intracranial vascular surgery (*see* Chap. 21). Drugs are often titrated by assessing their effect on the EEG. The gradual depression in EEG mirrors the depression in synaptic activity until maximum metabolic suppression occurs. This coincides with cessation of electrical activity (i.e., a flat EEG). When maximum suppression is required, the treatment end-point most often used is burst suppression (near maximal suppression) where the EEG shows periods of electrical activity that are interspersed with periods of electrical silence (Fig. 45.10). It is important to note that these drugs have a maximal metabolic depression of about 50 % of normal metabolism.

Current data in animal models suggest that prolonged periods of burst suppression may not be necessary to get potential neuroprotective effects [28]. Modest EEG suppression, similar to that seen with routine general anesthesia, has equivalent neuroprotective effects to burst suppression in animals. Hypothermia is most commonly used to augment reductions in cerebral metabolism since reductions in temperature can reduce nonsynaptic metabolic activity. Because electrical seizure activity increases metabolic demand, the use of EEG to identify and suppress seizures is also helpful in reducing the circumstances of excess demand.

Conclusion

Recent advances in EEG recording technology and the ability to "see" the synaptic activity of cortical neurons allow the EEG to be a powerful tool in the operating room and ICU. In particular, the unique ability to detect the electrical activity of seizures makes it an extremely valuable tool in the operative management of epilepsy and in the care of patients in the intensive care unit.

References¹

- *Hirsch LJ. Continuous EEG, monitoring in the intensive care unit: an overview. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2004;21(5):332–40.
- Walker LE, Mirza N, Yip VL, Marson AG, Pirmohamed M. Personalized medicine approaches in epilepsy. J Intern Med. 2015;277(2):218–34.
- *Chang BS, Lowenstein DH. Epilepsy. N Engl J Med. 2003;349(13):1257–66.
- Jette N, Reid AY, Wiebe S. Surgical management of epilepsy. CMAJ. 2014;186(13):997–1004.
- Benbadis SR, LaFrance Jr WC, Papandonatos GD, Korabathina K, Lin K, Kraemer HC, et al. Interrater reliability of EEG-video monitoring. Neurology. 2009;73(11):843–6.
- Yu AH, Li KC, Piao CF, Li HL. Application of functional MRI in epilepsy. Chin Med J (Engl). 2005;118(12):1022–7.
- Kesavadas C, Thomas B, Sujesh S, Ashalata R, Abraham M, Gupta AK, et al. Real-time functional MR imaging (fMRI) for presurgical evaluation of paediatric epilepsy. Pediatr Radiol. 2007;37(10):964–74.
- *Chui J, Manninen P, Valiante T, Venkatraghavan L. The anesthetic considerations of intraoperative electrocorticography during epilepsy surgery. Anesth Analg. 2013;117(2):479–86.
- *Sala F, Manganotti P, Grossauer S, Tramontanto V, Mazza C, Gerosa M. Intraoperative neurophysiology of the motor system in children: a tailored approach. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26(4):473–90.
- Tharin S, Golby A. Functional brain mapping and its applications to neurosurgery. Neurosurgery. 2007;60(4 Suppl 2):185–201; discussion 202.
- Sartorius CJ, Wright G. Intraoperative brain mapping in a community setting—technical considerations. Surg Neurol. 1997;47(4):380–8.
- Duffau H. [Peroperative functional mapping using direct electrical stimulations. Methodological considerations]. Neurochirurgie. 2004;50(4):474–83.
- Cedzich C, Pechstein U, Schramm J, Schafer S. Electrophysiological considerations regarding

electrical stimulation of motor cortex and brain stem in humans. Neurosurgery. 1998;42(3):527–32.

- Greenlee JD, Oya H, Kawasaki H, Volkov IO, Kaufman OP, Kovach C, et al. A functional connection between inferior frontal gyrus and orofacial motor cortex in human. J Neurophysiol. 2004;92(2):1153–64.
- Matsumoto R, Nair DR, LaPresto E, Najm I, Bingaman W, Shibasaki H, et al. Functional connectivity in the human language system: a cortico-cortical evoked potential study. Brain. 2004;127(Pt 10):2316–30.
- Gonzalez-Martinez J, Vadera S, Mullin J, Enatsu R, Alexopoulos AV, Patwardhan R, et al. Robot-assisted stereotactic laser ablation in medically intractable epilepsy: operative technique. Neurosurgery. 2014;10 Suppl 2:167–72; discussion 72–3.
- Bromfield EB. EEG in brain tumors: drugs, diseases and procedures Medscape references; 2013.
- *Friedman D, Claassen J, Hirsch LJ. Continuous electroencephalogram monitoring in the intensive care unit. Anesth Analg. 2009;109(2):506–23.
- Fishman O, Legatt AD. PLEDs following control of seizures and at the end of life. Clin EEG Neurosci. 2010;41(1):11–4.
- Meierkord H, Boon P, Engelsen B, Gocke K, Shorvon S, Tinuper P, et al. EFNS guideline on the management of status epilepticus. Eur J Neurol. 2006;13(5):445–50.
- Swisher CB, Shah D, Sinha SR, Husain AM. Baseline EEG pattern on continuous ICU EEG monitoring and incidence of seizures. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;32(2):147–51.
- Novy J, Logroscino G, Rossetti AO. Refractory status epilepticus: a prospective observational study. Epilepsia. 2010;51(2):251–6.
- Jones TH, Morawetz RB, Crowell RM, Marcoux FW, FitzGibbon SJ, DeGirolami U, et al. Thresholds of focal cerebral ischemia in awake monkeys. J Neurosurg. 1981;54(6):773–82.
- Frontera JA, Claassen J, Schmidt JM, Wartenberg KE, Temes R, Connolly Jr ES, et al. Prediction of symptomatic vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: the modified fisher scale. Neurosurgery. 2006;59(1):21–7; discussion 27.
- Vespa PM, Nenov V, Nuwer MR. Continuous EEG monitoring in the intensive care unit: early findings and clinical efficacy. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1999;16(1):1–13.
- 26. Lauritzen M, Dreier JP, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Graf R, Strong AJ. Clinical relevance of cortical spreading depression in neurological disorders: migraine, malignant stroke, subarachnoid and intracranial hemorrhage, and traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2011;31(1):17–35.
- 27. Dreier JP, Major S, Manning A, Woitzik J, Drenckhahn C, Steinbrink J, et al. Cortical spreading ischaemia is a novel process involved in ischaemic damage in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Brain. 2009;132(Pt 7):1866–81.
- Warner DS. Anesthetics provide limited but real protection against acute brain injury. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2004;16(4):303–7.

¹Key references marked with asterisks.

Questions

- 1. Surgical candidates for resection of epileptogenic zones:
 - a. Have discrete epileptogenic zones located in one hemisphere
 - b. Only have epileptogenic zones in the nondominant hemisphere
 - c. Always have epileptogenic zones near the speech areas
 - d. Never have epileptogenic zones near the motor cortex
 - e. None of the above
- 2. Patients who are not candidates for resection of the epileptogenic zone by surgery may still come to surgery for
 - a. Placement of a vagal nerve stimulator
 - b. Placement of a trigeminal nerve stimulator
 - c. Placement of deep brain stimulation electrodes
 - d. Corpus callosotomy
 - e. All of the above
- 3. To aid in identifying the Motor Cortex in surgery the following is(are) used
 - a. The patient reporting tugging when the area is stimulated by the Penfield/Ojemann technique
 - b. EMG in muscles when the area is stimulated by direct cortical MEP techniques
 - c. By phase reversal of the SSEP
 - d. All of the above

- 4. When electrical activity from the cortical surface does not reveal ictal activity, which of the following medications have been used to activate the seizure activity:
 - a. Etomidate
 - b. Methohexital
 - c. Alfentanil
 - d. Propofol
 - e. All of the above
- 5. EEG monitoring in the ICU
 - a. Is not useful in patients who are pharmacologically paralyzed
 - b. Can detect seizure activity in patients who do not have tonic-clonic activity
 - c. Is useful when high doses of medications are used to depress neuronal metabolic activity
 - d. Always predicts brain infarction when the EEG activity ceases
 - e. All of the above are true

Answers

- 1. a
- 2. e
- 3. d
- 4. e
- 5. b

Monitoring Cerebral Blood Flow

W. Andrew Kofke and Bonnie H. Wang

Physiology

Mechanisms of Cerebral Blood Flow Regulation

The flow of blood to the brain is finely regulated to provide substrates according to the needs of neural tissue. This coupling occurs via several mechanisms. These include neurogenic, humoral, and myogenic processes [1-3].

The cerebral vasculature is extensively innervated with a wide variety of neurotransmittercontaining nerves that appear to work in close concert with the endothelium and neural metabolism. A wide variety of nerve types innervate the cerebral vasculature to confer vasoconstriction or vasodilation on the cerebral vasculature. The neurons innervating the cerebral vessels arise from numerous areas. These anatomic loci

Department of Neurosurgery, University of Pennsylvania, 7 Dulles Building, 3400 Spruce Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104-4283, USA

B.H. Wang, M.D. Department of Neurology, University of Pennsylvania, 3 Gates Building, 3400 Spruce Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104-4283, USA e-mail: bonnieblades@gmail.com include intracranial ganglia [4, 5], the spinal cord [6], other extra cranial nerves [7], or intracerebral nuclei [8].

Neural metabolic factors also clearly have an important role in the fine tuning of local CBF. Products of metabolism such as lactate and $PaCO_2$ act to decrease pH so as to cause vasodilation, with nitric oxide, and other factors contributing to this aspect of autoregulation [2, 9–12]. Such a notion is reinforced by observations of coupled variations in CBF with extremity movements or thought processes [2, 10]. It is thought that nitric oxide is an important component of this neural metabolic fine tuning of local CBF [9, 11, 12]. Indeed, it has been suggested that hypercapnea-mediated increased CBF occurs by way of nitric oxide [9].

In addition to innervation and neural metabolic control of cerebral circulation, influences are exerted by way of blood pressure and humorally mediated influences. Blood pressure has long been known to have an impact on the cerebral circulation. Alterations in blood pressure result in changes in cerebral vascular resistance to maintain CBF constant within the range of physiologic blood pressures. This has been observed in a dynamic manner by correlation with transcranial Doppler blood flow velocity measurements [13]. At the extremes, however, blood pressure changes result in a linear pressure-dependent change in flow. This relationship is altered by chronic hypertension shifting the relationship to higher pressures.

W.A. Kofke, M.D., M.B.A., F.C.C.M., F.N.C.S. (\boxtimes) Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care, University of Pennsylvania, 7 Dulles Building, 3400 Spruce Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104-4283, USA e-mail: William.Kofke@uphs.upenn.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 A. Koht et al. (eds.), *Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists* and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5_46

CBF is exquisitely sensitive to changes of PaCO₂ with a linear change in CBF reported to occur with changes in PaCO₂ [14–18]. This sensitivity of CBF to PaCO₂ is the underlying physiological factor supporting the use of CO₂ changes to provocatively alter CBF through inhibition of carbonic anhydrase with acetazolamide [19–22] or through induced alterations in minute ventilation or inspired CO₂ to change PaCO₂ [23].

Oxygen level is an essential aspect for the maintenance of CBF. Ordinarily, the CBF remains relatively constant with variations in PaO_2 as long as arterial oxygen saturation is greater than 95%. However, with decrements in PaO_2 , the CBF increases substantially in a compensatory manner to maintain oxygen supply [24]. Conversely, hyperoxia is a cerebral vaso-constrictor [25].

Autoregulation

Numerous reports document the shift of the lower limit of pressure autoregulation with chronic hypertension [26]. The anatomic basis for this is thought to be vascular hypertrophy and the remodeling of the microcirculation [26]. CO_2 reactivity is reportedly maintained with chronic hypertension [17]. However, responses to humoral effectors are altered during chronic hypertension due to decreased endothelial responses [27, 28]. Because of the shift of the autoregulation curve to higher pressures, there is always concern that decreasing blood pressure will result in ischemia [29].

It should be noted that traditional notions of cerebral autoregulation, with CBF constant over a CPP range of approximately 50–150 mmHg, have not gone without a challenge [30]. Drummond [30] argues that this common notion is derived from a figure in a review article by Lassen [31], which itself was an estimate based on data from pregnant volunteers undergoing blood pressure alteration with hydralazine and veratrum viride published by McCall [32] in 1953. Despite the use of potentially cerebral vasoactive drugs, these observations remained unconfirmed in humans. Drummond suggests

that most human data published since 1953 support a lower limit of autoregulation (LLA) of 70 mmHg, with one investigator suggesting the onset of cerebral ischemia symptoms in normal humans to arise at an MAP of 55 mmHg [33]. Moreover, his closer review of published data suggests large interindividual variation in the LLA. Drummond suggests that the only safe approach to an individual patient is to assume that no less than 75% of his or her resting MAP should be assumed to be the LLA. Symptoms of cerebral hypoperfusion tend to arise when MAP falls to about 50% of the resting value. These assertions of the need to individualize are increasingly being supported in the context of head injury with recent studies of the use of dynamic autoregulation assessment to determine optimal blood pressure for a given patient [34–37].

It is also of interest that the LLA, based on CPP (MAP-ICP), may vary with ICP and with jugular venous pressure. McPherson et al. [38] in a canine model noted that the LLA was higher with elevated jugular venous pressure. This may, however, actually reflect the lack of knowledge regarding the proper definition for CPP and that it may vary depending on the influence of the venous starling resistor [38, 39]. Brady et al. [40], in an atraumatic immature piglet model of intracranial hypertension, found that the LLA had a positive correlation with ICP. That is, LLA CPP was higher with higher levels of ICP. They suggest the possibility that compensating for an increase in ICP with an equivalent increase in arterial blood pressure (ABP) may not be sufficient to prevent a decrement in CBF and cerebral ischemia. Further studies in adults will be needed. Nonetheless, Brady et al. [40] point out that Cremer et al. [41] observed a LLA elevation in adult trauma patients with intracranial hypertension.

The overall suggestion is that there is a need for an individualized dynamic autoregulation assessment to determine each patient's optimal CPP [34–37]. Indeed, this may be only one component of a battery of multimodal monitoring, so-called integrative neuromonitoring, that is increasingly being advocated [42]. Autoregulation assessment methods are presented later in this chapter.

Cerebrovascular Reserve

Occlusive cerebral vascular disease produces decrements in CBF such that aerobic metabolism may not be supported, with a consequent decrement in neuronal function and a risk of neuronal injury or death. However, a subtler manifestation of occlusive cerebral vascular disease is a decrease in *cerebrovascular reserve*. That is, a compromise in vascular in-flow results in compensatory vasodilatation such that, at the microcirculatory level and at a given systemic blood pressure, there will be a greater degree of vasodilatation than there would be otherwise, resulting in normal blood flow. The functional consequence of this is that ordinary perturbations, which are otherwise well tolerated through physiologic vasodilation, will not be tolerated if further vasodilation cannot be achieved. Thus, decreases in blood pressure or oxygen supply may not be tolerated such that a stroke may arise. The abnormality of CO_2 reactivity in occlusive cerebral vascular disease has been documented in a number of reports [23, 43–46]. The newer methods of continuous autoregulation assessment may provide insight regarding the status of a given patient's level of cerebrovascular reserve, as a loss of reserve should translate to an increased correlation of ABP and CBF or a shift of the CPP optimum described later.

Another approach to characterizing cerebral autoregulation has been espoused by Dewey et al. [47], Early et al. [48], and Burton et al. [49]. Using observations in pacemaker-dependent dogs and a beat-to-beat measure of brain blood flow, they observed that abrupt cessation of cardiac activity produced zero cerebral blood flow well above zero pressure. Indeed, they reported that this critical closing pressure varied with the resting MAP, generally being about 40-50 mmHg below MAP. They concluded that the normal cerebral circulation assumes a tonic state of contraction that varies with MAP and ICP; more tone at higher blood pressure or lower ICP, less at lower blood pressure or higher ICP, such that the true dynamic cerebral perfusion pressure is MAP-CCP, with CBF=(MAP-CCP)/CVR. Burton's model can be used to describe critical closing

pressure (CCP) as CCP=ICP+tension of arterial walls [47]. The CCP is presumed to be altered by various drugs and disease states to thereby produce variations in CBF despite otherwise unchanged traditional CPP (MAP-ICP). Thus, the true definition and measurement of CPP may be a good deal more dynamic and complex than is commonly understood at this time.

More recently, further studies of CCP were done in humans with traumatic brain injury by Czosnyka et al. [50]. If autoregulation is relatively intact, CCP-ICP remains high, but with injury sufficient to produce dysautoregulation, CCP-ICP decreases indicating decreased tension in arterial walls. Transcranial Doppler waveform analysis is suggested by several authors as a potential means to measure and monitor CCP in humans [51–53].

Cerebral Blood Flow Measurement and Clinical Applications of Specific Techniques Perioperatively

A number of measurement technologies have evolved over the years to evaluate CBF. Generally, the methods entail assessment of washin and/or washout of a tracer substance or bulk flow measurement. Methods which have been described include stable xenon CT CBF [54–56], technetium-labeled RBC techniques [57], thermodilution techniques [58], ¹³³xenon methods [59, 60], ultrasonic volume flow [61], positron emission tomography (PET) [62, 63], singlephoton emission computed tomography (SPECT) [15, 64-67], AVO₂ difference assessment [68,69], radioisotope measurement of brain-blood turnover [70], forehead thermography [71], thermal diffusion flowmetry [72], planar gamma camera images cerebral blood flow (CBF)/cerebral blood volume (CBV) determination [73], laser Doppler flowmetry [74], ultrafast CT with iodinated contrast [75], and arterial spin labeling perfusion fMRI [76]. Recent studies increasingly indicate a role for continuous autoregulation assessment using transcranial Doppler (TCD) [77], ICP [35–37], near-infrared spectroscopy [78, 79], or brain pO₂ [80].

The methods most commonly used are as follows (with descriptions of some uses):

Stable Xenon CTCBF

With this technique, the subject inhales 26-33%stable xenon. The xenon is rapidly taken up into the blood, transported to, and taken up into the brain. End-tidal xenon is recorded continuously and assumed to be arterial. Xenon is radiopaque such that changes in radiodensity with serial CT scanning can be used to calculate CBF throughout the brain. The method computes solubility (λ) throughout the brain and then uses the adjusted λ for all CBF calculations. This results in more valuable data in patients with disease states where λ may not be uniform throughout the brain. The technique has been criticized because of pharmacological effects of xenon. Xenon inhalation effects reportedly include decreasing CO₂ and augmenting CBF [81]. However, using multiple early images and weighting calculations to do the early portion of the wash-in curve has eliminated the effect of flow activation on CBF calculation [54-56, 82]. In addition, in the evaluation of CBF in normals, the flow values that are obtained with stable xenon CTCBF (XeCT CBF) are clearly consistent with those obtained with other methods, suggesting that potential bias induced by xenon inhalation is not a significant factor. Many of the patients who are undergoing CBF assessment are having it done to assess areas of low blood flow. Thus, regardless of concerns about potential CBF increasing effects, XeCT CBF has been shown to be a versatile and useful tool, especially in the evaluation of low blood flow conditions. Moreover, because studies can be repeated at 20-min intervals, reactivity challenge testing of therapies can be performed dynamically. The fact that a reactivity challenge can be readily done while a patient is in the CT scanner is a major advantage as it can be done in the course of obtaining structural information during routine CT scanning. Because of the capability to do repeat studies in a single CT scan visit, dynamic studies to evaluate therapy or cerebrovascular reserve assessment can also be done with Xe CTCBF technology. The advent of portable CT scanning now makes feasible the notion of doing intraoperative XeCT CBF studies [83].

Xe¹³³ CBF

Radioactive xenon methods that have been widely used include either inhalation, intravenous injection, or intra-arterial injection [59, 60, 84, 85]. All such methods eliminate considerations about xenon effects on CBF as only trace amounts of xenon are administered. However, the CBF values are obtained from gamma counters located at specific loci on the scalp that record CBF in only one dimension. In conditions of low flow, this technology can be problematic, missing low flow deep in the brain or conversely missing low flow on the cortex because of persistent flow in deeper structures (look-through phenomenon) [86]. An important advantage of this technique is that it can be done at the bedside. Nonetheless, it requires availability of a clinical CBF laboratory with this capability. It has been demonstrated to be quite suitable for intraoperative use [87–93].

Jugular Bulb AVO₂ Difference

AVO₂ difference measurement is based upon the "Fick" equation using a jugular bulb catheter. Given a stable cerebral metabolic rate, changes in AVO₂ difference of oxygen will represent changes in CBF. Thus, it cannot be used to provide quantitative nor regional CBF and it does depend on accurate insertion of a catheter into the jugular bulb. However, it can be used at the bedside with continuous oxygen saturation monitoring to provide information regarding adequacy of CBF relative to cerebral metabolic rate (CMR) [68, 69] and to infer changes in CBF over time. The primary problem with data acquired with AVO₂ difference techniques arises in situations of heterogeneous CBF or metabolic rate. It is a global measure and its information can be misleading when hyperemic areas overshadow focally ischemic areas of the brain (see Chap. 14, "Monitoring of Jugular Venous Oxygen Saturation").

Thermodilution rCBF

Thermodilution rCBF uses continuous thermodilution techniques in a probe placed directly into brain parenchyma. It has been validated against microspheres in animals and XeCT CBF in humans [94] to thus provide continuous secondto-second information regarding CBF in the area insonated. By its nature, it provides only regional information. It has been used clinically to assess effects of papaverine [95] and nimodipine [96] given for vasospasm, assess CO₂ reactivity [97], titrate blood pressure during vasospasm [98], and evaluate the effects of intraoperative arterial occlusion on rCBF [99].

Transcranial Doppler

Transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasonography uses reflected ultrasound from basal cerebral arteries and the Doppler principle to determine the velocity of blood (cm/s) in a given insonated artery (see Chap. 11, "Clinical Application of Raw and Processed EEG"). It provides real-time dynamic information regarding blood flow velocity (BFV), providing continuous waveform similar to that obtained with intra-arterial blood pressure monitoring. An example of this capability was published by Kofke et al. [100-103] and Eng et al. [104] reporting TCD recordings during the dynamic state associated with anesthetic induction and endotracheal intubation. Insonated arteries include the proximal arteries of the circle of Willis.

Training is required to acquire and identify a signal from a cerebral artery. Moreover, once acquired, maintaining acquisition of a good signal for monitoring purposes can be quite challenging. Minor changes in the angle of insonation can result in loss or degradation of the signal. Thus, well-trained and motivated nurses and technicians are needed to use TCD successfully as a monitor in the neuro-intensive care unit (neuro-ICU) or operating room (OR). In the OR it is best used with the aid of a strap system, which can hold the TCD probe in a constant position during the procedure.

The reproducibility of TCD recordings depends on a constant angle of the transducer insonating a given vessel. This is an important operator-dependent factor. This factor is minimized as the insonation angle becomes more parallel to the vessel being examined. Another important factor in interpreting BFV measurements is the vessel diameter. Decreases in vessel caliber can increase BFV (suggesting hyperemia) in the face of decreasing CBF. In addition, hematocrit, PaCO₂, and blood pressure can also influence BFV, although this may actually be a reflection of changes in CBF [105, 106].

It is important to note that TCD is not a quantitative flow monitor in mL/100 g/min. Rather it provides information, which can be useful, regarding the presence and character of flow. There are some situations where TCD changes may reflect changes in CBF, particularly in situations of abrupt changes in arterial inflow [107]. It has several uses in the ICU and OR. These uses include assessment of vasospasm, vascular reactivity, increased intracranial pressure, brain death (screening) [108], arterial patency, flow direction, emboli, and hyperemia [109]. Eng et al. [104], using TCD as a monitor during induction of anesthesia, demonstrated its potential value as a monitor as the TCD demonstrated the effects of aneurysmal rupture as it guided their therapy for this emergency situation (Fig. 46.1) [104]. Examination of this figure shows a period of intracranial circulatory arrest, which is the waveform seen with brain death. Also in this figure is an example of increased pulsatility, or a "spiky" waveform appearance associated with intracranial hypertension.

Vasospasm

TCD has been reported to be an early indicator of the presence of vasospasm prior to the onset of a clinically evident ischemic deficit. These observations are based on the physical principle that, with narrowing of a basal cerebral artery, blood flow velocity would increase, even as flow decreased. Thus, TCD has found a routine place in many neuro-ICUs as a noninvasive screening tool for the occurrence of vasospasm [110–113]. However, subsequent studies, perhaps related to





Fig. 46.1 Blood flow velocity measured by TCD during carotid endarterectomy. Preinduction (**a**). Internal and external carotid arteries clamped (**b**). Significant decrease in BFV occurs with loss of pulsatility. With unclamping

increased use of nimodipine, have shown that increased velocity in subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) patients is associated with hyperemia more often than it is associated with vasospasm [114]. In addition, TCD can miss distal spasm. Thus, TCD, although still possibly of value as a rough screening tool, has insufficient sensitivity and specificity to be the sole criterion to make important therapeutic decisions in SAH. It still may be used as a trend once it is established that a patient clearly is in vasospasm or is hyperemic. Alternatively, it may be used to assess the extent of vasodilatory cerebrovascular reserve, and thus provide indirect information regarding how close a vasospastic condition is to producing clinically evident symptoms [115–117]. It is unclear whether this approach can differentiate hyperemia versus vasospasm.

(c), significant emboli are observed in the middle cerebral artery. Postischemic hyperemia (d) is detected (From Eng et al. [104]; with permission)

Cerebrovascular Reserve

Analogous to similar measures with XeCT CBF, determination of the extent of vascular reserve can also be done with TCD and provides a semiquantitative indicator of the severity of injury to a given vascular bed. Reactivity assessment is done by manipulation of either perfusion pressure or carbon dioxide. For a given change in mean arterial pressure, within the normal autoregulatory range, there should be no change in blood flow velocity. A change in flow velocity indicates abnormal autoregulation. Moreover, this has been further developed such that the degree to which changes in blood flow velocity match changes in blood pressure has been developed into a TCD-based autoregulation index, Mx⁷⁷.

Carbon dioxide reactivity can be assessed by increasing inspired CO_2 or by increasing tissue

 CO_2 via administration of acetazolamide. Blood flow velocity normally should increase 3–4% per mm Hg increase in PaCO₂. Failure of brain to do so implies lack of cerebrovascular reserve such that the brain may not tolerate minor perturbations in O₂ delivery. A CO₂ reactivity index can be defined with CO₂ inhalation [118]:

 CO_2 reactivity index = $(V2 - V1) / (\Delta end tidal CO_2)$

Normal CO₂ reactivity index is 1.78 ± 0.48 (SD). In patients with cerebrovascular disease, this index was found to vary from 0.15 to 2.6 [119]. Failure of the brain to demonstrate a normal increase in blood flow velocity with a CO₂ increase implies the presence of maximal vasodilation.

Intracranial Pressure

Increases in intracranial pressure into the 20- to 30-mm Hg range, although of epidemiological significance, have not been shown to have substantial physiologic significance in terms of a dangerous decrement in CBF (although there may be important negative effects due to semiocclusive narrowing of bridging veins) [39, 120, 121]. As ICP increases, cerebral vasodilation occurs in a compensatory fashion and the actual CBF tends to not be in the ischemic range at lower ICPs [122]. However, with further ICP increases approaching diastolic arterial pressure [123] and infringing on the critical closing pressure of the cerebral microvasculature [47, 48], flow, which ordinarily is continuous throughout the cardiac cycle, becomes discontinuous, decreasing to zero during diastole. This is consistent with the theoretical conclusions of Giulioni et al. [122] wherein they suggest, based on considerations of intracranial elastance and vasomotor tone, that systolic increase and diastolic decrease in BFV should occur when ICP reaches the "breakpoint" value. They suggest that the Gosling Pulsatility Index should be a useful indicator of high ICP. ICP in such situations of zero diastolic flow theoretically should be in the 40- to 60-mmHg range [47, 48]. Indeed, an ICP of 48 mmHg is the average level at which patients progressing to brain death have been observed initially to sustain a high ICP and a systolic spike pattern with the oscillating pattern developing at 62.5 mmHg [124]. Hassler et al. [123] clearly showed the relationship between ICP and phasic blood pressure and how TCD waveform can reflect ICP encroachment on diastolic flow when ICP exceeds diastolic pressure. This pattern is shown in Fig. 46.1b.

As intracranial pressure increases or cerebral perfusion pressure decreases, the character of the TCD waveform thus changes, becoming more "spiky" in appearance with increased pulsatility [122, 123] (Fig. 46.1). This is the basis for the definition of the pulsatility index ([systolic flow velocity-end-diastolic velocity]/[mean diastolic velocity]) [125]. As diastolic perfusion is increasingly compromised, the cerebral circulation takes on more characteristics of the higher resistance peripheral circulation with lower diastolic flow velocity. Ultimately, diastolic flow velocity is zero as cerebral perfusion becomes discontinuous. Based on observations such as this, TCD may be useful to make general inferences about cerebral perfusion pressure and, specifically, to know if ICP exceeds diastolic blood pressure [126, 127].

ICP assessment with TCD is based predominantly on retrospective reports, having not yet been assessed prospectively in a large number of patients to determine whether TCD could be used to reliably and noninvasively determine the CPP in a given patient. Nonetheless, using TCD to make inferences about ICP is gaining attention in cases where invasive ICP monitoring is contraindicated due to coagulopathy [128, 129]. Given the difficulty making direct ICP measurements, TCD waveform analysis should also be of value in cases of posterior fossa hypertension, although this remains unvalidated.

Brain Death

As cerebral perfusion pressure progressively decreases to sustained levels associated with no CBF (Fig. 46.1), brain death ensues. With TCD this manifests as diastolic reversal of flow presumably due to blood "bouncing" backward off an edematous brain as demonstrated by Hassler et al. [123]. Thus, TCD may be useful as a screening tool for brain death. However, it is important to consider the diastolic blood pressure when making such assessments. A strikingly similar TCD waveform can be generated in a totally sentient patient with aortic insufficiency and diastolic pressure low enough to be in the range of normal intracranial pressure. Notably, a normal TCD waveform should be a good way to rule out brain death. This can be remarkably useful in some operative circumstances.

Vessel Patency

Occasionally, a patient may be admitted to the neuro-ICU after having had a procedure to the middle cerebral or internal carotid arteries. In such cases, TCD has been used during or after surgery to confirm continued patency of the blood vessel [130]. As clinical symptoms may not occur until the vessel is completely occluded or may not occur at all, especially with confounding effects of an anesthetic, TCD may be used to indicate when flow in the monitored vessel is changed in an unwanted manner.

Emboli

Emboli can be readily detected with TCD. This is most commonly a relevant question during cardiac or carotid surgery (Fig. 46.2) [131]. In the ICU, TCD can help determine the adequacy of anticoagulation in patients with artificial cardiac valves or patients with tenuous proximal vascular patency [132, 133]. However, it has been observed that emboli are very common in some situations, without obvious neurological sequelae. Thus, determination that a given frequency of emboli in a given patient warrants major changes in therapy is presently a matter of clinical judgment.

Hyperemia

Hyperemia can be a major problem in some clinical conditions, as after AVM resection, after carotid endarterectomy (Fig. 46.2), with hepatic failure, and systemic hypertension. Given a baseline value or calibration of a TCD value with a CBF determination, TCD can be used to ascertain the presence of a cerebral hyperfusion syndrome. This has been reported after carotid endarterectomy by Steiger et al. [134, 135] and Lindegaard et al. [135]. Such syndromes risk the occurrence of so-called normal perfusion pressure breakthrough, wherein cerebral edema and/ or hemorrhage can occur, despite the presence of normal blood pressure. After carotid endarterectomy, cerebral hyperemia is thought to predispose to postoperative cerebral hemorrhage, presumably as a consequence of impaired cerebral autoregulation [136]. Thus, TCD might be useful to judge the cerebral risk and titrate the need for aggressive prevention and/or treatment of systemic hypertension.

Near-Infrared Spectroscopy Based Monitors of CBF

Recent reports indicate that noninvasive quantitative assessment of rCBF using near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) should soon be available to clinicians for use in the operating room and ICU.

Kim et al. [137] recently described a NIRSbased system incorporating real-time assessment of diffuse correlation spectroscopy (DCS), a complex measure of erythrocyte motion, to derive a noninvasive, continuous quantitative index of rCBF. They validated it in animal studies with microspheres [138] and in preliminary studies of patients undergoing sequential XeCT CBF studies under various physiologic conditions associated with changes in CBF [137]. Blood flow under the patches measured by DCS correlated well with rCBFs assessed by the XeCT method. This group has, moreover, in animal [139] and human [140] studies, demonstrated the feasibility of using their technology to concurrently continuously measure CMRO₂.

Concurrent with the earlier developments based on diffuse correlation spectroscopy, a group in Israel (Ornim, Inc.) is developing another system using NIRS plus ultrasound to derive a noninvasive continuous measure of rCBF and brain oxygen saturation. Proprietary data made available to the author suggest a correlation between the Ornim CerOx unit and thermodilution CBFs in humans undergoing hyperventilation. More peer-reviewed information will be needed and if supportive, this may indicate availability of



Fig. 46.2 Blood flow velocity measured by TCD during carotid endarterectomy. Preinduction (**a**). Internal and external carotid arteries clamped (**b**). Significant decrease in BFV occurs with loss of pulsatility (**c**). With unclamp-

ing significant emboli are observed in the middle cerebral artery. Postischemic hyperemia (d) is detected (From Kofke [165]; with permission)

another noninvasive quantitative regional CBF monitor.

These two lines of investigation suggest a realistic expectation that continuous CBF monitoring will soon be clinically available. Moreover, coupling this with continuous regional brain O_2 saturation (RSO₂) and oxygen extraction fraction (OEF) information should permit concomitant CMRO₂ monitoring, which will provide bedside information on whether the rCBF is properly coupled to metabolism. Finally, these monitors should also eventually provide continuous regional information on the presence of intact autoregulation. This will be an improvement on the below-described newly developed global monitors of autoregulation (for more information, *see* Chap. 12, "Near-Infrared Spectroscopy").

Arterial Spin Labeling

Defined as perfusion per unit of tissue, CBF is optimally measured with a diffusible tracer that can exchange between the blood and the brain. The currently established CBF imaging modalities include single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), positron emission tomography (PET), and XeCT CBF, all of which use radioactive diffusible tracers. Because none of these techniques can be applied routinely due to logistic or financial constraints, newly developed technologies, such as CT perfusion (CTP) and arterial spin labeling (ASL) MRI, are becoming alternative standard imaging modalities for CBF evaluation and monitoring.

Applying a magnetic label as the diffusible tracer to blood water molecules, produced by saturating or inverting the longitudinal component of the MRI signal, ASL MRI provides quantitative CBF data and can be performed routinely and repeatedly without contrast administration or ionizing radiation. As labeling and imaging strategies evolve to improve the intrinsic limitations on signal-to-noise ratio per unit time and reduce several potential systemic measurement errors, ASL technique will likely become a standard MR sequence for CBF evaluation and monitoring [141].

Computed Tomography Perfusion

Computed tomography perfusion uses a nondiffusible contrast agent that is administered as a rapid intravenous bolus. Through sequential imaging to simultaneously record changes in the contrast agent concentration as a function of time, CTP generates data sets that principally include CBV, mean transit time (MTT), CBF, and time to peak (TTP) [142, 143]. CTP can be rapidly obtained with simultaneous evaluation of cerebral arteries through CT angiography and does not require any particularly costly equipment, making it the imaging modality of choice for acute stroke evaluation. The extent of vertical brain coverage depends primarily on scanner detector configuration and the currently available 320 detector row scanners offer 16 cm slab of parenchyma. Because of the mathematical modeling employed and its use of a nondiffusible contrast agent, CTP-CBF data are currently regarded as qualitative rather than quantitative; however, relative perfusion values generated from contralateral reference parenchyma have demonstrated practical clinical utility, particularly in acute stroke imaging [144]. Active CTP research efforts are ongoing to reduce the innate radiation exposure and enhance its quantitative capacity [144, 145].

Intraoperative Cerebral Blood Flow Monitoring

Conventional methods for intraoperative assessment of blood vessel patency include digital subtraction angiography (DSA) and Doppler ultrasound and flowmetry. Although established as the gold standard for intraoperative vascular imaging, DSA requires substantial resources, additional operative time, and staff with a specific set of expertise to perform the procedure. Doppler ultrasound and flowmetry do not have high accuracy as an assessment tool for vessel lumen compromise [146]. Established noninvasive CBF imaging modalities such as PET are currently impractical for intraoperative uses due to logistical and financial constraints. Presently, there is not yet a well-validated noninvasive intraoperative technology to not only visualize but also quantitatively measure cortical microcirculatory perfusion in sufficiently high temporospatial resolution. Using various intrinsic and extrinsic contrast agents, optical imaging modalities have emerged as the most promising intraoperative CBF monitoring techniques. Among such developing technologies, indocyanine green videoangiography (ICG-VA) represents the most widely practiced intraoperative blood flow imaging tool.

Indocyanine Green Videoangiography

Introduced for neurovascular procedures more than 30 years ago [147, 148], fluorescence angiography has evolved to become a relatively mature and routinely applicable tool for simple, reliable, fast, and noninvasive intraoperative evaluation of blood flow. Indocyanine green (ICG) is a dye that gets injected into the bloodstream, subsequently excited with an infrared light source, and ultimately imaged with a camera that detects the fluorescence intensity. Because most modern surgical microscope systems have integrated ICG measurement capacities, this technology requires no additional intraoperative equipment but the actual ICG fluorescent dye for intravenous injection. It is commonly used during brain aneurysm clipping, intracranial-extracranial bypass, carotid endarterectomy, and resection of arteriovenous malformation and dural arteriovenous fistula [149].

ICG-VA uses fluorescence intensity as the principal contrast mechanism for imaging blood flow; therefore, this technology provides primarily qualitative information about blood flow, i.e., the presence or absence of blood flow in a vessel, and lacks quantitative measurement. FLOW 800 (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) was recently introduced as a microscope-integrated software tool that analyzes fluorescence intensity in a more detailed fashion [150, 151]. This software visually presents additional information on blood flow dynamics as a color-map and

ICG intensity-time curve to identify direction of blood flow and relative timing of entry of ICG into exposed regions of brain. Although other optical imaging technologies such as laser speckle contrast imaging (LSCI) provide more quantitative information about blood flow, they are not yet practical and easily available for intraoperative uses [152, 153].

The current ICG-VA technology displays fluorescence intensity as a white signal on a black background that makes the operative field not visible on the monitor. This represents another significant limitation of the technology. New techniques such as fluorescence angiography with augmented microscopy enhancement (FAAME) are being developed to overlay the ICG signal onto the operative field so that an integrated presentation of real-time imaging of blood flow dynamics in an anatomically realistic background can be directly visible through the microscope oculars [154].

Monitors of Autoregulation

When cerebral autoregulation is intact, small changes in blood pressure will typically produce no changes in CBF, blood flow velocity, ICP, or brain oxygenation. These properties have been put to advantage in creating a number of approaches to continuously monitor the state of cerebral autoregulation by continuously calculating and monitoring the degree of mathematical correlation between ABP and these brain parameters. Dynamic time domain analysis of cerebrovascular autoregulation using TCD, ICP, PbO₂, or NIRS-based regional oxygen saturation is a current topic of investigation with promising reports of potential efficacious and valid bedside use [35, 77, 78, 155, 156].

TCD-Based Autoregulation (Mx)

Recent advances in transcranial Doppler ultrasonograpy have allowed insights into dynamic, nearly instantaneous, assessment of cerebral autoregulation in critically ill patients. This approach determines the correlation coefficient between blood flow velocity (middle cerebral artery) and arterial blood pressure in real time at the bedside to make inferences regarding autoregulation. A high correlation of blood flow velocity with blood pressure suggests poor autoregulation, whereas no correlation is normal. Czosnyka et al. [34] observed in TBI patients a U-shaped curvilinear relationship in flow velocity versus ABP, with worse autoregulation (i.e., high correlation) with ABP less than 75 mmHg and ABP greater than 125 mmHg (Fig. 46.3). In another context, Joshi et al. [77], using TCDbased autoregulation assessment (Mx) in cardiac surgery patients reported an association of disturbed Mx with postoperative stroke [78, 79].



Fig. 46.3 Graphs demonstrating results of empirical regression of mean flow velocity by TCD (*upper*) and the Mx (a correlation coefficient) (*lower*) as they relate to CPP. Three distinctive zones of CPP—Zone A lying below the lower limit, Zone B lying within the range, and Zone C lying above the upper limit of autoregulation are marked. Vertical lines represent standard errors within CPP bins. *a.u.* arbitrary units, *s* second (From Czosnyka et al. [34]; with permission)

ICP-Based Autoregulation (Prx)

Intracranial pressure ordinarily does not vary with changes in blood pressure within the normal autoregulatory range. However, with injuryinduced cerebral dysautoregulation, ICP will vary with ABP such that information on the state of cerebral autoregulation can be inferred. The ICP pressure-reactivity index (PRx) is a described quantitation of the aforementioned description of abnormal dynamic correlation of ICP changes with ABP changes and is another means to dynamically evaluate autoregulation [35-37, 157], with reports indicating that Prx correlates well with other autoregulation indices [36, 37, 158, 159]. Steiner et al. [35] reported on the use of Prx monitoring in TBI patients to determine the optimal CPP. Patients with better autoregulation in this optimal range as defined by Prx had better outcomes. Moreover, patients with dysautoregulation related to higher ABP with corresponding ICP elevation also had worse outcomes, suggesting that autoregulation monitoring, to ensure adherence to an individual's optimal CPP, may be an outcome-altering ICU measure. Zweifel et al. [36] report congruent observations. Notably, Prx, as with TCD-based autoregulation studies, also appears to undergo a U-shaped curvilinear relationship with variations in CPP, with it being abnormally high (i.e., ICP varies with ABP) at low (ischemic) and high (hyperemic) CPP in TBI patients. Moreover, further complementing this are observations of abnormally high OEF and low OEF at these respective ABP extremes. This is underscored by reports of a significant ischemic burden in TBI patients [160-163], suggesting a delicate balance between hypotension-associated hypoperfusion and hypertension-associated edema/ICP exacerbation, both of which will worsen regional ischemia. Taken together, these autoregulation studies introduce the notion that there is an individualized ABP optimum in TBI patients [36] that should be a therapeutic goal.

COx

Autoregulation monitoring is also being reported using brain near infrared spectroscopy (COx), suggesting that noninvasive autoregulation assessment will be a feasible bedside modality that can be used to deliver the optimal CPP. Joshi et al. [77] reported, in cardiac surgery patients, an association of disturbed Mx with postoperative stroke with good agreement between Mx and Cox, thus demonstrating feasibility of COx assessed with NIRS [78, 79]. Finally, brain PbO₂ has been reported to also be amenable to use as a regional autoregulation monitor (ORx) [80].

All of these autoregulation indices appear to be feasible to use to monitor and individualize CBF in the operating room. Initial studies in the cardiac surgery [77, 79], and sitting orthopedics [164] contexts support a potential role for brain autoregulation monitoring in neurosurgery and other operative settings, which may help guide blood pressure management.

Conclusion

In summary, many different technologies are now available to provide monitoring information regarding cerebral blood flow in critically ill patients during and after surgery. The available techniques provide a range of options in terms of quantitation, anatomic resolution, portability, and speed of information availability. Unfortunately, no perfect monitor is yet available that provides all of the needed attributes and makes the data easily available at the bedside in the ICU or OR. Nonetheless, the available methods have provided for significant advances in our approach to thinking about and managing cerebral blood flow in the critically ill.

References

- Ursino M. Mechanisms of CBF regulation. Crit Rev Biomed Eng. 1991;18:255.
- Kuschinsky M. Coupling of blood flow and metabolism in the brain. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol. 1990;1:191–201.
- Meyer J, Shimazu K, Okamoto S, et al. Effects of alpha adrenergic blockade on autoregulation and chemical vasomotor control of CBF in stroke. Stroke. 1973;4:187.
- 4. Owman C, Edvinsson L, Hardebo J. Pharmacological in vitro analysis of amine-mediated vasomotor func-

tions in the intracranial and extracranial vascular beds. Blood Vessels. 1978;15:128.

- Suzuki N, Hardebo J. The cerebrovascular parasympathetic innervation. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Reb. 1993;5(1):33.
- Meglio M, Cioni B, Visocchi M, et al. Spinal cord stimulation and cerebral haemodynamics. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1991;111(1–2):43.
- Garnett E, Nahmias C, Scheffel A, Firnau G, Upton A. Regional CBF in man manipulated by direct vagal stimulation. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 1992;15:1579.
- Sato A, Sato Y. Regulation of regional CBF by cholinergic fibers originating in the basal forebrain. Neurosci Res. 1992;14:242.
- 9. Faraci F, Brian Jr J. Nitric oxide and the cerebral circulation. Stroke. 1994;25:692.
- Decety J, Sjoholm H, Ryding E, Stenberg G, Ingvar DH. The cerebellum participates in mental activity: tomographic measurements of regional CBF. Brain Res. 1990;535(2):313.
- Iadecola C, Pelligrino D, Moskowitz M, Lassen N. Nitric oxide synthase inhibition and cerebrovascular regulation [Review]. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1994;14(2):175.
- Kuschinsky W, Paulson O. Capillary circulation in the brain. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Reb. 1992;4(3):261.
- Giller C. The frequency-dependent behavior of cerebral autoregulation. Neurosurgery. 1990;27(3):362.
- Raichle M, Posner J, Plum F. CBF during and after hyperventilation. Arch Neurol. 1970;23(5):394–403.
- Greenberg J, Alavi A, Reivich M, et al. Local cerebral blood volume response to carbon dioxide in man. Cir Res. 1978;43:324–31.
- Iliff L, Zilkha E, BuBoulay G, et al. Cerebrovascular carbon dioxide reactivity and conductance in patients awake and under general anesthesia. Neurology. 1976;26(9):835.
- Tominaga S, Strandgaard S, Uemura K, Ito K, Kutsuzawa T. Cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity in normotensive and hypertensive man. Stroke. 1976;7(5):507.
- Shinhoj E. Regulation of CBF as a single function of the interstitial pH in the brain. A hypotheses. Acta Neurol Scand. 1966;42(5):604.
- Lassen N, Frieberg L, Kastrup J, Rizzi D, Jensen J. Effects of acetazolamide on CBF and brain tissue oxygenation. Postgrad Med J. 1987;63(737):185.
- Sullivan H, Kingsbury T, Morgan M, et al. The rCBF response to Diamox in normal subjects and cerebrovascular disease patients. J Neurosurg. 1987;67(4):525.
- Yonas H, Pindzola R. Physiological determination of cerebrovascular reserves and its use in clinical management. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Reb. 1994;6(4):325–40.
- Vorstrup S, Henriksen L, Paulson OB. Effect of acetazolamide on cerebral blood flow and cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen. J Clin Invest. 1984;74(5):1634–9.

- Bushnell D, Gupta S, Barnes W, Litocy F, Niemiro M, Steffen G. Evaluation of cerebral perfusion reserve using 5% CO₂ and SPECT neuroperfusion imaging. Clin Mucl Med. 1991;16(4):263.
- 24. Shimojyo S, Scheinberg P, Kogure K, Reinmuth O. The effects of graded hypoxia upon transient CBF and oxygen consumption. Neurology. 1968; 18(2):127.
- Floyd T, Clark J, Gelfand R, et al. Independent cerebral vasoconstrictive effects of hyperoxia and accompanying arterial hypocapnia at 1 ATA. J App Physiol. 2003;95(6):2453–61.
- Heistad D, Baumbach G. Cerebral vascular changes during chronic hypertension: good guys and bad guys. J Hypertens Suppl. 1992;10(7):S71.
- Faraci F, Baumbach G, Heistad D. Cerebral circulation: humoral regulation and effects of chronic hypertension. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1990;1(1):53.
- Faraci F, Heistad D. Regulation of cerebral blood vessels by humoral and endothelium-dependent mechanisms. Update on humoral regulation of vascular tone. Hypertension. 1991;17:917.
- Graham D. Ischemic brain following emergency blood pressure lowering in hypertensive patients. Acta Med Scand Suppl. 1983;678:61.
- Drummond JC. The lower limit of autoregulation: time to revise our thinking? Anesthesiology. 1997;86(6):1431–3.
- Lassen NA. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption in man. Physiol Rev. 1959;39(2):183–238.
- McCall ML. Cerebral circulation and metabolism in toxemia of pregnancy; observations on the effects of veratrumvirideandapresoline(1-hydrazinophthalazine). Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1953;66(5):1015–30.
- 33. Moyer J, Morris G, Smith C. Cerebral hemodynamics during controlled hypotension induced by the continuous infusion of ganglionic blocking agents (hexamethonium, pendiomide and arfonad). J Clin Invest. 1954;33:1081–8.
- Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Piechnik S, Steiner LA, Pickard JD. Cerebral autoregulation following head injury. J Neurosurg. 2001;95(5):756–63.
- 35. Steiner LA, Czosnyka M, Piechnik SK, et al. Continuous monitoring of cerebrovascular pressure reactivity allows determination of optimal cerebral perfusion pressure in patients with traumatic brain injury. Crit Care Med. 2002;30(4):733–8.
- 36. Zweifel C, Lavinio A, Steiner LA, et al. Continuous monitoring of cerebrovascular pressure reactivity in patients with head injury. Neurosurg Focus. 2008;25(4):E2.
- Czosnyka M, Brady K, Reinhard M, Smielewski P, Steiner LA. Monitoring of cerebrovascular autoregulation: facts, myths, and missing links. Neurocrit Care. 2009;10(3):373–86.
- McPherson RW, Koehler RC, Traystman RJ. Effect of jugular venous pressure on cerebral autoregulation in dogs. Am J Physiol. 1988;255(6 Pt 2):1516–24.
- Piechnik SK, Czosnyka M, Richards HK, et al. Cerebral venous blood outflow: a theoretical model

based on laboratory simulation. Neurosurgery. 2001;49(5):1214–22; discussion 1214–22.

- Brady KM, Lee JK, Kibler KK, et al. The lower limit of cerebral blood flow autoregulation is increased with elevated intracranial pressure. Anesth Analg. 2009;108(4):1278–83.
- 41. Cremer OL, van Dijk GW, Amelink GJ, de Smet AMGA, Moons KGM, Kalkman CJ. Cerebral hemodynamic responses to blood pressure manipulation in severely head-injured patients in the presence or absence of intracranial hypertension. Anesth Analg. 2004;99(4):1211–7.
- De Georgia MA, Deogaonkar A. Multimodal monitoring in the neurological intensive care unit. Neurologist. 2005;11(1):45–54.
- McHenry LJ, Goldberg H, Jaffe ME. Kenton Er, West J, Cooper E. Regional CBF. Response to carbon dioxide inhalation in cerebrovascular disease. Arch Neurol. 1972;27(5):403.
- Thompson S. Reactivity of CBF to CO₂ in patients with transient cerebral ischemic attacks. Stroke. 1971;2(3):273.
- Clifton G, Haden H, Taylor J, Sobel M. Cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity after carotid artery occlusion. J Neurosurg. 1988;69(1):24.
- Levine R, Rozenta LJ, Nickles R. Blood flow asymmetry in carotid occlusive disease. Angiology. 1992;43(2):100.
- Dewey R, Pieper H, Hunt W. Experimental cerebral hemodynamics. Vasomotor tone, critical closing pressure, and vascular bed resistance. J Neurosurg. 1974;41:597.
- Early C, Dewey R, Peiper H, Hunt W. Dynamic pressure-flow relationships in the monkey. J Neurosurg. 1974;41:590.
- Burton AC, Burton AC. On the physical equilibrium of small blood vessels. Am J Physiol. 1951; 164(2):319–29.
- Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Piechnik S, et al. Critical closing pressure in cerebrovascular circulation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1999;66(5):606–11.
- McCulloch TJ, Liyanagama K, Petchell J, McCulloch TJ, Liyanagama K, Petchell J. Relative hypotension in the beach-chair position: effects on middle cerebral artery blood velocity. Anaesth Intens Care. 2010;38(3):486–91.
- Lopez-Magana JA, Richards HK, Radolovich DK, et al. Critical closing pressure: comparison of three methods. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2009; 29(5):987–93.
- Aaslid R, Lash SR, Bardy GH, et al. Dynamic pressure—flow velocity relationships in the human cerebral circulation. Stroke. 2003;34(7):1645–9.
- Good W, Gur D. Xenon-enhanced CT for the brain: effect of flow activation on derived CBF measurements. AJNR Am J Neuroadiol. 1991;12(1):83.
- Yonas H. Use of xenon and ultrafast CT to measure CBF. AJNR Am J Neuroadiol. 1994;15(4):794.
- Kashiwagi S, Yamashita T, Nakano S, et al. The washin/washout protocol in stable xenon CT CBF studies. AJNR Am J Neuroadiol. 1992;13(1):49.

- Britton K, Grnowska M, Nimon CC, Horne T. CBF in hypertensive patients with cerebrovascular disease: technique for measurement and effect of captopril. Nucl Med Commun. 1985;6(5):251.
- Dublin A, McGahan J, Lantz B, Turkel D. Carotid blood flow response to Conray-60: diagnostic implications. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1983;4(3):274.
- Obrist W, Thompson HJ, Wang H, Wilkinson W. Regional CBF estimated by 133-xenon inhalation. Stroke. 1975;6(3):245–56.
- Obrist W, Thompson H, Wang H. A subtraction method for determining CBF by xenon-133 inhalation. Neurology. 1970;20(4):411.
- Miyamori I, Yasuhara S, Matsubara T, Takasaki H, Takeda R. Effects of a calcium entry blocker on cerebral circulation in essential hypertension. Neurology. 1970;20(4):411.
- Kanno I, Iida H, Miura S, Murakami H. Optimal scan time of oxygen-15-labeled water injection method for measurement of CBF. J Nucl Med. 1991;32(10):1931.
- Iida H, Kanno I, Mirura S. Rapid measurement of CBF with positron emission tomography. Ciba Found Symp. 1991;163:23–37.
- 64. Hayashida K, Nishimura T, Imakita S, Uehara T. Validation of eliminate vascular activity on 99Tcm-HMPAO brain SPECT for regional CBF (rCBF) determination. Nucl Med Commun. 1991;12(6):545.
- 65. Maier-Hauff K, Gerlach L, Baerwald R, Cordes M. CBF measurements with HMPAO- and HiPOM-SPECT in brain tumors: basic rCBF studies. Psychiatry Res. 1989;29(3):341.
- 66. Pupi A, DeCristofaro M, Bacciottini L, et al. An analysis of the arterial input curve for technetium-99m-HMPAO: quantification of rCBF using singlephoton emission computed tomography. J Nucl Med. 1991;32(8):1501.
- Murase K, Tanada S, Fujita H, Sakaki S, Hamamoto K. Kinetic behavior of technetium99m-HMPAO in the human brain and quantification of CBF using dynamic SPECT. J Nucl Med. 1992;33(1):135.
- Schmidt J. Changes in human CBF estimated by the (A-V) O₂ difference method. Dan Med Bull. 1992;39(4):335.
- Cruz J, Gennarelli T, Alves W. Continuous monitoring of cerebral hemodynamic reserve in acute brain injury: relationship to changes in brain swelling. J Trauma. 1992;32(5):629.
- Oldendorf W, Kitano M. Radioisotope measurement of brain blood turnover time as a clinical index of brain circulation. J Nucl Med. 1967;8(8):570.
- Karpman H, Sheppard J. Effect of papaverine hydrochloride on CBF as measured by forehead thermograms. Angiology. 1975;26(8):592.
- Dickman C, Carter LP, Baldwin H, Harrington T, Tallman D. Continuous regional cerebral blood low monitoring in acute craniocerebral trauma. Neurosurgery. 1991;28(3):467.
- Merrick M, Ferrington C, Cowen S. Parametric imaging of cerebral vascular reserves. 1. Theory,

validation and normal values. Eur J Nucl Med. 1991;18(3):171.

- Frerichs K, Feurestein G. Laser-Doppler flowmetry. A review of its application for measuring cerebral and spinal cord blood flow. Mol Chem Neuropathol. 1990;12(1):55.
- Gould R. Perfusion quantitation by ultrafast computed tomography. Invest Radiol. 1992;27 Suppl 2:S18.
- Alsop D, Detre J. Reduced transit-time sensitivity in noninvasive magnetic resonance imaging of human cerebral blood flow. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1996;16(6):1236–49.
- 77. Joshi B, Brady K, Lee J, et al. Impaired autoregulation of cerebral blood flow during rewarming from hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass and its potential association with stroke. Anesth Analg. 2010;110(2):321–8.
- Brady KM, Lee JK, Kibler KK, et al. Continuous time-domain analysis of cerebrovascular autoregulation using near-infrared spectroscopy. Stroke. 2007;38(10):2818–25.
- 79. Joshi BL, Brady K, Hogue CW. Real time monitoring of cerebral blood flow autoregulation with NIRS during cardiac surgery. In: Proceedings of the 2009 annual meeting of the American Society Anesthesiologists, 17–21 October 2009; 2009. New Orleans, LA.
- Jaeger M, Schuhmann MU, Soehle M, Meixensberger J. Continuous assessment of cerebrovascular autoregulation after traumatic brain injury using brain tissue oxygen pressure reactivity. Crit Care Med. 2006;34(6):1783–8.
- Hartmann A, Dettmers C, Schuler F, Wassmannn H, Schumacher H. Effect of stable xenon on regional CBF and the electroencephalogram in normal volunteers. Stroke. 1991;22(2):181.
- Yonas H, Gur D, Good W, Maitz G, Wolfson SJ, Latchaw R. Effects of xenon inhalation on CBF: relevance to humans of reported effects in the rat. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1985;5(4):613.
- Sturnegk P, Mellergard P, Yonas H, Theodorsson A, Hillman J. Potential use of quantitative bedside CBF monitoring (Xe-CT) for decision making in neurosurgical intensive care. Br J Neurosurg. 2007;21(4):332–9.
- Obrist W, Wilkinson W. Regional CBF measurement in humans by xenon-133 clearance [Review]. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Reb. 1990;2(4):283–327.
- Obrist W, Jr TH, King C, Wang H. Determination of regional CBF by inhalation of 133-Xenon. Cir Res. 1967;20(1):124–35.
- 86. Skyhoj Olsen T, Larsen B, Bech Skriver E, Enevoldsen E, Lassen N. Focal cerebral ischemia measured by the intra-arterial 133-xenon method. Limitations of 2-dimensional blood flow measurements. Stroke. 1981;12(73):774.
- Sundt Jr TM, Sharbrough FW, Anderson RE, et al. Cerebral blood flow measurements and electroencephalograms during carotid endarterectomy. J Neurosurg. 2007;107(4):887–97.

- Cook DJ, Anderson RE, Michenfelder JD, et al. Cerebral blood flow during cardiac operations: comparison of Kety-Schmidt and xenon-133 clearance methods. Ann Thorac Surg. 1995;59(3):614–20.
- Cook DJ, Michenfelder JD, Cook DJ, Michenfelder JD. Measurement of cerebral blood flow during hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass. Anesthesiology. 1995;82(2):604.
- Prough DS, Rogers AT, Prough DS, Rogers AT. What are the normal levels of cerebral blood flow and cerebral oxygen consumption during cardiopulmonary bypass in humans? Anesth Analg. 1993;76(4):690–3.
- Rogers AT, Prough DS, Roy RC, et al. Cerebrovascular and cerebral metabolic effects of alterations in perfusion flow rate during hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass in man. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1992;103(2):363–8.
- 92. Joshi S, Hashimoto T, Ostapkovich N, et al. Effect of intracarotid papaverine on human cerebral blood flow and vascular resistance during acute hemispheric arterial hypotension. [Erratum appears in J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2009 Jan;21(1):71 Note: Hacien-Bey, L [corrected to Hacein-Bey, L]]. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2001;13(2):146–51.
- Ko NU, Achrol AS, Chopra M, et al. Cerebral blood flow changes after endovascular treatment of cerebrovascular stenoses. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2005;26(3):538–42.
- Vajkoczy P, Roth H, Horn P, et al. Continuous monitoring of regional cerebral blood flow: experimental and clinical validation of a novel thermal diffusion microprobe. J Neurosurg. 2000;93(2):265–74.
- Vajkoczy P, Horn P, Bauhuf C, et al. Effect of intraarterial papaverine on regional cerebral blood flow in hemodynamically relevant cerebral vasospasm. Stroke. 2001;32(2):498–505.
- Wolf S, Martin H, Landscheidt JF, Rodiek SO, Schurer L, Lumenta CB. Continuous selective intraarterial infusion of nimodipine for therapy of refractory cerebral vasospasm. Neurocrit Care. 2010;12(3):346–51.
- 97. Soukup J, Bramsiepe I, Brucke M, et al. Evaluation of a bedside monitor of regional CBF as a measure of CO₂ reactivity in neurosurgical intensive care patients. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2008;20(4):249–55.
- Muench E, Horn P, Bauhuf C, et al. Effects of hypervolemia and hypertension on regional cerebral blood flow, intracranial pressure, and brain tissue oxygenation after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Crit Care Med. 2007;35(8):1844–51; quiz 1852.
- 99. Thome C, Vajkoczy P, Horn P, et al. Continuous monitoring of regional cerebral blood flow during temporary arterial occlusion in aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg. 2001;95(3):402–11.
- 100. Kofke W, Shaheen N, McWhorter J, Sinz E, Hobbs G. Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography with induction of anesthesia and neuromuscular blockade in surgical patients. J Clin Anesth. 2001;13:335–8.
- Brauer P, Kochs E, Werner C, et al. Correlation of transcranial Doppler sonography mean flow velocity with cerebral blood flow in patients with intracranial pathology. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1998;10(2):80–5.

- 102. Dong ML, Kofke WA, Policare RS, et al. Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography in neurosurgery: effects of intracranial tumour on right middle cerebral artery flow velocity during induction of anaesthesia. Ultrasound Med Biol. 1996;22(9):1163–8.
- 103. Kofke WA, Dong ML, Bloom M, et al. Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography with induction of anesthesia for neurosurgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1994;6(2):89–97.
- 104. Eng C, Lam A, Byrd S. Newel ID. The diagnosis and management of a perianesthetic cerebral aneurysmal rupture aided with transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. Anesthesiology. 1993;78(1):191–4.
- Otis S. Chapter 4: Pitfalls in transcranial Doppler diagnosis. In: Babikian V, Wechsler L, editors. Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. St. Louis: Mosby; 1993. p. 39–50.
- 106. Tegeler C, Eicke M. Chapter 1: Physics and principles of transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. In: Babikian V, Wechsler L, editors. Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. St. Louis: Mosby; 1993.
- 107. Kofke W, Brauer P, Policare R, Penthany S, Barker D, Horton J. Middle cerebral artery blood flow velocity and stable xenon-enhanced computed tomographic blood flow during balloon test occlusion of the internal carotid artery. Stroke. 1995;26:1603–6.
- Teasdale G, Jennett B. Assessment and prognosis of coma after head injury. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1976;34:45–55.
- 109. Saloman M, Schepp R, Ducker T. Calculated recover rates in severe head trauma. Neurosurgery. 1981;8:301.
- Sloan M. Chapter 9: Detection of vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. In: Babikian V, Wechsler L, editors. Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. St. Louis: Mosby; 1993. p. 105–127.
- 111. Harders A, Gilsbach J. Time course of blood velocity changes related to vasospasm in the circle of Willis measured by transcranial Doppler ultrasound. J Neurosurg. 1987;66:718.
- 112. Seiler R, Grolimund P, Aaslid R, Huber P, Nornes H. Cerebral vasospasm evaluated by transcranial ultrasound correlated with clinical grade and CT-visualized subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg. 1986;64:594.
- 113. Caplan L. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound: present status. Neurology. 1990;40:696.
- 114. Clyde B, Resnick D, Yonas H, Smith H, Kaufmann A. The relationship of blood velocity as measured by transcranial Doppler ultrasonography to cerebral blood flow as determined by stable xenon computed tomographic studies after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery. 1996;38:896.
- 115. Hassler W, Chioff F. CO₂ reactivity of cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1989;98:167.
- 116. Hiramatsu K, et al. The evaluation of cerebrovascular reactivity to acetazolamide by transcranial Doppler ultrasound after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke. 1990;21(Suppl 1):1.

- 117. Shinoda J, et al. Acetazolamide reactivity on CBF in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1991;109:102.
- 118. Miller J, Smith R, Holaday H. Carbon dioxide reactivity in the evaluation of cerebral ischemia. Neurosurgery. 1992;30:518.
- 119. Silver A, Pederson Jr M, Ganti S, Hilal S, Michelson W. CT of subarachnoid hemorrhage due to ruptured aneurysm. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1981;2:13.
- 120. Grande P, Asgeirsson B, Nordstrom C. Volumetargeted therapy of increased intracranial pressure: the Lund concept unifies surgical and non-surgical treatments. Acta Anaesth Scand. 2002;46(8):929–41.
- 121. Nemoto EM, Nemoto EM. Dynamics of cerebral venous and intracranial pressures [see comment]. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2006;96:435–7.
- 122. Giulioni M, Ursino M, Alvisi C. Correlations among intracranial pulsatility, intracranial hemodynamics, and transcranial Doppler wave form: literature review and hypothesis for future studies. Neurosurgery. 1988;22:807.
- 123. Hassler W, Steinmetz H, Gawlowski J. Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography in raised intracranial pressure and in intracranial circulatory arrest. J Neurosurg. 1988;68:745.
- 124. Thomas, K, Doberstein C, Martin NA, Zane C, Becker D. Physiological correlation of transcranial Doppler waveform patterns in brain dead patients. In: Proceedings of the 5th international symposium and tutorials on intracranial hemodynamics: transcranial Doppler CBF and other modalities. The Institute of Applied Physiology and Medicine, Seattle, WA, 1991, Conference Chairman M.P. Spencer, Seattle, WA; 1991.
- 125. DeWitt L, Rosengart A, Teal P. Chapter 3: Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography: normal values. In: Babikian V, Wechsler L, editors. Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. St. Louis: Mosby; 1993. p. 29–38.
- 126. Homburg A, Jobsen M, Enevoldsen E. Transcranial Doppler recordings in raised intracranial pressure. Acta Neurol Scand. 1993;87:488.
- 127. Goraj B, Rifkinson-Mann S, Leslie D, Lansen T, Kasoff S, Tenner MS. Correlation of intracranial pressure and transcranial Doppler resistive index after head trauma. AJNR Am J Neuroadiol. 1994;15:1333.
- 128. Aggarwal S, Obrist W, Yonas H, et al. Cerebral hemodynamic and metabolic profiles in fulminant hepatic failure: relationship to outcome. Liver Transpl. 2005;11(11):1353–60.
- 129. Bindi ML, Biancofiore G, Esposito M, et al. Transcranial Doppler sonography is useful for the decision-making at the point of care in patients with acute hepatic failure: a single centre's experience. J Clin Monit Comput. 2008;22(6):449–52.
- 130. Giller C, Mathews D, Purdy P, Kopitnik T, Batjer H, Samson D. The transcranial Doppler appearance of acute carotid artery occlusion. Ann Neurol. 1992;31:101.
- Droste DW, Ringelstein EB, Droste DW, Ringelstein EB. Detection of high intensity transient signals

(HITS): how and why? Eur J Ultrasound. 1998; 7(1):23–9.

- 132. Telman G, Kouperberg E, Schlesinger I, Yarnitsky D. Cessation of microemboli in the middle cerebral artery after a single dose of aspirin in a young patient with emboliogenic lacunar syndrome of carotid origin. Isr Med Assoc J. 2006;8(10):724–5.
- 133. Poppert H, Sadikovic S, Sander K, Wolf O, Sander D. Embolic signals in unselected stroke patients: prevalence and diagnostic benefit. Stroke. 2006;37(8):2039–43.
- 134. Steiger J, Schaffler L, Boll J, Liechti S. Results of microsurgical carotid endarterectomy: a prospective study with transcranial doppler and EEG monitoring, and elective shunting. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1989;100:31.
- 135. Lindegaard K, Lundar T, Wiberg J, Sjoberg D, Aaslid R, Nornes H. Variations in middle cerebral artery blood flow investigated with noninvasive transcranial blood velocity measurements. Stroke. 1987;18:1025.
- Piepgras D, Morgan M, Sundi T, Yanagihara T, Mussman L. Intracerebral hemorrhage after carotid endarterectomy. J Neurosurg. 1988;68:532.
- 137. Kim MN, Durduran T, Frangos S, et al. Noninvasive measurement of cerebral blood flow and blood oxygenation using near-infrared and diffuse correlation spectroscopies in critically brain-injured adults. Neurocrit Care. 2009;12(2):173–80.
- Zhou C, Eucker SA, Durduran T, et al. Diffuse optical monitoring of hemodynamic changes in piglet brain with closed head injury. J Biomed Optics. 2009;14(3):034015.
- 139. Culver JP, Durduran T, Furuya D, Cheung C, Greenberg JH, Yodh AG. Diffuse optical tomography of cerebral blood flow, oxygenation, and metabolism in rat during focal ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2003;23(8):911–24.
- 140. Durduran T, Yu G, Burnett MG, et al. Diffuse optical measurement of blood flow, blood oxygenation, and metabolism in a human brain during sensorimotor cortex activation. Opt Lett. 2004;29(15):1766–8.
- 141. Telischak NA, Detre JA, Zaharchuk G. Arterial spin labeling MRI: clinical applications in the brain. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2015;41(5):1165–80.
- 142. Leiva-Salinas C, Provenzale JM, Wintermark M. Responses to the 10 most frequently asked questions about perfusion CT. AJR. Am J Roentgenol. 2011;196(1):53–60.
- 143. Konstas AA, Goldmakher GV, Lee TY, Lev MH. Theoretic basis and technical implementations of CT perfusion in acute ischemic stroke, part 1: theoretic basis. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2009;30(4):662–8.
- 144. Donahue J, Wintermark M. Perfusion CT and acute stroke imaging: foundations, applications, and literature review. J Neuroradiol. 2015;42(1):21–9.
- 145. Takahashi S, Tanizaki Y, Kimura H, et al. Comparison of cerebral blood flow data obtained by computed tomography (CT) perfusion with that obtained by

xenon CT using 320-row CT. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2015;24(3):635–41.

- 146. Siasios I, Kapsalaki EZ, Fountas KN. The role of intraoperative micro-Doppler ultrasound in verifying proper clip placement in intracranial aneurysm surgery. Neuroradiology. 2012;54(10):1109–18.
- 147. Little JR, Yamamoto YL, Feindel W, Meyer E, Hodge CP. Superficial temporal artery to middle cerebral artery anastomosis. Intraoperative evaluation by fluorescein angiography and xenon-133 clearance. J Neurosurg. 1979;50(5):560–9.
- 148. Feindel W, Yamamoto YL, Hodge CP. Intracarotid fluorescein angiography: a new method for examination of the epicerebral circulation in man. Can Med Assoc J. 1967;96(1):1–7.
- 149. Simal-Julian JA, Miranda-Lloret P, Evangelista-Zamora R, et al. Indocyanine green videoangiography methodological variations: review. Neurosurg Rev. 2015;38(1):49–57; discussion 57.
- 150. Prinz V, Hecht N, Kato N, Vajkoczy P. FLOW 800 allows visualization of hemodynamic changes after extracranialto-intracranial bypass surgery but not assessment of quantitative perfusion or flow. Neurosurgery. 2014;10 Suppl 2:231–8; discussion 238–9.
- 151. Fukuda K, Kataoka H, Nakajima N, Masuoka J, Satow T, Iihara K. Efficacy of FLOW 800 with indocyanine green videoangiography for the quantitative assessment of flow dynamics in cerebral arteriovenous malformation surgery. World Neurosurg. 2015;83(2):203–10.
- 152. Parthasarathy AB, Weber EL, Richards LM, Fox DJ, Dunn AK. Laser speckle contrast imaging of cerebral blood flow in humans during neurosurgery: a pilot clinical study. J Biomed Opt. 2010; 15(6):066030.
- 153. Humeau-Heurtier A, Mahe G, Abraham P. Microvascular blood flow monitoring with laser speckle contrast imaging using the generalized differences algorithm. Microvasc Res. 2015;98:54–61.
- 154. Martirosyan NL, Skoch J, Watson JR, Lemole Jr GM, Romanowski M, Anton R. Integration of indocyanine green videoangiography with operative microscope: augmented reality for interactive assessment of vascular structures and blood flow. Neurosurgery. 2015;11 Suppl 1:252–8.
- 155. Lang EW, Lagopoulos J, Griffith J, et al. Noninvasive cerebrovascular autoregulation assessment in traumatic brain injury: validation and utility. J Neurotrauma. 2003;20(1):69–75.
- 156. Lang EW, Mehdorn HM, Dorsch NWC, Czosnyka M. Continuous monitoring of cerebrovascular autoregulation: a validation study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2002;72(5):583–6.
- Czosnyka M, Pickard JD. Monitoring and interpretation of intracranial pressure. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2004;75(6):813–21.
- Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Kirkpatrick P, Laing RJ, Menon D, Pickard JD. Continuous assessment of the cerebral vasomotor reactivity in head injury. Neurosurgery. 1997;41(1):11–7.

- 159. Lang EW, Lagopoulos J, Griffith J, et al. Cerebral vasomotor reactivity testing in head injury: the link between pressure and flow. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74(8):1053–9.
- 160. Coles J, Minhas P, Fryer T, et al. Effect of hyperventilation on cerebral blood flow in traumatic head injury: clinical relevance and monitoring correlates. Crit Care Clin. 2002;30(9):1950–9.
- 161. Coles JP, Fryer TD, Smielewski P, et al. Incidence and mechanisms of cerebral ischemia in early clinical head injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2004;24(2):202–11.
- 162. Coles JP, Fryer TD, Smielewski P, et al. Defining ischemic burden after traumatic brain injury using

150 PET imaging of cerebral physiology. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2004;24(2):191–201.

- 163. Menon DK, Coles JP, Gupta AK, et al. Diffusion limited oxygen delivery following head injury. Crit Care Med. 2004;32(6):1384–90.
- 164. Lathouwers KM, De Deyne CS, Jans F, Truijen J, Heylen RJ. Absolute Cerebral Oximetry (FORE-SIGHT) in Benchchair Positioning for Shoulder Surgery. In: Proceedings of the 2009 annual meeting of the American Society Anesthesiologists; 20 October 2009.
- 165. Kofke W. Cerebral blood flow monitoring in critical care. Contemp Crit Care. 2007;4(10): 1–12.

Afterword to First Edition

Johannes Schramm

Future of Monitoring the Nervous System

As far as can be traced back, the first time the words "monitoring" and "spinal cord" were mentioned together in the title of an article was in 1972. At that time it was a revolutionary idea, much better appreciated if one remembers that diagnostics in neurosurgery consisted of pneumoencephalography, oily myelograms and mostly direct carotid angiograms. Computerized tomographic (CAT) scans did not exist in clinical practice, let alone magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Although, the first evoked potentials (EP) had been recorded by Dawson in 1947, the typical averaging technique was not developed until 1951. In a 1972 book on "Evoked Potentials in Psychology, Sensoriphysiology, and Clinical Medicine," only one of five chapters was devoted to clinical applications. The clinical applications of EP were mostly the possibilities of testing the integrity of sensory pathways and of locating brain lesions (D. Regan) [1]. One of the concluding sentences was: ".....it follows that future EP methods for objectively testing.....sensoripathways might prove to be clinically useful. There is encouraging evidence that such exciting develop-

Department of Neurosurgery,

J. Brodkey had also collaborated with the orthopaedic surgeon C. Nash who organised the first workshop on "Clinical application of spinal cord monitoring for operative treatment of spinal diseases" in September 1977 in Cleveland [8]. That meeting was already attended by neurophysiologists, neurosurgeons and orthopaedic surgeons. In his review of the development of intraoperative spinal cord monitoring, Tamaki in 2007 mentioned, that [9] ".....the first surgeon to mention the need for developing this technology was Dr. Jacquelin Perry then working at Rancho Los Amigos Hospital.....". Before that somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) had already been used in the diagnosis of myelopathy by Halliday in 1963, for spinal cord injury by Donaghy in 1969, Eidelberg in 1971 and Perot in 1972. Visual EP had been applied for the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis by Halliday in 1972. One of the first books to appear on intraoperative monitoring was in 1984 by Saikon Publishing, edited by Homma and Tamaki [10]. Soon brainstem auditory evoked potentials (ABRs) were also monitored for posterior fossa surgery.

ments are possible...". That was the time when

Tamaki et al (1972) [2] and Croft et al (1972) [3]

first published on the concept of monitoring spinal cord function by using EP. Parallel to that

Kurokawa (1972) [4], Shimoji (1971) [6] and

Ertekin (1978) [7] had started to record spinal

cord action potentials and measure conduction

velocities in the spinal cord. The neurosurgeon

A. Koht et al. (eds.), Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5

J. Schramm, M.D., Ph.D.

University School of Medicine, Bonn, Germany

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

These early developments underline two observations that have been associated with intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring throughout its existence: it was always a multidisciplinary approach, usually initiated by operative specialties or by anaesthetists, and there were always different technologies used. In the early days direct recordings of non-averaged potentials were acquired directly from the spinal cord instead of non-invasively acquiring averaged recordings of EP. I was initiated to EP recording in late 1974 by Takanori Fukushima who was then a researcher at Berlin Free University, Department of Neurosurgery. The signal averager I inherited from him was the size of two man-sized cupboards with dozens of knobs and dials, all of which unfortunately could be set incorrectly. Artefact suppression was of poor quality, averages took a long time and had to be documented on Polaroid. Measuring of latencies was done by hand. In the second half of the 1970s, the first commercial monitoring machines became available and applications expanded, both, in the operating room (OR) and outside. Another spinal cord monitoring workshop was organised in St. Louis in January 1979 and the proceedings already contained the first clinical papers on the application of these methods in the OR [11].

At that time, everything was new and many things needed to be defined: "What was more important, a diminution of amplitude or a delay in latency?" How to define the range of normal fluctuation in amplitudes, which latency delay is considered significant, what are the effects of the various anaesthetics? Many important questions needed to be answered and problems needed to be solved. In Japan a Society of Spinal Cord Electrodiagnosis was founded and it should be stressed that the Japanese orthopaedic surgeons and anaesthesiologists have been instrumental in developing a large experience with patients. The tenth issue of the Journal of Electrodiagnosis of the Spinal Cord in 1987 already contains clinical studies on the corticospinal D-responses, on brachial plexus injury, on conus medullaris lesions, on the effect of spinal cord destruction on spinal cord blood flow and on monitoring during surgery of carotid aneurysms, scoliosis and spinal cord tumour surgery.

Numerous books have appeared in the meantime, published by quite a diverse group of specialists from anaesthesiology, neurophysiology, neurology, neurosurgery and orthopaedic surgeons. The Handbook of Clinical Neurophysiology has devoted its volume 8 to "Intraoperative Monitoring of Neural Function" [12]. A total of 56 chapters are devoted to compound nerve action potential techniques, motor EP, ABRs, electromyographic, reflex and nerve conduction monitoring and a host of lesions: epilepsy surgery, cerebral tumours, movement disorders, brain stem lesions, skull base surgery, microvascular decompression, middle ear surgery, lower cranial nerve surgery, spinal tumours, scoliosis and the list goes on and on, covering also peripheral nerve surgery, vascular surgery and even intensive care monitoring. This not only reflects the development of the wide spectrum in the past but may be an indication of further developments.

After the first ABRs were recorded in 1971 the first series of intracranial nerve monitoring was published by Levine et al (1978) [13]. The 1980s was the period of rapid expansion and new applications for various kinds of intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring. The growing clinical applications made it more and more important to define what is a "false positive" and what is a "false negative" monitoring event. What should be the criteria to warn the surgeon or intervene with the surgery? All this is closely related to the definition of normal variability and to what is a clearly abnormal EP. In those pioneering days various proposals for warning criteria were made and these were more or less based on observing many cases and a certain gut feeling of what is considered too much of a change.

Considering future developments, it is well known that predictions are always difficult and predicting the future is particularly difficult. I discovered one of our own old slides from 1992 in which future developments were discussed, some of which became true (motor tract monitoring, improved averages with digital filtering) and others proved that some things are not so important (automated peak detection, frequency analyses, analyses of refractoriness). On the other hand, there were a lot of totally unexpected discoveries. It was observed that you could lose your ABR from positioning or from the dura opening or cerebellar retraction alone. Also it was noted that a potential loss may occur while applying retraction when opening the sylvian fissure or inducing vasospasm by the oozing blood from a tumour. Many developments that were popular at one time such as dermatomal SEPs, which were primarily used for topographic diagnosis of spinal cord diseases lost their value with the introduction of MRI imaging. The same occurred to single pulse transcranial motor cortex stimulation which was later replaced by transcranial multiple pulse stimulation. Soon it could be demonstrated that monitoring did indeed improve surgical results. Hearing loss associated with microvascular decompression went down from 4.8 to 1.7% in Pittsburgh and from 7.7 to 2.3% in Lyon. Other authors found that monitoring was effective in preventing new deficits in 5.2% of cases [14].

It turned out that intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring soon became a didactic tool. It gave the surgeon feedback and taught about phenomena which was not clear before the use of monitoring (e.g. loss of ABR and hearing after coagulation of a capsular artery on the dorsal surface of an acoustic neurinoma 2.5 cm away from the acoustic nerve on the ventral side of the tumour). Thus, surgical technique was modified in many ways for each individual surgeon while using these techniques for a number of years. Monitoring does influence surgical strategy not only acutely during the case of today but also in changing the daily practice of surgery. Neuromonitoring has changed surgery into functionally guided surgery. Peter Jannetta put it in the following words: "... Thus, surgeons are, in a way practicing preventive surgery when they perform operations with intraoperative monitoring of evoked potentials...".

What are the thoughts on the future? I do remember that a few years after the enigma of how to monitor the motor tracts was solved by the introduction of transcranial multipulse stimulation by our group, by the establishment of the D-wave technique by the Japanese colleagues and by Deletis' group in New York, I thought most of what could possibly be done in the field of intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring had been achieved. Thankfully I never said that too loud in public, as the developments in the last 10 years have demonstrated the magnitude of the growth in the application of intraoperative neurophysiologic tools. As new people come into the field and are confronted with clinical problems, there is no doubt that new ideas will come up and new applications of electrophysiological tools in the OR will be developed. If no questions are asked, no answers will be given. If questions are asked, the next generation will start looking for answers. As the clinical field expands, new challenges will arise and this will lead to new applications. A wonderful example is the surgery of brain stem cavernomas which only developed in the last 15 years. The challenge was to define a safe way to enter into the brainstem and this led to the application of neurophysiology for mapping cranial nerve nuclei at the floor of the fourth ventricle, soon to be combined with monitoring of the motor function of those cranial nerves. Another more recent example is the purely intracerebral tract monitoring during glioma surgery which opened new perspectives for monitoring tumour surgery and brain research.

I had the privilege to be involved with and to be a witness of the development of intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring. Now, I see a future for intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring in more than one field of surgery.

References

- 1. Regan D. Evoked potentials in psychology, sensory physiology and clinical medicine. London: Chapman and Hall; 1972.
- Tamaki T, Yamashita T, Kobayashi H, Hiryama H. Spinal cord evoked potential after stimulation to the spinal cord (SCEP) Spinal cord monitoring - basic data obtained from animal experimental studies. Jpn J Electroenceph Electromyogr. 1972;1:196.
- Croft TJ, Nulsen FE, Brodkey JS. Reversible spinal cord trauma. A model for electrical monitoring of spinal cord function. J Neurosurg. 1972;36:402.
- Kurokawa T. Spinal cord action potentials evoked by epidural stimulation of the spinal cord - a report of human and animal record. Jpn J Electroenceph Electromyogr. 1972;1:64–6
- Shimoji K, Higahsi H, Kano T. Epidural recording of spinal electrogram in man. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1971;30:236–9.

- Ertekin C. Evoked Electrospinogram in Spinal Cord and Peripheral Nerve Disorders. Acta Neurol Scand. 1978;57:329–44.
- Nash CL, Brodkey JS. Proceedings of the symposium: clinical application of spinal cord monitoring for operative treatment of spinal diseases. Cleveland, Ohio, September. 1977;15–17
- Tamaki T, Kubota S. History of the development of intraoperative spinal cord monitoring. Eur. Spine J. Nov 2007;16 Suppl 2:S140–146.
- Homma S, Tamaki T, Shimoji K, Kurokawa T. Fundamentals and clinical application of spinal cord monitoring. Tokyo: Saikon Publishing Co., Ltd.; 1984.
- Nash CL, Brown RH. Proceedings of the Symposium: Spinal cord monitoring workshop data acquisition and analysis. St. Louis, Missouri, January 9–11, 1979.
- Nuwer MR. Handbook of Clinical Neurophysiology, Intraoperative Monitoring of Neural Function., vol. 8. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2008.
- Levine RA, Montgomery WW, Ojemann RG. Evoked potential detection of hearing loss during acoustic neuroma surgery. Neurology. 1978;28:339.
- Wiedemayer H, Fauser B, Sandalcioglu IE, Schafer H, Stolke D. The impact of neurophysiological intraoperative monitoring on surgical decisions: a critical analysis of 423 cases. J Neurosurg. 2002;96:255–62.

Index

A

Abnormal motor response (AMR), 410 ABRs. See Auditory brainstem responses (ABRs) Acid base management, 585-587 Adenosine-induced flow arrest, 355 Adhesive capsulitis, 414-416 Adverse neurophysiological conditions, 345 Ag-AgCl electrodes, 88 Algorithm, 346 ALIF. See Anterior lumbar interbody fusion (ALIF) Alpha stat management, 587 American Electroencephalographic Society (AEEGS) Guidelines for IOM, 55 American Society of Anesthesiologist (ASA), 63 American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA), 657 Amnesia, 324 Amplifier impedance (Z_a) , 260 Amplifiers, 174 Analog-to-digital A/D convertors, 266 Anesthesia, 197-202, 499-504, 663, 666-668, 670, 671.678 and AMR, 417-418 carotid surgery, 309, 310 DBS, 308-309 EEG. 278 anesthesiologists, 202 anesthetic depth, 198 anterior and posterior brain regions, 197 assessment, depth, 200 AWR, 198 brain/neurobiology of consciousness, 200 cerebral aneurysm clipping, 198 consciousness, 198 depth of general anesthesia, 198 EEG-guided anesthetic titration, 202 effects, spinal cord, 200 ETAC, 197, 198 GABAergic effect, 200 maintenance of, 201 mechanisms, 200 network-level oscillations, 200 perioperative neurologic outcomes, 199 TIVA, 197

EMG monitoring, 277 MEPs, 276-277 mild juvenile idiopathic scoliosis ABGs, 504 amplitude of signals, 503 anode electrode wire, 502 BIS monitoring, 499 blood warmer and forced air warmer, 502 close proximity, ECG, 502 electrical interference, MEPs and SSEPs, 502 headrest, adolescent, 499 hypotension and hypothermia, 503 hypovolemia, 501 intraoperative management, 499 isoflurane and nitrous oxide, 500, 501 isoflurane concentration, 500 laceration, 504 lack of triggered EMG signal, 502 level of, 499 loss of SSEPs, 503 lower limb MEPs, 503 manipulation, lower cervical and upper thoracic spinal cord, 501 MEPs, 499, 500 midazolam, 499 neuromonitoring technician, 503 nitrous oxide, 503 Pedicle screw testing, 502 phenylephrine infusion, 503 placement, pedicle screws, 502 rapid fluid resuscitation, 501 retractors and rods, 504 spinal fusion, 501 SSEPs, 500 SSEPs and electromyography (EMG) monitoring, 500 supine position, 504 TIVA technique, 500 tongue lacerations, 504 triggered EMG response, 503 monitoring, SjvO₂, 238 regional anesthesia, 310, 311 robust neurophysiologic data, 275 sedation, 310

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 A. Koht et al. (eds.), *Monitoring the Nervous System for Anesthesiologists and Other Health Care Professionals*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-46542-5

seizure, 309 spinal cord tumor surgery, 538 SSEPs, 275, 276 and systemic parameters, 275 Anesthesia drugs halogenated inhalational agents, 325, 326 nitrous oxide, 326, 327 TIVA. 326 Anesthesia effects, 62-65 F-ERGs enflurane, 63 scotopic and photopic, 62, 63 statistical analysis, 62 TIVA, 64 and VEPs, 63 VEPs anesthetics, 64 MAC, 65 narcotic-induced pupillary constriction, 64 opioids, 65 propofol, 65 TIVA technique, 65 Anesthesia for Awake Neurosurgery, 667 Anesthesia Management physiological considerations, 333 Anesthesia Management and Intraoperative Electrophysiological Monitoring, 670 Anesthesia selection and EEG, 321–322 Anesthesiology MEP monitoring, 27 Anesthetic and neuromonitoring considerations cerebral blood flow, 462 stenosis, 461 Anesthetic drugs impact EEG barbiturates and propofol, 186, 187 benzodiazepines, 187 etomidate, 187 ketamine, 187 muscle relaxants, 187, 188 narcotics, 187 nitrous oxide, 185 Sine wave response, 185 volatile agents, 184, 185 Anesthetic effects, 322-325 Anesthetic management, 552-553 Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage Serial SjvO₂ measurements, 237 Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (ACDF C3–C5 ACDF (right-sided approach) awake or asleep fiberoptic technique, 479 changes, cortical SSEPs, 480 left upper extremity SSEP waveforms, 481 patient's position, 481 peripheral nerve injury, 479 radial and ulnar pulses, 481 right arm SSEP changes, 479 SSEPs, 479 C5 palsy, 474 cortical SSEP changes, unilateral carotid occlusion, 477

disk herniation and osteophyte removal anesthesia, 477 EMG activity, 477 EMG changes, 477 EMG monitoring, 478 MEPs, 478 SSEP and MEP waveforms, 478 EMG monitoring, 474 herniated intervertebral disk material, 473 hypoglossal nerve injury, 474 mechanically stabilize the cervical spine, 473 MEPs, 474 myelopathic symptoms, 474 neurologic injury, 474 neurophysiologic monitoring, 474 Posterior Cervical Spine Surgery, 474 procedure, 473 RLN function, 475 RLN injury, 475 safety, 474 severe cervical canal stenosis baseline SSEP and MEP signals, 476, 477 C4-C7 (right-sided approach), 475 diminished left-sided SSEP and MEP signals, 477 MRI examination, 475 neurologic examination, 476 standard ASA monitors, 475 symptoms, 475 single-level spine surgery, 474 SSEP changes, intravenous infiltration of the extremity, 480 SSEPs, 474 surgery, 473 surgical procedure, 481 thyroid and parathyroid surgery, 475 Anterior cervical disk fusion (ACDF), 527 Anterior Cervical Spine Surgery, 473 ACDF (see Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (ACDF)) Anterior inferior cerebellar artery (AICA), 411 Anterior ischemic optic neuropathy (AION), 59 Anterior lumbar interbody fusion (ALIF), 529, 530 Anterior spinal artery (AntSA), 20, 603, 604 Anterior spinal fusion, 525 Antialiasing filters, 266 Antiepileptic drugs (AEDs), 665 Antiepileptics, 672 Antinociception, 325 AntSA. See Anterior spinal artery (AntSA) Aorta surgery, 606-607 Aortic arch chest pain, 575 CT angiogram, 575 EKG, 575 Stanford Type A dissection, 576 temperature monitoring, 578-581 TND, 576 Aortic cross clamping, 95 Aortic dissection anastomosis, 593

Anesthesia (cont.)

anesthetic induction, 591 axillary artery, 591 bilateral embolization, 593 cerebral oximeter, 592 circulatory arrest, 591 hyperthermia, 593 potassium chloride, 592 systemic embolization, 593 Trendelenburg position, 592 Arachnoiditis, 550 Arteria radicularis magna (ARM), 603 Arterial blood pressure (ABP), 682, 683, 691, 692 Arterial spin labeling (ASL), 689 Arteriography, 368 Arteriovenous malformations (AVMs), 58, 367, 368 Artifact mitigation, 176 Asleep Awake Asleep (AAA), 306 Asymmetry indexes, 673 Asymptomatic Carotid Atherosclerosis Study (ACAS), 460 Auditory brainstem responses (ABRs), 40, 322, 349, 387, 389-390, 416, 417, 446 Auditory brainstem-evoked responses anesthetic considerations, 47 auditory neurons, 38 myelinated auditory nerve, 40 myelinated dendrites, 38 physiologic considerations, 47 Auditory ossicles, 37 Auditory pathway cochlea, 37-38 cochlear nerve to midbrain, 38-41 vascular supply, 41, 42 Auditory system central auditory pathway, 38-39 neural components, 37 neural pathway, 36 signals, ear to cochlea, 37 tracings, 35 Auditory-evoked potentials, 42-44, 46, 47 recording techniques ABR, 46 ECochG, 42, 44, 46 MLAEP, 47 short-latency potentials, 43 stimulation, 43, 44 tracings, 35 waves, 35 Autoregulation, 587 AVO₂ difference measurement, 684 Awake craniotomy, tumors resection anesthesia monitoring, 303 anesthetic management, 306 cortical mapping, 307 indications, 302-308 MAC/AAA complications, 308 neurologic monitoring, 306, 307 patient selection, 302 preoperative evaluation and preparation, 302, 303 regional anesthesia, 304, 305

sedation and analgesia, 303, 304 subcortical mapping, 307 Awake neurosurgery anesthesia carotid surgery, 309, 310 DBS, 308, 309 regional anesthesia, 310, 311 sedation, 310 seizure, 309 neurologic monitoring, 311, 312 sedation (see Sedation and analgesia) tumor resection anesthesia monitoring, 303 anesthetic management, 306 cortical mapping, 307 direct laryngoscopy, 303 indications, 302 LMA, 303 MAC/AAA complications, 307 neurologic monitoring, 306, 307 patient selection, 302 preoperative evaluation and preparation, 302, 303 regional anesthesia, 304, 305 subcortical mapping, 307 Awareness, 198, 200 EEG intraoperative, 200 risk of, 198 Axono-axonal depolarization, 410

B

Barbiturate coma, 678 Barbiturates, 321, 329 Basal ganglia (BG), 72 Baseline somatosensory- and motor-evoked potentials, 492 Basilar apex aneurysm, 363-364 Basilar artery aneurysm, 360 Battery-powered stimulator, 156 BCR. See Bulbocavernosus (BCR) Benzodiazepines, 321 Bilateral baseline intraoperative BCR, 144 Binocular stimulation, 55 Bispectral index (BIS), 149, 273, 357, 454 Bispectrum, 183-184 Bladder pressure urometry, 556-557 Blink reflex (BR), 147-149, 410 Blood flow velocity (BFV), 685, 689 Blood pressure, 681 Boston Naming Test, 670 Brain and Spinal Cord Mapping, 671 Brain Death, TD, 687-688 Brain edema and hemorrhage, 373 Brain injury, 617 Brain retraction injury, 372 Brain Stem Auditory Evoked Responses pediatric surgery, 639 Brain Trauma Foundation (BTF), 244, 248 Brainstem auditory-evoked responses (ABRs), 46, 363 Brainstem cavernoma, 645 Brainstem mapping anesthetic management, 108 CMN, 107–108 mapping technique, 108 BTF. *See* Brain Trauma Foundation (BTF) Bulbocavernosus (BCR) double-train electrical stimulation technique, 143 EAS reflex activity, 142 intraoperative application, 144, 145 teflon-coated bare-tip hooked electrodes, 142 Bulbocavernosus reflex, 557 Burst suppression, 179 Burst-suppression ratio (BSR), 179, 180 Bypass, 585–587

С

Camino®, 247 Cardiac Surgery SjvO₂ monitoring, 238 Cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB), 580, 618, 621, 622 brain injury, 617 cortical synaptic suppression, 619 differential diagnosis physiologic, 622 technical aspect, 621 iatrogenic brain injury, 618 injury causes cannula malposition, 618 nonpulsatile perfusion, 618 perfusion cannulae and cardiac vents, 618 patient management and outcome, 623 pharmacologic considerations, 618 physiologic monitors, 619 surgical, 623 Carotid and Vertebral Artery Transluminal Angioplasty Study (CAVATAS), 460 Carotid endarterectomy (CEA), 461-463, 675, 678 ACAS, 460 asymptomatic patients, 460 carotid artery clamping, 469 case studies, 461 cerebral ischemia, 470 ECST, 459 EEG monitoring, 465, 466 intraoperative course, 463 intra-operative neuromonitoring changes, 466, 469 NASCET, 459 pre-operative (see Anesthetic and neuromonitoring considerations) systolic pressure, 469 TCD data, 466 transcranial Doppler ultrasonography, 463-465 Carotid Revascularization Endarterectomy Versus Stenting Trial (CREST), 460 Carotid surgery extracranial stenosis, 459 Cases and disorders, DBS, 77-82 mild cerebral palsy, 81

MMA dystonia, 79, 80 procedure and decisions, 80, 81 PD-STN, 77 complications, 78 levodopa-sensitive symptoms, 78 procedure and decisions, 79 status dystonicus, 82 complications, 82 definition, 82 procedure and decisions, 82 Cauda equina syndrome, 525 Central nervous system (CNS), 59, 377, 385 Central pattern generators (CPGs), 118, 126 Central sulcus. See SSEP polarity reversal Cerebellopontine angle (CPA), 107 ABR, 387 anesthesia management, 388 facial nerve monitoring, 386 postoperative complications, 388 potential problems, 388 retrosigmoid and translabyrinthine approaches, 387 risks, 388 tumor, 386 Cerebral autoregulation, TCD, 223-224 Cerebral blood flow (CBF), 222, 223, 462, 576, 684, 685, 688-692 autoregulation, 682 awake neurological testing, 462 cerebrovascular reserve, 683 EEG, 462 intraoperative (see Intraoperative CBF) measurement and clinical applications, 685 ASL, 689 CTP, 690 Jugular Bulb AVO₂ Difference, 684 NIRS, 688-689 TCD ultrasonography (see Transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasonography) Thermodilution rCBF, 685 Xe133 CBF, 684 XeCT CBF. 684 mechanisms, 681-682 MEPs, 462 monitoring techniques, 462 obstruction, transcranial near-infrared spectroscopy, 211 regulation, 681-682 SSEP, 462 TCD, 462 velocity changes, TCD acute aortic dissection, 222 cardiopulmonary bypass, 223 cerebral hyperperfusion, 223 MCA, 222 obstruction, 222 perioperative and critical care hemodynamic monitoring, 222 retrograde cerebral perfusion, 222 systemic circulatory arrest, 222 vessel identification, 222

Cerebral embolization, TCD, 225 Cerebral Hemodynamic Monitoring, TCD, 221 Cerebral hyperperfusion, TCD, 223 Cerebral ischemia, 373, 470 Cerebral metabolic rate (CMR), 684 Cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen consumption (CMRO₂), 673-674 Cerebral neuromonitoring, 619 Cerebral oximetry, 588-590 limitations, 209 Cerebral oxygen saturation. See Jugular venous oxygen saturation Cerebral pressure reactivity (PRx) CPP management, 250 decompressive hemicraniectomy, 250 deranged cerebrovascular, 250 ICP waveform, 250 Cerebral protection, 576-578 Cerebral spinal fluid (CSF), 654 Cerebral vasculature, 681 Cerebral venous oxygen saturation, 589 Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), 386 Cerebrospinal fluid pressure (CSFP), 603 Cerebrovascular reserve, 683, 686-687 Cervical and cortical SSEP recordings, 389 Cervical intramedullary spinal cord tumor diagnosis, 540 dorsal myelotomy, 540 laminotomy, 540 loss of MEPs, 541 loss of motor function, 542 MEP and SSEP recordings, 540 pilocytic astrocytoma, 541 preoperative anatomy, 542 remove tumor residuals, 541 solid tumor masses and cystic formations, 540 Cervical pedicle, 487 Cervical spinal cord injury syndromes, 490 Cervical spinal myelopathy (CSM), 487, 488 Chiari I malformation, 498 Chiari I malformation operation anatomy, 436 classification system, 436 congenital hindbrain herniation, 435 craniocervical junction, 438 diagnosis, 436-437 intraoperative neuromonitoring, 438-439 neck flexion, 440 operative technique, 437 pathophysiology, 436 physiologic factors, 441 posterior fossa surgery, 442 SSEP noise, 441 SSEP traces, 439 stroke, 439-441 surgery, 437-438 symptomatology, 436 Chiari malformation type I (CM-I), 435 Choroid plexus, 437 Chronic hypertension, 682

Circulatory arrest, 576-578 Clinical syndromes, CSM, 489 Clip ligation, 354, 360-362 CMAPs. See Compound muscle action potentials (CMAPs) CNAP. See Compound nerve action potential (CNAP) Coagulopathy ICP monitoring, 247 Cochlea, 37-38 Cochlear-auditory nerve activity, 446 Codman® microsensor, 247 Compound muscle action potentials (CMAPs), 110, 128, 323, 446, 526 Compound nerve action potential (CNAP) complex "double", 569, 570 description, 564 halogenated agents, nitrous oxide and intravenous anesthetics, 565 nerve function, 565 normal, 567 normal peripheral nerve recording, 565 Compressed spectral array (CSA), 183 Computed axial tomography (CAT), 109 Computed tomography perfusion (CTP), 690 Continuous EEG/continuous EEG with video (cEEG), 664, 671-677 Corpus callosotomy, 665 Cortical and subcortical bipolar or monopolar mapping, 373 Cortical and subcortical mapping, 306-307 Cortical somatosensory evoked potential [SSEPs], 349 Cortical spreading depolarization (CSD) waves, 677 Cortical stimulation, 156, 162 Corticobulbar motor-evoked potentials (coMEP), 386 Corticobulbar tract motor-evoked potentials (CBT-MEPs), 107 CPB procedures, 59 CPGs. See Central pattern generators (CPGs) Cranial nerve monitoring technique "A-train" activity, 105 cranial nerves III, IV, and VI, 106 cranial nerves IX, X, XI, and XII, 106, 107 cranial nerves V and VII, 106 electrical stimulation, 107 innervations, 105 mechanotransducers, 104-106 monopolar stimulation, 104 principle, 104 Cranial nerve monitoring, trigeminal neuralgia, 396 Cranial nerve motor nuclei (CMN), 107 Craniotomies, 156, 157, 663, 666-668, 671, 678 CSFP. See Cerebrospinal fluid pressure (CSFP) CT perfusion (CTP), 689, 690 Cytoarchitecture, 171–172 Cytosolic cytochrome c, 578

D

DBS. *See* Deep brain stimulation (DBS) Decompression, 486, 488 Decompressive laminectomy instrumentation, 526 Deep brain stimulation (DBS), 52, 72, 73, 77, 308 anesthetics, 73 basal ganglia (BG), 72 benzodiazepines and opioids, 74 cases and disorders (see Cases and disorders, DBS) dehydration, 73 Dex, 74 fatal hemorrhage, 73 intraoperative anesthetic complications, 75 MER, 74, 76 microelectrode recording, 71 Parkinson's disease (PD), 72 PD patients, 74, 75 renormalization, 72 sedation, 75 stereotactic frame, 73 surgery "frameless" techniques, 72 CT and MRI, 72 implantable pulse generator (IPG), 73 **MER**, 73 stereotactic systems, 72 target structures, 76-78 β-blocker metoprolol, 73 Deep hyperthermic circulatory arrest (DHCA), 355, 576 Degenerative disk disease, 525 Dehydration, 73 Delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI), 677 Density spectral array (DSA), 183, 620 Dermatomal SSEPs (DSSEPs), 14, 15 Dexmedetomidine, 304, 328 Diffuse correlation spectroscopy (DCS), 688 Diffusion weighted imaging (DWI), 411 Digital signal processing (DSP), 266 Digital subtraction angiography (DSA), 690 Direct cortical stimulation technique (dcMEP), 162, 670 Direct electrical stimulation (eVEP) epidural stimulating electrodes, 60 IES, 61 monopolar recordings, 60 N20 and N40 waves, 61 ON, 60 TPOJ. 61 Direct lateral interbody fusion (DLIF), 114 Direct spinal cord recordings (D waves), 526 Disk arthroplasty, 525 Doppler flowmetry, 551 Doppler ultrasound, 690 Double-train electrical stimulation technique, 143 Droperidol, 329 Drug action, 318 Drugs and EEG barbiturates, 321 benzodiazepines, 321 dexmedetomidine, 321 droperidol, 321 etomidate, 321 halogenated anesthetic agents, 319, 320

ketamine, 321 nitrous oxide (N₂O), 320 opioids, 321 propofol, 320 DSP. *See* Digital signal processing (DSP) Dysphagia/hoarseness, 420 Dystonia, 80

Е

ECST. See European Carotid Surgery Trial (ECST) EEG. See Electroencephalography (EEG) EEG monitoring, 174, 373, 465, 466, 671-674 amplifiers and filters, 174 anesthetic effect, 169 applications, 170 control of rhythm, 172, 173 cytoarchitecture, 171 and ECG, 169 intensive care (see Intensive care EEG monitoring) postsynaptic potentials (PSPs), 171 regenerative action potentials (AP), 171 rostral structures, 170 signal (see Signal processing) signal acquisition, 173 Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, 602 Electric tc-MEPS, 90-91 Electrical capacitance, 255 Electrical impedance, 255 Electrical inductance, 256 Electrical interferences capacitive coupling, 260 electrically noisy equipment components, 262 electrodes recording, 261 electromagnetic coupling, 260 inductive coupling, 260 IOM practitioner, 261 noise sensor, 261, 263 powerful fields, 262 typical leadwire layouts, 261, 262 Electrical noise, 350 acquisition (stimulation) rate, 286 averaging signals, SNR, 286 band-pass electrical filtering, 286 default levels, 286 electrode wires, 285 high-frequency, 282, 283 low-frequency, 283-285 misidentification, 287 recording channels, 285 sinusoidal 60-Hz waveform, 280-282 sources of, 280 Electrical resistance, 255 Electrical stimulation 60-Hz technique, 162 cerebral cortex, 161 clonic seizure activity, 161 dcMEP, 162 issues, 160 transcranial MEPs, 161

Electrocautery amplifier blocking, 58 Electrocoagulation motor tract, 381 Electrocochleogram, 37-38, 44-46 Electrocochleography (ECochG), 446, 447 Electrocorticography (ECoG), 307, 666 Electrode patient end and connector end (Z_{leadwire}) , 259-260, 262 Electrode plug-in errors "false-negative MEPs", 291 electrode swaps SSEPs, 292 movement artifact, 291 multimodal neuromonitoring, 290 multimodality monitoring, 293 stimulation evaluation, 292 wrong side identification, 291 Electrodes and placement recording, 56-57 Electroencephalogram (EEG), 319, 468 BIS, 456 bispectral index (BIS), 454 cerebral hypoperfusion, 456 facial nerve, 456 ischemia, 456 patient state index (PSI), 454 spectral entropy (SE), 454 stroke tenfold, 456 Electroencephalographic (EEG), 351 Electroencephalography (EEG) anesthesia, 278 brain monitoring, 194 burst suppression, 198, 201 burst suppression pattern, 273, 274 characteristics with light dexmedetomidine sedation, 196 clinical and research efforts, 193 clinical application, 193 diagnostic and prognostic value, 193 (see also Electrical noise) intracranial surgeries, 273 markers, 194 monitoring amnesic effects, 201 anesthetic depth, 200 dynamic causal modeling, 200 ETAC monitoring protocols, 202 intraoperative, 200 MAC, 200 markers of consciousness, 202 neurobiology of consciousness, 200 NMDA antagonist effects, 200 right anterior cerebral artery aneurysm, 201 neurophysiologic properties, 193 patient anesthesia chart, 274 pediatric surgery, 639 poor signal amplitudes (see Poor signal amplitudes) processed BIS, 197 commercially available, 197 SEDLine monitors, 197 steps, 197

raw acquisition and monitoring, 194 data collection, 194 general anesthesia, 194 ketamine anesthesia, 195 microvoltage spikes, 194 neurophysiologic differences, 196 spectrogram, 194, 195 voltage oscillation frequencies, 194 waveform, 194 raw and processed cEEG, 199 ETAC, 197 ETAC monitoring, 198 intraoperative, 198 oscillation frequency, 198 preventing AWR, 197 qEEG, 199 TIVA, 197 recording electrical activity, 193 right carotid artery, 199 scalp electrode placement, 194 scalp electrodes and/or direct cortical recordings, 273 (see also Signal acquisition errors) stereoelectroencephalography, 666 technical issues, 278, 279 Electromagnetic fields, 262, 263, 267 Electromyography (EMG), 109-111, 113, 114, 526, 555, 633, 674 anesthetic management, 116 electrodes placement, 105 intraoperative neuromonitoring (see Intraoperative neuromonitoring in pediatric surgery) MEPs and SSEPs, 115 muscle relaxation, 116, 117 nerve root and pedicle screw placement aperiodic bursts, 111 CMAP, 113 CMAPs, 110 decompression, 111 false-negative findings, 114 innervation, 111 lumbosacral area, 110 myotome, 109 neurologic functional impairment, 109 sensory responses, 109 spine, 109 stimulation techniques, 111, 113 train-of-four (TOF) testing, 110 warning thresholds, 113, 114 pediatric surgery, 638 stimulation technique, 113 stimulus intensity, 115 TOF testing, 116 Electromyography (EMG) monitoring pedicle screw stimulation testing, 273 pre-existing neuromuscular junction disorders, 273 radiculopathy/neuropathy, 273

Electromyographyin anesthesia, 277 Electrophysiological examination, 462
Electrophysiological monitoring. See Thoracic aortic aneurysm repair Elicited visual-evoked potential (eVEP), 61 ELIF/XLIF. See Extreme lateral interbody fusion (ELIF/ XLIF) Emboli, TD, 688, 689 EMG. See Electromyography (EMG) EMG monitoring principle, 104 EMG recordings, 527 Endovascular balloon suction-occlusion, 355 Endovascular grafting, 607, 608 Endovascular stent placement clinical advantages, 608 endovascular grafting, 608 **TEVAR**, 607 Endovascular therapy, 354, 355 ENT and anterior neck surgery, 449 ABR, 446 anesthetic agents, 451 blood supply, 446 cranial nerve, 452 ECochG, 447 EEG (see Electroencephalogram (EEG)) EMG and CMAPs, 446 endotracheal tubes, 451 facial nerve, 448 FN (see Facial nerve (FN)) hearing loss, 446 inhalational anesthetic, 454 monopolar stimulation, 448 nerve irritation, 453 postoperative care, 456 **RLNs**, 451 vagal nerve EMG signal, 454 vagus nerve, 451 Environmental (electrical) interference, 441 Epidural catheter electrodes, 97 Epilepsv, 663 abnormal and functional cortex, 670 AEDs, 665 anesthesia management, 666 awake craniotomy, 667, 668, 670 Boston Naming Test, 670 clinical diagnosis, 665 clinical symptoms, 664 computerized image processing, 666 convulsive, 664 craniotomy, 666, 668 dcMEP, 670 direct cortical stimulation, 670 echo planar imaging, 666 ECoG, 666-668, 670 EEG (see Electroencephalogram (EEG)) electrocorticography, 666 electrophysiological monitoring, 668 eloquent cortex, 668, 670 EMU, 665, 666 epileptogenic zone, 665 fMRI, 665, 666 general anesthesia, 667

genetic and acquired causes, 664 genetic defects, 664 high-frequency oscillations/rapid discharges, 666, 667 hyperventilation and sleep deprivation, 665 imaging techniques, 670 intravenous medications, 668 ketamine, 668 MEP stimulation technique, 670 motor cortex mapping, 670 muscle recordings, 670 muscle relaxants, 670 neurological disorders, 664 neuronavigation techniques, 671 nonconvulsive seizures, 664 Penfield technique, 670 Penfield/Ojemann stimulation technique, 670 scalp vEEG recording, 666 and seizure (see Seizure) symptomatogenic zone, 665 three-dimensional imaging, 666 vEEG, 665, 671 Epilepsy monitoring unit (EMU), 665 Epileptogenic zone, 665 Erb's point, 477, 480, 482 Erb's point waveform, 477 Esophageal temperature, 580 Etomidate, 321 European Carotid Surgery Trial (ECST), 459 European Federation of Neurological Societies (EFNS), 672 Evoked potentials (EPs), 322-325, 350 Extracorporeal circulation (ECC), 59 Extracranial-intracranial arterial bypass, 355 Extreme lateral interbody fusion (XLIF), 114, 532

F

Facial nerve (FN), 331 AMR, 414 electromyographic activity, 448, 449 EMG, 456 and etiology, 410-411 facial weakness, 419 FMEPs, 449, 450 HB grading system, 449 MEPs, 449 monitoring problems, 450 parotid resection, 448 Facial nerve fibers, 391 Facial nerve palsy, 386 Facial weakness, 418-419 Fast Fourier transform (FFT), 181, 182, 673 Fast imaging employing steady state acquisition sequence (FIESTA), 396 F-ERGs and F-VEPs, 62-64 amplifier settings, 57, 58 analysis periods, 57 CNS indicator, 59 effects of anesthesia (see Anesthesia effects) effects of temperature, 62

IOM applications, 59 monitoring criteria, 58 PHCA, 59 FFT. See Fast Fourier transform (FFT) Fick equation, 684 Filters, 174 Fisher Scale, 656 Fisher score, 354 Fist clenching, 666 Flash electrographic response (F-ERG), 53 Flash stimulation devices, 55 Flash VEP response (F-VEP), 53 Flash visual-evoked potentials (F-VEPs) eliciting F-ERG and F-VEP, 54, 55 F-ERGs, 54 flash electrographic response (F-ERG), 53 flash stimulation devices, 55 flash VEP response (F-VEP), 53 light stimulation, 55 monocular vs. binocular stimulation, 55, 56 stimulus color, 56 stimulus rate, 56 Flowmetry, 690 Fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR), 411 Fluorescence angiography with augmented microscopy enhancement (FAAME), 691 Fluoroscopic evaluation, 493 fMRI. See Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) Foraminotomy, 525 Frequency-domain analysis CIMON EEG analysis system, 182 FFT, 181, 182 Fourier transform, 181, 184 peak power frequency (PPF), 182 **OEEG**, 183 spectral edge frequency (SEF), 182 tides, 181 Frozen shoulder, 415, 416 Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), 156, 665,666

G

Generalized periodic discharges (GPDs), 671 Globus pallidus internus (GPi), 52

H

Halogenated anesthetic agents, 319, 320 Hearing Loss, 416–417 Hemifacial spasm (HFS), 414–416, 418–420 anesthetic considerations, 412–413 blink reflex, 410 electrophysiology, 410 facial nerve and etiology, 410–411 hearing loss, 416, 417 imaging, 411, 412 intraoperative neuromonitoring, 413 "lateral spread", 410

monitoring complications, 413, 414 MVD adhesive capsulitis, 414-416 brainstem, 416 dysphagia/hoarseness, 420 facial weakness, 418, 419 frozen shoulder, 414-416 stroke, 418 vestibular nerve dysfunction, 419 Hemodynamic monitoring, 388 Hemoglobin, 587 Henneman size principle, 131 Herniated nucleus pulposis, 525 Herniation localized ICP, 247 long-standing hydrocephalus, 247 lumbar drains, 248 subsequent upward, 246 High-frequency hearing loss (HFHL), 417 High-frequency noise microcurrent noise artifact, 282 monopolar electrocautery, 282, 283 narcotics, 282 operating microscope/fluoroscopy unit, 282 signal optimization, 282 Horner's syndrome, 474 H-reflex testing anesthetic management, 120 CPGs, 118 hyporeflexia, 118 monosynaptic reflex, 118 M-wave, 119 responses monitor, 119 SSEPs, 118 H-reflexes, 131-136, 139-142 flexor carpi radialis normal parameters, 135-136 stimulation and recording techniques, 135 and F-responses H-reflex amplitude, 139 spinal nerve root function, 140 spinal shock, 139 SSEPs, 139, 141, 142 tcMEPs, 140, 141 gastrocnemius normal parameters, 133, 134 stimulation and recording techniques, 134 isoflurane, 137, 138 neurophysiology homonymous and heteronymous, 132, 133 monosynaptic reflex, 132 presynaptic inhibition, 133 stimulation intensity, 131 soleus H-reflex, 137 Hybrid techniques, 609 Hyperemia, 229, 230, 236, 237, 688 Hyperventilation, 665 Hypotension, 655, 657, 658 Hypothermia, 96, 333, 362, 576-578 Hypothermic circulatory arrest, 592

I

ICA/ophthalmic aneurysm burst suppression and hypothermia, 362 lower extremity SSEPs and TCMEPs, 361 TCMEP and SSEP signals, 362 upper extremity SSEPs and TCMEPs, 361 ICP, 682, 683, 687, 691, 692 ICP-Based Autoregulation (Prx), 692 IES. See Intraoperative electrical stimulations (IES) Immobility, 324–325 Impedance, 254-256, 258-260 Indocyanine green (ICG), 371, 372 Indocyanine green videoangiography (ICG-VA (ICG-VA), 690-691 Infratentorial mass tentorium cerebella, 385 Infratentorial surgery, 394 Inhalational anesthesia, 319 Inhalational anesthetics, 11 Intensive care EEG monitoring, 674, 676-678 antiepileptics, 672 applications barbiturate coma, 678 cEEG, 676 CSD waves, 677 DCI, 677 electrical activity, 674 induced burst suppression, 678 metabolic suppression, 678 SAH, 677 vasospasm, 677 CCEEG, 671 cEEG. 671 continuous EEG, 671 Daily Pattern Duration, 673 Daily Seizure Duration, 673 EFNS, 672 FFT. 673 functional neuroimaging techniques, 671 GPDs, 671 hemodynamics, 673, 677 ICU. 671 in EMG, 674 LPDs, 671 NCSE, 671, 672 PEDs, 674 periodic discharges (PDs), 671 qEEG, 673 raw EEG, 673, 675 RSE, 672 sedation management, 674 trend spectrogram, 673, 676 Internal globus pallidum (GPi), 76, 77 International Carotid Stenting Study (ICSS), 460 Internuncial synapses, 322, 324 Intracranial aneurysms aneurysm rebleeding, 354 aneurysmal rebleeding, 354 cerebrovascular surgery, 354 endovascular therapy, 355

Fisher score, 354 MCA (see MCA aneurysm) perioperative considerations, 355 SAH, 354 Intracranial arteriovenous malformations (AVMs) blood loss prevention, 369 embolization, 368 false-negative findings, 371 grading scale, 368 neuroanesthetic management, 369 nonradiographic intraoperative method, 371 posterior fossa/vertebrobasilar circulation, 370 SSEP and MEP monitoring, 369 stimulation intensity, 371 surgical resection, 369 transcranial MEP stimulation, 370 treatment options, 368 Wada testing, 368 Intracranial pressure (ICP) monitoring adult and pediatric TBI, 244 autoregulation, 248 baseline drift, 248 brain perfusion, 250 BTF guidelines, 244 CBF, 244, 245 cerebral ischemia, risks, 252 cerebral PRx, 250 cerebrovascular autoregulation, 249 chronic hydrocephalus and internalized shunt, 248 Codman® and Camino® microsensor, 247, 248 "compensatory reserve", 250 decreased intracranial compliance, 251 deranged waveform, 249 high-risk populations, 244 infratentorial vs. supratentorial cavities, 247 mass-occupying lesions, hydrocephalus/cerebral edema, 244 Monro-Kellie doctrine, 244, 245 normal waveform, 249 optimal coagulation physiology, 247 parenchymal devices, 247 PAx, 250 physiologic parameters management, 250 poor accuracy monitors, 248 protocol-driven management, 244 RAP, 250 Raumedic[©], 248 Intracranial recording of responses, 60-62 Intralimb and interlimb lower extremity reflexes, 149 Intramedullary spinal cord surgery anesthesia, 538 astrocytomas, 536 cavernomas and arteriovenous malformations, 536 central nervous system, 535 cortical signal amplitude, 539 ependymoma, 535, 536 and extramedullary tumors, 545 glioblastomas, 535 higher grade tumors, 535 immense progress, 535

integration, 545 integrition, 545 intraoperative neurophysiologic techniques, 536 level of Th9, 542, 543 loss or deterioration of SSEPs, 535 meningioma, 543 MEP recordings, 542 monitoring, 538-540 MRI, extensive intramedullary tumor, 539 neurofibromatosis, 536 neurologic dysfunction, 535, 538 neurologic factor, 536 neurophysiology, 537 neurosurgical resection, 536 oncologic outcome, 536 plane of dissection, 536 prone position, 547 signs and symptoms, 535 SSEPs, 537 transient paraparesis, 535 treatment, 536 vascular, 536 von Hippel-Lindau disease, 536 Intramedullary spinal cord tumor, 540 cervical (see Cervical intramedullary spinal cord tumor) Intramedullary spinal cord tumor surgery evoked potentials, lower and upper extremities, 540 intraoperative monitoring, 540 median nerve SSEP, 540 solitary fibrous tumor, 540 Intraoperative artifacts, 449 Intraoperative awareness with explicit recall (AWR) EEG, 194 Intraoperative CBF, 691-692 Doppler ultrasound, 690 DSA, 690 flowmetry, 690 ICG-VA, 690-691 monitors of autoregulation COx, 692 ICP-Based Autoregulation (Prx), 692 TCD-Based Autoregulation (Mx), 691-692 Intraoperative course, 557-560 Intraoperative electrical stimulations (IES), 61 Intraoperative electrophysiological monitoring, 317 Intraoperative mapping techniques, 155 Intraoperative monitoring (IOM) categories, 71 electric tc-MEPS, 90, 91 magnetic tc-MEPS, 90, 91 SCPS, 88-90 spinal cord ischemia, 602 tc-SCPS, 91, 92 Intraoperative neural monitoring (IONM), 451 Intraoperative neurologic monitoring, 486 Intraoperative neuromonitoring, 426, 553-554 amplifier, 255 anesthesiologist, 262 electrical capacitance, 255

electrical circuit, 254 electrical impedance, 255 electrical inductance, 256 electrical interference, 255 electrical noise troubleshooting, 263-264 electrical noise V_{noise}, 256 electrical resistance, 255 leadwires, 253 Ohm's law, 254 patient C_{skin} , 256 patient setup, 263 physiologic signals, 253 (see also Recording circuits) scoliosis correction, 498-500 signal acquisition from patient, 264 skull base tumor (see Skull base surgery) voltage divider, 254 Intraoperative neuromonitoring in pediatric surgery, 633-637 anesthetic management, 642 dexmedetomidine, 634 EEG patterns, 635 FFA, 635 generation of TcMEPs, 634 higher stimulation intensities, 634 NMBs, 635 patient condition, 633 rare metabolic diseases, 633 TIVA. 634 auditory evoked potentials, 639 brainstem cavernoma, 645 bulbocavernosus reflex, 633, 639, 640 CN EMG and CN VII TcMEPS, posterior fossa tumor resections, 646 craniotomy, tumor/mass lesion resection, 644-646 DCS, supratentorial tumor resection, 644 developmental processes, 633 dorsal rhizotomies, 642, 643 EEG waveform, 639 electromyography, 638 MEPs (see Motor evoked potentials (MEPs)) modalities, 633, 640 monitoring modalities and developmental factors, 634 Posterior Spinal Fusion, 641-642 procedures and modalities, 641 relationship, 646 selective dorsal rhizotomy (SDR), 643 SSEPs (see Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs)) TcMEPs, 638 tethered cord release, 643-644 TIVA anesthesia, 635 volatile anesthetic agents, 633 Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring pharmacologic agents and physiologic events, 447 surgical Intervention, 380 surgical resection, 377 Intraoperative neurophysiologic tests, 526

Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM), 387, 627, 628 anesthetic management, 627 angiographic imaging, 626 case studies carotid artery fistula, 628 cortical SSEPs, 628 neuromonitoring alerts, 627 data interpretation, 627 neuromonitoring plan, 626 open surgical treatment, 626 Intravenous agents barbiturates, 329 benzodiazepines, 328 dexmedetomidine, 328 droperidol, 329 etomidate, 328 sedative-hypnotics, 327 Intravenous anesthetics barbiturates, 11 benzodiazepines, 12 etomidate and ketamine, 12 propofol, 11 **TIVA**, 13 Intraventricular catheter (IVC) CSF and unobstructed flow of fluid, 246 fluid/administration of drugs, 247 global ICP measurement, 244 IVD, 244, 246 long-standing hydrocephalus, diagnosis of, 246, 247 noncontrasted CT, 245, 246 pharmacotherapies, 246 risks, 246 IOM techniques, 318 Irritative zone, 665 Ischemia, 193, 199, 201, 202, 377 EEG cerebral, 193, 199, 202 cerebral ischemia, 199 identification, 199 monitoring, 201 IVC. See Intraventricular catheter (IVC)

J

Jugular Bulb AVO₂ Difference, 684 Jugular Bulb Catheter, 233 Jugular venous oxygen saturation (SjvO₂), 229–232, 238 anatomy, cerebral venous drainage avernous or the sphenoparietal sinuses, 230 extracranial contamination, 232 intracranial sigmoid sinus, 232 single internal carotid artery, 231 sinuses drain, 230 superficial and deep venous plexuses, 230 aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage, 237 and central venous catheter, 233 cerebral angiograms, 232 cerebral ischemia, 229 cerebral venous sinuses, 231 complications, 235 continuous fiberoptic jugular qximetry vs. intermittent sampling, 234 contraindications, 235 and differential diagnosis, 235-236 intracranial arteriovenous malformation, 237 intraoperative cardiac surgery, 238 neurosurgical anesthesia, 238 limitations, 238-239 maintaining, CBF and oxygenation, 229 management, low SjvO₂ value, 236 placement, Jugular Bulb Catheter, 233 poor neurologic outcomes after brain injury, 229 rationale arterial-venous content of blood, 230 cerebral oxygen supply and metabolic consumption, 229 function, 230 hypoxia and anemia, 230 traumatic brain injury, 230 risk of neurologic injury, 239 sampling rate, 234 Traumatic Brain Injury, 237 values, 229

K

Ketamine, 321, 329-330, 553, 668

L

Laminoplasty, 489 Large neutral amino acids (LNAAs), 302 Laryngeal mask airway (LMA), 72, 303 Laser speckle contrast imaging (LSCI), 691 Late responses, 128-129 Lateral mass screw indications, 487 Levodopa-sensitive symptoms, 78 Lidocaine, 330 Light stimulation, 55 Lipomeningomyelocele, 550 Loeys-Dietz syndrome, 602 Lower extremity somatosensory, 323 Lower limit of autoregulation (LLA), 682 Low-frequency noise movement artifact, 284 noise strategies, 285 recording parameter alterations, 283 stimulation artifact, 283, 284 Lumbar corpectomy, 525 Lumbar interbody fusion ALIF, 529, 530 ELIF/XLIF, 532 lumbar microdiscectomy, 532 paracoccygeal transsacral fixation, 532 PLIF, 528-529 TLIF, 529

Lumbar microdiscectomy, 532 Lumbosacral spine procedures neurophysiologic monitoring tests, 526

М

MAC. See Minimum alveolar concentration [MAC] Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 378 Magnetic tc-MEPS, 90-91 Magnetoencephalography (MEG), 156 Mapping, 378-379 Marfan syndrome, 508, 602 MCA aneurysm aneurysm clipping, 355 burst suppression, 357, 360 craniotomy, 358 drawbacks, monitoring techniques, 356, 357 indocyanine green (ICG), 360 neuromonitoring modalities, 356 SSEP signal, 358 SSEPs tracing, 359 surgical causes, 358-360 TCMEP signals, 358 Mean arterial blood pressure, 441 Mean arterial pressure (MAP), 372 Mean transit time (MTT), 690 Median power frequency (MPF), 176 MEG. See Magnetoencephalography (MEG) Meningioma resection, 387-393 MEP stimulation technique, 670 MEPs. See Motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) MER. See Microelectrode recording (MER) MER procedure, 76 Methohexital and alfentanil, 668 Methylmalonic acidemia (MMA), 79 Microdialysis (MD), 674 Microelectrode mapping, 77 Microelectrode recording (MER), 73 Microsurgical excision, 368 Microvascular decompression, 412, 415 Middle cerebral artery (MCA), 462, 593 Mid-latency auditory-evoked potentials, 41-42 Midlatency cortical auditory (MLAEP), 322 Midline suboccipital approach, 387 Mild juvenile idiopathic scoliosis, 499-504 anesthesia (see Anesthesia) diagnoses, 498 management, 498 preoperative evaluation, 498 thoracic and lumbar curvature, 498 thoracolumbar spine x-rays, 498 Minimum alveolar concentration (MAC), 65, 441 Monitored anesthesia care (MAC), 306 Monitoring, 671-674, 681-682 CBF (see Cerebral blood flow (CBF)) intensive care EEG (see Intensive Care EEG monitoring) Monitoring applications algorithm, 345, 346 etiology, 345

fade, 349 ischemia, 350 physiological effects, 349 Monocular stimulation, 55 Monopolar optic nerve, 60 Monosynaptic / oligosynaptic H-reflex, 125 Monro-Kellie doctrine, 244 Motor and/or language cortex, 373 Motor cortex mapping, 670 Motor mapping, 379-380 Motor pathway blood supply, 20-21 Motor strip mapping, 108–109 Motor-evoked potentials (MEPs), 25, 26, 272, 322, 330-331, 428, 500, 606, 628, 637-638 adverse systemic factor, 277 and acute injury, 24 anesthesiology, 27 application evidence-based analysis, 25 focal stimulation, 26 hypoperfusion, 26 intracranial procedures, 26 spinal cord myelopathy, 25 spine procedures, 25 arm muscle, 380 CMAP, 22-24 CNS dysfunction, 272 inhalational agents, 276 inhalational gases and IV anesthetics, 277 interstimulus interval (ISI) and stimulus pulse, 22 intravenous (IV) agents, 277 IOM, 19 IOM MEP responses, 22 IONM (see Intraoperative neuromonitoring in pediatric surgery) magnetic stimulation, 21 motor pathway blood supply, 20 neurologic response pathway, 21 neuromuscular blockade, 277 pediatric surgery CMAP, 637 Cortical inhibitory circuits, 637 CST, 637 D waves, 637 high voltage and short duration stimulus, 637 intertrain interval (ITI) and interstimulus interval (ISI), 638 intra- and postoperative motor deficits, 637 motor tracts, 637 spatial facilitation, 638 TcMEPs, 638 temporal or spatial facilitation, 638 transcranial, 637-638 peripheral nervous system disorders D-wave recordings, 272 L5 radiculopathy, 272 neuropathies, 272 weak myotomes, 272 preoperative neurologic dysfunction, 271 propofol infusion syndrome, 277

Motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) (cont.) recordings, 381 risk. 27 skull base tumor (see Skull base surgery) spinal cord D and I wave, 23 stimulation, 379 **SSEP**, 19 surgery, scoliosis correction (see Scoliosis correction) surgical interventions, 380-381 target muscles, 379 tcMEPs, 125 Movement disorders, 72-74, 76 MRI angiogram, 461 MRI diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), 156 MRI T2-weighted image, 487 Multimodal intraoperative monitoring (MIOM), 527 Multimodality neuromonitoring, 617, 618, 621 Multivariable analysis, 587 Muscle motor evoked potentials, 349 Muscle recordings, 670 Muscle relaxants, 670 Myelomeningocele, 552 Myotomes, 109, 555

Ν

N20-P22 cortical SSEP, 584 NASCET. See North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial (NASCET) Nasopharyngeal temperature, 580 Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS), 688-689 Nervous system monitoring, 169 Neural metabolic factors, 681 Neural tissue, 681 Neuroelectrophysiological monitoring, 581-585 Neuroendovascular surgery, 625, 629 Neuro-intensive care unit (neuro-ICU), 685 Neurologic intensive care unit (NICU), 653 Neurologic monitoring, 306-307 Neurological deficits, 586 Neurological disorders epilepsy, 664 Neurological risk, thoracic spine surgery congenital kyphosis, neurofibromatosis, or skeletal dysplasia, 512 identification, 512 ischemic injury, 513 ligation, segmental vessels, 513 mean arterial pressure (MAP), 513 mechanisms, 512 optimal blood pressure, 513 paralysis, 512 pathophysiology, 512 techniques, 512 vascular injury, 513 Neuromonitoring, 438-439 Neuromonitoring plan, 626-627 Neuromuscular blockade (NMB), 392 Neuromuscular blocking agents (NMBA), 317, 330-333 facial nerve, 331

motor-evoked potentials, 330, 331 pedicle screw testing, 332 peripheral nerve monitoring, 332 pNMB, 332 recurrent laryngeal nerve, 332 TIVA, 332 Neuromuscular junction (NMJ), 330 Neuronavigation frameless stereotaxic system, 379 motor tract, 381 Neuronavigation techniques, 671 Neurophysiological monitoring, 381 facial nerve identification, 391 IV/V complex, 391 NMB, 393 patient positioning, 388 retractors placement, 389 tumor resection, 392, 393 Neurotelemetry, 671 Neurovascular coupling (NVC), 224-225 Nitrous oxide (N₂O), 320 NMJ-blocking agents, 137 Nonconvulsive seizures, 664 Nonconvulsive status epilepticus (NCSE), 671,672 Nonradiographic intraoperative method, 371 Normal perfusion pressure breakthrough (NPPB), 373 North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial (NASCET), 459

0

Ojemann OCS-2 Cortical Stimulator, 160 Open TAA surgery, 604-606 cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), 604, 605 hypothermia, 605 IOM cross-clamp, 604, 605 MEP, 606 SSEP monitoring, 605, 606 Operative recordings anesthetic considerations, 564 brachial plexus, 570 CNAPs, 565 degree of continuity, 563, 564 "double" response, 569 electrical power, 565 electrodes, 566 fibers, 566 flow chart, peripheral nerve injuries, 571, 572 from primates, 565 lesioned fibers, 569 monitoring functions, 563 nerve lesion, diagnosis of, 563 normal CNAP, 567 patient's history, 567 postoperative follow-up, 570 regeneration mechanism, 571 repeated EMG studies, 570 stimulation and recording proximal, tumor, 569 stimulation parameters, 565 visible scarring, 571 Operative technique, 412 Opioids, 303, 321, 329–330 Optic nerve (ON), 60 Optic nerve head (ONH), 59 Osteogenesis imperfecta, 508 Oxygen extraction fraction (OEF), 689, 692

Р

Paracoccygeal Transsacral Fixation, 532 Parasomnias, 665 Parkinson's disease (PD), 52, 72, 78 Partial pressure of brain tissue oxygen (PbtO₂), 673 Patient state index (PSI), 454 Pedicle Screw Testing, 332 Pedicle subtraction osteotomies, 511 Pedunculopontine nucleus (PPN), 72 Penfield technique, 670 Penfield/Ojemann stimulation technique, 160, 670 Periodic discharges (PDs), 671 Periodic lateralized discharges (LPDs), 671, 674 Peripheral Nerve Monitoring, 332 Peripheral nervous system. See Operative recordings Pexelizumab, 579 Pharmacologic neuroprotection, 579 Photic stimulation, 60 PLIF. See Posterior lumbar interbody fusion (PLIF) Polysynaptic reflexes, 142-145 BCR double-train electrical stimulation technique, 143 EAS reflex activity, 142 intraoperative application, 144, 145 teflon-coated bare-tip hooked electrodes, 143 Poor signal amplitudes averaged central-evoked potential signals, 289 MEPs, 289 minimum supramaximal level, 288 recording technique, 287 reduced stimulation rates, 290 SSEPs, 287 submaximal stimulation levels, 289 train-of-four testing, 287 twitch threshold, 289 ulnar signals, loss of, 288 Positioning considerations, 438 Positive mapping, 156 Positron emission tomography (PET), 683, 689, 690 Postanesthesia care unit (PACU), 560 Posterior cervical instrumentation and fusion, 486 Posterior cervical laminoplasty C3-C6, 489 Posterior cervical procedures, 489 Posterior cervical spine surgery case studies, 491-493 CSM, 487-489 intraoperative neurologic monitoring, 486 laminectomy and decompression, 486 laminoplasty, 486, 489 lateral mass and pedicle screw fixation, 487

posterior decompression, 488 spinal cord compression, 488 stabilization and fusion, 486 X-ray and CT scan, 486 Posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA), 411 Posterior ischemic optic neuropathy (PION), 59 Posterior laminectomy and fusion, 487 Posterior lumbar interbody fusion (PLIF), 528-529 Posterior spinal arteries (PostSAs), 603 Posterolateral lumbar fusion with or without instrumentation, 525 PostSAs. See Posterior spinal arteries (PostSAs) Postsynaptic potentials (PSPs), 171 Potential ischemia, 372 Presurgical mapping DTI, 156 fMRI, 156 MEG, 156 TMS, 156 Primary auditory cortex, 41 Primary motor cortex. See Electrical stimulation Profound hypothermic circulatory arrest (PHCA), 59 Propofol, 303, 320, 591 Propofol or methohexital, 670 PRx. See Cerebral pressure reactivity (PRx) Pulmonary artery catheter (PAC), 658 Pupillary size and retinal luminance, 56

Q

Quantitative EEG (qEEG), 673

R

Recording circuits amplifier impedance (Z_a) , 260 amplifier iso-ground, 260 electrical connections, 257 electrode patient end and connector end (Z_{leadwire}) , 259-260, 262 generator and electrode (Z_{tissue}), 258 patient + electrode components (Zelectrode), 258-259 recording scenario, 256, 257 tissue physiologic generator (V_{tissue}), 257–258 Recording F-ERGs and F-VEPs, 56 Recording pathway A/D convertors, 266 amplifiers, 265-266 antialiasing filters, 266 DSP and computer processing, 266 input switching, 264 Recurrent laryngeal nerves (RLNs), 332, 451 Reflex responses, 129, 136, 137 acute spinal cord transection, 126 advantage, 125 anesthetic technique dexmedetomidine, 137 ketamine, 136 CPGs, 126 H-reflexes and F-responses reflect, 127

Reflex responses (cont.) late responses, 128 neurophysiology, 126 Refractory status epilepticus (RSE), 672 Regenerative action potentials (AP), 171 Regional anesthesia, 330 Retinal stimulation, 60-62 Rhizotomy, 525 Right-sided sphenoid wing meningioma differential diagnosis, 431 frontal temporal craniotomy, 430 preoperative examination, 430 progression, 432 RLN injury, 475 Root detachment point, 411 Rostral acute SCI, 126

S

Sacral reflex, 142-145 Scoliosis correction distraction and fusion, thoracic and lumbar spine, 497 hemodynamic stability and integrity, spinal cord, 498 idiopathic, 497 lateral and rotational derangements, 497 mild juvenile idiopathic scoliosis anesthetics, 499-504 diagnoses, 498 thoracolumbar spine x-rays, 498 neuromuscular, 497 non-idiopathic, 497 posterior surgical approaches, 497 Sedation management, 674 Sedative and analgesic medications dexmedetomidine, 304 midazolam, 303 opioids, 303 propofol, 303 Seizure antiepileptics, 672 cEEG, 671 CNS, 665 computerized techniques, 666 Daily Seizure Duration, 673 detection and evaluation, 664 detection in ICU, 671 development of effective drugs, 665 discharges or elicited, 670 electrical activity, 664 electrographic, 670 and epilepsy, 665 epileptogenic zone, 665 identification, 670 nonconvulsive, 664, 671 and nonepileptic events, 665 recording, 665 signature, 666 stimulation-associated seizures, 671 stimulation-induced seizures, 670 type of surgical procedure, 665

vEEG recording, 666 Video EEG, 665 Seizure activity, 665, 667, 668, 670, 671, 678, 680 Selective dorsal rhizotomy (SDR) EMG recordings, 146 hyperactive sensory rootlets, 145, 147 sensory and motor roots identification, 146 technical aspects, 145, 146 Sensory-evoked potentials, 556 Shock, types, 659 Signal acquisition errors, 293-295 electrode plug-in errors, 290-293 system errors (see System errors) Signal averaging, 256 Signal optimization, 269 (see also Anesthesia) during surgical procedure, 295 patient physiology, 295 patient-related issues, 269-273 EEG (see Electroencephalography (EEG)) EMG (see Electromyography (EMG) monitoring) MEPs (see Motor-evoked potentials (MEPs)) preoperative neurologic dysfunction, 269 robust baseline data, 269 SSEPs (see Somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs)) prioritization, 295-296 Signal processing analog signals, 175 digital signals, 175 quantitative EEG (QEEG), 174 sampling, 175, 176 Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR), 256, 266 Single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), 670, 671, 683, 689 Sinus of Valsalva, 576 Skull base surgery ABR, 428 ABR responses, 429 composition, 425 cranial nerves and vascular structures, 425 EMG, 427 interpretation and evaluation, IOM, 425 IOM, 426-428, 432 left-sided hemangioblastoma baseline measurements, 430 differential diagnosis, ABR recording, 429-430 EMG recordings, 428 neurological examination, 428 lesions, 425 Modes of Neuromonitoring, 427 MRI. 425 perioperative, 426 positioning requirements, 425 procedures, 425 progress and application, 425 right-sided sphenoid wing meningioma, 430, 432 SSEP recording, 431 SSEPs, 428 Sleep deprivation, 665 SNR. See Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR)

Sodium diathesis, 657 Somatosensory cortex, 583 Somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs), 5-7, 10, 11, 13, 14, 269-271, 396, 428, 438, 440, 526, 554, 606, 626, 628, 636, 637 affecting factors intracranial pressure, 14 oxygenation/ventilation, 13 temperature, 13 tissue perfusion, 13 anatomy, 4 anesthetic suppression of, 275, 276 arm stimulation, 8 baseline asymmetries, 276 CNS dysfunction neuronal migration disorders, 271 pathophysiology, 271 scalp hematomas, 271 dorsal column pathway, 4 DSSEPs, 14, 15 inhalational anesthetics, 11 intraoperative applications, 14 intravenous anesthetics, 11, 12 IONM (see Intraoperative neuromonitoring in pediatric surgery) narcotics, 275 neural generators, 9 pediatric surgery cortical, 636 fontanelles, 637 Fz-C5s montage, 637 lower extremities, 636 median nerve peripheral responses, 636 myelination, 636 PTN cortical potentials, 637 signals generation, 636 stimulus, 636 upper extremities, 636 waveforms, 636 peripheral nerve disorders body habitus, 270 neuropathy, 270 radiculopathy, 269 stimulation requirements, 270 pharmacology, 11 physiology, 11 recording electrodes, 7 filters, 10 nerve volley distal, 10 parameters, 7 recording montages, 7, 10 signal-to-noise ratio, 11 waveforms, 7 skull base tumor (see Skull base surgery) spinal cord sensory function, 125 stimulation anode blocking, 6 electrical stimulus, 6 electrode selection, 6

frequency, 7 parameters, 5 thoracic scoliosis surgery, 5 subcortical response, 275 vascular supply, 4, 5 Spectral displays, 183 Spectral edge frequencies (SEF), 673, 675 Spectral entropy (SE), 454 Spectrophotometry, 551 Speech/motor cortex, 668 Spetzler-Martin AVM Grading Scale, 368 Spinal cord anatomy, 165 Spinal cord blood supply AntSA, 603, 604 CSFP, 603 PostSAs, 603, 604 Spinal cord central pattern generator (CPG), 127 Spinal cord functions, monitor, 92-94 anesthetics, 91, 92 clinical applications aortic cross-clamping, 93 hypothermia, 94 SCP, 92, 93 tc-MEP monitoring, 93 ECG activity, 88 SCPs, 88 SEPs, 87 SSEPs, 87, 88 surgical stresses, 87 tc-SCPs, 88 Spinal cord injury fluid status and cardiac output, 657 management, 657 preload responsiveness, 658, 659 pulmonary artery catheter (PAC), 658 Spinal cord injury (SCI), 126 Spinal cord ischemia, 142 Spinal cord mapping, 164–166 Spinal cord pathophysiology, 126-127 Spinal cord perfusion, 492 Spinal cord perfusion pressure (SCPP), 604 Spinal cord potentials (SCPs), 88-90 Spinal cord tumor, 525 Spinal cord tumor surgery, 535 cervical tumor, 541 intradeullary (see Intramedullary spinal cord tumor) Spinal nerve root pathophysiology, 127-128 Spondylolisthesis, 525 Spondylolysis, 525 Spondylysis, 525 SSEP and MEP comparison, 606-607 SSEP polarity reversal electrical stimulation and recording, 157 electrode role, 158 functional homunculus, 157 N/P20, 158 precentral gyrus, 158, 159 somatic stimulation, 157

Stable xenon CTCBF (XeCT CBF), 684 Stent-Supported Percutaneous Angioplasty of the Carotid Artery versus Endarterectomy (SPACE), 460 Stereoelectroencephalography, 666 Sternocleidomastoid (SCM), 311 Stimulation, 43 clicks intensity/volume, 43 polarities, 43 earphones, 44 masking, 43 technique, 113 Stimulus color, 56 Stimulus rate, 56 Stimulus-triggered EMG, 528 Stroke, 418, 439-441 EEG, 193, 202 Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), 353, 677, 686 blood pressure monitoring, 656 cerebral aneurysm, 354 grading scales, 656 medical and neurologic complications, 657 TCDs, 656 vasospasm, 656 Subcortical mapping, 163-164 Succinylcholine, 591 Suction-monopolar stimulator device, 164 Supratentorial mass lesions, 377, 378 Surgery, 497 scoliosis correction (see Scoliosis correction) Surgical causes, ABR changes, 401 Symptomatogenic zone, 665 Synapse location, 322 Syncopal episodes, 665 System errors innumerable settings, 294 neuromonitoring apparatus, 293 replacement, 293 software/specific patient files, 294 stimulator evaluation, 294 "swapping" out individual amplifiers, 293 warning, 294

Т

TAA repair, 603
TBI. See Traumatic brain injury (TBI)
TCD monitoring, 466
TCD-Based Autoregulation (Mx), 691–692
Temporo-parieto-occipital junction (TPOJ), 61
Tensor tympani, 37
Tentorium cerebella, 385
Tethered cord, 525
Tethered cord surgery anesthetic management, 552–553 monitoring modalities, 551–552
MRI, 551 neurologic improvement, 551

Tethered cord syndrome (TCS) abnormal fixation, 550 histopathological changes, 550 notochord forms, 550 spinal dysraphism, 550 symptoms, 550 urinary function, 551 TEVAR. See Thoracic endovascular aneurysm repair (TEVAR) Thoracic aortic aneurysm repair case study neurophysiological monitoring, 610 pelvic angiogram, 610 SSEPs and MEPs, 610, 611, 613 **TEVAR**, 612 monitoring techniques, 609 TEVAR anesthesia, 612 IOM, 614 neurophysiological monitoring, 612 somatosensory- and motor-evoked potential signals, 612 Thoracic endovascular aneurysm repair (TEVAR) advantage, 609 disadvantages, 608 endovascular grafting, 607, 608 landing zones, 608 Thoracic spine surgery, 513, 514 advantages, posterior approach, 510 anterior spine approach, 509 chylothorax, 510 complications, 511 congenital kyphosis, 508 correction, 508 delayed rupture of the aorta, 510 disk herniation, 509 fusion, 508 idiopathic scoliosis, 508 indications, spinal deformity, 508 instrumentation, correction of scoliosis/kyphosis, 511 lateral malposition, 511 medial penetration, screw, 512 monitoring cortical SSEPs, 514 electroencephalogram, 514 EMG, 514 H-Reflex response, 514 MEPs, 514 Stagnara wake-up test, 513 testing, clonus, 514 morbidity rates, posterior approach, 509 morbidity, anterior approach, 510 neurological outcome with vertebral fractures, 509 outcomes, 509 pedicle screw malposition, 511 pedicle subtraction osteotomies (PSO), 511 posterior fusion, 509 preservation, 510 procedures, 508, 509 resection, ribs, 510

risk, neurological (see Neurological risk, thoracic spinal surgery) Scheurmann's kyphosis, 508 segmental instrumentation, 511 Smith-Peterson osteotomy (SPO), 510 thoracotomy, 509 VATS, 510 Thoracoabdominal aneurysm, 601 Time to peak (TTP), 690 Time-domain analysis clinical applications, 177, 179 normal distribution, 178 parametric statistical tests, 177 stationary, 177 stochastic signal, 177 Tissue physiologic generator (V_{tissue}), 257–258 TLIF. See Transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion (TLIF) TMS. See Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) Tonus phenomenon, 410 Total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA), 25, 64, 317, 332, 388 TPOJ. See Temporo-parieto-occipital junction (TPOJ) Train-of-four (TOF) response, 117, 137 Transcranial Doppler (TCD), 590 Transcranial Doppler (TD) ultrasonography, 463-465, 656 BFV measurements, 685 blood flow velocity, 685, 686 brain death, 687-688 in CBF, 685 cerebral arteries, 685 cerebrovascular reserve, 686-687 emboli, 688, 689 hyperemia, 688 ICU and OR, 685 intracranial pressure, 687 neuro-ICU, 685 operator-dependent factor, 685 OR, 685 reproducibility, 685 training, 685 vasospasm, 685-686 vessel patency, 688 Transcranial Doppler (TD) ultrasound, 222-223 anesthesia, 225 CBF (see Cerebral blood flow (CBF)) cerebral autoregulation, 223-224 cerebral embolization, 225 HITS, 219, 221 left MCA, 220 limitations, 221 measurement, 219-220 measures, 219 monitoring, 219 monitoring, cerebral hemodynamics, 225 NVC, 224-225 perioperative and critical care, 219 rationale, cerebral hemodynamic monitoring, 221 VMR, 224 Transcranial Doppler ultrasound tracings, 466-467

Transcranial electric motor-evoked potentials (tceMEPs), 626 Transcranial electrical motor stimulation (tcMEPs), 125 Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), 156 Transcranial MEP recordings, 160 Transcranial MEPs, 166 Transcranial motor-evoked potentials (tc-MEPs), 88, 94, 526, 554-555 Transcranial near-infrared spectroscopy, CNS, 209, 210 absorption spectrum, 205 anesthetic, 212 arterial CO2 and pH, 211 brain stimulation-induced change, 206 cerebral oximeters, 208, 213 changes, neuronal oxygenation, 205 determination, chromophore concentrations, 206 educational and training programs, 213 elevated extracranial signal, 208 instrumentation, 206-207 limitations, cerebral oximetry, 209 low rSO2 values, 209 measurement, regional cerebral oxygen saturation, 207 - 208measurement, hemoglobin moieties, 206 normal and pathologic hemoglobin moieties, 209 obstruction, CBF, 211 oxy- and deoxyhemoglobin, 205 penetration, human tissue, 205 perispinal, 213 preoperative factors, 210 rationale, cerebral NIRS monitoring cadaveric rSO₂ values, 210 corrective action, 209 electrophysiologic signals, 209 invasive brain field saturation, 210 INVOS[™] preoperative rSO₂ values, 210 jugular venous oxygen saturation, 210 microcirculatory oxygen supply, 209 noninvasive rSO₂, 210 pulse and cerebral oximeters, 210 safety, 208 scalp-mounted infrared (IR) light source, 207 seizure activity, 212 supplemental cerebral perfusion, 212-213 systemic arterial oxygenation, 211 systemic arterial pressure, 211 temperature fluctuations, 212 troublesome artifacts, 208 Transesophageal echo probe (TEE), 591 Transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion (TLIF), 529 Transient ischemic attack (TIA), 309 Transient neurological deficits (TNDs), 576 Transient paraparesis, 535 Traumatic brain injury (TBI), 671 adult and pediatric, 244 cerebral oxygenation, 654, 655 cerebral spinal fluid (CSF), 654 ICP monitoring, 244 intact cerebrovascular autoregulation, 248 intracranial hypertension (ICH), 653, 654

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) (cont.) perfusion after, 244 secondary injury, 654 SjvO₂, 237 temperature monitoring, 655 Traumatic lumbosacral fractures, 525 Traumatic nerve injury, 453 Trigeminal cardiac reflex anesthesia and surgery, 402 BIS monitor, 402-403 coronary artery disease, 403 EKG changes, 403 mechanism, 404 MVD. 402 release, surgical traction or cessation, 403 remifentanil, 403 surgical procedures, 403 systemic blood pressure, 403 Trigeminal microvascular decompression ABR tracing, 405 anesthesia, positioning, and surgical course, 404 bleeding and cerebral edema, 404 cardiac reflex (see Trigeminal cardiac reflex) closure of the dura, 404 contralateral hearing loss, 404 ipsilateral ear ABR changes, 401 baseline values, 400 monitoring system, 401 retractor pressure, cerebellum, 402 surgical procedure, 400 vasospasm, 402 wave V, 400-402 left tc-MEP, 398-400 left-sided trigeminal neuralgia ABR changes, 398 direct laryngoscopy and endotracheal intubation, 397 hypothermia, 398 insertion, soft bite block, 397 loss of ABR response, 398 medical management, 397 physiologic factors, 398 positional or technical etiology, 398 pulse oximetry probe, 397 surgical cause, 398 ultrasound aspirator, 398 right-sided MVD surgery, 405, 406 technical ABR changes, 397 Trigeminal neuralgia, 397 changes, ABRs and MEP signals, 406 clinical diagnosis, 396 complications, 396 endoscopy, 396 literature, MVD operations, 396 management, 396 microvascular decompression, 395 monitoring, 396

MVD (*see* Trigeminal microvascular decompression) pain, 395 patient position, 396 pressure points, 396 prone position, 396 radiological examination, 395 risk, vascular compromise, 396 surgery, 395, 396 surgical treatment, 395 Triggered electromyogenic stimulation (TrgEMG), 528 Triggered electromyographic (t-EMG), 410

U

Unilateral facial nerve hyperactive dysfunction, 409

V

Vagal nerve EMG, 454 Vascular supply, 377 Vasomotor reactivity (VMR), 224 Vasospasm, 656, 677, 685-686 Ventral caudal nucleus (VC), 72 Ventral intermediate nucleus (VIM), 72, 76 Ventriculus terminalis, 550 Ventrolateral (VL), 72 Verb generation task, 666 Vessel patency, TD, 688 Vestibular nerve dysfunction, 419-420 Vestibular schwannomas, 386 Video EEG monitoring (vEEG), 665, 666 Visual pathway stimulation, 53 Visual pathways IOM, 51, 52 tumor/lesion removal, 51 Visual-evoked potentials, 64, 65 anatomy and physiology, 52 anesthesia effects MAC. 65 narcotic-induced pupillary constriction, 64 opioids, 65 propofol, 65 TIVA technique, 65

W

World Federation of Neurosurgical Surgeons (WFNS) Scale, 656

X

Xe¹³³ CBF, 684 XeCT CBF, 684–686, 688, 689

Z

Zero Crossing Frequency (ZXF), 179 Zero-crossing algorithm, 180